# THE REPUBLIC

Webster's Thesaurus Edition for PSAT®, SAT®, GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT®, and AP® English Test Preparation

# Plato

PSAT® is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT® is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE®, AP® and Advanced Placement® are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT® is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT® is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

# The Republic

Webster's Thesaurus Edition for PSAT®, SAT®, GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT®, and AP® English Test Preparation

# Plato

PSAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE<sup>®</sup>, AP<sup>®</sup> and Advanced Placement<sup>®</sup> are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

#### ICON CLASSICS

Published by ICON Group International, Inc. 7404 Trade Street San Diego, CA 92121 USA

www.icongrouponline.com

The Republic: Webster's Thesaurus Edition for PSAT®, SAT®, GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT®, and AP® English Test Preparation

This edition published by ICON Classics in 2005 Printed in the United States of America.

Copyright ©2005 by ICON Group International, Inc.

All rights reserved. This book is protected by copyright. No part of it may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without written permission from the publisher.

Copying our publications in whole or in part, for whatever reason, is a violation of copyright laws and can lead to penalties and fines. Should you want to copy tables, graphs, or other materials, please contact us to request permission (E-mail: iconedit@san.rr.com). ICON Group often grants permission for very limited reproduction of our publications for internal use, press releases, and academic research. Such reproduction requires confirmed permission from ICON Group International, Inc.

PSAT® is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT® is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE®, AP® and Advanced Placement® are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT® is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT® is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

ISBN 0-497-25311-9

# Contents

PREFACE FROM THE EDITOR	
INTRODUCTION AND ANALYSIS	3
ANALYSIS OF BOOK I	
ANALYSIS OF BOOK II	29
ANALYSIS OF BOOK III	45
ANALYSIS OF BOOK IV	
ANALYSIS OF BOOK V	79
ANALYSIS OF BOOK VI	91
ANALYSIS OF BOOK VII	111
ANALYSIS OF BOOK VIII	
ANALYSIS OF BOOK IX	151
ANALYSIS OF BOOK X	
THE REPUBLIC	251
BOOK I	253
BOOK II	293
BOOK III	
BOOK IV	
BOOK V	
BOOK VI	459
BOOK VII	
BOOK VIII	533
BOOK IX	571
BOOK X	
GLOSSARY	637

## PREFACE FROM THE EDITOR

Designed for school districts, educators, and students seeking to maximize performance on standardized tests, Webster's paperbacks take advantage of the fact that classics are frequently assigned readings in English courses. By using a running thesaurus at the bottom of each page, this edition of *The Republic* by Plato was edited for students who are actively building their vocabularies in anticipation of taking PSAT®, SAT®, AP® (Advanced Placement®), GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT® or similar examinations. <sup>1</sup>

Webster's edition of this classic is organized to expose the reader to a maximum number of synonyms and antonyms for difficult and often ambiguous English words that are encountered in other works of literature, conversation, or academic examinations. Extremely rare or idiosyncratic words and expressions are given lower priority in the notes compared to words which are "difficult, and often encountered" in examinations. Rather than supply a single synonym, many are provided for a variety of meanings, allowing readers to better grasp the ambiguity of the English language, and avoid using the notes as a pure crutch. Having the reader decipher a word's meaning within context serves to improve vocabulary retention and understanding. Each page covers words not already highlighted on previous pages. If a difficult word is not noted on a page, chances are that it has been highlighted on a previous page. A more complete thesaurus is supplied at the end of the book; Synonyms and antonyms are extracted from Webster's Online Dictionary.

Definitions of remaining terms as well as translations can be found at <a href="www.websters-online-dictionary.org">www.websters-online-dictionary.org</a>. Please send suggestions to <a href="www.websters@icongroupbooks.com">websters@icongroupbooks.com</a>

The Editor Webster's Online Dictionary www.websters-online-dictionary.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> PSAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE<sup>®</sup>, AP<sup>®</sup> and Advanced Placement<sup>®</sup> are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

## INTRODUCTION AND ANALYSIS

The Republic of Plato is the longest of his works with the exception of the Laws, and is certainly the greatest of them. There are nearer approaches to modern metaphysics in the Philebus and in the Sophist; the Politicus or Statesman is more ideal; the form and institutions of the State are more clearly drawn out in the Laws; as works of art, the Symposium and the Protagoras are of higher excellence. But no other Dialogue of Plato has the same largeness of view and the same perfection of style; no other shows an equal knowledge of the world, or contains more of those thoughts which are new as well as old, and not of one age only but of all. Nowhere in Plato is there a deeper irony or a greater wealth of humour or **imagery**, or more dramatic power. Nor in any other of his writings is the attempt made to interweave life and speculation, or to connect politics with philosophy. The Republic is the centre around which the other Dialogues may be grouped; here philosophy reaches the highest point (cp, especially in Books V, VI, VII) to which ancient thinkers ever attained. Plato among the Greeks, like Bacon among the moderns, was the first who conceived a method of knowledge, although neither of them always distinguished the bare outline or form from the substance of truth; and both of them had to be content with an abstraction of science which was not yet realized. He was the greatest metaphysical genius whom the world has seen; and in him, more than in any

# **Thesaurus**

abstraction: (n) abstract, reverie, engrossment, extraction, withdrawal, removal, deduction, abbreviation, preoccupancy, theorisation, theorization. ANTONYMS: (n) attentiveness, inclusion, alertness, concentration, fact.
attained: (adj) attains, attaint, reached, complete, earned, fulfilled.
conceived: (adj) formed.
grouped: (adj) sorted, classified, collective, gather.

imagery: (n) imagination, imaging, statue, vision, evocation, resemblance, portraiture, images, simile, figure of speech; (adj) image. interweave: (adj, v) interlace, intertwist; (v) entwine, plait, lace, twine, twist, intermingle, knit, interlard, weave. ANTONYMS: (v) undo, unweave, unpick. largeness: (n) size, bigness, vastness, fullness, ampleness, bulkiness, immensity, grandness, extent,

magnitude, volume. ANTONYMS: (n) compactness, shortness.

metaphysical: (adj) theoretical, supernatural, mental, immaterial, mystical, nooscopic, abstract, metaphysic, subjective, unworldly, theological. ANTONYM: (adj) empirical.

metaphysics: (n) ontology, metaphysic, outside actual experience, ontological, cosmological, philosophy.

other ancient thinker, the germs of future knowledge are contained. The sciences of logic and psychology, which have supplied so many instruments of thought to after-ages, are based upon the analyses of Socrates and Plato. The principles of definition, the law of contradiction, the fallacy of arguing in a circle, the distinction between the essence and accidents of a thing or notion, between means and ends, between causes and conditions; also the division of the mind into the rational, concupiscent, and irascible elements, or of pleasures and desires into necessary and unnecessary - these and other great forms of thought are all of them to be found in the Republic, and were probably first invented by The greatest of all logical truths, and the one of which writers on philosophy are most apt to lose sight, the difference between words and things, has been most strenuously insisted on by him (cp. Rep.; Polit.; Cratyl), although he has not always avoided the confusion of them in his own writings (e.g. Rep.). But he does not bind up truth in logical formulae, -logic is still veiled in metaphysics; and the science which he imagines to 'contemplate all truth and all existence' is very unlike the doctrine of the syllogism which Aristotle claims to have discovered (Soph. Elenchi).

Neither must we forget that the Republic is but the third part of a still larger design which was to have included an ideal history of Athens, as well as a political and physical philosophy. The fragment of the Critias has given birth to a world-famous fiction, second only in importance to the tale of Troy and the legend of Arthur; and is said as a fact to have inspired some of the early navigators of the sixteenth century. This mythical tale, of which the subject was a history of the wars of the Athenians against the Island of Atlantis, is supposed to be founded upon an unfinished poem of Solon, to which it would have stood in the same relation as the writings of the logographers to the poems of Homer. It would have told of a struggle for Liberty (cp. Tim.), intended to represent the conflict of Persia and Hellas. We may judge from the noble commencement of the Timaeus, from the fragment of the Critias itself, and from the third book of the Laws, in what manner Plato would have treated this high argument. We can only guess why the great design was abandoned; perhaps because Plato became sensible of some **incongruity** in a **fictitious** history, or because he had lost his

#### concupiscent: (adj) libidinous, rampant, erotic, hot, prurient, lickerish, lustful, salacious, passionate. fallacy: (n) delusion, deception,

passistance: (n) delusion, deception, paralogism, illusion, misconception, falsehood, inaccuracy, idol, falsity, sophistry; (adj, n) subterfuge. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, truth, validity, verity, understanding, correctness. fictitious: (adj) bogus, assumed, fictional, counterfeit, artificial, fake,

#### **Thesaurus**

fabulous, sham, fabricated, fanciful, apocryphal. ANTONYMS: (adj) true, honest, historical, factual. germs: (n) bacteria, germ, infection, microbes, microorganisms. incongruity: (n) disharmony, contradiction, disagreement, incongruence, disparity, discrepancy, discord, unconformity, disproportion, absurdity, paradox. ANTONYMS: (n) congruity, normality, agreement.

irascible: (adj) angry, choleric, irritable, crabby, hot, excitable, testy, touchy, passionate, hotheaded, hasty. ANTONYMS: (adj) easygoing, patient.

strenuously: (adv) energetically, zealously, arduously, severely, forcefully, earnestly, laboriously, busily, toilsomely, forwardly, hardly. syllogism: (n) prosyllogism, synthesis, reasoning, ratiocination, deductive reasoning, logic, Aristotelian logic.

interest in it, or because advancing years **forbade** the completion of it; and we may please ourselves with the fancy that had this imaginary narrative ever been finished, we should have found Plato himself sympathising with the struggle for Hellenic independence (cp. Laws), singing a **hymn** of triumph over Marathon and Salamis, perhaps making the reflection of Herodotus where he contemplates the growth of the Athenian empire—'How brave a thing is freedom of speech, which has made the Athenians so far exceed every other state of Hellas in greatness!' or, more probably, **attributing** the victory to the ancient good order of Athens and to the **favor** of Apollo and Athene (cp. Introd. to Critias).

Again, Plato may be regarded as the 'captain' ('arhchegoz') or leader of a goodly band of followers; for in the Republic is to be found the original of Cicero's De Republica, of St. Augustine's City of God, of the Utopia of Sir Thomas More, and of the numerous other imaginary States which are framed upon the same model. The extent to which Aristotle or the Aristotelian school were indebted to him in the Politics has been little recognised, and the recognition is the more necessary because it is not made by Aristotle himself. The two philosophers had more in common than they were conscious of; and probably some elements of Plato remain still undetected in Aristotle. In English philosophy too, many affinities may be traced, not only in the works of the Cambridge Platonists, but in great original writers like Berkeley or Coleridge, to Plato and his ideas. That there is a truth higher than experience, of which the mind bears witness to herself, is a conviction which in our own generation has been enthusiastically asserted, and is perhaps gaining ground. Of the Greek authors who at the Renaissance brought a new life into the world Plato has had the greatest influence. The Republic of Plato is also the first treatise upon education, of which the writings of Milton and Locke, Rousseau, Jean Paul, and Goethe are the legitimate descendants. Like Dante or Bunyan, he has a revelation of another life; like Bacon, he is profoundly impressed with the unity of knowledge; in the early Church he exercised a real influence on theology, and at the Revival of Literature on politics. Even the fragments of his words when 'repeated at second-hand' (Symp.) have in all ages ravished the hearts of men, who have seen reflected in them their own higher nature. He is the father of

attributing: (n) reference.

descendants: (n) children, progeny,
descent, offspring, issue, seed,
lineage, family, brood, race, young.
favor: (n, v) countenance, aid, grace,
support, benefit, boon; (adj, n)
kindness; (n) advantage; (v) befriend,
encourage, patronize. ANTONYMS:
(v) hinder, contradict, dislike, hurt,
differ, thwart, reject, demean; (n)
derogation, disapproval, unkindness.
forbade: (v) prohibit, to prohibit.

#### **Thesaurus**

framed: (adj) counterfeit, prepared, orderly, methodical, spurious. ANTONYM: (adj) unframed. goodly: (adv) benignly, kindly, strongly, rightly, graciously, virtuously, soundly, uprightly; (adj) sizable, handsome, respectable. hymn: (n) song, canticle, chant, anthem, carol, chorale, doxology; (v) glorify, laud, sing, extol. indebted: (adj) grateful, appreciative, thankful, obliged, liable, insolvent,

broke; (prep) beholden, debted; (n) debtor; (v) owe. ANTONYM: (adj) ungrateful.
ravished: (adj) ecstatic, overjoyed, rapturous, defiled.
treatise: (n) tract, thesis, essay, discourse, paper, article, monograph, piece, pamphlet, review, book.
undetected: (adj) unnoticed, unobserved, concealed, unseen, invisible. ANTONYM: (adj)

noticeable.

idealism in philosophy, in politics, in literature. And many of the latest conceptions of modern thinkers and statesmen, such as the unity of knowledge, the reign of law, and the equality of the sexes, have been anticipated in a dream by him.

The argument of the Republic is the search after Justice, the nature of which is first hinted at by Cephalus, the just and blameless old man-then discussed on the basis of proverbial morality by Socrates and Polemarchus – then caricatured by Thrasymachus and partially explained by Socrates – reduced to an abstraction by Glaucon and Adeimantus, and having become invisible in the individual reappears at length in the ideal State which is constructed by Socrates. The first care of the rulers is to be education, of which an outline is drawn after the old Hellenic model, providing only for an improved religion and morality, and more simplicity in music and gymnastic, a manlier strain of poetry, and greater harmony of the individual and the State. We are thus led on to the conception of a higher State, in which 'no man calls anything his own,' and in which there is neither 'marrying nor giving in marriage,' and 'kings are philosophers' and 'philosophers are kings;' and there is another and higher education, intellectual as well as moral and religious, of science as well as of art, and not of youth only but of the whole of life. Such a State is hardly to be realized in this world and quickly degenerates. To the perfect ideal succeeds the government of the soldier and the lover of honour, this again declining into democracy, and democracy into tyranny, in an imaginary but regular order having not much resemblance to the actual facts. When 'the wheel has come full circle' we do not begin again with a new period of human life; but we have passed from the best to the worst, and there we end. The subject is then changed and the old quarrel of poetry and philosophy which had been more lightly treated in the earlier books of the Republic is now resumed and fought out to a conclusion. Poetry is discovered to be an imitation thrice removed from the truth, and Homer, as well as the dramatic poets, having been condemned as an imitator, is sent into banishment along with them. And the idea of the State is supplemented by the revelation of a future life.

#### **Thesaurus**

**banishment**: (*n*) expulsion, ostracism, ouster, proscription, relegation, ejection, deportation, dismissal, expatriation; (*adj*, *n*) exclusion; (*adj*) excommunication.

blameless: (adj) irreproachable, perfect, faultless, unimpeachable, pure, spotless, innocent, guiltless, inculpable, not guilty, clean. ANTONYMS: (adj) culpable, blameworthy, responsible, wrong, bad, sinful, shameful, flawed.

gymnastic: (n) gymnastics, athletics, physical education; (adj) acrobatic, gymnical; (v) palestric, herculean. hinted: (adj) veiled, roundabout, not explicit, implicit, coded, oblique. imitator: (n) mimic, follower, impersonator, copycat, ape, emulator, mimicker, copier, aper, copyist, somebody. lover: (n) dear, darling, fan, devotee,

impersonator, copycat, ape, emulator, mimicker, copier, aper, copyist, somebody.

over: (n) dear, darling, fan, devotee, beau, buff, love, admirer, beloved, amorist, man.

tyranny: (adj, n) dictatorship, autocracy; (n) absolutism, despotism, oppression, cruelty, monocracy, totalitarianism, authoritarianism, autarchy, Caesarism. ANTONYMS: (n) democracy, liberty.

proverbial: (adj) axiomatic, hackneyed saying, common saying, notorious, famed, legendary, famous, common, true saying, trite saying, recognizable.
thrice: (adv) three times, thirdly.

The division into books, like all similar divisions (Cp. Sir G.C. Lewis in the Classical Museum.), is probably later than the age of Plato. The natural divisions are five in number; -(1) Book I and the first half of Book II down to the paragraph beginning, 'I had always admired the genius of Glaucon and Adeimantus,' which is introductory; the first book containing a refutation of the popular and sophistical notions of justice, and concluding, like some of the earlier Dialogues, without arriving at any definite result. To this is appended a restatement of the nature of justice according to common opinion, and an answer is demanded to the question—What is justice, stripped of appearances? The second division (2) includes the remainder of the second and the whole of the third and fourth books, which are mainly occupied with the construction of the first State and the first education. The third division (3) consists of the fifth, sixth, and seventh books, in which philosophy rather than justice is the subject of enquiry, and the second State is constructed on principles of communism and ruled by philosophers, and the contemplation of the idea of good takes the place of the social and political virtues. In the eighth and ninth books (4) the perversions of States and of the individuals who correspond to them are reviewed in succession; and the nature of pleasure and the principle of tyranny are further analysed in the individual man. The tenth book (5) is the conclusion of the whole, in which the relations of philosophy to poetry are finally determined, and the happiness of the citizens in this life, which has now been assured, is crowned by the vision of another.

Or a more general division into two parts may be adopted; the first (Books I-IV) containing the description of a State framed generally in **accordance** with Hellenic notions of religion and morality, while in the second (Books V - X) the Hellenic State is transformed into an ideal kingdom of philosophy, of which all other governments are the perversions. These two points of view are really opposed, and the opposition is only **veiled** by the genius of Plato. The Republic, like the Phaedrus (see Introduction to Phaedrus), is an imperfect whole; the higher light of philosophy breaks through the regularity of the Hellenic temple, which at last fades away into the heavens. Whether this **imperfection** of structure arises from an enlargement of the plan; or from the imperfect

accordance: (n) harmony, agreement, conformity, unison, concordance, coincidence, accordancy, admission, fitness, consensus, concent. according: (adj) pursuant, consonant, equal, agreeable, harmonious, conformable, consistent, corresponding, respondent; (adv) correspondingly, accordingly. appended: (adj) added, affixed, additional. imperfection: (adj, n) frailty; (n) fault,

#### **Thesaurus**

blemish, defect, deficiency, flaw, weakness, disadvantage, vice, foible, shortcoming. ANTONYMS: (n) perfection, strength.

refutation: (n) confutation, denial, rebuttal, refutal, contradiction, negation, answer, refusal, defense, falsification, defence. ANTONYM: (n) agreement.

restatement: (n) paraphrase, demythologisation, demythologisation, mythologisation, demythologisation, mythologisation,

mythologization, repetition, rewording, version, summary, interpretation. sophistical: (adj) insinuating, vermiculate, deceptive, evasive, fallacious, false, illogical, invalid, misleading, specious, wrong. veiled: (adj) hidden, unseen, covert, secret, masked, disguised, obscure, cryptic, covered, indistinct, oblique. ANTONYMS: (adj) overt, open, unveiled, blatant.

reconcilement in the writer's own mind of the struggling elements of thought which are now first brought together by him; or, perhaps, from the composition of the work at different times – are questions, like the similar question about the Iliad and the Odyssey, which are worth asking, but which cannot have a distinct answer. In the age of Plato there was no regular mode of publication, and an author would have the less scruple in altering or adding to a work which was known only to a few of his friends. There is no absurdity in supposing that he may have laid his labours aside for a time, or turned from one work to another; and such interruptions would be more likely to occur in the case of a long than of a short writing. In all attempts to determine the chronological order of the Platonic writings on internal evidence, this uncertainty about any single Dialogue being composed at one time is a disturbing element, which must be admitted to affect longer works, such as the Republic and the Laws, more than shorter ones. But, on the other hand, the seeming discrepancies of the Republic may only arise out of the discordant elements which the philosopher has attempted to unite in a single whole, perhaps without being himself able to recognise the inconsistency which is obvious to us. For there is a judgment of after ages which few great writers have ever been able to anticipate for themselves. They do not perceive the want of connexion in their own writings, or the gaps in their systems which are visible enough to those who come after them. In the beginnings of literature and philosophy, amid the first efforts of thought and language, more inconsistencies occur than now, when the paths of speculation are well worn and the meaning of words precisely defined. For consistency, too, is the growth of time; and some of the greatest creations of the human mind have been wanting in unity. Tried by this test, several of the Platonic Dialogues, according to our modern ideas, appear to be defective, but the deficiency is no proof that they were composed at different times or by different hands. And the supposition that the Republic was written uninterruptedly and by a continuous effort is in some degree confirmed by the numerous references from one part of the work to another.

The second title, 'Concerning Justice,' is not the one by which the Republic is quoted, either by Aristotle or generally in antiquity, and, like the other second

#### altering: (n) castration, fixing, interchange, neutering; (adj) changing, alterant. connexion: (n) conjunction, connector, reconcilement: (v) agreement, connective, connection, association, bond, concatenation, join, linkage, link, junction. discordant: (adj) conflicting, dissonant, jarring, raucous, incompatible, discrepant, inconsistent, disharmonious, harsh, hoarse, incongruous. ANTONYMS: (adj)

# musical, melodic, compatible, pleasant, cooperating, accordant, agreeable, agreeing, soft.

Thesaurus

accordment; (n) rapprochement, accommodation, propitiation, mediation, atonement, appeasement, pacification, reconciliation statement, uninterruptedly: (adv) constantly, expiation.

scruple: (adj, v) hesitate, demur, pause; (n) hesitation, qualm, misgiving, distrust, objection; (n, v) mistrust; (v)

falter, question. **supposition**: (n, v) conjecture; (n)assumption, hypothesis, presumption, premise, speculation, surmise, guess, supposal, thought, imagination. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, knowledge, proof, reality, practice. ceaselessly, continually, endlessly, unremittingly, unceasingly, successively, consecutively,

continuedly, sustainedly, straightly.

titles of the Platonic Dialogues, may therefore be assumed to be of later date. Morgenstern and others have asked whether the definition of justice, which is the professed aim, or the construction of the State is the principal argument of the work. The answer is, that the two blend in one, and are two faces of the same truth; for justice is the order of the State, and the State is the visible embodiment of justice under the conditions of human society. The one is the soul and the other is the body, and the Greek ideal of the State, as of the individual, is a fair mind in a fair body. In Hegelian phraseology the state is the reality of which justice is the idea. Or, described in Christian language, the kingdom of God is within, and yet developes into a Church or external kingdom; 'the house not made with hands, eternal in the heavens,' is reduced to the proportions of an earthly building. Or, to use a Platonic image, justice and the State are the warp and the woof which run through the whole texture. And when the constitution of the State is completed, the conception of justice is not dismissed, but reappears under the same or different names throughout the work, both as the inner law of the individual soul, and finally as the principle of rewards and punishments in another life. The virtues are based on justice, of which common honesty in buying and selling is the shadow, and justice is based on the idea of good, which is the harmony of the world, and is reflected both in the institutions of states and in motions of the heavenly bodies (cp. Tim.). The Timaeus, which takes up the political rather than the ethical side of the Republic, and is chiefly occupied with hypotheses concerning the outward world, yet contains many indications that the same law is supposed to reign over the State, over nature, and over man.

Too much, however, has been made of this question both in ancient and modern times. There is a stage of criticism in which all works, whether of nature or of art, are referred to design. Now in ancient writings, and indeed in literature generally, there remains often a large element which was not comprehended in the original design. For the plan grows under the author's hand; new thoughts occur to him in the act of writing; he has not worked out the argument to the end before he begins. The reader who seeks to find some one idea under which the whole may be conceived, must necessarily seize on the vaguest and most general. Thus Stallbaum, who is dissatisfied with the ordinary explanations of

Thesaurus

comprehended: (adj) understood, apprehended. dissatisfied: (adj) discontent, disgruntled, disappointed, put out, displeased, malcontent, grumpy, annoyed, disaffected; (adj, v) querulous, complaining. ANTONYMS: (adj) content, contented, happy, fulfilled, gratified, pleased, idealistic.

earthly: (adj, n) terrestrial; (adj) carnal, worldly, conceivable, human, geotic,

sublunary. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritual, divine, ethereal, immortal, impossible, improbable, inconceivable, celestial. embodiment: (n) shape, epitome, incarnation, avatar, amalgamation, union, unification, incorporation, coalescence, cast; (adj) integration. **phraseology**: (*n*) language, expression, **woof**: (*n*, *v*) bark, cry, howl, growl, phrasing, wording, idiom, vernacular, dialect, choice of words,

secular, terrene, temporal, telluric,

terminology, locution; (n, v) style. professed: (adj) alleged, declared, apparent, avowed, pretended, seeming, supposed, affected, feigned, so-called, purported. warp: (v) distort, deform, contort, falsify, garble, misrepresent; (n, v)bend, buckle, turn, bias; (n) distortion. ANTONYM: (v) clarify.

yowl, snarl, wail, yelp; (n) texture, filling, pick.

the argument of the Republic, imagines himself to have found the true argument 'in the representation of human life in a State **perfected** by justice, and governed according to the idea of good.' There may be some use in such general descriptions, but they can hardly be said to express the design of the writer. The truth is, that we may as well speak of many designs as of one; nor need anything be excluded from the plan of a great work to which the mind is naturally led by the association of ideas, and which does not interfere with the general purpose. What kind or degree of unity is to be sought after in a building, in the plastic arts, in poetry, in prose, is a problem which has to be determined relatively to the subject-matter. To Plato himself, the enquiry 'what was the intention of the writer,' or 'what was the principal argument of the Republic' would have been hardly **intelligible**, and therefore had better be at once dismissed (cp. the Introduction to the Phaedrus).

Is not the Republic the vehicle of three or four great truths which, to Plato's own mind, are most naturally represented in the form of the State? Just as in the Jewish prophets the reign of Messiah, or 'the day of the Lord,' or the suffering Servant or people of God, or the 'Sun of righteousness with healing in his wings' only convey, to us at least, their great spiritual ideals, so through the Greek State Plato reveals to us his own thoughts about divine perfection, which is the idea of good-like the sun in the visible world; -about human perfection, which is justice—about education beginning in youth and continuing in later years about poets and sophists and tyrants who are the false teachers and evil rulers of mankind-about 'the world' which is the embodiment of them-about a kingdom which exists nowhere upon earth but is laid up in heaven to be the pattern and rule of human life. No such inspired creation is at unity with itself, any more than the clouds of heaven when the sun pierces through them. Every shade of light and dark, of truth, and of fiction which is the veil of truth, is **allowable** in a work of philosophical imagination. It is not all on the same plane; it easily passes from ideas to myths and fancies, from facts to figures of speech. It is not prose but poetry, at least a great part of it, and ought not to be judged by the rules of logic or the probabilities of history. The writer is not fashioning his ideas into an artistic whole; they take possession of him and are too much for

#### **Thesaurus**

allowable: (adj, v) permissible; (adj) justifiable, acceptable, lawful, permitted, tolerable, bearable, passable, sufferable, legal; (v) allowed. ANTONYMS: (adj) inexcusable, inadmissible, intolerable.

fancies: (n) stock.

fashioning: (n) devising, cartography, making, cartographic, cartographical, mapmaking.

ANTONYMS: (adj) difficult, perfected: (adj) consummate, elaborate, mellow, mature, 1

**healing**: (n) cure, convalescence,

recuperation, therapy, treatment, recovery; (adj) curative, sanatory, remedial, therapeutic. ANTONYM: (n) deterioration. intelligible: (adj) clear, understandable, articulate, luminous, apprehensible, graspable, simple, lucid, definite, distinct, perspicuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) difficult, illegible. perfected: (adj) consummate, elaborate, mellow, mature, ripe, fulfilled, done, formed; (v)

completed, consummated, excessive. righteousness: (n) goodness, integrity, morality, piety, holiness, justness, virtue, justice, equity, uprightness, rectitude. ANTONYMS: (n) wickedness, decadence, injustice, unrighteousness, badness. veil: (n, v) cover, hide, disguise, mask, cloud, shroud, camouflage; (v) cloak, conceal; (n) curtain, blind. ANTONYMS: (v) disclose, unveil, expose.

him. We have no need therefore to discuss whether a State such as Plato has conceived is practicable or not, or whether the outward form or the inward life came first into the mind of the writer. For the **practicability** of his ideas has nothing to do with their truth; and the highest thoughts to which he attains may be truly said to bear the greatest 'marks of design'—justice more than the external frame-work of the State, the idea of good more than justice. The great science of **dialectic** or the organisation of ideas has no real content; but is only a type of the method or spirit in which the higher knowledge is to be pursued by the spectator of all time and all existence. It is in the fifth, sixth, and seventh books that Plato reaches the 'summit of speculation,' and these, although they fail to satisfy the requirements of a modern **thinker**, may therefore be regarded as the most important, as they are also the most original, portions of the work.

It is not necessary to discuss at length a minor question which has been raised by Boeckh, respecting the imaginary date at which the conversation was held (the year 411 B.C. which is proposed by him will do as well as any other); for a writer of fiction, and especially a writer who, like Plato, is notoriously careless of chronology (cp. Rep., Symp., etc.), only aims at general probability. Whether all the persons mentioned in the Republic could ever have met at any one time is not a difficulty which would have occurred to an Athenian reading the work forty years later, or to Plato himself at the time of writing (any more than to Shakespeare respecting one of his own dramas); and need not greatly trouble us now. Yet this may be a question having no answer 'which is still worth asking,' because the investigation shows that we cannot argue historically from the dates in Plato; it would be useless therefore to waste time in inventing far-fetched reconcilements of them in order to avoid chronological difficulties, such, for example, as the conjecture of C.F. Hermann, that Glaucon and Adeimantus are not the brothers but the uncles of Plato (cp. Apol.), or the fancy of Stallbaum that Plato intentionally left anachronisms indicating the dates at which some of his Dialogues were written.

The principal characters in the Republic are Cephalus, Polemarchus, Thrasymachus, Socrates, Glaucon, and Adeimantus. Cephalus appears in the

conjecture: (n) supposition, speculation, assumption, surmise, hypothesis; (v) suppose, believe, anticipate, assume, speculate; (n, v) estimate. ANTONYMS: (n) certainty; (v) demonstrate, know, learn, prove. dialectic: (n) dialectics, philosophy, disputation, debate, contradiction, logic; (adj, v) polemical; (adj) dialectical, forensic; (v) argumentative, controversial. ANTONYMS: (n) unreason, illogic;

#### **Thesaurus**

(adj) illogical, irrational.

far-fetched: (adj) improbable, tall, implausible, foreign, unreasonable.
hermann: (n) Arminius, Armin.
intentionally: (adv) deliberately, advisedly, consciously, purposely, on purpose, knowingly, willfully, studiedly, expressly, purposefully, intendedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) accidentally, innocently.
inventing: (adj) lying.
practicability: (n) practicableness,

practicality, possibility, probability, usefulness, utility, viability, convenience, feasibleness, handiness, likelihood.

respecting: (*prep*) about, regarding, apropos, as regards, pertaining to; (*adj*) relative, not absolute, pertaining, referring, loving.

thinker: (*n*) intellect, mind, longhead, head, intellectual, creative thinker, theorist, sage, wise person, pundit, ruminator. ANTONYM: (*n*) realist.

introduction only, Polemarchus drops at the end of the first argument, and Thrasymachus is reduced to silence at the close of the first book. The main discussion is carried on by Socrates, Glaucon, and Adeimantus. Among the company are Lysias (the **orator**) and Euthydemus, the sons of Cephalus and brothers of Polemarchus, an unknown Charmantides—these are mute auditors; also there is Cleitophon, who once interrupts, where, as in the Dialogue which bears his name, he appears as the friend and ally of Thrasymachus.

Cephalus, the patriarch of the house, has been appropriately engaged in offering a sacrifice. He is the pattern of an old man who has almost done with life, and is at peace with himself and with all mankind. He feels that he is drawing nearer to the world below, and seems to linger around the memory of the past. He is eager that Socrates should come to visit him, fond of the poetry of the last generation, happy in the consciousness of a well-spent life, glad at having escaped from the tyranny of youthful lusts. His love of conversation, his affection, his indifference to riches, even his garrulity, are interesting traits of character. He is not one of those who have nothing to say, because their whole mind has been absorbed in making money. Yet he acknowledges that riches have the advantage of placing men above the temptation to dishonesty or falsehood. The respectful attention shown to him by Socrates, whose love of conversation, no less than the mission imposed upon him by the Oracle, leads him to ask questions of all men, young and old alike, should also be noted. Who better suited to raise the question of justice than Cephalus, whose life might seem to be the expression of it? The moderation with which old age is pictured by Cephalus as a very tolerable portion of existence is characteristic, not only of him, but of Greek feeling generally, and contrasts with the exaggeration of Cicero in the De Senectute. The evening of life is described by Plato in the most expressive manner, yet with the fewest possible touches. As Cicero remarks (Ep. ad Attic.), the aged Cephalus would have been out of place in the discussion which follows, and which he could neither have understood nor taken part in without a violation of dramatic **propriety** (cp. Lysimachus in the Laches).

#### **Thesaurus**

falsehood: (n) fable, fabrication, deception, untruth, lie, fib, fiction, invention, dishonesty; (adj, n) deceit, falsity. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, honesty, reality.

garrulity: (n) loquacity, talkativeness, loquaciousness, garrulousness, communicativeness, volubility.

orator: (n) elocutionist, speechmaker, speaker, lecturer, Cicero, speechifier, demagog, demagogue, eulogist; (v)

oratrix, oratress.

patriarch: (*n*) forefather, paterfamilias, father, head, chief, old man, antediluvian, head of household, elder, founder, senior. ANTONYM: (*n*) matriarch. propriety: (*adj*, *n*) decency, modesty, correctness, aptitude; (*n*) decorum,

correctness, aptitude; (n) decorum, fitness, etiquette, civility, grace, politeness, manners. ANTONYMS: (n) impropriety, rudeness, unsuitableness, indecorum, decadence, tactlessness, corruption,

vulgarity, indecency.

tolerable: (adj) passable, mediocre,
bearable, fair, middling, reasonable,
adequate, respectable, endurable,
sufferable; (adj, v) satisfactory.
ANTONYMS: (adj) intolerable,
exceptional, unbearable,
unsatisfactory, bad, inadequate,
appalling, inadmissible.

traits: (v) lineaments, area, expanse,
exposition, extent, length, tract, trace;
(n) character, nature, personality.

His 'son and heir' Polemarchus has the frankness and impetuousness of youth; he is for detaining Socrates by force in the opening scene, and will not 'let him off' on the subject of women and children. Like Cephalus, he is limited in his point of view, and represents the proverbial stage of morality which has rules of life rather than principles; and he quotes Simonides (cp. Aristoph. Clouds) as his father had quoted Pindar. But after this he has no more to say; the answers which he makes are only elicited from him by the dialectic of Socrates. He has not yet experienced the influence of the Sophists like Glaucon and Adeimantus, nor is he sensible of the necessity of refuting them; he belongs to the pre-Socratic or pre-dialectical age. He is incapable of arguing, and is bewildered by Socrates to such a degree that he does not know what he is saying. He is made to admit that justice is a thief, and that the virtues follow the analogy of the arts. From his brother Lysias (contra Eratosth.) we learn that he fell a victim to the Thirty Tyrants, but no allusion is here made to his fate, nor to the circumstance that Cephalus and his family were of Syracusan origin, and had migrated from Thurii to Athens.

The 'Chalcedonian giant,' Thrasymachus, of whom we have already heard in the Phaedrus, is the personification of the Sophists, according to Plato's conception of them, in some of their worst characteristics. He is vain and blustering, refusing to discourse unless he is paid, fond of making an oration, and hoping thereby to escape the inevitable Socrates; but a mere child in argument, and unable to foresee that the next 'move' (to use a Platonic expression) will 'shut him up.' He has reached the stage of framing general notions, and in this respect is in advance of Cephalus and Polemarchus. But he is incapable of defending them in a discussion, and vainly tries to cover his confusion with banter and insolence. Whether such doctrines as are attributed to him by Plato were really held either by him or by any other Sophist is uncertain; in the infancy of philosophy serious errors about morality might easily grow up—they are certainly put into the mouths of speakers in Thucydides; but we are concerned at present with Plato's description of him, and not with the historical reality. The inequality of the contest adds greatly to the humour of the scene. The pompous and empty Sophist is utterly helpless in the hands of the

#### Thesaurus

arrogance, audacity, impudence,

disrespect, haughtiness, crust.

oration: (n) discourse, harangue,

meekness, shyness.

effrontery, cheek, assumption, gall,

ANTONYMS: (n) respect, politeness,

lecture, speech, declamation, homily,

**allusion**: (n) innuendo, reference, cue, **insolence**: (n) impertinence, suggestion, mention, intimation, pointer, insinuation, implication, indication, clue.

attributed: (adj) credited. ANTONYM: (adj) unofficial.

**blustering**: (adj, v) stormy; (adj) raging, blusterous, blustery, turbulent, loud, vaporing, vociferous, noisy, hectoring; (adv) blusteringly. elicited: (adj) evoked, elicit. impetuousness: (n) storminess.

tirade, say, recitation, oratory, personification: (n) incarnation, avatar, epitome, personation,

prosopopoeia, figure of speech, manifestation, trope; (adj, n) type; (adj) metalepsis, anagoge.

refuting: (n) determination, finding, falsification, debate, falsifying; (adj) refutatory.

vainly: (adv) uselessly, futilely, fruitlessly, conceitedly, in vain, worthlessly, abortively, bootlessly, arrogantly, unproductively; (adj, adv) foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) fruitfully, successfully, effectively.

great master of dialectic, who knows how to touch all the springs of vanity and weakness in him. He is greatly irritated by the irony of Socrates, but his noisy and imbecile rage only lays him more and more open to the thrusts of his assailant. His determination to cram down their throats, or put 'bodily into their souls' his own words, elicits a cry of horror from Socrates. The state of his temper is quite as worthy of remark as the process of the argument. Nothing is more amusing than his complete submission when he has been once thoroughly beaten. At first he seems to continue the discussion with reluctance, but soon with apparent good-will, and he even testifies his interest at a later stage by one or two occasional remarks. When attacked by Glaucon he is humorously protected by Socrates 'as one who has never been his enemy and is now his friend.' From Cicero and Quintilian and from Aristotle's Rhetoric we learn that the Sophist whom Plato has made so ridiculous was a man of note whose writings were preserved in later ages. The play on his name which was made by his contemporary Herodicus (Aris. Rhet.), 'thou wast ever bold in battle,' seems to show that the description of him is not devoid of verisimilitude.

When Thrasymachus has been silenced, the two principal respondents, Glaucon and Adeimantus, appear on the scene: here, as in Greek tragedy (cp. Introd. to Phaedo), three actors are introduced. At first sight the two sons of Ariston may seem to wear a family likeness, like the two friends Simmias and Cebes in the Phaedo. But on a nearer examination of them the similarity vanishes, and they are seen to be distinct characters. Glaucon is the **impetuous** youth who can 'just never have enough of fechting' (cp. the character of him in Xen. Mem. iii. 6); the man of pleasure who is acquainted with the mysteries of love; the 'juvenis qui gaudet canibus,' and who improves the breed of animals; the lover of art and music who has all the experiences of youthful life. He is full of quickness and penetration, piercing easily below the clumsy platitudes of Thrasymachus to the real difficulty; he turns out to the light the seamy side of human life, and yet does not lose faith in the just and true. It is Glaucon who seizes what may be termed the ludicrous relation of the philosopher to the world, to whom a state of simplicity is 'a city of pigs,' who is always prepared with a **jest** when the argument offers him an opportunity, and who is ever ready

# **Thesaurus**

attacked: (*adj*) assaulted, corroded.

cram: (*v*) pack, ram, jam, fill, chock up,
compress, shove, load, ingurgitate,
overeat, compact. ANTONYMS: (*v*)
deplete, unpack, disperse.
elicits: (*v*) elicit.

humorously: (adv) comically, amusingly, facetiously, funnily, drolly, jocularly, humourously, whimsically, hilariously, jocosely, playfully. ANTONYM: (adv) seriously.

imbecile: (adj) foolish, idiotic, fatuous, dumb, imbecilic, simple; (n) idiot, moron, cretin, ass, oaf. ANTONYM: (adj) genius.

impetuous: (adj) boisterous, hasty, fiery, headlong, heady, hot, brash, foolhardy, dashing, fierce; (adj, v) impulsive. ANTONYMS: (adj) considered, careful, slow, sensible, patient.

**jest**: (*n*) gag, gibe, quip, game; (*n*, *v*) jape; (*v*) banter, jeer, deride, gird,

quickness: (n) celerity, expedition, promptness, alacrity, agility, speed, dispatch, dexterity, fleetness, hurry, readiness. ANTONYMS: (n) awkwardness, delay, ineptness. seamy: (adj) sordid, squalid, crummy, dirty, morally degraded, infirm, scruffy, flyblown, enfeebled, disreputable, debilitated.

ANTONYMS: (adj) salubrious,

respectable, wholesome.

sneer, clown.

to second the humour of Socrates and to appreciate the ridiculous, whether in the connoisseurs of music, or in the lovers of theatricals, or in the fantastic behaviour of the citizens of democracy. His weaknesses are several times alluded to by Socrates, who, however, will not allow him to be attacked by his brother Adeimantus. He is a soldier, and, like Adeimantus, has been distinguished at the battle of Megara (anno 456?)...The character of Adeimantus is deeper and graver, and the profounder objections are commonly put into his mouth. Glaucon is more demonstrative, and generally opens the game. Adeimantus pursues the argument further. Glaucon has more of the liveliness and quick sympathy of youth; Adeimantus has the maturer judgment of a grown-up man of the world. In the second book, when Glaucon insists that justice and injustice shall be considered without regard to their consequences, Adeimantus remarks that they are regarded by mankind in general only for the sake of their consequences; and in a similar vein of reflection he urges at the beginning of the fourth book that Socrates fails in making his citizens happy, and is answered that happiness is not the first but the second thing, not the direct aim but the indirect consequence of the good government of a State. In the discussion about religion and mythology, Adeimantus is the respondent, but Glaucon breaks in with a slight jest, and carries on the conversation in a lighter tone about music and gymnastic to the end of the book. It is Adeimantus again who volunteers the criticism of common sense on the Socratic method of argument, and who refuses to let Socrates pass lightly over the question of women and children. It is Adeimantus who is the respondent in the more argumentative, as Glaucon in the lighter and more imaginative portions of the Dialogue. For example, throughout the greater part of the sixth book, the causes of the corruption of philosophy and the conception of the idea of good are discussed with Adeimantus. Glaucon resumes his place of principal respondent; but he has a difficulty in apprehending the higher education of Socrates, and makes some false hits in the course of the discussion. Once more Adeimantus returns with the allusion to his brother Glaucon whom he compares to the contentious State; in the next book he is again superseded, and Glaucon continues to the end.

# apprehending: (v) apprehend; (n) perception, thought, recognition. argumentative: (adj) quarrelsome, litigious, controversial, cantankerous,

combative, forensic, hostile, polemic, disputative, contrary, ratiocinative. ANTONYMS: (adj) amiable, friendly, agreeable, conciliatory, passive,

**demonstrative**: (adj, v) characteristic, typical; (adj) outgoing, explanatory, expansive, demonstrable, effusive,

#### Thesaurus

illustrative, indicative, expressive; (n) demonstrative pronoun. ANTONYMS: (adi) cold, undemonstrative, shy, unemotional, restrained, inexpressive, inconclusive, impassive, distant, cool, regarded: (adj) reputed. mysterious.

graver: (v) style, denominate, entitle, fashion; (n) engraver, graving tool. liveliness: (adj, n) animation, briskness; (n) life, effervescence, buoyancy, exuberance, vigor,

activity, agility, cheerfulness, enthusiasm. ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, awkwardness, lifelessness, laziness, sadness, apathy.

maturer: (adj) overripe, ripe, ripened.

superseded: (adj) outmoded, archaic, extinct, obsolete, out of date, outdated.

theatricals: (n) Melpomene and Thalia, sock, Thespis, acting, dramaturgy, buskin, cothurnus.

Thus in a succession of characters Plato represents the successive stages of morality, beginning with the Athenian gentleman of the **olden** time, who is followed by the practical man of that day regulating his life by **proverbs** and saws; to him succeeds the wild generalization of the Sophists, and lastly come the young **disciples** of the great teacher, who know the sophistical arguments but will not be convinced by them, and desire to go deeper into the nature of things. These too, like Cephalus, Polemarchus, Thrasymachus, are clearly distinguished from one another. Neither in the Republic, nor in any other Dialogue of Plato, is a single character repeated.

The **delineation** of Socrates in the Republic is not wholly consistent. In the first book we have more of the real Socrates, such as he is depicted in the Memorabilia of Xenophon, in the earliest Dialogues of Plato, and in the Apology. He is **ironical**, provoking, questioning, the old enemy of the Sophists, ready to put on the mask of Silenus as well as to argue seriously. But in the sixth book his enmity towards the Sophists abates; he acknowledges that they are the representatives rather than the corrupters of the world. He also becomes more dogmatic and constructive, passing beyond the range either of the political or the speculative ideas of the real Socrates. In one passage Plato himself seems to intimate that the time had now come for Socrates, who had passed his whole life in philosophy, to give his own opinion and not to be always repeating the notions of other men. There is no evidence that either the idea of good or the conception of a perfect state were comprehended in the Socratic teaching, though he certainly dwelt on the nature of the universal and of final causes (cp. Xen. Mem.; Phaedo); and a deep thinker like him, in his thirty or forty years of public teaching, could hardly have failed to touch on the nature of family relations, for which there is also some positive evidence in the Memorabilia (Mem.) The Socratic method is nominally retained; and every inference is either put into the mouth of the respondent or represented as the common discovery of him and Socrates. But any one can see that this is a mere form, of which the affectation grows wearisome as the work advances. The method of enquiry has passed into a method of teaching in which by the help of interlocutors the same thesis is looked at from various points of view. The nature of the process is truly

affectation: (n) pretension, feint, pose, display, airs, affectedness, ostentation, show, pretense, mannerism, sham. ANTONYMS: (n) artlessness, honesty, modesty. delineation: (n) portrayal, description, picture, definition, drawing, design, outline, diagram, plan, sketch, illustration. ANTONYM: (n) unity. disciples: (n) congregation. dwelt: (v) dwell, inhabit. enmity: (n, v) animosity; (n)

#### **Thesaurus**

antagonism, animus, hostility, aggression, rancor, ill will, antipathy, hatred, war, dislike. ANTONYMS: (n) friendship, friendliness, affinity, love, kindness, affection, adoration, amity, cooperation, goodwill. ironical: (adj) sarcastic, satirical, dry, burlesque, wry, sardonic, satiric, derisive, caustic, quizzical; (n) humorous.
nominally: (adv) formally, smally, nominatively.

**olden**: (*adj*) old, past, former, whilom, archaic, bygone, early, previous, immemorial, outmoded, old-world. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) contemporary, modern. **proverbs**: (*n*) proverb. **wearisome**: (*adj*: *n*) tiresome irksome.

wearisome: (adj, v) tiresome, irksome, troublesome; (adj) tedious, dull, monotonous, boring, laborious, trying, slow, annoying. ANTONYMS: (adj) satisfying, soothing, exciting, refreshing, easy.

characterized by Glaucon, when he describes himself as a companion who is not good for much in an investigation, but can see what he is shown, and may, perhaps, give the answer to a question more **fluently** than another.

Neither can we be absolutely certain that Socrates himself taught the immortality of the soul, which is unknown to his disciple Glaucon in the Republic (cp. Apol.); nor is there any reason to suppose that he used myths or revelations of another world as a vehicle of instruction, or that he would have banished poetry or have denounced the Greek mythology. His favorite oath is retained, and a slight mention is made of the daemonium, or internal sign, which is alluded to by Socrates as a phenomenon peculiar to himself. A real element of Socratic teaching, which is more prominent in the Republic than in any of the other Dialogues of Plato, is the use of example and illustration (Greek): 'Let us apply the test of common instances.' 'You,' says Adeimantus, ironically, in the sixth book, 'are so unaccustomed to speak in images.' And this use of examples or images, though truly Socratic in origin, is enlarged by the genius of Plato into the form of an allegory or parable, which embodies in the concrete what has been already described, or is about to be described, in the abstract. Thus the figure of the cave in Book VII is a **recapitulation** of the divisions of knowledge in Book VI. The composite animal in Book IX is an allegory of the parts of the soul. The noble captain and the ship and the true pilot in Book VI are a figure of the relation of the people to the philosophers in the State which has been described. Other figures, such as the dog, or the marriage of the portionless maiden, or the drones and wasps in the eighth and ninth books, also form links of connexion in long passages, or are used to recall previous discussions.

Plato is most true to the character of his master when he describes him as 'not of this world.' And with this representation of him the ideal state and the other paradoxes of the Republic are quite in accordance, though they cannot be shown to have been speculations of Socrates. To him, as to other great teachers both philosophical and religious, when they looked upward, the world seemed to be the embodiment of error and evil. The common sense of mankind has **revolted** against this view, or has only partially admitted it. And even in Socrates himself

# **Thesaurus** beloved, popular; (n) pet, choice,

allegory: (n) fable, parable, figure of speech, metaphor, symbol, emblem, apologue, story, symbolization; (adj, n) simile; (adj) type. ANTONYMS: (n) history, fact, chronicle.
disciple: (n) adherent, follower, devotee, scholar, pupil, believer, proselyte, cohort, learner, partisan, votary. ANTONYMS: (n) leader, teacher, God, instructor. favorite: (adj, n) darling, favourite, dear, number one; (adj) favored,

pick, preference. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, superior, underdog; (adj) unwanted, despised, disliked, hated, unusual.

fluently: (adv) easily, glibly, eloquently, liquidly, flowingly, articulately, clearly, persuasively, verbosely, talkatively, fluidly.

ANTONYM: (adv) awkwardly.

immortality: (n) sempiternity, perpetuity, athanasia, glory, aye,

fame, everness, immortal, permanency, deathlessness, undying. ANTONYM: (n) mortality. recapitulation: (n) recap, outline, summary, resume, epanodos, review, palingenesis; (v) capitation, dead reckoning, muster, poll. ANTONYM: (n) cenogenesis. revelations: (n) gospels, acts, apocalypse, Epistles. revolted: (adj) sickened, sick, shocked, horrified, disgusted, appalled.

the sterner judgement of the multitude at times passes into a sort of ironical pity or love. Men in general are incapable of philosophy, and are therefore at enmity with the philosopher; but their misunderstanding of him is unavoidable: for they have never seen him as he truly is in his own image; they are only acquainted with artificial systems possessing no native force of truth—words which admit of many applications. Their leaders have nothing to measure with, and are therefore ignorant of their own stature. But they are to be pitied or laughed at, not to be quarrelled with; they mean well with their nostrums, if they could only learn that they are cutting off a Hydra's head. This moderation towards those who are in error is one of the most characteristic features of Socrates in the Republic. In all the different representations of Socrates, whether of Xenophon or Plato, and amid the differences of the earlier or later Dialogues, he always retains the character of the unwearied and disinterested seeker after truth, without which he would have ceased to be Socrates.

Leaving the characters we may now analyse the contents of the Republic, and then proceed to consider (1) The general aspects of this Hellenic ideal of the State, (2) The modern lights in which the thoughts of Plato may be read.

# **Thesaurus**

acquainted: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, aware, cognizant, conversant, hand and glove, intimate, thick; (adv) abreast; (v) inform, acquaint.

disinterested: (adj) indifferent, detached, fair, unbiased, objective, neutral, dispassionate, equitable, evenhanded, uninterested, impassive. ANTONYMS: (adj) biased, interested, prejudiced, eager, passionate, riveted, concerned,

partial, personal.

moderation: (n) abstinence,
abstemiousness, moderateness,
abatement, measure, alleviation,
sobriety, patience, restraint,
soberness, easing. ANTONYMS: (n)
intemperance, overindulgence,
excess, increase, immoderation,
strength, extremism, indulgence,
impatience, harshness, abandon.
possessing: (adj) fruitive.
seeker: (n) searcher, hunter, quester,

applicant, gadabout, soul, someone, somebody, examiner, zetetic, searcher beetle. stature: (n) height, altitude, standing, tallness, prestige, figure, growth, status, quality, rank, greatness. unwearied: (adj) indefatigable, untiring, tireless, untired, indomitable, unflagging, industrious, tolerant, persistent, persevering, laborious. ANTONYM: (adj) impatient.

## ANALYSIS OF BOOK I

The Republic opens with a truly Greek scene—a festival in honour of the **goddess** Bendis which is held in the Piraeus; to this is added the promise of an **equestrian** torch-race in the evening. The whole work is supposed to be recited by Socrates on the day after the festival to a small party, consisting of Critias, Timaeus, Hermocrates, and another; this we learn from the first words of the Timaeus.

When the **rhetorical** advantage of **reciting** the Dialogue has been gained, the attention is not **distracted** by any reference to the audience; nor is the reader further reminded of the extraordinary length of the narrative. Of the numerous company, three only take any serious part in the discussion; nor are we informed whether in the evening they went to the torch-race, or talked, as in the Symposium, through the night. The manner in which the conversation has **arisen** is described as follows:—Socrates and his companion Glaucon are about to leave the festival when they are detained by a message from Polemarchus, who **speedily** appears accompanied by Adeimantus, the brother of Glaucon, and with **playful** violence compels them to remain, promising them not only the torch-race, but the pleasure of conversation with the young, which to Socrates is a far greater attraction. They return to the house of Cephalus, Polemarchus' father, now in extreme old age, who is found sitting upon a **cushioned** seat **crowned** for a sacrifice. 'You should come to me oftener, Socrates, for I am too

# Thesaurus horseback rider, breaker, postilion;

goddess: (n) divinity, God, beauty,

(adj) mounted.

arisen: (adj) risen.
crowned: (adj) laureled, fulfilled,
browbound, incoronate, successful.
cushioned: (adj) spongy, cushiony.
distracted: (adj) demented, inattentive,
abstracted, crazy, frenzied,
distraught, preoccupied, distressed,
confused; (adj, v) mad, disconcerted.
ANTONYMS: (adj) attentive, alert,
assured, calm, mellow.
equestrian: (n) rider, trooper, trainer,
buster, roughrider, horsewoman,

nymph; (adj, n) idol; (adj) duck, darling, angel, Dulcinea, ladylove, inamorata.

playful: (adj) frisky, humorous, kittenish, mischievous, skittish, impish, naughty, merry, lighthearted, frivolous, frolicsome. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, lethargic, solemn, staid, subdued, heavy.

reciting: (v) recite.
rhetorical: (adj) pompous,
declamatory, grandiloquent,
bombastic, forensic, flowery,
magniloquent, turgid, embellished,
ornate; (n) rhetoric. ANTONYMS:
(adj) quiet, unrhetorical.
speedily: (adj, adv) quickly, quick,
immediately; (adv) rapidly, promptly,
hastily, swiftly, fast, apace, hurriedly,
fleetly. ANTONYMS: (adv) later,
eventually.

old to go to you; and at my time of life, having lost other pleasures, I care the more for conversation.' Socrates asks him what he thinks of age, to which the old man replies, that the sorrows and discontents of age are to be attributed to the tempers of men, and that age is a time of peace in which the tyranny of the passions is no longer felt. Yes, replies Socrates, but the world will say, Cephalus, that you are happy in old age because you are rich. 'And there is something in what they say, Socrates, but not so much as they imagine - as Themistocles replied to the Seriphian, "Neither you, if you had been an Athenian, nor I, if I had been a Seriphian, would ever have been famous," I might in like manner reply to you, Neither a good poor man can be happy in age, nor yet a bad rich man.' Socrates remarks that Cephalus appears not to care about riches, a quality which he ascribes to his having inherited, not acquired them, and would like to know what he considers to be the chief advantage of them. Cephalus answers that when you are old the belief in the world below grows upon you, and then to have done justice and never to have been compelled to do injustice through poverty, and never to have deceived anyone, are felt to be unspeakable blessings. Socrates, who is evidently preparing for an argument, next asks, What is the meaning of the word justice? To tell the truth and pay your debts? No more than this? Or must we admit exceptions? Ought I, for example, to put back into the hands of my friend, who has gone mad, the sword which I borrowed of him when he was in his right mind? 'There must be exceptions.' 'And yet,' says Polemarchus, 'the definition which has been given has the authority of Simonides.' Here Cephalus retires to look after the sacrifices, and bequeaths, as Socrates facetiously remarks, the possession of the argument to his heir, Polemarchus...

The description of old age is finished, and Plato, as his manner is, has touched the key-note of the whole work in asking for the definition of justice, first suggesting the question which Glaucon afterwards pursues respecting external goods, and preparing for the concluding mythus of the world below in the slight allusion of Cephalus. The portrait of the just man is a natural frontispiece or introduction to the long discourse which follows, and may perhaps imply that in all our perplexity about the nature of justice, there is no

answers: (n) replies; (adj) answering. blessings: (n) blessing, godsend. compelled: (adj) forced, obligate, enforced, constrained, responsible, answerable, unwilling, destined. concluding: (adj) last, terminal, ultimate, closing, definitive, conclusive, latest; (n) ending, dying, finishing, reasoning. ANTONYMS: (adj) opening, former, first. deceived: (adj) mistaken, misguided. facetiously: (adv) farcically, wittily,

# Thesaurus

funnily, jocularly, merrily, waggishly, pleasures: (n) pleasure. jokingly, frivolously, whimsically, jocosely, comically. frontispiece: (n) front, heading, frontage, facia, face, groundwork, endpapers, pediment, proscenium. perplexity: (n) confusion, dilemma, bewilderment, maze, labyrinth, embarrassment, quandary, complication, enigma; (adj, n) difficulty, distress. ANTONYM: (n) understanding.

riches: (n, v) money; (n) affluence, abundance, fortune, opulence, plenty, prosperity, exuberance, treasure, resources; (v) gold. sacrifices: (n) holocaust.

unspeakable: (adj) ineffable, dreadful, awful, terrible, inexpressible, nasty, horrible, atrocious, indefinable, shocking; (adj, v) unutterable. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, wonderful, pleasant, good, lovely, bearable.

difficulty in discerning 'who is a just man.' The first explanation has been supported by a saying of Simonides; and now Socrates has a mind to show that the resolution of justice into two unconnected precepts, which have no common principle, fails to satisfy the demands of dialectic.

...He proceeds: What did Simonides mean by this saving of his? Did he mean that I was to give back arms to a **madman**? 'No, not in that case, not if the parties are friends, and evil would result. He meant that you were to do what was proper, good to friends and harm to enemies.' Every act does something to somebody; and following this analogy, Socrates asks, What is this due and proper thing which justice does, and to whom? He is answered that justice does good to friends and harm to enemies. But in what way good or harm? 'In making alliances with the one, and going to war with the other.' Then in time of peace what is the good of justice? The answer is that justice is of use in **contracts**, and contracts are money partnerships. Yes; but how in such partnerships is the just man of more use than any other man? 'When you want to have money safely kept and not used.' Then justice will be useful when money is useless. And there is another difficulty: justice, like the art of war or any other art, must be of opposites, good at attack as well as at defence, at stealing as well as at guarding. But then justice is a thief, though a hero notwithstanding, like Autolycus, the Homeric hero, who was 'excellent above all men in theft and perjury' — to such a pass have you and Homer and Simonides brought us; though I do not forget that the **thieving** must be for the good of friends and the harm of enemies. And still there arises another question: Are friends to be interpreted as real or seeming; enemies as real or seeming? And are our friends to be only the good, and our enemies to be the evil? The answer is, that we must do good to our seeming and real good friends, and evil to our seeming and real evil enemies – good to the good, evil to the evil. But ought we to render evil for evil at all, when to do so will only make men more evil? Can justice produce injustice any more than the art of **horsemanship** can make bad horsemen, or heat produce cold? The final conclusion is, that no sage or poet ever said that the just return evil for evil; this was a maxim of some rich and mighty man, Periander, Perdiccas, or Ismenias the Theban (about B.C. 398-381)...

#### contracts: (n) business. discerning: (adj) apprehensive, perceptive, acute, shrewd, discriminating, discreet, penetrating, refined, judicious, sharp, conscious. ANTONYMS: (adj) indiscriminate, undiscriminating, disregardful, negligent, overlooking, undiscerning, sage: (adj) sagacious, discerning, unobservant, unperceptive, insensitive, obtuse, tasteless. horsemanship: (adj) airmanship, marksmanship, seamanship; (v) ride thieving: (n) larceny, stealing, robbery,

equestrianism, attainment, acquisition, acquirement, accomplishment. madman: (n) bedlamite, maniac, crazy, loony, nut, madcap, looney, loco, sufferer, raver, nutcase. intelligent, prudent, judicious, learned, profound, knowing; (adj, v) grave; (n) philosopher, scholar.

Thesaurus

and tie; (n) skill, manege,

embezzlement, misapplication, misappropriation, peculation, defalcation, burglary, thievery; (adj) thievish. ANTONYMS: (adj) philanthropic, benevolent. unconnected: (adj) detached, disjointed, incoherent, unrelated, illogical, confused, irrelevant, incongruous; (adj, prep) separate, separated; (v) unattached. ANTONYMS: (adj) attached, pertinent, relevant, together.

Thus the first stage of aphoristic or unconscious morality is shown to be inadequate to the wants of the age; the authority of the poets is set aside, and through the winding mazes of dialectic we make an approach to the Christian precept of forgiveness of injuries. Similar words are applied by the Persian mystic poet to the Divine being when the questioning spirit is stirred within him: -'If because I do evil, Thou punishest me by evil, what is the difference between Thee and me?' In this both Plato and Kheyam rise above the level of many Christian (?) theologians. The first definition of justice easily passes into the second; for the simple words 'to speak the truth and pay your debts' is substituted the more abstract 'to do good to your friends and harm to your enemies.' Either of these explanations gives a sufficient rule of life for plain men, but they both fall short of the precision of philosophy. We may note in passing the antiquity of casuistry, which not only arises out of the conflict of established principles in particular cases, but also out of the effort to attain them, and is prior as well as **posterior** to our fundamental notions of morality. The 'interrogation' of moral ideas; the appeal to the authority of Homer; the conclusion that the maxim, 'Do good to your friends and harm to your enemies,' being erroneous, could not have been the word of any great man, are all of them very characteristic of the Platonic Socrates.

...Here Thrasymachus, who has made several attempts to interrupt, but has hitherto been kept in order by the company, takes advantage of a pause and **rushes** into the arena, beginning, like a savage animal, with a roar. 'Socrates,' he says, 'what folly is this?—Why do you agree to be **vanquished** by one another in a pretended argument?' He then prohibits all the ordinary definitions of justice; to which Socrates replies that he cannot tell how many twelve is, if he is forbidden to say 2 x 6, or 3 x 4, or 6 x 2, or 4 x 3. At first Thrasymachus is reluctant to argue; but at length, with a promise of payment on the part of the company and of praise from Socrates, he is induced to open the game. 'Listen,' he says, 'my answer is that might is right, justice the interest of the stronger: now praise me.' Let me understand you first. Do you mean that because Polydamas the **wrestler**, who is stronger than we are, finds the eating of beef for his interest, the eating of beef is also for our interest, who are not so strong?

# **Thesaurus**

antiquity: (n) ancientness, ancientry, past, relic, status quo, artefact, artifact, oldness, old age, hoariness; (adj, n) age. ANTONYMS: (n) today, newness, modernity.
aphoristic: (adj) axiomatic, sententious, aphoristical, apothegmatical, short, gnomical, epigrammatic, concise, terse.
casuistry: (n) evasion, quibble, perversion, sophistry, line, jesuitry, ethics, polity, fallacy, legerdemain,

probabilism.

mystic: (adj, v) secret, recondite; (adj)
mysterious, occult, cryptical, cryptic,
esoteric, inscrutable, weird, magical;
(adj, n) psychic.

posterior: (adj, n) rear; (n) backside, buttocks, bottom, behind, latter, rump, can; (adj) later, following, subsequent. ANTONYMS: (adj) anterior, forward, front, previous, earlier.

precept: (n) canon, decree, command,

mandate, charge, lesson, injunction, law, commandment, principle; (*adj*, *n*) rule.

rushes: (n) rush, grasses.
vanquished: (adj) beaten,
overwhelmed, routed, overcome,
overpowered, overthrown, defeated,
crushed, tried, tired out, practiced.
wrestler: (n) athlete, combatant,
lightweight, grappler, matman,
gladiator, prize fighter, pugilist,
heavyweight, bruiser, the fancy.

Thrasymachus is indignant at the illustration, and in pompous words, apparently intended to restore dignity to the argument, he explains his meaning to be that the rulers make laws for their own interests. But suppose, says Socrates, that the ruler or stronger makes a mistake-then the interest of the stronger is not his interest. Thrasymachus is saved from this speedy downfall by his disciple Cleitophon, who introduces the word 'thinks;'-not the actual interest of the ruler, but what he thinks or what seems to be his interest, is justice. The contradiction is escaped by the unmeaning evasion: for though his real and apparent interests may differ, what the ruler thinks to be his interest will always remain what he thinks to be his interest.

Of course this was not the original assertion, nor is the new interpretation accepted by Thrasymachus himself. But Socrates is not disposed to quarrel about words, if, as he significantly insinuates, his adversary has changed his mind. In what follows Thrasymachus does in fact withdraw his admission that the ruler may make a mistake, for he affirms that the ruler as a ruler is **infallible**. Socrates is quite ready to accept the new position, which he equally turns against Thrasymachus by the help of the analogy of the arts. Every art or science has an interest, but this interest is to be distinguished from the accidental interest of the artist, and is only concerned with the good of the things or persons which come under the art. And justice has an interest which is the interest not of the ruler or judge, but of those who come under his sway.

Thrasymachus is on the brink of the inevitable conclusion, when he makes a bold diversion. 'Tell me, Socrates,' he says, 'have you a nurse?' What a question! Why do you ask? 'Because, if you have, she neglects you and lets you go about drivelling, and has not even taught you to know the shepherd from the sheep. For you fancy that shepherds and rulers never think of their own interest, but only of their sheep or subjects, whereas the truth is that they fatten them for their use, sheep and subjects alike. And experience proves that in every relation of life the just man is the loser and the unjust the **gainer**, especially where injustice is on the grand scale, which is quite another thing from the petty rogueries of swindlers and burglars and robbers of temples. The language of men proves

#### Thesaurus

elaborate; (v) fatten up, feed, fill out;

fatten: (adj, n) enrich; (adj, v) fat,

adversary: (n) antagonist, foe, enemy, competitor, rival, opposition, opposer, contestant, match, somebody; (adj) hostile. ANTONYMS: (n) ally, supporter, friend, partner, helper, assistant. evasion: (n, v) equivocation, avoidance, subterfuge, prevarication; (n) escape, quibble, dodge, excuse, elusion, casuistry, circumvention. ANTONYMS: (n) facing, confrontation, confronting, meeting.

(adj) fructify, bloom, bear fruit, blossom, blow. ANTONYMS: (v) undernourish, starve. gainer: (n) diving, weight gainer, dive. laws: (n) Pentateuch, Torah. indignant: (adj) angry, incensed, furious, enraged, wrathful, hurt, rage, provoked, hot, anger, irate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cool, content, unaffected. infallible: (adj) sure, inevitable,

dependable; (adj, v) unerring; (n)sterling. ANTONYMS: (adj) fallible, temples: (n) brow. unmeaning: (adj) insignificant, meaningless, senseless, nonsensical, irrational, expressionless, gibberish, foolish, peanut, weetless, undistinguished.

positive, inerrable, unfailing,

absolute, confident, definite,

this-our 'gracious' and 'blessed' tyrant and the like-all which tends to show (1) that justice is the interest of the stronger; and (2) that injustice is more profitable and also stronger than justice.'

Thrasymachus, who is better at a speech than at a close argument, having deluged the company with words, has a mind to escape. But the others will not let him go, and Socrates adds a humble but earnest request that he will not desert them at such a crisis of their fate. 'And what can I do more for you?' he says; 'would you have me put the words bodily into your souls?' God forbid! replies Socrates; but we want you to be consistent in the use of terms, and not to employ 'physician' in an exact sense, and then again 'shepherd' or 'ruler' in an inexact, – if the words are strictly taken, the ruler and the shepherd look only to the good of their people or flocks and not to their own: whereas you insist that rulers are solely actuated by love of office. 'No doubt about it,' replies Thrasymachus. Then why are they paid? Is not the reason, that their interest is not comprehended in their art, and is therefore the concern of another art, the art of pay, which is common to the arts in general, and therefore not identical with any one of them? Nor would any man be a ruler unless he were induced by the hope of reward or the fear of punishment; – the reward is money or honour, the punishment is the necessity of being ruled by a man worse than himself. And if a State (or Church) were composed entirely of good men, they would be affected by the last motive only; and there would be as much 'nolo episcopari' as there is at present of the opposite...

The satire on existing governments is heightened by the simple and apparently **incidental** manner in which the last remark is introduced. There is a similar irony in the argument that the governors of mankind do not like being in office, and that therefore they demand pay.

the other assertion of Thrasymachus is far more ...Enough of this: important – that the unjust life is more **gainful** than the just. Now, as you and I, Glaucon, are not convinced by him, we must reply to him; but if we try to compare their respective gains we shall want a judge to decide for us; we had

#### Thesaurus

actuated: (adj) motivated, actuate. earnest: (adj, v) devout; (adj) eager, solemn, heartfelt, diligent, studious, sincere, intense, ardent, staid; (n) guarantee. ANTONYMS: (adj) flippant, halfhearted, uncertain, insincere, unimportant, nonchalant, lethargic, apathetic, unenthusiastic, indifferent, frivolous. forbid: (v) prohibit, ban, disallow, bar, incidental: (adj) fortuitous, accidental, obstruct, exclude, deny, avert, frustrate, to prohibit, enjoin.

ANTONYMS: (v) allow, let, approve, authorize, stand. gainful: (adj) beneficial, lucrative, worthwhile, fruitful, paying, useful, productive, helpful, paid, rewarding; (adj, v) advantageous. ANTONYM: (adj) disadvantageous.

heightened: (adj) excited, intense, irritate, keen, resonant, sensitive. contingent, adventitious, collateral, chance, occasional, incident,

attendant, concomitant, episodic. ANTONYMS: (adj) basic, direct, intended, significant. satire: (n) sarcasm, lampoon, mockery, parody, ridicule, caricature, burlesque, quip, spoof, derision; (v)

tyrant: (n) dictator, oppressor, autocrat, disciplinarian, bully, authoritarian, sovereign, czar, monarch, suzerain, stickler.

better therefore proceed by making mutual admissions of the truth to one another.

Thrasymachus had asserted that perfect injustice was more gainful than perfect justice, and after a little hesitation he is induced by Socrates to admit the still greater paradox that injustice is virtue and justice vice. Socrates praises his **frankness**, and assumes the attitude of one whose only wish is to understand the meaning of his opponents. At the same time he is weaving a net in which Thrasymachus is finally enclosed. The admission is elicited from him that the just man seeks to gain an advantage over the unjust only, but not over the just, while the unjust would gain an advantage over either. Socrates, in order to test this statement, employs once more the favourite analogy of the arts. The musician, doctor, skilled artist of any sort, does not seek to gain more than the skilled, but only more than the unskilled (that is to say, he works up to a rule, standard, law, and does not exceed it), whereas the unskilled makes random efforts at excess. Thus the skilled falls on the side of the good, and the unskilled on the side of the evil, and the just is the skilled, and the unjust is the unskilled.

There was great difficulty in bringing Thrasymachus to the point; the day was hot and he was streaming with **perspiration**, and for the first time in his life he was seen to blush. But his other thesis that injustice was stronger than justice has not yet been refuted, and Socrates now proceeds to the consideration of this, which, with the assistance of Thrasymachus, he hopes to clear up; the latter is at first **churlish**, but in the judicious hands of Socrates is soon restored to good-humour: Is there not honour among thieves? Is not the strength of injustice only a **remnant** of justice? Is not absolute injustice absolute weakness also? A house that is divided against itself cannot stand; two men who quarrel **detract** from one another's strength, and he who is at war with himself is the enemy of himself and the gods. Not **wickedness** therefore, but semi-wickedness **flourishes** in states,—a remnant of good is needed in order to make union in action possible,—there is no kingdom of evil in this world.

Another question has not been answered: Is the just or the unjust the happier? To this we reply, that every art has an end and an excellence or virtue

#### **Thesaurus**

churlish: (adj) rude, rough, impolite, loutish, gruff, curt, abrupt, brusque, blunt, brutish, discourteous.

ANTONYMS: (adj) agreeable, civil, courteous, nice, polite.

**detract**: (v) depreciate, defame, derogate, deprecate, traduce, disparage, lose, cut, slander, subtract, damage. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, heighten, enhance.

**flourishes**: (*n*) added extras, trappings, superfluities, trimmings,

accompaniments, additions, embellishments.

frankness: (n) honesty, truth, forthrightness, candidness, freedom, sincerity, candour, plainness, bluffness, outspokenness, ingenuousness. ANTONYMS: (n) cunning, tact, delicacy, deceit, conformity, reticence, indirectness, evasiveness.

**perspiration**: (*n*) diaphoresis, hidrosis, sudor, sweating, extravasation,

secretion, exertion, exudation, effort, lather, water.

remnant: (n) end, relic, remains, residue, fragment, leftover, survival, trace, oddment, balance, stub. wickedness: (n) depravity, sin, sinfulness, iniquity, harm, ill, vice, evilness, corruption, immorality, crime. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, kindness, piety, righteousness, benevolence, religiousness, obedience, good.

by which the end is accomplished. And is not the end of the soul happiness, and justice the excellence of the soul by which happiness is attained? Justice and happiness being thus shown to be inseparable, the question whether the just or the unjust is the happier has disappeared.

Thrasymachus replies: 'Let this be vour entertainment, Socrates, at the festival of Bendis.' Yes; and a very good entertainment with which your kindness has supplied me, now that you have left off scolding. And yet not a good entertainment – but that was my own fault, for I tasted of too many things. First of all the nature of justice was the subject of our enquiry, and then whether justice is virtue and wisdom, or evil and folly; and then the comparative advantages of just and unjust: and the sum of all is that I know not what justice is; how then shall I know whether the just is happy or not?...

Thus the sophistical fabric has been demolished, chiefly by appealing to the analogy of the arts. 'Justice is like the arts (1) in having no external interest, and (2) in not aiming at excess, and (3) justice is to happiness what the implement of the workman is to his work.' At this the modern reader is apt to stumble, because he forgets that Plato is writing in an age when the arts and the virtues, like the moral and intellectual faculties, were still undistinguished. Among early enquirers into the nature of human action the arts helped to fill up the void of speculation; and at first the comparison of the arts and the virtues was not perceived by them to be fallacious. They only saw the points of agreement in them and not the points of difference. Virtue, like art, must take means to an end; good manners are both an art and a virtue; character is naturally described under the image of a statue; and there are many other figures of speech which are readily transferred from art to morals. The next generation cleared up these perplexities; or at least supplied after ages with a further analysis of them. The contemporaries of Plato were in a state of transition, and had not yet fully realized the common-sense distinction of Aristotle, that 'virtue is concerned with action, art with production' (Nic. Eth.), or that 'virtue implies intention and constancy of purpose,' whereas 'art requires knowledge only'. And yet in the absurdities which follow from some uses of the analogy, there seems to be an

# Thesaurus untrue, specious. ANTONYMS: (adj)

constancy: (n) allegiance, devotion, resolution, fidelity, loyalty, steadfastness, faithfulness, steadiness, firmness, perseverance, unchangeableness. ANTONYMS: (n) inconstancy, inconsistency, changefulness, instability, disloyalty, unfaithfulness, unreliability, dishonesty. fallacious: (adj) deceitful, deceptive,

false, wrong, misleading, unsound, delusive, inaccurate, incorrect,

true, valid, correct, substantiated, veritable, logical. scolding: (n) rebuke, lecture, castigation, admonition, reproof, objurgation, chiding, dressing, jobation, scold, rating. ANTONYMS: (n) compliment, approval. stumble: (adj, n, v) slip; (n, v) lurch, fall, err, stagger; (adj, v) blunder, flounder, fumble; (n) misstep; (v) hit,

undistinguished: (adj) nameless, common, mediocre, middling, indifferent, average, obscure, humble, insignificant, plain, trivial. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinctive, unforgettable, illustrious, extraordinary, exceptional, unusual, brilliant, inspiring. workman: (n) laborer, working man, worker, employee, hand, operative,

artisan, working person, lather, mechanic, artificer.

**intimation conveyed** that virtue is more than art. This is implied in the reductio ad absurdum that 'justice is a thief,' and in the dissatisfaction which Socrates expresses at the final result.

The expression 'an art of pay' which is described as 'common to all the arts' is not in accordance with the ordinary use of language. Nor is it employed elsewhere either by Plato or by any other Greek writer. It is suggested by the argument, and seems to extend the conception of art to doing as well as making. Another flaw or **inaccuracy** of language may be noted in the words 'men who are injured are made more unjust.' For those who are injured are not necessarily made worse, but only harmed or ill- treated.

The second of the three arguments, 'that the just does not aim at excess,' has a real meaning, though wrapped up in an **enigmatical** form. That the good is of the nature of the finite is a peculiarly Hellenic sentiment, which may be compared with the language of those modern writers who speak of virtue as fitness, and of freedom as obedience to law. The mathematical or logical notion of limit easily passes into an ethical one, and even finds a mythological expression in the conception of envy (Greek). Ideas of measure, equality, order, unity, proportion, still linger in the writings of moralists; and the true spirit of the fine arts is better conveyed by such terms than by superlatives.

When workmen strive to do better than well, They do **confound** their skill in **covetousness**.

King John

The harmony of the soul and body, and of the parts of the soul with one another, a harmony 'fairer than that of musical notes,' is the true Hellenic mode of **conceiving** the perfection of human nature.

In what may be called the **epilogue** of the discussion with Thrasymachus, Plato argues that evil is not a principle of strength, but of discord and dissolution, just touching the question which has been often treated in modern times by theologians and philosophers, of the negative nature of evil. In the last

conceiving: (n) fantasy, daydream; (adj) imaginant, original.
confound: (v) bewilder, baffle,
nonplus, perplex, astonish, puzzle,
amaze, astound, mistake; (adj, v)
confuse, stupefy. ANTONYMS: (v)
explain, clarify, comfort, lose,
distinguish; (n) understanding.
conveyed: (v) borne, sent.
covetousness: (n) cupidity, greed,
rapacity, desire, stinginess,
greediness, acquisitiveness,

#### **Thesaurus**

avariciousness, avaritia, envy,

enviousness. ANTONYM: (n)

generosity.

enigmatical: (adj) mysterious, obscure, indeterminate, oracular, perplexing, unintelligible, ambiguous, cabalistic, confusing, dark, difficult.

epilogue: (n) epilog, ending, afterword, end, close, closing,

afterword, end, close, closing, conclusion, finale, peroration, speech, sequel. ANTONYMS: (n) foreword, preface, prelude, prologue,

introduction.

inaccuracy: (n) fault, blunder, falsity,
mistake, slip, falseness, incorrectness,
miscalculation, quality,
impreciseness, deviation.

ANTONYMS: (n) accuracy,
correctness, exactitude, realism,
validity, care.
intimation: (n) hint, inkling,
implication, insinuation, suggestion,
clue, allusion, indication, cue, notice,
innuendo.

argument we trace the **germ** of the Aristotelian **doctrine** of an end and a virtue directed towards the end, which again is suggested by the arts. The final reconcilement of justice and **happiness** and the identity of the individual and the State are also **intimated**. Socrates reassumes the character of a 'know-nothing,' at the same time he appears to be not wholly satisfied with the manner in which the argument has been conducted. Nothing is concluded; but the tendency of the **dialectical** process, here as always, is to **enlarge** our **conception** of ideas, and to **widen** their application to human life.

#### **Thesaurus**

conception: (*n*) concept, idea, view, thought, creation, mind, design, imagination, impression, understanding, fancy. ANTONYMS: (*n*) termination, finish, ending, concrete, abortion, ignorance, destruction.

**dialectical**: (adj) dialectal, logical, forensic.

**doctrine**: (*n*) creed, philosophy, belief, dogma, credo, conviction, lesson, canon, faith, gospel, school.

enlarge: (v) expand, aggrandize, augment, dilate, distend, widen, increase, elaborate, extend, blow up, grow. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, shrink, contract, decrease, compress, condense, diminish, lessen, minimize, narrow, abridge.

**germ**: (*n*) beginning, bacterium, bud, sprout, kernel, microbe, embryo, egg, bacillus, root, seed.

**happiness**: (*n*) delight, merriment, ecstasy, welfare, gladness, luck,

cheerfulness, blessedness, bliss, felicity, contentment. ANTONYMS: (n) sadness, despair, grief, misery, dissatisfaction, seriousness, dullness, discontent, dejection, gloominess, displeasure.

intimated: (adj) tacit, furtive, dejected. widen: (v) extend, stretch, broaden, enlarge, increase, spread, distend, develop, dilate, amplify, flare. ANTONYMS: (v) contract, cramp, restrict, shrink, curtail, decrease.

## ANALYSIS OF BOOK II

Thrasymachus is pacified, but the intrepid Glaucon insists on continuing the argument. He is not satisfied with the indirect manner in which, at the end of the last book, Socrates had disposed of the question 'Whether the just or the unjust is the happier.' He begins by dividing goods into three classes: - first, goods desirable in themselves; secondly, goods desirable in themselves and for their results; thirdly, goods desirable for their results only. He then asks Socrates in which of the three classes he would place justice. In the second class, replies Socrates, among goods desirable for themselves and also for their results. 'Then the world in general are of another mind, for they say that justice belongs to the troublesome class of goods which are desirable for their results only. Socrates answers that this is the doctrine of Thrasymachus which he rejects. Glaucon thinks that Thrasymachus was too ready to listen to the voice of the **charmer**, and proposes to consider the nature of justice and injustice in themselves and apart from the results and rewards of them which the world is always dinning in his ears. He will first of all speak of the nature and origin of justice; secondly, of the manner in which men view justice as a necessity and not a good; and thirdly, he will prove the **reasonableness** of this view.

'To do injustice is said to be a good; to suffer injustice an evil. As the evil is discovered by experience to be greater than the good, the sufferers, who cannot also be doers, make a compact that they will have neither, and this compact or

## **Thesaurus**

**charmer**: (*n*) warlock, enchanter, sorcerer, person, mortal, soul, someone, somebody, phony, mage, individual.

disposed: (adj) prone, apt, ready, subject, prepared, liable, game, inclined, fain, likely, minded. ANTONYMS: (adj) ailing, indisposed, unlikely, disinclined, reluctant, impervious.

intrepid: (adj) daring, fearless, bold, brave, dauntless, gallant, audacious, hardy, adventurous, heroic, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) fearful, timid, cautious, feeble. pacified: (adj) appeased.

**reasonableness**: (*n*) rationality, reason, equity, justice, fairness, moderation, sanity, likelihood, common sense, modestness, moderateness.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) unreasonableness, excessiveness.

**rejects**: (*adj*) culls; (*n*) castoffs. **rewards**: (*n*) booty, loot.

troublesome: (adj) difficult, hard, arduous, bothersome, inconvenient, onerous, awkward, annoying, laborious, tough, heavy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, helpful, useful, advantageous, convenient, uncomplicated, delightful.

unjust: (adj) partial, injurious, wrong, inequitable, unrighteous, wicked, foul, wrongful, improper, unmerited, unjustified. ANTONYMS: (adj) just,

equitable, rightful, reasonable, good.

mean is called justice, but is really the impossibility of doing injustice. No one would observe such a compact if he were not obliged. Let us suppose that the just and unjust have two rings, like that of Gyges in the well-known story, which make them invisible, and then no difference will appear in them, for every one will do evil if he can. And he who abstains will be regarded by the world as a fool for his pains. Men may praise him in public out of fear for themselves, but they will laugh at him in their hearts (Cp. Gorgias.)' And now let us frame an ideal of the just and unjust. Imagine the unjust man to be master of his craft, seldom making mistakes and easily correcting them; having gifts of money, speech, strength-the greatest villain bearing the highest character: and at his side let us place the just in his **nobleness** and simplicity—being, not seeming without name or reward-clothed in his justice only-the best of men who is thought to be the worst, and let him die as he has lived. I might add (but I would rather put the rest into the mouth of the panegyrists of injustice—they will tell you) that the just man will be scourged, racked, bound, will have his eyes put out, and will at last be crucified (literally impaled) — and all this because he ought to have preferred seeming to being. How different is the case of the unjust who clings to appearance as the true reality! His high character makes him a ruler; he can marry where he likes, trade where he likes, help his friends and hurt his enemies; having got rich by dishonesty he can worship the gods better, and will therefore be more loved by them than the just.'

I was thinking what to answer, when Adeimantus joined in the already unequal fray. He considered that the most important point of all had been omitted: -'Men are taught to be just for the sake of rewards; parents and guardians make reputation the incentive to virtue. And other advantages are promised by them of a more solid kind, such as wealthy marriages and high offices. There are the pictures in Homer and Hesiod of fat sheep and heavy fleeces, rich corn-fields and trees toppling with fruit, which the gods provide in this life for the just. And the Orphic poets add a similar picture of another. The heroes of Musaeus and Eumolpus lie on couches at a festival, with garlands on their heads, enjoying as the **meed** of virtue a paradise of immortal **drunkenness**. Some go further, and speak of a fair **posterity** in the third and fourth generation.

## Thesaurus intoxication, crapulence, grogginess,

insobriety, tipsiness, alcohol

**correcting**: (n) amendment, correction, rectification, adjustment, compensation, reading. dishonesty: (n) corruption, betrayal, crookedness, injustice, deceitfulness, treachery, deviousness, duplicity, falsehood, racket, trick. ANTONYMS: (n) frankness, sincerity, truthfulness, honestness, reliability. drunkenness: (n) alcoholism,

inebriety, ebriety, drinking, drink,

fray: (n) conflict, action, fight, combat, disturbance, fracas, scrap; (n, v)affray, broil; (v) rub, fret. marriages: (n) marriage, matrimony. meed: (n, v) compensation; (v) wage, hire; (n) prize, remuneration, recompense, guerdon, pay, dole, pittance, reguerdon. nobleness: (n) dignity, generosity,

magnanimity, nobility, greatness, grandeur, stateliness, civil honors, goodness, glory, glorify. posterity: (n) race, descendants, issue, offspring, descendant, future, generation, progeny, breed, descendent, spat. racked: (adj) assured, confident, miserable.

rings: (n) ornaments, necklaces, jewels, costume jewelry, charms, bracelets. toppling: (adj) falling.

But the wicked they bury in a slough and make them carry water in a sieve: and in this life they attribute to them the **infamy** which Glaucon was assuming to be the lot of the just who are supposed to be unjust.

'Take another kind of argument which is found both in poetry and prose: -"Virtue," as Hesiod says, "is honourable but difficult, vice is easy and profitable." You may often see the wicked in great prosperity and the righteous afflicted by the will of heaven. And mendicant prophets knock at rich men's doors, promising to atone for the sins of themselves or their fathers in an easy fashion with sacrifices and festive games, or with charms and invocations to get rid of an enemy good or bad by divine help and at a small charge; - they appeal to books professing to be written by Musaeus and Orpheus, and carry away the minds of whole cities, and promise to "get souls out of purgatory;" and if we refuse to listen to them, no one knows what will happen to us.

'When a lively-minded ingenuous youth hears all this, what will be his conclusion? "Will he," in the language of Pindar, "make justice his high tower, or fortify himself with crooked deceit?" Justice, he reflects, without the appearance of justice, is misery and ruin; injustice has the promise of a glorious life. Appearance is master of truth and lord of happiness. To appearance then I will turn, -I will put on the show of virtue and trail behind me the fox of Archilochus. I hear some one saying that "wickedness is not easily concealed," to which I reply that "nothing great is easy." Union and force and rhetoric will do much; and if men say that they cannot prevail over the gods, still how do we know that there are gods? Only from the poets, who acknowledge that they may be appeased by sacrifices. Then why not sin and pay for indulgences out of your sin? For if the righteous are only unpunished, still they have no further reward, while the wicked may be unpunished and have the pleasure of sinning too. But what of the world below? Nay, says the argument, there are atoning powers who will set that matter right, as the poets, who are the sons of the gods, tell us; and this is confirmed by the authority of the State.

'How can we resist such arguments in favour of injustice? Add good manners, and, as the wise tell us, we shall make the best of both worlds. Who

#### Thesaurus

appeased: (adj) content, pacate. atone: (v) satisfy, pay, propitiate, indemnify, compensate, make up, recoup, apologize, abye, aby, repent. ANTONYM: (v) forfeit. atoning: (v) atone; (adj) apologetic,

expiatory, penitent, piacular, satisfactory.

**fortify**: (n, v) brace, nerve, invigorate; (v) build up, confirm, consolidate, secure, buttress, encourage, reinforce, enhance. ANTONYMS: (v) subdue,

disarm, enfeeble, demoralize, undermine.

infamy: (n) dishonor, disrepute, ignominy, notoriety, shame, opprobrium, reproach, stain, discredit, baseness; (adj, n) pollution. ANTONYMS: (n) fame, virtue, honor, obscurity, pride.

ingenuous: (adj, n) frank; (adj) naive, guileless, honest, forthright, innocent, sinning: (n) sin, hell, evildoing, straight, artless, downright, green, hearty. ANTONYMS: (adj)

disingenuous, dishonest, cunning, sophisticated, scheming, worldly, jaded, hesitant, experienced. mendicant: (n) pauper, cadger, friar,

maund, abbot, beggarwoman, lay brother, conventual, cenobite, beadsman, pilgrim.

professing: (n) avowal, profession, community.

original sin, mortal sin; (adj) errant, corrupt, faulty, morbid, peccant, evil. that is not a miserable **caitiff** will refrain from smiling at the praises of justice? Even if a man knows the better part he will not be angry with others; for he knows also that more than human virtue is needed to save a man, and that he only praises justice who is incapable of injustice.

'The origin of the evil is that all men from the beginning, heroes, poets, instructors of youth, have always asserted "the temporal dispensation," the honours and profits of justice. Had we been taught in early youth the power of justice and injustice inherent in the soul, and **unseen** by any human or divine eye, we should not have needed others to be our guardians, but every one would have been the guardian of himself. This is what I want you to show, Socrates;—other men use arguments which rather tend to strengthen the position of Thrasymachus that "might is right;" but from you I expect better things. And please, as Glaucon said, to exclude reputation; let the just be thought unjust and the unjust just, and do you still prove to us the superiority of justice'...

The thesis, which for the sake of argument has been maintained by Glaucon, is the **converse** of that of Thrasymachus—not right is the interest of the stronger, but right is the necessity of the weaker. Starting from the same premises he carries the analysis of society a step further back;—might is still right, but the might is the weakness of the many combined against the strength of the few.

There have been theories in modern as well as in ancient times which have a family **likeness** to the speculations of Glaucon; e.g. that power is the foundation of right; or that a monarch has a divine right to **govern** well or ill; or that virtue is **self**-love or the love of power; or that war is the natural state of man; or that private vices are public benefits. All such theories have a kind of **plausibility** from their partial agreement with experience. For human nature oscillates between good and evil, and the motives of actions and the origin of institutions may be explained to a certain extent on either hypothesis according to the character or point of view of a particular thinker. The obligation of maintaining authority under all circumstances and sometimes by rather questionable means is felt strongly and has become a sort of instinct among civilized men. The divine right of kings, or more generally of governments, is one of the forms

#### **Thesaurus**

caitiff: (n) coward, villain, scoundrel, miscreant, dastard, ruffian, rascal, budmash, brute, barbarian; (adv) cowardly.

converse: (*n*, *v*) chat, discourse, argue; (*v*) confer, confabulate, speak; (*n*) conversation, colloquy, contrast; (*adj*, *n*) opposite; (*adj*) counter.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*, *n*) equal; (*adj*) similar, complementary; (*n*) similarity.

**govern**: (*n*, *v*) direct, control, reign,

rule; (v) administer, dictate, dominate, manage, check, bridle, regulate. ANTONYM: (v) deregulate. **likeness**: (n) resemblance, copy, effigy, image, affinity, similarity, correspondence, facsimile; (adj, n) figure, form, semblance. ANTONYMS: (n) difference, diversity, dissimilarity, unlikeness, contrast.

**plausibility**: (*n*) credibility, possibility, probability, admissibility,

believability, credibleness, fair appearance, plausibleness, presumption, reasonableness; (adj, n) verisimilitude.

**self-love**: (*n*) egoism, vanity, pride, arrogance.

unseen: (adj, v) unknown; (adj) invisible, concealed, hidden, unobserved, secret, veiled, latent; (v) unheeded, unperceived; (n) spiritual world. ANTONYMS: (adj) seen, visible, open, famous, noticeable.

under which this natural feeling is expressed. Nor again is there any evil which has not some accompaniment of good or pleasure; nor any good which is free from some alloy of evil; nor any noble or generous thought which may not be attended by a shadow or the ghost of a shadow of self-interest or of self-love. We know that all human actions are imperfect; but we do not therefore attribute them to the worse rather than to the better motive or principle. Such a philosophy is both foolish and false, like that opinion of the clever rogue who assumes all other men to be like himself. And theories of this sort do not represent the real nature of the State, which is based on a vague sense of right gradually corrected and enlarged by custom and law (although capable also of perversion), any more than they describe the origin of society, which is to be sought in the family and in the social and religious feelings of man. Nor do they represent the average character of individuals, which cannot be explained simply on a theory of evil, but has always a counteracting element of good. And as men become better such theories appear more and more untruthful to them, because they are more conscious of their own disinterestedness. experience may make a man a cynic; a great deal will bring him back to a truer and kindlier view of the mixed nature of himself and his fellow men.

The two brothers ask Socrates to prove to them that the just is happy when they have taken from him all that in which happiness is ordinarily supposed to consist. Not that there is (1) any absurdity in the attempt to frame a notion of justice apart from circumstances. For the ideal must always be a paradox when compared with the ordinary conditions of human life. Neither the Stoical ideal nor the Christian ideal is true as a fact, but they may serve as a basis of education, and may exercise an **ennobling** influence. An ideal is none the worse because 'some one has made the discovery' that no such ideal was ever realized. And in a few exceptional individuals who are raised above the ordinary level of humanity, the ideal of happiness may be realized in death and misery. This may be the state which the reason deliberately approves, and which the **utilitarian** as well as every other **moralist** may be bound in certain cases to prefer.

# **Thesaurus**

unfriendliness.

counteracting: (adj) antagonist, antagonistic, corrective.
cynic: (adj, n) skeptic; (n) doubter, critic, misanthrope, detractor, yogi, sanyasi, doubting Thomas, frondeur, man hater; (adj) cynical.
ANTONYMS: (n) supporter, optimist.
disinterestedness: (n) fairness, disinterest, nonpartisanship, detachment, indifference, equity, aloofness, neutrality, disadvantage,

ennobling: (adj) inspiring, noble, exalting, cultural.
individuals: (n) people, persons.
moralist: (n) disciplinarian, martinet, philosopher, utilitarian, stickler, moraliser, egalitarian, dictator, authoritarian, elitist.
rogue: (n, v) rascal; (n) knave, imp, miscreant, crook, cheat, impostor, swindler, cad, villain, scoundrel.
self-interest: (n) selfishness.

untruthful: (adj) untrue, dishonest, insincere, mendacious, deceitful, lying, incorrect, fictitious, wrong, faithless, unfounded. ANTONYMS: (adj) honest, true, straightforward. utilitarian: (adj) functional, practical, pragmatic, philanthropic, utile, serviceable, humanitarian, helpful, convenient; (n) Benthamite, philanthropist. ANTONYMS: (adj) surrender, relinquish, soulful, luxury, decorative, useless.

Nor again, (2) must we forget that Plato, though he agrees generally with the view implied in the argument of the two brothers, is not **expressing** his own final conclusion, but rather seeking to **dramatize** one of the aspects of ethical truth. He is developing his idea gradually in a series of positions or situations. He is **exhibiting** Socrates for the first time undergoing the Socratic **interrogation**. Lastly, (3) the word 'happiness' involves some degree of confusion because associated in the language of modern philosophy with conscious pleasure or satisfaction, which was not equally present to his mind.

Glaucon has been drawing a picture of the misery of the just and the happiness of the unjust, to which the misery of the tyrant in Book IX is the answer and parallel. And still the unjust must appear just; that is 'the homage which vice pays to virtue.' But now Adeimantus, taking up the hint which had been already given by Glaucon, proceeds to show that in the opinion of mankind justice is regarded only for the sake of rewards and reputation, and points out the advantage which is given to such arguments as those of Thrasymachus and Glaucon by the conventional morality of mankind. He seems to feel the difficulty of 'justifying the ways of God to man.' Both the brothers touch upon the question, whether the morality of actions is determined by their consequences; and both of them go beyond the position of Socrates, that justice belongs to the class of goods not desirable for themselves only, but desirable for themselves and for their results, to which he recalls them. In their attempt to view justice as an internal principle, and in their **condemnation** of the poets, they anticipate him. The common life of Greece is not enough for them; they must **penetrate** deeper into the nature of things.

It has been objected that justice is honesty in the sense of Glaucon and Adeimantus, but is taken by Socrates to mean all virtue. May we not more truly say that the old-fashioned notion of justice is **enlarged** by Socrates, and becomes equivalent to universal order or well-being, first in the State, and secondly in the individual? He has found a new answer to his old question (Protag.), 'whether the **virtues** are one or many,' viz. that one is the ordering principle of the three others. In seeking to establish the purely internal nature of justice, he is met by

# **Thesaurus**

condemnation: (*n*) animadversion, anathema, conviction, blame, rebuke, judgment, disapprobation, deprecation, disapproval; (*n*, *v*) doom; (*v*) condemn. ANTONYMS: (*n*) praise, absolution, approbation, confirmation, commendation, defense, support. dramatize: (*v*) overstate, exaggerate,

dramatize: (v) overstate, exaggerate, aggrandize, blow up, embroider, adopt, amplify, stage, play up, write, represent. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce,

enlarged: (adj) inflated, magnified, extended, expanded, puffy, increased, augmented, amplified, distended, wide, swollen.

ANTONYM: (adj) atrophied.

exhibiting: (n) advertising; (adj) exhibitory, ostensive.

**expressing**: (adj) significant; (n) speech.

**homage**: (*n*) allegiance, obeisance, fealty, accolade, honor, loyalty,

worship, veneration, deference, devotion, compliment. **interrogation**: (*n*) inquiry, question,

query, doubt, enquiry, question, query, doubt, enquiry, hearing, quiz, problem, demand, interview, interrogative.

penetrate: (v) bore, imbue, fathom, infiltrate, pierce, permeate, cut, filter, interpenetrate, get through, enter. virtues: (n) brawn, sinew, qualities, nerve, manner, habit, disposition, custom.

the fact that man is a social being, and he tries to **harmonise** the two opposite theses as well as he can. There is no more **inconsistency** in this than was inevitable in his age and country; there is no use in turning upon him the cross lights of modern philosophy, which, from some other point of view, would appear equally inconsistent. Plato does not give the final solution of philosophical questions for us; nor can he be judged of by our standard.

The remainder of the Republic is developed out of the question of the sons of Ariston. Three points are deserving of remark in what immediately follows:— First, that the answer of Socrates is altogether indirect. He does not say that happiness consists in the contemplation of the idea of justice, and still less will be be tempted to affirm the Stoical paradox that the just man can be happy on the rack. But first he dwells on the difficulty of the problem and insists on restoring man to his natural condition, before he will answer the question at all. He too will frame an ideal, but his ideal comprehends not only abstract justice, but the whole relations of man. Under the fanciful illustration of the large letters he implies that he will only look for justice in society, and that from the State he will proceed to the individual. His answer in substance amounts to this, — that under favourable conditions, i.e. in the perfect State, justice and happiness will coincide, and that when justice has been once found, happiness may be left to take care of itself. That he falls into some degree of inconsistency, when in the tenth book he claims to have got rid of the rewards and honours of justice, may be admitted; for he has left those which exist in the perfect State. And the philosopher 'who retires under the shelter of a wall' can hardly have been esteemed happy by him, at least not in this world. Still he maintains the true attitude of moral action. Let a man do his duty first, without asking whether he will be happy or not, and happiness will be the inseparable accident which attends him. 'Seek ye first the kingdom of God and his righteousness, and all these things shall be added unto you.'

Secondly, it may be remarked that Plato **preserves** the genuine character of Greek thought in beginning with the State and in going on to the individual. First ethics, then politics—this is the order of ideas to us; the reverse is the order

#### **Thesaurus**

affirm: (v) prove, assert, declare, protest, avow, maintain, approve, accept, assure, profess, promise. ANTONYMS: (v) negate, veto, nullify, refute, repress.

comprehends: (v) comprehend.

esteemed: (adj) dear, reputable, respected, honorable, noble, honored, prestigious, important, distinguished, August, respect. ANTONYM: (adj) idisreputable.

fanciful: (adj) mythical, fantastic,

capricious, unreal, arbitrary, romantic, ideal, chimerical, notional, visionary; (adj, v) fancy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) prosaic, real, realistic, plausible, normal.

harmonise: (v) agree, harmonize,

accord, reconcile, accommodate, correspond, concur, chord, consort, conciliate, go.

inconsistency: (n) disagreement, contradiction, incompatibility, incoherence, incongruity, discordance, disparity, variance, repugnance, contradictoriness; (adj, n) frivolity. ANTONYMS: (n) steadiness, equality, constancy, concord, parity, predictability, reliability.

preserves: (*n*) conserve, jam, chowchow, conserves, jelly, marmalade, canned food, confiture, European federation of importers of dried fruit, preserved food, apple butter of history. Only after many struggles of thought does the individual assert his right as a moral being. In early ages he is not ONE, but one of many, the citizen of a State which is prior to him; and he has no notion of good or evil apart from the law of his country or the creed of his church. And to this type he is constantly tending to revert, whenever the influence of custom, or of party spirit, or the recollection of the past **becomes** too strong for him.

Thirdly, we may observe the confusion or identification of the individual and the State, of ethics and politics, which pervades early Greek speculation, and even in modern times retains a certain degree of influence. The subtle difference between the collective and individual action of mankind seems to have escaped early thinkers, and we too are sometimes in danger of forgetting the conditions of united human action, whenever we either **elevate** politics into ethics, or lower ethics to the standard of politics. The good man and the good citizen only coincide in the perfect State; and this perfection cannot be attained by legislation acting upon them from without, but, if at all, by education fashioning them from within.

...Socrates praises the sons of Ariston, 'inspired offspring of the renowned hero,' as the **elegiac** poet terms them; but he does not understand how they can argue so **eloquently** on behalf of injustice while their character shows that they are **uninfluenced** by their own arguments. He knows not how to answer them, although he is afraid of deserting justice in the hour of need. He therefore makes a condition, that having weak eyes he shall be allowed to read the large letters first and then go on to the smaller, that is, he must look for justice in the State first, and will then proceed to the individual. Accordingly he begins to construct the State.

Society arises out of the wants of man. His first want is food; his second a house; his third a coat. The sense of these needs and the possibility of satisfying them by exchange, draw individuals together on the same spot; and this is the beginning of a State, which we take the liberty to invent, although necessity is the real **inventor**. There must be first a **husbandman**, secondly a builder, thirdly a **weaver**, to which may be added a **cobbler**. Four or five citizens at least are

#### **Thesaurus**

decrease, reduce.

**cobbler**: (v) become.

**cobbler**: (*n*) bootmaker, shoemaker, cordwainer, hosier, highball, hatter, maker, shaper, pie, vamper; (*v*) tinker.

elegiac: (*adj*) elegiacal, plaintive, lyrical, anapestic, epicedial, poetic; (*n*) iambic, trochaic, elegy. elevate: (*v*) advance, lift, hoist, erect, exalt, boost, rear, cheer, promote, dignify, uphold. ANTONYMS: (*v*)

demote, drop, downgrade, depress,

eloquently: (adv) fluently, expressively, persuasively, significantly, meaningfully, clearly, glibly, tellingly, forcefully, evocatively, movingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) inarticulately, innocently. husbandman: (n, v) cultivator; (n) agriculturist, granger, countryman, planter, sodbuster, apiarist, apiculturist, arboriculturist, dairyman; (v) tiller.

inventor: (n) architect, artificer, discoverer, founder, originator, deviser, prime mover, author, builder, contriver, designer.
uninfluenced: (adj) plain, genuine, unswayed, nonpartisan, unprejudiced, natural, real, simple, still full, sincere, untouched.
weaver: (n) avadavat, Baya, ricebird, amadavat, oscine, weaver finch, tissue, texture, textile fabric, weaverbird, oscine bird.

required to make a city. Now men have different natures, and one man will do one thing better than many; and business waits for no man. Hence there must be a division of labour into different employments; into wholesale and retail trade; into workers, and makers of workmen's tools; into shepherds and husbandmen. A city which includes all this will have far exceeded the limit of four or five, and yet not be very large. But then again imports will be required, and imports necessitate exports, and this implies variety of produce in order to attract the taste of purchasers; also merchants and ships. In the city too we must have a market and money and retail trades; otherwise buyers and sellers will never meet, and the valuable time of the producers will be wasted in vain efforts at exchange. If we add hired servants the State will be complete. And we may guess that somewhere in the intercourse of the citizens with one another justice and injustice will appear.

Here follows a rustic picture of their way of life. They spend their days in houses which they have built for themselves; they make their own clothes and produce their own corn and wine. Their principal food is meal and flour, and they drink in moderation. They live on the best of terms with each other, and take care not to have too many children. 'But,' said Glaucon, interposing, 'are they not to have a relish?' Certainly; they will have salt and olives and cheese, vegetables and fruits, and chestnuts to roast at the fire. "Tis a city of pigs, Socrates.' Why, I replied, what do you want more? 'Only the **comforts** of life, sofas and tables, also sauces and sweets.' I see; you want not only a State, but a luxurious State; and possibly in the more complex frame we may sooner find justice and injustice. Then the fine arts must go to work-every conceivable instrument and ornament of luxury will be wanted. There will be dancers, painters, sculptors, musicians, cooks, barbers, tire-women, nurses, artists; swineherds and neatherds too for the animals, and physicians to cure the disorders of which luxury is the source. To feed all these superfluous mouths we shall need a part of our neighbour's land, and they will want a part of ours. And this is the origin of war, which may be traced to the same causes as other political evils. Our city will now require the slight addition of a camp, and the citizen will be converted into a soldier. But then again our old doctrine of the

#### **Thesaurus**

**chestnuts**: (*n*) Castanopsis, Fagaceae, Castanea, genus Castanea, beech family.

**comforts**: (*n*) amenities, bread and butter, convenience, conveniences. **evils**: (*n*) mala.

interposing: (adj) meddlesome. necessitate: (v) constrain, enforce, entail, force, involve, call for, drive, imply, demand, need, take. ANTONYMS: (v) obviate, request. ornament: (n) decoration, adornment, embellishment, decor; (v) beautify, decorate, deck, embellish, adorn; (n, v) garnish, dress. ANTONYM: (v) strip

rustic: (n) countryman, peasant; (adj) rural, pastoral, boorish, country, bucolic, provincial, hick, agrestic, countrified. ANTONYMS: (adj) town, urbane, cultured, city, sophisticated. superfluous: (adj, v) spare; (adj) needless, extra, excess, excessive, unnecessary, surplus, pointless,

superabundant, supernumerary, supererogatory. ANTONYMS: (adj) indispensable, important, essential, basic, pertinent.

vain: (adj) proud, arrogant, conceited, fruitless, idle, empty, abortive, ineffectual, unproductive, narcissistic; (adj, v) useless.
ANTONYMS: (adj) shy, successful, possible, persuasive, selfless, fruitful, humble, useful, responsible, worthwhile, effective.

division of labour must not be forgotten. The art of war cannot be learned in a day, and there must be a natural aptitude for military duties. There will be some warlike natures who have this aptitude—dogs keen of scent, swift of foot to pursue, and strong of limb to fight. And as spirit is the foundation of courage, such natures, whether of men or animals, will be full of spirit. But these spirited natures are apt to bite and devour one another; the union of gentleness to friends and fierceness against enemies appears to be an impossibility, and the guardian of a State requires both qualities. Who then can be a guardian? The image of the dog suggests an answer. For dogs are gentle to friends and fierce to strangers. Your dog is a philosopher who judges by the rule of knowing or not knowing; and philosophy, whether in man or beast, is the parent of gentleness. The human watchdogs must be philosophers or lovers of learning which will make them gentle. And how are they to be learned without education?

But what shall their education be? Is any better than the old-fashioned sort which is comprehended under the name of music and gymnastic? includes literature, and literature is of two kinds, true and false. 'What do you mean?' he said. I mean that children hear stories before they learn gymnastics, and that the stories are either untrue, or have at most one or two grains of truth in a **bushel** of falsehood. Now early life is very **impressible**, and children ought not to learn what they will have to unlearn when they grow up; we must therefore have a censorship of nursery tales, **banishing** some and keeping others. Some of them are very improper, as we may see in the great instances of Homer and Hesiod, who not only tell lies but bad lies; stories about Uranus and Saturn, which are immoral as well as false, and which should never be spoken of to young persons, or indeed at all; or, if at all, then in a mystery, after the sacrifice, not of an Eleusinian pig, but of some unprocurable animal. Shall our youth be encouraged to beat their fathers by the example of Zeus, or our citizens be **incited** to quarrel by hearing or seeing representations of strife among the gods? Shall they listen to the narrative of Hephaestus binding his mother, and of Zeus sending him flying for helping her when she was beaten? Such tales may possibly have a mystical interpretation, but the young are incapable of understanding allegory. If any one asks what tales are to be allowed, we will

#### **Thesaurus**

callisthenics, acrobatics; (v)

banishing: (v) banish.
bushel: (v) repair, mend, fix, doctor;
(n) basket, handbasket, mountain,
filling; (adj) cargo, darned, filled.
fierceness: (n) ferocity, violence,
cruelty, force, brutality, rage,
intensity, strength, vehemence,
wildness, ferociousness.
ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness,
calmness, meekness.
gymnastics: (adj) gymnastic; (n)
athletics, calisthenics, athletic sports,

gladiatorship.
impressible: (adj) impressionable,
sensitive, soft, delicate, sensible,
adhesive, easily affected, fine, gentle,
courteous, easy.
incited: (adj) encouraged, impelled,
driven.
philosopher: (n) thinker, bacon,
libertarian, gymnosophist, empiricist,
necessitarian, moralist, theorist,

wisdom, pundit, mechanist.

toss out, cast away, cast aside, bury, chuck out, dispose, overcome. unprocurable: (adj) inaccessible, untouchable, unaccessible, unassailable. warlike: (adj) military, belligerent, bellicose, pugnacious, combative, aggressive, armigerous, hostile, unfriendly, unpacific, militant.

ANTONYMS: (adj) harmonizing,

friendly.

unlearn: (v) forget, toss, fling, cast out,

answer that we are legislators and not book-makers; we only lay down the principles according to which books are to be written; to write them is the duty of others.

And our first principle is, that God must be represented as he is; not as the author of all things, but of good only. We will not suffer the poets to say that he is the steward of good and evil, or that he has two casks full of destinies;—or that Athene and Zeus incited Pandarus to break the treaty; or that God caused the sufferings of Niobe, or of Pelops, or the Trojan war; or that he makes men sin when he wishes to destroy them. Either these were not the actions of the **gods**, or God was just, and men were the better for being punished. But that the deed was evil, and God the author, is a wicked, **suicidal** fiction which we will allow no one, old or young, to utter. This is our first and great principle—God is the author of good only.

And the second principle is like unto it: - With God is no variableness or change of form. Reason teaches us this; for if we suppose a change in God, he must be changed either by another or by himself. By another?-but the best works of nature and art and the noblest qualities of mind are least liable to be changed by any external force. By himself? – but he cannot change for the better; he will hardly change for the worse. He remains for ever fairest and best in his own image. Therefore we refuse to listen to the poets who tell us of Here begging in the likeness of a priestess or of other deities who prowl about at night in strange disguises; all that blasphemous nonsense with which mothers fool the manhood out of their children must be suppressed. But some one will say that God, who is himself unchangeable, may take a form in relation to us. Why should he? For gods as well as men hate the lie in the soul, or principle of falsehood; and as for any other form of lying which is used for a purpose and is regarded as innocent in certain exceptional cases - what need have the gods of this? For they are not ignorant of antiquity like the poets, nor are they afraid of their enemies, nor is any madman a friend of theirs. God then is true, he is absolutely true; he changes not, he deceives not, by day or night, by word or sign. This is our second great principle-God is true. Away with the lying

# Thesaurus manhood: (n) majority, maturity,

valor, resolution, personality,

begging: (n) mendicancy, request, plea; (v) asking, beg; (adj) beseeching, entreating, mendicant, imploring, suppliant, vagabond.
blasphemous: (adj, v) profane, irreverent, sacrilegious; (adj) ungodly, impious, irreligious, unconsecrated, godless, unholy, wicked; (v) desecrate. ANTONYMS: (adj) reverent, devout, godly, religious.
gods: (n) gallery.

humanity, integrity, bravery; (adf) manliness, ripe age, maturity full age. priestess: (n) priest. prowl: (v) creep, loiter, sneak, slink, range, roam, skulk, linger, lurch; (n) rove, traverse. suicidal: (adf) ruinous, destructive, deadly, despairing, suicidical.

deadly, despairing, suicidical, dangerous, unsafe.

unchangeable: (adj) invariable, firm,

immutable, permanent, irrevocable, irreversible, unalterable, immovable, inflexible, determined, definite. ANTONYMS: (adj) changing, inconstant, flexible, uncertain, fluid, unconfirmed, impermanent. variableness: (n) changeableness, disagreement, unevenness, inconstancy, mutability, variant, alterability, changeability, alterableness, inadequacy, divergence.

dream of Agamemnon in Homer, and the accusation of Thetis against Apollo in Aeschylus...

In order to give clearness to his conception of the State, Plato proceeds to trace the first principles of mutual need and of division of labour in an imaginary community of four or five citizens. Gradually this community increases; the division of labour extends to countries; imports necessitate exports; a medium of exchange is required, and retailers sit in the market-place to save the time of the producers. These are the steps by which Plato constructs the first or primitive State, **introducing** the elements of political economy by the way. As he is going to frame a second or civilized State, the simple naturally comes before the complex. He indulges, like Rousseau, in a picture of primitive life-an idea which has indeed often had a powerful influence on the imagination of mankind, but he does not seriously mean to say that one is better than the other (Politicus); nor can any inference be drawn from the description of the first state taken apart from the second, such as Aristotle appears to draw in the Politics. We should not interpret a Platonic dialogue any more than a poem or a parable in too literal or matter-of-fact a style. On the other hand, when we compare the lively fancy of Plato with the dried-up abstractions of modern treatises on philosophy, we are compelled to say with Protagoras, that the 'mythus is more interesting' (Protag.)

Several interesting remarks which in modern times would have a place in a treatise on Political Economy are scattered up and down the writings of Plato: especially Laws, Population; Free Trade; Adulteration; Wills and Bequests; Begging; Eryxias, (though not Plato's), Value and Demand; Republic, Division of Labour. The last subject, and also the origin of Retail Trade, is treated with admirable lucidity in the second book of the Republic. But Plato never combined his economic ideas into a system, and never seems to have recognized that Trade is one of the great motive powers of the State and of the world. He would make retail traders only of the inferior sort of citizens (Rep., Laws), though he remarks, quaintly enough (Laws), that 'if only the best men and the best women everywhere were compelled to keep taverns for a time or to carry on retail trade, etc., then we should knew how pleasant and agreeable all these things are.'

## Thesaurus

civilized: (adj) civil, refined, polite, civilised, cultivated, educated, courteous, urbane, kind, gentle, genteel. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncouth, noncivilized, discourteous, loutish, rude, inhumane, wild. clearness: (n) clarity, brightness, distinctness, perspicuity, lucidity, explicitness, sharpness, simplicity, purity, limpidity, intelligibility. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, opacity, dirtiness, vagueness, unclearness,

obscureness, indistinctness, clutter, haziness, mustiness. introducing: (n) introduction. lucidity: (n) clearness, perspicuity, limpidity, explicitness, pellucidity, distinctness, understandability, saneness, perspicuousness, lucidness; quaintly: (adv) unusually, oddly, (adj, n) rationality. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, obscureness, unclearness, inconsistency. matter-of-fact: (adj) prosaic, practical,

dry, commonplace, common, normal,

ordinary, regular, pragmatic, trivial,

parable: (n) fable, comparison, tale, proverb, myth, legend, fiction, story; (adj, n, v) apologue; (adj) simile, metalepsis.

curiously, weirdly, singularly, peculiarly, queerly, strangely, outlandishly, charmingly, pleasingly. writings: (n) papers, Hagiographa, Ketubim.

The disappointment of Glaucon at the 'city of pigs,' the ludicrous description of the ministers of luxury in the more refined State, and the afterthought of the necessity of doctors, the illustration of the nature of the guardian taken from the dog, the desirableness of offering some almost unprocurable victim when **impure** mysteries are to be celebrated, the behaviour of Zeus to his father and of Hephaestus to his mother, are touches of humour which have also a serious meaning. In speaking of education Plato rather startles us by affirming that a child must be trained in falsehood first and in truth afterwards. Yet this is not very different from saying that children must be taught through the medium of imagination as well as reason; that their minds can only develope gradually, and that there is much which they must learn without understanding. This is also the substance of Plato's view, though he must be acknowledged to have drawn the line somewhat differently from modern ethical writers, respecting truth and falsehood. To us, economies or accommodations would not be allowable unless they were required by the human faculties or necessary for the communication of knowledge to the simple and ignorant. We should insist that the word was inseparable from the intention, and that we must not be 'falsely true,' i.e. speak or act falsely in support of what was right or true. But Plato would limit the use of fictions only by requiring that they should have a good moral effect, and that such a dangerous weapon as falsehood should be employed by the rulers alone and for great objects.

A Greek in the age of Plato attached no importance to the question whether his religion was an historical fact. He was just beginning to be conscious that the past had a history; but he could see nothing beyond Homer and Hesiod. Whether their narratives were true or false did not seriously affect the political or social life of Hellas. Men only began to suspect that they were fictions when they recognised them to be immoral. And so in all religions: the consideration of their morality comes first, afterwards the truth of the documents in which they are recorded, or of the events natural or supernatural which are told of them. But in modern times, and in Protestant countries perhaps more than in Catholic, we have been too much inclined to identify the historical with the moral; and some have refused to believe in religion at all, unless a superhuman accuracy

## **Thesaurus**

accommodations: (n) house, housing, lodging, habitat. affirming: (adj) predicative, predicant, faculties: (n) mother wit. assertory; (n) confirmation. afterthought: (n) aftercome, aftercourse, aftergrowth, afterpart, afterpiece, second thought, reversal, turnaround, turnabout, improver, postscript. ANTONYMS: (n) presupposition, forethought. desirableness: (n) goodness, good, advantage, adventure, advisability,

attractiveness, expediency, eligibleness, oomph, sex appeal. immoral: (adj) evil, bad, depraved, indecent, dissolute, corrupt, criminal, unprincipled, dirty, unfair, lewd. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, decent, honest, ethical, principled, good, restrained, amoral, right, righteous,

impure: (adj) defiled, dirty, unclean, squalid, sordid, filthy, bastard, foul,

immoral, profane, contaminated. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmixed, clean. superhuman: (adj) supernatural, heavenly, preterhuman, superman, epic, daring, godlike, gallant, brave, celestial, incredible. ANTONYM: (adj) normal.

supernatural: (adj) mystical, preternatural, weird, superhuman, eerie, uncanny, unnatural, mysterious, ghostly, divine; (n) occult. ANTONYM: (adj) normal.

was discernible in every part of the record. The facts of an ancient or religious history are amongst the most important of all facts; but they are frequently uncertain, and we only learn the true lesson which is to be gathered from them when we place ourselves above them. These reflections tend to show that the difference between Plato and ourselves, though not unimportant, is not so great as might at first sight appear. For we should agree with him in placing the moral before the historical truth of religion; and, generally, in disregarding those errors or misstatements of fact which necessarily occur in the early stages of all religions. We know also that changes in the traditions of a country cannot be made in a day; and are therefore tolerant of many things which science and criticism would condemn.

We note in passing that the allegorical interpretation of mythology, said to have been first introduced as early as the sixth century before Christ by Theagenes of Rhegium, was well established in the age of Plato, and here, as in the Phaedrus, though for a different reason, was rejected by him. anachronisms whether of religion or law, when men have reached another stage of civilization, should be got rid of by fictions is in accordance with universal experience. Great is the art of interpretation; and by a natural process, which when once discovered was always going on, what could not be altered was explained away. And so without any palpable inconsistency there existed side by side two forms of religion, the tradition inherited or invented by the poets and the customary worship of the temple; on the other hand, there was the religion of the philosopher, who was dwelling in the heaven of ideas, but did not therefore refuse to offer a cock to Aesculapius, or to be seen saying his prayers at the rising of the sun. At length the antagonism between the popular and philosophical religion, never so great among the Greeks as in our own age, disappeared, and was only felt like the difference between the religion of the educated and uneducated among ourselves. The Zeus of Homer and Hesiod easily passed into the 'royal mind' of Plato (Philebus); the giant Heracles became the knight-errant and benefactor of mankind. These and still more wonderful transformations were readily effected by the ingenuity of Stoics and neo- Platonists in the two or three centuries before and after Christ. The Greek and Roman religions were

#### Thesaurus

benefactor: (n) sponsor, patron,

allegorical: (adj) figurative, metaphorical, symbolic, parabolic, anagogical, allusive, emblematic, illustrative, typical, tralatitious, representative. antagonism: (n) enmity, resistance,

antithesis, aversion, conflict, hate, hostility, ill will, hatred, aggression, opposition. ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, accord, goodwill, harmony, agreement, calm, cooperation, friendship, gentleness.

backer, supporter, giver, Good Samaritan, contributor, benefactress, philanthropist, helper, humanitarian. **sixth**: (n) common fraction, interval, ANTONYMS: (n) antagonist, opposer, detractor. disregarding: (adv) irregardless, no matter, disregardless, irrespective. palpable: (adj) tangible, obvious, evident, apparent, clear, transparent, indubitable, noticeable, lucid, patent, perceptible. ANTONYMS: (adj)

imaginary, intangible, impalpable, doubtful, furtive, imperceptible, insignificant, obscure, unclear. musical interval, simple fraction. uneducated: (adj) illiterate, unschooled, uninstructed, rude, unlearned, uninformed, uncultivated, untaught, unread, uncivilized, unenlightened. ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, literate, learned, intelligent, informed.

gradually permeated by the spirit of philosophy; having lost their ancient meaning, they were resolved into poetry and morality; and probably were never purer than at the time of their decay, when their influence over the world was waning.

A singular conception which occurs towards the end of the book is the lie in the soul; this is connected with the Platonic and Socratic doctrine that involuntary ignorance is worse than voluntary. The lie in the soul is a true lie, the corruption of the highest truth, the deception of the highest part of the soul, from which he who is deceived has no power of delivering himself. For example, to represent God as false or immoral, or, according to Plato, as **deluding** men with appearances or as the author of evil; or again, to affirm with Protagoras that 'knowledge is sensation,' or that 'being is becoming,' or with Thrasymachus 'that might is right,' would have been regarded by Plato as a lie of this hateful sort. The greatest unconsciousness of the greatest untruth, e.g. if, in the language of the Gospels (John), 'he who was blind' were to say 'I see,' is another aspect of the state of mind which Plato is describing. The lie in the soul may be further compared with the sin against the Holy Ghost (Luke), allowing for the difference between Greek and Christian modes of speaking. To this is opposed the lie in words, which is only such a deception as may occur in a play or poem, or allegory or figure of speech, or in any sort of accommodation, which though useless to the gods may be useful to men in certain cases. Socrates is here answering the question which he had himself raised about the propriety of **deceiving** a madman; and he is also contrasting the nature of God and man. For God is Truth, but mankind can only be true by appearing sometimes to be partial, or false. Reserving for another place the greater questions of religion or education, we may note further, (1) the approval of the old traditional education of Greece; (2) the preparation which Plato is making for the attack on Homer and the poets; (3) the preparation which he is also making for the use of economies in the State; (4) the contemptuous and at the same time euphemistic manner in which here as below he alludes to the 'Chronique Scandaleuse' of the gods.

# **Thesaurus**

deceiving: (adj) deceptive, deceitful, cheating, fallacious, dishonest, lying, treacherous, imposing, delusive, sanctimonious, mistaken.

ANTONYM: (adj) correct.
deluding: (adj) commanding, circumventive, beguiling, false, imposing, hypocritical, fallacious, deceptive, delusive, misleading.
euphemistic: (adj) periphrastic, euphemistical, euphonious, flowery, inoffensive; (v) euphuistic.

ANTONYM: (adj) dysphemistic. hateful: (adj) disgusting, execrable, nasty, abominable, hideous, despicable, repulsive, distasteful, foul; (adj, v) odious, obnoxious. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, kind, nice, benign, desirable.

singular: (adj, n) extraordinary; (adj) odd, individual, particular, peculiar, phenomenal, rare, queer, single, quaint, exceptional. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, normal, together,

usual, customary. unconsciousness: (*n*) blackout, insensibility, grogginess, loss of consciousness, coma, trance, stupefaction, faint, unawareness, ignorance, torpor. ANTONYM: (*n*) awareness.

untruth: (n) falsehood, fiction, lie, falsity, deception, fable, deceit, story, tale, misrepresentation, invention. ANTONYM: (n) fact.

## ANALYSIS OF BOOK III

There is another motive in **purifying** religion, which is to banish fear; for no man can be courageous who is afraid of death, or who believes the tales which are repeated by the poets concerning the world below. They must be gently requested not to abuse hell; they may be reminded that their stories are both untrue and discouraging. Nor must they be angry if we expunge obnoxious passages, such as the depressing words of Achilles –'I would rather be a servingman than rule over all the dead;' and the verses which tell of the squalid mansions, the senseless shadows, the flitting soul mourning over lost strength and youth, the soul with a gibber going beneath the earth like smoke, or the souls of the suitors which flutter about like bats. The terrors and horrors of Cocytus and Styx, ghosts and sapless shades, and the rest of their Tartarean nomenclature, must vanish. Such tales may have their use; but they are not the proper food for soldiers. As little can we admit the sorrows and sympathies of the Homeric heroes: - Achilles, the son of Thetis, in tears, throwing ashes on his head, or pacing up and down the sea-shore in distraction; or Priam, the cousin of the gods, crying aloud, rolling in the mire. A good man is not prostrated at the loss of children or fortune. Neither is death terrible to him; and therefore lamentations over the dead should not be practised by men of note; they should be the concern of inferior persons only, whether women or men. Still worse is the attribution of such weakness to the gods; as when the goddesses say, 'Alas!

## **Thesaurus**

discouraging: (adj) discouragingly, chill, disappointing, disheartening, bad, bleak, gloomy, sad, demoralizing, daunting, dispiriting. ANTONYMS: (adj) encouraging, uplifting, inspiring, heartening, comfortable, hopeful. expunge: (v) cancel, efface, delete, wipe out, raze, rase, obliterate, excise, remove, extinguish, destroy. ANTONYMS: (v) build, construct, create, insert.

flitting: (adj) fleeting, fugitive, momentary, transient, ephemeral; (v) migration. gibber: (v) chatter, gabble, babble,

tattle, clack, blab, prate, prattle, piffle; exhausted, tired, enervated. (n) abracadabra, gibberish. purifying: (adj) purging, pur mire: (n, z) bog muck; (n) filth marsh

**mire**: (*n*, *v*) bog, muck; (*n*) filth, marsh, quagmire, dirt, sludge, clay; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) mud; (*v*) involve, bog down.

nomenclature: (n) language, classification, appellation, denomination, linguistic communication, linguistic process, locution, lyric, markup language; (v) name.

prostrated: (adj) brokenhearted, exhausted, tired, enervated. purifying: (adj) purging, purgatorial, antiseptic, expurgatory, ablutionary, remedial; (v) cathartic, abstergent; (n) purification.

**sapless**: (*adj*) feeble, infirm, weakly, dry, decrepit, weak, faint, thirsty, flat; (*v*) juiceless, strengthless.

my travail!' and worst of all, when the king of heaven himself laments his inability to save Hector, or sorrows over the impending doom of his dear Sarpedon. Such a character of God, if not ridiculed by our young men, is likely to be imitated by them. Nor should our citizens be given to excess of laughter—'Such violent delights' are followed by a violent re-action. The description in the Iliad of the gods shaking their sides at the **clumsiness** of Hephaestus will not be admitted by us. 'Certainly not.'

Truth should have a high place among the virtues, for falsehood, as we were saying, is useless to the gods, and only useful to men as a medicine. But this employment of falsehood must remain a privilege of state; the common man must not in return tell a lie to the ruler; any more than the patient would tell a lie to his physician, or the sailor to his captainIn the next place our youth must be temperate, and temperance consists in self-control and obedience to authority. That is a lesson which Homer teaches in some places: 'The Achaeans marched on breathing prowess, in silent awe of their leaders;' – but a very different one in other places: 'O heavy with wine, who hast the eyes of a dog, but the heart of a stag.' Language of the latter kind will not impress self-control on the minds of youth. The same may be said about his praises of eating and drinking and his dread of starvation; also about the verses in which he tells of the rapturous loves of Zeus and Here, or of how Hephaestus once detained Ares and Aphrodite in a net on a similar occasion. There is a nobler strain heard in the words: —'Endure, my soul, thou hast endured worse.' Nor must we allow our citizens to receive bribes, or to say, 'Gifts persuade the gods, gifts reverend kings;' or to applaud the ignoble advice of Phoenix to Achilles that he should get money out of the Greeks before he assisted them; or the meanness of Achilles himself in taking gifts from Agamemnon; or his requiring a ransom for the body of Hector; or his cursing of Apollo; or his insolence to the river-god Scamander; or his dedication to the dead Patroclus of his own hair which had been already dedicated to the other river-god Spercheius; or his cruelty in dragging the body of Hector round the walls, and slaying the captives at the pyre: such a combination of meanness and cruelty in Cheiron's pupil is inconceivable. The amatory exploits of Peirithous and Theseus are equally unworthy. Either these so- called sons of

# Thesaurus

amatory: (adj) amative, erotic, loving, amatorial, amatorious, amatorian, romantic, erotical. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, unfriendly, cool. clumsiness: (n) stiffness, roughness, gracelessness, maladroitness, gaucherie, ineptitude, gawkiness, posture, ungracefulness, inelegance, unskillfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) deftness, flamboyance, competence, cleverness, grace, gracefulness, skillfulness, diplomacy, urbanity,

smoothness, elegance.
ignoble: (adj) contemptible, abject,
base, dishonorable, disgraceful,
beggarly, mean, humble, degraded,
despicable, caddish. ANTONYMS:
(adj) honorable, glorious.

meanness: (n) parsimony, closeness, pettiness, avarice, selfishness, baseness, stinginess, niggardliness, miserliness, nastiness; (adj, n) degeneracy. ANTONYMS: (n) generosity, extravagance, decency.

**pyre**: (*n*) pile, heap, funeral, funeral pyre, stake, wake, mound, hair, fire, funeral pile.

rapturous: (adj) overjoyed, enraptured, rapt, delighted, rhapsodic, blissful; (adj, v) ravishing; (v) ardent, passionate, fond, erotic. ANTONYM: (adj) down.

**slaying**: (*n*) homicide, assassination, slaughter, carnage, killing, bloodshed, elimination, parricide, fratricide, destruction, liquidation.

gods were not the sons of gods, or they were not such as the poets imagine them, any more than the gods themselves are the authors of evil. The youth who believes that such things are done by those who have the blood of heaven flowing in their veins will be too ready to imitate their example.

Enough of gods and heroes;—what shall we say about men? What the poets and story-tellers say—that the wicked prosper and the **righteous** are **afflicted**, or that justice is another's gain? Such misrepresentations cannot be allowed by us. But in this we are anticipating the definition of justice, and had therefore better defer the enquiry.

The subjects of poetry have been sufficiently treated; next follows style. Now all poetry is a narrative of events past, present, or to come; and narrative is of three kinds, the simple, the **imitative**, and a composition of the two. An instance will make my meaning clear. The first scene in Homer is of the last or mixed kind, being partly description and partly dialogue. But if you throw the dialogue into the 'oratio obliqua,' the passage will run thus: The priest came and prayed Apollo that the Achaeans might take Troy and have a safe return if Agamemnon would only give him back his daughter; and the other Greeks assented, but Agamemnon was wroth, and so on—The whole then becomes descriptive, and the poet is the only speaker left; or, if you omit the narrative, the whole becomes dialogue. These are the three styles – which of them is to be admitted into our State? 'Do you ask whether tragedy and comedy are to be admitted?' Yes, but also something more-Is it not doubtful whether our guardians are to be imitators at all? Or rather, has not the question been already answered, for we have decided that one man cannot in his life play many parts, any more than he can act both tragedy and comedy, or be rhapsodist and actor at once? Human nature is coined into very small pieces, and as our guardians have their own business already, which is the care of freedom, they will have enough to do without imitating. If they imitate they should imitate, not any meanness or baseness, but the good only; for the mask which the actor wears is apt to become We cannot allow men to play the parts of women, quarrelling, weeping, scolding, or boasting against the gods, -least of all when making love

#### **Thesaurus**

afflicted: (adj) miserable, distressed, stricken, pitiful, sorrowful, ill, woeful, dejected, sorry; (v) afflict, displeased.

baseness: (n) meanness, despicability, evil, depravity, wickedness, dirtiness, unworthiness, iniquity, infamy, lowness, villainy. ANTONYM: (n) goodness.

**boasting**: (*n*) bluster, bravado, rodomontade, swagger, braggadocio, ostentation, show; (*v*) brag; (*adj*) swaggering, vaporing, strutting.
imitating: (adj) imitative; (n)
emulation, mimicry, forgery, acting.
imitative: (adj) mock, counterfeit,
derivative, fake, false, fictitious,
bogus, bastard, onomatopoeic, base,
sham. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine,
real, nonimitative.
real, onomimitative.

pieces: (n) debris, trash.
quarrelling: (adj) at variance, in
dispute, in disagreement, in conflict;
(n) dissension.

**rhapsodist**: (*n*) seer, rhapsode, highflier, fanatic, enthusiast, poet, fanatico.

righteous: (adj) fair, right, good, moral, virtuous, honest, just, correct, honorable; (adj, n) pious, godly. ANTONYMS: (adj) immoral, wicked, unrighteous, bad, corrupt, unethical, unjust, wrong, poor.

wroth: (adj) wrathful, angry, irate, indignant, raging, furious, hot, enraged, incensed, choleric, fury.

or in labour. They must not represent slaves, or bullies, or cowards, drunkards, or madmen, or blacksmiths, or neighing horses, or bellowing bulls, or sounding rivers, or a raging sea. A good or wise man will be willing to perform good and wise actions, but he will be ashamed to play an inferior part which he has never practised; and he will prefer to employ the descriptive style with as little imitation as possible. The man who has no self-respect, on the contrary, will imitate anybody and anything; sounds of nature and cries of animals alike; his whole performance will be imitation of gesture and voice. Now in the descriptive style there are few changes, but in the dramatic there are a great many. Poets and musicians use either, or a compound of both, and this compound is very attractive to youth and their teachers as well as to the vulgar. But our State in which one man plays one part only is not adapted for complexity. And when one of these polyphonous pantomimic gentlemen offers to exhibit himself and his poetry we will show him every observance of respect, but at the same time tell him that there is no room for his kind in our State; we prefer the rough, honest poet, and will not depart from our original models (Laws).

Next as to the music. A song or ode has three parts,—the subject, the harmony, and the rhythm; of which the two last are dependent upon the first. As we banished strains of lamentation, so we may now banish the mixed Lydian harmonies, which are the harmonies of lamentation; and as our citizens are to be temperate, we may also banish convivial harmonies, such as the Ionian and pure Lydian. Two remain—the Dorian and Phrygian, the first for war, the second for peace; the one expressive of courage, the other of obedience or instruction or religious feeling. And as we reject varieties of harmony, we shall also reject the many-stringed, variously-shaped instruments which give utterance to them, and in particular the flute, which is more complex than any of them. The lyre and the harp may be permitted in the town, and the Pan's-pipe in the fields. Thus we have made a purgation of music, and will now make a purgation of metres. These should be like the harmonies, simple and suitable to the occasion. There are four notes of the **tetrachord**, and there are three ratios of metre, 3/2, 2/2, 2/1, which have all their characteristics, and the feet have different characteristics as

#### Thesaurus

banish: (v) dispel, expel, displace, relegate, oust, expatriate, eject, dismiss, transport, cast out; (adj, v)exile. ANTONYMS: (v) keep, embrace, adopt, invite, include. bellowing: (n) roaring, roar, bellows, hollo, holloa, rout, yowl, boation, mugiency, hollering; (adj) mugient. convivial: (adj) companionable, happy, friendly, frolicsome, genial, social, sociable, pleasant, hospitable, gregarious, jovial. ANTONYMS: (adj)

solemn, taciturn, sober, serious, grim, dull, unfriendly, antisocial, unwelcoming, frosty, shy. **imitate**: (n, v) duplicate; (v) forge, ape, **polyphonous**: (adj) polyphonic, emulate, follow, feign, counterfeit, mimic, mock, assume, act. lamentation: (n) dirge, grief, mourning, plaint, regret, complaint, cry, crying, wail, moan, condolence. ANTONYM: (n) celebration. lyre: (n) lira, archlute, lute. pantomimic: (v) pathognomonic,

symptomatic, representative, symbolic, typical; (adj) pantomime, emblematic, diagnostic, armorial. contrapuntal.

purgation: (n) purification, abreaction, katharsis, lustration, cleaning, cleansing, cleanup, clearing, purging, purge, colonic.

self-respect: (n) pride, self-esteem, dignity, face, honesty. tetrachord: (n) meson, parhypate.

well as the rhythms. But about this you and I must ask Damon, the great musician, who speaks, if I remember rightly, of a martial measure as well as of **dactylic**, **trochaic**, and **iambic** rhythms, which he arranges so as to **equalize** the syllables with one another, **assigning** to each the proper quantity. We only venture to affirm the general principle that the style is to conform to the subject and the metre to the style; and that the simplicity and harmony of the soul should be reflected in them all. This principle of simplicity has to be learnt by every one in the days of his youth, and may be gathered anywhere, from the creative and constructive arts, as well as from the forms of plants and animals.

Other artists as well as poets should be warned against meanness or unseemliness. Sculpture and painting equally with music must conform to the law of simplicity. He who violates it cannot be allowed to work in our city, and to corrupt the taste of our citizens. For our guardians must grow up, not amid images of deformity which will gradually poison and corrupt their souls, but in a land of health and beauty where they will drink in from every object sweet and harmonious influences. And of all these influences the greatest is the education given by music, which finds a way into the **innermost** soul and imparts to it the sense of beauty and of deformity. At first the effect is unconscious; but when reason arrives, then he who has been thus trained welcomes her as the friend whom he always knew. As in learning to read, first we acquire the elements or letters separately, and afterwards their combinations, and cannot recognize reflections of them until we know the letters themselves; - in like manner we must first attain the elements or essential forms of the virtues, and then trace their combinations in life and experience. There is a music of the soul which answers to the harmony of the world; and the fairest object of a musical soul is the fair mind in the fair body. Some defect in the latter may be excused, but not in the former. True love is the daughter of temperance, and temperance is utterly opposed to the madness of bodily pleasure. Enough has been said of music, which makes a fair ending with love.

Next we pass on to gymnastics; about which I would remark, that the soul is related to the body as a cause to an effect, and therefore if we educate the mind

#### **Thesaurus**

allocating, assign, allotting, appointment, attribution, transmission.

dactylic: (adj) poetic.
deformity: (n) malformation, disfigurement, defect, blemish, disfiguration, defacement, disability, abnormality, distortion, clubfoot; (adj, n) irregularity.
equalize: (v) compensate, balance,

equate, even, counterbalance,

assigning: (n) allocation, distribution,

compare, equalise, level, match, unify, counteract. ANTONYMS: (v) imbalance, unbalance. iambic: (adj) iambical, poetic, anapestic; (n) trochaic, iambus. innermost: (adj) inward, intimate, inner, interior, close, internal, middle, center, hint, hearty; (adj, n) inside. ANTONYMS: (adj) external, outermost, outer. temperance: (n) moderation, abstinence, abstemiousness, control,

forbearance, measure, gravity, asceticism. ANTONYMS: (n) intemperance, wildness. trochaic: (n) iambic, anapestic. unseemliness: (n) indecency, indecorum, indiscretion, ineptitude, ineptness, rudeness, tactlessness, unsuitability, indecorousness, bad taste, inappropriateness.

ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, propriety, decency.

restraint, moderateness, soberness,

we may leave the education of the body in her charge, and need only give a general outline of the course to be **pursued**. In the first place the guardians must abstain from strong drink, for they should be the last persons to lose their wits. Whether the habits of the palaestra are suitable to them is more doubtful, for the ordinary gymnastic is a sleepy sort of thing, and if left off suddenly is apt to endanger health. But our warrior athletes must be wide-awake dogs, and must also be inured to all changes of food and climate. Hence they will require a simpler kind of gymnastic, akin to their simple music; and for their diet a rule may be found in Homer, who feeds his heroes on roast meat only, and gives them no fish although they are living at the sea-side, nor boiled meats which involve an apparatus of pots and pans; and, if I am not mistaken, he nowhere mentions sweet sauces. Sicilian cookery and Attic confections and Corinthian courtezans, which are to gymnastic what Lydian and Ionian melodies are to music, must be forbidden. Where gluttony and intemperance prevail the town quickly fills with doctors and pleaders; and law and medicine give themselves airs as soon as the freemen of a State take an interest in them. But what can show a more disgraceful state of education than to have to go abroad for justice because you have none of your own at home? And yet there IS a worse stage of the same disease-when men have learned to take a pleasure and pride in the twists and turns of the law; not considering how much better it would be for them so to order their lives as to have no need of a nodding justice. And there is a like disgrace in employing a physician, not for the cure of wounds or epidemic disorders, but because a man has by laziness and luxury contracted diseases which were unknown in the days of Asclepius. How simple is the Homeric practice of medicine. Eurypylus after he has been wounded drinks a posset of Pramnian wine, which is of a heating nature; and yet the sons of Asclepius blame neither the damsel who gives him the drink, nor Patroclus who is attending on him. The truth is that this modern system of nursing diseases was introduced by Herodicus the trainer; who, being of a sickly constitution, by a compound of training and medicine tortured first himself and then a good many other people, and lived a great deal longer than he had any right. But Asclepius would not practise this art, because he knew that the citizens of a well-ordered State have

#### **Thesaurus**

drunkenness, indulgence,

athletes: (n) athlete.
confections: (n) confectionery.
damsel: (n) demoiselle, damosel,
damozel, damoiselle, wench, maiden,
maid, girl, nymph, unmarried
woman, virgin.
feeds: (n) feeding.
gluttony: (n) greediness, edacity.

gluttony: (*n*) greediness, edacity, voracity, rapacity, gula, esurience, excess, hoggishness, avidity, insatiability, debauchery. intemperance: (*n*) dissipation,

debauchery, crapulence, drinking, drink, immoderateness, overindulgence, intemperateness, insobriety. ANTONYM: (n) temperance. inured: (adj) accustomed, callous, enured, habituated, casehardened,

confirmed, motionally hardened, broken in, given, tough, trained. laziness: (n) indolence, acedia, inactivity, inertia, sloth, slowness, lethargy, inactiveness, faineance, lassitude, dreaminess. ANTONYMS: (n) diligence, willingness, vigor, liveliness, interest.

palaestra: (n) gymnasium, palestra,

pursued: (n) hunted person.
well-ordered: (adj) systematic,

businesslike.

wide-awake: (*adj*) vigilant, wakeful, alert, observant, bright, wary, prompt, nimble; (*adv*) on the ball.

no leisure to be ill, and therefore he adopted the 'kill or cure' method, which artisans and labourers employ. 'They must be at their business,' they say, 'and have no time for coddling: if they recover, well; if they don't, there is an end of them.' Whereas the rich man is supposed to be a gentleman who can afford to be ill. Do you know a maxim of Phocylides-that 'when a man begins to be rich' (or, perhaps, a little sooner) 'he should practise virtue'? But how can excessive care of health be inconsistent with an ordinary occupation, and yet consistent with that practice of virtue which Phocylides inculcates? When a student imagines that philosophy gives him a headache, he never does anything; he is always unwell. This was the reason why Asclepius and his sons practised no such art. They were acting in the interest of the public, and did not wish to preserve useless lives, or raise up a puny offspring to wretched sires. Honest diseases they honestly cured; and if a man was wounded, they applied the proper remedies, and then let him eat and drink what he liked. But they declined to treat intemperate and worthless subjects, even though they might have made large fortunes out of them. As to the story of Pindar, that Asclepius was slain by a **thunderbolt** for restoring a rich man to life, that is a lie – following our old rule we must say either that he did not take bribes, or that he was not the son of a god.

Glaucon then asks Socrates whether the best physicians and the best judges will not be those who have had **severally** the greatest experience of diseases and of crimes. Socrates draws a distinction between the two professions. The physician should have had experience of disease in his own body, for he cures with his mind and not with his body. But the judge controls mind by mind; and therefore his mind should not be **corrupted** by crime. Where then is he to gain experience? How is he to be wise and also innocent? When young a good man is apt to be deceived by evil-doers, because he has no pattern of evil in himself; and therefore the judge should be of a certain age; his youth should have been innocent, and he should have acquired insight into evil not by the practice of it, but by the observation of it in others. This is the ideal of a judge; the criminal turned detective is wonderfully suspicious, but when in company with good men who have experience, he is at fault, for he **foolishly** imagines that every one

coddling: (n) indulgence.
corrupted: (adj) tainted, rotten,
spoiled, degraded, adulterated,
depraved, distorted, decayed,
impaired, debased; (n) corrupter.
ANTONYM: (adj) pure.
declined: (adj) less.
foolishly: (adv) idiotically,
ridiculously, stupidly, indiscreetly,
silly, insanely, injudiciously,
preposterously, absurdly, senselessly;
(adj, adv) madly. ANTONYMS: (adv)

#### **Thesaurus**

sensibly, solemnly, shrewdly, prudently, responsibly, judiciously, carefully, rationally.

intemperate: (adj) inordinate, immoderate, dissipated, unbridled, extreme, disorderly, inclement, unruly, wild, undue, violent. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, temperate, moderate.

puny: (adj) weak, petty, feeble, frail, tiny, small, minute, measly, runty, paltry, trivial. ANTONYMS: (adj) muscular, brawny, strong, significant, fit, huge, enormous, robust, considerable.

**severally**: (adv) separately, respectively, singly, variously, sundrily, independently, particularly, several, distinctly, apart; (adj, adv) one by one.

thunderbolt: (n) bolt of lightning, lightning, thunder, thunderclap, bombshell, surprise, flash, shackle, quarrel, streak of lightning, streak. is as bad as himself. Vice may be known of virtue, but cannot know virtue. This is the sort of medicine and this the sort of law which will prevail in our State; they will be healing arts to better natures; but the evil body will be left to die by the one, and the evil soul will be put to death by the other. And the need of either will be greatly diminished by good music which will give harmony to the soul, and good gymnastic which will give health to the body. Not that this division of music and gymnastic really corresponds to soul and body; for they are both equally concerned with the soul, which is tamed by the one and aroused and sustained by the other. The two together supply our guardians with their twofold nature. The passionate disposition when it has too much gymnastic is hardened and brutalized, the gentle or philosophic temper which has too much music becomes enervated. While a man is allowing music to pour like water through the funnel of his ears, the edge of his soul gradually wears away, and the passionate or spirited element is melted out of him. Too little spirit is easily exhausted; too much quickly passes into nervous irritability. So, again, the athlete by feeding and training has his courage doubled, but he soon grows stupid; he is like a wild beast, ready to do everything by blows and nothing by counsel or policy. There are two principles in man, reason and passion, and to these, not to the soul and body, the two arts of music and gymnastic correspond. He who mingles them in harmonious **concord** is the true musician, – he shall be the presiding genius of our State.

The next question is, Who are to be our rulers? First, the elder must rule the younger; and the best of the elders will be the best guardians. Now they will be the best who love their subjects most, and think that they have a common interest with them in the welfare of the state. These we must select; but they must be watched at every epoch of life to see whether they have retained the same opinions and held out against force and **enchantment**. For time and persuasion and the love of pleasure may enchant a man into a change of purpose, and the force of grief and pain may compel him. And therefore our guardians must be men who have been tried by many tests, like gold in the refiner's fire, and have been passed first through danger, then through pleasure, and at every age have come out of such trials victorious and without stain, in full

#### **Thesaurus**

**concord**: (*n*) agreement, accordance, unity, harmony, union, unison, alliance, tune; (*n*, *v*) concert, peace; (*v*) agree. ANTONYMS: (*n*) discord, conflict, war, disunity, disarray; (*v*) disagree.

enchant: (*n*, *v*) charm, conjure; (*v*) delight, captivate, bewitch, attract, fascinate, allure, beguile, capture, enrapture. ANTONYMS: (*v*) disenchant, repulse, repel, disgust, bother, disappoint, annoy, displease.

enervated: (adj) debilitated, limp, tired, lethargic, weak, languid, faint, colorless, adynamic, asthenic, enfeebled. ANTONYMS: (adj) activated, invigorated, strengthened, energized, strong.

funnel: (*n*) flue, tunnel, funnel shape, shaft, cone, hopper, trachea, weasand; (*v*) channel, move, pipe. **irritability**: (*n*) irascibility, tetchiness, choler, touchiness, temper, anger, irritation, peevishness, pettishness,

testiness; (adj, n) petulance.
ANTONYMS: (n) cheerfulness,
equanimity, cheeriness.
philosophic: (v) platonic, staid, stayed,
stoical; (adj) thoughtful, rational,
patient, learned, ideologic,
ideological. ANTONYM: (adj)
nonphilosophical.
tamed: (adj) tame, broken,
domesticated, under control, tamer,
meek, gentle, domestic, docile,
controlled, cultivated.

command of themselves and their principles; having all their faculties in harmonious exercise for their country's good. These shall receive the highest honours both in life and death. (It would perhaps be better to confine the term 'guardians' to this select class: the younger men may be called 'auxiliaries.')

And now for one magnificent lie, in the belief of which, Oh that we could train our rulers!—at any rate let us make the attempt with the rest of the world. What I am going to tell is only another version of the legend of Cadmus; but our **unbelieving** generation will be slow to accept such a story. The tale must be imparted, first to the rulers, then to the soldiers, lastly to the people. We will inform them that their youth was a dream, and that during the time when they seemed to be undergoing their education they were really being fashioned in the earth, who sent them up when they were ready; and that they must protect and cherish her whose children they are, and regard each other as brothers and sisters. 'I do not wonder at your being ashamed to propound such a fiction.' There is more behind. These brothers and sisters have different natures, and some of them God framed to rule, whom he fashioned of gold; others he made of silver, to be auxiliaries; others again to be husbandmen and craftsmen, and these were formed by him of brass and iron. But as they are all sprung from a common stock, a golden parent may have a silver son, or a silver parent a golden son, and then there must be a change of rank; the son of the rich must descend, and the child of the artisan rise, in the social scale; for an oracle says 'that the State will come to an end if governed by a man of brass or iron.' Will our citizens ever believe all this? 'Not in the present generation, but in the next, perhaps, Yes.'

Now let the **earthborn** men go forth under the command of their rulers, and look about and pitch their camp in a high place, which will be safe against enemies from without, and likewise against insurrections from within. There let them sacrifice and set up their **tents**; for soldiers they are to be and not shopkeepers, the watchdogs and guardians of the sheep; and luxury and **avarice** will turn them into **wolves** and tyrants. Their habits and their dwellings should correspond to their education. They should have no property; their pay should

#### **Thesaurus**

artisan: (n) craftsman, artist, operative, machinist, journeyman, worker, workman, Wright, carpenter, tradesman; (adj) mechanic.

avarice: (n) cupidity, covetousness, rapacity, avariciousness, avidity, eagerness, voracity, voraciousness, stinginess; (adj, n) greediness; (adj) extortion. ANTONYMS: (n) philanthropy, benevolence, charity. cherish: (v) care for, nurture, treasure, entertain, cultivate, bosom, prize,

esteem, harbor; (*n*, *v*) hug, foster. ANTONYMS: (*v*) hate, scorn, reject, denounce, despise, neglect. **earthborn**: (*adj*) mortal, earthly, lowborn, human, terrigenous, second-class. **fashioned**: (*adi*) formed, featured.

**fashioned**: (*adj*) formed, featured, fictitious, intentional, bent, wrought. **oracle**: (*n*) prophet, divination, vaticinator, diviner, revelation, seer, sibyl, Solomon, soothsayer, vision, authority.

propound: (v) offer, suggest, present,
 pose, enunciate, proffer, move, put;
 (n, v) propose; (n) advance, allege.
tents: (n) encampment.
unbelieving: (adj) incredulous,

unbelieving: (adj) incredulous, disbelieving, sceptical, suspicious, atheistical, nescient, irreligious, atheistic, faithless, unconverted, distrustful.

wolves: (*n*) jackals, skunks, raccoons, panthers, order Carnivora, lions, tigers, foxes, cats, Carnivora, Canis.

only meet their expenses; and they should have common meals. Gold and silver we will tell them that they have from God, and this divine gift in their souls they must not alloy with that earthly dross which passes under the name of gold. They only of the citizens may not touch it, or be under the same roof with it, or drink from it; it is the accursed thing. Should they ever acquire houses or lands or money of their own, they will become householders and tradesmen instead of guardians, enemies and tyrants instead of helpers, and the hour of ruin, both to themselves and the rest of the State, will be at hand.

The religious and ethical aspect of Plato's education will hereafter be considered under a separate head. Some lesser points may be more conveniently noticed in this place.

1. The constant appeal to the authority of Homer, whom, with grave irony, Plato, after the manner of his age, summons as a witness about ethics and psychology, as well as about diet and medicine; attempting to distinguish the better lesson from the worse, sometimes altering the text from design; more than once quoting or alluding to Homer inaccurately, after the manner of the early logographers turning the Iliad into prose, and delighting to draw far-fetched inferences from his words, or to make ludicrous applications of them. He does not, like Heracleitus, get into a rage with Homer and Archilochus (Heracl.), but uses their words and expressions as vehicles of a higher truth; not on a system like Theagenes of Rhegium or Metrodorus, or in later times the Stoics, but as fancy may dictate. And the conclusions drawn from them are sound, although the premises are fictitious. These fanciful appeals to Homer add a charm to Plato's style, and at the same time they have the effect of a satire on the follies of Homeric interpretation. To us (and probably to himself), although they take the form of arguments, they are really figures of speech. They may be compared with modern citations from Scripture, which have often a great rhetorical power even when the original meaning of the words is entirely lost sight of. The real, like the Platonic Socrates, as we gather from the Memorabilia of Xenophon, was

#### **Thesaurus**

accursed: (adj) execrable, abominable, detestable, accurst, hateful, damned, damnable, maledict, blasted; (v) atrocious, stranded.

alloy: (n) amalgam, admixture, blend, mixture, fusion, compound; (adj, v) sophisticate; (v) devalue, mix, debase, dross: (n) trash, rubbish, scoria, refuse, deteriorate. ANTONYMS: (v) clean, clear, separate.

citations: (n) documents, credentials, certification.

delighting: (adj) satisfactory,

dictate: (n, v) command, charge, order, decree; (n) bidding, behest, edict; (v) bid, prescribe, rule, ordain. ANTONYMS: (v) request, ask, record; (n, v) obey.

slag, waste, impurity, dregs, garbage, offal, cinder.

expressions: (n) vocabulary, terms,

hereafter: (adv) thereafter, from now

on, hence, henceforth, hereinafter, afterwards; (n) afterlife, futurity, time to come, great beyond, future life. inaccurately: (adv) inexactly, erroneously, imprecisely, wrongly, loosely, falsely, fallaciously, mistakenly, faultily, untruely, sloppily. ANTONYMS: (adv) accurately, precisely, exactly, correctly.

quoting: (n) citation.

tradesmen: (n) fellow tradesmen.

fond of making similar adaptations. Great in all ages and countries, in religion as well as in law and literature, has been the art of interpretation.

2. 'The style is to conform to the subject and the metre to the style.' Notwithstanding the fascination which the word 'classical' exercises over us, we can hardly maintain that this rule is observed in all the Greek poetry which has come down to us. We cannot deny that the thought often exceeds the power of lucid expression in Aeschylus and Pindar; or that rhetoric gets the better of the thought in the Sophist-poet Euripides. Only perhaps in Sophocles is there a perfect harmony of the two; in him alone do we find a grace of language like the beauty of a Greek statue, in which there is nothing to add or to take away; at least this is true of single plays or of large portions of them. The connection in the Tragic Choruses and in the Greek lyric poets is not unfrequently a tangled thread which in an age before logic the poet was unable to draw out. Many thoughts and feelings mingled in his mind, and he had no power of disengaging or arranging them. For there is a subtle influence of logic which requires to be transferred from prose to poetry, just as the music and perfection of language are infused by poetry into prose. In all ages the poet has been a bad judge of his own meaning (Apol.); for he does not see that the word which is full of associations to his own mind is difficult and unmeaning to that of another; or that the sequence which is clear to himself is **puzzling** to others. There are many passages in some of our greatest modern poets which are far too obscure; in which there is no proportion between style and subject, in which any halfexpressed figure, any harsh construction, any distorted **collocation** of words, any remote sequence of ideas is admitted; and there is no voice 'coming sweetly from nature,' or music adding the expression of feeling to thought. As if there could be poetry without beauty, or beauty without ease and clearness. The obscurities of early Greek poets arose necessarily out of the state of language and logic which existed in their age. They are not examples to be followed by us; for the use of language ought in every generation to become clearer and clearer. Like Shakespere, they were great in spite, not in consequence, of their imperfections

#### Thesaurus

arose: (v) happen, occur. arranging: (n) arrange, arrangements, disposition, composing, composition, order, position, set, orchestration, organization, agreement. collocation: (n) disposal, configuration, collection, collocate, pair up, put into pairs, junction, classification, arrangement, disposition, apposition. infused: (adj) mixed. lucid: (adj) clear, transparent, limpid,

coherent, distinct, evident, explicit, crystalline, light, diaphanous, bright. ANTONYMS: (adj) opaque, unintelligible, muddled, unclear, irrational, confusing, illogical, ambiguous, confused, vague, incoherent. language, verse; (adj) lyrical, choral,

lyric: (n) tuneful, poem, song, vocal, instrumental, operatic; (v)

mingled: (adj) miscellaneous, complex, often, unoften, rarely.

indiscriminate, heterogeneous, medley, confused, eclectic, motley, different; (v) blended, blent. puzzling: (adj) enigmatic, confusing, incomprehensible, mysterious, cryptic, obscure, knotty, enigmatical, complicated, ambiguous, abstruse. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, straightforward, explicable, comprehensible, enlightening. unfrequently: (adv) not much, not

of expression. But there is no reason for returning to the necessary **obscurity** which prevailed in the **infancy** of literature. The English poets of the last century were certainly not obscure; and we have no excuse for losing what they had gained, or for going back to the earlier or transitional age which preceded them. The thought of our own times has not out-stripped language; a want of Plato's 'art of measuring' is the rule cause of the **disproportion** between them.

3. In the third book of the Republic a nearer approach is made to a theory of art than anywhere else in Plato. His views may be summed up as follows:—True art is not fanciful and imitative, but simple and ideal,—the expression of the highest moral energy, whether in action or **repose**. To live among works of plastic art which are of this noble and simple character, or to listen to such strains, is the best of influences,—the true Greek atmosphere, in which youth should be brought up. That is the way to create in them a natural good taste, which will have a feeling of truth and beauty in all things. For though the poets are to be expelled, still art is recognized as another aspect of reason—like love in the Symposium, extending over the same sphere, but confined to the preliminary education, and acting through the power of habit; and this conception of art is not limited to strains of music or the forms of plastic art, but pervades all nature and has a wide **kindred** in the world. The Republic of Plato, like the Athens of Pericles, has an artistic as well as a political side.

There is hardly any mention in Plato of the creative arts; only in two or three passages does he even **allude** to them (Rep.; Soph.). He is not lost in **rapture** at the great works of Phidias, the Parthenon, the Propylea, the statues of Zeus or Athene. He would probably have regarded any abstract truth of number or figure as higher than the greatest of them. Yet it is hard to suppose that some influence, such as he hopes to inspire in youth, did not pass into his own mind from the works of art which he saw around him. We are living upon the fragments of them, and find in a few broken stones the standard of truth and beauty. But in Plato this feeling has no expression; he nowhere says that beauty is the object of art; he seems to deny that wisdom can take an external form

#### **Thesaurus**

early childhood, youth, nonage,

allude: (v) advert, refer, hint, glance, intimate, suggest, touch, bring up, mean, notice, pertain.
disproportion: (n) inequality, discrepancy, difference, imbalance, inadequacy, incongruity, irregularity, unevenness, unfairness, variation, disagreement. ANTONYMS: (n) equality, symmetry, proportion, balance, evenness, parity, justice. infancy: (n) babyhood, cradle, beginning, birth, genesis, minority,

adolescence, early days. ANTONYM: (n) maturity.
kindred: (adj) cognate, akin, similar, allied, related; (n) kin, consanguinity, relation, folk, folks, kin group.
obscurity: (n) gloom, darkness, shade, dimness, obscureness, night, oblivion, haze, ambiguity, shadow, cloudiness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, fame, light, simplicity, prominence, celebrity, brightness.

rapture: (n) joy, bliss, delight, happiness, exaltation, elation, exultation, enchantment; (adj, n) enthusiasm; (n, v) transport; (adj, n, v) passion. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, boredom, misery, gloom, agony, hell, despair. repose: (n, v) recline, peace, lie, calm; (n) composure, ease, quiet, leisure, recreation, relaxation; (v) lay. ANTONYMS: (n, v) work; (n) activity, panic, agitation.

(Phaedrus); he does not distinguish the fine from the mechanical arts. Whether or no, like some writers, he felt more than he expressed, it is at any rate remarkable that the greatest perfection of the fine arts should coincide with an almost entire silence about them. In one very striking passage he tells us that a work of art, like the State, is a whole; and this conception of a whole and the love of the newly-born mathematical sciences may be regarded, if not as the **inspiring**, at any rate as the regulating principles of Greek art (Xen. Mem.; and Sophist).

- 4. Plato makes the true and subtle remark that the physician had better not be in robust health; and should have known what illness is in his own person. But the judge ought to have had no similar experience of evil; he is to be a good man who, having passed his youth in innocence, became acquainted late in life with the vices of others. And therefore, according to Plato, a judge should not be young, just as a young man according to Aristotle is not fit to be a hearer of moral philosophy. The bad, on the other hand, have a knowledge of vice, but no knowledge of virtue. It may be doubted, however, whether this train of reflection is well founded. In a remarkable passage of the Laws it is acknowledged that the evil may form a correct estimate of the good. The union of gentleness and courage in Book ii. at first seemed to be a paradox, yet was afterwards ascertained to be a truth. And Plato might also have found that the intuition of evil may be consistent with the abhorrence of it. directness of aim in virtue which gives an insight into vice. And the knowledge of character is in some degree a natural sense independent of any special experience of good or evil.
- 5. One of the most remarkable conceptions of Plato, because un-Greek and also very different from anything which existed at all in his age of the world, is the **transposition** of ranks. In the Spartan state there had been **enfranchisement** of Helots and degradation of citizens under special circumstances. And in the ancient Greek aristocracies, merit was certainly recognized as one of the elements

#### **Thesaurus**

abhorrence: (n) odium, antipathy, detestation, hatred, aversion, disgust, execration, hate, loathing, revulsion, horror. ANTONYMS: (n) attraction, adoration, delight, liking, attractiveness.

attractiveness.

ascertained: (adj) discovered,
determined; (v) absolute, recognized,
received, noted, notorious, decisive,
unmistakable, unequivocal, positive.
directness: (n) candor, frankness,
plainness, honesty, immediacy,

straightforwardness, forthrightness, openness, freedom, ingenuousness, outspokenness. ANTONYMS: (n) vagueness, obliqueness, circuitousness, reticence, delicacy, caution, dishonesty.

enfranchisement: (n) freedom, certification, accreditation, emancipation, deliverance, lib, liberty, release, liberation, manumission, credentials.

ANTONYM: (n) disenfranchisement.

inspiring: (adj) rousing, provocative, inspire, inspirational, inspiringly, heartening, encourage, entertaining, exhilarating, hopeful, imposing. ANTONYMS: (adj) ridiculous, uninspiring, banal, boring, dull, unimpressive.

**transposition**: (*n*) exchange, substitution, transposal, reversal, permutation, replacement, displacement, transfer, elocation, inversion, switch. on which government was based. The founders of states were supposed to be their benefactors, who were raised by their great actions above the ordinary level of humanity; at a later period, the services of warriors and legislators were held to entitle them and their descendants to the privileges of citizenship and to the first rank in the state. And although the existence of an ideal aristocracy is slenderly proven from the remains of early Greek history, and we have a difficulty in ascribing such a character, however the idea may be defined, to any actual Hellenic state-or indeed to any state which has ever existed in the world—still the rule of the best was certainly the **aspiration** of philosophers, who probably accommodated a good deal their views of primitive history to their own notions of good government. Plato further insists on applying to the guardians of his state a series of tests by which all those who fell short of a fixed standard were either removed from the governing body, or not admitted to it; and this 'academic' discipline did to a certain extent prevail in Greek states, especially in Sparta. He also indicates that the system of caste, which existed in a great part of the ancient, and is by no means extinct in the modern European world, should be set aside from time to time in favour of merit. He is aware how deeply the greater part of mankind resent any interference with the order of society, and therefore he proposes his novel idea in the form of what he himself calls a 'monstrous fiction.' (Compare the ceremony of preparation for the two 'great waves' in Book v.) Two principles are indicated by him: first, that there is a distinction of ranks dependent on circumstances prior to the individual: second, that this distinction is and ought to be broken through by personal qualities. He adapts mythology like the Homeric poems to the wants of the state, making 'the Phoenician tale' the vehicle of his ideas. Every Greek state had a myth respecting its own origin; the Platonic republic may also have a tale of earthborn men. The gravity and verisimilitude with which the tale is told, and the analogy of Greek tradition, are a sufficient verification of the 'monstrous falsehood.' Ancient poetry had spoken of a gold and silver and brass and iron age succeeding one another, but Plato supposes these differences in the natures of men to exist together in a single state. Mythology supplies a figure under which the lesson may be taught (as Protagoras says, 'the myth is more

#### **Thesaurus**

aspiration: (n) ambition, longing, ambitiousness, purpose, dream, wish, hankering, inhalation, want, goal; (n, v) desire.

caste: (n) rank, class, sort, variety.

**caste**: (*n*) rank, class, sort, variety, estate, tribe, race, genus; (*adj*) degree, baccalaureate, condition.

entitle: (v) dub, style, designate, christen, empower, term, baptize, authorize; (n, v) title, name, denominate. ANTONYMS: (v) disqualify, debar.

resent: (v) resentful, envy, grudge, begrudge, embittered, angry, abhor, take offense, take umbrage, take exception, loathe. ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, wish, accept. slenderly: (adv) slightly, thinly,

sparely, meagerly, tenuously, sveltely, scantily, flimsily, lithely, gauntly, frailly. ANTONYM: (adv)

**supposes**: (*adj*) ridiculous, regulation, project, preposterous, plainly,

suggestion, notions, irrational, absurd, fatuity, foolish.

verification: (n) substantiation, proof, check, corroboration, evidence, authentication, testimony, test, validation, probation; (v) affirmation.

verisimilitude: (n) probability, likelihood, plausibility, similarity, expression, comparison, likeness, reality, representation, resemblance, semblance. ANTONYM: (n) falseness.

interesting'), and also enables Plato to touch lightly on new principles without going into details. In this passage he shadows forth a general truth, but he does not tell us by what steps the transposition of ranks is to be effected. Indeed throughout the Republic he allows the lower ranks to fade into the distance. We do not know whether they are to carry arms, and whether in the fifth book they are or are not included in the **communistic** regulations respecting property and marriage. Nor is there any use in arguing strictly either from a few chance words, or from the silence of Plato, or in drawing inferences which were beyond his vision. Aristotle, in his criticism on the position of the lower classes, does not perceive that the **poetical** creation is 'like the air, invulnerable,' and cannot be penetrated by the shafts of his logic (Pol.).

6. Two paradoxes which strike the modern reader as in the highest degree fanciful and ideal, and which suggest to him many reflections, are to be found in the third book of the Republic: first, the great power of music, so much beyond any influence which is experienced by us in modern times, when the art or science has been far more developed, and has found the secret of harmony, as well as of melody; secondly, the **indefinite** and almost absolute control which the soul is supposed to exercise over the body.

In the first we suspect some degree of **exaggeration**, such as we may also observe among certain masters of the art, not unknown to us, at the present day. With this natural enthusiasm, which is felt by a few only, there seems to **mingle** in Plato a sort of Pythagorean **reverence** for numbers and numerical proportion to which Aristotle is a stranger. Intervals of sound and number are to him sacred things which have a law of their own, not dependent on the variations of sense. They rise above sense, and become a connecting link with the world of ideas. But it is evident that Plato is describing what to him appears to be also a fact. The power of a simple and characteristic melody on the impressible mind of the Greek is more than we can easily appreciate. The effect of national **airs** may bear some comparison with it. And, besides all this, there is a confusion between the

#### **Thesaurus**

airs: (n, v) pretension; (n) affectation, pride, pose, pretensions, attitude; (adj, n) arrogance; (v) precisianism, euphuism, purism, pedantry. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, personality, realness, truthfulness, honesty.

**communistic**: (adj) common, radical, communal.

**exaggeration**: (*n*) distortion, magnification, enlargement, overstatement, hyperbole,

misrepresentation, caricatura, embellishment, elaboration, trope, romance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) irony, minimizing, reduction. indefinite: (*adj*, *v*) ambiguous, vagu

minmizing, reduction.

indefinite: (adj, v) ambiguous, vague;
(adj) uncertain, boundless, hazy,
equivocal, unlimited, doubtful,
dubious, imprecise, indecisive.
ANTONYMS: (adj) definite, limited,
fixed, constrained, specific, distinct,
known, precise, clear, exact.
mingle: (v) compound, combine,

merge, amalgamate, intermix, mix, commingle, associate, confuse, join, intermingle. ANTONYM: (v) part. poetical: (adj) imaginative, rhetorical, poematic, figurative, inventive. reverence: (n, v) respect, regard, fear, worship, honor, esteem, adore; (n) deference, adoration, admiration, awe. ANTONYMS: (n) despise, disrespect, irreverence, disdain, disparagement, contempt; (v) dishonor.

harmony of musical notes and the harmony of soul and body, which is so **potently** inspired by them.

The second paradox leads up to some curious and interesting questions— How far can the mind control the body? Is the relation between them one of mutual antagonism or of mutual harmony? Are they two or one, and is either of them the cause of the other? May we not at times drop the opposition between them, and the mode of describing them, which is so familiar to us, and yet hardly conveys any precise meaning, and try to view this composite creature, man, in a more simple manner? Must we not at any rate admit that there is in human nature a higher and a lower principle, divided by no distinct line, which at times break asunder and take up arms against one another? Or again, they are **reconciled** and move together, either **unconsciously** in the ordinary work of life, or consciously in the pursuit of some noble aim, to be attained not without an effort, and for which every thought and nerve are strained. And then the body becomes the good friend or ally, or servant or instrument of the mind. And the mind has often a wonderful and almost superhuman power of banishing disease and weakness and calling out a hidden strength. Reason and the desires, the intellect and the senses are brought into harmony and obedience so as to form a single human being. They are ever parting, ever meeting; and the identity or diversity of their tendencies or operations is for the most part unnoticed by us. When the mind touches the body through the appetites, we acknowledge the responsibility of the one to the other. There is a tendency in us which says 'Drink.' There is another which says, 'Do not drink; it is not good for you.' And we all of us know which is the **rightful** superior. We are also responsible for our health, although into this sphere there enter some elements of necessity which may be beyond our control. Still even in the management of health, care and thought, continued over many years, may make us almost free agents, if we do not exact too much of ourselves, and if we acknowledge that all human freedom is limited by the laws of nature and of mind.

We are disappointed to find that Plato, in the general condemnation which he passes on the practice of medicine prevailing in his own day, depreciates the

## **Thesaurus**

asunder: (adj, v) separate; (adv) aside, in two; (adj, adv) in Twain; (adj) loose, distant, adrift, aloof; (v) discrete, far between, free. ANTONYM: (adv) together. desires: (n) requirements, needs.

desires: (n) requirements, needs.
parting: (n) adieu, division, leave,
departure, disunion, goodbye,
leaving, segregation, dying, rupture;
(adj) valedictory. ANTONYMS: (n)
joining, meeting, connection,
Reunion.

potently: (adv) strongly, puissantly, effectively, hardly, cogently, efficaciously, virilely, effectually, vigorously, stiffly, influentially. reconciled: (adj) consistent, resigned, serene, meet; (v) made friends, affriended. ANTONYM: (adj) unreconciled. rightful: (adj) right, lawful, just,

rightful: (adj) right, lawful, just, justifiable, proper, legal, equitable, licit, real, genuine, true. ANTONYMS: (adj) wrongful, illegal, unlawful, fake.

sphere: (n) region, range, province, domain, realm, area, department, round, ball, circle, globe.
unconsciously: (adv) instinctively, unintentionally, unthinkingly, unwittingly, ignorantly, innocently, comatosely, automatically, obliviously, unsuspectingly, inadvertently. ANTONYMS: (adv) consciously, deliberately, knowingly, purposely.

effects of diet. He would like to have diseases of a definite character and capable of receiving a definite treatment. He is afraid of **invalidism interfering** with the business of life. He does not recognize that time is the great **healer** both of mental and bodily disorders; and that remedies which are gradual and proceed little by little are safer than those which produce a sudden **catastrophe**. Neither does he see that there is no way in which the mind can more surely influence the body than by the control of eating and drinking; or any other action or occasion of human life on which the higher freedom of the will can be more simple or truly asserted.

- 7. Lesser matters of style may be remarked.
  - 1. The affected ignorance of music, which is Plato's way of expressing that he is passing lightly over the subject.
  - 2. The tentative manner in which here, as in the second book, he proceeds with the construction of the State.
  - 3. The description of the State sometimes as a reality, and then again as a work of imagination only; these are the arts by which he sustains the reader's interest.
  - 4. **Connecting** links, or the preparation for the entire **expulsion** of the poets in Book X.
  - 5. The companion pictures of the lover of litigation and the **valetudinarian**, the **satirical** jest about the maxim of Phocylides, the manner in which the image of the gold and silver citizens is taken up into the subject, and the argument from the practice of Asclepius, should not escape notice.

#### **Thesaurus**

**catastrophe**: (*n*) disaster, adversity, tragedy, cataclysm, misfortune, bale, denouement, misery, misadventure, woe, finale. ANTONYMS: (*n*) joy, miracle, wonder, success. **connecting**: (*n*) concatenation,

connecting: (n) concatenation, assembly, attachment, connection, connexion, joining, coupling, junction, fastening, articulation; (adj) connected.

**expulsion**: (*n*) exile, banishment, deportation, ejection, dismissal,

extrusion, eviction, exclusion, transportation, exception, release. ANTONYMS: (*n*) inclusion, welcoming.

healer: (n) chiropractor, doctor, cure, curer, herbalist, osteopathist, alleviator, osteopath, faith healer, electrotherapist, clinical psychologist. interfering: (adj, n) meddling; (adj) officious, busy, disturbing, meddlesome, nosy, busybodied, curious, overbearing, domineering;

(n) hindrance.

invalidism: (n) infirmity, invalidity, health problem, ill health.
satirical: (adj) satiric, cutting, mordant, mocking, ironic, biting, scornful, sardonic, derisive; (adj, n) keen; (n) ironical. ANTONYM: (adj) sympathetic.

**valetudinarian**: (*adj*) sickly, infirm, valetudinarianism; (*n*) sick person, sufferer, diseased person.

## ANALYSIS OF BOOK IV

Adeimantus said: 'Suppose a person to argue, Socrates, that you make your citizens miserable, and this by their own free-will; they are the lords of the city, and yet instead of having, like other men, lands and houses and money of their own, they live as mercenaries and are always mounting guard.' You may add, I replied, that they receive no pay but only their food, and have no money to spend on a journey or a mistress. 'Well, and what answer do you give?' My answer is, that our guardians may or may not be the happiest of men, —I should not be surprised to find in the long- run that they were, — but this is not the aim of our constitution, which was designed for the good of the whole and not of any one part. If I went to a sculptor and blamed him for having painted the eye, which is the noblest feature of the face, not purple but black, he would reply: 'The eye must be an eye, and you should look at the statue as a whole.' 'Now I can well imagine a fool's paradise, in which everybody is eating and drinking, clothed in purple and fine linen, and potters lie on sofas and have their wheel at hand, that they may work a little when they please; and cobblers and all the other classes of a State lose their distinctive character. And a State may get on without cobblers; but when the guardians degenerate into boon companions, then the ruin is complete. Remember that we are not talking of peasants keeping holiday, but of a State in which every man is expected to do his own work. The happiness resides not in this or that class, but in the State as a whole. I have

# **Thesaurus**

**boon**: (*n*) blessing, benefit, mercy, concession, good, gratuity; (*n*, *v*) benefaction, gift, grant; (*adj*) jocund, hilarious. ANTONYMS: (*n*) disadvantage, privation, disaster, minus.

clothed: (adj) dressed, wrapped, cloaked, robed, covered, attired, vested, absorbed, decent; (v) accustomed, arrayed. ANTONYM: (adj) unclothed.

**cobblers**: (n) nonsense, baloney, bosh, **mounting**: (n, v) mount; (adj, n)

claptrap, absurdity.

degenerate: (adj) corrupt, debauched, depraved, dissolute; (v) decay, degrade, relapse, decline, drop, rot; (adj, n) profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) upright, honorable, moral, healthy, virtuous, regenerate; (v) develop, flourish, recuperate, uplift, upgrade. lands: (n) park, estate, kingdom.

mercenaries: (n) armed force, band of soldiers.

climbing; (n) ascent, setting, climb, frame, assembly, chassis, framework, ascension; (adj, adv) rising.

paradise: (n) Elysium, bliss, Eden, Zion, promised land, Garden of Eden, Elysian Fields, ecstasy, nirvana, Valhalla, utopia.

ANTONYM: (n) misery.

sculptor: (n) carver, artist, sculptress, engraver, cutter, sculptors, statuary, lin, statue maker, sculpturer, modeler.

another remark to make: - A middle condition is best for artisans; they should have money enough to buy tools, and not enough to be independent of business. And will not the same condition be best for our citizens? If they are poor, they will be mean; if rich, luxurious and lazy; and in neither case contented. 'But then how will our poor city be able to go to war against an enemy who has money?' There may be a difficulty in fighting against one enemy; against two there will be none. In the first place, the contest will be carried on by trained warriors against well-to-do citizens: and is not a regular athlete an easy match for two stout opponents at least? Suppose also, that before engaging we send ambassadors to one of the two cities, saying, 'Silver and gold we have not; do you help us and take our share of the spoil;' - who would fight against the lean, wiry dogs, when they might join with them in preying upon the fatted sheep? 'But if many states join their resources, shall we not be in danger?' I am amused to hear you use the word 'state' of any but our own State. They are 'states,' but not 'a state' - many in one. For in every state there are two hostile nations, rich and poor, which you may set one against the other. But our State, while she remains true to her principles, will be in very deed the mightiest of Hellenic states.

To the size of the state there is no limit but the necessity of unity; it must be neither too large nor too small to be one. This is a matter of secondary importance, like the principle of transposition which was intimated in the parable of the earthborn men. The meaning there implied was that every man should do that for which he was fitted, and be at one with himself, and then the whole city would be united. But all these things are secondary, if education, which is the great matter, be duly regarded. When the wheel has once been set in motion, the speed is always increasing; and each generation improves upon the preceding, both in physical and moral qualities. The care of the governors should be directed to preserve music and gymnastic from innovation; alter the songs of a country, Damon says, and you will soon end by altering its laws. The change appears innocent at first, and begins in play; but the evil soon becomes serious, working secretly upon the characters of individuals, then upon social and commercial relations, and lastly upon the institutions of a state; and there is ruin and confusion everywhere. But if education remains in the established

ambassadors: (n) ambassador. athlete: (n) gymnast, acrobat, sportsman, contestant, jock, amateur, contender, hurdler, sport, athletes, wrestler. contented: (adj) content, happy, comfortable, quiet, cheerful, smug, complacent, satisfied, easy, proud, delighted. ANTONYMS: (adj) discontented, unhappy, depressed, unsatisfied, sad, anxious.

engaging: (adj, v) charming, inviting,

#### **Thesaurus**

prepossessing; (adj) attractive, interesting, lovable, delightful, appealing, pleasant, captivating; (adv) engagingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) repulsive, loathsome, repellant, unattractive, undesirable, unlikable, dull, unpleasant, repellent. fatted: (adj) stalled.

fatted: (adj) stalled. lastly: (adv) eventually, ultimately, latterly, in conclusion, last, at last, terminally, latestly, utmostly, definitively, concludingly. ANTONYM: (adv) initially.

preying: (adj) predatory; (n) predation,
pillaging, depredation.

well-to-do: (adj) rich, well-off, affluent,
opulent, prosperous, moneyed,
substantial, comfortable, easy,
fortunate.

wiry: (adj) lean, muscular, sinewy,

wiry: (adj) lean, muscular, sinewy, fibrous, brawny, stalwart, ropy, thin, supple, vigorous, rough.

ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, small, tiny, smooth, soft, stout, fat.

form, there will be no danger. A restorative process will be always going on; the spirit of law and order will raise up what has fallen down. Nor will any regulations be needed for the lesser matters of life-rules of deportment or fashions of dress. Like invites like for good or for evil. Education will correct deficiencies and supply the power of self-government. Far be it from us to enter into the particulars of legislation; let the guardians take care of education, and education will take care of all other thingsBut without education they may patch and mend as they please; they will make no progress, any more than a patient who thinks to cure himself by some favourite remedy and will not give up his luxurious mode of living. If you tell such persons that they must first alter their habits, then they grow angry; they are charming people. 'Charming, - nay, the very reverse.' Evidently these gentlemen are not in your good graces, nor the state which is like them. And such states there are which first ordain under penalty of death that no one shall alter the constitution, and then suffer themselves to be flattered into and out of anything; and he who indulges them and fawns upon them, is their leader and saviour. 'Yes, the men are as bad as the states.' But do you not admire their cleverness? 'Nay, some of them are stupid enough to believe what the people tell them.' And when all the world is telling a man that he is six feet high, and he has no measure, how can he believe anything else? But don't get into a passion: to see our statesmen trying their nostrums, and fancying that they can cut off at a blow the Hydra-like rogueries of mankind, is as good as a play. Minute enactments are superfluous in good states, and are useless in bad ones.

And now what remains of the work of legislation? Nothing for us; but to Apollo the god of Delphi we leave the ordering of the greatest of all things—that is to say, religion. Only our **ancestral** deity sitting upon the centre and **navel** of the earth will be trusted by us if we have any sense, in an affair of such magnitude. No foreign god shall be supreme in our realms...

Here, as Socrates would say, let us 'reflect on' (Greek) what has preceded: thus far we have spoken not of the happiness of the citizens, but only of the well-being of the State. They may be the happiest of men, but our principal aim in

#### **Thesaurus**

ancestral: (adj) family, patrimonial, heritable, genetic, linear, patriarchal, familial, lineal, inherited, inheritable, ethnic.

cleverness: (n) ingenuity, adroitness, wisdom, aptitude, acumen, intelligence, skill, dexterity, astuteness, brightness, smartness. ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, clumsiness, imbecility, foolishness, ineptness, simplicity, straightforwardness, uselessness,

deportment: (n, v) bearing, demeanor, conduct, carriage; (n) manner, attitude, demeanour, behaviour, comportment, dealing, air. fancying: (n) daydream, fantasy. flattered: (adj) pleased.

navel: (n) center, bellybutton, hub, nave, centre, omphalos, midpoint, halfway house, belly button, central, point.

**ordain**: (n, v) decree, command, order,

direct; (adj, v) enact, establish, institute; (v) dictate, appoint, consecrate, nominate. restorative: (adj, n) analeptic, corrective; (adj) recuperative, h

corrective; (adj) recuperative, healing, revitalizing, renewing; (n) tonic, remedy, cure, bracer, prophylactic. ANTONYM: (adj) injurious.

**saviour**: (*n*) deliverer, rescuer, savior, redeemer, Christ, saver, liberator, recoverer, messianic, Jesus Christ,

founding the State was not to make them happy. They were to be guardians, not holiday-makers. In this pleasant manner is presented to us the famous question both of ancient and modern philosophy, touching the relation of duty to happiness, of right to utility.

First duty, then happiness, is the natural order of our moral ideas. The utilitarian principle is valuable as a corrective of error, and shows to us a side of ethics which is apt to be neglected. It may be admitted further that right and utility are co-extensive, and that he who makes the happiness of mankind his object has one of the highest and noblest motives of human action. But utility is not the historical basis of morality; nor the aspect in which moral and religious ideas commonly occur to the mind. The greatest happiness of all is, as we believe, the far-off result of the divine government of the universe. The greatest happiness of the individual is certainly to be found in a life of virtue and goodness. But we seem to be more assured of a law of right than we can be of a divine purpose, that 'all mankind should be saved;' and we infer the one from the other. And the greatest happiness of the individual may be the reverse of the greatest happiness in the ordinary sense of the term, and may be realised in a life of pain, or in a voluntary death. Further, the word 'happiness' has several ambiguities; it may mean either pleasure or an ideal life, happiness subjective or objective, in this world or in another, of ourselves only or of our neighbours and of all men everywhere. By the modern founder of Utilitarianism the selfregarding and disinterested motives of action are included under the same term, although they are commonly opposed by us as benevolence and self-love. The word happiness has not the **definiteness** or the sacredness of 'truth' and 'right'; it does not equally appeal to our higher nature, and has not sunk into the conscience of mankind. It is associated too much with the comforts and conveniences of life; too little with 'the goods of the soul which we desire for their own sake.' In a great trial, or danger, or temptation, or in any great and heroic action, it is scarcely thought of. For these reasons 'the greatest happiness' principle is not the true foundation of ethics. But though not the first principle, it is the second, which is like unto it, and is often of easier application. For the

# **Thesaurus**

benevolence: (*n*) beneficence, affection, favor, mercy, compassion, favour, kindness, benefaction, pity, kindliness, generosity. ANTONYMS: (*n*) malevolence, meanness, cruelty, misanthropy, wickedness, nastiness, malice.

conveniences: (n) creature comforts, comforts, convenience, living, support, livelihood, keep, sustenance, facility, facilities, device. corrective: (n) correct, remedy,

antidote, device, reclamation; (adj) palliative, remedial, penal, castigatory, amendatory, healing. ANTONYMS: (adj) damaging, harmful, hurtful, injurious. definiteness: (n) certainty, conclusiveness accuracy exactness

conclusiveness, accuracy, exactness, finality, decisiveness, definition, predictability, intelligibility, resolution, expressness. ANTONYM: (n) uncertainty.

far-off: (adj) distant, far, faraway,

outlying, extreme, inaccessible, last, long, obscure, unknown, wide. **infer**: (v) deduce, guess, derive, conclude, construe, imagine, conjecture, gather, deduct; (adj, v) understand, imply.

sacredness: (*n*) sanctity, inviolability, godliness, saintliness, innocence, piety, devotion, blessedness, sanctitude, righteousness, goodness. **unto**: (*prep*, *v*) to, till, up to; (*prep*) towards, before.

larger part of human actions are neither right nor wrong, except in so far as they tend to the happiness of mankind (Introd. to Gorgias and Philebus).

The same question reappears in politics, where the useful or **expedient** seems to claim a larger sphere and to have a greater authority. For concerning political measures, we chiefly ask: How will they affect the happiness of mankind? Yet here too we may observe that what we term **expediency** is merely the law of right limited by the conditions of human society. Right and truth are the highest aims of government as well as of individuals; and we ought not to lose sight of them because we cannot directly enforce them. They appeal to the better mind of nations; and sometimes they are too much for merely temporal interests to resist. They are the watchwords which all men use in matters of public policy, as well as in their private dealings; the peace of Europe may be said to depend upon them. In the most commercial and utilitarian states of society the power of ideas remains. And all the higher class of statesmen have in them something of that idealism which Pericles is said to have gathered from the teaching of Anaxagoras. They recognise that the true leader of men must be above the motives of ambition, and that national character is of greater value than material comfort and prosperity. And this is the order of thought in Plato; first, he expects his citizens to do their duty, and then under favourable circumstances, that is to say, in a well-ordered State, their happiness is assured. That he was far from excluding the modern principle of utility in politics is sufficiently evident from other passages; in which 'the most beneficial is affirmed to be the most honourable', and also 'the most sacred'.

## We may note:

- 1. The manner in which the objection of Adeimantus here, is designed to draw out and **deepen** the argument of Socrates.
- 2. The conception of a whole as lying at the foundation both of politics and of art, in the latter supplying the only principle of criticism, which, under the various names of harmony, symmetry, measure, proportion, unity, the Greek seems to have applied to works of art.

#### **Thesaurus**

affirmed: (adj) acknowledged, avowed, guaranteed.
deepen: (v) intensify, amplify, develop, rise, redouble, heighten, strengthen, raise, magnify, increase, darken. ANTONYMS: (v) lower, contract, shorten, reduce, lessen, decrease, lighten, diminish.
expediency: (n) utility, convenience, advantage, fitness, advisability, pertinence, expedient, benefit, effectiveness, value, pertinency.

ANTONYMS: (n) impracticality, inconvenience, inexpedience, unsuitability, uselessness. expedient: (adj) fit, advisable, becoming, desirable, adequate, apt, convenient, suitable; (n) contrivance, resource, artifice. ANTONYMS: (adj) inappropriate, inexpedient, impractical, futile, detrimental, inconvenient, foolish. idealism: (n) magnanimousness, nobility, immaterialism, mentalism,

perfection, rose-colored glasses, quixotism, optimism, imaginationalism, ideality, greatness. ANTONYMS: (n) reality, disillusionment. temporal: (adj) secular, earthly, profane, lay, carnal, mortal, fleeting,

profane, lay, carnal, mortal, fleeting, temporary, transient, impermanent, mundane. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritual, otherworldly, mental, permanent, perpetual, lasting.

- 3. The requirement that the State should be limited in size, after the traditional model of a Greek state; as in the Politics of Aristotle, the fact that the cities of Hellas were small is converted into a principle.
- 4. The **humorous** pictures of the lean dogs and the fatted sheep, of the light active **boxer upsetting** two stout gentlemen at least, of the 'charming' patients who are always making themselves worse; or again, the playful assumption that there is no State but our own; or the grave irony with which the **statesman** is **excused** who believes that he is six feet high because he is told so, and having nothing to measure with is to be pardoned for his ignorance—he is too amusing for us to be seriously angry with him.
- 5. The light and superficial manner in which religion is passed over when provision has been made for two great principles,—first, that religion shall be based on the highest conception of the gods, secondly, that the true national or Hellenic type shall be maintained...

Socrates proceeds: But where amid all this is justice? Son of Ariston, tell me where. Light a candle and search the city, and get your brother and the rest of our friends to help in seeking for her. 'That won't do,' replied Glaucon, 'you yourself promised to make the search and talked about the **impiety** of deserting justice.' Well, I said, I will lead the way, but do you follow. My notion is, that our State being perfect will contain all the four virtues—wisdom, courage, temperance, justice. If we eliminate the three first, the unknown remainder will be justice.

First then, of wisdom: the State which we have called into being will be wise because **politic**. And policy is one among many kinds of skill,—not the skill of the **carpenter**, or of the worker in metal, or of the husbandman, but the skill of him who advises about the interests of the whole State. Of such a kind is the skill of the guardians, who are a small class in number, far smaller than the

### **Thesaurus**

**boxer**: (n) wrestler, fighter, bruiser, gladiator, bagger, the fancy, slugger, welterweight, athlete, backpacker, bantamweight.

carpenter: (n) woodman, woodsman, woodworker, Joseph; (v) build.

excused: (adj) privileged, immune.

humorous: (adj) comical, funny, comic, droll, playful, hilarious, jocose, farcical, jocular; (adj, n) facetious, witty. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, tragic, humorless, dull.

impiety: (n) disrespect, irreligion, blasphemy, unrighteousness, impiousness, sacrilege, profanity, godlessness, irreverence, sin, evil. ANTONYMS: (n) restraint, goodness. politic: (adj, v) tactful; (adj) discreet, judicious, circumspect, shrewd, prudent, suave, calculating, tricky, cute, chary. ANTONYMS: (adj) injudicious, unwise, impolitic, foolish. statesman: (n) politician, diplomat,

national leader, strategist, minister, schemer, Julian. upsetting: (adj) disconcerting, disturbing, troublesome, distressing, poignant, sad, perplexing, bewildering; (n) cold heading, overturn, overthrow. ANTONYMS: (adj) comforting, reassuring, heartwarming, kind, happy, attractive, unemotional, lovely, appealing, pleasing, pleasant.

politico, Cicero, bacon, solon,

blacksmiths; but in them is concentrated the wisdom of the State. And if this small ruling class have wisdom, then the whole State will be wise.

Our second virtue is courage, which we have no difficulty in finding in another class—that of soldiers. Courage may be defined as a sort of salvation the never-failing salvation of the opinions which law and education have prescribed concerning dangers. You know the way in which dyers first prepare the white ground and then lay on the dye of purple or of any other colour. Colours **dyed** in this way become fixed, and no soap or lye will ever wash them out. Now the ground is education, and the laws are the colours; and if the ground is properly laid, neither the soap of pleasure nor the lye of pain or fear will ever wash them out. This power which preserves right opinion about danger I would ask you to call 'courage,' adding the epithet 'political' or 'civilized' in order to distinguish it from mere animal courage and from a higher courage which may hereafter be discussed.

Two virtues remain; temperance and justice. More than the preceding virtues temperance suggests the idea of harmony. Some light is thrown upon the nature of this virtue by the popular description of a man as 'master of himself' – which has an absurd sound, because the master is also the servant. The expression really means that the better principle in a man masters the worse. There are in cities whole classes – women, **slaves** and the like – who **correspond** to the worse, and a few only to the better; and in our State the former class are held under control by the latter. Now to which of these classes does temperance belong? 'To both of them.' And our State if any will be the **abode** of temperance; and we were right in describing this virtue as a harmony which is diffused through the whole, making the dwellers in the city to be of one mind, and attuning the upper and middle and lower classes like the strings of an instrument, whether you suppose them to differ in wisdom, strength or wealth.

And now we are near the spot; let us draw in and surround the cover and watch with all our eyes, lest justice should slip away and escape. Tell me, if you see the **thicket** move first. 'Nay, I would have you lead.' Well then, offer up a prayer and follow. The way is dark and difficult; but we must push on. I begin

# Thesaurus bleached, stained, painted, artificially

abode: (n) dwelling, house, residence, place, domicile, lodge, abidance, mansion, lodging, address, seat. **correspond**: (adj, n, v) agree; (v)accord, coincide, conform, suit, consort, match, parallel, fit, answer, harmonize. ANTONYMS: (v) disagree, conflict, contradict, disaccord, clash, jar. diffused: (adj) spread, dispersed, dim, distributed, softened. dyed: (adj) colored, tinted, coloured,

coloured, biased, artificial, unreal, epithet: (n) name, cognomen, appellation, denomination, nickname, moniker, sobriquet, title, picture, byname, byword. masters: (n) Edgar lee Masters. never-failing: (adj) steady, sure, fixed, thicket: (n) brake, coppice, brush, unfaltering, unqualified, firm, steadfast, unwavering, wholehearted. prescribed: (adj) set, appointed,

formal, official, positive, decreed, rigid, definite, fixed, obstinate, legal. ANTONYM: (adj) informal. slaves: (n) helotry, bondsmen. surround: (v) gird, round, skirt, border, besiege, beset, envelop; (n, v)circle, inclose, ring, compass. ANTONYMS: (v) release, free. grove, spinney, bush, brushwood, cluster, underbrush, undergrowth, underwood.

to see a track. 'Good news.' Why, Glaucon, our dulness of scent is quite **ludicrous!** While we are **straining** our eyes into the distance, justice is **tumbling** out at our feet. We are as bad as people looking for a thing which they have in their hands. Have you forgotten our old principle of the division of labour, or of every man doing his own business, concerning which we spoke at the foundation of the State-what but this was justice? Is there any other virtue remaining which can compete with wisdom and temperance and courage in the scale of political virtue? For 'every one having his own' is the great object of government; and the great object of trade is that every man should do his own business. Not that there is much harm in a carpenter trying to be a cobbler, or a cobbler transforming himself into a carpenter; but great evil may arise from the cobbler leaving his last and turning into a guardian or legislator, or when a single individual is trainer, warrior, legislator, all in one. And this evil is injustice, or every man doing another's business. I do not say that as yet we are in a condition to arrive at a final conclusion. For the definition which we believe to hold good in states has still to be tested by the individual. Having read the large letters we will now come back to the small. From the two together a brilliant light may be struck out...

Socrates proceeds to discover the nature of justice by a method of residues. Each of the first three virtues corresponds to one of the three parts of the soul and one of the three classes in the State, although the third, temperance, has more of the nature of a harmony than the first two. If there be a fourth virtue, that can only be **sought** for in the relation of the three parts in the soul or classes in the State to one another. It is obvious and simple, and for that very reason has not been found out. The modern **logician** will be inclined to object that ideas cannot be separated like chemical substances, but that they run into one another and may be only different aspects or names of the same thing, and such in this instance appears to be the case. For the definition here given of justice is **verbally** the same as one of the definitions of temperance given by Socrates in the Charmides, which however is only provisional, and is afterwards rejected. And so far from justice remaining over when the other virtues are eliminated, the justice and temperance of the Republic can with difficulty be distinguished.

# **Thesaurus**

**dulness**: (*n*) dullness, matt, dreariness, dimness, bluntness, flatness, boringness, vapidity, jejunity, mat, tedium. ANTONYMS: (*n*) brightness, asperity.

legislator: (n) lawgiver, representative, congressman, deputy, filibuster, frontbencher, backbencher, crossbencher, statist, statemonger, parliamentarian.

**logician**: (*n*) expert, logistician, philosopher, reasoner, syllogizer,

theorist, thinker, academic. ANTONYM: (n) realist. **ludicrous**: (adj) absurd, ridiculous, farcical, foolish, laughable, comical, grotesque, derisory, droll, preposterous, jocular. ANTONYMS: (adj) sane, impressive.

sought: (adj) required, quest, seeking, popular.

**straining**: (*n*) effort, push, exertion, distortion, overrefinement, tension, endeavor, torture, twisting; (*adj*)

arduous; (v) tighten.

tumbling: (adj) falling, billowing, dropping, rolled; (adj, adv) plunging; (n) gymnastics, acrobatics, stunting, stunt flying, rumbling; (adv) headfirst.

verbally: (adv) vocally, literally, verbatim, in words, word for word. warrior: (n) fighter, combatant, champion, brave, gerrard, guerilla, centurion, irregular, insurgent, guerrilla, militant. Temperance appears to be the virtue of a part only, and one of three, whereas justice is a universal virtue of the whole soul. Yet on the other hand temperance is also described as a sort of harmony, and in this respect is **akin** to justice. Justice seems to differ from temperance in degree rather than in kind; whereas temperance is the harmony of discordant elements, justice is the perfect order by which all natures and classes do their own business, the right man in the right place, the division and co-operation of all the citizens. Justice, again, is a more abstract notion than the other virtues, and therefore, from Plato's point of view, the foundation of them, to which they are referred and which in idea precedes them. The proposal to **omit** temperance is a mere trick of style intended to avoid monotony.

There is a famous question discussed in one of the earlier Dialogues of Plato (Protagoras; Arist. Nic. Ethics), 'Whether the virtues are one or many?' This receives an answer which is to the effect that there are four **cardinal** virtues (now for the first time brought together in **ethical** philosophy), and one supreme over the rest, which is not like Aristotle's conception of universal justice, virtue relative to others, but the whole of virtue relative to the parts. To this universal conception of justice or order in the first education and in the moral nature of man, the still more universal conception of the good in the second education and in the sphere of **speculative** knowledge seems to succeed. Both might be equally described by the terms 'law,' 'order,' 'harmony;' but while the idea of good embraces 'all time and all existence,' the conception of justice is not extended beyond man.

...Socrates is now going to identify the individual and the State. But first he must prove that there are three parts of the individual soul. His argument is as follows:—Quantity makes no difference in quality. The word 'just,' whether applied to the individual or to the State, has the same meaning. And the term 'justice' **implied** that the same three principles in the State and in the individual were doing their own business. But are they really three or one? The question is difficult, and one which can hardly be **solved** by the methods which we are now using; but the truer and longer way would take up too much of our time. 'The

### **Thesaurus**

akin: (adj) near, like, allied, equivalent, alike, similar, analogous, parallel, cognate, kindred, corresponding.

ANTONYMS: (adj) unconnected, alien, disconnected, dissimilar, different.

ethical: (adj) right, decent, just, upright, conscientious, virtuo good, honest, righteous; (adj, moral; (n) ethics. ANTONYMS immoral, dishonest, dishonora corrupt, unrighteous, unprinc

cardinal: (adj) capital, fundamental, central, main, key, chief, primal; (adj, n) paramount, essential, vital, radical. ANTONYMS: (adj) secondary, inessential, insignificant, minor, ordinal, unimportant.

ethical: (adj) right, decent, just, upright, conscientious, virtuous, good, honest, righteous; (adj, v) moral; (n) ethics. ANTONYMS: (adj) immoral, dishonest, dishonorable, corrupt, unrighteous, unprincipled. implied: (adj) understood, tacit, indirect, oblique, silent, inferential, inherent, ulterior, latent, involved, contained. ANTONYMS: (adj) direct, explicit, overt.

omit: (adv, v) neglect, disregard; (adj,

v) miss, skip, jump, pretermit; (v) delete, forget, exclude, except, leave. ANTONYMS: (v) add, remember. solved: (v) untraced, undiscovered, unexplained, undeveloped; (adj) exposed, determined.

speculative: (adj) risky, theoretical, academic, inquisitive, notional, hypothetical, chancy, conjectural; (adj, v) contemplative, reflective; (v) meditative. ANTONYMS: (adj) definite, moderate, practical, proven.

shorter will satisfy me.' Well then, you would admit that the qualities of states mean the qualities of the individuals who compose them? The Scythians and Thracians are passionate, our own race intellectual, and the Egyptians and Phoenicians covetous, because the individual members of each have such and such a character; the difficulty is to determine whether the several principles are one or three; whether, that is to say, we reason with one part of our nature, desire with another, are angry with another, or whether the whole soul comes into play in each sort of action. This enquiry, however, requires a very exact definition of terms. The same thing in the same relation cannot be affected in two opposite ways. But there is no impossibility in a man standing still, yet moving his arms, or in a top which is fixed on one spot going round upon its axis. There is no necessity to mention all the possible exceptions; let us provisionally assume that opposites cannot do or be or suffer opposites in the same relation. And to the class of opposites belong assent and dissent, desire and avoidance. And one form of desire is thirst and hunger: and here arises a new point - thirst is thirst of drink, hunger is hunger of food; not of warm drink or of a particular kind of food, with the single exception of course that the very fact of our desiring anything implies that it is good. When relative terms have no attributes, their correlatives have no attributes; when they have attributes, their correlatives also have them. For example, the term 'greater' is simply relative to 'less,' and knowledge refers to a subject of knowledge. But on the other hand, a particular knowledge is of a particular subject. Again, every science has a distinct character, which is defined by an object; medicine, for example, is the science of health, although not to be confounded with health. Having cleared our ideas thus far, let us return to the original instance of thirst, which has a definite object - drink. Now the thirsty soul may feel two distinct impulses; the animal one saying 'Drink;' the rational one, which says 'Do not drink.' impulses are contradictory; and therefore we may assume that they spring from distinct principles in the soul. But is passion a third principle, or akin to desire? There is a story of a certain Leontius which throws some light on this question. He was coming up from the Piraeus outside the north wall, and he passed a spot where there were dead bodies lying by the **executioner**. He felt a longing desire

# Thesaurus

attributes: (n) nature, property. compose: (v) build, compile, write, weave; (adj, v) appease, tranquilize, allay, lull; (n, v) calm, constitute, settle. ANTONYMS: (v) destroy, ruin, desiring: (adj) envious, insatiable, unsettle, annihilate, discompose, demolish, disturb, fluster. confounded: (adj) bemused, accursed, execrable, baffled, cursed, befuddled, confused, puzzled, aghast, perplexed; (adj, v) abashed. covetous: (adj) avid, envious, greedy,

grasping, acquisitive, miserly, hungry, jealous; (adj, n) desirous; (adj, v) sordid, mercenary. ANTONYMS: (adj) giving, benevolent, sharing. desirous, eager; (adv) fleshly. executioner: (n) killer, murderer, hangman, headsman, electrocutioner, thirsty: (adj) eager, arid, parched, avid, executor, tormentor, executer, public executioner, slaughterer, slayer. provisionally: (adv) tentatively, for the time being, provisorily, conditionally,

momentarily, interimly, qualifiedly, briefly, transiently; (n) unless, **thirst**: (n, v) hunger, lust, wish; (n)longing, yen, craving, hankering, dryness, appetite; (v) starve, crave. ANTONYM: (n) dislike. keen, athirst, greedy, absorbent, ambitious; (v) craving, hungry. ANTONYMS: (adj) quenched, satisfied, disinterested, wet.

to see them and also an abhorrence of them; at first he turned away and shut his eyes, then, suddenly tearing them open, he said, -'Take your fill, ye wretches, of the fair sight.' Now is there not here a third principle which is often found to come to the assistance of reason against desire, but never of desire against reason? This is passion or spirit, of the separate existence of which we may further convince ourselves by putting the following case: – When a man suffers justly, if he be of a generous nature he is not indignant at the hardships which he undergoes: but when he suffers unjustly, his indignation is his great support; hunger and thirst cannot tame him; the spirit within him must do or die, until the voice of the shepherd, that is, of reason, bidding his dog bark no more, is heard within. This shows that passion is the ally of reason. Is passion then the same with reason? No, for the former exists in children and brutes; and Homer affords a proof of the distinction between them when he says, 'He smote his breast, and thus rebuked his soul.'

And now, at last, we have reached firm ground, and are able to infer that the virtues of the State and of the individual are the same. For wisdom and courage and justice in the State are severally the wisdom and courage and justice in the individuals who form the State. Each of the three classes will do the work of its own class in the State, and each part in the individual soul; reason, the superior, and passion, the inferior, will be harmonized by the influence of music and gymnastic. The counsellor and the warrior, the head and the arm, will act together in the town of Mansoul, and keep the desires in proper **subjection**. The courage of the warrior is that quality which preserves a right opinion about dangers in spite of pleasures and pains. The wisdom of the counsellor is that small part of the soul which has authority and reason. The virtue of temperance is the friendship of the ruling and the subject principles, both in the State and in the individual. Of justice we have already spoken; and the notion already given of it may be confirmed by common instances. Will the just state or the just individual steal, lie, commit adultery, or be guilty of impiety to gods and men? 'No.' And is not the reason of this that the several principles, whether in the state or in the individual, do their own business? And justice is the quality which makes just men and just states. Moreover, our old division of labour,

### **Thesaurus**

classes: (n) lessons. **hardships**: (*n*) difficulty. harmonized: (adj) harmonical, consonant, harmonic, harmonious, concordant, identical, coordinated, uniform, synchronized, standardized, rebuked: (adj) reproved, admonished, in harmony. ANTONYM: (adj) heterogeneous. heard: (n) hearing. justly: (adv) accurately, fairly, correctly, honestly, lawfully,

properly, exactly, uprightly,

legitimately, impartially, purely. ANTONYMS: (adv) wrongly, unfairly, unjustifiably, unjustly, unlawfully, sinfully, falsely, immorally.

chastened.

smote: (v) smite.

spite: (n) malice, grudge, hatred, malevolence, rancour, venom, rancor, maliciousness, ill will, animosity; (n, v) pique. ANTONYMS: (v) please; (n)

benevolence, goodwill, love, affection, harmony. subjection: (n) conquest, oppression, captivity, bondage, confinement, servitude, dependence, enslavement, slavery, repression, subjugation. unjustly: (adv) wrongly, wrongfully, wickedly, iniquitously, inequitably, undeservedly, illegally, foully, injuriously, unrighteously, unjustifiedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) rightly, reasonably.

which required that there should be one man for one use, was a dream or anticipation of what was to follow; and that dream has now been realized in justice, which begins by binding together the three **chords** of the soul, and then acts **harmoniously** in every relation of life. And injustice, which is the **insubordination** and disobedience of the inferior elements in the soul, is the opposite of justice, and is **inharmonious** and unnatural, being to the soul what disease is to the body; for in the soul as well as in the body, good or bad actions produce good or bad habits. And virtue is the health and beauty and well-being of the soul, and vice is the disease and weakness and deformity of the soul.

Again the old question returns upon us: Is justice or injustice the more profitable? The question has become ridiculous. For injustice, like mortal disease, makes life not worth having. Come up with me to the hill which overhangs the city and look down upon the single form of virtue, and the infinite forms of vice, among which are four special ones, characteristic both of states and of individuals. And the state which corresponds to the single form of virtue is that which we have been describing, **wherein** reason rules under one of two names—monarchy and aristocracy. Thus there are five forms in all, both of states and of souls...

In attempting to prove that the soul has three separate faculties, Plato takes occasion to discuss what makes difference of faculties. And the criterion which he proposes is difference in the working of the faculties. The same faculty cannot produce contradictory effects. But the path of early reasoners is beset by thorny entanglements, and he will not proceed a step without first clearing the ground. This leads him into a tiresome **digression**, which is intended to explain the nature of contradiction. First, the contradiction must be at the same time and in the same relation. Secondly, no **extraneous** word must be introduced into either of the terms in which the contradictory proposition is expressed: for example, thirst is of drink, not of warm drink. He implies, what he does not say, that if, by the advice of reason, or by the impulse of anger, a man is restrained from drinking, this proves that thirst, or desire under which thirst is included, is distinct from anger and reason. But suppose that we allow the term 'thirst' or

# Thesaurus

chords: (n) key, clef.
digression: (n, v) deviation, diversion;
(n) departure, aside, excursion,
divagation, aberrance, deflection,
deflexion, divergence, difference.
ANTONYMS: (n) consistency,
uniformity, regularity.
extraneous: (adj) exterior, foreign,
exotic, external, adventitious, outer,
outside, irrelevant, unrelated,
extrinsic, immaterial. ANTONYMS:
(adj) relevant, intrinsic, necessary,

essential, integral, native, needed, basic, pertinent.

harmoniously: (adv) musically, tunefully, melodiously, symmetrically, melodically, cordially, unanimously, sweetly, euphoniously, quietly, symphoniously.

ANTONYMS: (adv) bitterly, harshly, discordantly, inappropriately, disagreeably.

inharmonious: (adi) dissonant,

**inharmonious**: (*adj*) dissonant, incompatible, unharmonious,

incongruous, jarring, improper, harsh, cacophonous, unmusical, tuneless, inconsistent. insubordination: (n) defiance, mutiny, noncompliance, rebellion, contumacy, revolt, unruliness, rebelliousness, insolence, turbulence, recalcitrance. ANTONYMS: (n) subordination, obedience, meekness, loyalty. wherein: (adv) in what, in which,

'desire' to be modified, and say an 'angry thirst,' or a 'revengeful desire,' then the two spheres of desire and anger overlap and become confused. This case therefore has to be excluded. And still there remains an exception to the rule in the use of the term 'good,' which is always implied in the object of desire. These are the discussions of an age before logic; and any one who is **wearied** by them should remember that they are necessary to the clearing up of ideas in the first development of the human faculties.

The psychology of Plato extends no further than the division of the soul into the rational, irascible, and concupiscent elements, which, as far as we know, was first made by him, and has been retained by Aristotle and succeeding ethical writers. The chief difficulty in this early analysis of the mind is to define exactly the place of the irascible faculty (Greek), which may be variously described under the terms righteous indignation, spirit, passion. It is the foundation of courage, which includes in Plato moral courage, the courage of enduring pain, and of surmounting intellectual difficulties, as well as of meeting dangers in war. Though irrational, it inclines to side with the rational: it cannot be aroused by punishment when justly inflicted: it sometimes takes the form of an enthusiasm which sustains a man in the performance of great actions. It is the 'lion heart' with which the reason makes a treaty. On the other hand it is negative rather than positive; it is indignant at wrong or falsehood, but does not, like Love in the Symposium and Phaedrus, **aspire** to the vision of Truth or Good. It is the **peremptory** military spirit which prevails in the government of honour. It differs from anger (Greek), this latter term having no accessory notion of righteous indignation. Although Aristotle has retained the word, yet we may observe that 'passion' (Greek) has with him lost its affinity to the rational and has become indistinguishable from 'anger' (Greek). And to this vernacular use Plato himself in the Laws seems to revert, though not always. By modern philosophy too, as well as in our ordinary conversation, the words anger or passion are employed almost exclusively in a bad sense; there is no connotation of a just or reasonable cause by which they are aroused. The feeling of 'righteous indignation' is too partial and accidental to admit of our regarding it as a separate virtue or habit. We are tempted also to doubt whether Plato is right in

accessory: (n) accomplice, abettor, abetter, confederate, attachment; (adj, v) ancillary, subservient; (adj, n) auxiliary, adjunct; (adj) appurtenant, subsidiary. ANTONYMS: (n) instigator, leader, principal.

aspire: (v) aim, lust, hanker, crave, plan, hope, want, rise, purpose, wish, long. ANTONYM: (v) wallow.

connotation: (n) implication, overtone, meaning, significance, sense, consequence, import, hint,

### **Thesaurus**

suggestion, undertone, substance. ANTONYM: (n) overtone. enduring: (adj) durable, abiding, lasting, permanent, continuing, constant, hardy, immortal, eternal, stable; (adv) enduringly. ANTONYMS: (adj) impatient, transient, fleeting, mortal, modern, insubstantial, inconstant, fickle, erratic, unstable. includes: (v) involve; (adj) included. peremptory: (adj) imperious,

commanding, dictatorial, overbearing, decisive, magisterial; (*adj*, *v*) authoritative, dogmatic, flat, absolute; (*v*) decided. ANTONYM: (*adj*) polite.

surmounting: (n) triumph.

vernacular: (n) jargon, slang, patois, language, dialect, cant, idiom, tongue, argot; (adj) vulgar, native.

wearied: (adj) jaded, tired, spent, fatigued, weary, prostrate, limp, haggard, shattered, worn, fatigate.

**supposing** that an **offender**, however justly condemned, could be expected to acknowledge the justice of his sentence; this is the spirit of a philosopher or **martyr** rather than of a criminal.

We may observe how nearly Plato approaches Aristotle's famous thesis, that 'good actions produce good habits.' The words 'as healthy practices (Greek) produce health, so do just practices produce justice,' have a sound very like the Nicomachean Ethics. But we note also that an incidental remark in Plato has become a far-reaching principle in Aristotle, and an **inseparable** part of a great Ethical system.

There is a difficulty in understanding what Plato meant by 'the longer way': he seems to intimate some metaphysic of the future which will not be satisfied with arguing from the principle of contradiction. In the sixth and seventh books (compare Sophist and Parmenides) he has given us a sketch of such a metaphysic; but when Glaucon asks for the final revelation of the idea of good, he is put off with the declaration that he has not yet studied the preliminary sciences. How he would have filled up the sketch, or argued about such questions from a higher point of view, we can only conjecture. Perhaps he hoped to find some a priori method of developing the parts out of the whole; or he might have asked which of the ideas contains the other ideas, and possibly have stumbled on the Hegelian identity of the 'ego' and the 'universal.' Or he may have imagined that ideas might be constructed in some manner analogous to the construction of figures and numbers in the mathematical sciences. The most certain and necessary truth was to Plato the universal; and to this he was always seeking to refer all knowledge or opinion, just as in modern times we seek to rest them on the opposite pole of induction and experience. The aspirations of metaphysicians have always tended to pass beyond the limits of human thought and language: they seem to have reached a height at which they are 'moving about in worlds unrealized,' and their conceptions, although profoundly affecting their own minds, become invisible or unintelligible to others. We are not therefore surprized to find that Plato himself has nowhere clearly explained his doctrine of ideas; or that his school in a later generation, like his

# **Thesaurus**

analogous: (adj) similar, analog, analogical, akin, parallel, like, equivalent, corresponding, comparable, cognate, analogue. ANTONYMS: (adj) dissimilar, different, heterologous, disparate, disagreeing, homologous, opposite, unalike.

inseparable: (adj) indissoluble, inextricable, inherent, indiscerptible, built-in, indispensable, infrangible, innate, unseparable; (v) severable, unseparated. ANTONYMS: (adj) separable, dividable, isolatable. martyr: (n) sufferer, victim, prey, object of compassion, wretch, shorn lamb; (v) martyrize, excruciate, persecute, torture, afflict. metaphysic: (adj) metaphysical. offender: (n) delinquent, malefactor, criminal, convict, felon, crook, wrongdoer, malfeasant, perpetrator, outlaw, villain. supposing: (adv) admitting,

supposition, conjecture, thought, theory, assumption; (conj) although, what if; (v) suppose. unintelligible: (adj) opaque, inarticulate, unfathomable, impenetrable, unaccountable, ambiguous, not clear, obscure, indistinct, inconceivable, secret. ANTONYMS: (adj) understandable, clear, comprehensible, intelligible, obvious.

conditionally, in case; (n)

**contemporaries** Glaucon and Adeimantus, were unable to follow him in this region of **speculation**. In the Sophist, where he is refuting the **scepticism** which maintained either that there was no such thing as **predication**, or that all might be predicated of all, he arrives at the conclusion that some ideas **combine** with some, but not all with all. But he makes only one or two steps forward on this path; he nowhere attains to any **connected** system of ideas, or even to a knowledge of the most **elementary** relations of the sciences to one another.

# **Thesaurus**

combine: (v) associate, blend, fuse, affiliate, attach, piece, aggregate, unite, incorporate; (n, v) league; (n) cartel. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, disconnect, divide, subtract, disband, undo.

connected: (adj, v) related; (adj) attached, allied, affiliated, coherent, linked, committed, conjoint, combined, relevant, consecutive. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrelated, separate, unimportant, disjoined, unaffiliated, disconnected, unattached, irrelevant.

contemporaries: (n) coevals, people, contemporary, classmates, colleagues, age group, peer group.

elementary: (adj) simple, primary, fundamental, primitive, basal, easy, elemental, introductory, essential, main, original. ANTONYMS: (adj) secondary, complex, hard, complicated, difficult, final.

predication: (n) allegation, averment,

statement, declaration, postulation, word, contention, affirmation, sermon, discourse, homily. scepticism: (n) disbelief, incredulity, agnosticism, doubt, mistrust, distrust, atheism, unbelief, misgiving, suspicion, sceptical. speculation: (n) guess, venture, reflection, meditation, guesswork, gamble, supposition, theory, surmise, adventure, conjecture. ANTONYM: (n) fact.

# ANALYSIS OF BOOK V

I was going to **enumerate** the four forms of **vice** or decline in states, when Polemarchus—he was sitting a little **farther** from me than Adeimantus—taking him by the coat and leaning towards him, said something in an undertone, of which I only caught the words, 'Shall we let him off?' 'Certainly not,' said Adeimantus, raising his voice. Whom, I said, are you not going to let off? 'You,' he said. Why? 'Because we think that you are not dealing fairly with us in omitting women and children, of whom you have slily disposed under the general formula that friends have all things in common.' And was I not right? 'Yes,' he replied, 'but there are many sorts of communism or community, and we want to know which of them is right. The company, as you have just heard, are resolved to have a further explanation.' Thrasymachus said, 'Do you think that we have come hither to dig for gold, or to hear you discourse?' Yes, I said; but the discourse should be of a reasonable length. Glaucon added, 'Yes, Socrates, and there is reason in spending the whole of life in such discussions; but pray, without more ado, tell us how this community is to be carried out, and how the interval between birth and education is to be filled up.' Well, I said, the subject has several difficulties—What is possible? is the first question. desirable? is the second. 'Fear not,' he replied, 'for you are speaking among friends.' That, I replied, is a sorry **consolation**; I shall destroy my friends as well as myself. Not that I mind a little innocent laughter; but he who kills the truth is

# **Thesaurus**

consolation: (n) comfort, relief, balm, succor, ease, cheer, solacement, encouragement, sympathy, alleviation, express sympathy. ANTONYMS: (n) grief, sorrow, distress, discouragement, aggravation.

enumerate: (n, v) calculate, detail, number; (v) list, recount, reckon, tally, tell, compute, recapitulate, figure.

farther: (adj, adv, prep) beyond; (adj)

additional, more, distant; (adv) furthermore, besides, abroad, in addition, too; (adj, prep) outside; (pron) another. ANTONYMS: (prep) within; (adv) nearer, closer. formula: (n) form, law, expression, method, formality, convention, rule, principle, canon, fashion, figure. hither: (adv) here, whither, hitherward, thither. omitting: (v) except; (n) disregard, contraction; (adj) omissive.

slily: (adj) on the sly.
undertone: (n) undercurrent, murmur, tinge, nuance, whisper, suggestion, implication, connotation, overtone, association, hint.
vice: (adj, n) imperfection, defect, blemish, failing, frailty; (n) corruption, sin, evil, immorality, iniquity, depravity. ANTONYMS: (n) asset, strength, propriety, virtue, righteousness, goodness, good, honesty; (adj) chief.

a murderer. 'Then,' said Glaucon, laughing, 'in case you should murder us we will **acquit** you beforehand, and you shall be held free from the guilt of deceiving us.'

Socrates proceeds:-The guardians of our state are to be watch-dogs, as we have already said. Now dogs are not divided into hes and shes—we do not take the masculine gender out to hunt and leave the females at home to look after their puppies. They have the same employments—the only difference between them is that the one sex is stronger and the other weaker. But if women are to have the same employments as men, they must have the same education—they must be taught music and gymnastics, and the art of war. I know that a great joke will be made of their riding on horseback and carrying weapons; the sight of the naked old wrinkled women showing their agility in the palaestra will certainly not be a vision of beauty, and may be expected to become a famous jest. But we must not mind the wits; there was a time when they might have laughed at our present gymnastics. All is habit: people have at last found out that the exposure is better than the concealment of the person, and now they laugh no more. Evil only should be the subject of ridiculeThe first question is, whether women are able either wholly or partially to share in the employments of men. And here we may be charged with inconsistency in making the proposal at all. For we started originally with the division of labour; and the diversity of employments was based on the difference of natures. But is there no difference between men and women? Nay, are they not wholly different? THERE was the difficulty, Glaucon, which made me unwilling to speak of family relations. However, when a man is out of his depth, whether in a pool or in an ocean, he can only swim for his life; and we must try to find a way of escape, if we can.

The argument is, that different natures have different uses, and the natures of men and women are said to differ. But this is only a verbal opposition. We do not consider that the difference may be purely nominal and accidental; for example, a bald man and a hairy man are opposed in a single point of view, but you cannot infer that because a bald man is a cobbler a hairy man ought not to be a cobbler. Now why is such an inference **erroneous**? Simply because the

# **Thesaurus**

acquit: (adj, v) release; (v) exculpate, exonerate, discharge, excuse, clear, pardon, free, conduct, forgive, vindicate. ANTONYMS: (v) condemn, damn, censure, blame, sentence.

agility: (n) quickness, lightness, alacrity, adroitness, promptitude, mobility, legerdemain, liveliness, rapidity, speed, activity.

ANTONYMS: (n) slowness,

oafishness, inflexibility, heaviness,

awkwardness.

concealment: (n) suppression,
confidentiality, concealing, secrecy,
screen, disguise, hiding, privacy,
camouflage, blind, covering.
ANTONYMS: (n) discovery,
disclosure, exposure, expression,
openness, uncovering, revelation.

erroneous: (adj) incorrect, inaccurate,
false, untrue, wrongful, improper,
fallacious, amiss, unsound, faulty;
(adj, v) mistaken. ANTONYMS: (adi)

valid, right, accurate, true, reliable, real, wise, logical. horseback: (n) hogback, body part. wits: (n) intellect, mind, wit, brains, common sense, presence, percipience, observation, mother wit, right mind, judgment. wrinkled: (adj, n) rough, rugged; (adj) puckered, creased, wrinkly, wizened, crumpled, lined, gnarled, unironed, crinkled. ANTONYMS: (adj)

unwrinkled, ironed, straight.

opposition between them is partial only, like the difference between a male physician and a female physician, not running through the whole nature, like the difference between a physician and a carpenter. And if the difference of the sexes is only that the one **beget** and the other bear children, this does not prove that they ought to have distinct educations. Admitting that women differ from men in capacity, do not men equally differ from one another? Has not nature scattered all the qualities which our citizens require **indifferently** up and down among the two sexes? and even in their peculiar pursuits, are not women often, though in some cases superior to men, ridiculously enough surpassed by them? Women are the same in kind as men, and have the same aptitude or want of aptitude for medicine or gymnastic or war, but in a less degree. One woman will be a good guardian, another not; and the good must be chosen to be the colleagues of our guardians. If however their natures are the same, the inference is that their education must also be the same; there is no longer anything unnatural or impossible in a woman learning music and gymnastic. And the education which we give them will be the very best, far superior to that of cobblers, and will train up the very best women, and nothing can be more advantageous to the State than this. Therefore let them strip, clothed in their chastity, and share in the toils of war and in the defence of their country; he who laughs at them is a fool for his pains.

The first wave is past, and the argument is compelled to admit that men and women have common duties and pursuits. A second and greater wave is rolling in—community of wives and children; is this either expedient or possible? The expediency I do not doubt; I am not so sure of the possibility. 'Nay, I think that a considerable doubt will be **entertained** on both points.' I meant to have escaped the trouble of proving the first, but as you have detected the little **stratagem** I must even submit. Only allow me to feed my fancy like the solitary in his walks, with a dream of what might be, and then I will return to the question of what can be.

In the first place our rulers will enforce the laws and make new ones where they are wanted, and their allies or ministers will obey. You, as legislator, have

# **Thesaurus**

aptitude: (n) capability, skill, capacity, fitness, facility, dexterity, potential, talent, flair, gift, proficiency.

ANTONYMS: (n) inability, inaptitude, stupidity, disinclination, incapacity, skillessness, incompetence.

beget: (v) father, engender, generate, get, produce, procreate, create, sire, cause, breed, bring about.

ANTONYMS: (v) extinguish, destroy. chastity: (n) honor, purity, abstinence,

virtue, innocence, chasteness, continence, modesty, cleanliness, austerity; (adj) honesty.

ANTONYMS: (n) nymphomania, lewdness, adultery.

entertained: (adj) diverted, pleased. indifferently: (adv) carelessly, coldly, nonchalantly, listlessly, unconcernedly, uninterestedly, neutrally, middlingly, casually, unbiasedly, disinterestedly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) passionately,

obsessively, carefully, eagerly, energetically, warmly, anxiously, enthusiastically, sympathetically. **physician**: (*n*) doctor, medico, doc, medic, quack, surgeon, leech, houseman, MD, allergist, intern. **pursuits**: (*n*) diversion, duties. **stratagem**: (*n*) scheme, ruse, plan, trick, dodge, ploy; (*n*, *v*) contrivance, maneuver, deceit, intrigue; (*adj*, *n*) artifice. **toils**: (*n*) net, cobweb, meshes, mesh.

already selected the men; and now you shall select the women. After the selection has been made, they will dwell in common houses and have their meals in common, and will be brought together by a necessity more certain than that of mathematics. But they cannot be allowed to live in licentiousness; that is an **unholy** thing, which the rulers are determined to prevent. For the avoidance of this, holy marriage festivals will be instituted, and their holiness will be in proportion to their usefulness. And here, Glaucon, I should like to ask (as I know that you are a breeder of birds and animals), Do you not take the greatest care in the mating? 'Certainly.' And there is no reason to suppose that less care is required in the marriage of human beings. But then our rulers must be skilful physicians of the State, for they will often need a strong dose of falsehood in order to bring about desirable unions between their subjects. The good must be paired with the good, and the bad with the bad, and the offspring of the one must be reared, and of the other destroyed; in this way the flock will be preserved in prime condition. Hymeneal festivals will be celebrated at times fixed with an eye to population, and the brides and bridegrooms will meet at them; and by an ingenious system of lots the rulers will contrive that the brave and the fair come together, and that those of inferior breed are paired with inferiors - the latter will ascribe to chance what is really the invention of the rulers. And when children are born, the offspring of the brave and fair will be carried to an enclosure in a certain part of the city, and there attended by suitable nurses; the rest will be hurried away to places unknown. The mothers will be brought to the fold and will **suckle** the children; care however must be taken that none of them recognise their own offspring; and if necessary other nurses may also be hired. The trouble of watching and getting up at night will be transferred to attendants. 'Then the wives of our guardians will have a fine easy time when they are having children.' And quite right too, I said, that they should.

The parents ought to be in the prime of life, which for a man may be reckoned at thirty years-from twenty-five, when he has 'passed the point at which the speed of life is greatest,' to fifty-five; and at twenty years for a woman-from twenty to forty. Any one above or below those ages who partakes in the hymeneals shall be guilty of impiety; also every one who forms a

# **Thesaurus**

ascribe: (v) assign, impute, accredit, arrogate, attach, lay, refer, anthropomorphize, blame, lay claim,

breeder: (n) stockman, farmer, livestock farmer, fast breeder reactor, stock breeder, plant breeder; (v) trainer.

contrive: (v) plan, invent, design, concoct, devise, cast, concert, excogitate, frame, formulate; (n, v)manage. ANTONYMS: (v) demolish,

destroy, ruin, waste, wreck, fail. holiness: (n) sanctity, godliness, piety, suckle: (v) lactate, suck, breastfeed, religion, righteousness, goodness, devotion, divinity, faithfulness, halidom; (adj, n) religiousness. ANTONYMS: (n) wickedness, unholiness.

licentiousness: (n) dissolution, dissipation, lewdness, immorality, profligacy, dissoluteness, extravagance, evil, indecency, freedom; (v) license. ANTONYMS: (n) decency, restraint. foster, give suck, raise, nourish, draw, harbour; (n) nurture, dry

unholy: (adj) wicked, sinful, unhallowed, profane, fiendish, impious, diabolic, infernal, unsanctified, evil; (adv) wickedly. ANTONYMS: (adj) reasonable, pious, godly, sensible, religious. wives: (n) woman.

marriage connexion at other times without the consent of the rulers. This latter regulation applies to those who are within the specified ages, after which they may range at will, provided they avoid the prohibited degrees of parents and children, or of brothers and sisters, which last, however, are not absolutely prohibited, if a dispensation be procured. 'But how shall we know the degrees of affinity, when all things are common?' The answer is, that brothers and sisters are all such as are born seven or nine months after the espousals, and their parents those who are then espoused, and every one will have many children and every child many parents.

Socrates proceeds: I have now to prove that this scheme is advantageous and also consistent with our entire polity. The greatest good of a State is unity; the greatest evil, discord and distraction. And there will be unity where there are no private pleasures or pains or interests—where if one member suffers all the members suffer, if one citizen is touched all are quickly sensitive; and the least hurt to the little finger of the State runs through the whole body and vibrates to the soul. For the true State, like an individual, is injured as a whole when any part is affected. Every State has subjects and rulers, who in a democracy are called rulers, and in other States masters: but in our State they are called saviours and allies; and the subjects who in other States are termed slaves, are by us termed nurturers and paymasters, and those who are termed comrades and colleagues in other places, are by us called fathers and brothers. And whereas in other States members of the same government regard one of their colleagues as a friend and another as an enemy, in our State no man is a stranger to another; for every citizen is connected with every other by ties of blood, and these names and this way of speaking will have a corresponding reality – brother, father, sister, mother, repeated from infancy in the ears of children, will not be mere words. Then again the citizens will have all things in common, in having common property they will have common pleasures and pains.

Can there be strife and contention among those who are of one mind; or lawsuits about property when men have nothing but their bodies which they call their own; or suits about violence when every one is bound to defend himself?

# Thesaurus (n) agreement, harmony, unity,

advantageous: (adj) expedient, useful, auspicious, helpful, gainful, serviceable, convenient, lucky, worthwhile, beneficial; (adj, v)profitable. ANTONYMS: (adj) useless, disadvantageous, detrimental, unhelpful, unfortunate, inauspicious, worthless, unpleasant.  $\mathbf{discord}$ : (n, v) conflict, clash; (n)disagreement, variance, division, difference, dissension, dissonance, strife, split, contention. ANTONYMS:

concord; (v) match. dispensation: (n) allotment, release, disposal, assignment, division, freedom, distribution, exemption, license, allocation, apportionment. ANTONYM: (n) prohibition. espoused: (adj) affianced, matrimonial, betrothed; (n) better half. pains: (n) nisus, labor, trouble, effort,

exertion, labour, pain, care, struggle,

attempt, strain. accord, concordance, consent, silence, polity: (n) government, state, administration, commonwealth, game, civil order, authorities, casuistry, country, regime, tactics. sisters: (n) sistren. strife: (n) discord, disagreement, dissension, conflict, competition, feud, fight; (adj, n, v) dispute, debate; (n, v) controversy; (adj, n) quarrel. ANTONYMS: (n) accord, cooperation, calm, peace.

The permission to strike when insulted will be an 'antidote' to the knife and will prevent disturbances in the State. But no younger man will strike an elder; reverence will prevent him from laying hands on his kindred, and he will fear that the rest of the family may retaliate. Moreover, our citizens will be rid of the lesser evils of life; there will be no **flattery** of the rich, no **sordid** household cares, no borrowing and not paying. Compared with the citizens of other States, ours will be Olympic victors, and crowned with blessings greater still – they and their children having a better maintenance during life, and after death an honourable burial. Nor has the happiness of the individual been sacrificed to the happiness of the State; our Olympic victor has not been turned into a cobbler, but he has a happiness beyond that of any cobbler. At the same time, if any conceited youth begins to dream of appropriating the State to himself, he must be reminded that 'half is better than the whole.' 'I should certainly advise him to stay where he is when he has the promise of such a brave life.'

But is such a community possible?—as among the animals, so also among men; and if possible, in what way possible? About war there is no difficulty; the principle of communism is adapted to military service. Parents will take their children to look on at a battle, just as potters' boys are trained to the business by looking on at the wheel. And to the parents themselves, as to other animals, the sight of their young ones will prove a great incentive to bravery. Young warriors must learn, but they must not run into danger, although a certain degree of risk is worth incurring when the benefit is great. The young creatures should be placed under the care of experienced veterans, and they should have wingsthat is to say, swift and **tractable** steeds on which they may fly away and escape. One of the first things to be done is to teach a youth to ride.

Cowards and deserters shall be degraded to the class of husbandmen; gentlemen who allow themselves to be taken prisoners, may be presented to the enemy. But what shall be done to the hero? First of all he shall be crowned by all the youths in the army; secondly, he shall receive the right hand of fellowship; and thirdly, do you think that there is any harm in his being kissed? We have already determined that he shall have more wives than others, in order that he

# **Thesaurus**

appropriating: (n) capture. conceited: (adj) arrogant, cocky, vain, boastful, proud, smug, affected, assuming, egotistical, haughty, pompous. ANTONYMS: (adi) modest, insecure, meek, selfless, unassuming.

degraded: (adj) debased, low, ignoble, debauched, depraved, abject, sordid, dishonored, corrupted, contemptible, retaliate: (v) turn upon, pay, repay, base. ANTONYM: (adj) good. disturbances: (n) turbulence, strife,

**flattery**: (n, v) cajolery; (n) blarney, compliment, adulation, taffy, palaver, praise, gloze, sweet talk, sycophancy, soft soap. ANTONYMS: (n) insult, offense.

gentlemen: (n) sirs, messieurs. insulted: (adj) affronted, offended, injured, huffy.

revenge, retort, talion, strike, take revenge, reciprocate, reply, requite. sordid: (adj) ignoble, nasty, foul, filthy, grimy, base, cheap, despicable, dishonorable, mucky, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) respectable, pleasant, wholesome, reputable, honorable, clean, attractive, humane. tractable: (adj, prep) docile; (adj) obedient, ductile, tame, gentle, yielding, manageable; (adj, v) pliable, flexible, pliant, plastic. ANTONYMS: (adj) intractable, unmanageable, unruly, rebellious.

may have as many children as possible. And at a feast he shall have more to eat; we have the authority of Homer for **honouring** brave men with 'long chines,' which is an appropriate compliment, because meat is a very strengthening thing. Fill the bowl then, and give the best seats and meats to the brave-may they do them good! And he who dies in battle will be at once declared to be of the golden race, and will, as we believe, become one of Hesiod's guardian angels. He shall be worshipped after death in the manner prescribed by the oracle; and not only he, but all other benefactors of the State who die in any other way, shall be admitted to the same honours.

The next question is, How shall we treat our enemies? Shall Hellenes be enslaved? No; for there is too great a risk of the whole race passing under the **yoke** of the barbarians. Or shall the dead be **despoiled**? Certainly not; for that sort of thing is an excuse for **skulking**, and has been the ruin of many an army. There is meanness and feminine malice in making an enemy of the dead body, when the soul which was the owner has fled-like a dog who cannot reach his assailants, and quarrels with the **stones** which are thrown at him instead. Again, the arms of Hellenes should not be offered up in the temples of the Gods; they are a pollution, for they are taken from brethren. And on similar grounds there should be a limit to the devastation of Hellenic territory—the houses should not be burnt, nor more than the annual produce carried off. For war is of two kinds, civil and foreign; the first of which is properly termed 'discord,' and only the second 'war;' and war between Hellenes is in reality civil war – a quarrel in a family, which is ever to be regarded as **unpatriotic** and unnatural, and ought to be prosecuted with a view to reconciliation in a true phil-Hellenic spirit, as of those who would **chasten** but not utterly enslave. The war is not against a whole nation who are a friendly multitude of men, women, and children, but only against a few guilty persons; when they are punished peace will be restored. That is the way in which Hellenes should war against one another – and against barbarians, as they war against one another now.

'But, my dear Socrates, you are forgetting the main question: Is such a State possible? I grant all and more than you say about the blessedness of being one

# Thesaurus

blessedness: (n) happiness, bliss, felicity, holiness, welfare, blessing, good luck, prosperity, ecstasy. chasten: (v) chastise, correct, punish, moderate, penalize, repress, tame, temper, discipline, humble; (adj, v) subdue. ANTONYMS: (v) uplift, help, encourage, comfort, cheer, aid, pamper. despoiled: (adj) plundered, looted, desecrated, sacked, assaulted,

besmirched, corrupted, desolate,

desolated, destroyed, dishonored. ANTONYM: (adj) untarnished. enslave: (v) enthrall, captivate, subjugate, slave, tame, chain, confine, thrall, inthrall, restrain; (adj, v) lead captive. ANTONYMS: (v) free, release, emancipate. enslaved: (adj) captive, locked up, charmed, incarcerated, in bondage, in yoke: (adj, n, v) couple, link; (n, v) pair, prison, bound, subject, beguiled, cringing; (v) subjected. honouring: (n) homage, accolade.

skulking: (adj) surreptitious, stealthy, lurking, hiding, clandestine, backstairs, concealed, cowardly; (n) malingering, dodging, evasion. stones: (n) shingle, grit. unpatriotic: (adj) misanthropic, antisocial. ANTONYM: (adj) patriotic. tie; (adj, n) brace; (v) connect, join, bind, attach; (n) coupling, team.

ANTONYMS: (v) disconnect, disjoin.

family—fathers, brothers, mothers, daughters, going out to war together; but I want to ascertain the possibility of this ideal State.' You are too **unmerciful**. The first wave and the second wave I have hardly escaped, and now you will certainly drown me with the third. When you see the towering crest of the wave, I expect you to take pity. 'Not a whit.'

Well, then, we were led to form our ideal polity in the search after justice, and the just man answered to the just State. Is this ideal at all the worse for being impracticable? Would the picture of a perfectly beautiful man be any the worse because no such man ever lived? Can any reality come up to the idea? Nature will not allow words to be fully realized; but if I am to try and realize the ideal of the State in a measure, I think that an approach may be made to the perfection of which I dream by one or two, I do not say slight, but possible changes in the present constitution of States. I would reduce them to a single one—the great wave, as I call it. Until, then, kings are philosophers, or philosophers are kings, cities will never cease from ill: no, nor the human race; nor will our ideal polity ever come into being. I know that this is a hard saying, which few will be able to receive. 'Socrates, all the world will take off his coat and rush upon you with sticks and stones, and therefore I would advise you to prepare an answer.' You got me into the scrape, I said. 'And I was right,' he replied; 'however, I will stand by you as a sort of do-nothing, well-meaning ally.' Having the help of such a champion, I will do my best to maintain my position. And first, I must explain of whom I speak and what sort of natures these are who are to be philosophers and rulers. As you are a man of pleasure, you will not have forgotten how indiscriminate lovers are in their attachments; they love all, and turn blemishes into beauties. The snub-nosed youth is said to have a winning grace; the beak of another has a royal look; the featureless are faultless; the dark are manly, the fair angels; the sickly have a new term of endearment invented expressly for them, which is 'honey- pale.' Lovers of wine and lovers of ambition also desire the objects of their affection in every form. Now here comes the point: - The philosopher too is a lover of knowledge in every form; he has an insatiable curiosity. 'But will curiosity make a philosopher? Are the lovers of sights and sounds, who let out their ears to every chorus at the Dionysiac

# **Thesaurus**

attachments: (n) equipment.
do-nothing: (adj) inactive; (n)
sluggard.
endearment: (n) affection, kindness,
attraction, love, fondness.
faultless: (adj) blameless, correct,
immaculate, clean, spotless, innocent,
flawless, unblemished, absolute,
infallible, consummate.
ANTONYMS: (adj) blemished,
imperfect, faulty, shameful, soiled,
blameworthy.

featureless: (adj) lackluster, plain, monotonous, indistinctive, uninteresting, colorless, characterless, mediocre, unoriginal, uninspired, unimaginative. ANTONYMS: (adj) imaginative, inspired, interesting, distinctive.

insatiable: (adj) ravenous, voracious, insatiate, gluttonous, avaricious, quenchless, avid, unquenchable, unsatiable, grasping, sateless.

ANTONYM: (adj) moderate.

manly: (adj) manlike, masculine, manful, virile, brave, gallant; (adv) manfully, boldly, hardily, virilely; (adj, adv) stately. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, unmanly, cowardly; (adv) unmanfully.

unmerciful: (adj) pitiless, remorseless, merciless, unpitying, cruel, inclement, brutal, relentless, inhuman, cutthroat, ferocious. ANTONYMS: (adj) merciful, generous, kind.

festivals, to be called philosophers?' They are not true philosophers, but only an imitation. 'Then how are we to describe the true?'

You would acknowledge the existence of abstract ideas, such as justice, beauty, good, evil, which are severally one, yet in their various combinations appear to be many. Those who recognize these realities are philosophers; whereas the other class hear sounds and see colours, and understand their use in the arts, but cannot attain to the true or waking vision of absolute justice or beauty or truth; they have not the light of knowledge, but of opinion, and what they see is a dream only. Perhaps he of whom we say the last will be angry with us; can we pacify him without revealing the disorder of his mind? Suppose we say that, if he has knowledge we rejoice to hear it, but knowledge must be of something which is, as ignorance is of something which is not; and there is a third thing, which both is and is not, and is matter of opinion only. Opinion and knowledge, then, having distinct objects, must also be distinct faculties. And by faculties I mean powers unseen and distinguishable only by the difference in their objects, as opinion and knowledge differ, since the one is liable to err, but the other is **unerring** and is the mightiest of all our faculties. If being is the object of knowledge, and not-being of ignorance, and these are the extremes, opinion must lie between them, and may be called darker than the one and brighter than the other. This intermediate or contingent matter is and is not at the same time, and partakes both of existence and of non-existence. Now I would ask my good friend, who denies abstract beauty and justice, and affirms a many beautiful and a many just, whether everything he sees is not in some point of view different the beautiful ugly, the pious **impious**, the just unjust? Is not the double also the half, and are not heavy and light relative terms which pass into one another? Everything is and is not, as in the old riddle—'A man and not a man shot and did not shoot a bird and not a bird with a stone and not a stone.' The mind cannot be fixed on either alternative; and these ambiguous, intermediate, erring, half-lighted objects, which have a disorderly movement in the region between being and not-being, are the proper matter of opinion, as the immutable objects are the proper matter of knowledge. And he who grovels in the world of sense,

# Thesaurus

disorderly: (adj) wild, disordered, chaotic, boisterous, jumbled, disorganized, unruly, rowdy, untidy, irregular; (adj, v) lawless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) orderly, neat, arranged, peaceful, organized, systematized, conforming, ordered, restrained, behaved, coherent.

erring: (adj) devious, sinful, fallible, wrong, amiss, at fault, guilty, perverse, reprehensible; (n) transgression.

extremes: (n) excess; (adv) overboard. immutable: (adj) unchangeable, permanent, changeless, eternal, inflexible, unchanging, irrevocable, stable, unalterable, invariable, fixed. ANTONYMS: (adj) changeable, variable, flexible.

impious: (adj) godless, ungodly, disrespectful, profane, unholy, sinful, unhallowed, wicked, iniquitous, irreligious, irreverent. ANTONYMS: (adj) reverent, devout, restrained, good.

pacify: (adj, n, v) calm, allay, compose, appease; (adj, v) mollify, lull, soothe; (n, v) ease; (v) conciliate, placate, moderate. ANTONYMS: (v) annoy, enrage, excite, infuriate, aggravate, displease, inflame, provoke.
unerring: (adj) sure, certain, inerrant, inerrable, accurate, exact, faithful, perfect, unblemished, constant, right. ANTONYMS: (adj) erring, imperfect, mistaken, inaccurate, faulty.

and has only this uncertain perception of things, is not a philosopher, but a lover of opinion only...

The fifth book is the new beginning of the Republic, in which the community of property and of family are first maintained, and the transition is made to the kingdom of philosophers. For both of these Plato, after his manner, has been preparing in some chance words of Book IV, which fall **unperceived** on the reader's mind, as they are supposed at first to have fallen on the ear of Glaucon and Adeimantus. The 'paradoxes,' as Morgenstern terms them, of this book of the Republic will be reserved for another place; a few remarks on the style, and some explanations of difficulties, may be briefly added.

First, there is the image of the waves, which serves for a sort of scheme or plan of the book. The first wave, the second wave, the third and greatest wave come rolling in, and we hear the roar of them. All that can be said of the **extravagance** of Plato's proposals is anticipated by himself. Nothing is more **admirable** than the hesitation with which he proposes the **solemn** text, 'Until kings are philosophers,' etc.; or the reaction from the **sublime** to the ridiculous, when Glaucon describes the manner in which the new truth will be received by mankind.

Some defects and difficulties may be noted in the execution of the communistic plan. Nothing is told us of the application of communism to the lower classes; nor is the table of prohibited degrees capable of being made out. It is quite possible that a child born at one **hymeneal** festival may marry one of its own brothers or sisters, or even one of its parents, at another. Plato is afraid of **incestuous** unions, but at the same time he does not wish to bring before us the fact that the city would be divided into families of those born seven and nine months after each hymeneal festival. If it were worth while to argue seriously about such fancies, we might remark that while all the old affinities are abolished, the newly prohibited affinity rests not on any natural or rational principle, but only upon the accident of children having been born in the same month and year. Nor does he explain how the lots could be so manipulated by the legislature as to bring together the fairest and best. The singular expression

# **Thesaurus**

admirable: (adj) fine, outstanding, beautiful, great, commendable, lovely, good, creditable, praiseworthy, worthy, grand.
ANTONYMS: (adj) appalling, poor, unworthy, despicable, contemptible, detestable, dishonorable, rotten, unimpressive, loathsome, low.
extravagance: (n) dissipation, luxury, excess, profligacy, lavishness, squandering, recklessness, waste, prodigality, magnificence,

immoderateness. ANTONYMS: (n) economy, frugality, parsimony, prudence, paucity, moderation, austerity, necessity, bareness. hymeneal: (adj) bridal, conjugal, connubial, matrimonial, spousal; (adj, v) nuptial.

incestuous: (adj) adulterous. solemn: (adj, n, v) serious; (adj, v) sober, important, sedate, devout, formal, demure; (adj) heavy, dignified, sacred; (adj, n) earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj) frivolous, cheerful, unceremonious, funny, playful, flippant, relaxed. sublime: (adj, v) majestic; (adj) dignified, grand, lofty, magnificent, elevated, noble, exalted, glorious; (v) sacred, sublimate. ANTONYMS: (adj) poor, ridiculous.

unperceived: (v) unheeded, unthought of, unregarded; (adj) unremarked, unnoted, unobserved, unmarked, unknown, stealthy, sly, secret.

which is employed to describe the age of five-and-twenty may perhaps be taken from some poet.

In the delineation of the philosopher, the illustrations of the nature of philosophy derived from love are more suited to the apprehension of Glaucon, the Athenian man of pleasure, than to modern tastes or feelings. They are partly facetious, but also contain a germ of truth. That science is a whole, remains a true principle of inductive as well as of metaphysical philosophy; and the love of universal knowledge is still the characteristic of the philosopher in modern as well as in ancient times.

At the end of the fifth book Plato introduces the figment of contingent matter, which has exercised so great an influence both on the Ethics and Theology of the modern world, and which occurs here for the first time in the history of philosophy. He did not remark that the degrees of knowledge in the subject have nothing corresponding to them in the object. With him a word must answer to an idea; and he could not conceive of an opinion which was an opinion about nothing. The influence of analogy led him to invent 'parallels and conjugates' and to overlook facts. To us some of his difficulties are puzzling only from their simplicity: we do not perceive that the answer to them 'is tumbling out at our feet.' To the mind of early thinkers, the conception of notbeing was dark and mysterious; they did not see that this terrible apparition which threatened destruction to all knowledge was only a logical determination. The common term under which, through the accidental use of language, two entirely different ideas were included was another source of confusion. Thus through the ambiguity of (Greek) Plato, attempting to introduce order into the first chaos of human thought, seems to have confused perception and opinion, and to have failed to distinguish the contingent from the relative. In the Theaetetus the first of these difficulties begins to clear up; in the Sophist the second; and for this, as well as for other reasons, both these dialogues are probably to be regarded as later than the Republic.

### Thesaurus

apparition: (n) ghost, phantom, spirit, facetious: (adj) humorous, comical, spectre, hallucination, spook, shade, eidolon, wraith, advent; (n, v) vision. conceive: (v) think, imagine, comprehend, design, apprehend, realize, discover, cogitate, appreciate, invent, catch. ANTONYMS: (v) destroy, doubt, misunderstand, question, ruin. dialogues: (n) dialog. exercised: (adj) applied, distressed, proficient, veteran.

frivolous, funny, comic, whimsical, laughable, jocose, jocular; (adj, n) witty; (n) amusing. ANTONYMS: (adj) grave, lugubrious, sober, somber, formal.

figment: (n) chimera, fabrication, fable, fantasy, fiction, invention, myth, dream, conceit, shadow, delusion. ANTONYMS: (n) fact,

inductive: (adj) causative, epagogic,

inductional, preparatory, preliminary, introductory. invent: (v) devise, form, create, excogitate, concoct, imagine, contrive; (n, v) forge, fabricate, design, coin.

overlook: (v) disregard, excuse, omit, ignore, forget, fail, command, dominate, oversee, control, miss. ANTONYMS: (v) remember, notice, spot, acknowledge, see, accept, punish.

# ANALYSIS OF BOOK VI

Having determined that the many have no knowledge of true being, and have no clear patterns in their minds of justice, beauty, truth, and that philosophers have such patterns, we have now to ask whether they or the many shall be rulers in our State. But who can doubt that philosophers should be chosen, if they have the other qualities which are required in a ruler? For they are lovers of the knowledge of the eternal and of all truth; they are haters of falsehood; their meaner desires are absorbed in the interests of knowledge; they are **spectators** of all time and all existence; and in the **magnificence** of their **contemplation** the life of man is as nothing to them, nor is death fearful. Also they are of a social, gracious disposition, equally free from **cowardice** and arrogance. They learn and remember easily; they have harmonious, **well**-regulated minds; truth flows to them sweetly by nature. Can the god of Jealousy himself find any fault with such an **assemblage** of good qualities?

Here Adeimantus interposes:—'No man can answer you, Socrates; but every man feels that this is **owing** to his own deficiency in argument. He is driven from one position to another, until he has nothing more to say, just as an unskilful player at **draughts** is reduced to his last move by a more skilled opponent. And yet all the time he may be right. He may know, in this very instance, that those who make philosophy the business of their lives, generally turn out rogues if they are bad men, and fools if they are good. What do you

# Thesaurus poltroonery, pusillanimity, fear,

fearfulness, base fear, cowardship.

spirit, cravenness, timidity,

assemblage: (n) meeting, collection, congregation, set, multitude, crew, confluence, gathering, gang, convention, convocation.

ANTONYMS: (v) dispersal, scattering.

contemplation: (n) consideration,

**contemplation**: (*n*) consideration, reflection, thought, attention, cogitation, musing, introspection, speculation, animus, deliberation; (*n*, *v*) study. **cowardice**: (*n*) dastardliness,

ANTONYMS: (*n*) nerve, bravery, daring, determination. draughts: (*n*) solitaire, go bang, backgammon, misere chess, chess, dominos, board game. magnificence: (*adj*, *n*) splendor, brilliancy, gorgeousness; (*n*) glory, pomp, brilliance, grandness, greatness, dignity, majesty, loftiness.

ANTONYMS: (n) paucity, modesty, shabbiness, poverty, austerity, unattractiveness.

owing: (adj) due, unpaid, unsettled, outstanding, overdue, owed, payable, undischarged, indebted, fulfilling obligation, lawful. ANTONYM: (adj) settled.

**spectators**: (*n*) spectator, gallery, viewer, viewers, attendance. **well-regulated**: (*adj*) methodical, conformable.

I should say that he is quite right. 'Then how is such an admission reconcileable with the doctrine that philosophers should be kings?'I shall answer you in a parable which will also let you see how poor a hand I am at the invention of allegories. The relation of good men to their governments is so peculiar, that in order to defend them I must take an illustration from the world of fiction. Conceive the captain of a ship, taller by a head and shoulders than any of the crew, yet a little deaf, a little blind, and rather ignorant of the seaman's art. The sailors want to steer, although they know nothing of the art; and they have a theory that it cannot be learned. If the helm is refused them, they drug the captain's posset, bind him hand and foot, and take possession of the ship. He who joins in the mutiny is termed a good pilot and what not; they have no conception that the true pilot must observe the winds and the stars, and must be their master, whether they like it or not; - such an one would be called by them fool, prater, star-gazer. This is my parable; which I will beg you to interpret for me to those gentlemen who ask why the philosopher has such an evil name, and to explain to them that not he, but those who will not use him, are to blame for his uselessness. The philosopher should not beg of mankind to be put in authority over them. The wise man should not seek the rich, as the **proverb** bids, but every man, whether rich or poor, must knock at the door of the physician when he has need of him. Now the pilot is the philosopher - he whom in the parable they call star-gazer, and the mutinous sailors are the mob of politicians by whom he is rendered useless. Not that these are the worst enemies of philosophy, who is far more dishonoured by her own professing sons when they are corrupted by the world. Need I recall the original image of the philosopher? Did we not say of him just now, that he loved truth and hated falsehood, and that he could not rest in the multiplicity of phenomena, but was led by a sympathy in his own nature to the contemplation of the absolute? All the virtues as well as truth, who is the leader of them, took up their abode in his soul. But as you were observing, if we turn aside to view the reality, we see that the persons who were thus described, with the exception of a small and useless class, are utter rogues.

# **Thesaurus**

helm: (n) wheel, haft, handle, tiller, shank, rudder, steering wheel, shaft, hilt, halm; (v) helmet.

multiplicity: (n) diversity, abundance, plurality, much, multeity, manifoldness, lot, profusion, number, multitude, array. ANTONYMS: (n) uniformity, likeness.

mutinous: (atl) defiant, insurgent, lawless, unruly, rebellious, contumacious, factious, disobedient, riotous, rebel, radical. ANTONYMS:

(adj) loyal, obedient. **mutiny**: (n, v) insurrection, rebellion; (n) disobedience, uprising, revolution, outbreak, insubordination, defiance, rising; (v) rebel, rise. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalty, obedience.

prater: (n) chatterer, babbler,
 chatterbox, cackler, blabber, magpie,
 talker, spouter, lab, jangler, giant
 helleborine.
proverb: (n) adage, byword, aphorism,

dictum, saying, axiom, parable, motto, expression; (n, v) maxim, saw. stars: (n) heavenly bodies, fate. uselessness: (n) inutility, fruitlessness, pointlessness, impracticableness, impracticability, unusefulness, vanity, idleness, ineffectualness, senselessness; (adj) useless. ANTONYMS: (n) value, competence, helpfulness, effectiveness, fruitfulness, skill, utility, worthiness, worth, ability; (adj) purposeful.

The point which has to be considered, is the origin of this corruption in nature. Every one will admit that the philosopher, in our description of him, is a rare being. But what numberless causes tend to destroy these rare beings! There is no good thing which may not be a cause of evil-health, wealth, strength, rank, and the virtues themselves, when placed under unfavourable circumstances. For as in the animal or vegetable world the strongest seeds most need the accompaniment of good air and soil, so the best of human characters turn out the worst when they fall upon an unsuitable soil; whereas weak natures hardly ever do any considerable good or harm; they are not the stuff out of which either great criminals or great heroes are made. The philosopher follows the same analogy: he is either the best or the worst of all men. Some persons say that the Sophists are the corrupters of youth; but is not public opinion the real Sophist who is everywhere present—in those very persons, in the assembly, in the courts, in the camp, in the applauses and hisses of the theatre re- echoed by the surrounding hills? Will not a young man's heart leap amid these discordant sounds? and will any education save him from being carried away by the torrent? Nor is this all. For if he will not yield to opinion, there follows the gentle compulsion of exile or death. What principle of rival Sophists or anybody else can overcome in such an unequal contest? Characters there may be more than human, who are exceptions-God may save a man, but not his own strength. Further, I would have you consider that the hireling Sophist only gives back to the world their own opinions; he is the keeper of the monster, who knows how to flatter or anger him, and observes the meaning of his inarticulate grunts. Good is what pleases him, evil what he dislikes; truth and beauty are determined only by the taste of the brute. Such is the Sophist's wisdom, and such is the condition of those who make public opinion the test of truth, whether in art or in morals. The curse is laid upon them of being and doing what it approves, and when they attempt first principles the failure is ludicrous. Think of all this and ask yourself whether the world is more likely to be a believer in the unity of the idea, or in the multiplicity of phenomena. And the world if not a believer in the idea cannot be a philosopher, and must therefore be a **persecutor** of philosophers. There is another evil: - the world does not like to lose the gifted

# **Thesaurus**

**brute**: (*adj*) brutal, harsh, gruff, brutish; (*adj*, *n*) animal, savage; (*n*) barbarian, fiend, creature, monster; (*adv*) beastly. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) weak, refined, mild, gentle; (*n*) gentleman.

flatter: (v) fawn, adulate, wheedle, cajole, soap, kowtow, blandish, grovel, butter up; (n, v) court; (n) caress. ANTONYMS: (v) insult, disparage, criticize, discourage. grunts: (n) family Haemulidae.

**hireling**: (*n*) employee, pensionary, hackney, puppet, hack, pensioner, servant, labor, soldier of fortune, tool; (*adj*) venal.

inarticulate: (adj) unintelligible, silent, vague, muffled, incoherent, mute, incomprehensible, unarticulate, speechless, guttural, fuzzy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) articulate, eloquent, fluent, distinct, talkative.

numberless: (adj) countless, innumerable, multitudinous, infinite,

incalculable, endless, uncounted, unnumbered, innumerous, legion, untold. ANTONYM: (adj) few. persecutor: (n) tormentor, bully, gadfly, tormenter, teaser, pursuer, dictator, annoyer, tantalizer, pesterer, pest

**torrent**: (*n*) flood, cloudburst, overflow, stream, downpour, rain, shower, soaker, inundation; (*adj*, *n*) volley, eruption. ANTONYMS: (*n*) drought, trickle, shower.

nature, and so they flatter the young (Alcibiades) into a magnificent opinion of his own capacity; the tall, proper youth begins to expand, and is dreaming of kingdoms and empires. If at this instant a friend whispers to him, 'Now the gods lighten thee; thou art a great fool' and must be educated – do you think that he will listen? Or suppose a better sort of man who is attracted towards philosophy, will they not make Herculean efforts to spoil and corrupt him? Are we not right in saying that the love of knowledge, no less than riches, may divert him? Men of this class (Critias) often become politicians-they are the authors of great mischief in states, and sometimes also of great good. And thus philosophy is deserted by her natural protectors, and others enter in and dishonour her. Vulgar little minds see the land open and rush from the prisons of the arts into her temple. A clever **mechanic** having a soul coarse as his body, thinks that he will gain caste by becoming her suitor. For philosophy, even in her fallen estate, has a dignity of her own—and he, like a bald little blacksmith's apprentice as he is, having made some money and got out of durance, washes and dresses himself as a bridegroom and marries his master's daughter. What will be the issue of such marriages? Will they not be vile and bastard, devoid of truth and nature? 'They will.' Small, then, is the remnant of genuine philosophers; there may be a few who are citizens of small states, in which politics are not worth thinking of, or who have been detained by Theages' bridle of ill health; for my own case of the oracular sign is almost unique, and too rare to be worth mentioning. And these few when they have tasted the pleasures of philosophy, and have taken a look at that den of thieves and place of wild beasts, which is human life, will stand aside from the storm under the shelter of a wall, and try to preserve their own innocence and to depart in peace. 'A great work, too, will have been accomplished by them.' Great, yes, but not the greatest; for man is a social being, and can only attain his highest development in the society which is best suited to him.

Enough, then, of the causes why philosophy has such an evil name. Another question is, Which of existing states is suited to her? Not one of them; at present she is like some exotic seed which degenerates in a strange soil; only in her proper state will she be shown to be of heavenly growth. 'And is her proper state

### **Thesaurus**

beasts: (n) stock.
bridegroom: (v) bride; (n)
honeymooner, newlywed,
participant, fiance, husband.
ANTONYM: (n) wife.
bridle: (n, v) curb, check, control,
snaffle, rein, leash; (n) arrest, reins,
brake; (v) inhibit, contain.
ANTONYMS: (v) unbridle,
unharness, release.
dishonour: (v) discredit, disgrace,
attaint, shame, degrade, desecrate,

violate, rape, outrage; (n) stigma, opprobrium. **durance**: (n) captivity, dure,

incarceration, imprisonment, immurement, duress.

lighten: (v) assuage, alleviate, light, illuminate, brighten, lessen, allay, clear, mitigate, relieve, illumine. ANTONYMS: (v) darken, intensify, increase, dye, depress, aggravate, exacerbate.

mechanic: (n) craftsman, mechanical,

machinist, artisan, artificer, journeyman, grease monkey, automobile mechanic, Wright, worker, artist.

oracular: (adj) prophetic, ambiguous, mystic, cryptic, prophetical, sibylline, mysterious, delphic, obscure, opinionated, dogmatic.

**suitor**: (*n*) plaintiff, suer, admirer, beau, candidate, complainant, gallant, boyfriend, applicant, petitioner; (*n*, *v*) wooer.

ours or some other?' Ours in all points but one, which was left **undetermined**. You may remember our saying that some living mind or witness of the legislator was needed in states. But we were afraid to enter upon a subject of such difficulty, and now the question recurs and has not grown easier:—How may philosophy be safely studied? Let us bring her into the light of day, and make an end of the inquiry.

In the first place, I say boldly that nothing can be worse than the present mode of study. Persons usually pick up a little philosophy in early youth, and in the intervals of business, but they never master the real difficulty, which is dialectic. Later, perhaps, they occasionally go to a lecture on philosophy. Years advance, and the sun of philosophy, unlike that of Heracleitus, sets never to rise again. This order of education should be reversed; it should begin with gymnastics in youth, and as the man strengthens, he should increase the gymnastics of his soul. Then, when active life is over, let him finally return to philosophy. 'You are in earnest, Socrates, but the world will be equally earnest in withstanding you - no more than Thrasymachus.' Do not make a quarrel between Thrasymachus and me, who were never enemies and are now good friends enough. And I shall do my best to convince him and all mankind of the truth of my words, or at any rate to prepare for the future when, in another life, we may again take part in similar discussions. 'That will be a long time hence.' Not long in comparison with eternity. The many will probably remain incredulous, for they have never seen the natural unity of ideas, but only artificial juxtapositions; not free and generous thoughts, but tricks of controversy and quips of law; —a perfect man ruling in a perfect state, even a single one they have not known. And we foresaw that there was no chance of perfection either in states or individuals until a necessity was laid upon philosophers-not the rogues, but those whom we called the useless class – of holding office; or until the sons of kings were inspired with a true love of philosophy. Whether in the infinity of past time there has been, or is in some distant land, or ever will be hereafter, an ideal such as we have described, we stoutly maintain that there has been, is, and will be such a state whenever the Muse of philosophy rules. Will you say that the world is of another mind? O, my friend, do not revile the

# **Thesaurus**

eternity: (n) aeon, afterlife, forever, perpetuity, timelessness, endlessness, everlasting, endless time, everlastingness, everness, existence. ANTONYMS: (n) finiteness, impermanence. foresaw: (v) foresee. incredulous: (adj) dubious, doubtful, suspicious, unbelieving, faithless, skeptical, doubting, lacking faith, questioning, cynical, mistrustful. ANTONYM: (adi) convinced.

infinity: (n) infinite, immensity, infiniteness, infinitude, boundlessness, immutability, glory, greatness, holiness, forever, perpetuity. ANTONYM: (n) limitedness.

revile: (v) abuse, rail, vilify, reproach, taunt, vituperate, attack, denounce; (n, v) malign; (adj, v) profane, blaspheme. ANTONYM: (v) praise. stoutly: (adv) sturdily, robustly, strongly, solidly, lustily, vigorously,

toughly, resolutely, stockily, portly, obstinately. ANTONYM: (adv) feebly. undetermined: (adj, v) uncertain, indefinite, vague; (adj) indeterminate, unsettled, indecisive, unresolved, irresolute, accidental, open; (v) ambiguous. ANTONYMS: (adj) determinate, definite, decided, specific.

withstanding: (n) endurance, resistance; (adj) recalcitrant, defensive.

world! They will soon change their opinion if they are gently entreated, and are taught the true nature of the philosopher. Who can hate a man who loves him? Or be jealous of one who has no jealousy? Consider, again, that the many hate not the true but the false philosophers—the pretenders who force their way in without invitation, and are always speaking of persons and not of principles, which is unlike the spirit of philosophy. For the true philosopher despises earthly strife; his eye is fixed on the eternal order in accordance with which he moulds himself into the Divine image (and not himself only, but other men), and is the **creator** of the virtues private as well as public. When mankind see that the happiness of states is only to be found in that image, will they be angry with us for attempting to **delineate** it? 'Certainly not. But what will be the process of delineation?' The artist will do nothing until he has made a tabula rasa; on this he will inscribe the constitution of a state, glancing often at the divine truth of nature, and from that deriving the godlike among men, mingling the two elements, rubbing out and painting in, until there is a perfect harmony or fusion of the divine and human. But perhaps the world will doubt the existence of such an artist. What will they doubt? That the philosopher is a lover of truth, having a nature akin to the best? - and if they admit this will they still guarrel with us for making philosophers our kings? 'They will be less disposed to quarrel.' Let us assume then that they are pacified. Still, a person may hesitate about the probability of the son of a king being a philosopher. And we do not deny that they are very liable to be corrupted; but yet surely in the course of ages there might be one exception-and one is enough. If one son of a king were a philosopher, and had obedient citizens, he might bring the ideal polity into being. Hence we conclude that our laws are not only the best, but that they are also possible, though not free from difficulty.

I **gained** nothing by **evading** the troublesome questions which arose concerning women and children. I will be wiser now and acknowledge that we must go to the bottom of another question: What is to be the education of our guardians? It was agreed that they were to be lovers of their country, and were to be tested in the refiner's fire of pleasures and pains, and those who came forth pure and remained fixed in their principles were to have honours and rewards in

### **Thesaurus**

**creator**: (*n*) author, originator, producer, maker, inventor, artist, founder, builder, manufacturer, initiator, God. ANTONYM: (*n*) destructor. **delineate**: (*v*) draw, line, describe, sketch, represent, characterize, draft, paint, delimit, outline; (*n*, *v*) design. ANTONYM: (*v*) expand. **deriving**: (*n*) etymologizing, ancestry, account, thought.

evading: (n) avoidance, escaping,

dodging; (v) evade; (adj) intangible, fugitive.
gained: (adj) extrinsic.
glancing: (adj) passing.
godlike: (adj) celestial, heavenly, seraphic, holy, angelic, godly, divine worship, deified, elysian, foreboding, divine songs.

inscribe: (v) engrave, imprint, enter, enroll, dedicate, enlist, register, grave, mark, impress, enrol. ANTONYM: (v) decode. mingling: (adj) blending, merging, confluent, blended; (n) mixture, mixing, commixtion, interchange, exchange, commixture; (adv) minglingly.

obedient: (adj) submissive, compliant, good, conformable, tame, acquiescent, dutiful, meek, biddable, amenable, subservient. ANTONYMS: (adj) defiant, assertive, rebellious, crooked, intractable, naughty, wild, resistant.

life and after death. But at this point, the argument put on her veil and turned into another path. I hesitated to make the assertion which I now hazard, — that our guardians must be philosophers. You remember all the contradictory elements, which met in the philosopher – how difficult to find them all in a single person! Intelligence and spirit are not often combined with steadiness; the stolid, fearless, nature is averse to intellectual toil. And yet these opposite elements are all necessary, and therefore, as we were saying before, the aspirant must be tested in pleasures and dangers; and also, as we must now further add, in the highest branches of knowledge. You will remember, that when we spoke of the virtues mention was made of a longer road, which you were satisfied to leave unexplored. 'Enough seemed to have been said.' Enough, my friend; but what is enough while anything remains wanting? Of all men the guardian must not faint in the search after truth; he must be prepared to take the longer road, or he will never reach that higher region which is above the four virtues; and of the virtues too he must not only get an outline, but a clear and distinct vision. (Strange that we should be so precise about trifles, so careless about the highest truths!) 'And what are the highest?' You to pretend unconsciousness, when you have so often heard me speak of the idea of good, about which we know so little, and without which though a man gain the world he has no profit of it! Some people imagine that the good is wisdom; but this involves a circle,—the good, they say, is wisdom, wisdom has to do with the good. According to others the good is pleasure; but then comes the absurdity that good is bad, for there are bad pleasures as well as good. Again, the good must have reality; a man may desire the appearance of virtue, but he will not desire the appearance of good. Ought our guardians then to be ignorant of this supreme principle, of which every man has a presentiment, and without which no man has any real knowledge of anything? 'But, Socrates, what is this supreme principle, knowledge or pleasure, or what? You may think me troublesome, but I say that you have no business to be always repeating the doctrines of others instead of giving us your own.' Can I say what I do not know? 'You may offer an opinion.' And will the blindness and crookedness of opinion content you when you might have the light and certainty of science? 'I will only ask you to give such an explanation of the good

# Thesaurus

aspirant: (n) applicant, claimant, amateur, contender, contestant, postulant, entrant; (adj, n) hopeful; (adj) aspiring, ambitious, wishful. branches: (n) branch, brushwood. crookedness: (n) dishonesty, contortion, indirectness, tortuosity, deviousness, corruption, deformity, perversion, unfairness, obliqueness; (adj) obliquity. ANTONYM: (n) straightness. presentiment: (n) premonition, hunch,

apprehension, feeling, foreboding, anticipation, intuition, boding, suspicion; (v) augury; (n, v) omen. steadiness: (adj, n) stability, firmness, steadfastness; (n) regularity, equilibrium, consistency, resolution, permanence, persistence, sureness; (adj) stableness. ANTONYMS: (n) unsteadiness, instability, unreliability. stolid: (adj) impassive, obtuse, stupid,

heavy, doltish, bovine, insulse,

expressionless, shallow, petty, apathetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) emotional, imaginative, exciting. trifles: (n) jests, nonsense, nugae, unexplored: (adj) unexplained,

unapprehended, unascertained, undiscovered, unheard of; (v) unexamined, uninvented, unsearched, unstudied, unweighed, unsifted.

as you have given already of temperance and justice.' I wish that I could, but in my present mood I cannot reach to the height of the knowledge of the good. To the parent or principal I cannot introduce you, but to the child begotten in his image, which I may compare with the interest on the principal, I will. (Audit the account, and do not let me give you a false statement of the debt.) You remember our old distinction of the many beautiful and the one beautiful, the particular and the universal, the objects of sight and the objects of thought? Did you ever consider that the objects of sight imply a faculty of sight which is the most complex and costly of our senses, requiring not only objects of sense, but also a medium, which is light; without which the sight will not distinguish between colours and all will be a blank? For light is the noble bond between the perceiving faculty and the thing perceived, and the god who gives us light is the sun, who is the eye of the day, but is not to be confounded with the eye of man. This eye of the day or sun is what I call the child of the good, standing in the same relation to the visible world as the good to the intellectual. When the sun shines the eye sees, and in the intellectual world where truth is, there is sight and light. Now that which is the sun of intelligent natures, is the idea of good, the cause of knowledge and truth, yet other and fairer than they are, and standing in the same relation to them in which the sun stands to light. O inconceivable height of beauty, which is above knowledge and above truth! ('You cannot surely mean pleasure,' he said. Peace, I replied.) And this idea of good, like the sun, is also the cause of growth, and the author not of knowledge only, but of being, yet greater far than either in dignity and power. 'That is a reach of thought more than human; but, pray, go on with the image, for I suspect that there is more behind.' There is, I said; and bearing in mind our two suns or principles, imagine further their corresponding worlds-one of the visible, the other of the intelligible; you may assist your fancy by figuring the distinction under the image of a line divided into two unequal parts, and may again subdivide each part into two lesser segments representative of the stages of knowledge in either sphere. The lower portion of the lower or visible sphere will consist of shadows and reflections, and its upper and smaller portion will contain real objects in the world of nature or of art. The sphere of the intelligible

### **Thesaurus**

**begotten**: (adj) generated, biological, create.

**figuring**: (*n*) calculation, reckoning, estimation, computing, figure, approximation, conversion, derivative, differential, estimate, derived function. **inconceivable**: (*adi*, *v*) unbelievable,

hard to believe; (adj, b) impossible, implausible, incomprehensible, unimaginable, unthinkable, improbable, unintelligible,

inscrutable, fabulous. ANTONYMS: (adj) conceivable, believable, likely, understandable, credible.

perceived: (adj) sensed, apparent, supposed, professed, ostensible.

perceiving: (n) feeling, sensing, hearing, looking at, recognition, thought, vision, lipreading; (adj) conscious, percipient, reasonable.

portion: (n, v) division, lot, allot, dividend, divide; (n) piece, parcel, fragment, component, section; (adj, n)

constituent. ANTONYM: (n) whole. subdivide: (v) divide, partition, separate, part, split, share, slice, zone, dissever, district, abscind. unequal: (adj) different, unlike, uneven, rough, lopsided, unfair, inadequate, disparate, disproportionate, unbalanced, unsymmetrical. ANTONYMS: (adj) equal, even, fair, identical, similar, same, level, constant, balanced, like, corresponding.

will also have two divisions, - one of mathematics, in which there is no ascent but all is descent; no **inquiring** into premises, but only drawing of inferences. In this division the mind works with figures and numbers, the images of which are taken not from the shadows, but from the objects, although the truth of them is seen only with the mind's eye; and they are used as hypotheses without being analysed. Whereas in the other division reason uses the hypotheses as stages or steps in the ascent to the idea of good, to which she fastens them, and then again descends, walking firmly in the region of ideas, and of ideas only, in her ascent as well as descent, and finally resting in them. 'I partly understand,' he replied; 'you mean that the ideas of science are superior to the hypothetical, metaphorical conceptions of geometry and the other arts or sciences, whichever is to be the name of them; and the latter conceptions you refuse to make subjects of pure intellect, because they have no first principle, although when resting on a first principle, they pass into the higher sphere.' You understand me very well, I said. And now to those four divisions of knowledge you may assign four corresponding faculties-pure intelligence to the highest sphere; active intelligence to the second; to the third, faith; to the fourth, the perception of shadows – and the clearness of the several faculties will be in the same ratio as the truth of the objects to which they are related...

Like Socrates, we may **recapitulate** the virtues of the philosopher. In language which seems to reach beyond the horizon of that age and country, he is described as 'the spectator of all time and all existence.' He has the noblest gifts of nature, and makes the highest use of them. All his desires are absorbed in the love of wisdom, which is the love of truth. None of the graces of a beautiful soul are wanting in him; neither can he fear death, or think much of human life. The ideal of modern times hardly retains the simplicity of the antique; there is not the same **originality** either in truth or error which characterized the Greeks. The philosopher is no longer living in the unseen, nor is he sent by an oracle to convince mankind of ignorance; nor does he regard knowledge as a system of ideas leading upwards by regular stages to the idea of good. The **eagerness** of the pursuit has **abated**; there is more division of labour and less of comprehensive reflection upon nature and human life as a whole; more of exact

# **Thesaurus**

inquire; (n) enquiry, question,

abated: (adj) slack.
eagerness: (n, v) desire, aspiration; (n)
enthusiasm, avidity, cupidity,
readiness, passion, keenness,
ambition, fervor, avidness.
ANTONYMS: (n) indifference,
unwillingness, aloofness, disinterest,
lethargy, listlessness, patience,
gloom, reluctance.
inquiring: (adj) inquisitive, quizzical,
interested, analytical, probing,

intrusive; (adj, n) questioning; (v)

examination. ANTONYM: (adj) uninquiring. intellect: (n) mind, intelligence, understanding, reason, brains, head, intellectual, apprehension, psyche, genius, brainpower. ANTONYM: (n) stupidity.

metaphorical: (adj) metaphoric, allegorical, symbolic, typical, not literal, parabolic, transumptive, allusive, anagogical, catachrestical; (n) tropical. ANTONYMS: (adj) plain, literal. originality: (n) novelty, imagination,

originality: (n) novelty, imagination, ingenuity, initiative, freshness, newness, invention, creativity, heterodoxy, innovation; (adj, n) individuality. ANTONYMS: (n) normality, unoriginality.

recapitulate: (v) repeat, sum up, enumerate, restrate, restrate, restrate, legical parts of the state of the s

enumerate, reiterate, resume, summarize, narrate, recite, brief, restate, reword.

observation and less of anticipation and inspiration. Still, in the altered conditions of knowledge, the parallel is not wholly lost; and there may be a use in translating the conception of Plato into the language of our own age. The philosopher in modern times is one who fixes his mind on the laws of nature in their sequence and connexion, not on fragments or pictures of nature; on history, not on controversy; on the truths which are acknowledged by the few, not on the opinions of the many. He is aware of the importance of 'classifying according to nature,' and will try to 'separate the limbs of science without breaking them' (Phaedr.). There is no part of truth, whether great or small, which he will dishonour; and in the least things he will discern the greatest (Parmen.). Like the ancient philosopher he sees the world pervaded by analogies, but he can also tell 'why in some cases a single instance is sufficient for an induction' (Mill's Logic), while in other cases a thousand examples would prove nothing. He inquires into a portion of knowledge only, because the whole has grown too vast to be embraced by a single mind or life. He has a clearer conception of the divisions of science and of their relation to the mind of man than was possible to the ancients. Like Plato, he has a vision of the unity of knowledge, not as the beginning of philosophy to be attained by a study of elementary mathematics, but as the far-off result of the working of many minds in many ages. He is aware that mathematical studies are preliminary to almost every other; at the same time, he will not reduce all varieties of knowledge to the type of mathematics. He too must have a nobility of character, without which genius loses the better half of greatness. Regarding the world as a point in immensity, and each individual as a link in a never-ending chain of existence, he will not think much of his own life, or be greatly afraid of death.

Adeimantus objects first of all to the form of the Socratic reasoning, thus showing that Plato is aware of the imperfection of his own method. He brings the accusation against himself which might be brought against him by a modern logician – that he extracts the answer because he knows how to put the question. In a long argument words are apt to change their meaning slightly, or premises may be assumed or conclusions inferred with rather too much certainty or universality; the variation at each step may be unobserved, and yet at last the

#### discern: (v) differentiate, see, comprehend, detect, distinguish, make out, perceive, find, note; (n, v)descry; (adj, v) recognize. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, neglect, disregard, observe, overlook. divisions: (n) contents. embraced: (adj) popular. greatness: (n) excellence, dimension, dignity, bulk, size, enormousness, bigness, enormity, grandness, magnitude, fame. ANTONYMS: (n)

obscurity, austerity, commonness, mildness, moderation, simplicity. immensity: (n) greatness, enormousness, immenseness, infinity, bulk, largeness, infiniteness, infinitude, vastness, grandeur, grandness. ANTONYM: (n) lightness. unobserved: (adj, v) unseen; (v) never-ending: (adj) endless, infinite, limitless, vast, unending, unbounded, everlasting, eternal, perennial, immeasurable, spaceless. translating: (n) communication,

**Thesaurus** 

universality: (n) catholicity, generality, Catholicism, entirety, totality, prevalence, universalness, popularity, existing everywhere, completeness, catholicness. unheeded, unregarded, unthought of, unperceived; (adj) ignored, not noticed, hidden, unmarked, unnoted; (adv) secretly. ANTONYM: (adj) evident.

divergence becomes considerable. Hence the failure of attempts to apply **arithmetical** or **algebraic** formulae to logic. The imperfection, or rather the higher and more elastic nature of language, does not allow words to have the precision of numbers or of symbols. And this quality in language impairs the force of an argument which has many steps.

The objection, though fairly met by Socrates in this particular instance, may be regarded as implying a reflection upon the Socratic mode of reasoning. And here, as elsewhere, Plato seems to intimate that the time had come when the negative and **interrogative** method of Socrates must be superseded by a positive and constructive one, of which examples are given in some of the later dialogues. Adeimantus further argues that the ideal is wholly at variance with facts; for experience proves philosophers to be either useless or rogues. Contrary to all expectation Socrates has no hesitation in **admitting** the truth of this, and explains the anomaly in an allegory, first characteristically **depreciating** his own **inventive** powers. In this allegory the people are distinguished from the professional politicians, and, as elsewhere, are spoken of in a tone of pity rather than of **censure** under the image of 'the noble captain who is not very quick in his perceptions.'

The uselessness of philosophers is explained by the circumstance that mankind will not use them. The world in all ages has been divided between contempt and fear of those who employ the power of ideas and know no other weapons. Concerning the false philosopher, Socrates argues that the best is most liable to corruption; and that the **finer** nature is more likely to suffer from alien conditions. We too observe that there are some kinds of excellence which spring from a peculiar delicacy of constitution; as is evidently true of the poetical and imaginative temperament, which often seems to depend on impressions, and hence can only breathe or live in a certain atmosphere. The man of genius has greater pains and greater pleasures, greater powers and greater weaknesses, and often a greater play of character than is to be found in ordinary men. He can assume the disguise of virtue or disinterestedness without having them, or veil personal enmity in the language of patriotism and philosophy,—he can say the

# **Thesaurus**

admitting: (adj) suscipient; (adv) conditionally; (n) acknowledgment, receipt, credence; (conj) although. algebraic: (adj) statistical, mathematical, arithmetical, numerable, computable, calculable, analytic, geometric, numerical, arithmetic. arithmetical: (adj) statistical, mathematical, numerable, calculable, computable, numerical, numeric,

analytic, algebraic.

censure: (*n*, *v*) accuse, reprimand, reproach, attack, animadversion, abuse; (*n*) accusation, condemnation; (*v*) carp, condemn, berate. ANTONYMS: (*v*) approve, commend, allow, endorse, laud, permit, sanction; (*n*) approval, blessing, commendation; (*n*, *v*) compliment. depreciating: (*adj*) depreciatory,

depreciating: (adj) depreciatory, deprecative, belittling, deprecating, deprecatory, depreciated, decreasing.

finer: (adj) superior, advanced, bigger, higher, more, greater.
interrogative: (adj) interrogatory, asking, inquiring; (n) question, doubt, modality, mode, mood, enquiry, problem; (v) zetetic.
inventive: (adj) imaginative, ingenious, clever, fertile, resourceful, innovative, originative, productive, artistic, bright; (adj, v) original.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unoriginal, uninventive, stale, hackneved.

word which all men are thinking, he has an insight which is terrible into the follies and weaknesses of his fellow-men. An Alcibiades, a Mirabeau, or a Napoleon the First, are born either to be the authors of great evils in states, or 'of great good, when they are drawn in that direction.'

Yet the thesis, 'corruptio optimi pessima,' cannot be maintained generally or without regard to the kind of excellence which is corrupted. The alien conditions which are corrupting to one nature, may be the elements of culture to another. In general a man can only receive his highest development in a **congenial** state or family, among friends or fellow- workers. But also he may sometimes be stirred by adverse circumstances to such a degree that he rises up against them and reforms them. And while weaker or coarser characters will extract good out of evil, say in a corrupt state of the church or of society, and live on happily, allowing the evil to remain, the finer or stronger natures may be crushed or spoiled by surrounding influences – may become misanthrope and philanthrope by turns; or in a few instances, like the founders of the monastic orders, or the Reformers, owing to some **peculiarity** in themselves or in their age, may break away entirely from the world and from the church, sometimes into great good, sometimes into great evil, sometimes into both. And the same holds in the lesser sphere of a convent, a school, a family.

Plato would have us consider how easily the best natures are overpowered by public opinion, and what efforts the rest of mankind will make to get possession of them. The world, the church, their own profession, any political or party organization, are always carrying them off their legs and teaching them to apply high and holy names to their own prejudices and interests. The 'monster' corporation to which they belong judges right and truth to be the pleasure of the community. The individual becomes one with his order; or, if he resists, the world is too much for him, and will sooner or later be revenged on him. This is, perhaps, a one-sided but not wholly untrue picture of the maxims and practice of mankind when they 'sit down together at an assembly,' either in ancient or modern times.

# Thesaurus

injurious.

congenial: (adj, v) concordant, consonant, accordant; (adj) compatible, affable, kindred, genial, kind, pleasant, pleasing, delightful. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncongenial, unfriendly, disagreeable, hostile, incompatible, despicable, abominable, unsavory, reserved. corrupting: (adj) noxious, harmful, degrading, unwholesome, corruption, baneful, debasing, demeaning, humiliating, infectious,

efforts: (n) pains. judges: (n) judge, adjudicators, jury. misanthrope: (n) misanthropist, cynic, pessimist, skeptic, misogynist, misanthropos, Timon, grump, man hater, hermit, egotist. vanquished, subdued, subjugated,

overpowered: (adj) beaten, conquered, inundated, engulfed, flooded, routed, overflowing, mild. **peculiarity**: (n) idiosyncrasy,

distinction, particularity, oddness, eccentricity, distinctiveness, abnormality, characteristic, attribute, difference, individuality. ANTONYM: (n) similarity untrue: (adj) erroneous, unfaithful, disloyal, incorrect, sham, mistaken, fallacious, treacherous, wrong, faithless, inaccurate. ANTONYMS: (adj) faithful, true, valid, factual, honest, reliable, correct, truthful, loyal, real.

When the higher natures are corrupted by politics, the lower take possession of the vacant place of philosophy. This is described in one of those continuous images in which the argument, to use a Platonic expression, 'veils herself,' and which is dropped and reappears at intervals. The question is asked,—Why are the citizens of states so hostile to philosophy? The answer is, that they do not know her. And yet there is also a better mind of the many; they would believe if they were taught. But hitherto they have only known a conventional imitation of philosophy, words without thoughts, systems which have no life in them; a (divine) person uttering the words of beauty and freedom, the friend of man holding communion with the Eternal, and seeking to frame the state in that image, they have never known. The same double feeling respecting the mass of mankind has always existed among men. The first thought is that the people are the enemies of truth and right; the second, that this only arises out of an accidental error and confusion, and that they do not really hate those who love them, if they could be educated to know them.

In the latter part of the sixth book, three questions have to be considered: 1st, the nature of the longer and more **circuitous** way, which is **contrasted** with the **shorter** and more **imperfect** method of Book IV; 2nd, the **heavenly** pattern or idea of the state; 3rd, the relation of the divisions of knowledge to one another and to the corresponding faculties of the soul.

1. Of the higher method of knowledge in Plato we have only a glimpse. Neither here nor in the Phaedrus or Symposium, nor yet in the Philebus or Sophist, does he give any clear explanation of his meaning. He would probably have described his method as **proceeding** by regular steps to a system of universal knowledge, which **inferred** the parts from the whole rather than the whole from the parts. This ideal logic is not practised by him in the search after justice, or in the analysis of the parts of the soul; there, like Aristotle in the Nicomachean Ethics, he **argues** from experience and the common use of language. But at the end of the sixth book he conceives another and more perfect method, in which all ideas are only steps or grades or moments of thought, forming a connected whole which is **self**-supporting, and in which consistency is

### **Thesaurus**

argues: (v) argue. circuitous: (adj) roundabout, winding, devious, tortuous, meandering, oblique, complicated, labyrinthine, crooked, collateral, circumlocutional. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, direct. contrasted: (adj) opposed, antagonistic, opposing, contrary, antipodean, counter, diverse, heterogeneous, opposite, unlike, adverse. heavenly: (adj) celestial, blissful,

ethereal, delightful, angelic, blessed, elysian, holy, unearthly, godlike, sacred. ANTONYMS: (adj) worldly, miserable, infernal, hellish, unappealing, dreadful, turbulent. imperfect: (adj) faulty, deficient, defective, unfinished, incomplete, poor, flawed, partial, inadequate, broken, fallible. ANTONYMS: (adj) perfect, whole, unblemished, adequate, complete, sound, boundless, capable, flawless.

inferred: (adj) subtle, tacit, assumed, incidental, latent, unsaid, unspoken, understood, contingent, implied, derivative. ANTONYM: (adj) explicit. proceeding: (n) matter, transaction, affair, procedure, lawsuit, proceedings; (v) deed, act; (n, v) measure; (adv, n) happening; (adj, adv, v) going on. self-supporting: (adj) self-sustaining,

self-sufficient, closed. **shorter**: (*adj*) smaller, inferior. the test of truth. He does not explain to us in detail the nature of the process. Like many other thinkers both in ancient and modern times his mind seems to be filled with a vacant form which he is unable to realize. He supposes the sciences to have a natural order and connexion in an age when they can hardly be said to exist. He is hastening on to the 'end of the intellectual world' without even making a beginning of them.

In modern times we hardly need to be reminded that the process of acquiring knowledge is here confused with the contemplation of absolute knowledge. In all science a priori and a posteriori truths mingle in various proportions. The a priori part is that which is derived from the most universal experience of men, or is universally accepted by them; the a posteriori is that which grows up around the more general principles and becomes **imperceptibly** one with them. But Plato **erroneously** imagines that the synthesis is **separable** from the analysis, and that the method of science can anticipate science. In entertaining such a vision of a priori knowledge he is sufficiently justified, or at least his meaning may be sufficiently explained by the similar attempts of Descartes, Kant, Hegel, and even of Bacon himself, in modern philosophy. Anticipations or divinations, or prophetic glimpses of truths whether concerning man or nature, seem to stand in the same relation to ancient philosophy which hypotheses bear to modern inductive science. These 'guesses at truth' were not made at random; they arose from a superficial impression of uniformities and first principles in nature which the genius of the Greek, contemplating the expanse of heaven and earth, seemed to recognize in the distance. Nor can we deny that in ancient times knowledge must have stood still, and the human mind been deprived of the very instruments of thought, if philosophy had been strictly confined to the results of experience.

2. Plato supposes that when the **tablet** has been made blank the artist will fill in the lineaments of the ideal state. Is this a pattern laid up in heaven, or mere vacancy on which he is supposed to gaze with wondering eye? The answer is, that such ideals are framed partly by the omission of particulars, partly by

# **Thesaurus**

erroneously: (adv) mistakenly, falsely, incorrectly, faultily, inaccurately, fallaciously, wrong, inexactly, untruely, misguidedly, amiss. ANTONYMS: (adv) accurately, rightly.

expanse: (n) breadth, expansion, space, region, compass, extent, orbit, latitude, acreage, dilation, length. ANTONYM: (n) closeness. hastening: (n) quickening, speed,

hurrying, speeding up, faster, fast,

stepping up. imperceptibly: (adv) unnoticeably, gradually, slightly, invisibly, gently, quietly, softly, observably, indistinctly, scarcely, hardly. ANTONYMS: (adv) obviously, visibly, audibly, conspicuously, perceptibly, heavily, clearly, strongly. lineaments: (v) exposition, tract, length, expanse, area, extent; (n) face. tablet: (n) slab, pad, pill, lozenge, prophetic: (adj) oracular, mantic, prophetical, prognostic, visionary,

biblical, vaticinal, sibylline, foreshadowing, fatidical, pythonic. ANTONYMS: (adj) unprophetic, unimaginative.

separable: (adj) dissociable, severable, detachable, isolatable, removable, discernible, movable, distinguishable; (adj, v) partible; (v) discerptible, scissile. ANTONYM: (adj) fixed. monument, capsule, pellet, dragee, abacus; (adj) plate; (v) parchment.

imagination perfecting the form which experience supplies (Phaedo). represents these ideals in a figure as belonging to another world; and in modern times the idea will sometimes seem to precede, at other times to co-operate with the hand of the artist. As in science, so also in creative art, there is a synthetical as well as an analytical method. One man will have the whole in his mind before he begins; to another the processes of mind and hand will be simultaneous.

3. There is no difficulty in seeing that Plato's divisions of knowledge are based, first, on the fundamental antithesis of sensible and intellectual which pervades the whole pre-Socratic philosophy; in which is implied also the opposition of the permanent and transient, of the universal and particular. But the age of philosophy in which he lived seemed to require a further distinction; numbers and figures were beginning to separate from ideas. The world could no longer regard justice as a cube, and was learning to see, though imperfectly, that the abstractions of sense were distinct from the abstractions of mind. Between the Eleatic being or essence and the shadows of phenomena, the Pythagorean principle of number found a place, and was, as Aristotle remarks, a conducting medium from one to the other. Hence Plato is led to introduce a third term which had not hitherto entered into the scheme of his philosophy. He had observed the use of mathematics in education; they were the best preparation for higher studies. The subjective relation between them further suggested an objective one; although the passage from one to the other is really imaginary (Metaph.). For metaphysical and moral philosophy has no connexion with mathematics; number and figure are the abstractions of time and space, not the expressions of purely intellectual conceptions. When divested of metaphor, a straight line or a square has no more to do with right and justice than a crooked line with vice. The figurative association was mistaken for a real one; and thus the three latter divisions of the Platonic proportion were constructed.

There is more difficulty in comprehending how he arrived at the first term of the series, which is nowhere else mentioned, and has no reference to any other

#### Thesaurus

antithesis: (n) foil, opposite, antagonism, contrast, reverse, opposition, converse, contrary, contrariety, difference; (adj) inversion. comprehending: (adj) intelligent, general, observant, sympathetic, brotherly, conversant. co-operate: (v) collaborate. crooked: (adj) bent, corrupt, dishonest, curved, unfair, deformed; (adj, n, v) awry; (adj, v) irregular, askew, wry,

indirect. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, honest, principled, even, aboveboard, lawful, level, moral, flat, aligned, honorable.

divested: (adj) bereft, destitute, naked. figurative: (adj) metaphorical, figural, emblematic, representative, florid, flowery, symbolic, allusive, graphic, not literal; (n) tropical. ANTONYMS: (adj) factual, nonfigurative.

imperfectly: (adv) faultily, defectively, badly, deficiently, incompletely,

partially, poorly, inadequately, sketchily, incorrectly, halfway. ANTONYMS: (adv) perfectly, flawlessly, correctly, well.

perfecting: (n) development, reiteration.

precede: (v) lead, head, forego, antecede, antedate, anticipate, introduce, forerun, pass, preface, go. ANTONYMS: (v) succeed, postdate. synthetical: (adj) chemical,

semisynthetic, celluloid.

part of his system. Nor indeed does the relation of shadows to objects correspond to the relation of numbers to ideas. Probably Plato has been led by the love of analogy (Timaeus) to make four terms instead of three, although the objects perceived in both divisions of the lower sphere are equally objects of sense. He is also preparing the way, as his manner is, for the shadows of images at the beginning of the **seventh** book, and the imitation of an imitation in the tenth. The line may be regarded as reaching from unity to infinity, and is divided into two unequal parts, and subdivided into two more; each lower sphere is the **multiplication** of the preceding. Of the four faculties, faith in the lower division has an intermediate position (cp. for the use of the word faith or belief, (Greek), Timaeus), **contrasting** equally with the **vagueness** of the perception of shadows (Greek) and the higher certainty of understanding (Greek) and reason (Greek).

The difference between understanding and mind or reason (Greek) is analogous to the difference between acquiring knowledge in the parts and the contemplation of the whole. True knowledge is a whole, and is at rest; consistency and universality are the tests of truth. To this self- evidencing knowledge of the whole the faculty of mind is supposed to correspond. But there is a knowledge of the understanding which is incomplete and in motion always, because unable to rest in the **subordinate** ideas. Those ideas are called both images and hypotheses—images because they are clothed in sense, hypotheses because they are assumptions only, until they are brought into connexion with the idea of good.

The general meaning of the passage, 'Noble, then, is the bond which links together sight...And of this kind I spoke as the intelligible...' so far as the thought contained in it admits of being translated into the terms of modern philosophy, may be described or explained as follows:—There is a truth, one and self-existent, to which by the help of a ladder let down from above, the human intelligence may **ascend**. This unity is like the sun in the heavens, the light by which all things are seen, the being by which they are created and sustained. It is the IDEA of good. And the steps of the ladder leading up to this highest or

#### **Thesaurus**

ascend: (*n*, *v*) mount; (*v*) arise, scale, uprise, climb, go up, come up, increase, elevate; (*n*) ascending, ascent. ANTONYMS: (*v*) descend, drop, decline, fall, lower, set, sink. contrasting: (*adj*) diverse, conflicting, counter, diametric, distinct, assorted, contrastive, dissimilar, incongruent, miscellaneous; (*n*) division. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) like, uniform. multiplication: (*n*) augmentation, increase, generation, expansion, rise,

doubling, propagation, increment, reproduction; (*n*, *v*) addition; (*adj*) pullulation. ANTONYM: (*n*) decrease. **seventh**: (*n*) common fraction,

seventh: (n) common fraction, interval.

subordinate: (adj, n) inferior, subaltern; (adj) dependent, secondary, lower, petty, lowly, lesser, minor, junior; (n) assistant. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) chief, superior, major; (adj) senior, dominant, independent, insubordinate, higher, main; (n) central.

vagueness: (n) ambiguity, indistinctness, haziness, indefiniteness, obscurity, dimness, ambiguousness, murkiness, unclearness, indirectness; (adj) inconceivableness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, accuracy, exactness, directness, concentration, certainty, reliability, confidence, clearness, attentiveness.

universal existence are the mathematical sciences, which also contain in themselves an element of the universal. These, too, we see in a new manner when we connect them with the idea of good. They then cease to be hypotheses or pictures, and become essential parts of a higher truth which is at once their first principle and their final cause.

We cannot give any more precise meaning to this remarkable passage, but we may trace in it several **rudiments** or **vestiges** of thought which are common to us and to Plato: such as (1) the unity and correlation of the sciences, or rather of science, for in Plato's time they were not yet parted off or distinguished; (2) the existence of a Divine Power, or life or idea or cause or reason, not yet conceived or no longer conceived as in the Timaeus and elsewhere under the form of a person; (3) the recognition of the **hypothetical** and conditional character of the mathematical sciences, and in a measure of every science when isolated from the rest; (4) the conviction of a truth which is invisible, and of a law, though hardly a law of nature, which permeates the intellectual rather than the visible world.

The method of Socrates is hesitating and tentative, awaiting the fuller explanation of the idea of good, and of the nature of dialectic in the seventh book. The imperfect intelligence of Glaucon, and the reluctance of Socrates to make a beginning, mark the difficulty of the subject. The allusion to Theages' bridle, and to the internal oracle, or demonic sign, of Socrates, which here, as always in Plato, is only **prohibitory**; the remark that the salvation of any remnant of good in the present evil state of the world is due to God only; the reference to a future state of existence, which is unknown to Glaucon in the tenth book, and in which the discussions of Socrates and his disciples would be resumed; the surprise in the answers; the fanciful irony of Socrates, where he pretends that he can only describe the strange position of the philosopher in a figure of speech; the original observation that the Sophists, after all, are only the representatives and not the leaders of public opinion; the picture of the philosopher standing aside in the shower of **sleet** under a wall; the figure of 'the great beast' followed by the expression of good-will towards the common people who would not have rejected the philosopher if they had known him; the 'right noble thought' that the

#### **Thesaurus**

**demonic**: (adj) diabolic, infernal, wicked, diabolical, satanic, fiendish, hellish, devilish, demoniacal, demoniac, unhallowed.

ANTONYMS: (adj) angelic, sainted, saintly. **hesitating**: (adj) indecisive, irresolute,

hesitating: (adj) indecisive, irresolute, undecided, doubtful, hesitate, reluctant, faltering, unwilling, hesitancy, backward, hesitatingly. hypothetical: (adj, v) conjectural, speculative; (adj) theoretical,

academic, assumed, suppositional, putative, imaginary, abstract; (v) apocryphal, enigmatic. ANTONYMS: (adj) actual, real, practical. prohibitory: (adj) prohibitive, interdictory, preventive, forbidding,

preventative. **rudiments**: (*n*) grammar,

fundamentals, elements, alphabet,
abecedary, primer, vade mecum,
bedrock, element, fundamental
principle, rudiment.

sleet: (n, v) rain; (n) hail, snift, downfall, glaze, metabolic residue, moment; (v) come down.
tentative: (adj) doubtful, provisional, experimental, probationary, trial, shy, empirical, exploratory, undecided, provisionary, indefinite.
ANTONYMS: (adj) sure, certain, conclusive, firm, ultimate, decisive, exact, mature, bold.
vestiges: (n) leftovers, relics, ruins,

remnants, remainder.

highest truths demand the greatest exactness; the hesitation of Socrates in returning once more to his well- worn theme of the idea of good; the ludicrous earnestness of Glaucon; the comparison of philosophy to a deserted maiden who marries beneath her – are some of the most interesting characteristics of the sixth book.

Yet a few more words may be added, on the old theme, which was so oft discussed in the Socratic circle, of which we, like Glaucon and Adeimantus, would fain, if possible, have a clearer notion. Like them, we are dissatisfied when we are told that the idea of good can only be revealed to a student of the mathematical sciences, and we are inclined to think that neither we nor they could have been led along that path to any satisfactory goal. For we have learned that differences of quantity cannot pass into differences of quality, and that the mathematical sciences can never rise above themselves into the sphere of our higher thoughts, although they may sometimes furnish symbols and expressions of them, and may train the mind in habits of abstraction and selfconcentration. The illusion which was natural to an ancient philosopher has ceased to be an illusion to us. But if the process by which we are supposed to arrive at the idea of good be really imaginary, may not the idea itself be also a mere abstraction? We remark, first, that in all ages, and especially in primitive philosophy, words such as being, essence, unity, good, have exerted an extraordinary influence over the minds of men. The meagreness or negativeness of their content has been in an **inverse** ratio to their power. They have become the forms under which all things were comprehended. There was a need or instinct in the human soul which they satisfied; they were not ideas, but gods, and to this new mythology the men of a later generation began to attach the powers and associations of the elder deities.

The idea of good is one of those sacred words or forms of thought, which were beginning to take the place of the old mythology. It meant unity, in which all time and all existence were gathered up. It was the truth of all things, and also the light in which they shone forth, and became evident to intelligences human and divine. It was the cause of all things, the power by which they were

#### Thesaurus inexactness, fuzziness, inaccuracy,

ceased: (adj) finished. earnestness: (n) seriousness, sincerity, gravity, fervor, devotion, graveness, staidness, honesty; (adj, n) ardor, zeal, fain: (adj) willing, prepared, ready, intentness. ANTONYMS: (n) slackness, lightness, carelessness, frivolousness, cheerfulness, insincerity, flippancy. exactness: (n) correctness, accuracy, exactitude, truth, rigor, trueness, accurateness, fidelity, punctuality, veracity, strictness. ANTONYMS: (n)

negligence, inexactitude, incorrectness. favorable, heart and soul, prone; (adv) gladly, lief, readily, willingly; (v) optative. furnish: (v) afford, provide,

contribute, render, offer, accommodate, supply, outfit, yield, decorate; (n, v) give. ANTONYM: (v) **inverse**: (adj, n) converse, contrary, opposite; (n) contrast, inversion, reciprocal, antithesis, reciprocality, reciprocity; (adv) backwards; (adj) opposing. ANTONYM: (adj) direct. meagreness: (n) exiguity, poverty, spareness, leanness, deficiency, impoverishment, inadequacy, insufficiency, poorness, scantness, scantiness. negativeness: (n) electronegativity, disagreeableness.

brought into being. It was the universal reason divested of a human personality. It was the life as well as the light of the world, all knowledge and all power were comprehended in it. The way to it was through the mathematical sciences, and these too were dependent on it. To ask whether God was the maker of it, or made by it, would be like asking whether God could be conceived apart from goodness, or goodness apart from God. The God of the Timaeus is not really at variance with the idea of good; they are aspects of the same, differing only as the personal from the impersonal, or the masculine from the neuter, the one being the expression or language of mythology, the other of philosophy.

This, or something like this, is the meaning of the idea of good as conceived by Plato. Ideas of number, order, harmony, development may also be said to enter into it. The paraphrase which has just been given of it goes beyond the actual words of Plato. We have perhaps arrived at the stage of philosophy which enables us to understand what he is aiming at, better than he did himself. We are beginning to realize what he saw darkly and at a distance. But if he could have been told that this, or some conception of the same kind, but higher than this, was the truth at which he was aiming, and the need which he sought to supply, he would gladly have recognized that more was contained in his own thoughts than he himself knew. As his words are few and his manner reticent and tentative, so must the style of his interpreter be. We should not approach his meaning more nearly by attempting to define it further. In translating him into the language of modern thought, we might insensibly lose the spirit of ancient philosophy. It is remarkable that although Plato speaks of the idea of good as the first principle of truth and being, it is nowhere mentioned in his writings except in this passage. Nor did it retain any hold upon the minds of his disciples in a later generation; it was probably unintelligible to them. Nor does the mention of it in Aristotle appear to have any reference to this or any other passage in his extant writings.

#### Thesaurus

darkly: (adv) murkily, dimly, obscurely, duskily, somberly, shadily, mistily, secretly, dismally, heavily, overcastly. ANTONYM: (adv) openly.

extant: (adj) actual, current, present, existent, surviving, alive, living, available, instant, in existence, that is. neuter: (adj, v) alter, castrate; (adj) ANTONYMS: (adj) lost, dead, departed, destroyed, gone. **gladly**: (adv, v) happily; (adv) gleefully, contentedly, cheerfully, fain, joyfully,

jovially, cheerily, delightedly, gladsomely, readily. ANTONYMS: (adv) reluctantly, unwillingly, sadly, resentfully, miserably.

insensibly: (adv) imperceptibly, apathetically, numbly, motionlessly, inertly.

geld, neutral, nonsexual, asexual, emasculate, sexless, indifferent; (v) unsex, desex. ANTONYM: (adj) feminine.

paraphrase: (n) explanation, exposition, paraphrasis, description, interpretation, version, burlesque; (v) interpret, translate, reword, rephrase. reticent: (adj, v) reserved, close; (adj) restrained, quiet, distant, modest, uncommunicative, shy, taciturn, retiring, bashful. ANTONYMS: (adj) expansive, chatty, helpful, outgoing, uninhibited, forthcoming, extrovert, careless, affable, arrogant, open. speaks: (n) talks.

#### ANALYSIS OF BOOK VII

And now I will describe in a figure the **enlightenment** or **unenlightenment** of our nature: - Imagine human beings living in an underground den which is open towards the light; they have been there from childhood, having their necks and legs chained, and can only see into the den. At a distance there is a fire, and between the fire and the prisoners a raised way, and a low wall is built along the way, like the screen over which marionette players show their puppets. Behind the wall appear moving figures, who hold in their hands various works of art, and among them images of men and animals, wood and stone, and some of the passers-by are talking and others silent. 'A strange parable,' he said, 'and strange captives.' They are ourselves, I replied; and they see only the shadows of the images which the fire throws on the wall of the den; to these they give names, and if we add an echo which returns from the wall, the voices of the passengers will seem to proceed from the shadows. Suppose now that you suddenly turn them round and make them look with pain and grief to themselves at the real images; will they believe them to be real? Will not their eyes be dazzled, and will they not try to get away from the light to something which they are able to behold without blinking? And suppose further, that they are dragged up a steep and rugged ascent into the presence of the sun himself, will not their sight be darkened with the excess of light? Some time will pass before they get the habit of perceiving at all; and at first they will be able to perceive only shadows

#### **Thesaurus**

enlightenment: (n) light, information,

instruction, wisdom, illumination,

education, culture, civilization,

notice, Age of Reason; (n, v)

old, obfuscate, murky, cloudy,

dazzled: (adi) confused, dazzle,

bewildered, blind, blinder,

fascinated, unsighted.

opaque, overcast.

knowledge.

**behold**: (v) see, view, contemplate, regard, perceive, observe, look, consider, discern, descry, watch. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, disregard, ignore, overlook.

blinking: (adj) flickering, bally, blooming; (adj, n) winking; (n) shimmer, blink, wink, twinkling, nictation, blink of an eye, nictitation. chained: (adj) in chains, enchained, bound.
darkened: (adj) darkens, obscured,

marionette: (*n*) puppet, figurine, fantoccini, aglet, mammet, manikin,

tool, waxwork, dummy, bust, creature.

**rugged**: (*adj*, *n*) rough, jagged, ragged; (*adj*) difficult, rocky, tough, broken, robust, hilly, strong, craggy.
ANTONYMS: (*adj*) delicate, easy, smooth, flimsy, fragile, soft, weak, feeble.

unenlightenment: (n) darkness,
ignorance.
voices: (n) chorus.

and reflections in the water; then they will recognize the moon and the stars, and will at length behold the sun in his own proper place as he is. Last of all they will conclude: - This is he who gives us the year and the seasons, and is the author of all that we see. How will they rejoice in passing from darkness to light! How worthless to them will seem the honours and glories of the den! But now imagine further, that they descend into their old habitations; - in that underground dwelling they will not see as well as their fellows, and will not be able to compete with them in the measurement of the shadows on the wall; there will be many jokes about the man who went on a visit to the sun and lost his eyes, and if they find anybody trying to set free and enlighten one of their number, they will put him to death, if they can catch him. Now the cave or den is the world of sight, the fire is the sun, the way upwards is the way to knowledge, and in the world of knowledge the idea of good is last seen and with difficulty, but when seen is inferred to be the author of good and right - parent of the lord of light in this world, and of truth and understanding in the other. He who attains to the beatific vision is always going upwards; he is unwilling to descend into political assemblies and courts of law; for his eyes are apt to blink at the images or shadows of images which they behold in them - he cannot enter into the ideas of those who have never in their lives understood the relation of the shadow to the substance. But blindness is of two kinds, and may be caused either by passing out of darkness into light or out of light into darkness, and a man of sense will distinguish between them, and will not laugh equally at both of them, but the blindness which arises from fulness of light he will deem blessed, and pity the other; or if he laugh at the puzzled soul looking at the sun, he will have more reason to laugh than the inhabitants of the den at those who descend from above. There is a further lesson taught by this parable of ours. Some persons fancy that instruction is like giving eyes to the blind, but we say that the faculty of sight was always there, and that the soul only requires to be turned round towards the light. And this is conversion; other virtues are almost like bodily habits, and may be acquired in the same manner, but intelligence has a diviner life, and is indestructible, turning either to good or evil according to the direction given. Did you never observe how the mind of a clever rogue peers

#### **Thesaurus**

beatific: (adj) blessed, blissful, elysian, diviner: (n) clairvoyant, augur, heavenly, saintly, celestial, good, angelical, beatifical, joyful, joyous. blink: (v) twinkle, flicker, blench, shirk, nictate, shine; (n, v) flash; (n)blinking, instant, winking, glimmer. ANTONYM: (v) attend. courts: (n) judges. deem: (v) believe, assume, consider,

count, hold, think, feel, view, suppose, regard, imagine. ANTONYMS: (v) disregard, doubt.

prophet, oracle, divine, sorcerer, wizard, necromancer, vaticinator, fortuneteller, forecaster. enlighten: (v) advise, edify, educate, inform, clarify, apprise, instruct, illuminate, clear, notify; (adj, v) lighten. ANTONYMS: (v) puzzle, obfuscate, mystify, confound, cloud, brutalize, bewilder, muddle. fulness: (n) fullness, entirety, completeness, totality.

indestructible: (adj) immortal, eternal, everlasting, undestroyable, undying, durable, perdurable, permanent, indelible, incorruptible, lasting. ANTONYMS: (adj) fragile, destructible, vulnerable, ephemeral, soft, perishable, temporary. rejoice: (v) cheer, gladden, triumph, revel, jubilate, gratify, gloat, please; (n, v) delight, glory, joy. ANTONYMS: (v) lament, mourn, complain.

out of his eyes, and the more clearly he sees, the more evil he does? Now if you take such an one, and cut away from him those leaden weights of pleasure and desire which bind his soul to earth, his intelligence will be turned round, and he will behold the truth as clearly as he now discerns his meaner ends. And have we not decided that our rulers must neither be so uneducated as to have no fixed rule of life, nor so over-educated as to be unwilling to leave their paradise for the business of the world? We must choose out therefore the natures who are most likely to ascend to the light and knowledge of the good; but we must not allow them to remain in the region of light; they must be forced down again among the captives in the den to partake of their labours and honours. 'Will they not think this a hardship?' You should remember that our purpose in framing the State was not that our citizens should do what they like, but that they should serve the State for the common good of all. May we not fairly say to our philosopher,— Friend, we do you no wrong; for in other States philosophy grows wild, and a wild plant owes nothing to the gardener, but you have been trained by us to be the rulers and kings of our hive, and therefore we must insist on your descending into the den. You must, each of you, take your turn, and become able to use your eyes in the dark, and with a little practice you will see far better than those who quarrel about the shadows, whose knowledge is a dream only, whilst yours is a waking reality. It may be that the saint or philosopher who is best fitted, may also be the least inclined to rule, but necessity is laid upon him, and he must no longer live in the heaven of ideas. And this will be the salvation of the State. For those who rule must not be those who are **desirous** to rule; and, if you can offer to our citizens a better life than that of rulers generally is, there will be a chance that the rich, not only in this world's goods, but in virtue and wisdom, may bear rule. And the only life which is better than the life of political ambition is that of philosophy, which is also the best preparation for the government of a State.

Then now comes the question,—How shall we create our rulers; what way is there from darkness to light? The change is **effected** by philosophy; it is not the turning over of an oyster-shell, but the conversion of a soul from night to day, from becoming to being. And what training will draw the soul upwards? Our

#### **Thesaurus**

descending: (v) descend; (adj) downhill, down, descendent, decreasing, dropping, falling, sloping, degressive, occasive; (adv) downward. ANTONYM: (adj) upward.

desirous: (adj) wistful, avid, ambitious, greedy, longing, eager, hungry, covetous, envious, agog; (adj, v) willing. ANTONYMS: (adj) undesirous, reluctant, undesiring, unconcerned.

effected: (adj) completed, complete, finished, fulfilled, done, realized, conventional, constituted, established.

framing: (n) frame, casing, sash, doorcase, cornice, cowcatcher, coaming, deckle, clotheshorse, buffer, derrick.

drab, burdensome, livid. ANTONYM: (adj) bright. partake: (v) deal, touch, share, consume, attend, eat, taste, re

**gardener**: (*n*) horticulturist, farmer, florist, employee, hedger, husbandman, transplanter. **hive**: (*adj*) swarm, herd; (*v*) store, SE

nicher; (n) concourse, hiding place, cave, cell, den, aerie, eyry.

leaden: (adj) heavy, gray, sluggish, grey, inert, torpid, grave, languid, drab, burdensome, livid.

ANTONYM: (adj) bright.

partake: (v) deal, touch, share, consume, attend, eat, taste, receive, communicate, join, have.

ANTONYM: (v) refrain.

**waking**: (*adj*) wakeful; (*n*) awakening, wakefulness, consciousness.

former education had two branches, gymnastic, which was occupied with the body, and music, the sister art, which infused a natural harmony into mind and literature; but neither of these sciences gave any promise of doing what we want. Nothing remains to us but that universal or primary science of which all the arts and sciences are partakers, I mean number or calculation. 'Very true.' Including the art of war? 'Yes, certainly.' Then there is something ludicrous about Palamedes in the tragedy, coming in and saying that he had invented number, and had counted the ranks and set them in order. For if Agamemnon could not count his feet (and without number how could he?) he must have been a pretty sort of general indeed. No man should be a soldier who cannot count, and indeed he is hardly to be called a man. But I am not speaking of these practical applications of arithmetic, for number, in my view, is rather to be regarded as a conductor to thought and being. I will explain what I mean by the last expression: - Things sensible are of two kinds; the one class invite or stimulate the mind, while in the other the mind acquiesces. Now the stimulating class are the things which suggest contrast and relation. For example, suppose that I hold up to the eyes three fingers—a fore finger, a middle finger, a little finger—the sight equally recognizes all three fingers, but without number cannot further distinguish them. Or again, suppose two objects to be relatively great and small, these ideas of greatness and smallness are supplied not by the sense, but by the mind. And the perception of their contrast or relation quickens and sets in motion the mind, which is puzzled by the confused intimations of sense, and has recourse to number in order to find out whether the things indicated are one or more than one. Number replies that they are two and not one, and are to be distinguished from one another. Again, the sight beholds great and small, but only in a confused chaos, and not until they are distinguished does the question arise of their respective natures; we are thus led on to the distinction between the visible and intelligible. That was what I meant when I spoke of stimulants to the intellect; I was thinking of the contradictions which arise in perception. The idea of unity, for example, like that of a finger, does not arouse thought unless involving some conception of plurality; but when the one is also the opposite of one, the contradiction gives rise to reflection; an example of this is afforded by

arithmetic: (adj) arithmetical, numerical; (n) calculation, computation, algorism, mathematics, math, estimate, weighing up; (v) fluxions, geometry.

arouse: (v) wake, stir, agitate, excite, awaken, stimulate, anger, kindle, provoke, raise; (n, v) rouse.

ANTONYMS: (v) calm, dampen, stifle, sedate, quiet, pacify, bore, allay, full, quench, suppress.

conductor: (n, v) guide, guard; (n)

#### **Thesaurus**

chief, director, driver, chauffeur, bandmaster, collector, commander, pilot, ringleader. ANTONYMS: (n) insulator, nonconductor.

fore: (adv) ahead, before; (adj, adv) forward; (n) bow, head, forefront, stem; (adj, n) front; (adj) anterior, foremost, frontal. ANTONYMS: (adv) aft, behind, rear; (adj) back.

plurality: (n) majority, abundance, mass, many, multiplicity, profusion, bulk, score, plenty, pluralism,

battalion.

quickens: (n) couch grass.

recourse: (n, v) appeal, haunt; (n)

refuge, expedient, resource,

assistance, alternative, dependence,

haven, asylum, request.

smallness: (n) diminutiveness,

minuteness, slightness, puniness,

insignificance, scantiness, delicacy,

scantness, narrowness; (adj)

meagerness, slenderness.

ANTONYM: (n) tallness.

any object of sight. All number has also an elevating effect; it raises the mind out of the foam and flux of generation to the contemplation of being, having lesser military and retail uses also. The retail use is not required by us; but as our guardian is to be a soldier as well as a philosopher, the military one may be retained. And to our higher purpose no science can be better adapted; but it must be pursued in the spirit of a philosopher, not of a shopkeeper. It is concerned, not with visible objects, but with abstract truth; for numbers are pure abstractions - the true arithmetician indignantly denies that his unit is capable of division. When you divide, he insists that you are only multiplying; his 'one' is not material or resolvable into fractions, but an unvarying and absolute equality; and this proves the purely intellectual character of his study. Note also the great power which arithmetic has of **sharpening** the wits; no other discipline is equally severe, or an equal test of general ability, or equally improving to a stupid personLet our second branch of education be geometry. 'I can easily see,' replied Glaucon, 'that the skill of the general will be doubled by his knowledge of geometry.' That is a small matter; the use of geometry, to which I refer, is the assistance given by it in the contemplation of the idea of good, and the compelling the mind to look at true being, and not at generation only. Yet the present mode of pursuing these studies, as any one who is the least of a mathematician is aware, is mean and ridiculous; they are made to look downwards to the arts, and not upwards to eternal existence. The geometer is always talking of squaring, subtending, apposing, as if he had in view action; whereas knowledge is the real object of the study. It should elevate the soul, and create the mind of philosophy; it should raise up what has fallen down, not to speak of lesser uses in war and military tactics, and in the improvement of the faculties.

Shall we propose, as a third branch of our education, astronomy? 'Very good,' replied Glaucon; 'the knowledge of the heavens is necessary at once for husbandry, navigation, military tactics.' I like your way of giving useful reasons for everything in order to make friends of the world. And there is a difficulty in proving to mankind that education is not only useful information but a **purification** of the eye of the soul, which is better than the bodily eye, for by this

#### **Thesaurus** algebraist, calculator, abacist; (n)

arithmetician: (v) calculator, abacist, algebraist. elevating: (adj) inspiring, exhilarating. geometer: (n) geometrician, mathematician, spanworm, geometrid moth, Euclid; (adj) euclidian; (v) statistician. husbandry: (n) cultivation, farming, economy, frugality, culture, conservation, thrift, tillage, dairying, horticulture, gardening. mathematician: (v) arithmetician,

geometrician, gauss, scientist, man of science, Archimedes, whitehead; (adj) sharpening: (n) grinding, training, Cartesian. multiplying: (adj) cumulative; (n) generation, calculation. purification: (n) defecation, purge, refinement, catharsis, purgation, purging, refining, cleaning, cleansing, cleanup, rectification. ANTONYMS: (n) debasement, dirtying, contamination.

resolvable: (adj) resoluble, soluble, reconcilable. filing, dressing, acumination, aggravation; (adj) abrasive. unvarying: (adj) unchanging, invariable, constant, steady, uniform, invariant, changeless, consistent, unvaried, unchanged, equal. ANTONYMS: (adj) irregular, multiform, varied, dynamic, erratic, unequal.

alone is truth seen. Now, will you appeal to mankind in general or to the philosopher? or would you prefer to look to yourself only? 'Every man is his own best friend.' Then take a step backward, for we are out of order, and insert the third dimension which is of solids, after the second which is of planes, and then you may proceed to solids in motion. But solid **geometry** is not popular and has not the patronage of the State, nor is the use of it fully recognized; the difficulty is great, and the votaries of the study are conceited and impatient. Still the charm of the pursuit wins upon men, and, if government would lend a little assistance, there might be great progress made. 'Very true,' replied Glaucon; 'but do I understand you now to begin with plane geometry, and to place next geometry of solids, and thirdly, **astronomy**, or the motion of solids?' Yes, I said; my **hastiness** has only **hindered** us.

'Very good, and now let us proceed to astronomy, about which I am willing to speak in your lofty strain. No one can fail to see that the contemplation of the heavens draws the soul upwards.' I am an exception, then; astronomy as studied at present appears to me to draw the soul not upwards, but downwards. Stargazing is just looking up at the ceiling—no better; a man may lie on his back on land or on water—he may look up or look down, but there is no science in that. The vision of knowledge of which I speak is seen not with the eyes, but with the mind. All the magnificence of the heavens is but the embroidery of a copy which falls far short of the divine Original, and teaches nothing about the absolute harmonies or motions of things. Their beauty is like the beauty of figures drawn by the hand of Daedalus or any other great artist, which may be used for illustration, but no mathematician would seek to obtain from them true conceptions of equality or numerical relations. How ridiculous then to look for these in the map of the heavens, in which the imperfection of matter comes in everywhere as a disturbing element, marring the symmetry of day and night, of months and years, of the sun and stars in their courses. Only by problems can we place astronomy on a truly scientific basis. Let the heavens alone, and exert the intellect.

#### **Thesaurus**

astronomy: (n) astrology, astrometry, physics, astrodynamics, astrophysical, astrophysics. downwards: (adv) down, downhill, downwardly. ANTONYM: (adv) up. embroidery: (n) needlework, ornamentation, fancywork, sewing, drawnwork, crewelwork, cutwork, decoration, adornment, ornament, stitchery. ANTONYM: (n) understatement. geometry: (v) arithmetic, analysis,

algebra, stereometry, hypsometry, configuration, analytic geometry, analytical geometry, coordinate geometry, descriptive geometry, elementary geometry.

hastiness: (n) rashness, rush,

precipitance, precipitancy, hurry, indiscretion, temerity, abruptness, swiftness, suddenness, impetuosity. ANTONYMS: (*n*) slowness, carefulness, deliberation. hindered: (*adi*) obstructed, blocked,

delayed, stalled, slowed down, slow, in an inferior position, in a weak position, impedite, thwarted, frustrated.

**lofty**: (*adj*, *v*) high, elevated; (*adj*) exalted, eminent, arrogant, grand, tall, haughty, great, distinguished, majestic. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) short, lowly, base, modest, deferential, humble.

**marring**: (*n*) defacement, defect, disfigurement, harm.

Still, mathematics admit of other applications, as the Pythagoreans say, and we agree. There is a sister science of harmonical motion, adapted to the ear as astronomy is to the eye, and there may be other applications also. Let us **inquire** of the Pythagoreans about them, not forgetting that we have an aim higher than theirs, which is the relation of these sciences to the idea of good. The error which pervades astronomy also pervades harmonics. The musicians put their ears in the place of their minds. 'Yes,' replied Glaucon, 'I like to see them laying their ears alongside of their neighbours' faces - some saying, "That's a new note," others declaring that the two notes are the same.' Yes, I said; but you mean the empirics who are always twisting and torturing the strings of the lyre, and quarrelling about the tempers of the strings; I am referring rather to the Pythagorean harmonists, who are almost equally in error. For they investigate only the numbers of the consonances which are heard, and ascend no higher, — of the true numerical harmony which is unheard, and is only to be found in problems, they have not even a conception. 'That last,' he said, 'must be a marvellous thing.' A thing, I replied, which is only useful if pursued with a view to the good.

All these sciences are the **prelude** of the strain, and are profitable if they are regarded in their natural relations to one another. 'I dare say, Socrates,' said Glaucon; 'but such a study will be an endless business.' What study do you mean—of the prelude, or what? For all these things are only the prelude, and you surely do not suppose that a mere mathematician is also a **dialectician**? 'Certainly not. I have hardly ever known a mathematician who could reason.' And yet, Glaucon, is not true reasoning that hymn of dialectic which is the music of the intellectual world, and which was by us compared to the effort of sight, when from **beholding** the shadows on the wall we arrived at last at the images which gave the shadows? Even so the dialectical faculty **withdrawing** from sense arrives by the pure intellect at the contemplation of the idea of good, and never rests but at the very end of the intellectual world. And the royal road out of the cave into the light, and the blinking of the eyes at the sun and turning to contemplate the shadows of reality, not the shadows of an image only—this progress and gradual acquisition of a new faculty of sight by the help of the

# **Thesaurus**

perception, look.

declaring: (adj) affirming, predicant.
dialectician: (n) logistician, reasoner.
forgetting: (v) forget; (adj) oblivious;
(n) disregard.
harmonical: (adj) harmonious,
concordant, consonant, accordant,
conformable, in harmony,
harmonized, harmonised, agreeable.
harmonics: (n) harmonic, acoustics.
inquire: (v) demand, ask, explore,

beholding: (n) fusion, seeing, visual

enquire, inspect, research, consult, pry, request, wonder; (*n*, *v*) question. ANTONYM: (*v*) answer. prelude: (*n*) preliminary, preface, introduction, beginning, overture, preamble, foreword, inception, opening, proem, prolusion. ANTONYMS: (*n*) postscript, conclusion, ending. torturing: (*n*) torture, excruciation, crucifixion, torment, agony, anguish, dismemberment; (*adj*) harrowing,

agonizing, torturesome, agonising. twisting: (adj) tortuous, winding, sinuous, crooked, zigzag, meandering; (n) distortion, turn, spin, torsion, overrefinement. unheard: (adj) aspirated, atonic, deaf, indistinct, involving surds, nonvocal, radical, sharp, silent, surd, irrational. withdrawing: (adj) receding, outgoing, retiring, moving back, modest, lowly; (n) departure, privacy, seclusion, cancellation.

mathematical sciences, is the elevation of the soul to the contemplation of the highest ideal of being.

'So far, I agree with you. But now, leaving the prelude, let us proceed to the hymn. What, then, is the nature of dialectic, and what are the paths which lead thither?' Dear Glaucon, you cannot follow me here. There can be no revelation of the absolute truth to one who has not been disciplined in the previous sciences. But that there is a science of absolute truth, which is attained in some way very different from those now practised, I am confident. For all other arts or sciences are relative to human needs and opinions; and the mathematical sciences are but a dream or hypothesis of true being, and never analyse their own principles. Dialectic alone rises to the principle which is above hypotheses, converting and gently leading the eye of the soul out of the barbarous slough of ignorance into the light of the upper world, with the help of the sciences which we have been describing-sciences, as they are often termed, although they require some other name, implying greater clearness than opinion and less clearness than science, and this in our previous sketch was understanding. And so we get four names - two for intellect, and two for opinion, - reason or mind, understanding, faith, perception of shadows-which make a proportionbeing:becoming::intellect:opinion - and science:belief::understanding: perception of shadows. Dialectic may be further described as that science which defines and explains the essence or being of each nature, which distinguishes and abstracts the good, and is ready to do battle against all opponents in the cause of good. To him who is not a dialectician life is but a **sleepy** dream; and many a man is in his grave before his is well waked up. And would you have the future rulers of your ideal State intelligent beings, or stupid as posts? 'Certainly not the latter.' Then you must train them in dialectic, which will teach them to ask and answer questions, and is the coping-stone of the sciences.

I dare say that you have not forgotten how our rulers were chosen; and the process of selection may be carried a step further: - As before, they must be constant and valiant, good-looking, and of noble manners, but now they must also have natural ability which education will improve; that is to say, they must

#### Thesaurus

abstracts: (n) data. barbarous: (adj) barbaric, savage, gothic, brutal, heathen, truculent, rude, fell, ferocious, fierce, uncivilized. ANTONYMS: (adi) nice, cultured, civilized, sophisticated, refined, humane. converting: (n) conversion, converting

operation. disciplined: (adj) corrected, regular,

orderly, under control, chastised, tidy, gentle, tamed, methodical,

cultivated, qualified. ANTONYMS: (adj) undisciplined, disordered, haphazard, defiant. elevation: (n) height, highness, exaltation, ascent, climb, hill, aggrandizement, raise, El, Alt, stature. ANTONYMS: (n) degradation, descent, levelness, depression, downgrading, demotion, drop, depth. paths: (n) path. sleepy: (adj) drowsy, dozy, slow, lazy,

heavy, dreamy; (adv) asleep. ANTONYMS: (adj) awake, energetic, vigorous, clear, lively, refreshed. slough: (n) bog, fen, quagmire, morass, mire, swamp, marish, sludge; (v) shed, exuviate, cast. valiant: (adj) brave, courageous, intrepid, fearless, heroic, audacious, gallant, daring, dauntless, stout, stalwart. ANTONYMS: (adj) afraid, despicable.

hypnotic, inactive, comatose, dull,

be quick at learning, capable of mental toil, retentive, solid, diligent natures, who combine intellectual with moral virtues; not lame and one-sided, diligent in bodily exercise and indolent in mind, or conversely; not a maimed soul, which hates falsehood and yet unintentionally is always wallowing in the mire of ignorance; not a bastard or feeble person, but sound in wind and limb, and in perfect condition for the great gymnastic trial of the mind. Justice herself can find no fault with natures such as these; and they will be the saviours of our State; disciples of another sort would only make philosophy more ridiculous than she is at present. Forgive my enthusiasm; I am becoming excited; but when I see her trampled underfoot, I am angry at the authors of her disgrace. 'I did not notice that you were more excited than you ought to have been.' But I felt that I was. Now do not let us forget another point in the selection of our disciples – that they must be young and not old. For Solon is mistaken in saying that an old man can be always learning; youth is the time of study, and here we must remember that the mind is free and dainty, and, unlike the body, must not be made to work against the grain. Learning should be at first a sort of play, in which the natural bent is detected. As in training them for war, the young dogs should at first only taste blood; but when the necessary gymnastics are over which during two or three years divide life between sleep and bodily exercise, then the education of the soul will become a more serious matter. At twenty years of age, a selection must be made of the more promising disciples, with whom a new epoch of education will begin. The sciences which they have hitherto learned in fragments will now be brought into relation with each other and with true being; for the power of combining them is the test of speculative and dialectical ability. And afterwards at thirty a further selection shall be made of those who are able to withdraw from the world of sense into the abstraction of ideas. But at this point, judging from present experience, there is a danger that dialectic may be the source of many evils. The danger may be illustrated by a parallel case: - Imagine a person who has been brought up in wealth and luxury amid a crowd of flatterers, and who is suddenly informed that he is a supposititious son. He has hitherto honoured his reputed parents and disregarded the flatterers, and now he does the reverse. This is just what

# **Thesaurus**

dainty: (adj, v) nice; (adj, n, v) delicacy; (adj) fastidious, savory, tasteful, squeamish, particular, mincing, refined; (adj, n) tidbit; (n) luxury. ANTONYMS: (adj) coarse, vulgar, rough, inelegant, harsh, gross, awkward, accepting, heavy, careless, thick.

indolent: (adj) idle, lazy, slothful, sluggish, careless, slow, dull, torpid, inert, drowsy, listless. ANTONYMS: (adj) active, industrious, vigorous, diligent.

maimed: (adj) disabled, mutilated, deformed, truncated, faulty, cut short, game, cut off; (n) wounded.

retentive: (adj) strong, retaining, absorbent, adhesive, glutinous, closefisted, cohesive; (v) fast, closely adhering, deep, dissipated.

supposititious: (adj, v) spurious, counterfeit; (adj) suppositious, suppositional, supposed, conjectural, bastard, factitious, false, illegitimate;

**trampled**: (*adj*) crushed, damaged, flattened, compressed, packed down. **underfoot**: (*adj*) abject, downtrodden. **unintentionally**: (*adv*) unwittingly, by chance, inadvertently, by accident,

(v) fabulous.

unexpectedly, involuntarily, unconsciously, fortuitously, by mistake, unintendedly, unplannedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deliberately, purposely, knowingly.

happens with a man's principles. There are certain doctrines which he learnt at home and which exercised a parental authority over him. Presently he finds that imputations are cast upon them; a troublesome querist comes and asks, 'What is the just and good?' or proves that virtue is vice and vice virtue, and his mind becomes unsettled, and he ceases to love, honour, and obey them as he has hitherto done. He is seduced into the life of pleasure, and becomes a lawless person and a rogue. The case of such speculators is very pitiable, and, in order that our thirty years' old pupils may not require this pity, let us take every possible care that young persons do not study philosophy too early. For a young man is a sort of puppy who only plays with an argument; and is reasoned into and out of his opinions every day; he soon begins to believe nothing, and brings himself and philosophy into discredit. A man of thirty does not run on in this way; he will argue and not merely contradict, and adds new honour to philosophy by the sobriety of his conduct. What time shall we allow for this second gymnastic training of the soul? - say, twice the time required for the gymnastics of the body; six, or perhaps five years, to commence at thirty, and then for fifteen years let the student go down into the den, and command armies, and gain experience of life. At fifty let him return to the end of all things, and have his eyes uplifted to the idea of good, and order his life after that pattern; if necessary, taking his turn at the helm of State, and training up others to be his successors. When his time comes he shall depart in peace to the islands of the blest. He shall be honoured with sacrifices, and receive such worship as the Pythian oracle approves.

'You are a **statuary**, Socrates, and have made a perfect image of our governors.' Yes, and of our governesses, for the women will share in all things with the men. And you will admit that our State is not a mere aspiration, but may really come into being when there shall arise philosopher-kings, one or more, who will **despise** earthly vanities, and will be the servants of justice only. 'And how will they begin their work?' Their first act will be to send away into the country all those who are more than ten years of age, and to proceed with those who are left...

# Thesaurus wrongful, seditious. ANTONYM:

blest: (adj) blessed, fortunate, beatified, blissful, blame, blasted, blamed, golden, glorious, favored. despise: (v) disdain, loathe, depreciate, abhor, dislike, detest, slight, hate; (n, v) contemn; (n) contempt, deride. ANTONYMS: (v) respect, love, adore, appreciate, cherish, like, praise, accept. lawless: (adj) disorderly, illicit, anarchical, illegitimate, anarchic, unlawful, unruly, illegal, mutinous,

(adj) orderly.
pitiable: (adj) forlorn, abject, pathetic,
miserable, pitiful, wretched,
lamentable, poor, squalid; (adj, v)
deplorable, mournful. ANTONYMS:
(adj) privileged, strong.
querist: (v) inquirer, inquisitor,
inspector, investigator, quizzer,
questioner, catechist, examiner.
sobriety: (n) temperance, seriousness,
soberness, graveness, abstinence,

earnestness, composure, sedateness, staidness; (adj, n) gravity; (adj) rationality. ANTONYMS: (n) excess, drunkenness, flippancy. statuary: (n) sculptor, carver, figuriste, modeler, chaser, statue, sculptress, assemblage, accumulation, aggregation, collection. uplifted: (adj) high, raised, noble, not inverted, not prone, proud, undismayed, stately, lofty, sublime, animated.

At the **commencement** of the sixth book, Plato anticipated his explanation of the relation of the philosopher to the world in an allegory, in this, as in other passages, following the order which he prescribes in education, and proceeding from the concrete to the abstract. At the commencement of Book VII, under the figure of a cave having an opening towards a fire and a way upwards to the true light, he returns to view the divisions of knowledge, exhibiting familiarly, as in a picture, the result which had been hardly won by a great effort of thought in the previous discussion; at the same time casting a glance onward at the dialectical process, which is represented by the way leading from darkness to light. The shadows, the images, the reflection of the sun and stars in the water, the stars and sun themselves, severally correspond, - the first, to the realm of fancy and poetry, - the second, to the world of sense, - the third, to the abstractions or universals of sense, of which the mathematical sciences furnish the type,—the fourth and last to the same abstractions, when seen in the unity of the idea, from which they derive a new meaning and power. The true dialectical process begins with the contemplation of the real stars, and not mere reflections of them, and ends with the recognition of the sun, or idea of good, as the parent not only of light but of warmth and growth. To the divisions of knowledge the stages of education partly answer:-first, there is the early education of childhood and youth in the fancies of the poets, and in the laws and customs of the State; — then there is the training of the body to be a warrior athlete, and a good servant of the mind; - and thirdly, after an interval follows the education of later life, which begins with mathematics and proceeds to philosophy in general.

There seem to be two great aims in the philosophy of Plato,—first, to realize abstractions; secondly, to **connect** them. According to him, the true education is that which draws men from becoming to being, and to a comprehensive survey of all being. He desires to develop in the human mind the faculty of seeing the universal in all things; until at last the **particulars** of sense drop away and the universal alone remains. He then seeks to combine the universals which he has **disengaged** from sense, not perceiving that the correlation of them has no other basis but the common use of language. He never understands that abstractions, as Hegel says, are 'mere abstractions'—of use when employed in the

# Thesaurus

casting: (n) cast, hurl, pouring, molding, teeming, block, Malleable castings, fling, to throw something a long distance, flinging, pelt.

commencement: (n) opening, start, origin, birth, kickoff, inauguration, inception, onset, outset, origination, source. ANTONYMS: (n) middle, termination, finishing, finish, ending, conclusion, culmination.

connect: (v) bind, bond, join, attach, associate, annex, conjoin, relate,

unite, combine, affiliate.
ANTONYMS: (v) separate,
disconnect, detach, unplug, undo,
dissociate, clash, divide, clear.
disengaged: (adj) vacant, unemployed,
disentangled, free, freed,
untrammelled, devoid, unreserved,
detached, liberated, loosened.
familiarly: (adv) intimately, usually,
ordinarily, nearly, frequently,
commonly, regularly, informally,
closely, acquaintedly, conventionally.

ANTONYM: (adv) distantly. **onward**: (adv) ahead, forwards, before, forth, onwards, along, in advance, frontward, forrader; (adv, prep) on; (adj) progressive. ANTONYM: (adv) backward.

particulars: (n) specification, data, nicety, minutiae, terms, consideration, workings, fine points, ins and outs. thirdly: (adv) third, tertiarily, in the third place, thrice.

arrangement of facts, but adding nothing to the sum of knowledge when pursued apart from them, or with reference to an imaginary idea of good. Still the exercise of the faculty of abstraction apart from facts has enlarged the mind, and played a great part in the education of the human race. Plato appreciated the value of this faculty, and saw that it might be quickened by the study of number and relation. All things in which there is opposition or proportion are suggestive of reflection. The mere impression of sense evokes no power of thought or of mind, but when sensible objects ask to be compared and distinguished, then philosophy begins. The science of arithmetic first suggests such distinctions. The follow in order the other sciences of plain and solid geometry, and of solids in motion, one branch of which is astronomy or the harmony of the spheres, – to this is appended the sister science of the harmony of sounds. Plato seems also to hint at the possibility of other applications of arithmetical or mathematical proportions, such as we employ in chemistry and natural philosophy, such as the Pythagoreans and even Aristotle make use of in Ethics and Politics, e.g. his distinction between arithmetical and geometrical proportion in the Ethics (Book V), or between numerical and proportional equality in the Politics.

The modern mathematician will readily sympathise with Plato's delight in the properties of pure mathematics. He will not be disinclined to say with him:-Let alone the heavens, and study the beauties of number and figure in themselves. He too will be apt to **depreciate** their application to the arts. He will observe that Plato has a conception of geometry, in which figures are to be dispensed with; thus in a distant and shadowy way seeming to anticipate the possibility of working geometrical problems by a more general mode of analysis. He will remark with interest on the backward state of solid geometry, which, alas! was not encouraged by the aid of the State in the age of Plato; and he will recognize the grasp of Plato's mind in his ability to conceive of one science of solids in motion including the earth as well as the heavens, -not forgetting to notice the intimation to which allusion has been already made, that besides astronomy and harmonics the science of solids in motion may have other applications. Still more will be struck with the comprehensiveness of view

#### **Thesaurus**

comprehensiveness: (n) completeness, disinclined: (adj) reluctant, loath, fullness, entirety, detail, intelligence, scope, range, flavor, wholeness, unity, totality. ANTONYM: (n) narrowness.

depreciate: (v) decry, belittle, deprecate, detract, derogate, decrease, lower, undervalue, disparage, devalue; (adj, v) cheapen. ANTONYMS: (v) prize, cherish, esteem, grow, increase, value, improve.

averse, indisposed, loth, backward, not content, opposed, dubious, afraid, not in the vein. ANTONYMS: (adj) tending, willing, leaning, eager, bent, keen, disposed.

geometrical: (adj) nonrepresentational, mathematical.

quickened: (adj) hasty, rapid, passionate, intoxicated.

shadowy: (adj) indistinct, misty, dark, faint, obscure, hazy, gloomy, vague,

shady, insubstantial, dusky. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, palpable, light, distinct, open. suggestive: (adj, v) expressive; (adj) obscene, spicy, allusive, graphic, smutty, significative, narrative, meaningful, epic, implicative. sympathise: (v) sympathize, commiserate, empathise, empathize, gather, infer, interpret, read, realise, realize, see.

which led Plato, at a time when these sciences hardly existed, to say that they must be studied in relation to one another, and to the idea of good, or common principle of truth and being. But he will also see (and perhaps without surprise) that in that stage of physical and mathematical knowledge, Plato has fallen into the error of supposing that he can construct the heavens a priori by mathematical problems, and determine the principles of harmony irrespective of the adaptation of sounds to the human ear. The illusion was a natural one in that age and country. The simplicity and certainty of astronomy and harmonics seemed to contrast with the variation and complexity of the world of sense; hence the circumstance that there was some elementary basis of fact, some measurement of distance or time or vibrations on which they must ultimately rest, was overlooked by him. The modern predecessors of Newton fell into errors equally great; and Plato can hardly be said to have been very far wrong, or may even claim a sort of prophetic insight into the subject, when we consider that the greater part of astronomy at the present day consists of abstract dynamics, by the help of which most astronomical discoveries have been made.

The metaphysical philosopher from his point of view recognizes mathematics as an instrument of education, - which strengthens the power of attention, developes the sense of order and the faculty of construction, and enables the mind to grasp under simple formulae the quantitative differences of physical phenomena. But while acknowledging their value in education, he sees also that they have no connexion with our higher moral and intellectual ideas. In the attempt which Plato makes to connect them, we easily trace the influences of ancient Pythagorean notions. There is no reason to suppose that he is speaking of the ideal numbers; but he is describing numbers which are pure abstractions, to which he assigns a real and separate existence, which, as 'the teachers of the art' (meaning probably the Pythagoreans) would have affirmed, repel all attempts at subdivision, and in which unity and every other number are conceived of as absolute. The truth and certainty of numbers, when thus disengaged from phenomena, gave them a kind of sacredness in the eyes of an ancient philosopher. Nor is it easy to say how far ideas of order and fixedness may have had a moral and elevating influence on the minds of men, 'who,' in the

#### **Thesaurus**

immobility, unchangeableness,

acknowledging: (n) agreement; (adj) responsive, affirmative.
astronomical: (adj) vast, celestial, astrophysical, great, uranic, enormous, large, galactic, universal, elevated, excessive.
circumstance: (n) affair, incident, matter, event, occasion, chance, accident, opportunity, adventure, casualty, fact.
fixedness: (adj, n) firmness, constancy,

stronghold; (n) fixity, immovability,

unchangingness, unchangeability, stillness; (adj) stability.
irrespective: (adv) no matter, regardless, disregardless, disregardless; (adj) irrelative, unrelated, free, exclusive, easy, bold.
overlooked: (adj) ignored, neglected, unobserved, unnoted, unmarked.
repel: (v) nauseate, revolt, disgust, repulse, sicken, rebuff, decline,

displease, drive back, reject, refuse. ANTONYMS: (v) draw, charm, welcome, incline, yield, please, delight. **subdivision**: (n, v) division; (n) branch, section, segment, arm, episode, part, department, chapter, subsection, segmentation. **vibrations**: (n) vibes, atmosphere,

ambiance, premonition, undercurrent, feelings, vibraharp, vibraphone, ambience. words of the Timaeus, 'might learn to regulate their erring lives according to them.' It is worthy of remark that the old Pythagorean ethical symbols still exist as figures of speech among ourselves. And those who in modern times see the world pervaded by universal law, may also see an anticipation of this last word of modern philosophy in the Platonic idea of good, which is the source and measure of all things, and yet only an abstraction (Philebus).

Two passages seem to require more particular explanations. First, that which relates to the analysis of vision. The difficulty in this passage may be explained, like many others, from differences in the modes of conception prevailing among ancient and modern thinkers. To us, the perceptions of sense are inseparable from the act of the mind which accompanies them. The consciousness of form, colour, distance, is **indistinguishable** from the simple sensation, which is the medium of them. Whereas to Plato sense is the Heraclitean flux of sense, not the vision of objects in the order in which they actually present themselves to the experienced sight, but as they may be imagined to appear **confused** and **blurred** to the half-awakened eye of the infant. The first action of the mind is aroused by the attempt to set in order this chaos, and the reason is required to frame distinct conceptions under which the confused impressions of sense may be arranged. Hence arises the question, 'What is great, what is small?' and thus begins the distinction of the visible and the intelligible.

The second difficulty relates to Plato's conception of harmonics. Three classes of harmonists are distinguished by him:—first, the Pythagoreans, whom he proposes to consult as in the previous discussion on music he was to consult Damon—they are acknowledged to be masters in the art, but are altogether **deficient** in the knowledge of its higher import and relation to the good; secondly, the mere empirics, whom Glaucon **appears** to confuse with them, and whom both he and Socrates **ludicrously** describe as experimenting by mere **auscultation** on the intervals of sounds. Both of these fall short in different degrees of the Platonic idea of harmony, which must be studied in a purely abstract way, first by the method of problems, and secondly as a part of universal knowledge in relation to the idea of good.

#### **Thesaurus**

**appears**: (*n*) appearing. **auscultation**: (*v*) listening, hearing, succussion, percussion.

**blurred**: (*adj*) fuzzy, indistinct, foggy, blurry, bleary, vague, out of focus, blear, cloudy, clouded, dim. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) sharp, definite, distinct, precise, certain.

confuse: (v) baffle, confound, muddle, jumble, agitate, disconcert, derange, obscure, blur, disturb; (adj, v) perplex. ANTONYMS: (v) enlighten,

elucidate, explain, simplify, distinguish, organize, soothe, sharpen, order, straighten, encourage.

deficient: (adj) wanting, inadequate, scanty, imperfect, short, scarce, less, lacking, low, meager, insufficient, ANTONYMS: (adj) sufficient, perfect, ample, flawless, enough, excessive, complete, present, sound, strong, confident.

indistinguishable: (adj) identical,

alike, imperceptible, obscure, undistinguishable, same, equivalent, equal, twin, like, indiscernible. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinguishable, different, clear, discernible, distinct, visible, certain.

**ludicrously**: (adv) preposterously, absurdly, nonsensically, laughably, comically, farcically, foolishly, jocularly, humorously, burlesquely, silly. ANTONYMS: (adv) solemnly, impressively.

The allegory has a political as well as a philosophical meaning. The den or cave represents the narrow sphere of politics or law (compare the description of the philosopher and lawyer in the Theaetetus), and the light of the eternal ideas is supposed to exercise a disturbing influence on the minds of those who return to this lower world. In other words, their principles are too wide for practical application; they are looking far away into the past and future, when their business is with the present. The ideal is not easily reduced to the conditions of actual life, and may often be at variance with them. And at first, those who return are unable to compete with the inhabitants of the den in the measurement of the shadows, and are derided and persecuted by them; but after a while they see the things below in far truer proportions than those who have never ascended into the upper world. The difference between the politician turned into a philosopher and the philosopher turned into a politician, is symbolized by the two kinds of disordered eyesight, the one which is experienced by the captive who is transferred from darkness to day, the other, of the heavenly messenger who voluntarily for the good of his fellow-men descends into the den. In what way the brighter light is to dawn on the inhabitants of the lower world, or how the idea of good is to become the guiding principle of politics, is left unexplained by Plato. Like the nature and divisions of dialectic, of which Glaucon impatiently demands to be informed, perhaps he would have said that the explanation could not be given except to a disciple of the previous sciences. (Symposium.)

Many illustrations of this part of the Republic may be found in modern Politics and in daily life. For among ourselves, too, there have been two sorts of Politicians or Statesmen, whose eyesight has become disordered in two different ways. First, there have been great men who, in the language of Burke, 'have been too much given to general maxims,' who, like J.S. Mill or Burke himself, have been theorists or philosophers before they were politicians, or who, having been students of history, have allowed some great historical parallel, such as the English Revolution of 1688, or possibly Athenian democracy or Roman Imperialism, to be the medium through which they viewed contemporary events. Or perhaps the long **projecting** shadow of some existing institution may

# Thesaurus

captive: (n) convict, prisoner of war, slave, detainee, jailbird, gaolbird; (adj) confined, imprisoned, rapt, jailed, amoroso. ANTONYMS: (adj) free, uninterested, unconfined, liberated, emancipated, disillusioned; (n) guard, captor. disordered: (adj) chaotic, upset, sick, disorganized, broken, incoherent, deranged, messy, disjointed, disconnected, ill. ANTONYMS: (adj) neat, ordered, organized, arranged,

quiet, regulated, systematic, systematized, straightforward, tidy. eyesight: (n) sight, seeing, discernment, vision power, ability to make discerning judgments, view, sightedness, optics, beholding, guiding: (adj) scouting, directive, leading, controlling, guidance, directional, guide, direction, management, steering, sovereign. persecuted: (adj) downtrodden, aggrieved, laden, mistreated,

wronged. **projecting**: (*adj*) projected, protruding, jutting, protrusive, pendent; (*adj*, *v*) overhanging, jutting over, salient; (*v*) beetling, protuberant, convex. **unexplained**: (*adj*) illegible, inexplicable, unapprehended, uninvestigated, unheard of, unexplored, unfathomable, as Greek to one; (*v*) solved, undeveloped, untraced. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) apparent, legible.

have darkened their vision. The Church of the future, the Commonwealth of the future, the Society of the future, have so absorbed their minds, that they are unable to see in their true proportions the Politics of to-day. They have been intoxicated with great ideas, such as liberty, or equality, or the greatest happiness of the greatest number, or the brotherhood of humanity, and they no longer care to consider how these ideas must be limited in practice or harmonized with the conditions of human life. They are full of light, but the light to them has become only a sort of luminous mist or blindness. Almost every one has known some enthusiastic half-educated person, who sees everything at false distances, and in erroneous proportions.

With this disorder of eyesight may be contrasted another - of those who see not far into the distance, but what is near only; who have been engaged all their lives in a trade or a profession; who are limited to a set or sect of their own. Men of this kind have no universal except their own interests or the interests of their class, no principle but the opinion of persons like themselves, no knowledge of affairs beyond what they pick up in the streets or at their club. Suppose them to be sent into a larger world, to undertake some higher calling, from being tradesmen to turn generals or politicians, from being schoolmasters to become philosophers: - or imagine them on a sudden to receive an inward light which reveals to them for the first time in their lives a higher idea of God and the existence of a spiritual world, by this sudden conversion or change is not their daily life likely to be upset; and on the other hand will not many of their old prejudices and narrownesses still adhere to them long after they have begun to take a more comprehensive view of human things? From familiar examples like these we may learn what Plato meant by the eyesight which is liable to two kinds of disorders.

Nor have we any difficulty in drawing a parallel between the young Athenian in the fifth century before Christ who became unsettled by new ideas, and the student of a modern University who has been the subject of a similar 'aufklarung.' We too observe that when young men begin to criticise customary beliefs, or to analyse the constitution of human nature, they are apt to lose hold

#### **Thesaurus**

cling, attach, stick, bind, persist, sustain; (adj, v) agree. ANTONYMS: (v) separate, repel, unfasten, loose, loosen.

blindness: (n) cecity, sightlessness, ablepsy, ignorance, prestriction, excecation, cataract, fog, anopia; (adj, n) darkness; (adj) anopsy.

brotherhood: (n) fraternity, sodality, association, kinship, relationship, friendliness, confraternity,

adhere: (v) abide, cleave, accede, bond, fellowship, organization, partnership, sect: (n) denomination, clan, religion,

intoxicated: (adj) drunken, drunk, inebriate, tipsy, elated, stimulated, intoxicate, infatuated, fuddled, loaded, plastered. ANTONYM: (adj)

luminous: (adj) glowing, brilliant, lustrous, lucent, sunny, lambent, radiant, light, aglow; (adj, n) lucid, clear. ANTONYMS: (adj) dark, obscure.

party, order, cult, category, clique, class, group, Unit sect.

unsettled: (adj) changeable, undecided, doubtful, uneasy, outstanding, variable, unpaid, unresolved; (adj, v) unfixed, indefinite, undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) confident, definite, decided, well, sure, happy, constant, conclusive, certain, calmed,

of solid principle (Greek). They are like trees which have been frequently transplanted. The earth about them is loose, and they have no roots reaching far into the soil. They 'light upon every flower,' following their own wayward wills, or because the wind blows them. They catch opinions, as diseases are caught – when they are in the air. Borne hither and thither, 'they speedily fall into beliefs' the opposite of those in which they were brought up. They hardly retain the distinction of right and wrong; they seem to think one thing as good as another. They suppose themselves to be searching after truth when they are playing the game of 'follow my leader.' They fall in love 'at first sight' with paradoxes respecting morality, some fancy about art, some novelty or eccentricity in religion, and like lovers they are so absorbed for a time in their new notion that they can think of nothing else. The resolution of some philosophical or theological question seems to them more interesting and important than any substantial knowledge of literature or science or even than a good life. Like the youth in the Philebus, they are ready to discourse to any one about a new philosophy. They are generally the disciples of some eminent professor or sophist, whom they rather imitate than understand. They may be counted happy if in later years they retain some of the simple truths which they acquired in early education, and which they may, perhaps, find to be worth all the rest. Such is the picture which Plato draws and which we only reproduce, partly in his own words, of the dangers which beset youth in times of transition, when old opinions are fading away and the new are not yet firmly established. Their condition is **ingeniously** compared by him to that of a supposititious son, who has made the discovery that his reputed parents are not his real ones, and, in consequence, they have lost their authority over him.

The distinction between the mathematician and the dialectician is also noticeable. Plato is very well aware that the faculty of the mathematician is quite distinct from the higher philosophical sense which recognizes and combines first principles. The contempt which he expresses for distinctions of words, the danger of involuntary falsehood, the apology which Socrates makes for his earnestness of speech, are highly characteristic of the Platonic style and mode of thought. The quaint notion that if Palamedes was the inventor of number

Thesaurus

beset: (v) beleaguer, afflict, assault, siege, molest, worry, attack, plague, obsess, assail; (adv, v) surround.
eccentricity: (n) abnormality, idiosyncrasy, oddness, peculiarity, anomaly, crankiness, irregularity, quirk, strangeness, weirdness, curiousness. ANTONYMS: (n) usualness, normalcy, conventionality, concentricity, conformity.
ingeniously: (adv) artfully, cleverly, adroitly, skillfully, inventively,

resourcefully, shrewdly, imaginatively, cunningly, craftily, artistically. ANTONYM: (adv) ineptly.

**reputed**: (*adj*) supposed, renowned, famous, conjectural, assumed, famed, eminent, prominent, alleged, well-known, distinguished. ANTONYM: (*adj*) known.

**sophist**: (*n*) sophister, ratiocinator, scholar, reasoner, Tartfufe, pedant, Pecksniff, obscurantist, obfuscator, Pharisee, Jesuit. ANTONYM: (n) dilettante.

thither: (adv) hither, whither, on that point, in that respect, at that place, in that location; (adj) further, ulterior, remoter, succeeding, more distant. wayward: (adj) contrary, disobedient, obstinate, stubborn, intractable, unruly, capricious; (adj, n) freakish, crotchety, wanton, fanciful. ANTONYMS: (adj) controllable, good, manageable, biddable.

Agamemnon could not have counted his feet; the art by which we are made to believe that this State of ours is not a dream only; the gravity with which the first step is taken in the actual creation of the State, namely, the sending out of the city all who had arrived at ten years of age, in order to expedite the business of education by a generation, are also truly Platonic. (For the last, compare the passage at the end of the third book, in which he expects the lie about the earthborn men to be believed in the second generation.)

#### **Thesaurus**

arrived: (adv) here, at home; (adj) accepted. compare: (adj, v) liken; (v) confront, equate, to compare, associate, contrast, correlate, equalize, resemble, equal; (n, v) comparison. ANTONYMS: (v) imbalance, contrast. **expedite**: (n, v) accelerate; (v) dispatch, **namely**: (adv, n) videlicet, that is to advance, hasten, speed, quicken, assist, hurry, hurry up, rush, precipitate. ANTONYMS: (v) stop, delay, halt, hinder, impede.

gravity: (n) solemnity, earnestness, gravitation, graveness, gravitational attraction, weight, seriousness, significance, severity, sedateness; (n, v) poise. ANTONYMS: (n) insignificance, lightheartedness, triviality, cheerfulness, levity. say; (n) to wit, id EST; (adv) viz, that is, scilicet, expressly, particularly, specifically, especially. sending: (n) forwarding, dispatch,

transmission, transmittal, send, despatch, mailing, transport, dispatching, dispatchment, conveyance.

truly: (adj, adv) really; (adv) sincerely, in truth, exactly, in fact, indeed, in reality, genuinely, right, certainly, honestly. ANTONYMS: (adv) insincerely, dubiously, doubtfully, apparently, inaccurately, indefinite, dishonestly, mildly, wrongly.

#### ANALYSIS OF BOOK VIII

And so we have arrived at the conclusion, that in the perfect State wives and children are to be in common; and the education and pursuits of men and women, both in war and peace, are to be common, and kings are to be philosophers and warriors, and the soldiers of the State are to live together, having all things in common; and they are to be warrior athletes, receiving no pay but only their food, from the other citizens. Now let us return to the point at which we digressed. 'That is easily done,' he replied: 'You were speaking of the State which you had constructed, and of the individual who answered to this, both of whom you affirmed to be good; and you said that of inferior States there were four forms and four individuals corresponding to them, which although deficient in various degrees, were all of them worth inspecting with a view to determining the relative happiness or misery of the best or worst man. Then Polemarchus and Adeimantus interrupted you, and this led to another argument, - and so here we are.' Suppose that we put ourselves again in the same position, and do you repeat your question. 'I should like to know of what constitutions you were speaking?' Besides the perfect State there are only four of any note in Hellas: – first, the famous Lacedaemonian or Cretan commonwealth; secondly, oligarchy, a State full of evils; thirdly, democracy, which follows next in order; fourthly, tyranny, which is the disease or death of all government. Now, States are not made of 'oak and rock,' but of flesh and blood; and therefore

#### Thesaurus

commonwealth: (n) nation, state, country, body politic, province, society, kingdom, community, land, republic, power.

constructed: (adj) made, formed, synthetic.

determining: (adj) crucial, deciding, conclusive, determinate, certain, definite, decisive, fixed, terminative; (v) determine; (n) terminer. **fourthly**: (adv) quaternarily. inferior: (adj) secondary, bad, humble, poor, junior, petty, lesser, cheap, base, feeble, vulgar. ANTONYMS: (adj) better, choice, excellent, premium, adscript, perfect, higher, quality, senior; (adj, n) superscript; (n) boss.

inspecting: (n) inspection; (v) inspect; (adj) curious, inspective. interrupted: (adj) discontinuous, fitful, oligarchy: (n) oligarchic, aristocracy, intermittent, discontinued,

disconnected, unsuccessive, intervallic, episodic, gaping, periodic; women: (n) sex, gentle sex.

(prep) interrupt.

**misery**: (adj, n) grief; (n, v) distress; (n)affliction, agony, anguish, woe, hardship, evil, ill, infelicity, suffering. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, ecstasy, cheerfulness, fun, hopefulness, peace, contentment, pleasure, wealth, sport,

demagogy, democracy, form of government.

as there are five States there must be five human natures in individuals, which correspond to them. And first, there is the ambitious nature, which answers to the Lacedaemonian State; secondly, the oligarchical nature; thirdly, the democratical; and fourthly, the **tyrannical**. This last will have to be compared with the perfectly just, which is the fifth, that we may know which is the happier, and then we shall be able to determine whether the argument of Thrasymachus or our own is the more convincing. And as before we **began** with the State and went on to the individual, so now, beginning with timocracy, let us go on to the timocratical man, and then proceed to the other forms of government, and the individuals who answer to them.

But how did timocracy arise out of the perfect State? Plainly, like all changes of government, from division in the rulers. But whence came division? 'Sing, heavenly Muses,' as Homer says; - let them condescend to answer us, as if we were children, to whom they put on a solemn face in jest. 'And what will they say?' They will say that human things are fated to decay, and even the perfect State will not escape from this law of destiny, when 'the wheel comes full circle' in a period short or long. Plants or animals have times of fertility and sterility, which the intelligence of rulers because alloyed by sense will not enable them to ascertain, and children will be born out of season. For whereas divine creations are in a perfect cycle or number, the human creation is in a number which declines from perfection, and has four terms and three intervals of numbers, increasing, waning, assimilating, dissimilating, and yet perfectly commensurate with each other. The base of the number with a fourth added (or which is 3:4), multiplied by five and cubed, gives two harmonies: - the first a square number, which is a hundred times the base (or a hundred times a hundred); the second, an oblong, being a hundred squares of the rational diameter of a figure the side of which is five, subtracting one from each square or two perfect squares from all, and adding a hundred cubes of three. This entire number is geometrical and contains the rule or law of generation. When this law is neglected marriages will be unpropitious; the inferior offspring who are then born will in time become the rulers; the State will decline, and education fall into decay; gymnastic will be preferred to music, and the gold and silver and brass and iron will form a chaotic

# **Thesaurus**

**alloyed**: (*adj*) blended, false, mixed. **assimilating**: (*adj*) assimilate, absorptive, absorbent, assimilative, assimilatory.

began: (v) Gan.

**condescend**: (adj, v) deign, vouchsafe; (v) stoop, patronize, patronise, descend, lower, interact, decline, bow, agree.

fated: (adj) inevitable, destined, certain, predestined, damned, unavoidable, predestinate, cursed,

intended, forthcoming, sure. squares: (n) square. sterility: (n) barrenness, impotence, infecundity, poverty, sterileness, antisepsis, impotency, asepsis, dysgenesis, unproductiveness, aridity.

**subtracting**: (*n*) calculation. **tyrannical**: (*adj*) domineering, autocratic, despotic, dictatorial, overbearing, authoritarian, tyrannous, cruel, peremptory, tyrannic, lordly. ANTONYMS: (adj) liberal, libertarian.
unpropitious: (adj) inauspicious, adverse, unlucky, unfavorable, inopportune, evil, sinister, disastrous, infelicitous; (adj, v) cross, hostile.
waning: (n) decrease, decline, lessening, ebb, failure; (adj) run to seed, ripe, mellow, diminishing, abating, moribund. ANTONYMS: (adj) growing, thriving, waxing, increasing; (n) improvement.

mass-thus division will arise. Such is the Muses' answer to our question. 'And a true answer, of course: - but what more have they to say?' They say that the two races, the iron and brass, and the silver and gold, will draw the State different ways; - the one will take to trade and moneymaking, and the others, having the true riches and not caring for money, will resist them: the contest will end in a compromise; they will agree to have private property, and will enslave their fellow-citizens who were once their friends and nurturers. But they will retain their warlike character, and will be chiefly occupied in fighting and exercising rule. Thus arises timocracy, which is intermediate between aristocracy and oligarchyThe new form of government resembles the ideal in obedience to rulers and contempt for trade, and having common meals, and in devotion to warlike and gymnastic exercises. But corruption has crept into philosophy, and simplicity of character, which was once her note, is now looked for only in the military class. Arts of war begin to prevail over arts of peace; the ruler is no longer a philosopher; as in oligarchies, there springs up among them an extravagant love of gain-get another man's and save your own, is their principle; and they have dark places in which they hoard their gold and silver, for the use of their women and others; they take their pleasures by stealth, like boys who are running away from their father - the law; and their education is not inspired by the Muse, but imposed by the strong arm of power. The leading characteristic of this State is party spirit and ambition.

And what manner of man answers to such a State? 'In love of contention,' replied Adeimantus, 'he will be like our friend Glaucon.' In that respect, perhaps, but not in others. He is self-asserting and ill-educated, yet fond of literature, although not himself a speaker, - fierce with slaves, but obedient to rulers, a lover of power and honour, which he hopes to gain by deeds of arms, fond, too, of gymnastics and of hunting. As he advances in years he grows avaricious, for he has lost philosophy, which is the only saviour and guardian of men. His origin is as follows: - His father is a good man dwelling in an illordered State, who has retired from politics in order that he may lead a quiet life. His mother is angry at her loss of precedence among other women; she is disgusted at her husband's selfishness, and she expatiates to her son on the

# **Thesaurus**

avaricious: (adj) greedy, grasping, acquisitive, avid, miserly, grabby, parsimonious, penurious; (adj, v)mercenary, sordid, extortionate. disgusted: (adj) fed up, ill, weary, sickened, nauseated, queasy, indisposed, demented, shocked, crazy, horrified. ANTONYMS: (adj) attracted, happy, pleased. dwelling: (n) domicile, home, residence, house, place, accommodation, address, building,

lodge, habitation; (adj, n) dwell. hoard: (v) amass, gather, collect, garner; (n, v) cache, store, stock, heap, bank, stash; (n) accumulation. ANTONYMS: (v) squander, disperse, spend, use.

moneymaking: (adj) remunerative, profitable, gainful, compensable, mercantile, successful; (n) acquisition. self-asserting: (adj) brash. selfishness: (n) greed, egotism,

greediness, meanness, individuality,

opportunism, expedience, individualism, self, selfness, selfish. ANTONYMS: (n) altruism, selflessness, sensitivity, thoughtfulness, conformity, generosity.

stealth: (n) stealing, furtiveness, stealthiness, slyness, larceny, thievery, theft, sneakiness, secretiveness, hiding; (adj) undercover. ANTONYM: (n) openness.

**unmanliness** and **indolence** of his father. The old family servant takes up the tale, and says to the youth:—'When you grow up you must be more of a man than your father.' All the world are agreed that he who minds his own business is an idiot, while a **busybody** is highly honoured and esteemed. The young man compares this spirit with his father's words and ways, and as he is naturally well disposed, although he has **suffered** from evil influences, he rests at a middle point and becomes ambitious and a lover of honour.

And now let us set another city over against another man. The next form of government is oligarchy, in which the rule is of the rich only; nor is it difficult to see how such a State arises. The decline begins with the possession of gold and silver; illegal modes of expenditure are invented; one draws another on, and the multitude are infected; riches **outweigh** virtue; lovers of money take the place of lovers of honour; misers of politicians; and, in time, political privileges are confined by law to the rich, who do not shrink from violence in order to effect their purposes.

Thus much of the origin,—let us next consider the evils of oligarchy. Would a man who wanted to be safe on a voyage take a bad pilot because he was rich, or refuse a good one because he was poor? And does not the analogy apply still more to the State? And there are yet greater evils: two nations are struggling together in one—the rich and the poor; and the rich dare not put arms into the hands of the poor, and are unwilling to pay for defenders out of their own money. And have we not already condemned that State in which the same persons are warriors as well as shopkeepers? The greatest evil of all is that a man may sell his property and have no place in the State; while there is one class which has enormous wealth, the other is entirely destitute. But observe that these destitutes had not really any more of the governing nature in them when they were rich than now that they are poor; they were miserable spendthrifts always. They are the drones of the hive; only whereas the actual drone is unprovided by nature with a sting, the two-legged things whom we call drones are some of them without stings and some of them have dreadful stings; in other words, there are paupers and there are rogues. These are never far apart; and in

#### **Thesaurus**

pickthank, devotee, enthusiast; (n) interloper, scandalmonger, big mouth, blabbermouth, chatterbox, chatterer; (v) meddle. **destitute**: (adj) impoverished, needy, bankrupt, broke, poor, helpless, impecunious, penniless, necessitous; (adj, v) forlorn, devoid. ANTONYMS

**busybody**: (n, v) snoop; (adi)

impecunious, penniless, necessitous; (adj, v) forlorn, devoid. ANTONYMS: (adj) wealthy, privileged, prosperous, solvent.

drone: (n, v) hum, murmur; (v) whine,

idler, purr; (*n*) dawdler, droning, laggard, sluggard, roll; (*adv*, *n*) bourdon. **indolence**: (*n*) laziness, inaction,

indolence: (n) laziness, inaction, lethargy, inertia, inactivity, listlessness, slowness, torpor, sluggishness, apathy; (adj, n) sloth. ANTONYMS: (n) energy, nimbleness, activity, bustle, liveliness, vigor.

**outweigh**: (*v*) preponderate, overshadow, overbalance,

counterbalance, outstrip, predominate, exceed, prevail, surpass, outmatch; (adj) outdo. stings: (adj) stung. suffered: (adj) permitted, permissive. unmanliness: (n) womanishness, effeminateness, sissiness, emasculation, femininity. unprovided: (adj) unorganized, unarranged, unbegun, untrimmed, unequipped, unready; (v) unsupplied.

oligarchical cities, where nearly everybody is a **pauper** who is not a ruler, you will find abundance of both. And this evil state of society originates in bad education and bad government.

Like State, like man,—the change in the latter begins with the representative of timocracy; he walks at first in the ways of his father, who may have been a statesman, or general, perhaps; and presently he sees him 'fallen from his high estate,' the victim of informers, dying in prison or exile, or by the hand of the executioner. The lesson which he thus receives, makes him cautious; he leaves politics, represses his pride, and saves pence. Avarice is enthroned as his bosom's lord, and assumes the style of the Great King; the rational and spirited elements sit humbly on the ground at either side, the one immersed in calculation, the other absorbed in the admiration of wealth. The love of honour turns to love of money; the conversion is instantaneous. The man is mean, saving, toiling, the slave of one passion which is the master of the rest: Is he not the very image of the State? He has had no education, or he would never have allowed the blind god of riches to lead the dance within him. And being uneducated he will have many slavish desires, some beggarly, some knavish, breeding in his soul. If he is the trustee of an orphan, and has the power to **defraud**, he will soon prove that he is not without the will, and that his passions are only restrained by fear and not by reason. Hence he leads a divided existence; in which the better desires mostly prevail. But when he is **contending** for prizes and other distinctions, he is afraid to incur a loss which is to be repaid only by barren honour; in time of war he fights with a small part of his resources, and usually keeps his money and loses the victory.

Next comes democracy and the democratic man, out of oligarchy and the oligarchical man. Insatiable avarice is the ruling passion of an oligarchy; and they encourage expensive habits in order that they may gain by the ruin of extravagant youth. Thus men of family often lose their property or rights of citizenship; but they remain in the city, full of hatred against the new owners of their estates and ripe for revolution. The **usurer** with **stooping** walk pretends not to see them; he passes by, and leaves his sting—that is, his money—in some

# **Thesaurus**

**beggarly**: (*adj*) base, mean, shabby, sorry, miserable, poor, humble, pitiable, ignoble; (*adj*, *n*) scrubby, vile.

contending: (adj) contentious, conflicting, competitive, competing, competitory, combatant, challenging, factious, militant, warlike, fighting. defraud: (v) cheat, trick, swindle, bamboozle, deceive, gouge, victimize, rob, mislead, take in, circumvent. ANTONYMS: (v) contribute, repay, help. **knavish**: (*adj*) tricky, dishonest, crafty, sly, roguish, guileful, foxy, dodgy, cunning, false, corrupt.

orphan: (n) waif, caterpillar, nymph, nympha, cocoon, Aurelia, tyke, staddle, youngster, shaver; (adj) orphaned.

**pauper**: (n) poor man, mumper, bum, poor person, starveling; (adj) poor, indigent, penniless; (v) bust, fold. **slavish**: (adj) servile, menial, fawning, cringing, abject, obsequious, subservient, submissive, ignoble, contemptible, pliant.

**stooping**: (*adj*) hunched, crooked, asymmetrical, not erect, not straight, corrupt; (*n*) patronage.

toiling: (adj) labouring, drudging, busy.

**usurer**: (*n*) moneylender, cambist, loan shark, Shylock, banker; (*adj*) extortioner, codger, lickpenny, crib, churl, curmudgeon.

other victim; and many a man has to pay the parent or principal sum multiplied into a family of children, and is reduced into a state of dronage by him. The only way of **diminishing** the evil is either to limit a man in his use of his property, or to insist that he shall lend at his own risk. But the ruling class do not want remedies; they care only for money, and are as careless of virtue as the poorest of the citizens. Now there are occasions on which the governors and the governed meet together,—at festivals, on a journey, **voyaging** or fighting. The sturdy pauper finds that in the hour of danger he is not despised; he sees the rich man **puffing** and **panting**, and draws the conclusion which he privately imparts to his companions,—'that our people are not good for much;' and as a **sickly** frame is made ill by a mere touch from without, or sometimes without external impulse is ready to fall to pieces of itself, so from the least cause, or with none at all, the city falls ill and fights a battle for life or death. And democracy comes into power when the poor are the victors, killing some and exiling some, and giving equal shares in the government to all the rest.

The manner of life in such a State is that of democrats; there is freedom and plainness of speech, and every man does what is right in his own eyes, and has his own way of life. Hence arise the most various developments of character; the State is like a piece of embroidery of which the colours and figures are the manners of men, and there are many who, like women and children, prefer this variety to real beauty and excellence. The State is not one but many, like a bazaar at which you can buy anything. The great charm is, that you may do as you like; you may govern if you like, let it alone if you like; go to war and make peace if you feel disposed, and all quite irrespective of anybody else. When you condemn men to death they remain alive all the same; a gentleman is desired to go into exile, and he stalks about the streets like a hero; and nobody sees him or cares for him. Observe, too, how grandly Democracy sets her foot upon all our fine theories of education, – how little she cares for the training of her statesmen! The only qualification which she demands is the profession of patriotism. Such is democracy; - a pleasing, lawless, various sort of government, distributing equality to equals and unequals alike.

# **Thesaurus**

illustriously, superbly, greatly.

bazaar: (n) fair, market, exchange, bazar, emporium, marketplace, store, guildhall, change, carnival, bourse. diminishing: (adj) abating, declining, dwindling, lessening, waning; (n) decrease, shrinking, reducing, reduction; (adv) diminishingly; (v) diminish. ANTONYMS: (adj) increasing, growing, burgeoning. grandly: (adv) splendidly, gorgeously, magnificently, regally, majestically, beautifully, stately, grandiosely,

ANTONYMS: (adv) simply, humbly. panting: (adj) gasping, breathless, blown, winded, puffed; (v) palpitation; (n) heaving, gasp, asthma, heave, puff. plainness: (n) perspicuity, clearness, homeliness, austerity, simplicity, lucidity, perspicuousness, directness, bareness, drabness, chasteness. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, splendor. puffing: (adj) gasping, breathless,

panting, bloated, bouffant, breathing heavily, out of breath, distended, puffed; (n) expansion, snorting. sickly: (adj, adv) poorly; (n) invalid; (adj) sick, ailing, pale, sallow, indisposed, morbid, diseased; (adj, n, v) infirm; (adj, v) faint. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, bitter, robust. voyaging: (n) traveling around, movement, travel, journey, exploration, adventure, discovery, journeying; (adj) wayfaring.

Let us now inspect the individual democrat; and first, as in the case of the State, we will trace his antecedents. He is the son of a miserly oligarch, and has been taught by him to restrain the love of unnecessary pleasures. Perhaps I ought to explain this latter term: - Necessary pleasures are those which are good, and which we cannot do without; unnecessary pleasures are those which do no good, and of which the desire might be eradicated by early training. example, the pleasures of eating and drinking are necessary and healthy, up to a certain point; beyond that point they are alike hurtful to body and mind, and the excess may be avoided. When in excess, they may be rightly called expensive pleasures, in opposition to the useful ones. And the drone, as we called him, is the slave of these unnecessary pleasures and desires, whereas the miserly oligarch is subject only to the necessary.

The oligarch changes into the democrat in the following manner: — The youth who has had a miserly bringing up, gets a taste of the drone's honey; he meets with wild companions, who introduce him to every new pleasure. As in the State, so in the individual, there are allies on both sides, temptations from without and passions from within; there is reason also and external influences of parents and friends in alliance with the oligarchical principle; and the two factions are in violent conflict with one another. Sometimes the party of order prevails, but then again new desires and new disorders arise, and the whole mob of passions gets possession of the Acropolis, that is to say, the soul, which they find void and unguarded by true words and works. Falsehoods and illusions ascend to take their place; the prodigal goes back into the country of the Lotophagi or drones, and openly dwells there. And if any offer of alliance or parley of individual elders comes from home, the false spirits shut the gates of the castle and permit no one to enter, – there is a battle, and they gain the victory; and straightway making alliance with the desires, they banish modesty, which they call folly, and send temperance over the border. When the house has been swept and garnished, they dress up the exiled vices, and, crowning them with garlands, bring them back under new names. Insolence they call good breeding, anarchy freedom, waste magnificence, impudence courage. Such is the process by which the youth passes from the necessary pleasures to the unnecessary.

#### **Thesaurus**

crowning: (adj) top, ultimate, topmost, miserly: (adj) mean, close, complementary, final; (adj, v)paramount, supreme; (n) tapering, coronation, finishing piece; (v)preeminent. ANTONYMS: (adj) bathetic, indecisive. garnished: (adj) fancier, elaborate. **impudence**: (adj, n) boldness, brass; (n) cheek, gall, audacity, impertinence, insolence, face, cheekiness, effrontery, assurance. ANTONYMS:

(n) cowardice, reticence.

parsimonious, closefisted, grasping, mingy, tight, measly, penurious; (adj, adv) niggardly; (adv) ungenerous. ANTONYMS: (adj) extravagant, graceful. sovereign, suzerain, dictator, tyrant.

oligarch: (n) autocrat, despot, ruler, parley: (v) negotiate, converse, confer, consult; (n, v) talk, treat; (n)conversation, interview, colloquy, meeting, consultation.

straightway: (adv) presently, forthwith, directly, right, anon, immediately, at once, straightforth, promptly; (adj) straight, immediate. unguarded: (adj) vulnerable, incautious, defenseless, careless, unprotected, exposed, insecure, undefended; (v) thoughtless, thriftless, shiftless. ANTONYMS: (adj) thoughtful, careful, safe, guarded, armed, invulnerable, secure.

After a while he divides his time **impartially** between them; and perhaps, when he gets older and the violence of passion has abated, he restores some of the exiles and lives in a sort of equilibrium, indulging first one pleasure and then another; and if reason comes and tells him that some pleasures are good and honourable, and others bad and vile, he shakes his head and says that he can make no distinction between them. Thus he lives in the fancy of the hour; sometimes he takes to drink, and then he turns abstainer; he practises in the gymnasium or he does nothing at all; then again he would be a philosopher or a politician; or again, he would be a warrior or a man of business; he is

Every thing by starts and nothing long.

There remains still the finest and fairest of all men and all States-tyranny and the tyrant. Tyranny springs from democracy much as democracy springs from oligarchy. Both arise from excess; the one from excess of wealth, the other from excess of freedom. 'The great natural good of life,' says the democrat, 'is freedom.' And this exclusive love of freedom and regardlessness of everything else, is the cause of the change from democracy to tyranny. The State demands the strong wine of freedom, and unless her rulers give her a plentiful draught, punishes and **insults** them; equality and **fraternity** of governors and **governed** is the approved principle. Anarchy is the law, not of the State only, but of private houses, and extends even to the animals. Father and son, citizen and foreigner, teacher and pupil, old and young, are all on a level; fathers and teachers fear their sons and pupils, and the wisdom of the young man is a match for the elder, and the old imitate the jaunty manners of the young because they are afraid of being thought morose. Slaves are on a level with their masters and mistresses, and there is no difference between men and women. Nay, the very animals in a democratic State have a freedom which is unknown in other places. The shedogs are as good as their she- mistresses, and horses and asses march along with dignity and run their noses against anybody who comes in their way. 'That has often been my experience.' At last the citizens become so sensitive that they

# **Thesaurus**

abstainer: (n) religionist, band of hope, teetotaller, stylite, puritan, nondrinker, ascetic, teetotaler. asses: (n) equidae.

**fraternity**: (adj, n) brotherhood; (n) association, company, club, fellowship, society, companionship, clan, circle, community, organization. governed: (adj) subject; (n) citizenry; (adv) under.

gymnasium: (n) ring, stadium, cockpit, bear garden, Corso, circus,

Flavian amphitheater, high school, lists, seminar, palestra. impartially: (adv) justly, dispassionately, neutrally, evenly, disinterestedly, objectively, unbiasedly, unprejudicedly, indifferently, evenhandedly, rightly. ANTONYM: (adv) unfairly. indulging: (n) pampering, excess, indulgence, orgy, folly, foolery,

gratification.

insults: (adj) insulting; (n) abuse,

swearing.

jaunty: (adj) dapper, dashing, debonair, breezy, perky, carefree, chipper, smart, bright, buoyant; (adj, n) janty. ANTONYMS: (adj) depressed, melancholy.

morose: (adj) grim, dismal, glum, dark, moody, grumpy, dour, depressed, sullen, blue, dejected. ANTONYMS: (adj) happy, cheery, stable. shakes: (n) hangover, jitters,

nervousness, tension, anxiety.

cannot endure the yoke of laws, written or unwritten; they would have no man call himself their master. Such is the glorious beginning of things out of which tyranny springs. 'Glorious, indeed; but what is to follow?' The ruin of oligarchy is the ruin of democracy; for there is a law of contraries; the excess of freedom passes into the excess of slavery, and the greater the freedom the greater the slavery. You will remember that in the oligarchy were found two classesrogues and paupers, whom we compared to drones with and without stings. These two classes are to the State what **phlegm** and bile are to the human body; and the State-physician, or legislator, must get rid of them, just as the bee-master keeps the drones out of the hive. Now in a democracy, too, there are drones, but they are more numerous and more dangerous than in the oligarchy; there they are inert and unpractised, here they are full of life and animation; and the keener sort speak and act, while the others buzz about the bema and prevent their opponents from being heard. And there is another class in democratic States, of respectable, thriving individuals, who can be squeezed when the drones have need of their possessions; there is moreover a third class, who are the labourers and the artisans, and they make up the mass of the people. When the people meet, they are omnipotent, but they cannot be brought together unless they are attracted by a little honey; and the rich are made to supply the honey, of which the demagogues keep the greater part themselves, giving a taste only to the mob. Their victims attempt to resist; they are driven mad by the stings of the drones, and so become downright oligarchs in self-defence. Then follow informations and convictions for treason. The people have some protector whom they nurse into greatness, and from this root the tree of tyranny springs. The nature of the change is indicated in the old fable of the temple of Zeus Lycaeus, which tells how he who tastes human flesh mixed up with the flesh of other victims will turn into a wolf. Even so the protector, who tastes human blood, and slays some and exiles others with or without law, who hints at abolition of debts and division of lands, must either perish or become a wolf – that is, a tyrant. Perhaps he is driven out, but he soon comes back from exile; and then if his enemies cannot get rid of him by lawful means, they plot his assassination. Thereupon the friend of the people makes his well-known request to them for a body-guard,

#### **Thesaurus**

bema: (n) chancel, area, asylum, sanctuary. contraries: (n) contrary, oppositeness. fable: (n) legend, fiction, tale, story, fabrication, fairy tale, lie, myth, anecdote; (adj, n) apologue, parable. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, history. keener: (v) Indian giver, floater, repeater. omnipotent: (adj) almighty, supreme, powerful, multipotent, divine, extreme, great, irresistible, mighty,

predominant; (*n*) God. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) weak, powerless.

**perish**: (v) expire, pass away, decease, go, fade, decay, depart, fall, pass, ruin, annihilate. ANTONYMS: (v) survive, live, appear.

**phlegm**: (n) indifference, impassivity, impassiveness, lethargy, sluggishness, dullness, stolidity, sputum, languor, inactivity; (adj)

protector: (n) guard, guardian, patron,

champion, custodian, conservator, escort, hero, paladin, supporter, benefactor.

**self-defence**: (*n*) self-defense. **unpractised**: (*adj*) inexperienced, raw, green, fresh, unskilled.

unwritten: (adj) spoken, verbal, vocal, traditional, spontaneous; (v) unsaid, unregistered, unrecorded, lingual, phonetic, not written. ANTONYMS: (adj) written, stated, explained, explicit.

which they readily grant, thinking only of his danger and not of their own. Now let the rich man make to himself **wings**, for he will never run away again if he does not do so then. And the Great Protector, having crushed all his rivals, stands proudly erect in the chariot of State, a full-blown tyrant: Let us enquire into the nature of his happiness.

In the early days of his tyranny he smiles and beams upon everybody; he is not a 'dominus,' no, not he: he has only come to put an end to debt and the monopoly of land. Having got rid of foreign enemies, he makes himself necessary to the State by always going to war. He is thus enabled to depress the poor by heavy taxes, and so keep them at work; and he can get rid of bolder spirits by handing them over to the enemy. Then comes unpopularity; some of his old associates have the courage to oppose him. The consequence is, that he has to make a purgation of the State; but, unlike the physician who purges away the bad, he must get rid of the high-spirited, the wise and the wealthy; for he has no choice between death and a life of shame and dishonour. And the more hated he is, the more he will require trusty guards; but how will he obtain them? 'They will come flocking like birds-for pay.' Will he not rather obtain them on the spot? He will take the slaves from their owners and make them his body-guard; these are his trusted friends, who admire and look up to him. Are not the tragic poets wise who magnify and exalt the tyrant, and say that he is wise by association with the wise? And are not their praises of tyranny alone a sufficient reason why we should exclude them from our State? They may go to other cities, and gather the mob about them with fine words, and change commonwealths into tyrannies and democracies, receiving honours and rewards for their services; but the higher they and their friends ascend constitution hill, the more their honour will fail and become 'too asthmatic to mount.' To return to the tyrant – How will he support that rare army of his? First, by robbing the temples of their treasures, which will enable him to lighten the taxes; then he will take all his father's property, and spend it on his companions, male or female. Now his father is the demus, and if the demus gets angry, and says that a great hulking son ought not to be a burden on his parents, and bids him and his riotous crew begone, then will the parent know what a monster he has been nurturing, and

### **Thesaurus**

asthmatic: (adj) wheezing, asthma, breathless.

begone: (*int*) shoo, scat, out, off, avaunt; (*v*) take off, get out, clear out; (*adv*) aside, absent.

**exalt**: (*v*) glorify, celebrate, animate, raise, advance, promote, elevate, praise; (*n*, *v*) dignify, adore, ennoble. ANTONYMS: (*v*) degrade, ridicule, debase, condemn, criticize, deprecate, desecrate, disparage.

flocking: (n) electrostatic covering

with fibers, flock finishing. hulking: (adj) massive, awkward, unwieldy, large, lumpish, thundering, big, lumbering, hulky, gaunt, colossal. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, compact.

magnify: (v) exaggerate, enhance, aggrandize, enlarge, intensify, laud, glorify, expand, increase, extend, aggravate. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, understate, minimize, shrink, decrease, alleviate.

**nurturing**: (*n*) fostering, upbringing, bringing up, fosterage, development, acculturation; (*adj*) cultural, motherly.

riotous: (adj) disorderly, turbulent, boisterous, insubordinate, lawless, insurgent, tumultuous, rebellious, dissolute, profuse, profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) orderly, manageable, peaceful, tranquil, gentle, conventional.

wings: (n) insignia, agency.

that the son whom he would fain **expel** is too strong for him. 'You do not mean to say that he will beat his father?' Yes, he will, after having taken away his arms. 'Then he is a **parricide** and a cruel, **unnatural** son.' And the people have jumped from the fear of **slavery** into slavery, out of the smoke into the fire. Thus liberty, when out of all order and reason, passes into the worst form of servitude...

In the previous books Plato has described the ideal State; now he returns to the **perverted** or declining forms, on which he had lightly touched at the end of Book IV. These he describes in a succession of parallels between the individuals and the States, **tracing** the origin of either in the State or individual which has preceded them. He begins by asking the point at which he digressed; and is thus led shortly to recapitulate the substance of the three former books, which also contain a parallel of the philosopher and the State.

Of the first decline he gives no intelligible account; he would not have liked to admit the most probable causes of the fall of his ideal State, which to us would appear to be the impracticability of communism or the natural antagonism of the ruling and subject classes. He throws a veil of mystery over the origin of the decline, which he attributes to ignorance of the law of population. Of this law the famous geometrical figure or number is the expression. Like the ancients in general, he had no idea of the gradual perfectibility of man or of the education of the human race. His ideal was not to be attained in the course of ages, but was to spring in full armour from the head of the legislator. When good laws had been given, he thought only of the manner in which they were likely to be corrupted, or of how they might be filled up in detail or restored in accordance with their original spirit. He appears not to have reflected upon the full meaning of his own words, 'In the brief space of human life, nothing great can be accomplished'; or again, as he afterwards says in the Laws, 'Infinite time is the maker of cities.' The order of constitutions which is adopted by him represents an order of thought rather than a succession of time, and may be considered as the first attempt to frame a philosophy of history.

#### **Thesaurus**

armour: (n) armature, buckler, armour plate, cataphract.
expel: (v) evict, banish, exclude, exile, eliminate, discharge, deport, excrete, dispossess, dislodge; (adj, v) dismiss.
ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, retain, invite, appoint, admit, allow, block.
impracticability: (n) impossibility, infeasibility, inutility, unusefulness, uselessness, helplessness.
ANTONYM: (n) practicability.
parricide: (n) matricide, slaying,

fratricide, feticide, homicide, foeticide, infanticide, murderer; (v) regicide, uxoricide, vaticide. perfectibility: (n) potentiality, capableness, capability. perverted: (adj) perverse, immoral, distorted, kinky, corrupt, twisted, abnormal, debauched, deviant, reprobate, unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, moral, unchanged. slavery: (adj, n) bondage, involuntary servitude; (n) servitude, drudgery,

thraldom, thrall, yoke, travail, vassalage, thralldom, toil. ANTONYMS: (n) liberty, freedom. tracing: (n) trace, copy, design, model, chase, drafting, action of tracing, blueprint, cast, draftsmanship, ghost. unnatural: (adj) affected, artificial, grotesque, supernatural, forced, abnormal, eccentric, uncanny, stilted, mannered, anomalous. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, normal, real, unaffected, commonplace, genuine, sincere.

The first of these **declining** States is timocracy, or the government of soldiers and lovers of honour, which answers to the Spartan State; this is a government of force, in which education is not inspired by the Muses, but imposed by the law, and in which all the finer elements of organization have disappeared. The philosopher himself has lost the love of truth, and the soldier, who is of a simpler and honester nature, rules in his stead. The individual who answers to timocracy has some noticeable qualities. He is described as ill educated, but, like the Spartan, a lover of literature; and although he is a harsh master to his servants he has no natural superiority over them. His character is based upon a reaction against the circumstances of his father, who in a troubled city has retired from politics; and his mother, who is dissatisfied at her own position, is always urging him towards the life of political ambition. Such a character may have had this origin, and indeed Livy attributes the Licinian laws to a feminine jealousy of a similar kind. But there is obviously no connection between the manner in which the timocratic State springs out of the ideal, and the mere accident by which the timocratic man is the son of a retired statesman.

The two next stages in the decline of constitutions have even less historical foundation. For there is no trace in Greek history of a polity like the Spartan or Cretan passing into an oligarchy of wealth, or of the oligarchy of wealth passing into a democracy. The order of history appears to be different; first, in the Homeric times there is the royal or patriarchal form of government, which a century or two later was succeeded by an oligarchy of birth rather than of wealth, and in which wealth was only the accident of the hereditary possession of land and power. Sometimes this oligarchical government gave way to a government based upon a qualification of property, which, according to Aristotle's mode of using words, would have been called a timocracy; and this in some cities, as at Athens, became the conducting medium to democracy. But such was not the necessary order of succession in States; nor, indeed, can any order be discerned in the endless fluctuation of Greek history (like the tides in the Euripus), except, perhaps, in the almost uniform tendency from monarchy to aristocracy in the earliest times. At first sight there appears to be a similar inversion in the last step of the Platonic succession; for tyranny, instead of being

# aristocracy: (n) gentry, nobility, peerage, gentility, aristarchy, elite, landed gentry, upper crust, great folks, nobles, patricians. ANTONYMS: (n) people, plebeians, rabble, riffraff. conducting: (n) administration, conduct, directing, managing, direction, management. declining: (adj) deteriorating, decreasing, waning, falling, down, decadent, fading, lessening,

# diminishing, sloping; (n) decrease. ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, burgeoning, growing. fluctuation: (n) vicissitude, wavering, deviation, wobble, swing, undulation, variance, oscillation, hesitation, vibration, modification. ANTONYM: (n) resolution. hereditary: (adj) familial, ancestral, inherent, heritable, inherited, inborn, congenital, innate, patrimonial, native, heredity.

Thesaurus

imposed: (adj) compulsory, obligatory. inversion: (n) reversal, turnover, transposition, everting, eversion, anastrophe, retroversion, subversion, movement, negation, reversion. patriarchal: (adj) family, ancestral, linear, old, preadamite, patriarchic; (adv) fatherly. servants: (n) staff, suite. stead: (n) behalf, room, lieu, spot, location, station, space, seat, position, office, locality.

the natural end of democracy, in early Greek history appears rather as a stage leading to democracy; the reign of Peisistratus and his sons is an episode which comes between the legislation of Solon and the constitution of Cleisthenes; and some secret cause common to them all seems to have led the greater part of Hellas at her first appearance in the dawn of history, e.g. Athens, Argos, Corinth, Sicyon, and nearly every State with the exception of Sparta, through a similar stage of tyranny which ended either in oligarchy or democracy. But then we must remember that Plato is describing rather the contemporary governments of the Sicilian States, which alternated between democracy and tyranny, than the ancient history of Athens or Corinth.

The portrait of the tyrant himself is just such as the later Greek delighted to draw of Phalaris and Dionysius, in which, as in the lives of mediaeval saints or mythic heroes, the conduct and actions of one were attributed to another in order to fill up the outline. There was no enormity which the Greek was not today to believe of them; the tyrant was the negation of government and law; his assassination was glorious; there was no crime, however unnatural, which might not with probability be attributed to him. In this, Plato was only following the common thought of his countrymen, which he embellished and exaggerated with all the power of his genius. There is no need to suppose that he drew from life; or that his knowledge of tyrants is derived from a personal acquaintance with Dionysius. The manner in which he speaks of them would rather tend to render doubtful his ever having 'consorted' with them, or entertained the schemes, which are attributed to him in the Epistles, of regenerating Sicily by their help.

Plato in a hyperbolical and serio-comic vein exaggerates the follies of democracy which he also sees reflected in social life. To him democracy is a state of individualism or dissolution; in which every one is doing what is right in his own eyes. Of a people animated by a common spirit of liberty, rising as one man to repel the Persian host, which is the leading idea of democracy in Herodotus and Thucydides, he never seems to think. But if he is not a believer in liberty, still less is he a lover of tyranny. His deeper and more serious condemnation is

#### Thesaurus

**assassination**: (n, v) murder, manslaughter; (n) killing, massacre, defamation, obloquy, calumny, traducement, slaying, carnage; (v) trucidation. embellished: (adj) ornamented, rhetorical, decorated, fancy, florid, tall, rich, embroidered, elaborate, baroque; (prep) beautied. enormity: (n) magnitude, size, greatness, vileness, immensity,

evil, indecency. ANTONYMS: (n) minuteness, veniality, unimportance, tininess, virtue, goodness, diminutiveness, remissibility, smallness, mildness, insignificance. hyperbolical: (adj) grandiloquent, exaggerated, stilted, pompous, imposing, excessive, hyperthetical; (v) on stilts. mediaeval: (adj) medieval, knightly, chivalric, nonmodern. outrage, vastness, seriousness, crime, mythic: (adj) fabulous, mythological,

fictitious, equivocal, unreal, mythologic, extremely pleasing, false, barely credible, apocryphal, fab. negation: (n) contradiction, negate, opposition, disavowal, deny, cancellation, rebuttal, refusal, refutation, rejection, abnegation. ANTONYMS: (n) acceptance, confirmation, affirmation, substantiation, reinforcement, agreement. regenerating: (adj) regeneratory.

reserved for the tyrant, who is the ideal of wickedness and also of weakness, and who in his utter **helplessness** and **suspiciousness** is leading an almost impossible existence, without that remnant of good which, in Plato's opinion, was required to give power to evil (Book I). This ideal of wickedness living in helpless misery, is the reverse of that other portrait of perfect injustice ruling in happiness and splendour, which first of all Thrasymachus, and afterwards the sons of Ariston had drawn, and is also the reverse of the king whose rule of life is the good of his subjects.

Each of these governments and individuals has a corresponding ethical gradation: the ideal State is under the rule of reason, not extinguishing but harmonizing the passions, and training them in virtue; in the timocracy and the timocratic man the constitution, whether of the State or of the individual, is based, first, upon courage, and secondly, upon the love of honour; this latter virtue, which is hardly to be esteemed a virtue, has superseded all the rest. In the second stage of decline the virtues have altogether disappeared, and the love of gain has succeeded to them; in the third stage, or democracy, the various passions are allowed to have free play, and the virtues and vices are impartially cultivated. But this freedom, which leads to many curious extravagances of character, is in reality only a state of weakness and dissipation. At last, one monster passion takes possession of the whole nature of man—this is tyranny. In all of them excess—the excess first of wealth and then of freedom, is the element of decay.

The eighth book of the Republic abounds in pictures of life and fanciful allusions; the use of metaphorical language is carried to a greater extent than anywhere else in Plato. We may remark,

- 1. The description of the two nations in one, which become more and more divided in the Greek Republics, as in **feudal** times, and perhaps also in our own;
- 2. The notion of democracy expressed in a sort of Pythagorean formula as equality among unequals;

dissipation: (n) waste, dissolution, licentiousness, extravagance, excess, profligacy, consumption, decomposition, disintegration; (n, v) diffusion, dissemination.

ANTONYMS: (n) appearance, growth, restraint, moderation, decency, uprightness.

extinguishing: (n) quenching, dampen out, extermination, stamp out, conclusion, extinguished, experimental extinction, ending,

#### **Thesaurus**

destruction, defunctness, complete annihilation.

**feudal**: (*adj*) feudatory, medieval, feodal.

gradation: (n) degree, scale, ablaut, progression, graduation, tier, step, level, shade, form, extent.

harmonizing: (v) harmonize; (adj) acquiescent, assenting, balancing, toning, fitting, agreeing, henotic, in accord, matching, opposite. ANTONYM: (adj) conflicting. helplessness: (n) powerlessness, defenselessness, dependence, impotency, impotence, inability, impuissance, incapability, incapacity, defencelessness, failing.

ANTONYMS: (n) resistance, capacity, strength.

suspiciousness: (n) mistrust, distrust, distrustfulness, dubiousness, misgiving, intuition, underhandedness, crookedness, dishonesty, hunch.

- 3. The free and easy ways of men and animals, which are characteristic of liberty, as foreign mercenaries and universal **mistrust** are of the tyrant;
- 4. The proposal that mere debts should not be **recoverable** by law is a speculation which has often been entertained by reformers of the law in modern times, and is in harmony with the tendencies of modern legislation. Debt and land were the two great difficulties of the ancient **lawgiver**: in modern times we may be said to have almost, if not quite, solved the first of these difficulties, but hardly the second.

Still more remarkable are the corresponding portraits of individuals: there is the family picture of the father and mother and the old servant of the timocratical man, and the outward respectability and inherent meanness of the oligarchical; the uncontrolled licence and freedom of the democrat, in which the young Alcibiades seems to be depicted, doing right or wrong as he pleases, and who at last, like the prodigal, goes into a far country (note here the play of language by which the democratic man is himself represented under the image of a State having a citadel and receiving embassies); and there is the wild-beast nature, which breaks loose in his successor. The hit about the tyrant being a parricide; the representation of the tyrant's life as an obscene dream; the rhetorical surprise of a more miserable than the most miserable of men in Book IX; the hint to the poets that if they are the friends of tyrants there is no place for them in a constitutional State, and that they are too clever not to see the propriety of their own expulsion; the continuous image of the drones who are of two kinds, swelling at last into the monster drone having wings (Book IX),—are among Plato's happiest touches.

There remains to be considered the great difficulty of this book of the Republic, the so-called number of the State. This is a puzzle almost as great as the Number of the Beast in the Book of Revelation, and though apparently known to Aristotle, is referred to by Cicero as a proverb of obscurity (Ep. ad

#### **Thesaurus**

citadel: (*n*) castle, bastion, fortification, bulwark, Acropolis, fort, stronghold, tower, chateau; (*n*, *v*) fortress; (*v*) keep.

lawgiver: (*n*) lawmaker, politician,

keep. **lawgiver**: (*n*) lawmaker, politician, statemonger, statist, leader, nomothete, promulgator, strategist, statesman, draconian, Draco. **mistrust**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) distrust; (*n*, *v*) doubt, query; (*n*) suspicion, misgiving, disbelief, apprehension, wariness; (*v*) suspect, disbelieve,

discredit. ANTONYM: (v) believe. prodigal: (adj) extravagant, improvident, generous, lavish, wasteful, excessive, exuberant, liberal, profuse, dissipated; (adj, n) profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) economical, cautious.

**recoverable**: (*v*) remediable, sanable; (*adj*) redeemable, retrievable, curable, recuperable.

**swelling**: (*n*) protuberance, lump, swell, intumescence, growth,

projection, prominence, bulge, dropsy; (adj, v) inflated; (adj) growing. ANTONYM: (n) decline. uncontrolled: (adj) unconstrained, unchecked, uninhibited, wild, unbound, mad, loose, out of control; (adj, n) licentious, profligate, dissolute. ANTONYMS: (adj) controlled, restrained, cautious, calm, contained, relaxed, mild, mellow, limited, voluntary.

Att.). And some have imagined that there is no answer to the puzzle, and that Plato has been practising upon his readers. But such a deception as this is inconsistent with the manner in which Aristotle speaks of the number (Pol.), and would have been ridiculous to any reader of the Republic who was acquainted with Greek mathematics. As little reason is there for supposing that Plato intentionally used obscure expressions; the obscurity arises from our want of familiarity with the subject. On the other hand, Plato himself indicates that he is not altogether serious, and in describing his number as a solemn jest of the Muses, he appears to imply some degree of satire on the symbolical use of number. (Compare Cratylus; Protag.)

Our hope of understanding the passage depends principally on an accurate study of the words themselves; on which a faint light is thrown by the parallel passage in the ninth book. Another help is the allusion in Aristotle, who makes the important remark that the latter part of the passage (Greek) describes a solid figure. (Pol. – 'He only says that nothing is **abiding**, but that all things change in a certain cycle; and that the origin of the change is a base of numbers which are in the ratio of 4:3; and this when combined with a figure of five gives two harmonies; he means when the number of this figure becomes solid.') Some further clue may be gathered from the appearance of the Pythagorean triangle, which is denoted by the numbers 3, 4, 5, and in which, as in every right-angled triangle, the squares of the two lesser sides equal the square of the hypotenuse (9 +16 = 25).

Plato begins by speaking of a perfect or cyclical number (Tim.), i.e. a number in which the sum of the divisors equals the whole; this is the divine or perfect number in which all lesser cycles or revolutions are complete. He also speaks of a human or imperfect number, having four terms and three intervals of numbers which are related to one another in certain proportions; these he converts into figures, and finds in them when they have been raised to the third power certain elements of number, which give two 'harmonies,' the one square, the other **oblong**; but he does not say that the square number answers to the divine, or the oblong number to the human cycle; nor is any intimation given that the first or

#### Thesaurus

abiding: (adj) immortal, stable, constant, everlasting, lasting, enduring, perpetual, eternal, perennial, continuing, imperishable. ANTONYMS: (adj) ephemeral, fleeting, impermanent, temporary, passing, mortal, erratic, inconstant. cycles: (n) biological rhythm, biological clock. cyclical: (adj) recurrent, circular, cyclicals, rhythmical, periodic, intermittent, rhythmic, recurring,

returning, diurnal, serial. ANTONYM: (adj) noncyclic. familiarity: (adj, n) acquaintance; (n) intimacy, closeness, experience, casualness, conversancy, knowledge, conversance, naturalness, nearness, friendship. ANTONYMS: (n) unfamiliarity, formality, abnormality, right-angled: (adj) orthogonal. distance, animosity. hypotenuse: (n) flank. oblong: (adj) oval, elliptical, rectangular, rounded; (v)

longitudinal; (n) block, quadrangle. puzzle: (adj, v) perplex, confuse, embarrass; (n) enigma, riddle, mystery, maze; (n, v) nonplus; (v)confound, mystify, baffle. ANTONYMS: (v) clarify, placate, explain; (n) explanation. symbolical: (adj) emblematic, emblematical, representative, figurative, sign, symbolics, allusive, exemplary.

divine number represents the period of the world, the second the period of the state, or of the human race as Zeller supposes; nor is the divine number afterwards mentioned (Arist.). The second is the number of **generations** or **births**, and **presides** over them in the same mysterious manner in which the stars preside over them, or in which, according to the Pythagoreans, opportunity, justice, marriage, are represented by some number or figure. This is probably the number 216.

The explanation given in the text supposes the two harmonies to make up the number 8000. This explanation derives a certain plausibility from the circumstance that 8000 is the ancient number of the Spartan citizens (Herod.), and would be what Plato might have called 'a number which nearly concerns the population of a city'; the mysterious **disappearance** of the Spartan population may possibly have suggested to him the first cause of his decline of States. The lesser or square 'harmony,' of 400, might be a **symbol** of the guardians,—the larger or oblong 'harmony,' of the people, and the numbers 3, 4, 5 might refer respectively to the three orders in the State or parts of the soul, the four virtues, the five forms of government. The harmony of the musical scale, which is elsewhere used as a symbol of the harmony of the state, is also indicated. For the numbers 3, 4, 5, which represent the sides of the Pythagorean **triangle**, also **denote** the intervals of the scale.

The terms used in the statement of the problem may be explained as follows. A perfect number (Greek), as already stated, is one which is equal to the sum of its divisors. Thus 6, which is the first perfect or cyclical number, = 1 + 2 + 3. The words (Greek), 'terms' or 'notes,' and (Greek), 'intervals,' are applicable to music as well as to number and figure. (Greek) is the 'base' on which the whole calculation depends, or the 'lowest term' from which it can be worked out. The words (Greek) have been **variously** translated—'squared and cubed' (Donaldson), 'equalling and equalled in power' (Weber), 'by **involution** and evolution,' i.e. by raising the power and extracting the root (as in the translation). Numbers are called 'like and unlike' (Greek) when the factors or the sides of the planes and cubes which they represent are or are not in the same ratio: e.g. 8 and

#### **Thesaurus**

**births**: (*n*) birthing, birth rate, birthrate.

**denote**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) declare; (*adj*, *v*) express; (*v*) indicate, imply, mean, point, demonstrate, stand for, spell; (*n*, *v*) betoken, signify. ANTONYM: (*v*) connote.

disappearance: (n) vanishing, loss, going, fade, evaporation, disappearing, departure, passing, death, receding, ending.

ANTONYMS: (n) recurrence,

appearing, arrival, renaissance, revitalization, show, emergence, survival.

**generations**: (*n*) generation, family. **involution**: (*n*, *v*) convolution; (*n*) intricacy, exponentiation, complexity, complication, entanglement, enfolding, operation, degeneration, perplexity; (*adj*) raveling. **preside**: (*v*) manage, lead, conduct,

preside: (v) manage, lead, conduct, command, control, direct, rule, moderate, guide, chair, preside over.

symbol: (n) emblem, number, badge, mark, stamp, numeral, type, insignia, token, image, indication. triangle: (n) trigon, trilateral, set square, reed, submaxillary triangle, xylophone, triennium, trident, wooden horse, wheel, trisula. variously: (adv) differently, multifariously, sundrily, variedly, severally, assortedly, dissimilarly, numerously, versatilely, diversly, variegatedly.

27 = 2 cubed and 3 cubed; and conversely. 'Waxing' (Greek) numbers, called also 'increasing' (Greek), are those which are exceeded by the sum of their divisors: e.g. 12 and 18 are less than 16 and 21. 'Waning' (Greek) numbers, called also 'decreasing' (Greek) are those which succeed the sum of their divisors: e.g. 8 and 27 exceed 7 and 13. The words translated 'commensurable and agreeable to one another' (Greek) seem to be different ways of describing the same relation, with more or less precision. They are equivalent to 'expressible in terms having the same relation to one another,' like the series 8, 12, 18, 27, each of which numbers is in the relation of (1 and 1/2) to the preceding. The 'base,' or 'fundamental number, which has 1/3 added to it' (1 and 1/3) = 4/3 or a musical fourth. (Greek) is a 'proportion' of numbers as of musical notes, applied either to the parts or factors of a single number or to the relation of one number to another. The first harmony is a 'square' number (Greek); the second harmony is an 'oblong' number (Greek), i.e. a number representing a figure of which the opposite sides only are equal. (Greek) = 'numbers squared from' or 'upon diameters'; (Greek) = 'rational,' i.e. omitting fractions, (Greek), 'irrational,' i.e. including fractions; e.g. 49 is a square of the rational diameter of a figure the side of which = 5: 50, of an irrational diameter of the same. For several of the explanations here given and for a good deal besides I am indebted to an excellent article on the Platonic Number by Dr. Donaldson (Proc. of the Philol. Society).

The conclusions which he draws from these data are summed up by him as follows. Having assumed that the number of the perfect or divine cycle is the number of the world, and the number of the imperfect cycle the number of the state, he proceeds: 'The period of the world is defined by the perfect number 6, that of the state by the cube of that number or 216, which is the product of the last pair of terms in the Platonic Tetractys (a series of seven terms, 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 8, 27); and if we take this as the basis of our **computation**, we shall have two cube numbers (Greek), viz. 8 and 27; and the mean proportionals between these, viz. 12 and 18, will furnish three intervals and four terms, and these terms and intervals stand related to one another in the sesqui-altera ratio, i.e. each term is to the preceding as 3/2. Now if we remember that the number  $216 = 8 \times 27 = 3$ 

#### **Thesaurus**

agreeable: (adj) accordant, nice, sweet, consistent, suitable, amusing, enjoyable, affable; (adj, v) pleasant, desirable; (adj, n) acceptable. ANTONYMS: (adj) disagreeable, discordant, unpleasant, nasty, unwilling, resistant, aggressive, repugnant, averse, stubborn, unacceptable. computation: (n, v) calculation,

estimation, reckoning; (n) compute, estimate, account, arithmetic,

figuring, count, computing; (v) enumeration. ANTONYMS: (n) guesswork, guessing, conjecture,

conversely: (adv) reversely, oppositely, contrarily, counterly, on the other hand, reversedly, counter, reciprocally, reversed, vice versa, contra.

cube: (v) dice, chop, multiply; (n) third squared: (adj) squarer, squaring, agree, power, suffrutex, subshrub, rhomboid, hexahedron, tetragon, city

block; (adj) unworldly. describing: (n) telling, unfolding, relating, recounting, recitation. irrational: (adj) absurd, inconsistent, silly, unreasonable, blind, illogical, senseless, preposterous, imprudent, unsound, thoughtless. ANTONYMS: (adj) logical, lucid, wise, sensible, worthwhile, systematic.

exact, balanced, even, equal, correspondent, quadrate, correspond.

cubed + 4 cubed + 5 cubed, and 3 squared + 4 squared = 5 squared, we must admit that this number implies the numbers 3, 4, 5, to which musicians attach so much importance. And if we combine the ratio 4/3 with the number 5, or multiply the ratios of the sides by the hypotenuse, we shall by first squaring and then cubing obtain two expressions, which denote the ratio of the two last pairs of terms in the Platonic Tetractys, the former multiplied by the square, the latter by the cube of the number 10, the sum of the first four digits which constitute the Platonic Tetractys.' The two (Greek) he elsewhere explains as follows: 'The first (Greek) is (Greek), in other words  $(4/3 \times 5)$  all squared =  $100 \times 2$  squared over 3 squared. The second (Greek), a cube of the same root, is described as 100 multiplied (alpha) by the rational diameter of 5 diminished by unity, i.e., as shown above, 48: (beta) by two incommensurable diameters, i.e. the two first irrationals, or 2 and 3: and (gamma) by the cube of 3, or 27. Thus we have (48 + 5 + 27)  $100 = 1000 \times 2$  cubed. This second harmony is to be the cube of the number of which the former harmony is the square, and therefore must be divided by the cube of 3. In other words, the whole expression will be: (1), for the first harmony, 400/9: (2), for the second harmony, 8000/27.'

The reasons which have inclined me to agree with Dr. Donaldson and also with Schleiermacher in supposing that 216 is the Platonic number of births are: (1) that it coincides with the description of the number given in the first part of the passage (Greek...): (2) that the number 216 with its permutations would have been familiar to a Greek mathematician, though **unfamiliar** to us: (3) that 216 is the cube of 6, and also the sum of 3 cubed, 4 cubed, 5 cubed, the numbers 3, 4, 5 representing the Pythagorean triangle, of which the sides when squared equal the square of the hypotenuse (9 + 16 = 25): (4) that it is also the period of the Pythagorean Metempsychosis: (5) the three ultimate terms or **bases** (3, 4, 5) of which 216 is composed answer to the third, fourth, fifth in the musical scale: (6) that the number 216 is the product of the cubes of 2 and 3, which are the two last terms in the Platonic Tetractys: (7) that the Pythagorean triangle is said by Plutarch (de Is. et Osir.), Proclus (super prima Eucl.), and Quintilian (de Musica) to be contained in this passage, so that the tradition of the school seems to point

#### **Thesaurus**

attach: (v) append, adhere, add, affix, bind, link, associate, assign, nail, apply, annex. ANTONYMS: (v) undo, separate, unfasten, disconnect, free, deflect, dissociate, loosen, quit, take, unscrew.

bases: (n) basis, foundation.
described: (adj) delineate, detailed,
delineated, alleged.
diminished: (adj) abated, weakened,
lessened, atrophied, belittled,
attenuate, reduced, lower,

attenuated, cut, short.
incommensurable: (adj)
incommensurate, divisible, fractional, figurate, decimal, complementary, aliquot, incomparable, infinite, innumerable, unfathomable.
multiplied: (adj) many, multitudinous, teeming, peopled, populous, studded, thick, increased, frequent; (v) absorb, acquisition.

**multiply**: (*v*) expand, increase, propagate, breed, augment,

duplicate, proliferate, procreate, reproduce, calculate, extend. ANTONYMS: (adv) singly; (v) divide, diminish, reduce, estimate, dwindle. musicians: (n) musical group. unfamiliar: (adj) strange, new, unaccustomed, unacquainted, uncommon, novel, mysterious, foreign, unidentified, inexperienced, unusual. ANTONYMS: (adj) familiar, recognizable, known, usual, experienced, versed, accustomed.

in the same direction: (8) that the Pythagorean triangle is called also the figure of marriage (Greek).

But though agreeing with Dr. Donaldson thus far, I see no reason for supposing, as he does, that the first or perfect number is the world, the human or imperfect number the state; nor has he given any proof that the second harmony is a cube. Nor do I think that (Greek) can mean 'two incommensurables,' which he arbitrarily assumes to be 2 and 3, but rather, as the preceding clause implies, (Greek), i.e. two square numbers based upon irrational diameters of a figure the side of which is  $5 = 50 \times 2$ .

The greatest objection to the translation is the sense given to the words (Greek), 'a base of three with a third added to it, multiplied by 5.' In this somewhat forced manner Plato introduces once more the numbers of the Pythagorean triangle. But the coincidences in the numbers which follow are in favour of the explanation. The first harmony of 400, as has been already remarked, probably represents the rulers; the second and oblong harmony of 7600, the people.

And here we take leave of the difficulty. The discovery of the riddle would be useless, and would throw no light on ancient mathematics. The point of interest is that Plato should have used such a symbol, and that so much of the Pythagorean spirit should have prevailed in him. His general meaning is that divine creation is perfect, and is represented or presided over by a perfect or cyclical number; human generation is imperfect, and represented or presided over by an imperfect number or series of numbers. The number 5040, which is the number of the citizens in the Laws, is expressly based by him on utilitarian grounds, namely, the convenience of the number for division; it is also made up of the first seven digits multiplied by one another. The contrast of the perfect and imperfect number may have been easily suggested by the corrections of the cycle, which were made first by Meton and secondly by Callippus; (the latter is said to have been a pupil of Plato). Of the degree of importance or of exactness to be attributed to the problem, the number of the tyrant in Book IX (729 = 365  $\times$ 2), and the slight correction of the error in the number 5040/12 (Laws), may

#### **Thesaurus**

**agreeing**: (adj) concurring, concordant, **correction**: (n) amendment, assentient, accordant, suitable, harmonious, in accord, in agreement; (n) assenting; (v) agree, accept. ANTONYM: (adj) conflicting. arbitrarily: (adv) randomly, despoticly, erratically, absolutely, haphazardly, autocratically, positively, domineeringly, capriciously, imperiously, dictatorially. ANTONYMS: (adv) systematically, logically.

adjustment, alteration, chastisement, discipline, redress, castigation, modification, punishment, improvement, emendation. ANTONYMS: (n) fabrication, reward, award, persuasion. expressly: (adv) specially, particularly, represents: (v) represent. distinctly, specifically, explicitly,

especially, utterly, clearly, precisely, telly, exactly. ANTONYMS: (adv) ambiguously, conditionally,

implicitly, indirectly, vaguely. preceding: (adj, adv) anterior, earlier; (adj) foregoing, former, previous, prior, past, precedent, prevenient; (adv) forward; (prep) before. ANTONYMS: (adj) following, succeeding, next, present. riddle: (n) mystery, conundrum, puzzle, problem, poser; (n, v) screen, sieve; (v) puncture, strain, filter, sift. ANTONYM: (n) explanation.

furnish a **criterion**. There is nothing **surprising** in the circumstance that those who were seeking for order in nature and had found order in number, should have **imagined** one to give law to the other. Plato believes in a power of number far beyond what he could see **realized** in the world around him, and he knows the great influence which 'the little matter of 1, 2, 3' **exercises** upon education. He may even be thought to have a prophetic **anticipation** of the discoveries of Quetelet and **others**, that numbers **depend** upon numbers; e.g.—in population, the numbers of births and the **respective** numbers of children born of either sex, on the respective ages of parents, i.e. on other numbers.

## e

expectance, hopefulness, prefiguration, presentiment; (*n*, *v*) outlook, prospect. ANTONYMS: (*n*) despair, boredom. **criterion**: (*n*) benchmark, norm, measure, test, canon, mark, criteria, level, criterium, scale, rule. **depend**: (*adj*, *v*) hang; (*v*) dangle, count, rely, stay, reckon, confide, suspend, calculate, attend, pivot.

**anticipation**: (n) forecast, hope,

foresight, prevention, augury,

#### **Thesaurus**

ANTONYM: (v) distrust.

exercises: (n) military exercises,
athletics.

imagined: (adj) fanciful, notional,
unreal, fancied, fictitious,
nonexistent, unseen, hypothetical,
feigned, dubious, doubtful.

others: (n) rest, cessation, lie, lave,
LAN, ease, acquiesce, intermission.

realized: (adj) accomplished, realised,
completed, effected, fulfilled, caught,
done, finished, highly skilled,

established.

respective: (adj) individual, proper, relative, several, appropriate, peculiar, singular, corresponding, private, personal, regardful. surprising: (adj, n) marvelous, strange, incredible; (adj) amazing, remarkable, wonderful, shocking, extraordinary, striking, unusul; (adj, v) startling. ANTONYMS: (adj) predictable, comforting, ordinary, normal, unremarkable.

#### ANALYSIS OF BOOK IX

Last of all comes the tyrannical man, about whom we have to **enquire**, Whence is he, and how does he live—in happiness or in misery? There is, however, a previous question of the nature and number of the appetites, which I should like to consider first. Some of them are unlawful, and yet admit of being **chastened** and weakened in various degrees by the power of reason and law. 'What appetites do you mean?' I mean those which are awake when the reasoning powers are asleep, which get up and walk about naked without any self-respect or shame; and there is no **conceivable** folly or crime, however cruel or unnatural, of which, in imagination, they may not be guilty. 'True,' he said; 'very true.' But when a man's pulse **beats temperately**; and he has supped on a feast of reason and come to a knowledge of himself before going to rest, and has satisfied his desires just enough to prevent their **perturbing** his reason, which remains clear and luminous, and when he is free from quarrel and heat,—the visions which he has on his bed are least irregular and abnormal. Even in good men there is such an irregular wild-beast nature, which peers out in sleep.

To return:—You remember what was said of the democrat; that he was the son of a miserly father, who encouraged the saving desires and **repressed** the **ornamental** and expensive ones; presently the youth got into fine company, and began to entertain a dislike to his father's narrow ways; and being a better man than the corrupters of his youth, he came to a mean, and led a life, not of lawless

beats: (n) beat, beatniks, Beat Generation. chastened: (v) lamblike, resigned, content; (adj) refined, reprimanded, rebuked, reproved, subdued, contrite, remorseful. conceivable: (adj) imaginable, thinkable, believable.

thinkable, believable, comprehensible, likely, earthly, potential, credible, plausible, cogitable, reasonable. ANTONYMS: (adf) unthinkable, difficult,

#### **Thesaurus**

implausible, impossible, unimaginable.

enquire: (v) ask, consult, query, question, inquiring, enquiringly, investigate, inquire, enquiring, inquiringly, intercommunicate.

ornamental: (adj) fancy, florid, cosmetic, extravagant, elaborate, showy, enhancing, delicate, beautifying; (n) decoration, adornment. ANTONYMS: (adj) plain, unadorned.

perturbing: (adj) distressing, distressful, disturbing, poignant, bad, deplorable, disquieting, heavy, not reassuring, troubling, worrisome. repressed: (adj) inhibited, suppressed, pent-up, forgotten, subconscious, inner, composed, reserved, unconscious.

temperately: (adv) calmly, abstemiously, soberly, softly, mildly, restrainedly, continently, coolly, balmily, gentlely, measuredly. or slavish passion, but of regular and successive indulgence. Now imagine that the youth has become a father, and has a son who is exposed to the same temptations, and has companions who lead him into every sort of iniquity, and parents and friends who try to keep him right. The counsellors of evil find that their only chance of retaining him is to implant in his soul a monster drone, or love; while other desires buzz around him and mystify him with sweet sounds and scents, this monster love takes possession of him, and puts an end to every true or modest thought or wish. Love, like drunkenness and madness, is a tyranny; and the tyrannical man, whether made by nature or habit, is just a drinking, lusting, furious sort of animalAnd how does such an one live? 'Nay, that you must tell me.' Well then, I fancy that he will live amid revelries and harlotries, and love will be the lord and master of the house. Many desires require much money, and so he spends all that he has and borrows more; and when he has nothing the young ravens are still in the nest in which they were hatched, crying for food. Love urges them on; and they must be gratified by force or fraud, or if not, they become painful and troublesome; and as the new pleasures succeed the old ones, so will the son take possession of the goods of his parents; if they show signs of refusing, he will defraud and deceive them; and if they openly resist, what then? 'I can only say, that I should not much like to be in their place.' But, O heavens, Adeimantus, to think that for some new-fangled and unnecessary love he will give up his old father and mother, best and dearest of friends, or enslave them to the fancies of the hour! Truly a tyrannical son is a blessing to his father and mother! When there is no more to be got out of them, he turns burglar or **pickpocket**, or robs a temple. Love overmasters the thoughts of his youth, and he becomes in sober reality the monster that he was sometimes in sleep. He waxes strong in all violence and lawlessness; and is ready for any deed of daring that will supply the wants of his rabble-rout. In a well-ordered State there are only a few such, and these in time of war go out and become the mercenaries of a tyrant. But in time of peace they stay at home and do mischief; they are the thieves, footpads, cut-purses, man-stealers of the community; or if they are able to speak, they turn false-witnesses and informers. 'No small catalogue of crimes truly, even if the perpetrators are few.' Yes, I said; but small

#### Thesaurus

**borrows**: (v) borrow; (n) lends. deceive: (v) cheat, circumvent, bamboozle, pretend, hoax, fool, cozen, trick, beguile; (n, v) dupe; (n)fraud. ANTONYMS: (v) guide, inform, undeceive, protect. gratified: (adj) glad, satisfied, pleased, delighted, happy, thankful, grateful, content, complacent, comfortable, cheerful. hatched: (adj) crosshatched, born,

implant: (v) fix, plant, engraft, embed, establish, bury, imbed, bud, impregnate, imbue; (n, v) lodge. **iniquity**: (adj, n) depravity; (n) inequity, wickedness, immorality, injustice, crime, sin, vice, darkness, villainy, sinfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, good.

lawlessness: (n) anarchy, disorder, illegality, nihilism, outlawry, crime, excess, immoderation, lack of control, license, nonconformity. ANTONYM: wants: (n) need, necessities.

(n) order. **lusting**: (*n*) envy; (*adj*) thirsty. mystify: (v) confound, bamboozle, bewilder, baffle, puzzle, perplex, stump, nonplus, flummox, amaze, get. ANTONYMS: (v) enlighten, explain.

pickpocket: (n) cutpurse, thief, dip, robber, burglar, shoplifter, inclination, magnetic dip, magnetic inclination, miscreant, nipper.

and great are relative terms, and no crimes which are committed by them approach those of the tyrant, whom this class, growing strong and numerous, create out of themselves. If the people yield, well and good, but, if they resist, then, as before he beat his father and mother, so now he beats his fatherland and motherland, and places his mercenaries over them. Such men in their early days live with flatterers, and they themselves flatter others, in order to gain their ends; but they soon discard their followers when they have no longer any need of them; they are always either masters or servants,—the joys of friendship are unknown to them. And they are utterly treacherous and unjust, if the nature of justice be at all understood by us. They realize our dream; and he who is the most of a tyrant by nature, and leads the life of a tyrant for the longest time, will be the worst of them, and being the worst of them, will also be the most miserable.

Like man, like State, — the tyrannical man will answer to tyranny, which is the extreme opposite of the royal State; for one is the best and the other the worst. But which is the happier? Great and terrible as the tyrant may appear enthroned amid his satellites, let us not be afraid to go in and ask; and the answer is, that the **monarchical** is the happiest, and the tyrannical the most miserable of States. And may we not ask the same question about the men themselves, requesting some one to look into them who is able to penetrate the inner nature of man, and will not be panic- struck by the vain **pomp** of tyranny? I will suppose that he is one who has lived with him, and has seen him in family life, or perhaps in the hour of trouble and danger.

Assuming that we ourselves are the **impartial** judge for whom we seek, let us begin by **comparing** the individual and State, and ask first of all, whether the State is likely to be free or enslaved—Will there not be a little freedom and a great deal of slavery? And the freedom is of the bad, and the slavery of the good; and this applies to the man as well as to the State; for his soul is full of meanness and slavery, and the better part is enslaved to the worse. He cannot do what he would, and his mind is full of confusion; he is the very reverse of a **freeman**. The State will be poor and full of misery and sorrow; and the man's soul will also be

#### **Thesaurus**

comparing: (n) collation, contrast, comparison, analogy, collating, comparability.

discard: (n, v) scrap, dump; (v) chuck, dismiss, throw away, cast off, displace, fling, get rid of, cast aside, ditch. ANTONYMS: (v) retain, hold, cherish, accept, cover, support.

fatherland: (n) native land, home, homeland, country, mother country, motherland, land, country of origin, native country, old country, cradle.

**freeman**: (*n*) freedman, freedwoman, freewoman.

impartial: (adj) just, equitable, disinterested, unprejudiced, unbiased, dispassionate, evenhanded, candid, even, evenhanded, detached. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, partisan, prejudiced, subjective, unfair, unjust.

**longest**: (*adj*) best, lengest, fastest, top, record, best ever, greatest. **monarchical**: (*adj*) monarchal, royal,

monarchial, kingly, sovereign, grand, regal, noble, majestic, magnanimous, kinglike.

motherland: (n) homeland, fatherland, native land, country, home, land, country of origin, place of birth, kingdom, land of your birth, nation. pomp: (n) grandeur, parade, ostentation, show, ceremony, glory, luxury, pageantry, magnificence, state, splendor. ANTONYMS: (n) understatement, modesty.

poor and full of sorrows, and he will be the most miserable of men. No, not the most miserable, for there is yet a more miserable. 'Who is that?' The tyrannical man who has the misfortune also to become a public tyrant. 'There I suspect that you are right.' Say rather, 'I am sure;' conjecture is out of place in an enquiry of this nature. He is like a wealthy owner of slaves, only he has more of them than any private individual. You will say, 'The owners of slaves are not generally in any fear of them.' But why? Because the whole city is in a league which protects the individual. Suppose however that one of these owners and his household is carried off by a god into a wilderness, where there are no freemen to help him – will he not be in an agony of terror? - will he not be compelled to flatter his slaves and to promise them many things sore against his will? And suppose the same god who carried him off were to surround him with neighbours who declare that no man ought to have slaves, and that the owners of them should be punished with death. 'Still worse and worse! He will be in the midst of his enemies.' And is not our tyrant such a captive soul, who is tormented by a **swarm** of passions which he cannot indulge; living indoors always like a woman, and jealous of those who can go out and see the world?

Having so many evils, will not the most miserable of men be still more miserable in a public station? Master of others when he is not master of himself; like a sick man who is compelled to be an athlete; the **meanest** of slaves and the most **abject** of flatterers; wanting all things, and never able to satisfy his desires; always in fear and distraction, like the State of which he is the representative. His jealous, hateful, **faithless** temper grows worse with command; he is more and more faithless, **envious**, unrighteous, —the most wretched of men, a misery to himself and to others. And so let us have a final trial and proclamation; need we hire a herald, or shall I **proclaim** the result? 'Made the proclamation yourself.' The son of Ariston (the best) is of opinion that the best and justest of men is also the happiest, and that this is he who is the most royal master of himself; and that the unjust man is he who is the greatest tyrant of himself and of his State. And I add further—'seen or unseen by gods or men.'

#### **Thesaurus**

abject: (adj) contemptible, pitiful, low, wretched, despicable, sordid, base, mean, vile; (n) ignominious, dirty. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, hopeful, magnificent, esteemed, proud, dignified, commendable, noble, exalted, worthy, happy. carried: (adj) conveyed, imported. envious: (adj) covetous, invidious, jaundiced, malicious, begrudge, greedy, resentful, grudging, green, begrudging, enviable. ANTONYMS:

(adj) fulfilled, satisfied, undesirous, contented.

faithless: (adj) dishonest, false, traitorous, treacherous, unfaithful, deceitful, untrustworthy, untrue, truthless, mendacious, perfidious. ANTONYMS: (adj) loyal, steadfast, true, honest.

meanest: (*adj*) last, least. neighbours: (*n*) neighborhood. proclaim: (*v*) declare, assert, advertise, broadcast, promulgate, enunciate, herald, decree, divulge, notify, annunciate.

swarm: (n) host, horde, multitude, drove, throng, cloud, assembly; (n, v) mob; (v) teem, pour; (adj) shoal. ANTONYMS: (v) retreat; (n) few. tormented: (adj) worried, tortured, hagridden, troubled, beleaguered, beset, besieged, cruciate, cruciform, distraught, distressed. ANTONYM: (adj) calm.

This is our first proof. The second is derived from the three kinds of pleasure, which answer to the three elements of the soul-reason, passion, desire; under which last is comprehended avarice as well as sensual appetite, while passion includes ambition, party-feeling, love of reputation. Reason, again, is solely directed to the attainment of truth, and careless of money and reputation. In accordance with the difference of men's natures, one of these three principles is in the ascendant, and they have their several pleasures corresponding to them. Interrogate now the three natures, and each one will be found praising his own pleasures and depreciating those of others. The moneymaker will contrast the vanity of knowledge with the solid advantages of wealth. The ambitious man will despise knowledge which brings no honour; whereas the philosopher will regard only the fruition of truth, and will call other pleasures necessary rather than good. Now, how shall we decide between them? Is there any better criterion than experience and knowledge? And which of the three has the truest knowledge and the widest experience? The experience of youth makes the philosopher acquainted with the two kinds of desire, but the avaricious and the ambitious man never taste the pleasures of truth and wisdom. Honour he has equally with them; they are 'judged of him,' but he is 'not judged of them,' for they never attain to the knowledge of true being. And his instrument is reason, whereas their standard is only wealth and honour; and if by reason we are to judge, his good will be the truest. And so we arrive at the result that the pleasure of the rational part of the soul, and a life passed in such pleasure is the pleasantest. He who has a right to judge judges thus. Next comes the life of ambition, and, in the third place, that of money-making.

Twice has the just man **overthrown** the unjust—once more, as in an Olympian contest, first offering up a prayer to the saviour Zeus, let him try a fall. A wise man whispers to me that the pleasures of the wise are true and pure; all others are a shadow only. Let us examine this: Is not pleasure opposed to pain, and is there not a mean state which is neither? When a man is sick, nothing is more pleasant to him than health. But this he never found out while he was well. In pain he desires only to cease from pain; on the other hand, when he is in an ecstasy of pleasure, rest is painful to him. Thus rest or **cessation** is both pleasure

#### **Thesaurus**

ascendant: (n) ancestor, forefather, ascending, progenitor, primogenitor; (adj) rising, predominant, regnant, prevalent, prevailing; (adj, n) ascendent. ANTONYMS: (adj) minor, downward.

**cessation**: (*n*) pause, abatement, close, stop, respite, suspension, surcease, standstill, rest, termination; (*n*, *v*) death. ANTONYMS: (*n*) beginning, continuation, commencement, persistence.

fruition: (n) enjoyment, pleasure, gratification, delight, accomplishment, realization, realisation, consummation, success, completion, achievement.
judged: (n) judging; (adj) guilty, deliberate, legal, lawful.
overthrown: (adj) overcome, conquered, battered, overpowered, dejected, cast down, dissolute, doomed, flooded, discomfit, mat.
praising: (adj) praiseful, commending,

praise, flattering, admiring, kind, complimentary, bestowing praise, eulogistic, commendatory, encomiastical.

vanity: (n) egotism, pride, emptiness, arrogance, futility, inanity, vainglory, conceitedness, pretension, pomposity; (adj, n) amour propre. ANTONYMS: (n) selflessness, humility, importance, value, effectiveness.

and pain. But can that which is neither become both? Again, pleasure and pain are motions, and the absence of them is rest; but if so, how can the absence of either of them be the other? Thus we are led to infer that the contradiction is an appearance only, and witchery of the senses. And these are not the only pleasures, for there are others which have no preceding pains. Pure pleasure then is not the absence of pain, nor pure pain the absence of pleasure; although most of the pleasures which reach the mind through the body are reliefs of pain, and have not only their reactions when they depart, but their anticipations before they come. They can be best described in a simile. There is in nature an upper, lower, and middle region, and he who passes from the lower to the middle imagines that he is going up and is already in the upper world; and if he were taken back again would think, and truly think, that he was descending. All this arises out of his ignorance of the true upper, middle, and lower regions. And a like confusion happens with pleasure and pain, and with many other things. The man who compares grey with black, calls grey white; and the man who compares absence of pain with pain, calls the absence of pain pleasure. Again, hunger and thirst are inanitions of the body, ignorance and folly of the soul; and food is the satisfaction of the one, knowledge of the other. Now which is the purer satisfaction - that of eating and drinking, or that of knowledge? Consider the matter thus: The satisfaction of that which has more existence is truer than of that which has less. The **invariable** and **immortal** has a more real existence than the variable and mortal, and has a corresponding measure of knowledge and truth. The soul, again, has more existence and truth and knowledge than the body, and is therefore more really satisfied and has a more natural pleasure. Those who feast only on earthly food, are always going at random up to the middle and down again; but they never pass into the true upper world, or have a taste of true pleasure. They are like fatted beasts, full of gluttony and sensuality, and ready to kill one another by reason of their insatiable lust; for they are not filled with true being, and their vessel is leaky (Gorgias). Their pleasures are mere shadows of pleasure, mixed with pain, coloured and intensified by contrast, and therefore intensely desired; and men go fighting about them, as

#### **Thesaurus**

ANTONYMS: (adj) changing,

immortal: (adj) eternal, enduring, undying, endless, monumental; (adj, v) deathless, imperishable, celebrated; (n) deity, God, divinity. ANTONYMS: (adj) obscure, earthly, forgettable, perishable, temporary. intensified: (adj) intense, resonant, furious. invariable: (adj) fixed, consistent,

invariable: (adj) fixed, consistent, even, immutable, steady, unchanging, stable, uniform, set, undeviating, unchanged. dynamic, erratic, irregular, varied. leaky: (adj) leak, cracked, permeable, porous, holey, blabbermouthed, unseaworthy, tattling, talebearing, incontinent, faulty. ANTONYMS: (adj) tight, watertight. lust: (n, v) desire, hunger, itch; (n) craving, greed, libido, lecherousness, cupidity, lewdness; (v) covet, crave. sensuality: (n) sensualism, animalism,

sensualness, lust, carnality,

concupiscence, animal gratification, bodily enjoyment, hedonism, sensationalism, debauchery. simile: (n) figure of speech, analogy, comparison, compare, resemblance, likeness, similarity, allegory, similitude, parable; (adj) metalepsis. witchery: (adj, n) fascination, enchantment, (n) sorcery, glamour, spell, magic, black magic, necromancy, enticement, allurement, temptation.

Stesichorus says that the Greeks fought about the shadow of Helen at Troy, because they know not the truth.

The same may be said of the passionate element: - the desires of the ambitious soul, as well as of the covetous, have an inferior satisfaction. Only when under the guidance of reason do either of the other principles do their own business or attain the pleasure which is natural to them. When not attaining, they compel the other parts of the soul to pursue a shadow of pleasure which is not theirs. And the more distant they are from philosophy and reason, the more distant they will be from law and order, and the more illusive will be their pleasures. The desires of love and tyranny are the farthest from law, and those of the king are nearest to it. There is one genuine pleasure, and two spurious ones: the tyrant goes beyond even the latter; he has run away altogether from law and reason. Nor can the measure of his inferiority be told, except in a figure. The tyrant is the third removed from the oligarch, and has therefore, not a shadow of his pleasure, but the shadow of a shadow only. The oligarch, again, is thrice removed from the king, and thus we get the formula 3 x 3, which is the number of a surface, representing the shadow which is the tyrant's pleasure, and if you like to cube this 'number of the beast,' you will find that the measure of the difference amounts to 729; the king is 729 times more happy than the tyrant. And this extraordinary number is NEARLY equal to the number of days and **nights** in a year  $(365 \times 2 = 730)$ ; and is therefore concerned with human life. This is the interval between a good and bad man in happiness only: what must be the difference between them in comeliness of life and virtue!

Perhaps you may remember some one saying at the beginning of our discussion that the unjust man was profited if he had the reputation of justice. Now that we know the nature of justice and injustice, let us make an image of the soul, which will **personify** his words. First of all, fashion a **multitudinous** beast, having a ring of heads of all manner of animals, tame and wild, and able to produce and change them at pleasure. Suppose now another form of a lion, and another of a man; the second smaller than the first, the third than the second; join them together and cover them with a human skin, in which they are completely

#### **Thesaurus**

attaining: (v) attain, achieve; (n) attainment.

comeliness: (n) charm, grace,
loveliness, fairness, beauteousness,
attractiveness, pulchritude,
goodliness, blondness, mense, form.

compel: (v) force, coerce, pressure,
necessitate, enforce, command,
oblige, require, make, obligate, press.
ANTONYMS: (v) impede, deter,
check, block, request, prevent.

farthest: (adj) ultimate, extreme,

farthermost, utmost, uttermost, last, furthermost, endmost, greatest, most distant; (adj, adv) remotest. ANTONYMS: (adv) closest, nearest. illusive: (adj) deceptive, false, delusive, imaginary, fallacious, unreal, seeming, ostensible, apparent, fanciful, fantastic. inferiority: (n) poorness, degeneracy, subordinacy, minority, disadvantage, calibre, vulgarity, quality,

subordination, meanness, deteriority.

advantage, excellence, preeminence. multitudinous: (adj) innumerable, infinite, manifold, multiple, numberless, myriad, many, numerous, thick, populous, innumerous. nights: (adj) nightly; (n) night. personify: (v) incarnate, embody, typify, represent, exemplify, personalize, materialize, impersonate, body, symbolize, be.

ANTONYMS: (n) superiority,

concealed. When this has been done, let us tell the supporter of injustice that he is feeding up the beasts and starving the man. The **maintainer** of justice, on the other hand, is trying to strengthen the man; he is nourishing the gentle principle within him, and making an alliance with the lion heart, in order that he may be able to keep down the many-headed **hydra**, and bring all into unity with each other and with themselves. Thus in every point of view, **whether** in relation to pleasure, honour, or advantage, the just man is right, and the unjust wrong.

But now, let us reason with the unjust, who is not intentionally in error. Is not the noble that which subjects the beast to the man, or rather to the God in man; the ignoble, that which subjects the man to the beast? And if so, who would receive gold on condition that he was to degrade the noblest part of himself under the worst? - who would sell his son or daughter into the hands of brutal and evil men, for any amount of money? And will he sell his own fairer and diviner part without any compunction to the most godless and foul? Would he not be worse than Eriphyle, who sold her husband's life for a necklace? And intemperance is the letting loose of the multiform monster, and pride and sullenness are the growth and increase of the lion and serpent element, while luxury and effeminacy are caused by a too great relaxation of spirit. Flattery and meanness again arise when the spirited element is subjected to avarice, and the lion is habituated to become a monkey. The real disgrace of handicraft arts is, that those who are engaged in them have to flatter, instead of mastering their desires; therefore we say that they should be placed under the control of the better principle in another because they have none in themselves; not, as Thrasymachus imagined, to the injury of the subjects, but for their good. And our intention in educating the young, is to give them self-control; the law desires to nurse up in them a higher principle, and when they have acquired this, they may go their ways.

'What, then, shall a man profit, if he gain the whole world' and become more and more wicked? Or what shall he profit by escaping discovery, if the concealment of evil prevents the cure? If he had been punished, the brute within him would have been silenced, and the gentler element liberated; and he would

#### **Thesaurus**

effeminacy: (n) effeminateness, unmanliness, effemination, emasculation, enervation, femininity, weakness, sissiness, sybaritism; (adj) feminality, timidity.
godless: (adj) impious, blasphemous, ungodly, profane, devoutless, unholy, atheistic, wicked, graceless, irreligious, irreverent.
habituated: (v) given to, addicted to, attuned to; (adj, v) used to; (adj)

inveterate, hardened. ANTONYM: (adj) untrained.

handicraft: (*n*) craft, handcraft, handiwork, mystery, occupation, handwork, trade, art, profession, artifice, job.

hydra: (adj) chimera, Minotaur, seed plot, sphinx, warren, rabbit, phoenix, milch cow; (n) snake, plague, cancer. maintainer: (n) upholder, sustainer, mainstay.

addicted, wont, trained, inured, used, mastering: (adj) victorious.

multiform: (adj) different, multifarious, polymorphous, multigenerous, manifold, miscellaneous, multiple, polymorphic, multiplex, polyschematist, multifold.

sullenness: (n) glumness, moroseness, moodiness, resentment, sourness, gloominess, brusqueness, sulk, gloom, doggedness, mumps.
ANTONYM: (n) cheeriness.
whether: (pron) where.

have united temperance, justice, and wisdom in his soul—a union better far than any combination of bodily gifts. The man of understanding will honour knowledge above all; in the next place he will keep under his body, not only for the sake of health and strength, but in order to attain the most perfect harmony of body and soul. In the acquisition of riches, too, he will aim at order and harmony; he will not desire to **heap** up wealth without measure, but he will fear that the increase of wealth will disturb the constitution of his own soul. For the same reason he will only accept such honours as will make him a better man; any others he will decline. 'In that case,' said he, 'he will never be a politician.' Yes, but he will, in his own city; though probably not in his native country, unless by some divine accident. 'You mean that he will be a citizen of the ideal city, which has no place upon earth.' But in heaven, I replied, there is a pattern of such a city, and he who wishes may order his life after that image. Whether such a state is or ever will be matters not; he will act according to that pattern and no other...

The most noticeable points in the 9th Book of the Republic are: -(1) the account of pleasure; (2) the number of the interval which divides the king from the tyrant; (3) the pattern which is in heaven.

1. Plato's account of pleasure is remarkable for moderation, and in this respect contrasts with the later Platonists and the views which are attributed to them by Aristotle. He is not, like the Cynics, opposed to all pleasure, but rather desires that the several parts of the soul shall have their natural satisfaction; he even agrees with the Epicureans in describing pleasure as something more than the absence of pain. This is proved by the circumstance that there are pleasures which have no **antecedent** pains (as he also remarks in the Philebus), such as the pleasures of smell, and also the pleasures of hope and anticipation. In the previous book he had made the distinction between necessary and unnecessary pleasure, which is repeated by Aristotle, and he now observes that there are a further class of 'wild beast' pleasures, corresponding to Aristotle's (Greek). He dwells upon the relative and unreal character of sensual pleasures and the

#### **Thesaurus**

**antecedent**: (adj, n, v) precedent; (n)precursor, forerunner, forebear, forefather, predecessor; (adj) anterior, past, former, preceding, prior. ANTONYMS: (adj) subsequent, after, following, later, posterior; (n) successor.

attain: (v) make, reach, achieve, acquire, gain, strike, catch, arrive at, find, obtain, come to. ANTONYMS: (v) lose, fail, abandon, surrender, differ.

disturb: (v) trouble, disorder, disconcert, distress, perturb, disquiet, sensual: (adj, v) luxurious, voluptuous; distract, discompose, disrupt, upset, concern. ANTONYMS: (v) calm, please, soothe, smooth, order, reassure, sort, settle, respect, quiet, organize.

**heap**: (n, v) pile, aggregate, amass; (n)collection, accumulation, mound, mass, group, lot; (v) bank, collect. ANTONYM: (v) tidy. honours: (n) first, honors, degree,

academic degree.

(adj, adv) fleshly; (adj) animal, lascivious, sexy, sexual, libidinous, lewd, gross, licentious. unreal: (adj) illusory, fantastic, fanciful, imaginary, insubstantial, artificial, fictitious, visionary, untrue; (adj, v) ideal, fancied. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, natural, substantial, authentic, ordinary, plausible.

illusion which arises out of the contrast of pleasure and pain, pointing out the superiority of the pleasures of reason, which are at rest, over the fleeting pleasures of sense and emotion. The pre-eminence of royal pleasure is shown by the fact that reason is able to form a judgment of the lower pleasures, while the two lower parts of the soul are incapable of judging the pleasures of reason. Thus, in his treatment of pleasure, as in many other subjects, the philosophy of Plato is 'sawn up into quantities' by Aristotle; the analysis which was originally made by him became in the next generation the foundation of further technical distinctions. Both in Plato and Aristotle we note the illusion under which the ancients fell of regarding the **transience** of pleasure as a proof of its unreality, and of **confounding** the permanence of the intellectual pleasures with the **unchangeableness** of the knowledge from which they are derived. Neither do we like to admit that the pleasures of knowledge, though more elevating, are not more lasting than other pleasures, and are almost equally dependent on the accidents of our bodily state (Introduction to Philebus).

2. The number of the interval which separates the king from the tyrant, and royal from tyrannical pleasures, is 729, the cube of 9. Which Plato characteristically designates as a number concerned with human life, because NEARLY equivalent to the number of days and nights in the year. He is desirous of proclaiming that the interval between them is **immeasurable**, and invents a formula to give expression to his idea. Those who spoke of justice as a cube, of virtue as an art of measuring (Prot.), saw no **inappropriateness** in conceiving the soul under the figure of a line, or the pleasure of the tyrant as separated from the pleasure of the king by the numerical interval of 729. And in modern times we sometimes use **metaphorically** what Plato employed as a philosophical formula. 'It is not easy to estimate the loss of the tyrant, except perhaps in this way,' says Plato. So we might say, that although the life of a good man is not to be compared to that of a bad man, yet you may measure the difference between them by **valuing** one minute of the one at an hour of the other ('One day in thy courts is better than a thousand'), or you might say that

#### **Thesaurus**

**confounding**: (*adj*) baffling, puzzling, contradictory, devious, difficult, marvelous, misleading, astounding; (*v*) confound; (*n*) misunderstanding, confusion.

immeasurable: (adj) endless, immense, infinite, huge, enormous, illimitable, unmeasurable, incalculable, inestimable, innumerable, interminable. ANTONYMS: (adj) limited, minute, finite, shallow, slight, negligible, tiny, few, minor,

inappropriateness: (n) unsuitability, unfitness, impertinence, infelicity, incongruity, inaptness, inaptitude, ineptitude, incorrectness, ineptness, error. ANTONYMS: (n) correctness,

metaphorically: (adv) allegorically, symbolically, tralatitiously, tropically, parabolically, parabolicly, symbolicly, typically.

**transience**: (*n*) brevity, impermanency, **valuing**: (*adj*) loving; (*n*) regard.

transiency, briefness, fugaciousness, fugacity, evanescence, ephemerality, length, ephemeralness; (adj) transientness.

unchangeableness: (n)
unchangeability, absoluteness,
changelessness, fixedness,
irreversibility, invariance,
invariability, immutability,
inflexibility, unchangingness,
unbending pertinacity.

'there is an infinite difference.' But this is not so much as saying, in **homely** phrase, 'They are a thousand miles asunder.' And accordingly Plato finds the natural vehicle of his thoughts in a progression of numbers; this arithmetical formula he draws out with the **utmost seriousness**, and both here and in the number of generation seems to find an additional proof of the truth of his speculation in forming the number into a geometrical figure; just as persons in our own day are apt to fancy that a statement is **verified** when it has been only thrown into an abstract form. In speaking of the number 729 as proper to human life, he probably intended to intimate that one year of the tyrannical = 12 hours of the royal life.

The simple observation that the comparison of two similar solids is effected by the comparison of the cubes of their sides, is the mathematical **groundwork** of this fanciful expression. There is some difficulty in **explaining** the steps by which the number 729 is obtained; the oligarch is removed in the third degree from the royal and **aristocratical**, and the tyrant in the third degree from the oligarchical; but we have to arrange the terms as the sides of a square and to count the oligarch twice over, thus **reckoning** them not as = 5 but as = 9. The square of 9 is passed lightly over as only a step towards the cube.

3. Towards the close of the Republic, Plato seems to be more and more convinced of the ideal character of his own speculations. At the end of the 9th Book the pattern which is in heaven takes the place of the city of philosophers on earth. The vision which has received form and substance at his hands, is now discovered to be at a distance. And yet this distant kingdom is also the rule of man's life. ('Say not lo! here, or lo! there, for the kingdom of God is within you.') Thus a note is struck which prepares for the revelation of a future life in the following Book. But the future life is present still; the ideal of politics is to be realized in the individual.

#### **Thesaurus**

aristocratical: (adj) noble, patrician, blue, gentle.

explaining: (n) amplification, illumination, clearing up, defense.

groundwork: (n) bottom, basis, base, foundation, bed, ground, footing, bedrock, fundament, background, substructure.

homely: (adj) plain, common, rustic, artless, home, snug, homelike, domestic; (adj, adv) ugly; (adv) plainly, simplely. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, striking, uncomfortable, bleak. reckoning: (n) calculation, computation, bill, score, computing, liquidation, clearance; (n, v) count, enumeration, account, estimation. seriousness: (n) earnest, earnestness, graveness, importance, staidness, solemnity, sincerity, consequence, sobriety, austerity, soberness. ANTONYMS: (n) flippancy, insignificance, frivolity, giddiness,

jollity, triviality, cheerfulness, joking, joviality, unimportance, playfulness. utmost: (adj, n) maximum, extreme, uttermost, furthermost, best, highest; (adj, adv) farthest; (adj, v) supreme; (adj) last, furthest; (adj, n, v) greatest. ANTONYMS: (adj) moderate, worst. verified: (adj) substantiated, confirmed, hard, proven, demonstrated, authoritative, actual, established. ANTONYM: (adj) unproven.

#### ANALYSIS OF BOOK X

Many things pleased me in the order of our State, but there was nothing which I liked better than the regulation about poetry. The division of the soul throws a new light on our exclusion of **imitation**. I do not mind telling you in confidence that all poetry is an **outrage** on the understanding, unless the hearers have that balm of knowledge which heals error. I have loved Homer ever since I was a boy, and even now he appears to me to be the great master of tragic poetry. But much as I love the man, I love truth more, and therefore I must speak out: and first of all, will you explain what is imitation, for really I do not understand? 'How likely then that I should understand!' That might very well be, for the duller often sees better than the keener eye. 'True, but in your presence I can hardly venture to say what I think.' Then suppose that we begin in our old fashion, with the doctrine of universals. Let us assume the existence of beds and tables. There is one idea of a bed, or of a table, which the maker of each had in his mind when making them; he did not make the ideas of beds and tables, but he made beds and tables according to the ideas. And is there not a maker of the works of all workmen, who makes not only vessels but plants and animals, himself, the earth and heaven, and things in heaven and under the earth? He makes the Gods also. 'He must be a wizard indeed!' But do you not see that there is a sense in which you could do the same? You have only to take a mirror, and catch the reflection of the sun, and the earth, or anything else - there

## **Thesaurus** inventor, constructor, father,

balm: (n) salve, unguent, incense, perfume, aroma, unction, liniment, balsam, arnica, lotion, fragrance. ANTONYMS: (n) irritant, nuisance. imitation: (adj, n) fake, sham, reproduction; (n) dummy, forgery, mockery, copy, emulation; (n, v) parody; (adj) false, bogus. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, real, natural; (n) original, formalism. maker: (n) creator, manufacturer, author, architect, builder, producer,

generator, designer. **outrage**: (*n*, *v*) insult, affront, dishonor, anger; (*v*) offend, violate, desecrate; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) abuse; (*n*) atrocity, indignity, enormity. **reflection**: (*n*) contemplation, thought, deliberation, meditation, musing, cogitation, idea, notion, introspection; (*n*, *v*) observation, reflexion. ANTONYMS: (*n*) impulsiveness, confirmation.

tragic: (adj) calamitous, disastrous, dreadful, grievous, catastrophic, unlucky, unfortunate, woeful, tragical, comic, heartbreaking. ANTONYMS: (adj) humorous, heartwarming, blessed, advantageous, lucky, fortunate, joyous.
wizard: (n) necromancer, sorcerer, conjuror, genius, enchanter, conjurer, expert, whiz, ace, warlock; (adj, n) adept. ANTONYM: (n) rookie.

now you have made them. 'Yes, but only in appearance.' Exactly so; and the painter is such a creator as you are with the mirror, and he is even more unreal than the carpenter; although neither the carpenter nor any other artist can be supposed to make the absolute bed. 'Not if philosophers may be believed.' Nor need we wonder that his bed has but an imperfect relation to the truth. Reflect: — Here are three beds; one in nature, which is made by God; another, which is made by the carpenter; and the third, by the painter. God only made one, nor could he have made more than one; for if there had been two, there would always have been a third-more absolute and abstract than either, under which they would have been included. We may therefore conceive God to be the natural maker of the bed, and in a lower sense the carpenter is also the maker; but the painter is rather the imitator of what the other two make; he has to do with a creation which is thrice removed from reality. And the tragic poet is an imitator, and, like every other imitator, is thrice removed from the king and from the truth. The painter imitates not the original bed, but the bed made by the carpenter. And this, without being really different, appears to be different, and has many points of view, of which only one is caught by the painter, who represents everything because he represents a piece of everything, and that piece an image. And he can paint any other artist, although he knows nothing of their arts; and this with sufficient skill to deceive children or simple people. Suppose now that somebody came to us and told us, how he had met a man who knew all that everybody knows, and better than anybody: - should we not infer him to be a **simpleton** who, **having** no **discernment** of truth and falsehood, had met with a wizard or enchanter, whom he fancied to be all- wise? And when we hear persons saying that Homer and the tragedians know all the arts and all the virtues, must we not infer that they are under a similar delusion? they do not see that the poets are imitators, and that their creations are only imitations. 'Very true.' But if a person could create as well as imitate, he would rather leave some permanent work and not an imitation only; he would rather be the receiver than the **giver** of praise? 'Yes, for then he would have more honour and advantage.

'Let us now interrogate Homer and the poets. Friend Homer, say I to him, I am not going to ask you about medicine, or any art to which your poems

**delusion**: (n) hallucination, deception, cheat, chimera, misunderstanding, mirage, trick, fallacy, error, aberration, falsehood. ANTONYMS: (n) comprehension, fact, truth. discernment: (n, v) appreciation, sense, apprehension; (n)comprehension, discretion, taste, understanding, insight, discrimination, perception, recognition. ANTONYMS: (n) ignorance, tastelessness,

#### **Thesaurus**

uncouthness, clumsiness.

sorcerer, wizard, warlock, sorceress, fancied: (adj) unreal, chimerical, fictional, fanciful, fictitious, fabricated, preferred, assumed, illusory, imagined, ideal. giver: (n) contributor, benefactor, abnegator, almsgiver, altruist, supporter, helper, donator, grantor, provider, philanthropist.

having: (n) estate, possession, enchanter: (n) magician, necromancer, acceptance, enjoyment. **interrogate**: (n, v) question, pump; (v)ask, demand, examine, enquire, catechize, query, quiz, probe, investigate. ANTONYMS: (v) reply,

knew: (adj) known; (v) recognize, wist. simpleton: (n) fool, blockhead, dolt, dunce, numskull, ninny, nincompoop, booby, sap, dummy, dullard.

incidentally refer, but about their main subjects—war, military tactics, politics. If you are only twice and not thrice removed from the truth - not an imitator or an image-maker, please to inform us what good you have ever done to mankind? Is there any city which professes to have received laws from you, as Sicily and Italy have from Charondas, Sparta from Lycurgus, Athens from Solon? Or was any war ever carried on by your counsels? or is any invention attributed to you, as there is to Thales and Anacharsis? Or is there any Homeric way of life, such as the Pythagorean was, in which you instructed men, and which is called after you? 'No, indeed; and Creophylus (Flesh-child) was even more unfortunate in his breeding than he was in his name, if, as tradition says, Homer in his lifetime was allowed by him and his other friends to starve.' Yes, but could this ever have happened if Homer had really been the educator of Hellas? Would he not have had many devoted followers? If Protagoras and Prodicus can persuade their contemporaries that no one can manage house or State without them, is it likely that Homer and Hesiod would have been allowed to go about as beggars—I mean if they had really been able to do the world any good?—would not men have compelled them to stay where they were, or have followed them about in order to get education? But they did not; and therefore we may infer that Homer and all the poets are only imitators, who do but imitate the appearances of things. For as a painter by a knowledge of figure and colour can paint a cobbler without any practice in cobbling, so the poet can delineate any art in the colours of language, and give harmony and rhythm to the cobbler and also to the general; and you know how mere narration, when deprived of the ornaments of metre, is like a face which has lost the beauty of youth and never had any other. Once more, the imitator has no knowledge of reality, but only of appearance. The painter paints, and the artificer makes a bridle and reins, but neither understands the use of them-the knowledge of this is confined to the horseman; and so of other things. Thus we have three arts: one of use, another of invention, a third of imitation; and the user furnishes the rule to the two others. The flute-player will know the good and bad flute, and the maker will put faith in him; but the imitator will neither know nor have faith-neither science nor true opinion can be ascribed to him. Imitation, then, is devoid of

#### Thesaurus

artificer: (n) artisan, Wright, craftsman, manufacturer, maker, inventor, machinist, architect, discoverer, journeyman, armorer. ascribed: (adj) accredited, qualified, credited, ascriptitious, additional, added. ANTONYM: (adj) unofficial. cobbling: (n) shoe repairing, shoemaking.

devoid: (adj) empty, vacant, absent, wanting, vacuous, destitute, clear, deficient, bereft, inane; (v) quit.

ANTONYMS: (adj) filled, supplied, replete, full.

educator: (n) instructor, schoolmaster, pedagogue, academic, academician, coach, professional, master, educators, preceptor, trainer.

flute: (n) wineglass, furrow, groove, fluting, tooth gap, champagne flute, corrugation, plow, wood, woodwind; (v) channel.

horseman: (n) cavalier, rider, jockey, horse fancier, horseback rider,

trooper, trainer, knight, cavalryman, animal fancier, postilion. **narration**: (n) description, recital, narrative, explanation, history, tale, report, relation, story, recitation,

ornaments: (n) stuff, trim, ornamentation, equipments, dress, disposition, custom, curios, condition, clothing, gaudery.

paints: (n) colors.

rehearsal.

knowledge, being only a kind of play or sport, and the tragic and epic poets are imitators in the highest degreeAnd now let us enquire, what is the faculty in man which answers to imitation. Allow me to explain my meaning: Objects are differently seen when in the water and when out of the water, when near and when at a distance; and the painter or juggler makes use of this variation to impose upon us. And the art of measuring and weighing and calculating comes in to save our bewildered minds from the power of appearance; for, as we were saying, two contrary opinions of the same about the same and at the same time, cannot both of them be true. But which of them is true is determined by the art of calculation; and this is allied to the better faculty in the soul, as the arts of imitation are to the worse. And the same holds of the ear as well as of the eye, of poetry as well as painting. The imitation is of actions voluntary or involuntary, in which there is an expectation of a good or bad result, and present experience of pleasure and pain. But is a man in harmony with himself when he is the subject of these conflicting influences? Is there not rather a contradiction in him? Let me further ask, whether he is more likely to control sorrow when he is alone or when he is in company. 'In the latter case.' Feeling would lead him to indulge his sorrow, but reason and law control him and enjoin patience; since he cannot know whether his **affliction** is good or evil, and no human thing is of any great consequence, while sorrow is certainly a hindrance to good counsel. For when we stumble, we should not, like children, make an uproar; we should take the measures which reason prescribes, not raising a lament, but finding a cure. And the better part of us is ready to follow reason, while the irrational principle is full of sorrow and distraction at the recollection of our troubles. Unfortunately, however, this latter furnishes the chief materials of the imitative arts. Whereas reason is ever in repose and cannot easily be displayed, especially to a mixed multitude who have no experience of her. Thus the poet is like the painter in two ways: first he paints an inferior degree of truth, and secondly, he is concerned with an inferior part of the soul. He indulges the feelings, while he enfeebles the reason; and we refuse to allow him to have authority over the mind of man; for he has no measure of greater and less, and is a maker of images and very far gone from truth.

#### **Thesaurus**

affliction: (n, v) adversity; (n) distress, regret, martyrdom, torment, curse, trial, bane, misadventure, sorrow, agony. ANTONYMS: (n) gift, godsend, solace, blessing.
enjoin: (v) command, dictate, direct, instruct, tell, charge, require, forbid, disallow, impose, order.
ANTONYMS: (v) acquiesce, yield, submit, permit, request, let, comply, agree, allow, obey.
hindrance: (n, v) difficulty, obstacle,

block, check, delay; (n) deterrent, barrier, obstruction, impediment, inconvenience, disturbance.

ANTONYMS: (n) advantage, contribution, assistance, success, boost, incentive, strength.

juggler: (n) performer, magician, cheat, conjurer, prestidigitator, deceiver, trickster, jockey, prestigiator, conveyer.

lament: (v) bemoan, complain, deplore, grieve, keen, bewail, mourn;

(*n*) dirge, complaint; (*n*, *v*) wail, moan. ANTONYMS: (*n*) celebration, joy; (*v*) revel, rejoice, celebrate, applaud, praise, compliment. **troubles**: (*n*) dilemma, evils, harms, ills. **uproar**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) hubbub, disturbance, tumult; (*n*) din, noise, turmoil, comparising disorder confusion (*ddi*, *comparising*).

uproar: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) hubbub, disturbance, tumult; (*n*) din, noise, turmoil, commotion, disorder, confusion; (*adj*, *n*) row; (*n*, *v*) brawl. ANTONYMS: (*n*) calm, peace, serenity, order.

But we have not yet mentioned the heaviest count in the indictment-the power which poetry has of injuriously exciting the feelings. When we hear some passage in which a hero laments his sufferings at tedious length, you know that we sympathize with him and praise the poet; and yet in our own sorrows such an exhibition of feeling is regarded as **effeminate** and **unmanly** (Ion). Now, ought a man to feel pleasure in seeing another do what he hates and abominates in himself? Is he not giving way to a sentiment which in his own case he would control? - he is off his guard because the sorrow is another's; and he thinks that he may indulge his feelings without disgrace, and will be the gainer by the pleasure. But the inevitable consequence is that he who begins by weeping at the sorrows of others, will end by weeping at his own. The same is true of comedy, - you may often laugh at buffoonery which you would be ashamed to utter, and the love of coarse merriment on the stage will at last turn you into a buffoon at home. Poetry feeds and waters the passions and desires; she lets them rule instead of ruling them. And therefore, when we hear the encomiasts of Homer affirming that he is the educator of Hellas, and that all life should be regulated by his precepts, we may allow the excellence of their intentions, and agree with them in thinking Homer a great poet and tragedian. But we shall continue to prohibit all poetry which goes beyond hymns to the Gods and praises of famous men. Not pleasure and pain, but law and reason shall rule in our State.

These are our grounds for **expelling** poetry; but lest she should charge us with **discourtesy**, let us also make an apology to her. We will remind her that there is an ancient quarrel between poetry and philosophy, of which there are many traces in the writings of the poets, such as the saying of 'the she-dog, **yelping** at her mistress,' and 'the philosophers who are ready to circumvent Zeus,' and 'the philosophers who are paupers.' Nevertheless we bear her no **ill**-will, and will gladly allow her to return upon condition that she makes a defence of herself in verse; and her supporters who are not poets may speak in prose. We confess her charms; but if she cannot show that she is useful as well as delightful, like rational lovers, we must renounce our love, though endeared to us by early associations. Having come to years of discretion, we know that poetry is not

### Thesaurus ster, clown, zany, politeness, civility.

**buffoon**: (*n*) fool, jester, clown, zany, merry Andrew, mimic, pantaloon, joker, scaramouch, droll, buffo. **buffoonery**: (*n*) farce, harlequinade, fooling, joke, prank, clowning, foolery, indulgence, folly, fun, humor. **discourtesy**: (*n*) indignity, rudeness.

**discourtesy**: (*n*) indignity, rudeness, incivility, affront, contempt, contumely, insult, abruptness, brusqueness, impudence, bad manners. ANTONYMS: (*n*)

politeness, civility.

effeminate: (adj) womanish, delicate,
epicene, sissy, emasculate, tender,
ladylike, cissy, easy, voluptuous; (adj,
v) feminate. ANTONYMS: (adj)
macho, manly, masculine.

expelling: (n) discharge, catamenia, excretion, elimination, evacuation, ejaculation, emission, menstrual, menstruation, period, emanation. ill-will: (n) enmity. injuriously: (adv) detrimentally,

noxiously, mischievously, perniciously, deleteriously, badly, hurtfully, wrongfully, prejudicially, damagingly, insultingly.

tragedian: (n) thespian, comedian, role player, histrion, actor, author, player. unmanly: (adj) pusillanimous, fearful, unmanlike, unchivalric, unknightly, unmanful, craven, weak; (adv) unmanfully, cowardly, effeminately. ANTONYM: (adv) manfully. yelping: (n) cry, wapping.

truth, and that a man should be careful how he introduces her to that state or constitution which he himself is; for there is a mighty issue at stake—no less than the good or evil of a human soul. And it is not worth while to **forsake** justice and virtue for the attractions of poetry, any more than for the sake of honour or wealth. 'I agree with you.'

And yet the rewards of virtue are greater far than I have described. 'And can we conceive things greater still?' Not, perhaps, in this brief **span** of life: but should an immortal being care about anything short of eternity? 'I do not understand what you mean?' Do you not know that the soul is immortal? 'Surely you are not prepared to prove that?' Indeed I am. 'Then let me hear this argument, of which you make so light.'

You would admit that everything has an element of good and of evil. In all things there is an inherent corruption; and if this cannot destroy them, nothing else will. The soul too has her own corrupting principles, which are injustice, intemperance, cowardice, and the like. But none of these destroy the soul in the same sense that disease destroys the body. The soul may be full of all iniquities, but is not, by reason of them, brought any nearer to death. Nothing which was not destroyed from within ever **perished** by external affection of evil. The body, which is one thing, cannot be destroyed by food, which is another, unless the badness of the food is communicated to the body. Neither can the soul, which is one thing, be corrupted by the body, which is another, unless she herself is infected. And as no bodily evil can infect the soul, neither can any bodily evil, whether disease or violence, or any other destroy the soul, unless it can be shown to render her unholy and unjust. But no one will ever prove that the souls of men become more unjust when they die. If a person has the audacity to say the contrary, the answer is-Then why do criminals require the hand of the executioner, and not die of themselves? 'Truly,' he said, 'injustice would not be very terrible if it brought a cessation of evil; but I rather believe that the injustice which murders others may tend to quicken and stimulate the life of the unjust.' You are quite right. If sin which is her own natural and inherent evil cannot destroy the soul, hardly will anything else destroy her. But the soul which

#### **Thesaurus**

audacity: (n) nerve, audaciousness, effrontery, arrogance, temerity, cheek, impertinence, insolence, courage; (n, v) impudence; (adj, n) presumption. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, propriety, decorum, circumspection, courtesy, fear, respect, spinelessness, reticence. badness: (n) evil, wickedness, evilness, ill, naughtiness, disobedience, intensity, intensiveness, quality, roguishness, viciousness.

ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, decency,

forsake: (v) abandon, ditch, relinquish, abdicate, fail, leave, forgo, chuck, disclaim; (n, v) drop; (adj, v) quit. ANTONYM: (v) support.

infect: (v) contaminate, corrupt, affect, inspire, foul, pollute, defile, poison, touch, animate; (adj) contagious. ANTONYMS: (v) purify, disinfect, clean.

perished: (adj) decayed, emperished,

rotting, annihilated, fallen, lost, moldy, nonexistent, putrefied, dead, decomposed.

**quicken**: (*v*) accelerate, hasten, hurry, dispatch, animate, expedite, advance, enliven, precipitate; (*n*, *v*) forward, speed. ANTONYMS: (*v*) decelerate, delay.

**span**: (*n*) length, distance, couple, range, period, extent, pair; (*n*, *v*) bridge, reach, stretch; (*v*) cross.

cannot be destroyed either by internal or external evil must be immortal and everlasting. And if this be true, souls will always exist in the same number. They cannot diminish, because they cannot be destroyed; nor yet increase, for the increase of the immortal must come from something mortal, and so all would end in immortality. Neither is the soul variable and diverse; for that which is immortal must be of the fairest and **simplest** composition. If we would conceive her truly, and so behold justice and injustice in their own nature, she must be viewed by the light of reason pure as at birth, or as she is reflected in philosophy when holding converse with the divine and immortal and eternal. In her present condition we see her only like the sea-god Glaucus, bruised and maimed in the sea which is the world, and covered with shells and stones which are incrusted upon her from the entertainments of earth.

Thus far, as the argument required, we have said nothing of the rewards and honours which the poets attribute to justice; we have contented ourselves with showing that justice in herself is best for the soul in herself, even if a man should put on a Gyges' ring and have the helmet of Hades too. And now you shall repay me what you borrowed; and I will enumerate the rewards of justice in life and after death. I granted, for the sake of argument, as you will remember, that evil might perhaps escape the knowledge of Gods and men, although this was really impossible. And since I have shown that justice has reality, you must grant me also that she has the palm of appearance. In the first place, the just man is known to the Gods, and he is therefore the friend of the Gods, and he will receive at their hands every good, always excepting such evil as is the necessary consequence of former sins. All things end in good to him, either in life or after death, even what appears to be evil; for the Gods have a care of him who desires to be in their likeness. And what shall we say of men? Is not honesty the best policy? The clever rogue makes a great start at first, but breaks down before he reaches the goal, and slinks away in dishonour; whereas the true runner perseveres to the end, and receives the prize. And you must allow me to repeat all the blessings which you attributed to the fortunate unjust—they bear rule in the city, they marry and give in marriage to whom they will; and the evils which

sore, livid, tender, sensitive, rotten, surbet, sore to the touch, painful. diminish: (v) decline, abate, abridge, deduct, dwindle, detract, fall, depreciate; (adj, v) lessen; (adj, n, v)degrade; (n, v) reduce. ANTONYMS: (v) grow, compliment, supplement, rise, recognize, prolong, praise,

bruised: (adj) wounded, hurt, raw,

flatter, expand, enlarge, congratulate. everlasting: (adj) eternal, ceaseless, endless, constant, continual,

#### Thesaurus

perpetual, immortal, deathless, ageless, aeonian; (adj, n) lasting. ANTONYMS: (adj) finite, ephemeral, fleeting, mortal, ending, terminating, inconstant, fragile, perishable. excepting: (conj, prep) but, bar; (n, prep) mortal: (adj) deadly, fatal, lethal, except for, exclusive of; (prep) aside from, besides, apart from, barring, excluding, with the exception of; (v) saving. ANTONYM: (prep) including. incrusted: (adj) crusted. injustice: (n) iniquity, wrong,

unfairness, bigotry, wickedness, prejudice, crime; (adj, n) injury, evil, harm, damage. ANTONYMS: (n) fairness, evenhandedness, reasonableness, goodness, tolerance. deathly, earthly; (n) man, individual, creature, person, human being, body. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) immortal; (adj) eternal, heavenly, mild, perfect, spiritual. simplest: (adj) rudimentary.

you attributed to the unfortunate just, do really fall in the end on the unjust, although, as you implied, their sufferings are better veiled in silence.

But all the blessings of this present life are as nothing when compared with those which await good men after death. 'I should like to hear about them.' Come, then, and I will tell you the story of Er, the son of Armenius, a valiant man. He was supposed to have died in battle, but ten days afterwards his body was found untouched by corruption and sent home for burial. On the twelfth day he was placed on the funeral pyre and there he came to life again, and told what he had seen in the world below. He said that his soul went with a great company to a place, in which there were two chasms near together in the earth beneath, and two corresponding chasms in the heaven above. And there were judges sitting in the intermediate space, bidding the just ascend by the heavenly way on the right hand, having the seal of their judgment set upon them before, while the unjust, having the seal behind, were bidden to descend by the way on the left hand. Him they told to look and listen, as he was to be their messenger to men from the world below. And he beheld and saw the souls departing after judgment at either chasm; some who came from earth, were worn and travelstained; others, who came from heaven, were clean and bright. They seemed glad to meet and rest awhile in the meadow; here they discoursed with one another of what they had seen in the other world. Those who came from earth wept at the remembrance of their sorrows, but the spirits from above spoke of glorious sights and heavenly bliss. He said that for every evil deed they were punished tenfold—now the journey was of a thousand years' duration, because the life of man was reckoned as a hundred years-and the rewards of virtue were in the same proportion. He added something hardly worth repeating about infants dying almost as soon as they were born. Of parricides and other murderers he had tortures still more terrible to narrate. He was present when one of the spirits asked-Where is Ardiaeus the Great? (This Ardiaeus was a cruel tyrant, who had murdered his father, and his elder brother, a thousand vears before.) Another spirit answered, 'He comes not hither, and will never come. And I myself,' he added, 'actually saw this terrible sight. At the entrance of the chasm, as we were about to reascend, Ardiaeus appeared, and some other

### **awhile**: (*adj*) in transitu, en passant; (*adv*) briefly.

beheld: (adj) visual.

**bidding**: (*n*) behest, order, dictate, charge, bid, request, call, dictation, direction, fiat; (*adj*) imperative.

bliss: (n) happiness, joy, ecstasy, pleasure, paradise, blessedness, felicity, elation, beatitude, heaven, blessing. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, sorrow, agony, grief, anguish, sadness, suffering, gloom, hell,

#### **Thesaurus**

dissatisfaction.

**chasm**: (*n*) breach, gap, hiatus, gulf, ravine, hole, abysm, vacancy, canyon, aperture, emptiness. ANTONYMS:

(n) junction, closure.

**departing**: (adj, v) parting; (adj, n) leaving, going away; (adj) outgoing, outbound, outward, passing, decedent, valedictory, retiring; (v) depart. ANTONYM: (n) arrival. **descend**: (v) settle, condescend, down, drop, deign, subside, go down,

dismount, derive, get off, come down. ANTONYMS: (*v*) ascend, climb, float, scale, increase, level,

**narrate**: (*v*) tell, relate, recount, recite, describe, report, express, rehearse, inform, state, detail.

**remembrance**: (*n*, *v*) recollection, mind; (*n*) commemoration, memorial, recall, relic, monument, keepsake, reminiscence, recognition; (*adj*, *n*) memento.

sinners-most of whom had been tyrants, but not all-and just as they fancied that they were returning to life, the chasm gave a roar, and then wild, fierylooking men who knew the meaning of the sound, seized him and several others, and bound them hand and foot and threw them down, and dragged them along at the side of the road, lacerating them and carding them like wool, and explaining to the passers-by, that they were going to be cast into hell.' The greatest terror of the pilgrims ascending was lest they should hear the voice, and when there was silence one by one they passed up with joy. To these sufferings there were corresponding delights.

On the eighth day the souls of the pilgrims resumed their journey, and in four days came to a spot whence they looked down upon a line of light, in colour like a rainbow, only brighter and clearer. One day more brought them to the place, and they saw that this was the column of light which binds together the whole universe. The ends of the column were fastened to heaven, and from them hung the distaff of Necessity, on which all the heavenly bodies turned the hook and **spindle** were of adamant, and the **whorl** of a mixed substance. The whorl was in form like a number of boxes fitting into one another with their edges turned upwards, making together a single whorl which was pierced by the spindle. The outermost had the rim broadest, and the inner whorls were smaller and smaller, and had their rims narrower. The largest (the fixed stars) was spangled – the seventh (the sun) was brightest – the eighth (the moon) shone by the light of the seventh-the second and fifth (Saturn and Mercury) were most like one another and yellower than the eighth—the third (Jupiter) had the whitest light-the fourth (Mars) was red-the sixth (Venus) was in whiteness second. The whole had one motion, but while this was revolving in one direction the seven inner circles were moving in the opposite, with various degrees of swiftness and slowness. The spindle turned on the knees of Necessity, and a Siren stood hymning upon each circle, while Lachesis, Clotho, and Atropos, the daughters of Necessity, sat on thrones at equal intervals, singing of past, present, and future, responsive to the music of the Sirens; Clotho from time to time guiding the outer circle with a touch of her right hand; Atropos with her left hand touching and guiding the inner circles; Lachesis in turn

#### Thesaurus

sphere, domain, area, arena. edges: (n) boundaries. outermost: (adj, adv) farthest; (adj) outmost, extreme, utmost, uttermost, last, outer, outside, external, exterior, furthermost. pierced: (adj) punctured, perforate, penetrated, cut, cleft. revolving: (adj) turning, rotating, vertiginous, rotary, gyratory,

wheeling, rotative, rotatory,

slowness: (n) dilatoriness, lethargy, lateness, backwardness, awkwardness, deliberation, dullness, sluggishness, stupidity, indolence; (adj, n) delay. ANTONYMS: (n) haste, whiteness: (n) paleness, ivory, chalk, quickness, rapidity, intelligence, cleverness, nimbleness, speediness, promptness, punctuality, vigor. spindle: (n) axle, mandrel, pivot, arbor, shaft, mandril, axis, pin, hinge, bobbin, main spindle.

**distaff**: (adj) female, rack; (v) dizen; (n) rotational; (n) revolution; (v) revolve. **swiftness**: (n) speed, haste, rapidity, celerity, acceleration, quickness, promptness, pace, velocity, agility, dispatch. ANTONYM: (n) clumsiness. pearl, bone, bleach, alabaster, frostiness, hoariness, pallor, innocence. ANTONYM: (n) black. whorl: (n) coil, spiral, helix, volute, gyre, verticil, roll, twist, whirl, scroll,

curlicue.

putting forth her hand from time to time to guide both of them. On their arrival the pilgrims went to Lachesis, and there was an **interpreter** who arranged them, and taking from her knees lots, and samples of lives, got up into a pulpit and said: 'Mortal souls, hear the words of Lachesis, the daughter of Necessity. A new period of mortal life has begun, and you may choose what divinity you please; the responsibility of choosing is with you-God is blameless.' After speaking thus, he cast the lots among them and each one took up the lot which fell near him. He then placed on the ground before them the samples of lives, many more than the souls present; and there were all sorts of lives, of men and of animals. There were tyrannies ending in misery and exile, and lives of men and women famous for their different qualities; and also mixed lives, made up of wealth and poverty, sickness and health. Here, Glaucon, is the great risk of human life, and therefore the whole of education should be directed to the acquisition of such a knowledge as will teach a man to refuse the evil and choose the good. He should know all the **combinations** which occur in life – of beauty with poverty or with wealth, - of knowledge with external goods, - and at last choose with reference to the nature of the soul, regarding that only as the better life which makes men better, and leaving the rest. And a man must take with him an iron sense of truth and right into the world below, that there too he may remain undazzled by wealth or the allurements of evil, and be determined to avoid the extremes and choose the mean. For this, as the messenger reported the interpreter to have said, is the true happiness of man; and any one, as he proclaimed, may, if he choose with understanding, have a good lot, even though he come last. 'Let not the first be careless in his choice, nor the last despair.' He spoke; and when he had spoken, he who had drawn the first lot chose a tyranny: he did not see that he was fated to devour his own children-and when he discovered his mistake, he wept and beat his breast, blaming chance and the Gods and anybody rather than himself. He was one of those who had come from heaven, and in his previous life had been a citizen of a well-ordered State, but he had only habit and no philosophy. Like many another, he made a bad choice, because he had no experience of life; whereas those who came from earth and had seen trouble were not in such a hurry to choose. But if a man had followed

#### **Thesaurus**

begun: (adj) present. careless: (adj) forgetful, inattentive, insouciant, haphazard, cursory, reckless, lax, unwary, sloppy; (adj, adv) thoughtless; (adj, v) heedless. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, prudent, meticulous, thoughtful, diligent, attentive, thorough, wary, guarded, methodical, strict. combinations: (n) incorporation,

conjunction.

devour: (v) eat, bolt, gulp, demolish,

guzzle, swallow, gorge, ingurgitate, gobble, use up, absorb. ANTONYMS: (v) avoid, abstain, regurgitate, nibble, knees: (n) knee. fast, sip.

divinity: (n) God, theology, divineness, immortal, godship, godhead, spirit, demiurge, apologetics, demigod; (adj, n) the Deity. ANTONYM: (n) devil. interpreter: (n) commentator, interpretive program, exponent, explainer, translator, mouthpiece, ambassador, prophet, bagman, expounder, program.

messenger: (n, v) herald; (n) harbinger, runner, emissary, bearer, ambassador, precursor, courier, carrier, apostle, errand.

proclaimed: (adj) announced, indictive, declared publicly. pulpit: (n) platform, dais, ambo, lectern, hustings, stump, rostrum, forum, desk, stand, state.

philosophy while upon earth, and had been moderately fortunate in his lot, he might not only be happy here, but his pilgrimage both from and to this world would be smooth and heavenly. Nothing was more curious than the spectacle of the choice, at once sad and laughable and wonderful; most of the souls only seeking to avoid their own condition in a previous life. He saw the soul of Orpheus changing into a swan because he would not be born of a woman; there was Thamyras becoming a **nightingale**; musical birds, like the swan, choosing to be men; the twentieth soul, which was that of Ajax, preferring the life of a lion to that of a man, in remembrance of the injustice which was done to him in the judgment of the arms; and Agamemnon, from a like enmity to human nature, passing into an eagle. About the middle was the soul of Atalanta choosing the honours of an athlete, and next to her Epeus taking the nature of a workwoman; among the last was Thersites, who was changing himself into a monkey. Thither, the last of all, came Odysseus, and sought the lot of a private man, which lay neglected and despised, and when he found it he went away rejoicing, and said that if he had been first instead of last, his choice would have been the same. Men, too, were seen passing into animals, and wild and tame animals changing into one another.

When all the souls had chosen they went to Lachesis, who sent with each of them their genius or attendant to fulfil their lot. He first of all brought them under the hand of Clotho, and drew them within the revolution of the spindle impelled by her hand; from her they were carried to Atropos, who made the threads irreversible; whence, without turning round, they passed beneath the throne of Necessity; and when they had all passed, they moved on in scorching heat to the plain of Forgetfulness and rested at evening by the river Unmindful, whose water could not be retained in any vessel; of this they had all to drink a certain quantity-some of them drank more than was required, and he who drank forgot all things. Er himself was prevented from drinking. When they had gone to rest, about the middle of the night there were thunderstorms and earthquakes, and suddenly they were all driven divers ways, shooting like stars to their birth. Concerning his return to the body, he only knew that awaking suddenly in the morning he found himself lying on the pyre.

#### Thesaurus

awaking: (n) waking, awakening. despised: (adj) scorned, despicable, hated, abject, disparaged, mean, attaching disgrace, unpopular, unloved, reviled, opprobrious. impelled: (adj) prompted, provoked, determined, compulsive, encouraged, rejoicing: (n) exultation, jubilation, goaded, motivated, bound. laughable: (adj) absurd, amusing, humorous, comical, ludicrous, ridiculous, farcical, droll, comic, foolish, jocular. ANTONYMS: (adj)

serious, tragic, adequate, generous, impressive. nightingale: (n) bulbul, nurse, philomel, the lady with the lamp, singer, nighthawk, night bird,

Florence nightingale, etc. happiness, joy, mirth, pleasure, elation; (adj) jubilant, exultant; (v) rejoice; (adv) rejoicingly. ANTONYM: workwoman: (n) worker, roustabout, (n) sadness.

rested: (adj) comfortable.

scorching: (adj) hot, sweltering, scalding, baking, broiling, boiling, sultry, stifling, torrid; (v) fiery, flaming. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, fresh, cool.

whence: (adv) wherefrom, hence, because, for, why, wherefore, how, then, then thence so, how comes it, how happens it.

female worker, employee, working woman.

Thus, Glaucon, the tale has been saved, and will be our salvation, if we believe that the soul is immortal, and hold fast to the heavenly way of Justice and Knowledge. So shall we pass **undefiled** over the river of Forgetfulness, and be dear to ourselves and to the Gods, and have a crown of reward and happiness both in this world and also in the **millennial** pilgrimage of the other.

The Tenth Book of the Republic of Plato falls into two divisions: first, resuming an old thread which has been interrupted, Socrates assails the poets, who, now that the nature of the soul has been analyzed, are seen to be very far gone from the truth; and secondly, having shown the reality of the happiness of the just, he demands that appearance shall be restored to him, and then proceeds to prove the immortality of the soul. The argument, as in the Phaedo and Gorgias, is supplemented by the vision of a future life.

Why Plato, who was himself a poet, and whose dialogues are poems and dramas, should have been hostile to the poets as a class, and especially to the dramatic poets; why he should not have seen that truth may be embodied in verse as well as in prose, and that there are some **indefinable** lights and shadows of human life which can only be expressed in poetry—some elements of imagination which always **entwine** with reason; why he should have supposed epic verse to be **inseparably** associated with the **impurities** of the old Hellenic mythology; why he should try Homer and Hesiod by the unfair and **prosaic** test of utility,—are questions which have always been debated amongst students of Plato. Though unable to give a complete answer to them, we may show—first, that his views arose naturally out of the circumstances of his age; and secondly, we may elicit the truth as well as the error which is contained in them.

He is the enemy of the poets because poetry was declining in his own lifetime, and a theatrocracy, as he says in the Laws, had taken the place of an intellectual aristocracy. Euripides **exhibited** the last phase of the tragic drama, and in him Plato saw the friend and **apologist** of tyrants, and the Sophist of tragedy. The old comedy was almost extinct; the new had not yet arisen. Dramatic and lyric poetry, like every other branch of Greek literature, was falling under the power of rhetoric. There was no 'second or third' to Aeschylus and

## Thesaurus impurities: (n) dross, bastard, scum,

apologist: (n) vindicator, justifier, exponent, proponent, supporter, defender, support, excusator, adherent, apologizer.
entwine: (n, v) twine; (v) coil, wind, curl, knit, tangle, interlace, enlace, lace, fold; (n) wreathe. ANTONYMS: (v) untwist, straighten, uncoil, untwine, unwind, disentangle, unpick, undo.
exhibited: (adi) ostensible, avowed, apparent, declared.

indefinable: (adj) ineffable, unspeakable, vague, indeterminate, undefinable, inexpressible, elusive, indefinite, undefined, nondescript, equivocal. ANTONYMS: (adj) concrete, precise. inseparably: (adv) incommunicably, jointly, inseparately, inherently, indissolubly, by inherence, as individuals, individually. millennial: (adj) millennium, millennian. prosaic: (adj) commonplace, dull, monotonous, pedestrian, prosy, ordinary, uninteresting, trite, boring, humdrum, everyday. ANTONYMS: (adj) idealistic, imaginative, sensitive, inspired, exciting, inspiring, interesting, original, romantic. undefiled: (adj) pure, immaculate, spotless, uncorrupted, clean, chaste, intact, modest, clear, decent, virgin.

Sophocles in the generation which followed them. Aristophanes, in one of his later comedies (Frogs), speaks of 'thousands of tragedy-making prattlers,' whose attempts at poetry he compares to the chirping of **swallows**; 'their garrulity went far beyond Euripides,' —'they appeared once upon the stage, and there was an end of them.' To a man of genius who had a real appreciation of the godlike Aeschylus and the noble and gentle Sophocles, though **disagreeing** with some parts of their 'theology' (Rep.), these 'minor poets' must have been **contemptible** and intolerable. There is no feeling stronger in the dialogues of Plato than a sense of the decline and decay both in literature and in politics which marked his own age. Nor can he have been expected to look with favour on the licence of Aristophanes, now at the end of his career, who had begun by satirizing Socrates in the Clouds, and in a similar spirit forty years afterwards had satirized the founders of ideal commonwealths in his Eccleziazusae, or Female Parliament (Laws).

There were other reasons for the antagonism of Plato to poetry. The profession of an actor was regarded by him as a degradation of human nature, for 'one man in his life' cannot 'play many parts;' the characters which the actor performs seem to destroy his own character, and to leave nothing which can be truly called himself. Neither can any man live his life and act it. The actor is the slave of his art, not the master of it. Taking this view Plato is more decided in his expulsion of the dramatic than of the epic poets, though he must have known that the Greek tragedians afforded noble lessons and examples of virtue and patriotism, to which nothing in Homer can be compared. But great dramatic or even great rhetorical power is hardly consistent with **firmness** or strength of mind, and dramatic talent is often incidentally associated with a weak or **dissolute** character.

In the Tenth Book Plato introduces a new series of objections. First, he says that the poet or painter is an imitator, and in the third degree removed from the truth. His creations are not tested by rule and measure; they are only **appearances**. In modern times we should say that art is not merely imitation, but rather the expression of the ideal in forms of sense. Even adopting the

#### **Thesaurus**

appearances: (n) show, semblance, outlook, indicia.
contemptible: (adj) abject, mean, base, pitiful, little, worthless, unworthy, miserable, ignoble, abominable, shameful. ANTONYMS: (adj) estimable, admired, deserving, worthy, honorable, respectable, respectful, noble, generous, commendable, good.
disagreeing: (adj, n) discordant, contradictory, contrary, repugnant;

(adj) dissonant, incompatible, discrepant, differing, at variance, harsh, divergent. ANTONYM: (adj) consistent.

**dissolute**: (adj, v) dissipated, fast, wanton; (adj) abandoned, depraved, licentious, immoral, corrupt, profligate, degenerate; (adj, n) libertine. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, upright, chaste, restrained, good, resolute, virtuous, pure, cautious, righteous, innocent.

firmness: (adj, n) constancy; (n) determination, resolution, assurance, consistency, obstinacy, steadfastness, resolve, confidence, courage, backbone. ANTONYMS: (n) softness, instability, vacillation, unsteadiness, yielding, irresoluteness, droopiness, indefiniteness, indecisiveness, indecision, leniency.

**swallows**: (*n*) sparrows, rooks, robins, Passeriformes, Hirundinidae, etc, order Passeriformes.

humble image of Plato, from which his argument derives a colour, we should maintain that the artist may **ennoble** the bed which he paints by the folds of the **drapery**, or by the feeling of home which he introduces; and there have been modern painters who have imparted such an ideal interest to a blacksmith's or a **carpenter's** shop. The eye or mind which feels as well as sees can give dignity and **pathos** to a ruined mill, or a straw-built shed (Rembrandt), to the hull of a vessel 'going to its last home' (Turner). Still more would this apply to the greatest works of art, which seem to be the visible embodiment of the divine. Had Plato been asked whether the Zeus or Athene of Pheidias was the imitation of an imitation only, would he not have been compelled to admit that something more was to be found in them than in the form of any mortal; and that the rule of proportion to which they **conformed** was 'higher far than any geometry or arithmetic could express?' (Statesman.)

Again, Plato objects to the imitative arts that they express the emotional rather than the rational part of human nature. He does not admit Aristotle's theory, that tragedy or other serious imitations are a purgation of the passions by pity and fear; to him they appear only to afford the opportunity of indulging them. Yet we must acknowledge that we may sometimes cure disordered emotions by giving expression to them; and that they often gain strength when pent up within our own breast. It is not every indulgence of the feelings which is to be condemned. For there may be a gratification of the higher as well as of the lower-thoughts which are too deep or too sad to be expressed by ourselves, may find an utterance in the words of poets. Every one would acknowledge that there have been times when they were consoled and elevated by beautiful music or by the **sublimity** of architecture or by the **peacefulness** of nature. Plato has himself admitted, in the earlier part of the Republic, that the arts might have the effect of harmonizing as well as of **enervating** the mind; but in the Tenth Book he regards them through a Stoic or Puritan medium. He asks only 'What good have they done?' and is not satisfied with the reply, that 'They have given innocent pleasure to mankind.'

## **Thesaurus**

conformed: (adj) meet, accurate, bestowed. drapery: (n) drape, clothing, dress, blind, raiment, costume, toilette, furnishings, trim, guise, toilet. elevated: (adj) exalted, towering, noble, lofty, grand, great, majestic, tall, elated, magnanimous; (adj, v) steep. ANTONYMS: (adj) base, lowly, decreased, humble, inferior, lessened, low, sunken, undignified, lowered. enervating: (adj) enfeebling,

weakening, debilitative, debilitating, weaken, tedious, causing debilitation, taxing

**ennoble**: (*n*, *v*) dignify, honor; (*v*) elevate, advance, glorify, exalt, aggrandize, refine, gentle, enhance, sublime.

pathos: (v) emotion, inspiration, impression, affection; (n) poignancy, pity, ruth, commiseration, grief, poignance, sympathy.
peacefulness: (n) calm, calmness,

peace of mind, serenity, tranquillity, stillness, repose, quietness, ease, hush, heartsease. ANTONYMS: (n) bustle, wildness, upheaval, turmoil, agitation, disturbance, harshness. pent: (adj) narrow, shut up, confined, cramped.

sublimity: (adj, n) nobility, elevation, majesty, loftiness, splendor; (n) magnificence, dignity, greatness, sublimeness; (adj) solemnity, heroism.

He tells us that he rejoices in the banishment of the poets, since he has found by the analysis of the soul that they are concerned with the inferior faculties. He means to say that the higher faculties have to do with universals, the lower with particulars of sense. The poets are on a level with their own age, but not on a level with Socrates and Plato; and he was well aware that Homer and Hesiod could not be made a rule of life by any process of legitimate interpretation; his ironical use of them is in fact a denial of their authority; he saw, too, that the poets were not critics-as he says in the Apology, 'Any one was a better interpreter of their writings than they were themselves. He himself ceased to be a poet when he became a disciple of Socrates; though, as he tells us of Solon, 'he might have been one of the greatest of them, if he had not been deterred by other pursuits' (Tim.) Thus from many points of view there is an antagonism between Plato and the poets, which was foreshadowed to him in the old guarrel between philosophy and poetry. The poets, as he says in the Protagoras, were the Sophists of their day; and his dislike of the one class is reflected on the other. He regards them both as the enemies of reasoning and abstraction, though in the case of Euripides more with reference to his immoral sentiments about tyrants and the like. For Plato is the **prophet** who 'came into the world to convince men' - first of the fallibility of sense and opinion, and secondly of the reality of abstract ideas. Whatever **strangeness** there may be in modern times in opposing philosophy to poetry, which to us seem to have so many elements in common, the strangeness will disappear if we conceive of poetry as allied to sense, and of philosophy as equivalent to thought and abstraction. Unfortunately the very word 'idea,' which to Plato is expressive of the most real of all things, is associated in our minds with an element of subjectiveness and unreality. We may note also how he differs from Aristotle who declares poetry to be truer than history, for the opposite reason, because it is concerned with universals, not like history, with particulars (Poet).

The things which are seen are opposed in Scripture to the things which are unseen—they are equally opposed in Plato to universals and ideas. To him all particulars appear to be floating about in a world of sense; they have a **taint** of error or even of evil. There is no difficulty in seeing that this is an illusion; for

## **Thesaurus**

fallibility: (n) unreliability, undependability, undependableness, unreliableness, frailty, imperfection. ANTONYM: (n) infallibility.

**prophet**: (*n*) augur, oracle, vaticinator, seer, predictor, diviner, forecaster, visionary, foreteller, priest, clairvoyant.

**regards**: (v) regard, esteem, respect, consideration, honor, motive; (adj) abord, devoir; (n) greeting, relation, duty.

sentiments: (*n*) breast. strangeness: (*n*) oddity, oddness, quaintness, peculiarity, curiousness, abnormality, weirdness, foreignness, queerness, singularity, quirk. ANTONYMS: (*n*) familiarity, nativeness.

**subjectiveness**: (*n*) sound judgment, judgement, judgment, perspicacity, sound judgement.

**taint**: (*n*, *v*) blemish, disgrace, corrupt, spot, blot; (*adj*, *v*) defile, sully,

pollute, contaminate; (*n*) pollution, contamination. ANTONYMS: (*v*) enhance, right, respect, disinfect, clean; (*n*) perfection, cleanliness; (*adv*) cheerfully.

unreality: (n) irreality, cloud, falseness, imagination, immateriality, pointlessness, uselessness, futility, emptiness, nonexistence, hollowness. ANTONYMS: (n) reality, value, existence. there is no more error or variation in an individual man, horse, bed, etc., than in the class man, horse, bed, etc.; nor is the truth which is displayed in individual instances less certain than that which is conveyed through the medium of ideas. But Plato, who is deeply impressed with the real importance of universals as instruments of thought, attributes to them an essential truth which is imaginary and unreal; for universals may be often false and particulars true. Had he attained to any clear conception of the individual, which is the synthesis of the universal and the particular; or had he been able to distinguish between opinion and sensation, which the ambiguity of the words (Greek) and the like, tended to confuse, he would not have denied truth to the particulars of sense.

But the poets are also the representatives of falsehood and feigning in all departments of life and knowledge, like the sophists and rhetoricians of the Gorgias and Phaedrus; they are the false priests, false prophets, lying spirits, enchanters of the world. There is another count put into the indictment against them by Plato, that they are the friends of the tyrant, and bask in the sunshine of his patronage. Despotism in all ages has had an apparatus of false ideas and false teachers at its service – in the history of Modern Europe as well as of Greece and Rome. For no government of men depends solely upon force; without some corruption of literature and morals-some appeal to the imagination of the masses - some pretence to the favour of heaven - some element of good giving power to evil, tyranny, even for a short time, cannot be maintained. The Greek tyrants were not insensible to the importance of awakening in their cause a Pseudo-Hellenic feeling; they were proud of successes at the Olympic games; they were not devoid of the love of literature and art. Plato is thinking in the first instance of Greek poets who had graced the courts of Dionysius or Archelaus: and the old spirit of freedom is roused within him at their prostitution of the Tragic Muse in the praises of tyranny. But his prophetic eye extends beyond them to the false teachers of other ages who are the creatures of the government under which they live. He compares the corruption of his contemporaries with the idea of a perfect society, and gathers up into one mass of evil the evils and errors of mankind; to him they are personified in the rhetoricians, sophists, poets, rulers who deceive and govern the world.

## Thesaurus feigning: (v) feign; (n) pretending,

apparatus: (n) appliance, device, tackle, implement, plant, equipment, system, set, machine, organ, gear. awakening: (n) arousal, waking up, revival, disenchantment, awakenment, introduction, provocation; (adj) arousing, moving, animating; (v) awake. ANTONYM: (n) suppression. bask: (v) relax, relish, enjoy, revel, laze, sunbathe, doze, savour; (adj) luxuriate, sweat, glow.

pretense, dissimulation, dissembling, deceit, appearance, acting, deception, misrepresentation, pretension.

indictment: (n) accusation, impeachment, complaint, bill of indictment, information, lawsuit, blame, accusal, true bill; (n, v) allegation, attack. ANTONYMS: (n) acquittal, confirmation.

insensible: (adj) imperceptible, numb, unconscious, callous, dull, unaware,

apathetic, impassive, indiscernible, comatose, impassible. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, conscious, sensitive, awake, alive, compassionate, concerned, aware.

personified: (adj) embodied.

prostitution: (n) abuse, whoredom, profanation, perversion, corruption, pollution, desecration, misuse.

roused: (adj) excited, awake, susceptible, emotional, elated, interested.

A further objection which Plato makes to poetry and the imitative arts is that they excite the emotions. Here the modern reader will be disposed to introduce a distinction which appears to have escaped him. For the emotions are neither bad nor good in themselves, and are not most likely to be controlled by the attempt to eradicate them, but by the moderate indulgence of them. And the vocation of art is to present thought in the form of feeling, to enlist the feelings on the side of reason, to inspire even for a moment courage or resignation; perhaps to suggest a sense of infinity and eternity in a way which mere language is incapable of attaining. True, the same power which in the purer age of art embodies gods and heroes only, may be made to express the voluptuous image of a Corinthian courtezan. But this only shows that art, like other outward things, may be turned to good and also to evil, and is not more closely connected with the higher than with the lower part of the soul. All imitative art is subject to certain limitations, and therefore necessarily partakes of the nature of a compromise. Something of ideal truth is sacrificed for the sake of the representation, and something in the exactness of the representation is sacrificed to the ideal. Still, works of art have a permanent element; they idealize and detain the passing thought, and are the intermediates between sense and ideas.

In the present stage of the human mind, poetry and other forms of fiction may certainly be regarded as a good. But we can also imagine the existence of an age in which a severer conception of truth has either banished or transformed them. At any rate we must admit that they hold a different place at different periods of the world's history. In the infancy of mankind, poetry, with the exception of proverbs, is the whole of literature, and the only instrument of intellectual culture; in modern times she is the shadow or echo of her former self, and appears to have a precarious existence. Milton in his day doubted whether an epic poem was any longer possible. At the same time we must remember, that what Plato would have called the **charms** of poetry have been partly transferred to prose; he himself (Statesman) admits rhetoric to be the **handmaiden** of Politics, and proposes to find in the strain of law (Laws) a substitute for the old poets. Among ourselves the creative power seems often to be growing weaker, and scientific fact to be more **engrossing** and overpowering

## **Thesaurus**

charms: (n) trinkets, jewelry, jewels. detain: (v) arrest, confine, catch, capture, apprehend, stay, keep, jail, imprison, incarcerate, retard. ANTONYMS: (v) free, liberate, rush. engrossing: (adj) fascinating, riveting, gripping, captivating, entrancing, enthralling, beguiling, charming, enchanting; (adj, v) interesting; (v) engross. ANTONYMS: (adj) uninteresting, dull, monotonous, tiresome, unexciting.

enlist: (v) engage, recruit, employ, enroll, gain, get, join up, hire, acquire, join, enter. ANTONYMS: (v) discharge, resign, quit, dodge, avoid, leave, fire.

handmaiden: (n) maid, amah, subordinateness, subsidiarity, housemaid, maidservant, servant, biddy.

idealize: (v) deify, idealizing, realize, see, view, regard, reckon, poetize, perfect, unrealize, concoct. indulgence: (adj, n) gratification, delight; (n) allowance, extravagance, debauchery, hobby, tolerance, luxury, enjoyment, leniency, pardon. ANTONYMS: (n) denial, virtue, intolerance, uprightness, necessity, indifference, dismay, severity. voluptuous: (adj) luscious, voluptuary, sensual, carnal, sybaritic, epicurean, buxom, sexy, sensuous, lascivious, erotic. ANTONYM: (adj) underdeveloped.

to the mind than formerly. The illusion of the feelings commonly called love, has hitherto been the inspiring influence of modern poetry and romance, and has exercised a **humanizing** if not a strengthening influence on the world. But may not the stimulus which love has given to fancy be some day exhausted? The modern English novel which is the most popular of all forms of reading is not more than a century or two old: will the tale of love a hundred years hence, after so many thousand variations of the same theme, be still received with **unabated** interest?

Art cannot claim to be on a level with philosophy or religion, and may often corrupt them. It is possible to conceive a mental state in which all artistic representations are regarded as a false and imperfect expression, either of the religious ideal or of the philosophical ideal. The fairest forms may be revolting in certain moods of mind, as is proved by the fact that the Mahometans, and many sects of Christians, have renounced the use of pictures and images. The beginning of a great religion, whether Christian or Gentile, has not been 'wood or stone,' but a spirit moving in the hearts of men. The disciples have met in a large upper room or in 'holes and caves of the earth'; in the second or third generation, they have had mosques, temples, churches, monasteries. And the revival or reform of religions, like the first revelation of them, has come from within and has generally disregarded external ceremonies and accompaniments.

But poetry and art may also be the expression of the highest truth and the purest sentiment. Plato himself seems to **waver** between two opposite views—when, as in the third Book, he insists that youth should be brought up amid **wholesome** imagery; and again in Book X, when he banishes the poets from his Republic. Admitting that the arts, which some of us almost **deify**, have fallen short of their higher aim, we must admit on the other hand that to banish imagination wholly would be suicidal as well as impossible. For nature too is a form of art; and a breath of the fresh air or a single glance at the varying landscape would in an instant revive and **reillumine** the **extinguished** spark of poetry in the human breast. In the lower stages of civilization imagination more

## **Thesaurus**

reillumine: (v) reillume, reilluminate.

civilizing, benevolent, cultural.

**deify**: (v) worship, idealize, love, sanctify, canonize, revere, divinize, idolize, idealise, elevate; (adj) deific. ANTONYMS: (v) degrade, dishonor, lower, desecrate.

extinguished: (adj) extinct, out, dead, quenched, allayed, destroyed; (n) defunctness, complete annihilation, experimental extinction, extermination, extinction.

hearts: (n) Black Maria, spades.

**hearts**: (*n*) Black Maria, spades. **humanizing**: (*adj*) humane, exalting,

revolting: (adj) offensive, loathsome, nasty, foul, detestable, nauseating, nauseous, horrible, hideous, repellent; (adj, v) sickening.

ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, pleasant, tasty, delicious, edible, lovable, delightful, appealing, lovely.

unabated: (adj) unreduced, unrestricted, unmitigated, unflagging, relentless, intense,

unrelenting.

waver: (v) vacillate, fluctuate, hesitate, totter, hover, wave; (n, v) quiver, flicker, shake, flutter, tremble.

ANTONYMS: (v) resolve, continue.

wholesome: (adj) healthy, beneficial, salubrious, healthful, salutary, sound, good, nutritious, nourishing, pure, hale. ANTONYMS: (adj) unwholesome, unhealthy, impure, indecent, sordid, warped, tainted, decadent, deadly, unsavory.

than reason distinguishes man from the animals; and to banish art would be to banish thought, to banish language, to banish the expression of all truth. No religion is wholly devoid of external forms; even the Mahometan who renounces the use of pictures and images has a temple in which he worships the Most High, as solemn and beautiful as any Greek or Christian building. Feeling too and thought are not really opposed; for he who thinks must feel before he can execute. And the highest thoughts, when they become **familiarized** to us, are always **tending** to pass into the form of feeling.

Plato does not seriously intend to expel poets from life and society. But he feels strongly the unreality of their writings; he is protesting against the **degeneracy** of poetry in his own day as we might protest against the want of serious purpose in modern fiction, against the unseemliness or extravagance of some of our poets or novelists, against the time-serving of preachers or public writers, against the regardlessness of truth which to the eye of the philosopher seems to **characterize** the greater part of the world. For we too have reason to complain that our poets and novelists 'paint inferior truth' and 'are concerned with the inferior part of the soul'; that the readers of them become what they read and are injuriously affected by them. And we look in vain for that healthy atmosphere of which Plato speaks,—'the beauty which meets the sense like a breeze and imperceptibly draws the soul, even in childhood, into harmony with the beauty of reason.'

For there might be a poetry which would be the hymn of divine perfection, the harmony of goodness and truth among men: a strain which should renew the youth of the world, and bring back the ages in which the poet was man's only teacher and best friend,—which would find materials in the living present as well as in the romance of the past, and might **subdue** to the fairest forms of speech and verse the **intractable** materials of modern civilisation,—which might **elicit** the simple principles, or, as Plato would have called them, the essential forms, of truth and justice out of the variety of opinion and the complexity of modern society,—which would preserve all the good of each generation and leave the bad unsung,—which should be based not on vain longings or faint

## **Thesaurus**

**characterize**: (v) distinguish, call, mark, characterise, typify, define, differentiate, describe, entitle, name, depict.

degeneracy: (n) corruption, depravity, decadence, degeneration, decline, debasement, decay, degenerateness, depravation, immorality; (adj, n) meanness. ANTONYMS: (n) morality, purity, righteousness. elicit: (v) educe, derive, cause, fetch, evoke, extract, arouse, excite,

provoke, draw out, discover. ANTONYMS: (v) cover, forgo, hide, halt.

familiarized: (*adj*) adjusted, familiar, used to, oriented, orientated, accustomed.

intractable: (adj) inflexible, fractious, stubborn, contumacious, contrary, insubordinate, froward, recalcitrant, perverse, wayward, unruly. ANTONYMS: (adj) tractable, biddable, flexible, manageable,

compliant, easy, easygoing, docile, amenable.

**subdue**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) conquer; (*v*) overpower, crush, defeat, quell, quash, suppress, restrain; (*n*, *v*) reduce; (*adj*, *v*) repress; (*adv*, *v*) control. ANTONYMS: (*v*) incite, enliven, resist, submit.

**tending**: (*n*) care, hairdressing, aid, treatment, attention, babysitting, incubation; (*adj*) apt, conducive, prone, disposed.

imaginings, but on a clear insight into the nature of man. Then the tale of love might begin again in poetry or prose, two in one, united in the pursuit of knowledge, or the service of God and man; and feelings of love might still be the incentive to great thoughts and heroic deeds as in the days of Dante or Petrarch; and many types of manly and womanly beauty might appear among us, rising above the ordinary level of humanity, and many lives which were like poems (Laws), be not only written, but lived by us. A few such strains have been heard among men in the tragedies of Aeschylus and Sophocles, whom Plato quotes, not, as Homer is quoted by him, in irony, but with deep and serious approval, in the poetry of Milton and Wordsworth, and in passages of other English poets, – first and above all in the Hebrew prophets and psalmists. Shakespeare has taught us how great men should speak and act; he has drawn characters of a wonderful purity and depth; he has ennobled the human mind, but, like Homer (Rep.), he 'has left no way of life.' The next greatest poet of modern times, Goethe, is concerned with 'a lower degree of truth'; he paints the world as a stage on which 'all the men and women are merely players'; he cultivates life as an art, but he furnishes no ideals of truth and action. The poet may rebel against any attempt to set limits to his fancy; and he may argue truly that moralizing in verse is not poetry. Possibly, like Mephistopheles in Faust, he may retaliate on his adversaries. But the philosopher will still be justified in asking, 'How may the heavenly gift of **poesy** be devoted to the good of mankind?'

Returning to Plato, we may observe that a similar mixture of truth and error appears in other parts of the argument. He is aware of the **absurdity** of mankind framing their whole lives according to Homer; just as in the Phaedrus he intimates the absurdity of interpreting **mythology** upon rational principles; both these were the modern tendencies of his own age, which he **deservedly** ridicules. On the other hand, his argument that Homer, if he had been able to teach mankind anything worth knowing, would not have been allowed by them to go about begging as a rhapsodist, is both false and **contrary** to the spirit of Plato (Rep.). It may be compared with those other paradoxes of the Gorgias, that 'No statesman was ever unjustly put to death by the city of which he was the head'; and that 'No Sophist was ever defrauded by his pupils' (Gorg.)...

absurdity: (n) absurdness, nonsense, silliness, nonsensicality, meaninglessness, illogicality, stupidity, folly, fatuity, idiocy, preposterousness. ANTONYMS: (n) logic, reasonableness, worthiness, solemnity, sensibleness. contrary: (adj, n) contradictory, reverse; (adj) adverse, conflicting, unfavorable, perverse, cross, disobedient, alien, different,

## **Thesaurus**

harmonious, helpful, obliging, compatible, complaisant, concordant, parallel, agreeable, cooperative, favorable.

**deeds**: (*n*) works, activity, actions, conduct, background, events, happenings, performance, activities.

**deservedly**: (*adv*) justly, condignly, worthily, rightfully, rightly, right, justifiably, by merit, correctly, fairly, becomingly.

obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, mythology: (n) legend, tradition,

religion, folklore, cultural anthropology, collection, classical mythology, assemblage, aggregation, accumulation, lore.

poesy: (n) poetry, verse, poem, rhyme, epos, song, tuneful Nine, strain, lay, Parnassus, poetics.

womanly: (adj, v) effeminate; (adj) ladylike, womanish, female, womanlike, wifely, weak, maidenly, matronly; (v) soft, feminate.

ANTONYM: (adj) unwomanly.

The argument for immortality seems to rest on the absolute **dualism** of soul and body. Admitting the existence of the soul, we know of no force which is able to put an end to her. Vice is her own proper evil; and if she cannot be destroyed by that, she cannot be destroyed by any other. Yet Plato has acknowledged that the soul may be so **overgrown** by the incrustations of earth as to lose her original form; and in the Timaeus he recognizes more strongly than in the Republic the influence which the body has over the mind, denying even the **voluntariness** of human actions, on the ground that they proceed from physical states (Tim.). In the Republic, as elsewhere, he wavers between the original soul which has to be restored, and the character which is developed by training and education...

The vision of another world is ascribed to Er, the son of Armenius, who is said by Clement of Alexandria to have been Zoroaster. The tale has certainly an oriental character, and may be compared with the pilgrimages of the soul in the Zend Avesta (Haug, Avesta). But no trace of acquaintance with Zoroaster is found elsewhere in Plato's writings, and there is no reason for giving him the name of Er the Pamphylian. The philosophy of Heracleitus cannot be shown to be **borrowed** from Zoroaster, and still less the myths of Plato.

The local arrangement of the vision is less distinct than that of the Phaedrus and Phaedo. Astronomy is mingled with **symbolism** and mythology; the great sphere of heaven is represented under the symbol of a cylinder or box, containing the seven orbits of the planets and the fixed stars; this is suspended from an axis or spindle which turns on the knees of Necessity; the revolutions of the seven orbits contained in the cylinder are guided by the **fates**, and their **harmonious** motion produces the music of the spheres. Through the innermost or eighth of these, which is the moon, is passed the spindle; but it is doubtful whether this is the continuation of the column of light, from which the pilgrims contemplate the heavens; the words of Plato imply that they are connected, but not the same. The column itself is clearly not of **adamant**. The spindle (which is of adamant) is **fastened** to the ends of the chains which extend to the middle of the column of light—this column is said to hold together the heaven; but whether it hangs from the spindle, or is at right angles to it, is not explained. The cylinder

## **Thesaurus**

adamant: (adj) rigid, obdurate, stubborn, immovable, firm, inflexible, unyielding, steadfast, inexorable, tough, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) compliant, flexible, pliant, supple, soft, swayable, yielding, acquiescing, receptive, acquiescent, irresolute. borrowed: (adj) foreign, rubato, secondary. dualism: (n) ism, philosophy, duplicity, bitheism, ditheism,

fastened: (adj) tied, fast, buttoned, closed, tight, secure, pinned, binding, empight, steady, firm. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfastened, unbuttoned. fates: (adj) book of fate, Parcae, sky; (n)

fortune, the fates.

harmonious: (adj) congenial, musical, consonant, amicable, peaceful, gentle, consistent, compatible, friendly, harmonical, calm. ANTONYMS: (adj) discordant, dissonant, harsh, hostile,

bitter, incompatible, inharmonious, miserable, disagreeable, disruptive, unbalanced.

overgrown: (adj) excessive, exorbitant, inordinate, extravagant, monstrous, covered, exaggerated, dropsical, lush; (v) turgid, tumid.

**symbolism**: (*n*) symbolization, charactery, allegory, practice, distinctive mark, suggestion, symbolic, symbolics, symbol, pattern. **voluntariness**: (*n*) spontaneity.

containing the orbits of the stars is almost as much a symbol as the figure of Necessity turning the spindle;—for the outermost rim is the sphere of the fixed stars, and nothing is said about the intervals of space which divide the paths of the stars in the heavens. The description is both a picture and an **orrery**, and therefore is necessarily inconsistent with itself. The column of light is not the Milky Way—which is neither straight, nor like a **rainbow**—but the imaginary axis of the earth. This is compared to the rainbow in respect not of form but of colour, and not to the undergirders of a **trireme**, but to the straight rope running from **prow** to stern in which the undergirders meet.

The orrery or picture of the heavens given in the Republic differs in its mode of representation from the circles of the same and of the other in the Timaeus. In both the fixed stars are distinguished from the planets, and they move in orbits without them, although in an opposite direction: in the Republic as in the Timaeus they are all moving round the axis of the world. But we are not certain that in the former they are moving round the earth. No distinct mention is made in the Republic of the circles of the same and other; although both in the Timaeus and in the Republic the motion of the fixed stars is supposed to coincide with the motion of the whole. The relative thickness of the rims is perhaps designed to express the relative distances of the planets. Plato probably intended to represent the earth, from which Er and his companions are viewing the heavens, as **stationary** in place; but whether or not herself revolving, unless this is implied in the revolution of the axis, is uncertain (Timaeus). The spectator may be supposed to look at the heavenly **bodies**, either from above or below. The earth is a sort of earth and heaven in one, like the heaven of the Phaedrus, on the back of which the spectator goes out to take a **peep** at the stars and is borne round in the revolution. There is no distinction between the **equator** and the **ecliptic**. But Plato is no doubt led to imagine that the planets have an opposite motion to that of the fixed stars, in order to account for their appearances in the heavens. In the description of the meadow, and the retribution of the good and evil after death, there are traces of Homer.

## **Thesaurus**

bowknot, bowing, arc.

ecliptic: (n) orbit, equator, circle.
equator: (n) circle, colures, midriff,
orbit, round, diaphragm, celestial
equator, ecliptic.
orrery: (n) planetarium.
peep: (n, v) glance, peek, look, gaze,
glint, squeal; (n) glimpse, cheep; (v)
chirp, peer, pry. ANTONYMS: (v)
stare, gaze; (n) examination.
prow: (n) bow, stem, fore, beak, nose,
obeisance, forepart, curtain call,

bodies: (n) people, public.

rainbow: (n) tortoise shell, tulip, sunbow, spectrum, peacock, dream, chimera; (adj) multicolored, motley, kaleidoscopic, colorful.

retribution: (n) reprisal, judgment, penalty, punishment, requital, repayment, recompense, reward, revenge, retaliation, restitution.

ANTONYM: (n) reward.

spectator: (n) eyewitness, observer, onlooker, witness, audience,

beholder, viewer, watcher, spectators, looker, ogler. ANTONYM: (n) player. stationary: (adj) motionless, fixed, set, quiescent, permanent, immobile, steady, static, constant, unmoving, still. ANTONYMS: (adj) mobile, shifting, flowing. trireme: (n) trionym, trigon, triennium, tripod, trident, quadrireme, triangle, triseme,

triskele, triskelion, trisula.

The description of the axis as a spindle, and of the heavenly bodies as forming a whole, partly arises out of the attempt to connect the motions of the heavenly bodies with the mythological image of the web, or weaving of the Fates. The giving of the lots, the weaving of them, and the making of them irreversible, which are ascribed to the three Fates – Lachesis, Clotho, Atropos, are obviously derived from their names. The element of chance in human life is indicated by the order of the lots. But chance, however adverse, may be overcome by the wisdom of man, if he knows how to choose aright; there is a worse enemy to man than chance; this enemy is himself. He who was moderately fortunate in the number of the lot-even the very last comer-might have a good life if he chose with wisdom. And as Plato does not like to make an assertion which is unproven, he more than confirms this statement a few sentences afterwards by the example of Odysseus, who chose last. But the virtue which is founded on habit is not sufficient to enable a man to choose; he must add to virtue knowledge, if he is to act rightly when placed in new circumstances. The routine of good actions and good habits is an inferior sort of goodness; and, as Coleridge says, 'Common sense is intolerable which is not based on metaphysics,' so Plato would have said, 'Habit is worthless which is not based upon philosophy.'

The freedom of the will to refuse the evil and to choose the good is distinctly asserted. 'Virtue is free, and as a man honours or dishonours her he will have more or less of her.' The life of man is 'rounded' by necessity; there are circumstances prior to birth which affect him (Pol.). But within the walls of necessity there is an open space in which he is his own master, and can study for himself the effects which the variously compounded gifts of nature or fortune have upon the soul, and act accordingly. All men cannot have the first choice in everything. But the lot of all men is good enough, if they choose wisely and will live **diligently**.

The verisimilitude which is given to the pilgrimage of a thousand years, by the intimation that Ardiaeus had lived a thousand years before; the coincidence of Er coming to life on the twelfth day after he was supposed to have been dead

## **Thesaurus**

aright: (adv) correctly, right, well, true, not Amis, satisfactorily, favorably, justly, exactly, rightly, properly. compounded: (adj) combined, complex, compositive; (v) mingle. diligently: (adv) busily, assiduously, sedulously, attentively, industriously, earnestly, actively, laboriously, tirelessly, carefully, studiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) wearily, hastily. irreversible: (adj) irreparable,

unchangeable, irrecoverable, irredeemable, irreclaimable, fixed, irremediable; (v) irretrievable, indefeasible, irresoluble, intransmutable. ANTONYMS: (adi) impermanent, superficial, temporary, worthless: (adj, v) futile, vain; (adj)

mythological: (adj) mythologic, fabulous, legendary, fabled, fancied, imaginary, unreal, barely credible, heroic, supernatural; (adj, v) mythic. unproven: (adj) unverified,

unfounded, unconfirmed, unsubstantiated, unsupervised, unsupported, tenuous, untried, new, untested, speculative. ANTONYMS: (adj) established, proved, seasoned. vile, idle, empty, trifling, void, trivial, cheap, miserable, null. ANTONYMS: (adj) precious, useful, worthwhile, priceless, meaningful, helpful, invaluable, deserving, valid, worthy, substantial.

with the seven days which the pilgrims passed in the meadow, and the four days during which they journeyed to the column of light; the precision with which the soul is mentioned who chose the twentieth lot; the passing remarks that there was no definite character among the souls, and that the souls which had chosen ill blamed any one rather than themselves; or that some of the souls drank more than was necessary of the waters of Forgetfulness, while Er himself was hindered from drinking; the desire of Odysseus to rest at last, unlike the conception of him in Dante and Tennyson; the feigned ignorance of how Er returned to the body, when the other souls went **shooting** like stars to their birth,—add greatly to the probability of the narrative. They are such touches of nature as the art of Defoe might have introduced when he wished to win credibility for marvels and apparitions.

There still remain to be considered some points which have been intentionally reserved to the end: (1) the Janus-like character of the Republic, which presents two faces-one an Hellenic state, the other a kingdom of philosophers. Connected with the latter of the two aspects are (2) the paradoxes of the Republic, as they have been termed by Morgenstern: (a) the community of property; (b) of families; (c) the rule of philosophers; (d) the analogy of the individual and the State, which, like some other analogies in the Republic, is carried too far. We may then proceed to consider (3) the subject of education as conceived by Plato, bringing together in a general view the education of youth and the education of after-life; (4) we may note further some essential differences between ancient and modern politics which are suggested by the Republic; (5) we may compare the Politicus and the Laws; (6) we may observe the influence exercised by Plato on his imitators; and (7) take occasion to consider the nature and value of political, and (8) of religious ideals.

## Thesaurus

analogy: (n) agreement, analog, parity, similarity, correspondence, resemblance, analogue, affinity, likeness, parallel, comparison. ANTONYMS: (n) dissimilarity, difference, contrast. credibility: (n) believability, credibleness, reliability, prestige, validity, plausibility, cogency, fidelity, dependability, reputation, responsibility. ANTONYMS: (n) questionability, implausibility,

incredibleness, dishonesty. feigned: (adj) false, affected, assumed, dummy, unnatural, fictitious; (adj, v) sham, counterfeit, spurious, mock, pretended. ANTONYMS: (adj) sincere, genuine, natural, wholehearted, heartfelt, real. ideals: (n) morality, principle, standard, standards, ethics, principles. meadow: (n) hayfield, lea, mead, grassland, plain, lawn, sward,

grazing land, greensward, pasturage, paddock. reserved: (adj, n) cold, distant, frigid; (adj) cov, reticent, diffident, bashful, aloof, retiring, quiet, shy. ANTONYMS: (adj) open, forthcoming, uninhibited, relaxed, warm, communicative, talkative, free, definite, cordial, forward. **shooting**: (v) shoot, hunting, coursing;

(n) gunfire, killing, gunshot, shot, murder; (adj) sharp, acute, piercing.

1. Plato expressly says that he is intending to found an Hellenic State (Book V). Many of his regulations are characteristically Spartan; such as the prohibition of gold and silver, the common meals of the men, the military training of the youth, the gymnastic exercises of the women. The life of Sparta was the life of a camp (Laws), enforced even more rigidly in time of peace than in war; the citizens of Sparta, like Plato's, were forbidden to trade—they were to be soldiers and not shopkeepers. Nowhere else in Greece was the individual so completely subjected to the State; the time when he was to marry, the education of his children, the clothes which he was to wear, the food which he was to eat, were all prescribed by law. Some of the best enactments in the Republic, such as the reverence to be paid to parents and elders, and some of the worst, such as the exposure of **deformed** children, are borrowed from the practice of Sparta. The encouragement of friendships between men and youths, or of men with one another, as affording incentives to bravery, is also Spartan; in Sparta too a nearer approach was made than in any other Greek State to equality of the sexes, and to community of property; and while there was probably less of licentiousness in the sense of immorality, the tie of marriage was regarded more lightly than in the rest of Greece. The 'suprema lex' was the preservation of the family, and the interest of the State. The coarse strength of a military government was not favourable to purity and refinement; and the excessive strictness of some regulations seems to have produced a reaction. Of all Hellenes the Spartans were most accessible to bribery; several of the greatest of them might be described in the words of Plato as having a 'fierce secret longing after gold and silver.' Though not in the strict sense communists, the principle of communism was maintained among them in their division of lands, in their common meals, in their slaves, and in the free use of one another's goods. Marriage was a public institution: and the women were educated by the State, and sang and danced in public with the men.

Many traditions were preserved at Sparta of the severity with which the magistrates had maintained the primitive rule of music and poetry; as in the

bravery: (n) courage, fortitude, audacity, valor, boldness, mettle, nerve, manhood, valiancy, heart, heroism. ANTONYMS: (n) fear, anxiety, fearfulness, timidity. bribery: (n) corruption, felony, blackmail, bait, lure, invitation, incentive, temptation, coemption, dishonesty. ANTONYM: (n) honesty. deformed: (adj) distorted, misshapen, bent, malformed, ugly, crippled, contorted, warped, shapeless,

## **Thesaurus**

twisted, deform. ANTONYMS: (adj) beautiful, flawless, unflawed, perfect, straight.

immorality: (n) iniquity, degeneracy, corruption, evil, vice, sin, evilness, wickedness, debauchery, devilry, wrong. ANTONYMS: (n) righteousness, decency, piety, morality, restraint, honesty, good. magistrates: (n) bench, courts, judges. rigidly: (adv) severely, sternly, strictly, firmly, stringently, unbendingly,

rigorously, uncompromisingly, stubbornly, unyieldingly, strongly. ANTONYMS: (*adv*) loosely, amenably.

**sang**: (*n*) panax quinquefolius, sing, herb, herbaceous plant.

strictness: (n) harshness, severity, rigor, hardness, austerity, exactness, firmness, inclemency, stiffness, accuracy, precision. ANTONYMS: (n) leniency, lenience, laxity, flexibility, vagueness, inaccuracy.

Republic of Plato, the new-fangled poet was to be **expelled**. Hymns to the Gods, which are the only kind of music admitted into the ideal State, were the only kind which was permitted at Sparta. The Spartans, though an **unpoetical** race, were nevertheless lovers of poetry; they had been **stirred** by the Elegiac **strains** of Tyrtaeus, they had crowded around Hippias to hear his recitals of Homer; but in this they resembled the citizens of the timocratic rather than of the ideal State. The council of elder men also corresponds to the Spartan gerousia; and the freedom with which they are permitted to judge about matters of detail agrees with what we are told of that institution. Once more, the military rule of not **spoiling** the dead or offering arms at the temples; the moderation in the pursuit of enemies; the importance attached to the physical well-being of the citizens; the use of **warfare** for the sake of defence rather than of aggression—are features probably suggested by the spirit and practice of Sparta.

To the Spartan type the ideal State reverts in the first decline; and the character of the individual timocrat is borrowed from the Spartan citizen. The love of Lacedaemon not only affected Plato and Xenophon, but was shared by many undistinguished Athenians; there they seemed to find a principle which was wanting in their own democracy. The (Greek) of the Spartans attracted them, that is to say, not the goodness of their laws, but the spirit of order and loyalty which prevailed. Fascinated by the idea, citizens of Athens would imitate the Lacedaemonians in their dress and manners; they were known to the contemporaries of Plato as 'the persons who had their ears bruised,' like the Roundheads of the Commonwealth. The love of another church or country when seen at a distance only, the **longing** for an **imaginary** simplicity in civilized times, the fond desire of a past which never has been, or of a future which never will be,—these are aspirations of the human mind which are often felt among ourselves. Such feelings meet with a response in the Republic of Plato.

But there are other features of the Platonic Republic, as, for example, the literary and philosophical education, and the grace and beauty of life, which are the reverse of Spartan. Plato wishes to give his citizens a taste of Athenian freedom as well as of Lacedaemonian discipline. His individual **genius** is purely

## **Thesaurus**

expelled: (adj) evicted, disqualified, dispossessed, debarred, barred, banned.
genius: (adj, n) capacity, ability, endowment, faculty, gift, cleverness; (n) flair, brain, prodigy, bent, aptitude. ANTONYM: (n) amateur. imaginary: (adj) fictitious, unreal, false, mythical, illusory, ideal, hypothetical, visionary, fictional, notional, chimerical. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, palpable, actual, concrete,

prosaic, normal, true. **longing**: (*n*, *v*) desire, aspiration; (*adj*) eager, wistful, nostalgic; (*n*) nostalgia, wish, hankering, urge, appetite; (*adj*, *n*) yearning. ANTONYMS: (*n*) apathy, disinclination; (*adj*) satisfied, unconcerned.

**spoiling**: (*n*) spoilage, spoilation, despoliation, deterioration, detriment, erosion, indulgence, injury; (*v*) withering; (*adj*) easy, lenient.

stirred: (adj) excited, agitated, moved, affected, aroused, emotional, aflame, Stirn, horny, susceptible, stirred up. strains: (n) tension, tenseness. unpoetical: (adj) downright, direct, blunt, museless, uninteresting, dull, unpoetic, prosy, resembling prose, commonplace, unimaginative. warfare: (n) conflict, fighting, battle, contest, combat, action, struggle, hostility, hostilities, opposition, jihad. ANTONYM: (n) harmony.

Athenian, although in theory he is a lover of Sparta; and he is something more than either—he has also a true Hellenic feeling. He is desirous of humanizing the wars of Hellenes against one another; he acknowledges that the Delphian God is the grand hereditary interpreter of all Hellas. The spirit of harmony and the Dorian mode are to prevail, and the whole State is to have an external beauty which is the **reflex** of the harmony within. But he has not yet found out the truth which he afterwards enunciated in the Laws – that he was a better legislator who made men to be of one mind, than he who trained them for war. The citizens, as in other Hellenic States, democratic as well as aristocratic, are really an upper class; for, although no mention is made of slaves, the lower classes are allowed to fade away into the distance, and are represented in the individual by the passions. Plato has no idea either of a social State in which all classes are harmonized, or of a federation of Hellas or the world in which different nations or States have a place. His city is equipped for war rather than for peace, and this would seem to be justified by the ordinary condition of Hellenic States. The myth of the earth-born men is an embodiment of the orthodox tradition of Hellas, and the allusion to the four ages of the world is also sanctioned by the authority of Hesiod and the poets. Thus we see that the Republic is partly founded on the ideal of the old Greek polis, partly on the actual circumstances of Hellas in that age. Plato, like the old painters, retains the traditional form, and like them he has also a vision of a city in the clouds.

There is yet another thread which is **interwoven** in the texture of the work; for the Republic is not only a Dorian State, but a Pythagorean league. The 'way of life' which was connected with the name of Pythagoras, like the Catholic **monastic** orders, showed the power which the mind of an individual might exercise over his contemporaries, and may have naturally suggested to Plato the possibility of **reviving** such 'mediaeval institutions.' The Pythagoreans, like Plato, enforced a rule of life and a moral and intellectual training. The influence ascribed to music, which to us seems exaggerated, is also a Pythagorean feature; it is not to be regarded as representing the real influence of music in the Greek world. More nearly than any other government of Hellas, the Pythagorean league of three hundred was an aristocracy of virtue. For once in the history of

## **Thesaurus**

fade: (adj, v) vanish, drop; (v) dissolve, decline, evaporate, discolor, droop, die, languish, expire; (n, v) wither. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, grow, flourish, enhance, surge, sharpen, brighten, color, wax, stay, rally. interwoven: (adj) interlinking, interlacing, interlocking, complex, interwove, twine, contextural, entangled, inseparable, knotted, related.

monastic: (adj) monachal, cloistral,

monasterial, monastical, monkish, cloistered, clerical; (n) monk, brother, friar, benedict.

prevail: (*n*, *v*) triumph, control, govern; (*v*) dominate, overcome, outweigh, obtain, persist, carry, vanquish; (*adj*) preponderate.

ANTONYM: (*v*) lose.

reflex: (adj) involuntary, instinctive, unconscious, catoptric; (v) reflection, reflexion, resilient; (n) reaction, burping, eructation, physiological

reaction. ANTONYMS: (adj) voluntary, deliberate. reviving: (adj) bracing, restorative, renewing, refreshing, revival, brisk, enlivening, recuperative, reanimating, promoting recuperation, giving life. ANTONYM: (adj) soothing. sanctioned: (adj) approved, legitimate, authorized, canonical, official, legal, accepted, canonic, orthodox; (v) allowed; (adj, v) privileged.

mankind the philosophy of order or (Greek), expressing and consequently enlisting on its side the combined endeavours of the better part of the people, obtained the management of public affairs and held possession of it for a considerable time (until about B.C. 500). Probably only in States prepared by Dorian institutions would such a league have been possible. The rulers, like Plato's (Greek), were required to submit to a severe training in order to prepare the way for the education of the other members of the community. Long after the dissolution of the Order, eminent Pythagoreans, such as Archytas of Tarentum, retained their political influence over the cities of Magna Graecia. There was much here that was suggestive to the kindred spirit of Plato, who had doubtless meditated deeply on the 'way of life of Pythagoras' (Rep.) and his followers. Slight traces of Pythagoreanism are to be found in the mystical number of the State, in the number which expresses the interval between the king and the tyrant, in the doctrine of transmigration, in the music of the spheres, as well as in the great though secondary importance ascribed to mathematics in education.

But as in his philosophy, so also in the form of his State, he goes far beyond the old Pythagoreans. He **attempts** a task really impossible, which is to **unite** the past of Greek history with the future of philosophy, analogous to that other impossibility, which has often been the dream of Christendom, the attempt to unite the past history of Europe with the kingdom of Christ. Nothing actually existing in the world at all resembles Plato's ideal State; nor does he himself imagine that such a State is possible. This he repeats again and again; e.g. in the Republic, or in the Laws where, casting a glance back on the Republic, he admits that the perfect state of communism and philosophy was impossible in his own age, though still to be retained as a pattern. The same doubt is implied in the earnestness with which he argues in the Republic that ideals are none the worse because they cannot be realized in fact, and in the chorus of laughter, which like a breaking wave will, as he anticipates, greet the mention of his proposals; though like other writers of fiction, he uses all his art to give reality to his inventions. When asked how the ideal polity can come into being, he answers ironically, 'When one son of a king becomes a philosopher'; he designates the fiction of the earth-born men as 'a noble lie'; and when the structure is finally

attempts: (adj) trying.
eminent: (adj) high, celebrated,
elevated, brilliant, illustrious, noble,
big, famous, renowned, conspicuous,
dignified. ANTONYMS: (adj)
undistinguished, obscure, low,
unremarkable, common,
uncelebrated, unimportant,
insignificant, humble, ordinary.
enlisting: (n) accomplishment,
achievement, recruitment.
greet: (n, v) receive; (v) address,

## **Thesaurus**

acknowledge, hail, welcome, cry, salute, bid, weep, meet, recognize. impossibility: (n) impossibleness, option, nonexistence, absurdity, inability, impracticability, alternative, choice, contradiction, contradiction in terms, doubtfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) possibility, probability. mystical: (adj) mysterious, esoteric, hidden, occult, secret, cryptic, cryptical, unearthly, Orphic, metaphysical, arcane. ANTONYMS:

(adj) physical, natural. **transmigration**: (n) metempsychosis, migration, mutagenesis transanimation, mutagenesis, shifting, journey, transanimation, rebirth.

unite: (v) associate, meet, connect, link, blend, join, coalesce, unify, tie, amalgamate; (adj, v) fuse.

ANTONYMS: (v) divide, cut, disband, disconnect, diverge, segregate, split, undo, unpick.

complete, he fairly tells you that his Republic is a vision only, which in some sense may have reality, but not in the **vulgar** one of a reign of philosophers upon earth. It has been said that Plato flies as well as walks, but this falls short of the truth; for he flies and walks at the same time, and is in the air and on firm ground in successive instants.

Niebuhr has asked a **trifling** question, which may be briefly **noticed** in this place – Was Plato a good citizen? If by this is meant, Was he loyal to Athenian institutions? – he can hardly be said to be the friend of democracy: but neither is he the friend of any other existing form of government; all of them he regarded as 'states of faction' (Laws); none attained to his ideal of a voluntary rule over voluntary subjects, which seems indeed more nearly to describe democracy than any other; and the worst of them is tyranny. The truth is, that the question has hardly any meaning when applied to a great philosopher whose writings are not meant for a particular age and country, but for all time and all mankind. The decline of Athenian politics was probably the motive which led Plato to frame an ideal State, and the Republic may be regarded as reflecting the departing glory of Hellas. As well might we complain of St. Augustine, whose great work 'The City of God' originated in a similar motive, for not being loyal to the Roman Empire. Even a nearer parallel might be afforded by the first Christians, who cannot fairly be charged with being bad citizens because, though 'subject to the higher powers,' they were looking forward to a city which is in heaven.

2. The idea of the perfect State is full of paradox when judged of according to the ordinary notions of mankind. The paradoxes of one age have been said to become the commonplaces of the next; but the paradoxes of Plato are at least as **paradoxical** to us as they were to his contemporaries. The modern world has either sneered at them as absurd, or denounced them as unnatural and immoral; men have been pleased to find in Aristotle's criticisms of them the anticipation of their own good sense. The wealthy and **cultivated** classes have **disliked** and also **dreaded** them; they have pointed with satisfaction to the failure of efforts to realize them in practice. Yet since they are the thoughts of one of the greatest of

## **Thesaurus**

cultivated: (adj) cultured, refined, tame, educated, sophisticated, elegant, urbane, polished, accomplished, civil, polite.

ANTONYMS: (adj) wild, untamed, uncouth, coarse, graceless.

disliked: (adj) hated, detested, averse, lousy, loath, undesirable, companionless. ANTONYMS: (adj) popular, liked.

dreaded: (adj) awful, terrible, cowardly, causing horror, dire,

direful, desperate, dreadful, fearful, fearsome; (v) drad.
noticed: (adj) noted.
paradoxical: (adj) contradictory, conflicting, ambiguous, illegible, contrary, strange, inconsistent, questionable, ironic; (v) enigmatic, problematical.

trifling: (adj) paltry, slight, petty, negligible, immaterial, worthless, trivial, minor, small; (adj, v) inconsequential; (adj, n) frivolity.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) significant, worthwhile, major, considerable, crucial, enormous, great, mature, profound, substantial; (*n*) importance.

vulgar: (adj) rude, coarse, plebeian, nasty, common, foul, indecent, gross, unrefined; (adj, n) low, vile. ANTONYMS: (adj) refined, sophisticated, tasteful, polite, aesthetic, muted, fashionable, decent, artistic, pleasant, clean. human intelligences, and of one who had done most to elevate morality and religion, they seem to deserve a better treatment at our hands. We may have to address the public, as Plato does poetry, and assure them that we mean no harm to existing institutions. There are serious errors which have a side of truth and which therefore may fairly demand a careful consideration: there are truths mixed with error of which we may indeed say, 'The half is better than the whole.' Yet 'the half' may be an important contribution to the study of human nature.

(a) The first **paradox** is the community of goods, which is mentioned slightly at the end of the third Book, and seemingly, as Aristotle observes, is confined to the guardians; at least no mention is made of the other classes. But the **omission** is not of any real significance, and probably arises out of the plan of the work, which prevents the writer from entering into details.

Aristotle censures the community of property much in the spirit of modern political economy, as tending to repress industry, and as doing away with the spirit of benevolence. Modern writers almost refuse to consider the subject, which is supposed to have been long ago settled by the common opinion of mankind. But it must be remembered that the sacredness of property is a notion far more fixed in modern than in ancient times. The world has grown older, and is therefore more conservative. Primitive society offered many examples of land held in common, either by a tribe or by a township, and such may probably have been the original form of landed tenure. Ancient legislators had invented various modes of dividing and preserving the divisions of land among the citizens; according to Aristotle there were nations who held the land in common and divided the produce, and there were others who divided the land and stored the produce in common. The evils of debt and the inequality of property were far greater in ancient than in modern times, and the accidents to which property was subject from war, or revolution, or taxation, or other legislative interference, were also greater. All these circumstances gave property a less fixed and sacred character. The early Christians are believed to have held their property in common, and the principle is sanctioned by the words of Christ himself, and has been maintained as a counsel of perfection in almost all ages of the Church. Nor

## **Thesaurus**

dividing: (n) division, partitioning, calculation; (v) parting, departing; (adv) dividingly; (adf) disjunctive, divisional.

omission: (n) exclusion, error, ellipsis, inadvertence, negligence, mistake, neglect, oversight, flaw; (adj, n) fault, defect. ANTONYMS: (n) adherence, performance, addition.

paradox: (n) incongruity, contradiction, ambiguity, inconsistency, puzzle, figure of speech, phenomenon, paradoxy, opposite, irony, equivocation. **preserving**: (n) conservation, preservation, protection, conservancy, embalmment, fixation; (adj) saving, frugal, economical, protective, thrifty.

protective, thrifty.

repress: (v) inhibit, crush, quash, control, suppress, put down, bridle, keep down, subdue, restrain, reduce.

ANTONYMS: (v) declare, liberate, incite.

stored: (adj) saved, freighted, laden, filled, fraught, charged.
tenure: (n) tenancy, occupancy, occupation, term of office, incumbency, administration, copyhold, ownership, presidency, freehold, land tenure. ANTONYMS: (n) vacancy, title.
township: (n) parish, municipality,

county, community, shire, country, city, arrondissement, settlement, area, province.

have there been wanting instances of modern enthusiasts who have made a religion of communism; in every age of religious excitement **notions** like Wycliffe's 'inheritance of grace' have tended to prevail. A like spirit, but fiercer and more violent, has appeared in politics. 'The preparation of the Gospel of peace' soon becomes the red flag of Republicanism.

We can hardly judge what effect Plato's views would have upon his own contemporaries; they would perhaps have seemed to them only an exaggeration of the Spartan commonwealth. Even modern writers would acknowledge that the right of private property is based on expediency, and may be interfered with in a variety of ways for the public good. Any other mode of vesting property which was found to be more advantageous, would in time acquire the same basis of right; 'the most useful,' in Plato's words, 'would be the most sacred.' The lawyers and ecclesiastics of former ages would have spoken of property as a sacred institution. But they only meant by such language to **oppose** the greatest amount of resistance to any invasion of the rights of individuals and of the Church.

When we consider the question, without any fear of immediate application to practice, in the spirit of Plato's Republic, are we quite sure that the received notions of property are the best? Is the distribution of wealth which is **customary** in civilized countries the most favourable that can be conceived for the education and development of the mass of **mankind**? Can 'the spectator of all time and all existence' be quite convinced that one or two thousand years hence, great changes will not have taken place in the rights of property, or even that the very notion of property, beyond what is necessary for personal maintenance, may not have disappeared? This was a distinction familiar to Aristotle, though likely to be laughed at among ourselves. Such a change would not be greater than some other changes through which the world has passed in the transition from ancient to modern society, for example, the **emancipation** of the serfs in Russia, or the abolition of slavery in America and the West Indies; and not so great as the difference which **separates** the Eastern village community from the Western world. To **accomplish** such a revolution in the course of a few

## **Thesaurus**

compass, perfect, attain, make, fulfill, realize, execute, carry out.
ANTONYMS: (v) abandon, neglect, choke, blow, lose. **customary**: (adj, n) accustomed, usual, habitual; (adj) conventional, ordinary, commonplace, traditional, average, wonted, regular, standard.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unusual, abnormal, exceptional, unconventional, offbeat, irregular,

accomplish: (v) perform, reach, do,

innovative, different, unfamiliar, extraordinary, rare. emancipation: (n) rescue, deliverance,

discharge, freedom, liberation, salvation, relief, disengagement, acquittal, exemption, liberty.

ANTONYMS: (n) suppression, downfall.

mankind: (n) world, humanity, humankind, human race, humans, person, flesh, mortality, people, human beings, humanness. **notions**: (*n*) belief, thinking, thought, sundries, opinion, concept, ideas, ribbon, philosophy, odds and ends; (*adj*) irrational.

**oppose**: (*v*) contest, contend, resist, contradict, controvert, contravene, counteract, fight, counter, disagree, dissent. ANTONYMS: (*v*) advocate, agree, back, advise, promote, accept, submit, encourage, correspond, approve, favor. **separates**: (*n*) coordinates.

centuries, would imply a rate of progress not more rapid than has actually taken place during the last fifty or sixty years. The kingdom of Japan underwent more change in five or six years than Europe in five or six hundred. Many opinions and beliefs which have been cherished among ourselves quite as strongly as the sacredness of property have passed away; and the most untenable propositions respecting the right of bequests or entail have been maintained with as much fervour as the most moderate. Some one will be heard to ask whether a state of society can be final in which the interests of thousands are perilled on the life or character of a single person. And many will indulge the hope that our present condition may, after all, be only transitional, and may conduct to a higher, in which property, besides ministering to the enjoyment of the few, may also furnish the means of the highest culture to all, and will be a greater benefit to the public generally, and also more under the control of public authority. There may come a time when the saying, 'Have I not a right to do what I will with my own?' will appear to be a barbarous relic of individualism; – when the possession of a part may be a greater blessing to each and all than the possession of the whole is now to any one.

Such reflections appear visionary to the eye of the practical statesman, but they are within the range of possibility to the philosopher. He can imagine that in some distant age or clime, and through the influence of some individual, the notion of common property may or might have sunk as deep into the heart of a race, and have become as fixed to them, as private property is to ourselves. He knows that this latter institution is not more than four or five thousand years old: may not the end revert to the beginning? In our own age even Utopias affect the spirit of legislation, and an abstract idea may exercise a great influence on practical politics.

The objections that would be generally urged against Plato's community of property, are the old ones of Aristotle, that motives for exertion would be taken away, and that disputes would arise when each was dependent upon all. Every man would produce as little and consume as much as he liked. The experience of civilized nations has hitherto been adverse to Socialism. The effort is too great

## **Thesaurus**

cherished: (adj) dear, precious, loved, treasured, prized, intimate, wanted, valued, pet, valuable, close. ANTONYMS: (adj) unremarkable, hated, distant. clime: (n) land, territory, region, meridian, zone, soil, sky, latitude. entail: (v) imply, involve, demand, mean, need, induce, evoke, implicate, relic: (n, v) memento, souvenir, require, to bar an entail, draw down. exertion: (n) application, exercise, endeavor, attempt, struggle, trouble,

diligence, strain, labor, pull, essay. ANTONYMS: (n) idleness, inactivity, inertia, relaxation, laziness, ease. fervour: (n) ardour, fervidness, fervency, fervor, ardor, enthusiasm, eagerness, zest, elan, ardency, fire. ministering: (adj) assisting, helpful, latreutical, ministrative, ministrant. keepsake; (n) token, trace, remainder, remains, antique, relict, vestige, remnant.

untenable: (adj) unjustifiable, not defensible, unreasonable, inexcusable, illogical; (v) sine ICTU, pregnable, unfortified, unarmed, harmless, defenseless. ANTONYMS: (adj) valid, watertight, justifiable. **visionary**: (adj, n) utopian; (adj, v)imaginary; (adj) airy, fanciful, unreal, dreamy, ideal, romantic; (n) seer, dreamer, prophet. ANTONYMS: (adj) foolish, unromantic, practical, real, realistic, unimaginative.

for human nature; men try to live in common, but the personal feeling is always breaking in. On the other hand it may be **doubted** whether our present notions of property are not conventional, for they differ in different countries and in different states of society. We boast of an individualism which is not freedom, but rather an artificial result of the industrial state of modern Europe. The individual is nominally free, but he is also powerless in a world bound hand and foot in the chains of economic necessity. Even if we cannot expect the mass of mankind to become disinterested, at any rate we observe in them a power of organization which fifty years ago would never have been suspected. The same forces which have revolutionized the political system of Europe, may effect a similar change in the social and industrial relations of mankind. And if we suppose the influence of some good as well as neutral motives working in the community, there will be no absurdity in expecting that the mass of mankind having power, and becoming enlightened about the higher possibilities of human life, when they learn how much more is attainable for all than is at present the possession of a favoured few, may pursue the common interest with an intelligence and persistency which mankind have hitherto never seen.

Now that the world has once been set in motion, and is no longer held fast under the tyranny of custom and ignorance; now that criticism has pierced the veil of tradition and the past no longer overpowers the present, – the progress of civilization may be expected to be far greater and swifter than **heretofore**. Even at our present rate of speed the point at which we may arrive in two or three generations is beyond the power of imagination to foresee. There are forces in the world which work, not in an arithmetical, but in a geometrical ratio of increase. Education, to use the expression of Plato, moves like a wheel with an ever-multiplying rapidity. Nor can we say how great may be its influence, when it becomes universal, - when it has been inherited by many generations, - when it is freed from the trammels of superstition and rightly adapted to the wants and capacities of different classes of men and women. Neither do we know how much more the co- operation of minds or of hands may be capable of accomplishing, whether in labour or in study. The resources of the natural sciences are not half- developed as yet; the soil of the earth, instead of growing

accomplishing: (n) doing; (adj) effectual.

attainable: (adj) possible, obtainable, gettable, available, feasible, approachable, accessible, viable, doable, realistic, open. ANTONYMS: (adj) unattainable, unachievable, impossible.

doubted: (adj) distrusted, suspected. favoured: (adj) preferred, preferential. foresee: (v) expect, forecast, anticipate, envisage, previse, foreknow,

## **Thesaurus**

prophesy, provide, foresaw, predict, see.

heretofore: (adv) formerly, as yet, before, so far, yet, already, until now, previously, once, hereunto; (adv, n) hitherto.

persistency: (n) pertinacity, perseverance, tenacity, tenaciousness,

obstinacy, doggedness, purpose, durability, firmness, stubbornness, inflexibility.

rapidity: (n) expedition, quickness,

promptness, dispatch, celerity, haste, velocity, pace, fleetness, promptitude, speed. ANTONYM: (n)

tardiness.

superstition: (n) superstitious, taboo, religion, old wives' tale, superstitious notion, lore, folklore, fanaticism, fallacy, belief, magic. ANTONYMS: (n) science, truth.

trammels: (n) fetter, handcuff, iron, hobble, handlock, shackle, cuff, bond, hamper, chains, chain.

more barren, may become many times more fertile than hitherto; the uses of machinery far greater, and also more minute than at present. New secrets of physiology may be revealed, deeply affecting human nature in its innermost recesses. The standard of health may be raised and the lives of men prolonged by sanitary and medical knowledge. There may be peace, there may be leisure, there may be innocent refreshments of many kinds. The ever-increasing power of locomotion may join the extremes of earth. There may be mysterious workings of the human mind, such as occur only at great crises of history. The East and the West may meet together, and all nations may contribute their thoughts and their experience to the common stock of humanity. Many other elements enter into a speculation of this kind. But it is better to make an end of them. For such reflections appear to the majority far-fetched, and to men of science, commonplace.

(b) Neither to the mind of Plato nor of Aristotle did the doctrine of community of property present at all the same difficulty, or appear to be the same violation of the common Hellenic sentiment, as the community of wives This paradox he prefaces by another proposal, that the and children. occupations of men and women shall be the same, and that to this end they shall have a common training and education. Male and female animals have the same pursuits – why not also the two sexes of man?

But have we not here fallen into a contradiction? for we were saying that different natures should have different pursuits. How then can men and women have the same? And is not the proposal inconsistent with our notion of the division of labour? - These objections are no sooner raised than answered; for, according to Plato, there is no organic difference between men and women, but only the accidental one that men beget and women bear children. Following the analogy of the other animals, he contends that all natural gifts are scattered about indifferently among both sexes, though there may be a superiority of degree on the part of the men. The objection on the score of decency to their taking part in the same gymnastic exercises, is met by Plato's assertion that the existing feeling is a matter of habit.

## Thesaurus

barren: (adj, n) sterile; (adj) infertile, deserted, arid, void, dry, stark, meagre, fruitless, abortive; (n) waste. ANTONYMS: (adj) productive, lush, fruitful, developing, growing, profitable, rewarding, rich, sheltered, locomotion: (n) movement, travel, humid, populous. contends: (v) contend. decency: (n) dignity, modesty, decorum, kindness, morality, courtesy, correctness, goodness, virtue, respectability, propriety.

ANTONYMS: (n) indecency, offensiveness, corruption, immorality, wickedness, unsuitability, unkindness, rudeness, impropriety, badness, nastiness. motion, creeping, motive power, mobility, travelling, robot mobility, motivity; (v) clip, progress. physiology: (n) organic chemistry, natural history, myology, bionomy, botany, bodily property, biological

science, biology. recesses: (n) penetralia, bowels, inside. sanitary: (adj) clean, healthful, pure, unpolluted, uncontaminated, antiseptic, disinfected, salubrious, sterile, spotless, sanitarian. ANTONYMS: (adj) unsanitary, unhygienic, insanitary. sentiment: (n) emotion, mind, notion, feeling, persuasion, opinion, judgment, sense, judgement, attitude, impression.

That Plato should have emancipated himself from the ideas of his own country and from the example of the East, shows a wonderful independence of mind. He is conscious that women are half the human race, in some respects the more important half (Laws); and for the sake both of men and women he desires to raise the woman to a higher level of existence. He brings, not sentiment, but philosophy to bear upon a question which both in ancient and modern times has been chiefly regarded in the light of custom or feeling. The Greeks had noble conceptions of womanhood in the goddesses Athene and Artemis, and in the heroines Antigone and Andromache. But these ideals had no counterpart in actual life. The Athenian woman was in no way the equal of her husband; she was not the entertainer of his guests or the mistress of his house, but only his housekeeper and the mother of his children. She took no part in military or political matters; nor is there any instance in the later ages of Greece of a woman becoming famous in literature. 'Hers is the greatest glory who has the least **renown** among men,' is the historian's conception of feminine excellence. A very different ideal of womanhood is held up by Plato to the world; she is to be the companion of the man, and to share with him in the toils of war and in the cares of government. She is to be similarly trained both in bodily and mental exercises. She is to lose as far as possible the incidents of maternity and the characteristics of the female sex.

The modern **antagonist** of the equality of the sexes would argue that the differences between men and women are not confined to the single point urged by Plato; that sensibility, **gentleness**, grace, are the qualities of women, while energy, strength, higher intelligence, are to be looked for in men. And the criticism is just: the differences affect the whole nature, and are not, as Plato supposes, confined to a single point. But neither can we say how far these differences are due to education and the opinions of mankind, or physically inherited from the habits and opinions of former generations. Women have been always taught, not exactly that they are slaves, but that they are in an inferior position, which is also supposed to have **compensating** advantages; and to this position they have conformed. It is also true that the physical form may easily change in the course of generations through the mode of life; and the weakness

## enemy, foe, rival, match, opposition, opposer, assailant, opposite, competitor. ANTONYMS: (n) supporter, advocate, colleague, synergist, ally, defender. compensating: (n) compensation, reparation; (adj) compensatory, satisfactory, atoning.

antagonist: (n) opponent, adversary,

emancipated: (adj) free, freed, uncontrolled, released, unbound, open, uninhibited, freer,

## **Thesaurus**

disentangled, disengaged, boundless. entertainer: (n) host, performer, comedian, actor, humorist, artist, musician, bombshell, busker, artist, comic. sharpness, roughness. renown: (n, v) fame; (n) distinction, eminence, kudos, name, popular prominence, honor. A

gentleness: (adj, n) kindness, courtesy, benignity, compassion; (n) kindliness, lenity, mildness, sweetness, softness, benevolence, mercy. ANTONYMS: (n) severity, harshness, fierceness, cruelty, ferocity, brusqueness, abruptness, rage, callousness,

sharpness, roughness.
renown: (*n*, *v*) fame; (*n*) glory,
distinction, eminence, notoriety,
kudos, name, popularity, prestige,
prominence, honor. ANTONYMS: (*n*)
infamy, commonness; (*adj*)
anonymity.

womanhood: (n) muliebrity, femininity, adulthood, maturity, manhood, womankind, wifehood, softness, social class, majority, adult female.

or **delicacy**, which was once a matter of opinion, may become a physical fact. The characteristics of sex vary greatly in different countries and **ranks** of society, and at different ages in the same individuals. Plato may have been right in **denying** that there was any ultimate difference in the sexes of man other than that which exists in animals, because all other differences may be conceived to disappear in other states of society, or under different circumstances of life and training.

The first wave having been passed, we proceed to the second – community of wives and children. 'Is it possible? Is it desirable?' For as Glaucon intimates, and as we far more strongly insist, 'Great doubts may be entertained about both these points.' Any free discussion of the question is impossible, and mankind are perhaps right in not allowing the ultimate bases of social life to be examined. Few of us can safely enquire into the things which nature hides, any more than we can dissect our own bodies. Still, the manner in which Plato arrived at his conclusions should be considered. For here, as Mr. Grote has remarked, is a wonderful thing, that one of the wisest and best of men should have entertained ideas of morality which are wholly at variance with our own. And if we would do Plato justice, we must examine carefully the character of his proposals. First, we may observe that the relations of the sexes supposed by him are the reverse of licentious: he seems rather to aim at an impossible strictness. Secondly, he conceives the family to be the natural enemy of the state; and he entertains the serious hope that an universal brotherhood may take the place of private interests - an aspiration which, although not justified by experience, has possessed many noble minds. On the other hand, there is no sentiment or imagination in the connections which men and women are supposed by him to form; human beings return to the level of the animals, neither exalting to heaven, nor yet abusing the natural instincts. All that world of poetry and fancy which the passion of love has called forth in modern literature and romance would have been banished by Plato. The arrangements of marriage in the Republic are directed to one object—the improvement of the race. In successive generations a great development both of bodily and mental qualities might be possible. The analogy of animals tends to show that mankind can within certain limits receive

## **Thesaurus**

delicacy: (adj, n) weakness, fragility, tidbit; (n) finesse, daintiness, delicate, elegance, sensitivity, luxury, treat, airiness. ANTONYMS: (n) sturdiness, toughness, durability, frankness, inelegance, ruggedness, vulgarity, tactlessness, insensitivity, inaccuracy, clumsiness.

**denying**: (*v*) deny; (*adv*) denyingly; (*adj*) opposed, recusative, unselfish, abnegative.

**dissect**: (n, v) anatomize, scrutinize; (v)

carve, dismember, cut, decompose, analyse, cut up, separate, parse, resolve. ANTONYMS: (*v*) mend, synthesize, join.

exalting: (adj) exalt, ennobling, inspiring, humane, generous, exhilarating, dignifying, courageous, benevolent, abundant.

benevolent, abundant. **licentious**: (adj) lewd, immoral, filthy, abandoned, debauched, lascivious, depraved, lecherous, loose, unchaste, wanton. ANTONYMS: (adj)

restrained, virtuous, decent.

ranks: (n) rank and file.

romance: (n) love affair, fiction, story, figment, intrigue, affair, tale, vagary; (v) flirt, court, exaggerate.

variance: (n) disagreement, difference, dissension, division, divergence, deviation, misunderstanding, discord, diversity, dissimilarity, dissonance. ANTONYMS: (n) invariability, consistency, concurrence, concord.

a change of nature. And as in animals we should commonly choose the best for breeding, and destroy the others, so there must be a selection made of the human beings whose lives are worthy to be preserved.

We start back horrified from this Platonic ideal, in the belief, first, that the higher feelings of humanity are far too strong to be crushed out; secondly, that if the plan could be carried into execution we should be poorly recompensed by improvements in the breed for the loss of the best things in life. The greatest regard for the weakest and meanest of human beings—the infant, the criminal, the **insane**, the **idiot**, truly seems to us one of the noblest results of Christianity. We have learned, though as yet imperfectly, that the individual man has an endless value in the sight of God, and that we honour Him when we honour the darkened and disfigured image of Him (Laws). This is the lesson which Christ taught in a parable when He said, 'Their angels do always behold the face of My Father which is in heaven.' Such lessons are only partially realized in any age; they were foreign to the age of Plato, as they have very different degrees of strength in different countries or ages of the Christian world. To the Greek the family was a religious and customary institution binding the members together by a tie inferior in strength to that of friendship, and having a less solemn and sacred sound than that of country. The relationship which existed on the lower level of custom, Plato imagined that he was raising to the higher level of nature and reason; while from the modern and Christian point of view we regard him as **sanctioning** murder and **destroying** the first principles of morality.

The great error in these and similar speculations is that the difference between man and the animals is forgotten in them. The human being is regarded with the eye of a dog- or bird-fancier, or at best of a slave- owner; the higher or human qualities are left out. The breeder of animals aims **chiefly** at size or speed or strength; in a few cases at courage or temper; most often the fitness of the animal for food is the great **desideratum**. But mankind are not bred to be **eaten**, nor yet for their superiority in fighting or in running or in drawing carts. Neither does the improvement of the human race consist merely in the increase of the bones and flesh, but in the growth and enlightenment of the mind. Hence there

## **Thesaurus**

chiefly: (adv) principally, primarily, above all, especially, headly, mostly, largely, primely, predominantly; (adj, adv) mainly, particularly. ANTONYM: (adv) partially.

**countries**: (*n*) country.

**desideratum**: (*n*) need, requirement, necessity, aim; (*v*) porism, problem, query, question.

**destroying**: (v) destroy; (adj) deadly, deleterious, murderous; (n) disposal. **disfigured**: (adj) crooked, ugly, spoil,

damage, deform, shabby, hurt, shapeless, dishonest, stained, blemished.

eaten: (v) eat.

horrified: (v) horrify, chagrined, cut up, terrify, frighten; (adj) scared, dismayed, alarmed, frightened, aghast, terrified. ANTONYM: (adj) proud.

idiot: (n) dolt, blockhead, dunce, dimwit, moron, cretin, ass, imbecile, oaf, changeling, idiocy. ANTONYM: (n) intellectual.

insane: (adj) foolish, daft, demented, mad, delirious, lunatic, fool, moonstruck, frantic, idiotic, nutty. ANTONYM: (adj) sensible.

sanctioning: (n) approbation,

confirmation, permission, approval, agreement.

weakest: (adj) ridiculous, suggestion, supposes, notions, plainly, irrational, incongruous, project, foolish, fatuity, inconsistent. must be 'a marriage of true minds' as well as of bodies, of imagination and reason as well as of lusts and instincts. Men and women without feeling or imagination are justly called brutes; yet Plato takes away these qualities and puts nothing in their place, not even the desire of a noble offspring, since parents are not to know their own children. The most important transaction of social life, he who is the idealist philosopher converts into the most brutal. For the pair are to have no relation to one another, except at the hymeneal festival; their children are not theirs, but the state's; nor is any tie of affection to unite them. Yet here the analogy of the animals might have saved Plato from a gigantic error, if he had 'not lost sight of his own illustration.' For the 'nobler sort of birds and beasts' **nourish** and protect their offspring and are faithful to one another.

An eminent physiologist thinks it worth while 'to try and place life on a physical basis.' But should not life rest on the moral rather than upon the physical? The higher comes first, then the lower, first the human and rational, afterwards the animal. Yet they are not absolutely divided; and in times of sickness or moments of self-indulgence they seem to be only different aspects of a common human nature which includes them both. Neither is the moral the limit of the physical, but the expansion and enlargement of it, – the highest form which the physical is capable of receiving. As Plato would say, the body does not take care of the body, and still less of the mind, but the mind takes care of both. In all human action not that which is common to man and the animals is the characteristic element, but that which distinguishes him from them. Even if we admit the physical basis, and resolve all virtue into health of body 'la facon que notre sang circule,' still on merely physical grounds we must come back to ideas. Mind and reason and duty and conscience, under these or other names, are always reappearing. There cannot be health of body without health of mind; nor health of mind without the sense of duty and the love of truth (Charm).

That the greatest of ancient philosophers should in his regulations about marriage have fallen into the error of separating body and mind, does indeed appear surprising. Yet the wonder is not so much that Plato should have entertained ideas of morality which to our own age are revolting, but that he

## Thesaurus

enlargement: (n) magnification, amplification, expansion, increase, dilation, addition, development, distension, distention, growth, extension. ANTONYMS: (n) contraction, decrease, lessening, shrinkage, deterioration, drop, erosion.

gigantic: (adj) colossal, enormous, large, huge, giant, stupendous, monstrous, vast, big, immense, massive. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, tiny, little, insignificant, short, miniature.

idealist: (n) dreamer, romanticist, seer, saved: (adj) protected, economized, romantic, illusionist, optimist, escapist, abstractionist, idealizer; (adj. self-indulgence: (n) dissipation, n) utopian. ANTONYMS: (n) defeatist, cynic.

nourish: (v) foster, keep, bring up, nurture, sustain, aliment, cherish, feed, maintain, cultivate; (n, v) cradle. ANTONYMS: (v) starve, sap. physiologist: (n) biologist, life

scientist, muller, physiologer, weber, Adrian, best.

rescued, blessed.

pleasure, merriment, enjoyment, decadence, excess.

**separating**: (v) parting, partible; (n) division, separation, severance, unscrambling, unraveling, removal; (adj) separated, disjoining, graduating.

should have contradicted himself to an extent which is hardly credible, falling in an instant from the heaven of idealism into the crudest animalism. Rejoicing in the newly found gift of reflection, he appears to have thought out a subject about which he had better have followed the enlightened feeling of his own age. The general sentiment of Hellas was opposed to his monstrous fancy. The old poets, and in later time the tragedians, showed no want of respect for the family, on which much of their religion was based. But the example of Sparta, and perhaps in some degree the tendency to defy public opinion, seems to have misled him. He will make one family out of all the families of the state. He will select the finest specimens of men and women and breed from these only.

Yet because the illusion is always returning (for the animal part of human nature will from time to time assert itself in the disguise of philosophy as well as of poetry), and also because any departure from established morality, even where this is not intended, is apt to be unsettling, it may be worth while to draw out a little more at length the objections to the Platonic marriage. In the first place, history shows that wherever polygamy has been largely allowed the race has deteriorated. One man to one woman is the law of God and nature. Nearly all the civilized peoples of the world at some period before the age of written records, have become monogamists; and the step when once taken has never been retraced. The exceptions occurring among Brahmins or Mahometans or the ancient Persians, are of that sort which may be said to prove the rule. The connexions formed between superior and inferior races hardly ever produce a noble offspring, because they are licentious; and because the children in such cases usually despise the mother and are neglected by the father who is ashamed of them. Barbarous nations when they are introduced by Europeans to vice die out; polygamist peoples either import and adopt children from other countries, or dwindle in numbers, or both. Dynasties and aristocracies which have disregarded the laws of nature have decreased in numbers and degenerated in stature; 'mariages de **convenance**' leave their **enfeebling** stamp on the offspring of them (King Lear). The marriage of near relations, or the marrying in and in of the same family tends constantly to weakness or idiocy in the children, sometimes assuming the form as they grow older of passionate licentiousness.

## animalism: (n) philosophy, temperament, ism, carnality, disposition, doctrine, lust, license, physicality. convenance: (n) formality, practice, degenerated: (adj) kinky, shabby, crumbly.

dwindle: (v) abate, diminish, decline, decrease, contract, recede, fade, fall, lessen, reduce, wane. ANTONYMS: (v) mushroom, accumulate, enlarge,

## **Thesaurus**

expand, extend, grow, strengthen,

enfeebling: (adj) weakening, debilitative, causing debilitation, debilitating; (n) exinanition, emptying.

idiocy: (n) folly, absurdity, amentia, fatuity, idiot, foolishness, lunacy, silliness, madness, idiotism, stupidity. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, logic, wisdom.

polygamist: (n) consort, husband,

married person, mate, partner, polyandrist, polygynist.

polygamy: (n) polygyny, wedlock, marriage, matrimony; (v) monogamy, digamy, deuterogamy, trigamy. unsettling: (adj) disquieting,

disturbing, embarrassing, frightening, scary, troublemaking, troublesome, troubling, uncomforting, unruly, upsetting. ANTONYMS: (adj) comforting, soothing.

The common **prostitute** rarely has any offspring. By such **unmistakable** evidence is the authority of morality asserted in the relations of the sexes: and so many more elements enter into this 'mystery' than are dreamed of by Plato and some other philosophers.

Recent enquirers have indeed arrived at the conclusion that among primitive tribes there existed a community of wives as of property, and that the captive taken by the spear was the only wife or slave whom any man was permitted to call his own. The partial existence of such customs among some of the lower races of man, and the survival of peculiar ceremonies in the marriages of some civilized nations, are thought to furnish a proof of similar institutions having been once universal. There can be no question that the study of anthropology has considerably changed our views respecting the first appearance of man upon the earth. We know more about the aborigines of the world than formerly, but our increasing knowledge shows above all things how little we know. With all the helps which written monuments afford, we do but faintly realize the condition of man two thousand or three thousand years ago. Of what his condition was when removed to a distance 200,000 or 300,000 years, when the majority of mankind were lower and nearer the animals than any tribe now existing upon the earth, we cannot even entertain conjecture. Plato (Laws) and Aristotle (Metaph.) may have been more right than we imagine in supposing that some forms of civilisation were discovered and lost several times over. If we cannot argue that all barbarism is a degraded civilization, neither can we set any limits to the depth of degradation to which the human race may sink through war, disease, or isolation. And if we are to draw inferences about the origin of marriage from the practice of barbarous nations, we should also consider the remoter analogy of the animals. Many birds and animals, especially the carnivorous, have only one mate, and the love and care of offspring which seems to be natural is inconsistent with the primitive theory of marriage. If we go back to an imaginary state in which men were almost animals and the companions of them, we have as much right to argue from what is animal to what is human as from the barbarous to the civilized man. The record of animal life on the globe is fragmentary, - the connecting links are wanting and cannot be supplied; the

## Thesaurus hungry, omnivorous, sarcophagous.

aborigines: (n) indigene, autochthones.
barbarism: (n) atrocity, barbarousness, barbarity, cruelty, savagery, Gothicism, vandalism, uncivilizedness, heathenism, vulgarism, savageness. ANTONYMS: (n) civility, nicety.
carnivorous: (adj) phytivorous, graminivorous, granivorous, herbivorous, insectivorous, predaceous, pr

ANTONYMS: (adj) vegetarian, omnivorous, insectivorous. companions: (n) circle, entourage, people. globe: (n) earth, world, orb, circle, eyeball, round, planet, bolus, fireball, bulb; (adj, n) sphere. prostitute: (n) courtesan, harlot, bawd, hooker, fancy woman, cocotte, whore, tart; (adj, v) pervert; (v)

profane, abuse.

**remoter**: (*adj*) ulterior, further, more distant.

**spear**: (*n*) harpoon, lance, pike, fizgig, prick, gig, javelin, shaft, halberd; (*v*) stab, spike.

unmistakable: (adj) obvious, evident, plain, manifest, decided, palpable, apparent, decisive; (adj, v) unequivocal, positive, definite. ANTONYMS: (adj) vague, unclear, uncertain, indefinite, doubtful, inconspicuous, equivocal.

record of social life is still more **fragmentary** and precarious. Even if we admit that our first ancestors had no such institution as marriage, still the stages by which men passed from outer barbarism to the comparative civilization of China, Assyria, and Greece, or even of the ancient Germans, are wholly unknown to us.

Such speculations are apt to be unsettling, because they seem to show that an institution which was thought to be a revelation from heaven, is only the growth of history and experience. We ask what is the origin of marriage, and we are told that like the right of property, after many wars and contests, it has gradually arisen out of the selfishness of barbarians. We stand face to face with human nature in its primitive nakedness. We are compelled to accept, not the highest, but the lowest account of the origin of human society. But on the other hand we may truly say that every step in human progress has been in the same direction, and that in the course of ages the idea of marriage and of the family has been more and more defined and consecrated. The civilized East is immeasurably in advance of any savage tribes; the Greeks and Romans have improved upon the East; the Christian nations have been stricter in their views of the marriage relation than any of the ancients. In this as in so many other things, instead of looking back with regret to the past, we should look forward with hope to the future. We must consecrate that which we believe to be the most holy, and that 'which is the most holy will be the most useful.' There is more reason for maintaining the sacredness of the marriage tie, when we see the benefit of it, than when we only felt a vague religious horror about the violation of it. But in all times of transition, when established beliefs are being undermined, there is a danger that in the passage from the old to the new we may insensibly let go the moral principle, finding an excuse for listening to the voice of passion in the uncertainty of knowledge, or the fluctuations of opinion. And there are many persons in our own day who, enlightened by the study of anthropology, and fascinated by what is new and strange, some using the language of fear, others of hope, are inclined to believe that a time will come when through the selfassertion of women, or the rebellious spirit of children, by the analysis of human relations, or by the force of outward circumstances, the ties of family life may be

consecrate: (n, v) sanctify; (v) devote, commit, ordain, apply, dedicate, hallow, vow, exalt; (adj) dedicated, consecrated. ANTONYMS: (v) despoil, revile, damage, defile, deprecate; (adj) desecrated. consecrated: (adj) consecrate, blessed, sanctified, hallowed, holy, dedicated, divine, devoted, adopted; (adj, prep) set apart; (prep) dedicate.
ANTONYM: (adj) secular. fragmentary: (adj) broken, scrappy,

## **Thesaurus**

incomplete, partial, fragmental, unfinished, odd, fractionary, inconsiderable, fragmented; (adj, adv) piecemeal. ANTONYM: (adj) entire. immeasurably: (adv) boundlessly, endlessly, immensely, greatly, much; (adj) exceedingly, extremely, exquisitely, acutely, ultra, intensely. ANTONYM: (adv) slightly. nakedness: (n) nudity, altogether, baldness, nude, nudeness, undress, birthday suit, openness, status,

emptiness, frankness.

rebellious: (adj) insubordinate,
mutinous, disaffected, defiant,
disobedient, contrary, contumacious,
insurgent, stubborn, unruly,
malcontent. ANTONYMS: (adj)
docile, conventional, obedient,
conformist, content, conforming,
cooperative, loyal, meek, submissive,
obliging.
undermined: (adj) enervated,
destabilized, damaged, deciduous.

broken or greatly relaxed. They point to societies in America and elsewhere which tend to show that the destruction of the family need not necessarily involve the **overthrow** of all morality. Wherever we may think of such speculations, we can hardly deny that they have been more **rife** in this generation than in any other; and **whither** they are tending, who can predict?

To the doubts and queries raised by these 'social reformers' respecting the relation of the sexes and the moral nature of man, there is a sufficient answer, if any is needed. The difference about them and us is really one of fact. They are speaking of man as they wish or fancy him to be, but we are speaking of him as he is. They isolate the animal part of his nature; we regard him as a creature having many sides, or aspects, moving between good and evil, striving to rise above himself and to become 'a little lower than the angels.' We also, to use a Platonic formula, are not ignorant of the dissatisfactions and incompatibilities of family life, of the meannesses of trade, of the flatteries of one class of society by another, of the impediments which the family throws in the way of lofty aims and aspirations. But we are conscious that there are evils and dangers in the background greater still, which are not appreciated, because they are either concealed or suppressed. What a condition of man would that be, in which human passions were controlled by no authority, divine or human, in which there was no shame or decency, no higher affection **overcoming** or sanctifying the natural instincts, but simply a rule of health! Is it for this that we are asked to throw away the civilization which is the growth of ages?

For strength and health are not the only qualities to be desired; there are the more important considerations of mind and character and soul. We know how human nature may be degraded; we do not know how by artificial means any improvement in the breed can be effected. The problem is a complex one, for if we go back only four steps (and these at least enter into the composition of a child), there are commonly thirty **progenitors** to be taken into account. Many curious facts, rarely admitting of proof, are told us respecting the inheritance of disease or character from a remote **ancestor**. We can trace the physical resemblances of parents and children in the same family—

## **Thesaurus**

ancestor: (n) forerunner, forefather, parent, father, precursor, antecedent, forebear, forbear, prototype, ancestry, ascendant. ANTONYMS: (n) descendant, successor, offspring, progeny.

doubts: (adj) doubting. isolate: (v) cut off, detach, divide, maroon, sequester, dissociate, abstract, disunite, set apart, separate, segregate. ANTONYMS: (v) expose, involve, attach, unite. overcoming: (adj) fortunate.
overthrow: (adj, n, v) defeat, rout; (n)
fall, downfall, destruction; (n, v)
overpower, ruin, overturn; (adj, v)
overcome; (v) bring down, demolish.
ANTONYMS: (v) install, validate,
lose, appoint; (n) victory, beginning.
progenitors: (n) lineage.
rife: (adj) prevailing, current, rampant,
plentiful, predominant, epidemic,
copious, numerous, common,

regnant, abundant. ANTONYMS:

(adj) scarce, limited, rare, sparse. striving: (n) nisus, pains, endeavor, strife, try, strain, attempt, strive, ambition, struggle, exertion.
ANTONYM: (adj) unmotivated. suppressed: (adj) stifled, smothered, strangled, repressed, downtrodden, buried, hidden, pent-up, latent, untold; (n) subordinate.
ANTONYMS: (adj) publicized, overt. whither: (adv) hither, thither, whereunto, whereto, for.

Sic oculos, sic ille manus, sic ora ferebat;

but scarcely less often the differences which distinguish children both from their parents and from one another. We are told of similar mental peculiarities running in families, and again of a tendency, as in the animals, to revert to a common or original stock. But we have a difficulty in distinguishing what is a true inheritance of genius or other qualities, and what is mere imitation or the result of similar circumstances. Great men and great women have rarely had great fathers and mothers. Nothing that we know of in the circumstances of their birth or lineage will explain their appearance. Of the English poets of the last and two preceding centuries scarcely a descendant remains, - none have ever been distinguished. So deeply has nature hidden her secret, and so ridiculous is the fancy which has been entertained by some that we might in time by suitable marriage arrangements or, as Plato would have said, 'by an ingenious system of lots,' produce a Shakespeare or a Milton. Even supposing that we could breed men having the **tenacity** of bulldogs, or, like the Spartans, 'lacking the wit to run away in battle,' would the world be any the better? Many of the noblest specimens of the human race have been among the weakest physically. Tyrtaeus or Aesop, or our own Newton, would have been exposed at Sparta; and some of the fairest and strongest men and women have been among the wickedest and worst. Not by the Platonic device of **uniting** the strong and fair with the strong and fair, regardless of sentiment and morality, nor yet by his other device of combining dissimilar natures (Statesman), have mankind gradually passed from the brutality and licentiousness of primitive marriage to marriage Christian and

Few persons would deny that we bring into the world an inheritance of mental and physical qualities derived first from our parents, or through them from some remoter ancestor, secondly from our race, thirdly from the general condition of mankind into which we are born. Nothing is **commoner** than the remark, that 'So and so is like his father or his uncle'; and an aged person may

# plebeian, common man, common person, proletary, proletaire, democrat, roturier, republican, pleb. **descendant**: (adj, n) descendent; (n) offspring, progeny, scion, offshoot, successor, relation, heir, derivative, follower, sprig. ANTONYMS: (n) precursor, progenitor, parent, forebear, ascendant, predecessor.

commoner: (n) burgher, layman,

precursor, progenitor, parent, forebear, ascendant, predecessor. dissimilar: (adj) different, disparate, diverse, heterogeneous, unlike,

## **Thesaurus**

divergent, distinct, not like, not similar, unequal, separate.
ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, like, alike, equal, matched, same, uniform, indistinct.

**lineage**: (*adj*, *n*) pedigree; (*n*, *v*) family, house; (*n*) descent, extraction, ancestry, birth, stock, line, origin; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) genealogy. **manus**: (*n*) left, handwriting, fist,

**manus**: (*n*) left, handwriting, fist, ability, paw, claw, right, act, mitt, management, left hand.

tenacity: (n) persistence, determination, resolution, doggedness, resolve, pertinacity, strength, persistency, fortitude, firmness; (adj) obstinacy.

ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, slackness, weakness, cowardice, flexibility, indecision.

uniting: (adj) concurrent, united, coincident; (n) unification, reunion, fusion, merger, coalescence, amalgamation, conglutination, join.

not unfrequently note a resemblance in a youth to a long- forgotten ancestor, observing that 'Nature sometimes skips a generation.' It may be true also, that if we knew more about our ancestors, these similarities would be even more striking to us. Admitting the facts which are thus described in a popular way, we may however remark that there is no method of difference by which they can be defined or estimated, and that they constitute only a small part of each individual. The doctrine of heredity may seem to take out of our hands the conduct of our own lives, but it is the idea, not the fact, which is really terrible to us. For what we have received from our ancestors is only a fraction of what we are, or may become. The knowledge that drunkenness or insanity has been prevalent in a family may be the best safeguard against their recurrence in a future generation. The parent will be most awake to the vices or diseases in his child of which he is most sensible within himself. The whole of life may be directed to their prevention or cure. The traces of consumption may become fainter, or be wholly effaced: the inherent tendency to vice or crime may be eradicated. And so heredity, from being a curse, may become a blessing. We acknowledge that in the matter of our birth, as in our nature generally, there are previous circumstances which affect us. But upon this platform of circumstances or within this wall of necessity, we have still the power of creating a life for ourselves by the **informing** energy of the human will.

There is another aspect of the marriage question to which Plato is a stranger. All the children born in his state are **foundlings**. It never occurred to him that the greater part of them, according to universal experience, would have perished. For children can only be brought up in families. There is a subtle sympathy between the mother and the child which cannot be supplied by other mothers, or by 'strong nurses one or more' (Laws). If Plato's 'pen' was as fatal as the Creches of Paris, or the foundling hospital of Dublin, more than nine-tenths of his children would have perished. There would have been no need to expose or put out of the way the weaklier children, for they would have died of themselves. So **emphatically** does nature protest against the destruction of the family.

## **Thesaurus**

**curse**: (n, v) blight, plague; (n)anathema, blasphemy, malediction, denunciation; (adj, v) beshrew; (v)swear, ban, damn, vituperate. ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, benediction, making; (v) communicate. effaced: (adj) obliterated. emphatically: (adv) decidedly,

definitely, positively, categorically, flatly, distinctly, absolutely, explicitly, forcefully, firmly,

foundling: (adj, n) wastrel; (n) abandoned infant, infant, waifs and estrays, vagrant, refugee, babe, scatterling; (v) find, trouvaille; (adj) wilding.

heredity: (n) lineage, inheritance, genetic endowment, heritage, hereditary, property, telegony, line, genetics, descent, bequest. informing: (n) briefing, disclosure, apprisal, warning, revelation, ratting,

presentation, introduction; (v) inform; (adj) intelligencing, giving information. insanity: (adj, n) craziness, derangement, frenzy, aberration; (n) delirium, dementia, mania, folly, lunacy, idiocy; (adj) madness. ANTONYMS: (n) sanity, sense. recurrence: (n) return, repetition, frequency, reversion, comeback, relapse, reiteration, reappearance, throwback, recrudescence, atavism.

What Plato had heard or seen of Sparta was applied by him in a mistaken way to his ideal commonwealth. He probably observed that both the Spartan men and women were superior in form and strength to the other Greeks; and this superiority he was disposed to attribute to the laws and customs relating to marriage. He did not consider that the desire of a noble offspring was a passion among the Spartans, or that their physical superiority was to be attributed chiefly, not to their marriage customs, but to their temperance and training. He did not reflect that Sparta was great, not in consequence of the relaxation of morality, but in spite of it, by virtue of a political principle stronger far than existed in any other Grecian state. Least of all did he observe that Sparta did not really produce the finest specimens of the Greek race. The genius, the political inspiration of Athens, the love of liberty – all that has made Greece famous with posterity, were wanting among the Spartans. They had no Themistocles, or Pericles, or Aeschylus, or Sophocles, or Socrates, or Plato. The individual was not allowed to appear above the state; the laws were fixed, and he had no business to alter or reform them. Yet whence has the progress of cities and nations arisen, if not from remarkable individuals, coming into the world we know not how, and from causes over which we have no control? Something too much may have been said in modern times of the value of individuality. But we can hardly condemn too strongly a system which, instead of fostering the scattered seeds or sparks of genius and character, tends to smother and extinguish them.

Still, while condemning Plato, we must acknowledge that neither Christianity, nor any other form of religion and society, has hitherto been able to cope with this most difficult of social problems, and that the side from which Plato regarded it is that from which we turn away. Population is the most untameable force in the political and social world. Do we not find, especially in large cities, that the greatest hindrance to the amelioration of the poor is their improvidence in marriage?—a small fault truly, if not involving endless consequences. There are whole countries too, such as India, or, nearer home, Ireland, in which a right solution of the marriage question seems to lie at the foundation of the happiness of the community. There are too many people on a

## Thesaurus

amelioration: (n) betterment, advance, extinguish: (v) destroy, exterminate, improvement, melioration, enhancement, reformation, advancement, correction, progress, reform, relief. attribute: (adj, n) quality, property; (n, v) assign; (n) feature, emblem, characteristic, peculiarity, mark; (v) credit, impute, accredit. condemning: (adj) inculpative, censorious, inculpatory, critical; (n) conviction, reproachful.

eradicate, douse, annihilate, consume, wipe out, end, suppress, quash; (adj, v) allay. ANTONYMS: (v) ignite, build, create, encourage, inflame, sustain, protect. fostering: (n) breeding, rearing, nurturing, nurture, fosterage, encouragement, bringing up, promotion, development, elevation, improvidence: (n) waste, profligacy,

carelessness, prodigality, dissipation, imprudence, lavishness, wastefulness, inconcoction, inculture, shortsightedness. ANTONYM: (n) Providence. smother: (v) stifle, suffocate, choke,

muffle, extinguish, put out, suppress, asphyxiate, hush up, gag, repress. ANTONYMS: (v) express, light, encourage. sparks: (n) fire.

given space, or they marry too early and bring into the world a sickly and half-developed offspring; or owing to the very conditions of their existence, they become **emaciated** and hand on a similar life to their descendants. But who can oppose the voice of **prudence** to the 'mightiest passions of mankind' (Laws), especially when they have been licensed by custom and religion? In addition to the influences of education, we seem to require some new principles of right and wrong in these matters, some force of opinion, which may indeed be already heard whispering in private, but has never affected the moral sentiments of mankind in general. We **unavoidably** lose sight of the principle of utility, just in that action of our lives in which we have the most need of it. The influences which we can bring to bear upon this question are chiefly indirect. In a generation or two, education, emigration, improvements in agriculture and manufactures, may have provided the solution. The state physician hardly likes to probe the wound: it is beyond his art; a matter which he cannot safely let alone, but which he dare not touch:

## We do but skin and film the **ulcerous** place.

When again in private life we see a whole family one by one dropping into the grave under the Ate of some inherited **malady**, and the parents perhaps surviving them, do our minds ever go back silently to that day twenty-five or thirty years before on which under the fairest auspices, amid the rejoicings of friends and **acquaintances**, a bride and bridegroom joined hands with one another? In making such a reflection we are not opposing physical considerations to moral, but moral to physical; we are seeking to make the voice of reason heard, which drives us back from the extravagance of **sentimentalism** on common sense. The late Dr. **Combe** is said by his **biographer** to have resisted the temptation to marriage, because he knew that he was subject to hereditary consumption. One who deserved to be called a man of genius, a friend of my youth, was in the habit of wearing a black ribbon on his wrist, in order to remind him that, being liable to outbreaks of insanity, he must not give way to the

## **Thesaurus**

acquaintances: (n) associates. biographer: (n) writer, novelist; (v) fabulist; (adj) autobiographical, autobiographic.

**combe**: (*n*) chaser, dale, anticlinal valley, comb, dell, dingle, vale, valley

emaciated: (adj) bony, lean, thin, gaunt, skinny, meager, wasted, haggard, slender, slim, lanky. ANTONYMS: (adj) fat, obese, heavy, bloated, beefy, overweight. malady: (n, v) illness, ailment, indisposition, distemper; (adj, n, v) disorder; (adj, n) complaint, infirmity; (n) sickness, condition, trouble, ill. prudence: (n) foresight, economy, frugality, caution, care, forethought, providence, circumspection, judgment, deliberation; (adj, n) wisdom. ANTONYMS: (n) imprudence, profligacy, generosity, hindsight, recklessness, extravagance.

sentimentalism: (v) demureness, minauderie, mock modesty, prudery; (n) sentiment, emotionalism, sentimentality, sob story, virtuosity. ulcerous: (adj) ulcerated, cankerous, ulcered. unavoidably: (adv) inescapably, necessarily, ineluctably, by necessity, sectors of presenting the mode.

necessarily, ineluctably, by necessity, of necessity, automatically, needs, inevitable, relentlessly, true to form, unsurprisingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) surprisingly, unnecessarily.

natural impulses of affection: he died unmarried in a lunatic asylum. These two little facts suggest the reflection that a very few persons have done from a sense of duty what the rest of mankind ought to have done under like circumstances, if they had allowed themselves to think of all the misery which they were about to bring into the world. If we could prevent such marriages without any violation of feeling or propriety, we clearly ought; and the prohibition in the course of time would be protected by a 'horror naturalis' similar to that which, in all civilized ages and countries, has prevented the marriage of near relations by blood. Mankind would have been the happier, if some things which are now allowed had from the beginning been denied to them; if the sanction of religion could have prohibited practices inimical to health; if sanitary principles could in early ages have been invested with a superstitious awe. But, living as we do far on in the world's history, we are no longer able to stamp at once with the impress of religion a new prohibition. A free agent cannot have his fancies regulated by law; and the execution of the law would be rendered impossible, owing to the uncertainty of the cases in which marriage was to be forbidden. Who can weigh virtue, or even fortune against health, or moral and mental qualities against bodily? Who can measure probabilities against certainties? There has been some good as well as evil in the discipline of suffering; and there are diseases, such as consumption, which have exercised a refining and softening influence on the character. Youth is too inexperienced to balance such nice considerations; parents do not often think of them, or think of them too late. They are at a distance and may probably be averted; change of place, a new state of life, the interests of a home may be the cure of them. So persons vainly reason when their minds are already made up and their fortunes irrevocably linked together. Nor is there any ground for supposing that marriages are to any great extent influenced by reflections of this sort, which seem unable to make any head against the irresistible impulse of individual attachment.

Lastly, no one can have observed the first rising flood of the passions in youth, the difficulty of regulating them, and the effects on the whole mind and nature which follow from them, the stimulus which is given to them by the

## **Thesaurus**

inimical: (adj) harmful, adverse, detrimental, malign, contrary, antagonistic, injurious, noxious, pernicious, repugnant, unfriendly. ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, friendly, favorable.

irrevocably: (adv) finally, irreversibly, conclusively.

lunatic: (n) madman, maniac, bedlamite; (adj) insane, foolish, moonstruck, mad, mental, deranged, idiotic; (adj, n) madcap. ANTONYM:

(adj) sensible. refining: (n) purification, decontamination, cleansing, nuance, nicety, polish, processing; (v) clarify, refine, explain; (adj) educating. regulating: (adj) regulatory,

controlling, changeable, restrictive; (n) regulation, limitation, indexation, weigh: (v) press, study, measure, adjustment, ordinance, autoregulation, regularisation. ANTONYM: (adj) fixed. softening: (adj) emollient, salving,

relaxing; (v) soften; (adj, n) soothing; (n) maceration, mitigation, easement, mollification, inteneration, encouragement.

superstitious: (adj) superstition, false, groundless, eerie, irrational, fallacious.

matter, consider, count, deliberate, contemplate, assess; (n, v) balance, poise. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, neglect.

imagination, without feeling that there is something unsatisfactory in our method of treating them. That the most important influence on human life should be wholly left to chance or shrouded in mystery, and instead of being disciplined or understood, should be required to conform only to an external standard of propriety-cannot be regarded by the philosopher as a safe or satisfactory condition of human things. And still those who have the charge of youth may find a way by watchfulness, by affection, by the manliness and innocence of their own lives, by occasional hints, by general admonitions which every one can apply for himself, to mitigate this terrible evil which eats out the heart of individuals and corrupts the moral sentiments of nations. In no duty towards others is there more need of reticence and self-restraint. So great is the danger lest he who would be the counsellor of another should reveal the secret prematurely, lest he should get another too much into his power; or fix the passing impression of evil by demanding the confession of it.

Nor is Plato wrong in asserting that family attachments may interfere with higher aims. If there have been some who 'to party gave up what was meant for mankind,' there have certainly been others who to family gave up what was meant for mankind or for their country. The cares of children, the necessity of procuring money for their support, the flatteries of the rich by the poor, the exclusiveness of caste, the pride of birth or wealth, the tendency of family life to divert men from the pursuit of the ideal or the heroic, are as lowering in our own age as in that of Plato. And if we prefer to look at the gentle influences of home, the development of the affections, the amenities of society, the devotion of one member of a family for the good of the others, which form one side of the picture, we must not quarrel with him, or perhaps ought rather to be grateful to him, for having presented to us the reverse. Without attempting to defend Plato on grounds of morality, we may allow that there is an aspect of the world which has not unnaturally led him into error.

We hardly appreciate the power which the idea of the State, like all other abstract ideas, exercised over the mind of Plato. To us the State seems to be built up out of the family, or sometimes to be the framework in which family and

## Thesaurus

exclusiveness: (n) clannishness, cliquishness, snobbishness, exclusivity, stylishness, sophistication, refinement, insularity, **procuring**: (v) procure. elegance, exclusivism. manliness: (n) manfulness, manhood, masculinity, energy, maleness, courage, gallantry, valor, sex, comeliness, developed manhood. ANTONYM: (n) femininity. **mitigate**: (n, v) alleviate, palliate, appease; (adj, n, v) assuage, allay; (v)

lessen, relieve, abate, lighten; (adj, v) moderate, soften. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, intensify, aggravate.

reticence: (n) reserve, reservation, uncommunicativeness, taciturnity, silence, reticency, restraint, secrecy, reservedness, muteness, humility. ANTONYMS: (n) chattiness, honesty, nerve, boldness, openness, arrogance,

self-restraint: (n) restraint, abstinence,

reserve, moderation, self-mastery, self-command, will, discipline, avoidance, willpower.

shrouded: (adj) hidden, covered, veiled, cloaked, secret, wearing a veil, unseen, ulterior, masked, enclosed, mistv.

watchfulness: (n) care, caution, alertness, heed, wariness, jealousy, attentiveness, attention, solicitude, concern, anxiety. ANTONYMS: (n) recklessness, inattentiveness.

social life is contained. But to Plato in his present mood of mind the family is only a disturbing influence which, instead of filling up, tends to **disarrange** the higher unity of the State. No organization is needed except a political, which, regarded from another point of view, is a military one. The State is all-sufficing for the wants of man, and, like the idea of the Church in later ages, absorbs all other desires and affections. In time of war the thousand citizens are to stand like a rampart impregnable against the world or the Persian host; in time of peace the preparation for war and their duties to the State, which are also their duties to one another, take up their whole life and time. The only other interest which is allowed to them besides that of war, is the interest of philosophy. When they are too old to be soldiers they are to retire from active life and to have a second **novitiate** of study and contemplation. There is an element of monasticism even in Plato's communism. If he could have done without children, he might have converted his Republic into a religious order. Neither in the Laws, when the daylight of common sense breaks in upon him, does he retract his error. In the state of which he would be the founder, there is no marrying or giving in marriage: but because of the infirmity of mankind, he condescends to allow the law of nature to prevail.

(c) But Plato has an equal, or, in his own estimation, even greater paradox in reserve, which is summed up in the famous text, 'Until kings are philosophers or philosophers are kings, cities will never cease from ill.' And by philosophers he explains himself to mean those who are capable of apprehending ideas, especially the idea of good. To the attainment of this higher knowledge the second education is directed. Through a process of training which has already made them good citizens they are now to be made good legislators. We find with some surprise (not unlike the feeling which Aristotle in a well-known passage describes the hearers of Plato's lectures as experiencing, when they went to a discourse on the idea of good, expecting to be instructed in moral truths, and received instead of them arithmetical and mathematical formulae) that Plato does not propose for his future legislators any study of finance or law or military tactics, but only of abstract mathematics, as a preparation for the still more abstract conception of good. We ask, with Aristotle, What is the use of a man

## **Thesaurus**

affections: (n) bosom.
disarrange: (v) derange, clutter,
disorganize, muss, muddle, disorder,
ruffle, perturb, shuffle, rumple,
disturb. ANTONYMS: (v) arrange,
order, tidy.

impregnable: (adj, v) fast; (adj) secure, inexpugnable, unassailable, unconquerable, invulnerable, insurmountable, unshakable, irresistible, strong, safe.

ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable,

tenuous.

infirmity: (adj, n) frailty, foible,
imbecility; (n) feebleness, impotence,
disability, decrepitude, illness,
sickness, disease, weakness.
ANTONYMS: (n) health, wellness,
strength.

strength.
marrying: (adj) married.
monasticism: (n) nonindulgence,
monachism, monkhood, austerity.
novitiate: (n) novice, beginner, initiate,
period, apprentice, tiro, tyro,

newcomer, recruit, tutelage, matriculation.

**rampart**: (n) wall, fortification, earthwork, guard, embankment, barricade, defense, barrier; (v) battlement, circumvallation; (n, v) vallum.

retract: (v) abjure, rescind, cancel, renounce, repudiate, forswear, repeal, recoil, reverse, revoke, recall. ANTONYMS: (v) maintain, validate, enact.

knowing the idea of good, if he does not know what is good for this individual, this state, this condition of society? We cannot understand how Plato's legislators or guardians are to be fitted for their work of statesmen by the study of the five mathematical sciences. We vainly search in Plato's own writings for any explanation of this seeming absurdity.

The discovery of a great metaphysical conception seems to ravish the mind with a prophetic consciousness which takes away the power of estimating its value. No metaphysical enquirer has ever fairly criticised his own speculations; in his own judgment they have been above criticism; nor has he understood that what to him seemed to be absolute truth may reappear in the next generation as a form of logic or an instrument of thought. And posterity have also sometimes equally misapprehended the real value of his speculations. They appear to them to have contributed nothing to the stock of human knowledge. The IDEA of good is apt to be regarded by the modern thinker as an unmeaning abstraction; but he forgets that this abstraction is waiting ready for use, and will hereafter be filled up by the divisions of knowledge. When mankind do not as yet know that the world is subject to law, the introduction of the mere conception of law or design or final cause, and the far-off anticipation of the harmony of knowledge, are great steps onward. Even the crude **generalization** of the unity of all things leads men to view the world with different eyes, and may easily affect their conception of human life and of politics, and also their own conduct and character (Tim). We can imagine how a great mind like that of Pericles might derive elevation from his intercourse with Anaxagoras (Phaedr.). struggling towards a higher but unattainable conception is a more favourable intellectual condition than to rest satisfied in a narrow portion of ascertained fact. And the earlier, which have sometimes been the greater ideas of science, are often lost sight of at a later period. How rarely can we say of any modern enquirer in the magnificent language of Plato, that 'He is the spectator of all time and of all existence!'

Nor is there anything unnatural in the hasty application of these vast metaphysical conceptions to practical and political life. In the first enthusiasm of

# **Thesaurus**

derive: (v) stem, acquire, draw, deduct, come, result, extract, educe, infer, gain, elicit. ANTONYM: (v) invent. enquirer: (n) inquirer, asker, speaker, talker, tester, quizzer, interviewer, interrogator, examiner, querier. estimating: (n) estimation. generalization: (n) generalisation, induction, idea, abstraction, dialectics, theorisation, theorization,

learning, notion, concept, colligation.

ANTONYM: (n) fact. hasty: (adj) fast, abrupt, cursory, fleet, sudden, rash, impetuous, careless, speedy, hurried, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) deliberate, considered, leisurely, unattainable: (adj) impossible, sensible, gradual, thorough, cautious, careful, roundabout, prudent, patient.

ravish: (v) charm, enrapture, rape, violate, delight, captivate, defile, deflower, force, transport, enchant. ANTONYM: (v) disenchant.

reappear: (v) recur, come back, appear, repeat, be restored, get back, happen again, haunt, persist, revert, resume. ANTONYM: (v) disappear. inaccessible, impracticable, impractical, unapproachable, unobtainable, out of print, not possible, unassailable, unavailable, unbeatable. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, accessible, possible, attainable, feasible.

ideas men are apt to see them everywhere, and to apply them in the most remote sphere. They do not understand that the experience of ages is required to enable them to fill up 'the intermediate axioms.' Plato himself seems to have imagined that the truths of psychology, like those of astronomy and harmonics, would be arrived at by a process of **deduction**, and that the method which he has pursued in the Fourth Book, of inferring them from experience and the use of language, was imperfect and only provisional. But when, after having arrived at the idea of good, which is the end of the science of dialectic, he is asked, What is the nature, and what are the divisions of the science? He refuses to answer, as if intending by the refusal to intimate that the state of knowledge which then existed was not such as would allow the philosopher to enter into his final rest. The previous sciences must first be studied, and will, we may add, continue to be studied tell the end of time, although in a sense different from any which Plato could have conceived. But we may observe, that while he is aware of the vacancy of his own ideal, he is full of enthusiasm in the contemplation of it. Looking into the orb of light, he sees nothing, but he is warmed and elevated. The Hebrew prophet believed that faith in God would enable him to govern the world; the Greek philosopher imagined that contemplation of the good would make a legislator. There is as much to be filled up in the one case as in the other, and the one mode of conception is to the Israelite what the other is to the Greek. Both find a repose in a divine **perfection**, which, whether in a more personal or impersonal form, exists without them and independently of them, as well as within them.

There is no mention of the idea of good in the Timaeus, nor of the divine Creator of the world in the Republic; and we are naturally led to ask in what relation they stand to one another. Is God above or below the idea of good? Or is the Idea of Good another mode of conceiving God? The latter appears to be the truer answer. To the Greek philosopher the perfection and unity of God was a far higher conception than his personality, which he hardly found a word to express, and which to him would have seemed to be borrowed from mythology. To the Christian, on the other hand, or to the modern thinker in general, it is difficult, if not impossible, to attach reality to what he terms mere abstraction;

## **Thesaurus**

consequences; (n) deduction,

perfection: (n) maturity, ideal,

thought.

**deduction**: (*n*) allowance, discount, decrease, abatement, rebate, subtraction, corollary, decrement, induction, implication, illation. ANTONYMS: (*n*) addition, credit, inclusion.

impersonal: (adj) neutral, objective, detached, cold, impartial, indifferent, aloof, personal, equitable, remote, clinical. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, friend, involved. inferring: (adj) deducing

consummation, paragon, completeness, finish, completion, crown, flawlessness, development, ne plus ultra. ANTONYMS: (n) imperfection, fault, abandonment, ugliness, deterioration. provisional: (adj) makeshift, tentative, probationary, temporary, provisionary, interim, experimental,

qualified, provisory, acting; (n) emergency. ANTONYMS: (adj) permanent, definite, absolute, unrestricted, unconditional. vacancy: (n) emptiness, blank, opening, void, incogitancy, post, blankness, inanity, absence; (adj, n) vacuity; (adj) depletion. ANTONYMS: (n) fill, tenancy, overflow. warmed: (adj) warmer, warm, baked.

while to Plato this very abstraction is the truest and most real of all things. Hence, from a difference in forms of thought, Plato appears to be **resting** on a creation of his own mind only. But if we may be allowed to paraphrase the idea of good by the words 'intelligent principle of law and order in the universe, **embracing** equally man and nature,' we begin to find a meeting-point between him and ourselves.

The question whether the ruler or statesman should be a philosopher is one that has not lost interest in modern times. In most countries of Europe and Asia there has been some one in the course of ages who has truly united the power of command with the power of thought and reflection, as there have been also many false combinations of these qualities. Some kind of speculative power is necessary both in practical and political life; like the rhetorician in the Phaedrus, men require to have a conception of the varieties of human character, and to be raised on great occasions above the commonplaces of ordinary life. Yet the idea of the philosopher-statesman has never been popular with the mass of mankind; partly because he cannot take the world into his confidence or make them understand the motives from which he acts; and also because they are jealous of a power which they do not understand. The revolution which human nature desires to effect step by step in many ages is likely to be precipitated by him in a single year or life. They are afraid that in the pursuit of his greater aims he may disregard the common feelings of humanity, he is too apt to be looking into the distant future or back into the remote past, and unable to see actions or events which, to use an expression of Plato's 'are tumbling out at his feet.' Besides, as Plato would say, there are other corruptions of these philosophical statesmen. Either 'the native hue of resolution is sicklied o'er with the pale cast of thought,' and at the moment when action above all things is required he is undecided, or general principles are enunciated by him in order to cover some change of policy; or his ignorance of the world has made him more easily fall a prey to the arts of others; or in some cases he has been converted into a courtier, who enjoys the luxury of holding liberal opinions, but was never known to perform a liberal action. No wonder that mankind have been in the habit of calling statesmen of this class pedants, sophisters, doctrinaires, visionaries. For, as we may be

courtier: (n) aristocrat, official, attendant, suckling. disregard: (n, v) disdain, slight, scorn; (n) carelessness, contempt; (v) discount, defy, despise, cut, flout; (adj, v) overlook. ANTONYMS: (v) notice, heed, value, obey, accept, consider; (n) respect, thoughtfulness, consideration, attention; (n, v) regard. embracing: (n) embrace, hugging, kissing, taking on, implementation, espousal, clutches; (adi) twining,

## **Thesaurus**

osculant, grasping, close.

jealous: (adj) distrustful, envious,
covetous, suspicious, jealousy,
resentful, invidious, green, grudging,
jaundiced, attentive. ANTONYM:
(adj) trusting.

**resting**: (*adj*) idle, quiescent, inactive, dormant, quiet, sleeping, reclining, obligatory, unemployed, asleep; (*n*) repose.

**rhetorician**: (*n*) elocutionist, panegyrist, eulogist, demagogue,

demagog, Cicero, public speaker, talker, rhetor, speaker, spellbinder. ruler: (adj, n) governor, rule; (n) lord, potentate, monarch, leader, dynast, prince, dictator, head; (adj) regent. undecided: (adj) uncertain, doubtful, dubious, unresolved, pending, indecisive, irresolute, hesitant, debatable, indefinite; (adj, v) uncertain, determined. ANTONYMS: (adj) certain, determined, sure, settled, definite, decisive.

allowed to say, a little parodying the words of Plato, 'they have seen bad imitations of the philosopher-statesman.' But a man in whom the power of thought and action are perfectly balanced, equal to the present, reaching forward to the future, 'such a one,' ruling in a constitutional state, 'they have never seen.'

But as the philosopher is apt to fail in the routine of political life, so the ordinary statesman is also apt to fail in extraordinary crises. When the face of the world is beginning to alter, and thunder is heard in the distance, he is still guided by his old maxims, and is the slave of his inveterate party prejudices; he cannot perceive the signs of the times; instead of looking forward he looks back; he learns nothing and forgets nothing; with 'wise saws and modern instances' he would stem the rising tide of revolution. He lives more and more within the circle of his own party, as the world without him becomes stronger. This seems to be the reason why the old order of things makes so poor a figure when confronted with the new, why churches can never reform, why most political changes are made blindly and convulsively. The great crises in the history of nations have often been met by an ecclesiastical positiveness, and a more **obstinate** reassertion of principles which have lost their hold upon a nation. The fixed ideas of a reactionary statesman may be compared to madness; they grow upon him, and he becomes possessed by them; no judgement of others is ever admitted by him to be weighed in the balance against his own.

(d) Plato, labouring under what, to modern readers, appears to have been a confusion of ideas, assimilates the state to the individual, and fails to distinguish Ethics from Politics. He thinks that to be most of a state which is most like one man, and in which the citizens have the greatest uniformity of character. He does not see that the analogy is partly fallacious, and that the will or character of a state or nation is really the balance or rather the surplus of individual wills, which are limited by the condition of having to act in common. The movement of a body of men can never have the pliancy or facility of a single man; the freedom of the individual, which is always limited, becomes still more straitened when transferred to a nation. The powers of action and feeling are necessarily weaker and more balanced when they are diffused through a community;

# **Thesaurus**

convulsively: (adv) spasmodically, paroxysmally, spasticly, with convulsions.

guided: (adj) conducted, directed, led. inveterate: (adj) incorrigible, confirmed, chronic, ingrained, old, irredeemable; (adj, v) fixed; (v)rooted, ingrafted, hackneyed; (n) ineffaceable.

labouring: (adj) drudging, work, working, busy, toiling.

obstinate: (adj) obdurate, inflexible,

intractable, determined, inveterate, disobedient, willful, stubborn, contrary, wayward, dogged. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, amenable, irresolute, cooperative, easygoing, docile, biddable, agreeable, accommodating, malleable, gentle. pliancy: (n) pliability, suppleness,

bendability, elasticity, complaisance, adaptability, advantage, aid,

flexibleness, ease, lissomeness.

positiveness: (n) assertiveness, assurance, security, confidence, positivism, absolute power, absoluteness, roundness, definiteness, trust, boldness. straitened: (n) necessitous, pinched, distressed, put to it; (adj) narrow, poor, destitute, selfish, narrow views, exact, near.

weighed: (adj) determined, deliberate, tared.

whence arises the often discussed question, 'Can a nation, like an individual, have a conscience?' We hesitate to say that the characters of nations are nothing more than the sum of the characters of the individuals who compose them; because there may be tendencies in individuals which react upon one another. A whole nation may be wiser than any one man in it; or may be animated by some common opinion or feeling which could not equally have affected the mind of a single person, or may have been inspired by a leader of genius to perform acts more than human. Plato does not appear to have analysed the complications which arise out of the collective action of mankind. Neither is he capable of seeing that analogies, though specious as arguments, may often have no foundation in fact, or of distinguishing between what is intelligible or vividly present to the mind, and what is true. In this respect he is far below Aristotle, who is comparatively seldom imposed upon by false analogies. He cannot disentangle the arts from the virtues—at least he is always arguing from one to the other. His notion of music is transferred from harmony of sounds to harmony of life: in this he is assisted by the ambiguities of language as well as by the prevalence of Pythagorean notions. And having once assimilated the state to the individual, he imagines that he will find the succession of states paralleled in the lives of individuals.

Still, through this fallacious medium, a real enlargement of ideas is attained. When the virtues as yet presented no distinct conception to the mind, a great advance was made by the comparison of them with the arts; for virtue is partly art, and has an outward form as well as an inward principle. The harmony of music affords a lively image of the harmonies of the world and of human life, and may be regarded as a splendid illustration which was naturally mistaken for a real analogy. In the same way the identification of ethics with politics has a tendency to give definiteness to ethics, and also to elevate and ennoble men's notions of the aims of government and of the duties of citizens; for ethics from one point of view may be conceived as an **idealized** law and politics; and politics, as ethics reduced to the conditions of human society. There have been evils which have arisen out of the attempt to identify them, and this has led to the separation or antagonism of them, which has been **introduced** by modern

#### **Thesaurus**

animated: (adj) alive, lively, animate, perky, spirited, sprightly, brisk, cheerful, quick, vivacious, airy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) lethargic, dull, blank, lifeless, spiritless, stiff, unanimated, bored, impassive, unexciting, dead.

assisted: (adj) aided.
disentangle: (v) untangle, disengage, ravel, clear, extricate, disembroil, unwind, detach, comb; (adj, v) disencumber, disembarrass.

ANTONYMS: (v) entangle, tangle, entwine, twist, fasten, wind, snarl. distinguishing: (adj) distinctive, identifying, typical, discriminating, specific, distinct, peculiar; (adv) distinguishingly; (adj, v) discriminative; (v) distinguish; (n) hearing. ANTONYMS: (adj) common, typical. idealized: (adj) idyllic, perfect, perfects the certified.

perfecter, theoretical. **introduced**: (adj) exotic, familiar,

foisted in, imported.

specious: (adj) plausible, apparent,
deceptive, seeming, ostensible,
spurious, hollow, colorable, showy,
illogical, misleading. ANTONYMS:
(adj) logical, valid.

vividly: (adv) brightly, lively,
intensely, clearly, brilliantly,
graphically, strikingly, dramatically,
colorfully, glowingly, severely.
ANTONYMS: (adv) blandly,
modestly, vaguely.

political writers. But we may likewise feel that something has been lost in their separation, and that the ancient philosophers who estimated the moral and intellectual **wellbeing** of mankind first, and the wealth of nations and individuals second, may have a **salutary** influence on the speculations of modern times. Many political maxims **originate** in a reaction against an opposite error; and when the errors against which they were directed have passed away, they in turn become errors.

3. Plato's views of education are in several respects remarkable; like the rest of the Republic they are partly Greek and partly ideal, beginning with the ordinary curriculum of the Greek youth, and extending to after-life. Plato is the first writer who distinctly says that education is to **comprehend** the whole of life, and to be a preparation for another in which education begins again. This is the continuous **thread** which runs through the Republic, and which more than any other of his ideas admits of an application to modern life.

He has long given up the notion that virtue cannot be taught; and he is disposed to modify the thesis of the Protagoras, that the virtues are one and not many. He is not unwilling to admit the sensible world into his scheme of truth. Nor does he assert in the Republic the involuntariness of vice, which is maintained by him in the Timaeus, Sophist, and Laws (Protag., Apol., Gorg.). Nor do the so-called Platonic ideas recovered from a former state of existence affect his theory of mental improvement. Still we observe in him the remains of the old Socratic doctrine, that true knowledge must be elicited from within, and is to be sought for in ideas, not in particulars of sense. Education, as he says, will implant a principle of intelligence which is better than ten thousand eyes. The paradox that the virtues are one, and the kindred notion that all virtue is knowledge, are not entirely renounced; the first is seen in the supremacy given to justice over the rest; the second in the tendency to absorb the moral virtues in the intellectual, and to centre all goodness in the contemplation of the idea of good. The world of sense is still **depreciated** and identified with opinion, though admitted to be a shadow of the true. In the Republic he is evidently impressed

#### **Thesaurus**

assert: (v) allege, affirm, say, claim, declare, swear, show, avow, aver, maintain, argue. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, controvert, repress, refute. comprehend: (v) grasp, catch, see, comprise, appreciate, feel, sense, apperceive, read; (adj, v) understand; (n, v) embrace. ANTONYMS: (v) mistake, misapprehend, exclude, misunderstand, misconceive. depreciated: (adj) adulterate, cheap, depleted, depressed; (v) depreciating.

originate: (v) begin, arise, initiate, commence, issue, develop, start, come, invent, grow, make.

ANTONYMS: (v) terminate, kill.

salutary: (adj) beneficial, salubrious, good, healthful, healthy, wholesome, helpful, curative, benign, useful, advantageous.

supremacy: (n) superiority,

supremacy: (n) superiority, domination, sovereignty, authority, command, mastery, predominance, dominion, excellence, influence, leadership. ANTONYMS: (n) inferiority, weakness, subservience, powerlessness, subjugation. thread: (n) screw thread, yarn, rope, wire, twine, ligature; (adj, n, v) line, file; (n, v) string together; (adj, v) range; (v) penetrate. wellbeing: (n) health, upbeat, confidence, physical condition, security, relief, protection, social welfare, luxury, fitness, eudaimonia. ANTONYMS: (n) insecurity, danger.

with the conviction that vice arises chiefly from ignorance and may be **cured** by education; the multitude are hardly to be deemed responsible for what they do. A faint allusion to the doctrine of **reminiscence** occurs in the Tenth Book; but Plato's views of education have no more real connection with a previous state of existence than our own; he only proposes to elicit from the mind that which is there already. Education is represented by him, not as the filling of a vessel, but as the turning the eye of the soul towards the light.

He treats first of music or literature, which he divides into true and false, and then goes on to gymnastics; of infancy in the Republic he takes no notice, though in the Laws he gives sage counsels about the nursing of children and the management of the mothers, and would have an education which is even prior to birth. But in the Republic he begins with the age at which the child is capable of receiving ideas, and boldly asserts, in language which sounds paradoxical to modern ears, that he must be taught the false before he can learn the true. The modern and ancient philosophical world are not agreed about truth and falsehood; the one identifies truth almost exclusively with fact, the other with ideas. This is the difference between ourselves and Plato, which is, however, partly a difference of words. For we too should admit that a child must receive many lessons which he imperfectly understands; he must be taught some things in a figure only, some too which he can hardly be expected to believe when he grows older; but we should limit the use of fiction by the necessity of the case. Plato would draw the line differently; according to him the aim of early education is not truth as a matter of fact, but truth as a matter of principle; the child is to be taught first simple religious truths, and then simple moral truths, and insensibly to learn the lesson of good manners and good taste. He would make an entire reformation of the old mythology; like Xenophanes and Heracleitus he is sensible of the deep chasm which separates his own age from Homer and Hesiod, whom he quotes and invests with an imaginary authority, but only for his own purposes. The lusts and treacheries of the gods are to be banished; the terrors of the world below are to be dispelled; the misbehaviour of the Homeric heroes is not to be a model for youth. But there is another strain heard in Homer which may teach our youth endurance; and something may be

# **Thesaurus**

boldly: (adi, adv) courageously, valiantly, heroically; (adv) fearlessly, daringly, bravely, intrepidly, impudently, audaciously, shamelessly, brashly. ANTONYMS: (adv) discreetly, modestly, nervously, hesitantly, shyly, fearfully, meekly, submissively, secretly, respectfully, diffidently.

**cured**: (adj) recovered, corned, aged, mellow, whole, better, pickle cured, salted, vulcanised, well, vulcanized. ears: (n) antenna.
endurance: (adj, n) sufferance; (n)
stamina, tolerance, courage,
permanence, continuance, energy,
fortitude, tenacity, duration,
toughness. ANTONYMS: (n)
weakness, inconsistency, impatience,
frailty, discontinuation,
discontinuance, death.
misbehaviour: (n) indecency,
indecorum, liberty, indiscretion,
delinquency, devilry, familiarity,

deviltry, devilment, misconduct, misdemeanour.

**reformation**: (*n*) correction, amendment, improvement, redress, reclamation, rectification, conversion, innovation, repair, renewal, reassembly.

**reminiscence**: (*n*) memory, recall, recollection, anamnesis, memoir, nostalgia, mind, recollections, retrospect, memorial, memento.

learnt in medicine from the simple practice of the Homeric age. The principles on which religion is to be based are two only: first, that God is true; secondly, that he is good. Modern and Christian writers have often fallen short of these; they can hardly be said to have gone beyond them.

The young are to be brought up in happy surroundings, out of the way of sights or sounds which may hurt the character or vitiate the taste. They are to live in an atmosphere of health; the breeze is always to be wafting to them the impressions of truth and goodness. Could such an education be realized, or if our modern religious education could be bound up with truth and virtue and good manners and good taste, that would be the best hope of human improvement. Plato, like ourselves, is looking forward to changes in the moral and religious world, and is preparing for them. He recognizes the danger of unsettling young men's minds by sudden changes of laws and principles, by destroying the sacredness of one set of ideas when there is nothing else to take their place. He is afraid too of the influence of the drama, on the ground that it encourages false sentiment, and therefore he would not have his children taken to the theatre; he thinks that the effect on the spectators is bad, and on the actors still worse. His idea of education is that of harmonious growth, in which are insensibly learnt the lessons of temperance and endurance, and the body and mind develope in equal proportions. The first principle which runs through all art and nature is simplicity; this also is to be the rule of human life.

The second stage of education is gymnastic, which answers to the period of muscular growth and development. The simplicity which is **enforced** in music is extended to gymnastic; Plato is aware that the training of the body may be **inconsistent** with the training of the mind, and that bodily exercise may be easily overdone. Excessive training of the body is apt to give men a headache or to render them sleepy at a lecture on philosophy, and this they attribute not to the true cause, but to the nature of the subject. Two points are noticeable in Plato's treatment of gymnastic:-First, that the time of training is entirely separated from the time of literary education. He seems to have thought that two things of an opposite and different nature could not be learnt at the same time. Here we

# **Thesaurus**

enforced: (adj) required, obligatory, compulsory, applied, compelled, binding, essential, requisite, necessary, mandatory, legal. ANTONYMS: (adj) optional, unenforced, voluntary. impressions: (n) impersonation, imitation. inconsistent: (adj) incoherent, incompatible, inconsequent,

conflicting, absurd, discrepant, illogical, erratic; (adj, n)

contradictory, contrary, discordant. ANTONYMS: (adj) constant, reliable, ordered, predictable, corresponding, dependable, flawless, usual, fixed. muscular: (adi) athletic, strong, brawny, hefty, burly, powerful, robust, husky, stout, stalwart, sturdy. ANTONYMS: (adj) puny, slight, weak, ectomorphic, endomorphic, skinny, unfit, feeble, frail, delicate. overdone: (adj) exaggerated, overstated, overcooked, excessive,

immoderate, extravagant, fulsome, overdo, undue, overwrought, profuse. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, tender. render: (v) interpret, explain, give, offer, furnish, pay, construe, return, provide, impart, translate. vitiate: (adj, n, v) taint, poison, contaminate, pollute; (n, v) deprave, debauch, mar; (v) defile, spoil, pervert, debase. ANTONYMS: (v) aid, assist, help, schedule, validate.

can hardly agree with him; and, if we may judge by experience, the effect of spending three years between the ages of fourteen and seventeen in mere bodily exercise would be far from improving to the intellect. Secondly, he affirms that music and gymnastic are not, as common opinion is apt to imagine, intended, the one for the cultivation of the mind and the other of the body, but that they are both equally designed for the improvement of the mind. The body, in his view, is the servant of the mind; the subjection of the lower to the higher is for the advantage of both. And doubtless the mind may exercise a very great and paramount influence over the body, if exerted not at particular moments and by fits and starts, but continuously, in making preparation for the whole of life. Other Greek writers saw the mischievous tendency of Spartan discipline (Arist. Pol; Thuc.). But only Plato recognized the fundamental error on which the practice was based.

The subject of gymnastic leads Plato to the sister subject of medicine, which he further illustrates by the parallel of law. The modern disbelief in medicine has led in this, as in some other departments of knowledge, to a demand for greater simplicity; physicians are becoming aware that they often make diseases 'greater and more complicated' by their treatment of them (Rep.). In two thousand years their art has made but slender progress; what they have gained in the analysis of the parts is in a great degree lost by their feebler conception of the human frame as a whole. They have attended more to the cure of diseases than to the conditions of health; and the improvements in medicine have been more than **counterbalanced** by the **disuse** of regular training. Until **lately** they have hardly thought of air and water, the importance of which was well understood by the ancients; as Aristotle remarks, 'Air and water, being the elements which we most use, have the greatest effect upon health' (Polit.). For ages physicians have been under the **dominion** of prejudices which have only recently given way; and now there are as many opinions in medicine as in theology, and an equal degree of scepticism and some want of toleration about both. Plato has several good notions about medicine; according to him, 'the eye cannot be cured without the rest of the body, nor the body without the mind' (Charm.). No man of sense, he says in the Timaeus, would take physic; and we heartily sympathize with him in

counterbalanced: (adj) counterpoised. disuse: (n) desuetude, discontinuance, discontinuation, obsolescence, abandonment, carelessness, closedown, disusage, intermission; (v) have done with, leave off. dominion: (n) authority, control, domain, command, reign, rule, sway, power, kingdom, mastery, supremacy. ANTONYM: (n) subjugation. heartily: (adv) cordially, sincerely,

#### **Thesaurus**

enthusiastically, warmly, strongly, earnestly, vigorously, ardently, soundly, devoutly, eagerly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, languorously.

lately: (adv) tardily, newly, freshly, belatedly, slowly, latterly, deadly; (adj, adv) anew, late, afresh; (adj) recent.

physic: (n) medicine, aperient,

**physic**: (n) medicine, aperient, cathartic, medication, healing, medicament, drug; (n, v) cure, doctor,

remedy; (v) heal. **sympathize**: (v) pity, understand, condole, compassionate, feel, sympathise, identify with, empathize, have compassion, feel sorry for, feel for. ANTONYMS: (v) disapprove, disregard. **toleration**: (n) sufferance, endurance, allowance, patience, moderation.

toleration: (n) sufferance, endurance, allowance, patience, moderation, permission, indulgence, acceptance, forbearance, suffering, self acceptance.

the Laws when he declares that 'the limbs of the rustic worn with **toil** will derive more benefit from warm **baths** than from the prescriptions of a not over wise doctor.' But we can hardly praise him when, in obedience to the authority of Homer, he depreciates diet, or approve of the **inhuman** spirit in which he would get rid of **invalid** and useless lives by leaving them to die. He does not seem to have considered that the 'bridle of Theages' might be accompanied by qualities which were of far more value to the State than the health or strength of the citizens; or that the duty of taking care of the helpless might be an important element of education in a State. The physician himself (this is a delicate and subtle observation) should not be a man in robust health; he should have, in modern phraseology, a nervous **temperament**; he should have experience of disease in his own person, in order that his **powers** of observation may be quickened in the case of others.

The perplexity of medicine is paralleled by the perplexity of law; in which, again, Plato would have men follow the golden rule of simplicity. Greater matters are to be determined by the legislator or by the oracle of Delphi, lesser matters are to be left to the temporary regulation of the citizens themselves. Plato is aware that laissez faire is an important element of government. The diseases of a State are like the heads of a hydra; they multiply when they are cut off. The true remedy for them is not **extirpation** but prevention. And the way to prevent them is to take care of education, and education will take care of all the rest. So in modern times men have often felt that the only political measure worth having—the only one which would produce any certain or lasting effect, was a measure of national education. And in our own more than in any previous age the necessity has been recognized of **restoring** the ever-increasing confusion of law to simplicity and common sense.

When the training in music and gymnastic is completed, there follows the first stage of active and public life. But soon education is to begin again from a new point of view. In the interval between the Fourth and Seventh Books we have discussed the nature of knowledge, and have **thence** been led to form a higher conception of what was required of us. For true knowledge, according to

**Thesaurus** 

unreasonable, null, weak, void,

# baths: (n) pool, bath, spring. extirpation: (n) excision, destruction, eradication, extermination, extinction, deracination, cutting out, appendicectomy, appendectomy, annihilation; (adj) extinguishment. inhuman: (adj) heartless, cruel, atrocious, brutal, cold, harsh, ferocious, remorseless, barbarous, relentless, barbaric. ANTONYMS:

(adj) sympathetic, kind, humane.

invalid: (adj) false, illogical,

unhealthy, sick, flawed; (n) infirm; (v) disable. ANTONYMS: (adj) valid, legitimate, current, healthy, true, watertight, correct.

powers: (n) authority, capacity, strength, administration.

restoring: (n) reinstatement, restoration; (adj) grateful, refective, comforting, refreshing.

temperament: (n) character, nature, disposition, constitution, personality,

quality, spirit, humor, equanimity, composure, mettle.

thence: (adv) therefore, thus,
therefrom, thereof, consequently,
then, so, thereafter, thenceforth,
since, on account of.

toil: (n, v) labor, work, drudge, sweat,
drudgery, grind, labour, travail; (v)
plod; (n) effort, exertion.

ANTONYMS: (n) pastime,
entertainment, fun, relaxation; (v)
laze, neglect.

Plato, is of abstractions, and has to do, not with particulars or individuals, but with universals only; not with the beauties of poetry, but with the ideas of philosophy. And the great aim of education is the **cultivation** of the habit of abstraction. This is to be acquired through the study of the mathematical sciences. They alone are capable of giving ideas of relation, and of **arousing** the **dormant** energies of thought.

Mathematics in the age of Plato comprehended a very small part of that which is now included in them; but they bore a much larger proportion to the sum of human knowledge. They were the only organon of thought which the human mind at that time possessed, and the only measure by which the chaos of particulars could be reduced to rule and order. The faculty which they trained was naturally at war with the poetical or imaginative; and hence to Plato, who is everywhere seeking for abstractions and trying to get rid of the illusions of sense, nearly the whole of education is contained in them. They seemed to have an inexhaustible application, partly because their true limits were not yet understood. These Plato himself is beginning to investigate; though not aware that number and figure are mere abstractions of sense, he recognizes that the forms used by geometry are borrowed from the sensible world. He seeks to find the ultimate ground of mathematical ideas in the idea of good, though he does not satisfactorily explain the connexion between them; and in his conception of the relation of ideas to numbers, he falls very far short of the definiteness attributed to him by Aristotle (Met.). But if he fails to recognize the true limits of mathematics, he also reaches a point beyond them; in his view, ideas of number become secondary to a higher conception of knowledge. The dialectician is as much above the mathematician as the mathematician is above the ordinary man. The one, the self-proving, the good which is the higher sphere of dialectic, is the perfect truth to which all things ascend, and in which they finally repose.

This self-proving unity or idea of good is a mere vision of which no distinct explanation can be given, relative only to a particular stage in Greek philosophy. It is an abstraction under which no individuals are comprehended, a whole which has no parts (Arist., Nic. Eth.). The vacancy of such a form was perceived

# Thesaurus smoldering, suspended, inoperative,

arousing: (adj, n) stirring; (adj)
moving, stimulating, affecting,
animating, hopeful, pitiful, poignant;
(n) awakening, start, beginning.
cultivation: (n) civilization, farming,
culture, refinement, development,
growth, education, husbandry,
breeding, gentility, tilth.
ANTONYMS: (n) ignorance,
unsophistication, deprivation,
uncouthness.
dormant: (adj) inactive, torpid, inert,

potential, sluggish, quiescent, latent, quiet. ANTONYMS: (adj) overt, extinct, dynamic, alive, awake. falls: (n) cataract, waterfall, chute, angel, torrent, Victoria, twin, force, body of water, Guaira, Niagara. illusions: (n) fantasy. inexhaustible: (adj) indefatigable, immeasurable, unfailing, infinite, boundless, illimitable, unlimited, incalculable, unexhaustible,

unapproachable, unfathomable.
ANTONYMS: (adj) limited,
unproductive.
organon: (n) organum.
reaches: (n) recess.
satisfactorily: (adv, v) well, fully,
rightly; (adv) sufficiently, satisfyingly,
fairly, amply, enough, gratifyingly,
competently, pleasingly.
ANTONYMS: (adv) unsatisfactorily,
inadequately, intolerably, badly,
negatively.

by Aristotle, but not by Plato. Nor did he recognize that in the dialectical process are included two or more methods of investigation which are at variance with each other. He did not see that whether he took the longer or the shorter road, no advance could be made in this way. And yet such visions often have an immense effect; for although the method of science cannot anticipate science, the idea of science, not as it is, but as it will be in the future, is a great and inspiring principle. In the pursuit of knowledge we are always pressing forward to something beyond us; and as a false conception of knowledge, for example the scholastic philosophy, may lead men astray during many ages, so the true ideal, though vacant, may draw all their thoughts in a right direction. It makes a great difference whether the general expectation of knowledge, as this indefinite feeling may be termed, is based upon a sound judgment. For mankind may often entertain a true conception of what knowledge ought to be when they have but a slender experience of facts. The correlation of the sciences, the consciousness of the unity of nature, the idea of classification, the sense of proportion, the unwillingness to stop short of certainty or to confound probability with truth, are important principles of the higher education. Although Plato could tell us nothing, and perhaps knew that he could tell us nothing, of the absolute truth, he has exercised an influence on the human mind which even at the present day is not exhausted; and political and social questions may yet arise in which the thoughts of Plato may be read anew and receive a fresh meaning.

The Idea of good is so called only in the Republic, but there are traces of it in other dialogues of Plato. It is a cause as well as an idea, and from this point of view may be compared with the creator of the Timaeus, who out of his goodness created all things. It corresponds to a certain extent with the modern conception of a law of nature, or of a final cause, or of both in one, and in this regard may be connected with the measure and symmetry of the Philebus. It is **represented** in the Symposium under the aspect of beauty, and is supposed to be attained there by stages of **initiation**, as here by regular gradations of knowledge. Viewed **subjectively**, it is the process or science of dialectic. This is the science which, according to the Phaedrus, is the true basis of rhetoric, which alone is able to

# Thesaurus introduction, launch, ANTONYMS:

(n) finish, departure, completion,

anew: (adv) again, newly, lately, recently, over again, new more, once again, new; (adj) only yesterday, the other day, just now.

astray: (adj, adv) adrift, off course; (adj) lost, wrong, disoriented, awry; (adv) amiss, widely, far, afield, aside.

ANTONYM: (adj) accurate.

initiation: (n) inception, commencement, beginning, inauguration, foundation, induction, opening, origination, start,

suppression, culmination.

represented: (adj) delineate, depicted,
representing, drawn, painted,
pictured, diagrammatic.

scholastic: (adj, n) academic; (adj)
scholarly, pedantic, school, learned,
erudite; (n) pedant, purist; (v) savant,
blue, enlightened.

subjectively: (adv) randomly, capriciously, illogically, mentally,

internally, individually, objectively, biasedly, without rhyme or reason, at random, by chance. ANTONYMS: (adv) objectively, impartially, logically.

unwillingness: (n) disinclination, indisposition, aversion, hesitation, hesitancy, resistance, antipathy, reluctancy, dislike, distaste, irreconcilableness. ANTONYMS: (n) enthusiasm, disposition, keenness, inclination.

distinguish the natures and classes of men and things; which divides a whole into the natural parts, and reunites the scattered parts into a natural or organized whole; which defines the abstract essences or universal ideas of all things, and connects them; which pierces the veil of hypotheses and reaches the final cause or first principle of all; which regards the sciences in relation to the idea of good. This ideal science is the highest process of thought, and may be described as the soul conversing with herself or holding **communion** with eternal truth and beauty, and in another form is the everlasting question and answer—the **ceaseless** interrogative of Socrates. The dialogues of Plato are themselves examples of the nature and method of dialectic. Viewed **objectively**, the idea of good is a power or cause which makes the world without us correspond with the world within. Yet this world without us is still a world of ideas. With Plato the investigation of nature is another department of knowledge, and in this he seeks to attain only probable **conclusions** (Timaeus).

If we ask whether this science of dialectic which Plato only half explains to us is more akin to logic or to metaphysics, the answer is that in his mind the two sciences are not as yet distinguished, any more than the subjective and objective aspects of the world and of man, which German philosophy has revealed to us. Nor has he determined whether his science of dialectic is at rest or in motion, concerned with the contemplation of absolute being, or with a process of development and evolution. Modern metaphysics may be described as the science of abstractions, or as the science of the evolution of thought; modern logic, when passing beyond the bounds of mere Aristotelian forms, may be defined as the science of method. The germ of both of them is contained in the Platonic dialectic; all metaphysicians have something in common with the ideas of Plato; all logicians have derived something from the method of Plato. The nearest approach in modern philosophy to the universal science of Plato, is to be found in the Hegelian 'succession of moments in the unity of the idea.' Plato and Hegel alike seem to have conceived the world as the correlation of abstractions; and not impossibly they would have understood one another better than any of their commentators understand them (Swift's Voyage to Laputa. 'Having a desire to see those ancients who were most renowned for wit and learning, I set

#### **Thesaurus**

aspects: (adj) moods, features.
bounds: (n) boundary, border, limit,
bound, margin, borderline, end,
bourn, Bourne, brink, edge.
ANTONYMS: (n) center, middle.
ceaseless: (adj) eternal, uninterrupted,
constant, perpetual, everlasting,
endless, continuous, unremitting,
continual, unending, nonstop.
ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent,
temporary, sporadic, completed,
restricted, limited, fleeting, finished,

concluded, ending, inconstant.

communion: (n) communication,
denomination, intercourse, alliance,
Eucharist, faction, sacrament, traffic,
sharing, fellowship, Holy
Communion. ANTONYMS: (n)
hostility, disunity, distance,
disagreement, alienation, contention.

conclusions: (n) data.
impossibly: (adv) unusually,
unthinkably, doubtfully, implausibly,
incredibly, insufferably, oddly,

unbearably, surprisingly, unbelievably, unimaginably. ANTONYM: (adv) tolerably. objectively: (adv) neutrally, impartially, dispassionately, disinterestedly, detachedly, independently, concretely, unprejudicedly, coldly, unemotionally, impersonally. ANTONYMS: (adv) personally, partially, emotionally.

apart one day on purpose. I proposed that Homer and Aristotle might appear at the head of all their commentators; but these were so numerous that some hundreds were forced to attend in the court and outward rooms of the palace. I knew, and could distinguish these two heroes, at first sight, not only from the crowd, but from each other. Homer was the taller and comelier person of the two, walked very erect for one of his age, and his eyes were the most quick and piercing I ever beheld. Aristotle stooped much, and made use of a staff. His visage was meagre, his hair lank and thin, and his voice hollow. I soon discovered that both of them were perfect strangers to the rest of the company, and had never seen or heard of them before. And I had a whisper from a ghost, who shall be nameless, "That these commentators always kept in the most distant quarters from their principals, in the lower world, through a consciousness of shame and guilt, because they had so horribly misrepresented the meaning of these authors to posterity." I introduced Didymus and Eustathius to Homer, and prevailed on him to treat them better than perhaps they deserved, for he soon found they wanted a genius to enter into the spirit of a poet. But Aristotle was out of all patience with the account I gave him of Scotus and Ramus, as I presented them to him; and he asked them "whether the rest of the tribe were as great dunces as themselves?" '). There is, however, a difference between them: for whereas Hegel is thinking of all the minds of men as one mind, which developes the stages of the idea in different countries or at different times in the same country, with Plato these gradations are regarded only as an order of thought or ideas; the history of the human mind had not yet dawned upon him.

Many criticisms may be made on Plato's theory of education. While in some respects he unavoidably falls short of modern thinkers, in others he is in advance of them. He is opposed to the modes of education which prevailed in his own time; but he can hardly be said to have discovered new ones. He does not see that education is relative to the characters of individuals; he only desires to **impress** the same form of the state on the minds of all. He has no sufficient idea of the effect of literature on the formation of the mind, and greatly exaggerates that of mathematics. His aim is above all things to train the reasoning faculties;

# **Thesaurus**

horribly: (adv) horrifically, awfully, terrifically, hideously, atrociously, appallingly; (adj, adv) frightfully, terribly, fearfully, shockingly; (adj) ghastly. ANTONYMS: (adv) pleasantly, wonderfully, kindly, sweetly.

impress: (*n*, *v*) mark, print, stamp; (*v*) move, affect, inscribe, instill, touch, emboss, inculcate; (*n*) impression. lank: (*adj*) gaunt, angular, emaciated, meager, thin, skinny, spindly, spare,

scrawny; (adj, v) lean, barren.
misrepresented: (adj) distorted,
twisted, malformed, perverted,
tainted, artful, kinky, immoral,
disingenuous, depraved, deformed.
nameless: (adj) unknown, unnamed,
unidentified, unsung,
undistinguished, unspecified,
inexpressible, strange, indescribable,
obscure, unspeakable. ANTONYM:
(adj) famous.
piercing: (adj, n) sharp, cutting; (adj, v)

keen, penetrating, biting, bitter, harsh, shrill; (adj) high, raw, loud. ANTONYMS: (adj) quiet, dull, soft, hot

**stooped**: (*adj*) hunched, stoop, stooping, crooked, bended, not straight, inclined, not erect, arched, asymmetrical, droopy.

visage: (n) face, look, mug, physiognomy, expression, kisser, appearance, aspect, brow, smiler, forehead. to implant in the mind the spirit and power of abstraction; to explain and define general notions, and, if possible, to connect them. No wonder that in the vacancy of actual knowledge his followers, and at times even he himself, should have fallen away from the doctrine of ideas, and have returned to that branch of knowledge in which alone the relation of the one and many can be truly seen the science of number. In his views both of teaching and training he might be styled, in modern language, a doctrinaire; after the Spartan fashion he would have his citizens cast in one mould; he does not seem to consider that some degree of freedom, 'a little wholesome neglect,' is necessary to strengthen and develope the character and to give play to the individual nature. His citizens would not have acquired that knowledge which in the vision of Er is supposed to be gained by the pilgrims from their experience of evil.

On the other hand, Plato is far in advance of modern philosophers and theologians when he teaches that education is to be continued through life and will begin again in another. He would never allow education of some kind to cease; although he was aware that the proverbial saying of Solon, 'I grow old learning many things,' cannot be applied literally. Himself ravished with the contemplation of the idea of good, and delighting in solid geometry (Rep.), he has no difficulty in **imagining** that a **lifetime** might be passed happily in such pursuits. We who know how many more men of business there are in the world than real students or thinkers, are not equally **sanguine**. The education which he proposes for his citizens is really the ideal life of the philosopher or man of genius, interrupted, but only for a time, by practical duties, -a life not for the many, but for the few.

Yet the thought of Plato may not be wholly **incapable** of application to our own times. Even if regarded as an ideal which can never be realized, it may have a great effect in elevating the characters of mankind, and raising them above the routine of their ordinary occupation or profession. It is the best form under which we can conceive the whole of life. Nevertheless the idea of Plato is not easily put into practice. For the education of after life is necessarily the education which each one gives himself. Men and women cannot be brought together in

#### Thesaurus

**cease**: (n, v) end, finish, stop; (v) quit, terminate, break, break off, close, conclude, discontinue, abstain. ANTONYMS: (v) begin, start, commence, persist, stay. doctrinaire: (n, v) pedant; (adj) dogmatic, pedantic, opinionist; (n) doctrinarian, bigot, dogmatist, zealot; (v) mannerist, euphuist, purist. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, obedient, submissive, amenable, liberal. followers: (n) adherents, people,

supporters, multitude, attendants, support, suite.

fantasy, opinion; (v) imagine; (adj) imaginant. incapable: (adj) impotent, inadequate, unable, helpless, powerless, unqualified, inept, insufficient, inapt, ineffectual, unfit. ANTONYMS: (adj) able, competent, strong, powerful, effective.

entourage, claque, faithful, disciples, lifetime: (n) life, life span, lifespan, life expectancy, generation, hour, decade, day, time, animation; (adj) lifelong. **imagining**: (n) conception, daydream, **mould**: (n, v) mildew, cast, form, model; (v) make, frame, knead, fashion, forge; (n) molding, matrix. sanguine: (adj) hopeful, optimistic, bloody, rubicund, confident, crimson, cheerful, buoyant, sanguineous; (adj, n) red, florid. ANTONYMS: (adj) pessimistic, gloomy, doubtful. styled: (v) titled, named, benempt.

schools or colleges at forty or fifty years of age; and if they could the result would be disappointing. The destination of most men is what Plato would call 'the Den' for the whole of life, and with that they are content. Neither have they teachers or advisers with whom they can take counsel in riper years. There is no 'schoolmaster abroad' who will tell them of their faults, or inspire them with the higher sense of duty, or with the ambition of a true success in life; no Socrates who will **convict** them of ignorance; no Christ, or **follower** of Christ, who will reprove them of sin. Hence they have a difficulty in receiving the first element of improvement, which is self- knowledge. The hopes of youth no longer stir them; they rather wish to rest than to pursue high objects. A few only who have come across great men and women, or eminent teachers of religion and morality, have received a second life from them, and have lighted a candle from the fire of their genius.

The want of energy is one of the main reasons why so few persons continue to improve in later years. They have not the will, and do not know the way. They 'never try an experiment,' or look up a point of interest for themselves; they make no sacrifices for the sake of knowledge; their minds, like their bodies, at a certain age become fixed. Genius has been defined as 'the power of taking pains'; but hardly any one keeps up his interest in knowledge throughout a whole life. The troubles of a family, the business of making money, the demands of a profession destroy the elasticity of the mind. The waxen tablet of the memory which was once capable of receiving 'true thoughts and clear impressions' becomes hard and crowded; there is not room for the accumulations of a long life (Theaet.). The student, as years advance, rather makes an exchange of knowledge than adds to his stores. There is no pressing necessity to learn; the stock of Classics or History or Natural Science which was enough for a man at twenty-five is enough for him at fifty. Neither is it easy to give a definite answer to any one who asks how he is to improve. For selfeducation consists in a thousand things, commonplace in themselves, —in adding to what we are by nature something of what we are not; in learning to see ourselves as others see us; in judging, not by opinion, but by the evidence of facts; in seeking out the society of superior minds; in a study of lives and

#### **Thesaurus**

convict: (adj, n) felon; (n) captive, con, criminal, jailbird, inmate, prisoner, malefactor, offender; (v) convince, sentence. ANTONYMS: (n) innocent; (v) liberate, release, free, exonerate, absolve, clear.

elasticity: (n) spring, tone, buoyancy, suppleness, springiness, flexibility, resiliency, resilience, pliability, tonicity; (adj) elastic force. ANTONYMS: (n) stiffness, inflexibility, rigidity.

follower: (n) backer, devotee, fan, admirer, adherent, cohort, apostle, partisan, believer, attendant; (adj) lover. ANTONYMS: (n) detractor, rebel, superior, disbeliever, cynic,

**inspire**: (adj, v) cheer, enliven, exhilarate; (v) encourage, excite, inhale, incite, affect, infuse, hearten, actuate. ANTONYMS: (v) extinguish, waxen: (adj) pale, waxy, white, disenchant, douse, knock, dampen, calm, dishearten.

lighted: (adj) illuminated, lit, light, ablaze, bright, ignited, burn, burning, ignite, kindled, lighten.

reasons: (n) proof.

reprove: (n, v) censure, blame, chide, rebuke, reprehend; (v) admonish, reproach, lecture, condemn, warn, castigate. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, approve, commend.

colorless, wan, ashen, yielding, soft, gray, drawn, cereous.

writings of great men; in observation of the world and character; in receiving kindly the natural influence of different times of life; in any act or thought which is raised above the practice or opinions of mankind; in the pursuit of some new or original enquiry; in any effort of mind which calls forth some **latent** power.

If any one is desirous of carrying out in detail the Platonic education of afterlife, some such counsels as the following may be offered to him: - That he shall choose the branch of knowledge to which his own mind most distinctly inclines, and in which he takes the greatest delight, either one which seems to connect with his own daily employment, or, perhaps, furnishes the greatest contrast to it. He may study from the speculative side the profession or business in which he is practically engaged. He may make Homer, Dante, Shakespeare, Plato, Bacon the friends and companions of his life. He may find opportunities of hearing the living voice of a great teacher. He may select for enquiry some point of history or some unexplained phenomenon of nature. An hour a day passed in such scientific or literary pursuits will furnish as many facts as the memory can retain, and will give him 'a pleasure not to be repented of' (Timaeus). Only let him beware of being the slave of crotchets, or of running after a Will o' the Wisp in his ignorance, or in his vanity of attributing to himself the gifts of a poet or assuming the air of a philosopher. He should know the limits of his own powers. Better to build up the mind by slow additions, to creep on quietly from one thing to another, to gain insensibly new powers and new interests in knowledge, than to form vast schemes which are never **destined** to be realized. But perhaps, as Plato would say, 'This is part of another subject' (Tim.); though we may also defend our digression by his example (Theaet.).

4. We remark with surprise that the progress of nations or the natural growth of institutions which fill modern treatises on political philosophy seem hardly ever to have attracted the attention of Plato and Aristotle. The ancients were familiar with the **mutability** of human affairs; they could **moralize** over the **ruins** of cities and the fall of empires (Plato, Statesman, and Sulpicius' Letter to Cicero); by them fate and chance were deemed to be real powers, almost persons,

# **Thesaurus**

additions: (n) accompaniments, accessions, embellishments, trappings.

beware: (v) look out, caution, be careful, guard, pay attention, take care, watch out, mind, keep, care, careful. ANTONYMS: (v) risk, disregard, invite.

creep: (v) grovel, sneak, steal, fawn, lurk, truckle, cringe; (n) creeping, crawling, toady, sycophant.
ANTONYMS: (v) race, dash, hasten,

hurry, speed, fly. **destined**: (*adj*, *v*) bound, fated; (*adj*) predetermined, sure, inescapable, intended, predestined, inevitable, prepared, foreordained, appointed. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) unscheduled, unlikely.

latent: (adj) covert, secret, potential, occult, inactive, cryptic, dormant, hidden, possible, smoldering, concealed. ANTONYMS: (adj) manifest, obvious, unlikely, overt.

**moralize**: (*v*) moralise, preach, lecture, preachify, advocate, moral, sermonise.

mutability: (n) vicissitude, inconstancy, changeability, instability, variability, mutableness, alterability, fickleness, uncertainty, variableness, volatility.

ruins: (n) debris, wreck, remains, remainder, carcass, wreckage, relics, rubbish, shell, remnants, hulk.

and to have had a great share in political events. The wiser of them like Thucydides believed that 'what had been would be again,' and that a tolerable idea of the future could be gathered from the past. Also they had dreams of a Golden Age which existed once upon a time and might still exist in some unknown land, or might return again in the remote future. But the regular growth of a state enlightened by experience, progressing in knowledge, improving in the arts, of which the citizens were educated by the fulfilment of political duties, appears never to have come within the range of their hopes and aspirations. Such a state had never been seen, and therefore could not be conceived by them. Their experience (Aristot. Metaph.; Plato, Laws) led them to conclude that there had been cycles of civilization in which the arts had been discovered and lost many times over, and cities had been overthrown and rebuilt again and again, and deluges and volcanoes and other natural convulsions had altered the face of the earth. Tradition told them of many destructions of mankind and of the preservation of a remnant. The world began again after a deluge and was reconstructed out of the fragments of itself. Also they were acquainted with empires of unknown antiquity, like the Egyptian or Assyrian; but they had never seen them grow, and could not imagine, any more than we can, the state of man which preceded them. They were puzzled and awestricken by the Egyptian monuments, of which the forms, as Plato says, not in a figure, but literally, were ten thousand years old (Laws), and they contrasted the antiquity of Egypt with their own short memories.

The early **legends** of Hellas have no real connection with the later history: they are at a distance, and the intermediate region is concealed from view; there is no road or path which leads from one to the other. At the beginning of Greek history, in the **vestibule** of the temple, is seen standing first of all the figure of the legislator, himself the interpreter and servant of the God. The fundamental laws which he gives are not supposed to change with time and circumstances. The salvation of the state is held rather to depend on the **inviolable** maintenance of them. They were sanctioned by the authority of heaven, and it was deemed impiety to alter them. The desire to maintain them **unaltered** seems to be the origin of what at first sight is very surprising to us—the **intolerant** zeal of Plato

awestricken: (adj) awed, in awe of. ANTONYM: (adj) unawed. convulsions: (n) convulsion, spasm, epilepsy, eclampsia, mirth. deluge: (adj, v) inundate; (n) cataclysm, downpour, cloudburst, torrent, debacle; (v) overrun, overwhelm; (n, v) overflow, surge, stream. ANTONYMS: (n) drought, abatement, trickle, lack; (v) drain, capitulate, desiccate, surrender, parch, dry, dehydrate.

#### **Thesaurus**

intolerant: (adj) bigoted, dogmatic, racist, narrow-minded, tolerant, contumelious, conservative, overweening; (adj, v) illiberal; (v) confined, positive. ANTONYMS: (adj) tolerant, broadminded, liberal, patient, accepting, forgiving, receptive, soft, fair.
inviolable: (adj) sacrosanct, infrangible, hallowed, invulnerable,

infrangible, hallowed, invulnerable, inviolate, inalienable, impenetrable, absolute, impregnable; (v)

imprescriptible, unimpeachable. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) acceptable, breakable.

**legends**: (*n*) tradition, mythology, myths.

unaltered: (adj) unalterable, unmoved, same, unaffected. ANTONYM: (adj) affected.

**vestibule**: (*n*) lobby, hall, foyer, antechamber, entrance hall, hallway, entry, porch, passage, anteroom, threshold.

against innovators in religion or politics (Laws); although with a happy inconsistency he is also willing that the laws of other countries should be studied and improvements in legislation **privately** communicated to the Nocturnal Council (Laws). The additions which were made to them in later ages in order to meet the increasing complexity of affairs were still ascribed by a fiction to the original legislator; and the words of such enactments at Athens were **disputed** over as if they had been the words of Solon himself. Plato hopes to preserve in a later generation the mind of the legislator; he would have his citizens remain within the lines which he has laid down for them. He would not **harass** them with minute regulations, he would have allowed some changes in the laws: but not changes which would affect the fundamental institutions of the state, such for example as would **convert** an aristocracy into a timocracy, or a timocracy into a popular form of government.

Passing from speculations to facts, we observe that progress has been the exception rather than the law of human history. And therefore we are not surprised to find that the idea of progress is of modern rather than of ancient date; and, like the idea of a philosophy of history, is not more than a century or two old. It seems to have arisen out of the impression left on the human mind by the growth of the Roman Empire and of the Christian Church, and to be due to the political and social improvements which they introduced into the world; and still more in our own century to the idealism of the first French Revolution and the triumph of American Independence; and in a yet greater degree to the vast material prosperity and growth of population in England and her colonies and in America. It is also to be ascribed in a measure to the greater study of the philosophy of history. The optimist temperament of some great writers has assisted the creation of it, while the opposite character has led a few to regard the future of the world as dark. The 'spectator of all time and of all existence' sees more of 'the increasing purpose which through the ages ran' than formerly: but to the inhabitant of a small state of Hellas the vision was necessarily limited like the valley in which he dwelt. There was no remote past on which his eye could rest, nor any future from which the veil was partly lifted up by the analogy of

# **Thesaurus**

convert: (v) alter, change, adapt, reform, commute, invert, transform, switch, exchange, turn; (n) proselyte. ANTONYMS: (v) remain, persist, keep, hold, stay.

disputed: (adj) moot, disputable, opposed, open to discussion, uncertain, dubious, doubtful, debatable.

**harass**: (*n*, *v*) distress, annoy; (*v*) plague, fret, beset, tease, pester, disturb; (*adj*, *v*) molest, worry, tire.

ANTONYMS: (v) defend, delight, encourage, praise, comfort. inhabitant: (n) denizen, resident, occupant, citizen, tenant, occupier, population, native, liver, indweller; (v) habitant. ANTONYM: (n) stranger

optimist: (n) millenarian, optimistic, utopist, whitewasher, encomiast, enthusiast, intellectual, laudator, millenarist, utopian, utopianist. ANTONYM: (n) realist.

privately: (adv) covertly, privily, confidentially, personally, closely, stealthily, secludedly, domestically, informally, retiredly; (adj, adv) quietly. ANTONYMS: (adv) publicly, officially.

prosperity: (n) affluence, wealth, success, flourish, good fortune, fortune, welfare, opulence, abundance, good, prosperousness. ANTONYMS: (n) failure, fruitlessness, hardship, insufficiency.

history. The **narrowness** of view, which to ourselves appears so singular, was to him natural, if not unavoidable.

5. For the relation of the Republic to the Statesman and the Laws, and the two other works of Plato which directly treat of politics, see the Introductions to the two latter; a few general points of comparison may be touched upon in this place.

And first of the Laws.

- (1) The Republic, though probably written at intervals, yet speaking generally and judging by the indications of thought and style, may be reasonably ascribed to the middle period of Plato's life: the Laws are certainly the work of his declining years, and some portions of them at any rate seem to have been written in extreme old age.
- (2) The Republic is full of hope and aspiration: the Laws bear the stamp of failure and disappointment. The one is a finished work which received the last touches of the author: the other is imperfectly executed, and apparently unfinished. The one has the grace and beauty of youth: the other has lost the poetical form, but has more of the **severity** and knowledge of life which is characteristic of old age.
- (3) The most conspicuous **defect** of the Laws is the failure of dramatic power, whereas the Republic is full of striking contrasts of ideas and oppositions of character.
- (4) The Laws may be said to have more the nature of a **sermon**, the Republic of a poem; the one is more religious, the other more intellectual.
- (5) Many theories of Plato, such as the doctrine of ideas, the government of the world by philosophers, are not found in the Laws; the immortality of the soul is first mentioned in xii; the person of Socrates has altogether disappeared. The community of women and

#### Thesaurus

smallness, pettiness, sheerness,

**defect**: (adj, n) blemish, imperfection, infirmity; (n) flaw, blot, shortcoming, weakness, deficiency, scar, failing, dearth. ANTONYMS: (n) strength, merit, faultlessness, excellence, capability, enhancement, perfection; (v) uphold, remain, join, embrace. indications: (n) discriminating marks, indicia, chance.

mentioned: (adj) spoken. narrowness: (n) thinness, width, intolerance, illiberality, tightness,

slimness, meanness, skinniness. ANTONYMS: (n) wideness, stoutness, thickness, width, coarseness, inaccuracy. sermon: (n) discourse, oration, speech, unfinished: (adj) rough, rude, address, homily, preachment, harangue, preaching, exhortation, predication; (n, v) lecture. severity: (n) rigor, austerity, harshness, roughness, intensity, inclemency, asperity, gravity,

hardness, tyranny, violence. ANTONYMS: (n) leniency, pleasantness, flexibility, clemency, softness, insignificance, warmth, lenience, brightness. unaccomplished, imperfect, incomplete, partial, immature, unpolished, raw, undone; (v) uncompleted. ANTONYMS: (adj) finished, complete, complex, completed.

- children is renounced; the institution of common or public **meals** for women (Laws) is for the first time introduced (Ar. Pol.).
- (6) There remains in the Laws the old enmity to the poets, who are **ironically** saluted in **high**-flown terms, and, at the same time, are **peremptorily** ordered out of the city, if they are not willing to **submit** their **poems** to the **censorship** of the magistrates (Rep.).
- (7) Though the work is in most **respects** inferior, there are a few passages in the Laws, such as the honour due to the soul, the evils of licentious or unnatural love, the whole of Book x. (religion), the dishonesty of retail trade, and bequests, which come more home to us, and contain more of what may be termed the modern element in Plato than almost anything in the Republic.

The relation of the two works to one another is very well given:

(1) by Aristotle in the Politics from the side of the Laws: -

'The same, or nearly the same, objections apply to Plato's later work, the Laws, and therefore we had better examine briefly the constitution which is **therein** described. In the Republic, Socrates has definitely settled in all a few questions only; such as the community of women and children, the community of property, and the constitution of the state. The population is divided into two classes—one of husbandmen, and the other of warriors; from this latter is taken a third class of counsellors and rulers of the state. But Socrates has not determined whether the husbandmen and artists are to have a share in the government, and whether they too are to carry arms and share in military service or not. He certainly thinks that the women ought to share in the education of the guardians, and to fight by their side. The **remainder** of the work is filled up with digressions foreign to the main subject, and with discussions about the education of the guardians. In the Laws there is hardly

censorship: (n) counterintelligence, deletion, ban, security review, silence. ANTONYMS: (n) encouragement, freedom. high-flown: (adj) grandiloquent, pompous, stilted, grandiose, elevated, metaphysical, imaginative, ideal, heroic, florid, snobbish. ironically: (adv) sardonically, sarcastically, derisively, wrily, mordantly, satirically, bitingly, caustically, illogically, understatedly,

deprecatingly.

meals: (n) nourishment, fare, food,
meal, the food we eat, provisions.

peremptorily: (adv) absolutely,
positively, imperatively, flatly,
dogmatically, magisterially,
commandingly, imperiously,
authoritatively, decidedly, decisively.
poems: (n) metrical composition,
verse, poesy.
remainder: (n) excess, leftover,
overplus, end, residue, oddment,

**Thesaurus** 

balance, rest, surplus; (adj, n) remnant; (adv) after.
respects: (adj) abord, welcome; (n) compliments, greeting, compliment, baisemains, devoir, duty.
submit: (v) comply, obey, acquiesce, give in, present, hand in, put forward, hand over, propose, give; (n, v) resign. ANTONYMS: (v) resist, persevere, defy, overpower, face, disobey, conquer.

therein: (adv) in this, in there.

anything but laws; not much is said about the constitution. This, which he had intended to make more of the ordinary type, he gradually brings round to the other or ideal form. For with the exception of the community of women and property, he supposes everything to be the same in both states; there is to be the same education; the citizens of both are to live free from servile occupations, and there are to be common meals in both. The only difference is that in the Laws the common meals are extended to women, and the warriors number about 5000, but in the Republic only 1000.'

(2) by Plato in the Laws (Book v.), from the side of the Republic: —

'The first and highest form of the state and of the government and of the law is that in which there prevails most widely the ancient saying that "Friends have all things in common." Whether there is now, or ever will be, this communion of women and children and of property, in which the private and individual is altogether banished from life, and things which are by nature private, such as eyes and ears and hands, have become common, and all men express praise and blame, and feel joy and sorrow, on the same occasions, and the laws unite the city to the utmost,—whether all this is possible or not, I say that no man, acting upon any other principle, will ever constitute a state more exalted in virtue, or truer or better than this. Such a state, whether **inhabited** by Gods or sons of Gods, will make them blessed who dwell therein; and therefore to this we are to look for the pattern of the state, and to cling to this, and, as far as possible, to seek for one which is like this. The state which we have now in hand, when created, will be **nearest** to immortality and unity in the next degree; and after that, by the grace of God, we will complete the third one. And we will begin by speaking of the nature and origin of the second.'

#### Thesaurus

cling: (v) adhere, cleave, stick, cohere, hang, attach, grasp, adjoin, clutch, grip, hold. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, repel, unfasten.

dwell: (adj, v) inhabit; (v) reside, bide, live, stay, lodge, delay, occupy, continue, be, settle. ANTONYM: (v) wander.

exalted: (adj) elevated, eminent, noble, high, August, elated, dignified, great, sublime, grand, big. ANTONYMS: (adj) belittled, condemned, criticized,

debased, humble, humiliated, low, lowly, minor, ridiculed, base. **inhabited**: (v) populous, full of people, arrayed, clothed, dressed, accustomed, habited; (adj, v) peopled; **sorrow**: (n, v) regret, lament, grieve; (adj) occupied, settled, housing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unoccupied, uninhabited, business.

nearest: (adj) proximate, immediate, close, near, next, adjoining, intimate, direct, adjacent; (adj, adv) nighest; (adv) fore. ANTONYM: (adj) distant.

servile: (adj) abject, obsequious, base, fawning, ignoble, sordid, subservient, cringing, slavish; (adj, n) mean, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) bossy, assertive. (v) mourn; (n) mourning, heartache, repentance, remorse; (adj, n) sadness, misery; (adj, n, v) distress. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, delight, happiness, peace, hopefulness, cheerfulness, shamelessness, calm, content; (v) rejoice.

The comparatively short work called the Statesman or Politicus in its style and manner is more akin to the Laws, while in its idealism it rather resembles the Republic. As far as we can judge by various indications of language and thought, it must be later than the one and of course earlier than the other. In both the Republic and Statesman a close connection is maintained between Politics and Dialectic. In the Statesman, enquiries into the principles of Method are interspersed with discussions about Politics. The comparative advantages of the rule of law and of a person are considered, and the decision given in favour of a person (Arist. Pol.). But much may be said on the other side, nor is the opposition necessary; for a person may rule by law, and law may be so applied as to be the living voice of the legislator. As in the Republic, there is a myth, describing, however, not a future, but a former existence of mankind. question is asked, 'Whether the state of innocence which is described in the myth, or a state like our own which possesses art and science and distinguishes good from evil, is the preferable condition of man.' To this question of the comparative happiness of civilized and primitive life, which was so often discussed in the last century and in our own, no answer is given. The Statesman, though less perfect in style than the Republic and of far less range, may justly be regarded as one of the greatest of Plato's dialogues.

6. Others as well as Plato have chosen an ideal Republic to be the vehicle of thoughts which they could not definitely express, or which went beyond their own age. The classical writing which approaches most nearly to the Republic of Plato is the 'De Republica' of Cicero; but neither in this nor in any other of his dialogues does he rival the art of Plato. The manners are clumsy and inferior; the hand of the rhetorician is apparent at every turn. Yet noble sentiments are constantly recurring: the true note of Roman patriotism-'We Romans are a great people'-resounds through the whole work. Like Socrates, Cicero turns away from the phenomena of the heavens to civil and political life. He would rather not discuss the 'two Suns' of which all Rome was talking, when he can converse about 'the two nations in one' which had divided Rome ever since the days of the Gracchi. Like Socrates again, speaking in the person of Scipio, he is afraid lest he should assume too much the character of a teacher, rather than of

## Thesaurus

clumsy: (adj) bumbling, bungling, cumbersome, unwieldy, rude, inept, inapt, maladroit, gawky, unskilled, wooden. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, dexterous, clever, skillful, deft, adroit, elegant, coordinated, expert, athletic, agile.

discussions: (n) contumely, blameworthy, abuse, dictated. enquiries: (n) enquiry, inquiries. heavens: (n) firmament, heaven, sky, welkin, sphere, atmosphere, celestial sphere, space, skies, area, vault of

innocence: (n) blamelessness, chastity, preferable: (adj) better, superior, ignorance, ingenuousness, purity, gullibility, artlessness, innocent, simplicity, harmlessness, guiltlessness. ANTONYMS: (n) sophistication, experience, fault, dirtiness, wariness, dishonesty. manners: (n) conduct, etiquette, propriety, behavior, deportment, manner, courtesy, custom, decorum,

good manners, usage. ANTONYM: (n) vulgarity.

favored, likable, eligible, enjoyable, fit; (n) pleasing, agreeable, beloved,

recurring: (adj) frequent, intermittent, cyclic, periodic, periodical, repeated, repetitive, customary, accustomed, memorable, chronic. ANTONYMS: (adj) irregular, intermittent, spasmodic, unusual, rare, occasional.

equal who is discussing among friends the two sides of a question. He would **confine** the terms King or State to the rule of reason and justice, and he will not concede that title either to a democracy or to a monarchy. But under the rule of reason and justice he is willing to include the natural superior ruling over the natural inferior, which he compares to the soul ruling over the body. He prefers a mixture of forms of government to any single one. The two portraits of the just and the unjust, which occur in the second book of the Republic, are transferred to the state-Philus, one of the interlocutors, maintaining against his will the necessity of injustice as a principle of government, while the other, Laelius, supports the opposite thesis. His views of language and number are derived from Plato; like him he denounces the drama. He also declares that if his life were to be twice as long he would have no time to read the lyric poets. The picture of democracy is translated by him word for word, though he had hardly shown himself able to 'carry the jest' of Plato. He converts into a **stately** sentence the humorous fancy about the animals, who 'are so imbued with the spirit of democracy that they make the passers-by get out of their way.' His description of the tyrant is imitated from Plato, but is far inferior. The second book is historical, and claims for the Roman constitution (which is to him the ideal) a foundation of fact such as Plato probably intended to have given to the Republic in the Critias. His most remarkable imitation of Plato is the adaptation of the vision of Er, which is converted by Cicero into the 'Somnium Scipionis'; he has 'romanized' the myth of the Republic, adding an argument for the immortality of the soul taken from the Phaedrus, and some other touches derived from the Phaedo and the Timaeus. Though a beautiful tale and containing splendid passages, the 'Somnium Scipionis; is very inferior to the vision of Er; it is only a dream, and hardly allows the reader to suppose that the writer believes in his own creation. Whether his dialogues were framed on the model of the lost dialogues of Aristotle, as he himself tells us, or of Plato, to which they bear many superficial resemblances, he is still the Roman orator; he is not conversing, but making speeches, and is never able to mould the intractable Latin to the grace and ease of the Greek Platonic dialogue. But if he is defective in form, much

#### **Thesaurus**

adding: (n) addition, calculation, reckoning.

concede: (v) acknowledge, admit, accord, confess, agree, cede, yield, submit, award, recognize, avow. ANTONYMS: (v) deny, refute, reject, persevere, fight, disacknowledge, repudiate, maintain, confront, prohibit, acquire.

**confine**: (*n*, *v*) bound, border, limit; (*v*) bind, restrain, circumscribe, tie, incarcerate, hold; (*n*) boundary,

bounds. ANTONYMS: (v) release, free, liberate, broaden. **defective**: (adj) bad, faulty, imperfect, broken, lacking, incomplete,

broken, lacking, incomplete, unsound, vicious, inaccurate, rotten, wanting. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) sound, flawless, unbroken, adequate, intact, capable, dependable, fine.

**imbued**: (*adj*) addicted, alive, instinct, full.

**imitated**: (*adj*) mimical. **stately**: (*adj*) solemn, imposing,

elegant; (adj, v) noble, dignified, grand, proud, great; (adj, adv) regal, majestic, royal. ANTONYMS: (adj) boisterous, humble, modest, lowly. superficial: (adj) shallow, external, sketchy, slight, outward, frivolous, exterior, surface, apparent, outer, flimsy. ANTONYMS: (adj) innate, deep, real, profound, permanent, inner, weighty, authentic, genuine, intense, serious.

**supports**: (*n*) ropes, chains, rigging.

more is he inferior to the Greek in matter; he nowhere in his philosophical writings leaves upon our minds the impression of an original thinker.

Plato's Republic has been said to be a church and not a state; and such an ideal of a city in the heavens has always hovered over the Christian world, and is embodied in St. Augustine's 'De Civitate Dei,' which is suggested by the decay and fall of the Roman Empire, much in the same manner in which we may imagine the Republic of Plato to have been influenced by the decline of Greek politics in the writer's own age. The difference is that in the time of Plato the degeneracy, though certain, was gradual and insensible: whereas the taking of Rome by the Goths stirred like an earthquake the age of St. Augustine. Men were inclined to believe that the overthrow of the city was to be ascribed to the anger felt by the old Roman deities at the neglect of their worship. St. Augustine maintains the opposite thesis; he argues that the destruction of the Roman Empire is due, not to the rise of Christianity, but to the vices of Paganism. He wanders over Roman history, and over Greek philosophy and mythology, and finds everywhere crime, impiety and falsehood. He compares the worst parts of the Gentile religions with the best elements of the faith of Christ. He shows nothing of the spirit which led others of the early Christian Fathers to recognize in the writings of the Greek philosophers the power of the divine truth. He traces the parallel of the kingdom of God, that is, the history of the Jews, contained in their scriptures, and of the kingdoms of the world, which are found in gentile writers, and pursues them both into an ideal future. It need hardly be remarked that his use both of Greek and of Roman historians and of the sacred writings of the Jews is wholly uncritical. The heathen mythology, the Sybilline oracles, the myths of Plato, the dreams of Neo-Platonists are equally regarded by him as matter of fact. He must be acknowledged to be a strictly polemical or controversial writer who makes the best of everything on one side and the worst of everything on the other. He has no sympathy with the old Roman life as Plato has with Greek life, nor has he any idea of the ecclesiastical kingdom which was to arise out of the ruins of the Roman empire. He is not blind to the defects of the Christian Church, and looks forward to a time when Christian and Pagan shall be alike brought before the judgment-seat, and the true City of God shall

#### **Thesaurus**

earthquake: (n) tremor, shock, quake, temblor, cataclysm, upheaval, seaquake, avalanche; (adj) thunderstorm, volcano, seismic. ecclesiastical: (adj) spiritual, ecclesiological, churchly, clerical, ministerial, divine, priestly, mental, sacerdotal, civilized, Christian. embodied: (adj) incarnate, corporate, corporeal, corporal, bodied, personified, incorporated, combined, tangible, associated, in person.

**gentile**: (adj, n) pagan; (n) idolater, infidel, goy, soul, person, somebody, someone; (adj) alien, heathenish, ethnic

**heathen**: (adj, n) gentile, ethnic; (n) infidel, idolater, paynim, heretic; (adj) heathenish, irreligious, giaour, godless, barbaric.

**polemical**: (*adj*) disputatious, polemic, forensic; (*adj*, *v*) dialectic; (*v*) argumentative. **scriptures**: (*n*) scripture, Holy Bible.

thesis: (n) dissertation, matter, theme, essay, topic, argument, hypothesis, premise, proposition, contention, assertion.

uncritical: (v) benedictory, complimentary, commendatory, lavish of praise, encomiastic, panegyrical, laudatory; (adj) indiscriminate, noncritical, unselective, gullible. ANTONYMS: (adj) discriminating, shrewd, fussy.

appear...The work of St. Augustine is a curious repertory of antiquarian learning and quotations, deeply penetrated with Christian ethics, but showing little power of reasoning, and a slender knowledge of the Greek literature and language. He was a great genius, and a noble character, yet hardly capable of feeling or understanding anything external to his own theology. Of all the ancient philosophers he is most attracted by Plato, though he is very slightly acquainted with his writings. He is inclined to believe that the idea of creation in the Timaeus is derived from the narrative in Genesis; and he is strangely taken with the coincidence (?) of Plato's saying that 'the philosopher is the lover of God,' and the words of the Book of Exodus in which God reveals himself to Moses (Exod.) He dwells at length on miracles performed in his own day, of which the evidence is regarded by him as irresistible. He speaks in a very interesting manner of the beauty and utility of nature and of the human frame, which he conceives to afford a foretaste of the heavenly state and of the resurrection of the body. The book is not really what to most persons the title of it would imply, and belongs to an age which has passed away. But it contains many fine passages and thoughts which are for all time.

The short treatise de Monarchia of Dante is by far the most remarkable of mediaeval ideals, and bears the impress of the great genius in whom Italy and the Middle Ages are so vividly reflected. It is the vision of an Universal Empire, which is supposed to be the natural and necessary government of the world, having a divine authority distinct from the Papacy, yet coextensive with it. It is not 'the ghost of the dead Roman Empire sitting crowned upon the grave thereof,' but the legitimate heir and successor of it, justified by the ancient virtues of the Romans and the beneficence of their rule. Their right to be the governors of the world is also confirmed by the testimony of miracles, and acknowledged by St. Paul when he appealed to Caesar, and even more emphatically by Christ Himself, Who could not have made atonement for the sins of men if He had not been condemned by a divinely authorized tribunal. The necessity for the establishment of an Universal Empire is proved partly by a priori arguments such as the unity of God and the unity of the family or nation; partly by perversions of Scripture and history, by false analogies of nature, by misapplied

# Thesaurus beneficence: (n) benefaction, grace,

acquainted: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, aware, cognizant, conversant, hand and glove, intimate, thick; (adv) abreast; (v) inform, acquaint.

antiquarian: (adj) antique, ancient.

antiquarian: (adj) antique, ancient.
ANTONYMS: (adj) young, modern,

**atonement**: (*n*) amends, reparation, satisfaction, compensation, penance, redress, redemption, reconciliation, recompense, propitiation, penitence. charity, benevolence, goodness, generosity, bounty, munificence, almsgiving, alms; (adj, n) kindness. ANTONYM: (n) maleficence. coextensive: (adj) commensurate, adjacent, like, coterminous, conterminous, abutting, adjoining, divinely: (adv) holy, wonderfully, exquisitely, priestly, beautifully, religiously, spiritually, almightily,

magnificently, sacredly, godly.

foretaste: (n) anticipation, expectation, prelibation, outlook, foresight, forerunner, indication, forethought, preconception, antepast; (v) anticipate. ANTONYM: (n) successor. mediaeval: (adj) medieval, knightly, chivalric, nonmodern. repertory: (n) depot, repertoire, cache, store, assemblage, repository, deposit, collection, accumulation, stock. list.

quotations from the classics, and by odd scraps and commonplaces of logic, showing a familiar but by no means exact knowledge of Aristotle (of Plato there is none). But a more convincing argument still is the miserable state of the world, which he touchingly describes. He sees no hope of happiness or peace for mankind until all nations of the earth are comprehended in a single empire. The whole treatise shows how deeply the idea of the Roman Empire was fixed in the minds of his contemporaries. Not much argument was needed to maintain the truth of a theory which to his own contemporaries seemed so natural and congenial. He speaks, or rather preaches, from the point of view, not of the ecclesiastic, but of the layman, although, as a good Catholic, he is willing to acknowledge that in certain respects the Empire must submit to the Church. The beginning and end of all his noble reflections and of his arguments, good and bad, is the aspiration 'that in this little **plot** of earth belonging to mortal man life may pass in freedom and peace.' So inextricably is his vision of the future bound up with the beliefs and circumstances of his own age.

The 'Utopia' of Sir Thomas More is a surprising monument of his genius, and shows a reach of thought far beyond his contemporaries. The book was written by him at the age of about 34 or 35, and is full of the generous sentiments of youth. He brings the light of Plato to bear upon the miserable state of his own country. Living not long after the Wars of the Roses, and in the dregs of the Catholic Church in England, he is indignant at the corruption of the clergy, at the luxury of the nobility and gentry, at the sufferings of the poor, at the calamities caused by war. To the eye of More the whole world was in dissolution and decay; and side by side with the misery and oppression which he has described in the First Book of the Utopia, he places in the Second Book the ideal state which by the help of Plato he had constructed. The times were full of stir and intellectual interest. The distant murmur of the Reformation was beginning to be heard. To minds like More's, Greek literature was a revelation: there had arisen an art of interpretation, and the New Testament was beginning to be understood as it had never been before, and has not often been since, in its natural sense. The life there depicted appeared to him wholly unlike that of Christian commonwealths, in which 'he saw nothing but a certain conspiracy of rich men

## **Thesaurus** upper class.

depicted: (adj) pictured, represented, graphic, delineated; (v) depict. dregs: (n) residue, grounds, refuse, sediment, dreg, remains, settlings, feces, trash, waste, dross. ecclesiastic: (n) clergyman, divine, cleric, minister, priest, churchman, pastor, clergymen, hierophant; (adj) clerical, ecclesiastical. gentry: (n) aristocracy, gentility, gentlefolk, nobility, elite, peerage, squirearchy, second estate, society,

layman: (n) commoner, layperson, laic, laymen, laity, lay person, outsider, common man, civilian, lay reader, common person. ANTONYM: scraps: (n) garbage, odds and ends, (n) clergyman. monument: (n) headstone, cenotaph,

tombstone, tablet, shrine, slab, gravestone, landmark, statue; (adj, n) column; (n, v) record.

murmur: (n, v) grumble, mumble, hum, whisper, mutter, whine, babble,

drone; (v) complain, bubble, breathe. plot: (n, v) plan, intrigue, cabal, plat, scheme, design, chart; (n) lot, patch, graph; (v) conspire. scrap, bits, food waste, leftover, trash, waste, oddments, leftovers, residue. touchingly: (adv) poignantly, pathetically, patheticly, sadly,

pitifully, emotively, tenderly, movingly, stirringly, nearly, adjacently.

procuring their own commodities under the name and title of the Commonwealth.' He thought that Christ, like Plato, 'instituted all things common,' for which reason, he tells us, the citizens of Utopia were the more willing to receive his doctrines ('Howbeit, I think this was no small help and furtherance in the matter, that they heard us say that Christ instituted among his, all things common, and that the same community doth yet remain in the rightest Christian communities' (Utopia).). The community of property is a fixed idea with him, though he is aware of the arguments which may be urged on the other side ('These things (I say), when I consider with myself, I hold well with Plato, and do nothing marvel that he would make no laws for them that refused those laws, whereby all men should have and enjoy equal portions of riches and commodities. For the wise men did easily foresee this to be the one and only way to the wealth of a community, if equality of all things should be brought in and established' (Utopia).). We wonder how in the reign of Henry VIII, though veiled in another language and published in a foreign country, such speculations could have been endured.

He is **gifted** with far greater dramatic invention than any one who succeeded him, with the exception of Swift. In the art of feigning he is a worthy disciple of Plato. Like him, starting from a small portion of fact, he founds his tale with admirable skill on a few lines in the Latin narrative of the voyages of Amerigo Vespucci. He is very precise about dates and facts, and has the power of making us believe that the narrator of the tale must have been an eyewitness. We are fairly puzzled by his manner of mixing up real and imaginary persons; his boy John Clement and Peter Giles, citizen of Antwerp, with whom he disputes about the precise words which are supposed to have been used by the (imaginary) Portuguese traveller, Raphael Hythloday. 'I have the more cause,' says Hythloday, 'to fear that my words shall not be believed, for that I know how difficultly and hardly I myself would have believed another man telling the same, if I had not myself seen it with mine own eyes.' Or again: 'If you had been with me in Utopia, and had presently seen their fashions and laws as I did which lived there five years and more, and would never have come thence, but only to make the new land known here,' etc. More greatly regrets that he forgot to ask

#### Thesaurus

products, good, commodity, property, cargo, wares, chattels; (adj) ware, cautious. difficultly: (adv) hardly, toughly, troublesomely, tryingly, arduously, painfully, stiffly, onerously, toilsomely, ruggedly, severely. eyewitness: (n) witness, bystander, onlooker, observer, beholder, watcher, passer by, earwitness, passerby, viewer, outsider.

promotion, encouragement, improvement, lift, forwarding, fartherance, relief; (n, v)advancement. ANTONYM: (n) impediment.

gifted: (adj) capable, accomplished, talented, able, apt, proficient, brilliant, ingenious, expert, intelligent, adept. ANTONYMS: (adj) inept, dim, incompetent, mediocre, slow, clumsy.

**commodities**: (n) goods, merchandise, **furtherance**: (n) advance, aid, support, **marvel**: (n, v) wonder; (n) prodigy, curiosity, phenomenon, amazement, miracle, portent, marl, surprise, admiration; (v) admire. ANTONYMS: (v) disregard; (n) nightmare. narrator: (n) teller, speaker, fabulist, anecdotist, narrators, talker, lecturer, narrater, orator, relator, raconteur. regrets: (n) regret, declination, RSVP regrets only, acknowledgement, acknowledgment, celestial latitude, excuse, Dec.

Hythloday in what part of the world Utopia is situated; he 'would have spent no small sum of money rather than it should have escaped him,' and he begs Peter Giles to see Hythloday or write to him and obtain an answer to the question. After this we are not surprised to hear that a Professor of Divinity (perhaps 'a late famous vicar of Croydon in Surrey,' as the translator thinks) is desirous of being sent thither as a missionary by the High Bishop, 'yea, and that he may himself be made Bishop of Utopia, nothing doubting that he must obtain this Bishopric with suit; and he counteth that a godly suit which proceedeth not of the desire of honour or lucre, but only of a godly zeal.' The design may have failed through the disappearance of Hythloday, concerning whom we have 'very uncertain news' after his departure. There is no doubt, however, that he had told More and Giles the exact situation of the island, but unfortunately at the same moment More's attention, as he is reminded in a letter from Giles, was drawn off by a servant, and one of the company from a cold caught on shipboard coughed so loud as to prevent Giles from hearing. And 'the secret has perished' with him; to this day the place of Utopia remains unknown.

The words of Phaedrus, 'O Socrates, you can easily invent Egyptians or anything,' are recalled to our mind as we read this lifelike fiction. Yet the greater merit of the work is not the admirable art, but the originality of thought. More is as free as Plato from the prejudices of his age, and far more tolerant. The Utopians do not allow him who believes not in the immortality of the soul to share in the administration of the state (Laws), 'howbeit they put him to no punishment, because they be persuaded that it is in no man's power to believe what he list'; and 'no man is to be blamed for reasoning in support of his own religion ('One of our company in my presence was sharply punished. He, as soon as he was baptised, began, against our wills, with more earnest affection than wisdom, to reason of Christ's religion, and began to wax so hot in his matter, that he did not only prefer our religion before all other, but also did despise and condemn all other, calling them profane, and the followers of them wicked and devilish, and the children of everlasting damnation. When he had thus long reasoned the matter, they laid hold on him, accused him, and condemned him into exile, not as a despiser of religion, but as a seditious person

#### **Thesaurus**

**damnation**: (n) damn, condemnation, anathema, state, curse, execration, judgment, oath, imprecation, denunciation, denouncement. despiser: (n) contemner. devilish: (adj, v) diabolic, satanic, infernal, mephistophelian, demoniacal; (adj) demonic, wicked, diabolical, terrific; (v) Stygian; (adv) devilishly. ANTONYMS: (adj) cherubic, godlike, good, saintly, virtuous.

godly: (adj, adv) holy, saintly; (adj) religious, pious, divine, devotional, reverent, pure; (adv) piously, righteously, devoutly. ANTONYM: (adi) earthly.

lifelike: (adj) vivid, graphic, faithful, living, natural, bright, truthful, lively, seditious: (adj) incendiary, rebellious, genuine, true to life, live. ANTONYM: (adj) inaccurate.

lucre: (n) pelf, earnings, gelt, profit, kale, dough, advantage, mammon, dividend, return, income.

profane: (v) desecrate, abuse, violate, defile, outrage, debauch; (adj) irreverent, impious, sacrilegious, unholy; (adj, v) foul. ANTONYMS: (adj) devout, sacred, moral, religious, reverent.

insurgent, subversive, disloyal, insubordinate, mutinous, factious, turbulent, lawless, revolutionary.

and a raiser up of dissension among the people').' In the public services 'no prayers be used, but such as every man may boldly pronounce without giving offence to any sect.' He says significantly, 'There be that give worship to a man that was once of excellent virtue or of famous glory, not only as God, but also the chiefest and highest God. But the most and the wisest part, rejecting all these, believe that there is a certain godly power unknown, far above the capacity and reach of man's wit, dispersed throughout all the world, not in bigness, but in virtue and power. Him they call the Father of all. To Him alone they attribute the beginnings, the increasings, the proceedings, the changes, and the ends of all things. Neither give they any divine honours to any other than him.' So far was More from sharing the popular beliefs of his time. Yet at the end he reminds us that he does not in all respects agree with the customs and opinions of the Utopians which he describes. And we should let him have the benefit of this saving clause, and not rudely withdraw the veil behind which he has been pleased to conceal himself.

Nor is he less in advance of popular opinion in his political and moral speculations. He would like to bring military glory into contempt; he would set all sorts of idle people to profitable occupation, including in the same class, priests, women, noblemen, gentlemen, and 'sturdy and valiant beggars,' that the labour of all may be reduced to six hours a day. His dislike of capital punishment, and plans for the reformation of offenders; his **detestation** of priests and lawyers (Compare his satirical observation: 'They (the Utopians) have priests of exceeding holiness, and therefore very few.); his remark that 'although every one may hear of ravenous dogs and wolves and cruel man-eaters, it is not easy to find states that are well and wisely governed,' are curiously at variance with the notions of his age and indeed with his own life. There are many points in which he shows a modern feeling and a prophetic insight like Plato. He is a sanitary reformer; he maintains that civilized states have a right to the soil of waste countries; he is inclined to the opinion which places happiness in virtuous pleasures, but herein, as he thinks, not disagreeing from those other philosophers who define virtue to be a life according to nature. He extends the idea of happiness so as to include the happiness of others; and he argues

#### **Thesaurus**

bigness: (*n*) bulk, size, largeness, vastness, roominess, magnitude, grandness, bulkiness, ampleness, dimensions, volume.

detestation: (*n*) abomination, hatred, odium, antipathy, aversion, repulsion, dislike, execration, loathing, revulsion; (*n*, *v*) hate.

ANTONYM: (*n*) adoration.

dissension: (*n*) dispute, disagreement, conflict, contention, dissonance, faction, friction, misunderstanding,

division; (n, v) difference, variance. ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, accord, harmony, consent, comity. herein: (adv) here, therein. pronounce: (v) articulate, declare, affirm, say, assert, express, vocalize, proclaim; (n, v) allege; (adj, v) deliver, utter. ANTONYM: (v) mumble. raiser: (n) grower, agriculturist, sodbuster, planter, granger, husbandman, farmer. ravenous: (adj) hungry, greedy, avid,

famished, gluttonous, voracious, rapacious, insatiable, edacious, covetous, predatory. ANTONYM: (adj) moderate.

rudely: (adv) crudely, coarsely, uncivilly, indelicately, impolitely, roughly, harshly, vulgarly, brutally, meanly, wildly. ANTONYMS: (adv) respectfully, graciously, decently, civilly, properly, attentively, agreeably, tactfully, thoughtfully, acceptably, gently.

ingeniously, 'All men agree that we ought to make others happy; but if others, how much more ourselves!' And still he thinks that there may be a more excellent way, but to this no man's reason can attain unless heaven should inspire him with a higher truth. His ceremonies before marriage; his humane proposal that war should be carried on by assassinating the leaders of the enemy, may be compared to some of the paradoxes of Plato. He has a charming fancy, like the affinities of Greeks and barbarians in the Timaeus, that the Utopians learnt the language of the Greeks with the more readiness because they were originally of the same race with them. He is penetrated with the spirit of Plato, and quotes or adapts many thoughts both from the Republic and from the Timaeus. He prefers public duties to private, and is somewhat impatient of the importunity of relations. His citizens have no silver or gold of their own, but are ready enough to pay them to their mercenaries. There is nothing of which he is more contemptuous than the love of money. Gold is used for fetters of criminals, and diamonds and pearls for children's necklaces (When the ambassadors came arrayed in gold and peacocks' feathers 'to the eyes of all the Utopians except very few, which had been in other countries for some reasonable cause, all that **gorgeousness** of **apparel** seemed shameful and **reproachful**. In so much that they most reverently saluted the vilest and most abject of them for lords - passing over the ambassadors themselves without any honour, judging them by their wearing of golden chains to be bondmen. You should have seen children also, that had cast away their pearls and precious stones, when they saw the like sticking upon the ambassadors' caps, dig and push their mothers under the sides, saying thus to them—"Look, though he were a little child still." But the mother; yea and that also in good earnest: "Peace, son," saith she, "I think he be some of the ambassadors' fools." ')

Like Plato he is full of satirical reflections on governments and princes; on the state of the world and of knowledge. The hero of his discourse (Hythloday) is very unwilling to become a minister of state, considering that he would lose his independence and his advice would never be heeded (Compare an exquisite passage, of which the conclusion is as follows: 'And verily it is naturally given...suppressed and ended.') He ridicules the new logic of his time; the

# **Thesaurus**

apparel: (*n*, *v*) garb, attire, garment, array, vesture; (*n*) clothing, finery, costume, clothes; (*v*) adorn, clothe. arrayed: (*adj*) armored, panoplied, clothed, clad, armed; (*v*) habited, accustomed.

assassinatine: (*n*) destruction.

assassinating: (n) destruction. fetters: (n) chains, captivity, bond, restraint, irons, handcuffs, iron, enduring; (v) confine, fee, embellish. ANTONYM: (n) liberation. gorgeousness: (adj, n) brilliancy; (adj) bloom, radiance; (n) glory, magnificence, pomp, display, exquisiteness, good looks, attractiveness, loveliness.

importunity: (n, v) entreaty, supplication; (n) urgency, appeal, earnestness; (v) solicitation, obsecration, interpellation, instance, obtestation, invocation.

reproachful: (adj, v) condemnatory, disparaging, vituperative; (adj) admonitory, opprobrious,

disgraceful, shameful, reproving, objurgatory, contumelious; (v) denunciatory.

reverently: (adv) reverentially, piously, religiously, devoutly, deferentially, worshipfully, solemnly, godly, courteously, politely, obsequiously. ANTONYM: (adv) irreverently.

verily: (adi, adv) really; (adv) indeed, in reality, genuinely, quitely, actually, selfly, truely, identically, exactly;

(adv, int) in truth.

Utopians could never be made to understand the doctrine of Second Intentions ('For they have not **devised** one of all those rules of restrictions, amplifications, and suppositions, very wittily invented in the small Logicals, which here our children in every place do learn. Furthermore, they were never yet able to find out the second intentions; insomuch that none of them all could ever see man himself in common, as they call him, though he be (as you know) bigger than was ever any giant, yea, and pointed to of us even with our finger.') He is very severe on the sports of the gentry; the Utopians count 'hunting the lowest, the vilest, and the most abject part of butchery.' He quotes the words of the Republic in which the philosopher is described 'standing out of the way under a wall until the driving storm of sleet and rain be overpast,' which admit of a singular application to More's own fate; although, writing twenty years before (about the year 1514), he can hardly be supposed to have **foreseen** this. There is no touch of satire which strikes deeper than his quiet remark that the greater part of the precepts of Christ are more at variance with the lives of ordinary Christians than the discourse of Utopia ('And yet the most part of them is more **dissident** from the manners of the world now a days, than my communication was. preachers, sly and wily men, following your counsel (as I suppose) because they saw men evil- willing to frame their manners to Christ's rule, they have wrested and wried his doctrine, and, like a rule of lead, have applied it to men's manners, that by some means at the least way, they might agree together.')

The 'New Atlantis' is only a fragment, and far inferior in merit to the 'Utopia.' The work is full of ingenuity, but wanting in creative fancy, and by no means impresses the reader with a sense of credibility. In some places Lord Bacon is characteristically different from Sir Thomas More, as, for example, in the external state which he attributes to the governor of Solomon's House, whose dress he minutely describes, while to Sir Thomas More such trappings appear simple ridiculous. Yet, after this programme of dress, Bacon adds the beautiful trait, 'that he had a look as though he pitied men.' Several things are borrowed by him from the Timaeus; but he has injured the unity of style by adding thoughts and passages which are taken from the Hebrew Scriptures.

#### Thesaurus

dissident: (adj) dissenting, dissentient, unorthodox, heretical; (n) dissenter, rebel, contestant, person, somebody; (adj, n) renegade, sectarian. foreseen: (v) foresee, long expected; (adj) envisioned, foretold, contingent, concourse, coming, casual, adventitious, accidental, predictable. minutely: (adv) precisely, in detail, closely, tinily, smally, insignificantly,

devised: (adj) invented, trumped up,

formulated, fabulous.

infinitesimally, diminutively, nicely, exactly, microscopically. sports: (n) athletics; (adj) sporting. trait: (n) characteristic, attribute, quality, character, idiosyncrasy, property; (adj, n) peculiarity, trick; (n, wittily: (adv) cleverly, sharply, v) lineament; (v) stroke, touch. trappings: (n) equipment, rigging, caparison, embroidery, trapping, tackle, suit, skirt, accouterment, lappet, flap. wily: (adj) cunning, crafty, foxy, artful,

tricky, deceitful, designing, astute, guileful; (adj, v) shrewd, subtle. ANTONYMS: (adj) straightforward, open, guileless, honest, ingenuous, straight.

facetiously, smartly, drolly, quickly, amusingly, entertainingly, wisely, funnily, comically. ANTONYM: (adv) stupidly.

wrested: (adj) perverted, distorted, twisted, wry.

The 'City of the Sun' written by Campanella (1568-1639), a Dominican friar, several years after the 'New Atlantis' of Bacon, has many resemblances to the Republic of Plato. The citizens have wives and children in common; their marriages are of the same temporary sort, and are arranged by the magistrates from time to time. They do not, however, adopt his system of lots, but bring together the best natures, male and female, 'according to philosophical rules.' The **infants** until two years of age are brought up by their mothers in public temples; and since individuals for the most part educate their children badly, at the beginning of their third year they are committed to the care of the State, and are taught at first, not out of books, but from paintings of all kinds, which are emblazoned on the walls of the city. The city has six interior circuits of walls, and an outer wall which is the seventh. On this outer wall are painted the figures of legislators and philosophers, and on each of the interior walls the symbols or forms of some one of the sciences are **delineated**. The women are, for the most part, trained, like the men, in warlike and other exercises; but they have two special occupations of their own. After a battle, they and the boys soothe and relieve the wounded warriors; also they encourage them with embraces and Some elements of the Christian or Catholic religion are pleasant words. preserved among them. The life of the Apostles is greatly admired by this people because they had all things in common; and the short prayer which Jesus Christ taught men is used in their worship. It is a duty of the chief magistrates to pardon sins, and therefore the whole people make secret confession of them to the magistrates, and they to their chief, who is a sort of Rector Metaphysicus; and by this means he is well informed of all that is going on in the minds of men. After confession, absolution is granted to the citizens collectively, but no one is mentioned by name. There also exists among them a practice of perpetual prayer, performed by a succession of priests, who change every hour. Their religion is a worship of God in Trinity, that is of Wisdom, Love and Power, but without any distinction of persons. They behold in the sun the reflection of His glory; mere graven images they reject, refusing to fall under the 'tyranny' of idolatry.

## **Thesaurus**

**absolution**: (*n*) remission, exemption, forgiveness, justification, release, exoneration, condonation, remittal, dispensation, redemption; (*n*, *v*) excuse. ANTONYMS: (*n*) conviction, intolerance.

**delineated**: (*adj*) portrayed, lineal, graphic, represented. **educate**: (*v*) instruct, civilize, train, cultivate, coach, bring up, drill, discipline, breed, rear, nurture.

friar: (n) monk, conventual, cenobite,

abbot, monastic, palmer, pilgrim, lay brother, religious, prior, beadsman. graven: (adj) carved, engraved, etched, sculptured, sculptile, sculpted, inscribed, carven.

**idolatry**: (*adj*, *n*) devotion; (*n*) worship, soothe: (*n*, *v*) comfort, allay, console, veneration, idol worship, iconolatry, bibliolatry; (*adj*) infatuation, fervor, flame, enthusiasm, enchantment. *n*, *v*) assuage. ANTONYMS: (*v*) upsirritate, aggravate, annov, intensify,

**perpetual**: (*adj*) incessant, continual, constant, endless, eternal, everlasting,

lasting, ceaseless, immortal, continuous, perennial. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, intermittent, transitory, mortal, unstable, finite, inconstant, occasional, sporadic. soothe: (n, v) comfort, allay, console, solace; (v) alleviate, palliate, ease, calm, mitigate; (adj, v) appease; (adj, n, v) assuage. ANTONYMS: (v) upset, irritate, aggravate, annoy, intensify, worry, enrage, scare, provoke, incite, disturb.

Many details are given about their customs of eating and drinking, about their mode of dressing, their employments, their wars. Campanella looks forward to a new mode of education, which is to be a study of nature, and not of Aristotle. He would not have his citizens waste their time in the consideration of what he calls 'the dead signs of things.' He remarks that he who knows one science only, does not really know that one any more than the rest, and insists strongly on the necessity of a variety of knowledge. More scholars are turned out in the City of the Sun in one year than by contemporary methods in ten or fifteen. He evidently believes, like Bacon, that **henceforward** natural science will play a great part in education, a hope which seems hardly to have been realized, either in our own or in any former age; at any rate the **fulfilment** of it has been long deferred.

There is a good deal of **ingenuity** and even originality in this work, and a most enlightened spirit pervades it. But it has little or no charm of style, and falls very far short of the 'New Atlantis' of Bacon, and still more of the 'Utopia' of Sir Thomas More. It is full of inconsistencies, and though borrowed from Plato, shows but a superficial **acquaintance** with his writings. It is a work such as one might expect to have been written by a philosopher and man of genius who was also a friar, and who had spent twenty-seven years of his life in a prison of the Inquisition. The most interesting feature of the book, common to Plato and Sir Thomas More, is the deep feeling which is shown by the writer, of the misery and ignorance prevailing among the lower classes in his own time. Campanella takes note of Aristotle's answer to Plato's community of property, that in a society where all things are common, no individual would have any motive to work (Arist. Pol.): he replies, that his citizens being happy and contented in themselves (they are required to work only four hours a day), will have greater regard for their fellows than exists among men at present. He thinks, like Plato, that if he abolishes private feelings and interests, a great public feeling will take their place.

Other writings on ideal states, such as the 'Oceana' of Harrington, in which the Lord Archon, meaning Cromwell, is described, not as he was, but as he ought

acquaintance: (n) connection, friend, acquaintanceship, mate, awareness, associate, buddy, friendship, intercourse, companion; (n, v) knowledge. ANTONYMS: (n) ignorance, inexperience, unfamiliarity, animosity, enemy. enlightened: (adj) liberal, disillusioned, progressive, cultured, aware, informed, learned, lettered; (adj, v) wise; (n, v) savant; (v) shrewd. ANTONYMS: (adj) puzzled,

#### **Thesaurus**

unenlightened, uninformed,

confounded, confused, ignorant, perplexed, wild, reactionary, traditional; (n) uninitiate. fellows: (n) fellow, membership, faculty. fulfilment: (n) achievement, accomplishment, fulfillment, completion, fruition, discharge, consummation, effectuation, satisfaction, pursuance, prosecution. henceforward: (adv) in future, from

now on, from this time on, from this moment on, after this.

ingenuity: (adj, n) ability; (n) adroitness, ingeniousness, cunning, imagination, acumen, resource, originality, skill, wit, inventiveness.

ANTONYM: (n) ineptness.

motive: (n, v) cause; (n) account, incentive, impulse, inducement, motif, motivation, incitement, reason, subject; (v) aim. ANTONYM: (n) disincentive.

to have been; or the 'Argenis' of Barclay, which is an historical allegory of his own time, are too unlike Plato to be worth mentioning. More interesting than either of these, and far more Platonic in style and thought, is Sir John Eliot's 'Monarchy of Man,' in which the prisoner of the Tower, no longer able 'to be a politician in the land of his birth,' turns away from politics to view 'that other city which is within him,' and finds on the very threshold of the grave that the secret of human happiness is the mastery of self. The change of government in the time of the English Commonwealth set men thinking about first principles, and gave rise to many works of this class...The great original genius of Swift owes nothing to Plato; nor is there any trace in the conversation or in the works of Dr. Johnson of any acquaintance with his writings. He probably would have refuted Plato without reading him, in the same fashion in which he supposed himself to have refuted Bishop Berkeley's theory of the non-existence of matter. If we except the **so**-called English Platonists, or rather Neo-Platonists, who never understood their master, and the writings of Coleridge, who was to some extent a kindred spirit, Plato has left no permanent impression on English literature.

7. Human life and conduct are affected by ideals in the same way that they are affected by the examples of eminent men. Neither the one nor the other are immediately applicable to practice, but there is a virtue **flowing** from them which tends to raise individuals above the common routine of society or trade, and to elevate States above the mere interests of commerce or the **necessities** of self-defence. Like the ideals of art they are partly framed by the omission of particulars; they require to be viewed at a certain distance, and are apt to fade away if we attempt to approach them. They gain an imaginary **distinctness** when embodied in a State or in a system of philosophy, but they still remain the visions of 'a world unrealized.' More striking and obvious to the ordinary mind are the examples of great men, who have served their own generation and are remembered in another. Even in our own family circle there may have been some one, a woman, or even a child, in whose face has shone forth a goodness more than human. The ideal then approaches **nearer** to us, and we **fondly** cling

# Thesaurus warmly, kindly, caringly, adoringly,

distinctness: (n) clearness, sharpness, definition, otherness, perspicuity, discreteness, articulate sound, separation, uncloudedness, dissimilarity; (adj) conspicuousness. ANTONYM: (n) indistinctness. flowing: (adj) fluent, running, graceful, smooth, fluid, soft, liquid; (n) current, flux, flow; (adj, v) loose. ANTONYMS: (adj) secure, ugly, still, stilted, jerky, harsh, halting. fondly: (adv) lovingly, tenderly,

devotedly, amorously, dearly, dotingly, foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coldly, ill.

mastery: (n) dominance, dominion, command, domination, ascendancy, ascendency, control, authority, mastership, supremacy, ascendance.

nearer: (adf) adjacent, narre, hither; (adv) more rapidly, sooner, quicker, nigher, NER, faster, earlier, Neer.

necessities: (n) supplies, necessity,

essential, wants, support, subsistence, requirement, bread. politician: (*n*) legislator, politico, lawgiver, political leader, mayor, pol, nominee, campaigner, governor, statemonger, tactician. so-called: (*adj*) nominal, ostensible, pretended, false, quasi, sham, mock. threshold: (*n*) brink, beginning, outset, entrance, entry, doorsill, doorstep, doorway, edge, vestibule, border. ANTONYM: (*n*) end.

to it. The ideal of the past, whether of our own past lives or of former states of society, has a singular fascination for the minds of many. Too late we learn that such ideals cannot be recalled, though the recollection of them may have a humanizing influence on other times. But the abstractions of philosophy are to most persons cold and vacant; they give light without warmth; they are like the full moon in the heavens when there are no stars appearing. Men cannot live by thought alone; the world of sense is always breaking in upon them. They are for the most part confined to a corner of earth, and see but a little way beyond their own home or place of abode; they 'do not lift up their eyes to the hills'; they are not awake when the dawn appears. But in Plato we have reached a height from which a man may look into the distance and behold the future of the world and of philosophy. The ideal of the State and of the life of the philosopher; the ideal of an education continuing through life and extending equally to both sexes; the ideal of the unity and correlation of knowledge; the faith in good and immortality – are the vacant forms of light on which Plato is seeking to fix the eye of mankind.

8. Two other ideals, which never appeared above the horizon in Greek Philosophy, float before the minds of men in our own day: one seen more clearly than formerly, as though each year and each generation brought us nearer to some great change; the other almost in the same degree **retiring** from view behind the laws of nature, as if **oppressed** by them, but still remaining a silent hope of we know not what hidden in the heart of man. The first ideal is the future of the human race in this world; the second the future of the individual in another. The first is the more perfect **realization** of our own present life; the second, the **abnegation** of it: the one, limited by experience, the other, **transcending** it. Both of them have been and are powerful motives of action; there are a few in whom they have taken the place of all earthly interests. The hope of a future for the human race at first sight seems to be the more disinterested, the hope of individual existence the more **egotistical**, of the two motives. But when men have learned to resolve their hope of a future either for

# **Thesaurus**

**abnegation**: (*n*) denial, renunciation, negation, refusal, forswearing, forgoing, abstinence, disclaimer, temperance, forbearance, nihilism. ANTONYMS: (*n*) indulgence, yielding, admittance, acquiescence, concession.

egotistical: (adj) conceited, selfish, egocentric, proud, arrogant, narcissistic, pompous, haughty, boastful, vain, brassy. ANTONYMS: (adj) humble, modest, selfless.

oppressed: (adj) laden, persecuted, broken, burdened, drawn, gloomy, aggrieved, downcast, heavy, ladened, loaded.

realization: (n) accomplishment, awareness, fulfillment, implementation, comprehension, realisation, fruition, actualization, completion, grasp, performance. ANTONYMS: (n) failure, unconsciousness, abandonment, ignorance.

**recollection**: (*n*, *v*) mind; (*n*) reminiscence, recall, anamnesis, remembrance, recognition, memento, memorial, commemoration, memoir, retrospect.

retiring: (adj) humble, diffident, bashful, reserved, unassuming, unobtrusive, timid, coy, shy, sheepish, meek. ANTONYMS: (adj) assertive, bold, outgoing, forward, incoming, arrogant, brash, sociable. transcending: (adj) exquisite.

themselves or for the world into the will of God-'not my will but Thine,' the difference between them falls away; and they may be allowed to make either of them the basis of their lives, according to their own individual character or temperament. There is as much faith in the willingness to work for an unseen future in this world as in another. Neither is it inconceivable that some rare nature may feel his duty to another generation, or to another century, almost as strongly as to his own, or that living always in the presence of God, he may realize another world as vividly as he does this.

The greatest of all ideals may, or rather must be conceived by us under similitudes derived from human qualities; although sometimes, like the Jewish prophets, we may dash away these figures of speech and describe the nature of God only in negatives. These again by **degrees** acquire a positive meaning. It would be well, if when **meditating** on the higher truths either of philosophy or religion, we sometimes substituted one form of expression for another, lest through the necessities of language we should become the slaves of mere words.

There is a third ideal, not the same, but akin to these, which has a place in the home and heart of every believer in the religion of Christ, and in which men seem to find a nearer and more familiar truth, the Divine man, the Son of Man, the Saviour of mankind, Who is the first-born and head of the whole family in heaven and earth, in Whom the Divine and human, that which is without and that which is within the range of our earthly faculties, are indissolubly united. Neither is this divine form of goodness wholly separable from the ideal of the Christian Church, which is said in the New Testament to be 'His body,' or at variance with those other images of good which Plato sets before us. We see Him in a figure only, and of figures of speech we select but a few, and those the simplest, to be the expression of Him. We behold Him in a picture, but He is not there. We gather up the fragments of His discourses, but neither do they represent Him as He truly was. His dwelling is neither in heaven nor earth, but in the heart of man. This is that image which Plato saw **dimly** in the distance, which, when existing among men, he called, in the language of Homer, 'the likeness of God,' the likeness of a nature which in all ages men have felt to be

#### Thesaurus

**believer**: (adj, n) convert; (n) apostle, supporter, devotee, worshipper, abiogenist, zealot, religionist, proselyte, layman; (adj) pietist. ANTONYMS: (n) skeptic, nonbeliever, guru, God, leader, opponent.

dash: (adj, n, v) rush; (n, v) touch,sprint, strike, splash, jog; (v) dart, break; (n) tinge, beat; (adj, n) animation. ANTONYMS: (v) dawdle, first-born: (adj) older. inspirit, languish, saunter, encourage, fragments: (n) chips, rubble,

linger; (n) stagnation, languor, listlessness, mass, dullness. degrees: (n) degree, temperature, compass rose, cardinal points. dimly: (adv) obscurely, darkly, faintly, dully, duskily, vaguely, shadowily, hazily, gloomily, somberly; (adj, adv) palely. ANTONYMS: (adv) clearly, strongly, distinctly. discourses: (n) talks.

wreckage, atoms, finders, dust, flinders, remains, Smither, smithereens, trash. meditating: (n) conception. **substituted**: (v) replace; (prep) deputed, delegated; (adj) substitutional. willingness: (n) alacrity, obedience, promptness, receptiveness, receptivity, openness, desire, appetite, happy, volition, aptitude. ANTONYM: (n) reluctance.

greater and better than **themselves**, and which in **endless** forms, whether **derived** from Scripture or nature, from the **witness** of history or from the human heart, regarded as a person or not as a person, with or without **parts** or passions, **existing** in space or not in space, is and will always **continue** to be to mankind the Idea of Good.

#### **Thesaurus**

**continue**: (*v*) remain, keep, sustain, carry on, endure, persevere, bide, proceed, maintain; (*adj*, *v*) prolong; (*n*, *v*) hold. ANTONYMS: (*v*) end, cease, discontinue, halt, renounce, hesitate, complete, fail, desist, finish, neglect.

derived: (adj) secondary, calculated, variant, resulting, resultant, plagiaristic, imitative, derivate, deliberate, copied, calculable. endless: (adj) constant, perpetual,

interminable, continuous, ceaseless, eternal, uninterrupted, everlasting, incessant, vast, unrelenting.

ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, restricted, limited, intermittent, ending, finishing, sporadic, mortal, inconstant, few, slight.

existing: (adj) alive, current, existent, present, real, instant, contemporary, extant, modern; (adj, v) being; (v) exist. ANTONYMS: (adj) past, nonexistent, dated, dead, old,

insubstantial.

parts: (n) faculty, nous, quick parts, sagacity, wit, surroundings; (adj) ingenuity, cleverness, capacity, turn, talents.

themselves: (pron) myself, itself, yourself; (n) yourselves.
witness: (n, v) testimony, attest, evidence; (n) bystander, eyewitness, onlooker, observer; (v) observe, notice, see, view. ANTONYMS: (v) deny, participate, refute.

#### THE REPUBLIC

#### BOOK I

#### PERSONS OF THE DIALOGUE

Socrates, who is the narrator.

Glaucon.

Adeimantus.

Polemarchus.

Cephalus.

Thrasymachus.

Cleitophon.

And others who are **mute** auditors.

#### SCENE

The **scene** is **laid** in the house of Cephalus at the Piraeus; and the **whole dialogue** is narrated by Socrates the day after it actually took place to Timaeus, Hermocrates, *Critias, and a nameless person, who are introduced in the Timaeus.* 

#### Thesaurus

actually: (adv) genuinely, substantially, positively, authentically, certainly, truely, physically, presently, absolutely, exactly, in reality. ANTONYMS: (adv) seemingly, falsely, hypothetically, nominally, mentally. **dialogue**: (n, v) talk; (n) colloquy, conversation, interview, interlocution, chat, conference, discussion, dialog, talks, communication.

**laid**: (adj) layed, lay, place, placed, put, **scene**: (n, v) aspect, view, outlook, situated, arranged, determined, dictated, hardened, ordered. mute: (adj) dumb, silent, inarticulate, dummy, tongueless; (v) muffle, dampen, deaden, hush; (adj, v) quiet, dull. ANTONYMS: (adj) talkative, speaking, spoken; (v) amplify. narrated: (adj) oral, narrative. person: (n) individual, human, man, mortal, character, soul, human being, being, creature, body; (n, v) party.

lookout; (n) background, display, spectacle, picture, environment, panorama, perspective. whole: (adj, v) entire; (adj, n) total, integral, sum, aggregate, well; (adj, adv, n) all; (adj) complete, healthy, intact, full. ANTONYMS: (adj) incomplete, broken, partial, imperfect, unhealthy, deficient, destroyed, fractional, impaired, half, I went down yesterday to the Piraeus with Glaucon the son of Ariston, that I might offer up my prayers to the goddess (Bendis, the Thracian Artemis.); and also because I wanted to see in what manner they would **celebrate** the festival, which was a new thing. I was delighted with the **procession** of the **inhabitants**; but that of the Thracians was equally, if not more, beautiful. When we had finished our prayers and viewed the **spectacle**, we turned in the direction of the city; and at that **instant** Polemarchus the son of Cephalus chanced to catch sight of us from a distance as we were starting on our way home, and told his servant to run and bid us wait for him. The servant **took** hold of me by the **cloak** behind, and said: Polemarchus desires you to wait.

I turned round, and asked him where his master was.

There he is, said the youth, coming after you, if you will only wait.

Certainly we will, said Glaucon; and in a few minutes Polemarchus **appeared**, and with him Adeimantus, Glaucon's brother, Niceratus the son of Nicias, and several others who had been at the procession.

Polemarchus said to me: I **perceive**, Socrates, that you and your companion are already on your way to the city.

You are not far wrong, I said.

But do you see, he rejoined, how many we are?

Of course.

And are you stronger than all these? for if not, you will have to remain where you are.

May there not be the alternative, I said, that we may persuade you to let us go?

But can you persuade us, if we refuse to listen to you? he said.

Certainly not, replied Glaucon.

Then we are not going to listen; of that you may be assured.

# appeared: (n) appearing. celebrate: (v) extol, keep, praise, acclaim, laud, honor, fete, solemnize, applaud, honour, triumph. ANTONYMS: (v) overlook, mourn, forget, disregard, condemn. cloak: (n, v) veil, mask, camouflage, wrap, masquerade, screen, pall; (n) cape; (v) conceal, dissemble, hide. ANTONYMS: (v) reveal, uncloak, unmask; (n, v) uncover. inhabitants: (n) population, citizens,

abode, group, inhabitation, nation, natives.
instant: (adj, n) present; (adj)
immediate, prompt; (n) flash, minute, jiffy, point, second; (adj, v) exigent; (adj, n, v) pressing, urgent.
ANTONYMS: (n) age, eternity; (adj) considered, delayed, slow.
perceive: (v) comprehend, apprehend, discover, see, grasp, find, know, observe, sense, appreciate; (adj, v)

Thesaurus
populace, folk, country, community,

discern. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, observe, ignore. procession: (n) march, convoy, cortege, cavalcade, file, string, pageant, series, sequence, progress, column. spectacle: (n) scene, pageant, display, exhibition, phenomenon, appearance, spectacles, view, wonder; (n, v) sight, parade. ANTONYM: (n)

understatement. **took**: (*adj*) taken; (*v*) receive.

Adeimantus added: Has no one told you of the torch-race on horseback in honour of the goddess which will take place in the evening?

With horses! I replied: That is a **novelty**. Will horsemen carry torches and pass them one to another during the race?

Yes, said Polemarchus, and not only so, but a festival will be celebrated at night, which you certainly ought to see. Let us rise soon after **supper** and see this festival; there will be a **gathering** of young men, and we will have a good talk. Stay then, and do not be perverse.

Glaucon said: I suppose, since you insist, that we must.

Very good, I replied.

Accordingly we went with Polemarchus to his house; and there we found his brothers Lysias and Euthydemus, and with them Thrasymachus the Chalcedonian, Charmantides the Paeanian, and Cleitophon the son of Aristonymus. There too was Cephalus the father of Polemarchus, whom I had not seen for a long time, and I thought him very much aged. He was **seated** on a cushioned chair, and had a **garland** on his head, for he had been sacrificing in the court; and there were some other chairs in the room arranged in a **semicircle**, upon which we sat down by him. He saluted me **eagerly**, and then he said:—

You don't come to see me, Socrates, as often as you ought: If I were still able to go and see you I would not ask you to come to me. But at my age I can hardly get to the city, and therefore you should come oftener to the Piraeus. For let me tell you, that the more the pleasures of the body fade away, the greater to me is the pleasure and **charm** of conversation. Do not then deny my request, but make our house your resort and keep company with these young men; we are old friends, and you will be quite at home with us.

I replied: There is nothing which for my part I like better, Cephalus, than conversing with aged men; for I regard them as travellers who have gone a journey which I too may have to go, and of whom I ought to enquire, whether the way is smooth and easy, or rugged and difficult. And this is a question which I should like to ask of you who have arrived at that time which the poets

#### **Thesaurus**

**charm**: (*n*, *v*) allure, captivate, appeal, spell, fascinate, bewitch, conjure; (*adj*, *v*) attract; (*n*) amulet; (*v*) enchant, entrance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) ugliness, repulsion, repulsiveness, awkwardness, hatefulness, unpleasantness; (*v*) repulse, offend, irritate, disgust, bore. **eagerl**y: (*adv*) zealously, readily, keenly, fervently, avidly, greedily, enthusiastically, intently, earnestly, impatiently, actively. ANTONYMS:

(adv) apathetically, nonchalantly, grudgingly, patiently, halfheartedly, reluctantly, unenthusiastically. garland: (n) anthology, coronal, wreath, festoon, chaplet, bouquet, decoration, ornament, laurels, prize, lei.

gathering: (n) collection, accumulation, concourse, congregation, assemblage, crowd, compilation, meeting, crew, gather, throng. ANTONYMS: (n) dismantling, scattering. **novelty**: (*adj*) news; (*n*) freshness, mutation, newness, trinket, curiosity, originality, oddity, bauble; (*n*, *v*) change, difference. **seated**: (*adj*) sat, sedentary. **semicircle**: (*n*) arch, semi-circles, half

semicircle: (n) arch, semi-circles, half circle, half-circle, plane figure, arc, curve.

**supper**: (*n*) meal, tea, lunch, repast, reception, mealtime, siesta, social affair; (*v*) dejeuner, bever, whet.

call the 'threshold of old age' - Is life harder towards the end, or what report do you give of it?

I will tell you, Socrates, he said, what my own feeling is. Men of my age flock together; we are birds of a feather, as the old proverb says; and at our meetings the tale of my acquaintance commonly is – I cannot eat, I cannot drink; the pleasures of youth and love are fled away: there was a good time once, but now that is gone, and life is no longer life. Some complain of the slights which are put upon them by relations, and they will tell you sadly of how many evils their old age is the cause. But to me, Socrates, these complainers seem to blame that which is not really in fault. For if old age were the cause, I too being old, and every other old man, would have felt as they do. But this is not my own experience, nor that of others whom I have known. How well I remember the aged poet Sophocles, when in answer to the question, How does love suit with age, Sophocles, – are you still the man you were? Peace, he replied; most gladly have I escaped the thing of which you speak; I feel as if I had escaped from a mad and furious master. His words have often occurred to my mind since, and they seem as good to me now as at the time when he **uttered** them. For certainly old age has a great sense of calm and freedom; when the passions relax their hold, then, as Sophocles says, we are freed from the grasp not of one mad master only, but of many. The truth is, Socrates, that these regrets, and also the complaints about relations, are to be attributed to the same cause, which is not old age, but men's characters and tempers; for he who is of a calm and happy nature will hardly feel the pressure of age, but to him who is of an opposite **disposition** youth and age are equally a burden.

I listened in **admiration**, and wanting to draw him out, that he might go on— Yes, Cephalus, I said: but I rather suspect that people in general are not convinced by you when you speak thus; they think that old age sits lightly upon you, not because of your happy disposition, but because you are rich, and wealth is well known to be a great **comforter**.

You are right, he replied; they are not convinced: and there is something in what they say; not, however, so much as they imagine. I might answer them as

#### **Thesaurus**

admiration: (n) esteem, adoration, appreciation, reverence, estimation, amazement, liking, awe, compliment; (adj, n) regard; (v) laud. ANTONYMS: (n) disdain, criticism, disapproval, contempt, abhorrence, loathing, disgust, despising, dishonor, disparagement, detestation. comforter: (n) blanket, muffler, comfortable, pacifier, reliever,

bedclothes, bedding, dummy,

coverlet, cover, communicator. disposition: (n) attitude, character, disposal, tendency, predisposition, inclination, propensity, bias, arrangement, direction, aptitude. escaped: (adj) at large, at liberty, loose, on the loose, runaway, easy, wild; (n) freer; (v) escaping. feather: (n) pen, feathering, pinion,

nib, plumage, quill, kind, spline; (n,

v) plume; (adj, n, v) fringe; (v) fledge. flock: (n, v) crowd, cluster, pack, mass;

(adj, n) bevy; (adj, n, v) swarm; (n)band, horde, congregation, herd; (v) assemble. ANTONYM: (v) disperse. freed: (adj) disentangled, emancipated, disengaged, liberated, extricated, freer, unchained, untied, loosened, disillusioned, not tied up. harder: (adj) serious.

sits: (n) sat.

uttered: (adj) expressed, express, verbalised, verbalized, vocal, explicit, oral; (v) spoke, quoth, said.

Themistocles answered the Seriphian who was abusing him and saying that he was famous, not for his own merits but because he was an Athenian: 'If you had been a native of my country or I of yours, neither of us would have been famous.' And to those who are not rich and are **impatient** of old age, the same reply may be made; for to the good poor man old age cannot be a light burden, nor can a bad rich man ever have peace with himself.

May I ask, Cephalus, whether your fortune was for the most part inherited or acquired by you?

Acquired! Socrates; do you want to know how much I acquired? In the art of making money I have been **midway** between my father and grandfather: for my grandfather, whose name I bear, doubled and trebled the value of his **patrimony**, that which he inherited being much what I possess now; but my father Lysanias reduced the property below what it is at present: and I shall be satisfied if I leave to these my sons not less but a little more than I received.

That was why I asked you the question, I replied, because I see that you are **indifferent** about money, which is a characteristic rather of those who have inherited their fortunes than of those who have acquired them; the makers of fortunes have a second love of money as a creation of their own, **resembling** the affection of authors for their own poems, or of parents for their children, besides that natural love of it for the sake of use and profit which is common to them and all men. And hence they are very bad company, for they can talk about nothing but the praises of wealth.

That is true, he said.

Yes, that is very true, but may I ask another question?—What do you consider to be the greatest **blessing** which you have reaped from your wealth?

One, he said, of which I could not expect easily to convince others. For let me tell you, Socrates, that when a man thinks himself to be near death, fears and cares enter into his mind which he never had before; the tales of a world below and the punishment which is exacted there of deeds done here were once a laughing matter to him, but now he is tormented with the thought that they may

#### **Thesaurus**

blessing: (n) benediction, approval, mercy, felicity, benison, benefit, luck, advantage, boon, bless, godsend. ANTONYMS: (n) curse, misfortune, disaster, condemnation, adversity, desecration, refusal, veto, disadvantage.
impatient: (adj) eager, anxious, petulant, fidgety, vexed, keen, edgy,

mpatient: (adj) eager, anxious, petulant, fidgety, vexed, keen, edgy, quick, avid, irritable, fretful.

ANTONYMS: (adj) patient, enduring, unenthusiastic, calm, happy, relaxed,

slow.

indifferent: (adj) apathetic, impassive, cold, cool, callous, fair, insensible, unconcerned, careless, dull, average. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, fervent, keen, obsessive, energetic, eager, involved, surprised, exceptional, concerned, shocked.

midway: (adj) middle, center, intermediate, central, median; (n) tract, middle of the road, intermediary, battle of midway; (adv)

in the middle; (prep) between.
ANTONYM: (adj) extreme.
patrimony: (n) birthright, inheritance, legacy, bequest, entail, estate, dower, heirloom, heredity, hereditament, endowment fund.
resembling: (adj, prep) like; (adj) analogous, parallel, similar, confermble, armerimete.

analogous, parallel, similar, conformable, approximate, semblative, other, probable; (prep) similar to, reminiscent of.
ANTONYM: (prep) unlike.

be true: either from the weakness of age, or because he is now drawing nearer to that other place, he has a clearer view of these things; suspicions and alarms crowd thickly upon him, and he begins to reflect and consider what wrongs he has done to others. And when he finds that the sum of his transgressions is great he will many a time like a child start up in his sleep for fear, and he is filled with dark forebodings. But to him who is conscious of no sin, sweet hope, as Pindar **charmingly** says, is the kind nurse of his age:

'Hope,' he says, 'cherishes the soul of him who lives in justice and holiness, and is the nurse of his age and the **companion** of his journey;—hope which is mightiest to sway the restless soul of man.'

How admirable are his words! And the great blessing of riches, I do not say to every man, but to a good man, is, that he has had no occasion to deceive or to defraud others, either intentionally or unintentionally; and when he departs to the world below he is not in any **apprehension** about **offerings** due to the gods or debts which he owes to men. Now to this peace of mind the possession of wealth greatly contributes; and therefore I say, that, setting one thing against another, of the many advantages which wealth has to give, to a man of sense this is in my opinion the greatest.

Well said, Cephalus, I replied; but as concerning justice, what is it?—to speak the truth and to pay your debts—no more than this? And even to this are there not exceptions? Suppose that a friend when in his right mind has deposited arms with me and he asks for them when he is not in his right mind, ought I to give them back to him? No one would say that I ought or that I should be right in doing so, any more than they would say that I ought always to speak the truth to one who is in his condition.

You are quite right, he replied.

But then, I said, speaking the truth and paying your debts is not a correct definition of justice.

Quite correct, Socrates, if Simonides is to be believed, said Polemarchus interposing.

#### Thesaurus

apprehension: (n) alarm, comprehension, dread, misgiving, understanding, capture, foreboding, arrest, trepidation; (n, v) doubt, appreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) release, confidence, calmness, tranquility, freeing, misunderstanding, peace, relief, bravery, calm, equanimity. charmingly: (adv) pleasingly, prettily, alluringly, attractively, fascinatingly, pleasantly, enchantingly, temptingly,

engagingly, sweetly, beautifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) unpleasantly, unattractively, horribly, awkwardly. companion: (adj, n) associate; (n) colleague, buddy, mate, peer, chum, partner, fellow, comrade, assistant, brother. ANTONYMS: (n) foe, stranger, adversary. offerings: (n) aid, assistance, charity,

contributions, gifts, help. suspicions: (adj) entertain doubts,

have doubts; (n) doubts, misgivings,

reservations, qualms, worries, fears, uncertainties.

sway: (n, v) command, rule, control, rock, stagger, roll; (v) oscillate, reel, lurch, shake; (n) reign. ANTONYMS: (v) stay, dissuade, discourage.

thickly: (adv) deeply, heavily, thick, viscously, thicksetly, solidly, dully, dumbly, compactly, closely, turbidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) thinly, finely, slightly, sparsely, loosely, distinctly. wrongs: (n) mala.

I fear, said Cephalus, that I must go now, for I have to look after the sacrifices, and I hand over the argument to Polemarchus and the company.

Is not Polemarchus your heir? I said.

To be sure, he answered, and went away laughing to the sacrifices.

Tell me then, O **thou** heir of the argument, what did Simonides say, and according to you truly say, about justice?

He said that the **repayment** of a debt is just, and in saying so he appears to me to be right.

I should be sorry to doubt the word of such a wise and **inspired** man, but his meaning, though probably clear to you, is the reverse of clear to me. For he certainly does not mean, as we were just now saying, that I ought to return a deposit of arms or of anything else to one who asks for it when he is not in his right **senses**; and yet a deposit cannot be denied to be a debt.

True.

Then when the person who asks me is not in his right mind I am by no means to make the return?

Certainly not.

When Simonides said that the repayment of a debt was justice, he did not mean to include that case?

Certainly not; for he thinks that a friend ought always to do good to a friend and never **evil**.

You mean that the return of a deposit of gold which is to the injury of the **receiver**, if the two parties are friends, is not the repayment of a debt,—that is what you would imagine him to say?

Yes.

And are enemies also to receive what we owe to them?

To be sure, he said, they are to receive what we owe them, and an enemy, as I take it, owes to an enemy that which is due or proper to him—that is to say, evil.

#### **Thesaurus**

evil: (adj) bad, criminal, corrupt, wicked, destructive, depraved; (adj, n) ill, detriment; (n) adversity, disaster, depravity. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, righteousness, morality; (adj) kindhearted, righteous, benign, moral, pure, upright, virtuous, sinless.

heir: (*n*) beneficiary, successor, offspring, inheritor, heiress, receiver, progeny, heritor, descendant, scion, issue. ANTONYMS: (*n*) ancestor,

donor. rinspired: (adj) ingenious, adopted, elysian, creative, imaginative, elected, inventive, unearthly, brilliant, stimulated, enthusiastic.

ANTONYMS: (adj) bland, unimaginative, abysmal, mediocre. receiver: (n) beneficiary, payee, earphone, headset, heir, cashier, liquidator, earpiece, addressee, grantee, taker. ANTONYMS: (n) benefactor, sender.

repayment: (n, v) recompense, quittance; (n) refund, payment, redemption, remuneration, compensation, revenge, rebate, amends, reimbursement.

senses: (adj) sober senses, sound mind; (n) reason, mind, conception, consciousness, judgment, faculties, mother wit, right mind, sanity.

thou: (n) chiliad, grand, m, g, one thousand, gramme, gram, gm, gigabyte, Gb, curtilage.

Simonides, then, after the manner of poets, would seem to have spoken darkly of the nature of justice; for he really meant to say that justice is the giving to each man what is proper to him, and this he termed a debt.

That must have been his meaning, he said.

By **heaven**! I replied; and if we asked him what due or proper thing is given by **medicine**, and to whom, what answer do you think that he would make to us?

He would surely reply that medicine gives drugs and meat and drink to human bodies.

And what due or proper thing is given by **cookery**, and to what?

Seasoning to food.

And what is that which justice gives, and to whom?

If, Socrates, we are to be guided at all by the analogy of the preceding **instances**, then justice is the art which gives good to friends and evil to enemies.

That is his meaning then?

I think so.

And who is best able to do good to his friends and evil to his enemies in time of **sickness**?

The physician.

Or when they are on a voyage, amid the perils of the sea?

The **pilot**.

And in what sort of actions or with a view to what result is the just man most able to do harm to his enemy and good to his friend?

In going to war against the one and in making alliances with the other.

But when a man is well, my dear Polemarchus, there is no need of a physician?

No.

And he who is not on a voyage has no need of a pilot?

### **Thesaurus**Fields, Garden of Eden, utopia; (adj)

amid: (adv, prep) among, amongst; (prep) between, amidst, mid, during, in the midst of, with, surrounded by, stuck between; (n) midst.
ANTONYMS: (prep) outside, separate.
cookery: (n) cuisine, kitchen, gastronomy, browning, broiling, preparation, culinary art, roasting, toasting, frying, braising.
heaven: (n) Eden, firmament, bliss,

Elysium, sky, nirvana, glory, Elysian

celestial. ANTONYM: (n) misery.
instances: (v) conceive, abate,
commotion, decline, decrease, imply,
diminution, diminish.
medicine: (n) drug, medication,
medicament, therapy, physic,
treatment, remedy, cathartic, medical
science, preparation; (v) medicate.
pilot: (n, v) guide, lead; (n) leader,
aviator; (v) manage, direct, director,
conduct, fly, navigate; (adj)

experimental.

seasoning: (n) flavor, flavoring,
flavouring, seasoner, spice, dash, salt,
zest, sauce, relish, cardamon.
sickness: (n, v) disease, indisposition,
malady, disorder, distemper, ailment;
(n) complaint, qualm, nausea,
disgust, queasiness.

voyage: (n, v) travel, cruise, tour; (n)

**voyage**: (*n*, *v*) travel, cruise, tour; (*n*) trip, passage, expedition, flight, crossing, quest; (*v*) sail, navigate.

No.

Then in time of peace justice will be of no use?

I am very far from thinking so.

You think that justice may be of use in peace as well as in war?

Yes.

Like husbandry for the acquisition of **corn**?

Or like **shoemaking** for the acquisition of shoes, — that is what you mean?

And what similar use or power of acquisition has justice in time of peace? In contracts, Socrates, justice is of use.

And by contracts you mean partnerships?

Exactly.

But is the just man or the **skilful** player a more useful and better partner at a game of draughts?

The skilful player.

And in the laying of bricks and stones is the just man a more useful or better partner than the **builder**?

Quite the reverse.

Then in what sort of partnership is the just man a better partner than the harp-player, as in playing the harp the harp-player is certainly a better partner than the just man?

In a money partnership.

Yes, Polemarchus, but surely not in the use of money; for you do not want a just man to be your counsellor in the purchase or sale of a horse; a man who is knowing about horses would be better for that, would he not?

Certainly.

#### Thesaurus

bricks: (n) walk, highway. builder: (n) architect, constructor, founder, artificer, contractor, bricklayer, creator, developer, maker, manufacturer, Wright. corn: (n) clavus, cereals, Zea Mays, callus, wheat, Indian corn, callosity, grain; (v) feed, keep; (adj, n)commonplace. counsellor: (n) counselor, advocate, adviser, councillor, advisor, mentor, pleader, attorney, lawyer, consultant, reverse: (adj, v) repeal, rescind, annul,

**harp**: (*n*) lyre, harmonica, harper, lute, mouth harp; (v) dwell, ingeminate, iterate, restate, reiterate, retell. **horse**: (n, v) mount; (n) buck, heroin, junk, charger, knight, pony, rider, trestle, eohippus, dog.

laying: (n) egg laying, placing, parturition, place, repose, setting, put, position, lay, oyster park, oviposition.

nullify, invert; (adj, n) converse, contrary; (v) revoke, countermand, overturn; (adj, n, v) rear. ANTONYMS: (n) success, victory, obverse, recto; (v) accept, uphold, validate, reinforce, proceed; (adj) forward, parallel. **shoemaking**: (n) cobbling, trade, craft.

skilful: (adj) adroit, practised, experienced, cunning, expert, dextrous, clever, adept, proficient, practiced, good.

And when you want to buy a ship, the **shipwright** or the pilot would be better?

True.

Then what is that joint use of silver or gold in which the just man is to be preferred?

When you want a deposit to be kept **safely**.

You mean when money is not wanted, but allowed to lie?

Precisely.

That is to say, justice is useful when money is **useless**?

That is the **inference**.

And when you want to keep a pruning-hook safe, then justice is useful to the individual and to the state; but when you want to use it, then the art of the vine-dresser?

Clearly.

And when you want to keep a **shield** or a lyre, and not to use them, you would say that justice is useful; but when you want to use them, then the art of the soldier or of the **musician**?

Certainly.

And so of all other things;—justice is useful when they are useless, and useless when they are useful?

That is the inference.

Then justice is not good for much. But let us consider this further point: Is not he who can best strike a blow in a **boxing** match or in any kind of fighting best able to ward off a blow?

Certainly.

And he who is most skilful in preventing or **escaping** from a disease is best able to create one?

True.

#### **Thesaurus**

(n) fisticuffs, packing, bout, sparring, inclosure, envelopment, enclosure, enclosing, casing.

escaping: (n) evasion, getaway, break, breakout, running away, running off, run-around; (adj) fugitive.

inference: (n) corollary, implication, illation, conclusion, assumption, judgment, surmise, derivation, analogy, guess, result. ANTONYM: (n) fact.

**boxing**: (*n*, *v*) pugilism; (*adj*) fighting;

musician: (n) singer, composer, instrumentalist, minstrel, clarinettist, lutenist, director, choirmaster, accompanist, harpsichordist, harpist. safely: (adv) surely, safe, certainly, cautiously, soundly, strongly, sure, steadily, harmlessly, unharmedly, unhurtly. ANTONYMS: (adv) harmfully, hazardously, loosely. shield: (n, v) shelter, screen, cover, guard, safeguard, buffer; (v) preserve, secure, defend, hide; (n)

exposure; (v) endanger, attack, reveal. shipwright: (n) Wright, ship builder. useless: (adj) pointless, unnecessary, needless, worthless, fruitless, hopeless, abortive, idle, barren, superfluous, unavailing. ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, effective, competent, convenient, valuable, necessary, brilliant, great,

meaningful, usable, worthwhile.

protection. ANTONYMS: (n) danger,

And he is the best guard of a camp who is best able to **steal** a march upon the enemy?

Certainly.

Then he who is a good keeper of anything is also a good **thief**?

That, I suppose, is to be inferred.

Then if the just man is good at keeping money, he is good at **stealing** it.

That is implied in the argument.

Then after all the just man has turned out to be a thief. And this is a lesson which I suspect you must have learnt out of Homer; for he, speaking of Autolycus, the maternal grandfather of Odysseus, who is a favourite of his, affirms that

He was excellent above all men in **theft** and **perjury**.

And so, you and Homer and Simonides are agreed that justice is an art of theft; to be practised however 'for the good of friends and for the harm of enemies,' — that was what you were saying?

No, certainly not that, though I do not now know what I did say; but I still stand by the latter words.

Well, there is another question: By friends and enemies do we mean those who are so really, or only in **seeming**?

Surely, he said, a man may be expected to love those whom he thinks good, and to hate those whom he thinks evil.

Yes, but do not persons often err about good and evil: many who are not good seem to be so, and conversely?

That is true.

Then to them the good will be enemies and the evil will be their friends? True.

#### Thesaurus

learnt: (adj) learned. maternal: (adj) parental, paternal, parent, motherlike, mother, loving, enatic, agnatic, ancestral, enate, fraternal. ANTONYMS: (adj) paternal, filial. perjury: (v) mendacity; (n) bearing

false witness, lying under oath, false evidence, violation, lie, infringement, infraction, falsehood, offense, offence. practised: (adj) practiced, expert, adept, good, trained, proficient,

seasoned, skilful, skilled, skillful,

seeming: (adj) ostensible, superficial, illusory, outward, probable, deceptive, specious; (adj, n)appearance, semblance; (n) aspect, show. ANTONYMS: (adj) actual, deep, inner.

steal: (v) purloin, abstract, sneak, filch, thief: (n) burglar, bandit, pirate, pinch, creep, misappropriate, rob, pilfer; (n) bargain; (n, v) snatch. stealing: (n) pilferage, larceny, theft,

steal, burglary, misappropriation, embezzlement, stolen, thievery, pilfering, thieving.

theft: (n) stealing, larceny, thievery, burglary, embezzlement, thieving, peculation, defalcation, depredation, latrociny, misappropriation. ANTONYM: (n) return.

plunderer, filcher, stealer, pickpocket, pilferer, crook, brigand, despoiler.

And in that case they will be right in doing good to the evil and evil to the good?

Clearly.

But the good are just and would not do an injustice?

Then according to your argument it is just to **injure** those who do no wrong? Nay, Socrates; the doctrine is immoral.

Then I suppose that we ought to do good to the just and **harm** to the unjust? I like that better.

But see the consequence: – Many a man who is **ignorant** of human nature has friends who are bad friends, and in that case he ought to do harm to them; and he has good enemies whom he ought to benefit; but, if so, we shall be saying the very opposite of that which we affirmed to be the meaning of Simonides.

Very true, he said: and I think that we had better correct an error into which we seem to have fallen in the use of the words 'friend' and 'enemy.'

What was the error, Polemarchus? I asked.

We **assumed** that he is a friend who seems to be or who is thought good.

And how is the error to be **corrected**?

We should rather say that he is a friend who is, as well as seems, good; and that he who seems only, and is not good, only seems to be and is not a friend; and of an enemy the same may be said.

You would argue that the good are our friends and the bad our enemies? Yes.

And instead of saying simply as we did at first, that it is just to do good to our friends and harm to our enemies, we should further say: It is just to do good to our friends when they are good and harm to our enemies when they are evil?

Yes, that appears to me to be the truth.

But ought the just to injure any one at all?

#### Thesaurus

fictitious, fake, feigned, counterfeit, pretended, reputed, artificial, hypothetical, spurious. ANTONYMS: harm: (adj, n, v) damage, hurt; (adj, n) (adj) true, authentic, explicit, known, real, natural. corrected: (adj) amended, reformed, purified, educated, altered, chastened, disciplined. enemy: (n) antagonist, opponent, foe, opposition, competitor, enmity, assailant, foeman, hostile, besieger;

assumed: (adj) sham, affected,

(adj, n) rival. ANTONYMS: (n) ally, friend, supporter, benefactor, defender, fan.

evil, detriment, injury; (n, v) abuse, wound, blemish, disadvantage; (n) bruise; (adj, v) injure. ANTONYMS: (n, v) benefit, respect, help; (n)reparation, service; (v) enable, spoil, protect, defend, repair.

rude, illiterate, uneducated, blind,

dull, unaware, uninformed, unlearned, innocent. ANTONYMS: (adj) conscious, versed, cultured, educated, informed, wary, literate, aware, polite.

injure: (n, v) damage, harm, impair; (v) contuse, disfigure, maim, bruise, blemish, wound, insult; (adj, v) abuse. ANTONYMS: (v) heal, enable, repair, protect, help.

ignorant: (adj) unconscious, unwitting, shall: (n) must, necessity; (v) require, bequeath, leave.

Undoubtedly he ought to injure those who are both wicked and his enemies.

When horses are **injured**, are they improved or **deteriorated**?

The latter.

Deteriorated, that is to say, in the good qualities of horses, not of dogs?

Yes, of horses.

And dogs are deteriorated in the good qualities of dogs, and not of horses?

Of course.

And will not men who are injured be deteriorated in that which is the proper virtue of man?

Certainly.

And that human virtue is justice?

To be sure.

Then men who are injured are of necessity made unjust?

That is the result.

But can the musician by his art make men unmusical?

Certainly not.

Or the horseman by his art make them bad horsemen?

Impossible.

And can the just by justice make men unjust, or speaking generally, can the good by virtue make them bad?

Assuredly not.

Any more than heat can produce cold?

It cannot.

Or drought moisture?

Clearly not.

#### **Thesaurus**

assuredly: (adv) certainly, confidently, positively, securely, indeed, definitely, undoubtedly, admittedly, safely, insuredly, decidedly. deteriorated: (adj) worn out, worn, enervated, adulterate, disrepair, crumbly, shabby, debauched, decrepit, degraded, base. drought: (adj, n) aridity; (n) famine, parchedness, absence, scarcity, lack, dryness, desiccation, thirst, drawing, shortage. ANTONYMS: (n) wetness,

deluge, flood, abundance, glut, humidity.

injured: (adj) hurt, broken, wounded, affected, damaged, pained, offended, insulted, defective, prejudiced; (n) casualty. ANTONYMS: (adj) uninjured, unaffected, well.

moisture: (n) damp, dampness, wet, humid, moist, moistness, vapor, moisture content, moisten, dank, dampen.

unmusical: (adj) dissonant, discordant,

harsh, tuneless, inharmonious, unmelodic, unmelodious, cacophonous, jarring, nonmusical, untunable. ANTONYMS: (adj) musical, melodious.

wicked: (adj) bad, sinful, atrocious, evil, vile, depraved, mischievous, immoral, unholy, nasty, naughty. ANTONYMS: (adj) innocent, pure, pious, moral, kind, admirable, kindhearted, helpful, decent, assisting, aiding. Nor can the good harm any one?

Impossible.

And the just is the good?

Certainly.

Then to injure a friend or any one else is not the act of a just man, but of the **opposite**, who is the unjust?

I think that what you say is quite true, Socrates.

Then if a man says that justice consists in the repayment of **debts**, and that good is the debt which a just man owes to his friends, and evil the debt which he owes to his enemies,—to say this is not **wise**; for it is not true, if, as has been clearly shown, the injuring of another can be in no case just.

I agree with you, said Polemarchus.

Then you and I are prepared to take up arms against any one who attributes such a saying to Simonides or Bias or Pittacus, or any other wise man or **seer**?

I am quite ready to do battle at your side, he said.

Shall I tell you whose I believe the saying to be?

Whose?

I believe that Periander or Perdiccas or Xerxes or Ismenias the Theban, or some other rich and **mighty** man, who had a great opinion of his own power, was the first to say that justice is 'doing good to your friends and harm to your enemies.'

Most true, he said.

Yes, I said; but if this definition of justice also **breaks** down, what other can be offered?

Several times in the course of the discussion Thrasymachus had made an attempt to get the argument into his own hands, and had been put down by the rest of the company, who wanted to hear the end. But when Polemarchus and I had done speaking and there was a **pause**, he could no **longer** hold his peace;

#### **Thesaurus**

chance. **debts**: (*n*) amount overdue, amount outstanding. ANTONYM: (*n*) credit. **longer**: (*adj*) longest, better, lengest; (*adv*) farther; (*n*) yearner, thirster.

**breaks**: (n) lot, destiny, opportunity,

mighty: (adj) immense, huge, grand, intense, high, big, forcible, strong, large, great; (adj, adv) powerful. ANTONYMS: (adj) puny, tiny, weak, insignificant.

opposite: (adj, n) contrary,

contradictory, opponent; (adj) adverse, different, opposing, hostile, diametric, opposed; (adj, pron) other; (adj, adv) counter. ANTONYMS: (adj) allied, alternate, identical, like, same, parallel; (n) sameness, alikeness, confirmation.

pause: (n, v) halt, interruption,
 adjournment, delay, respite, stop;
 (adj, n, v) rest; (n) intermission, gap;
 (adj, v) discontinue; (v) hesitate.
 ANTONYMS: (n) decisiveness,

continuation, start; (v) proceed. seer: (n) prophet, augur, diviner, oracle, forecaster, visionary, clairvoyant, illusionist, conjuror, idealist, predictor.

idealist, predictor.

wise: (adj) reasonable, sensible, sound, rational, sagacious, intelligent, prudent, shrewd, discreet; (adj, n) knowing; (n) method. ANTONYMS: (adj) unwise, stupid, ignorant, mistaken, illogical, reckless, naive, irrational, dense.

and, gathering himself up, he **came** at us like a wild beast, seeking to devour us. We were quite **panic**-stricken at the sight of him.

He roared out to the whole company: What folly, Socrates, has taken possession of you all? And why, sillybillies, do you knock under to one another? I say that if you want really to know what justice is, you should not only ask but answer, and you should not seek honour to yourself from the refutation of an opponent, but have your own answer; for there is many a one who can ask and cannot answer. And now I will not have you say that justice is duty or advantage or profit or gain or interest, for this sort of nonsense will not do for me; I must have clearness and accuracy.

I was panic-stricken at his words, and could not look at him without **trembling**. Indeed I believe that if I had not fixed my eye upon him, I should have been struck dumb: but when I saw his fury rising, I looked at him first, and was therefore able to reply to him.

Thrasymachus, I said, with a **quiver**, don't be hard upon us. Polemarchus and I may have been guilty of a little mistake in the argument, but I can assure you that the error was not **intentional**. If we were seeking for a piece of gold, you would not imagine that we were 'knocking under to one another,' and so losing our chance of finding it. And why, when we are seeking for justice, a thing more precious than many pieces of gold, do you say that we are weakly **yielding** to one another and not doing our utmost to get at the truth? Nay, my good friend, we are most willing and anxious to do so, but the fact is that we cannot. And if so, you people who know all things should pity us and not be angry with us.

How characteristic of Socrates! he replied, with a bitter laugh;—that's your ironical style! Did I not foresee—have I not already told you, that whatever he was asked he would refuse to answer, and try irony or any other **shuffle**, in order that he might avoid answering?

You are a philosopher, Thrasymachus, I replied, and well know that if you ask a person what numbers make up twelve, taking care to **prohibit** him whom you ask from answering twice six, or three times four, or six times two, or four

came: (v) arrive, come.
intentional: (adj, v) voluntary; (adj)
deliberate, calculated, willful,
knowing, conscious, premeditated,
designed, planned, advised, wilful.
ANTONYMS: (adj) accidental,
unintentional, involuntary,
spontaneous, undesigned,
unconscious, casual.
panic-stricken: (adj) afraid, hysterical.
prohibit: (n, v) prevent, bar, hinder; (v)
forbid, enjoin, exclude, disallow,

outlaw, preclude, ban, veto. ANTONYMS: (v) allow, authorize, include, entitle, assist. quiver: (adj, n, v) shudder, shiver, tremble, shake; (v) flicker, flutter, vibrate; (n, v) palpitate, quaver; (n)

Thesaurus

vibration, tremor. **shuffle**: (*v*) mingle, blend, hobble, muddle, drag, scuff, equivocate, prevaricate, ruffle, mix; (*n*, *v*) shamble. ANTONYMS: (*v*) remain, tidy, leave.

trembling: (adj, n) shaking; (adj, n, v) tremor; (adj) shaky, quaking, shivering, flutter; (n) palpitation, quiver, vibration, shiver, quake. ANTONYMS: (adj) stable, steady. yielding: (adj, v) flexible, pliable, supple, tractable, pliant; (adj) compliant, submissive, soft, obedient, docile; (n) submission. ANTONYMS: (adj) hard, firm, inflexible, solid, rigid, obstinate, stiff, stubborn, unyielding, rebellious.

times three, 'for this sort of nonsense will not do for me,'—then obviously, if that is your way of putting the question, no one can answer you. But suppose that he were to **retort**, 'Thrasymachus, what do you mean? If one of these numbers which you **interdict** be the true answer to the question, am I **falsely** to say some other number which is not the right one?—is that your meaning?'—How would you answer him?

Just as if the two cases were at all alike! he said.

Why should they not be? I replied; and even if they are not, but only appear to be so to the person who is asked, ought he not to say what he thinks, whether you and I forbid him or not?

I presume then that you are going to make one of the interdicted answers?

I dare say that I may, notwithstanding the danger, if upon reflection I approve of any of them.

But what if I give you an answer about justice other and better, he said, than any of these? What do you **deserve** to have done to you?

Done to me!—as becomes the ignorant, I must learn from the wise—that is what I deserve to have done to me.

What, and no payment! a pleasant notion!

I will pay when I have the money, I replied.

But you have, Socrates, said Glaucon: and you, Thrasymachus, need be under no anxiety about money, for we will all make a contribution for Socrates.

Yes, he replied, and then Socrates will do as he always does—refuse to answer himself, but take and pull to pieces the answer of some one else.

Why, my good friend, I said, how can any one answer who knows, and says that he knows, just nothing; and who, even if he has some faint notions of his own, is told by a man of authority not to **utter** them? The natural thing is, that the speaker should be some one like yourself who professes to know and can tell what he knows. Will you then kindly answer, for the **edification** of the company and of myself?

#### **Thesaurus**

deserve: (v) rate, warrant, gain, earn, to deserve, demand, justify, bear; (n, v) reward; (n) richly deserve, worth. edification: (n) enlightenment, education, illumination, building, disenchantment, architecture, disillusionment, civilization, schooling, teaching, learning. falsely: (adv) incorrectly, fraudulently, deceptively, dishonestly, wrongly, erroneously, misleadingly, deceitfully, unfaithfully, spuriously,

fictitiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) honestly, truthfully, faithfully, authentically, correctly, naturally, rightly.

interdict: (*n*, *v*) ban, veto; (*v*) forbid, enjoin, inhibit, prohibit, proscribe, debar, outlaw; (*n*) embargo, prohibition. ANTONYM: (*v*) allow. **interdicted**: (*adj*) contraband, illegal. **presume**: (*v*) dare, consider, believe, think, infer, guess, expect, esteem, conclude, suppose, conjecture.

ANTONYMS: (v) appreciate, despair, speculate.

**retort**: (*n*, *v*) answer, return, riposte; (*n*) response, rejoinder, repartee, comeback; (*v*) respond, repay, rejoin, alembic.

**utter**: (*v*) say, state, speak, breathe, articulate, deliver, voice, pronounce; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) express, declare; (*adj*, *v*) tell. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) qualified, incomplete, uncertain, rather, slight; (*v*) conceal, hide, block.

Glaucon and the rest of the company joined in my request, and Thrasymachus, as any one might see, was in reality eager to speak; for he thought that he had an excellent answer, and would distinguish himself. But at first he affected to insist on my answering; at length he consented to begin. Behold, he said, the wisdom of Socrates; he refuses to teach himself, and goes about learning of others, to whom he never even says Thank you.

That I learn of others, I replied, is quite true; but that I am ungrateful I wholly deny. Money I have none, and therefore I pay in praise, which is all I have; and how ready I am to praise any one who appears to me to speak well you will very soon find out when you answer; for I expect that you will answer well.

Listen, then, he said; I proclaim that justice is nothing else than the interest of the stronger. And now why do you not praise me? But of course you won't.

Let me first understand you, I replied. Justice, as you say, is the interest of the stronger. What, Thrasymachus, is the meaning of this? You cannot mean to say that because Polydamas, the pancratiast, is stronger than we are, and finds the eating of **beef conducive** to his **bodily** strength, that to eat beef is therefore equally for our good who are weaker than he is, and right and just for us?

That's **abominable** of you, Socrates; you take the words in the sense which is most damaging to the argument.

Not at all, my good sir, I said; I am trying to understand them; and I wish that you would be a little clearer.

Well, he said, have you never heard that forms of government differ; there are tyrannies, and there are democracies, and there are aristocracies?

Yes, I know.

And the government is the ruling power in each state?

Certainly.

And the different forms of government make laws democratical, aristocratical, tyrannical, with a view to their several interests; and these laws,

#### Thesaurus

**abominable**: (adj, v) odious, foul; (adj) abhorrent, detestable, dreadful, awful, execrable, terrible, loathsome, cursed, wicked. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, lovable, admirable, alluring, appealing, commendable, laudable, delightful, desirable, enjoyable, likable.

answering: (adj) respondent, responsive, according, agreeing, responsory; (n) respondency.

beef: (n, v) grumble, moan, grouse,

squawk, groan; (n) complaint, ox, fuss, beeves; (v) grouch, complain. ANTONYMS: (n) impotence, praise; (v) rejoice.

bodily: (adj) material, corporeal, corporal, animal, carnal, somatic, real, personal, sensual; (adv) altogether, fleshly. ANTONYMS: (adj) mental, spiritual, soulful, intellectual; (adv) mentally.

conducive: (n) advantageous, favorable; (adj) instrumental, helpful, contributory, tending, subservient, profitable, auspicious, beneficial; (v) working towards. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconducive, hindering, deleterious, counter, adverse.

ungrateful: (adj) unmindful, unthankful, unappreciative, unnatural, ingrate, unpleasant, distasteful, displeasing, unkind, disagreeable, not kind. ANTONYMS: (adj) grateful, thankful, appreciative.

which are made by them for their own interests, are the justice which they deliver to their subjects, and him who transgresses them they **punish** as a **breaker** of the law, and unjust. And that is what I mean when I say that in all states there is the same principle of justice, which is the interest of the government; and as the government must be supposed to have power, the only reasonable conclusion is, that everywhere there is one principle of justice, which is the interest of the stronger.

Now I understand you, I said; and whether you are right or not I will try to discover. But let me **remark**, that in **defining** justice you have yourself used the word 'interest' which you forbade me to use. It is true, however, that in your definition the words 'of the stronger' are added.

A small addition, you must allow, he said.

Great or small, never mind about that: we must first enquire whether what you are saying is the truth. Now we are both agreed that justice is interest of some sort, but you go on to say 'of the stronger'; about this addition I am not so sure, and must therefore consider further.

Proceed.

I will; and first tell me, Do you admit that it is just for subjects to **obey** their rulers?

I do.

But are the rulers of states absolutely infallible, or are they sometimes liable to err?

To be sure, he replied, they are liable to err.

Then in making their laws they may sometimes make them rightly, and sometimes not?

True.

When they make them rightly, they make them **agreeably** to their interest; when they are **mistaken**, contrary to their interest; you admit that?

Yes.

## **Thesaurus** major, essential, dioristic, crucial; (*n*)

mistaken: (adj) wrong, erroneous,

false, misguided, inaccurate,

confused, improper, error.

fallacious, untrue, misleading,

shaping.

agreeably: (adv) enjoyably, pleasantly, sympathetically, pleasingly, suitably, well, melodically, accordingly, affably, genially; (adv, v) happily. ANTONYMS: (adv) disagreeably, incongruously, uncooperatively, unhelpfully, badly, stubbornly, harshly.

**breaker**: (*n*) chopper, billow, surf, surge, trainer, circuit breaker, wave, ait, atoll, crusher, switch. **defining**: (*v*) define; (*adj*) important,

**obey**: (*v*) comply, listen, keep, fulfill, hear, conform, abide by, serve, comply with; (*n*, *v*) mind, heed. ANTONYMS: (*v*) disobey, defy,

ANTONYMS: (adj) accurate, wise,

break, transgress, infringe, challenge,

**punish**: (*v*) amerce, discipline, castigate, chasten, chastise, penalize, strike, avenge, pay, beat, execute. ANTONYMS: (*v*) excuse, exonerate, pardon, reward, commend. **remark**: (*n*, *v*) comment, notice, note,

**remark**: (*n*, *v*) comment, notice, note, mention, regard, mind; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) observe; (*v*) perceive, mark, discern; (*n*) observation.

And the laws which they make must be obeyed by their subjects,—and that is what you call justice?

#### Doubtless.

Then justice, according to your argument, is not only **obedience** to the interest of the **stronger** but the reverse?

What is that you are saying? he asked.

I am only **repeating** what you are saying, I believe. But let us consider: Have we not **admitted** that the rulers may be mistaken about their own interest in what they command, and also that to obey them is justice? Has not that been admitted?

Yes.

Then you must also have **acknowledged** justice not to be for the interest of the stronger, when the rulers unintentionally command things to be done which are to their own injury. For if, as you say, justice is the obedience which the subject renders to their **commands**, in that case, O wisest of men, is there any escape from the conclusion that the weaker are **commanded** to do, not what is for the interest, but what is for the injury of the stronger?

Nothing can be clearer, Socrates, said Polemarchus.

Yes, said Cleitophon, interposing, if you are allowed to be his witness.

But there is no need of any witness, said Polemarchus, for Thrasymachus himself acknowledges that rulers may sometimes command what is not for their own interest, and that for subjects to obey them is justice.

Yes, Polemarchus,—Thrasymachus said that for subjects to do what was commanded by their rulers is just.

Yes, Cleitophon, but he also said that justice is the interest of the stronger, and, while admitting both these propositions, he further acknowledged that the stronger may command the weaker who are his subjects to do what is not for his own interest; whence follows that justice is the injury quite as much as the interest of the stronger.

#### **Thesaurus**

acknowledged: (adj) accepted, renowned, recognized, avowed, known, customary, confirmed, admitted, affirmed, recognised; (v) received. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconventional, unacknowledged, questionable. admitted: (v) admitting, understood, of course: (adj) acknowledged.

admitted: (v) admitting, understood, of course; (adj) acknowledged, undisputed, known, orthodox. commanded: (adj) lawful. commands: (n) orders, instructions,

information, guidelines. doubtless: (adv) assuredly, undoubtedly, probably, unquestionably, clearly, without doubt, presumably; (adj) sure; (adv, v) questionless; (adj, adv) no doubt, to be sure. ANTONYMS: (adj) improbably, uncertain, unlikely, questionable. obedience: (n) meekness, submission, deference, obeisance, acquiescence, subordination, bow, observance, docility, loyalty, allegiance.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) disobedience, defiance, naughtiness, resistance, divergence, chaos, wildness. **repeating**: (*n*) repeat, iteration, renewal, repetition, redundancy, copying, reduplication; (*adj*) repetitives, iterating, iterative, repetitive, stronger: (*adj*) reprobate, insensible, reproof iniquity bardening

reproof, iniquity, hardening, shameless, graceless, immoralities, ministry; (v) Milman, misery.

But, said Cleitophon, he meant by the interest of the stronger what the stronger thought to be his interest, - this was what the weaker had to do; and this was affirmed by him to be justice.

Those were not his words, rejoined Polemarchus.

Never mind, I replied, if he now says that they are, let us accept his statement. Tell me, Thrasymachus, I said, did you mean by justice what the stronger thought to be his interest, whether really so or not?

Certainly not, he said. Do you suppose that I call him who is mistaken the stronger at the time when he is mistaken?

Yes, I said, my impression was that you did so, when you admitted that the ruler was not infallible but might be sometimes mistaken.

You argue like an **informer**, Socrates. Do you mean, for example, that he who is mistaken about the sick is a physician in that he is mistaken? or that he who errs in arithmetic or **grammar** is an arithmetician or **grammarian** at the time when he is making the mistake, in respect of the mistake? True, we say that the physician or arithmetician or grammarian has made a mistake, but this is only a way of speaking; for the fact is that neither the grammarian nor any other person of skill ever makes a mistake in so far as he is what his name implies; they none of them err unless their skill fails them, and then they cease to be skilled artists. No artist or sage or ruler errs at the time when he is what his name implies; though he is commonly said to err, and I adopted the common mode of speaking. But to be perfectly accurate, since you are such a lover of accuracy, we should say that the ruler, in so far as he is a ruler, is unerring, and, being unerring, always commands that which is for his own interest; and the subject is required to execute his commands; and therefore, as I said at first and now repeat, justice is the interest of the stronger.

Indeed, Thrasymachus, and do I really appear to you to argue like an informer?

Certainly, he replied.

#### Thesaurus

accuracy: (n) precision, fidelity, grammar: (n) rudiments, syntax, exactness, exactitude, reliability, correctness, closeness, care, veracity, meticulousness, faithfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) vagueness, imprecision, slackness, unreliability, dishonesty, incorrectness. execute: (v) do, achieve, complete, perform, accomplish, act, effect, carry out, enforce, make, fulfill. ANTONYMS: (v) abandon, ignore, disregard, Miss, forget, shirk, revive.

grammatist, elements, vade mecum, praxis, punctuation, diction, wording; (v) initiation; (adj) grammatical. grammarian: (n) philologist, syntactician. informer: (n) detective, betrayer, delator, sneak, tattletale, informant, canary, rat, grass, nark, snitch. meant: (adj) destined, implied, sincere,

preordained, intentional,

predestined; (v) intend, designate. mode: (n) means, method, form, way, style, custom, condition, guise; (n, v)manner, fashion, wise. skilled: (adj) expert, practiced, experienced, skillful, clever, accomplished, able, dexterous, competent, proficient, old. ANTONYMS: (adj) incompetent, inexperienced, unskilled, amateur, inaccurate, clumsy, bad, untrained, unqualified, unlearned.

And do you suppose that I ask these questions with any design of injuring you in the argument?

Nay, he replied, 'suppose' is not the word—I know it; but you will be found out, and by sheer force of argument you will never prevail.

I shall not make the attempt, my dear man; but to avoid any **misunderstanding occurring** between us in future, let me ask, in what sense do you speak of a ruler or stronger whose interest, as you were saying, he being the superior, it is just that the inferior should execute—is he a ruler in the popular or in the **strict** sense of the term?

In the strictest of all senses, he said. And now **cheat** and play the informer if you can; I ask no quarter at your hands. But you never will be able, never.

And do you imagine, I said, that I am such a madman as to try and cheat, Thrasymachus? I might as well **shave** a **lion**.

Why, he said, you made the attempt a minute ago, and you failed.

Enough, I said, of these **civilities**. It will be better that I should ask you a question: Is the physician, taken in that strict sense of which you are speaking, a healer of the sick or a maker of money? And remember that I am now speaking of the true physician.

A healer of the sick, he replied.

And the pilot—that is to say, the true pilot—is he a captain of **sailors** or a mere sailor?

A captain of sailors.

The circumstance that he sails in the ship is not to be taken into account; neither is he to be called a sailor; the name pilot by which he is distinguished has nothing to do with **sailing**, but is significant of his skill and of his authority over the sailors.

Very true, he said.

Now, I said, every art has an interest?

Certainly.

#### **Thesaurus**

cheat: (n, v) trick, con, fake, sham; (n) fraud, bilk, impostor; (v) defraud, beguile, betray, fleece. ANTONYMS: (v) support, repay, help, contribute, aid.
civilities: (n) propriety.
lion: (adj, n) celebrity, hero; (adj)

worthy, great card, tiger; (n) Leo, cat, king of beasts, curiosity, luminary, spectacle.

misunderstanding: (n)

misapprehension, disagreement,

misconception, misinterpretation, error, misconstruction, dispute, quarrel, mistaking; (n, v) dissension, difference. ANTONYMS: (n) harmony, fact, agreement, understanding.

occurring: (adj) going on.

sailing: (adj) nautical, at sea; (adj, n) seafaring; (n) departure, glide, gliding, boating, cruise, soaring, going, leaving.

sailor: (n) seaman, seafarer, tar,

bluejacket, gob, boatman, navigator, navy man, lascar, Panama, leghorn. shave: (v) scrape, reduce, pare, cut, brush, chip, whittle, crop; (adj, v) clip, shear, lop. ANTONYMS: (v) augment, expand, lengthen. strict: (adj) severe, stern, rigid, correct, austere, rigorous, harsh, scrupulous;

austere, rigorous, harsh, scrupulous; (adj, v) exact, accurate, precise. ANTONYMS: (adj) lenient, lax, free, negligent, imprecise, flexible, relaxed, loose, gentle, inaccurate, liberal.

For which the art has to consider and provide?

Yes, that is the aim of art.

And the interest of any art is the perfection of it—this and nothing else?

What do you mean?

I mean what I may illustrate **negatively** by the example of the body. Suppose you were to ask me whether the body is **self**-sufficing or has wants, I should reply: Certainly the body has wants; for the body may be ill and require to be cured, and has therefore interests to which the art of medicine ministers; and this is the origin and **intention** of medicine, as you will **acknowledge**. Am I not right?

Quite right, he replied.

But is the art of medicine or any other art **faulty** or deficient in any quality in the same way that the eye may be deficient in sight or the ear fail of hearing, and therefore requires another art to provide for the interests of seeing and hearing—has art in itself, I say, any similar liability to fault or defect, and does every art require another **supplementary** art to provide for its interests, and that another and another without end? Or have the arts to look only after their own interests? Or have they no need either of themselves or of another?—having no faults or defects, they have no need to correct them, either by the exercise of their own art or of any other; they have only to consider the interest of their subject-matter. For every art remains pure and faultless while remaining true—that is to say, while perfect and **unimpaired**. Take the words in your precise sense, and tell me whether I am not right.

Yes, clearly.

Then medicine does not consider the interest of medicine, but the interest of the body?

True, he said.

Nor does the art of horsemanship consider the interests of the art of horsemanship, but the interests of the horse; neither do any other arts care for

#### **Thesaurus**

acknowledge: (v) recognize, confess, accept, profess, own, admit, concede, i appreciate, notice, declare, approve. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, overlook, reject, repudiate, snub, refuse, renounce, abjure, disavow, disregard, refute.

faulty: (adi) erroneous, deficient.

faulty: (adj) erroneous, deficient, defective, false, vicious, bad, broken, wrong, incorrect, inaccurate, damaged. ANTONYMS: (adj) perfect, flawless, sound, adequate, working,

certain, logical, fine. **intention**: (*n*) idea, intent, goal,
purpose, cause, motive, mind; (*n*, *v*)
aim, end, design, drift. **negatively**: (*adv*) badly, barmfully.

**negatively**: (adv) badly, harmfully, unenthusiastically, cynically, gloomily, adversely, denyingly, uselessly, critically, destructively; (adj) virtually. ANTONYMS: (adv) optimistically, helpfully, affirmatively.

self-sufficing: (adj) self-sufficient,

closed.

supplementary: (adj, v) supplemental; (adj) subsidiary, extra, secondary, auxiliary, more, accessory, ancillary, added, subordinate, further. ANTONYMS: (adj) main, less, significant, essential. unimpaired: (adj) unbroken, intact, clean, sound, healthy, entire, complete, undamaged, uninjured; (v) unmarred, unsinged. ANTONYM: (adj) impaired.

themselves, for they have no needs; they care only for that which is the subject of their art?

True, he said.

But surely, Thrasymachus, the arts are the **superiors** and rulers of their own subjects?

To this he assented with a good deal of reluctance.

Then, I said, no science or art considers or enjoins the interest of the stronger or superior, but only the interest of the subject and weaker?

He made an attempt to **contest** this **proposition** also, but finally acquiesced.

Then, I continued, no physician, in so far as he is a physician, considers his own good in what he **prescribes**, but the good of his patient; for the true physician is also a ruler having the human body as a subject, and is not a **mere** money-maker; that has been admitted?

Yes.

And the pilot **likewise**, in the strict sense of the term, is a ruler of sailors and not a mere sailor?

That has been admitted.

And such a pilot and ruler will provide and prescribe for the interest of the sailor who is under him, and not for his own or the ruler's interest?

He gave a reluctant 'Yes.'

Then, I said, Thrasymachus, there is no one in any rule who, in so far as he is a ruler, considers or enjoins what is for his own interest, but always what is for the interest of his subject or suitable to his art; to that he looks, and that alone he considers in everything which he says and does.

When we had got to this point in the argument, and every one saw that the definition of justice had been completely upset, Thrasymachus, instead of **replying** to me, said: Tell me, Socrates, have you got a nurse?

Why do you ask such a question, I said, when you ought rather to be answering?

#### **Thesaurus**

contest: (v) compete, contend; (n) bout, competition, contention; (n, v) combat, conflict, fight, dispute, altercation, struggle. ANTONYMS: (n) tranquility, quiet, peace, calm, cooperation; (v) surrender, agree, acquiesce, accede, favor, prove. likewise: (adv) besides, in addition, furthermore, alike, moreover, further, too, similarly; (adj, adv) as well, equally; (adj) even. nere: (adi, n) entire; (adi) bare, simple,

pure; (n) loch, tarn, boundary, absolute; (n, v) downright; (adv) merely; (adj, v) clear. prescribe: (n, v) ordain; (v) enjoin, decree, dictate, fix, command, assign, determine, set, stipulate, designate. proposition: (n, v) offer, bid, proffer; (n) proposal, motion, design, approach, assertion, suggestion, plan, premise. reluctant: (adj) loath, unwilling, averse, loth, indisposed, hesitant,

involuntary, backward, diffident, shy, slow. ANTONYMS: (adj) inclined, eager, enthusiastic, happy, disposed, wholehearted, keen. replying: (adj) respondent, responsive. superior: (adj) dominant, exceptional, predominant, better, great, proud, arrogant, excellent, select, high; (adj, n) elder. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) inferior, subscript; (adj) humble, worse, poor, adscript, junior, lesser, low; (n) subordinate, associate.

Because she leaves you to **snivel**, and never wipes your nose: she has not even taught you to know the shepherd from the sheep.

What makes you say that? I replied.

Because you fancy that the shepherd or **neatherd** fattens or tends the sheep or **oxen** with a view to their own good and not to the good of himself or his master; and vou further imagine that the rulers of states, if they are true rulers, never think of their subjects as sheep, and that they are not studying their own advantage day and night. Oh, no; and so entirely astray are you in your ideas about the just and unjust as not even to know that justice and the just are in reality another's good; that is to say, the interest of the ruler and stronger, and the loss of the subject and servant; and injustice the opposite; for the unjust is lord over the truly simple and just: he is the stronger, and his subjects do what is for his interest, and minister to his happiness, which is very far from being their own. Consider further, most foolish Socrates, that the just is always a loser in comparison with the unjust. First of all, in private contracts: wherever the unjust is the partner of the just you will find that, when the partnership is **dissolved**, the unjust man has always more and the just less. Secondly, in their dealings with the State: when there is an income-tax, the just man will pay more and the unjust less on the same amount of income; and when there is anything to be received the one gains nothing and the other much. Observe also what happens when they take an office; there is the just man neglecting his affairs and perhaps suffering other losses, and getting nothing out of the public, because he is just; moreover he is hated by his friends and acquaintance for refusing to serve them in unlawful ways. But all this is reversed in the case of the unjust man. I am speaking, as before, of injustice on a large scale in which the advantage of the unjust is most apparent; and my meaning will be most clearly seen if we turn to that highest form of injustice in which the criminal is the happiest of men, and the **sufferers** or those who refuse to do injustice are the most miserable—that is to say tyranny, which by fraud and force takes away the property of others, not little by little but wholesale; comprehending in one, things sacred as well as profane, private and public; for which acts of wrong, if he were detected

#### **Thesaurus**

**dealings**: (*n*) business, dealing, relations, traffic, proceedings, transaction, affairs, contact, intercourse, trade, communication. **dissolved**: (*adj*) adulterate, gone, liquified, broken.

loser: (n) flop, washout, underdog, lame duck, dud, also-ran, geek, oaf, nerd; (adj) defeated, stupid.

ANTONYMS: (n) winner, achiever.

neatherd: (v) shepherd.

**neglecting**: (*n*) snepnerd. neglect, disregard.

oxen: (n) bull, ox, cows, cow, cattle, Bos Taurus, bullock, kine, milker, beef, dairy cow.

**refusing**: (*adj*) negative, dismissive, denying, recusative, noncompliant. **snivel**: (*n*, *v*) blubber, sob, whine, sniffle, snuffle; (*v*) weep, whimper, sniff, wail, pule; (*n*) sniveling. **sufferers**: (*n*) dead, losses, wounded,

fatalities.

**unlawful**: (*adj*) illegal, illegitimate, illicit, lawless, wrongful, prohibited,

improper, unauthorized, criminal, outlaw, irregular. ANTONYMS: (adj) legal, legitimate, authorized, honest, rightful.

wholesale: (adj) indiscriminate, extensive, broad, comprehensive; (adv) entirely, all in all, in large quantities, all; (v) sell; (n) retail, selling. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv, n, v) retail; (adj) partial, part, minor; (v) sell, buy.

perpetrating any one of them **singly**, he would be punished and **incur** great disgrace—they who do such wrong in particular cases are called robbers of temples, and man-stealers and burglars and swindlers and thieves. But when a man besides taking away the money of the citizens has made slaves of them, then, instead of these names of **reproach**, he is termed happy and blessed, not only by the citizens but by all who hear of his having achieved the **consummation** of injustice. For mankind censure injustice, fearing that they may be the victims of it and not because they shrink from committing it. And thus, as I have shown, Socrates, injustice, when on a sufficient scale, has more strength and freedom and mastery than justice; and, as I said at first, justice is the interest of the stronger, whereas injustice is a man's own profit and interest.

Thrasymachus, when he had thus spoken, having, like a bath-man, deluged our ears with his words, had a mind to go away. But the company would not let him; they insisted that he should remain and defend his position; and I myself added my own humble request that he would not leave us. Thrasymachus, I said to him, excellent man, how suggestive are your remarks! And are you going to run away before you have fairly taught or learned whether they are true or not? Is the attempt to determine the way of man's life so small a matter in your eyes—to determine how life may be passed by each one of us to the greatest advantage?

And do I differ from you, he said, as to the importance of the enquiry?

You appear rather, I replied, to have no care or thought about us, Thrasymachus—whether we live better or worse from not knowing what you say you know, is to you a matter of indifference. Prithee, friend, do not keep your knowledge to yourself; we are a large party; and any benefit which you confer upon us will be amply rewarded. For my own part I openly declare that I am not convinced, and that I do not believe injustice to be more gainful than justice, even if uncontrolled and allowed to have free play. For, granting that there may be an unjust man who is able to commit injustice either by fraud or force, still this does not convince me of the superior advantage of injustice, and there may be others who are in the same **predicament** with myself. Perhaps we

#### **Thesaurus**

amply: (adi), adv) abundantly, sufficiently; (adv) fully, well, lavishly, plentifully, richly, generously, enough, adequately, capaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) meagerly, inadequately, illiberally, sparingly, poorly. confer: (v) give, accord, award, afford,

confer: (v) give, accord, award, afford, grant, discuss, converse, consult, show; (n, v) talk; (adj, v) present.
ANTONYMS: (v) withdraw, deny, dishonor, retrieve, take.

consummation: (n) accomplishment, completion, fulfillment, fruition, performance, execution, climax, attainment, perfection, end, realization.

incur: (n, v) contract; (v) catch, get, incite, begin, cause, encounter, experience, obtain, suffer, receive. **predicament**: (n) dilemma, fix, plight, crisis, difficulty, mess, quandary, case, category, impasse; (n, v) condition.

**reproach**: (*n*, *v*) blame, rebuke, charge, abuse, disgrace, reprimand, invective; (*v*) accuse, chide, condemn; (*n*) condemnation. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) praise; (*v*) commend, approve; (*n*) compliment, commendation, approval.

singly: (adv) one by one, separately, independently, severally, solely, respectively; (adj, adv) alone, only, merely; (adj) single, particularly. ANTONYM: (adv) multiply.

may be wrong; if so, you in your wisdom should convince us that we are mistaken in preferring justice to injustice.

And how am I to convince you, he said, if you are not already convinced by what I have just said; what more can I do for you? Would you have me put the proof bodily into your souls?

Heaven forbid! I said; I would only ask you to be consistent; or, if you change, change openly and let there be no **deception**. For I must remark, Thrasymachus, if you will recall what was previously said, that although you began by defining the true physician in an exact sense, you did not observe a like exactness when speaking of the shepherd; you thought that the shepherd as a shepherd tends the sheep not with a view to their own good, but like a mere **diner** or banquetter with a view to the pleasures of the table; or, again, as a **trader** for sale in the market, and not as a shepherd. Yet surely the art of the shepherd is concerned only with the good of his subjects; he has only to provide the best for them, since the perfection of the art is already **ensured** whenever all the requirements of it are satisfied. And that was what I was saying just now about the ruler. I conceived that the art of the ruler, considered as ruler, whether in a state or in private life, could only regard the good of his flock or subjects; whereas you seem to think that the rulers in states, that is to say, the true rulers, like being in authority.

Think! Nay, I am sure of it.

Then why in the case of lesser **offices** do men never take them **willingly** without payment, unless under the idea that they govern for the advantage not of themselves but of others? Let me ask you a question: Are not the several arts different, by reason of their each having a separate function? And, my dear **illustrious** friend, do say what you think, that we may make a little progress.

Yes, that is the difference, he replied.

And each art gives us a particular good and not merely a general one—medicine, for example, gives us health; **navigation**, safety at sea, and so on?

Yes, he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

deception: (n, v) cheat; (n) illusion, trick, pretense, delusion, betrayal, fake, flam, bluff, gammon, cheating. ANTONYMS: (n) honesty, candidness, sincerity, openness, correction, integrity, genuine, truthfulness. diner: (n) carver, buffet car, cutter, eater, eating house, feeder, restaurant car, cafe, restaurant, coach, caf. ensured: (adj) certain, constitutional. illustrious: (adi, n) glorious,

celebrated, excellent, grand; (adj) famous, bright, eminent, famed, distinguished, brilliant, well-known. ANTONYMS: (adj) unknown, obscure, ordinary, undistinguished, lowly.

**navigation**: (*n*) sailing, steering, shipping, seafaring, cabotage, astronavigation, work, transportation, transport, travel, flight. **offices**: (*n*) kitchen, pantry, scullery.

trader: (n) merchant, monger, shopkeeper, trafficker, chandler, seller, merchandiser, seedman, seedsman, barterer, mercer. willingly: (adv) readily, voluntarily, cheerfully, spontaneously, helpfully, disposedly, actively, openly, obligingly, eagerly; (adj, adv) freely. ANTONYMS: (adv) grudgingly, reluctantly, uncooperatively, unenthusiastically.

And the art of payment has the special function of giving pay: but we do not confuse this with other arts, any more than the art of the pilot is to be **confused** with the art of medicine, because the health of the pilot may be improved by a sea voyage. You would not be **inclined** to say, would you, that navigation is the art of medicine, at least if we are to adopt your exact use of language?

Certainly not.

Or because a man is in good health when he receives pay you would not say that the art of payment is medicine?

I should not.

Nor would you say that medicine is the art of receiving pay because a man takes **fees** when he is **engaged** in healing?

Certainly not.

And we have admitted, I said, that the good of each art is specially **confined** to the art?

Yes.

Then, if there be any good which all artists have in common, that is to be attributed to something of which they all have the common use?

True, he replied.

And when the artist is benefited by receiving pay the advantage is gained by an additional use of the art of pay, which is not the art professed by him?

He gave a reluctant **assent** to this.

Then the pay is not derived by the several artists from their respective arts. But the truth is, that while the art of medicine gives health, and the art of the builder builds a house, another art attends them which is the art of pay. The various arts may be doing their own business and benefiting that over which they preside, but would the artist receive any benefit from his art unless he were paid as well?

I suppose not.

But does he therefore confer no benefit when he works for nothing?

# assent: (n) acceptance, acquiescence, approval, agreement, compliance, admission, approbation; (n) acceptance, acquiescence, approval, agreement, compliance, admission, approbation; (n) acceptance, acquiescence, acquiescence,

approval, agreement, compliance, admission, approbation; (v) accede, accord, agree; (adj, v) acquiesce.

ANTONYMS: (v) resist, disagree, disapprove, reject, refuse; (n) disagreement, refusal, resistance.

confined: (adj) limited, cramped, imprisoned, bounded, enclosed, restricted, narrow, constrained, strict; (adj, v) close, invalided.

ANTONYMS: (adj) liberated,

invasive, roomy, unconfined, unlimited, open, spacious, general. confused: (adj) abashed, baffled, befuddled, bemused, dizzy, chaotic, confounded, deranged, incoherent, disjointed, indistinct. ANTONYMS: (adj) enlightened, orderly, alert, clearheaded, organized, oriented, precise, systematic, ordered, unimpressed, methodical. engaged: (adj) occupied, betrothed, employed, affianced, engrossed,

reserved, absorbed, working, pledged, involved, committed. ANTONYMS: (adj) free, unengaged, unemployed, uncommitted, unattached, single, detached, idle. fees: (n) fee, cost, emoluments. inclined: (adj, v) given; (adj) prone, willing, oblique, apt, predisposed, ready, minded, likely, liable, bowed. ANTONYMS: (adj) reluctant, unwilling, disinclined, horizontal, unbiased, vertical, impervious.

Certainly, he confers a benefit.

Then now, Thrasymachus, there is no longer any doubt that neither arts nor governments provide for their own interests; but, as we were before saying, they rule and provide for the interests of their subjects who are the weaker and not the stronger—to their good they attend and not to the good of the superior. And this is the reason, my dear Thrasymachus, why, as I was just now saying, no one is willing to govern; because no one **likes** to take in hand the reformation of evils which are not his concern without **remuneration**. For, in the execution of his work, and in giving his orders to another, the true artist does not regard his own interest, but always that of his subjects; and therefore in order that rulers may be willing to rule, they must be paid in one of three modes of payment, money, or honour, or a penalty for refusing.

What do you mean, Socrates? said Glaucon. The first two modes of payment are intelligible enough, but what the penalty is I do not understand, or how a penalty can be a payment.

You mean that you do not understand the nature of this payment which to the best men is the great **inducement** to rule? Of course you know that ambition and avarice are held to be, as indeed they are, a **disgrace**?

Very true.

And for this reason, I said, money and honour have no attraction for them; good men do not wish to be openly demanding payment for governing and so to get the name of hirelings, nor by **secretly** helping themselves out of the public **revenues** to get the name of thieves. And not being ambitious they do not care about honour. Wherefore necessity must be laid upon them, and they must be induced to serve from the fear of punishment. And this, as I imagine, is the reason why the **forwardness** to take office, instead of waiting to be compelled, has been deemed **dishonourable**. Now the worst part of the punishment is that he who refuses to rule is liable to be **ruled** by one who is worse than himself. And the fear of this, as I conceive, induces the good to take office, not because they would, but because they cannot help—not under the idea that they are going to have any benefit or enjoyment themselves, but as a necessity, and

#### **Thesaurus**

disgrace: (adj, n, v) dishonor; (n, v) discredit, shame, stain, blemish, blot, slur, reproach; (v) degrade, debase; (n) degradation. ANTONYMS: (n, v) respect, esteem, credit; (v) glorify, dignify, praise; (n) merit, grace, pride, rise, worthiness.

dishonourable: (adj) base, disgraceful, shabby, dishonest, sordid, discreditable, ignoble, shameful, crooked, opprobrious, black.

forwardness: (adj) alacrity, readiness,

earnestness; (n) precocity, reward, impudence, presumption, cockiness, bumptiousness, impertinence, cheekiness, temerity.

inducement: (n) enticement, attraction, cause, incitement, impulse, temptation, bait, impetus, occasion, motive, goad. ANTONYMS: (n) disincentive, deterrent.

likes: (n) kind, sort, type.

revenue: vocacion, motive, goad. ANTONYMS: (n) furtivel secretive remuneration: (n, v) compensation, restitution; (n) recompense, pay, deliber:

reward, earnings, wage, payment, salary, fee, consideration.

revenues: (n) earnings, receipts, proceeds, income, profits.

ruled: (adj) lined, lawful, subordinate, subject.

secretly: (adv) privately, confidentially, quietly, stealthily, surreptitiously, furtively, in secret, darkly, secretively, clandestinely, occultly. ANTONYMS: (adv) publicly, deliberately, brazenly.

because they are not able to commit the task of ruling to any one who is better than themselves, or indeed as good. For there is reason to think that if a city were composed entirely of good men, then to avoid office would be as much an object of **contention** as to obtain office is at present; then we should have plain proof that the true ruler is not meant by nature to regard his own interest, but that of his subjects; and every one who knew this would choose rather to receive a benefit from another than to have the trouble of conferring one. So far am I from agreeing with Thrasymachus that justice is the interest of the stronger. This latter question need not be further discussed at present; but when Thrasymachus says that the life of the unjust is more advantageous than that of the just, his new statement appears to me to be of a far more serious character. Which of us has spoken truly? And which sort of life, Glaucon, do you prefer?

I for my part deem the life of the just to be the more advantageous, he answered.

Did you hear all the advantages of the unjust which Thrasymachus was rehearsing?

Yes, I heard him, he replied, but he has not convinced me.

Then shall we try to find some way of convincing him, if we can, that he is saying what is not true?

Most certainly, he replied.

If, I said, he makes a set speech and we make another **recounting** all the advantages of being just, and he answers and we **rejoin**, there must be a **numbering** and **measuring** of the goods which are claimed on either side, and in the end we shall want judges to decide; but if we proceed in our **enquiry** as we lately did, by making admissions to one another, we shall unite the offices of judge and **advocate** in our own persons.

Very good, he said.

And which method do I understand you to prefer? I said.

That which you propose.

#### **Thesaurus**

advocate: (n, v) counsel, support; (n) backer, champion, sponsor, counselor, defender, attorney; (v) vindicate, urge, defend.

ANTONYMS: (n) detractor, skeptic, opponent, critic, attacker; (v) assail, attack, criticize, impugn, protest, discourage.

contention: (n) competition, battle, conflict, argumentation, argument, discord, assertion, controversy, allegation, arguing, difference. ANTONYMS: (*n*) affection, kindness, friendship, friendliness, agreement, accord, cooperation, denial. **enquiry**: (*n*) probe, investigation, inquiry, quest, exploration, survey, inquiries, poll. **enumeration**, list, numer reckoning, listing, determing the thread count, number recounting: (*n*) counting, enumeration, list, numer reckoning, listing, determing the thread count, number in the t

measuring: (n) measure, mensuration, scaling, surveying, hydrometry, actinometry, gravimetry, densitometry, calorimetry, bathymetry, audiometry.

numbering: (n) counting, enumeration, list, numeration, reckoning, listing, determination of the thread count, number coding. recounting: (n) narration, relation, recital, narrative, tale, story, notification, practice, recitation, relating, unfolding. rehearsing: (n) rehearsal. rejoin: (v) reply, retort, respond, join, return, come back, riposte, meet, rebut, answer back, react.

Well, then, Thrasymachus, I said, suppose you begin at the beginning and answer me. You say that perfect injustice is more gainful than perfect justice?

Yes, that is what I say, and I have given you my reasons.

And what is your view about them? Would you call one of them virtue and the other vice?

Certainly.

I suppose that you would call justice virtue and injustice vice?

What a charming notion! So likely too, seeing that I affirm injustice to be **profitable** and justice not.

What else then would you say?

The opposite, he replied.

And would you call justice vice?

No, I would rather say sublime simplicity.

Then would you call injustice malignity?

No; I would rather say discretion.

And do the unjust appear to you to be wise and good?

Yes, he said; at any rate those of them who are able to be perfectly unjust, and who have the power of **subduing** states and nations; but perhaps you imagine me to be talking of cutpurses. Even this profession if undetected has advantages, though they are not to be compared with those of which I was just now speaking.

I do not think that I **misapprehend** your meaning, Thrasymachus, I replied; but still I cannot hear without **amazement** that you class injustice with wisdom and virtue, and justice with the opposite.

Certainly I do so class them.

Now, I said, you are on more substantial and almost **unanswerable** ground; for if the injustice which you were maintaining to be profitable had been admitted by you as by others to be vice and deformity, an answer might have been given to you on received principles; but now I perceive that you will call

#### Thesaurus

amazement: (n) admiration, wonder, surprise, consternation, stupefaction, stupor, wonderment, feeling, alarm, jolt; (v) amaze. ANTONYMS: (n) preparation, indifference, expectation, coolness, cool, composure, calmness, contempt, belief.

malignity: (n) malevolence, malignance, venom, animosity, enmity, hatred, evil, rancor, spite, malignancy, hate. ANTONYM: (n) benignity.

misapprehend: (v) misconstrue,
misinterpret, misconceive, mistake,
misread, misjudge, err, misspell,
mistranslate; (n) miscount,
misreckon. ANTONYMS: (v)
understand, appreciate, interpret.
profitable: (adj) helpful, beneficial,
fruitful, advantageous, good,
lucrative, useful, gainful, desirable,
fat, valuable. ANTONYMS: (adj)
dependent, disadvantageous,

unhelpful, fruitless. subduing: (adj) aggressively haughty, conquering, domineering, insolent, overbearing, overcoming, overpowering, repressing, suppressive; (n) bondage, oppression. unanswerable: (adj) irrefutable, final, incontestable, irresponsible, incontrovertible, indisputable, decisive, ultimate, undeniable, not refragable; (v) probative.

injustice honourable and strong, and to the unjust you will attribute all the qualities which were attributed by us before to the just, seeing that you do not **hesitate** to rank injustice with wisdom and virtue.

You have **guessed** most **infallibly**, he replied.

Then I certainly ought not to **shrink** from going through with the argument so long as I have reason to think that you, Thrasymachus, are speaking your real mind; for I do believe that you are now in earnest and are not amusing yourself at our expense.

I may be in earnest or not, but what is that to you?—to **refute** the argument is your business.

Very true, I said; that is what I have to do: But will you be so good as answer yet one more question? Does the just man try to gain any advantage over the iust?

Far otherwise; if he did he would not be the simple amusing **creature** which he is.

And would he try to go beyond just action?

He would not.

And how would he regard the attempt to gain an advantage over the unjust; would that be considered by him as just or unjust?

He would think it just, and would try to gain the advantage; but he would not be able.

Whether he would or would not be able, I said, is not to the point. My question is only whether the just man, while refusing to have more than another just man, would wish and claim to have more than the unjust?

Yes, he would.

And what of the unjust – does he claim to have more than the just man and to do more than is just?

Of course, he said, for he claims to have more than all men.

#### Thesaurus

amusing: (adj) humorous, fun, pleasant, entertaining, risible, comical, diverting, enjoyable, laughable, agreeable, pleasing. ANTONYMS: (adj) tragic, boring, unpleasant, unfunny, tiring, grim, depressing, sad, annoying, heavy, serious.

creature: (n) being, brute, animal, tool, individual, person, body, entity, human, puppet, somebody. guessed: (adj) rude, inscrutable.

**hesitate**: (adj, n, v) pause, delay; (adj, v) **refute**: (v) confute, contradict, linger; (v) fluctuate, halt, waver, vacillate, demur, boggle, procrastinate; (n, v) doubt. ANTONYMS: (v) rush, decide. **honourable**: (*adj*) estimable, reverend, **shrink**: (*adj*, *v*) recoil; (*n*, *v*) flinch, venerable, glorious, honorable, distinguished, above-board, good, worthy, right, noble. infallibly: (adv) unerringly, unfailingly, inerrably, assuredly, certainly, firmly.

controvert, oppose, disprove, rebut, deny, invalidate, negate, gainsay; (n, v) answer. ANTONYMS: (v) agree, prove, avow, confirm, corroborate. wince; (v) contract, shorten, lessen, diminish, cower, reduce, quail, decrease. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, enlarge, grow, stretch, swell, bloom, rise, inflate.

And the unjust man will **strive** and struggle to obtain more than the unjust man or action, in order that he may have more than all?

True.

We may put the matter thus, I said—the just does not desire more than his like but more than his unlike, whereas the unjust desires more than both his like and his unlike?

Nothing, he said, can be better than that statement.

And the unjust is good and wise, and the just is **neither**?

Good again, he said.

And is not the unjust like the wise and good and the just unlike them?

Of course, he said, he who is of a certain nature, is like those who are of a certain nature; he who is not, not.

Each of them, I said, is such as his like is?

Certainly, he replied.

Very good, Thrasymachus, I said; and now to take the case of the arts: you would **admit** that one man is a musician and another not a musician?

Yes.

And which is wise and which is foolish?

Clearly the musician is wise, and he who is not a musician is foolish.

And he is good in as far as he is wise, and bad in as far as he is foolish?

Yes.

And you would say the same sort of thing of the physician?

Yes.

And do you think, my excellent friend, that a musician when he adjusts the lyre would desire or claim to **exceed** or go beyond a musician in the **tightening** and **loosening** the **strings**?

I do not think that he would.

### **Thesaurus**

admit: (*n*, *v*) allow; (*adj*, *v*) acknowledge; (*v*) concede, accede, grant, affirm, confess, include, permit, take, welcome. ANTONYMS: (*v*) reject, exclude, bar, dispute, gainsay, withhold, refuse, oust, hide, eject, dismiss.

exceed: (v) beat, pass, surpass, transcend, outdo, surmount, cap, outshine, overrun, top, outweigh. ANTONYMS: (v) follow, fail, trail, make. foolish: (adj) childish, fool, crazy, dumb, daft, fatuous, stupid, unwise, preposterous, dopey; (adj, n) silly. ANTONYMS: (adj) wise, sensible, shrewd, prudent, visionary, diplomatic, levelheaded, sane, rational, mature, judicious. loosening: (n) relaxation, unfastening, ease, undoing, liberalization, adjustment alteration liberalization, adjustment alteration liberalization.

ease, undoing, liberalization, adjustment, alteration, liberalisation, easiness; (adj) solutive, laxative. neither: (conj) either, no-one, not

either, nor, nother.

strings: (n) string, string section, sway,
control, dealings, domination,
jurisdiction, terms, condition,
command, provision.

strive: (v) endeavor, contend, contest,
struggle, fight, attempt, combat,
strain, work, aspire, aim.

tightening: (n) clamping, thinning,
tapering, alteration, modification,
narrowing, reduction, adjustment.

ANTONYM: (n) expansion.

But he would claim to exceed the non-musician?

Of course.

And what would you say of the physician? In prescribing meats and drinks would he wish to go beyond another physician or beyond the practice of medicine?

He would not.

But he would wish to go beyond the non-physician?

Yes.

And about knowledge and **ignorance** in general; see whether you think that any man who has knowledge ever would wish to have the choice of saying or doing more than another man who has knowledge. Would he not rather say or do the same as his like in the same case?

That, I suppose, can hardly be denied.

And what of the ignorant? would he not desire to have more than either the **knowing** or the ignorant?

I dare say.

And the knowing is wise?

And the wise is good?

True.

Then the wise and good will not desire to gain more than his like, but more than his **unlike** and opposite?

I suppose so.

Whereas the bad and ignorant will desire to gain more than both?

But did we not say, Thrasymachus, that the unjust goes beyond both his like and unlike? Were not these your words?

### **Thesaurus**

dare: (n, v) venture; (v) defy, brave, hazard, confront, risk, resist, make bold; (n) adventure, daring, defiance. ANTONYMS: (v) avoid, flee, pass, refrain, retreat, obey.

drinks: (n) refreshments, food and

**gain**: (n, v) profit, benefit, win, catch, advance; (v) derive, earn, get, attain, reach; (n) earnings. ANTONYMS: (n) loss, deficit, disadvantage, setback; (n, v) decrease; (v) reduce, scatter,

ignorance: (n) illiteracy, nescience, folly, unwisdom, innocence, denseness, ignorancy, stupidity, obtuseness, tabula rasa, unawareness. ANTONYMS: (n) intelligence, acquaintance, education. whereas: (conj) while, though, whenas, knowing: (adj, v) canny, crafty, wise; (adj, n) clever; (adj) conscious, aware, ingenious, intelligent, bright, conversant, smart. ANTONYMS:

(adj) naive, uncomprehending,

unlike: (adj) dissimilar, different, diverse, unequal, disparate, distinct, separate, unalike, opposite, heterogeneous, not similar. ANTONYMS: (adj) like, alike, same. where, albeit; (adv) when, whilst, then; (prep) because; (n) grounds for a decisions.

They were.

And you also said that the just will not go beyond his like but his unlike?

Yes.

Then the just is like the wise and good, and the unjust like the evil and ignorant?

That is the inference.

And each of them is such as his like is?

That was admitted.

Then the just has turned out to be wise and good and the unjust evil and ignorant.

Thrasymachus made all these admissions, not fluently, as I repeat them, but with extreme **reluctance**; it was a hot summer's day, and the perspiration **poured** from him in **torrents**; and then I saw what I had never seen before, Thrasymachus **blushing**. As we were now agreed that justice was virtue and wisdom, and injustice vice and ignorance, I **proceeded** to another point:

Well, I said, Thrasymachus, that matter is now settled; but were we not also saying that injustice had strength; do you remember?

Yes, I remember, he said, but do not suppose that I **approve** of what you are saying or have no answer; if however I were to answer, you would be quite certain to **accuse** me of **haranguing**; therefore either **permit** me to have my say out, or if you would rather ask, do so, and I will answer 'Very good,' as they say to story-telling old women, and will nod 'Yes' and 'No.'

Certainly not, I said, if contrary to your real opinion.

Yes, he said, I will, to please you, since you will not let me speak. What else would you have?

Nothing in the world, I said; and if you are so disposed I will ask and you shall answer.

Proceed.

### Thesaurus

accuse: (v) charge, incriminate, arraign, denounce, defame, criminate, indict, fault, betray, condemn, inculpate. ANTONYMS: (v) absolve, exculpate, exonerate, praise, support, clear.

approve: (v) adopt, allow, accept, acknowledge, ratify, let, agree, endorse, admit, support, applaud.

ANTONYMS: (v) condemn, censure, disapprove, veto, forbid, invalidate, disallow, disrespect, deny, desecrate,

oppose.

blushing: (adj) rosy, coy, blushful,
flushed, red, shy, bashful,
overmodest, ruddy; (adv) blushingly,
ablush. ANTONYM: (adj) pale.
haranguing: (n) declamation.
permit: (adj, n, v) give, allow, consent;
(adj, v) grant; (n, v) license, leave; (v)
admit, let, bear; (n) licence,
permission. ANTONYMS: (n, v) ban;
(v) prevent, prohibit, stop, refuse,
veto, outlaw, disagree, debar, bar; (n)

prohibition.

poured: (adj) concrete.

proceeded: (v) proceed, yode.

reluctance: (n) aversion, hesitation, indisposition, distaste, disgust, dislike, opposition, unwillingness, repugnance, diffidence, scruple.

ANTONYMS: (n) readiness, disposition, keenness, willingness, enthusiasm.

torrents: (n) white water, rapids.

Then I will repeat the question which I asked before, in order that our examination of the relative nature of justice and injustice may be carried on regularly. A statement was made that injustice is stronger and more powerful than justice, but now justice, having been **identified** with wisdom and virtue, is easily shown to be stronger than injustice, if injustice is ignorance; this can no longer be questioned by any one. But I want to view the matter, Thrasymachus, in a different way: You would not deny that a state may be unjust and may be unjustly attempting to enslave other states, or may have already enslaved them, and may be holding many of them in subjection?

True, he replied; and I will add that the best and most perfectly unjust state will be most likely to do so.

I know, I said, that such was your position; but what I would further consider is, whether this power which is possessed by the superior state can exist or be exercised without justice or only with justice.

If you are right in your view, and justice is wisdom, then only with justice; but if I am right, then without justice.

I am delighted, Thrasymachus, to see you not only **nodding** assent and **dissent**, but making answers which are quite excellent.

That is out of **civility** to you, he replied.

You are very kind, I said; and would you have the goodness also to inform me, whether you think that a state, or an army, or a band of robbers and thieves, or any other gang of evil-doers could act at all if they injured one another?

No indeed, he said, they could not.

But if they abstained from injuring one another, then they might act together better?

Yes.

And this is because injustice creates divisions and hatreds and fighting, and justice imparts **harmony** and friendship; is not that true, Thrasymachus?

I agree, he said, because I do not wish to quarrel with you.

# civility: (n) politeness, courtesy, comity, attention, propriety, affability, amenity, cultivation, complaisance, courteousness, civilization. ANTONYMS: (n) rudeness, incivility, coarseness. dissent: (n, v) discord, dispute, protest; (n) dissension, difference, conflict, objection; (v) disagree, differ, object, contradict. ANTONYMS: (v) assent, endorse, concur, comply, approve, sanction; (n) agreement,

Thesaurus consent, concurrence, accord,

compliance. harmony: (n) accord, consonance, agreement, correspondence, accordance, congruity, consistency, amity; (n, v) concord, peace; (v) concert. ANTONYMS: (n) discord, disagreement, argument, conflict, bitterness, harshness, incongruity, uproar, hostility, misery, upheaval. identified: (adj) coherent, synonymous, recognized.

nodding: (adj) cernuous, drooping, dozy, dozing, somnolent, drugged, pendulous, drowsing, droopy, annuent, flagging. ANTONYM: (adj) awake.

**quarrel**: (adj, n, v) dispute; (n, v) fight, feud, brawl, row, altercation, argue, conflict, squabble; (n) dissension, difference. ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, reconciliation, acceptance, concord, consensus; (v) agree.

How good of you, I said; but I should like to know also whether injustice, having this tendency to arouse **hatred**, wherever existing, among slaves or among freemen, will not make them hate one another and set them at variance and render them incapable of common action?

Certainly.

And even if injustice be found in two only, will they not quarrel and fight, and become enemies to one another and to the just?

They will.

And suppose injustice abiding in a single person, would your wisdom say that she loses or that she retains her natural power?

Let us assume that she retains her power.

Yet is not the power which injustice exercises of such a nature that wherever she takes up her abode, whether in a city, in an army, in a family, or in any other body, that body is, to begin with, rendered incapable of united action by reason of **sedition** and **distraction**; and does it not become its own enemy and at variance with all that opposes it, and with the just? Is not this the case?

Yes, certainly.

And is not injustice equally fatal when existing in a single person; in the first place **rendering** him incapable of action because he is not at unity with himself, and in the second place making him an enemy to himself and the just? Is not that true, Thrasymachus?

Yes

And O my friend, I said, surely the gods are just?

Granted that they are.

But if so, the unjust will be the enemy of the gods, and the just will be their friend?

**Feast** away in triumph, and take your fill of the argument; I will not oppose you, lest I should **displease** the company.

### **Thesaurus**

displease: (v) annoy, disgust, bother, anger, vex, affront, offend, rile, irritate, nark, nettle. ANTONYMS: (v) please, satisfy, pacify, delight. distraction: (adj, n) desperation, raving; (n) beguilement, pastime, diversion, confusion, entertainment, disturbance, daze, recreation; (adj) madness. ANTONYMS: (n) fascination, attentiveness, attention, noninterference, calmness, concentration.

**feast**: (*n*, *v*) junket, fete; (*n*) entertainment, dinner, binge, spread, celebration, jamboree, carousal; (*v*) feed, eat. ANTONYMS: (*v*) abstain, starve; (*n*) snack.

hatred: (*n*, *v*) detestation, enmity, animosity; (*n*) aversion, antipathy, disgust, abhorrence, grudge, anger, abomination, hostility. ANTONYMS: (*n*) liking, adoration, affection, attraction, goodwill, kindness, delight, friendliness, admiration.

rendering: (n) interpretation, translation, rendition, reading, representation, version, interpreting, depiction, execution, construction, explanation.

**sedition**: (*n*, *v*) rebellion, insurrection, mutiny; (*n*) disloyalty, fomentation, disobedience, treason, instigation, violation, unrest, uprising.

ANTONYM: (*n*) loyalty.

Well then, **proceed** with your answers, and let me have the remainder of my **repast**. For we have already shown that the just are clearly wiser and better and abler than the unjust, and that the unjust are incapable of common action; nay more, that to speak as we did of men who are evil acting at any time **vigorously** together, is not strictly true, for if they had been perfectly evil, they would have laid hands upon one another; but it is evident that there must have been some remnant of justice in them, which enabled them to combine; if there had not been they would have injured one another as well as their victims; they were but half-villains in their enterprises; for had they been whole villains, and **utterly** unjust, they would have been utterly incapable of action. That, as I believe, is the truth of the matter, and not what you said at first. But whether the just have a better and happier life than the unjust is a further question which we also proposed to consider. I think that they have, and for the reasons which I have given; but still I should like to examine further, for no light matter is at **stake**, nothing less than the rule of human life.

Proceed.

I will proceed by asking a question: Would you not say that a horse has some end?

I should.

And the end or use of a horse or of anything would be that which could not be **accomplished**, or not so well accomplished, by any other thing?

I do not understand, he said.

Let me explain: Can you see, except with the eye?

Certainly not.

Or hear, except with the ear?

No.

These then may be truly said to be the ends of these organs?

They may.

### **Thesaurus**

accomplished: (adj) proficient, able, skillful, gifted, finished, experienced, completed, adept, fine, versed, competent. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfinished, amateur, untrained, unskilled, unseasoned, unable, inexpert, green, clumsy, bad, mediocre.

organs: (n) offal, haslet, giblet, chitlins,

organs: (n) offal, haslet, giblet, chitlins, chitlings, chitterlings, insides, tongue, variety meat, sweetbread, tripe.

proceed: (v) move, advance, originate,

ensue, flow, issue, arise, emanate; (adj, v) pass, run, extend.
ANTONYMS: (v) discontinue, recede, regress, return, retreat.

repast: (n) feast, food, banquet, dinner, vigorously: (adv) smartly, strongly, lunch, refection, collation, luncheon, spread, potluck, eating. vigorously: (adv) smartly, strongly, energetically, mightily, forcefully, heartily, actively, robustly, freshly.

**stake**: (*n*, *v*) risk, chance, venture, bet, wager, post, pole, gamble, support; (*n*) interest, shaft.

**utterly**: (*adv*) completely, absolutely, totally, entirely, extremely,

altogether, expressly, purely, dead, fully, wholly. ANTONYMS: (adv) partly, uncertain, slightly, incompletely, hardly, somewhat. vigorously: (adv) smartly, strongly, energetically, mightily, forcefully, heartily, actively, robustly, freshly, vehemently, ardently. ANTONYMS: (adv) lifelessly, wearily, passively, languorously, slowly, submissively, weakly, impassively, gently, lethargically.

But you can cut off a vine-branch with a **dagger** or with a **chisel**, and in many other ways?

Of course.

And yet not so well as with a pruning-hook made for the purpose?

True.

May we not say that this is the end of a pruning-hook?

We may.

Then now I think you will have no difficulty in understanding my meaning when I asked the question whether the end of anything would be that which could not be accomplished, or not so well accomplished, by any other thing?

I understand your meaning, he said, and assent.

And that to which an end is appointed has also an **excellence**? Need I ask again whether the eye has an end?

It has.

And has not the eye an excellence?

Yes.

And the ear has an end and an excellence also?

True.

And the same is true of all other things; they have each of them an end and a special excellence?

That is so.

Well, and can the **eyes fulfil** their end if they are **wanting** in their own proper excellence and have a defect instead?

How can they, he said, if they are blind and cannot see?

You mean to say, if they have lost their proper excellence, which is sight; but I have not arrived at that point yet. I would rather ask the question more generally, and only enquire whether the things which fulfil their ends fulfil them by their own proper excellence, and fail of **fulfilling** them by their own defect?

### **Thesaurus**

blind: (n) curtain, shutter, veil, drape, awning, trick; (v) bedazzle, dazzle, daze; (adj) sightless; (adj, v) obscure. ANTONYMS: (adj) sightled, uncovered, understanding, sharp, seeing, revealed, quick, perceptive, open, controlled, cautious.

chisel: (v) cut, cheat, shape, beguile, screw, engrave, beat, victimize, sculpture, cozen; (n) burin.

dagger: (n) bodkin, sword, blade, obelisk, knife, stiletto, dirk, cutlass,

grapheme, saber, skean.

excellence: (adj, n) worth, eminence, desert; (n) distinction, advantage, goodness, superiority, virtue, greatness, predominance; (adj) mastery. ANTONYMS: (n) mediocrity, failing, fault, flaw, unevenness, imperfection, disgrace, commonness.

eyes: (n) sight, eye, vision, view, baby blues guard, propensity, even

eyes: (n) sight, eye, vision, view, baby blues, guard, propensity, eyen. fulfil: (v) complete, finish, accomplish,

do, appease, carry out, execute, carry through, satisfy, perform, fill. fulfilling: (adj) satisfying, satisfactory, pleasing, uplifting, pleasurable, effectual; (n) execution, enforcement. ANTONYM: (adj) frustrating. wanting: (adj, v) missing; (adj) deficient, lacking, absent, defective, short, failing, insufficient, devoid, poor, incomplete. ANTONYMS: (adj) sufficient, satisfactory, adequate, full, present.

Certainly, he replied.

I might say the same of the ears; when **deprived** of their own proper excellence they cannot fulfil their end?

True.

And the same observation will apply to all other things?

I agree.

Well; and has not the **soul** an end which nothing else can fulfil? for example, to **superintend** and command and **deliberate** and the like. Are not these functions proper to the soul, and can they **rightly** be **assigned** to any other?

To no other.

And is not life to be reckoned among the ends of the soul?

Assuredly, he said.

And has not the soul an excellence also?

Yes.

And can she or can she not fulfil her own ends when deprived of that excellence?

She cannot.

Then an evil soul must necessarily be an evil ruler and **superintendent**, and the good soul a good ruler?

Yes, necessarily.

And we have admitted that justice is the excellence of the soul, and injustice the defect of the soul?

That has been admitted.

Then the just soul and the just man will live well, and the unjust man will live ill?

That is what your argument proves.

### **Thesaurus**

assigned: (adj) designated, allotted, specified, destined, designate, allocated, definite. deliberate: (v) cogitate, consult, debate, think, confer, contemplate; (adj) careful, circumspect, slow, thoughtful, calculated. ANTONYMS: (adj) unintentional, accidental, hasty, ingenuous, involuntary, spontaneous, rushed, automatic, unwitting, unstudied, subliminal. deprived: (adj) bereft, poor, destitute,

depressed, needy, broke, bankrupt, denuded, humble, indigent, insolvent. ANTONYMS: (adj) rich, exalted, salubrious.

rightly: (adv) correctly, rightfully, properly, accurately, appropriately, exactly, fitly, straightly, fairly, really; (adv, v) adequately. ANTONYMS: (adv) wrongly, inappropriately, incorrectly, immorally, unjustly, partially, sinfully, unfairly, falsely.

soul: (n) creature, human, person,

personification, ghost, individual, mind, essence, life, self; (adj, n) heart. ANTONYMS: (n) surface, body. superintend: (v) oversee, manage, direct, administer, control, run, supervise, govern, handle, overlook, inspect.

**superintendent**: (*n*) supervisor, manager, overseer, inspector, administrator, keeper, chief, guardian, caretaker; (*adj*, *n*) governor, curator.

And he who lives well is **blessed** and happy, and he who lives ill the reverse of happy?

Certainly.

Then the just is happy, and the unjust miserable?

So be it.

But happiness and not misery is profitable.

Of course.

Then, my blessed Thrasymachus, injustice can never be more profitable than justice.

Let this, Socrates, he said, be your entertainment at the Bendidea.

For which I am indebted to you, I said, now that you have grown gentle towards me and have left off scolding. Nevertheless, I have not been well entertained; but that was my own fault and not yours. As an **epicure snatches** a taste of every **dish** which is **successively** brought to table, he not having allowed himself time to enjoy the one before, so have I gone from one subject to another without having discovered what I sought at first, the nature of justice. I left that enquiry and turned away to consider whether justice is virtue and wisdom or evil and **folly**; and when there arose a further question about the comparative advantages of justice and injustice, I could not **refrain** from passing on to that. And the result of the whole discussion has been that I know nothing at all. For I know not what justice is, and therefore I am not likely to know whether it is or is not a virtue, nor can I say whether the just man is happy or unhappy.

### **Thesaurus**

blessed: (adj) happy, holy, cursed, sacred, damned, hallowed, blasted, fortunate, saintly, lucky, divine. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlucky, condemned, damned, disapproved, unhappy, unholy, secular. dish: (n) basin, disk, plate, meal, platter, food, saucer, beauty, meat, repast; (n, v) hollow. epicure: (n) epicurean, bon vivant, sensualist, gastronome, hedonist, glutton, gastronomer, foodie,

gourmand, voluptuary, connoisseur. **folly**: (*n*) fatuity, foolishness, silliness, tomfoolery, nonsense, stupidity, craziness, density, freak; (*adj*, *n*) irrationality, trifling. ANTONYM: (*n*) sense.

miserable: (adj, v) forlorn, wretched, unhappy; (adj) mean, low, abject, deplorable, downcast, bad, desolate; (adj, adv) meager. ANTONYMS: (adj) happy, generous, cheerful, cheery, bright, fortunate, hopeful, jubilant,

luxurious, overjoyed, heavenly. **refrain**: (*v*) desist, cease, fast, avoid,
leave off, withhold, stop, spare; (*adj*, *v*) forbear; (*n*) chorus, hold.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) participate, act,
consume, persist.

snatches: (n) grasp, gain, catch. successively: (adv) in turn, one after the other, in succession, sequentially, serially, running, in order, gradually, subsequently, repeatedly, one after another.

### BOOK II

With these words I was thinking that I had made an end of the discussion; but the end, in truth, proved to be only a beginning. For Glaucon, who is always the most pugnacious of men, was dissatisfied at Thrasymachus' retirement; he wanted to have the battle out. So he said to me: Socrates, do you wish really to persuade us, or only to seem to have persuaded us, that to be just is always better than to be unjust? I should wish really to persuade you, I replied, if I could.

Then you certainly have not succeeded. Let me ask you now:—How would you arrange goods—are there not some which we welcome for their own sakes, and independently of their consequences, as, for example, harmless pleasures and enjoyments, which delight us at the time, although nothing follows from them?

I agree in thinking that there is such a class, I replied.

Is there not also a second class of goods, such as knowledge, sight, health, which are desirable not only in themselves, but also for their results?

Certainly, I said.

And would you not recognize a third class, such as gymnastic, and the care of the sick, and the physician's art; also the various ways of money-making—these do us good but we regard them as disagreeable; and no one would choose them

### Thesaurus

delight: (n) joy, pleasure, amusement, rejoicing, gladness; (v) ravish, amuse, please, captivate, transport, enrapture. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, dismay, dissatisfaction, sadness, nuisance, discontent; (v) depress, displease, sadden, irk; (n, v) bore. disagreeable: (adj) nasty, offensive, uncomfortable, distasteful, cantankerous, cross, ungrateful, abhorrent, horrible, bad, painful. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, friendly, independently: (adv) individually,

amiable, inoffensive, acceptable, desirable, easygoing, happy, pleasing, sweet, nice. harmless: (adj) safe, benign, inoffensive, hurtless, innocent, innoxious, intact, simple; (n) silly; (adj, n) foolish; (v) weaponless. ANTONYMS: (adj) lethal, damaging, destructive, poisonous, toxic, serious, offensive, malicious, hurtful, noxious, unpleasant.

accompanied, internally. pugnacious: (adj) belligerent, bellicose, combative, aggressive, quarrelsome, warlike, contentious, argumentative, hostile, martial, peevish. ANTONYMS: (adj) peaceable, friendly.

autonomously, apart, sovereignly,

impartially, self-supportingly,

subjectively, assisted, jointly,

freely, objectively, singly, neutrally,

dispassionately. ANTONYMS: (adv)

for their own sakes, but only for the sake of some reward or result which flows from them?

There is, I said, this third class also. But why do you ask?

Because I want to know in which of the three classes you would place justice?

In the highest class, I replied,—among those goods which he who would be happy desires both for their own sake and for the sake of their results.

Then the many are of another mind; they think that justice is to be reckoned in the troublesome class, among goods which are to be pursued for the sake of rewards and of reputation, but in themselves are disagreeable and rather to be avoided.

I know, I said, that this is their manner of thinking, and that this was the thesis which Thrasymachus was maintaining just now, when he **censured** justice and **praised** injustice. But I am too stupid to be convinced by him.

I wish, he said, that you would hear me as well as him, and then I shall see whether you and I agree. For Thrasymachus seems to me, like a snake, to have been **charmed** by your voice sooner than he ought to have been; but to my mind the nature of justice and injustice have not yet been made clear. Setting aside their rewards and results, I want to know what they are in themselves, and how they **inwardly** work in the soul. If you, please, then, I will **revive** the argument of Thrasymachus. And first I will speak of the nature and origin of justice according to the common view of them. Secondly, I will show that all men who practise justice do so against their will, of necessity, but not as a good. And thirdly, I will argue that there is reason in this view, for the life of the unjust is after all better far than the life of the just – if what they say is true, Socrates, since I myself am not of their opinion. But still I acknowledge that I am perplexed when I hear the voices of Thrasymachus and myriads of others dinning in my ears; and, on the other hand, I have never yet heard the superiority of justice to injustice maintained by any one in a satisfactory way. I want to hear justice praised in respect of itself; then I shall be satisfied, and you are the person from whom I think that I am most likely to hear this; and therefore I will praise the

### **Thesaurus**

distracted, disconcerted; (adj, v)

censured: (adj) guilty, appropriated. charmed: (adj) enchanted, delighted, fascinated, spellbound, entranced, captive, beguiled, infatuated, absorbed, enamored, captive hours. inwardly: (adv) inside, interiorly, innerly, within, secretly, intrinsically, intimately, privately, spiritually, incomingly; (adj) inwards. ANTONYM: (adv) openly. perplexed: (adj) confused, puzzled, baffled, confounded, doubtful,

intricate, complicated, lost, involved. ANTONYMS: (adj) unperplexed, assured, clear, knowing. practise: (v) execute, practice, perform, exercise, drill, do, rehearse, learn, take, work out, read. praised: (adj) bepuffed, popular, renowned. revive: (v) refresh, invigorate, quicken, renew, renovate, restore, resuscitate, animate, awake, repair, recreate.

ANTONYMS: (v) demoralize, kill, slay, stagnate, abandon, die, drain. snake: (n) serpent, ophidian, viper, constrictor, hydra, elapid; (v) wind, twist, curl, weave; (n, v) sneak. superiority: (n) predominance, priority, excellence, mastery, precedence, preference, distinction, supremacy, domination, eminence; (adj, n) odds. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, weakness, friendliness, mediocrity, simplicity.

unjust life to the utmost of my power, and my manner of speaking will indicate the manner in which I desire to hear you too praising justice and **censuring** injustice. Will you say whether you approve of my proposal?

Indeed I do; nor can I imagine any theme about which a man of sense would oftener wish to converse.

I am delighted, he replied, to hear you say so, and shall begin by speaking, as I proposed, of the nature and origin of justice.

They say that to do injustice is, by nature, good; to suffer injustice, evil; but that the evil is greater than the good. And so when men have both done and suffered injustice and have had experience of both, not being able to avoid the one and obtain the other, they think that they had better agree among themselves to have neither; hence there arise laws and mutual covenants; and that which is **ordained** by law is termed by them **lawful** and just. This they affirm to be the origin and nature of justice;—it is a mean or compromise, between the best of all, which is to do injustice and not be punished, and the worst of all, which is to suffer injustice without the power of **retaliation**; and justice, being at a middle point between the two, is **tolerated** not as a good, but as the lesser evil, and **honoured** by reason of the inability of men to do injustice. For no man who is worthy to be called a man would ever submit to such an agreement if he were able to resist; he would be mad if he did. Such is the received account, Socrates, of the nature and origin of justice.

Now that those who practise justice do so **involuntarily** and because they have not the power to be unjust will best appear if we imagine something of this kind: having given both to the just and the unjust power to do what they will, let us watch and see whither desire will lead them; then we shall discover in the very act the just and unjust man to be proceeding along the same road, following their interest, which all natures deem to be their good, and are only **diverted** into the path of justice by the force of law. The liberty which we are supposing may be most completely given to them in the form of such a power as is said to have been possessed by Gyges, the ancestor of Croesus the Lydian. According to the tradition, Gyges was a **shepherd** in the service of the king of Lydia; there was a

# censuring: (adj) culpatory. v diverted: (adj) abstracted, entertained, pleased, inattentive, sidetracked, lat

unfocused, preoccupied. **honoured**: (*adj*) esteemed, respected, worthy.

involuntarily: (adv) unconsciously, unintentionally, inadvertently, automatically, forcedly, mechanically, unthinkingly, reluctantly, accidentally, automaticly, unwillingly. ANTONYMS: (adv)

### **Thesaurus**

voluntarily, consciously, willingly, purposely.

**lawful**: (adj) legal, just, rightful, constitutional, true, right, justifiable, licit, regular; (n, v) allowable; (adj, v) permissible. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlawful, prohibited,

unconstitutional.

**ordained**: (*adj*) destined, prescribed, appointed, predestined, fated, preordained, meant, legal, lawful, dedicated, inevitable.

**retaliation**: (*n*) reprisal, revenge, requital, vengeance, payment, return,

talion, repayment, reciprocation; (v) retortion; (adv, n) measure for measure. ANTONYM: (n) acceptance.

**shepherd**: (*n*) clergyman, sheepman, minister, herdsman, sheepherder, priest, presbyter; (*v*) lead, conduct, guide, guard.

**tolerated**: (*adj*) permissive, permitted, permitting, suffered, admissible.

great storm, and an earthquake made an opening in the earth at the place where he was feeding his flock. Amazed at the sight, he descended into the opening, where, among other marvels, he beheld a hollow brazen horse, having doors, at which he stooping and looking in saw a dead body of stature, as appeared to him, more than human, and having nothing on but a gold ring; this he took from the finger of the dead and reascended. Now the shepherds met together, according to custom, that they might send their monthly report about the flocks to the king; into their assembly he came having the ring on his finger, and as he was sitting among them he chanced to turn the **collet** of the ring inside his hand, when instantly he became invisible to the rest of the company and they began to speak of him as if he were no longer present. He was astonished at this, and again touching the ring he turned the collet **outwards** and reappeared; he made several trials of the ring, and always with the same result – when he turned the collet inwards he became invisible, when outwards he reappeared. Whereupon he **contrived** to be chosen one of the messengers who were sent to the court; whereas soon as he arrived he **seduced** the queen, and with her help conspired against the king and slew him, and took the kingdom. Suppose now that there were two such magic rings, and the just put on one of them and the unjust the other; no man can be imagined to be of such an iron nature that he would stand fast in justice. No man would keep his hands off what was not his own when he could safely take what he liked out of the market, or go into houses and lie with any one at his pleasure, or kill or release from prison whom he would, and in all respects be like a God among men. Then the actions of the just would be as the actions of the unjust; they would both come at last to the same point. And this we may truly affirm to be a great proof that a man is just, not willingly or because he thinks that justice is any good to him individually, but of necessity, for wherever any one thinks that he can safely be unjust, there he is unjust. For all men believe in their hearts that injustice is far more profitable to the individual than justice, and he who argues as I have been supposing, will say that they are right. If you could imagine any one obtaining this power of becoming invisible, and never doing any wrong or touching what was another's, he would be thought by the lookers-on to be a most wretched idiot, although

### **Thesaurus**

astonished: (adj) astonish, dumbfounded, flabbergasted, stunned, aghast, bewildered, astounded, taken aback, thunderstruck, astonied; (v) amaze. brazen: (adj) audacious, impudent, brassy, insolent, bold, brash, impertinent, blatant, flagrant, forward, saucy. ANTONYMS: (adj) shy, abashed, prudish, reserved, quiet, discreet, respectful, ashamed, veiled, modest.

**collet**: (*n*) ferrule, culet, spring collet, collet chuck, colewort, band, cap, clamp ring, Colet, conical grip, collet sleeve

**contrived**: (adj) affected, unnatural, false, forced, labored, spurious, feigned, unreal, strained, built, artificially formal. ANTONYM: (adj) sincere.

**descended**: (v) extraught. **inwards**: (adv) in, indoors, inwardly, within, at home, here; (n) gut; (adj) inner, interior, domestic, intimate.
ANTONYMS: (adv) out, outward.
obtaining: (n) acceptance, capture,
collection; (adj) adeption, dominant.
outwards: (adj) out, over, with out;
(adv) beyond, out of doors.
ANTONYM: (adv) inward.
seduced: (adj) profaned, infatuated,
fascinated.

**slew**: (*n*) wad, turning, sight, heap, stack, lot, flock; (*v*) rotate, slue, swerve, veer.

they would praise him to one another's faces, and keep up appearances with one another from a fear that they too might suffer injustice. Enough of this.

Now, if we are to form a real judgment of the life of the just and unjust, we must isolate them; there is no other way; and how is the isolation to be effected? I answer: Let the unjust man be entirely unjust, and the just man entirely just; nothing is to be taken away from either of them, and both are to be perfectly furnished for the work of their respective lives. First, let the unjust be like other distinguished masters of craft; like the skilful pilot or physician, who knows intuitively his own powers and keeps within their limits, and who, if he fails at any point, is able to recover himself. So let the unjust make his unjust attempts in the right way, and lie hidden if he means to be great in his injustice: (he who is found out is nobody:) for the highest reach of injustice is, to be deemed just when you are not. Therefore I say that in the perfectly unjust man we must assume the most perfect injustice; there is to be no deduction, but we must allow him, while doing the most unjust acts, to have acquired the greatest reputation for justice. If he have taken a false step he must be able to recover himself; he must be one who can speak with effect, if any of his deeds come to light, and who can force his way where force is required by his courage and strength, and command of money and friends. And at his side let us place the just man in his nobleness and simplicity, wishing, as Aeschylus says, to be and not to seem good. There must be no seeming, for if he seem to be just he will be honoured and rewarded, and then we shall not know whether he is just for the sake of justice or for the sake of honours and rewards; therefore, let him be clothed in justice only, and have no other covering; and he must be imagined in a state of life the opposite of the former. Let him be the best of men, and let him be thought the worst; then he will have been put to the proof; and we shall see whether he will be affected by the fear of infamy and its consequences. And let him continue thus to the hour of death; being just and seeming to be unjust. When both have reached the **uttermost** extreme, the one of justice and the other of injustice, let judgment be given which of them is the happier of the two.

### **Thesaurus**

furnished: (adj) fitted, arranged, privileged, instruct, carrying weapons, equipt, enlightened; (v) provide, furnish, begone, beset. intuitively: (adv) impulsively, viscerally, unconsciously, automatically, mechanically, inbornly, inherently, innately, involuntarily, nonrationally, perceptively. limits: (n) confines, bounds, range, frontier, area, circumference,

perimeter, field, margin, boundaries; (v) confine. ANTONYM: (n) middle. rewarded: (v) crowned, honored, excessive, consummated; (adj) salaried, pleased, paid, happy, satisfied, remunerated, content. ANTONYM: (adj) frustrated. simplicity: (n) plainness, simpleness, easiness, ease, clarity, austerity, gullibility, severity, artlessness, ignorance; (adj, n) inexperience. ANTONYMS: (n) difficulty,

complexity, ambiguity, magnificence, sophistication, dishonesty, clutter, warmth. **uttermost**: (adj, n) extreme; (adj, adv)

uttermost: (adj, n) extreme; (adj, adv) farthest; (n) maximum, level best; (adj) furthest, utter, last, farthermost, furthermost, utlimate, most. ANTONYM: (adj) moderate. wishing: (n) wish, want, velleity, option, need, privation, lack, deprivation, deficiency, choice; (adj) desirous.

Heavens! my dear Glaucon, I said, how **energetically** you polish them up for the decision, first one and then the other, as if they were two statues.

I do my best, he said. And now that we know what they are like there is no difficulty in tracing out the sort of life which awaits either of them. This I will proceed to describe; but as you may think the description a little too coarse, I ask you to suppose, Socrates, that the words which follow are not mine.—Let me put them into the mouths of the eulogists of injustice: They will tell you that the just man who is thought unjust will be scourged, racked, bound—will have his eyes burnt out; and, at last, after suffering every kind of evil, he will be impaled: Then he will understand that he ought to seem only, and not to be, just; the words of Aeschylus may be more truly spoken of the unjust than of the just. For the unjust is **pursuing** a reality; he does not live with a view to appearances—he wants to be really unjust and not to seem only:—

His mind has a soil deep and fertile, Out of which spring his prudent counsels.

In the first place, he is thought just, and therefore bears rule in the city; he can marry whom he will, and give in marriage to whom he will; also he can trade and deal where he likes, and always to his own advantage, because he has no misgivings about injustice; and at every contest, whether in public or private, he gets the better of his antagonists, and gains at their expense, and is rich, and out of his gains he can benefit his friends, and harm his enemies; moreover, he can offer sacrifices, and **dedicate** gifts to the gods **abundantly** and **magnificently**, and can honour the gods or any man whom he wants to honour in a far better style than the just, and therefore he is likely to be dearer than they are to the gods. And thus, Socrates, gods and men are said to unite in making the life of the unjust better than the life of the just.

I was going to say something in answer to Glaucon, when Adeimantus, his brother, **interposed**: Socrates, he said, you do not suppose that there is nothing more to be urged?

### **Thesaurus**

abundantly: (adv) copiously, richly, fully, generously, bounteously, plentifully, plenteously, freely, exuberantly, largely, bountifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) fruitlessly, insufficiently, stingily, meagerly, scantily.

**dedicate**: (*v*) apply, devote, commit, bless, render, sanctify, pay, inaugurate, give, destine; (*prep*, *v*) set apart. ANTONYMS: (*v*) refuse, alienate, desecrate, dishonor,

disrespect, steal, take, withhold, misuse, keep.

energetically: (adv) vigorously, strongly, actively, briskly, lustily, forcefully, lively, forcibly, powerfully, spiritedly, strenuously. ANTONYMS: (adv) idly, quietly, lifelessly, resignedly, indifferently, feebly, wearily, languorously, lazily, sluggishly, passively.

interposed: (adj) interjacent, intercedent, intervenient, parenthetical, intermediate colors, mediate.

magnificently: (adv) beautifully, grandly, superbly, gloriously, majestically, gorgeously, sumptuously, marvelously, wonderfully, fantastically, showily. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, modestly, badly, abysmally, simply, meagerly, incompetently.

**pursuing**: (*n*) pursuit, search, hunt; (*adj*) coming, engaged.

Why, what else is there? I answered.

The strongest point of all has not been even mentioned, he replied.

Well, then, according to the proverb, 'Let brother help brother'—if he fails in any part do you assist him; although I must **confess** that Glaucon has already said quite enough to lay me in the dust, and take from me the power of helping justice.

Nonsense, he replied. But let me add something more: There is another side to Glaucon's argument about the praise and censure of justice and injustice, which is equally required in order to bring out what I believe to be his meaning. Parents and tutors are always telling their sons and their wards that they are to be just; but why? not for the sake of justice, but for the sake of character and reputation; in the hope of obtaining for him who is reputed just some of those offices, marriages, and the like which Glaucon has **enumerated** among the advantages **accruing** to the unjust from the reputation of justice. More, however, is made of appearances by this class of persons than by the others; for they throw in the good opinion of the gods, and will tell you of a **shower** of benefits which the heavens, as they say, rain upon the **pious**; and this accords with the **testimony** of the noble Hesiod and Homer, the first of whom says, that the gods make the **oaks** of the just—

To bear acorns at their summit, and **bees** in the middle; And the sheep are **bowed** down with the weight of their fleeces,

and many other blessings of a like kind are provided for them. And Homer has a very similar strain; for he speaks of one whose fame is —

As the fame of some blameless king who, like a god, Maintains justice; to whom the black earth brings forth Wheat and **barley**, whose trees are bowed with fruit, And his sheep never fail to bear, and the sea gives him fish.

## Thesaurus divulge, disclose, reveal, receive.

accruing: (adj) incoming.
barley: (n) barleycorn, bear, bere, oats, cereal, grain, barley fodder.
bees: (n) Apoidea, superfamily Apoidea.
bowed: (adj) arched, curved, inclined,

bowed: (adj) arched, curved, inclined, crooked, arciform, arching, arced, bandy, arcuate, twisted, bended.
ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, concave, plucked.

**confess**: (*adj*, *v*) own, allow, admit, avow; (*v*) concede, profess, recognize,

ANTONYMS: (v) suppress, hide, dispute, conceal, repress, harbor. enumerated: (adj) detailed. oaks: (n) beech family, Castanopsis, Nothofagus, Lithocarpus, genus Quercus, Genera Castanea, family Fagaceae, Fagus, Fagaceae, chestnuts. pious: (adj, n, v) devout; (adj, n) godly; (adj) religious, holy, saintly, devotional, pure, hypocritical, devoted, sanctimonious; (adj, v)

earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj) impious, sinful, profane, blasphemous, irreligious, uncommitted, secular, irreverent.

**shower**: (*n*, *v*) wash, rain, hail, drizzle, bath; (*v*) sprinkle, bathe, shed, scatter; (*n*) rain shower, rainfall. ANTONYM: (*n*) trickle.

**testimony**: (*n*, *v*) attestation, witness; (*n*) declaration, proof, evidence, testimonial, confirmation, statement, affidavit, affirmation, profession.

Still grander are the gifts of heaven which Musaeus and his son **vouchsafe** to the just; they take them down into the world below, where they have the saints lying on couches at a feast, **everlastingly** drunk, crowned with garlands; their idea seems to be that an immortality of drunkenness is the highest meed of virtue. Some extend their rewards yet further; the posterity, as they say, of the faithful and just shall survive to the third and fourth generation. This is the style in which they praise justice. But about the wicked there is another strain; they bury them in a slough in Hades, and make them carry water in a **sieve**; also while they are yet living they bring them to infamy, and **inflict** upon them the punishments which Glaucon described as the portion of the just who are reputed to be unjust; nothing else does their invention supply. Such is their manner of praising the one and censuring the other.

Once more, Socrates, I will ask you to consider another way of speaking about justice and injustice, which is not confined to the poets, but is found in prose writers. The universal voice of mankind is always declaring that justice and virtue are honourable, but grievous and toilsome; and that the pleasures of vice and injustice are easy of attainment, and are only censured by law and opinion. They say also that honesty is for the most part less profitable than dishonesty; and they are quite ready to call wicked men happy, and to honour them both in public and private when they are rich or in any other way influential, while they despise and overlook those who may be weak and poor, even though acknowledging them to be better than the others. But most extraordinary of all is their mode of speaking about virtue and the gods: they say that the gods apportion calamity and misery to many good men, and good and happiness to the wicked. And mendicant prophets go to rich men's doors and persuade them that they have a power committed to them by the gods of making an atonement for a man's own or his ancestor's sins by sacrifices or charms, with rejoicings and feasts; and they promise to harm an enemy, whether just or unjust, at a small cost; with magic arts and incantations binding heaven,

### **Thesaurus**

apportion: (v) allocate, assign, distribute, share, administer, award, dispense, deal, ration, portion out, divide. ANTONYMS: (v) hold, collect, assemble, keep. calamity: (n) disaster, adversity, affliction, misfortune, plague, catastrophe, tragedy, blow, bale, distress; (n, v) trouble. ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, boon, luck, joy, opportunity. everlastingly: (adv) perpetually,

always, lastingly, continually, endlessly, unendingly, incessantly, permanently, constantly, undyingly; (adi, adv) forever.

grievous: (adj) bitter, dolorous, dreadful, deplorable, sad, tough, pitiful, atrocious, regrettable, sorrowful, sorry. ANTONYM: (adj) successful.

inflict: (v) impose, cause, wreak, force, enforce, deal, deliver, administer, foist, put, obtrude.

**sieve**: (*v*) filter, riddle, strain, shovel, mop, separate, broom; (*n*, *v*) sift; (*n*) strainer, sifter, colander.

toilsome: (adj) arduous, hard, difficult, strenuous, backbreaking, severe, heavy, painful, tough, grueling; (adj, v) wearisome.

**vouchsafe**: (*v*) grant, condescend, allow, confer, stoop, give, please, bestow; (*n*, *v*) accord; (*adv*) have the goodness, will you.

as they say, to execute their will. And the poets are the authorities to whom they appeal, now **smoothing** the path of vice with the words of Hesiod; —

Vice may be had in abundance without trouble; the way is smooth and her dwelling-place is near. But before virtue the gods have set toil,

and a tedious and **uphill** road: then **citing** Homer as a witness that the gods may be influenced by men; for he also says: —

'The gods, too, may be turned from their purpose; and men pray to them and **avert** their wrath by sacrifices and **soothing** entreaties, and by **libations** and the odour of fat, when they have sinned and transgressed.'

And they produce a host of books written by Musaeus and Orpheus, who were children of the Moon and the Muses—that is what they say—according to which they perform their ritual, and persuade not only individuals, but whole cities, that expiations and atonements for sin may be made by sacrifices and amusements which fill a vacant hour, and are equally at the service of the living and the dead; the latter sort they call mysteries, and they **redeem** us from the pains of hell, but if we neglect them no one knows what awaits us.

He proceeded: And now when the young hear all this said about virtue and vice, and the way in which gods and men regard them, how are their minds likely to be affected, my dear Socrates,—those of them, I mean, who are quickwitted, and, like bees on the wing, light on every flower, and from all that they hear are prone to draw conclusions as to what manner of persons they should be and in what way they should walk if they would make the best of life? Probably the youth will say to himself in the words of Pindar—

Can I by justice or by crooked ways of **deceit** ascend a loftier tower which may be a fortress to me all my days?

### **Thesaurus**

avert: (v) avoid, ward off, turn away, repulse, elude, prevent, deflect, obviate, shunt, preclude, stop. ANTONYMS: (v) exacerbate, cause, focus, encourage, attract, permit. citing: (n) quotation, citation. deceit: (n) guile, artifice, deception, falsehood, ruse, pretense, fraud, trickery; (adj, n) cunning, craft, art. ANTONYMS: (n) sincerity, truthfulness, fairness, frankness, loyalty, straightforwardness,

uprightness, truth.

libations: (v) bacchanals, Bacchanalia.
redeem: (v) recover, deliver, atone,
recoup, expiate, ransom, reclaim,
save, free, extricate, refund.
ANTONYMS: (v) hock, pawn, lose.
smoothing: (n) fine cutting,
smoothness, sleeking; (adj) sleek,
even, not harsh, smooth porcelain,
bland, not rough, moving equably,
mild.
soothing: (adj) calming, soft, smooth,

pacifying, quiet, restful, bland, calm, assuasive; (adj, n) softening; (n) alleviation. ANTONYMS: (adj) upsetting, disturbing, hostile, scary, worrying, stimulating, exasperating, annoying, invigorating, painful, intimidating.

uphill: (adj) rising, hard, difficult, and include a solicitous to took or decorated.

uphill: (adj) rising, hard, difficult, climbing, acclivitous, tough, arduous; (n) ascending, ascent, acclivity; (adv) up. ANTONYMS: (adj) downhill, facile.

For what men say is that, if I am really just and am not also thought just profit there is none, but the pain and loss on the other hand are unmistakeable. But if, though unjust, I acquire the reputation of justice, a heavenly life is promised to me. Since then, as philosophers prove, appearance tyrannizes over truth and is lord of happiness, to appearance I must devote myself. I will describe around me a picture and shadow of virtue to be the vestibule and **exterior** of my house; behind I will trail the subtle and **crafty** fox, as Archilochus, greatest of sages, recommends. But I hear some one exclaiming that the concealment of wickedness is often difficult; to which I answer, Nothing great is easy. Nevertheless, the argument indicates this, if we would be happy, to be the path along which we should proceed. With a view to concealment we will establish secret brotherhoods and political clubs. And there are professors of rhetoric who teach the art of persuading courts and assemblies; and so, partly by persuasion and partly by force, I shall make unlawful gains and not be punished. Still I hear a voice saying that the gods cannot be deceived, neither can they be compelled. But what if there are no gods? or, suppose them to have no care of human things-why in either case should we mind about concealment? And even if there are gods, and they do care about us, yet we know of them only from tradition and the genealogies of the poets; and these are the very persons who say that they may be influenced and turned by 'sacrifices and soothing entreaties and by offerings.' Let us be consistent then, and believe both or neither. If the poets speak truly, why then we had better be unjust, and offer of the fruits of injustice; for if we are just, although we may escape the vengeance of heaven, we shall lose the gains of injustice; but, if we are unjust, we shall keep the gains, and by our sinning and praying, and praying and sinning, the gods will be propitiated, and we shall not be punished. 'But there is a world below in which either we or our posterity will suffer for our unjust deeds.' Yes, my friend, will be the reflection, but there are mysteries and atoning deities, and these have great power. That is what mighty cities declare; and the children of the gods, who were their poets and prophets, bear a like testimony.

On what principle, then, shall we any longer choose justice rather than the worst injustice? when, if we only unite the latter with a **deceitful** regard to

### **Thesaurus**

crafty: (adj) cunning, adroit, sly, astute, artful, wily, clever, tricky, shifty, designing, scheming. ANTONYMS: (adj) naive, open, honest, guileless, artless, straightforward, trustworthy, ingenuous, blatant, straight.
deceifful: (adj) false, fraudulent, insincere, crooked, dishonest, untrue, sly, artful, untrustworthy, unreliable, treacherous. ANTONYMS: (adj) straightforward, genuine, trustworthy, truthful, loyal, open,

principled, straight, upright, faithful, dependable.

exclaiming: (n) deuce, Dickens, ejaculation, exclaim, devil, interjection, ecphonesis.

exterior: (adj, n) outside, surface, outward; (n) appearance, skin, front; (adj) external, superficial, outlying, outer, outdoor. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) interior, inside; (adj) inner, internal, intrinsic, middle, deep.

persuasion: (n) belief, opinion, faith,

inducement, creed, idea, exhortation, enticement, view, sentiment; (adj, n) conviction. ANTONYMS: (n) force, punishment, dissuasion. praying: (n) prayer. professors: (n) faculty.

vengeance: (n) retribution, reprisal, retaliation, requital, avengement, wrath, vendetta, spite, revengeance; (n, v) avenge, resentment.

ANTONYMS: (n) forgiveness, acceptance.

appearances, we shall fare to our mind both with gods and men, in life and after death, as the most numerous and the highest authorities tell us. Knowing all this, Socrates, how can a man who has any superiority of mind or person or rank or wealth, be willing to honour justice; or indeed to refrain from laughing when he hears justice praised? And even if there should be some one who is able to disprove the truth of my words, and who is satisfied that justice is best, still he is not angry with the unjust, but is very ready to forgive them, because he also knows that men are not just of their own free will; unless, peradventure, there be some one whom the divinity within him may have inspired with a hatred of injustice, or who has attained knowledge of the truth-but no other man. He only blames injustice who, owing to cowardice or age or some weakness, has not the power of being unjust. And this is proved by the fact that when he obtains the power, he immediately becomes unjust as far as he can be.

The cause of all this, Socrates, was indicated by us at the beginning of the argument, when my brother and I told you how astonished we were to find that of all the professing panegyrists of justice—beginning with the ancient heroes of whom any memorial has been preserved to us, and ending with the men of our own time-no one has ever blamed injustice or praised justice except with a view to the glories, honours, and benefits which flow from them. No one has ever adequately described either in verse or prose the true essential nature of either of them abiding in the soul, and invisible to any human or divine eye; or shown that of all the things of a man's soul which he has within him, justice is the greatest good, and injustice the greatest evil. Had this been the universal strain, had you sought to persuade us of this from our youth upwards, we should not have been on the watch to keep one another from doing wrong, but every one would have been his own watchman, because afraid, if he did wrong, of harbouring in himself the greatest of evils. I dare say that Thrasymachus and others would seriously hold the language which I have been merely repeating, and words even stronger than these about justice and injustice, grossly, as I conceive, perverting their true nature. But I speak in this vehement manner, as I must frankly confess to you, because I want to hear from you the opposite side; and I would ask you to show not only the superiority which justice has over

### **Thesaurus**

blamed: (adj) goddamned, goddamn, damned, goddam, infernal, damnable, ageless, answerable, beatified, blessed, aeonian. **disprove**: (v) refute, controvert, deny, contradict, rebut, explode, gainsay, negate, discredit, answer; (adj) falsify. peradventure: (adv) perchance, ANTONYMS: (v) prove, show, illustrate, validate, support, accept. **fare**: (n, v) do; (n) food, aliment, board, table, charge, chow, menu, traveller; (v) come, eat. ANTONYM: (v) stop.

grossly: (adv) rudely, roughly, commonly, heavily, bluntly, disgustingly, shamefully, rankly, totally, uncouthly, obscenely. ANTONYM: (adv) appealingly. hears: (v) hear. perhaps, possibly, mayhap, by

chance, haply, fortunately, gracefully, watchman: (n) lookout, sentinel, felicitously; (n) chance; (conj) if. prose: (n) style, writing, euphuism, commonplace, prose writer, rap; (adj)

prosaic, maunder, palaver, prate, prosy. ANTONYMS: (n) poetry, verse.

vehement: (adj) fierce, intense, violent, strong, furious, passionate, ferocious, eager, hot, fervent, fervid. ANTONYMS: (adj) impassionate, indifferent, mild, calm.

sentry, warden, guard, watcher, security guard, keeper, caretaker, custodian, watchdog.

injustice, but what effect they have on the possessor of them which makes the one to be a good and the other an evil to him. And please, as Glaucon requested of you, to exclude reputations; for unless you take away from each of them his true reputation and add on the false, we shall say that you do not praise justice, but the appearance of it; we shall think that you are only exhorting us to keep injustice dark, and that you really agree with Thrasymachus in thinking that justice is another's good and the interest of the stronger, and that injustice is a man's own profit and interest, though injurious to the weaker. Now as you have admitted that justice is one of that highest class of goods which are desired indeed for their results, but in a far greater degree for their own sakes – like sight or hearing or knowledge or health, or any other real and natural and not merely conventional good – I would ask you in your praise of justice to regard one point only: I mean the essential good and evil which justice and injustice work in the possessors of them. Let others praise justice and censure injustice, magnifying the rewards and honours of the one and abusing the other; that is a manner of arguing which, coming from them, I am ready to tolerate, but from you who have spent your whole life in the consideration of this question, unless I hear the contrary from your own lips, I expect something better. And therefore, I say, not only prove to us that justice is better than injustice, but show what they either of them do to the possessor of them, which makes the one to be a good and the other an evil, whether seen or unseen by gods and men.

I had always **admired** the genius of Glaucon and Adeimantus, but on hearing these words I was quite delighted, and said: Sons of an illustrious father, that was not a bad beginning of the Elegiac verses which the **admirer** of Glaucon made in honour of you after you had distinguished **yourselves** at the battle of Megara:—

Sons of Ariston, (he sang,) divine **offspring** of an illustrious hero.

The epithet is very appropriate, for there is something truly divine in being able to argue as you have done for the superiority of injustice, and remaining

### **Thesaurus**

admired: (adj) respected, admirable, estimable, favorite, pet, beloved, honored, August, loved, accepted, popular. ANTONYM: (adj) disreputable.

**admire**: (*n*) enthusiast, fan, devotee, supporter, votary, worshiper, wooer, beau, fancier; (*adj*) suitor; (*adj*, *n*) lover.

desired: (adj) coveted, desirable, favorite, wanted, welcome, needed, beloved, required, most wanted; (adj, v) chosen; (v) consenting.
injurious: (adj) evil, harmful, hurtful,
destructive, bad, disadvantageous,
detrimental, adverse, deleterious,
inimical, damaging. ANTONYMS:
(adj) healing, favorable, healthy,
helpful, advantageous, beneficial.
magnifying: (adj) cumulative.
offspring: (n, v) issue, breed, brood;
(n) progeny, family, children, child,
successor, lineage, young; (v) fruit.
ANTONYM: (n) parent.

possessor: (n) owner, holder, proprietor, householder, occupant, landowner, landholder, proprietary, somebody, someone, soul.
requested: (adj) demanded.
tolerate: (adj, v) accept; (v) let, bear, take, permit, endure, support, brook, stand, abide, allow. ANTONYMS: (v) veto, disapprove, disallow. yourselves: (pron) themselves, myself, herself.

**unconvinced** by your own arguments. And I do believe that you are not convinced—this I infer from your general character, for had I judged only from your speeches I should have mistrusted you. But now, the greater my confidence in you, the greater is my difficulty in knowing what to say. For I am in a **strait** between two; on the one hand I feel that I am unequal to the task; and my **inability** is brought home to me by the fact that you were not satisfied with the answer which I made to Thrasymachus, **proving**, as I thought, the superiority which justice has over injustice. And yet I cannot refuse to help, while breath and speech remain to me; I am afraid that there would be an impiety in being present when justice is evil spoken of and not **lifting** up a hand in her defence. And therefore I had best give such help as I can.

Glaucon and the rest entreated me by all means not to let the question drop, but to proceed in the investigation. They wanted to arrive at the truth, first, about the nature of justice and injustice, and secondly, about their relative advantages. I told them, what I really thought, that the enquiry would be of a serious nature, and would require very good eyes. Seeing then, I said, that we are no great wits, I think that we had better adopt a method which I may illustrate thus; suppose that a **short**-sighted person had been asked by some one to read small letters from a distance; and it occurred to some one else that they might be found in another place which was larger and in which the letters were larger—if they were the same and he could read the larger letters first, and then proceed to the lesser—this would have been thought a rare piece of good fortune.

Very true, said Adeimantus; but how does the **illustration** apply to our enquiry?

I will tell you, I replied; justice, which is the subject of our enquiry, is, as you know, sometimes spoken of as the virtue of an individual, and sometimes as the virtue of a State.

True, he replied.

And is not a State larger than an individual?

### illustration: (n) example, case, depiction, chart, instance, exemplification, figure, description, demonstration, drawing, case in point.

inability: (n) disqualification, insufficiency, incapacity, incompetence, impotence, impotency, feebleness, helplessness, inadequacy, weakness, inaptitude. ANTONYMS: (n) ability, capability, power, capacity.

# Thesaurus lifting: (n) rising, hoisting, plagiarism,

restyling, copying, jacking; (adj) elating, enlivening, exciting, invigorating, thrilling, proving: (adj) furnishing evidence, asserting, evidential, evidentiary; (n) authentication, confirmation, contest, determination, documentation, finding, monetisation.

short-sighted: (adj) shortsighted, unwise, stupid, narrow-minded, crazy, ill-advised, half-baked, foolish,

### improvident.

**strait**: (adj) narrow; (n) pinch, pass, inlet, need, channel, crisis, poverty, difficulty; (adj, n) quandary; (n, v) dilemma.

unconvinced: (adj) doubtful, dubious, skeptical, unconverted, disappointed, unsatisfied, unfulfilled, unenthusiastic, undecided, uncertain, unbelieving. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleased, convinced, certain, sure, enthusiastic, credulous. It is.

Then in the larger the quantity of justice is likely to be larger and more easily discernible. I propose therefore that we enquire into the nature of justice and injustice, first as they appear in the State, and secondly in the individual, proceeding from the greater to the lesser and comparing them.

That, he said, is an excellent proposal.

And if we imagine the State in process of creation, we shall see the justice and injustice of the State in process of creation also.

I dare say.

When the State is completed there may be a hope that the object of our search will be more easily discovered.

Yes, far more easily.

But ought we to attempt to construct one? I said; for to do so, as I am inclined to think, will be a very serious task. Reflect therefore.

I have reflected, said Adeimantus, and am anxious that you should proceed.

A State, I said, arises, as I conceive, out of the needs of mankind; no one is self-sufficing, but all of us have many wants. Can any other origin of a State be imagined?

There can be no other.

Then, as we have many wants, and many persons are needed to supply them, one takes a helper for one purpose and another for another; and when these partners and helpers are gathered together in one habitation the body of inhabitants is termed a State.

True, he said.

And they exchange with one another, and one gives, and another receives, under the idea that the exchange will be for their good.

Very true.

### Thesaurus

construct: (v) compose, build, erect, fabricate, raise, constitute, produce, rear; (n, v) form, arrange; (n) concept. ANTONYMS: (v) demolish, dismantle, raze; (n) misconception,

discernible: (adj) observable, apparent, visible, appreciable, conspicuous, detectable, evident, noticeable, obvious, audible, palpable. ANTONYMS: (adj) indiscernible, unrecognizable,

indistinguishable, obscure, obscured, lesser: (adj) less, inferior, junior, unnoticeable, invisible, undetectable. habitation: (adj, n) abode; (n) domicile, residence, house, home, habitat, lodging, place, occupancy, inhabitation, inhabitancy. ANTONYM: (n) vacancy. **helper**: (n, v) assistant, aid, assistance;

(n) acolyte, attendant, ally, associate, supporter, colleague, auxiliary, coadjutor. ANTONYMS: (n) detractor, enemy.

insignificant, petty, subordinate, smaller, secondary, lower, slighter, small. ANTONYMS: (adj) major, primary, senior, superior, higher, main.

partners: (n) associates, team. propose: (v) bid, nominate, design, plan, proffer, move, intend, mean, aim, suggest; (n, v) advance. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, improvise, oppose.

Then, I said, let us begin and create in idea a State; and yet the true creator is **necessity**, who is the mother of our invention.

Of course, he replied.

Now the first and greatest of necessities is food, which is the condition of life and existence.

Certainly.

The second is a dwelling, and the third **clothing** and the like.

True.

And now let us see how our city will be able to supply this great demand: We may suppose that one man is a husbandman, another a builder, some one else a weaver-shall we add to them a shoemaker, or perhaps some other purveyor to our bodily wants?

Quite right.

The barest notion of a State must include four or five men.

Clearly.

And how will they proceed? Will each bring the result of his labours into a common stock?-the individual husbandman, for example, producing for four, and labouring four times as long and as much as he need in the provision of food with which he supplies others as well as himself; or will he have nothing to do with others and not be at the trouble of producing for them, but provide for himself alone a fourth of the food in a fourth of the time, and in the remaining three fourths of his time be employed in making a house or a coat or a pair of shoes, having no partnership with others, but supplying himself all his own wants?

Adeimantus thought that he should aim at producing food only and not at producing everything.

Probably, I replied, that would be the better way; and when I hear you say this, I am myself reminded that we are not all alike; there are diversities of natures among us which are adapted to different occupations.

### Thesaurus

adapted: (adj) altered, fit, agreeable, conformable, fitted, appropriate, prepared, tailored, modified; (adj, v) convenient, proper. ANTONYM: (adi) unaccustomed. alike: (adj) corresponding, equal, equivalent, cognate, analogical, parallel, analogous, identical, similar, the same, duplicate. ANTONYMS: (adj) different, dissimilar, contrasting, unalike, disparate, unlike, opposite; (adv) differently, unequally,

clothing: (n) attire, threads, outfit, gear, dress, cloth, duds, habit, wear; (n, v) apparel, vesture. necessity: (n) demand, need, lack, exigency, essential, compulsion, emergency, distress, must, constraint, supplying: (n) supply, issue, feeding, necessary. ANTONYMS: (n) inessential, treat, unimportance, luxury. purveyor: (n) provider, grocer, contractor, vendor, seller, procurer,

supplier, proveditor; (n, v) victualer; (v) quartermaster, restaurateur. ANTONYM: (n) buyer. shoemaker: (n) bootmaker, dressmaker, cordwainer, boot maker, maker, shaper, souter, Crispin. logistics, issuing, issuance, irrigation, alimentation, purveyance; (v) furnish, provide.

Very true.

And will you have a work better done when the workman has many occupations, or when he has only one?

When he has only one.

Further, there can be no doubt that a work is **spoilt** when not done at the right time?

No doubt.

For business is not disposed to wait until the **doer** of the business is at leisure; but the doer must follow up what he is doing, and make the business his first object.

He must.

And if so, we must infer that all things are produced more plentifully and easily and of a better quality when one man does one thing which is natural to him and does it at the right time, and **leaves** other things.

### Undoubtedly.

Then more than four citizens will be required; for the husbandman will not make his own **plough** or **mattock**, or other **implements** of agriculture, if they are to be good for anything. Neither will the builder make his tools—and he too needs many; and in like manner the weaver and shoemaker.

True.

Then carpenters, and smiths, and many other artisans, will be sharers in our little State, which is already beginning to grow?

True.

Yet even if we add neatherds, shepherds, and other herdsmen, in order that our husbandmen may have oxen to plough with, and builders as well as husbandmen may have draught cattle, and curriers and weavers fleeces and hides,—still our State will not be very large.

That is true; yet neither will it be a very small State which contains all these.

### Thesaurus

bovine, livestock, ox, kine, cow, oxen. doer: (n) actor, executor, performer, operator, factor, perpetrator, facient, mover and shaker, high flier, fireball, worker. draught: (n, v) draft, sketch, design, potation, plan; (n) dose, air current, wind, gulp, outline; (v) blueprint. implements: (n) equipment, apparatus, gear, tackle, rigging,

outfit, hardware, trappings.

cattle: (n) stock, cows, neat, bull, beef, leaves: (n) departure, leaving, plants, spoilt: (adj) spoiled, blighted, be trees, vegetation. mattock: (adj) ax, hatchet, pecker, pickaxe, pick, hoe, grub ax, gill, adze. plentifully: (adv) plenteously, bountifully, bounteously, abundantly, profusely, richly, fully, liberally, opulently, amply, prolifically. ANTONYM: (adv) meagerly.

fraudulently, defective, defiled, big. undoubtedly: (adv) certainly, positively, definitely, indubitably, no doubt, clearly, unquestionably, unquestionedly, all right, beyond any doubt; (adj, adv) doubtless. plough: (v) hoe, manure, delve, dibble, ANTONYMS: (adv) doubtfully, dig, dress the ground, cultivate, turn indefinite, ambiguously, possibly.

over, rake, weed, to plough.

stunted, destroyed, unsound,

corrupt, disordered, reproduced

Then, again, there is the situation of the city—to find a place where nothing need be **imported** is wellnigh impossible.

Impossible.

Then there must be another class of **citizens** who will bring the required supply from another city?

There must.

But if the trader goes empty-handed, having nothing which they require who would supply his need, he will come back empty-handed.

That is certain.

And therefore what they produce at home must be not only enough for themselves, but such both in **quantity** and quality as to **accommodate** those from whom their wants are **supplied**.

Very true.

Then more husbandmen and more artisans will be required?

They will.

Not to mention the importers and exporters, who are called merchants?

Yes.

Then we shall want merchants?

We shall.

And if **merchandise** is to be carried over the sea, skilful sailors will also be needed, and in considerable numbers?

Yes, in considerable numbers.

Then, again, within the city, how will they exchange their productions? To secure such an exchange was, as you will remember, one of our **principal objects** when we formed them into a society and **constituted** a State.

Clearly they will buy and sell.

Then they will need a market-place, and a money-token for purposes of exchange.

### **Thesaurus**

accommodate: (adj, v) fit, adapt, suit; (n, v) oblige; (v) provide, contain, quarter, lodge, reconcile, fashion, hold. ANTONYMS: (v) constrain, block, disoblige, hinder, impede, incommode, limit, prevent, stop, bar. citizens: (n) people, population, inhabitants, populace, public, commonwealth, country, the general public, the public, the populace. constituted: (adj) habitual, planted, legitimate, grooved, accomplished,

official.
imported: (adj) exotic, unaccustomed,
extrinsic. ANTONYM: (adj) domestic.
merchandise: (v) market, deal; (n)
freight, cargo, product, commodity,
goods, consignment, wares; (adj)
commodities, ware.
objects: (n) things, stuff, matter,
material, substance.

material, substance. **principal**: (*adj*, *n*) chief, master, cardinal, primary, leading, capital, prime, main; (*adj*) grand; (*n*) manager, leader. ANTONYMS: (adj) secondary, subordinate, peripheral, trivial, marginal, side. quantity: (n) amount, quantum, extent, measure, sum, multitude, total, portion, heap, degree, deal. supplied: (n) supplying; (adj) adequate, ample, copious, complete, fitted, impregnated, made pregnant, offered, perfect, plenteous. ANTONYM: (adj) unavailable.

Certainly.

Suppose now that a husbandman, or an artisan, brings some production to market, and he comes at a time when there is no one to exchange with him,—is he to leave his calling and sit idle in the market-place?

Not at all; he will find people there who, seeing the want, undertake the office of salesmen. In well-ordered states they are commonly those who are the weakest in bodily strength, and therefore of little use for any other purpose; their duty is to be in the market, and to give money in exchange for goods to those who desire to sell and to take money from those who desire to buy.

This want, then, creates a class of retail-traders in our State. Is not 'retailer' the term which is applied to those who sit in the market-place engaged in buying and selling, while those who wander from one city to another are called merchants?

Yes, he said.

And there is another class of servants, who are intellectually hardly on the level of companionship; still they have plenty of bodily strength for labour, which accordingly they sell, and are called, if I do not mistake, hirelings, hire being the name which is given to the price of their labour.

True.

Then hirelings will help to make up our population?

Yes.

And now, Adeimantus, is our State **matured** and perfected?

I think so.

Where, then, is justice, and where is injustice, and in what part of the State did they **spring** up?

Probably in the dealings of these citizens with one another. I cannot imagine that they are more likely to be found any where else.

I dare say that you are right in your suggestion, I said; we had better think the matter out, and not shrink from the enquiry.

### Thesaurus

**companionship**: (*n*) company, society, fellowship, camaraderie, partnership, friendship, fraternity, amity, coexistence, brotherhood, communion. ANTONYMS: (n) animosity, enmity, solitude. **hire**: (v) employ, charter, enlist, take, rent, take on, retain; (n, v) wage; (n)employment, salary, engagement. ANTONYM: (v) fire. idle: (adj) lazy, indolent, inactive, free, unfounded, fruitless, baseless,

groundless, frivolous, empty, disengaged. ANTONYMS: (adj) active, employed, industrious, energetic, meaningful, productive, worthwhile, diligent; (v) change, run, spring: (n, v) leap, bound, hop,

intellectually: (adv) rationally, intelligently, spiritually, cerebrally, intellectively, learnedly, academically, mindly, ideally, culturedly, smartly. matured: (adj) ripe, experienced,

developed, old, adult, mellow, maturer, ripened, ready, payable, owing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unripe, young.

fountain, skip, caper, bounce, dive, dance; (n) source; (v) originate. wander: (n, v) stroll, saunter, tramp, drift; (v) stray, digress, err, travel, roam, deviate; (adj, v) rave. ANTONYMS: (v) settle, stay, think, converge.

Let us then consider, first of all, what will be their way of life, now that we have thus established them. Will they not produce corn, and wine, and clothes, and shoes, and build houses for themselves? And when they are housed, they will work, in summer, commonly, stripped and barefoot, but in winter substantially clothed and shod. They will feed on barley-meal and flour of wheat, baking and kneading them, making noble cakes and loaves; these they will serve up on a mat of reeds or on clean leaves, themselves reclining the while upon beds strewn with yew or myrtle. And they and their children will feast, drinking of the wine which they have made, wearing garlands on their heads, and hymning the praises of the gods, in happy converse with one another. And they will take care that their families do not exceed their means; having an eye to poverty or war.

But, said Glaucon, interposing, you have not given them a relish to their meal.

True, I replied, I had forgotten; of course they must have a relish—salt, and olives, and cheese, and they will boil roots and herbs such as country people prepare; for a dessert we shall give them figs, and peas, and beans; and they will roast myrtle-berries and acorns at the fire, drinking in moderation. And with such a diet they may be expected to live in peace and health to a good old age, and **bequeath** a similar life to their children after them.

Yes, Socrates, he said, and if you were providing for a city of pigs, how else would you feed the beasts?

But what would you have, Glaucon? I replied.

Why, he said, you should give them the ordinary conveniences of life. People who are to be comfortable are accustomed to lie on sofas, and dine off tables, and they should have sauces and sweets in the modern style.

Yes, I said, now I understand: the question which you would have me consider is, not only how a State, but how a luxurious State is created; and possibly there is no harm in this, for in such a State we shall be more likely to see how justice and injustice originate. In my opinion the true and healthy

### Thesaurus

baking: (adj) hot, scorching, roasting, burning, boiling, sweltering, torrid; (n) cookery, cooking, stoving, firing. ANTONYM: (adj) fresh. barefoot: (adi) shoeless, unshod, bare footed. ANTONYM: (adj) shoed. beans: (adj) unimportant; (n) money. bequeath: (n, v) will; (v) leave, give, pass on, demise, entrust, endow, devise, transmit, remember, donate. ANTONYMS: (v) disown, withdraw,

meal, give, have supper, take tea, grub, consume, entertain. ANTONYM: (v) abstain. families: (n) family. kneading: (n) massage, milling, petrissage, rubdown. myrtle: (n) Vinca minor. peas: (n) beans, bean, bills. reclining: (adj, v) leaning; (adj) recumbent, decumbent, accumbent, lying, lying down, obligatory, idle,

**dine**: (v) feed, lunch, breakfast, dining, prone, prostrate; (n) relaxation. reeds: (n) Poaceae, grass family, Graminaceae, family Gramineae, family Graminaceae, bamboo, **shod**: (adj) shoed, calced, booted; (v) clad, costume. ANTONYM: (adj) discalced. strewn: (adj) spread, distributed, disordered, strewed, confused,

covered, diffuse, disconnected,

disjointed, circulated, dispersed.

constitution of the State is the one which I have described. But if you wish also to see a State at fever-heat, I have no objection. For I suspect that many will not be satisfied with the simpler way of life. They will be for adding sofas, and tables, and other furniture; also dainties, and perfumes, and incense, and courtesans, and cakes, all these not of one sort only, but in every variety; we must go beyond the necessaries of which I was at first speaking, such as houses, and clothes, and shoes: the arts of the painter and the embroiderer will have to be set in motion, and gold and ivory and all sorts of materials must be procured.

True, he said.

Then we must enlarge our borders; for the original healthy State is no longer sufficient. Now will the city have to fill and swell with a multitude of callings which are not required by any natural want; such as the whole tribe of hunters and actors, of whom one large class have to do with forms and colours; another will be the votaries of music-poets and their attendant train of rhapsodists, players, dancers, contractors; also makers of divers kinds of articles, including women's dresses. And we shall want more servants. Will not tutors be also in request, and nurses wet and dry, tirewomen and barbers, as well as confectioners and cooks; and swineherds, too, who were not needed and therefore had no place in the former edition of our State, but are needed now? They must not be forgotten: and there will be animals of many other kinds, if people eat them.

Certainly.

And living in this way we shall have much greater need of physicians than before?

Much greater.

And the country which was enough to support the original inhabitants will be too small now, and not enough?

Quite true.

### Thesaurus

embroiderer: (n) embroideress.

attendant: (n) companion, follower, assistant, escort, subordinate, employee, guide, varlet; (adj) accompanying, concomitant, incidental. ANTONYMS: (n) superior, boss; (adj) absent, unrelated, ivory: (n) tusk, dentin, whiteness, significant.

dainties: (n) delicacies, food, cates. divers: (adj, v) sundry, various, separate; (adj) several, many, diverse, miscellaneous, not a few, varied; (v) diversified; (n) diver.

incense: (v) enrage, anger, provoke, irritate, infuriate, aggravate, rile, cense, inflame; (n) fragrance, aroma. ANTONYMS: (v) please, pacify. elephant, teeth, yellow, dentine; (adj) chalk, lily, milk, paper. multitude: (n) flock, horde, crowd, host, throng, concourse, mob, masses, tribe: (n) clan, house, race, kin, nation, mass, herd, swarm. ANTONYM: (n) trickle.

necessaries: (n) necessary, necessaries of life, necessity, must. swell: (n, v) rise, heave, increase, wave, billow; (v) enlarge, expand, puff, grow, bloat; (adj, n) dandy. ANTONYMS: (v) deflate, desiccate, shrink, compress, concentrate, wane; (n, v) decline; (adj) bad, horrible, shabby, awful.

people, kindred, folk, stock, lineage,

Then a **slice** of our neighbours' land will be wanted by us for **pasture** and **tillage**, and they will want a slice of ours, if, like ourselves, they exceed the limit of necessity, and give themselves up to the **unlimited accumulation** of wealth?

That, Socrates, will be inevitable.

And so we shall go to war, Glaucon. Shall we not?

Most certainly, he replied.

Then without determining as yet whether war does good or harm, thus much we may affirm, that now we have discovered war to be derived from causes which are also the causes of almost all the evils in States, private as well as public.

Undoubtedly.

And our State must once more enlarge; and this time the enlargement will be nothing short of a whole army, which will have to go out and fight with the invaders for all that we have, as well as for the things and persons whom we were describing above.

Why? he said; are they not capable of **defending** themselves?

No, I said; not if we were right in the principle which was acknowledged by all of us when we were framing the State: the principle, as you will remember, was that one man cannot practise many arts with success.

Very true, he said.

But is not war an art?

Certainly.

And an art requiring as much attention as shoemaking?

Quite true.

And the shoemaker was not allowed by us to be a husbandman, or a weaver, or a builder—in order that we might have our **shoes** well made; but to him and to every other worker was assigned one work for which he was by nature fitted, and at that he was to continue working all his life long and at no other; he was not to let opportunities **slip**, and then he would become a good workman. Now

### **Thesaurus**

accumulation: (n) store, stock, accretion, mass, agglomeration, pile, batch, accrual, accruement, hoard, reserve. ANTONYMS: (n) shedding, scattering, loss, erosion, dispersal, disbursement, expenditure.

defending: (v) defend; (adj) caring, shielding, protective, opposed, protecting; (n) patrol.

pasture: (v) graze, browse, crop; (n) grass, grazing land, pasturage, field, ley, lea; (n, v) feed, forage.

requiring: (v) require; (adv)
demandingly; (adj) demanding,
pressing.
shoes: (n) footwear, shoe, place,
position, situation, post, plaza,
property, lieu, home, blank space.
slice: (n, v) share, part, slash, gash,
chip; (n) section, piece, bit, morsel,
slab; (v) carve.
slip: (adj, n, v) lapse, miss; (adj, n) fault,
blunder; (n, v) slide, drop, mistake,
escape, skid, trip; (n) cutting.

ANTONYM: (n) invoice.

tillage: (n) agriculture, farming,
culture, land, tilth, husbandry,
culture, land, fallow, vintage,
farmland, plowland.
unlimited: (adj) boundless,
unconditional, immeasurable,
limitless, endless, absolute, indefinite,
infinite, total, measureless,
illimitable. ANTONYMS: (adj)
restricted, partial, constrained,
provisional, small.

nothing can be more important than that the work of a soldier should be well done. But is war an art so easily acquired that a man may be a warrior who is also a husbandman, or shoemaker, or other artisan; although no one in the world would be a good dice or draught player who merely took up the game as a recreation, and had not from his earliest years devoted himself to this and nothing else? No tools will make a man a skilled workman, or master of defence, nor be of any use to him who has not learned how to handle them, and has never bestowed any attention upon them. How then will he who takes up a shield or other implement of war become a good fighter all in a day, whether with heavyarmed or any other kind of troops?

Yes, he said, the tools which would teach men their own use would be beyond price.

And the higher the duties of the guardian, I said, the more time, and skill, and art, and application will be needed by him?

No doubt, he replied.

Will he not also require natural aptitude for his calling?

Certainly.

Then it will be our duty to select, if we can, natures which are fitted for the task of guarding the city?

It will.

And the selection will be no easy matter, I said; but we must be brave and do our best.

We must.

Is not the noble youth very like a well-bred dog in respect of guarding and watching?

What do you mean?

I mean that both of them ought to be quick to see, and swift to overtake the enemy when they see him; and strong too if, when they have caught him, they have to fight with him.

### Thesaurus

**bestowed**: (adj) presented, conferred, awarded, accurate. dice: (v) cube, cut, chop, cut up, play dice, bet; (n) die, dice box, bone, dees. fighter: (n) champion, warrior, soldier, belligerent, battler, boxer, brawler, pugilist, defender, gladiator, militant. guarding: (n) surveillance, conservation, precaution, shielding, marking, civil defense, patrol, accompaniment, guardianship; (adj) preserving, defensive.

implement: (v) execute, carry out, fulfil, accomplish, enforce, apply; (n) tool, apparatus, appliance, instrument; (n, v) utensil. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, neglect. **overtake**: (v) catch, attain, catch up with, exceed, overpower, overcome, go by, gain, devastate, outstrip, beat. recreation: (n) amusement, distraction, well-bred: (adj) courteous, mannerly, pastime, play, diversion, merriment, leisure, fun, game, frolic, sport. swift: (adj, adv, v) fast; (adj) quick,

fleet, speedy, alert, nimble, hasty, prompt, sudden, hurried; (adj, v) rapid. ANTONYMS: (adj) considered, leisurely, sluggish, gradual, delayed,

teach: (v) enlighten, educate, instruct, coach, indoctrinate, drill, learn, lecture, school; (adj, v) guide, show. urbane, civil, genteel, gentlemanly, refined, nice, sophisticated, thoughtful, debonair.

All these **qualities**, he replied, will certainly be required by them.

Well, and your guardian must be brave if he is to fight well?

Certainly.

And is he likely to be brave who has no spirit, whether horse or dog or any other animal? Have you never observed how **invincible** and **unconquerable** is spirit and how the presence of it makes the soul of any creature to be absolutely **fearless** and **indomitable**?

I have.

Then now we have a clear notion of the bodily qualities which are required in the guardian.

True.

And also of the mental ones; his soul is to be full of spirit?

Yes.

But are not these **spirited** natures apt to be savage with one another, and with everybody else?

A difficulty by no means easy to overcome, he replied.

Whereas, I said, they ought to be dangerous to their enemies, and gentle to their friends; if not, they will destroy themselves without waiting for their enemies to destroy them.

True, he said.

What is to be done then? I said; how shall we find a gentle nature which has also a great spirit, for the one is the contradiction of the other?

True.

He will not be a good guardian who is wanting in either of these two qualities; and yet the combination of them appears to be impossible; and hence we must infer that to be a good guardian is impossible.

I am afraid that what you say is true, he replied.

### **Thesaurus**

fearless: (adj, n) daring; (adj) brave, dauntless, courageous, undaunted, intrepid, heroic, audacious, gallant, confident, valiant. ANTONYMS: (adj) afraid, frightened, scared, apprehensive, terrified, timid. indomitable: (adj, v) firm, gritty, iron; (adj) dogged, invincible, inflexible, tough, irresistible, rigid, dauntless, undaunted. ANTONYMS: (adj) feeble, submissive, weak, irresolute. invincible: (adj) insurmountable,

unbeatable, insuperable, impregnable, irresistible, unconquerable, unyielding, unquenchable, proof against, impassable, invulnerable.

ANTONYMS: (adj) defenseless, powerless, weak, feeble.

qualities: (n) character, disposition, nature, spirit, tone, quality, role, self, part, traits, individuality. spirited: (adj) animated, frisky, energetic, racy, bold, gritty, quick,

enthusiastic, dashing, peppy, brave. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritless, lifeless, feeble, cowardly, apathetic, lethargic, spineless, dull, solemn, sluggish, lackluster.

unconquerable: (adj) insurmountable, impregnable, insuperable, irresistible, unbeatable, proof against, resistless, indomitable, unquenchable, impassable, inextinguishable.

ANTONYMS: (adj) conquerable, feeble.

Here feeling perplexed I began to think over what had preceded.—My friend, I said, no wonder that we are in a perplexity; for we have lost sight of the image which we had before us.

What do you mean? he said.

I mean to say that there do exist natures gifted with those opposite qualities.

And where do you find them?

Many animals, I replied, furnish examples of them; our friend the dog is a very good one: you know that well-bred dogs are perfectly gentle to their familiars and acquaintances, and the reverse to strangers.

Yes, I know.

Then there is nothing impossible or out of the order of nature in our finding a guardian who has a similar combination of qualities?

Certainly not.

Would not he who is fitted to be a guardian, besides the spirited nature, need to have the qualities of a philosopher?

I do not **apprehend** your meaning.

The trait of which I am speaking, I replied, may be also seen in the dog, and is remarkable in the animal.

What trait?

Why, a dog, whenever he sees a stranger, is angry; when an acquaintance, he welcomes him, although the one has never done him any harm, nor the other any good. Did this never strike you as **curious**?

The matter never struck me before; but I quite recognise the truth of your remark.

And surely this **instinct** of the dog is very charming;—your dog is a true philosopher.

Why?

### Thesaurus

apprehend: (v) arrest, comprehend, grasp, catch, understand, fathom, realize, sense, follow, nail; (adj, v) conceive. ANTONYMS: (v) misunderstand, discharge, free, liberate.

**besides**: (adv) as well, moreover, too, furthermore, again, as well as, anyway, additionally; (prep) apart from, beside; (adj, adv) more. curious: (adj) odd, unusual, abnormal, strange, peculiar, interested,

quizzical, quaint, queer, inquiring, inquisitive. ANTONYMS: (adj) incurious, ordinary, apathetic, uninterested, unconcerned, typical, indifferent, everyday, disinterested, conventional, common.

guardian: (n) guard, defender, champion, curator, warden, conservator, bodyguard, keeper; (adj, n) protector; (adj) protective, custodial. ANTONYMS: (n) attacker, strangers: (n) stranger. detractor.

instinct: (n) impulse, urge, aptitude, gift, feeling, sixth sense, inherent aptitude, knack, inspiration, talent, genius.

stranger: (n) foreigner, outsider, newcomer, outlander, immigrant, intruder, unknown, tramontane, trespasser; (adj) foreign, strange. ANTONYMS: (n) pal, native, associate, resident, familiar.

Why, because he distinguishes the face of a friend and of an enemy only by the criterion of knowing and not knowing. And must not an animal be a lover of learning who determines what he likes and dislikes by the test of knowledge and ignorance?

Most assuredly.

And is not the love of learning the love of wisdom, which is philosophy?

They are the same, he replied.

And may we not say **confidently** of man also, that he who is likely to be gentle to his friends and acquaintances, must by nature be a lover of wisdom and knowledge?

That we may safely affirm.

Then he who is to be a really good and noble guardian of the State will require to unite in himself philosophy and spirit and swiftness and strength?

Undoubtedly.

Then we have found the desired natures; and now that we have found them, how are they to be reared and **educated**? Is not this an enquiry which may be expected to throw light on the greater enquiry which is our final end—How do justice and injustice grow up in States? for we do not want either to omit what is to the point or to draw out the argument to an **inconvenient** length.

Adeimantus thought that the enquiry would be of great service to us.

Then, I said, my dear friend, the task must not be given up, even if somewhat long.

Certainly not.

Come then, and let us pass a **leisure** hour in story-telling, and our story shall be the education of our heroes.

By all means.

And what shall be their education? Can we find a better than the traditional sort?—and this has two divisions, gymnastic for the body, and music for the soul.

### **Thesaurus**

intellectual; (v) instructed.

confidently: (adv) hopefully, surely, securely, assuredly, intrepidly, boldly, courageously, certainly, sanguinely, bravely, definitely.

ANTONYMS: (adv) powerlessly, weakly, hesitantly, anxiously, uncertainly, timidly, despairingly, tentatively, pessimistically, irresolutely, awkwardly.

educated: (adj, v) erudite, lettered; (adj) learned, enlightened, trained, refined, informed, taught, cultivated,

ANTONYMS: (adj) uneducated, ignorant, naive, illiterate, uncouth, uninformed, unlearned, wild. inconvenient: (adj) inopportune, awkward, disadvantageous, bothersome, improper, unfavorable, troublesome, hard, inapt, untoward, unfortunate. ANTONYMS: (adj) convenient, suitable, opportune, timely, advantageous.

leisure: (n) idleness, convenience,

vacation, inactivity, rest, repose, relaxation, recreation, pastime, opportunity; (*adj*) idle. ANTONYM: (*n*) work.

wisdom: (n) judiciousness, knowledge, sapience, sagacity, sense, prudence, discernment, insight, learning, depth, reasonableness. ANTONYMS: (n) stupidity, folly, inexperience, ignorance, flippancy, banality. True.

Shall we begin education with music, and go on to gymnastic afterwards? By all means.

And when you speak of music, do you include literature or not?

I do.

And literature may be either true or false?

Yes.

And the young should be trained in both kinds, and we begin with the false? I do not understand your meaning, he said.

You know, I said, that we begin by telling children stories which, though not wholly destitute of truth, are in the main fictitious; and these stories are told them when they are not of an age to learn gymnastics.

Very true.

That was my meaning when I said that we must teach music before gymnastics.

Quite right, he said.

You know also that the beginning is the most important part of any work, especially in the case of a young and **tender** thing; for that is the time at which the character is being formed and the desired impression is more readily taken.

Quite true.

And shall we just **carelessly** allow children to hear any **casual** tales which may be devised by casual **persons**, and to receive into their minds ideas for the most part the very opposite of those which we should wish them to have when they are grown up?

We cannot.

authorised: (adj) authorized,

Then the first thing will be to establish a censorship of the writers of fiction, and let the censors receive any tale of fiction which is good, and **reject** the bad; and we will desire mothers and nurses to tell their children the **authorised** ones

### **Thesaurus**

empowered, licensed, accredited, entitled, licenced, glorified, official, commissioned.

carelessly: (adv) incautiously, hastily, recklessly, heedlessly, casually, sloppily, imprudently, inconsiderately, rashly, negligently, unwarily. ANTONYMS: (adv) thoroughly, diligently, carefully, warily, laboriously, thoughtfully, attentively, daintily, methodically,

discreetly, economically.

casual: (adj) adventitious, careless,
chance, occasional, nonchalant,
irregular, easy, cursory, coincidental,
passing, random. ANTONYMS: (adj)
deliberate, formal, thorough, careful,
rushed, premeditated,
predetermined, planned, serious,
permanent, intense.

persons: (n) folk, public, society,
world.

reject: (v) deny, decline, disapprove,

eliminate, dismiss, exclude, rebuff, discard, repel, ignore; (n) cull. ANTONYMS: (v) approve, choose, select, grant, acknowledge, agree, pass, welcome, propose, prefer, keep. tender: (n, v) offer, proffer, bid; (adj, v) affectionate; (adj) painful, sensitive, soft, loving, sore; (v) propose, present. ANTONYMS: (adj) hardhearted, rubbery, hard, rough, uncaring, healthy, mature, unfeeling, cold, experienced; (v) withdraw.

only. Let them fashion the mind with such tales, even more fondly than they mould the body with their hands; but most of those which are now in use must be discarded.

Of what tales are you speaking? he said.

You may find a model of the lesser in the greater, I said; for they are necessarily of the same type, and there is the same spirit in both of them.

Very likely, he replied; but I do not as yet know what you would term the greater.

Those, I said, which are narrated by Homer and Hesiod, and the rest of the poets, who have ever been the great story-tellers of mankind.

But which stories do you mean, he said; and what fault do you find with them?

A fault which is most serious, I said; the fault of telling a lie, and, what is more, a bad lie.

But when is this fault committed?

Whenever an erroneous representation is made of the nature of gods and heroes, — as when a painter paints a portrait not having the shadow of a likeness to the original.

Yes, he said, that sort of thing is certainly very **blameable**; but what are the stories which you mean?

First of all, I said, there was that greatest of all lies in high places, which the poet told about Uranus, and which was a bad lie too, -I mean what Hesiod says that Uranus did, and how Cronus retaliated on him. The doings of Cronus, and the sufferings which in turn his son inflicted upon him, even if they were true, ought certainly not to be lightly told to young and thoughtless persons; if possible, they had better be **buried** in silence. But if there is an absolute necessity for their mention, a chosen few might hear them in a mystery, and they should sacrifice not a common (Eleusinian) pig, but some huge and unprocurable victim; and then the number of the hearers will be very few indeed.

### Thesaurus

blameable: (adj) culpable, guilty, censurable, blameworthy, blameful. buried: (adj) hidden, covert, interred, underground, inhumed, profound, covered, ulterior; (v) perdu, imbed, embed. ANTONYMS: (adj) explicit,

doings: (n) conduct, behavior, behaviour, deportment, demeanour, proceeding, episode, traffic; (v) act,

**painter**: (*n*) artist, colorist, landscapist, **sacrifice**: (*n*, *v*) oblation, forfeit; (*v*)

impressionist, miniaturist, dauber, halser, Felis concolor, guy, cable,

poet: (n) singer, songster, elegist, author, Gilbert, maker, lyricist, muse, thoughtless: (adj, v) careless, heedless, versifier; (adj) poet laureate, Shakespearean.

portrait: (n) effigy, image, likeness, icon, delineation, depiction, figure, portraiture, picture, photograph, painting.

offer, immolate, offer up, give, give up, relinquish; (n) immolation, loss, forfeiture.

stories: (n) tale.

rash, improvident; (adj) reckless, inattentive, hasty, unthinking, negligent, neglectful, imprudent. ANTONYMS: (adj) considerate, considered, heedful, prudent, kind, cautious, mindful, responsible, attentive, observant, sensible.

Why, yes, said he, those stories are extremely objectionable.

Yes, Adeimantus, they are stories not to be repeated in our State; the young man should not be told that in committing the worst of crimes he is far from doing anything outrageous; and that even if he chastises his father when he does wrong, in whatever manner, he will only be following the example of the first and greatest among the gods.

I entirely agree with you, he said; in my opinion those stories are quite **unfit** to be repeated.

Neither, if we mean our future guardians to regard the habit of quarrelling among themselves as of all things the basest, should any word be said to them of the wars in heaven, and of the plots and fightings of the gods against one another, for they are not true. No, we shall never mention the battles of the giants, or let them be embroidered on garments; and we shall be silent about the innumerable other quarrels of gods and heroes with their friends and relatives. If they would only believe us we would tell them that quarrelling is unholy, and that never up to this time has there been any quarrel between citizens; this is what old men and old women should begin by telling children; and when they grow up, the poets also should be told to compose for them in a similar spirit. But the narrative of Hephaestus binding Here his mother, or how on another occasion Zeus sent him flying for taking her part when she was being beaten, and all the battles of the gods in Homer-these tales must not be admitted into our State, whether they are supposed to have an allegorical meaning or not. For a young person cannot judge what is allegorical and what is literal; anything that he receives into his mind at that age is likely to become indelible and unalterable; and therefore it is most important that the tales which the young first hear should be models of **virtuous** thoughts.

There you are right, he replied; but if any one asks where are such models to be found and of what tales are you speaking—how shall we answer him?

I said to him, You and I, Adeimantus, at this moment are not poets, but founders of a State: now the founders of a State ought to know the general forms

# **Thesaurus**

embroidered: (adj) ornate, inflated, exaggerated, bewrought, decorated. indelible: (adj) ineffaceable, memorable, fixed, ineradicable, lasting, irrevocable, ingrained; (adj, v) indestructible; (n) impressive, deep; (v) incorruptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) erasable, fleeting. innumerable: (adj) countless, numberless, incalculable, multitudinous, infinite, innumerous.

unnumbered, uncounted, myriad,

immeasurable, untold. ANTONYM: (adj) finite. unalterable: (adj) constant, inalterable, immutable, permanent, invariable, firm, changeless, rigid, stable, irrevocable, unchangeable. ANTONYMS: (adj) alterable, impermanent, temporary, fluid, flexible. unfit: (adj) inappropriate, improper, inapt, unbecoming, incompetent, unable, incapable, unsuitable, bad;

(adj, v) incapacitate; (v) indispose. ANTONYMS: (adj) appropriate, suitable, ready, healthy, able, firm, competent; (v) qualify. virtuous: (adj) upright, pure, righteous, good, moral, just, honorable, honest, respectable, decent, pious. ANTONYMS: (adj) bad, sinful, corrupt, impure, unethical, decadent, degenerate, irreverent.

in which poets should cast their tales, and the limits which must be **observed** by them, but to make the tales is not their business.

Very true, he said; but what are these forms of theology which you mean?

Something of this kind, I replied:—God is always to be represented as he truly is, whatever be the sort of **poetry**, **epic**, lyric or tragic, in which the **representation** is given.

Right.

And is he not truly good? and must he not be represented as such?

Certainly.

And no good thing is **hurtful**?

No, indeed.

And that which is not hurtful hurts not?

Certainly not.

And that which hurts not does no evil?

No.

And can that which does no evil be a cause of evil?

Impossible.

And the good is advantageous?

Yes.

And therefore the cause of well-being?

Yes.

It follows therefore that the good is not the cause of all things, but of the good only?

Assuredly.

Then God, if he be good, is not the author of all things, as the many assert, but he is the cause of a few things only, and not of most things that occur to men. For few are the goods of human life, and many are the evils, and the good is to be

# **Thesaurus**

epic: (n) epos, saga, epic poem, rhapsody, verse; (adj) epical, heroic, massive, descriptive, suggestive, valiant. ANTONYMS: (n) prose, flop; (adj) small, minor, tiny. hurtful: (adj) harmful, destructive, evil, detrimental, deleterious, bad, injurious, cutting, baneful, baleful, noisome. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasing, harmless, pleasant, comforting, complimentary, merciful, helpful, advantageous, flattering, benign, generous.

**observed**: (adj) ascertained, empirical, discovered, viewed, experimental, experiential, determined, visual, disclosed.

poetry: (n) verse, poesy, song, rhyme, style, poetics, epos, poems, stanza, doggerel, tuneful Nine.

representation: (*n*) performance, presentation, picture, depiction, effigy, portrait, diagram, model, likeness, description, illustration.

**theology**: (adj, n) divinity, God, deity; (n) apologetics, homiletics, hermeneutics, religion, theological system, eschatology, field of study, subject field.

well-being: (n) prosperity, good, health, comfort, happiness, interest, satisfaction, sake, rapture, peace of mind, luxury. attributed to God alone; of the evils the causes are to be sought elsewhere, and not in him.

That appears to me to be most true, he said.

Then we must not listen to Homer or to any other poet who is **guilty** of the folly of saying that two casks

Lie at the threshold of Zeus, full of lots, one of good, the other of evil lots,

and that he to whom Zeus gives a mixture of the two

Sometimes meets with evil fortune, at other times with good;

but that he to whom is given the cup of **unmingled** ill,

Him wild **hunger** drives o'er the **beauteous** earth.

And again –

Zeus, who is the **dispenser** of good and evil to us.

And if any one asserts that the **violation** of oaths and treaties, which was really the work of Pandarus, was brought about by Athene and Zeus, or that the strife and contention of the gods was instigated by Themis and Zeus, he shall not have our approval; neither will we allow our young men to hear the words of Aeschylus, that

God plants guilt among men when he desires utterly to **destroy** a house.

# **Thesaurus**

**beauteous**: (*adj*) pretty, lovely, fair, comely, good-looking, handsome, stunning.

**destroy**: (v) demolish, blight, despoil, subvert, dismantle, devour, wreck, devastate; (adj, v) desolate, abolish; (n, v) murder. ANTONYMS: (v) preserve, create, make, construct, protect, repair, restore, uphold, sustain, submit, revive.

**dispenser**: (*n*) distributor, distributer, atomiser, atomizer, slot machine,

machine, pharmacist, dealer, chemist, druggist, vending machine. gives: (n) give, offer, provide, grant, unmingled: (adj) unmixed, plain

accord. **guilt**: (*n*) sin, criminality, fault, repentance, remorse, offence.

repentance, remorse, offence, guilty, error, culpability, complicity, delinquency. ANTONYM: (*n*) blamelessness.

**hunger**: (*n*, *v*) thirst, want, wish, itch; (*n*) craving, appetite, eagerness, famine; (*v*) crave, ache; (*adj*) hungry.

ANTONYMS: (n) moderation, aversion, dislike, apathy. unmingled: (adj) unmixed, plain, uncompounded, sheer, simple, uncombined, concentrated, homely, artless, bluff, patent.

violation: (n) infraction, breach, infringement, trespass, assault, outrage, invasion; (adj, n, v) abuse; (n, v) crime, offense; (adj, n) defilement. ANTONYMS: (n) obedience, observance, consecration, respect.

And if a poet writes of the sufferings of Niobe—the subject of the tragedy in which these iambic **verses** occur—or of the house of Pelops, or of the Trojan war or on any similar theme, either we must not permit him to say that these are the works of God, or if they are of God, he must **devise** some explanation of them such as we are seeking; he must say that God did what was just and right, and they were the better for being punished; but that those who are punished are miserable, and that God is the author of their misery—the poet is not to be permitted to say; though he may say that the wicked are miserable because they require to be punished, and are benefited by receiving punishment from God; but that God being good is the author of evil to any one is to be strenuously denied, and not to be said or **sung** or heard in verse or prose by any one whether old or young in any well-ordered commonwealth. Such a fiction is suicidal, **ruinous**, impious.

I agree with you, he replied, and am ready to give my assent to the law.

Let this then be one of our rules and principles concerning the gods, to which our poets and reciters will be expected to conform, — that God is not the author of all things, but of good only.

That will do, he said.

And what do you think of a second principle? Shall I ask you whether God is a **magician**, and of a nature to appear **insidiously** now in one shape, and now in another—sometimes himself changing and passing into many forms, sometimes deceiving us with the **semblance** of such transformations; or is he one and the same **immutably** fixed in his own proper image?

I cannot answer you, he said, without more thought.

Well, I said; but if we suppose a change in anything, that change must be effected either by the thing itself, or by some other thing?

Most certainly.

And things which are at their best are also least liable to be altered or **discomposed**; for example, when healthiest and strongest, the human frame is least liable to be affected by meats and drinks, and the plant which is in the

# **Thesaurus**

devise: (v) contrive, conceive, invent, plan, create, concoct, design, arrange, frame, formulate, excogitate. discomposed: (adj) disturbed, perturbed, doubtful, excited, distraught, uncomfortable, fearful. immutably: (adv) unchangeably, unassailably.

insidiously: (adv) subtlely, craftily, treacherously, secretly, wily, sly, snakily, astutely, perniciously, stealthily, trickily.

magician: (n) enchanter, conjurer, illusionist, wizard, conjuror, thaumaturge, magicians, performer, magus, necromancer, prestidigitator. ruinous: (adj) harmful, baleful, disastrous, calamitous, injurious, deleterious, dilapidated, blasting, baneful, pernicious; (adj, n) subversive. ANTONYMS: (adj) beneficial, fortunate, harmless. semblance: (adj, n) color; (n)

**semblance**: (*adj*, *n*) color; (*n*) resemblance, appearance, look,

aspect, air, image, similarity, pretense, guise, pretext. ANTONYM: (*n*) difference.

**sung**: (*v*) sing; (*n*) call, sung dynasty, strain, song dynasty, song, birdsong, birdcall; (*adj*) spoken, outspoken, choral.

**verse**: (*n*) rhyme, poem, stanza, poesy, strain, measure, song, paragraph, clause, couplet, vertex.

fullest vigour also suffers least from winds or the heat of the sun or any similar causes.

Of course.

And will not the bravest and wisest soul be least confused or deranged by any external influence?

True.

And the same principle, as I should suppose, applies to all composite things – furniture, houses, garments: when good and well made, they are least altered by time and circumstances.

Very true.

Then everything which is good, whether made by art or nature, or both, is least liable to suffer change from without?

True.

But surely God and the things of God are in every way perfect?

Of course they are.

Then he can hardly be compelled by external influence to take many shapes?

He cannot.

But may he not change and **transform** himself?

Clearly, he said, that must be the case if he is changed at all.

And will he then change himself for the better and fairer, or for the worse and more unsightly?

If he change at all he can only change for the worse, for we cannot suppose him to be deficient either in virtue or beauty.

Very true, Adeimantus; but then, would any one, whether God or man, desire to make himself worse?

Impossible.

# Thesaurus

altered: (adj) transformed, changed, diversified, varied, distorted, affected, castrated, malformed, misrepresented, misshapen; (v) battered. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaltered, unadjusted. composite: (n) amalgam, mix, blend, admixture, combination, concoction, alloy, medley; (adj, n, v) compound; (adj) aggregate, mixed. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmixed, uncombined, separated, segregated, unblended.

deranged: (adj) demented, disordered, crazed, maddened, unbalanced, insane, lunatic, mad, confused, disturbed, acephalous. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, balanced, lucid, rational, stable.

garments: (n) attire, clothing, dress, apparel, raiment, outfit, costume, garb, array, gear, anything worthless. vigour: (n) force, strength, vigor, transform: (v) change, convert, alter, metamorphose, translate, turn, modify, become, transmute,

transfigure, process. ANTONYMS: (v) preserve, maintain. unsightly: (adj) repulsive, hideous, unpleasant, unattractive, uncomely, unlovely, unseemly, disagreeable, nasty, homely, plain. ANTONYMS: (adj) beautiful, nice, pleasing, pretty, appealing, attractive.

energy, power, potency, vim, vitality, athleticism, verve, intensity.

Then it is impossible that God should ever be willing to change; being, as is supposed, the fairest and best that is conceivable, every God remains absolutely and for ever in his own form.

That necessarily follows, he said, in my judgment.

Then, I said, my dear friend, let none of the poets tell us that

The gods, taking the disguise of strangers from other lands, Walk up and down cities in all sorts of forms;

and let no one **slander** Proteus and Thetis, neither let any one, either in tragedy or in any other kind of poetry, introduce Here disguised in the likeness of a priestess asking an **alms** 

For the life-giving daughters of Inachus the river of Argos;

—let us have no more lies of that sort. Neither must we have mothers under the influence of the poets **scaring** their children with a bad version of these myths—telling how certain gods, as they say, 'Go about by night in the likeness of so many strangers and in divers forms;' but let them take **heed** lest they make cowards of their children, and at the same time speak **blasphemy** against the gods.

Heaven forbid, he said.

But although the gods are themselves unchangeable, still by **witchcraft** and deception they may make us think that they appear in various forms?

Perhaps, he replied.

Well, but can you imagine that God will be willing to lie, whether in word or **deed**, or to put forth a **phantom** of himself?

I cannot say, he replied.

# **Thesaurus**

doing, document, title, fact.

alms: (n) handout, charity, benefaction, gift, donation, contribution, offering, bounty; (n, v) sportula, largess; (v) relieve. blasphemy: (n) profanity, desecration, violation, profanation, oath, irreverence, curse, profaneness, discourtesy, cursing, insult. ANTONYMS: (n) adoration, respect, reverence. deed: (n) accomplishment, act, feat,

behavior, action, exploit, covenant,

ANTONYM: (*n*) failure. **heed**: (*n*, *v*) consideration, concern, regard, mind, attention, notice; (*n*) caution, advertence, advertency; (*v*) attend, hear. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) disregard; (*n*) inattentiveness. **life-giving**: (*adj*) vital. **phantom**: (*n*, *v*) apparition, phantasm, vision, phantasma; (*n*) spectre, specter, appearance, shade, shadow, wraith, spirit.

scaring: (adj) appalling.
slander: (n, v) scandal, insult,
calumniate; (adj, v) defame, asperse;
(n) defamation, aspersion, obloquy,
disparagement; (adj, n) abuse; (v)
denigrate. ANTONYMS: (n, v)
acclaim; (v) compliment; (n)
acclamation.
witchcraft: (n) incantation, sorcery,
witchery, enchantment, spell, black
magic, necromancy, fascination,

charm, black art, glamour.

Do you not know, I said, that the true lie, if such an expression may be allowed, is hated of gods and men?

What do you mean? he said.

I mean that no one is willingly deceived in that which is the truest and highest part of himself, or about the truest and highest matters; there, above all, he is most afraid of a lie having possession of him.

Still, he said, I do not comprehend you.

The reason is, I replied, that you attribute some profound meaning to my words; but I am only saying that deception, or being deceived or uninformed about the highest realities in the highest part of themselves, which is the soul, and in that part of them to have and to hold the lie, is what mankind least like; that, I say, is what they utterly **detest**.

There is nothing more hateful to them.

And, as I was just now remarking, this ignorance in the soul of him who is deceived may be called the true lie; for the lie in words is only a kind of imitation and shadowy image of a previous affection of the soul, not pure unadulterated falsehood. Am I not right?

Perfectly right.

The true lie is hated not only by the gods, but also by men?

Whereas the lie in words is in certain cases useful and not hateful; in dealing with enemies - that would be an instance; or again, when those whom we call our friends in a fit of madness or illusion are going to do some harm, then it is useful and is a sort of medicine or **preventive**; also in the tales of mythology, of which we were just now speaking-because we do not know the truth about ancient times, we make falsehood as much like truth as we can, and so turn it to account.

Very true, he said.

# Thesaurus

**detest**: (n, v) hate; (v) abominate, loathe, despise, execrate, dislike, nauseate, contemn, dislike intensely; (n) loathing, abhorrence. ANTONYMS: (v) adore, like, cherish, admire. apparition, deception, magic, fancy, deceit, dissimulation, phantom, trick,

**illusion**: (n, v) delusion; (n) fantasy, vision. ANTONYMS: (n) reality, fact. madness: (n) frenzy, insanity, lunacy, idiocy, folly, delirium, insaneness;

(adj, n) furor, rage, desperation, furore. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, calmness, order. matters: (n) affairs, materials, dealings, proceedings. preventive: (adj, n) preventative,

contraceptive; (adj) defensive, protective; (n) deterrent, hindrance, impediment, blocking, interference, encumbrance, pessary. ANTONYM: (adj) permissive.

unadulterated: (adj) clean, simple,

genuine, sheer, absolute, perfect, unsophisticated, true, authentic, real, neat. ANTONYMS: (adj) diluted, hidden, imitation, provisional. uninformed: (adj) ignorant, uneducated, untaught, uninstructed, unlettered, unlearned, unwitting, unaccustomed, unaware, unversed, untutored. ANTONYMS: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, literate, logical, conscious.

But can any of these reasons apply to God? Can we suppose that he is ignorant of antiquity, and therefore has recourse to **invention**?

That would be ridiculous, he said.

Then the lying poet has no place in our idea of God?

I should say not.

Or perhaps he may tell a lie because he is afraid of enemies?

That is inconceivable.

But he may have friends who are senseless or mad?

But no mad or senseless person can be a friend of God.

Then no motive can be imagined why God should lie?

None whatever.

Then the superhuman and divine is absolutely incapable of falsehood?

Yes.

Then is God perfectly simple and true both in word and deed; he changes not; he deceives not, either by sign or word, by dream or waking vision.

Your thoughts, he said, are the reflection of my own.

You agree with me then, I said, that this is the second type or form in which we should write and speak about divine things. The gods are not magicians who transform themselves, neither do they deceive mankind in any way.

I grant that.

Then, although we are **admirers** of Homer, we do not admire the lying dream which Zeus sends to Agamemnon; neither will we praise the verses of Aeschylus in which Thetis says that Apollo at her **nuptials** 

was **celebrating** in song her fair **progeny** whose days were to be long, and to know no sickness. And when he had spoken of my lot as in all things blessed of heaven he raised a note of triumph and cheered my soul. And I thought that the word of Phoebus, being divine and full of

# **Thesaurus**

admire: (v) revere, look up to, idolize, appreciate, adore, wonder, praise, worship, admiring, esteem, honor. ANTONYMS: (v) despise, loathe, scorn, hate, condemn, abhor, disrespect, detest, disregard, disapprove, deprecate.

celebrating: (adj) jubilant, complimentary.

divine: (adj) sacred, wonderful, blessed, holy, exquisite; (n) clergyman; (v) guess, conjecture,

augur, anticipate; (adj, n) almighty. ANTONYMS: (adj) imperfect, profane, earthly, dreadful, physical, ugly, secular.

invention: (n) fabrication, conception, fiction, imagination, creation, discovery, device, innovation, excogitation, artifice; (n, v) forgery. ANTONYM: (n) truth.

**nuptials**: (n) wedding, matrimony, bridal, wedding ceremony, marriage ceremony, spousal, wedding party, ceremonial, ceremony, espousal, hymeneals. ANTONYM: (n) divorce. progeny: (n) posterity, child, children, family, lineage, successor, seed; (n, v) issue, breed, brood, generation. senseless: (adj) foolish, mindless, preposterous, pointless, irrational, absurd, stupid, insensible, idiotic, fatuous, purposeless. ANTONYMS: (adj) meaningful, wise, conscious, provoked, prudent, useful, worthwhile.

**prophecy**, would not fail. And now he himself who uttered the **strain**, he who was present at the **banquet**, and who said this—he it is who has **slain** my son.

These are the kind of sentiments about the gods which will arouse our **anger**; and he who utters them shall be **refused** a **chorus**; neither shall we allow teachers to make use of them in the **instruction** of the young, meaning, as we do, that our guardians, as far as men can be, should be true worshippers of the gods and like them.

I entirely agree, he said, in these principles, and promise to make them my laws.

# anger: (n) fury, rage, displeasure, resentment, indignation; (v) incense, offend, irritate, exasperate; (adj) angry; (n, v) wrath. ANTONYMS: (v) placate, pacify, tickle; (n) pleasure, composure, glee, affection, serenity, goodwill, forbearance; (n, v) calm. banquet: (v) junket, revel, regale; (n) party, celebration, carousal, treat, entertainment, spread, dinner, reception. ANTONYM: (n) snack. chorus: (n, v) choir; (v) chant; (n)

### **Thesaurus**

ensemble, coir, refrain, chorale, acclamation, Greek chorus; (adv) descant, glee, madrigal.

ANTONYMS: (n) disagreement, discord.

instruction: (n) charge, direction, education, guidance, prescription, guideline, teaching, information, injunction; (n, v) advice, counsel.

**prophecy**: (*n*) oracle, augury, prognostication, forecast,

ANTONYM: (n) plea.

vaticination, prevision, prediction, prognosis, omen, revelation, foreboding.

**refused**: (*adj*) forbidden, refuse, prohibited, hence.

**slain**: (*v*) slay; (*adj*) overthrown, mat, fallen, dejected, cast down.

**strain**: (*n*, *v*) stretch, sift; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) tax; (*v*) screen, filter, try, exert; (*n*) effort, breed, exertion, song. ANTONYMS: (*v*) laze; (*n*) ease, relief.

# BOOK III

Such then, I said, are our principles of theology—some tales are to be told, and others are not to be told to our disciples from their youth **upwards**, if we mean them to **honour** the gods and their parents, and to value **friendship** with one another.

Yes; and I think that our principles are right, he said.

But if they are to be **courageous**, must they not learn other **lessons** besides these, and lessons of such a kind as will take away the fear of death? Can any man be courageous who has the fear of death in him?

Certainly not, he said.

And can he be fearless of death, or will he choose death in battle rather than defeat and slavery, who believes the world below to be real and terrible?

Impossible.

Then we must assume a control over the narrators of this class of tales as well as over the others, and beg them not simply to revile but rather to **commend** the world below, intimating to them that their **descriptions** are untrue, and will do harm to our future warriors.

That will be our duty, he said.

# **Thesaurus**

commend: (v) approve, exalt, acclaim, praise, applaud, recommend, endorse, entrust, extol, compliment, cite. ANTONYMS: (v) rebuke, criticize, censure, reproach, keep, chastise, reprimand, deny, disparage, refuse, smear.

courageous: (adj, n) bold; (adj) audacious, fearless, valiant, gallant, intrepid, spirited, heroic, undaunted, manly, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) timid, wimpy, weak, spineless, pusillanimous, fearful, fainthearted, afraid, despicable. descriptions: (n) images. friendship: (n) association, familiarity, affection, companionship, friendliness, intimacy, company, attachment, relationship; (n, v) amity, concord. ANTONYMS: (n) hostility, animosity, antagonism, conflict, formality, rivalry, hatred, detachment, distance, isolation. honour: (n) fame, award, dignity,

homage, celebrity, accolade, reputation; (n, v) honor; (v) respect, celebrate, dignify. ANTONYMS: (n, v) dishonor; (v) disrespect. lessons: (n) classes, coaching, tuition, schoolwork, revision, learning, education, training. upwards: (adj, adv) upwardly, up; (adv) over; (adj) improving, open. ANTONYM: (adv) down.

Then, I said, we shall have to **obliterate** many **obnoxious** passages, beginning with the verses,

I would rather be a **serf** on the land of a poor and portionless man than rule over all the dead who have come to nought.

We must also expunge the verse, which tells us how Pluto feared,

Lest the mansions grim and **squalid** which the gods **abhor** should be seen both of **mortals** and immortals.

# And again: -

O heavens! verily in the house of Hades there is soul and ghostly form but no mind at all!

# Again of Tiresias: —

(To him even after death did Persephone grant mind,) that he alone should be wise; but the other souls are flitting **shades**.

# Again: –

The soul flying from the limbs had gone to Hades, **lamenting** her fate, leaving manhood and youth.

# Again: –

And the soul, with shrilling cry, passed like smoke beneath the earth.

# **Thesaurus**

abhor: (v) hate, detest, abominate, execrate, despise, dislike, nauseate, disdain, scorn, resent, dread.
ANTONYMS: (v) adore, approve, like, cherish, embrace, relish, treasure, admire.

**lamenting**: (adj) weeping, wailing, sad, whining; (adj, n) plaintive; (adj, v) bewailing, querulous; (n, v) complaining; (n) grief, sorrow; (v) dissatisfied.

mortals: (n) people.

**obliterate**: (*v*) annihilate, extinguish, eradicate, expunge, efface, wipe out, kill, destroy, cancel, blot out; (*adj*, *v*) abolish. ANTONYMS: (*v*) create, build, protect, engrave, insert. **obnoxious**: (*adj*) disagreeable,

offensive, detestable, distasteful, hateful, horrid, repellent, disgusting, invidious; (adj, n) unpleasant; (adj, v) liable. ANTONYMS: (adj) charming, nice, pleasing, delightful, inoffensive, cordial.

**serf**: (*n*) helot, servant, villein, slave, cottier, cotter, bondsman, tike, tyke, menial, vassal.

**shades**: (*n*) shade, sunglasses, dark glasses, shadow, glasses, blind, awning, roller blind, eyeglasses.

squalid: (adj) sordid, nasty, foul, seedy, filthy, grimy, abject, dingy, grubby, seamy, sleazy. ANTONYMS: (adj) clean, reputable, smart, respectable, fresh, comfortable, wholesome, habitable. As **bats** in hollow of mystic **cavern**, whenever any of them has dropped out of the string and falls from the rock, fly shrilling and cling to one another, so did they with shrilling cry hold together as they moved.

And we must beg Homer and the other poets not to be angry if we strike out these and similar passages, not because they are unpoetical, or unattractive to the popular ear, but because the greater the poetical charm of them, the less are they meet for the ears of boys and men who are meant to be free, and who should fear slavery more than death.

Undoubtedly.

Also we shall have to reject all the terrible and appalling names which describe the world below – Cocytus and Styx, ghosts under the earth, and sapless shades, and any similar words of which the very mention causes a shudder to pass through the inmost soul of him who hears them. I do not say that these horrible stories may not have a use of some kind; but there is a danger that the nerves of our guardians may be rendered too excitable and effeminate by them.

There is a real danger, he said.

Then we must have no more of them.

True.

Another and a nobler strain must be composed and sung by us.

Clearly.

And shall we proceed to get rid of the weepings and wailings of famous

They will go with the rest.

But shall we be right in getting rid of them? Reflect: our principle is that the good man will not consider death terrible to any other good man who is his comrade.

### Thesaurus

bats: (adj) nutty, loony, crackers, cracked, barmy, batty, balmy, goofy, wacky, nuts, loopy.

cavern: (n) hollow, cove, vault, hole, enclosure, antrum, lair, antre, socket, den; (v) cavern out.

comrade: (n) colleague, chum, buddy, fellow, compeer, partner, brother, mate, familiar; (adj, n) associate, ally. ANTONYMS: (n) stranger, enemy, foe, opponent.

excitable: (adj) nervous, irritable,

combustible, hasty, edgy, fiery, sensitive, volatile, passionate, warm, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) unexcitable, calm, unflappable, easygoing, easy, tranquil, reliable, mild.

inmost: (adj) innermost, inward, deep, intimate, private, inner, interior, internal, personal, secret, intrinsic. ANTONYM: (adj) outermost. names: (n) calumny, defamation,

hatchet job.

shudder: (adj, n, v) shake, quake, tremble; (n, v) quiver, twitch, thrill; (n) quivering, shivering, chill, frisson; (v) flutter.

unattractive: (adj) ugly, uninviting, unsightly, unprepossessing, unbecoming, unpopular, unpleasant, undesirable, disagreeable, plain, uncared for. ANTONYMS: (adj) beautiful, lovely, appealing, becoming, desirable, flattering, striking.

Yes; that is our principle.

And therefore he will not sorrow for his departed friend as though he had suffered anything terrible?

He will not.

Such an one, as we further maintain, is sufficient for himself and his own happiness, and therefore is least in need of other men.

True, he said.

And for this reason the loss of a son or brother, or the deprivation of fortune, is to him of all men least terrible.

Assuredly.

And therefore he will be least likely to lament, and will bear with the greatest **equanimity** any misfortune of this sort which may **befall** him.

Yes, he will feel such a misfortune far less than another.

Then we shall be right in getting rid of the lamentations of famous men, and making them over to women (and not even to women who are good for anything), or to men of a baser sort, that those who are being educated by us to be the defenders of their country may scorn to do the like.

That will be very right.

Then we will once more **entreat** Homer and the other poets not to **depict** Achilles, who is the son of a goddess, first lying on his side, then on his back, and then on his face; then starting up and sailing in a frenzy along the shores of the barren sea; now taking the **sooty** ashes in both his hands and pouring them over his head, or weeping and **wailing** in the various modes which Homer has delineated. Nor should he describe Priam the **kinsman** of the gods as praying and **beseeching**,

Rolling in the dirt, calling each man loudly by his name.

### Thesaurus

befall: (v) bechance, become, happen, fall, arise, come about, occur, betide, chance, transpire, pass.
beseeching: (adj) begging, suppliant, imploring, pleading, precative, supplicatory, precatory, importunate; (n) prayer; (v) plead; (adv) beseechingly. ANTONYM: (adj) imperative.

**depict**: (v) describe, draw, sketch, illustrate, demonstrate, portray, paint, express, explain, depicture,

limn. ANTONYMS: (v) distort, confuse.

**entreat**: (*v*) beg, beseech, ask, implore, pray, adjure, appeal, request, conjure, crave, bid. ANTONYMS: (*v*) demand, reject.

equanimity: (*n*) aplomb, poise, calmness, calm, temper, peace, imperturbability, temperament, serenity, tranquility; (*adj*, *n*) stoicism. ANTONYMS: (*n*) panic, anger, excitableness, fear, hysteria,

nervousness, agitation, anxiety. kinsman: (n) relation, relative, kin, kindred, kinswoman, description, forefather, countryman, detail, consanguinity; (v) confederate. sooty: (adj) black, dark, dusky, smoky, pitchy, fuliginous, grimy, dingy, murky; (v) smutty; (adj, v) dusty. wailing: (n, v) lamentation, lament, moaning; (adj) lamenting, weeping, crying, wailful, howling, sobbing; (adj, n) bawling; (n) cry.

Still more **earnestly** will we beg of him at all events not to introduce the gods lamenting and saying,

Alas! my misery! Alas! that I bore the bravest to my sorrow.

But if he must introduce the gods, at any rate let him not dare so completely to **misrepresent** the greatest of the gods, as to make him say —

O heavens! with my eyes verily I behold a dear friend of mine chased round and round the city, and my heart is **sorrowful**.

Or again: -

Woe is me that I am fated to have Sarpedon, **dearest** of men to me, subdued at the hands of Patroclus the son of Menoetius.

For if, my sweet Adeimantus, our youth seriously listen to such **unworthy** representations of the gods, instead of laughing at them as they ought, hardly will any of them deem that he himself, being but a man, can be dishonoured by similar actions; neither will he **rebuke** any inclination which may arise in his mind to say and do the like. And instead of having any shame or self-control, he will be always **whining** and lamenting on slight occasions.

Yes, he said, that is most true.

Yes, I replied; but that surely is what ought not to be, as the argument has just proved to us; and by that proof we must abide until it is disproved by a better.

It ought not to be.

Neither ought our guardians to be given to laughter. For a fit of laughter which has been **indulged** to excess almost always produces a violent reaction.

So I believe.

# **Thesaurus**

dearest: (n) dear, darling, love, honey, lover, sweetheart, loved one, baby; (adj) precious, intimate, sweet.
earnestly: (adj, adv) seriously; (adv) eagerly, intently, zealously, solemnly, ardently, fervently, heartily, gravely, warmly, passionately. ANTONYMS: (adv) indifferently, insincerely, unconcernedly, jokingly.
indulged: (adj) pet, privileged, cherished, admired.
misrepresent: (v) falsify, garble, belie,

juggle, lie, pervert, warp, fudge, color, fake, exaggerate. rebuke: (n, v) reprimand, rebuff, reproach, chide, blame, reproof, lecture, check; (v) castigate, berate; (n) admonition. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise, compliment; (v) commend, acknowledge, approve; (n) approval. sorrowful: (adj) melancholy, doleful, sad, rueful, lugubrious, gloomy, dreary, grievous, piteous, unhappy, mournful. ANTONYMS: (adj)

cheerful, content, joyful, successful. unworthy: (adj) undeserving, base, disgraceful, ignoble, low, contemptible, despicable, ugly, unmerited, unseemly, shameful. ANTONYMS: (adj) deserving, valuable, honorable, estimable, reputable. whining: (adj) whimpering, whiny,

**whining**: (*adj*) whimpering, whiny, sniveling pitiful, Snively, tearful, whiney, singing, peevish; (*v*) fretful, lamenting; (*n*) sniveling.

Then persons of worth, even if only mortal men, must not be represented as overcome by laughter, and still less must such a representation of the gods be allowed.

Still less of the gods, as you say, he replied.

Then we shall not suffer such an expression to be used about the gods as that of Homer when he **describes** how

Inextinguishable laughter arose among the blessed gods, when they saw Hephaestus **bustling** about the **mansion**.

On your views, we must not admit them.

On my views, if you like to father them on me; that we must not admit them is certain.

Again, truth should be highly **valued**; if, as we were saying, a lie is useless to the gods, and useful only as a medicine to men, then the use of such medicines should be restricted to physicians; private individuals have no business with them.

Clearly not, he said.

Then if any one at all is to have the **privilege** of lying, the rulers of the State should be the persons; and they, in their dealings either with enemies or with their own citizens, may be allowed to lie for the public good. But nobody else should **meddle** with anything of the kind; and although the rulers have this privilege, for a private man to lie to them in return is to be deemed a more **heinous** fault than for the patient or the **pupil** of a gymnasium not to speak the truth about his own bodily illnesses to the physician or to the **trainer**, or for a sailor not to tell the captain what is happening about the ship and the rest of the crew, and how things are going with himself or his fellow sailors.

Most true, he said.

If, then, the ruler catches anybody beside himself lying in the State,

# **Thesaurus**

bustling: (adj) lively, busy, boisterous, buzzing, brisk, alive, vibrant, noisy, tumultuous; (v) stirring, full of incident. ANTONYM: (adj) inactive. describes: (adj) conscience, depraved, depravely, (adj) atractives, cristague, cr

heinous: (adj) atrocious, grievous, evil, wicked, flagrant, flagitious, monstrous, hateful; (adj, v) gross, nefarious, infamous. ANTONYM: (adj) good.

mansion: (n) house, manor, residence,

castle, home, manor house, hall, building, palace, villa, abode. ANTONYMS: (n) hovel, shack, hut. **meddle**: (v) intervene, interfere, intrude, monkey, interpose, fiddle, pry, dabble, interlope; (n) interference; (adj) moil. ANTONYM: (v) disregard.

(v) disregard.

privilege: (n) liberty, prerogative, immunity, freedom, grant, franchise, exemption, concession, claim; (n, v) license, permit. ANTONYM: (n)

nsult.

pupil: (n) learner, student, scholar, disciple, apprentice, trainee, schoolchild, novice, adherent, tyro, collegian. ANTONYM: (n) expert. trainer: (n) teacher, instructor, handler, mentor, professor, tutor, director, breaker, rider, don, cavalier. valued: (adj) precious, appreciated, respected, dear, prized, priced, treasured, value, esteemed, loved, beloved.

Any of the craftsmen, whether he be priest or physician or carpenter,

he will punish him for introducing a practice which is equally **subversive** and **destructive** of ship or State.

Most certainly, he said, if our idea of the State is ever carried out.

In the next place our youth must be temperate?

Certainly.

Are not the chief elements of temperance, speaking generally, obedience to commanders and **self**-control in sensual pleasures?

True.

Then we shall approve such language as that of Diomede in Homer,

Friend, sit still and obey my word,

and the verses which follow,

The Greeks marched breathing **prowess**, ...in silent awe of their leaders,

and other sentiments of the same kind.

We shall.

What of this line,

O heavy with wine, who hast the eyes of a dog and the heart of a stag,

# destructive: (adj) deadly, hurtful, malign, injurious, fatal, mischievous, noxious, pernicious, harmful, evil, baleful. ANTONYMS: (adj) constructive, creative, productive, building, aiding, assisting, helpful, positive, preserving, benign. priest: (adj, n) clergyman, divine; (n) minister, ecclesiastic, churchman, pastor, celebrant, parson, cleric, presbyter, chaplain. prowess: (n) bravery, valor, art,

# **Thesaurus**

heroism, proficiency, mastery,

expertise, gallantry, intrepidity, chivalry, skill. ANTONYMS: (n) inability, ineptitude. self-control: (n) self-discipline, patience, forbearance, abstinence, temperance, temper, composure, discipline, self-command, self-possession, balance.

stag: (v) spy, peach, denounce; (n) buck, dog, boar, cock, deer, roe, doe, reynard.

**subversive**: (adj, n) revolutionary; (n) destructive, insurrectionist, dynamiter, radical, revolutionist; (adj) insurgent, incendiary, disloyal, disruptive, ruinous.

temperate: (adj) sober, moderate, restrained, calm, reasonable, abstemious, gentle, balmy, abstinent, frugal, equable. ANTONYMS: (adj) violent, unrestrained, stormy, cool, extreme, hot, immoderate, wintry, rough.

and of the words which follow? Would you say that these, or any similar impertinences which private individuals are supposed to address to their rulers, whether in verse or prose, are well or ill spoken?

They are ill spoken.

They may very possibly afford some **amusement**, but they do not **conduce** to temperance. And therefore they are likely to do harm to our young men-you would agree with me there?

Yes.

And then, again, to make the wisest of men say that nothing in his opinion is more **glorious** than

> When the tables are full of bread and meat, and the cup-bearer carries round wine which he draws from the bowl and pours into the cups,

is it fit or conducive to temperance for a young man to hear such words? Or the verse

The saddest of fates is to die and meet **destiny** from hunger?

What would you say again to the tale of Zeus, who, while other gods and men were asleep and he the only person awake, lay devising plans, but forgot them all in a moment through his lust, and was so completely overcome at the sight of Here that he would not even go into the hut, but wanted to lie with her on the ground, declaring that he had never been in such a state of rapture before, even when they first met one another

Without the knowledge of their parents;

or that other tale of how Hephaestus, because of similar goings on, cast a chain around Ares and Aphrodite?

# **Thesaurus**

amusement: (n) pleasure, recreation, entertainment, distraction, diversion, sport, pastime, laughter, enjoyment, joy, hobby. ANTONYMS: (n) sadness, boredom, work, tedium, business, despondency, discomfort, displeasure.

awake: (v) wake, awaken, realize, waken; (adj) alive, alert, attentive, conscious, keen, intelligent; (adj, v) broad awake. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconscious, sleeping, comatose,

sleepy, relaxed; (v) deaden, lull,

conduce: (v) go, lead, tend, concur, bestow, advance, redound, encourage, result, verge, extend. cups: (n) plates, dishes, dishware, tableware.

destiny: (n) fate, chance, fortune, kismet, luck, lot, destination, portion, tale: (n) account, narrative, narration, weird, life; (n, v) doom. ANTONYMS: (n) chance, design. devising: (n) cartography, devisal,

mapmaking, making; (adj) cartographical, original, cartographic. glorious: (adj) distinguished, beautiful, bright, celebrated, brilliant, eminent, magnificent, super, great, splendid; (adj, v) illustrious. ANTONYMS: (adj) sorrowful, despicable, horrible, shameful, lowly.

recital, fib, fable, report, fiction, lie, relation, yarn. ANTONYM: (n) fact.

Indeed, he said, I am strongly of opinion that they ought not to hear that sort of thing.

But any deeds of endurance which are done or told by famous men, these they ought to see and hear; as, for example, what is said in the verses,

He smote his breast, and thus reproached his heart, Endure, my heart; far worse hast thou endured!

Certainly, he said.

In the next place, we must not let them be receivers of gifts or lovers of money.

Certainly not.

Neither must we sing to them of

Gifts persuading gods, and persuading reverend kings.

Neither is Phoenix, the **tutor** of Achilles, to be approved or deemed to have given his pupil good counsel when he told him that he should take the gifts of the Greeks and assist them; but that without a gift he should not lay aside his anger. Neither will we believe or acknowledge Achilles himself to have been such a lover of money that he took Agamemnon's gifts, or that when he had received payment he restored the dead body of Hector, but that without payment he was **unwilling** to do so.

Undoubtedly, he said, these are not sentiments which can be approved.

**Loving** Homer as I do, I hardly like to say that in attributing these feelings to Achilles, or in believing that they are truly attributed to him, he is guilty of downright impiety. As little can I believe the narrative of his insolence to Apollo, where he says,

### Thesaurus

**counsel**: (v) advise, consult, admonish, questionable, slight; (adv) hardly. confer, warn; (n, v) caution, advocate; **loving**: (adi) fond, devoted, amorous, (n) barrister, advisement, consultation, admonition. ANTONYMS: (v) betray, trick, deceive, conceal, oppose; (n) warning. **downright**: (adj, n) absolute; (adj, v)sheer, clear; (adj) dead, blunt, candid, plain; (adv) absolutely, thoroughly, wholly, decidedly. ANTONYMS: (adj) semi, limited, incomplete,

kind, friendly, ardent, attached, admiring, gentle, fatherly; (adj, v) tender. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, uncaring, malicious, cruel, unloving, rough, paternal, indifferent, distant, disapproving, callous. restored: (adj) new, healthy, comfortable, convalescent. reverend: (n) preacher, clergyman,

parson, rector, vicar, pastor, priest,

minister, churchman; (adj) respectable, honourable. tutor: (n) teacher, instructor, mentor, trainer, master, guardian; (v) instruct, school, educate, train, teach. unwilling: (adj) involuntary, loath, disinclined, averse, recalcitrant, backward, indisposed, grudging, loth, adverse, forced. ANTONYMS: (adj) inclined, amenable, keen, prepared, ready, eager, disposed, agreeable, accepting, happy.

Thou hast wronged me,

O far-darter, most abominable of deities.

Verily I would be even with thee, if I had only the power;

or his insubordination to the river-god, on whose divinity he is ready to lay hands; or his offering to the dead Patroclus of his own hair, which had been previously dedicated to the other river-god Spercheius, and that he actually **performed** this vow; or that he dragged Hector round the tomb of Patroclus, and slaughtered the captives at the pyre; of all this I cannot believe that he was guilty, any more than I can allow our citizens to believe that he, the wise Cheiron's pupil, the son of a goddess and of Peleus who was the gentlest of men and third in descent from Zeus, was so disordered in his wits as to be at one time the slave of two seemingly inconsistent passions, meanness, not **untainted** by avarice, combined with **overweening** contempt of gods and men.

You are quite right, he replied.

And let us equally refuse to believe, or allow to be repeated, the tale of Theseus son of Poseidon, or of Peirithous son of Zeus, going forth as they did to **perpetrate** a **horrid** rape; or of any other hero or son of a god **daring** to do such impious and dreadful things as they falsely ascribe to them in our day: and let us further compel the poets to declare either that these acts were not done by them, or that they were not the sons of gods;—both in the same breath they shall not be permitted to affirm. We will not have them trying to persuade our youth that the gods are the authors of evil, and that heroes are no better than men—sentiments which, as we were saying, are neither pious nor true, for we have already proved that evil cannot come from the gods.

Assuredly not.

And further they are likely to have a bad effect on those who hear them; for everybody will begin to excuse his own vices when he is convinced that similar wickednesses are always being perpetrated by—

The kindred of the gods, the relatives of Zeus, whose ancestral altar, the altar of Zeus, is **aloft** in air on the peak of Ida,

# **Thesaurus**

high, over, aloof, upwards, uphill, above ground; (prep) upon; (adj) eminent, lofty.

daring: (adj, n) bold, courageous, adventurous; (adj) audacious, venturesome, intrepid; (n) bravery, audacity, boldness, courage, adventurousness. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, timidity; (adj) timid, cautious, dull, afraid, chicken, fearful, unadventurous, wimpy.

aloft: (adj, adv) overhead; (adv) up, on

horrid: (adj) grisly, ghastly, ugly, gruesome, grim, fearful, dreadful, direful, dire, horrible, fearsome. ANTONYMS: (adj) lovely, nice, appealing, attractive, kind. overweening: (adj) overbearing, overconfident, imperious, disdainful, vain, bumptious, immodest, domineering, uppity, consequential, uppish. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, unassuming. performed: (adj, v) done, finished; (adj)

ulfilled.

**perpetrate**: (*v*) do, act, perform, make, execute, carry out, draw, give, enact, put, institutionalize.

untainted: (adj) unsullied, unstained, unspotted, innocent, unsoiled, unblemished, untarnished, stainless; (n) unmarred, unscathed, uninjured. ANTONYMS: (adj) tainted, impure. wronged: (adj) upset, hurt, indignant, offended.

and who have

The blood of deities yet flowing in their veins.

And therefore let us put an end to such tales, lest they **engender laxity** of **morals** among the young.

By all means, he replied.

But now that we are determining what classes of subjects are or are not to be **spoken** of, let us see whether any have been **omitted** by us. The manner in which gods and demigods and heroes and the world below should be treated has been already laid down.

Very true.

And what shall we say about men? That is clearly the remaining portion of our subject.

Clearly so.

But we are not in a condition to answer this question at present, my friend.

Why not?

Because, if I am not mistaken, we shall have to say that about men poets and story-tellers are guilty of making the gravest misstatements when they tell us that wicked men are often happy, and the good miserable; and that injustice is profitable when undetected, but that justice is a man's own loss and another's gain—these things we shall forbid them to utter, and **command** them to **sing** and say the opposite.

To be sure we shall, he replied.

But if you admit that I am right in this, then I shall maintain that you have implied the principle for which we have been all along contending.

I grant the truth of your inference.

# **Thesaurus**

**command**: (*n*, *v*) order, charge, call, control, decree; (*n*) instruction, bidding, direction, behest; (*v*) direct, commission. ANTONYMS: (*v*) obey, follow, contradict, countermand, revoke, recall, oppose; (*n*) beg, plead, plea.

engender: (v) cause, breed, generate, bring about, make, bring forth, create, produce, procreate, father, bring. ANTONYMS: (v) stop, destroy, halt, finish.

laxity: (n) laxness, relaxation, carelessness, remissness, laches, evasion, failure, feebleness; (adj) flaccidity, immorality, debasement. ANTONYMS: (n) intervention, strictness, vigilance, severity, attention.

morals: (n) ethics, moral, light, hedonism, ethical motive, conscience, motivation, motive, need, behavior, moral philosophy. omitted: (adj) absent, forgotten,

misplaced, wanting, not there, away, gone astray, lost, mislaid, gone.
sing: (v) hymn, hum, chirp, drone, intone, vocalize, pipe, carol, snitch; (n, v) twitter, squeak.
spoken: (adj) verbal, expressed, speaking, speak, unwritten, vocal, voiced, talk, said, informal, conversational. ANTONYMS: (adj) written, unspoken, tacit, formal, silent.

That such things are or are not to be said about men is a question which we cannot determine until we have discovered what justice is, and how naturally advantageous to the possessor, whether he seem to be just or not.

Most true, he said.

Enough of the subjects of poetry: let us now speak of the style; and when this has been considered, both matter and manner will have been completely **treated**.

I do not understand what you mean, said Adeimantus.

Then I must make you understand; and perhaps I may be more intelligible if I put the matter in this way. You are aware, I suppose, that all mythology and poetry is a narration of events, either past, present, or to come?

Certainly, he replied.

And narration may be either simple narration, or imitation, or a union of the two?

That again, he said, I do not quite understand.

I fear that I must be a **ridiculous** teacher when I have so much difficulty in making myself **apprehended**. Like a bad speaker, therefore, I will not take the whole of the subject, but will break a piece off in illustration of my meaning. You know the first lines of the Iliad, in which the poet says that Chryses prayed Agamemnon to release his daughter, and that Agamemnon flew into a **passion** with him; **whereupon** Chryses, **failing** of his object, invoked the anger of the God against the Achaeans. Now as far as these lines,

And he prayed all the Greeks, but especially the two sons of Atreus, the chiefs of the people,

the poet is speaking in his own person; he never **leads** us to suppose that he is any one else. But in what follows he takes the person of Chryses, and then he does all that he can to make us believe that the speaker is not Homer, but the

### **Thesaurus**

apprehended: (adj) arrested, seized, understood, under arrest, in custody, detained, appreciated, comprehended.

failing: (adj, n) deficiency, blemish, imperfection; (n) fault, shortcoming, failure, weakness, flaw, inadequacy, foible; (adj) declining. ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, flourishing, well, strong, growing, healthy; (n)

strength, virtue, specialty, capability,

passing.

leads: (n) slating, pieced leads, slates, pile driving leads, tiling.
passion: (n) affection, fire, fervor, love, feeling, anger, enthusiasm, heat, craving, desire; (n, v) ardor.
ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, hate, serenity, meekness, hatred, doubt, dislike, calmness, moderation.
ridiculous: (adj) foolish, preposterous, funny, laughable, ludicrous, inane, nonsensical, comical, farcical, amusing, comic. ANTONYMS: (adj)

reasonable, inspiring, ordinary, sensitive, acceptable, generous, normal, possible, impressive, sane, worthwhile.

treated: (adj) tempered, hardened, emotionally hardened, inured, baked, physically toughened, enured, burned, tough, burnt, considered. ANTONYM: (adj) untempered. whereupon: (adv) thereupon, hereupon, upon which, at what, at

aged priest himself. And in this double form he has cast the entire **narrative** of the events which occurred at Troy and in Ithaca and throughout the Odyssey.

Yes.

And a narrative it remains both in the speeches which the poet recites from time to time and in the intermediate passages?

Quite true.

But when the poet speaks in the person of another, may we not say that he assimilates his style to that of the person who, as he **informs** you, is going to speak?

Certainly.

And this **assimilation** of himself to another, either by the use of voice or gesture, is the imitation of the person whose character he assumes?

Of course.

Then in this case the narrative of the poet may be said to proceed by way of imitation?

Very true.

Or, if the poet everywhere appears and never conceals himself, then again the imitation is dropped, and his poetry becomes simple narration. However, in order that I may make my meaning quite clear, and that you may no more say, 'I don't understand,' I will show how the change might be effected. If Homer had said, 'The priest came, having his daughter's ransom in his hands, supplicating the Achaeans, and above all the kings;' and then if, instead of speaking in the person of Chryses, he had continued in his own person, the words would have been, not imitation, but simple narration. The passage would have run as follows (I am no poet, and therefore I drop the metre), 'The priest came and prayed the gods on behalf of the Greeks that they might capture Troy and return safely home, but begged that they would give him back his daughter, and take the ransom which he brought, and respect the God. Thus he spoke, and the other Greeks revered the priest and assented. But Agamemnon was wroth, and

# **Thesaurus**

assimilation: (n) acculturation, adaptation, incorporation, relationship, education, accommodation, adjustment, integration, intussusception, synthesis, association. ANTONYM: (n) rejection.

**behalf**: (*n*) sake, part, interest, behoof, defense, lieu, good, stead, score, service, side.

**capture**: (*v*) bag, catch, carry, ensnare, captivate, seize, get, apprehend; (*n*)

seizure, apprehension; (*n*, *v*) take. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) release, surrender; (*v*) liberate, disperse, free, lose, give; (*n*) return, liberation. **informs**: (*v*) inform; (*n*) informing. **narrative**: (*n*, *v*) history, tale; (*n*) account, story, chronicle, legend, yarn, recital, relation, report, anecdote.

ransom: (v) redeem, repair, extricate; (n, v) rescue, blackmail, repurchase; (n) deliverance, ransom money, assessment, benevolence, excise. revered: (adj) August, sacred, esteemed, venerated, respected, beloved, holy, venerable, blessed, celebrated, honored. ANTONYMS: (adj) secular, disreputable. supplicating: (adj) imploring, soliciting, beseeching, entreating, petitioning, aplogetic, begging, manifesting entreaty, petitory, piteous; (v) supplicate.

bade him depart and not come again, lest the staff and chaplets of the God should be of no avail to him—the daughter of Chryses should not be released, he said—she should grow old with him in Argos. And then he told him to go away and not to provoke him, if he intended to get home unscathed. And the old man went away in fear and silence, and, when he had left the camp, he called upon Apollo by his many names, reminding him of everything which he had done pleasing to him, whether in building his temples, or in offering sacrifice, and praying that his good deeds might be returned to him, and that the Achaeans might expiate his tears by the arrows of the god,'—and so on. In this way the whole becomes simple narrative.

I understand, he said.

Or you may suppose the opposite case—that the intermediate passages are omitted, and the dialogue only left.

That also, he said, I understand; you mean, for example, as in tragedy.

You have conceived my meaning perfectly; and if I mistake not, what you failed to apprehend before is now made clear to you, that poetry and mythology are, in some cases, wholly imitative—instances of this are supplied by tragedy and comedy; there is likewise the opposite style, in which the poet is the only speaker—of this the **dithyramb** affords the best example; and the combination of both is found in epic, and in several other styles of poetry. Do I take you with me?

Yes, he said; I see now what you meant.

I will ask you to remember also what I began by saying, that we had done with the subject and might proceed to the style.

Yes, I remember.

In saying this, I intended to imply that we must come to an understanding about the **mimetic** art,—whether the poets, in **narrating** their stories, are to be allowed by us to imitate, and if so, whether in whole or in part, and if the latter, in what parts; or should all imitation be **prohibited**?

# **Thesaurus**

avail: (n, v) advantage, assist, aid, profit, benefit, help; (adj, n) service; (n) good, assistance, utility; (v) do. ANTONYMS: (v) useless, hurt, hinder, harm; (n) inappropriateness. bade: (v) bid, command, bad. depart: (v) go, deviate, decease, diverge, start, stray, wander, leave, die, vary, part. ANTONYMS: (v) stay, arrive, enter, come, abide, conform, continue, remain, appear, converge, return.

dithyramb: (n) idyl, serenade, quodlibet, pastoral, ode, dithyrambic, lyric, bucolic, fugue, epopee, epode. expiate: (v) atone, aby, redeem, abye, compensate, recompense, purge; (adj) pious, expiable; (n) expiator, expiation.

mimetic: (*adj*) imitative, mimic, imitated, mimical.

narrating: (*v*) narrate.

**prohibited**: (*adj*) illicit, illegal, taboo, banned, unlawful, contraband,

barred, proscribed, not allowed, out; (adj, adv) off-limits. ANTONYMS: (adj) legitimate, permitted, allowed, authorized, legal, permissible, acceptable, eligible, lawful, open. unscathed: (adj) uninjured, unhurt, intact, safe, safe and sound, undamaged, unscratched, whole, unmarred, untouched; (n) untainted. ANTONYMS: (adj) hurt, injured, harmed. went: (v) walked, proceeded.

You mean, I suspect, to ask whether tragedy and comedy shall be admitted into our State?

Yes, I said; but there may be more than this in question: I really do not know as yet, but whither the argument may blow, thither we go.

And go we will, he said.

Then, Adeimantus, let me ask you whether our guardians ought to be imitators; or rather, has not this question been decided by the rule already laid down that one man can only do one thing well, and not many; and that if he attempt many, he will altogether fail of **gaining** much reputation in any?

Certainly.

And this is equally true of imitation; no one man can imitate many things as well as he would imitate a single one?

He cannot.

Then the same person will hardly be able to play a serious part in life, and at the same time to be an imitator and imitate many other parts as well; for even when two species of imitation are nearly allied, the same persons cannot succeed in both, as, for example, the writers of tragedy and comedy-did you not just now call them imitations?

Yes, I did; and you are right in thinking that the same persons cannot succeed in both.

Any more than they can be rhapsodists and actors at once?

True.

Neither are comic and tragic actors the same; yet all these things are but imitations.

They are so.

And human nature, Adeimantus, appears to have been coined into yet smaller pieces, and to be as incapable of imitating many things well, as of **performing** well the actions of which the imitations are copies.

Quite true, he replied.

# Thesaurus

allied: (adj) related, confederate, united, cognate, connected, joined, relative, near, associated, linked, confederative. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrelated, disunited, independent, sole, unfriendly, unconnected, unallied.

comedy: (n) play, humor, drollery, show, clowning, drama, wittiness, slapstick, jesting, interlude, hilarity. ANTONYMS: (n) melodrama, seriousness, solemnity.

**comic**: (*n*) clown, joker, buffoon, zany; **succeed**: (*v*) follow, arrive, prosper, (adj) comical, amusing, laughable, humorous, burlesque, funny, absurd. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, serious. gaining: (n) acceptance, acquisition, attainment, capture; (adj) ahead, fortunate. ANTONYM: (n) loss. performing: (n) impersonation, byplay, enactment, hamming, business, implementation, executing, performance, activity; (v) perform, execute.

prevail, manage, supplant, ensue, supersede, do, achieve, flourish. ANTONYMS: (v) fail, precede, lose, botch, restore, neglect, Miss, deteriorate.

tragedy: (n) calamity, disaster, misfortune, play, cataclysm, drama, bad luck, bale, apocalypse, farce, tragic. ANTONYMS: (n) humor, blessing, joy, boon, advantage, comedy.

If then we adhere to our original notion and bear in mind that our guardians, setting aside every other business, are to dedicate themselves wholly to the maintenance of freedom in the State, making this their craft, and engaging in no work which does not bear on this end, they ought not to practise or imitate anything else; if they imitate at all, they should imitate from youth **upward** only those characters which are suitable to their **profession**—the courageous, temperate, holy, free, and the like; but they should not depict or be skilful at imitating any kind of **illiberality** or baseness, lest from imitation they should come to be what they imitate. Did you never observe how imitations, beginning in early youth and continuing far into life, at length grow into habits and become a second nature, affecting body, voice, and mind?

Yes, certainly, he said.

Then, I said, we will not allow those for whom we profess a care and of whom we say that they ought to be good men, to imitate a woman, whether young or old, quarrelling with her husband, or striving and **vaunting** against the gods in **conceit** of her happiness, or when she is in affliction, or sorrow, or **weeping**; and certainly not one who is in sickness, love, or labour.

Very right, he said.

Neither must they represent slaves, male or female, performing the offices of slaves?

They must not.

And surely not bad men, whether cowards or any others, who do the reverse of what we have just been prescribing, who **scold** or mock or revile one another in drink or out of drink, or who in any other manner sin against themselves and their neighbours in word or deed, as the manner of such is. Neither should they be trained to imitate the action or speech of men or women who are mad or bad; for madness, like vice, is to be known but not to be practised or imitated.

Very true, he replied.

Neither may they imitate smiths or other artificers, or oarsmen, or boatswains, or the like?

# **Thesaurus**

conceit: (*n*) pretension, vanity, selfesteem, pride, assumption, egotism, fancy, haughtiness, conception, caprice, quip. ANTONYMS: (*n*) humility, timidity, selflessness, humbleness, reserve. **illiberality**: (*adj*) incivility displacency; (*n*) illiberalness, bigotry, parsimony, provincialism, stinginess, narrowness, frugality, fanaticism, covetousness, extortion. ANTONYM: (*n*) liberality.

**profess**: (*v*) assert, feign, affirm, avow, state, pretend, claim, confess, allege, aver; (*n*, *v*) protest. ANTONYM: (*v*) repress.

scold: (v) reprimand, chide, berate, rebuke, abuse, lecture, reproach, rail, grouch; (n, v) nag; (adj, n) shrew.

ANTONYMS: (v) praise, compliment, approve.

bravado, egoism; (adj, n) boasting; (adj) vaporing, vainglorious, talkin idly.

weeping: (adj) tearful, lachrymose, dolourous, dolorous; (n, v) lament

upward: (adv) upwards, upwardly, aloft; (adj) overhead, rising, upper, increasing, open, vertical, mounting, upright. ANTONYMS: (adj) descending, downward; (adv) down. vaunting: (n) ostentation, parade, show, pompousness, pageantry, bravado, egoism; (adj, n) boasting; (adj) vaporing, vainglorious, talking idly.

weeping: (adj) tearrul, lactrymose, dolourous, dolorous; (n, v) lament, lamentation; (v) wailing; (n) sobbing, tears, cry; (adj, n) howling.

ANTONYM: (n) celebration.

How can they, he said, when they are not allowed to apply their minds to the callings of any of these?

Nor may they imitate the neighing of horses, the bellowing of bulls, the murmur of rivers and roll of the ocean, **thunder**, and all that sort of thing?

Nay, he said, if madness be **forbidden**, neither may they copy the behaviour of madmen.

You mean, I said, if I understand you aright, that there is one sort of narrative style which may be employed by a truly good man when he has anything to say, and that another sort will be used by a man of an opposite character and education.

And which are these two sorts? he asked.

Suppose, I answered, that a just and good man in the course of a narration comes on some saying or action of another good man,—I should imagine that he will like to **personate** him, and will not be **ashamed** of this sort of imitation: he will be most ready to play the part of the good man when he is acting firmly and **wisely**; in a less degree when he is overtaken by illness or love or drink, or has met with any other disaster. But when he comes to a character which is unworthy of him, he will not make a study of that; he will **disdain** such a person, and will assume his likeness, if at all, for a moment only when he is performing some good action; at other times he will be ashamed to play a part which he has never practised, nor will he like to fashion and frame himself after the baser models; he feels the employment of such an art, unless in jest, to be beneath him, and his mind revolts at it.

So I should expect, he replied.

Then he will adopt a mode of narration such as we have illustrated out of Homer, that is to say, his style will be both imitative and narrative; but there will be very little of the former, and a great deal of the latter. Do you agree?

Certainly, he said; that is the model which such a speaker must necessarily take.

ashamed: (adj) hangdog, guilty, embarrassed, sheepish, remorseful, regretful, bashful, disconcerted, contrite, chagrined; (v) dashed. ANTONYMS: (adj) proud, arrogant, unremorseful, unashamed, pleased, blatant, bold, happy, unabashed, unrepentant.

**disdain**: (n, v) despise, contemn, slight, ridicule; (n) contempt, derision, arrogance, haughtiness, pride; (v) scoff, disparage.

### **Thesaurus**

ANTONYMS: (n) humility, admiration, reverence, worship, approval, regard; (v) approve, admire, praise, accept, participate. forbidden: (adj) banned, taboo, illegal, prohibited, contraband, illicit, verboten, proscribed, outlawed, illegitimate; (adj, adv) off-limits. ANTONYMS: (adj) allowed, permitted, permissible, legal, open. personate: (v) act, mimic, perform, do, play, personify, pose, simulate, ape,

mock, embody.

**thunder**: (adj, n, v) boom; (n, v) roar, bang, roll, bellow; (adj, n) peal; (adj, v) explode, detonate; (v) howl, rumble, fulminate.

wisely: (adv) judiciously, prudently, sagaciously, cleverly, discreetly, shrewdly, smartly, learnedly, astutely, sharply, perspicaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) stupidly, recklessly, imprudently, immaturely, illogically.

But there is another sort of character who will narrate anything, and, the worse he is, the more **unscrupulous** he will be; nothing will be too bad for him: and he will be ready to imitate anything, not as a joke, but in right good earnest, and before a large company. As I was just now saying, he will attempt to represent the roll of thunder, the noise of wind and **hail**, or the **creaking** of wheels, and pulleys, and the various sounds of flutes, pipes, **trumpets**, and all sorts of instruments: he will **bark** like a dog, **bleat** like a sheep, or **crow** like a **cock**; his entire art will consist in imitation of voice and gesture, and there will be very little narration.

That, he said, will be his mode of speaking.

These, then, are the two kinds of style?

Yes.

And you would agree with me in saying that one of them is simple and has but slight changes; and if the harmony and rhythm are also chosen for their simplicity, the result is that the speaker, if he speaks correctly, is always pretty much the same in style, and he will keep within the limits of a single harmony (for the changes are not great), and in like manner he will make use of nearly the same rhythm?

That is quite true, he said.

Whereas the other requires all sorts of harmonies and all sorts of rhythms, if the music and the style are to correspond, because the style has all sorts of changes.

That is also perfectly true, he replied.

And do not the two styles, or the mixture of the two, comprehend all poetry, and every form of expression in words? No one can say anything except in one or other of them or in both together.

They include all, he said.

And shall we receive into our State all the three styles, or one only of the two **unmixed** styles? or would you include the mixed?

# **Thesaurus**

shout; (v) growl, roar; (n) bay, peel, crust. ANTONYMS: (n, v) whisper. bleat: (v) blat, kvetch, gripe, moan, whimper, cry, blate, quetch, utter, emit; (n) baaing. cock: (n) rooster, chicken, spigot, Peter, prick, cockerel, tool, stopcock, shaft; (n, v) stack; (v) ruffle. ANTONYM: (v) uncock. creaking: (adj, v) creaky; (adj) squeaking, harsh, screaky, noisy,

bark: (n, v) skin, yelp, snarl, cry, rind,

arthritic; (*v*) rickety; (*n*) screak. **crow**: (*n*, *v*) brag, cry, snigger; (*v*) exult, triumph, cackle, chuckle, talk big; (*n*) gasconade, crowing; (*adj*) raven.

hail: (v) address, cry, acclaim, applaud, summon, accost, fall, cheer, salute; (n, v) call; (n) greeting.
ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, criticize.
trumpets: (n) Sarracenia flava, yellow pitcher plant, pitcher plant, yellow trumpet.

unmixed: (adj, v) simple, sheer, mere, downright; (adj) absolute, unmingled, undiluted, straight, uncompounded, single, plain. ANTONYM: (adj) impure.

unscrupulous: (adj) dishonest, unprincipled, unethical, immoral, dishonorable, crooked, unfair, unconscionable, sharp, unconscientious, sly. ANTONYMS: (adj) scrupulous, principled, ethical, honest, moral. I should prefer only to admit the pure imitator of virtue.

Yes, I said, Adeimantus, but the mixed style is also very charming: and indeed the pantomimic, which is the opposite of the one chosen by you, is the most popular style with children and their **attendants**, and with the world in general.

I do not deny it.

But I suppose you would argue that such a style is **unsuitable** to our State, in which human nature is not **twofold** or **manifold**, for one man plays one part only?

Yes; quite unsuitable.

And this is the reason why in our State, and in our State only, we shall find a shoemaker to be a shoemaker and not a pilot also, and a husbandman to be a husbandman and not a dicast also, and a soldier a soldier and not a trader also, and the same throughout?

True, he said.

And therefore when any one of these pantomimic gentlemen, who are so clever that they can imitate anything, comes to us, and makes a proposal to **exhibit** himself and his poetry, we will fall down and worship him as a sweet and holy and wonderful being; but we must also **inform** him that in our State such as he are not permitted to exist; the law will not allow them. And so when we have **anointed** him with **myrrh**, and set a garland of wool upon his head, we shall send him away to another city. For we mean to employ for our souls' health the rougher and severer poet or story-teller, who will imitate the style of the virtuous only, and will follow those models which we prescribed at first when we began the education of our soldiers.

We certainly will, he said, if we have the power.

Then now, my friend, I said, that part of music or literary education which relates to the story or **myth** may be considered to be finished; for the matter and manner have both been discussed.

### **Thesaurus**

anointed: (adj) hallowed, divine, greasy; (v) anoint.
attendants: (n) entourage, followers, retinue, tendance, persons present, suite.
exhibit: (adj, n, v) display; (v) evince,

exhibit: (adj, n, v) display; (v) evince, evidence, expose, demonstrate, disclose, flaunt, announce, present, show, produce. ANTONYMS: (v) hide, cover; (n) concealment, hiding. inform: (v) acquaint, impart, advise, enlighten, announce, tell, familiarize,

explain, advertise, apprise, warn. manifold: (adj) diverse, different, many, various, multiplex, multiplied, frequent; (v) duplicate, copy, multiply; (n) diversity. myrrh: (n) gum myrrh, perfumes of Arabia, incense, sweet cicely, gum resin, frankincense, balm. myth: (n) fable, story, fairy tale, tale, allegory, fiction, figment, fabrication, folk tale, tradition, maggot.

ANTONYMS: (n) fact, truth.

twofold: (adj) dual, duplicate, twin, doubled, threefold, treble, duplex, duple; (adv) two times, as much again, twice.

unsuitable: (adj) improper, inapplicable, unfit, incorrect, unbecoming, inopportune, undesirable, inapt, wrong, inconvenient, incompatible. ANTONYMS: (adj) appropriate, proper, applicable, decent, befitting, fitting.

I think so too, he said.

Next in order will follow **melody** and song.

That is obvious.

Every one can see already what we ought to say about them, if we are to be consistent with ourselves.

I fear, said Glaucon, laughing, that the word 'every one' hardly includes me, for I cannot at the moment say what they should be; though I may guess.

At any rate you can tell that a song or ode has three parts—the words, the melody, and the rhythm; that degree of knowledge I may **presuppose**?

Yes, he said; so much as that you may.

And as for the words, there will surely be no difference between words which are and which are not set to music; both will conform to the same laws, and these have been already determined by us?

Yes.

And the melody and rhythm will depend upon the words?

Certainly.

We were saying, when we spoke of the subject-matter, that we had no need of lamentation and strains of sorrow?

True.

And which are the harmonies **expressive** of sorrow? You are musical, and can tell me.

The harmonies which you mean are the mixed or **tenor** Lydian, and the **full**-toned or bass Lydian, and such like.

These then, I said, must be banished; even to women who have a character to maintain they are of no use, and much less to men.

Certainly.

In the next place, drunkenness and **softness** and indolence are utterly **unbecoming** the character of our guardians.

# **Thesaurus**

expressive: (adj) significant, meaningful, descriptive, mobile, revelatory, indicative, articulate, graphic, emphatic, suggestive, vivid. ANTONYMS: (adj) unemotional, undemonstrative, nondescript, cold, expressionless, empty, emotionless, inarticulate, innocent, impassive, reserved.

full-toned: (adj) deep.

**melody**: (*n*) air, tune, music, measure, harmony, aria, song, strain, line,

melodic phrase; (*n*, *v*) chant. **presuppose**: (*v*) postulate, premise, imply, suppose, assume, posit, expect, believe, premiss, involve, hypothesize.

softness: (n) mildness, kindness, flabbiness, flaccidity, suavity, downiness, gentleness, tenderness, faintness; (adj, n) delicacy; (adj) smoothness. ANTONYMS: (n) rigidity, hoarseness, brightness, hardness, volume, harshness, tone,

noise, heaviness, firmness, loudness. **tenor**: (*n*) purport, meaning, substance, tendency, spirit, tone, mood, effect, set, temper; (*adj*) soprano.

unbecoming: (adj) indecorous, unseemly, inappropriate, indecent, indelicate, untoward, unworthy, unsuitable, shameful, unbefitting, incongruous. ANTONYMS: (adj) dignified, becoming, fitting, proper, seemly, correct, decent, suitable. Utterly unbecoming.

And which are the soft or drinking harmonies?

The Ionian, he replied, and the Lydian; they are termed 'relaxed.'

Well, and are these of any military use?

Quite the reverse, he replied; and if so the Dorian and the Phrygian are the only ones which you have left.

I answered: Of the harmonies I know nothing, but I want to have one warlike, to sound the note or accent which a brave man utters in the hour of danger and stern resolve, or when his cause is failing, and he is going to wounds or death or is overtaken by some other evil, and at every such crisis meets the blows of fortune with firm step and a determination to endure; and another to be used by him in times of peace and freedom of action, when there is no pressure of necessity, and he is seeking to persuade God by prayer, or man by instruction and admonition, or on the other hand, when he is expressing his willingness to yield to persuasion or entreaty or admonition, and which represents him when by **prudent** conduct he has attained his end, not carried away by his success, but acting moderately and wisely under the circumstances, and acquiescing in the event. These two harmonies I ask you to leave; the strain of necessity and the strain of freedom, the strain of the unfortunate and the strain of the fortunate, the strain of courage, and the strain of temperance; these, I say, leave.

And these, he replied, are the Dorian and Phrygian harmonies of which I was just now speaking.

Then, I said, if these and these only are to be used in our songs and melodies, we shall not want multiplicity of notes or a panharmonic scale?

I suppose not.

Then we shall not maintain the artificers of lyres with three corners and complex scales, or the makers of any other many-stringed curiously- harmonised instruments?

Certainly not.

# Thesaurus

admonition: (n) advice, caution, admonishment, reproof, exhortation, lesson, counsel, monition, caveat, censure, rebuke. ANTONYM: (n) approval.

entreaty: (n) plea, prayer, request, petition, adjuration, supplication, suit, demand, desire, invocation; (v) solicitation.

harmonised: (adj) harmonical, agreeable, in harmony, harmonious, consonant, accordant, concordant,

harmonic, conformable. moderately: (adv) abstemiously, quietly, modestly, pretty, temperately, soberly, slightly, calmly, mildly, reasonably, restrainedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) very, unreasonably, massively, immoderately, absolutely, excessively, completely, hugely, severely, wholly. prudent: (adj, v) discreet; (adj) cautious, circumspect, reasonable,

chary, economical, careful, frugal, deliberate, advisable, canny. ANTONYMS: (adj) imprudent, reckless, spendthrift, stupid, careless, unwise, unsafe, tactless. stern: (adj) rigid, rigorous, austere, hard, strict, grim, solemn, rough; (adj, v) harsh; (n) back; (adj, n) rear. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, approving, lenient, funny, genial,

gentle, kindly, lax, liberal, cheerful, flexible.

But what do you say to flute-makers and flute-players? Would you admit them into our State when you reflect that in this composite use of harmony the flute is worse than all the stringed instruments put together; even the panharmonic music is only an imitation of the flute?

Clearly not.

There remain then only the lyre and the harp for use in the city, and the shepherds may have a pipe in the country.

That is surely the conclusion to be drawn from the argument.

The preferring of Apollo and his instruments to Marsyas and his instruments is not at all strange, I said.

Not at all, he replied.

And so, by the dog of Egypt, we have been unconsciously purging the State, which not long ago we termed **luxurious**.

And we have done wisely, he replied.

Then let us now finish the purgation, I said. Next in order to harmonies, rhythms will naturally follow, and they should be subject to the same rules, for we ought not to seek out complex systems of metre, or metres of every kind, but rather to discover what rhythms are the expressions of a courageous and harmonious life; and when we have found them, we shall adapt the foot and the melody to words having a like spirit, not the words to the foot and melody. To say what these rhythms are will be your duty - you must teach me them, as you have already taught me the harmonies.

But, indeed, he replied, I cannot tell you. I only know that there are some three principles of rhythm out of which metrical systems are framed, just as in sounds there are four notes (i.e. the four notes of the tetrachord.) out of which all the harmonies are composed; that is an observation which I have made. But of what sort of lives they are severally the imitations I am unable to say.

Then, I said, we must take Damon into our counsels; and he will tell us what rhythms are expressive of meanness, or insolence, or fury, or other

# Thesaurus

adapt: (v) adjust, accommodate, acclimate, fashion, modify, acclimatize, alter, arrange, assimilate, shape; (adj, v) suit. ANTONYMS: (v) unfit, disturb, dislocate, disarrange, standardize, leave.

fury: (n) anger, exasperation, force, resentment, delirium, furor, frenzy, indignation, craze; (adj, n) wrath, ferocity. ANTONYMS: (n) composure, calmness, mildness, calm, pleasure, serenity.

**luxurious**: (adj) voluptuous, costly, deluxe, lavish, sumptuous, epicurean, grand, luscious, opulent, magnificent; (adj, n) lush. ANTONYMS: (adj) meager, frugal, poor, Spartan, austere, humble, unpleasant, ascetic, impoverished. metre: (n) measure, beat, rhythm, meters, m, cadence, time, verse, chiliad, k, g.

metrical: (adj) measured, rhythmic, cadenced, poetic, musical, deliberate, rhythmical, careful, calculated, even, intermittent.

purging: (n) purge, catharsis, purgation, cleaning, cleanup, purification, clearing, katharsis, abreaction; (adj) purifying, purgatorial.

rhythm: (n) cadence, pulse, beat, cycle, tempo, rhyme, musical rhythm, calendar method, calendar method of birth control, metre; (adj, n) meter.

unworthiness, and what are to be reserved for the expression of opposite feelings. And I think that I have an **indistinct** recollection of his mentioning a complex Cretic rhythm; also a dactylic or heroic, and he arranged them in some manner which I do not quite understand, making the rhythms equal in the rise and fall of the foot, long and short alternating; and, unless I am mistaken, he spoke of an iambic as well as of a trochaic rhythm, and assigned to them short and long quantities. Also in some cases he appeared to praise or censure the movement of the foot quite as much as the rhythm; or perhaps a combination of the two; for I am not certain what he meant. These matters, however, as I was saying, had better be referred to Damon himself, for the analysis of the subject would be difficult, you know? (Socrates expresses himself carelessly in accordance with his assumed ignorance of the details of the subject. In the first part of the sentence he appears to be speaking of paeonic rhythms which are in the ratio of 3/2; in the second part, of dactylic and anapaestic rhythms, which are in the ratio of 1/1; in the last clause, of iambic and trochaic rhythms, which are in the ratio of 1/2 or 2/1.)

Rather so, I should say.

But there is no difficulty in seeing that grace or the absence of grace is an effect of good or bad rhythm.

None at all.

And also that good and bad rhythm naturally assimilate to a good and bad style; and that harmony and discord in like manner follow style; for our principle is that rhythm and harmony are regulated by the words, and not the words by them.

Just so, he said, they should follow the words.

And will not the words and the character of the style depend on the temper of the soul?

Yes.

And everything else on the style?

Yes.

# Thesaurus

alternating: (adj) intermittent, recurrent, irregular, regular, every other, blinking, successive; (adv) back and forth. ANTONYM: (adj) direct. anapaestic: (adj) rhetorical, anapestic, anapaest.

assimilate: (v) absorb, imbibe, compare, take in, incorporate, comprehend, digest, conform, engross, acquire; (adj) assimilating. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, dissimilate, misunderstand, regurgitate.

heroic: (adj) courageous, brave, fearless, chivalrous, dauntless, valiant, grand, intrepid, gallant, impressive, heroical. ANTONYMS: (adj) fearful, normal, despicable,

indistinct: (adj) indefinite, inarticulate, unworthiness: (n) baseness, faint, dull, fuzzy, indeterminate, hazy, neutral; (adj, n) confused, cloudy, dark. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, slight, separate, certain, precise, audible, strong, definite.

**quantities**: (n) quantity. regulated: (adj) ordered, arranged, consistent, lawful, temperate, not haphazard, organized; (adv) in time, in harmony, keeping pace, keeping

despicability, despicableness, badness, unworth, shamefulness, ignominiousness, disgracefulness, bad. ANTONYM: (n) worthiness.

Then beauty of style and harmony and grace and good rhythm depend on simplicity, —I mean the true simplicity of a rightly and **nobly** ordered mind and character, not that other simplicity which is only an **euphemism** for folly?

Very true, he replied.

And if our youth are to do their work in life, must they not make these graces and harmonies their perpetual aim?

They must.

And surely the art of the painter and every other creative and constructive art are full of them, - weaving, embroidery, architecture, and every kind of manufacture; also nature, animal and vegetable, - in all of them there is grace or the absence of grace. And ugliness and discord and inharmonious motion are nearly allied to ill words and ill nature, as grace and harmony are the twin sisters of goodness and virtue and bear their likeness.

That is quite true, he said.

But shall our superintendence go no further, and are the poets only to be required by us to express the image of the good in their works, on pain, if they do anything else, of expulsion from our State? Or is the same control to be extended to other artists, and are they also to be prohibited from exhibiting the opposite forms of vice and intemperance and meanness and indecency in sculpture and building and the other creative arts; and is he who cannot conform to this rule of ours to be prevented from practising his art in our State, lest the taste of our citizens be corrupted by him? We would not have our guardians grow up amid images of moral deformity, as in some noxious pasture, and there browse and feed upon many a baneful herb and flower day by day, little by little, until they silently gather a festering mass of corruption in their own soul. Let our artists rather be those who are gifted to discern the true nature of the beautiful and graceful; then will our youth dwell in a land of health, amid fair sights and sounds, and receive the good in everything; and beauty, the effluence of fair works, shall flow into the eye and ear, like a health-giving breeze from a

# Thesaurus

baneful: (adj) harmful, deadly, pestilent, ruinous, hurtful, baleful, poisonous, injurious, pernicious, maleficent, malignant. ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, beneficial, advantageous.

effluence: (n) efflux, effluent, effusion, indecency: (n) immodesty, obscenity, outflow, outpour, discharge, flowage, ejection, leakage, fluxion, emission. euphemism: (n) expression, locution, saying, circumlocution, code word, figure of speech, heck; (adj)

frills of style. festering: (adj) rotten, infected, rotting, pussy, septic; (n) pus, festerment, suppuration, bodily fluid, activity, sanies. ANTONYM: (adj) healthy. coarseness, dirtiness, unseemliness, rudeness, salacity, nastiness, enormity, bawdiness; (adj) indelicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) decency, propriety, politeness.

euphemistic, euphonious, euphuism, nobly: (adv) generously, magnificently, grandly, greatly, splendidly, honorably, heroically, aristocratically, bravely, magnanimously, courageously. ANTONYMS: (adv) immorally, poorly, timidly. superintendence: (n) oversight,

direction, management, inspection, control, government, surveillance, supervising, care, guidance, invigilation.

purer region, and insensibly draw the soul from earliest years into likeness and sympathy with the beauty of reason.

There can be no nobler training than that, he replied.

And therefore, I said, Glaucon, musical training is a more potent instrument than any other, because rhythm and harmony find their way into the inward places of the soul, on which they mightily fasten, imparting grace, and making the soul of him who is rightly educated graceful, or of him who is ill-educated ungraceful; and also because he who has received this true education of the inner being will most shrewdly perceive omissions or faults in art and nature, and with a true taste, while he praises and rejoices over and receives into his soul the good, and becomes noble and good, he will justly blame and hate the bad, now in the days of his youth, even before he is able to know the reason why; and when reason comes he will recognise and salute the friend with whom his education has made him long familiar.

Yes, he said, I quite agree with you in thinking that our youth should be trained in music and on the grounds which you mention.

Just as in learning to read, I said, we were satisfied when we knew the letters of the alphabet, which are very few, in all their recurring sizes and combinations; not **slighting** them as unimportant whether they occupy a space large or small, but everywhere eager to make them out; and not thinking ourselves perfect in the art of reading until we recognise them wherever they are found:

True-

Or, as we recognise the reflection of letters in the water, or in a mirror, only when we know the letters themselves; the same art and study giving us the knowledge of both:

Exactly -

Even so, as I maintain, neither we nor our guardians, whom we have to educate, can ever become musical until we and they know the essential forms of temperance, courage, **liberality**, magnificence, and their kindred, as well as the contrary forms, in all their combinations, and can recognise them and their

# Thesaurus beneficence, generousness, tolerance;

fasten: (adj, v) attach, fix, affix; (v) connect, bind, tie, tack, pin, stick, clasp, anchor. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, undo, unlock, loosen, release, open, disconnect, untie, separate, unscrew.

imparting: (n) giving, conveyance, conveyance of title, conveyancing, conveying.

**liberality**: (*n*, *v*) charity, almsgiving; (*adj*, *n*) bounty; (*n*) largess, munificence, benevolence,

(adj) largesse, gift. ANTONYM: (n) illiberality.
mightily: (adv) powerfully,
vigorously, strongly, greatly,
potently, fiercely, sturdily, violently,
robustly, puissantly, vastly.
ANTONYMS: (adv) weakly, slightly.
places: (n) chairs, seating, spaces.
shrewdly: (adv) sagaciously, smartly,
brightly, sharply, craftily, cunningly,

perceptively, cleverly, artfully,

cannily, wisely. ANTONYMS: (adv) foolishly, innocently, ineptly, naively. slighting: (adj) belittling, deprecating, deprecative, deprecatory, depreciatory, pejorative, derogatory, offensive, invidious, abusive; (n) disregard. ANTONYM: (adj) polite. ungraceful: (adj) clumsy, ungainly, graceless, inelegant, stiff, uncouth, maladroit, mean, gauche, unbecoming, unhandsome. ANTONYM: (adj) elegant.

images wherever they are found, not slighting them either in small things or great, but **believing** them all to be within the sphere of one art and study.

Most assuredly.

And when a beautiful soul harmonizes with a beautiful form, and the two are cast in one mould, that will be the fairest of sights to him who has an eye to see it?

The fairest indeed.

And the fairest is also the loveliest?

That may be assumed.

And the man who has the spirit of harmony will be most in love with the loveliest; but he will not love him who is of an inharmonious soul?

That is true, he replied, if the **deficiency** be in his soul; but if there be any merely bodily defect in another he will be patient of it, and will love all the same.

I perceive, I said, that you have or have had experiences of this sort, and I agree. But let me ask you another question: Has **excess** of pleasure any **affinity** to temperance?

How can that be? he replied; pleasure deprives a man of the use of his faculties quite as much as pain.

Or any affinity to virtue in general?

None whatever.

Any affinity to wantonness and intemperance?

Yes, the greatest.

And is there any greater or keener pleasure than that of sensual love?

No, nor a **madder**.

Whereas true love is a love of beauty and order—temperate and harmonious? Quite true, he said.

Then no intemperance or madness should be allowed to approach true love?

# **Thesaurus**

affinity: (n) analogy, alliance, propinquity, rapport, bond, relation, relationship, kindred, semblance, penchant, similarity. ANTONYMS: (n) repulsion, dissimilarity, difference, consanguinity, aversion, hatred, horror.

believing: (adj) faith, believe, faithful,

believing: (adj) faith, believe, faithfu basic cognitive process, gullible, Catholic, religious, loyal, certain, Christian, credent.

deficiency: (adj, n) defect, blemish,

imperfection; (n) dearth, lack, failing, deficit, shortcoming, inadequacy, absence; (n, v) want. ANTONYMS: (n) excess, perfection, provision, enough, adequacy, supply, strength, virtue, surplus, gain, glut.

excess: (n) extravagance, dissipation, plethora, abundance, exaggeration, overindulgence, surfeit, overabundance, overplus; (adj) extra, unnecessary. ANTONYMS: (n) lack, restraint, moderation, shortfall,

dearth, temperance, deficit, insufficiency, justice, scarcity, abstinence.

**madder**: (v) redden; (n) Turkey red, ruddle, Mather.

wantonness: (n) lust, unrestraint, licentiousness, sexual immorality, immorality, lasciviousness, unconstraint, voluptuousness, wickedness, lasciviency, sybaritism. ANTONYM: (n) restraint.

Certainly not.

Then mad or intemperate pleasure must never be allowed to come near the lover and his beloved; neither of them can have any part in it if their love is of the right sort?

No, indeed, Socrates, it must never come near them.

Then I suppose that in the city which we are founding you would make a law to the effect that a friend should use no other familiarity to his love than a father would use to his son, and then only for a noble purpose, and he must first have the other's consent; and this rule is to limit him in all his intercourse, and he is never to be seen going further, or, if he exceeds, he is to be deemed guilty of coarseness and bad taste.

I quite agree, he said.

Thus much of music, which makes a fair ending; for what should be the end of music if not the love of beauty?

I agree, he said.

After music comes gymnastic, in which our youth are next to be trained.

Certainly.

Gymnastic as well as music should begin in early years; the training in it should be careful and should continue through life. Now my belief is, - and this is a matter upon which I should like to have your **opinion** in confirmation of my own, but my own belief is, -not that the good body by any bodily excellence improves the soul, but, on the contrary, that the good soul, by her own excellence, improves the body as far as this may be possible. What do you say?

Yes, I agree.

Then, to the mind when adequately trained, we shall be right in handing over the more particular care of the body; and in order to avoid **prolixity** we will now only give the general **outlines** of the subject.

Very good.

# Thesaurus

beloved: (adj, n) dear, darling, favorite, pet; (adj) precious, loved, cherished; (n) love, dearest, honey, sweetheart. ANTONYMS: (adj) detested, despised, disliked. coarseness: (n) grossness, indelicacy, inelegance, indecency, vulgarism, commonness, rudeness, inferiority, crudeness, crudity, awkwardness. ANTONYMS: (n) delicacy, purity, refinement, smoothness, sophistication, tastefulness, civility,

grace, propriety, decency. founding: (n) establishment, foundation, creation, institution, beginning, casting, installation, foot, start, initiation, origination. ANTONYM: (n) demise. intercourse: (n) contact, coition, conversation, communication, coitus, prolixity: (n) verbosity, verbiage, dealings, converse, commerce, liaison, congress; (adj, n) acquaintance. opinion: (adj, n, v) judgment, feeling,

notion; (n) idea, belief, conjecture, advice, guess, impression, view; (n, v)meaning. outlines: (n) elements, conspectus,

prospectus, syllabus, alphabet, grammar, contents, rudiments, synopsis, textbook, ABC.

flatulence, prolixness, verbalization, lengthiness, verboseness, diffuseness, copiousness, length, circumlocution. ANTONYM: (n) conciseness.

That they must abstain from intoxication has been already remarked by us; for of all persons a guardian should be the last to get drunk and not know where in the world he is.

Yes, he said; that a guardian should require another guardian to take care of him is ridiculous indeed.

But next, what shall we say of their food; for the men are in training for the great contest of all—are they not?

Yes, he said.

And will the **habit** of body of our ordinary athletes be suited to them?

Why not?

I am afraid, I said, that a habit of body such as they have is but a sleepy sort of thing, and rather **perilous** to health. Do you not observe that these athletes sleep away their lives, and are liable to most dangerous illnesses if they depart, in ever so slight a degree, from their customary regimen?

Yes, I do.

Then, I said, a finer sort of training will be required for our warrior athletes, who are to be like wakeful dogs, and to see and hear with the utmost keenness; amid the many changes of water and also of food, of summer heat and winter cold, which they will have to endure when on a campaign, they must not be liable to break down in health.

That is my view.

The really excellent gymnastic is twin sister of that simple music which we were just now describing.

How so?

Why, I conceive that there is a gymnastic which, like our music, is simple and good; and especially the military gymnastic.

What do you mean?

My meaning may be learned from Homer; he, you know, feeds his heroes at their feasts, when they are campaigning, on soldiers' fare; they have no fish,

#### Thesaurus

**abstain**: (v) desist, forbear, avoid, give up, eschew, withhold, cease, decline, fast, neglect; (adj, v) deny oneself. ANTONYMS: (v) consume, yield, use, surrender, partake, indulge, imbibe, persist, vote, eat. habit: (n) clothing, practice, dress, garb, attire, convention, character, ritual, addiction, clothes; (n, v) use. ANTONYM: (n) innovation. intoxication: (n) inebriation, inebriety, poisoning, tipsiness, fascination,

euphoria, wine. keenness: (n) ardor, eagerness, enthusiasm, acumen, sharpness, zeal, acuity, quickness, diligence, fervor; (n, v) edge. ANTONYMS: (n) unwillingness, dullness, indifference, wakeful: (adj) vigilant, sleepless, faintness, dislike, patience, reluctance.

perilous: (adj, v) dangerous, hazardous; (adj) insecure, unsafe, parlous, precarious, risky,

grogginess, ecstasy, daze, excitement, treacherous, dicey, critical, dodgy. ANTONYM: (adj) secure. regimen: (n) government, diet, treatment, cure, rule, medical treatment, plan, regiment, system, conduct, watching one's weight. awake, observant, restless, light, wary, psychologically light, lightheaded, tripping; (v) wistful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaware, asleep, inattentive, relaxed.

although they are on the **shores** of the Hellespont, and they are not allowed **boiled** meats but only **roast**, which is the food most convenient for soldiers, requiring only that they should light a fire, and not **involving** the trouble of carrying about pots and pans.

True.

And I can hardly be mistaken in saying that sweet sauces are nowhere mentioned in Homer. In proscribing them, however, he is not singular; all professional athletes are well aware that a man who is to be in good condition should take nothing of the kind.

Yes, he said; and knowing this, they are quite right in not taking them.

Then you would not approve of Syracusan dinners, and the refinements of Sicilian cookery?

I think not.

Nor, if a man is to be in condition, would you allow him to have a Corinthian girl as his fair friend?

Certainly not.

Neither would you approve of the **delicacies**, as they are thought, of Athenian **confectionary**?

Certainly not.

All such **feeding** and living may be rightly compared by us to melody and song **composed** in the panharmonic style, and in all the rhythms.

Exactly.

There **complexity** engendered licence, and here disease; whereas simplicity in music was the parent of temperance in the soul; and simplicity in gymnastic of health in the body.

Most true, he said.

But when intemperance and diseases multiply in a State, halls of justice and medicine are always being opened; and the arts of the doctor and the **lawyer** give

# Thesaurus

boiled: (adj) intoxicated, poached, stewed; (v) sodden.
complexity: (n) complication, intricacy, complicacy, involution, elaboration, convolution, complex, complexness, confusion, muddle; (adj, n) entanglement. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, straightforwardness, simpleness.
composed: (adj) calm, dispassionate, cool, peaceable, pacific, staid, imperturbable, temperate, level,

impassive, unflappable.
ANTONYMS: (*adj*) distressed, trembling, nervous, excited, tense, ruffled, jumpy, intemperate, discomposed, upset, worried. **confectionary**: (*n*) confectionery. **delicacies**: (*n*) food, delices, cates, regalia.

feeding: (n) alimentation, eating, nourishment, grazing, dining, browsing, feed supply, banqueting, supplying, ingestion, intake.

**involving**: (*prep*) linking, between, connecting.

**lawyer**: (*n*) counsel, barrister, attorney, jurist, counsellor, counselor, conveyancer, ambulance chaser, adviser, trial lawyer, pleader.

roast: (v) burn, grill, bake, joke, heat, quiz, fry, cook, scorch; (n, v) ridicule; (n) joint. ANTONYMS: (v) cool, praise.

**shores**: (*n*) coast, seaboard, seashore, shoreline. ANTONYM: (*n*) interior.

themselves airs, finding how keen is the interest which not only the slaves but the freemen of a city take about them.

Of course.

And yet what greater proof can there be of a bad and disgraceful state of education than this, that not only artisans and the meaner sort of people need the skill of **first**-rate physicians and judges, but also those who would profess to have had a liberal education? Is it not disgraceful, and a great sign of want of good-breeding, that a man should have to go abroad for his law and physic because he has none of his own at home, and must therefore surrender himself into the hands of other men whom he makes lords and judges over him?

Of all things, he said, the most disgraceful.

Would you say 'most,' I replied, when you consider that there is a further stage of the evil in which a man is not only a life-long **litigant**, passing all his days in the courts, either as plaintiff or defendant, but is actually led by his bad taste to pride himself on his litigiousness; he imagines that he is a master in dishonesty; able to take every crooked turn, and **wriggle** into and out of every hole, bending like a **withy** and getting out of the way of justice: and all for what?—in order to gain small points not worth mentioning, he not knowing that so to order his life as to be able to do without a **napping** judge is a far higher and nobler sort of thing. Is not that still more disgraceful?

Yes, he said, that is still more disgraceful.

Well, I said, and to require the help of medicine, not when a wound has to be cured, or on occasion of an epidemic, but just because, by indolence and a habit of life such as we have been describing, men fill themselves with waters and winds, as if their bodies were a marsh, **compelling** the ingenious sons of Asclepius to find more names for diseases, such as **flatulence** and **catarrh**; is not this, too, a disgrace?

Yes, he said, they do certainly give very strange and **newfangled** names to diseases.

#### **Thesaurus**

**catarrh**: (*n*) cold, rheum, redness, inflammation, Qatar, ptyalism, pose, murr, salivation.

compelling: (adj) forcible, effective, forceful, captivating, commanding, powerful, stringent, convincing, fascinating, compulsive, cogent. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, boring, unconvincing, dull, repellent. first-rate: (adj) excellent, stunning, capital, posh, tiptop, dandy, ace, superior, classic, fine, clinking.

**flatulence**: (*n*) gas, turgidity, wind, prolixness, prolixity, wordiness, windiness, breath, brag, vapor, empty effort.

**litigant**: (n) complainant, appellant, defendant, disputant, controversialist, filer, petitioner,

controversialist, filer, petitioner, suitor, contestant; (n, v) party; (v) litigious.

**napping**: (*adj*) asleep, unthinking, unready, snoozing, slumbering, sleeping, off guard, off your guard,

off his guard, off her guard, careless. ANTONYM: (adj) awake. newfangled: (adj) modern, fresh, fashionable, novel, contemporary, up-to-date, recent, unprecedented, grotesque, fantastic, strange.

ANTONYMS: (adj) dated, old.

withy: (n) osier, twig, with, branchlet,

wriggle: (*n*, *v*) squirm; (*v*) twist, wrench, worm, struggle, writhe, turn, wrestle, wind, creep, crawl.

Yes, I said, and I do not believe that there were any such diseases in the days of Asclepius; and this I infer from the circumstance that the hero Eurypylus, after he has been wounded in Homer, drinks a posset of Pramnian wine well besprinkled with barley-meal and **grated** cheese, which are certainly inflammatory, and yet the sons of Asclepius who were at the Trojan war do not blame the damsel who gives him the drink, or rebuke Patroclus, who is treating his case.

Well, he said, that was surely an extraordinary drink to be given to a person in his condition.

Not so extraordinary, I replied, if you bear in mind that in former days, as is commonly said, before the time of Herodicus, the guild of Asclepius did not practise our present system of medicine, which may be said to educate diseases. But Herodicus, being a trainer, and himself of a sickly constitution, by a combination of training and **doctoring** found out a way of torturing first and chiefly himself, and secondly the rest of the world.

How was that? he said.

By the invention of **lingering** death; for he had a mortal disease which he **perpetually** tended, and as recovery was out of the question, he passed his entire life as a valetudinarian; he could do nothing but attend upon himself, and he was in constant **torment** whenever he **departed** in anything from his usual regimen, and so dying hard, by the help of science he struggled on to old age.

A rare reward of his skill!

Yes, I said; a reward which a man might fairly expect who never understood that, if Asclepius did not **instruct** his descendants in valetudinarian arts, the omission arose, not from ignorance or **inexperience** of such a branch of medicine, but because he knew that in all well-ordered states every individual has an occupation to which he must attend, and has therefore no leisure to spend in continually being ill. This we remark in the case of the artisan, but, ludicrously enough, do not apply the same rule to people of the richer sort.

How do you mean? he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

departed: (adj) dead, bygone, late, former, bypast, defunct, past, left; (adj, v) gone, extinct; (n) decedent. ANTONYMS: (adj) remaining, alive. doctoring: (n) doping, corruption. grated: (v) areolar, streaked; (adj) barred. inexperience: (adj) inexperienced,

indexterity, incomprehension, inability; (adj, n) simplicity; (n) freshness, innocence, ignorance, newness, callowness, unfamiliarity.

ANTONYMS: (n) skillfulness, sophistication, wisdom. instruct: (v) charge, educate, teach, advise, enlighten, direct, drill, inform, command, indoctrinate, tutor.

lingering: (adj) long, chronic, extended, dilatory, protracted, prolonged, residual, lengthy, inactive, dull; (n) delay. ANTONYM: (adj) quick. perpetually: (adv) eternally,

everlastingly, always, incessantly, continually, endlessly, permanently, unceasingly, ceaselessly, ever; (adj, adv) forever. ANTONYMS: (adv) erratically, sporadically. torment: (n, v) tease, distress, harass, afflict, pain, annoy; (n) agony, anguish, suffering; (v) persecute, oppress. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, placate, comfort, soothe; (n) contentment, happiness, pleasure,

calm, content.

I mean this: When a carpenter is ill he asks the physician for a rough and ready cure; an **emetic** or a **purge** or a **cautery** or the knife,—these are his remedies. And if some one prescribes for him a course of **dietetics**, and tells him that he must **swathe** and **swaddle** his head, and all that sort of thing, he replies at once that he has no time to be ill, and that he sees no good in a life which is spent in nursing his disease to the neglect of his customary employment; and therefore bidding **good**-bye to this sort of physician, he resumes his ordinary habits, and either gets well and lives and does his business, or, if his constitution fails, he dies and has no more trouble.

Yes, he said, and a man in his condition of life ought to use the art of medicine thus far only.

Has he not, I said, an occupation; and what profit would there be in his life if he were deprived of his occupation?

Quite true, he said.

But with the rich man this is otherwise; of him we do not say that he has any specially appointed work which he must perform, if he would live.

He is generally supposed to have nothing to do.

Then you never heard of the saying of Phocylides, that as soon as a man has a **livelihood** he should practise virtue?

Nay, he said, I think that he had better begin somewhat sooner.

Let us not have a dispute with him about this, I said; but rather ask ourselves: Is the practice of virtue obligatory on the rich man, or can he live without it? And if obligatory on him, then let us raise a further question, whether this **dieting** of disorders, which is an **impediment** to the application of the mind in carpentering and the mechanical arts, does not equally stand in the way of the sentiment of Phocylides?

Of that, he replied, there can be no doubt; such excessive care of the body, when carried beyond the rules of gymnastic, is most inimical to the practice of virtue.

#### **Thesaurus**

cautery: (n) cauterization,
cauterisation, instrument, cauterant,
cauterizing iron, cauter, cauterism,
thermocautery.
dietetics: (n) dietary, sitology,
macrobiotic, macrobiotics.
dieting: (n) watching one's weight; (v)
calorie counting.
emetic: (n) vomit, antiseptic,
medication, medicament,
disgorgement, puke, ipecac,
antitussive; (adj, n) vomitive; (adj)

emetical, causing vomiting.

good-bye: (n) bye, farewell, goodbye,
goodby, vale, adios, cheerio.

impediment: (n, v) hindrance, check,
difficulty, delay; (n) bar, hitch,
barrier, obstruction, drawback,
encumbrance, block. ANTONYMS:
(n) benefit, boost, incentive, strength.
livelihood: (n) subsistence, existence,
job, maintenance, support, living,
sustenance, bread, keep, bread and
butter, career.

purge: (v) clean, expurgate, eradicate, clear, scour, remove, purify, make clean, liquidate; (n) catharsis, purification. ANTONYMS: (n, v) binge; (v) rehabilitate, castigate. swaddle: (v) bind, swathe, bandage, envelop, sheath, lap, roll, enfold, sheathe, clothe, cocoon. swathe: (v) envelop, swaddle, enfold, drape, wrap, clothe, bind, surround, cover; (n, v) swath; (n) wrapping. ANTONYM: (v) uncover.

Yes, indeed, I replied, and equally incompatible with the management of a house, an army, or an office of state; and, what is most important of all, irreconcileable with any kind of study or thought or self-reflection - there is a constant suspicion that headache and **giddiness** are to be ascribed to philosophy, and hence all practising or making trial of virtue in the higher sense is absolutely stopped; for a man is always fancying that he is being made ill, and is in constant anxiety about the state of his body.

Yes, likely enough.

And therefore our politic Asclepius may be supposed to have exhibited the power of his art only to persons who, being generally of healthy constitution and habits of life, had a definite ailment; such as these he cured by purges and operations, and bade them live as usual, herein consulting the interests of the State; but bodies which disease had **penetrated** through and through he would not have attempted to cure by gradual processes of evacuation and infusion: he did not want to lengthen out good-for-nothing lives, or to have weak fathers begetting weaker sons; - if a man was not able to live in the ordinary way he had no business to cure him; for such a cure would have been of no use either to himself, or to the State.

Then, he said, you regard Asclepius as a statesman.

Clearly; and his character is further illustrated by his sons. Note that they were heroes in the days of old and practised the medicines of which I am speaking at the siege of Troy: You will remember how, when Pandarus wounded Menelaus, they

Sucked the blood out of the wound, and **sprinkled** soothing remedies,

but they never prescribed what the patient was afterwards to eat or drink in the case of Menelaus, any more than in the case of Eurypylus; the remedies, as they conceived, were enough to heal any man who before he was wounded was healthy and regular in his habits; and even though he did happen to drink a

### Thesaurus

ailment: (n) complaint, affection, disease, trouble, condition, ill, disorder, sickness, affliction; (adj, n) infirmity; (v) distemper. attempted: (adj) unsuccessful. evacuation: (n) defecation, emptying, elimination, depletion, drainage, departure, voidance, dejection, excretion, retreat; (v) emission. giddiness: (n) flightiness, frivolity, vertigo, silliness, frivolousness, levity, lightness, capriciousness,

rashness, symptom, swimming. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, reliability.

good-for-nothing: (adj) worthless, feckless, pointless, asinine, unworthy; lengthen: (adj, v) elongate; (v) enlarge, (n) loafer, do-nothing, rascal, rotter, cur, trash.

heal: (v) mend, recover, doctor, recuperate, cicatrize, get well, fix, restore, convalesce; (n, v) remedy; (n)correct. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen, disfigure, exacerbate.

infusion: (n) extract, infuse, implantation, influx, dash, brew, smack, transfusion, touch; (n, v)injection; (v) inoculation. prolong, draw, draw out, increase, expand, stretch, protract, continue, drag out. ANTONYMS: (v) clip,

penetrated: (adj) perforated, entered. sprinkled: (adj) scattered, speckled, wet, dotted.

curtail.

posset of Pramnian wine, he might get well all the same. But they would have nothing to do with **unhealthy** and intemperate subjects, whose lives were of no use either to themselves or others; the art of medicine was not designed for their good, and though they were as rich as Midas, the sons of Asclepius would have declined to attend them.

They were very **acute** persons, those sons of Asclepius.

Naturally so, I replied. Nevertheless, the tragedians and Pindar disobeying our behests, although they acknowledge that Asclepius was the son of Apollo, say also that he was **bribed** into healing a rich man who was at the point of death, and for this reason he was struck by **lightning**. But we, in accordance with the principle already affirmed by us, will not believe them when they tell us both;—if he was the son of a god, we maintain that he was not avaricious; or, if he was avaricious, he was not the son of a god.

All that, Socrates, is excellent; but I should like to put a question to you: Ought there not to be good physicians in a State, and are not the best those who have treated the greatest number of constitutions good and bad? and are not the best judges in like manner those who are acquainted with all **sorts** of moral natures?

Yes, I said, I too would have good judges and good physicians. But do you know whom I think good?

Will you tell me?

I will, if I can. Let me however note that in the same question you join two things which are not the same.

How so? he asked.

Why, I said, you join physicians and judges. Now the most skilful physicians are those who, from their youth upwards, have combined with the knowledge of their art the greatest experience of disease; they had better not be **robust** in health, and should have had all manner of diseases in their own persons. For the body, as I conceive, is not the **instrument** with which they **cure** the body; in that case we could not allow them ever to be or to have been sickly; but they cure the

#### **Thesaurus**

acute: (adj, n, v) sharp; (adj) incisive, intense, penetrating, keen, severe, critical; (adj, v) high, shrewd; (adj, n) strong, smart. ANTONYMS: (adj) obtuse, insignificant, stupid, unimportant, moderate, blunt, slow, slight, mild, minor, imperceptive. bribed: (prep) bought. cure: (n, v) correct, medicine, help; (n) antidote, salve, therapy, treatment; (v) treat, pickle, preserve, restore. ANTONYMS: (n) poison; (v) injure,

hurt, harm, wound, damage, exacerbate.

**instrument**: (n) channel, deed, tool, pawn, apparatus, agency, document, expedient, appliance, gear; (n, v) implement.

lightning: (n) levin, electricity, thunderbolt, Leven, ignis fatuus, heat lightning, forked lightning, fetter, dart, chain lightning; (adj) wind. robust: (adj, n) hardy, firm, hard; (adj) strong, athletic, vigorous, powerful,

muscular, brawny, lusty, mighty. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) slight, fragile, frail, delicate, flimsy, feeble, fickle. **sorts**: (*n*) varieties, sorting, running pi, batter.

unhealthy: (adj) harmful, sickly, insanitary, ailing, ill, noxious, injurious, insalubrious, sick, diseased; (adj, v) unsound. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, fit, hygienic, light, well, good, strong, luxuriant.

body with the mind, and the mind which has become and is sick can cure nothing.

That is very true, he said.

But with the judge it is otherwise; since he governs mind by mind; he ought not therefore to have been trained among vicious minds, and to have associated with them from youth upwards, and to have gone through the whole **calendar** of crime, only in order that he may quickly infer the crimes of others as he might their bodily diseases from his own **self**-consciousness; the honourable mind which is to form a healthy judgment should have had no experience or **contamination** of evil habits when young. And this is the reason why in youth good men often appear to be simple, and are easily practised upon by the **dishonest**, because they have no examples of what evil is in their own souls.

Yes, he said, they are far too apt to be deceived.

Therefore, I said, the judge should not be young; he should have learned to know evil, not from his own soul, but from late and long observation of the nature of evil in others: knowledge should be his guide, not personal experience.

Yes, he said, that is the ideal of a judge.

Yes, I replied, and he will be a good man (which is my answer to your question); for he is good who has a good soul. But the **cunning** and suspicious nature of which we spoke,—he who has committed many crimes, and fancies himself to be a master in wickedness, when he is amongst his fellows, is wonderful in the **precautions** which he takes, because he judges of them by himself: but when he **gets** into the company of men of virtue, who have the experience of age, he appears to be a fool again, owing to his **unseasonable** suspicions; he cannot recognise an honest man, because he has no pattern of honesty in himself; at the same time, as the bad are more numerous than the good, and he meets with them oftener, he thinks himself, and is by others thought to be, rather wise than foolish.

Most true, he said.

# calendar: (n) agenda, the calendar, schedule, diary, journal, timetable, program, Calendar year, system, organization; (n, v) list. contamination: (n) contagion, infection, contaminant, dirtying, vitiation, taint, corruption, adulteration, depravity, filth; (v) defilement. ANTONYMS: (n) decontamination, purity. cunning: (ndj) crafty, canny, adroit, wily, sly, shrewd, tricky, artful; (n)

#### **Thesaurus**

craftiness, craft, cleverness.
ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, honest, stupid, unimaginative, gullible, ingenuous, straightforward, candid, sincere; (n) frankness, straightforwardness.

dishonest: (adj) crooked, corrupt, crafty, underhand, fraudulent, deceptive, wrong, disloyal, untruthful, unscrupulous, shifty.
ANTONYMS: (adj) truthful, principled, sincere, sporting,

aboveboard, straightforward, trustworthy, open, moral, fair, legal. gets: (n) getting. precautions: (n) protection, defense, safety net. self-consciousness: (n) embarrassment, inhibition. unseasonable: (adj) inopportune, inappropriate, premature, ill timed, improper, immature, inconvenient, ill-timed, inept, unchancy; (v) illtimed.

Then the good and wise judge whom we are seeking is not this man, but the other; for vice cannot know virtue too, but a virtuous nature, educated by time, will **acquire** a knowledge both of virtue and vice: the virtuous, and not the **vicious**, man has wisdom—in my opinion.

And in mine also.

This is the sort of medicine, and this is the sort of law, which you will **sanction** in your state. They will minister to better natures, giving health both of soul and of body; but those who are **diseased** in their bodies they will leave to die, and the **corrupt** and **incurable** souls they will put an end to themselves.

That is clearly the best thing both for the patients and for the State.

And thus our youth, having been educated only in that simple music which, as we said, inspires temperance, will be reluctant to go to law.

Clearly.

And the musician, who, keeping to the same track, is content to practise the simple gymnastic, will have nothing to do with medicine unless in some extreme case.

That I quite believe.

The very exercises and tolls which he undergoes are intended to stimulate the spirited element of his nature, and not to increase his strength; he will not, like common athletes, use exercise and regimen to develope his muscles.

Very right, he said.

Neither are the two arts of music and gymnastic really designed, as is often supposed, the one for the training of the soul, the other for the training of the body.

What then is the real object of them?

I believe, I said, that the teachers of both have in view chiefly the improvement of the soul.

How can that be? he asked.

#### **Thesaurus**

acquire: (v) achieve, gain, find, take, accept, attain, buy, collect, earn, receive; (n, v) contract. ANTONYMS: (v) sell, yield, surrender, relinquish, forfeit, give, scatter, remove.
corrupt: (adj, v) adulterate, taint, infect, rotten, canker; (adj, n, v) contaminate, poison; (v) bribe, debase, defile; (adj) impure. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, pure, principled, ethical, honorable, wholesome, virtuous, uncorrupt, truthful; (v) purify; (adj, v) clean.

diseased: (adj) bad, ailing, sickly, unsound, sick, ill, unhealthy, pathological, infected, unwholesome, infirm. ANTONYMS: (adj) well, fit. incurable: (adj) incorrigible, immedicable, cureless, inveterate, irretrievable, irrecoverable, terminal, irremediable, irreparable, remediless, chronic. ANTONYM: (adj) mild. sanction: (n, v) warrant, countenance, assent, consent, license; (v) approve, okay, authorize; (n) endorsement,

permission, authority. ANTONYMS: (v) forbid, prohibit, disapprove, reject, outlaw, debar; (n, v) ban, veto; (n) reward, prohibition, refusal. vicious: (adj) malicious, bad, depraved, wicked, brutal, malevolent, cruel, venomous, immoral, nasty, corrupt. ANTONYMS: (adj) kind, gentle, friendly, good, right, pleasant, kindhearted, nice, cordial, constructive.

Did you never observe, I said, the effect on the mind itself of exclusive devotion to gymnastic, or the opposite effect of an exclusive devotion to music?

In what way shown? he said.

The one producing a temper of **hardness** and **ferocity**, the other of softness and effeminacy, I replied.

Yes, he said, I am quite aware that the mere athlete becomes too much of a savage, and that the mere musician is melted and softened beyond what is good for him.

Yet surely, I said, this ferocity only comes from spirit, which, if rightly educated, would give courage, but, if too much intensified, is liable to become hard and brutal.

That I quite think.

On the other hand the philosopher will have the quality of gentleness. And this also, when too much indulged, will turn to softness, but, if educated rightly, will be gentle and moderate.

True.

And in our opinion the guardians ought to have both these qualities?

Assuredly.

And both should be in harmony?

Beyond question.

And the harmonious soul is both temperate and courageous?

Yes.

And the inharmonious is **cowardly** and **boorish**?

Very true.

And, when a man allows music to play upon him and to pour into his soul through the funnel of his ears those sweet and soft and **melancholy** airs of which we were just now speaking, and his whole life is passed in **warbling** and the **delights** of song; in the first stage of the process the passion or spirit which is in

#### **Thesaurus**

gruff, discourteous, rough, rude, crude, unrefined, coarse, barbaric. ANTONYMS: (adj) gallant, refined, cultured, courteous, charming, sophisticated, humane. cowardly: (adj, adv) dastardly, scared, shrinking; (adj) timid, afraid, craven, gutless, sneaky, fainthearted, faint; (adv) recreantly. ANTONYMS: (adj,

adv) brave, daring, bold, courageous;

(adj) intrepid, fearless, strong,

**boorish**: (adj) loutish, vulgar, churlish,

determined; (adv) dauntless, gutsy, unafraid.
delights: (n) delices.
ferocity: (n) violence, cruelty,
ferociousness, fury, rage, truculence,
atrocity, fierceness, wildness,
vehemence, anger. ANTONYMS: (n)
meekness, friendliness, serenity.
hardness: (n) austerity, asperity,
callousness, difficulty, rigor,
consistency, stiffness, cruelty,
arduousness, tightness, insensibility.

ANTONYMS: (n) ease, limpness, malleability.

melancholy: (adj, v) dreary; (adj, n) gloom, melancholic; (adj) depressed, dejected, dismal, gloomy, doleful; (n, v) low spirits; (n) gloominess, depression. ANTONYMS: (n)

depression. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, cheerfulness, hopefulness, optimism; (adj) happy, bright, cheery, satisfied.

warbling: (n) thrill.

him is **tempered** like iron, and made useful, instead of brittle and useless. But, if he carries on the softening and soothing process, in the next stage he begins to melt and waste, until he has wasted away his spirit and cut out the sinews of his soul; and he becomes a feeble warrior.

Very true.

If the element of spirit is naturally weak in him the change is speedily accomplished, but if he have a good deal, then the power of music weakening the spirit renders him excitable;—on the least **provocation** he flames up at once, and is speedily extinguished; instead of having spirit he grows irritable and passionate and is quite **impracticable**.

Exactly.

And so in gymnastics, if a man takes violent exercise and is a great **feeder**, and the reverse of a great student of music and philosophy, at first the high condition of his body fills him with pride and spirit, and he becomes twice the man that he was.

Certainly.

And what happens? if he do nothing else, and holds no converse with the Muses, does not even that intelligence which there may be in him, having no taste of any sort of learning or enquiry or thought or culture, grow feeble and dull and blind, his mind never waking up or receiving **nourishment**, and his senses not being purged of their mists?

True, he said.

And he ends by becoming a **hater** of philosophy, **uncivilized**, never using the weapon of persuasion,—he is like a wild beast, all violence and fierceness, and knows no other way of dealing; and he lives in all ignorance and evil conditions, and has no sense of propriety and grace.

That is quite true, he said.

And as there are two principles of human nature, one the spirited and the other the philosophical, some God, as I should say, has given mankind two arts

#### **Thesaurus**

**feeder**: (*n*) eater, affluent, feed, filler, tributary, glutton, forehearth, devourer, diner; (*v*) commissary, caterer.

hater: (n) individual, someone, somebody, person, human, mortal, soul, misanthrope, loather, francophobe, abominator. impracticable: (adj) unfeasible, infeasible, impractical, unrealistic, unworkable, impervious, unusable, unattainable, useless; (v) crotchety, fussy. ANTONYMS: (adj) viable, feasible, possible, accustomed. nourishment: (n) food, alimentation, meal, meat, diet, feeding, nutrition, repast, sustenance, edible, fuel. provocation: (n) challenge,

provocation: (n) challenge, aggravation, exasperation, incitement, instigation, annoyance, excitement, stimulation, affront, incentive, defiance. ANTONYMS: (n) conciliation, arbitration, deterrent, disincentive, pleasure.

tempered: (adj) attempered, temperate, moderated, toughened, subdued, set, enured, proportioned, properly adapted, emotionally hardened, treated. ANTONYM: (adj) untempered.

uncivilized: (adj) savage, barbarian, barbarous, wild, barbaric, brutal, coarse, rude, rustic, ferocious, impolite. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, civilized, polite, cultured, pleasant.

answering to them (and only **indirectly** to the soul and body), in order that these two principles (like the strings of an instrument) may be relaxed or drawn tighter until they are **duly** harmonized.

That appears to be the intention.

And he who mingles music with gymnastic in the fairest proportions, and best attempers them to the soul, may be rightly called the true musician and **harmonist** in a far higher sense than the **tuner** of the strings.

You are quite right, Socrates.

And such a **presiding** genius will be always required in our State if the government is to last.

Yes, he will be absolutely necessary.

Such, then, are our principles of **nurture** and education: Where would be the use of going into further details about the dances of our citizens, or about their **hunting** and **coursing**, their gymnastic and equestrian contests? For these all follow the general principle, and having found that, we shall have no difficulty in **discovering** them.

I dare say that there will be no difficulty.

Very good, I said; then what is the next question? Must we not ask who are to be rulers and who subjects?

Certainly.

There can be no doubt that the elder must rule the younger.

Clearly.

And that the best of these must rule.

That is also clear.

Now, are not the best husbandmen those who are most devoted to husbandry?

Yes.

#### **Thesaurus**

hunting, steeple chase, race; (n, v) hunt.

discovering: (adj) observant, oracular.
duly: (adv) rightfully, correctly, in punctually, proper, precisely, well, ex officio, accordingly, fairly, appropriately, properly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) improperly, unsuitable, unlawfully.

harmonist: (n) composer, Rappist, Rappite, Economite, contrapuntist.

coursing: (v) chase, shooting, fishing,

**hunting**: (*n*, *v*) chase; (*v*) battue; (*n*) exploration, pursuit, search, ducking, beagling, coursing, frisking, venery, shooting.

indirectly: (adv) circuitously, roundaboutly, collaterally, tortuously, windingly, sidelongly, incidentally, meanderingly, secondarily, discursively; (n) curved shape. ANTONYMS: (adv) straight, personally, frankly.

**nurture**: (v) foster, cherish, bring up,

grow, nourish, care, maintain, educate, nurse; (n) education, breeding. ANTONYMS: (n, v) neglect.

**presiding**: (adj) president, dominant, administrative.

tuner: (n) radio, radio receiver, radio set, receiving set, receiving system, clock radio, receiver, wireless, superheterodyne receiver, tuning unit, radiocommunication. And as we are to have the best of guardians for our city, must they not be those who have most the character of guardians?

Yes.

And to this end they ought to be wise and efficient, and to have a special care of the State?

True.

And a man will be most likely to care about that which he loves?

To be sure.

And he will be most likely to love that which he regards as having the same interests with himself, and that of which the good or evil **fortune** is supposed by him at any time most to affect his own?

Very true, he replied.

Then there must be a selection. Let us note among the guardians those who in their whole life show the greatest eagerness to do what is for the good of their country, and the greatest **repugnance** to do what is against her interests.

Those are the right men.

And they will have to be watched at every age, in order that we may see whether they **preserve** their resolution, and never, under the influence either of force or **enchantment**, forget or cast off their sense of duty to the State.

How cast off? he said.

I will explain to you, I replied. A resolution may go out of a man's mind either with his will or against his will; with his will when he gets rid of a falsehood and learns better, against his will **whenever** he is deprived of a truth.

I understand, he said, the willing loss of a resolution; the meaning of the unwilling I have yet to learn.

Why, I said, do you not see that men are **unwillingly** deprived of good, and willingly of evil? Is not to have lost the truth an evil, and to **possess** the truth a good? and you would agree that to conceive things as they are is to possess the truth?

#### **Thesaurus**

captivation, charm, conjuration, sorcery, spell, bewitchment, incantation, delight, bewitchery; (adj, n) rapture. ANTONYMS: (n) displeasure, discomfort. fortune: (n) estate, fate, fluke, destiny, luck, accident, means, assets, riches, abundance, doom. ANTONYM: (n) design.

enchantment: (n) attraction,

**possess**: (*adj*, *v*) own; (*v*) hold, wield, occupy, bear, keep, enjoy, contain,

retain, to have, maintain.

ANTONYMS: (v) lack, remove.

preserve: (v) maintain, keep, save,
guard, hold, defend, uphold, keep
up; (n) jam, jelly, conserves.

ANTONYMS: (v) neglect,
discontinue, damage, lose, attack,
endanger, use, end.

repugnance: (n) horror, hatred,
antipathy, inconsistency, repulsion,
nausea, revulsion, loathing,
detestation, aversion, hate.

ANTONYMS: (n) pleasantness, love, attractiveness, adoration, liking. unwillingly: (adv) grudgingly, loathly, aversely, unenthusiastically, indisposedly, resentfully, involuntarily, recalcitrantly, refractorily, lothly, hesitatingly. ANTONYM: (adv) wholeheartedly. whenever: (n) anytime, convenience; (adv) always, whene'er. ANTONYM: (adv) immediately.

Yes, he replied; I agree with you in thinking that mankind are deprived of truth against their will.

And is not this **involuntary deprivation** caused either by theft, or force, or enchantment?

Still, he replied, I do not understand you.

I fear that I must have been talking darkly, like the tragedians. I only mean that some men are changed by persuasion and that others forget; argument steals away the hearts of one class, and time of the other; and this I call theft. Now you understand me?

Yes.

Those again who are forced, are those whom the violence of some pain or grief compels to change their opinion.

I understand, he said, and you are quite right.

And you would also acknowledge that the **enchanted** are those who change their minds either under the softer influence of pleasure, or the sterner influence of fear?

Yes, he said; everything that deceives may be said to enchant.

Therefore, as I was just now saying, we must enquire who are the best guardians of their own conviction that what they think the interest of the State is to be the rule of their lives. We must watch them from their youth upwards, and make them perform actions in which they are most likely to forget or to be deceived, and he who remembers and is not deceived is to be selected, and he who fails in the trial is to be rejected. That will be the way?

Yes.

And there should also be toils and pains and conflicts prescribed for them, in which they will be made to give further proof of the same qualities.

Very right, he replied.

And then, I said, we must try them with enchantments—that is the third sort of test - and see what will be their behaviour: like those who take colts amid

#### Thesaurus

actions: (n) proceedings, behaviour, deeds, deportment, background, behavior, events, activities. conviction: (n) belief, confidence, certainty, condemnation, persuasion, faith, trust, certitude, firmness, doctrine, determination. ANTONYMS: (n) acquittal, doubt, release, absolution, disbelief, justification, insecurity, distrust. deprivation: (n) privation, bereavement, cost, want, loss, need,

deficiency, dearth, damage, scarcity, absence. ANTONYMS: (n) surplus, extra, wealth, abundance, excess, glut, provision, prosperity, affluence. enchanted: (adj) bewitched, delighted, involuntary: (adj) instinctive, charmed, fascinated, rapt, spellbound, blissful, happy, enamored, possessed; (v) entranced. ANTONYMS: (adj) disenchanted, unhappy. grief: (adj, n, v) affliction; (n) dolor, anguish, distress, agony, pain,

wound, chagrin, concern; (n, v)regret; (adj) sore. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, happiness, comfort, content, peace.

unconscious, unintentional, forced, mechanical, unthinking, reluctant, unwilling, compulsory, inadvertent, accidental. ANTONYMS: (adj) voluntary, intentional, intended, willing.

steals: (adj) stolen; (n) stealing.

noise and **tumult** to see if they are of a timid nature, so must we take our youth amid terrors of some kind, and again pass them into pleasures, and prove them more thoroughly than gold is proved in the furnace, that we may discover whether they are armed against all enchantments, and of a noble bearing always, good guardians of themselves and of the music which they have learned, and **retaining** under all circumstances a **rhythmical** and harmonious nature, such as will be most **serviceable** to the individual and to the State. And he who at every age, as boy and youth and in mature life, has come out of the trial victorious and pure, shall be appointed a ruler and guardian of the State; he shall be honoured in life and death, and shall receive **sepulture** and other **memorials** of honour, the greatest that we have to give. But him who fails, we must reject. I am inclined to think that this is the sort of way in which our rulers and guardians should be chosen and appointed. I speak generally, and not with any **pretension** to exactness.

And, speaking generally, I agree with you, he said.

And perhaps the word 'guardian' in the fullest sense ought to be applied to this higher class only who preserve us against foreign enemies and maintain peace among our citizens at home, that the one may not have the will, or the others the power, to harm us. The young men whom we before called guardians may be more properly designated auxiliaries and supporters of the principles of the rulers.

I agree with you, he said.

How then may we devise one of those **needful** falsehoods of which we lately spoke—just one royal lie which may deceive the rulers, if that be possible, and at any rate the rest of the city?

What sort of lie? he said.

Nothing new, I replied; only an old Phoenician tale (Laws) of what has often occurred before now in other places, (as the poets say, and have made the world believe,) though not in our time, and I do not know whether such an event could ever happen again, or could now even be made probable, if it did.

#### **Thesaurus**

**memorials**: (n) memoir. **needful**: (adj) necessary, essential, indispensable, required, needed, mandatory, exigent, needy; (adj, v) requisite; (n) necessity, almighty dollar.

**pretension**: (*n*) ostentation, pretence, affectation, pretense, claim, assertion, title, pretentiousness, feint, pride, requirement. ANTONYMS: (*n*) modesty, humility, honesty. **retaining**: (*adj*) retentive; (*n*)

employment, reservation. rhythmical: (n) measured, rhythmics; (adj) numerose, cyclical, recurrent, cadenced, periodic, serial, diatonic, poetic, numerous. ANTONYM: (adj) unrhythmical.

**sepulture**: (*n*, *v*) interment, inhumation; (*n*) sepulchre, entombment, grave, mausoleum, funeral, sepulcher, burial chamber, repository, monument. **serviceable**: (*adj*) practical, helpful,

handy, profitable, beneficial, effective, useful, convenient, efficient, operative, practicable. ANTONYMS: (adj) impractical, unusable, unserviceable, useless, flimsy, worthless.

**tumult**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) hubbub, disturbance; (*n*) stir, commotion, bustle, din, fuss, excitement; (*n*, *v*) clamor, disorder, brawl. ANTONYMS: (*n*) peace, push, serenity, order, calm.

How your words seem to hesitate on your lips!

You will not wonder, I replied, at my **hesitation** when you have heard.

Speak, he said, and fear not.

Well then, I will speak, although I really know not how to look you in the face, or in what words to utter the **audacious** fiction, which I propose to communicate gradually, first to the rulers, then to the soldiers, and lastly to the people. They are to be told that their youth was a dream, and the education and training which they received from us, an appearance only; in reality during all that time they were being formed and fed in the **womb** of the earth, where they themselves and their arms and **appurtenances** were manufactured; when they were completed, the earth, their mother, sent them up; and so, their country being their mother and also their nurse, they are bound to advise for her good, and to defend her against attacks, and her citizens they are to regard as children of the earth and their own brothers.

You had good reason, he said, to be ashamed of the lie which you were going to tell.

True, I replied, but there is more coming; I have only told you half. Citizens, we shall say to them in our tale, you are brothers, yet God has framed you differently. Some of you have the power of command, and in the composition of these he has mingled gold, **wherefore** also they have the greatest honour; others he has made of silver, to be auxiliaries; others again who are to be husbandmen and craftsmen he has composed of brass and iron; and the species will generally be preserved in the children. But as all are of the same original stock, a golden parent will sometimes have a silver son, or a silver parent a golden son. And God proclaims as a first principle to the rulers, and above all else, that there is nothing which they should so anxiously guard, or of which they are to be such good guardians, as of the purity of the race. They should observe what elements mingle in their offspring; for if the son of a golden or silver parent has an **admixture** of brass and iron, then nature orders a transposition of ranks, and the eye of the ruler must not be **pitiful** towards the child because he has to descend in the scale and become a husbandman or artisan, just as there may be sons of

#### **Thesaurus**

**admixture**: (*n*) mixture, composite, alloy, addition, fusion, additive, mixing, amalgam, mix, commixture, melange.

appurtenances: (n) accessories, equipment, belongings, tack, tackle, thing, trappings, rigging, gear, saddlery, possession.

audacious: (adj) brash, arrogant, barefaced, bold, daring, impudent, intrepid, brave, shameless, enterprising, insolent. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, timid, cautious, polite, reserved, meek, humble, fearful, discreet, respectful.

discreet, respectful.

hesitation: (n, v) falter, fear; (n)
hesitance, faltering, delay, hesitate,
diffidence, hesitancy, qualm,
reluctance; (v) hesitating.
ANTONYMS: (n) certainty,
resolution, confidence, decisiveness,
enthusiasm, inclination, willingness.
pitiful: (adj, n) abject; (adj) pathetic,
lamentable, piteous, contemptible,

miserable, distressing, mean, wretched, poor, sad. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, heartwarming, admirable, cheerful, fine, happy, impressive.

wherefore: (adv, conj) therefore; (adv, n) why; (n) reason, proof; (adv) accordingly, consequently, so, wherefor, hence, whence; (conj) then. womb: (n) belly, nursery, nest, intestines, guts, vitals, bowels, chitterings, cradle, entrails, viscera.

artisans who having an admixture of gold or silver in them are raised to honour, and become guardians or auxiliaries. For an oracle says that when a man of **brass** or iron guards the State, it will be destroyed. Such is the tale; is there any possibility of making our citizens believe in it?

Not in the present generation, he replied; there is no way of accomplishing this; but their sons may be made to believe in the tale, and their sons' sons, and posterity after them.

I see the difficulty, I replied; yet the fostering of such a belief will make them care more for the city and for one another. Enough, however, of the fiction, which may now fly abroad upon the wings of **rumour**, while we arm our earthborn heroes, and lead them forth under the command of their rulers. Let them look round and select a spot whence they can best **suppress insurrection**, if any prove **refractory** within, and also defend themselves against enemies, who like wolves may come down on the fold from without; there let them **encamp**, and when they have encamped, let them sacrifice to the proper Gods and prepare their dwellings.

Just so, he said.

And their dwellings must be such as will shield them against the cold of winter and the heat of summer.

I suppose that you mean houses, he replied.

Yes, I said; but they must be the houses of soldiers, and not of shop-keepers.

What is the difference? he said.

That I will **endeavour** to explain, I replied. To keep watch-dogs, who, from want of discipline or hunger, or some evil habit or other, would turn upon the sheep and worry them, and behave not like dogs but wolves, would be a foul and **monstrous** thing in a shepherd?

Truly monstrous, he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

**brass**: (*n*, *v*) face; (*adj*, *n*) boldness; (*n*) nerve, cheek, administration, audaciousness, insolence, arrogance; (*adj*) bronze; (*v*) assurance, impudence. **encamp**: (*v*) camp, bivouac, tent, camp

encamp: (v) camp, bivouac, tent, camp out, people, shack, populate, live, inhabit, reside, pitch.

endeavour: (n) attempt, effort, pains, trial, try, enterprise, striving, contribution, braving; (v) exert, strive. **insurrection**: (n) mutiny, uprising, revolt, outbreak, rising, disturbance, sedition, commotion, revolution, riot; rumour: (n, v) rumor; (n) hearsay, fame, news, story, reputation,

monstrous: (adj) huge, atrocious, heinous, monster, immense, gigantic, grievous, ugly, flagitious, dreadful; (adj, v) grotesque. ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, minute, beautiful, good, small, lovely, attractive. scuttlebutt, tale; (v) bruit. suppress: (v) subdue, silence, quell, check, stifle, restrain, subjugate, cu crush, strangle, oppress. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, stimulate, incite, expose, declare,

**refractory**: (*adj*) disobedient, obstinate, perverse, recalcitrant, stubborn,

fractious, contumacious, headstrong, unruly, wayward, restive. rumour: (*n*, *v*) rumor; (*n*) hearsay, fame, news, story, reputation, scuttlebutt, tale; (*v*) bruit. suppress: (*v*) subdue, silence, quell, check, stifle, restrain, subjugate, curb, crush, strangle, oppress.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) encourage, stimulate, incite, expose, declare, resist, confess, divulge, surrender, advertise, acknowledge.

And therefore every care must be taken that our auxiliaries, being stronger than our citizens, may not grow to be too much for them and become savage tyrants instead of friends and allies?

Yes, great care should be taken.

And would not a really good education furnish the best **safeguard**?

But they are well-educated already, he replied.

I cannot be so confident, my dear Glaucon, I said; I am much more certain that they ought to be, and that true education, whatever that may be, will have the greatest tendency to civilize and humanize them in their relations to one another, and to those who are under their protection.

Very true, he replied.

And not only their education, but their habitations, and all that belongs to them, should be such as will neither **impair** their virtue as guardians, nor **tempt** them to prey upon the other citizens. Any man of sense must acknowledge that.

He must.

Then now let us consider what will be their way of life, if they are to realize our idea of them. In the first place, none of them should have any property of his own beyond what is absolutely necessary; neither should they have a private house or store closed against any one who has a mind to enter; their provisions should be only such as are required by trained warriors, who are men of temperance and courage; they should agree to receive from the citizens a fixed rate of pay, enough to meet the expenses of the year and no more; and they will go to mess and live together like soldiers in a camp. Gold and silver we will tell them that they have from God; the diviner metal is within them, and they have therefore no need of the dross which is current among men, and ought not to pollute the divine by any such earthly admixture; for that commoner metal has been the source of many unholy deeds, but their own is undefiled. And they alone of all the citizens may not touch or handle silver or gold, or be under the same roof with them, or wear them, or drink from them. And this will be their salvation, and they will be the saviours of the State. But should they ever acquire

#### Thesaurus

civilize: (v) civilise, educate, improve, pollute: (adi, v) defile, taint, debase,

train, refine, foster, tame, enlighten, domesticate, humanize; (adj) polish. humanize: (v) humanise, soften, alter, anthropomorphize, incarnate, personify; (adj) polish. ANTONYM: (v) brutalize. **impair**: (v) blemish, mar, corrupt, disfigure, deface, debase, harm, enervate, vitiate; (n, v) degrade, hurt. ANTONYMS: (v) improve, fortify, help, purify.

infect, poison, maculate, desecrate; (adj, n, v) corrupt; (v) foul, dirty, befoul. ANTONYMS: (v) clean, purify, respect. prey: (n) chase, game, victim, immolation, quarry, target, mark, ANTONYMS: (n) hunter, predator. safeguard: (v) preserve, ensure, cover, protect, defend; (n) protection, care, precaution, security; (n, v) shield,

shelter. ANTONYMS: (v) jeopardize, expose, destroy, endanger. savage: (adj, v) fierce, wild, furious; (adj) ferocious, brutal, cruel, bloodthirsty, rough, pitiless; (adj, n) brute; (n) vandal. ANTONYMS: (adj) civilized, gentle, nice. capture; (n, v) plunder, raven; (v) eat. tempt: (adj, v) attract, allure; (v) entice, decoy, charm, inveigle, invite, coax, seduce, fascinate, attempt.

ANTONYMS: (v) discourage, appall,

homes or lands or **moneys** of their own, they will become housekeepers and husbandmen instead of guardians, enemies and tyrants instead of **allies** of the other citizens; **hating** and being **hated**, **plotting** and being **plotted** against, they will pass their whole life in much greater **terror** of internal than of external enemies, and the hour of **ruin**, both to themselves and to the rest of the State, will be at hand. For all which reasons may we not say that thus shall our State be ordered, and that these shall be the regulations appointed by us for guardians **concerning** their houses and all other matters?

Yes, said Glaucon.

#### **Thesaurus**

allies: (n) alignment, alinement, associates, cohorts, partners.

concerning: (adj, prep) regarding, with regard to, with reference to, in relation to; (prep) respecting, as regards, of, touching, relating to; (adj) as to, relevant.

hated: (adj) despised, disliked, not liked, reviled, scorned, unloved, unpopular. ANTONYM: (adj) precious.

hating: (adj) loathful, abhorring,

disgusting, misanthropic, vengeful; (*n*) venom.

moneys: (n) finances, means, funds. plotted: (adj) planned, aforethought, arranged, studied.

**plotting**: (*n*) machinations, intrigues, evaluation; (*adj*) scheming, perfidious, sly, treacherous, deep, insidious, false, faithless.

ruin: (n) devastation, desolation; (adj,
n) downfall; (v) break, consume,
demolish, destroy; (n, v) doom,

ravage, destruction, damage. ANTONYMS: (*v*) conserve, enhance, save, restore, improve; (*n*, *v*) respect; (*n*) making, success, triumph, rise, preservation.

terror: (*n*, *v*) alarm, scare; (*adj*, *n*) dread, awe; (*n*) fear, dismay, consternation, horror, panic, apprehension, scourge.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) peace, security, delight, calm, confidence.

#### BOOK IV

Here Adeimantus interposed a question: How would you answer, Socrates, said he, if a person were to say that you are making these people miserable, and that they are the cause of their own **unhappiness**; the city in fact belongs to them, but they are none the better for it; whereas other men acquire lands, and build large and handsome houses, and have everything handsome about them, offering sacrifices to the gods on their own account, and practising hospitality; moreover, as you were saying just now, they have gold and silver, and all that is usual among the favourites of fortune; but our poor citizens are no better than mercenaries who are quartered in the city and are always mounting guard? Yes, I said; and you may add that they are only fed, and not paid in addition to their food, like other men; and therefore they cannot, if they would, take a journey of pleasure; they have no money to spend on a mistress or any other luxurious fancy, which, as the world goes, is thought to be happiness; and many other accusations of the same nature might be added.

But, said he, let us suppose all this to be **included** in the charge.

You mean to ask, I said, what will be our answer?

Yes.

If we proceed along the old path, my belief, I said, is that we shall find the answer. And our answer will be that, even as they are, our guardians may very

#### Thesaurus

**fancy**: (n, v) desire, fantasy, caprice, dream, wish, daydream; (v) imagine, consider; (adj, v) conceive; (n)conception, conceit. ANTONYMS: (n) reality, certainty, actuality, conviction; (adj) unadorned, common; (v) hate, demonstrate, detest, disapprove, test. handsome: (adj) fair, beautiful, fine, generous, charming, comely, attractive, bountiful, considerable, bonny, prepossessing. ANTONYMS:

(adj) ugly, unattractive, meager, ungenerous, measly, plain. hospitality: (n) entertainment, generosity, friendliness, cordiality, welcome, cordial reception, kindness, quartered: (n) quartering, quarters. amiability, warmth, solicitously, politely. ANTONYMS: (n) frostiness, inhospitality.

included: (adj) inclusive, incorporated, numbered, enclosed; (adv) under. mistress: (n) dame, concubine, madame, inamorata, lady, lover,

fancy woman, doxy, girl, kept woman, missis. practising: (adj) practicing, churchgoing. unhappiness: (n) sadness, misery, melancholy, distress, grief, regret, infelicity, woe, sorrowfulness,

depression, displeasure. ANTONYMS: (n) cheerfulness, pleasure, joy, elation, contentment, satisfaction, cheer.

likely be the happiest of men; but that our aim in founding the State was not the disproportionate happiness of any one class, but the greatest happiness of the whole; we thought that in a State which is ordered with a view to the good of the whole we should be most likely to find justice, and in the ill-ordered State injustice: and, having found them, we might then decide which of the two is the happier. At present, I take it, we are fashioning the happy State, not piecemeal, or with a view of making a few happy citizens, but as a whole; and by-and-by we will proceed to view the opposite kind of State. Suppose that we were painting a statue, and some one came up to us and said, Why do you not put the most beautiful colours on the most beautiful parts of the body-the eyes ought to be purple, but you have made them black - to him we might fairly answer, Sir, you would not surely have us beautify the eyes to such a degree that they are no longer eyes; consider rather whether, by giving this and the other features their due proportion, we make the whole beautiful. And so I say to you, do not compel us to assign to the guardians a sort of happiness which will make them anything but guardians; for we too can clothe our husbandmen in royal apparel, and set crowns of gold on their heads, and bid them till the ground as much as they like, and no more. Our potters also might be allowed to repose on couches, and feast by the fireside, passing round the winecup, while their wheel is conveniently at hand, and working at pottery only as much as they like; in this way we might make every class happy-and then, as you imagine, the whole State would be happy. But do not put this idea into our heads; for, if we listen to you, the husbandman will be no longer a husbandman, the potter will cease to be a potter, and no one will have the character of any distinct class in the State. Now this is not of much consequence where the corruption of society, and pretension to be what you are not, is confined to cobblers; but when the guardians of the laws and of the government are only seeming and not real guardians, then see how they turn the State upside down; and on the other hand they alone have the power of giving order and happiness to the State. We mean our guardians to be true saviours and not the destroyers of the State, whereas our opponent is thinking of peasants at a festival, who are enjoying a life of revelry, not of citizens who are doing their duty to the State. But, if so, we mean

# Thesaurus lopsided, insufficient, inordinate,

proportionate, commensurate, even,

enjoying: (n) relish, enjoyment; (adj)

unfair; (v) disproportionated.

ANTONYMS: (adj) equal,

balanced, fair, moderate,

comfortable, fruitive.

corresponding.

decorate, deck, enhance, trim, garnish, gild, dress up, improve, bead. ANTONYMS: (v) deface, strip, mar, disfigure, uglify. clothe: (v) dress, cover, garb, apparel, clad, vest, arrange, deck, invest, wrap; (n, v) attire. ANTONYMS: (v) reveal, strip, uncover. disproportionate: (adj)

beautify: (v) ornament, embellish,

reveal, strip, uncover. **lisproportionate**: (adj)
incommensurate, unequal, uneven,
undue, unsymmetrical, excessive,
undue, unsymmetrical, excessive,

little by little, in stages, partially, step by step, slowly; (adj) gradual, fragmentary, stepwise, in small stages.

**revelry**: (adj, n) revels; (n) debauchery, festivity, orgy, merriment, revel, carnival, mirth, gaiety, carousal, jollification.

upside: (n) crest, crown, poll, top side, upper side, pate, round top, acme, summit, superlative, teetotum.

different things, and he is speaking of something which is not a State. And therefore we must consider whether in appointing our guardians we would look to their greatest happiness individually, or whether this principle of happiness does not rather **reside** in the State as a whole. But if the latter be the truth, then the guardians and auxiliaries, and all others equally with them, must be compelled or induced to do their own work in the best way. And thus the whole State will grow up in a **noble** order, and the several classes will receive the proportion of happiness which nature assigns to them.

I think that you are quite right.

I wonder whether you will agree with another remark which occurs to me.

What may that be?

There seem to be two causes of the **deterioration** of the arts.

What are they?

Wealth, I said, and poverty.

How do they act?

The process is as follows: When a potter becomes rich, will he, think you, any longer take the same pains with his art?

Certainly not.

He will grow more and more indolent and careless?

Very true.

And the result will be that he becomes a worse potter?

Yes; he greatly deteriorates.

But, on the other hand, if he has no money, and cannot provide himself with tools or instruments, he will not work equally well himself, nor will he teach his sons or apprentices to work equally well.

Certainly not.

Then, under the influence either of poverty or of wealth, workmen and their work are equally liable to degenerate?

#### appointing: (adj) appointed. **deterioration**: (n, v) decline, depravation; (n) decay, failure, corrosion, decadence, degeneration, wear, damage, corruption; (adj, n) degeneracy. ANTONYMS: (n) development, growth, betterment, enhancement, help, regeneration, revival, amelioration, convalescence, increase.

individually: (adv) separately, independently, severally, peculiarly,

#### Thesaurus

apart, particularly, singularly, specifically, humanly, each, respectively. ANTONYMS: (adv) together, collectively, generally, objectively.

noble: (adj, n) grand, glorious, patrician; (adj) imposing, impressive, elevated, majestic, generous, high; (adj, v) dignified, great. ANTONYMS: tools: (n) tackle, apparatus, gear, (adj) shameful, humble, dishonorable, lowly, lowborn, disgraceful, unimpressive, ignoble, modest, petty;

potter: (v) tinker, mess around, putter, monkey, muck around, muddle, dabble, fiddle, monkey around; (n) thrower, ceramicist.

reside: (adj, v) inhabit, dwell; (v) exist, occupy, remain, live, belong, abide, lodge, populate, lie.

appliance, machinery, utensil, rigging, knowledge, skill, factory, expertise.

That is evident.

Here, then, is a **discovery** of new evils, I said, against which the guardians will have to watch, or they will creep into the city unobserved.

What evils?

Wealth, I said, and poverty; the one is the parent of luxury and indolence, and the other of meanness and **viciousness**, and both of **discontent**.

That is very true, he replied; but still I should like to know, Socrates, how our city will be able to go to war, especially against an enemy who is rich and powerful, if deprived of the sinews of war.

There would certainly be a difficulty, I replied, in going to war with one such enemy; but there is no difficulty where there are two of them.

How so? he asked.

In the first place, I said, if we have to fight, our side will be trained warriors fighting against an army of rich men.

That is true, he said.

And do you not suppose, Adeimantus, that a single boxer who was perfect in his art would easily be a match for two **stout** and well-to-do gentlemen who were not **boxers**?

Hardly, if they came upon him at once.

What, now, I said, if he were able to run away and then turn and strike at the one who first came up? And supposing he were to do this several times under the heat of a scorching sun, might he not, being an expert, **overturn** more than one stout **personage**?

Certainly, he said, there would be nothing wonderful in that.

And yet rich men probably have a greater superiority in the science and practise of boxing than they have in military qualities.

Likely enough.

#### **Thesaurus**

boxers: (n) drawers.
discontent: (n) disapproval,
discontentment, disaffection,
displeasure, disappointment,
discontentedness, unrest; (adj)
melancholy, dissatisfied, disgruntled,
discontented. ANTONYMS: (n)
contentment, pleasure, accord,
happiness; (v) content; (adj, n) happy;
(adj) contented.
discovery: (n) detection, disclosure,
breakthrough, finding, revelation,

catching, revealing, invention, find, development, exploration. **overturn**: (*n*, *v*) capsize, upset, overset; (*v*) knock over, subvert, destroy, annul, bring down, reverse, topple, overrule. ANTONYMS: (*v*) right, assist, accept, submit.

personage: (n) person, notable, celebrity, personality, individual, bigwig, figure, somebody, human, character, being.

stout: (adj, n) sturdy, stocky, hearty;

(adj) hardy, strong, robust, obese, husky, bold, corpulent, fleshy. ANTONYMS: (adj) thin, slim, flimsy, cowardly, slight, skinny, fragile, weak.

viciousness: (n) savagery, cruelty, evil, malice, ferociousness, barbarity, depravity, savageness, nastiness, atrocity; (adj) wickedness.

ANTONYMS: (n) gentleness, friendliness.

Then we may assume that our athletes will be able to fight with two or three times their own number?

I agree with you, for I think you right.

And suppose that, before engaging, our citizens send an **embassy** to one of the two cities, telling them what is the truth: Silver and gold we neither have nor are **permitted** to have, but you may; do you therefore come and help us in war, and take the **spoils** of the other city: Who, on hearing these words, would choose to fight against **lean** wiry dogs, rather than, with the dogs on their side, against fat and tender **sheep**?

That is not likely; and yet there might be a danger to the poor State if the wealth of many States were to be **gathered** into one.

But how simple of you to use the term State at all of any but our own! Why so?

You ought to speak of other States in the **plural** number; not one of them is a city, but many cities, as they say in the game. For indeed any city, however small, is in fact **divided** into two, one the city of the poor, the other of the rich; these are at war with one another; and in either there are many smaller divisions, and you would be altogether beside the mark if you treated them all as a single State. But if you deal with them as many, and give the wealth or power or persons of the one to the others, you will always have a great many friends and not many enemies. And your State, while the wise order which has now been prescribed continues to prevail in her, will be the greatest of States, I do not mean to say in reputation or appearance, but in deed and truth, though she number not more than a thousand defenders. A single State which is her equal you will hardly find, either among Hellenes or barbarians, though many that appear to be as great and many times greater.

That is most true, he said.

And what, I said, will be the best limit for our rulers to fix when they are considering the size of the State and the amount of **territory** which they are to include, and beyond which they will not go?

# **Thesaurus**

**lean**: (adj, v) gaunt; (adj) emaciated,

thin, bony, lank; (n, v) bend, tilt,

slant, list, careen; (n) inclination.

ANTONYMS: (adj) plump, rich,

chubby, greasy, stout; (v) straighten,

permitted: (adj) allowed, permissible,

congregate, collective.

divided: (adj) cleft, detached, distributed, forked, shared, separated, separate, disjointed, branched, pronged, disunited.

embassy: (n) legation, delegation, mission, commission, errand, ambassage, corps diplomatique, communication, cable, diplomat, diplomatist.

gathered: (adj) deepened, congregated, accumulated, amassed, assembled.

diplomatist. **gathered**: (adj) deepened, congregated, accumulated, amassed, assembled, concentrated, equanimous,

allowable, admissible, lawful, free, approved, legitimate, legal, legalized venial. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlawful, constrained.

**plural**: (*adj*) upwards of, several, certain.

**sheep**: (*n*) goat, ram, tup, ewe, cattle, follower, Bovidae, stock, simple, simpleton, family Bovidae.

**spoils**: (n) prize, stolen goods, booty, plunder, haul, swag, pickings, trophy, boodle, prize money, treasure.

approved, legitimate, legal, legalized, venial. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlawful, constrained. territory: (n) district, dominion, area, state, land, region, field, realm, country, province, domain.

What limit would you propose?

I would allow the State to increase so far as is consistent with **unity**; that, I think, is the proper limit.

Very good, he said.

Here then, I said, is another order which will have to be conveyed to our guardians: Let our city be accounted neither large nor small, but one and self-sufficing.

And surely, said he, this is not a very severe order which we **impose** upon them.

And the other, said I, of which we were speaking before is **lighter** still,—I mean the duty of **degrading** the offspring of the guardians when inferior, and of elevating into the **rank** of guardians the offspring of the lower classes, when naturally superior. The intention was, that, in the case of the citizens generally, each individual should be put to the use for which nature intended him, one to one work, and then every man would do his own business, and be one and not many; and so the whole city would be one and not many.

Yes, he said; that is not so difficult.

The regulations which we are prescribing, my good Adeimantus, are not, as might be supposed, a number of great principles, but trifles all, if care be taken, as the saying is, of the one great thing, —a thing, however, which I would rather call, not great, but sufficient for our purpose.

What may that be? he asked.

Education, I said, and nurture: If our citizens are well educated, and grow into sensible men, they will easily see their way through all these, as well as other matters which I omit; such, for example, as marriage, the possession of women and the **procreation** of children, which will all follow the general principle that friends have all things in common, as the proverb says.

That will be the best way of **settling** them.

#### **Thesaurus**

degrading: (adj) shameful, debasing, derogatory, humiliating, dishonorable, ignominious, disgraceful, corrupting, vile, scandalous; (n) infra dignitatem. ANTONYMS: (adj) humane, reputable.

impose: (v) dictate, prescribe, enforce, exact, charge, clamp, deceive, enjoin, burden, set, lay. ANTONYM: (v) revoke.

lighter: (n) light, flatboat, igniter,

cigarette lighter, wherry, primer, scow, kindling, fuze, fuzee, houseboat.

procreation: (*n*) breeding, reproduction, birth; (*adj*, *n*) propagation; (*adj*) multiplication, fructification; (*v*) epigenesis, fertilization, gemination, genesis, germination.

rank: (n, v) range, order, place, position, grade, class, line, file; (v) arrange, classify; (n) gradation. ANTONYMS: (adj) sparse, pleasant, clean.

**settling**: (*n*) settlement, subsidence, defecation, dregs, clearing, sinking, dreg, remission, cave in; (*adj*) determining, definitive.

unity: (*n*) union, harmony, oneness, unison, concord, agreement, completeness, integrity, consistency, single, one. ANTONYMS: (*n*) separation, conflict, partiality, split, disarray, inconsistency, isolation.

Also, I said, the State, if once started well, moves with accumulating force like a wheel. For good nurture and education implant good constitutions, and these good constitutions taking root in a good education improve more and more, and this improvement affects the breed in man as in other animals.

Very possibly, he said.

Then to sum up: This is the point to which, above all, the attention of our rulers should be directed, - that music and gymnastic be preserved in their original form, and no **innovation** made. They must do their utmost to maintain them **intact**. And when any one says that mankind most regard

The **newest** song which the **singers** have,

they will be afraid that he may be praising, not new songs, but a new kind of song; and this ought not to be praised, or conceived to be the meaning of the poet; for any musical innovation is full of danger to the whole State, and ought to be prohibited. So Damon tells me, and I can quite believe him; -he says that when modes of music change, the fundamental laws of the State always change with them.

Yes, said Adeimantus; and you may add my suffrage to Damon's and your own.

Then, I said, our guardians must lay the foundations of their fortress in

Yes, he said; the lawlessness of which you speak too easily steals in.

Yes, I replied, in the form of amusement; and at first sight it appears harmless.

Why, yes, he said, and there is no harm; were it not that little by little this spirit of licence, finding a home, imperceptibly penetrates into manners and customs; whence, issuing with greater force, it invades contracts between man and man, and from contracts goes on to laws and constitutions, in utter

#### Thesaurus

**fortress**: (*n*) fort, bulwark, fortification, castle, stronghold, citadel, alcazar, tower, presidio, redoubt; (n, v) keep. foundations: (n) fundamentals, foundation, practicalities, brass tacks, details.

innovation: (n) alteration, invention, novelty, variation, mutation, creation, reform, contrivance, improvement, vicissitude, originality. ANTONYM: (n) decline.

intact: (adj) full, entire, whole, integral,

undamaged, perfect, untouched, unbroken, uninjured, sound, thorough. ANTONYMS: (adj) damaged, hurt, injured, used, incomplete, marred.

issuing: (n) issuance, supplying, emanation, consequence, publication, started: (adv) happening, in progress, effect, egress, emergence, exit; (adj) flowing, emergent.

newest: (adj) last, up-to-the-minute, up-to-date, novel, fresh, hot, lowest, concluding, fashionable, stylish, final.

preserved: (adj) kept, conserved, whole, pickled, condite, safe. ANTONYM: (adj) fresh.

singers: (n) gospel choir, church choir, choral group, singing group, school

ongoing; (v) stert, leaped.

suffrage: (n) ballot, voice, franchise, poll, election, right to vote, voting, assistance, approval, testimony,

recklessness, ending at last, Socrates, by an overthrow of all rights, private as well as public.

Is that true? I said.

That is my belief, he replied.

Then, as I was saying, our youth should be trained from the first in a stricter system, for if amusements become lawless, and the youths themselves become lawless, they can never grow up into well-conducted and virtuous citizens.

Very true, he said.

And when they have made a good beginning in play, and by the help of music have gained the habit of good order, then this habit of order, in a manner how unlike the lawless play of the others! will accompany them in all their actions and be a principle of growth to them, and if there be any fallen places in the State will raise them up again.

Very true, he said.

Thus educated, they will invent for themselves any lesser rules which their predecessors have altogether **neglected**.

What do you mean?

I mean such things as these:—when the young are to be silent before their elders; how they are to show respect to them by standing and making them sit; what honour is due to parents; what garments or shoes are to be worn; the mode of dressing the hair; deportment and manners in general. You would agree with me?

Yes.

But there is, I think, small wisdom in legislating about such matters,—I doubt if it is ever done; nor are any precise written enactments about them likely to be **lasting**.

Impossible.

It would seem, Adeimantus, that the direction in which education starts a man, will determine his future life. Does not like always attract like?

#### Thesaurus

accompany: (v) attend, follow, companion, guide, company, lead, walk, associate, consort, conduct, concur. ANTONYMS: (v) desert, abandon, leave. dressing: (n) bandage, stuffing, fertilization, binding, bandaging, scolding, fertilizer, manure, compress, preparation, farce. lasting: (adj) abiding, everlasting, firm, eternal, enduring, continuous, permanent, constant, perpetual,

tough; (adj, v) fast. ANTONYMS: (adj) fleeting, impermanent, superficial, ephemeral, caducous, unstable, occasional, insubstantial, erratic, acute, fickle.

legislating: (n) lawmaking, legislation, enactment, governance, passage, government, governing. neglected: (adj) dilapidated, disregarded, ignored, deserted,

derelict, forsaken, obsolete, antiquated, antique, shabby, unnoticed. ANTONYM: (adj) salubrious.

recklessness: (n, v) imprudence; (n)rashness, carelessness, desperation, extravagance, heedlessness, negligence, temerity, adventurism, audacity, neglect. ANTONYMS: (n) care, carefulness, consideration, forethought, parsimony, deliberation, discretion, regard, restraint, thoughtfulness.

To be sure.

Until some one rare and grand result is reached which may be good, and may be the reverse of good?

That is not to be denied.

And for this reason, I said, I shall not attempt to **legislate** further about them.

Naturally enough, he replied.

Well, and about the business of the **agora**, and the ordinary dealings between man and man, or again about agreements with artisans; about **insult** and injury, or the commencement of actions, and the appointment of juries, what would you say? there may also arise questions about any impositions and exactions of market and harbour **dues** which may be required, and in general about the regulations of markets, police, harbours, and the like. But, oh heavens! shall we condescend to legislate on any of these particulars?

I think, he said, that there is no need to impose laws about them on good men; what regulations are necessary they will find out soon enough for themselves.

Yes, I said, my friend, if God will only preserve to them the laws which we have given them.

And without divine help, said Adeimantus, they will go on for ever making and **mending** their laws and their lives in the hope of attaining perfection.

You would compare them, I said, to those invalids who, having no **self-restraint**, will not leave off their **habits** of intemperance?

Exactly.

Yes, I said; and what a delightful life they lead! they are always doctoring and increasing and complicating their disorders, and always fancying that they will be cured by any **nostrum** which anybody advises them to try.

Such cases are very common, he said, with invalids of this sort.

Yes, I replied; and the charming thing is that they deem him their worst enemy who tells them the truth, which is simply that, unless they give up eating

#### **Thesaurus**

marketplace, assembly, marketplace, mart, public square. **dues**: (*n*) tax, obligation, tallage, assessment, sess, cost, contribution, impost, toll, union dues, deficit. **habits**: (*n*) behavior, decorum, pratique. **insult**: (*n*, *v*) contumely, affront, abuse.

agora: (n) open air market, country

insult: (*n*, *v*) contumely, affront, abuse, flout, outrage, wound, taunt; (*n*) disgrace, indignity, contempt; (*v*) cut. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) compliment,

praise; (v) flatter, consecrate; (n) privilege.

legislate: (v) establish, constitute, authorise, fade, give, extend, expire, exit, glide by, fleet, excrete.

mending: (n) fix, repair, fixing, maintenance, restoration, reparation, improvement, darning, mend, amendment, correction.

nostrum: (n) panacea, invention, contrivance, expedient, elixir, cureall, recipe, prescription, patent

medicine, remedy, snake oil.

restraint: (n) bridle, reserve,
moderation, modesty, constraint,
control, restriction, curb; (n, v)
hindrance, check, limit.

ANTONYMS: (n) excess, abandon,
incentive, decadence, freedom,
unrestraint, depravity, disorderliness,
indulgence, expression, incitement.

self: (n) ego, person, me, individual,
being; (pron) myself, herself, itself;
(adi) same; (v) own; (adv) personally.

and drinking and **wenching** and **idling**, neither drug nor cautery nor spell nor **amulet** nor any other remedy will avail.

Charming! he replied. I see nothing charming in going into a passion with a man who tells you what is right.

These gentlemen, I said, do not seem to be in your good graces.

Assuredly not.

Nor would you praise the behaviour of States which act like the men whom I was just now describing. For are there not ill-ordered States in which the citizens are forbidden under pain of death to alter the constitution; and yet he who most sweetly courts those who live under this regime and indulges them and fawns upon them and is skilful in **anticipating** and **gratifying** their humours is held to be a great and good statesman—do not these States resemble the persons whom I was describing?

Yes, he said; the States are as bad as the men; and I am very far from praising them.

But do you not admire, I said, the coolness and **dexterity** of these ready ministers of political corruption?

Yes, he said, I do; but not of all of them, for there are some whom the applause of the multitude has **deluded** into the belief that they are really statesmen, and these are not much to be admired.

What do you mean? I said; you should have more feeling for them. When a man cannot measure, and a great many others who cannot measure declare that he is four cubits high, can he help believing what they say?

Nay, he said, certainly not in that case.

Well, then, do not be angry with them; for are they not as good as a play, trying their hand at **paltry** reforms such as I was describing; they are always fancying that by legislation they will make an end of frauds in contracts, and the other rascalities which I was mentioning, not knowing that they are in reality cutting off the heads of a hydra?

#### **Thesaurus**

amulet: (n) talisman, fetish, mascot, periapt, charm, telesm, philter, spell, phylactery, keepsake, good luck charm.

anticipating: (v) anticipate; (adj)
pregnant, anticipant, hopeful, ready,
oracular.

**deluded**: (*adj*) besotted, mistaken. **dexterity**: (*n*) agility, cleverness,
ability, aptitude, skill, deftness,
expertise; (*adj*, *n*) art, cunning; (*n*, *v*)
adroitness, address. ANTONYMS: (*n*) **idling**: (*n*) idleness, loafing, faineance,

clumsiness, awkwardness, ineptitude, inability, uselessness, inexperience, ineptness, inaccuracy. gratifying: (adj) agreeable, pleasant, enjoyable, delightful, pleasurable, rewarding, welcome, satisfying, nice; (adj, v) grateful; (v) gratify. ANTONYMS: (adj) disappointing, unwelcome, unrewarding, frustrating, disagreeable, heartbreaking, annoying, unpleasant.

dalliance, idle motion, dolce far niente, idling speed; (v) to slide; (adj) trifling.

paltry: (adj, n) mean; (adj) contemptible, measly, trifling, abject, insignificant, inconsiderable, puny, little, trivial, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, substantial, plentiful, enormous, important, profound. wenching: (n) dissipation. Yes, he said; that is just what they are doing.

I conceive, I said, that the true legislator will not trouble himself with this class of enactments whether concerning laws or the constitution either in an illordered or in a well-ordered State; for in the former they are quite useless, and in the latter there will be no difficulty in devising them; and many of them will naturally flow out of our previous **regulations**.

What, then, he said, is still remaining to us of the work of legislation?

Nothing to us, I replied; but to Apollo, the God of Delphi, there remains the **ordering** of the greatest and noblest and chiefest things of all.

Which are they? he said.

The institution of temples and sacrifices, and the entire service of gods, demigods, and heroes; also the ordering of the repositories of the dead, and the **rites** which have to be observed by him who would **propitiate** the inhabitants of the world below. These are matters of which we are ignorant ourselves, and as founders of a city we should be **unwise** in **trusting** them to any interpreter but our ancestral **deity**. He is the god who sits in the centre, on the navel of the earth, and he is the interpreter of religion to all mankind.

You are right, and we will do as you propose.

But where, amid all this, is justice? son of Ariston, tell me where. Now that our city has been made **habitable**, light a **candle** and search, and get your brother and Polemarchus and the rest of our friends to help, and let us see where in it we can discover justice and where injustice, and in what they differ from one another, and which of them the man who would be happy should have for his portion, whether seen or unseen by gods and men.

Nonsense, said Glaucon: did you not promise to search yourself, saying that for you not to help justice in her need would be an impiety?

I do not deny that I said so, and as you remind me, I will be as good as my word; but you must join.

We will, he replied.

#### **Thesaurus**

**candle**: (*n*) candela, light, taper, bougie, CD, candlepower, lamp, wax light, Standard candle; (*v*) examine, illuminate.

deity: (n) God, godhead, godhood, godship, idol, immortal, goddess, Jupiter; (adj, n) divinity, the Deity, theology. ANTONYMS: (n) human, mortal, person.

habitable: (adj) livable, liveable. ordering: (n) disposition, sequence, order, disposal, grading, adjustment, management, decree, configuration, classification; (adj) imperative.

propitiate: (v) pacify, mollify, appease, placate, assuage, atone, compose, calm, allay, becalm; (adj, v) reconcile.

regulations: (n) bylaw, constitution, laws, system, policy; (v) regulate.

rites: (n) money, finances, wake, religion.

trusting: (adj) credulous, unsuspecting, naive, confident, confiding, simple, innocent, gullible, reliant, give, easy to fool. ANTONYMS: (adj) distrustful, suspicious, doubtful, hesitant, protective, shrewd, disingenuous, smart, jaded.

**unwise**: (*adj*, *n*) silly, stupid, absurd, indiscreet; (*adj*) imprudent, injudicious, ridiculous, senseless, inadvisable, impolitic, unreasonable. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) sensible, prudent, thoughtful, sagacious, judicious, advisable.

Well, then, I hope to make the discovery in this way: I mean to begin with the **assumption** that our State, if rightly **ordered**, is perfect.

That is most certain.

And being perfect, is therefore wise and valiant and temperate and just.

That is likewise clear.

And **whichever** of these qualities we find in the State, the one which is not found will be the **residue**?

Very good.

If there were four things, and we were **searching** for one of them, **wherever** it might be, the one sought for might be known to us from the first, and there would be no further trouble; or we might know the other three first, and then the fourth would clearly be the one left.

Very true, he said.

And is not a similar method to be pursued about the virtues, which are also four in number?

Clearly.

First among the virtues found in the State, wisdom comes into view, and in this I **detect** a certain peculiarity.

What is that?

The State which we have been describing is said to be wise as being good in counsel?

Very true.

And good counsel is clearly a kind of knowledge, for not by ignorance, but by knowledge, do men counsel well?

Clearly.

And the kinds of knowledge in a State are many and diverse?

Of course.

#### **Thesaurus**

**assumption**: (adj, n) presumption; (n) supposition, premise, hypothesis, adoption, arrogance, theory, guess, belief, surmise, idea. ANTONYMS: (n) rejection, practice. **detect**: (v) find, discover, discern,

**detect**: (v) find, discover, discern, notice, observe, spot, see, ascertain, trace, identify, distinguish. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, ignore, overlook.

**diverse**: (*adj*) assorted, dissimilar, various, several, mixed, distinct,

disparate, variant, divergent; (adj, v) divers, sundry. ANTONYMS: (adj) homogeneous, similar, same, alike, conforming, uniform, equivalent, identical, limited, like, parallel. ordered: (adj) regular, arranged, methodical, trim, orderly, lawful, logical, consistent, coherent, commanded, organized.

ANTONYMS: (adj) disordered, disarranged, inconsistent. residue: (adj, n) remainder, remains,

residual; (n) balance, rest, leftover, end, remnants, residuum, surplus; (v) remain.

**searching**: (*adj*) piercing, inquisitive, probing, acute, exhaustive, curious, inquiring, profound, exploratory; (*adj*, *v*) cutting; (*v*) excruciating. **wherever**: (*adv*) anywhere,

wheresoever, everywhere, where'er; (n) anyplace.

whichever: (adv) any; (adj) a few, one, several, some.

There is the knowledge of the carpenter; but is that the sort of knowledge which gives a city the title of wise and good in counsel?

Certainly not; that would only give a city the reputation of skill in carpentering.

Then a city is not to be called wise because possessing a knowledge which counsels for the best about wooden implements?

Certainly not.

Nor by reason of a knowledge which advises about brazen pots, I said, nor as possessing any other similar knowledge?

Not by reason of any of them, he said.

Nor yet by reason of a knowledge which cultivates the earth; that would give the city the name of agricultural?

Yes.

Well, I said, and is there any knowledge in our recently-founded State among any of the citizens which advises, not about any particular thing in the State, but about the whole, and considers how a State can best deal with itself and with other States?

There certainly is.

And what is this knowledge, and among whom is it found? I asked.

It is the knowledge of the guardians, he replied, and is found among those whom we were just now describing as perfect guardians.

And what is the name which the city derives from the **possession** of this sort of knowledge?

The name of good in counsel and truly wise.

And will there be in our city more of these true guardians or more smiths?

The smiths, he replied, will be far more **numerous**.

Will not the guardians be the **smallest** of all the classes who receive a name from the **profession** of some kind of knowledge?

#### **Thesaurus**

agricultural: (adj) agriculture, agrarian, farming, Agricultural Holdings Acts, agriculturally, agronomic, agrestic, unindustrialized, undeveloped, rustic.

earth: (n) world, dust, ground, land, lair, dry land, terra firma, clay, creation, ball, country. numerous: (adj) many, frequent, abundant, multiple, multitudinous, copious, plentiful, innumerable,

(adj) rare, occasional, scarce. possession: (n) occupation, ownership, keeping, goods, substance, tenure, property, grasp, estate, domain; (n, v) acquisition. ANTONYMS: (n) vacancy, sale. profession: (n) employment, declaration, occupation, affirmation, calling, career, vocation, job, position, assertion, assurance. ANTONYM: (n) denial.

populous, great, much. ANTONYMS: skill: (n) artifice, capacity, capability, knack, ability, faculty, finesse, cleverness, expertise; (adj, n) craft, cunning. ANTONYMS: (n) clumsiness, incompetence, uselessness, stupidity, ineptness, tactlessness, inexperience, ignorance, inaccuracy, delay, drawback. smallest: (adj) least, minimal, littlest, lowest, last, first, negligible, smallest number of, bottom, littler. ANTONYM: (adj) maximum.

Much the smallest.

And so by reason of the smallest part or class, and of the knowledge which resides in this presiding and **ruling** part of itself, the whole State, being thus constituted according to nature, will be wise; and this, which has the only knowledge **worthy** to be called wisdom, has been ordained by nature to be of all classes the least.

Most true.

Thus, then, I said, the nature and place in the State of one of the four virtues has somehow or other been discovered.

And, in my **humble** opinion, very satisfactorily discovered, he replied.

Again, I said, there is no difficulty in seeing the nature of **courage**, and in what part that quality resides which gives the name of courageous to the State.

How do you mean?

Why, I said, every one who **calls** any State courageous or cowardly, will be thinking of the part which fights and goes out to war on the State's behalf.

No one, he replied, would ever think of any other.

The rest of the citizens may be courageous or may be cowardly, but their courage or cowardice will not, as I conceive, have the effect of making the city either the one or the other.

Certainly not.

The city will be courageous in virtue of a portion of herself which preserves under all circumstances that opinion about the nature of things to be feared and not to be feared in which our legislator educated them; and this is what you term courage.

I should like to hear what you are saying once more, for I do not think that I perfectly understand you.

I mean that courage is a kind of salvation.

Salvation of what?

#### **Thesaurus**

calls: (n) securities, puts, bonds, preferred stock, common stock. courage: (n) audacity, fortitude, boldness, nerve, spirit, backbone, valor, heroism, gallantry, mettle, chivalry. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, faintheartedness, weakness, wimpiness, yellowness. humble: (v) demean, humiliate, mortify; (n, v) disgrace, debase; (adj, n, v) abase; (adj) base, lowly, unassuming, docile, low.

ANTONYMS: (adj) impressive, arrogant, haughty, imposing, conceited, pompous, snooty, overbearing, presumptuous, proud, exalted.

ruling: (n) rule, decree, edict, decision, act, directive, pronouncement, law; (adj) leading, reigning, regnant. ANTONYMS: (adj) subsidiary, minor; (n) request.

**salvation**: (*n*) redemption, rescue, delivery, preservation, savior,

deliverance, liberation, expiation, propitiation; (adj, n) justification; (adj) conversion. ANTONYMS: (n) damnation, destruction.

worthy: (adj) noble, good, meritorious, valuable, estimable, respectable, deserving, worthwhile, virtuous, honorable; (adj, n) celebrity.

ANTONYMS: (adj) bad, unrespected, disreputable, mediocre, petty, poor, unimpressive, insignificant, dishonorable, despicable; (n) nobody.

Of the opinion respecting things to be feared, what they are and of what nature, which the law implants through education; and I mean by the words 'under all circumstances' to intimate that in pleasure or in pain, or under the influence of desire or fear, a man preserves, and does not lose this opinion. Shall I give you an illustration?

If you please.

You know, I said, that dyers, when they want to dye wool for making the true sea-purple, begin by selecting their white colour first; this they prepare and dress with much care and pains, in order that the white ground may take the purple hue in full perfection. The **dyeing** then proceeds; and whatever is dyed in this manner becomes a fast colour, and no washing either with lyes or without them can take away the bloom. But, when the ground has not been duly prepared, you will have noticed how poor is the look either of purple or of any other colour.

Yes, he said; I know that they have a **washed**-out and ridiculous appearance.

Then now, I said, you will understand what our object was in selecting our soldiers, and educating them in music and gymnastic; we were contriving influences which would prepare them to take the dye of the laws in perfection, and the colour of their opinion about dangers and of every other opinion was to be indelibly fixed by their nurture and training, not to be washed away by such potent lyes as pleasure – mightier agent far in washing the soul than any soda or lye; or by sorrow, fear, and desire, the mightiest of all other solvents. And this sort of universal saving power of true opinion in **conformity** with law about real and false dangers I call and maintain to be courage, unless you disagree.

But I agree, he replied; for I suppose that you mean to exclude mere uninstructed courage, such as that of a wild beast or of a slave—this, in your opinion, is not the courage which the law ordains, and ought to have another name.

Most certainly.

Then I may infer courage to be such as you describe?

#### conformity: (n) agreement, compliance, concord, conformance, accordance, coincidence, concordance, observance, conformation, conformism, keeping. ANTONYMS: (n) nonconformity, disagreement, incongruity, uniqueness, rebellion, nonconformance, looseness, difference, noncompliance, infidelity, soda: (n) soda pop, soda water, divergence. contriving: (adj) designing, deep,

# Thesaurus

calculating, shifty. **dyeing**: (n, v) pigmenting; (n) staining, blacking. educating: (adj) taming, humanizing, calming.

lyes: (n) lee, alkalis. selecting: (n) picking, option; (v) choose; (adj) selective, electoral, elective, eclectic.

sodium carbonate, sal soda, Leblanc process, sodium oxide, carbonated

water, sodium bicarbonate, seltzer, cold drink, restorative. uninstructed: (adj) uninformed, ignorant, uneducated, unenlightened, untaught, illiterate, uncultivated, untutored, unlettered, unlearned, unschooled.

washed: (adj) wash, cleaner, colored, refined, wet, watery.

washed-out: (adj) exhausted, wan, drained, done in, depleted, pale; (n) Why, yes, said I, you may, and if you add the words 'of a citizen,' you will not be far wrong; — hereafter, if you like, we will carry the examination further, but at present we are seeking not for courage but justice; and for the purpose of our enquiry we have said enough.

You are right, he replied.

Two virtues remain to be discovered in the State – first, temperance, and then justice which is the end of our search.

Very true.

Now, can we find justice without troubling ourselves about temperance?

I do not know how that can be accomplished, he said, nor do I desire that justice should be brought to light and temperance lost sight of; and therefore I wish that you would do me the favour of considering temperance first.

Certainly, I replied, I should not be **justified** in refusing your request.

Then consider, he said.

Yes, I replied; I will; and as far as I can at present see, the virtue of temperance has more of the nature of harmony and **symphony** than the preceding.

How so? he asked.

Temperance, I replied, is the ordering or **controlling** of certain pleasures and desires; this is **curiously** enough implied in the saying of 'a man being his own master;' and other traces of the same notion may be found in language.

No doubt, he said.

There is something ridiculous in the expression 'master of himself;' for the master is also the servant and the servant the master; and in all these modes of speaking the same person is denoted.

Certainly.

The meaning is, I believe, that in the human soul there is a better and also a worse principle; and when the better has the worse under control, then a man is said to be master of himself; and this is a term of **praise**: but when, owing to evil

## **Thesaurus**

controlling: (adj) ruling, chief, dominant, influential, capital, predominant, prevailing, domineering, guiding; (n) administration, steering. ANTONYMS: (adj) lenient, insignificant. curiously: (adv) inquisitively, peculiarly, unusually, strangely, nosily, pryingly, queerly, funnily, weirdly; (adj, adv) singularly, particularly. ANTONYMS: (adv)

ordinarily, typically. **justified**: (*adj*) correct, right, proper, elected, adopted, due, righteous, sanctified, unearthly, regenerated, even. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) unfounded, unjustified, unreasonable, wrong, unworthy.

praise: (v) approve, extol, flatter, celebrate, glorify; (n, v) commend, compliment, honor, glory, acclaim; (n) applause. ANTONYMS: (n) criticism, disparagement; (v) reprimand, disparage, reproach, scold, belittle, rebuke, chastise, denigrate, sully.

**symphony**: (*n*) concord, accord, sinfonie, cavatina, fantasia, overture, exordium, pastorale, concerto, roulade, symphonic music.

**troubling**: (adj) worrying, disquieting, distressing, distressful, disconcerting, alarming, perturbing, bad, annoying, sad, worrisome. ANTONYM: (adj) reassuring.

education or association, the better principle, which is also the smaller, is **overwhelmed** by the greater mass of the worse—in this case he is blamed and is called the **slave** of self and unprincipled.

Yes, there is reason in that.

And now, I said, look at our newly-created State, and there you will find one of these two conditions realized; for the State, as you will acknowledge, may be justly called master of itself, if the words 'temperance' and 'self-mastery' truly express the rule of the better part over the worse.

Yes, he said, I see that what you say is true.

Let me further note that the manifold and complex pleasures and desires and pains are generally found in children and women and servants, and in the freemen so called who are of the lowest and more numerous class.

Certainly, he said.

Whereas the simple and moderate desires which follow reason, and are under the guidance of mind and true opinion, are to be found only in a few, and those the best born and best educated.

Very true.

These two, as you may perceive, have a place in our State; and the meaner desires of the many are held down by the virtuous desires and wisdom of the few.

That I perceive, he said.

Then if there be any city which may be described as master of its own pleasures and desires, and master of itself, ours may claim such a **designation**?

Certainly, he replied.

It may also be called temperate, and for the same reasons?

And if there be any State in which rulers and subjects will be agreed as to the question who are to rule, that again will be our State?

#### **Thesaurus**

name, appellation, assignment, cognomen, description, appellative, identification, nomination, classification. guidance: (n, v) direction, government, control, management, administration, charge; (n) advice, counsel, lead, instruction, regulation. lowest: (adj) least, bottom, smallest, last, minimal, nethermost, under, lowermost, undermost, poorest; (adj,

designation: (n) appointment, title,

moderate: (adj, v) temperate, calm; (adj) abstemious, mild, middling; (v) mitigate, lessen, allay, diminish, curb; slave: (n) servant, bondman, thrall, (adv, v) check. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, intensify; (adj) immoderate, radical, unrestrained, speculative, strong, unreasonable, great, intemperate, massive. overwhelmed: (adj) beaten, overpowered, vanguished, dumbfounded, inundated, flooded,

overthrown, engulfed, conquered, bewildered; (v) overborne. ANTONYM: (adj) unimpressed. bondsman, bondwoman, captive, vassal; (n, v) labor; (v) drudge, work; (adj, n) inferior. ANTONYMS: (adj) free; (v) slack.

smaller: (adj) littler, inferior, lesser, less, little, shorter, lower, littlest, subordinate.

Undoubtedly.

And the citizens being thus agreed among themselves, in which class will temperance be found—in the rulers or in the subjects?

In both, as I should imagine, he replied.

Do you **observe** that we were not far wrong in our **guess** that temperance was a sort of harmony?

Why so?

Why, because temperance is unlike courage and wisdom, each of which resides in a part only, the one making the State wise and the other valiant; not so temperance, which extends to the whole, and runs through all the notes of the scale, and produces a harmony of the weaker and the stronger and the middle class, whether you suppose them to be stronger or weaker in wisdom or power or numbers or wealth, or anything else. Most truly then may we deem temperance to be the agreement of the naturally superior and inferior, as to the right to rule of either, both in states and individuals.

I entirely agree with you.

And so, I said, we may consider three out of the four virtues to have been discovered in our State. The last of those qualities which make a state virtuous must be justice, if we only knew what that was.

The inference is obvious.

The time then has arrived, Glaucon, when, like huntsmen, we should surround the cover, and look **sharp** that justice does not steal away, and pass out of sight and escape us; for beyond a doubt she is somewhere in this country: watch therefore and strive to catch a sight of her, and if you see her first, let me know.

Would that I could! but you should regard me rather as a follower who has just eyes enough to see what you show him—that is about as much as I am good

Offer up a **prayer** with me and follow.

#### Thesaurus

guess: (n, v) surmise, estimate, forecast; (v) suppose, deem, reckon, divine, believe, foretell; (n) assumption, supposition. **observe**: (n, v) comment, notice, note; (v) commemorate, mind, guard, mention, mark, see, discover; (int, v) look. ANTONYMS: (v) feel, disregard, break, overlook, disobey, disrespect, Miss, violate. prayer: (n) invocation, plea, entreaty, appeal, orison, request, suit, litany,

devotion, supplication, asking. regard: (n, v) respect, esteem, attention, heed, concern, note; (adj, n, v) notice; (v) estimate, believe; (adj, v) attend; (n) deference. ANTONYMS: (n) neglect, disesteem, inattentiveness, disdain, detachment, infamy; (v) ignore, scorn, disregard. runs: (n) Aztec two-step, sickness, Montezuma's revenge. **sharp**: (adj, n, v) keen, acute, bitter;

(adj) intelligent, intense, incisive; (adj,

v) biting, acid, acrid, severe, harsh. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, mild, gentle, sweet, rounded, bland, round, smooth, blurred, naive, kind. wealth: (adj, n) abundance, plenty, affluence, opulence; (n, v) money, gold; (n) treasure, property, fortune, capital; (adj) richness. ANTONYMS: (n) penury, scarcity, dearth, want, need, lack.

I will, but you must show me the way.

Here is no path, I said, and the wood is dark and **perplexing**; still we must **push** on.

Let us push on.

Here I saw something: Halloo! I said, I begin to perceive a track, and I believe that the **quarry** will not escape.

Good news, he said.

Truly, I said, we are **stupid** fellows.

Why so?

Why, my good sir, at the beginning of our enquiry, **ages** ago, there was justice tumbling out at our **feet**, and we never saw her; nothing could be more ridiculous. Like people who go about looking for what they have in their hands—that was the way with us—we looked not at what we were seeking, but at what was far off in the distance; and therefore, I suppose, we missed her.

What do you mean?

I mean to say that in reality for a long time past we have been talking of justice, and have failed to **recognise** her.

I grow impatient at the length of your exordium.

Well then, tell me, I said, whether I am right or not: You remember the original principle which we were always laying down at the foundation of the State, that one man should practise one thing only, the thing to which his nature was best adapted; — now justice is this principle or a part of it.

Yes, we often said that one man should do one thing only.

Further, we affirmed that justice was doing one's own business, and not being a busybody; we said so again and again, and many others have said the same to us.

Yes, we said so.

#### **Thesaurus**

ages: (n) time out of mind, time immemorial, coon's age, blue moon, month of Sundays.

exordium: (n) overture, prelude, outset, preface, opening, symphony, foreword, prologue, proem, beginning, preliminary.

feet: (v) legs, pegs, pins, trotters; (n) foots, ft, fete, meter, rescue.

perplexing: (adj) enigmatic, puzzling, embarrassing, intricate, complex, baffling, complicated, bewildering,

knotty, troublesome; (adj, n) difficult.
ANTONYMS: (adj) simple,
enlightening, soothing,
understandable, explicable.

push: (n, v) press, thrust, impel, jolt,
force, jab, nudge, crowd, prod, poke;
(v) jostle. ANTONYMS: (v) drag,
haul, unpack, inhibit, leave, oppose,
prevent, restrain, understate, calm;
(n) apathy.
quarry: (n) prey, game, pit, target,
stone pit, victim, fair game, lode,

butt; (*n*, *v*) dig; (*v*) excavate. **recognise**: (*v*) identify, know,
acknowledge, approve, accept,
concede, appreciate, confess,
recognize, make out, discern. **stupid**: (*adj*, *n*) foolish, silly, simple,
absurd; (*adj*, *adv*, *n*) dull; (*adj*) idiotic,
ridiculous, senseless, fatuous, crass,
insane. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) wise,
clever, bright, intelligent, shrewd,
prudent, responsible, smart, great,
sensitive, useful.

Then to do one's own business in a certain way may be assumed to be justice. Can you tell me whence I derive this inference?

I cannot, but I should like to be told.

Because I think that this is the only **virtue** which **remains** in the State when the other virtues of temperance and courage and wisdom are **abstracted**; and, that this is the ultimate cause and condition of the existence of all of them, and while remaining in them is also their **preservative**; and we were saying that if the three were discovered by us, justice would be the fourth or remaining one.

That follows of necessity.

If we are asked to determine which of these four qualities by its presence contributes most to the excellence of the State, whether the agreement of rulers and subjects, or the **preservation** in the soldiers of the opinion which the law ordains about the true nature of dangers, or wisdom and watchfulness in the rulers, or whether this other which I am mentioning, and which is found in children and women, slave and freeman, artisan, ruler, subject,—the quality, I mean, of every one doing his own work, and not being a busybody, would claim the palm—the question is not so easily answered.

Certainly, he replied, there would be a difficulty in saying which.

Then the power of each individual in the State to do his own work appears to **compete** with the other political virtues, wisdom, temperance, courage.

Yes, he said.

And the virtue which enters into this competition is justice?

Exactly.

Let us look at the question from another point of view: Are not the rulers in a State those to whom you would **entrust** the office of determining suits at law?

Certainly.

And are suits decided on any other ground but that a man may neither take what is another's, nor be deprived of what is his own?

Yes; that is their principle.

#### **Thesaurus**

abstracted: (adj) absentminded, separate, absent-minded, abstract, distrait, inattentive, pensive, preoccupied, remote, lost, vacant. ANTONYM: (adj) alert. compete: (v) rival, race, emulate, participate, oppose, vie, struggle, match, equal, contend, competing. ANTONYM: (v) cooperate. entrust: (v) deposit, depute, commission, commend, delegate, surrender, trust, assign, hand over,

commit, confide. ANTONYM: (v) retain. **preservation**: (n) maintenance,

preservation: (n) maintenance, keeping, protection, retention, custody, storage, upkeep, care, embalmment, saving, conservancy. ANTONYMS: (n) release, extinction, abandonment, change, end, neglect. preservative: (adj) protective, conservative, defensive, conservational; (n) preserver, preserving agent, antiseptic, chemical

compound, brine; (adj, n) additive.

remains: (n) debris, corpse, relic,
carcass, body, rest, clay, vestige; (adj,
n) remainder, remnant; (n, v) trace.
virtue: (adj, n) merit, excellence,
quality, attribute; (n) honor,
goodness, honesty, morality,
decency, probity, efficacy.
ANTONYMS: (n) wickedness, guilt,
vice, peccadillo, sin, dishonor,
immorality, evil, demerit,
inadequacy, disadvantage.

Which is a just principle?

Yes.

Then on this view also justice will be admitted to be the having and doing what is a man's own, and belongs to him?

Very true.

Think, now, and say whether you agree with me or not. Suppose a carpenter to be doing the business of a cobbler, or a cobbler of a carpenter; and suppose them to exchange their implements or their **duties**, or the same person to be doing the work of both, or whatever be the change; do you think that any great harm would result to the State?

Not much.

But when the cobbler or any other man whom nature designed to be a trader, having his heart **lifted** up by wealth or strength or the number of his followers, or any like advantage, attempts to force his way into the class of warriors, or a warrior into that of legislators and guardians, for which he is **unfitted**, and either to take the implements or the duties of the other; or when one man is trader, legislator, and warrior all in one, then I think you will agree with me in saying that this **interchange** and this **meddling** of one with another is the ruin of the State.

Most true.

Seeing then, I said, that there are three **distinct** classes, any meddling of one with another, or the change of one into another, is the greatest harm to the State, and may be most justly termed evil-doing?

## Precisely.

And the greatest degree of evil-doing to one's own city would be termed by you injustice?

Certainly.

#### **Thesaurus**

distinct: (adj) different, discrete, articulate, distinctive, palpable, definite, apparent, dissimilar, tangible; (adj, prep) separate; (adj, v) marked. ANTONYMS: (adj) indistinct, similar, unclear, vague, shapeless, inaudible, connected, general, resembling, associated, amorphous.

duties: (n) service, occupation, place, work, vocation, charge, diversion, activities, avocation, registration fee.

interchange: (*n*, *v*) change, barter; (*v*) commute, switch, alternate, substitute, convert, replace, counterchange, transpose; (*n*) traffic. lifted: (*adj*) raised, elevated, lift, lofty, upraised, steep.

**meddling**: (*adj*) busy, inquisitive, curious, meddlesome, intrusive, officious, nosy, dabbling, impertinent, busybodied; (*adj*, *n*) prying.

precisely: (adv) accurately, correctly,

strictly, truly, specifically, meticulously, minutely, literally, scrupulously, rigorously; (adj, adv) just. ANTONYMS: (adv) clumsily, indistinctly, approximately, inaccurately, imprecisely, wrongly, randomly, carelessly, poorly, wrong, haphazardly.

unfitted: (adj) wrong, bare, unequipped, unable, repugnant, insufficient, incompetent, empty, unqualified, without any furniture. This then is injustice; and on the other hand when the trader, the **auxiliary**, and the guardian each do their own business, that is justice, and will make the city just.

I agree with you.

We will not, I said, be over-positive as yet; but if, on trial, this conception of justice be verified in the individual as well as in the State, there will be no longer any room for doubt; if it be not verified, we must have a fresh enquiry. First let us complete the old investigation, which we began, as you remember, under the impression that, if we could previously examine justice on the larger scale, there would be less difficulty in discerning her in the individual. That larger example appeared to be the State, and **accordingly** we constructed as good a one as we could, knowing well that in the good State justice would be found. Let the discovery which we made be now applied to the individual—if they agree, we shall be **satisfied**; or, if there be a difference in the individual, we will come back to the State and have another trial of the theory. The **friction** of the two when **rubbed** together may possibly strike a light in which justice will **shine forth**, and the vision which is then revealed we will fix in our souls.

That will be in regular course; let us do as you say.

I proceeded to ask: When two things, a greater and less, are called by the same name, are they like or unlike in so far as they are called the same?

Like, he replied.

The just man then, if we regard the idea of justice only, will be like the just State?

He will.

And a State was thought by us to be just when the three classes in the State severally did their own business; and also thought to be temperate and valiant and wise by reason of certain other affections and qualities of these same classes?

True, he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

accordingly: (adv) therefore, thus, so, then, ergo, as a result, correspondingly, according, appropriately, as a consequence, properly. ANTONYM: (adv) unsuitable.

auxiliary: (adj, n) assistant, accessory, adjunct, subsidiary; (adj) ancillary, additional, extra, secondary, supplementary; (n) adjutant, aide. ANTONYMS: (n) chief, principal; (adj) primary.

**forth**: (*adv*) away, along, onward, ahead, before, on, off, on the high road, on the road, on the way, under way.

**friction**: (*n*) discord, attrition, rub, dispute, abrasion, disagreement, conflict, dissension, rubbing, clash; (*n*, *v*) resistance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) smoothness, agreement, concord, ease.

**rubbed**: (*adj*) polished, refined, terse, attrite, marked, accomplished,

retten.

satisfied: (adj) happy, content, full, pleased, confident, complacent, persuaded, fulfilled; (adj, v) certain, sure; (v) convinced. ANTONYMS: (adj) frustrated, anxious, disgruntled, hungry, insistent, pensive, unsure, dissatisfied, ashamed.

**shine**: (*n*, *v*) light, sheen, flash, glitter, sparkle, polish, rub; (*v*) burnish, gleam, blaze; (*n*) radiance.

And so of the individual; we may assume that he has the same three principles in his own soul which are found in the State; and he may be rightly described in the same terms, because he is affected in the same manner?

Certainly, he said.

Once more then, O my friend, we have alighted upon an easy questionwhether the soul has these three principles or not?

An easy question! Nay, rather, Socrates, the proverb holds that hard is the good.

Very true, I said; and I do not think that the method which we are employing is at all adequate to the accurate solution of this question; the true method is another and a longer one. Still we may arrive at a solution not below the level of the previous enquiry.

May we not be satisfied with that? he said; - under the circumstances, I am quite content.

I too, I replied, shall be extremely well satisfied.

Then **faint** not in pursuing the speculation, he said.

Must we not acknowledge, I said, that in each of us there are the same principles and habits which there are in the State; and that from the individual they pass into the State? - how else can they come there? Take the quality of passion or spirit; - it would be ridiculous to imagine that this quality, when found in States, is not derived from the individuals who are supposed to possess it, e.g. the Thracians, Scythians, and in general the northern nations; and the same may be said of the love of knowledge, which is the special characteristic of our part of the world, or of the love of money, which may, with equal truth, be attributed to the Phoenicians and Egyptians.

Exactly so, he said.

There is no difficulty in understanding this.

None whatever.

# Thesaurus

accurate: (adj) exact, faithful, correct, truthful, nice, meticulous, literal, authentic, detailed, right; (adj, n) true. ANTONYMS: (adj) wrong, false, vague, imprecise, unrealistic, questionable, fictional, mistaken, misleading, incorrect, flawed. adequate: (adj) right, enough, acceptable, condign, satisfactory, passable, agreeable, full, competent, abundant; (adj, n) effectual. ANTONYMS: (adj) insufficient,

unsatisfactory, intolerable, unfit, exceptional, faulty, deficient, useless, poor, unacceptable, unsuitable. **arrive**: (n, v) come, appear; (v) mature, reach, attain, succeed, turn up, land, fall, get in, show. ANTONYMS: (v) go, depart, fail, fall, lose, exit. characteristic: (adj, v) typical, representative; (adj) individual, distinctive, original, specific; (n) sign, none: (n) nought, naught, nobody, attribute, character, point; (adj, n) peculiar. ANTONYMS: (adj)

common, unusual, untypical, rare, abnormal, typical, atypical. faint: (adj, n, v) swoon; (adj) dim, feeble, dizzy, indistinct, vague, soft, dull; (adj, v) weak; (v) languish, pass out. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinct, clear, obvious, loud, considerable, pungent, invigorated, hearty, energetic, defined; (v) revive. zilch, anything; (adv) not, neither, any; (adj) whatsoever, no, whatever.

But the question is not quite so easy when we proceed to ask whether these principles are three or one; whether, that is to say, we learn with one part of our nature, are angry with another, and with a third part desire the satisfaction of our natural appetites; or whether the whole soul comes into play in each sort of action—to determine that is the difficulty.

Yes, he said; there lies the difficulty.

Then let us now try and determine whether they are the same or different.

How can we? he asked.

I replied as follows: The same thing clearly cannot act or be acted upon in the same part or in **relation** to the same thing at the same time, in contrary ways; and therefore whenever this **contradiction** occurs in things apparently the same, we know that they are really not the same, but different.

Good.

For example, I said, can the same thing be at rest and in motion at the same time in the same part?

Impossible.

Still, I said, let us have a more precise statement of terms, lest we should hereafter fall out by the way. Imagine the case of a man who is standing and also moving his hands and his head, and suppose a person to say that one and the same person is in motion and at rest at the same moment—to such a mode of speech we should object, and should rather say that one part of him is in motion while another is at rest.

Very true.

And suppose the **objector** to **refine** still further, and to draw the nice distinction that not only parts of **tops**, but whole tops, when they **spin** round with their **pegs** fixed on the **spot**, are at rest and in motion at the same time (and he may say the same of anything which revolves in the same spot), his **objection** would not be admitted by us, because in such cases things are not at rest and in motion in the same parts of themselves; we should rather say that they have both

## **Thesaurus**

objector: (n) dissenter, contestant,

contradiction: (n) antithesis, denial, repugnance, clash, disproof, contrast, opposite, disagreement, paradox, inconsistency, reverse. ANTONYMS: (n) correspondence, confirmation, consistency, reinforcement, concord. objection: (n) dissent, complaint, grievance, exception, gripe, disagreement, outcry, difficulty, expostulation, disapproval, criticism. ANTONYMS: (n) approval, agreement, praise, acceptance.

dissident, nonconformist, opponent, person, somebody, someone, soul, militant, whiner.

pegs: (v) legs, feet, trotters, pins.

refine: (v) cultivate, clear, polish, purify, civilize, elaborate, improve, smelt, chasten; (adj, v) clarify; (adj) purge. ANTONYMS: (v) spoil, cloud, dilute, contaminate, brutalize.

relation: (n) narration, recital, association, affinity, description,

report, regard.

spin: (*n*, *v*) whirl, twist, twirl, run, drive, roll; (*v*) revolve, reel; (*n*) revolution, ride, turning.

spot: (*n*, *v*) place, speck, blemish, speckle, fleck, dirty, dapple; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) stain, soil; (*n*) dot, space.

tops: (*n*) apex, pinnacle, pick; (*adj*) champion, elite, fabulous, leading, outstanding, uppermost, superb,

superlative.

rehearsal, kin, relative; (n, v) account,

an **axis** and a **circumference**, and that the axis stands still, for there is no deviation from the **perpendicular**; and that the circumference goes round. But if, while revolving, the axis **inclines** either to the right or left, **forwards** or backwards, then in no point of view can they be at rest.

That is the correct mode of describing them, he replied.

Then none of these objections will confuse us, or incline us to believe that the same thing at the same time, in the same part or in relation to the same thing, can act or be acted upon in contrary ways.

Certainly not, according to my way of thinking.

Yet, I said, that we may not be compelled to examine all such objections, and prove at length that they are untrue, let us assume their absurdity, and go forward on the understanding that hereafter, if this assumption turn out to be untrue, all the consequences which follow shall be withdrawn.

Yes, he said, that will be the best way.

Well, I said, would you not allow that assent and dissent, desire and **aversion**, attraction and **repulsion**, are all of them opposites, whether they are regarded as active or passive (for that makes no difference in the fact of their opposition)?

Yes, he said, they are opposites.

Well, I said, and hunger and thirst, and the desires in general, and again willing and wishing,—all these you would refer to the classes already mentioned. You would say—would you not?—that the soul of him who desires is seeking after the object of his desire; or that he is drawing to himself the thing which he wishes to possess: or again, when a person wants anything to be given him, his mind, longing for the realization of his desire, intimates his wish to have it by a nod of assent, as if he had been asked a question?

Very true.

### **Thesaurus**

aversion: (*n*) antipathy, distaste, abhorrence, disinclination, dislike, grudge, aversation, nausea, enmity, revulsion; (*n*, *v*) disgust.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) attraction, love, inclination, predilection, desire, fondness, goodwill.

axis: (*n*) pivot, hinge, spindle, stem, hub, center, turning point, axis of rotation, pin, Descending axis, Radical axis of two circles.

circumference: (*n*) circuit, border,

perimeter, boundary, periphery, outline, brim, compass, circle, edge, rim. ANTONYMS: (*n*) middle, inside, interior, center.

**forwards**: (*adv*) ahead, forth, onwards, onward, before, fore, forrader, forrad, forrard, on, in advance.

ANTONYMS: (*adv*) back, behind. **incline**: (*v*) cant, dispose, bend; (*n*, *v*) slope, bias, dip, tilt; (*n*) ascent, gradient, grade, inclination.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) indispose, level; (*n*)

hollow, descent.

**perpendicular**: (*adj*) upright, vertical, steep, plumb, straight, right, sheer, orthogonal, normal, precipitous, true. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) horizontal, parallel, inclined, oblique, prone, gentle.

**repulsion**: (*n*) repugnance, repellency, hatred, antipathy, aversion, horror, disgust, repulse, distaste, hate, rebuff. ANTONYMS: (*n*) charm, love, magnetism, appeal, liking, delight.

And what would you say of unwillingness and **dislike** and the absence of desire; should not these be referred to the opposite class of repulsion and **rejection**?

Certainly.

Admitting this to be true of desire generally, let us suppose a particular class of desires, and out of these we will select hunger and thirst, as they are termed, which are the most obvious of them?

Let us take that class, he said.

The object of one is food, and of the other drink?

Yes.

And here comes the point: is not thirst the desire which the soul has of drink, and of drink only; not of drink qualified by anything else; for example, warm or cold, or much or little, or, in a word, drink of any particular sort: but if the thirst be accompanied by heat, then the desire is of cold drink; or, if accompanied by cold, then of warm drink; or, if the thirst be **excessive**, then the drink which is desired will be excessive; or, if not great, the quantity of drink will also be small: but thirst pure and simple will desire drink pure and simple, which is the natural satisfaction of thirst, as food is of hunger?

Yes, he said; the simple desire is, as you say, in every case of the simple object, and the qualified desire of the qualified object.

But here a confusion may arise; and I should wish to guard against an **opponent** starting up and saying that no man desires drink only, but good drink, or food only, but good food; for good is the universal object of desire, and thirst being a desire, will necessarily be thirst after good drink; and the same is true of every other desire.

Yes, he replied, the opponent might have something to say.

Nevertheless I should still maintain, that of relatives some have a quality **attached** to either term of the relation; others are simple and have their correlatives simple.

#### **Thesaurus**

attached: (adj) affectionate, committed, affiliated, associated, devoted, fond, loving, loyal, near, added; (n) attachment. ANTONYMS: (adj) separate, unmarried, unattached, vagile, free, distant.

dislike: (n) disapproval, disaffection, antipathy, disdain, disfavor, revulsion; (n, v) hate, disinclination, aversion, distaste; (v) detest. ANTONYMS: (n) liking, fondness, taste, attraction, enjoyment,

preference, longing; (v) like, enjoy, approve, adore. excessive: (adj) exaggerated, intense, superfluous, undue, exorbitant, unreasonable, immoderate, enormous, profuse, extravagant, extreme. ANTONYMS: (adj) moderate, affordable, deficient, underdone, insignificant, insufficient, thrifty, skimpy, meager, basic, small. opponent: (n) antagonist, competitor, adversary, foe, contrary, foeman,

opposition, contestant, match, opposite, rival. ANTONYMS: (n) ally, supporter, follower, partner, friend, colleague, believer, fan.

rejection: (n) dismissal, repulse, denial, refusal, rebuff, abandonment, renunciation, exception, disavowal, negation, repudiation. ANTONYMS: (n) approval, recognition, amalgamation, belief, receipt, welcome, permission, agreement.

I do not know what you mean.

Well, you know of course that the greater is relative to the less?

Certainly.

And the much greater to the much less?

Yes.

And the **sometime** greater to the sometime less, and the greater that is to be to the less that is to be?

Certainly, he said.

And so of more and less, and of other **correlative** terms, such as the double and the half, or again, the heavier and the lighter, the swifter and the slower; and of hot and cold, and of any other **relatives**;—is not this true of all of them?

Yes.

And does not the same principle hold in the sciences? The object of science is knowledge (assuming that to be the true definition), but the object of a particular science is a particular kind of knowledge; I mean, for example, that the science of house-building is a kind of knowledge which is defined and **distinguished** from other kinds and is therefore termed architecture.

Certainly.

Because it has a particular quality which no other has?

Yes.

And it has this particular quality because it has an object of a particular kind; and this is true of the other arts and sciences?

Yes

Now, then, if I have made myself clear, you will understand my original meaning in what I said about relatives. My meaning was, that if one term of a relation is taken alone, the other is taken alone; if one term is **qualified**, the other is also qualified. I do not mean to say that relatives may not be **disparate**, or that the science of health is healthy, or of disease necessarily diseased, or that the

#### **Thesaurus**

**correlative**: (adj, n) correlate; (adj) correlated, reciprocal, interrelated, commutual, mutual, complementary, related, similar, comparative, coordinate.

disparate: (adj) unlike, dissimilar, unequal, heterogeneous, divergent, uneven, distinct, varied, diverse, various; (adj, v) separate.

ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, equal, same, equivalent, concurrent, comparable, analogous, alike, like.

distinguished: (adj) dignified, celebrated, illustrious, renowned, conspicuous, important, reputable, great, noble, high, well-known. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, insignificant, undignified, Standard, pedestrian, low, common, coarse, base, undistinguished, modest. qualified: (adj) competent, capable, eligible, efficient, proficient, fit, conditional, able, clever, expert, certified. ANTONYMS: (adj)

unofficial, total, definite, unreserved, immature, amateur, inept, inexperienced, unrestricted, absolute, ineligible.

relatives: (n) relations, kindred, kin, kinsfolk, kinfolk, relationship, affinity, relation, folks, intimates, house

**sometime**: (*adv*) someday, once, one day, formerly, sooner or later; (*adj*) quondam, erstwhile, former, old, late; (*adj*, *adv*) sometimes.

sciences of good and evil are therefore good and evil; but only that, when the term science is no longer used absolutely, but has a qualified object which in this case is the nature of health and disease, it becomes defined, and is hence called not merely science, but the science of medicine.

I quite understand, and I think as you do.

Would you not say that thirst is one of these **essentially** relative terms, having clearly a relation—

Yes, thirst is relative to drink.

And a certain kind of thirst is relative to a certain kind of drink; but thirst taken alone is neither of much nor little, nor of good nor bad, nor of any particular kind of drink, but of drink only?

Certainly.

Then the soul of the thirsty one, in so far as he is thirsty, desires only drink; for this he yearns and tries to obtain it?

That is **plain**.

And if you suppose something which pulls a thirsty soul away from drink, that must be different from the thirsty principle which draws him like a **beast** to drink; for, as we were saying, the same thing cannot at the same time with the same part of itself act in contrary ways about the same.

Impossible.

No more than you can say that the hands of the **archer** push and pull the bow at the same time, but what you say is that one hand pushes and the other pulls.

Exactly so, he replied.

And might a man be thirsty, and yet unwilling to drink?

Yes, he said, it **constantly** happens.

And in such a case what is one to say? Would you not say that there was something in the soul bidding a man to drink, and something else **forbidding** him, which is other and stronger than the principle which bids him?

#### **Thesaurus**

archer: (n) bowman, Sagittarius, turfman, fan, expert, shot, shooter, toxophilite, tell, bowyer.

beast: (n) animal, monster, swine, fiend, creature, scavenger, savage, critter, animate being, barbarian; (adj) bear. ANTONYM: (n) man.

constantly: (adv) continually, firmly, incessantly, eternally, steadily, endlessly, unremittingly, ceaselessly, steadfastly; (adj, adv) always, forever.

ANTONYMS: (adv) inconsistently,

intermittently, acutely, erratically, infrequently.

essentially: (adv) fundamentally, substantially, primarily, principally, necessarily, inherently, mainly, importantly, chiefly; (adj, adv) naturally, intrinsically. ANTONYMS: (adv) superficially, insignificantly, slightly.

forbidding: (adj) grim, ominous, dismal, dour, austere, abominable, ugly, hard, repulsive, redoubtable; (n) banning. ANTONYMS: (adj) alluring, inviting, pleasant, hospitable, friendly, favorable, comforting.

plain: (adj) ordinary, comprehensible, intelligible, apparent, manifest, obvious, clear, simple; (adj, n) flat, homely, humble. ANTONYMS: (adj) elaborate, unclear, multicolored, mottled, ornate, concealed, attractive, confused, fussy, obscure, patterned.

I should say so.

And the forbidding principle is derived from reason, and that which bids and attracts proceeds from passion and disease?

Clearly.

Then we may fairly assume that they are two, and that they differ from one another; the one with which a man reasons, we may call the rational principle of the soul, the other, with which he loves and hungers and thirsts and feels the flutterings of any other desire, may be termed the irrational or appetitive, the **ally** of **sundry** pleasures and satisfactions?

Yes, he said, we may fairly assume them to be different.

Then let us finally determine that there are two principles existing in the soul. And what of passion, or spirit? Is it a third, or akin to one of the preceding?

I should be inclined to say – akin to desire.

Well, I said, there is a story which I remember to have heard, and in which I put faith. The story is, that Leontius, the son of Aglaion, coming up one day from the Piraeus, under the north wall on the outside, observed some dead bodies lying on the ground at the place of execution. He felt a desire to see them, and also a **dread** and abhorrence of them; for a time he struggled and covered his eyes, but at length the desire got the better of him; and forcing them open, he ran up to the dead bodies, saying, Look, ye wretches, take your fill of the fair sight.

I have heard the story myself, he said.

The moral of the tale is, that anger at times goes to war with desire, as though they were two distinct things.

Yes; that is the meaning, he said.

And are there not many other cases in which we observe that when a man's desires **violently** prevail over his reason, he reviles himself, and is angry at the violence within him, and that in this struggle, which is like the struggle of factions in a State, his spirit is on the side of his reason;—but for the **passionate** or spirited element to take part with the desires when reason decides that she

#### **Thesaurus**

ally: (adj, n) accomplice, associate; (n) friend, companion, colleague, partner, accessory; (v) affiliate; (adv) totally, entirely, wholely. ANTONYMS: (n) adversary, opponent, foe, enemy, antagonist, detractor, rival. dread: (n, v) apprehension, fear, panic; (n) anxiety, awe, consternation,

dread: (n, v) apprehension, fear, panic; (n) anxiety, awe, consternation, alarm, trepidation, dismay, foreboding, terror. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasing, welcomed, pleasant;

(v) welcome, want; (n) reassurance, fearlessness, confidence, security, ease, calm.

passionate: (adj, v) ardent, impetuous; (adj) hot, excited, burning, angry, fervent, fierce, animated, earnest; (adj, adv) fiery. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, mild, passionless, unenthusiastic, cold, calm, halfhearted, cool, lukewarm, weak, uninterested.

sundry: (adj) several, different,

diverse, assorted, miscellaneous, many, varied, mixed, divers, various; (n) sundries. ANTONYMS: (adj) uniform, homogeneous. violently: (adj, adv) vehemently, hotly, modily ardontly: (adj, wildly, modily ardontly; (adj, wildly, wildly, modily ardontly; (adj, wildly, wildly, modily ardontly; (adj, wildly, wild

madly, ardently; (adv) whemently, not madly, ardently; (adv) wildly, passionately, strongly, hard, furiously, turbulently; (adv, n) vigorously. ANTONYMS: (adv) gently, nonviolently, feebly, impassively, peacefully, tamely.

should not be **opposed**, is a sort of thing which I believe that you never observed occurring in yourself, nor, as I should imagine, in any one else?

Certainly not.

Suppose that a man thinks he has done a wrong to another, the nobler he is the less able is he to feel indignant at any suffering, such as hunger, or cold, or any other pain which the injured person may inflict upon him—these he deems to be just, and, as I say, his anger refuses to be **excited** by them.

True, he said.

But when he thinks that he is the **sufferer** of the wrong, then he boils and chafes, and is on the side of what he believes to be justice; and because he suffers hunger or cold or other pain he is only the more determined to **persevere** and **conquer**. His noble spirit will not be **quelled** until he either slays or is slain; or until he hears the voice of the shepherd, that is, reason, bidding his dog bark no more.

The illustration is perfect, he replied; and in our State, as we were saying, the auxiliaries were to be dogs, and to hear the voice of the rulers, who are their shepherds.

I perceive, I said, that you quite understand me; there is, however, a further point which I wish you to consider.

What point?

You remember that passion or spirit appeared at first sight to be a kind of desire, but now we should say quite the contrary; for in the conflict of the soul spirit is arrayed on the side of the rational principle.

Most assuredly.

But a further question arises: Is passion different from reason also, or only a kind of reason; in which latter case, instead of three principles in the soul, there will only be two, the rational and the concupiscent; or rather, as the State was composed of three classes, traders, auxiliaries, counsellors, so may there not be in

#### **Thesaurus**

conquer: (n, v) capture; (v) subdue, vanquish, surmount, suppress, subjugate, overcome, overpower, quell, prevail; (adj, v) defeat.

ANTONYMS: (v) lose, yield, succumb, retreat, forfeit, fall, bow, resist, fail, submit, incite.

excited: (adj, v) animated, ardent; (adj) ablaze, enthusiastic, emotional, frantic, warm, heated, delirious, fervent, passionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cool, unexcited, bored, tranquil,

easygoing, disappointed, despairing, comatose, apathetic, sedate, composed.

opposed: (adj) conflicting, hostile, contrary, antagonistic, adverse, contrasted, repugnant, averse, irreconcilable, incompatible; (adj, v) opposing. ANTONYMS: (adj) sympathetic, compatible, unopposed, similar, favorable, eager, agreeable, inclined, friendly.

**persevere**: (v) persist, continue,

endure, abide, go on, hang on, hold on, follow, keep, remain, pursue. ANTONYMS: (v) surrender, stop, quit.

**quelled**: (adj) quenched, allayed, extinguished, extinct.

**sufferer**: (*n*) victim, martyr, prey, casualty, invalid, depressive, diseased person, sick person, rheumatic, diabetic, neurotic.

the individual soul a third **element** which is passion or spirit, and when not corrupted by bad education is the natural auxiliary of reason?

Yes, he said, there must be a third.

Yes, I replied, if passion, which has already been shown to be different from **desire**, turn out also to be different from reason.

But that is easily proved:—We may observe even in young children that they are full of spirit almost as soon as they are born, whereas some of them never seem to attain to the use of reason, and most of them late enough.

Excellent, I said, and you may see passion equally in brute animals, which is a further **proof** of the truth of what you are saying. And we may once more appeal to the words of Homer, which have been already quoted by us,

He smote his breast, and thus rebuked his soul,

for in this verse Homer has clearly supposed the power which reasons about the better and worse to be different from the **unreasoning** anger which is rebuked by it.

Very true, he said.

And so, after much **tossing**, we have reached land, and are fairly agreed that the same principles which **exist** in the State exist also in the individual, and that they are three in number.

Exactly.

Must we not then infer that the individual is wise in the same way, and in virtue of the same quality which makes the State wise?

Certainly.

Also that the same quality which constitutes courage in the State constitutes courage in the individual, and that both the State and the individual **bear** the same relation to all the other virtues?

Assuredly.

### **Thesaurus**

bear: (v) accept, take, stand, acquit, abide, allow, wear, comport, tolerate, convey, teem. ANTONYMS: (v) release, avoid, destroy, dodge, take, eradicate, evade, kill, refuse, erase; (n) bull.

**breast**: (*n*) boob, udder, tit, titty, chest, knocker, mammilla, bust, pap, heart; (*n*, *v*) front.

**desire**: (*n*) ambition, aspiration, craving, dream; (*adv*, *n*, *v*) will; (*n*, *v*) fancy, wish, aim; (*v*) want, aspire,

seek. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) dislike, hate; (*n*) aversion, reality, revulsion, apathy; (*v*) spurn, abhor, answer, command, insist.

element: (n) ingredient, constituent, substance, factor, basis, fundamental, matter, feature, foundation, chemical element, origin.

ANTONYM: (n) contradiction tossing: (n) cast; (adj) moving. unreasoning: (adj) irrational, unintelligent, unintellectual,

exist: (v) lie, be, endure, abide, consist, belong, continue, occur, come, breathe, live. ANTONYMS: (v) expire, fail, perish.

proof: (n) confirmation, probation, authentication, sign, substantiation, evidence, verification, validation, argument, experiment, indication. ANTONYM: (n) contradiction. tossing: (n) cast; (adj) moving. unreasoning: (adj) irrational, unintelligent, unintellectual, thoughtless, unreasonable, partisan, vacuous, unthinking, unreasoned.

And the individual will be acknowledged by us to be just in the same way in which the State is just?

That follows, of course.

We cannot but remember that the justice of the State consisted in each of the three classes doing the work of its own class?

We are not very likely to have forgotten, he said.

We must **recollect** that the individual in whom the several qualities of his nature do their own work will be just, and will do his own work?

Yes, he said, we must remember that too.

And ought not the rational principle, which is wise, and has the care of the whole soul, to rule, and the passionate or spirited principle to be the subject and ally?

Certainly.

And, as we were saying, the united influence of music and gymnastic will bring them into **accord**, nerving and **sustaining** the reason with noble words and lessons, and **moderating** and soothing and **civilizing** the **wildness** of passion by harmony and rhythm?

Ouite true, he said.

And these two, thus nurtured and educated, and having learned truly to know their own functions, will rule over the concupiscent, which in each of us is the largest part of the soul and by nature most insatiable of gain; over this they will keep guard, lest, **waxing** great and strong with the fulness of bodily pleasures, as they are termed, the concupiscent soul, no longer confined to her own sphere, should attempt to enslave and rule those who are not her natural-born subjects, and overturn the whole life of man?

Very true, he said.

Both together will they not be the best defenders of the whole soul and the whole body against attacks from without; the one **counselling**, and the other

# **Thesaurus**

accord: (n) agreement, consensus, harmony; (n, v) consent, concord, assent; (adj, v) agree; (v) give, bestow, suit, grant. ANTONYMS: (n) discord, strife, antagonism, hostility, friction, dissidence, dissension; (n, v) conflict; (v) withhold, question, oppose. civilizing: (adj) enlightening, cultural, artistic, enriching, educational. counselling: (n) counsel, counseling, guidance, hint, tip, counsellor, commission, charge, advocate,

guideline, lead.

moderating: (adj) abstemious,
extenuating. ANTONYM: (adj)
intensifying.
recollect: (v) recall, remember,
recognize, call to mind, remind,
mind, think, call up, reminisce,
refresh, retrieve. ANTONYM: (v)
forget.
sustaining: (adj) underneath,
alimentary, at the bottom of,
comforting, filling, fundamental,

healthy, profitable, rich; (n) continuation, maintenance. waxing: (n) application, covering, coating. ANTONYM: (adj) waning. wildness: (n) fierceness, ferocity, savageness, abandon, rage, extravagance, ferociousness, intensity, vehemence; (v) wilderness; (n, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (n) tameness, order, meekness, gentleness, caution, orderliness.

fighting under his leader, and **courageously executing** his commands and counsels?

True.

And he is to be deemed courageous whose spirit retains in pleasure and in pain the commands of reason about what he ought or ought not to fear?

Right, he replied.

And him we call wise who has in him that little part which rules, and which proclaims these commands; that part too being supposed to have a knowledge of what is for the interest of each of the three parts and of the whole?

Assuredly.

And would you not say that he is temperate who has these same elements in friendly harmony, in whom the one ruling principle of reason, and the two subject ones of spirit and desire are equally agreed that reason ought to rule, and do not **rebel**?

Certainly, he said, that is the true account of temperance whether in the State or individual.

And surely, I said, we have explained again and again how and by virtue of what quality a man will be just.

That is very certain.

And is justice **dimmer** in the individual, and is her form different, or is she the same which we found her to be in the State?

There is no difference in my opinion, he said.

Because, if any doubt is still lingering in our minds, a few **commonplace** instances will satisfy us of the truth of what I am saying.

What sort of instances do you mean?

If the case is put to us, must we not admit that the just State, or the man who is trained in the principles of such a State, will be less likely than the unjust to make away with a **deposit** of gold or silver? Would any one deny this?

# Thesaurus

commonplace: (adj, v) trite,
hackneyed; (adj) banal, ordinary,
humdrum, common, average, plain,
mundane, dull; (n) platitude.
ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary,
unusual, exceptional, infrequent,
rare, romantic, uncommon, weird; (n)
deepness, profundity, profoundness.
courageously: (adv) intrepidly,
valiantly, boldly, daringly, fearlessly,
gallantly, heroically, hardily,
dauntlessly, audaciously,

stoutheartedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) timidly, execrably, fearfully, nervously. **deposit**: (v) commit, lay, consign, repose; (n, v) store, charge; (n) bank deposit, bailment, residue, storage; (disc) (in ANTONYM (c.disc))

(adj, v) fix. ANTONYMS: (n) withdrawal, giving; (v) disburse, dislodge, spend, lift, remove. dimmer: (n) rheostat.

**executing**: (*n*) performing, execution, decapitation, capital punishment,

electrocution, death penalty, crucifixion, implementation, corporal punishment; (v) perform, execute.

rebel: (v) mutiny, disobey, arise; (adj, n) nonconformist, insurgent; (adj, n, v) renegade; (n, v) revolt; (adj) mutineer; (n) traitor, insurrectionist, anarchist. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) conformist; (n) stalwart; (adj) compliant, content, obedient; (v) agree, obey.

No one, he replied.

Will the just man or citizen ever be guilty of **sacrilege** or theft, or **treachery** either to his friends or to his country?

Never.

Neither will he ever break faith where there have been oaths or agreements? Impossible.

No one will be less likely to commit **adultery**, or to dishonour his father and mother, or to fail in his religious duties?

No one.

And the reason is that each part of him is doing its own business, whether in ruling or being ruled?

Exactly so.

Are you satisfied then that the quality which makes such men and such states is justice, or do you hope to discover some other?

Not I, indeed.

Then our dream has been realized; and the suspicion which we entertained at the beginning of our work of construction, that some divine power must have **conducted** us to a primary form of justice, has now been verified?

Yes, certainly.

And the division of labour which required the carpenter and the shoemaker and the rest of the citizens to be doing each his own business, and not another's, was a shadow of justice, and for that reason it was of use?

Clearly.

But in reality justice was such as we were describing, being concerned however, not with the **outward** man, but with the **inward**, which is the true self and **concernment** of man: for the just man does not permit the several elements within him to interfere with one another, or any of them to do the work of others,—he sets in order his own inner life, and is his own master and his own

#### **Thesaurus**

adultery: (*n*) infidelity, criminal conversation, adulterer, falseness, treachery, betrayal, faithlessness, love affair; (*adj*) advoutry, crim, harlotry. ANTONYMS: (*n*) faithfulness, fidelity.

**concernment**: (*n*) solicitude, importance, interest, anxiety, disquiet.

conducted: (adj) directed, guided. inward: (adj) inner, intrinsic, internal, interior, intestine, inherent, domestic;

(adv) inwardly, inwards, in; (n) innards. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) outward; (adj) outgoing, external. outward: (adj) external, apparent, extrinsic, outer, superficial, surface, outside, ostensible, foreign, outdoor; (adv) out. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) inward; (adj) inner, internal, deep. sacrilege: (n) profanity, profanation, violation, curse, defilement, sacrilegiousness, impiety, vulgarity; (adj, n) blasphemy, desecration; (v)

violate. ANTONYMS: (n) piety, respectfulness, reverence, consecration.

treachery: (n) betrayal, disloyalty, infidelity, duplicity, treason, perfidy, falseness, faithlessness, perfidiousness, guile, dishonesty. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalty, faithfulness, fidelity, reliability, allegiance, goodness.

law, and at peace with himself; and when he has bound together the three principles within him, which may be compared to the higher, lower, and middle notes of the scale, and the **intermediate** intervals—when he has bound all these together, and is no longer many, but has become one entirely temperate and perfectly **adjusted** nature, then he **proceeds** to act, if he has to act, whether in a matter of property, or in the treatment of the body, or in some affair of politics or private business; always thinking and calling that which preserves and cooperates with this harmonious condition, just and good action, and the knowledge which presides over it, wisdom, and that which at any time impairs this condition, he will call unjust action, and the opinion which presides over it ignorance.

You have said the **exact** truth, Socrates.

Very good; and if we were to affirm that we had discovered the just man and the just State, and the nature of justice in each of them, we should not be telling a falsehood?

Most certainly not.

May we say so, then?

Let us say so.

And now, I said, injustice has to be considered.

Clearly.

Must not injustice be a strife which arises among the three principles—a **meddlesomeness**, and **interference**, and rising up of a part of the soul against the whole, an **assertion** of unlawful authority, which is made by a rebellious subject against a true prince, of whom he is the natural vassal,—what is all this confusion and delusion but injustice, and intemperance and cowardice and ignorance, and every form of vice?

Exactly so.

#### **Thesaurus**

adjusted: (adj) altered, set, arranged, accustomed, correct, fitted, right, tuned, secure, familiarised, familiarized. ANTONYM: (adj) maladjusted.

assertion: (n) statement, argument,

assertion: (n) statement, argument, claim, avowal, contention, charge, testimony, profession, allegation, accusation, position. ANTONYMS: (n) denial, disavowal, uncertainty, exact: (adj, n) correct; (v) demand, claim, command, ask; (n, v) require;

(adj, v) close, direct; (adj) precise, detailed, faithful. ANTONYMS: (adj) wrong, vague, imprecise, approximate, inexact, rough, careless, thoughtless, indeterminate; (v) tender, give.

interference: (*n*) hindrance, disturbance, handicap, blocking, intercession, inhibition, encumbrance, barrier, intervention, block; (*v*) interfere. ANTONYMS: (*n*) nonintervention, help. intermediate: (adj, n) average, intermediary, mean, mediocre; (adj) middle, mid, moderate, halfway; (adj, v) mediate; (v) interjacent, intercede. ANTONYMS: (adj) last, extreme. meddlesomeness: (n) curiosity, interference, officiousness, aggressiveness.

proceeds: (n) return, take, earnings, gain, issue, revenue, emolument, receipts, profit, yield, takings.

ANTONYMS: (n) loss, expenditure.

And if the nature of justice and injustice be known, then the meaning of **acting** unjustly and being unjust, or, again, of acting justly, will also be perfectly clear?

What do you mean? he said.

Why, I said, they are like disease and health; being in the soul just what disease and health are in the body.

How so? he said.

Why, I said, that which is **healthy** causes health, and that which is unhealthy causes disease.

Yes.

And just actions cause justice, and unjust actions cause injustice?

That is certain.

And the creation of health is the **institution** of a natural order and government of one by another in the parts of the body; and the creation of disease is the production of a state of things at variance with this natural order?

True.

And is not the creation of justice the institution of a natural order and government of one by another in the parts of the soul, and the creation of injustice the production of a state of things at variance with the natural order?

Exactly so, he said.

Then virtue is the health and **beauty** and well-being of the soul, and vice the disease and **weakness** and deformity of the same?

True.

And do not good practices lead to virtue, and evil practices to vice? Assuredly.

Still our old question of the **comparative** advantage of justice and injustice has not been answered: Which is the more profitable, to be just and act justly

#### Thesaurus

acting: (adj) interim, active, temporary, pro Tem, provisional, agent, substitute; (n) drama, business, portrayal, playing.

beauty: (n) attractiveness, beaut, charm, pulchritude, loveliness, exquisiteness, grace, grandeur, looker, good looks; (adj) beautiful. ANTONYMS: (n) hag, plainness, shortcoming, flaw, witch, dog, disadvantage, detraction, repulsiveness, eyesore,

comparative: (adj) qualified, proportionate, illustrative, approximate, near. ANTONYMS: (adj) absolute, unlike, far, unequal. healthy: (adj) healthful, wholesome, salubrious, hale, good, fit, beneficial, whole, well, sound, hearty. ANTONYMS: (adj) unwell, harmful, unfit, soporific, dependent, fattening, infected, unwholesome, weak, ill, underfed.

institution: (n) creation, formation, asylum, agency, founding, academy, foundation, organ, initiation, method; (adj, n) institute.

weakness: (adj, n) failing, fault, debility, defect, infirmity, fragility, feebleness, deficiency, imperfection, foible; (n) flaw. ANTONYMS: (n) power, dislike, intensity, supremacy, determination, advantage, brightness, superiority, resistance, robustness, energy.

and practise virtue, whether seen or unseen of gods and men, or to be unjust and act unjustly, if only **unpunished** and **unreformed**?

In my judgment, Socrates, the question has now become ridiculous. We know that, when the bodily constitution is gone, life is no longer endurable, though pampered with all kinds of meats and drinks, and having all wealth and all power; and shall we be told that when the very essence of the vital principle is undermined and corrupted, life is still worth having to a man, if only he be allowed to do whatever he likes with the single exception that he is not to acquire justice and virtue, or to escape from injustice and vice; assuming them both to be such as we have described?

Yes, I said, the question is, as you say, ridiculous. Still, as we are near the spot at which we may see the truth in the clearest manner with our own eyes, let us not faint by the way.

Certainly not, he replied.

Come up hither, I said, and behold the various forms of vice, those of them, I mean, which are worth looking at.

I am following you, he replied: proceed.

I said, The argument seems to have reached a height from which, as from some tower of speculation, a man may look down and see that virtue is one, but that the forms of vice are innumerable; there being four special ones which are deserving of note.

What do you mean? he said.

I mean, I replied, that there appear to be as many forms of the soul as there are distinct forms of the State.

How many?

There are five of the State, and five of the soul, I said.

What are they?

## **Thesaurus**

assuming: (adj) arrogant, uppish, forward, bloated, contumelious, pretentious, bold, pompous; (conj) if; (n) assumption; (v) assume. ANTONYMS: (adj) respectful, modest.

deserving: (adj) meritorious, admirable, creditable, commendable, laudable, fit, good, deserved, condign; (v) deserve, worthy of. ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy, undeserving, unimpressive.

**endurable**: (adj) bearable, supportable, tolerable, livable, sufferable, acceptable, sustainable, unobjectionable, manageable, patible. pampered: (adj) indulged, spoiled, ANTONYMS: (adj) intolerable, unbearable, unendurable. essence: (n) core, perfume, being, gist, aroma, crux, hypostasis, extract, spirit, substance; (v) stuff. ANTONYMS: (n) body, surface.

exception: (n) objection, exemption,

anomaly, immunity, privilege,

repudiation, release, condition, salvo, animadversion; (adj, n) peculiarity. ANTONYM: (n) liability. soft, bad, fed luxuriously, luxurious. tower: (n) column, spire, steeple, pinnacle, pylon, castle; (adj, n) pillar; (v) ascend, rise, loom, arise. unpunished: (adj) impune. unreformed: (adj) unregenerate, unchanged, incorrigible, unrepentant, impenitent.

The first, I said, is that which we have been describing, and which may be said to have two names, monarchy and aristocracy, accordingly as rule is exercised by one distinguished man or by many.

True, he replied.

But I regard the two names as describing one form only; for whether the government is in the hands of one or many, if the governors have been trained in the **manner** which we have **supposed**, the **fundamental** laws of the State will be maintained.

That is true, he replied.

#### Thesaurus

**fundamental**: (adj, n) essential; (n) base, basis, root; (adj) cardinal, key, basic, rudimentary, elementary, chief, monarchy: (n) empire, autocracy, significant. ANTONYMS: (adj) minor, advanced, trivial, unimportant, superfluous, subsequent, peripheral, marginal, irrelevant, actual, special. maintained: (adj) kept up, preserved, repaired, serviced, serviceable, safe, fixed.

manner: (adj, n) kind; (n) bearing, demeanor, method, form,

appearance, carriage, way; (n, v)custom, style, habit. realm, domain, kingship, crown, sovereignty, nation, imperial, reign, majesty. ANTONYM: (n) republic. rule: (n, v) control, order, govern, decree, influence, line, dominion, regulate, reign; (n) law, ordinance. ANTONYMS: (v) request; (n) option. supposed: (adj) hypothetical, reputed, alleged, assumed, imaginary,

putative, apparent, ostensible, suppositional, supposititious, suppositious. ANTONYM: (adj)

trained: (adj) experienced, skilled, capable, competent, expert, practiced, accustomed, educated, efficient, skillful, professional. ANTONYMS: (adj) inexpert, untaught, untutored, amateur, unqualified.

## **BOOK V**

Such is the good and true City or State, and the good and true man is of the same pattern; and if this is right every other is wrong; and the evil is one which affects not only the ordering of the State, but also the regulation of the individual soul, and is exhibited in four formsWhat are they? he said.

I was proceeding to tell the order in which the four evil forms appeared to me to succeed one another, when Polemarchus, who was sitting a little way off, just beyond Adeimantus, began to **whisper** to him: **stretching** forth his hand, he took hold of the upper part of his coat by the shoulder, and **drew** him towards him, **leaning** forward himself so as to be quite close and saying something in his ear, of which I only caught the words, 'Shall we let him off, or what shall we do?'

Certainly not, said Adeimantus, raising his voice.

Who is it, I said, whom you are refusing to let off?

You, he said.

I repeated, Why am I especially not to be let off?

Why, he said, we think that you are **lazy**, and mean to cheat us out of a whole chapter which is a very important part of the story; and you fancy that we shall not notice your **airy** way of proceeding; as if it were **self**-evident to everybody, that in the matter of women and children 'friends have all things in common.'

## **Thesaurus**

airy: (adj) light, windy, aery, aerial, ethereal, insubstantial, sprightly, perky, volatile, aeriform, aired.

ANTONYMS: (adj) airless, hot, massive, wooden, weighty, substantial, stifling, sluggish, ponderous, musty, lumbering.

drew: (n) move, John Drew.

lazy: (adj) indolent, inert, idle, inactive, shiftless, slothful, faineant, slow, sluggish; (adj, n) drowsy, dull.

ANTONYMS: (adj) diligent, active,

prompt, vigorous, industrious, keen, productive.

**leaning**: (*adj*, *n*) bent, disposition, partiality; (*n*) propensity, bias, tendency, incline, lean; (*adj*) tilted, canted, inclined. ANTONYMS: (*n*) antipathy, dislike; (*adj*) upright. **raising**: (*n*) bringing up, nurture, elevation, lift, raise, culture, heave, ascent, ascension, upbringing,

self-evident: (adj) axiomatic, obvious,

apparent, demonstrable, perspicuous, proverbial, unquestionable. **stretching**: (*n*) tension, stretch, expansion, workout, reach, amplification, stretchiness, enlargement; (*adj*) stretched, long; (*v*) extend.

whisper: (n, v) murmur, hum, mumble, suggestion, hint, inkling; (v) breathe, hiss; (n) rustle, trace, breath. ANTONYM: (n) information. And was I not right, Adeimantus?

Yes, he said; but what is right in this particular case, like everything else, requires to be explained; for community may be of many kinds. Please, therefore, to say what sort of community you mean. We have been long expecting that you would tell us something about the family life of your citizens—how they will bring children into the world, and rear them when they have arrived, and, in general, what is the nature of this community of women and children—for we are of opinion that the right or wrong management of such matters will have a great and **paramount** influence on the State for good or for evil. And now, since the question is still undetermined, and you are taking in hand another State, we have resolved, as you heard, not to let you go until you give an account of all this.

To that resolution, said Glaucon, you may regard me as saying Agreed.

And without more ado, said Thrasymachus, you may consider us all to be equally agreed.

I said, You know not what you are doing in thus **assailing** me: What an argument are you raising about the State! Just as I thought that I had finished, and was only too glad that I had laid this question to sleep, and was **reflecting** how **fortunate** I was in your acceptance of what I then said, you ask me to begin again at the very foundation, ignorant of what a hornet's **nest** of words you are **stirring**. Now I foresaw this gathering trouble, and avoided it.

For what purpose do you conceive that we have come here, said Thrasymachus,—to look for gold, or to hear discourse?

Yes, but discourse should have a limit.

Yes, Socrates, said Glaucon, and the whole of life is the only limit which wise men **assign** to the hearing of such discourses. But never mind about us; take heart yourself and answer the question in your own way: What sort of community of women and children is this which is to prevail among our guardians? and how shall we manage the period between birth and education, which seems to require the greatest care? Tell us how these things will be.

#### **Thesaurus**

assailing: (v) assail; (n) attack; (adj) aggressive, assailant, offensive.
assign: (v) allot, delegate, consign, ascribe, appoint, place, allocate, appropriate; (n, v) allow, apply, give.
ANTONYMS: (v) relieve, discharge, discredit, divest, refuse, take.
fortunate: (adj) favorable, lucky, auspicious, advantageous, favored, happy, prosperous, fortuitous, well, successful; (adj, n) blessed.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unlucky,

disadvantaged, disastrous, unfavorable, underprivileged, inauspicious, unenviable, unsatisfactory.

**nest**: (*n*) den, lair, hole, burrow, home, beehive; (*adj*) brood, hive, litter; (*adj*, *n*) herd; (*v*) embed.

paramount: (adj) dominant, top, chief, overriding, main, topmost, foremost, uppermost, predominant; (adj, v) supreme, greatest. ANTONYMS: (adj) minor, worst.

**reflecting**: (*adv*) reflectingly; (*adj*) reflective, thoughtful, calculating, reflected, shiny, shimmering, reflectent; (*n*) mirroring, reflection, reflexion.

stirring: (adj) lively, exciting, alive, rousing, spirited, touching, thrilling, active; (n) agitation; (v) eventful, brisk. ANTONYMS: (adj) depressing, boring, inactive, dull, conciliatory, asleep, uninspiring, unimpressive; (n) suppression.

Yes, my simple friend, but the answer is the reverse of easy; many more doubts arise about this than about our previous conclusions. practicability of what is said may be doubted; and looked at in another point of view, whether the scheme, if ever so practicable, would be for the best, is also doubtful. Hence I feel a reluctance to approach the subject, lest our aspiration, my dear friend, should turn out to be a dream only.

Fear not, he replied, for your audience will not be hard upon you; they are not sceptical or hostile.

I said: My good friend, I suppose that you mean to encourage me by these words.

Yes, he said.

Then let me tell you that you are doing just the reverse; the encouragement which you offer would have been all very well had I myself believed that I knew what I was talking about: to declare the truth about matters of high interest which a man honours and loves among wise men who love him need occasion no fear or faltering in his mind; but to carry on an argument when you are yourself only a hesitating enquirer, which is my condition, is a dangerous and **slippery** thing; and the danger is not that I shall be laughed at (of which the fear would be childish), but that I shall miss the truth where I have most need to be sure of my **footing**, and drag my friends after me in my fall. And I pray Nemesis not to visit upon me the words which I am going to utter. For I do indeed believe that to be an involuntary **homicide** is a less crime than to be a **deceiver** about beauty or goodness or justice in the matter of laws. And that is a risk which I would rather run among enemies than among friends, and therefore you do well to encourage me.

Glaucon laughed and said: Well then, Socrates, in case you and your argument do us any serious injury you shall be acquitted beforehand of the homicide, and shall not be held to be a deceiver; take courage then and speak.

Well, I said, the law says that when a man is acquitted he is free from guilt, and what holds at law may hold in argument.

#### Thesaurus

acquit, absolved. beforehand: (adv) previously, ahead, in advance, in anticipation, first; (adj, adv) early, aforehand; (adj) advance, already, afore; (n) prior. ANTONYMS: (adv) afterwards, afterward, later, late, subsequently. deceiver: (n) trickster, impostor, cheater, hypocrite, liar, fraud, swindler, chiseler, counterfeiter, bluffer, dodger.

**acquitted**: (adj) not guilty, guiltless; (v) **faltering**: (n) falter, pause, vacillation; (adj) tentative, vacillating, doubtful, irresolute, hesitant, uncertain, unsure; (adv) falteringly. ANTONYMS: (adj) decided, firm, eloquent, decisive, sure. footing: (n) foothold, base, bottom,

foundation, status, rank, foot, pedestal, situation, relation, root. ANTONYM: (n) top.

homicide: (n) assassination, carnage, butchery, bloodshed, slaying,

slaughter, murderer, manslaughter, fratricide, elimination; (adj) homicidal.

occasion: (n, v) cause; (n) case, event, juncture, episode, incident; (v) bring about, create, beget, make, induce.

**slippery**: (adj, v) precarious; (adj) crafty, glib, elusive, oily, glossy, untrustworthy, wily, unreliable, tricky; (v) questionable. ANTONYMS: (adj) rough, dry,

reliable, straight, direct.

Then why should you mind?

Well, I replied, I suppose that I must **retrace** my steps and say what I perhaps ought to have said before in the proper place. The part of the men has been played out, and now properly enough comes the turn of the women. Of them I will proceed to speak, and the more **readily** since I am invited by you.

For men born and educated like our citizens, the only way, in my opinion, of **arriving** at a right conclusion about the possession and use of women and children is to follow the path on which we originally started, when we said that the men were to be the guardians and watchdogs of the **herd**.

True.

Let us further suppose the birth and education of our women to be subject to similar or nearly similar regulations; then we shall see whether the result accords with our design.

What do you mean?

What I mean may be put into the form of a question, I said: Are dogs divided into hes and shes, or do they both share equally in hunting and in keeping watch and in the other duties of dogs? or do we entrust to the males the entire and **exclusive** care of the flocks, while we leave the females at home, under the idea that the **bearing** and **suckling** their puppies is labour enough for them?

No, he said, they share alike; the only difference between them is that the males are stronger and the females weaker.

But can you use different animals for the same purpose, unless they are bred and fed in the same way?

You cannot.

Then, if women are to have the same duties as men, they must have the same nurture and education?

Yes.

The education which was assigned to the men was music and gymnastic.

Yes.

#### **Thesaurus**

arriving: (n) arrival; (adj) incoming, inbound, received, external, homeward bound, inward, new, inward bound. ANTONYM: (adj) outgoing.

bearing: (*n*, *v*) demeanor; (*n*) manner, direction, deportment, conduct, attitude, aspect, approach, appearance, respect, air.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) insignificance, irrelevance; (*adj*) nonbearing.

exclusive: (*adi*) sole, particular,

individual, special, single, private, peculiar, select, choice, undivided; (n) scoop. ANTONYMS: (adj) common, public, vague, unrestricted, shared, open, inferior, collective, cheap, available, admissive.

**herd**: (*n*, *v*) crowd; (*adj*) bevy, many; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) swarm; (*n*) drove, gang, crew, collection, covey, multitude, mob.

**readily**: (*adv*) easily, lightly, freely, quickly, immediately, instantly,

willingly, soon, eagerly; (adj, adv) handily, smoothly. ANTONYMS: (adv) grudgingly, eventually, reluctantly, unenthusiastically. retrace: (v) recollect, recall, trace, etymologize, recognize, construct, call up, bethink oneself, speculate; (n, v) reconsider; (n) flyback. suckling: (n) infant, babe, baby, nursling, sucker, weanling, yearling, greenhorn, nursing, parasite; (adj) lactant.

Then women must be taught music and gymnastic and also the art of war, which they must practise like the men?

That is the inference, I suppose.

I should rather expect, I said, that several of our **proposals**, if they are carried out, being unusual, may appear ridiculous.

No doubt of it.

Yes, and the most ridiculous thing of all will be the sight of women naked in the palaestra, exercising with the men, especially when they are no longer young; they certainly will not be a vision of beauty, any more than the enthusiastic old men who in spite of wrinkles and ugliness continue to frequent the gymnasia.

Yes, indeed, he said: according to present notions the proposal would be thought ridiculous.

But then, I said, as we have determined to speak our minds, we must not fear the jests of the wits which will be directed against this sort of innovation; how they will talk of women's attainments both in music and gymnastic, and above all about their wearing armour and riding upon horseback!

Very true, he replied.

Yet having begun we must go forward to the rough places of the law; at the same time begging of these gentlemen for once in their life to be serious. Not long ago, as we shall **remind** them, the Hellenes were of the opinion, which is still generally received among the barbarians, that the sight of a naked man was ridiculous and improper; and when first the Cretans and then the Lacedaemonians introduced the custom, the wits of that day might equally have ridiculed the innovation.

No doubt.

But when experience showed that to let all things be **uncovered** was far better than to cover them up, and the ludicrous effect to the outward eye vanished before the better principle which reason asserted, then the man was perceived to

#### Thesaurus

attainments: (n) knowledge, learning, achievement, menticulture, culture. exercising: (n) calisthenics, aerobics, bodybuilding, conditioner, callisthenics, employment, drill, practice, anaerobic exercise, example, delay.

improper: (adj) false, illicit, illegitimate, unsuitable, wrong, indecent, bad, coarse, amiss, faulty; (adj, v) indecorous. ANTONYMS: (adj) suitable, fitting, polite,

acceptable, sensitive, moral, correct, dignified, lawful, clean, honest. proposals: (n) suggestion. remind: (v) recollect, prompt, recall, commemorate, call up, memorialize, hint, jog, inform, think; (n, v) mind. ridicule: (n, v) laugh at, deride, banter, insult, taunt, scorn, scoff; (n) derision, uncovered: (adj) naked, open, bare, mockery; (adj, n) irony; (v) jeer. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise, respect; (v) approve; (n) approval, admiration.

ugliness: (n) eyesore, offensiveness, hideousness, garishness, gaudiness, grotesqueness, grotesquery, repulsiveness, homeliness, unsightliness; (adj, n) unpleasantness. ANTONYMS: (n) beauty, attractiveness, pleasantness. nude, unclothed, bald, unreserved, unprotected, evident, frank, manifest. ANTONYMS: (adj) indoor, concealed. wrinkles: (n) crow's feet.

be a fool who directs the shafts of his ridicule at any other sight but that of folly and vice, or seriously inclines to weigh the beautiful by any other standard but that of the good.

Very true, he replied.

First, then, whether the question is to be put in jest or in earnest, let us come to an understanding about the nature of woman: Is she capable of sharing either wholly or partially in the actions of men, or not at all? And is the art of war one of those arts in which she can or can not share? That will be the best way of commencing the enquiry, and will probably lead to the fairest conclusion.

That will be much the best way.

Shall we take the other side first and begin by **arguing** against ourselves; in this manner the adversary's position will not be undefended.

Why not? he said.

Then let us put a speech into the mouths of our opponents. They will say: 'Socrates and Glaucon, no adversary need convict you, for you yourselves, at the first foundation of the State, admitted the principle that everybody was to do the one work **suited** to his own nature.' And certainly, if I am not mistaken, such an admission was made by us. 'And do not the natures of men and women differ very much indeed?' And we shall reply: Of course they do. Then we shall be asked, 'Whether the tasks assigned to men and to women should not be different, and such as are agreeable to their different natures?' Certainly they should. 'But if so, have you not fallen into a serious inconsistency in saying that men and women, whose natures are so entirely different, ought to perform the same actions?' - What defence will you make for us, my good Sir, against any one who offers these objections?

That is not an easy question to answer when asked suddenly; and I shall and I do beg of you to draw out the case on our side.

These are the objections, Glaucon, and there are many others of a like kind, which I foresaw long ago; they made me afraid and reluctant to take in hand any law about the possession and nurture of women and children.

#### Thesaurus

arguing: (n) controversy, contention, disputation, contestation, polemics, tilt; (v) argue; (adj) quarrelsome, argumentative.

commence; (adv) startingly; (prep) starting, from; (n) start, initiation, commencement, origination, inauguration.

differ: (v) disagree, contradict, clash, diverge, deviate, depart, difference, discrepancy, conflict, vary, contrast. ANTONYMS: (v) correspond, concur, adapted, convenient; (adj) conform, match, resemble, harmonize, equal, consent, accord, accede, support.

**commencing**: (adj) initial, incipient; (v) **partially**: (adv) incompletely, in part, unfairly, part, halfway, sectionally, imperfectly, unjustly, prejudicedly, discriminatorily; (adj, adv) half. ANTONYMS: (adv) wholly, totally, wholeheartedly, mainly, fairly; (adj)

suited: (adj, v) proper, fit, fitted,

appropriate, good, apt, eligible, capable, useful. ANTONYMS: (adj) incompatible, wrong, inappropriate. tasks: (n) farm duties, household tasks, odd Jobs, errands. undefended: (adj) unprotected,

undefendable, exposed, assailable, vulnerable, open, unguarded, undecided, unarmed, overt, opened out. ANTONYMS: (adj) secure, defensible.

By Zeus, he said, the problem to be solved is anything but easy.

Why yes, I said, but the fact is that when a man is out of his depth, whether he has fallen into a little **swimming** bath or into mid ocean, he has to swim all the same.

Very true.

And must not we swim and try to reach the shore: we will hope that Arion's **dolphin** or some other **miraculous** help may save us?

I suppose so, he said.

Well then, let us see if any way of escape can be found. We acknowledged—did we not? that different natures ought to have different pursuits, and that men's and women's natures are different. And now what are we saying?—that different natures ought to have the same pursuits,—this is the inconsistency which is charged upon us.

Precisely.

Verily, Glaucon, I said, glorious is the power of the art of contradiction!

Why do you say so?

Because I think that many a man falls into the practice against his will. When he thinks that he is reasoning he is really **disputing**, just because he cannot define and divide, and so know that of which he is speaking; and he will pursue a merely verbal opposition in the spirit of contention and not of fair discussion.

Yes, he replied, such is very often the case; but what has that to do with us and our argument?

A great deal; for there is certainly a danger of our getting unintentionally into a verbal opposition.

In what way?

Why we **valiantly** and **pugnaciously** insist upon the verbal truth, that different natures ought to have different pursuits, but we never considered at all what was the meaning of **sameness** or difference of nature, or why we

#### **Thesaurus**

**disputing**: (*adj*) opposed; (*v*) disputant.

**dolphin**: (*n*) porpoise, blackfish, beluga, mooring dolphin, common blackfish, killer, orca, pile mooring, grampus, mahimahi, common dolphin.

miraculous: (adj) marvelous, astonishing, marvellous, wonderful, astounding, remarkable, magical, incredible, wonder, stupendous, phenomenal. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, mundane, unremarkable. **pugnaciously**: (adv) belligerently, warlikely, fightingly, argumentatively, combatively, militantly, peevishly, martially, disputatiously, aggressively, contentiously.

sameness: (n) equality, resemblance, monotony, similarity, identicalness, parity, unvariedness, oneness, likeness, dullness, tedium. ANTONYMS: (n) variety, variation, uniqueness, inconsistency, contrast, variability.

**swim**: (*n*) dip, swimming, bathing, diving; (*adj*) rise; (*v*) hover, spin, drift, spire, plane, reel.

valiantly: (adv) bravely, valorously, gallantly, intrepidly, heroically, boldly, audaciously, fearlessly, doughtily, pluckily, heroicly.
ANTONYMS: (adv) execrably, nervously, timidly, fearfully.

distinguished them when we assigned different **pursuits** to different natures and the same to the same natures.

Why, no, he said, that was never considered by us.

I said: Suppose that by way of illustration we were to ask the question whether there is not an opposition in nature between **bald** men and **hairy** men; and if this is admitted by us, then, if bald men are cobblers, we should forbid the hairy men to be cobblers, and conversely?

That would be a jest, he said.

Yes, I said, a jest; and why? because we never meant when we constructed the State, that the opposition of natures should **extend** to every difference, but only to those differences which affected the pursuit in which the individual is engaged; we should have argued, for example, that a physician and one who is in mind a physician may be said to have the same nature.

True.

Whereas the physician and the carpenter have different natures? Certainly.

And if, I said, the male and female sex appear to differ in their **fitness** for any art or pursuit, we should say that such pursuit or art ought to be assigned to one or the other of them; but if the difference consists only in women bearing and men begetting children, this does not amount to a proof that a woman differs from a man in respect of the sort of education she should receive; and we shall therefore continue to maintain that our guardians and their wives ought to have the same pursuits.

Very true, he said.

Next, we shall ask our opponent how, in reference to any of the pursuits or **arts** of **civic** life, the nature of a woman differs from that of a man?

That will be quite fair.

And perhaps he, like yourself, will reply that to give a sufficient answer on the instant is not easy; but after a little reflection there is no difficulty.

#### **Thesaurus**

arts: (n) humanities, liberal arts, craft, fine arts, philosophy, chronology, classicism, classicistic, historical, history, humanistic discipline.
bald: (adj) hairless, simple, austere, meager, raw, barefaced, stark, plain, nude, naked; (adj, v) threadbare.
ANTONYMS: (adj) ornate, furry, hirsute, woolly, embellished, adorned, decorated.
civic: (adj) city, urban, public, national, communal, local, civil, metropolitan,

town, personal, universal.
ANTONYM: (adj) rural.
extend: (v) enlarge, broaden, widen, dilate, amplify, augment, go, continue, spread, draw out; (adj, v) stretch. ANTONYMS: (v) withdraw, shorten, narrow, shrink, limit, contract, curtail, hold, reduce, abridge, keep.
fitness: (n) adequacy, propriety,

fitness: (n) adequacy, propriety, aptness, appropriateness, capability, physical fitness, correspondence, health, fittingness, correctness, convenience. ANTONYMS: (n) unsuitability, inability, unfitness, illness

hairy: (adj) hirsute, bushy, dangerous, downy, woolly, bristly, fleecy, rough, fuzzy, shaggy, fluffy. ANTONYMS: (adj) hairless, safe, tidy, sleek. pursuit: (n) quest, hunt, search, persecution, chase, career, interest, job, business, performance, employment.

Yes, perhaps.

Suppose then that we **invite** him to accompany us in the argument, and then we may hope to show him that there is nothing **peculiar** in the constitution of women which would affect them in the administration of the State.

By all means.

Let us say to him: Come now, and we will ask you a question:—when you spoke of a nature gifted or not gifted in any respect, did you mean to say that one man will acquire a thing easily, another with difficulty; a little learning will lead the one to discover a great deal; whereas the other, after much study and application, no sooner learns than he forgets; or again, did you mean, that the one has a body which is a good servant to his mind, while the body of the other is a hindrance to him?—would not these be the sort of differences which distinguish the man gifted by nature from the one who is **ungifted**?

No one will deny that.

And can you mention any pursuit of mankind in which the male sex has not all these gifts and qualities in a higher degree than the female? Need I waste time in speaking of the art of **weaving**, and the management of pancakes and preserves, in which **womankind** does really appear to be great, and in which for her to be beaten by a man is of all things the most **absurd**?

You are quite right, he replied, in maintaining the general inferiority of the female sex: although many women are in many things superior to many men, yet on the whole what you say is true.

And if so, my friend, I said, there is no special **faculty** of administration in a state which a woman has because she is a woman, or which a man has by virtue of his sex, but the gifts of nature are alike diffused in both; all the pursuits of men are the pursuits of women also, but in all of them a woman is inferior to a man.

Very true.

Then are we to impose all our enactments on men and none of them on women?

absurd: (adj) ridiculous, foolish, unreasonable, irrational, meaningless, inept, senseless, nonsensical, illogical, ludicrous; (adj, n) silly. ANTONYMS: (adj) rational, reasonable, logical, wise, weighty, sound, consistent, serious, plausible, credible, acceptable.

**faculty**: (*adj*, *n*) capacity, cleverness; (*n*) aptitude, capability, bent, power, staff, facility; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) talent; (*n*, *v*) endowment, gift. ANTONYMS: (*n*)

#### **Thesaurus**

students, pupils, ineptness, incompetence, incapacity. invite: (v) tempt, allure, bid, call, entice, ask, summon, attract, receive, solicit; (n) invitation. ANTONYMS: (v) elect, repel. peculiar: (adj) particular, odd,

peculiar: (adj) particular, odd, exceptional, different, extraordinary, curious, eccentric, characteristic, anomalous, abnormal, distinctive. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, typical, common, universal, explicable, conventional.

ungifted: (adj) stolid, shallow, petty, dull, unintelligent, unwise, unenlightened, undiscerning, dilettante.

weaving: (adj) lurching, staggering, walking unsteadily, unstable, stupefying, irregular, astounding, unsteady; (n) braiding, creating from raw materials, aspect weaving. womankind: (n) womanhood, gentle sex, people.

That will never do.

One woman has a **gift** of healing, another not; one is a musician, and another has no music in her nature?

Very true.

And one woman has a turn for gymnastic and military exercises, and another is **unwarlike** and hates gymnastics?

Certainly.

And one woman is a philosopher, and another is an enemy of **philosophy**; one has spirit, and another is without spirit?

That is also true.

Then one woman will have the **temper** of a guardian, and another not. Was not the selection of the male guardians **determined** by differences of this sort?

Yes.

Men and women alike possess the qualities which make a guardian; they differ only in their comparative strength or weakness.

Obviously.

And those women who have such qualities are to be **selected** as the companions and colleagues of men who have similar qualities and whom they **resemble** in capacity and in character?

Very true.

And ought not the same natures to have the same pursuits?

They ought.

Then, as we were saying before, there is nothing unnatural in assigning music and gymnastic to the wives of the guardians—to that point we come round again.

Certainly not.

#### **Thesaurus**

penalty, forfeiture, failing.

determined: (adj) constant, definite, decided, stubborn, certain, inflexible, decisive, determinate, ambitious, set; (adj, v) resolved. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncertain, irresolute, unmotivated, feeble, indecisive, waffling, undetermined, undecided, wavering, vacillating, fickle.

gift: (adj, n, v) endowment, faculty, ability, talont (v) donation flair.

gift: (adj, n, v) endowment, faculty, ability, talent; (n) donation, flair, bestowal; (n, v) award, present, boon; (adj, n) capacity. ANTONYMS: (n)

philosophy: (n) ethics, logic, theory, ideology, literalism, monism, metaphysics, etiology, esthetics, axiology; (adj, n) stoicism.
resemble: (v) seem, imitate, compare, correspond, to resemble, agree, look, simulate; (adj) look like; (n) resemblance; (adv) alike.
selected: (adj) chosen, preferred, choice, elected, elect, designate, premium, to be, designated, elite;

(adj, n) best. ANTONYM: (adj) all. temper: (adj, v) moderate, soften, mitigate, harden; (n) character, disposition, humor, nature; (v) modify, season, qualify.

ANTONYMS: (n, v) upset; (v) soften, agitate, excite, flex, bend, increase; (n) composure, happiness, wrath, equanimity.

**unwarlike**: (*adj*) immartial, not martial, peaceable, compliant.

The law which we then enacted was agreeable to nature, and therefore not an impossibility or mere aspiration; and the contrary practice, which prevails at present, is in **reality** a violation of nature.

That appears to be true.

We had to consider, first, whether our proposals were possible, and **secondly** whether they were the most **beneficial**?

Yes.

And the possibility has been acknowledged?

Yes.

The very great benefit has next to be established?

Quite so.

You will admit that the same education which makes a man a good guardian will make a woman a good guardian; for their original nature is the same?

Yes.

I should like to ask you a question.

What is it?

Would you say that all men are **equal** in excellence, or is one man better than another?

The latter.

And in the commonwealth which we were founding do you conceive the guardians who have been brought up on our model system to be more perfect men, or the cobblers whose education has been cobbling?

What a ridiculous question!

You have answered me, I replied: Well, and may we not further say that our guardians are the best of our citizens?

By far the best.

And will not their wives be the best women?

# Thesaurus

beneficial: (adj) favorable, fruitful, handy, profitable, useful, expedient, propitious, productive, healthy, conducive, good. ANTONYMS: (adj) useless, disadvantageous, harmful, unhelpful, unhealthy, unprofitable, destructive, detrimental, inauspicious, negative, unfortunate. equal: (v) compare, equalize, equate; (adj, v) agree, correspond, even, equivalent; (adj) comparable; (n) compeer; (adj, n, v) rival, parallel.

ANTONYMS: (adj) different, repressive, uneven, disproportionate, reality: (n, v) fact, efficiency, deed; (n) inconsistent, unlike, dissimilar, discriminating, diverse; (v) differ, disproportion.

perfect: (adj, n, v) consummate, complete; (adj, n) absolute, full, entire; (adj) exact, utter, thorough, faultless, integral, exquisite. ANTONYMS: (adj) flawed, faulty, wrong, inferior, misshapen, incorrect, defective, used, everyday, unhappy,

existence, certainty, actuality, realism, being, realness, truth, entity. ANTONYMS: (n) vision, imagination, delusion, dream, illusion, idealism, unreality, fiction. secondly: (adv) secondarily, second, latterly, subordinately, duplicately, inferiorly, forwardly, additionally, furtherly, in the second place, subsequently.

Yes, by far the best.

And can there be anything better for the interests of the State than that the men and women of a State should be as good as possible?

There can be nothing better.

And this is what the arts of music and gymnastic, when present in such manner as we have described, will accomplish?

Certainly.

Then we have made an **enactment** not only possible but in the highest degree beneficial to the State?

True.

Then let the wives of our guardians strip, for their virtue will be their **robe**, and let them share in the toils of war and the defence of their country; only in the distribution of labours the lighter are to be assigned to the women, who are the weaker natures, but in other respects their duties are to be the same. And as for the man who laughs at naked women exercising their bodies from the best of motives, in his laughter he is plucking

## A fruit of **unripe** wisdom,

and he himself is ignorant of what he is laughing at, or what he is about; -for that is, and ever will be, the best of sayings, That the useful is the noble and the hurtful is the base.

Very true.

Here, then, is one difficulty in our law about women, which we may say that we have now escaped; the wave has not **swallowed** us up alive for **enacting** that the guardians of either sex should have all their pursuits in common; to the utility and also to the possibility of this arrangement the consistency of the argument with itself bears witness.

Yes, that was a mighty wave which you have escaped.

#### Thesaurus

bears: (n) fissiped, badgers, Carnivora, order Carnivora. consistency: (n) agreement, body, coherence, consonance, conformity, density, thickness, uniformity, viscosity, congruity, congruence. ANTONYMS: (n) discrepancy, variability, incongruity, disagreement, untrustworthiness, variety, divergence. enacting: (adj) legislative; (n) acting. enactment: (n) constitution, edict, act,

law, acting, statute, canon, institution, establishment, fiat; (n, v)

laughs: (n) diversion, comedy, amusement, sport, recreation, merriment, entertainment, levity. **plucking**: (n) harvesting, rip out. robe: (n, v) dress, array, vest, garb, apparel; (v) clothe, attire, rig; (n)gown, cloak, garment.

swallowed: (adj) engulfed, gulped, inundated, overcome, overwhelmed,

flooded, overpowered, enclosed. unripe: (adj) green, raw, premature, crude, young, uncooked, juvenile, half grown, callow, inexperienced, unfledged. ANTONYMS: (adi) mature, ripe, ready.

utility: (n, v) usefulness; (n) service, value, avail, purpose, practicality, advantage, help, helpfulness, effectiveness; (adj) functional. ANTONYM: (n) inutility.

Yes, I said, but a greater is coming; you will not think much of this when you see the next.

Go on; let me see.

The law, I said, which is the **sequel** of this and of all that has preceded, is to the following effect,—'that the wives of our guardians are to be common, and their children are to be common, and no parent is to know his own child, nor any child his parent.'

Yes, he said, that is a much greater wave than the other; and the possibility as well as the utility of such a law are far more questionable.

I do not think, I said, that there can be any dispute about the very great utility of having wives and children in common; the possibility is quite another matter, and will be very much disputed.

I think that a good many doubts may be raised about both.

You **imply** that the two questions must be combined, I replied. Now I meant that you should admit the utility; and in this way, as I thought, I should escape from one of them, and then there would remain only the possibility.

But that little attempt is **detected**, and therefore you will please to give a defence of both.

Well, I said, I submit to my **fate**. Yet grant me a little favour: let me feast my mind with the dream as day dreamers are in the habit of **feasting** themselves when they are walking alone; for before they have discovered any means of **effecting** their wishes—that is a matter which never troubles them—they would rather not **tire** themselves by thinking about **possibilities**; but assuming that what they desire is already granted to them, they proceed with their plan, and delight in **detailing** what they mean to do when their wish has come true—that is a way which they have of not doing much good to a capacity which was never good for much. Now I myself am beginning to lose heart, and I should like, with your permission, to pass over the question of possibility at present. Assuming therefore the possibility of the proposal, I shall now proceed to enquire how the rulers will carry out these arrangements, and I shall **demonstrate** that our plan, if

#### **Thesaurus**

demonstrate: (v) authenticate, present, establish, exhibit, attest, show, argue, denote, explain, manifest; (adj, v) display. ANTONYMS: (v) conceal, mask, hide, distort, disguise, confute, approve, misrepresent, accept, confuse. detailing: (n) particularization,

**detailing**: (n) particularization, description, recital. **detected**: (adj) apparent, convicted,

detect.

**effecting**: (n) accomplishment,

implementation, completing, finishing, fulfillment, carrying out; (*adj*) effectual.

**fate**: (*n*, *v*) doom; (*n*) chance, luck, fatality, fortune, kismet, allotment, portion, lot; (*v*) destine, designate. ANTONYMS: (*n*) will, design, choice, accident, chance.

feasting: (n) carnival, eating.
imply: (n, v) denote, betoken; (v)
connote, hint, allude, intimate, entail,
mean, indicate, convey; (adj, v)

involve.

possibilities: (n) potential, field. sequel: (n) sequence, result, issue, aftermath, continuation, continuance, outcome, consequence, ending, upshot, outgrowth. ANTONYM: (n) prelude.

tire: (*n*, *v*) bore, jade; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) fatigue; (*v*) exhaust, harass, fag, weary, wear, pall, prostrate; (*n*) tyre. ANTONYMS: (*v*) interest, invigorate, energize.

**executed**, will be of the greatest benefit to the State and to the guardians. First of all, then, if you have no objection, I will endeavour with your help to consider the advantages of the measure; and hereafter the question of possibility.

I have no objection; proceed.

First, I think that if our rulers and their auxiliaries are to be worthy of the name which they bear, there must be willingness to obey in the one and the power of command in the other; the guardians must themselves obey the laws, and they must also imitate the spirit of them in any details which are entrusted to their care.

That is right, he said.

You, I said, who are their legislator, having selected the men, will now select the women and give them to them;—they must be as far as possible of like natures with them; and they must live in common houses and meet at common meals. None of them will have anything specially his or her own; they will be together, and will be brought up together, and will **associate** at gymnastic exercises. And so they will be drawn by a necessity of their natures to have intercourse with each other—necessity is not too strong a word, I think?

Yes, he said;—necessity, not geometrical, but another sort of necessity which lovers know, and which is far more **convincing** and **constraining** to the mass of mankind.

True, I said; and this, Glaucon, like all the rest, must proceed after an **orderly** fashion; in a city of the blessed, licentiousness is an unholy thing which the rulers will forbid.

Yes, he said, and it ought not to be permitted.

Then clearly the next thing will be to make **matrimony** sacred in the highest degree, and what is most beneficial will be deemed sacred?

Exactly.

And how can marriages be made most beneficial?—that is a question which I put to you, because I see in your house dogs for hunting, and of the nobler sort of

#### **Thesaurus**

associate: (n, v) affiliate, connect, link; (n) partner, fellow, companion, assistant, accomplice, adjunct; (v) company, relate. ANTONYMS: (v) avoid, distance, separate, disconnect, clear, divide, estrange; (adj) chief; (n) stranger, rival, competitor.

constraining: (prep) cogent, conclusive, forcible, powerful; (adj) compelling, exigent, awkward, close, limiting, forceful; (v) constrain.

convincing: (adj) cogent, forceful,

persuasive, compelling, believable, probable, impressive, likely, credible, valid, plausible. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, unrealistic, unpersuasive, questionable, dubious, doubtful, unbelievable, disputable, inaccurate, hesitant, unreliable.

**executed**: (*adj*) finished, fulfilled, complete.

**matrimony**: (*n*) wedding, union, marriage ceremony, nuptials, endogamy, bigamy, intermixture, alloyage, exogamy, intermarriage; (*n*, *v*) wedlock.

orderly: (adj) neat, tidy, exact, regular, ordered, systematic, logical, coherent, businesslike; (adv) systematically; (n) attendant. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmanageable, rowdy, wild, disorganized, untidy, disorderly, confused, lawless, messy, defiant, haphazard.

birds not a few. Now, I **beseech** you, do tell me, have you ever attended to their **pairing** and **breeding**?

In what particulars?

Why, in the first place, although they are all of a good sort, are not some better than others?

True.

And do you breed from them all indifferently, or do you take care to breed from the best only?

From the best.

And do you take the oldest or the youngest, or only those of ripe age?

I choose only those of ripe age.

And if care was not taken in the breeding, your dogs and birds would greatly **deteriorate**?

Certainly.

And the same of horses and animals in general?

Undoubtedly.

Good heavens! my dear friend, I said, what **consummate** skill will our rulers need if the same principle holds of the human species!

Certainly, the same principle holds; but why does this involve any particular skill?

Because, I said, our rulers will often have to practise upon the body corporate with medicines. Now you know that when patients do not require medicines, but have only to be put under a regimen, the inferior sort of practitioner is deemed to be good enough; but when medicine has to be given, then the doctor should be more of a man.

That is quite true, he said; but to what are you alluding?

#### **Thesaurus**

**beseech**: (*v*) beg, crave, implore, ask, request, adjure, pray, sue, appeal, solicit, plead. ANTONYMS: (*v*) give, offer, grant, reject.

breeding: (n) education, upbringing, nurture, manners, reproduction, generation, propagation, culture, fostering, cultivation, multiplication. ANTONYMS: (n) unsophistication, vulgarity.

**consummate**: (*adj*, *v*) perfect; (*n*, *v*) conclude, crown; (*v*) accomplish,

achieve, execute; (adj) accomplished, absolute, profound, matchless, masterful. ANTONYMS: (adj) inadequate, mediocre, incomplete, deficient, amateurish, untrained, abysmal, inept; (v) start, initiate, begin.

deteriorate: (adj, v) degrade; (v) aggravate, decline, worsen, spoil, vitiate, descend, drop, fail, impair, rot. ANTONYMS: (v) recover, convalesce, grow, strengthen,

ameliorate, construct, flourish, recuperate, renovate, thrive, build. pairing: (n) mating, conjugation, union, crossing, cross, hybridization, matching, sex, twinning, marriage, pair.

ripe: (adj) adult, ready, advanced, prepared, good, grown, perfect, matured, finished, consummate; (adj, v) mellow. ANTONYMS: (adj) green, unripe, immature, dry, poisonous, young, unsuitable, sweet.

I mean, I replied, that our rulers will find a considerable dose of falsehood and deceit necessary for the good of their subjects: we were saying that the use of all these things regarded as medicines might be of advantage.

And we were very right.

And this lawful use of them seems likely to be often needed in the regulations of marriages and births.

How so?

Why, I said, the principle has been already laid down that the best of either sex should be united with the best as often, and the inferior with the inferior, as seldom as possible; and that they should rear the offspring of the one sort of union, but not of the other, if the flock is to be maintained in first-rate condition. Now these goings on must be a secret which the rulers only know, or there will be a further danger of our herd, as the guardians may be termed, breaking out into rebellion.

Very true.

Had we not better appoint certain festivals at which we will bring together the brides and bridegrooms, and sacrifices will be offered and suitable hymeneal songs composed by our poets: the number of weddings is a matter which must be left to the discretion of the rulers, whose aim will be to preserve the average of population? There are many other things which they will have to consider, such as the effects of wars and diseases and any similar agencies, in order as far as this is possible to prevent the State from becoming either too large or too small.

Certainly, he replied.

We shall have to invent some **ingenious** kind of lots which the less worthy may draw on each occasion of our bringing them together, and then they will accuse their own ill-luck and not the rulers.

To be sure, he said.

And I think that our braver and better youth, besides their other honours and rewards, might have greater facilities of intercourse with women given them;

#### Thesaurus

**appoint**: (v) assign, accredit, designate, allotment, measure, shot, portion. set, prescribe, delegate, create, make, ingenious: (adj) adroit, artful, clever, commission, fix; (n, v) name. ANTONYMS: (v) dismiss, fire, unfurnish, expel, dismantle, discharge, strip, elect, change. **breaking**: (n) breakage, breach, violation, infringement, contravention, smash, rift, scutching, shift, intermission; (v) deaden. dose: (n) potion, share, draught, dosage, medicine, batch, doctor,

cunning, deft, expert, creative, imaginative, cute, acute, able. ANTONYMS: (adj) impulsive, naive, unoriginal, inept.

rear: (v) breed, raise, bring up, nurture, educate, foster, nurse; (adj, v) erect; (n) tail; (adj, n) posterior; (adj) after. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) front; (adi) fore; (n) head; (v) level. rebellion: (n) revolt, insurrection,

mutiny, disobedience, uprising, unrest, revolution, outbreak, defiance, insurgency, commotion. ANTONYMS: (n) consent, compliance.

seldom: (adj) scarce, rare, few, infrequent; (adv) occasionally, infrequently, uncommonly, hardly, scarcely, not often, once in a blue moon. ANTONYMS: (adv) often, seldom.

their bravery will be a reason, and such fathers ought to have as many sons as possible.

True.

And the proper officers, whether male or female or both, for offices are to be held by women as well as by men -

Yes-

The proper officers will take the offspring of the good parents to the pen or fold, and there they will deposit them with certain nurses who dwell in a separate quarter; but the offspring of the inferior, or of the better when they chance to be deformed, will be put away in some mysterious, unknown place, as they should be.

Yes, he said, that must be done if the breed of the guardians is to be kept pure.

They will provide for their nurture, and will bring the mothers to the fold when they are full of milk, taking the greatest possible care that no mother recognises her own child; and other wet-nurses may be engaged if more are required. Care will also be taken that the process of suckling shall not be protracted too long; and the mothers will have no getting up at night or other trouble, but will hand over all this sort of thing to the nurses and attendants.

You suppose the wives of our guardians to have a fine easy time of it when they are having children.

Why, said I, and so they ought. Let us, however, proceed with our scheme. We were saying that the parents should be in the prime of life?

Very true.

And what is the prime of life? May it not be defined as a period of about twenty years in a woman's life, and thirty in a man's?

Which years do you mean to include?

A woman, I said, at twenty years of age may begin to bear children to the State, and continue to bear them until forty; a man may begin at five-and-

#### Thesaurus

breed: (n) variety, race, kind, ancestry, sort, order, species; (v) engender, multiply, beget, bear. ANTONYMS: (v) destroy, eradicate, ignore, kill, neglect, quell.

**fold**: (n, v) crease, pucker, wrinkle, lap, double, roll, bend; (v) crumple, collapse, wrap; (n) flock. ANTONYMS: (v) flatness, expose, open, create, thrive, smooth; (n) unfolding.

milk: (v) squeeze, drain, tap, bleed,

anodyne, balm; (n) buttermilk, colostrum, foremilk; (adj) gluten,

mysterious: (adj) inscrutable, incomprehensible, deep, eerie, inexplicable, obscure, abstruse, dark, cryptic, secret, arcane. ANTONYMS: (adj) known, apparent, normal, open, explicable, facile, obvious, simple, legible, familiar, transparent.

protracted: (adj, v) extended, lingering, continued; (adj) prolonged, lengthy,

extensive, prolix, chronic, lengthened, slow, spun out. ANTONYMS: (adj) brief, abrupt, short, concise, easy.

pure: (adj) absolute, natural, faultless, innocent, immaculate, perfect, good, clean; (adj, n) chaste, genuine; (adj, v)mere. ANTONYMS: (adj) contaminated, dishonored, diluted, tainted, wicked, practical, polluted, flawed, marred, unsaturated, unchaste.

twenty, when he has passed the point at which the pulse of life beats quickest, and continue to beget children until he be fifty-five.

Certainly, he said, both in men and women those years are the prime of physical as well as of intellectual vigour.

Any one above or below the prescribed ages who takes part in the public hymeneals shall be said to have done an unholy and unrighteous thing; the child of which he is the father, if it steals into life, will have been conceived under auspices very unlike the sacrifices and prayers, which at each hymeneal priestesses and priest and the whole city will offer, that the new generation may be better and more useful than their good and useful parents, whereas his child will be the offspring of darkness and strange lust.

Very true, he replied.

And the same law will apply to any one of those within the prescribed age who forms a connection with any woman in the prime of life without the sanction of the rulers; for we shall say that he is raising up a bastard to the State, uncertified and unconsecrated.

Very true, he replied.

This applies, however, only to those who are within the **specified** age: after that we allow them to range at will, except that a man may not marry his daughter or his daughter's daughter, or his mother or his mother's mother; and women, on the other hand, are prohibited from marrying their sons or fathers, or son's son or father's father, and so on in either direction. And we grant all this, accompanying the permission with strict orders to prevent any embryo which may come into being from seeing the light; and if any force a way to the birth, the parents must understand that the offspring of such an union cannot be maintained, and arrange accordingly.

That also, he said, is a reasonable proposition. But how will they know who are fathers and daughters, and so on?

They will never know. The way will be this: - dating from the day of the hymeneal, the bridegroom who was then married will call all the male children

#### Thesaurus

accompanying: (adj) concomitant, concurrent, related, acceding, incidental, accessory, subservient, auxiliary, collateral, minor, supplementary.

forecast, backing, security, sponsorship, guidance, means, custody, agency.

bastard: (adj, n) illegitimate, fake; (adj) spurious, phony, misbegotten, bastardly, adulterine, impure; (n)

whoreson, love child, illegitimate child. ANTONYM: (adj) fathered. embryo: (n) foetus, fetus, bud, origin, nucleus, seed, conceptus, blastula, egg, beginning; (adj) embryotic. auspices: (n) auspice, aegis, patronage, orders: (n) holy orders, information, preparation, remit, briefing, guidelines.

pulse: (n, v) throb; (n) pulsation, impulse, heartbeat, legume, rhythm, pounding, cadence; (v) pulsate, palpitate, pound.

quickest: (adv) most quickly. specified: (adj) specific, given, certain, set, appointed, particular, individual, named, assigned, destined, precise. unconsecrated: (adj) blasphemous, secular, unsanctified, unholy, unhallowed, unclean, sacrilegious, polluted, pollute, impure, impious. unrighteous: (adj) criminal, sinful, unjust, wrong, unholy, not righteous, ungodly, nefarious, godless; (adj, v) iniquitous, immoral.

who are born in the seventh and **tenth** month afterwards his sons, and the female children his daughters, and they will call him father, and he will call their children his **grandchildren**, and they will call the **elder** generation grandfathers and grandmothers. All who were begotten at the time when their fathers and mothers came together will be called their brothers and sisters, and these, as I was saying, will be forbidden to inter-marry. This, however, is not to be understood as an absolute **prohibition** of the marriage of brothers and sisters; if the lot favours them, and they receive the sanction of the Pythian oracle, the law will allow them.

Quite right, he replied.

Such is the scheme, Glaucon, according to which the guardians of our State are to have their wives and families in common. And now you would have the argument show that this community is consistent with the rest of our polity, and also that nothing can be better—would you not?

Yes, certainly.

Shall we try to find a common basis by asking of ourselves what ought to be the chief aim of the legislator in making laws and in the organization of a State,—what is the greatest good, and what is the greatest evil, and then consider whether our previous description has the **stamp** of the good or of the evil?

By all means.

Can there be any greater evil than discord and distraction and plurality where unity ought to **reign**? or any greater good than the bond of unity?

There cannot.

And there is unity where there is community of pleasures and pains—where all the citizens are glad or **grieved** on the same occasions of joy and sorrow?

No doubt.

Yes; and where there is no common but only private feeling a State is disorganized—when you have one half of the world **triumphing** and the other plunged in grief at the same events **happening** to the city or the citizens?

#### **Thesaurus**

doyen, patriarch, ancient, boss, elderberry, superior, presbyter. ANTONYMS: (n) youngster, minor, child, inferior; (adj) youngest, younger, little. grandchildren: (n) grandson, heirs. grieved: (adj) sore, sad, sorry, sorrowful, upset, woeful, pained, affected, brokenhearted. happening: (n) incident, episode, circumstance, contingency, affair,

elder: (adj) older, big, adult; (n) dean,

event, fact, occurrence, experience, occasion, eventuality. **prohibition**: (*n*) inhibition, forbiddance, exclusion, interdiction, proscription, banning, embargo, forbidding, injunction, enjoinment, forbid. ANTONYMS: (*n*) entitlement, permission. **reign**: (*v*) govern, command, predominate dominate prevail: (*n*)

reign: (v) govern, command, predominate, dominate, prevail; (n) dominance, dominion, control, government, administration, kingdom.

**stamp**: (*n*, *v*) print, imprint, mark, seal, brand, impress, cast, punch, shape; (*v*) trample; (*n*) impression. **tenth**: (*adj*, *n*) tithe; (*adj*) denary, decimal, decuple, tenfold; (*n*) ten percent, tenth part, simple fraction, common fraction, disme. **triumphing**: (*n*) boast, gloriation; (*v*) triumphal, celebrating victory, exultant.

Certainly.

Such differences **commonly** originate in a **disagreement** about the use of the terms 'mine' and 'not mine,' 'his' and 'not his.'

Exactly so.

And is not that the best-ordered State in which the greatest number of persons apply the terms 'mine' and 'not mine' in the same way to the same thing?

Quite true.

Or that again which most nearly approaches to the condition of the individual—as in the body, when but a finger of one of us is hurt, the whole frame, drawn towards the soul as a centre and **forming** one kingdom under the ruling power therein, feels the hurt and sympathizes all together with the part affected, and we say that the man has a pain in his finger; and the same expression is used about any other part of the body, which has a **sensation** of pain at **suffering** or of pleasure at the **alleviation** of suffering.

Very true, he replied; and I agree with you that in the best-ordered State there is the nearest approach to this common feeling which you describe.

Then when any one of the citizens **experiences** any good or evil, the whole State will make his case their own, and will either rejoice or sorrow with him?

Yes, he said, that is what will happen in a well-ordered State.

It will now be time, I said, for us to return to our State and see whether this or some other form is most in accordance with these fundamental principles.

Very good.

Our State like every other has rulers and subjects?

True.

All of whom will call one another citizens?

Of course.

# **Thesaurus**

alleviation: (n) remission, abatement, relaxation, easement, solace, assuagement, mitigation, palliation, reprieve, comfort, easing.

commonly: (adv) ordinarily, usually, generally, customarily, normally, habitually, regularly, plebeianly, currently, popularly, publicly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) unusually, uncommonly, seldom, narrowly, tastefully, specifically.

disagreement: (n) discrepancy,

dispute, conflict, contention, variance, scrap, argument, difference of opinion, dissension; (n, v) discord; (adj, n) dissidence. ANTONYMS: (n) accord, harmony, consistency, compatibility, treaty, sameness, pact, consent, concord, acceptance, unity. experiences: (n) life, biography, journal, personal narrative, fortunes. forming: (n) shaping, form, form turning, organization, construction, molding, conformation, synthesis; (v)

create, constitute; (adj) constituent.

sensation: (n, v) feeling, impression,
sense; (v) affection; (n) emotion, feel,
perception, wonder, sensibility,
sensitivity, thrill. ANTONYMS: (n)
deadness, flop, dud, calm, failure.

suffering: (n) distress, agony,
affliction, anguish, torture, grief,
torment, misery, hardship; (adj, n)
hurt; (adj) miserable. ANTONYMS:
(adj, n) content; (n) peace, ecstasy, joy,
pleasure.

But is there not another name which people give to their rulers in other States?

Generally they call them masters, but in **democratic** States they simply call them rulers.

And in our State what other name besides that of citizens do the people give the rulers?

They are called saviours and helpers, he replied.

And what do the rulers call the people?

Their maintainers and foster-fathers.

And what do they call them in other States?

Slaves

And what do the rulers call one another in other States?

Fellow-rulers.

And what in ours?

Fellow-guardians.

Did you ever know an example in any other State of a ruler who would speak of one of his colleagues as his friend and of another as not being his friend?

Yes, very often.

And the friend he regards and describes as one in whom he has an interest, and the other as a stranger in whom he has no interest?

Exactly.

But would any of your guardians think or speak of any other guardian as a stranger?

Certainly he would not; for every one whom they meet will be regarded by them either as a brother or sister, or father or mother, or son or daughter, or as the child or **parent** of those who are thus connected with him.

#### **brother**: (n) fellow, blood brother, associate, counterpart, crony, comrade, buddy, peer, chum, sidekick, monk. ANTONYMS: (n) enemy, opposer, opponent. colleagues: (n) classmates, generation, peer group. daughter: (n) child, son, maiden, young woman, daughterly, lass,

unmarried woman, damsel, miss, missy, virgin.

democratic: (adj) equal, classless,

#### Thesaurus

popular, tolerant, informal, permissive, humane, free, broadminded, commoner, constitutional. ANTONYMS: (adj) authoritarian, tyrannical, repressive, autocratic, dictatorial, intolerant, totalitarian, undemocratic, communistic, oppressive. example: (n) exemplar, illustration, instance, sample, lead, paradigm,

prototype, pattern, design, guide,

precedent.

parent: (n, v) father; (n) mother, begetter, ancestor, origin, genitor, source; (v) foster, rear, nurture, bring

sister: (n) nurse, nun, brother, sisters, older sister, mate, twin, pair, fellow companion, double, match. ANTONYM: (n) brother.

**speak**: (adj, v) pronounce, utter; (v) converse, say, deliver, articulate, recite, talk, discourse, lecture; (n) language.

Capital, I said; but let me ask you once more: Shall they be a family in name only; or shall they in all their actions be true to the name? For example, in the use of the word 'father,' would the care of a father be implied and the filial reverence and duty and obedience to him which the law commands; and is the violator of these duties to be regarded as an impious and unrighteous person who is not likely to receive much good either at the hands of God or of man? Are these to be or not to be the strains which the children will hear **repeated** in their ears by all the citizens about those who are intimated to them to be their parents and the rest of their **kinsfolk**?

These, he said, and none other; for what can be more ridiculous than for them to utter the names of family ties with the **lips** only and not to act in the spirit of them?

Then in our city the language of harmony and concord will be more often heard than in any other. As I was describing before, when any one is well or ill, the **universal** word will be 'with me it is well' or 'it is ill.'

Most true.

And agreeably to this mode of thinking and speaking, were we not saying that they will have their pleasures and pains in common?

Yes, and so they will.

And they will have a common interest in the same thing which they will alike call 'my own,' and having this common interest they will have a common feeling of pleasure and pain?

Yes, far more so than in other States.

And the reason of this, over and above the general **constitution** of the State, will be that the guardians will have a community of women and children?

That will be the chief reason.

And this unity of feeling we admitted to be the greatest good, as was implied in our own **comparison** of a well-ordered State to the relation of the body and the members, when affected by pleasure or pain?

#### Thesaurus

comparison: (n) collation, likeness, compare, resemblance, correspondence, metaphor, comparing, similarity, contrast, parallel; (*n*, *prep*) connection. ANTONYMS: (n) difference, contrast. **members**: (n) convention, personnel. constitution: (n) code, makeup, temperament, organization, build, foundation, structure, law, charter, character, formation. filial: (adj) dutiful. kinsfolk: (n) kindred, kinfolk, folk,

people, dynasty, Sept, house, family line, family, pedigree, parentage. lips: (n) lip, inlet, logical inference per second, chops, porch, portal, portico, propylon, snout, door, orifice. repeated: (adj) continual, recurrent, frequent, persistent, repeat, double, habitual, chronic, again, common, continuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, rare, unique, alternate, unusual, spasmodic.

universal: (adj) general, global, ecumenical, international, common, worldwide, public, ubiquitous, comprehensive, widespread, oecumenical. ANTONYMS: (adj) local, specific, idiosyncratic, confined, isolated, narrow, rare.

violator: (n) lawbreaker, debaucher, ravisher, offender, rapist, libertine, outlaw, stunner, peach, mantrap, malefactor.

That we acknowledged, and very rightly.

Then the community of wives and children among our citizens is clearly the source of the greatest good to the State?

Certainly.

And this agrees with the other principle which we were affirming,—that the guardians were not to have houses or lands or any other property; their pay was to be their food, which they were to receive from the other citizens, and they were to have no private **expenses**; for we intended them to preserve their true character of guardians.

Right, he replied.

Both the community of property and the community of families, as I am saying, tend to make them more truly guardians; they will not **tear** the city in pieces by **differing** about 'mine' and 'not mine;' each man **dragging** any acquisition which he has made into a separate house of his own, where he has a separate wife and children and private pleasures and pains; but all will be affected as far as may be by the same pleasures and pains because they are all of one opinion about what is near and dear to them, and therefore they all tend towards a common end.

Certainly, he replied.

And as they have nothing but their persons which they can call their own, suits and complaints will have no existence among them; they will be delivered from all those quarrels of which money or children or relations are the occasion.

Of course they will.

Neither will trials for **assault** or insult ever be likely to occur among them. For that **equals** should **defend** themselves against equals we shall maintain to be honourable and right; we shall make the protection of the person a matter of necessity.

That is good, he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

assault: (*n*, *v*) storm, violence, raid, charge, onset, rape, thrust; (*v*) assail; (*n*) aggression, rush, offensive. ANTONYMS: (*v*) defend, protect, resist; (*n*) defense. defend: (*n*, *v*) guard, shield, advocate; (*v*) justify, protect, assert, support, maintain, champion, applogize.

**defend:** (*n*, *v*) guard, shield, advocate; (*v*) justify, protect, assert, support, maintain, champion, apologize, shelter. ANTONYMS: (*v*) prosecute, abandon, endanger, surrender, renounce, oppose, forsake, assault, contradict, destroy, expose.

differing: (adj) divergent, opposite, disagreeing, different, diverse, heretical, dissonant, dissentaneous, discrepant; (adv) differingly; (n) divergence. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, parallel.

dragging: (n) pulled wire, stemming, haulage; (adj) slow, sickly, slack, unfit, sluggish, tardy, tedious; (v) involve. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, energizing, exciting, prompt, short. equals: (n) classmates, colleagues,

contemporaries, generation, age group.

**expenses**: (*n*) expenditure, expense, charge, costs, fee, spending, disbursement, overheads, payment, outlay, upkeep.

**tear**: (n, v) rip, break, split, rupture, crack, run, slit; (v) pull, rend, lacerate; (adj, v) rush. ANTONYMS: (v) wait, mend, idle, fix, amble, dawdle.

Yes; and there is a further good in the law; viz. that if a man has a quarrel with another he will satisfy his resentment then and there, and not proceed to more dangerous lengths.

Certainly.

To the elder shall be assigned the duty of ruling and **chastising** the younger.

Clearly.

Nor can there be a doubt that the younger will not strike or do any other violence to an elder, unless the magistrates command him; nor will he slight him in any way. For there are two guardians, shame and fear, mighty to prevent him: shame, which makes men refrain from laying hands on those who are to them in the relation of parents; fear, that the injured one will be succoured by the others who are his brothers, sons, fathers.

That is true, he replied.

Then in every way the laws will help the citizens to keep the peace with one another?

Yes, there will be no want of peace.

And as the guardians will never quarrel among themselves there will be no danger of the rest of the city being divided either against them or against one another.

None whatever.

I hardly like even to mention the little meannesses of which they will be rid, for they are beneath notice: such, for example, as the flattery of the rich by the poor, and all the pains and pangs which men experience in bringing up a family, and in finding money to buy necessaries for their household, borrowing and then repudiating, getting how they can, and giving the money into the hands of women and slaves to keep-the many evils of so many kinds which people suffer in this way are mean enough and obvious enough, and not worth speaking of.

Yes, he said, a man has no need of eyes in order to perceive that.

# borrowing: (n) lending, loan, lend, pledging, borrow, business

borrowing, misappropriation, pawn, installment plan, acceptance, appropriation. chastising: (n) disciplining,

penalizing, imprisoning, fining. pangs: (n) anguish, compunction, contrition, distress.

repudiating: (adj) disdainful. resentment: (n) grudge, displeasure, indignation, anger, ill will, rancor,

umbrage, rage, envy, grievance, passion. ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, happiness, contentment, calm.

Thesaurus

satisfy: (v) please, persuade, meet, satiate, indulge, sate, appease; (adj, v) slight: (adj, adv) light; (adj) thin, flimsy, content, fill, suffice, do. ANTONYMS: (v) intensify, displease, disappoint, disgruntle, frustrate.

shame: (n, v) disgrace, dishonor, discredit, humiliate, degrade, chagrin; (n) humiliation, modesty, scandal, insult; (v) abash. ANTONYMS: (n) pride, glorification, making, worthiness; (v) acknowledge, glorify, respect,

slender, fragile, petty, little; (adv, n, v) neglect; (n, v) insult, scorn; (v) ignore. ANTONYMS: (adj) considerable, major, obvious, thickset, severe, wide, fat, intense, heavy, likely; (v) acknowledge.

And from all these evils they will be delivered, and their life will be blessed as the life of Olympic **victors** and yet more blessed.

How so?

The Olympic victor, I said, is deemed happy in **receiving** a part only of the blessedness which is **secured** to our citizens, who have won a more glorious victory and have a more complete maintenance at the public cost. For the victory which they have won is the salvation of the whole State; and the crown with which they and their children are crowned is the fulness of all that life needs; they receive rewards from the hands of their country while living, and after death have an honourable burial.

Yes, he said, and glorious rewards they are.

Do you remember, I said, how in the course of the previous discussion some one who shall be nameless accused us of making our guardians unhappy—they had nothing and might have **possessed** all things—to whom we replied that, if an occasion offered, we might perhaps hereafter consider this question, but that, as at present **advised**, we would make our guardians truly guardians, and that we were fashioning the State with a view to the greatest happiness, not of any particular class, but of the whole?

Yes, I remember.

And what do you say, now that the life of our protectors is made out to be far better and nobler than that of Olympic victors—is the life of shoemakers, or any other artisans, or of husbandmen, to be compared with it?

Certainly not.

At the same time I ought here to **repeat** what I have said elsewhere, that if any of our guardians shall try to be happy in such a manner that he will cease to be a guardian, and is not content with this safe and harmonious life, which, in our judgment, is of all **lives** the best, but **infatuated** by some **youthful** conceit of happiness which gets up into his head shall seek to appropriate the whole state to himself, then he will have to learn how wisely Hesiod spoke, when he said, 'half is more than the whole.'

#### **Thesaurus**

advised: (adj) studied, considered, premeditated, deliberate, calculated, intended; (v) determinate, express, designed.

infatuated: (adj, n) fanatical; (adj, v)
besotted; (adj) gaga, crazy, mad,
dotty, in love, obsessed, smitten,
taken with; (v) illiberal.
lives: (n) life, living, estate, existence,

**lives**: (*n*) life, living, estate, existence, earnest living.

**possessed**: (adj) mad, obsessed, frantic, hysterical, furious, fanatical,

infatuated, insane; (v) ought, owed, behoove. ANTONYM: (adj) uninterested.

receiving: (n) getting, reception, acceptance, taking, adoption, recipiency; (v) receive; (adj) received, accepting, admitting, recipient. ANTONYM: (n) rejection. repeat: (v) copy, recapitulate, redunicate princetor reheares.

repeat: (v) copy, recapitulate, reduplicate, reiterate, rehearse, return, say, double, renew, iterate, duplicate. **secured**: (*adj*) secure, protected, firm, locked, fast, bonded, bolted, barred, latched, securer, obtained. **victor**: (*n*) winner, champion,

vanquisher, master, champ, medalist, superior, title holder, hero,

victorious, skipper.

youthful: (adj) immature, fresh, green, juvenile, vernal, adolescent, childish, new, tender, sappy, beardless. ANTONYMS: (adj) adult, mature, experienced, sophisticated, late.

If he were to **consult** me, I should say to him: Stay where you are, when you have the offer of such a life.

You agree then, I said, that men and women are to have a common way of life such as we have described—common education, common children; and they are to watch over the citizens in common whether abiding in the city or going out to war; they are to keep watch together, and to **hunt** together like dogs; and always and in all things, as far as they are able, women are to share with the men? And in so doing they will do what is best, and will not **violate**, but preserve the natural relation of the sexes.

I agree with you, he replied.

The enquiry, I said, has yet to be made, whether such a community be found possible—as among other animals, so also among men—and if possible, in what way possible?

You have anticipated the question which I was about to suggest.

There is no difficulty, I said, in seeing how war will be carried on by them.

How?

Why, of course they will go on expeditions together; and will take with them any of their children who are strong enough, that, after the manner of the artisan's child, they may look on at the work which they will have to do when they are **grown** up; and besides looking on they will have to help and be of use in war, and to wait upon their fathers and mothers. Did you never observe in the arts how the potters' boys look on and help, long before they touch the **wheel**?

Yes, I have.

And shall potters be more careful in educating their children and in giving them the opportunity of seeing and practising their duties than our guardians will be?

The idea is ridiculous, he said.

There is also the effect on the parents, with whom, as with other animals, the presence of their young ones will be the greatest **incentive** to **valour**.

# **Thesaurus**

anticipated: (adj) expected, foreseen, predictable, due, estimated, appointed, awaited, coming, forthcoming, natural, planned. consult: (v) consider, negotiate, deliberate, advise, refer, discuss, ask, reason, look up, canvass; (n, v) talk. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, bypass. grown: (adj) mature, big, growed, grown-up, developed, ripe, grownup, fully grown, full-grown, growth, become. ANTONYM: (adj)

unripe.

hunt: (n, v) search; (v) course, follow, hound, rummage, forage, prey, dog, go after, persecute; (n) battue.

ANTONYMS: (v) find, precede.

incentive: (n) encouragement, cause, motive, impulse, inspiration, spur, motivation, fillip, whip; (n, v) stimulus, goad. ANTONYMS: (n) disincentive, constraint, penalty.

valour: (n) valor, valiancy, valiance, heroism, courage, bravery,

valorousness, prowess, daring, pluck, spirit. **violate**: (v) contravene, break,

transgress, ravish, desecrate, dishonor, disobey, infringe, rape, profane, offend. ANTONYMS: (v) obey, respect, consecrate, observe, honor, uphold.

wheel: (v) revolve, spin, trundle,

gyrate, twirl; (*n*, *v*) turn, cycle, circle, bicycle, bike; (*n*) gear.

That is quite true, Socrates; and yet if they are **defeated**, which may often happen in war, how great the danger is! the children will be lost as well as their parents, and the State will never **recover**.

True, I said; but would you never allow them to run any risk?

I am far from saying that.

Well, but if they are ever to run a risk should they not do so on some occasion when, if they escape **disaster**, they will be the better for it?

Clearly.

Whether the future soldiers do or do not see war in the days of their youth is a very important matter, for the **sake** of which some risk may fairly be incurred.

Yes, very important.

This then must be our first step,—to make our children spectators of war; but we must also contrive that they shall be secured against danger; then all will be well.

True.

Their parents may be supposed not to be blind to the risks of war, but to know, as far as human **foresight** can, what expeditions are safe and what dangerous?

That may be assumed.

And they will take them on the safe expeditions and be **cautious** about the dangerous ones?

True.

And they will place them under the command of experienced veterans who will be their leaders and teachers?

Very properly.

Still, the dangers of war cannot be always foreseen; there is a good deal of chance about them?

True.

#### **Thesaurus**

cautious: (adj) guarded, conservative, prudent, watchful, attentive, reserved, shy, provident, judicious, circumspect, chary. ANTONYMS: (adj) rash, open, impulsive, impetuous, careless, irresponsible, wasteful, incautious, thoughtless, imprudent, unwary. defeated: (n) loser; (adj) frustrated, beaten, broken, overcome, balked, baffled, bested, thwarted, unsuccessful; (adj, n) discomfited.

ANTONYM: (adj) victorious. disaster: (n) calamity, blow, accident, adversity, casualty, cataclysm, debacle, destruction, misfortune, misadventure, fiasco. ANTONYMS: (n) success, blessing, joy, miracle, opportunity, wonder, order. foresight: (n) prevision, forecast, caution, prospicience, calculation, prescience, prediction, precaution, vision, foresightedness; (n, v) expectation. ANTONYM: (n)

hindsight.

recover: (v) reclaim, get back,
recuperate, retrieve, regain, pick up,
get well, restore, heal, convalesce,
mend. ANTONYMS: (v) lose, die,
decline, aggravate, abandon, worsen,
scatter.

**sake**: (*n*, *v*) interest, reason, motive, ground; (*v*) advantage, cause; (*n*) object, account, design, purpose, saki.

Then against such chances the children must be at once furnished with wings, in order that in the hour of need they may fly away and escape.

What do you mean? he said.

I mean that we must **mount** them on horses in their **earliest** youth, and when they have learnt to ride, take them on horseback to see war: the horses must not be spirited and warlike, but the most tractable and yet the swiftest that can be had. In this way they will get an excellent view of what is hereafter to be their own business; and if there is danger they have only to follow their elder leaders and escape.

I believe that you are right, he said.

Next, as to war; what are to be the relations of your **soldiers** to one another and to their enemies? I should be inclined to propose that the soldier who leaves his rank or throws away his arms, or is guilty of any other act of cowardice, should be degraded into the rank of a husbandman or artisan. What do you think?

By all means, I should say.

And he who allows himself to be taken **prisoner** may as well be made a present of to his enemies; he is their lawful prey, and let them do what they like with him.

Certainly.

But the **hero** who has distinguished himself, what shall be done to him? In the first place, he shall receive honour in the army from his youthful comrades; every one of them in **succession** shall crown him. What do you say?

I approve.

And what do you say to his receiving the right hand of **fellowship**?

To that too, I agree.

But you will hardly agree to my next proposal.

What is your proposal?

That he should kiss and be kissed by them.

#### Thesaurus

earliest: (adj) earlier, early, initial, primordial, matutinal, original, primitive, aboriginal, chief, foremost, opening, ANTONYMS: (adj) latest, subsequent, contemporary. fellowship: (n) community, company, companionship, communion, camaraderie, society, comradeship, association, body; (adj, n) familiarity, acquaintance. ANTONYMS: (n) unsociability, unfriendliness, hostility.

**hero**: (*n*) character, protector, leader, demigod, warrior, protagonist, combatant, fighter, defender, bomber; (*adj*, *n*) worthy.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) coward, loser, villain.

mount: (*n*, *v*) rise, climb, frame; (*v*) board, arise, advance, jump, increase; (*n*) hill, mountain; (*adj*, *v*) ride.
ANTONYMS: (*v*) drop, decrease, wane, dismount; (*n*) valley, hollow.
prisoner: (*n*) captive, hostage, jailbird,

accused, con, gaolbird, criminal, detainee, inmate, defendant, unfortunate.

soldier: (n) warrior, fighter, serviceman, champion, ranker, military personnel, swordsman, trooper, cavalryman, guardsman, janissary.

**succession**: (*n*) series, run, round, chain, string, lineage, row, continuation, concatenation, course, reversion.

Most certainly, and I should be disposed to go further, and say: Let no one whom he has a mind to kiss refuse to be kissed by him while the **expedition** lasts. So that if there be a lover in the army, whether his love be youth or **maiden**, he may be more eager to win the prize of valour.

Capital, I said. That the brave man is to have more wives than others has been already determined: and he is to have first choices in such matters more than others, in order that he may have as many children as possible?

Agreed.

Again, there is another manner in which, according to Homer, brave youths should be honoured; for he tells how Ajax, after he had distinguished **himself** in battle, was rewarded with long chines, which seems to be a **compliment** appropriate to a hero in the flower of his age, being not only a tribute of honour but also a very **strengthening** thing.

Most true, he said.

Then in this, I said, Homer shall be our teacher; and we too, at sacrifices and on the like occasions, will honour the brave according to the measure of their valour, whether men or women, with hymns and those other distinctions which we were mentioning; also with

Seats of **precedence**, and meats and full cups;

and in honouring them, we shall be at the same time training them.

That, he replied, is excellent.

Yes, I said; and when a man dies **gloriously** in war shall we not say, in the first place, that he is of the golden race?

To be sure.

Nay, have we not the authority of Hesiod for affirming that when they are dead

# **Thesaurus**

compliment: (*n*, *v*) praise, honor; (*v*) laud, flattery, applaud, greet, adulation, congratulate, belaud; (*n*) eulogy, tribute. ANTONYMS: (*n*) criticism, reproach, disparagement; (*n*, *v*) slander, libel; (*v*) criticize, denounce, disparage, denigrate, complain, belittle. expedition: (*n*) dispatch, travel,

expedition: (n) dispatch, travel, celerity, speed, haste, readiness, quest, tour; (n, v) campaign, journey, crusade. ANTONYMS: (n) delay, procrastination, slowing. gloriously: (adv) brilliantly, grandly, magnificently, illustriously, marvelously, superbly, wonderfully, gorgeously, radiantly, greatly, renownedly.

himself: (pron) herself, themselves, yourself, itself; (adj) myself; (n) yourselves.

maiden: (n) maid, girl, demoiselle, damosel, wench, fille, lass, miss; (adj) first, initiatory, unmarried. precedence: (n) lead, advantage, anteriority, pas, antecedency, preference, precession, superiority, supremacy; (adj, n) priority; (adj) rank.

strengthening: (n) fortification, concentration, reinforcement, consolidation, transformation, transmutation, reenforcement, reinforcing, intensification; (v) strengthen; (adj) bracing.

ANTONYM: (n) weakening.

They are holy angels upon the earth, authors of good, averters of evil, the guardians of speech-gifted men?

Yes; and we accept his authority.

We must learn of the god how we are to order the sepulture of divine and heroic personages, and what is to be their special distinction; and we must do as he bids?

By all means.

And in ages to come we will reverence them and kneel before their sepulchres as at the graves of heroes. And not only they but any who are deemed pre-eminently good, whether they die from age, or in any other way, shall be admitted to the same honours.

That is very right, he said.

Next, how shall our soldiers treat their enemies? What about this?

In what respect do you mean?

First of all, in regard to slavery? Do you think it right that Hellenes should enslave Hellenic States, or allow others to enslave them, if they can help? Should not their custom be to spare them, considering the danger which there is that the whole race may one day fall under the yoke of the barbarians?

To spare them is **infinitely** better.

Then no Hellene should be **owned** by them as a slave; that is a rule which they will observe and advise the other Hellenes to observe.

Certainly, he said; they will in this way be united against the barbarians and will keep their hands off one another.

Next as to the slain; ought the conquerors, I said, to take anything but their armour? Does not the practice of **despoiling** an enemy afford an excuse for not facing the battle? Cowards skulk about the dead, pretending that they are fulfilling a duty, and many an army before now has been lost from this love of plunder.

#### Thesaurus

custom: (n) habit, convention, usage, practice, consuetude, fashion, method, mores; (n, v) use, accustom; (adj) bespoke. ANTONYMS: (n) fad, innovation, phenomenon, rage, rarity.

**despoiling**: (n) havoc, depredation. graves: (n) Robert Graves, Robert Ranke Graves.

infinitely: (adv) greatly, vastly, immensely, immeasurably, boundlessly, enormously,

unboundedly, hugely, ceaselessly, unendingly; (adj, adv) incalculably. ANTONYM: (adv) finitely. **kneel**: (v) genuflect, cringe, stoop, bob, **pretending**: (n, v) pretense; (n)

cry for quarter, dip, duck, humble oneself; (n) kneeling, knee, movement.

owned: (v) owed, ought; (adj) own, proprietary; (n) aught.

**plunder**: (n, v) pillage, spoil; (v)despoil, harry, devastate, maraud, destroy, strip, ransack; (n) booty,

depredation.

pre-eminently: (adv) principally, eminently.

affectation, appearance, acting, pretence, mannerism, dissembling, pretension, deception, deceit; (adv) pretendingly.

skulk: (v) prowl, sneak, creep, lie in wait, steal, malinger, shirk, conceal, slink; (adi) hide; (n, v) cower.

Very true.

And is there not illiberality and avarice in **robbing** a **corpse**, and also a degree of meanness and womanishness in making an enemy of the dead body when the real enemy has flown away and left only his fighting gear behind him,—is not this rather like a dog who cannot get at his assailant, quarrelling with the stones which strike him instead?

Very like a dog, he said.

Then we must abstain from spoiling the dead or **hindering** their burial?

Yes, he replied, we most certainly must.

Neither shall we offer up arms at the temples of the gods, least of all the arms of Hellenes, if we care to maintain good feeling with other Hellenes; and, indeed, we have reason to fear that the offering of spoils taken from kinsmen may be a pollution unless commanded by the god himself?

Very true.

Again, as to the devastation of Hellenic territory or the burning of houses, what is to be the practice?

May I have the pleasure, he said, of hearing your opinion?

Both should be forbidden, in my judgment; I would take the annual produce and no more. Shall I tell you why?

Pray do.

Why, you see, there is a difference in the names 'discord' and 'war,' and I imagine that there is also a difference in their natures; the one is expressive of what is internal and domestic, the other of what is external and foreign; and the first of the two is termed discord, and only the second, war.

That is a very proper distinction, he replied.

And may I not observe with equal propriety that the Hellenic race is all united together by ties of blood and friendship, and alien and strange to the barbarians?

Very good, he said.

### Thesaurus

**alien**: (n) foreigner, outsider; (adj) strange, extrinsic, remote, exotic, extraneous, unfamiliar; (n, v) alienate; **devastation**: (n) demolition, (adj, n) unknown; (v) estrange. ANTONYMS: (adj) familiar, akin, ordinary; (adj, n) native; (n) citizen, local.

assailant: (n) raider, attacker, assaulter, invader, enemy, fighter, opponent, antagonist, foe, mugger; (adj) aggressive.

corpse: (n) carcass, body, carcase, dead

person, stiff, dead body, remains, corse, clay, dry bones; (adj) lich. desolation, ruin, catastrophe, havoc, obliteration, damage, disaster, wreck, robbing: (adj) freebooting, practicing annihilation; (n, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (n) construction,

building, creation, order, preservation.

hindering: (adj) obstructive, clogging, preclusive, meddlesome, impedimental, counter, obstruent,

impedition; (v) hinder. kinsmen: (n) kin, kindred, family, kinsfolk, people, affinity. freebootery; (n) theft. womanishness: (n) effeminacy, unmanliness, effeminateness,

blocking up; (n) hindrance,

sissiness, effemination, emasculation, feminineness, femininity.

And therefore when Hellenes fight with barbarians and barbarians with Hellenes, they will be described by us as being at war when they fight, and by nature enemies, and this kind of antagonism should be called war; but when Hellenes fight with one another we shall say that Hellas is then in a state of disorder and discord, they being by nature friends; and such enmity is to be called discord.

I agree.

Consider then, I said, when that which we have acknowledged to be discord occurs, and a city is divided, if both parties destroy the lands and burn the houses of one another, how wicked does the strife appear! No true lover of his country would bring himself to tear in pieces his own nurse and mother: There might be reason in the **conqueror depriving** the **conquered** of their **harvest**, but still they would have the idea of peace in their hearts and would not mean to go on fighting for ever.

Yes, he said, that is a better temper than the other.

And will not the city, which you are founding, be an Hellenic city?

It ought to be, he replied.

Then will not the citizens be good and civilized?

Yes, very civilized.

And will they not be lovers of Hellas, and think of Hellas as their own land, and share in the common temples?

Most certainly.

And any difference which arises among them will be regarded by them as discord only — a quarrel among friends, which is not to be called a war?

Certainly not.

Then they will quarrel as those who **intend** some day to be reconciled? Certainly.

They will use friendly correction, but will not enslave or destroy their opponents; they will be correctors, not enemies?

## Thesaurus control, baffled. ANTONYMS: (adj)

**burn**: (adj, v) glow; (n, v) bite, fire, sunburn; (v) sting, scorch, incinerate, blaze, flare, ignite, cremate. ANTONYMS: (v) smother, give, subdue, help, quench, repay, stifle, extinguish, wet. called: (adj) named, titled, chosen, known as; (v) nempt, ycleped. conquered: (adj) overcome, vanquished, overwhelmed, crushed, subdued, profligate, routed, overthrown, done for, under enemy

victorious, liberated. conqueror: (n) champion, winner, subjugator, vanquisher, hero, superior, defeater, subduer, invader, colonist, Alexander. ANTONYM: (n) grudging, causing privation, stingy.

depriving: (adj) scanty, privative, **disorder**: (n, v) ailment, disarray, disease, jumble, muddle; (n) clutter, disturbance, disarrangement; (v)

derange, confuse, perturb. ANTONYMS: (n, v) order; (n)orderliness, calm, peace, tranquility, health; (v) organize, align, arrange, systematize, neaten. harvest: (n, v) fruit; (v) gain, glean, gather, amass, get, reap, pick; (n) ingathering, profit, produce. intend: (v) destine, design, mean, aim, determine, denote, contemplate, plan, purpose, consider, believe.

ANTONYM: (v) improvise.

Just so.

And as they are Hellenes themselves they will not devastate Hellas, nor will they burn houses, nor ever suppose that the whole population of a city—men, women, and children – are equally their enemies, for they know that the guilt of war is always confined to a few persons and that the many are their friends. And for all these reasons they will be unwilling to waste their lands and rase their houses; their enmity to them will only last until the many innocent sufferers have compelled the guilty few to give satisfaction?

I agree, he said, that our citizens should thus deal with their Hellenic enemies; and with barbarians as the Hellenes now deal with one another.

Then let us enact this law also for our guardians: - that they are neither to devastate the lands of Hellenes nor to burn their houses.

Agreed; and we may agree also in thinking that these, like all our previous enactments, are very good.

But still I must say, Socrates, that if you are allowed to go on in this way you will entirely forget the other question which at the commencement of this discussion you thrust aside: — Is such an order of things possible, and how, if at all? For I am quite ready to acknowledge that the plan which you propose, if only **feasible**, would do all sorts of good to the State. I will add, what you have omitted, that your citizens will be the bravest of warriors, and will never leave their ranks, for they will all know one another, and each will call the other father, brother, son; and if you suppose the women to join their armies, whether in the same rank or in the rear, either as a terror to the enemy, or as auxiliaries in case of need, I know that they will then be absolutely invincible; and there are many domestic advantages which might also be mentioned and which I also fully acknowledge: but, as I admit all these advantages and as many more as you please, if only this State of yours were to come into existence, we need say no more about them; assuming then the existence of the State, let us now turn to the question of possibility and ways and means – the rest may be left.

#### Thesaurus

**devastate**: (adj, v) consume, destroy, waste; (v) demolish, spoil, havoc, ruin, annihilate, sack, wreck, ravage. ANTONYMS: (v) construct, help, aid, improve, preserve, save, comfort, capitulate.

enact: (v) constitute, pass, command, act, ordain, order, prescribe, legislate, friends: (n) circle, associates, play, perform; (adj, v) establish. ANTONYMS: (v) cancel, abolish, annul, fail, reject, repeal, veto, revoke, stop.

feasible: (adj) probable, possible, fit, viable, available, practical, credible, achievable, likely, doable, realizable. ANTONYMS: (adj) impossible, unlikely, impracticable, impractical, inconceivable, infeasible, unfeasible, unrealistic, implausible.

connections, links, support group, acquaintances.

innocent: (adj) chaste, artless, clear, ingenuous, innocuous, guileless,

guiltless, ignorant, unsophisticated, spotless, naive. ANTONYMS: (adj) culpable, responsible, wicked, wary, experienced, corrupt, worldly, unfair, meaningful, offensive, jaded. rase: (v) erase, raze, efface, expunge, destroy, cancel, dismantle, pull down, level, bulldoze, ruin. thrust: (n, v) poke, stab, jab, drive, shove, force, punch, boost, cast, dig; (v) ram. ANTONYM: (n) inertia. yours: (adj) own.

If I **loiter** for a moment, you instantly make a **raid** upon me, I said, and have no **mercy**; I have hardly escaped the first and second waves, and you seem not to be aware that you are now bringing upon me the third, which is the greatest and heaviest. When you have seen and heard the third wave, I think you will be more **considerate** and will acknowledge that some fear and hesitation was natural respecting a proposal so extraordinary as that which I have now to state and investigate.

The more appeals of this sort which you make, he said, the more determined are we that you shall tell us how such a State is possible: speak out and at once.

Let me begin by reminding you that we found our way hither in the search after justice and injustice.

True, he replied; but what of that?

I was only going to ask whether, if we have discovered them, we are to require that the just man should in nothing fail of absolute justice; or may we be satisfied with an **approximation**, and the **attainment** in him of a higher degree of justice than is to be found in other men?

The approximation will be enough.

We were **enquiring** into the nature of absolute justice and into the character of the perfectly just, and into injustice and the perfectly unjust, that we might have an ideal. We were to look at these in order that we might judge of our own happiness and unhappiness according to the standard which they exhibited and the degree in which we resembled them, but not with any view of showing that they could exist in fact.

True, he said.

Would a painter be any the worse because, after having delineated with consummate art an ideal of a perfectly beautiful man, he was unable to show that any such man could ever have existed?

He would be none the worse.

Well, and were we not creating an ideal of a perfect State?

# **Thesaurus**

**approximation**: (*n*) guess, vicinity, affinity, guesswork, estimate, idea, appearance, proximity, joining; (*n*, *v*) estimation; (*adv*) about. **attainment**: (*adi*, *n*) acquirement; (*n*, *v*)

attainment: (adj, n) acquirement; (n, v) acquisition; (n) achievement, gain, accession, completion, fulfillment, success, performance, scholarship, realization. ANTONYM: (n) loss. considerate: (adj, n) thoughtful,

benevolent, nice, gentle, sympathetic, humane; (adj) magnanimous, kind,

polite, delicate, discreet. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, thoughtless, tactless, inconsiderate, selfish, rude, unkind, unforgiving, offhand, disrespectful, unsympathetic.

creating: (v) create; (n) making.
enquiring: (v) inquire, enquire; (adv)
enquiringly.

**loiter**: (*v*) dawdle, dally, tarry, hang around, prowl; (*adj*, *v*) loaf, delay, lounge, hesitate; (*adv*, *v*) lag; (*n*, *v*)

saunter. ANTONYMS: (v) leave, lead. mercy: (n) kindness, compassion, pity, favor, leniency, pardon, forgiveness, grace, charity, humanity; (n, v) quarter. ANTONYMS: (n) cruelty, harshness, unkindness, severity, mercilessness, ruthlessness, impatience, inhumanity. raid: (n, v) foray, maraud, bust, assault, sortie; (n) inroad, incursion, onset, invasion, descent; (v) pillage. ANTONYM: (n) defense.

To be sure.

And is our theory a worse theory because we are unable to prove the possibility of a city being ordered in the manner described?

Surely not, he replied.

That is the truth, I said. But if, at your request, I am to try and show how and under what conditions the possibility is highest, I must ask you, having this in view, to repeat your former admissions.

What admissions?

I want to know whether **ideals** are ever fully realized in language? Does not the word express more than the fact, and must not the actual, whatever a man may think, always, in the nature of things, fall short of the truth? What do you say?

I agree.

Then you must not **insist** on my proving that the actual State will in every respect **coincide** with the ideal: if we are only able to **discover** how a city may be governed nearly as we proposed, you will admit that we have discovered the possibility which you demand; and will be contented. I am sure that I should be contented – will not you?

Yes, I will.

Let me next endeavour to show what is that **fault** in States which is the cause of their present maladministration, and what is the least change which will enable a State to pass into the truer form; and let the change, if possible, be of one thing only, or, if not, of two; at any rate, let the changes be as few and slight as possible.

Certainly, he replied.

I think, I said, that there might be a reform of the State if only one change were made, which is not a slight or easy though still a possible one.

What is it? he said.

#### Thesaurus

coincide: (v) agree, concur, accede, correspond, conform, consort, accept, square, consent; (adj, v) meet; (n)coincidence. ANTONYMS: (v) diverge, disagree, contradict, clash, deviate, conflict.

discover: (v) discern, disclose, ascertain, find, perceive, catch, expose, hear, determine, sense, detect. ANTONYMS: (v) overlook, ignore, disregard, confuse, conceal, fault: (adj, n, v) deficiency; (n) error, blot, delinquency, flaw, break, blunder; (adj, n) failing, blemish; (n, v) blame, crime. ANTONYMS: (n) strength, virtue, capability, innocence, perfection, credit, ease; (v) insist: (v) affirm, assert, contend, praise, absolve.

highest: (adj, n) most; (adj) best, chief, foremost, first, supreme, topmost, extreme, utmost, top, uppermost. ANTONYMS: (adj) bottom, minor. ideal: (adj) perfect, fanciful,

consummate, abstract, classic, unreal; (n) standard, paragon, example, archetype, perfection. ANTONYMS: (adj) wrong, real, imperfect; (n) nightmare.

demand, claim, asseverate, declare, maintain, urge, importune, press. ANTONYMS: (v) request, deny. maladministration: (n) misgovernment, mismanagement, prevarication.

Now then, I said, I go to meet that which I **liken** to the greatest of the waves; yet shall the word be spoken, even though the wave break and **drown** me in laughter and dishonour; and do you mark my words.

Proceed.

I said: 'Until philosophers are kings, or the kings and princes of this world have the spirit and power of philosophy, and political greatness and wisdom meet in one, and those commoner natures who **pursue** either to the exclusion of the other are compelled to stand aside, cities will never have rest from their evils,—nor the human race, as I believe,—and then only will this our State have a possibility of life and behold the light of day.' Such was the thought, my dear Glaucon, which I would fain have uttered if it had not seemed too **extravagant**; for to be convinced that in no other State can there be happiness private or public is indeed a hard thing.

Socrates, what do you mean? I would have you consider that the word which you have uttered is one at which numerous persons, and very respectable persons too, in a figure pulling off their coats all in a moment, and **seizing** any weapon that comes to hand, will run at you might and main, before you know where you are, intending to do heaven knows what; and if you don't prepare an answer, and put yourself in motion, you will be 'pared by their fine wits,' and no mistake.

You got me into the **scrape**, I said.

And I was quite right; however, I will do all I can to get you out of it; but I can only give you good-will and good advice, and, perhaps, I may be able to fit answers to your questions better than another—that is all. And now, having such an auxiliary, you must do your best to show the unbelievers that you are right.

I ought to try, I said, since you offer me such **invaluable** assistance. And I think that, if there is to be a chance of our escaping, we must explain to them whom we mean when we say that philosophers are to rule in the State; then we shall be able to defend ourselves: There will be discovered to be some natures

#### **Thesaurus**

drown: (v) drench, submerge, overwhelm, choke, engulf, flood, swamp, inundate, suffocate, asphyxiate; (adj, n, v) sink. ANTONYMS: (v) float, swim, amplify, dry. extravagant: (adj) wasteful, luxurio

extravagant: (adj) wasteful, luxurious, prodigal, exaggerated, profligate, costly, expensive, lavish, immoderate, profuse, undue.

ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, frugal, parsimonious, plain, stingy,

understated, thrifty, reasonable, moderate, cautious, tasteful. invaluable: (adj) valuable, inestimable, incalculable, precious, costly, rare, unvalued, beyond price, unvaluable, serviceable, unprizable. ANTONYM: (adj) dispensable.

**liken**: (*adj*, *v*) compare; (*v*) equate, parallel, equalize, resemble, assimilate, associate, imitate, acquire, equalise; (*adj*) likely. **pursue**: (*v*) follow, dog, prosecute,

hunt, course, tail, stalk, persist, hound, haunt, go after. ANTONYMS: (v) shun, eschew, avoid, discourage, lead, precede, find.

**scrape**: (*n*, *v*) scratch, graze, score, mark; (*v*) rub, pare, rake, grate, chafe, abrade; (*n*) abrasion.

**seizing**: (v) seize; (n) seizure, clutches, prehension, taking, apprehension, capture, infection; (adj) catching, galling, controlling.

who ought to study philosophy and to be leaders in the State; and others who are not born to be philosophers, and are meant to be followers rather than leaders.

Then now for a definition, he said.

Follow me, I said, and I hope that I may in some way or other be able to give you a satisfactory explanation.

Proceed.

I dare say that you remember, and therefore I need not remind you, that a lover, if he is worthy of the name, ought to show his love, not to some one part of that which he loves, but to the whole.

I really do not understand, and therefore beg of you to assist my memory.

Another person, I said, might fairly reply as you do; but a man of pleasure like yourself ought to know that all who are in the flower of youth do somehow or other raise a pang or emotion in a lover's breast, and are thought by him to be worthy of his affectionate regards. Is not this a way which you have with the fair: one has a **snub** nose, and you praise his charming face; the hook-nose of another has, you say, a royal look; while he who is neither snub nor hooked has the grace of regularity: the dark visage is manly, the fair are children of the gods; and as to the sweet 'honey pale,' as they are called, what is the very name but the invention of a lover who talks in diminutives, and is not averse to paleness if appearing on the cheek of youth? In a word, there is no excuse which you will not make, and nothing which you will not say, in order not to lose a single flower that blooms in the spring-time of youth.

If you make me an authority in matters of love, for the sake of the argument, I assent.

And what do you say of lovers of wine? Do you not see them doing the same? They are glad of any **pretext** of drinking any wine.

Very good.

And the same is true of ambitious men; if they cannot command an army, they are willing to command a file; and if they cannot be honoured by really

#### Thesaurus

averse: (adj) reluctant, indisposed, backward, opposed, unwilling, disinclined, loth, antagonistic, antipathetical, repugnant, antipathetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) inclined, sympathetic, caring, eager, willing, keen.

hooked: (adj) bent, curved, aquiline, addicted, infatuated, obsessed, enamored, dependent, dependant, engrossed, uncinate. ANTONYM: (adj) unenthusiastic.

paleness: (adj, n) pallor; (n) pallidness, wanness, whiteness, achromasia, blondness, lividity, luridness, lividness, fairness, pale. ANTONYM: (n) strength.

pang: (n) pain, torture, ache, agony, ailment, cramp.

pretext: (n) pretense, pretension, color, pretence, mask, plea, guise, sham, appearance; (n, v) excuse, cloak. regularity: (n) constancy, evenness,

punctuality, orderliness, uniformity, steadiness, method, accuracy, discipline, system, exactness. ANTONYMS: (n) lateness, asymmetry, irregularity, disorder, variability, variety, abnormality. twinge, affliction, sting, stab, distress, snub: (n, v) repulse, insult, cut, slight, put down; (v) disregard, offend, ignore, check, humiliate; (n) rebuke. ANTONYMS: (v) accept, acknowledge, notice, boost, include; (n) acceptance.

great and important persons, they are glad to be honoured by lesser and meaner people, — but honour of some kind they must have.

Exactly.

Once more let me ask: Does he who desires any class of goods, desire the whole class or a part only?

The whole.

And may we not say of the philosopher that he is a lover, not of a part of wisdom only, but of the whole?

Yes, of the whole.

And he who dislikes learning, especially in youth, when he has no power of **judging** what is good and what is not, such an one we maintain not to be a philosopher or a lover of knowledge, just as he who refuses his food is not **hungry**, and may be said to have a bad **appetite** and not a good one?

Very true, he said.

Whereas he who has a taste for every sort of knowledge and who is curious to learn and is never satisfied, may be justly termed a philosopher? Am I not right?

Glaucon said: If **curiosity** makes a philosopher, you will find many a strange being will have a title to the name. All the lovers of sights have a delight in learning, and must therefore be included. Musical amateurs, too, are a folk **strangely** out of place among philosophers, for they are the last persons in the world who would come to anything like a **philosophical** discussion, if they could help, while they run about at the Dionysiac festivals as if they had let out their ears to hear every chorus; whether the performance is in town or country—that makes no difference—they are there. Now are we to maintain that all these and any who have similar tastes, as well as the professors of quite minor arts, are philosophers?

Certainly not, I replied; they are only an imitation.

He said: Who then are the true philosophers?

# **Thesaurus**

appetite: (n, v) desire; (n) appetence, appetency, relish, inclination, stomach, taste, thirst, passion, liking, gusto. ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, repulsion, revulsion, apathy, distaste. curiosity: (n) curiousness, rarity, interest, curio, oddity, prying, nosiness, peculiarity, novelty, marvel; (adj, n) prodigy.

ANTONYMS: (n) emotionlessness, indifference, disinterest.
hungry: (adj) eager, avid, famished,

starving, esurient, greedy, ravenous, desirous, meager, starveling; (v) starve. ANTONYMS: (adj) full, satiated, sated, thirsty, unconcerned, moderate, healthy, disinterested. judging: (n) judge, judgment, judged, decision making, assessment, thought, deciding, prejudgment, discernment. philosophical: (v) sedate, meditative,

**philosophical**: (v) sedate, meditative deliberative, platonic, museful, introspective, contemplative, pensive; (adj) cool; (adj, v) reflective, thoughtful. ANTONYMS: (adj) practical, nonphilosophical, emotional, realistic. strangely: (adv) curiously, queerly,

strangely: (adv) curiously, queerly, unusually, funnily, peculiarly, weirdly, marvelously, uncommonly, extraordinarily, singularly, bizarrely. ANTONYMS: (adv) typically, ordinarily, harmoniously. Those, I said, who are lovers of the **vision** of truth.

That is also good, he said; but I should like to know what you mean?

To another, I replied, I might have a difficulty in explaining; but I am sure that you will admit a proposition which I am about to make.

What is the proposition?

That since beauty is the opposite of ugliness, they are two?

Certainly.

And inasmuch as they are two, each of them is one?

True again.

And of just and unjust, good and evil, and of every other class, the same remark holds: taken singly, each of them is one; but from the various combinations of them with actions and things and with one another, they are seen in all sorts of **lights** and appear many?

Very true.

And this is the distinction which I draw between the sight-loving, art-loving, practical class and those of whom I am speaking, and who are alone worthy of the name of philosophers.

How do you **distinguish** them? he said.

The lovers of sounds and sights, I replied, are, as I conceive, **fond** of fine tones and colours and forms and all the **artificial** products that are made out of them, but their mind is incapable of seeing or loving **absolute** beauty.

True, he replied.

Few are they who are able to attain to the sight of this.

Very true.

And he who, having a sense of beautiful things has no sense of absolute beauty, or who, if another lead him to a knowledge of that beauty is unable to follow—of such an one I ask, Is he awake or in a dream only? Reflect: is not the

#### **Thesaurus**

absolute: (adj) total, unconditional, downright, full, categorical, utter, sheer; (adj, v) peremptory, unqualified; (adj, n) positive, real. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, qualified, incomplete, limited, provisional, uncertain, democratic, blemished, circumscribed, comparative, complaisant.

artificial: (adj) affected, theatrical, unreal, unnatural, strained, manmade, bogus, forced, phony, feigned, false. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, real, sincere, authentic, organic, untreated.

distinguish: (v) discriminate, perceive, know, describe, make out, discover, descry, behold, identify, recognize, separate. ANTONYMS: (v) mistake, confound, ignore, Miss, unite, demean.

fond: (adj) affectionate, caring, devoted, tender, loving, amorous, delicate, adoring, doting, ardent, attached. ANTONYMS: (adj) aversion, cold, rough.

**inasmuch**: (*adv*) gradually, pro tanto, so, since, as, that, because, inasmuch as, seeing that, for.

**lights**: (*n*) illumination, burn, lung, spacing material.

**vision**: (*n*) view, dream, imagination, daydream, outlook, specter, ghost, spirit, image, apparition; (*n*, *v*) fancy. ANTONYMS: (*n*) sightlessness, fact, actuality, blindness.

**dreamer**, sleeping or waking, one who likens dissimilar things, who **puts** the copy in the place of the real object?

I should certainly say that such an one was dreaming.

But take the case of the other, who recognises the existence of absolute beauty and is able to distinguish the idea from the objects which participate in the idea, neither putting the objects in the place of the idea nor the idea in the place of the objects—is he a dreamer, or is he awake?

He is wide awake.

And may we not say that the mind of the one who knows has knowledge, and that the mind of the other, who opines only, has opinion?

Certainly.

But suppose that the latter should quarrel with us and dispute our statement, can we **administer** any soothing **cordial** or advice to him, without **revealing** to him that there is sad disorder in his wits?

We must certainly offer him some good advice, he replied.

Come, then, and let us think of something to say to him. Shall we begin by **assuring** him that he is welcome to any knowledge which he may have, and that we are rejoiced at his having it? But we should like to ask him a question: Does he who has knowledge know something or nothing? (You must answer for him.)

I answer that he knows something.

Something that is or is not?

Something that is; for how can that which is not ever be known?

And are we assured, after looking at the matter from many points of view, that absolute being is or may be absolutely known, but that the utterly **non**-existent is utterly unknown?

Nothing can be more certain.

Good. But if there be anything which is of such a nature as to be and not to be, that will have a place intermediate between pure being and the absolute negation of being?

#### **Thesaurus**

administer: (n, v) manage, rule, minister, command; (v) dispense, distribute, give, operate, deal, supply, handle. ANTONYMS: (v) withhold, neglect, frustrate, refuse, deny, mismanage, take.

assuring: (adj) ensuring, insure, insuring, assure, ensure, giving confidence, securing, likely,

promising. **cordial**: (*adj*) genial, warm, affable, amiable, friendly, genuine, ardent,

unaffected, gracious, honest; (n) liqueur. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfriendly, stern, cold, cool, disagreeable, aloof, reserved, distant, rude, uncordial, unpleasant. dreamer: (n) romancer, visionary, daydreamer, woolgatherer, seer, sleeper, slumberer, illusionist, logician, philosopher, escapist. dreaming: (n) reverie, ambition, nightmare, conception, castle in the air; (adj) absent-minded, asleep,

visionary, vacant, wistful, rapt. non-existent: (adj) inexistent. puts: (n) stocks, securities, preferred stock, common stock, bonds. revealing: (adj) telling, telltale, significant, powerfully persuasive; (n) discovery, exposure, revelation, ratting, uncovering, reveal, apocalypse. ANTONYMS: (adj) confusing, secretive, concealing; (n) concealment.

Yes, between them.

And, as knowledge corresponded to being and ignorance of necessity to notbeing, for that intermediate between being and not-being there has to be discovered a **corresponding** intermediate between ignorance and knowledge, if there be such?

Certainly.

Do we admit the existence of opinion?

Undoubtedly.

As being the same with knowledge, or another faculty?

Another faculty.

Then opinion and knowledge have to do with different kinds of matter corresponding to this difference of faculties?

Yes.

And knowledge is **relative** to being and knows being. But before I proceed further I will make a division.

What division?

I will begin by **placing** faculties in a class by themselves: they are powers in us, and in all other things, by which we do as we do. Sight and **hearing**, for example, I should call faculties. Have I clearly explained the class which I mean?

Yes, I quite understand.

Then let me tell you my view about them. I do not see them, and therefore the distinctions of figure, colour, and the like, which **enable** me to discern the **differences** of some things, do not apply to them. In **speaking** of a faculty I think only of its sphere and its result; and that which has the same sphere and the same result I call the same faculty, but that which has another sphere and another result I call different. Would that be your way of speaking?

Yes.

#### **Thesaurus**

corresponding: (adj, v) same; (adj) similar, equal, comparable, commensurate, consonant, like, analogous, equivalent, matching, alike. ANTONYMS: (adj) dissimilar, unlike, against, counter, differing, mismatched, opposite, unbalanced, uneven, disproportionate. differences: (n) difference; (v) agree,

straighten out.

**enable**: (*v*) entitle, capacitate, qualify, authorize, license, accredit, permit,

let, endow, commission; (*adj*) able. ANTONYMS: (*v*) debilitate, disable, hinder, halt, forbid, prevent, stop, block, disallow, debar.

**hearing**: (n) audition, ear, auditory sense, trial, consultation, reach, auscultation, inquiry; (n, v) earshot, sound; (adj, n) audience.

placing: (n) placement, arrangement, disposition, installation, allocation, ordering, disposal, borrowing, composition. **relative**: (*adj*) related, comparative, proportionale, proportional, dependent; (*n*) cousin, kin, brother, connection, kinswoman; (*v*) kinsman. ANTONYM: (*adj*) absolute. **speaking**: (*n*) talk, discourse, speech,

speaking: (n) talk, discourse, speech public speaking, reading, oral presentation, recital, recitation, disputation; (v) speak; (adj) expressive. ANTONYMS: (adj) nonspeaking, silent. And will you be so very good as to answer one more question? Would you say that knowledge is a faculty, or in what class would you place it?

Certainly knowledge is a faculty, and the mightiest of all faculties.

And is opinion also a faculty?

Certainly, he said; for opinion is that with which we are able to form an opinion.

And yet you were acknowledging a little while ago that knowledge is not the same as opinion?

Why, yes, he said: how can any **reasonable** being ever **identify** that which is infallible with that which errs?

An excellent answer, proving, I said, that we are quite **conscious** of a **distinction** between them.

Yes.

Then knowledge and opinion having distinct powers have also distinct spheres or subject-matters?

That is certain.

Being is the sphere or subject-matter of knowledge, and knowledge is to know the nature of being?

Yes.

And opinion is to have an opinion?

Yes.

And do we know what we **opine**? or is the subject-matter of opinion the same as the subject-matter of knowledge?

Nay, he replied, that has been already disproven; if difference in faculty implies difference in the sphere or subject-matter, and if, as we were **saying**, opinion and knowledge are distinct faculties, then the sphere of knowledge and of opinion cannot be the same.

#### **Thesaurus**

conscious: (adj) alive, premeditated, mindful, deliberate, cognizant, calculated, intended, discerning, self-conscious, studied, voluntary. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaware, ignorant, unintentional, dead, accidental, inanimate, spontaneous, subconscious, unplanned, inadvertent, oblivious. distinction: (n) discrimination, contrast, difference, rank, dissimilarity, demarcation, prestige,

celebrity, reputation, consequence, variation. ANTONYMS: (n) mediocrity, resemblance, likeness, indistinction, insult, disgrace, commonness, obscurity. identify: (v) distinguish, discover,

identify: (v) distinguish, discover, name, detect, know, spot, ascertain, tell, place, find, mark. ANTONYM:

opine: (v) deem, believe, figure, guess, suppose, conceive, imagine, say, think, judge, reckon.

reasonable: (adj) rational, just, fair, legitimate, judicious, sensible, sane, temperate, impartial, inexpensive, equitable. ANTONYMS: (adj) illogical, unfair, expensive, unsatisfactory, inadequate, excessive, intolerable, intemperate, inexplicable, ridiculous, obsessional.

saying: (adj, n, v) maxim; (n) axiom,

**saying**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) maxim; (*n*) axiom, adage, phrase, dictum, idiom, byword, aphorism, expression; (*n*, *v*) saw, proverb.

Then if being is the subject-matter of **knowledge**, something else must be the subject-matter of opinion?

Yes, something else.

Well then, is not-being the subject-matter of opinion? or, rather, how can there be an opinion at all about not-being? Reflect: when a man has an opinion, has he not an opinion about something? Can he have an opinion which is an opinion about nothing?

Impossible.

He who has an opinion has an opinion about some one thing?

Yes.

And not-being is not one thing but, **properly** speaking, nothing?

True.

Of not-being, ignorance was assumed to be the necessary correlative; of being, knowledge?

True, he said.

Then opinion is not concerned either with being or with not-being?

Not with either.

And can therefore neither be ignorance nor knowledge?

That seems to be true.

But is opinion to be sought without and **beyond** either of them, in a greater clearness than knowledge, or in a greater **darkness** than ignorance?

In neither.

Then I **suppose** that opinion appears to you to be darker than knowledge, but lighter than ignorance?

Both; and in no small degree.

And also to be within and between them?

Yes.

#### **Thesaurus**

beyond: (adj, prep) across; (adv, prep) above, without, besides, over; (adj, adv) further; (adv) away, by, more, farther, abroad. ANTONYMS: (prep) below; (adv) close, inside.
darkness: (n) dark, shade, shadow, blindness, gloom, blackness, duskiness, murk, cloud, blackout, dimness. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, lightness, glow, comprehension, knowledge, day, clearness.

degree: (n) extent, level, condition, title, rank, academic degree, place, caliber, status, stair; (adj, n) order. knowledge: (n) information, comprehension, science, lore, understanding, intelligence, grasp, erudition, acquaintance; (n, v) cognition; (adj, n) art. ANTONYMS: (n) foolishness, inexperience. properly: (adv) duly, decently, appropriately, neatly, exactly, rightly, becomingly, fittingly, fitly, seemly,

aptly. ANTONYMS: (adv) improperly, incorrectly, inappropriately, unlawfully, unsuitably, unduly, informally, indecently, dishonorably, badly, jokingly.

**suppose**: (v) infer, guess, speculate, divine, presume, conjecture, reckon, imagine, estimate, consider, assume. ANTONYMS: (v) disbelieve, know, measure, despair, doubt, speculate.

Then you would infer that opinion is intermediate?

No question.

But were we not saying before, that if anything appeared to be of a sort which is and is not at the same time, that sort of thing would appear also to lie in the **interval** between pure being and absolute not-being; and that the corresponding faculty is neither knowledge nor ignorance, but will be found in the interval between them?

True.

And in that interval there has now been discovered something which we call opinion?

There has.

Then what remains to be discovered is the object which partakes equally of the nature of being and not-being, and cannot rightly be termed either, pure and simple; this unknown term, when discovered, we may truly call the subject of opinion, and assign each to their proper faculty, – the extremes to the faculties of the extremes and the mean to the faculty of the mean.

True.

This being premised, I would ask the **gentleman** who is of opinion that there is no absolute or unchangeable idea of beauty – in whose opinion the beautiful is the manifold—he, I say, your lover of beautiful sights, who cannot bear to be told that the beautiful is one, and the just is one, or that anything is one—to him I would appeal, saying, Will you be so very kind, sir, as to tell us whether, of all these beautiful things, there is one which will not be found ugly; or of the just, which will not be found unjust; or of the **holy**, which will not also be unholy?

No, he replied; the beautiful will in some point of view be found ugly; and the same is true of the rest.

And may not the many which are **doubles** be also **halves**? — doubles, that is, of one thing, and halves of another?

Quite true.

## Thesaurus holy: (adj) devout, divine, heavenly,

religious, blessed, hallowed,

discovered: (adj) revealed, disclosed, exposed, naked, detected, determined, observed, open, unconcealed, bare. ANTONYM: (adj) concealed. doubles: (n) doubled, dual, badminton, double road train. gentleman: (n) gent, Mr, male, patrician, sir, adult male, esquire, sahib, gentlemen; (adj) gentilhomme, gentlemanly. halves: (n) semi, share.

spiritual, devotional, pure; (adj, adv) saintly; (adv) sacredly. ANTONYMS: (adj) irreligious, unholy. interval: (n) intermission, interruption, unknown: (adj, n) secret, alien; (adj) distance, break, interlude, hiatus, interim, pause, period, respite, gap. ANTONYM: (n) intensification. ugly: (adj, adv) surly; (adj) nasty, repulsive, frightful, forbidding, disagreeable, hideous, gruesome,

evil, offensive, shocking. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, flowing, ornamental, nice, lovely, pleasant, safe, kind, gentle, appealing, agreeable. hidden, unfamiliar, unidentified, obscure, nameless, foreign, anonymous; (n) stranger, foreigner. ANTONYMS: (adj) familiar, recognized, famous, documented, identified, transparent; (n) native.

And things great and small, heavy and light, as they are termed, will not be denoted by these any more than by the opposite names?

True; both these and the opposite names will always attach to all of them.

And can any one of those many things which are called by particular names be said to be this rather than not to be this?

He replied: They are like the **punning** riddles which are asked at feasts or the children's puzzle about the **eunuch** aiming at the bat, with what he hit him, as they say in the puzzle, and upon what the bat was sitting. The individual objects of which I am speaking are also a riddle, and have a double sense: nor can you fix them in your mind, either as being or not-being, or both, or neither.

Then what will you do with them? I said. Can they have a better place than between being and not-being? For they are clearly not in greater darkness or negation than not-being, or more full of light and existence than being.

That is quite true, he said.

Thus then we seem to have discovered that the many ideas which the multitude entertain about the beautiful and about all other things are tossing about in some region which is half-way between pure being and pure not-being?

We have.

Yes; and we had before agreed that anything of this kind which we might find was to be described as matter of opinion, and not as matter of knowledge; being the intermediate flux which is caught and detained by the intermediate faculty.

Quite true.

Then those who see the many beautiful, and who yet neither see absolute beauty, nor can follow any guide who points the way thither; who see the many just, and not absolute justice, and the like, - such persons may be said to have opinion but not knowledge?

That is certain.

caught: (adj) fixed, guilty,

#### Thesaurus

accomplished, wedged, trapped, interested, exposed, defenseless, culpable; (v) seize, get. ANTONYM: (adi) loose. detained: (adj) seized, locked up, jailed, intransitive, tardy, inside, caged, captive, behind bars; (n) in prison, under arrest. **double**: (adj, n) twin; (adj) dual, duple, twofold; (v) fold, bend, geminate; (adj, v) reduplicate; (n) substitute,

mate, image. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) single; (v) decrease, divide, halve; (adj) multivalent, univalent, lone. entertain: (v) amuse, delight, bear, cherish, beguile, admit, accommodate, harbor, hold, distract; (n, v) interest. ANTONYMS: (v) disregard, ignore, banish, forget, tire, displease. eunuch: (n) eunuchate, gelding, man,

adult male.

flux: (v) dissolve, thaw, course, fuse,

melt; (n) tide, current, flood, torrent, afflux, lapse. ANTONYM: (n) stability.

guide: (n, v) escort, conduct, govern, channel, control, usher, cicerone; (n) directory, attendant; (v) drive, bring. ANTONYM: (v) follow.

punning: (adj) macaronic, facetious; (n) paronomasia, wordplay, fun, alliteration, annomination.

But those who see the absolute and **eternal** and immutable may be said to know, and not to have opinion only?

Neither can that be denied.

The one love and **embrace** the subjects of knowledge, the other those of opinion? The latter are the same, as I dare say you will remember, who listened to **sweet** sounds and gazed upon fair colours, but would not tolerate the existence of absolute beauty.

Yes, I remember.

Shall we then be **guilty** of any **impropriety** in **calling** them lovers of opinion rather than lovers of wisdom, and will they be very angry with us for thus describing them?

I shall tell them not to be angry; no man should be angry at what is true.

But those who love the truth in each thing are to be called lovers of wisdom and not lovers of opinion.

Assuredly.

# calling: (n) business, occupation, call, avocation, job, trade, career, employment, walk, pursuit; (n, v) profession. ANTONYMS: (n) entertainment, hobby. embrace: (v) comprise, adopt, comprehend, contain, admit, espouse, include; (n, v) clasp, hug, grip, bosom. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, exclude, spurn, shun, renounce, release, loose, disbelieve. eternal: (adi) constant, perpetual,

#### **Thesaurus**

ceaseless, everlasting, lasting,

continual, aeonian, immortal, boundless, deathless, enduring. ANTONYMS: (adj) mortal, finite, brief, ephemeral, fleeting, terminable, ending, fragile, inconstant. guilty: (adj) culpable, faulty, wicked, hangdog, criminal, chargeable, sinful, blameworthy; (n) guilt, culprit; (adj, v) condemned. ANTONYMS: (adj) blameless, aggressive, proud. impropriety: (n) barbarism, obscenity,

indecorum, error, rudeness, indelicacy, incorrectness, solecism, wrongness; (adj) immorality, inaptitude. ANTONYMS: (n) decency, correctness.

sweet: (adj) fresh, mellow, lovable, dear, pleasant, musical, melodious, pleasing, sugary; (adj, v) lovely; (adj, n) beloved. ANTONYMS: (adj) discordant, bitter, acid, sharp, acidic, pungent, salty, harsh, detestable, cacophonous, dry.

## BOOK VI

And thus, Glaucon, after the argument has gone a weary way, the true and the false philosophers have at length appeared in viewI do not think, he said, that the way could have been shortened.

I suppose not, I said; and yet I believe that we might have had a better view of both of them if the discussion could have been confined to this one subject and if there were not many other questions awaiting us, which he who desires to see in what respect the life of the just differs from that of the unjust must consider.

And what is the next question? he asked.

Surely, I said, the one which follows next in order. Inasmuch as philosophers only are able to grasp the eternal and unchangeable, and those who wander in the region of the many and variable are not philosophers, I must ask you which of the two classes should be the rulers of our State?

And how can we rightly answer that question?

Whichever of the two are best able to **guard** the laws and institutions of our State—let them be our guardians.

Very good.

Neither, I said, can there be any question that the guardian who is to keep anything should have eyes rather than no eyes?

#### Thesaurus

awaiting: (adj) looming, imminent, in the near future, pending, expectant. false: (adj, n) bastard; (adj, adv) counterfeit, deceitful; (adj) untrue, dishonest, erroneous, sham, assumed, artificial, fictitious, deceptive. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, genuine, faithful, factual, correct, natural, truthful, honest, valid, just, loval. grasp: (adj, n, v) catch; (n, v) clutch,

clasp, hold, clinch; (v) comprehend,

embrace, grapple, apprehend, conceive, cling. ANTONYMS: (n, v)Miss; (v) overlook, lose, give; (n) ignorance.

guard: (n) defense, protection, escort, (n, v) care, shield, cover; (adj, n, v)ward. ANTONYMS: (v) endanger, expose, neglect, reveal; (n) attacker. variable: (adj) changeable, fickle, erratic, capricious, fitful, mutable, uncertain, unsteady, unsettled,

shifting; (adj, n) inconstant. ANTONYMS: (adj) set, invariable, regular, fixed, smooth, unchangeable, predictable, unchanging, consistent, dependable, rigid.

bulwark, watchman, custody, fender; weary: (adj, n, v) fatigue; (v) exhaust, tire out; (adj) tired, exhausted, fatigued, aweary, beat, languid; (n, v)jade, bore. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, fresh, lively, untiring, hopeful, refreshed; (v) refresh, enliven, energize, activate, rally.

There can be no question of that.

And are not those who are verily and indeed wanting in the knowledge of the true being of each thing, and who have in their souls no clear pattern, and are unable as with a painter's eye to look at the absolute truth and to that original to **repair**, and having perfect vision of the other world to order the laws about beauty, **goodness**, justice in this, if not already ordered, and to guard and preserve the order of them—are not such persons, I ask, simply blind?

Truly, he replied, they are much in that condition.

And shall they be our guardians when there are others who, besides being their equals in experience and falling short of them in no particular of virtue, also know the very truth of each thing?

There can be no reason, he said, for **rejecting** those who have this greatest of all great qualities; they must always have the first place unless they fail in some other respect.

Suppose then, I said, that we determine how far they can unite this and the other excellences.

By all means.

In the first place, as we began by **observing**, the nature of the philosopher has to be ascertained. We must come to an understanding about him, and, when we have done so, then, if I am not mistaken, we shall also acknowledge that such an union of qualities is possible, and that those in whom they are united, and those only, should be rulers in the State.

What do you mean?

Let us suppose that philosophical minds always love knowledge of a sort which shows them the eternal nature not **varying** from **generation** and **corruption**.

Agreed.

v) genesis.

#### **Thesaurus**

corruption: (n) depravity, pollution, adulteration, filth, infection, vitiation, taint, bribery, canker, blight, foulness. ANTONYMS: (n) purification, incorruptness, decency, honesty, morality, pureness, incorruption, purity, righteousness, scruples, virtue.

generation: (n) creation, epoch, era, tribe, offspring, formation, contemporaries, time, period, day; (n,

goodness: (adj, n) generosity, kindness, gentleness; (n) good, excellence, benefit, virtue, worth, morality; (adj) favor, beneficence. ANTONYMS: (n) evil, wickedness, badness, corruptness, bad, immorality, corruption.

**observing**: (*adj*) observant, mindful, watchful, commemorative, conscious, observative, perceptive, thoughtful; (*n*) investigation. **rejecting**: (*adj*) negative, dismissive,

disdainful; (n) rejection.

repair: (n, v) redress, mend, correct, cure, overhaul, fix; (v) patch, restore, doctor, renovate, compensate.

ANTONYMS: (v) injure, arrive, wreck, worsen; (n) breaking, wrecking.

varying: (adj) shifting, patchy, changeable, unequal, changing,

changeable, unequal, changing, varied, variant, fickle, unreliable, untrustworthy, altering.

And further, I said, let us agree that they are lovers of all true being; there is no part whether greater or less, or more or less honourable, which they are willing to **renounce**; as we said before of the lover and the man of ambition.

True.

And if they are to be what we were describing, is there not another quality which they should also possess?

What quality?

**Truthfulness**: they will never intentionally receive into their mind falsehood, which is their detestation, and they will love the truth.

Yes, that may be safely affirmed of them.

'May be,' my friend, I replied, is not the word; say rather 'must be affirmed:' for he whose nature is **amorous** of anything cannot help loving all that belongs or is akin to the object of his affections.

Right, he said.

And is there anything more akin to wisdom than truth?

How can there be?

Can the same nature be a lover of wisdom and a lover of falsehood?

Never.

The true lover of learning then must from his earliest youth, as far as in him lies, desire all truth?

Assuredly.

But then again, as we know by experience, he whose desires are strong in one direction will have them weaker in others; they will be like a stream which has been drawn off into another **channel**.

True.

He whose desires are drawn towards knowledge in every form will be **absorbed** in the pleasures of the soul, and will hardly feel bodily pleasure—I mean, if he be a true philosopher and not a **sham** one.

#### **Thesaurus**

absorbed: (adj) rapt, intent, immersed, fixed, deep, engaged, preoccupied, pensive, fascinated, enthralled, held. ANTONYMS: (adj) bored, disinterested, distracted, restless, unfocused, uninterested, indifferent, shallow, superficial, detached. amorous: (adj) amatory, romantic, amative, affectionate, passionate, fond, warm, ardent, erotic, tender, impassioned. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, hateful, repulsed, unfriendly,

cool.

channel: (n, v) canal, conduct; (n)
conduit, groove, trough, waterway,
drain, line, passage; (v) carry, convey.
ANTONYMS: (v) keep; (n) ridge.
renounce: (v) abandon, abdicate,
abjure, relinquish, desert, reject, give
up, disown, deny, quit, forgo.
ANTONYMS: (v) acknowledge,
reassert, assert, continue, retain,
persist.
sham: (adi, adv, n, v) counterfeit; (adi,

n, v) fake; (adj, v) pretend, put on; (adj, n) imitation, phony; (v) feign; (adj) false; (n) fraud, impostor, falsehood. ANTONYMS: (adj, v) real; (n) original, truth, truthfulness, honesty; (adj) valid.

truthfulness: (adj, n) honesty, sincerity, probity, honor; (n) truth, openness, frankness, candor, faith, loyalty; (adj) integrity. ANTONYMS: (n) untruthfulness, inaccuracy, evasiveness, caution, deceit.

That is most certain.

Such an one is sure to be temperate and the reverse of covetous; for the motives which make another man desirous of having and spending, have no place in his character.

Very true.

Another criterion of the philosophical nature has also to be considered.

What is that?

There should be no secret corner of illiberality; nothing can be more antagonistic than meanness to a soul which is ever longing after the whole of things both divine and human.

Most true, he replied.

Then how can he who has magnificence of mind and is the spectator of all time and all existence, think much of human life?

He cannot.

Or can such an one account death **fearful?** 

No indeed.

Then the cowardly and mean nature has no part in true philosophy?

Certainly not.

Or again: can he who is harmoniously constituted, who is not covetous or mean, or a boaster, or a coward—can he, I say, ever be unjust or hard in his dealings?

Impossible.

Then you will soon observe whether a man is just and gentle, or rude and **unsociable**; these are the signs which distinguish even in youth the philosophical nature from the unphilosophical.

True.

There is another point which should be remarked.

What point?

#### **Thesaurus**

antagonistic: (adj) counter, opposite, opposed, conflicting, averse, warlike, inimical, unfriendly, repugnant, contrary; (adj, v) adverse. ANTONYMS: (adj) synergistic, conciliating, peaceable, peaceful, compatible, agreeable, sympathetic. boaster: (n) blowhard, vaunter, bragger, bouncer, egoist, swellhead, egotist, swaggerer, Gascon, braggadocio, Glorioso. **fearful**: (adj, n) afraid; (adj, v) dreadful,

cowardly; (adj) terrible, apprehensive, awful, timid, anxious, craven, frightful, eerie. ANTONYMS: unphilosophical: (adj) irrational, (adj) rational, calm, confident, bold, unimpressed, charming, fearless, courageous, reassuring, unafraid, wonderful.

rude: (adj, n) rough, impudent, coarse, abrupt, bold; (adj) blunt, discourteous, impolite, brutal, crude, mean. ANTONYMS: (adj) polite, refined, courteous, chivalrous, civil,

proper, decent, exact, clean, gentle, inoffensive.

undiscerning, unenlightened, ungifted, unwise.

unsociable: (adj) antisocial, distant, unfriendly, uncommunicative, solitary, inhospitable, hostile, retiring, reserved, cool, antagonistic. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, approachable, nice, warm.

Whether he has or has not a pleasure in learning; for no one will love that which gives him pain, and in which after much toil he makes little progress.

Certainly not.

And again, if he is **forgetful** and retains nothing of what he learns, will he not be an empty vessel?

That is certain.

Labouring in vain, he must end in hating himself and his **fruitless** occupation? Yes.

Then a soul which forgets cannot be **ranked** among genuine philosophic natures; we must insist that the philosopher should have a good memory?

Certainly.

And once more, the inharmonious and **unseemly** nature can only tend to disproportion?

Undoubtedly.

And do you consider truth to be akin to proportion or to disproportion?

To proportion.

Then, besides other qualities, we must try to find a naturally **well-**proportioned and gracious mind, which will move **spontaneously** towards the true being of everything.

Certainly.

Well, and do not all these qualities, which we have been enumerating, go together, and are they not, in a manner, necessary to a soul, which is to have a full and perfect participation of being?

They are absolutely necessary, he replied.

And must not that be a blameless study which he only can pursue who has the gift of a good memory, and is quick to learn,—noble, gracious, the friend of truth, justice, courage, temperance, who are his kindred?

The god of jealousy himself, he said, could find no fault with such a study.

#### **Thesaurus**

forgetful: (adj) oblivious, inattentive, negligent, lax, absent-minded, casual, unmindful, neglectful, heedless, unaware; (adj, v) remiss.

ANTONYMS: (adj) mindful, watchful, alert, remembering, retentive.

fruitless: (adj, v) abortive; (adj) barren, useless, empty, futile, ineffective, idle, pointless, sterile, bootless, unproductive. ANTONYMS: (adj) fertile, useful, effective, satisfying,

fruitful, worthwhile, profitable, successful, productive, hopeful, meaningful.

ranked: (adj) stratified, hierarchal, graveled, hierarchical, bedded, hierarchic.

spontaneously: (adv) naturally, unaffectedly, impromptu, willingly, gratuitously, instinctively, impulsively, ad lib, easily; (adj, adv) freely, ad libitum. ANTONYM: (adv) deliberately.

unseemly: (adj) indecent, unbecoming, indelicate, inappropriate, gross, impolite, unbefitting; (adj, v) indecorous; (adj, adv) uncomely; (adv) indecently, unbecomingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) proper, appropriate, dignified, due, fitting, polite, suitable, correct, decent, sensitive.

well-proportioned: (adj) classical, uniform, trim, statuesque, shapely, handsome, buxom, curvaceous.

And to men like him, I said, when perfected by years and education, and to these only you will entrust the State.

Here Adeimantus interposed and said: To these statements, Socrates, no one can offer a reply; but when you talk in this way, a strange feeling passes over the minds of your hearers: They fancy that they are led astray a little at each step in the argument, owing to their own want of skill in asking and answering questions; these littles accumulate, and at the end of the discussion they are found to have sustained a mighty overthrow and all their former notions appear to be turned upside down. And as unskilful players of draughts are at last shut up by their more skilful adversaries and have no piece to move, so they too find themselves shut up at last; for they have nothing to say in this new game of which words are the counters; and yet all the time they are in the right. The observation is suggested to me by what is now occurring. For any one of us might say, that although in words he is not able to meet you at each step of the argument, he sees as a fact that the votaries of philosophy, when they carry on the study, not only in youth as a part of education, but as the pursuit of their maturer years, most of them become strange monsters, not to say utter rogues, and that those who may be considered the best of them are made useless to the world by the very study which you extol.

Well, and do you think that those who say so are wrong?

I cannot tell, he replied; but I should like to know what is your opinion.

Hear my answer; I am of opinion that they are quite right.

Then how can you be justified in saying that cities will not cease from evil until philosophers rule in them, when philosophers are acknowledged by us to be of no use to them?

You ask a question, I said, to which a reply can only be given in a parable.

Yes, Socrates; and that is a way of speaking to which you are not at all accustomed, I suppose.

I perceive, I said, that you are **vastly amused** at having plunged me into such a hopeless discussion; but now hear the parable, and then you will be still more

# **Thesaurus**

accumulate: (v) pile, gather, collect, amass, heap, hoard, compile, assemble, lay up, accrue, cumulate. ANTONYMS: (v) distribute, dwindle, spend, lose, waste, dissipate, lessen, scatter, shuck, shed, decrease. accustomed: (adj, n) habitual; (adj) familiar, normal, wonted, usual, natural, everyday, ordinary, habituated, common, traditional. ANTONYMS: (adj) unusual, green, unseasoned, unconventional,

untrained, abnormal, uncharacteristic, exceptional. amused: (adj) amusing, smiling, tickled pink, pleased, diverted. extol: (v) exalt, eulogize, laud, applaud, celebrate, acclaim, glorify, praise, admire, compliment, magnify. vastly: (adv) greatly, hugely, ANTONYMS: (v) discredit, condemn, denigrate, decry, disparage, deprecate. hopeless: (adj) incurable, despondent,

forlorn, disconsolate, desperate,

impossible, useless, abject, despair, dismal, irreparable. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, competent, promising, optimistic, encouraging, helpful, useful, successful, practical, laudable, effective.

enormously, infinitely, extremely, exceedingly, massively, very, tremendously, highly, colossally.

amused at the meagreness of my imagination: for the manner in which the best men are treated in their own States is so grievous that no single thing on earth is comparable to it; and therefore, if I am to plead their cause, I must have recourse to fiction, and put together a figure made up of many things, like the fabulous unions of goats and stags which are found in pictures. Imagine then a fleet or a ship in which there is a captain who is taller and stronger than any of the crew, but he is a little deaf and has a similar infirmity in sight, and his knowledge of navigation is not much better. The sailors are quarrelling with one another about the steering—every one is of opinion that he has a right to steer, though he has never learned the art of navigation and cannot tell who taught him or when he learned, and will further assert that it cannot be taught, and they are ready to cut in pieces any one who says the contrary. They throng about the captain, begging and praying him to commit the helm to them; and if at any time they do not prevail, but others are preferred to them, they kill the others or throw them overboard, and having first chained up the noble captain's senses with drink or some narcotic drug, they mutiny and take possession of the ship and make free with the stores; thus, eating and drinking, they proceed on their voyage in such manner as might be expected of them. Him who is their partisan and cleverly aids them in their plot for getting the ship out of the captain's hands into their own whether by force or persuasion, they compliment with the name of sailor, pilot, able seaman, and abuse the other sort of man, whom they call a good-fornothing; but that the true pilot must pay attention to the year and seasons and sky and stars and winds, and whatever else belongs to his art, if he intends to be really qualified for the command of a ship, and that he must and will be the steerer, whether other people like or not-the possibility of this union of authority with the steerer's art has never seriously entered into their thoughts or been made part of their calling. Now in vessels which are in a state of mutiny and by sailors who are mutineers, how will the true pilot be regarded? Will he not be called by them a prater, a star-gazer, a good-for-nothing?

Of course, said Adeimantus.

# Thesaurus

cleverly: (adv) cunningly, expertly, smartly, shrewdly, adroitly, intelligently, dexterously, handily, craftily, skillfully, acutely. ANTONYMS: (adv) clumsily, foolishly, honestly, ineptly, awkwardly, openly, incompetently. narcotic: (adj, n) soporific, opiate, hypnotic; (adj) anodyne; (n) drug, anaesthetic, opium, stupefacient, sedative, methadone, meperidine. overboard: (adj) exorbitant, rabid.

partisan: (n) backer, champion, friend, bigot, disciple, advocate, adherent, enthusiast; (adj, n) sectarian, partizan; steerer: (n) steersman, runner, hotel (adj) biased. ANTONYMS: (n) peacekeepers, opponent, rebel, turncoat; (adj) unbiased, nonpartisan, throng: (n, v) swarm, herd, mob, flock, Standard, impartial, fair, disloyal. plead: (v) entreat, implore, beg, adjure, petition, ask, appeal, defend, invoke, sue; (n, v) allege. ANTONYMS: (v)answer, demand. seaman: (n) seafarer, tar, gob, sailor,

bluejacket, jack, navigator, bargee, bargeman, boatswain, bosun. runner, touter, tout, coxswain, cox, shill, lure, bait, roper. press; (n) multitude, host, horde, mass, assembly, concourse. ANTONYMS: (n) trickle, few; (v) disperse.

Then you will hardly need, I said, to hear the interpretation of the figure, which describes the true philosopher in his relation to the State; for you understand already.

Certainly.

Then suppose you now take this parable to the gentleman who is surprised at finding that philosophers have no honour in their cities; explain it to him and try to **convince** him that their having honour would be far more **extraordinary**.

I will.

Say to him, that, in **deeming** the best votaries of philosophy to be useless to the rest of the world, he is right; but also tell him to attribute their uselessness to the fault of those who will not use them, and not to themselves. The pilot should not humbly beg the sailors to be commanded by him—that is not the order of nature; neither are 'the wise to go to the doors of the rich' – the ingenious author of this saying told a lie – but the truth is, that, when a man is ill, whether he be rich or poor, to the physician he must go, and he who wants to be governed, to him who is able to govern. The ruler who is good for anything ought not to beg his subjects to be ruled by him; although the present governors of mankind are of a different stamp; they may be justly compared to the mutinous sailors, and the true helmsmen to those who are called by them good-for-nothings and stargazers.

Precisely so, he said.

For these reasons, and among men like these, philosophy, the noblest pursuit of all, is not likely to be much esteemed by those of the opposite faction; not that the greatest and most lasting injury is done to her by her opponents, but by her own professing followers, the same of whom you suppose the accuser to say, that the greater number of them are arrant rogues, and the best are useless; in which opinion I agreed.

Yes.

And the reason why the good are useless has now been explained? True.

# **Thesaurus**

accuser: (n) complainant, informer, disputant, controversialist, accusant, pursuer, delator, petitioner, prosecutor, claimant, appeacher. arrant: (adj) rank, unmitigated, thorough, stark, utter, ill, gross, infamous, bad, blatant, base. ANTONYM: (adj) minor. convince: (v) persuade, convert, sway, reassure, prevail on, induce, entice, argue, convict, win over; (adj, v) satisfy. ANTONYMS: (v) discourage,

deeming: (v) deem. extraordinary: (adj) odd, exceptional, curious, rare, special, phenomenal, amazing, astonishing, unusual, strange, abnormal. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, normal, everyday, usual, common, mundane, regular, undistinguished, unremarkable, insignificant, natural. faction: (n) crew, cabal, group, band,

set, party, division, junto, dissension,

clan; (n, v) feud. ANTONYMS: (n)whole, agreement, entirety, peace, humbly: (adv) lowly, meanly, modestly, submissively, low, shyly, lowlily, naturally, regretfully, remorsefully, repentantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) conceitedly, haughtily, pompously,

ostentatiously, unrepentantly, affluently, brashly, pretentiously.

Then shall we proceed to show that the corruption of the majority is also **unavoidable**, and that this is not to be laid to the charge of philosophy any more than the other?

By all means.

And let us ask and answer in turn, first going back to the description of the gentle and noble nature. Truth, as you will remember, was his leader, whom he followed always and in all things; failing in this, he was an **impostor**, and had no part or lot in true philosophy.

Yes, that was said.

Well, and is not this one quality, to mention no others, greatly at variance with present notions of him?

Certainly, he said.

And have we not a right to say in his defence, that the true lover of knowledge is always striving after being—that is his nature; he will not rest in the multiplicity of individuals which is an appearance only, but will go on—the keen edge will not be **blunted**, nor the force of his desire **abate** until he have attained the knowledge of the true nature of every essence by a **sympathetic** and kindred power in the soul, and by that power drawing near and mingling and becoming **incorporate** with very being, having begotten mind and truth, he will have knowledge and will live and grow truly, and then, and not till then, will he cease from his **travail**.

Nothing, he said, can be more just than such a description of him.

And will the love of a lie be any part of a philosopher's nature? Will he not utterly hate a lie?

He will.

And when truth is the captain, we cannot suspect any evil of the band which he leads?

Impossible.

# **Thesaurus**

abate: (v) bate, weaken, decline, remit, slack, slake, wane, relax, lessen, diminish, allay. ANTONYMS: (v) rise, grow, magnify, surge, intensify, expand, enlarge, enhance, amplify, prolong, extend.
blunted: (adj) dulled, rounded, beaten, benumbed, dunted, duller.
impostor: (n) fraud, cheat, hypocrite, fake, imposter, sham, charlatan, deceiver, faker, cheater, pretender.

incorporate: (v) contain, comprise,

encompass, link, comprehend, include, join, combine, embody, affiliate, integrate. ANTONYMS: (v) separate, disintegrate, reject. sympathetic: (adj, v) compassionate, tender, affectionate; (adj, n) kindly, congenial, humane, gentle, favorable; (adj) merciful, agreeable, friendly. ANTONYMS: (adj) hardhearted, unfeeling, callous, uncaring, unsociable, unforgiving, unfriendly, negative, sarcastic, opposed,

unhelpful. **travail**: (*n*, *v*) labor, toil, labour, grind, childbirth, confinement; (*v*) drudge, moil; (*n*) effort, sweat, exertion. **unavoidable**: (*adj*) necessary, inescapable, ineluctable, irresistible, obligatory, certain, indispensable, essential, sure, required, avoidless. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) escapable, unpredictable, optional, unlikely, uncertain.

Justice and health of mind will be of the company, and temperance will follow after?

True, he replied.

Neither is there any reason why I should again set in **array** the philosopher's virtues, as you will doubtless remember that courage, magnificence, apprehension, memory, were his natural **gifts**. And you objected that, although no one could deny what I then said, still, if you leave words and look at facts, the persons who are thus described are some of them **manifestly** useless, and the greater number utterly **depraved**; we were then led to enquire into the grounds of these accusations, and have now arrived at the point of asking why are the majority bad, which question of necessity brought us back to the **examination** and definition of the true philosopher.

Exactly.

And we have next to consider the corruptions of the philosophic nature, why so many are **spoiled** and so few escape spoiling—I am speaking of those who were said to be useless but not wicked—and, when we have done with them, we will speak of the imitators of philosophy, what manner of men are they who aspire after a profession which is above them and of which they are unworthy, and then, by their manifold inconsistencies, bring upon philosophy, and upon all philosophers, that universal **reprobation** of which we speak.

What are these corruptions? he said.

I will see if I can explain them to you. Every one will admit that a nature having in perfection all the qualities which we required in a philosopher, is a rare plant which is seldom seen among men.

Rare indeed.

And what numberless and powerful causes tend to destroy these rare natures!

What causes?

# **Thesaurus examination**: (*n*, *v*) search, test; (*n*)

array: (adj, n) arrangement; (n, v) line, attire, garb, range, apparel, display; (v) dress, adorn, deck, clothe. ANTONYMS: (v) undress, disarrange; (n) disorder, mess, rags, individual, likeness, dearth. depraved: (adj) bad, immoral, base, abandoned, debauched, vicious, wicked, degenerate, evil, perverse, perverted. ANTONYMS: (adj) good, virtuous, just, chaste, noble, pure, righteous, upright, ethical, innocent.

audit, check, exam, investigation, study, exploration, survey, testing; (adj, n) examen. ANTONYM: (n) neglect.
gifts: (n) money, generosity, contributions, charity, caliber, aid, munificence, bounty. ANTONYM: (n) meanness.
manifestly: (adv) evidently, plainly, clearly, patently, obviously, openly,

overtly, markedly, conspicuously,

distinctly, transparently.

ANTONYMS: (adv) furtively,
unnecessarily, vaguely, covertly.
reprobation: (n) disapproval,
condemnation, blame, reproof,
expostulation, remonstrance, censure;
(adj) hardening, backsliding,
perversion, declension.
spoiled: (adj) bad, rotten, stale, spoil,
coddled, pampered, corrupt,
damaged, spoilt, putrid, rancid.
ANTONYM: (adf) unspoiled.

In the first place there are their own virtues, their courage, temperance, and the rest of them, every one of which **praiseworthy** qualities (and this is a most singular circumstance) destroys and distracts from philosophy the soul which is the possessor of them.

That is very singular, he replied.

Then there are all the ordinary goods of life—beauty, wealth, strength, rank, and great connections in the State—you understand the sort of things—these also have a corrupting and **distracting** effect.

I understand; but I should like to know more precisely what you mean about them.

Grasp the truth as a whole, I said, and in the right way; you will then have no difficulty in apprehending the preceding remarks, and they will no longer appear strange to you.

And how am I to do so? he asked.

Why, I said, we know that all germs or seeds, whether **vegetable** or animal, when they fail to meet with proper **nutriment** or climate or soil, in proportion to their vigour, are all the more sensitive to the want of a suitable environment, for evil is a greater enemy to what is good than to what is not.

Very true.

There is reason in supposing that the **finest** natures, when under alien conditions, receive more injury than the inferior, because the contrast is greater.

Certainly.

And may we not say, Adeimantus, that the most gifted minds, when they are ill-educated, become pre-eminently bad? Do not great crimes and the spirit of pure evil spring out of a fulness of nature **ruined** by education rather than from any inferiority, whereas weak natures are **scarcely** capable of any very great good or very great evil?

There I think that you are right.

# Thesaurus alimentation, feed, nurture, meat,

distracting: (adj) unsettling, vociferous, unruly, troublesome, troublemaking, misleading, embarrassing, divulsive, disruptive; (v) riveting, exciting.

finest: (adj, n) elite; (adj) top, select, excellent, most favorable, most excellent, most advantageous, exclusive, classic, best possible; (n) cream.

nutriment: (n, v) nourishment; (n)

food, fare, diet, nutrient, nutrition,

meal.

praiseworthy: (adj, v) laudable; (adj)
admirable, meritorious, worthy,
creditable, good, deserving,
honorable, applaudable, exemplary;
(adj, n) excellent. ANTONYMS: (adj)
blameworthy, disgraceful,
despicable, dishonorable, poor,
unworthy.

ruined: (adj, v) lost; (adj) dilapidated, desolate, broke, broken, bankrupt,

finished, devastated, desolated, insolvent, spoiled. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) solvent, pure, rich, whole.

scarcely: (adv) narrowly, rarely, hardly, just, scarce, uncommonly, insufficiently, scantily, scantly, only just, seldom. ANTONYMS: (adv) easily, liberally.

**vegetable**: (*adj*, *n*) vegetal; (*n*) plant, earthnut, fennel, pumpkin, rhubarb, gumbo, truffle, artichoke, cucumber, celery. ANTONYM: (*adj*) mineral.

And our philosopher follows the same analogy—he is like a plant which, having proper nurture, must necessarily grow and mature into all virtue, but, if sown and planted in an alien soil, becomes the most noxious of all weeds, unless he be preserved by some divine power. Do you really think, as people so often say, that our youth are corrupted by Sophists, or that private teachers of the art corrupt them in any degree worth speaking of? Are not the public who say these things the greatest of all Sophists? And do they not educate to perfection young and old, men and women alike, and fashion them after their own hearts?

When is this accomplished? he said.

When they meet together, and the world sits down at an assembly, or in a court of law, or a theatre, or a camp, or in any other popular resort, and there is a great uproar, and they praise some things which are being said or done, and blame other things, equally exaggerating both, shouting and clapping their hands, and the echo of the rocks and the place in which they are assembled redoubles the sound of the praise or blame—at such a time will not a young man's heart, as they say, **leap** within him? Will any private training enable him to stand firm against the overwhelming flood of popular opinion? or will he be carried away by the stream? Will he not have the notions of good and evil which the public in general have—he will do as they do, and as they are, such will he be?

Yes, Socrates; necessity will compel him.

And yet, I said, there is a still greater necessity, which has not been mentioned.

What is that?

The gentle force of attainder or confiscation or death, which, as you are aware, these new Sophists and educators, who are the public, apply when their words are **powerless**.

Indeed they do; and in right good earnest.

Now what opinion of any other Sophist, or of any private person, can be expected to overcome in such an unequal contest?

#### Thesaurus

attainder: (n) cancellation, attainture, **leap**: (*n*, *v*) bound, spring, bounce, civil death, attaintment; (adj) taint. clapping: (n) clap, acclaim, hand, clapping of hands, cheering, handclap, ovation, slapping, plaudit, round, approval. confiscation: (n) expropriation, seizure, appropriation, arrogation, premunire, attachment, impounding, forfeiture, escheat, capture; (v) impound. ANTONYMS: (n) return, addition.

caper, dive, vault, lunge; (v) dance, hop, start; (n) curvet. ANTONYMS: (n, v) plummet; (v) surface, drop, hesitate; (n) slump. noxious: (adj) injurious, deleterious, harmful, deadly, evil, inimical, noisome, destructive, poisonous, venomous, lethal. ANTONYMS: (adi) innocuous, pleasant, healthy. planted: (adj) ingrained, established, set, concealed.

powerless: (adj) impotent, unable, feeble, incapable, ineffective, ineffectual, infirm, inefficient, nerveless, weak, prostrate. ANTONYMS: (adj) powerful, strong, effective, capable, able. sown: (adj) sowed, seeded, planted, sative. weeds: (n) viduity, mourning band,

garment, cypress, widowhood, dress; (adj) willow.

None, he replied.

No, indeed, I said, even to make the attempt is a great piece of folly; there neither is, nor has been, nor is ever likely to be, any different type of character which has had no other training in virtue but that which is supplied by public opinion – I speak, my friend, of human virtue only; what is more than human, as the proverb says, is not included: for I would not have you ignorant that, in the present evil state of governments, whatever is saved and comes to good is saved by the power of God, as we may truly say.

I quite assent, he replied.

Then let me **crave** your assent also to a further observation.

What are you going to say?

Why, that all those **mercenary** individuals, whom the many call Sophists and whom they deem to be their adversaries, do, in fact, teach nothing but the opinion of the many, that is to say, the opinions of their assemblies; and this is their wisdom. I might compare them to a man who should study the tempers and desires of a mighty strong beast who is fed by him-he would learn how to approach and handle him, also at what times and from what causes he is dangerous or the reverse, and what is the meaning of his several cries, and by what sounds, when another utters them, he is soothed or infuriated; and you may suppose further, that when, by continually attending upon him, he has become perfect in all this, he calls his knowledge wisdom, and makes of it a system or art, which he proceeds to teach, although he has no real notion of what he means by the principles or passions of which he is speaking, but calls this honourable and that dishonourable, or good or evil, or just or unjust, all in accordance with the tastes and tempers of the great brute. Good he pronounces to be that in which the beast delights and evil to be that which he dislikes; and he can give no other account of them except that the just and noble are the necessary, having never himself seen, and having no power of explaining to others the nature of either, or the difference between them, which is immense. By heaven, would not such an one be a rare educator?

#### continually: (adv) perpetually, ceaselessly, incessantly, endlessly, unceasingly, continuously, persistently, eternally, steadily, frequently; (adj, adv) always. ANTONYMS: (adv) acutely,

infrequently, spasmodically, sporadically.

crave: (v) covet, ask, want, beseech, implore, wish, long, entreat, desire, fancy, claim. ANTONYMS: (v) dislike, spurn, loathe, hate, detest,

# **Thesaurus**

immense: (adj) vast, enormous, great, gigantic, immeasurable, colossal, boundless, big, large, giant, infinite. ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, small, insignificant, miniature, slight, negligible, compact, narrow, short, minor.

infuriated: (adj, v) enraged; (adj) furious, incensed, angered, mad, exasperated, provoked, boiling, livid, wrathful, annoyed. ANTONYM: (adj) soothed: (adj) composed.

**mercenary**: (adj, n) hireling; (adj, v)sordid; (adj) mercantile, materialistic, covetous, commercial, greedy, venal, avaricious, selfish; (v) illiberal. ANTONYMS: (adj) altruistic, philanthropic.

principles: (n) principle, cause, morals, conscience, law, philosophy, dogma, doctrine, honor, ideas, knowledge.

Indeed he would.

And in what way does he who thinks that wisdom is the discernment of the tempers and tastes of the **motley** multitude, whether in **painting** or music, or, finally, in politics, differ from him whom I have been describing? For when a man **consorts** with the many, and exhibits to them his **poem** or other work of art or the service which he has done the State, making them his judges when he is not **obliged**, the so-called necessity of Diomede will oblige him to produce whatever they praise. And yet the reasons are utterly ludicrous which they give in **confirmation** of their own notions about the honourable and good. Did you ever hear any of them which were not?

No, nor am I likely to hear.

You recognise the truth of what I have been saying? Then let me ask you to consider further whether the world will ever be induced to believe in the existence of absolute beauty rather than of the many beautiful, or of the absolute in each kind rather than of the many in each kind?

Certainly not.

Then the world cannot possibly be a philosopher?

Impossible.

And therefore philosophers must inevitably fall under the censure of the world?

They must.

And of individuals who consort with the mob and seek to please them?

That is evident.

Then, do you see any way in which the philosopher can be preserved in his calling to the end? and remember what we were saying of him, that he was to have quickness and memory and courage and magnificence—these were admitted by us to be the true philosopher's gifts.

Yes.

# **Thesaurus**

confirmation: (n) ratification, approval, corroboration, testimony, sanction, demonstration, agreement, authentication, check, endorsement, evidence. ANTONYMS: (n) opposite, question, repudiation, retraction, withdrawal, condemnation, denial. consort: (n, v) associate, husband; (n) companion; (v) agree, affiliate, assort, accord, mix, keep company, socialize, group. ANTONYMS: (v) disagree, estrange, differ, dissociate, avoid; (n)

foe, rival, antagonist, enemy.

motley: (adj) miscellaneous, mottled,
assorted, colorful, heterogeneous,
multicolored, checkered; (n) medley,
miscellany, mixture, assortment.
ANTONYM: (adj) homogeneous.
oblige: (v) coerce, force, drive,
constrain, make, bind, accommodate,
obligate, necessitate, enforce, impel.
ANTONYMS: (v) displease, request,
hinder.
obliged: (adj) grateful, thankful,

obligation; (adj, prep) indebted; (v) oblige, binding. ANTONYM: (adj) ungrateful.

painting: (n) portrait, likeness, colouring, depiction, icon, illumination, image, design, coat, drawing, house painting.

poem: (n) lay, lyric, verse, rhyme, ballad, chant, epic, ode, ballade, elegy, epos.

appreciative, forced, accountable,

compelled; (adj, v) bound, under

Will not such an one from his early childhood be in all things first among all, especially if his bodily **endowments** are like his mental ones?

Certainly, he said.

And his friends and fellow-citizens will want to use him as he gets older for their own purposes?

No question.

Falling at his feet, they will make **requests** to him and do him honour and flatter him, because they want to get into their hands now, the power which he will one day possess.

That often happens, he said.

And what will a man such as he is be likely to do under such circumstances, especially if he be a citizen of a great city, rich and noble, and a tall proper youth? Will he not be full of **boundless** aspirations, and fancy himself able to manage the affairs of Hellenes and of barbarians, and having got such notions into his head will he not **dilate** and elevate himself in the fulness of vain pomp and senseless pride?

To be sure he will.

Now, when he is in this state of mind, if some one gently comes to him and tells him that he is a fool and must get understanding, which can only be got by slaving for it, do you think that, under such **adverse** circumstances, he will be easily induced to listen?

Far otherwise.

And even if there be some one who through inherent goodness or natural reasonableness has had his eyes opened a little and is **humbled** and taken captive by philosophy, how will his friends **behave** when they think that they are likely to lose the advantage which they were hoping to **reap** from his companionship? Will they not do and say anything to prevent him from yielding to his better nature and to render his teacher powerless, using to this end private intrigues as well as public prosecutions?

# **Thesaurus**

adverse: (adj) unfavorable, contrary, untoward, hostile, harmful, adversary, repugnant, counter, pernicious, noisome; (adj, n) opposite. ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, fortunate, aiding, beneficial, positive, advantageous, agreeable, desirable, pleasant, harmless.

behave: (n, v) conduct, exercise; (v) bear, deal, deport, operate, perform, acquit, walk, react, go. ANTONYMS:

(v) misdemean, malfunction.

boundless: (adj) limitless, endless, unlimited, infinite, bottomless, incalculable, immense, immeasurable, interminable, unbounded, vast. ANTONYMS: (adj) limited, restricted, confined, finite, incomplete, negligible, small. dilate: (adj, v) enlarge, expatiate; (v) distend, amplify, heave, inflate, broaden, develop, extend, increase, magnify. ANTONYMS: (v) contract, constrict, shrink, lessen, reduce.

endowments: (n) beneficence, accomplishments, advantage. humbled: (adj) humble, humiliated, crushed, depressed, dispirited, abased, broken in, abject, ashamed; (n) humbler; (v) apart. reap: (v) harvest, gain, glean, gather, obtain, cut, receive, earn, acquire; (adj, v) mow; (adj) clip. ANTONYMS:

(v) lose, scatter. requests: (n) desires, requirements, needs, wants.

There can be no doubt of it.

And how can one who is thus **circumstanced** ever become a philosopher? Impossible.

Then were we not right in saying that even the very qualities which make a man a philosopher may, if he be ill-educated, **divert** him from philosophy, no less than riches and their **accompaniments** and the other so-called goods of life?

We were quite right.

Thus, my excellent friend, is brought about all that ruin and failure which I have been describing of the natures best adapted to the best of all pursuits; they are natures which we maintain to be rare at any time; this being the class out of which come the men who are the authors of the greatest evil to States and individuals; and also of the greatest good when the tide carries them in that direction; but a small man never was the doer of any great thing either to individuals or to States.

That is most true, he said.

And so philosophy is left **desolate**, with her marriage **rite** incomplete: for her own have fallen away and **forsaken** her, and while they are leading a false and unbecoming life, other unworthy persons, seeing that she has no kinsmen to be her protectors, enter in and dishonour her; and fasten upon her the reproaches which, as you say, her reprovers utter, who affirm of her votaries that some are good for nothing, and that the greater number deserve the severest punishment.

That is certainly what people say.

Yes; and what else would you expect, I said, when you think of the puny creatures who, seeing this land open to them—a land well **stocked** with fair names and **showy** titles—like prisoners running out of prison into a **sanctuary**, take a leap out of their trades into philosophy; those who do so being probably the cleverest hands at their own miserable crafts? For, although philosophy be in this evil case, still there remains a dignity about her which is not to be found in the arts. And many are thus attracted by her whose natures are imperfect and

#### **Thesaurus**

accompaniments: (n) equipment, trimmings, fixing. circumstanced: (adj) conditioned. desolate: (adj, v) desert, forlorn; (adj) bare, barren, alone, bleak, deserted, cheerless, disconsolate; (v) devastate, destroy. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, inhabited, happy, sheltered, mobbed, overcrowded, ecstatic, hopeful; (v) create, construct, build. divert: (adj, v) distract; (v) entertain, avert, delight, deflect, deviate,

beguile, depart, disport, digress, sidetrack. ANTONYMS: (v) bore, irritate, maintain, set, upset, stay, displease, sadden.

forsaken: (adj) deserted, abandoned, lonely, forlorn, derelict, desert, empty, solitary, friendless; (adj, v) jilted; (v) crossed in love.

ANTONYM: (adj) unforsaken.

rite: (n) custom, observance, form, ritual, liturgy, ceremonial, formality, office, practice, sacrament, worship.

sanctuary: (n) refuge, asylum, retreat, shrine, haven, safety, reservation, shelter, chancel, protection, church. showy: (adj, v) pretentious, brilliant; (adj) gaudy, garish, flashy, loud, flamboyant, dashing, gay; (adj, n) magnificent, fine. ANTONYMS: (adj) tasteful, restrained, discreet, plain, dull, quality.

**stocked**: (*adj*) stocked with, furnished, full.

whose souls are maimed and disfigured by their meannesses, as their bodies are by their trades and crafts. Is not this unavoidable?

Yes.

Are they not exactly like a bald little **tinker** who has just got out of durance and come into a fortune; he takes a bath and puts on a new coat, and is **decked** out as a bridegroom going to marry his master's daughter, who is left poor and desolate?

A most exact parallel.

What will be the issue of such marriages? Will they not be **vile** and bastard? There can be no question of it.

And when persons who are unworthy of education approach philosophy and make an alliance with her who is in a rank above them what sort of ideas and opinions are likely to be generated? Will they not be sophisms **captivating** to the ear, having nothing in them genuine, or worthy of or akin to true wisdom?

No doubt, he said.

Then, Adeimantus, I said, the worthy disciples of philosophy will be but a small remnant: **perchance** some noble and well-educated person, detained by **exile** in her service, who in the absence of corrupting influences remains devoted to her; or some lofty soul born in a mean city, the politics of which he contemns and neglects; and there may be a gifted few who leave the arts, which they justly despise, and come to her;—or peradventure there are some who are **restrained** by our friend Theages' bridle; for everything in the life of Theages conspired to divert him from philosophy; but ill-health kept him away from politics. My own case of the internal sign is hardly worth mentioning, for rarely, if ever, has such a monitor been given to any other man. Those who belong to this small class have tasted how sweet and blessed a possession philosophy is, and have also seen enough of the madness of the multitude; and they know that no politician is honest, nor is there any champion of justice at whose side they may fight and be saved. Such an one may be compared to a man who has fallen among wild beasts—he will not join in the wickedness of his fellows, but neither is he able

# captivating: (adj, v) enchanting, charming, engaging; (adj) attractive, absorbing, alluring, bewitching, delightful, engrossing, lovely, enthralling. ANTONYMS: (adj) repellent, boring, unpleasant, unappealing, forgettable, annoying. decked: (adj) bedecked, decked out, ornamented, decorated, festooned. exile: (n, v) expatriate; (v) banish, deport, drive out, expel, proscribe; (n) expulsion, deportation, refugee,

deportee, outcast. ANTONYMS: (v) restore, welcome, appoint. perchance: (adv) maybe, possibly, by chance, peradventure, accidentally, incidentally, mayhap, chance, haphazard, probably, haply. restrained: (adj) reserved, quiet, modest, temperate, discreet, limited, reasonable, subdued, unemotional, reticent, guarded. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrestrained, open, flashy, immoral, ostentatious, wild, loud, theatrical,

**Thesaurus** 

outgoing, extravagant, emotional. **tinker**: (*v*) monkey, fiddle, putter, mess around, toy, tamper, vamp; (*n*) cobbler, mender, Scomber japonicus, chub mackerel. **vile**: (*adj*, *n*) contemptible, dirty, low; (*adj*, *v*) base; (*adj*) despicable, ignoble, evil, sorry, revolting, offensive, nasty. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) attractive, kind, nice, lovely, lovable, gentle,

honorable, good, delightful,

admirable, noble.

singly to resist all their fierce natures, and therefore seeing that he would be of no use to the State or to his friends, and reflecting that he would have to throw away his life without doing any good either to himself or others, he holds his peace, and goes his own way. He is like one who, in the storm of dust and sleet which the driving wind hurries along, retires under the shelter of a wall; and seeing the rest of mankind full of wickedness, he is content, if only he can live his own life and be pure from evil or **unrighteousness**, and depart in peace and good-will, with bright hopes.

Yes, he said, and he will have done a great work before he departs.

A great work—yes; but not the greatest, unless he find a State suitable to him; for in a State which is suitable to him, he will have a larger growth and be the saviour of his country, as well as of himself.

The causes why philosophy is in such an evil name have now been sufficiently explained: the injustice of the **charges** against her has been shown—is there anything more which you wish to say?

Nothing more on that subject, he replied; but I should like to know which of the governments now existing is in your opinion the one adapted to her.

Not any of them, I said; and that is precisely the **accusation** which I bring against them—not one of them is worthy of the philosophic nature, and hence that nature is **warped** and estranged;—as the **exotic seed** which is sown in a foreign land becomes denaturalized, and is **wont** to be overpowered and to lose itself in the new soil, even so this growth of philosophy, instead of **persisting**, degenerates and receives another character. But if philosophy ever finds in the State that perfection which she herself is, then will be seen that she is in truth divine, and that all other things, whether natures of men or institutions, are but human;—and now, I know, that you are going to ask, What that State is:

No, he said; there you are wrong, for I was going to ask another question—whether it is the State of which we are the founders and inventors, or some other?

# accusation: (n) complaint, charge, accusal, blame, allegation, condemnation, insinuation, denunciation, indictment, inculpation, impeachment. ANTONYMS: (n) exoneration, argument, compliment. charges: (n) expenditure, dues. exotic: (adj) alien, foreign, strange, outlandish, unusual, extraneous, different, odd, curious, extrinsic, unknown. ANTONYMS: (adj)

#### **Thesaurus**

familiar, ordinary, usual, native. persisting: (adj) abiding, lasting, constant, continual, enduring, living, inveterate, dogging, diligent, continuous; (v) persist. seed: (n) issue, posterity, root, progeny, offspring, origin, nucleus, brood, embryo; (v) inseminate, plant. unrighteousness: (n) impiety, iniquity, dishonesty, sinfulness, dishonor, injustice, immorality, impiousness, crime, irreligion, profaneness.

warped: (adj, n) twisted; (adj) deformed, crooked, perverted, misshapen, kinky, curved, distorted, wry, partisan, superficial. ANTONYMS: (adj) wholesome, impartial.

wont: (adj, n) use, custom, usage; (n) practice, tradition, cleanliness, assuetude, assuefaction, convention, rut; (v) practise.

Yes, I replied, ours in most respects; but you may remember my saying before, that some living authority would always be required in the State having the same idea of the constitution which guided you when as legislator you were laying down the laws.

That was said, he replied.

Yes, but not in a satisfactory manner; you **frightened** us by interposing objections, which certainly showed that the discussion would be long and difficult; and what still remains is the reverse of easy.

What is there remaining?

The question how the study of philosophy may be so ordered as not to be the ruin of the State: All great attempts are **attended** with risk; 'hard is the good,' as men say.

Still, he said, let the point be cleared up, and the enquiry will then be complete.

I shall not be hindered, I said, by any want of will, but, if at all, by a want of power: my **zeal** you may see for yourselves; and please to remark in what I am about to say how boldly and **unhesitatingly** I **declare** that States should pursue philosophy, not as they do now, but in a different spirit.

In what manner?

At present, I said, the students of philosophy are quite young; beginning when they are hardly past childhood, they **devote** only the time saved from moneymaking and **housekeeping** to such pursuits; and even those of them who are reputed to have most of the philosophic spirit, when they come within sight of the great difficulty of the subject, I mean dialectic, take themselves off. In after life when invited by some one else, they may, perhaps, go and hear a **lecture**, and about this they make much ado, for philosophy is not considered by them to be their proper business: at last, when they grow old, in most cases they are extinguished more truly than Heracleitus' sun, inasmuch as they never light up again. (Heraclitus said that the sun was extinguished every evening and relighted every morning.)

#### **Thesaurus**

attended: (adj) attent, fraught, tended to. declare: (v) advertise, assert, allege, attest, aver, admit, acknowledge.

**declare**: (*v*) advertise, assert, allege, attest, aver, admit, acknowledge, proclaim, avow; (*n*, *v*) affirm, say. ANTONYMS: (*v*) conceal, revoke, suppress, retract, repress, disclaim, withhold, request, refute, block. **devote**: (*n*, *v*) apply, destine, give, assign, vow; (*v*) consecrate, dedicate, commit, appropriate, allot; (*n*) devotion. ANTONYMS: (*v*) withhold,

frightened: (adj) fearful, timid, startled, terrified, scared, alarmed, anxious, apprehensive, horrified, intimidated, restless. ANTONYMS: (adj) unimpressed, confident, brave, fearless, reassured.

**housekeeping**: (*n*) housewifery, household, domestic science. **lecture**: (*n*, *v*) discourse, harangue, reprimand, sermon, rebuke, talk, censure; (*n*) speech, oration; (*v*) chide, preach. ANTONYMS: (v) praise; (n) compliment.

unhesitatingly: (adv) readily, openly, freely, plainly, speedily, willingly, decidedly, resolutely, determinedly, sincerely, undisguisedly. ANTONYM: (adv) eventually.

**zeal**: (*adj*, *n*) eagerness; (*n*) fervor, enthusiasm, devotion, passion, vehemence, fire, fervency, heat, fervour, ardour. ANTONYMS: (*n*) apathy, lethargy, patience.

But what ought to be their course?

Just the opposite. In childhood and youth their study, and what philosophy they learn, should be suited to their tender years: during this period while they are growing up towards manhood, the chief and special care should be given to their bodies that they may have them to use in the service of philosophy; as life **advances** and the intellect begins to **mature**, let them increase the gymnastics of the soul; but when the strength of our citizens fails and is past civil and military duties, then let them range at will and **engage** in no serious labour, as we intend them to live **happily** here, and to crown this life with a similar happiness in another.

How truly in earnest you are, Socrates! he said; I am sure of that; and yet most of your hearers, if I am not mistaken, are likely to be still more earnest in their opposition to you, and will never be convinced; Thrasymachus least of all.

Do not make a quarrel, I said, between Thrasymachus and me, who have recently become friends, although, indeed, we were never enemies; for I shall go on striving to the utmost until I either convert him and other men, or do something which may profit them against the day when they live again, and hold the like **discourse** in another state of existence.

You are speaking of a time which is not very near.

Rather, I replied, of a time which is as nothing in comparison with eternity. Nevertheless, I do not wonder that the many refuse to believe; for they have never seen that of which we are now speaking realized; they have seen only a conventional imitation of philosophy, consisting of words **artificially** brought together, not like these of ours having a natural unity. But a human being who in word and work is perfectly moulded, as far as he can be, into the proportion and likeness of virtue—such a man ruling in a city which bears the same image, they have never yet seen, neither one nor many of them—do you think that they ever did?

No indeed.

#### **Thesaurus**

advances: (v) access, approach. artificially: (adv) synthetically, factitiously, affectedly, contrivedly, insincerely, unreally, feignedly, falsely, fictitiously, artfully, counterfeitly. ANTONYM: (adv) naturally. discourse: (n, v) address, lecture, sermon, converse, harangue, chat; (n) talk, colloquy, conversation, discussion, homily. engage: (v) contract, book, employ,

retain, absorb, charter, draw, rent; (*n*, *v*) attract, enlist, betroth.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) disengage, release, evade, bore, can, discharge, disconnect, dismiss, eject, terminate, escape.

happily: (adv) fortunately, joyously, joyfully, merrily, luckily, gladly, blissfully, cheerfully, felicitously, providentially, successfully.

ANTONYMS: (adv) miserably, unhappily, sadly, unfortunately,

unsuccessfully, reluctantly, gloomily, discontentedly, despondently, negatively, grudgingly.

mature: (adj, v) ripe, ripen; (v) develop, age, mellow, season; (adj) complete, old, experienced, adult, perfect.

ANTONYMS: (adj) childish, naive, young, unripe, sophomoric, unfledged, green, unclear, irresponsible, incomplete; (v) growing.

No, my friend, and they have seldom, if ever, heard free and noble sentiments; such as men utter when they are earnestly and by every means in their power **seeking** after truth for the sake of knowledge, while they look **coldly** on the subtleties of **controversy**, of which the end is opinion and strife, whether they meet with them in the courts of law or in society.

They are strangers, he said, to the words of which you speak.

And this was what we foresaw, and this was the reason why truth forced us to admit, not without fear and hesitation, that neither cities nor States nor individuals will ever attain perfection until the small class of philosophers whom we termed useless but not corrupt are **providentially** compelled, whether they will or not, to take care of the State, and until a like necessity be laid on the State to obey them; or until kings, or if not kings, the sons of kings or princes, are divinely inspired with a true love of true philosophy. That either or both of these alternatives are impossible, I see no reason to affirm: if they were so, we might indeed be justly ridiculed as dreamers and visionaries. Am I not right?

Quite right.

If then, in the **countless** ages of the past, or at the present hour in some foreign clime which is far away and beyond our ken, the perfected philosopher is or has been or hereafter shall be compelled by a superior power to have the charge of the State, we are ready to assert to the death, that this our constitution has been, and is—yea, and will be whenever the Muse of Philosophy is queen. There is no impossibility in all this; that there is a difficulty, we acknowledge ourselves.

My opinion agrees with yours, he said.

But do you mean to say that this is not the opinion of the multitude? I should imagine not, he replied.

O my friend, I said, do not attack the multitude: they will change their minds, if, not in an **aggressive** spirit, but gently and with the view of soothing them and **removing** their dislike of over-education, you show them your philosophers as they really are and describe as you were just now doing their

# **Thesaurus**

aggressive: (adj) active, offensive, enterprising, warlike, energetic, pushy, hostile, invasive, vigorous, strong, strenuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) peaceable, friendly, passive, suspicious, calm, timid, antiwar, easygoing, ineffectual, lazy, mild. coldly: (adv) frigidly, icily, coolly, indifferently, frostily, distantly, gelidly, reservedly, bleakly, wintrily, frozenly. ANTONYMS: (adv) warmly, affectionately, sympathetically,

sensitively, kindly, cheerfully, emotionally.

controversy: (n) contention, argument, difference, dispute, conflict, altercation, squabble, row; (n, v) contest, debate.

ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, harmony, unanimity, concord.

countless: (adj) innumerable, multitudinous, many, endless, myriad, measureless, uncounted, legion, untold, infinite, incalculable.

ANTONYMS: (adj) finite, limited, numbered, counted, countable, small. providentially: (adv) fortunately, luckily, fortuitously, auspiciously, opportunely, propitiously, timely, divinely, prudently. ANTONYM: (adv) unfortunately. removing: (adj) departing. seeking: (n) hunt, pursuit, hunting, effort, pursuance; (adj) searching, zetetic; (prep) looking for.

character and profession, and then mankind will see that he of whom you are speaking is not such as they supposed—if they view him in this new light, they will surely change their notion of him, and answer in another strain. Who can be at enmity with one who loves them, who that is himself gentle and free from **envy** will be jealous of one in whom there is no **jealousy**? Nay, let me answer for you, that in a few this harsh temper may be found but not in the majority of mankind.

I quite agree with you, he said.

And do you not also think, as I do, that the harsh feeling which the many entertain towards philosophy originates in the pretenders, who rush in uninvited, and are always abusing them, and finding fault with them, who make persons instead of things the theme of their conversation? and nothing can be more unbecoming in philosophers than this.

It is most unbecoming.

For he, Adeimantus, whose mind is fixed upon true being, has surely no time to look down upon the affairs of earth, or to be filled with malice and envy, contending against men; his eye is ever directed towards things fixed and immutable, which he sees neither injuring nor injured by one another, but all in order moving according to reason; these he imitates, and to these he will, as far as he can, conform himself. Can a man help imitating that with which he holds reverential converse?

Impossible.

And the philosopher holding converse with the divine order, becomes orderly and divine, as far as the nature of man allows; but like every one else, he will suffer from detraction.

Of course.

And if a necessity be laid upon him of fashioning, not only himself, but human nature generally, whether in States or individuals, into that which he beholds elsewhere, will he, think you, be an unskilful artificer of justice, temperance, and every civil virtue?

#### Thesaurus

**detraction**: (n) aspersion, depreciation, enviousness, desire, heartburning, scandal, backbiting, derogation, disparagement, calumny, slander, obloguy, censure; (v) dispraise. ANTONYMS: (n) adulation, commendation, flattery, praise, approval. directed: (adj) oriented, manageable, destined, concentrating, intent, formal, absorbed, prescript, focussed; (v) instruct; (adv) under. envy: (v) begrudge, want; (n)

resentment, envies, heartburn, jealousy, hatred; (adj) jealous. ANTONYM: (n) generosity. jealousy: (n) suspicion, jealous, jealousness, envy, envious, alertness, distrust, contention, competition, scruple, qualm. malice: (n) spite, animosity, enmity, venom, ill will, hatred, malevolence, cruelty, envy, hate, spleen. ANTONYMS: (n) goodwill,

benevolence, affection, goodness. reverential: (adj, v) deferential; (adj) reverent, dutiful, solemn, pious, devotional, devout, obedient, godly, religious; (v) decorous. ANTONYM: (adj) irreverent. uninvited: (adj) unbidden, unwelcome, unintroduced, undesirable, unwanted, unsolicited, unsought, annoying, not needed, not bidden, unasked for. ANTONYMS: (adj) welcome, desirable.

Anything but unskilful.

And if the world perceives that what we are saying about him is the truth, will they be angry with philosophy? Will they **disbelieve** us, when we tell them that no State can be happy which is not designed by artists who imitate the heavenly pattern?

They will not be angry if they understand, he said. But how will they draw out the plan of which you are speaking?

They will begin by taking the State and the manners of men, from which, as from a tablet, they will rub out the picture, and leave a clean surface. This is no easy task. But whether easy or not, herein will lie the difference between them and every other legislator,—they will have nothing to do either with individual or State, and will inscribe no laws, until they have either found, or themselves made, a clean surface.

They will be very right, he said.

Having effected this, they will proceed to **trace** an **outline** of the constitution? No doubt.

And when they are **filling** in the work, as I conceive, they will often turn their eyes upwards and downwards: I mean that they will first look at absolute justice and beauty and temperance, and again at the human copy; and will mingle and temper the various elements of life into the image of a man; and this they will conceive according to that other image, which, when existing among men, Homer calls the form and likeness of God.

Very true, he said.

And one feature they will **erase**, and another they will put in, until they have made the ways of men, as far as possible, agreeable to the ways of God?

Indeed, he said, in no way could they make a fairer picture.

And now, I said, are we beginning to **persuade** those whom you described as **rushing** at us with might and main, that the painter of constitutions is such an one as we are praising; at whom they were so very indignant because to his

#### **Thesaurus**

disbelieve: (v) distrust, doubt, mistrust, suspect, question, disgrace, deny, wonder, reject; (adj) lack faith, suspected. ANTONYMS: (v) believe, trust, accept. erase: (v) delete, efface, blot out,

erase: (v) delete, efface, blot out, obliterate, wipe out, expunge, annihilate, eradicate, clear, rub out, eliminate. ANTONYMS: (v) restore, record, add, acknowledge. filling: (n) filler, weft, contents, loading, plug, packing, pad,

replenishment, padding, impletion, stuffing. ANTONYMS: (adj) light, insufficient.

**outline**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) draft; (*n*, *v*) line, form, design, edge, abstract; (*n*) synopsis, contour, digest, figure; (*v*) draw. ANTONYMS: (*n*) exposition, light.

persuade: (v) convince, coax, assure, allure, entice, influence, induce, cajole, argue, exhort, lure. ANTONYMS: (v) discourage, dissuade, deter, restrain, force. **rushing**: (*adv*) rushingly; (*n*) haste, hurry, hurrying, running, hastening, flush, movement; (*adj*) flowing, headlong, moving. **trace**: (*n*, *v*) line, shadow, spot, hunt.

**trace**: (*n*, *v*) line, shadow, spot, hunt, trail; (*n*) dash, clue, indication, suggestion, sign; (*v*) pursue. ANTONYMS: (*v*) ignore; (*n*) lot, overtone.

hands we committed the State; and are they growing a little **calmer** at what they have just heard?

Much calmer, if there is any sense in them.

Why, where can they still find any ground for objection? Will they doubt that the philosopher is a lover of truth and being?

They would not be so unreasonable.

Or that his nature, being such as we have delineated, is akin to the highest good?

Neither can they doubt this.

But again, will they tell us that such a nature, placed under **favourable** circumstances, will not be perfectly good and wise if any ever was? Or will they prefer those whom we have rejected?

Surely not.

Then will they still be angry at our saying, that, until philosophers bear rule, States and individuals will have no rest from evil, nor will this our imaginary State ever be realized?

I think that they will be less angry.

Shall we assume that they are not only less angry but quite gentle, and that they have been **converted** and for very shame, if for no other reason, cannot **refuse** to come to terms?

By all means, he said.

Then let us suppose that the **reconciliation** has been effected. Will any one deny the other point, that there may be sons of kings or princes who are by nature philosophers?

Surely no man, he said.

And when they have come into being will any one say that they must of necessity be destroyed; that they can hardly be saved is not denied even by us; but that in the whole course of ages no single one of them can escape—who will **venture** to affirm this?

#### **Thesaurus**

calmer: (n) placid, quiet.
converted: (adj) consecrated,
unearthly, changed, altered, justified,
invert, persuaded, inspired, reborn,
reformed, regenerate.
favourable: (adj) convenient,

favourable: (adj) convenient, encouraging, good, auspicious, useful, benevolent, favorable, profitable, conducive, opportune, prosperous.

**reconciliation**: (*n*, *v*) concord, peace, harmony: (*n*) adjustment, agreement

rapprochement, pacification, reconcilement, conciliation, appeasement, mediation.
ANTONYMS: (n) incitement, war.
refuse: (v) deny, reject, decline, disallow, rebuff, turn down; (adj, n) waste, trash; (n) offal, litter; (n, v) dross. ANTONYMS: (v) allow, receive, permit, offer, dedicate, approve, agree, admit, choose, pass, affirm.

harmony; (n) adjustment, agreement, unreasonable: (adj) immoderate,

undue, absurd, extravagant, excessive, preposterous, exorbitant, illogical, inordinate, irrational, ridiculous. ANTONYMS: (adj) logical, practical, sensible, affordable, economical, justified, realistic, fair, obliging, just, rational.

venture: (n, v) hazard, chance, stake, peril, attempt, gamble, adventure;

peril, attempt, gamble, adventure; (adj, n, v) dare; (n) speculation, danger; (v) endanger.

Who indeed!

But, said I, one is enough; let there be one man who has a city obedient to his will, and he might bring into existence the ideal polity about which the world is so incredulous.

Yes, one is enough.

The ruler may impose the laws and institutions which we have been describing, and the citizens may possibly be **willing** to obey them?

Certainly.

And that others should approve, of what we approve, is no **miracle** or impossibility?

I think not.

But we have **sufficiently** shown, in what has preceded, that all this, if only possible, is assuredly for the best.

We have.

And now we say not only that our laws, if they could be enacted, would be for the best, but also that the enactment of them, though difficult, is not impossible.

Very good.

And so with **pain** and toil we have reached the end of one subject, but more remains to be **discussed**;—how and by what studies and pursuits will the saviours of the constitution be **created**, and at what ages are they to apply themselves to their several studies?

Certainly.

I omitted the troublesome business of the possession of women, and the procreation of children, and the **appointment** of the rulers, because I knew that the perfect State would be eyed with jealousy and was difficult of attainment; but that piece of cleverness was not of much service to me, for I had to discuss them all the same. The women and children are now disposed of, but the other question of the rulers must be **investigated** from the very beginning. We were

#### Thesaurus

appointment: (n) assignment, date, post, designation, rendezvous, engagement, appointments, fitting, berth, blind date, conference.
ANTONYM: (n) dismissal.
created: (adj) create, composed, shaped, produced, wrought, legendary, mythical, fictitious, bent, romantic, fashioned.
discuss: (v) argue, agitate, deliberate, consult, reason, mention, moot, dispute, discourse, negotiate,

consider.

investigated: (adj) studied.

miracle: (adj, n) wonder, prodigy; (n)

phenomenon, mystery, wonderwork,
surprise, sensation, event, theurgy,
astonishment, amazement.

pain: (n, v) hurt, afflict, ache, bother,

pain: (n, v) hurt, afflict, ache, bother, torment, trouble, grieve, anguish; (n) ill, agony, nuisance. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, cheer; (n) joy, peace, content, balm, ecstasy.
sufficiently: (adv) fully, satisfactorily,

enough, amply, quite, properly, competently, decently, abundantly, goodly, completely. ANTONYM: (adv) inadequately.

willing: (adj, adv) disposed; (adj) spontaneous, voluntary, ready, amenable, inclined, prepared, enthusiastic, unforced, obliging; (adj, v) consenting. ANTONYMS: (adj) unwilling, reluctant, compulsory, disagreeable, unprepared, forced, unenthusiastic, unhelpful.

saying, as you will remember, that they were to be lovers of their country, tried by the test of pleasures and pains, and neither in hardships, nor in dangers, nor at any other critical moment were to lose their patriotism—he was to be rejected who failed, but he who always came forth pure, like gold tried in the refiner's fire, was to be made a ruler, and to receive honours and rewards in life and after death. This was the sort of thing which was being said, and then the argument turned aside and veiled her face; not liking to stir the question which has now arisen.

I perfectly remember, he said.

Yes, my friend, I said, and I then **shrank** from **hazarding** the bold word; but now let me dare to say — that the perfect guardian must be a philosopher.

Yes, he said, let that be affirmed.

And do not suppose that there will be many of them; for the gifts which were deemed by us to be essential rarely grow together; they are mostly found in shreds and patches.

What do you mean? he said.

You are aware, I replied, that quick intelligence, memory, **sagacity**, cleverness, and similar qualities, do not often grow together, and that persons who possess them and are at the same time **high**-spirited and **magnanimous** are not so constituted by nature as to live orderly and in a peaceful and settled manner; they are driven any way by their impulses, and all solid principle goes out of them.

Very true, he said.

On the other hand, those **steadfast** natures which can better be depended upon, which in a battle are impregnable to fear and **immovable**, are equally immovable when there is anything to be learned; they are always in a **torpid** state, and are apt to yawn and go to sleep over any intellectual toil.

Quite true.

#### **Thesaurus**

double; (adj) wagering.
high-spirited: (adj) valiant, valorous, spirited, manful, vivacious, effervescent, exuberant, jaunty, airy, ebullient, martial.
immovable: (adj, v) firm, fixed; (adj) adamant, steadfast, motionless, unyielding, unmovable, set, imperturbable, inflexible; (v) fast.
ANTONYMS: (adj) loose, moving, mobile, flexible, movable,

hazarding: (n) exacta, gaming, daily

acquiescent, temporary, irresolute.

magnanimous: (adj) generous, great,
noble, bountiful, exalted, big,
handsome, lofty, large, charitable,
considerate. ANTONYMS: (adj)
miserly, unforgiving, petty.

sagacity: (n, v) discernment, judgment,
penetration; (n) judiciousness, sense,
prudence, gumption, acumen,
perspicacity; (adj, n) discretion,
wisdom. ANTONYM: (n) foolishness.
shrank: (v) minify.

steadfast: (adj, v) solid, firm, permanent, loyal, fast, fixed, immovable, faithful; (adj) resolute, determined, steady. ANTONYMS: (adj) irresolute, disloyal, unreliable, undependable, uncommitted, weak, transient, fickle, compliant, acquiescent, inconstant. torpid: (adj) inactive, sluggish, indolent, dull, slow, dormant, lazy, dead, lifeless, flat, supine.

ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, lively.

And yet we were saying that both qualities were necessary in those to whom the higher education is to be imparted, and who are to share in any office or command.

Certainly, he said.

And will they be a class which is rarely found?

Yes, indeed.

Then the aspirant must not only be tested in those labours and dangers and pleasures which we mentioned before, but there is another kind of **probation** which we did not mention—he must be exercised also in many kinds of knowledge, to see whether the soul will be able to **endure** the highest of all, or will faint under them, as in any other studies and exercises.

Yes, he said, you are quite right in **testing** him. But what do you mean by the highest of all knowledge?

You may remember, I said, that we divided the soul into three parts; and distinguished the several natures of justice, temperance, courage, and wisdom?

Indeed, he said, if I had forgotten, I should not deserve to hear more.

And do you remember the word of **caution** which preceded the discussion of them?

To what do you refer?

We were saying, if I am not mistaken, that he who wanted to see them in their perfect beauty must take a longer and more circuitous way, at the end of which they would appear; but that we could add on a popular **exposition** of them on a level with the discussion which had preceded. And you replied that such an exposition would be enough for you, and so the enquiry was continued in what to me seemed to be a very **inaccurate** manner; whether you were satisfied or not, it is for you to say.

Yes, he said, I thought and the others thought that you **gave** us a fair measure of truth.

# Thesaurus ANTONYMS: (v) perish, die, break,

fall, discontinue, crumble, end, enjoy,

**caution**: (*n*) advice, carefulness, warning, wariness, precaution, vigilance, prudence, admonition, commandment; (*v*) warn, advise. ANTONYMS: (*n*) carelessness, rashness, incaution, honesty, foolishness, encouragement, irresponsibility, openness, approval; (*v*) dare, approve. **endure**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) continue, support; (*n*, *v*) bear, suffer, stand, be; (*v*) accept, undergo, allow, stay, tolerate.

resign, quit, collapse.

exposition: (n) comment, exhibition, show, explanation, elucidation, clarification, exhibit, description, demonstration, dissertation, fair.

gave: (v) deliver, allow, allot, provide, furnish, impart, administer; (n) gives.

inaccurate: (adj) incorrect, faulty, false, wrong, inexact, improper, loose, untrue, mistaken, not exact,

imprecise. ANTONYMS: (adj) correct, exact, accurate, truthful, careful, reliable, valid.

probation: (n) verification, trial, test, rehearsal, testing, inspection, examination, trial period; (adj) tentative, apodeixis, apodixis.

testing: (n) test, examination, experiment, experimentation, scrutiny, inspection, check, exam; (adj) hard, tough, trying.

ANTONYMS: (adj) satisfying, simple.

But, my friend, I said, a **measure** of such things which in any degree falls short of the whole truth is not fair measure; for nothing imperfect is the measure of anything, although persons are too apt to be contented and think that they need **search** no further.

Not an **uncommon** case when people are indolent.

Yes, I said; and there cannot be any worse fault in a guardian of the State and of the laws.

True.

The guardian then, I said, must be required to take the longer **circuit**, and toil at **learning** as well as at gymnastics, or he will never reach the highest knowledge of all which, as we were just now saying, is his proper calling.

What, he said, is there a knowledge still higher than this—higher than justice and the other virtues?

Yes, I said, there is. And of the virtues too we must behold not the outline merely, as at present—nothing short of the most finished picture should satisfy us. When little things are **elaborated** with an infinity of pains, in order that they may appear in their full beauty and utmost clearness, how ridiculous that we should not think the highest truths worthy of attaining the highest accuracy!

A right noble thought; but do you suppose that we shall refrain from **asking** you what is this highest knowledge?

Nay, I said, ask if you will; but I am certain that you have heard the answer many times, and now you either do not understand me or, as I rather think, you are disposed to be troublesome; for you have often been told that the idea of good is the highest knowledge, and that all other things become useful and advantageous only by their use of this. You can hardly be ignorant that of this I was about to speak, concerning which, as you have often heard me say, we know so little; and, without which, any other knowledge or possession of any kind will **profit** us nothing. Do you think that the possession of all other things is of any value if we do not possess the good? or the knowledge of all other things if we have no knowledge of beauty and goodness?

#### **Thesaurus**

asking: (v) ask; (n) invitation, prayer, suit, application, begging, supplication, entreaty, billing; (adj) interrogatory, interrogative. circuit: (n, v) circle, tour, trip, journey, excursion; (n) beat, area, round, district, perimeter, cycle. elaborated: (adj) elaborate, careful, finished, wrought. learning: (n, v) erudition, enlightenment; (n) acquisition, education, culture, scholarship,

wisdom, acquirement, letter, literature; (v) learn. measure: (n) amount, criterion, extent, measurement, estimate, degree, beat, benchmark, quantity, meter; (n, v) act. ANTONYMS: (v) guess, estimate. profit: (n, v) gain, produce, net, increase, help; (adj, n, v) benefit, advantage; (n) account, earnings, lucre; (adj, n) good. ANTONYMS: (n) loss, detriment, insignificance. search: (v) grope, rummage, ransack,

pry; (n) pursuit, exploration, examination, inquiry, inspection; (n, v) inquire, research.

uncommon: (adj) extraordinary, peculiar, scarce, singular, strange, special, exceptional, infrequent, odd, unusual, unaccustomed.

ANTONYMS: (adj) typical, usual, normal, familiar, poor, ordinary, bad, imperfect, customary, accustomed, frequent.

Assuredly not.

You are further aware that most people affirm pleasure to be the good, but the finer sort of wits say it is knowledge?

And you are aware too that the latter cannot explain what they mean by knowledge, but are obliged after all to say knowledge of the good?

How ridiculous!

Yes, I said, that they should begin by **reproaching** us with our ignorance of the good, and then presume our knowledge of it – for the good they define to be knowledge of the good, just as if we understood them when they use the term 'good' – this is of course ridiculous.

Most true, he said.

And those who make pleasure their good are in equal perplexity; for they are compelled to admit that there are bad pleasures as well as good.

Certainly.

And therefore to acknowledge that bad and good are the same?

There can be no doubt about the numerous difficulties in which this question is involved.

There can be none.

Further, do we not see that many are willing to do or to have or to seem to be what is just and honourable without the reality; but no one is satisfied with the appearance of good-the reality is what they seek; in the case of the good, appearance is despised by every one.

Very true, he said.

Of this then, which every soul of man pursues and makes the end of all his actions, having a presentiment that there is such an end, and yet hesitating because neither knowing the nature nor having the same assurance of this as of

#### Thesaurus

appearance: (n) look, face, shape, show, apparition, advent, form, image, surface, impression; (adj, n) semblance. ANTONYMS: (n) departure, vanishing. assurance: (n) confidence, guarantee, belief, pledge, security, promise, sureness, poise, conviction, nerve, warrant. ANTONYMS: (n) doubt, uncertainty, mistrust, lie, fiction, awkwardness, timidity, clumsiness. define: (v) characterize, explain,

clarify, bound, name, interpret, limit, reproaching: (adj) opprobrious. construe, restrict, circumscribe, outline. ANTONYMS: (v) obscure, confuse, confound, conceal, tangle. pleasure: (n) fun, enjoyment, delectation, joy, comfort, happiness, mirth, inclination; (n, v) contentment, content; (adj, n, v) gratification. ANTONYMS: (n) irritation, nuisance, boredom, ache, displeasure, dissatisfaction, misery, pain, sadness, worry, anguish.

**seek**: (n, v) ask, inquire; (v) hunt, endeavor, attempt, look, aspire, pursue, beg, quest, explore. ANTONYMS: (v) answer, grant. understood: (adj) tacit, implicit, implied, silent, assumed, accepted, appreciated, unstated, undeclared; (v) of course, admitted. ANTONYMS: (adj) explicit, spoken, written, explained.

other things, and therefore losing whatever good there is in other things,—of a principle such and so great as this ought the best men in our State, to whom everything is entrusted, to be in the darkness of ignorance?

Certainly not, he said.

I am sure, I said, that he who does not know how the beautiful and the just are likewise good will be but a sorry guardian of them; and I suspect that no one who is ignorant of the good will have a true knowledge of them.

That, he said, is a **shrewd** suspicion of yours.

And if we only have a guardian who has this knowledge our State will be perfectly ordered?

Of course, he replied; but I wish that you would tell me whether you conceive this supreme principle of the good to be knowledge or pleasure, or different from either?

Aye, I said, I knew all along that a **fastidious** gentleman like you would not be contented with the thoughts of other people about these matters.

True, Socrates; but I must say that one who like you has passed a lifetime in the study of philosophy should not be always repeating the opinions of others, and never telling his own.

Well, but has any one a right to say **positively** what he does not know?

Not, he said, with the assurance of positive certainty; he has no right to do that: but he may say what he thinks, as a matter of opinion.

And do you not know, I said, that all mere opinions are bad, and the best of them blind? You would not deny that those who have any true notion without intelligence are only like blind men who feel their way along the road?

Very true.

And do you wish to behold what is blind and crooked and base, when others will tell you of **brightness** and beauty?

Still, I must **implore** you, Socrates, said Glaucon, not to turn away just as you are reaching the goal; if you will only give such an explanation of the good as

# **Thesaurus**

brightness: (*n*) luminance, light, shine, clarity, lustre, glow, glare, glitter, luminosity; (*n*, *v*) illumination, gloss. ANTONYMS: (*n*) cloudiness, murkiness, dimness, darkness, mistiness, softness, sadness, bleakness, dirtiness, pessimism; (*adv*) seriously.

**fastidious**: (adj, n) exacting, critical, accurate; (adj) delicate, particular, careful, exigent, dainty, discriminating, nice, fussy.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) sloppy, unfastidious, careless, uncouth, uncritical, easy, indifferent, undemanding, slapdash, relaxed, easygoing.

implore: (v) beg, beseech, supplicate, ask, conjure, crave, pray, importune, appeal, plead, solicit. ANTONYMS: (v) demand, grant, reject.

positively: (adv) absolutely, definitely, decidedly, unequivocally, expressly, emphatically, categorically, clearly,

confidently; (adv, int) surely; (adj, adv) really. ANTONYMS: (adv) disapprovingly, pessimistically, uncertainly, doubtfully, inauspiciously, ill. shrewd: (adj) sharp, astute, keen,

shrewd: (adj) sharp, astute, keen, piercing, clever, cunning, bright; (adj, v) sagacious, knowing, crafty, prudent. ANTONYMS: (adj) foolish, gullible, naive, soft, candid, dim, innocent, guileless, obtuse, indiscriminate.

you have already given of justice and temperance and the other virtues, we shall be satisfied.

Yes, my friend, and I shall be at least equally satisfied, but I cannot help fearing that I shall fail, and that my indiscreet zeal will bring ridicule upon me. No, sweet sirs, let us not at present ask what is the actual nature of the good, for to reach what is now in my **thoughts** would be an effort too great for me. But of the child of the good who is likest him, I would fain speak, if I could be sure that you wished to hear—otherwise, not.

By all means, he said, tell us about the child, and you shall remain in our **debt** for the account of the parent.

I do indeed wish, I replied, that I could pay, and you receive, the account of the parent, and not, as now, of the offspring only; take, however, this latter by way of interest, and at the same time have a care that I do not render a false account, although I have no intention of deceiving you.

Yes, we will take all the care that we can: proceed.

Yes, I said, but I must first come to an understanding with you, and remind you of what I have mentioned in the course of this discussion, and at many other times.

What?

The old story, that there is a many beautiful and a many good, and so of other things which we describe and define; to all of them the term 'many' is applied.

True, he said.

And there is an absolute beauty and an absolute good, and of other things to which the term 'many' is applied there is an absolute; for they may be brought under a single idea, which is called the essence of each.

Very true.

The many, as we say, are seen but not known, and the ideas are known but not seen.

# Thesaurus

applied: (adj) pragmatic, useful, used, concrete. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrelated, untested, unused, unenforced. debt: (n) score, debit, loan, liability, obligation, due, bill, commitment, arrears, pocket, hole. ANTONYMS: (n) asset, cash, credit. describe: (v) represent, report, delineate, state, depict, outline, relate, draw, qualify, designate, name. fail: (adj, v) fade, decline, cease; (v)

abort, die, break, bust, want, disappoint, deteriorate, default. ANTONYMS: (v) succeed, triumph, win, thrive, procure, accomplish, achieve, attain, boom, complete, continue.

indiscreet: (adj) careless, imprudent, incautious, ill-advised, rash, unadvised, unwise, impolitic, hasty, tactless, inadvisable. ANTONYMS: (adj) thoughtful, tactful, judicious, guarded.

least: (n) minimum; (adj) smallest, minimal, littlest, lowest, insignificant, minutest, negligible; (adj, n) smallest amount; (adv) at least, fully. ANTONYMS: (adj) maximum, greatest; (adj, adv) most. sirs: (n) gentlemen, messieurs. thoughts: (n) mind, opinion, depth of thought, feelings, reflection, ideas,

workings of the mind, view, stance, position, considered opinion.

Exactly.

And what is the **organ** with which we see the visible things?

The sight, he said.

And with the hearing, I said, we hear, and with the other senses perceive the other objects of sense?

True.

But have you remarked that sight is by far the most **costly** and complex piece of **workmanship** which the artificer of the senses ever contrived?

No, I never have, he said.

Then reflect; has the ear or voice need of any third or additional nature in order that the one may be able to hear and the other to be heard?

Nothing of the sort.

No, indeed, I replied; and the same is true of most, if not all, the other senses—you would not say that any of them requires such an addition?

Certainly not.

But you see that without the addition of some other nature there is no seeing or being seen?

How do you mean?

Sight being, as I conceive, in the eyes, and he who has eyes wanting to see; colour being also present in them, still unless there be a third nature specially adapted to the purpose, the owner of the eyes will see nothing and the colours will be **invisible**.

Of what nature are you speaking?

Of that which you term light, I replied.

True, he said.

Noble, then, is the bond which links together sight and visibility, and great beyond other bonds by no small difference of nature; for light is their bond, and light is no ignoble thing?

#### Thesaurus

bonds: (n) securities, stock, stocks, handcuffs, irons, chains, servitude, common stock, confinement, preferred stock. costly: (adj) dear, precious, valuable, pricey, high, luxurious, sumptuous, extravagant, rich, invaluable, beloved. ANTONYMS: (adj) worthless, inexpensive, painless, economical, harmless, helpful, reasonable, aiding, meager. invisible: (adj) obscure, hidden,

inconspicuous, intangible, sightless, concealed, impalpable, occult, indiscernible, inappreciable, unseen. ANTONYMS: (adj) obvious, conspicuous, noticeable, palpable. organ: (n) instrument, member, limb, apparatus, harmonium, agency, part, mechanism, medium, means, journal. workmanship: (n) craft, handicraft, specially: (adv) especially, peculiarly, specifically, extraordinarily, exceptionally, unusually, exclusively, expressly, in particular, particular,

distinctively. ANTONYM: (adv) generally. visibility: (n, v) sight; (n) visibleness,

conspicuousness, perceptibility, high visibility; (v) view, opinion, open view, mental view, judgment, inspection.

craftsmanship, skill, accomplishment, performance, acquirement, priestcraft, trade, artistry; (v) handiwork.

Nay, he said, the reverse of ignoble.

And which, I said, of the gods in heaven would you say was the lord of this element? Whose is that light which makes the eye to see perfectly and the **visible** to appear?

You mean the sun, as you and all mankind say.

May not the relation of sight to this deity be described as follows?

How?

Neither sight nor the eye in which sight resides is the sun?

No.

Yet of all the organs of sense the eye is the most like the sun?

By far the most like.

And the power which the eye possesses is a sort of effluence which is dispensed from the sun?

Exactly.

Then the sun is not sight, but the author of sight who is **recognised** by sight? True, he said.

And this is he whom I call the child of the good, whom the good begat in his own likeness, to be in the visible world, in relation to sight and the things of sight, what the good is in the **intellectual** world in relation to mind and the things of mind:

Will you be a little more **explicit**? he said.

Why, you know, I said, that the eyes, when a person directs them towards objects on which the light of day is no longer **shining**, but the **moon** and stars only, see dimly, and are nearly blind; they seem to have no clearness of vision in them?

Very true.

But when they are directed towards objects on which the sun shines, they see clearly and there is sight in them?

### Thesaurus ive, emotional, dim, is

explicit: (adj) clear, unmistakable, manifest, exact, sharp, lucid, definite, broad, direct, perspicuous, emphatic. ANTONYMS: (adj) unspoken, tacit, understood, implicit, bland, ambiguous, confused, indirect, obscure, unclear, hidden. intellectual: (n) intellect, brain, thinker, scholar; (adj) rational, mental, cerebral, learned, spiritual; (adj, n) mind, academic. ANTONYMS: (adj) nonintellectual,

intuitive, emotional, dim, ignorant, physical, thick, lowbrow; (n) dunce. moon: (adj) lunar; (n) month, moonshine, satellite, moonlight, luck, lunar month, GHURRY, epoch, orbot night; (v) daydream.

glowing; (adj, n) lucid, resplendent clear; (v) shine. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, pale, blemished. wisible: (adj) obvious, conspicuous, apparent, open, evident, clear, plai manifest, discernible; (adj, adv)

recognised: (adj) recognized, undisputed, received, noted, known, established, certified, acceptable, accepted.

**shining**: (*adj*, *v*) brilliant; (*adj*) lustrous, radiant, glossy, luminous, glorious,

glowing; (adj, n) lucid, resplendent, clear; (v) shine. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, pale, blemished.

visible: (adj) obvious, conspicuous, apparent, open, evident, clear, plain, manifest, discernible; (adj, adv) noticeable, observable. ANTONYMS: (adj) invisible, imperceptible, unclear, obscured, concealed, hidden, obscure, undetectable, inconspicuous; (adv) absent.

Certainly.

And the soul is like the eye: when resting upon that on which truth and being shine, the soul perceives and understands, and is **radiant** with **intelligence**; but when turned towards the **twilight** of becoming and **perishing**, then she has opinion only, and goes blinking about, and is first of one opinion and then of another, and seems to have no intelligence?

Just so.

Now, that which imparts truth to the known and the power of knowing to the knower is what I would have you term the idea of good, and this you will deem to be the cause of science, and of truth in so far as the latter becomes the subject of knowledge; beautiful too, as are both truth and knowledge, you will be right in esteeming this other nature as more beautiful than either; and, as in the previous **instance**, light and **sight** may be truly said to be like the sun, and yet not to be the sun, so in this other sphere, science and truth may be deemed to be like the good, but not the good; the good has a place of honour yet higher.

What a wonder of beauty that must be, he said, which is the **author** of science and truth, and yet surpasses them in beauty; for you surely cannot mean to say that pleasure is the good?

God forbid, I replied; but may I ask you to consider the image in another point of view?

In what point of view?

You would say, would you not, that the sun is not only the author of visibility in all visible things, but of generation and nourishment and growth, though he himself is not generation?

Certainly.

In like manner the good may be said to be not only the author of knowledge to all things known, but of their being and essence, and yet the good is not essence, but far exceeds essence in **dignity** and power.

#### **Thesaurus**

author: (n) writer, producer, founder, creator, inventor, parent, originator, architect, maker; (v) compose, create. ANTONYM: (n) reader.

dignity: (n) degree, prestige, glory, decorum, face, distinction, honor, majesty, eminence, solemnity; (adj, n) decency. ANTONYMS: (n) lowliness, indecency, impropriety, simplicity, cheerfulness, austerity.

**instance**: (*n*) exemplar, case, time, illustration, sample, affair, pattern,

chance, cause; (*v*) exemplify, illustrate.

intelligence: (n) cleverness, intellect, news, tidings, understanding, acumen, mentality, knowledge, brains, comprehension, brainpower. ANTONYMS: (n) stupidity, emotion, slowness, foolishness, ineptness. perishing: (adj) chilly, cold and damp, crumbly, starving, inclement; (n) decay.

radiant: (adj, v) bright, glittering,

lustrous, beamy, glorious; (adj) beaming, luminous, effulgent, lucid, glowing, beautiful. ANTONYMS: (adj) gloomy, dark, pale, unhappy. sight: (n, v) vision, glimpse, show, aspect, appearance; (v) aim, spot, see; (n) view, prospect, scene. twilight: (n) nightfall, night, sunset, gloaming, evening, sundown, eventide, fall, decline, evenfall; (adj) aurora. ANTONYMS: (n) daybreak, sunrise.

Glaucon said, with a ludicrous earnestness: By the light of heaven, how amazing!

Yes, I said, and the exaggeration may be set down to you; for you made me utter my fancies.

And **pray** continue to utter them; at any rate let us hear if there is anything more to be said about the **similitude** of the sun.

Yes, I said, there is a great deal more.

Then omit nothing, however slight.

I will do my best, I said; but I should think that a great deal will have to be omitted.

I hope not, he said.

You have to imagine, then, that there are two ruling powers, and that one of them is set over the intellectual world, the other over the visible. I do not say heaven, lest you should fancy that I am playing upon the name ('ourhanoz, orhatoz'). May I suppose that you have this distinction of the visible and intelligible fixed in your mind?

I have.

Now take a line which has been cut into two unequal parts, and **divide** each of them again in the same proportion, and suppose the two main divisions to answer, one to the visible and the other to the intelligible, and then compare the subdivisions in respect of their clearness and want of clearness, and you will find that the first section in the sphere of the visible consists of images. And by images I mean, in the first place, **shadows**, and in the second place, reflections in water and in solid, smooth and **polished** bodies and the like: Do you understand?

Yes, I understand.

Imagine, now, the other section, of which this is only the **resemblance**, to include the **animals** which we see, and everything that grows or is made.

Very good.

#### **Thesaurus**

animals: (n) beast, nature, natural world, flora and fauna, stock, animal kingdom. divide: (n, v) cut, part, distribute, share, split; (v) dissociate, dismember, separate, dispense, disconnect, detach. ANTONYMS: (v) unite, join, connect, combine, multiply, lump, link, keep, hold, gather, disarrange. polished: (adj) glossy, cultured, finished, refined, smooth, lustrous,

genteel, courtly; (adj, v) courteous, civil, polite. ANTONYMS: (adj) rough, coarse, shoddy, unpolished, amateur, awkward, unsophisticated. pray: (v) beg, implore, entreat, crave, invite, plead, beseech, appeal, importune, adjure, invoke. ANTONYM: (v) reject. resemblance: (n) affinity, parallel, similarity, comparison, correspondence, likeness, conformity, appearance, analogy, semblance,

resemble. ANTONYMS: (n) dissimilarity, contrast. shadows: (n) dark, darkness, night, dimness, dusk, fogginess, mistiness, gloom, cloudiness. ANTONYM: (n) brightness.

similitude: (n) resemblance, similarity, comparison, image, picture, simile, alikeness, equivalence, kinship, analogy; (adj, n) semblance.
ANTONYMS: (n) difference, unlikeness.

Would you not admit that both the sections of this division have different degrees of truth, and that the copy is to the original as the sphere of opinion is to the sphere of knowledge?

Most undoubtedly.

Next proceed to consider the manner in which the sphere of the intellectual is to be divided.

In what manner?

Thus:—There are two subdivisions, in the lower of which the soul uses the figures given by the former division as images; the enquiry can only be hypothetical, and instead of going upwards to a principle descends to the other end; in the higher of the two, the soul passes out of hypotheses, and goes up to a principle which is above hypotheses, making no use of images as in the former case, but proceeding only in and through the ideas themselves.

I do not quite understand your **meaning**, he said.

Then I will try again; you will understand me better when I have made some **preliminary remarks**. You are aware that students of geometry, arithmetic, and the kindred sciences **assume** the odd and the even and the figures and three kinds of angles and the like in their several branches of science; these are their hypotheses, which they and every body are supposed to know, and therefore they do not **deign** to give any account of them either to themselves or others; but they begin with them, and go on until they arrive at last, and in a **consistent** manner, at their conclusion?

Yes, he said, I know.

And do you not know also that although they make use of the visible forms and reason about them, they are thinking not of these, but of the ideals which they resemble; not of the figures which they draw, but of the absolute square and the absolute **diameter**, and so on—the forms which they draw or make, and which have shadows and reflections in water of their own, are converted by them into images, but they are really seeking to behold the things themselves, which can only be seen with the eye of the mind?

#### **Thesaurus**

contradictory, illogical,

unpredictable, unreliable,

incompatible, incongruous,

assume: (v) accept, adopt, take, appropriate, arrogate, suppose, simulate, sham, presume, usurp; (adv, v) feign. ANTONYMS: (v) relinquish, abandon, return, renounce, know, doubt, defer, appreciate, despair, speculate, surrender.

consistent: (adj) uniform, logical, compatible, agreeable, congruous, regular, consonant, conformable, unchanging, concurrent; (adj, v)

constant. ANTONYMS: (adj) erratic,

opposing, irregular, indecisive, inconstant. deign: (v) lower oneself, vouchsafe, stoop, descend, lower, grant, move, stoop to, allow, fall, come from. diameter: (n) calibre, bore, width, diam, radius, breadth, diameters, thickness, windage, diametral, length.

meaning: (n) intent, gist, implication, design, essence, consequence, significance, content, intention, connotation, aim. ANTONYM: (n) triviality.

preliminary: (adj) prefatory, early, inaugural, elementary, preparatory, first; (n) prelude, prelim, preface, introduction, overture. ANTONYMS:

(n) finale, closing; (adj) concluding. remarks: (n) commentary, explanation.

That is true.

And of this kind I spoke as the intelligible, although in the search after it the soul is compelled to use hypotheses; not ascending to a first principle, because she is unable to rise above the region of hypothesis, but employing the objects of which the shadows below are resemblances in their turn as images, they having in relation to the shadows and reflections of them a greater distinctness, and therefore a higher value.

I understand, he said, that you are speaking of the **province** of geometry and the sister arts.

And when I speak of the other division of the intelligible, you will understand me to speak of that other sort of knowledge which reason herself attains by the power of dialectic, using the hypotheses not as first principles, but only as hypotheses – that is to say, as steps and points of departure into a world which is above hypotheses, in order that she may soar beyond them to the first principle of the whole; and clinging to this and then to that which depends on this, by successive steps she descends again without the aid of any sensible object, from ideas, through ideas, and in ideas she ends.

I understand you, he replied; not perfectly, for you seem to me to be describing a task which is really tremendous; but, at any rate, I understand you to say that knowledge and being, which the science of dialectic contemplates, are clearer than the notions of the arts, as they are termed, which proceed from hypotheses only: these are also **contemplated** by the understanding, and not by the senses: yet, because they start from hypotheses and do not ascend to a principle, those who contemplate them appear to you not to exercise the higher reason upon them, although when a first principle is added to them they are cognizable by the higher reason. And the habit which is concerned with geometry and the cognate sciences I suppose that you would term understanding and not reason, as being intermediate between opinion and reason.

You have quite conceived my meaning, I said; and now, corresponding to these four divisions, let there be four faculties in the soul-reason answering to

#### Thesaurus

ascending: (adj) uphill, rising, assurgent, climbing, ascendent; (n) ascension, ascent, rise, advance, movement; (v) go up. clinging: (adj) adhering, sticky, adherent, devoted, adhering closely, affectionate, dependent, tenacious, osculant; (n) coherence. cognate: (adj) alike, allied, related, like, contemplate: (v) meditate, speculate, connate, kindred, kin, consanguineous; (n) relative, cognate word, sib. ANTONYMS: (adj)

dissimilar, unrelated, unlike, unalike, disassociated, unconnected. cognizable: (adj) perceptible, knowable, cognisable, recognizable, comprehensible, discernible, perceivable, conusable, comprehendible; (v) cognoscible, to be cognizable.

muse, cogitate, ponder, look, deliberate, reflect, gaze, behold, entertain. ANTONYMS: (v) neglect, forget, disregard, ignore, wander,

**contemplated**: (adj) intended, willful. **province**: (n, v) district, department; (n) field, county, land, region, domain, colony, duty, sphere, line. soar: (v) climb, hover, fly, mount, glide, leap, jump, lift, billow; (n, v)rise, increase. ANTONYMS: (v) decrease, drop, descend, collapse,

the highest, **understanding** to the second, **faith** (or conviction) to the **third**, and **perception** of shadows to the last—and let there be a **scale** of them, and let us suppose that the several faculties have clearness in the same degree that their objects have truth.

I understand, he replied, and give my assent, and accept your **arrangement**.

# **Thesaurus**

arrangement: (*n*) order, settlement, array, distribution, design, system, adjustment, sequence, contract, alignment; (*adj*, *n*) method. ANTONYMS: (*n*) disarray, individual.

faith: (n) confidence, belief, conviction, trust, credence, credit, creed, assurance, cult, expectation, dependence. ANTONYMS: (n) disbelief, distrust, dubiosity, skepticism, despair, uncertainty,

doubt, independence.

perception: (n) conception, notion, idea, impression, feeling, discernment, insight, comprehension, taste, sensation, penetration.

ANTONYMS: (n) unconsciousness, foolishness, dullness, clumsiness.

scale: (adj) balance; (v) mount, climb, ascend; (n) gamut, yardstick, graduation, degree; (n, v) flake, gauge, measure.

third: (n) second, tierce, three, third

part, terzetto, hot corner, third base; (adv) thirdly; (adj) triple, thrid, tertial. understanding: (n, v) intellect, reason, intelligence, appreciation, sense, apprehension, discernment, judgment; (n) comprehension, sympathy, deal. ANTONYMS: (n) bewilderment, disbelief, misinterpretation, misunderstanding, mistake, indifference, incomprehension, foolishness, emotion; (adj) intolerant, unfeeling.

# **BOOK VII**

And now, I said, let me show in a figure how far our nature is enlightened or unenlightened: - Behold! human beings living in a underground den, which has a mouth open towards the light and reaching all along the den; here they have been from their **childhood**, and have their **legs** and necks chained so that they cannot move, and can only see before them, being prevented by the chains from turning round their heads. Above and behind them a fire is blazing at a distance, and between the fire and the prisoners there is a raised way; and you will see, if you look, a low wall built along the way, like the screen which marionette players have in front of them, over which they show the puppets I

And do you see, I said, men passing along the wall carrying all sorts of vessels, and statues and figures of animals made of wood and stone and various materials, which appear over the wall? Some of them are talking, others silent.

You have shown me a strange image, and they are strange prisoners.

Like ourselves, I replied; and they see only their own shadows, or the shadows of one another, which the fire throws on the opposite wall of the cave?

True, he said; how could they see anything but the shadows if they were never allowed to move their heads?

# **Thesaurus**

blazing: (adj) flaming, afire, burning, ardent, aflame, glaring, bright, blatant, alight, passionate; (n) blaze. ANTONYMS: (adj) freezing, quiet. cave: (n) lair, hole, grotto, hollow, cove, den, cell, grot, nest; (v) undermine, calve. ANTONYMS: (n) hump; (v) withstand. chains: (n) fetters, bond, chain, bonds, handcuffs, irons, manacles, shackles, iron, confine, trammel. childhood: (n) babyhood, boyhood,

youthhood, immatureness, adolescence, age, anal phase. ANTONYMS: (adj) recent; (n) maturity.

legs: (v) pegs, trotters, pins; (n) patience, pedestal, stamina.

ourselves: (pron) myself, herself, itself, oneself, themselves, yourself; (n) me, yourselves, usself.

prevented: (adj) disallowed, barred, banned. ANTONYM: (adj) legitimate.

immaturity, infancy, puerility, youth, reaching: (n) reach, arrival, coming, accomplishment, outreach, advent, achievement, grasp, arriver, getting; (adj) suspicious.

> underground: (adj) clandestine, hidden, covert, undercover, subterranean, surreptitious, furtive; (n) tube, subway, metro; (v) buried. ANTONYMS: (adj) sky, aboveground, authorized, ground, known, public, majority, overt.

And of the objects which are being carried in like manner they would only see the shadows?

Yes, he said.

And if they were able to converse with one another, would they not suppose that they were **naming** what was actually before them?

Very true.

And suppose further that the prison had an echo which came from the other side, would they not be sure to fancy when one of the passers-by spoke that the voice which they heard came from the passing shadow?

No question, he replied.

To them, I said, the truth would be literally nothing but the shadows of the images.

That is certain.

And now look again, and see what will naturally follow if the prisoners are released and **disabused** of their error. At first, when any of them is **liberated** and compelled suddenly to stand up and turn his neck round and walk and look towards the light, he will suffer sharp pains; the **glare** will **distress** him, and he will be unable to see the realities of which in his former state he had seen the shadows; and then conceive some one saying to him, that what he saw before was an illusion, but that now, when he is **approaching** nearer to being and his eye is turned towards more real existence, he has a clearer vision,—what will be his reply? And you may further imagine that his **instructor** is pointing to the objects as they pass and requiring him to name them,—will he not be perplexed? Will he not fancy that the shadows which he formerly saw are truer than the objects which are now shown to him?

Far truer.

approaching: (adj) future,

And if he is compelled to look straight at the light, will he not have a pain in his eyes which will make him turn away to take **refuge** in the objects of vision

#### **Thesaurus**

forthcoming, impending, imminent, oncoming, near; (adj, n) coming; (n, v) approach; (adv) nearly, almost; (prep) toward.

disabused: (adj) disillusioned.

distress: (n, v) pain, torment, trouble, concern, torture, upset, worry; (n) anguish, agony; (adj, n) difficulty, grief. ANTONYMS: (n, v) comfort; (v) please, soothe, relieve; (n) peace, encouragement, straightforwardness,

solace, relieving, relief, prosperity. **glare**: (*n*) glance, brilliance, radiance, brightness; (*n*, *v*) glower, flash, shine, scowl, beam, frown; (*v*) flame. ANTONYMS: (*n*) dullness, dimness. **instructor**: (*n*) trainer, coach,

preceptor, don, educator, tutor, demonstrator, lecturer, master, mentor, guru. ANTONYMS: (n) student, pupil.

**liberated**: (*adj*) freed, emancipated, loose, released, exempt, liberal,

independent, clear, disengaged, open, unattached. ANTONYMS: (adj) constrained, conventional. naming: (n) appointment, identification, denomination, appellation, nomination, indication, delegacy, assignment, mention; (adj, n) appellative; (adj) designating. refuge: (n) sanctuary, asylum, safety, retreat, cover, harborage, haven, shelter, harbor; (n, v) recourse, resort.

which he can see, and which he will conceive to be in reality clearer than the things which are now being shown to him?

True, he said.

And suppose once more, that he is **reluctantly dragged** up a steep and rugged **ascent**, and held fast until he is forced into the presence of the sun himself, is he not likely to be **pained** and **irritated**? When he approaches the light his eyes will be dazzled, and he will not be able to see anything at all of what are now called realities.

Not all in a moment, he said.

He will require to grow accustomed to the sight of the upper world. And first he will see the shadows best, next the reflections of men and other objects in the water, and then the objects themselves; then he will gaze upon the light of the moon and the stars and the **spangled** heaven; and he will see the sky and the stars by night better than the sun or the light of the sun by day?

Certainly.

Last of all he will be able to see the sun, and not mere reflections of him in the water, but he will see him in his own proper place, and not in another; and he will contemplate him as he is.

Certainly.

He will then proceed to argue that this is he who gives the season and the years, and is the guardian of all that is in the visible world, and in a certain way the cause of all things which he and his fellows have been accustomed to behold?

Clearly, he said, he would first see the sun and then reason about him.

And when he remembered his old habitation, and the wisdom of the den and his fellow-prisoners, do you not suppose that he would **felicitate** himself on the change, and pity them?

Certainly, he would.

And if they were in the habit of conferring honours among themselves on those who were quickest to observe the passing shadows and to remark which of

# **Thesaurus**

ascent: (n) ascension, climb, ascending, elevation, hill, incline, advance, grade; (n, v) rise; (v) ascend, uprise. ANTONYMS: (n) fall, drop, declivity.

dragged: (adj) depressed, dejected, upset, unhappy, spent, dispirited, somber, melancholy, gloomy, joyless, low

**felicitate**: (*v*) compliment, bid, to congratulate, bless, wish, keep, consecrate, express congratulations,

pride, brandish.
irritated: (adj) annoyed, exasperated,
incensed, enraged, aggravated,
furious, irate, inflamed, sore,
displeased, provoked. ANTONYMS:
(adj) calm, pleased, patient,
contented.

pained: (adj) offended, aggrieved, distressed, displeased, sore, grieved, miserable, injured, wounded, worried, upset. ANTONYM: (adj) unaffected. reluctantly: (adv) loathly, aversely, grudgingly, backwardly, hesitantly, reluctant, slowly, unenthusiastically, indisposedly, lothly, charily. ANTONYMS: (adv) freely, wholeheartedly.

spangled: (adj) sequined, jeweled, bejewelled, jewelled, bejeweled, beady, beaded, bespangled, buttonlike, spangly, twinkling. ANTONYM: (adj) dull. them went before, and which followed after, and which were together; and who were therefore best able to draw conclusions as to the future, do you think that he would care for such honours and glories, or envy the possessors of them? Would he not say with Homer,

Better to be the poor **servant** of a poor master,

and to endure anything, rather than think as they do and live after their manner?

Yes, he said, I think that he would rather suffer anything than entertain these false notions and live in this miserable manner.

Imagine once more, I said, such an one coming suddenly out of the sun to be replaced in his old situation; would he not be certain to have his eyes full of darkness?

To be sure, he said.

And if there were a contest, and he had to compete in measuring the shadows with the prisoners who had never moved out of the den, while his sight was still weak, and before his eyes had become **steady** (and the time which would be needed to acquire this new habit of sight might be very considerable), would he not be ridiculous? Men would say of him that up he went and down he came without his eyes; and that it was better not even to think of ascending; and if any one tried to **loose** another and lead him up to the light, let them only catch the offender, and they would put him to death.

No question, he said.

This entire allegory, I said, you may now **append**, dear Glaucon, to the previous argument; the prison-house is the world of sight, the light of the fire is the sun, and you will not misapprehend me if you **interpret** the journey upwards to be the ascent of the soul into the intellectual world according to my poor belief, which, at your desire, I have expressed—whether rightly or **wrongly** God knows. But, whether true or false, my opinion is that in the world of knowledge the idea of good appears last of all, and is seen only with an effort; and, when

#### **Thesaurus**

append: (v) add, affix, annex, attach, join, include, suffix, tack, add on, conjoin; (adj, v) suspend.
ANTONYMS: (v) disjoin, remove, subtract, delete, unfasten.

interpret: (v) clarify, understand, elucidate, illustrate, read, construe, comment, gloss, render, explain, explicate.

**loose**: (*adj*, *v*) lax, dissolute; (*adj*, *n*) limp, liberal, licentious; (*adj*) light, vague; (*v*) disengage, relax, release,

liberate. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) dense, close, taut, compressed, strict, compact, wedged, secure, strong, similar; (*v*) confine.

servant: (n) manservant, domestic, lackey, maid, employee, flunkey, retainer, boy, footman, flunky, menial. ANTONYMS: (n) master, mistress.

**steady**: (*adj*, *v*) steadfast, even, secure, resolute, regular, calm, sedate; (*adj*, *adv*) stable; (*adj*) constant, continual,

fixed. ANTONYMS: (adj) shaky, wobbly, intermittent, unreliable, irregular, fluctuating, inconsistent, unbalanced, unstable, unfaithful; (adv) unsteadily.

wrongly: (adv) incorrectly, mistakenly, improperly, wrong, falsely, badly, unjustly, inaccurately, faultily, fallaciously, amissly. ANTONYMS: (adv) suitably, justifiably, rightly, right, ethically, appropriately, justly, accurately, fairly, perfectly.

seen, is also inferred to be the universal author of all things beautiful and right, parent of light and of the lord of light in this visible world, and the immediate source of reason and truth in the intellectual; and that this is the power upon which he who would act **rationally** either in public or private life must have his eye fixed.

I agree, he said, as far as I am able to understand you.

Moreover, I said, you must not wonder that those who attain to this beatific vision are unwilling to descend to human affairs; for their souls are ever hastening into the upper world where they desire to dwell; which desire of theirs is very natural, if our allegory may be **trusted**.

Yes, very natural.

And is there anything surprising in one who passes from divine contemplations to the evil state of man, **misbehaving** himself in a ridiculous manner; if, while his eyes are blinking and before he has become accustomed to the **surrounding** darkness, he is compelled to fight in courts of law, or in other places, about the images or the shadows of images of justice, and is endeavouring to meet the conceptions of those who have never yet seen absolute justice?

Anything but surprising, he replied.

Any one who has common sense will remember that the bewilderments of the eyes are of two kinds, and arise from two causes, either from coming out of the light or from going into the light, which is true of the mind's eye, quite as much as of the bodily eye; and he who remembers this when he sees any one whose vision is perplexed and weak, will not be too ready to laugh; he will first ask whether that soul of man has come out of the brighter life, and is unable to see because **unaccustomed** to the dark, or having turned from darkness to the day is dazzled by excess of light. And he will count the one happy in his condition and state of being, and he will **pity** the other; or, if he have a mind to laugh at the soul which comes from below into the light, there will be more

# **Thesaurus**

misbehaving: (adj) bad, unruly, wayward, disobedient, errant, naughty, sinful.

pity: (n, v) compassion, ruth; (n) mercy, commiseration, condolence, sympathy, clemency, remorse; (v) sympathize, compassionate, feel sorry for. ANTONYMS: (n) blame, cruelty, indifference, harshness, joy. rationally: (adv) logically, sanely, judiciously, wisely, coherently, sagaciously, lucidly, justly,

reasonably, sensibly, practically.
ANTONYMS: (adv) irrationally, illogically, emotionally, foolishly, unconvincingly, unreasonably.
surrounding: (prep) round, about; (adj) encompassing, encircling, environmental, circumambient, adjoining; (adv) around; (n) surroundings, circumstances, enclosing.
trusted: (adj) intimate, confidential, sure, bosom, beloved, cherished,

familiar, trustworthy, indisputable, trusty, reliable.

unaccustomed: (adj) new, strange, unusual, inexperienced, unseasoned, unacquainted, uncustomary, rare, unfamiliar, unwonted; (adj, v) untrained. ANTONYMS: (adj) familiar, normal, ready, usual, prepared, knowledgeable, customary.

reason in this than in the laugh which greets him who **returns** from above out of the light into the den.

That, he said, is a very just distinction.

But then, if I am right, certain professors of education must be wrong when they say that they can put a knowledge into the soul which was not there before, like sight into blind eyes.

They undoubtedly say this, he replied.

Whereas, our argument shows that the power and capacity of learning exists in the soul already; and that just as the eye was unable to turn from darkness to light without the whole body, so too the instrument of knowledge can only by the movement of the whole soul be turned from the world of becoming into that of being, and learn by degrees to endure the sight of being, and of the brightest and best of being, or in other words, of the good.

Very true.

And must there not be some art which will effect conversion in the easiest and quickest manner; not implanting the faculty of sight, for that exists already, but has been turned in the wrong direction, and is looking away from the truth?

Yes, he said, such an art may be **presumed**.

And whereas the other so-called virtues of the soul seem to be akin to bodily qualities, for even when they are not originally **innate** they can be **implanted** later by habit and exercise, the virtue of wisdom more than anything else contains a divine element which always remains, and by this conversion is rendered useful and profitable; or, on the other hand, hurtful and useless. Did you never observe the narrow intelligence **flashing** from the keen eye of a clever rogue—how **eager** he is, how clearly his paltry soul sees the way to his end; he is the reverse of blind, but his keen eye-sight is forced into the service of evil, and he is **mischievous** in proportion to his cleverness?

Very true, he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

eager: (adj) avid, ardent, agog, acute, zealous, enthusiastic, keen, ambitious, industrious, studious; (adj, n) earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, unconcerned, apathetic, disinterested, unwilling, unenthusiastic, lukewarm, patient, reluctant, listless, bored. flashing: (adj) bright, sparkling, blinking, meteoric, scintillating, light, brilliant, dazzling, gleaming; (n) flare, flashes.

**implanted**: (*adj*) ingrained, inherent, ingrafted, entrenched, surrounded, native, established, fixed, set in, rooted.

innate: (adj) inherent, congenital, inbred, indigenous, instinctive, natural, intrinsic, constitutional, essential, ingrained; (adj, v) born. ANTONYMS: (adj) learned, conditioned, acquired, trained, spiritual.

mischievous: (adj) bad, injurious,

detrimental, naughty, deleterious, impish, harmful, playful, maleficent, arch; (adj, v) hurtful. ANTONYMS: (adj) harmless, serious.

**presumed**: (*adj*) supposed, reputed, putative, understood, alleged, probable, theoretical.

**returns**: (n, v) proceeds, income, profits; (n) earnings, return, census, take, revenue, wage, takings, result.

But what if there had been a **circumcision** of such natures in the days of their youth; and they had been **severed** from those sensual pleasures, such as **eating** and **drinking**, which, like leaden weights, were attached to them at their birth, and which **drag** them down and turn the vision of their souls upon the things that are below—if, I say, they had been released from these impediments and turned in the opposite direction, the very same faculty in them would have seen the truth as **keenly** as they see what their eyes are turned to now.

Very likely.

Yes, I said; and there is another thing which is likely, or rather a necessary inference from what has preceded, that neither the uneducated and uninformed of the truth, nor yet those who never make an end of their education, will be able ministers of State; not the former, because they have no single aim of duty which is the rule of all their actions, private as well as public; nor the latter, because they will not act at all except upon **compulsion**, fancying that they are already dwelling apart in the islands of the blest.

Very true, he replied.

Then, I said, the business of us who are the founders of the State will be to compel the best minds to attain that knowledge which we have already shown to be the greatest of all—they must continue to ascend until they arrive at the good; but when they have ascended and seen enough we must not allow them to do as they do now.

What do you mean?

I mean that they remain in the upper world: but this must not be allowed; they must be made to descend again among the prisoners in the den, and partake of their labours and honours, whether they are worth having or not.

But is not this unjust? he said; ought we to give them a worse life, when they might have a better?

You have again forgotten, my friend, I said, the intention of the legislator, who did not aim at making any one class in the State happy above the rest; the happiness was to be in the whole State, and he held the citizens together by

#### **Thesaurus**

circumcision: (n) circumcise, rite of passage, posthetomy, Brith, bris, abscission, Berith.

compulsion: (n) force, enforcement, urge, constraint, pressure, restraint, necessity, duress, obligation, requirement, oppression.

ANTONYMS: (n) persuasion, coaxing, disinclination.

drag: (v) attract, draw, lug, cart, heave, tow; (n, v) pull, puff; (adv, v) trail; (n) bother; (adj) dragging. ANTONYMS:

(n) pleasure; (v) hasten, hurry, shove, speed, rush, propel, fly.
drinking; (n) consumption, ingestion, intake, potation, drunkenness, crapulence, boozing, drinkable, uptake, intemperateness, booze.
eating: (n) ingestion, intake, feeding, browsing, banqueting, food, lunching, supping, pica, repletion; (v) eat.
keenly: (adv) eagerly, zealously, piercingly, acutely, cuttingly,

ardently, strongly, lively, penetratingly, fervently, avidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unenthusiastically, apathetically, faintly, reluctantly, patiently, passively, halfheartedly, vaguely. severed: (adj) cut off, cut, broken, separate, Severn, disconnected, rent off, disrupt, disengaged, torn, disrupted.

persuasion and necessity, making them benefactors of the State, and therefore benefactors of one another; to this end he created them, not to please themselves, but to be his instruments in **binding** up the State.

True, he said, I had forgotten.

Observe, Glaucon, that there will be no injustice in compelling our philosophers to have a care and **providence** of others; we shall explain to them that in other States, men of their class are not obliged to share in the toils of politics: and this is reasonable, for they grow up at their own sweet will, and the government would rather not have them. Being self-taught, they cannot be expected to show any gratitude for a culture which they have never received. But we have brought you into the world to be rulers of the hive, kings of yourselves and of the other citizens, and have educated you far better and more perfectly than they have been educated, and you are better able to share in the double duty. Wherefore each of you, when his turn comes, must go down to the general underground abode, and get the habit of seeing in the dark. When you have acquired the habit, you will see ten thousand times better than the inhabitants of the den, and you will know what the several images are, and what they represent, because you have seen the beautiful and just and good in their truth. And thus our State, which is also yours, will be a reality, and not a dream only, and will be administered in a spirit unlike that of other States, in which men fight with one another about shadows only and are distracted in the struggle for power, which in their eyes is a great good. Whereas the truth is that the State in which the rulers are most reluctant to govern is always the best and most quietly governed, and the State in which they are most eager, the worst.

Quite true, he replied.

And will our pupils, when they hear this, refuse to take their turn at the toils of State, when they are allowed to spend the greater part of their time with one another in the heavenly light?

Impossible, he answered; for they are just men, and the commands which we impose **upon** them are just; there can be no doubt that every one of them will

# **Thesaurus**

acquired: (adj) acquisitive, acquisite, extrinsic, noninheritable, derivative. binding: (n) band, dressing, tying, linkage, binder, wrapping, bond; (adj) obligatory, necessary, valid, mandatory. ANTONYMS: (adj) voluntary, alterable, flexible, revocable, unbinding, unconfining, unnecessary, unfastened, temporary. forgotten: (adj) lost, disregarded, elapsed, past, abandoned, gone, Gone With the Wind, irrecoverable,

lapsed, disoriented, no more. ANTONYM: (adj) remembered. gratitude: (n) appreciation, thanks, thank, acknowledgement, acknowledgment, appreciativeness, feeling, appreciate, grateful, thanksgiving, kindness. ANTONYMS: (n) ingratitude, ungratefulness. providence: (n) forethought, fortune, fate, discretion, God, destiny, care, economy, caution, precaution,

improvidence. **quietly**: (adv) stilly, calmly, peacefully, silently, softly, smoothly, tranquilly, serenely, restfully, lully, moderately. ANTONYMS: (adv) loudly, harshly, raucously, vociferously, anxiously, energetically, manically, unquietly, clearly, heavily, brashly. **upon**: (adv, prep) above; (prep) up, onto, against, towards; (adv) on, on

that occasion, then, before, by; (n) at.

chance. ANTONYM: (n)

take office as a stern necessity, and not after the fashion of our present rulers of State.

Yes, my friend, I said; and there lies the point. You must contrive for your future rulers another and a better life than that of a ruler, and then you may have a well-ordered State; for only in the State which offers this, will they rule who are truly rich, not in **silver** and gold, but in virtue and wisdom, which are the true blessings of life. Whereas if they go to the administration of public affairs, poor and **hungering** after their own private advantage, thinking that hence they are to **snatch** the chief good, order there can never be; for they will be **fighting** about office, and the civil and domestic broils which thus **arise** will be the ruin of the rulers themselves and of the whole State.

Most true, he replied.

And the only life which looks down upon the life of political **ambition** is that of true philosophy. Do you know of any other?

Indeed, I do not, he said.

And those who govern ought not to be lovers of the task? For, if they are, there will be **rival** lovers, and they will fight.

No question.

Who then are those whom we shall compel to be guardians? Surely they will be the men who are wisest about affairs of State, and by whom the State is best administered, and who at the same time have other honours and another and a better life than that of politics?

They are the men, and I will choose them, he replied.

And now shall we consider in what way such guardians will be produced, and how they are to be brought from darkness to light,—as some are said to have ascended from the world below to the gods?

By all means, he replied.

The process, I said, is not the turning over of an oyster-shell (In allusion to a game in which two parties fled or pursued according as an oyster-shell which

# Thesaurus fight, contest, combat, action, affray,

conflict. ANTONYMS: (adj) peaceful,

meek; (n) calm, withdrawal, retreat,

strife, engagement, war; (n, v)

friendliness, agreement, peace,

ambition: (n) aim, hope, goal, drive, ambitiousness, wish, dream, purpose, target, objective, intention.

ANTONYMS: (n) satisfaction, contentment, sloth, laziness, lethargy. arise: (v) appear, emerge, result, issue, mount, proceed, originate, get up, ascend, awake, stand up.

ANTONYMS: (v) end, sit, recline, stop, retire, disappear, descend, cease, fade.

fighting: (adi) belligerent, militant; (n)

surrender. **hungering**: (adj) starving, famished; (n) longing. **rival**: (n) competitor, enemy, foe, contestant; (adj, n, v) emulate; (n, v) match, contest, corrival; (adj, v) competitive; (v) compete, contend.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) allied; (*n*) partner, friend, supporter.

**silver**: (*n*) money, gold, bullion, precious Metals; (*adj*) silvery, argent, white, silvern, gray, neutral tint; (*v*) plate.

**snatch**: (*n*, *v*) pinch, snap, catch, grip; (*v*) abduct, clutch, kidnap, seize, jerk, capture, pluck. ANTONYM: (*v*) release.

was **thrown** into the air fell with the dark or light side uppermost.), but the **turning** round of a soul **passing** from a day which is little better than night to the true day of being, that is, the ascent from below, which we affirm to be true philosophy?

Quite so.

And should we not enquire what sort of knowledge has the power of effecting such a change?

Certainly.

What sort of knowledge is there which would draw the soul from becoming to being? And another consideration has just occurred to me: You will remember that our young men are to be warrior athletes?

Yes, that was said.

Then this new kind of knowledge must have an additional quality?

What quality?

Usefulness in war.

Yes, if possible.

There were two parts in our former scheme of education, were there not? Just so.

There was gymnastic which presided over the growth and **decay** of the body, and may therefore be regarded as having to do with generation and corruption?

True.

Then that is not the knowledge which we are seeking to discover?

No.

But what do you say of music, which also entered to a certain extent into our former scheme?

Music, he said, as you will remember, was the **counterpart** of gymnastic, and trained the guardians by the influences of habit, by harmony making them harmonious, by rhythm rhythmical, but not giving them science; and the words,

# **Thesaurus**

counterpart: (n) twin, duplicate, companion, complement, double, equivalent, parallel, copy, mate, pendant, replica. ANTONYM: (n) opposite. decay: (adi, n, v) decline; (v)

decay: (adj, n, v) decline; (v) decompose, crumble, corrupt; (n, v) blight, ebb, rust, collapse; (n) decomposition, corruption, disintegration. ANTONYMS: (v) flourish, grow, thrive, strengthen, ripen, develop; (n) vigor,

development.

passing: (adj) transient, ephemeral,
momentary, cursory, brief; (n)
overtaking, departure, expiration,
decease, passage, death.
ANTONYMS: (adj) lasting, thorough,

intended, lengthy, long; (n) birth, failing.

thrown: (adj) puzzled, confused, thrown and twisted, upset, disconcerted, unnerved, terrified, scared out of your wits, mystified, frightened; (n) reminder. ANTONYM: (adj) calm. turning: (n) turn, revolution, bend, rotation, deviation, gyration, conversion, veering; (adj) rotating, revolving, rotary.

**usefulness**: (*n*) utility, service, benefit, convenience, practicality, avail, helpfulness, effectiveness, efficacy, value; (*adj*, *n*) worth. ANTONYMS: (*n*) inefficiency, inutility, clumsiness, insignificance.

whether **fabulous** or possibly true, had kindred elements of rhythm and harmony in them. But in music there was nothing which tended to that good which you are now seeking.

You are most accurate, I said, in your recollection; in music there certainly was nothing of the kind. But what branch of knowledge is there, my dear Glaucon, which is of the desired nature; since all the useful arts were reckoned mean by us?

Undoubtedly; and yet if music and gymnastic are **excluded**, and the arts are also excluded, what remains?

Well, I said, there may be nothing left of our special subjects; and then we shall have to take something which is not special, but of universal application.

What may that be?

A something which all arts and sciences and intelligences use in common, and which every one first has to learn among the elements of education.

What is that?

The little matter of distinguishing one, two, and three—in a word, number and calculation:—do not all arts and sciences necessarily partake of them?

Yes.

Then the art of war partakes of them?

To be sure.

Then Palamedes, whenever he appears in tragedy, proves Agamemnon ridiculously unfit to be a general. Did you never remark how he declares that he had invented number, and had numbered the ships and set in array the ranks of the army at Troy; which implies that they had never been numbered before, and Agamemnon must be supposed literally to have been incapable of counting his own feet—how could he if he was ignorant of number? And if that is true, what sort of general must he have been?

I should say a very strange one, if this was as you say.

Can we deny that a warrior should have a knowledge of arithmetic?

## **Thesaurus**

counting: (n) calculation, count, reckoning, computation, enumeration, numbering, numeration, tally, nosecount; (adj) calculating, including. ANTONYM: (prep) excluding.

excluded: (adj) precluded, debarred, disqualified, contraband, barred, banned, prohibited, unwelcome, not allowed, foreign; (adv) apart. fabulous: (adj) mythical, legendary, fabled, mythological, wonderful,

marvelous, spectacular, fab, terrific, amazing, imaginary. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, prosaic, routine, ordinary, factual, common, humdrum, dire, unimpressive, abysmal.

invented: (adj) fictional, fabricated, imaginary, unreal, fake, mythical, legendary, fictive, fancied, fabulous, ben trovato. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, factual, true, actual. literally: (adv) precisely, plainly,

faithfully, strictly, accurately, rightly, verbally; (adj, adv) word for word, really, sic, actually. ANTONYMS: (adv) metaphorically, loosely. ridiculously: (adv) absurdly, preposterously, idiotically, silly, stupidly, farcically, nonsensically, laughably, comically, derisorily, foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) impressively, solemnly, sensitively, rationally.

Certainly he should, if he is to have the smallest understanding of military tactics, or indeed, I should rather say, if he is to be a man at all.

I should like to know whether you have the same notion which I have of this study?

What is your notion?

It appears to me to be a study of the kind which we are seeking, and which leads naturally to reflection, but never to have been rightly used; for the true use of it is simply to draw the soul towards being.

Will you explain your meaning? he said.

I will try, I said; and I wish you would share the enquiry with me, and say 'yes' or 'no' when I attempt to distinguish in my own mind what branches of knowledge have this attracting power, in order that we may have clearer proof that arithmetic is, as I suspect, one of them.

Explain, he said.

I mean to say that objects of sense are of two kinds; some of them do not invite thought because the sense is an adequate judge of them; while in the case of other objects sense is so **untrustworthy** that further enquiry is **imperatively** demanded.

You are clearly referring, he said, to the manner in which the senses are imposed upon by distance, and by painting in light and shade.

No, I said, that is not at all my meaning.

Then what is your meaning?

When speaking of uninviting objects, I mean those which do not pass from one sensation to the opposite; inviting objects are those which do; in this latter case the sense coming upon the object, whether at a distance or near, gives no more vivid idea of anything in particular than of its opposite. An illustration will make my meaning clearer:—here are three fingers—a little finger, a second finger, and a middle finger.

Very good.

#### Thesaurus

attracting: (adj) alluring, tempting, attractive, tractive, winning, taking, prepossessing, allicient, seductive; (n) drawing; (v) attrahent. imperatively: (adv) commandingly, imperiously, urgently, pressingly, authoritatively, obligatorily, essentially, magisterially, necessarily, instantly, critically. inviting: (adj) attractive, alluring, engaging, tempting, enticing,

appealing, magnetic, captivating,

prepossessing, seductive, appetizing. ANTONYMS: (adj) offensive, repellent, uninviting, unappealing, unwelcoming, bleak, uncomfortable. uninviting: (adj) distasteful, undesirable, ugly, disagreeable, repulsive, repellent, unprepossessing, vivid: (adj) intense, graphic, lifelike, forbidding, dismal, dour, desolate. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, cheerful, appealing, desirable, hospitable. untrustworthy: (adj) unfaithful,

treacherous, undependable, faithless, slippery, untrue, dishonest, deceitful, false, dubious, untrusty. ANTONYMS: (adj) trustworthy, reliable, dependable, faithful, honest, loyal, reputable, straight, objective. brilliant, rich, live, strong, acute, animated, glowing, colorful. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, bland, light, vague, straightforward, dark, modest, secretive.

You may suppose that they are seen quite close: And here comes the point.

What is it?

Each of them equally appears a finger, whether seen in the middle or at the **extremity**, whether white or black, or thick or thin—it makes no difference; a finger is a finger all the same. In these cases a man is not compelled to ask of thought the question what is a finger? for the sight never intimates to the mind that a finger is other than a finger.

True.

And therefore, I said, as we might expect, there is nothing here which invites or excites intelligence.

There is not, he said.

But is this equally true of the greatness and smallness of the fingers? Can sight **adequately** perceive them? and is no difference made by the circumstance that one of the fingers is in the middle and another at the extremity? And in like manner does the touch adequately perceive the qualities of **thickness** or **thinness**, of softness or hardness? And so of the other senses; do they give perfect intimations of such matters? Is not their mode of operation on this wise—the sense which is concerned with the quality of hardness is necessarily concerned also with the quality of softness, and only intimates to the soul that the same thing is felt to be both hard and soft?

You are quite right, he said.

And must not the soul be perplexed at this intimation which the sense gives of a hard which is also soft? What, again, is the meaning of light and heavy, if that which is light is also heavy, and that which is heavy, light?

Yes, he said, these intimations which the soul receives are very curious and require to be explained.

Yes, I said, and in these perplexities the soul naturally **summons** to her aid **calculation** and intelligence, that she may see whether the several objects announced to her are one or two.

# **Thesaurus**

adequately: (adv) competently, sufficiently, becomingly, fitly, appropriately, fully, decently, commensurately, fairly, aptly; (adv, v) rightly. ANTONYMS: (adv) insufficiently, unsuitably, unsatisfactorily, unreasonably, unequally, intolerably. calculation: (n) account, analysis, estimate, forecast, computation, deliberation, arithmetic, assessment, projection; (adj, n) discretion; (v)

estimation. ANTONYM: (n) ingenuousness.

extremity: (n) end, member, boundary, bound, close, appendage, limit, limb, ending, fringe, conclusion. ANTONYMS: (n) trunk, average, minimum, head, leniency.

summons: (n) call, invitation, bidding, process, writ, invocation, warrant, command; (n, v) summon; (v) demand, cite.

thickness: (n) density, width,

consistency, layer, consistence, heaviness, concentration, bulk, breadth, compactness, substance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) slenderness, smoothness, length, clearness. thinness: (*n*) slenderness, slimness, tenuity, leanness, rarity, narrowness, slightness, fluidity, fluidness, maceration, emaciation. ANTONYMS: (*n*) plumpness, stoutness, width, thickness, fatness, roundness, coarseness, strength.

True.

And if they turn out to be two, is not each of them one and different? Certainly.

And if each is one, and both are two, she will conceive the two as in a state of division, for if there were **undivided** they could only be conceived of as one?

True.

The eye certainly did see both small and great, but only in a confused manner; they were not distinguished.

Yes.

Whereas the thinking mind, intending to light up the **chaos**, was compelled to reverse the process, and look at small and great as separate and not confused.

Very true.

Was not this the beginning of the enquiry 'What is great?' and 'What is small?'

Exactly so.

And thus arose the distinction of the visible and the intelligible.

Most true.

This was what I meant when I spoke of impressions which invited the intellect, or the reverse—those which are **simultaneous** with opposite impressions, invite thought; those which are not simultaneous do not.

I understand, he said, and agree with you.

And to which class do unity and number belong?

I do not know, he replied.

Think a little and you will see that what has preceded will supply the answer; for if simple unity could be adequately perceived by the sight or by any other sense, then, as we were saying in the case of the **finger**, there would be nothing to **attract** towards being; but when there is some contradiction always present, and one is the reverse of one and involves the conception of plurality, then

#### **Thesaurus**

attract: (v) charm, beguile, tempt, enamor, invite, entice, captivate, draw, arrest, beckon; (adj, v) allure. ANTONYMS: (v) disgust, repulse, dismiss, appall, shun, exude. belong: (v) appertain, pertain, lie, go

belong: (v) appertain, pertain, lie, go, belong to, attach, dwell, consist, come, rank, stand. ANTONYMS: (v) separate, disagree, disassociate, leave, quit, differ.

**chaos**: (*n*) disarray, jumble, maze, mess, muddle, clutter, uproar,

disorder, bedlam, pandemonium, mix-up. ANTONYMS: (n) peace, orderliness, regulation, regularity, organization, tranquility, serenity, neatness, calm.

**finger**: (*v*) feel, handle, touch, thumb, indicate, point; (*n*) digit, dactyl, forefinger, pointer; (*n*, *v*) hand. ANTONYM: (*v*) clear.

ANTONYM: (*v*) clear. **simultaneous**: (*adj*) concurrent, at the same time, coincidental, synchronous, contemporary, synchronal, contemporaneous, concomitant, cooccurring, coinciding, concurrently. ANTONYMS: (adj) separate, independent, asynchronous, disparate, consecutive.

undivided: (adj) complete, whole, unbroken, total, single, integral, continuous, united, full, exclusive, solid. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, separate, broken, imperfect, individual.

thought begins to be **aroused** within us, and the soul perplexed and wanting to arrive at a decision asks 'What is absolute unity?' This is the way in which the study of the one has a power of **drawing** and converting the mind to the contemplation of true being.

And surely, he said, this occurs **notably** in the case of one; for we see the same thing to be both one and **infinite** in multitude?

Yes, I said; and this being true of one must be equally true of all number? Certainly.

And all arithmetic and calculation have to do with number?

Yes.

And they appear to lead the mind towards truth?

Yes, in a very **remarkable** manner.

Then this is knowledge of the kind for which we are seeking, having a double use, military and philosophical; for the man of war must learn the art of number or he will not know how to array his troops, and the philosopher also, because he has to rise out of the sea of change and lay hold of true being, and therefore he must be an arithmetician.

That is true.

And our guardian is both warrior and philosopher?

Certainly.

Then this is a kind of knowledge which legislation may **fitly** prescribe; and we must endeavour to persuade those who are to be the principal men of our State to go and learn arithmetic, not as amateurs, but they must carry on the study until they see the nature of numbers with the mind only; nor again, like merchants or retail-traders, with a view to **buying** or selling, but for the sake of their military use, and of the soul herself; and because this will be the easiest way for her to pass from becoming to truth and being.

That is excellent, he said.

#### **Thesaurus**

aroused: (adj) ablaze, aflame, passionate, hot, agitated, inflamed, susceptible, tense, fascinated, emotional, elated.

buving: (n) purchasing, buv. purchas

buying: (n) purchasing, buy, purchase, infinite: (adj) absolute, eternal, business, shopping, import, export, transaction, ownership, patronage, sale. incalculable, boundless, innur immeasurable, everlasting, sp

**drawing**: (*n*) draft, delineation, picture, plan, cartoon, depiction, draught, draw, draftsmanship, painting, image.

fitly: (adv) appropriately, properly, fittingly, decorously, aptly, befittingly, readily, accommodately, expediently, suitly, justly. infinite: (adj) absolute, eternal, endless, countless, immense, incalculable, boundless, innumerable, immeasurable, everlasting, spaceless. ANTONYMS: (adj) finite, limited, restricted, small, tiny, slight. notably: (adj, adv) remarkably, particularly; (adv) chiefly, eminently,

mainly, in particular, much, prominently, markedly, outstandingly; (adj) peculiarly. remarkable: (adj) notable, odd, noteworthy, exceptional, distinguished, conspicuous, phenomenal, famous, illustrious, curious; (adj, n) memorable. ANTONYMS: (adj) insignificant, unremarkable, commonplace, usual, average, unimpressive, normal, inconspicuous, dreadful, dire, awful.

Yes, I said, and now having spoken of it, I must add how charming the science is! and in how many ways it conduces to our desired end, if pursued in the spirit of a philosopher, and not of a **shopkeeper**!

How do you mean?

I mean, as I was saying, that arithmetic has a very great and elevating effect, compelling the soul to reason about abstract number, and rebelling against the introduction of visible or **tangible** objects into the argument. You know how steadily the masters of the art repel and ridicule any one who attempts to divide absolute unity when he is **calculating**, and if you divide, they multiply (Meaning either (1) that they **integrate** the number because they deny the possibility of fractions; or (2) that division is regarded by them as a process of multiplication, for the fractions of one continue to be units.), taking care that one shall continue one and not become lost in fractions.

That is very true.

Now, suppose a person were to say to them: O my friends, what are these wonderful numbers about which you are **reasoning**, in which, as you say, there is a unity such as you demand, and each unit is equal, invariable, indivisible,—what would they answer?

They would answer, as I should conceive, that they were speaking of those numbers which can only be realized in thought.

Then you see that this knowledge may be truly called necessary, **necessitating** as it clearly does the use of the pure intelligence in the attainment of pure truth?

Yes; that is a marked characteristic of it.

And have you further observed, that those who have a natural talent for calculation are generally quick at every other kind of knowledge; and even the dull, if they have had an arithmetical training, although they may derive no other advantage from it, always become much **quicker** than they would **otherwise** have been.

Very true, he said.

# calculating: (adj) scheming, sly, shrewd, crafty, calculative, wily, wary, discreet, devious; (n) calculation; (adj, v) wise. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncalculating, unassuming, reckless, artless, rash, guileless, candid, unconscious. integrate: (v) incorporate, blend, fuse, combine, consolidate, amalgamate, unite, unify, merge, embody, mix. ANTONYMS: (v) segregate, exclude, differentiate, disintegrate, split,

#### Thesaurus

decentralize. **necessitating**: (v) necessitate. **otherwise**: (adv) besides, differently, or else, yet, alias, nevertheless, on the other hand, in addition; (adj, adv) other; (n) or; (adj) different. **quicker**: (adv) more quickly, sooner, earlier.

reasoning: (n) argumentation, deduction, ratiocination, illation, logic, argument, abstract thought, sense, judgment, thought; (adj) rational.

merchandiser, shopman, seller, storekeeper, florist, hosier, market keeper, cleaner, dealer. tangible: (adj) substantial, concrete, actual, real, perceptible, physical, palpable, evident, corporeal, definite, sensible. ANTONYMS: (adj) intangible, impalpable, incorporeal, disembodied, conceptual, abstract, ethereal, insubstantial.

shopkeeper: (n) merchant, tradesman,

And indeed, you will not easily find a more difficult study, and not many as difficult.

You will not.

And, for all these reasons, arithmetic is a kind of knowledge in which the best natures should be trained, and which must not be given up.

I agree.

Let this then be made one of our subjects of education. And next, shall we enquire whether the kindred science also **concerns** us?

You mean geometry?

Exactly so.

Clearly, he said, we are concerned with that part of geometry which relates to war; for in pitching a camp, or taking up a position, or closing or extending the lines of an army, or any other military **manoeuvre**, whether in actual battle or on a march, it will make all the difference whether a general is or is not a geometrician.

Yes, I said, but for that purpose a very little of either geometry or calculation will be enough; the question relates rather to the greater and more advanced part of geometry - whether that tends in any degree to make more easy the vision of the idea of good; and thither, as I was saying, all things tend which compel the soul to turn her gaze towards that place, where is the full perfection of being, which she ought, by all means, to behold.

True, he said.

Then if geometry compels us to view being, it concerns us; if becoming only, it does not concern us?

Yes, that is what we assert.

Yet anybody who has the least acquaintance with geometry will not deny that such a conception of the science is in flat contradiction to the ordinary language of geometricians.

How so?

#### Thesaurus

**anybody**: (adv) any, each; (n, pron) any person, a person; (n) everyone, somebody, nobody, everybody, someone; (pron) whoever. camp: (n) faction, encampment, base, barracks, cantonment, laager, side; (v)pitch, tent, camp out; (adj) campy. closing: (n) end, finish, conclusion, close, ending, shutting, finishing; (adj) ultimate, last, final, terminal. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) opening; (adj) first.

**concerns**: (*n*) dealings, affairs. **deny**: (v) controvert, rebuff, contradict, **geometrician**: (n) mathematician, disavow, gainsay, reject, oppose, refuse, disown, abnegate, renounce. ANTONYMS: (v) affirm, claim, acknowledge, declare, maintain, agree, spoil, accept, accede, allow, argue.

extending: (adj) expanding. gaze: (n, v) stare, regard, look, behold; (v) gape, see, contemplate, face, pry, view, glance. ANTONYMS: (v)

glance, peek. Euclid, euclidian. manoeuvre: (n) device, gambit, artifice, ruse, stratagem, ploy, tactic; (v) direct, guide, steer, go. pitching: (n) cast, lurch, nosing motion, playing, slant, delivery, lunge, stone facing, pitch shot; (adj) inclined; (adv) headlong.

They have in view practice only, and are always speaking, in a narrow and ridiculous manner, of squaring and extending and **applying** and the like—they confuse the necessities of geometry with those of daily life; whereas knowledge is the real object of the whole science.

Certainly, he said.

Then must not a further admission be made?

What admission?

That the knowledge at which geometry aims is knowledge of the eternal, and not of **aught** perishing and **transient**.

That, he replied, may be readily allowed, and is true.

Then, my noble friend, geometry will draw the soul towards truth, and create the spirit of philosophy, and raise up that which is now **unhappily** allowed to fall down.

Nothing will be more likely to have such an effect.

Then nothing should be more **sternly** laid down than that the inhabitants of your fair city should by all means learn geometry. Moreover the science has **indirect** effects, which are not small.

Of what kind? he said.

There are the military advantages of which you spoke, I said; and in all departments of knowledge, as experience proves, any one who has studied geometry is infinitely quicker of apprehension than one who has not.

Yes indeed, he said, there is an infinite difference between them.

Then shall we propose this as a second branch of knowledge which our youth will study?

Let us do so, he replied.

And suppose we make astronomy the third – what do you say?

I am strongly inclined to it, he said; the observation of the seasons and of months and years is as essential to the general as it is to the **farmer** or sailor.

#### **Thesaurus**

**applying**: (adj) applicatory, applicative.

aught: (n) nil, zero, anything, ought, cypher, nix, cipher, naught, null, zip; (adj) any.

**farmer**: (*n*) rustic, agriculturist, tiller, boor, cultivator, husbandman, granger, planter, sodbuster, yeoman, backwoodsman.

indirect: (adj) collateral, incidental, crooked, devious, oblique, roundabout, secondary, side, tortuous, winding, disingenuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) overt, straight, concrete, lineal, explicit.

sternly: (adv) severely, strictly, austerely, harshly, rigidly, grimly, rigorously, stringently, seriously, relentlessly, solemnly. ANTONYMS: (adv) leniently, lightheartedly, kindly, warmly, cheerfully.

warmly, cheerfully. **transient**: (*adj*) fleeting, temporary, passing, transitory, fugacious, ephemeral, momentary, temporal, provisional; (*adj*, *n*) fugitive, vagabond. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) enduring, lasting, immanent, long; (*n*) resident.

unhappily: (adv) wretchedly, unluckily, disconsolately, badly, woefully, forlornly, sorrowfully, unfortunately, dismally, dejectedly, despondently. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, contentedly, luckily, willingly, enthusiastically, fortunately.

I am amused, I said, at your fear of the world, which makes you guard against the appearance of **insisting** upon useless studies; and I quite admit the difficulty of believing that in every man there is an eye of the soul which, when by other pursuits lost and **dimmed**, is by these **purified** and re-illumined; and is more precious far than ten thousand bodily eyes, for by it alone is truth seen. Now there are two classes of persons: one class of those who will agree with you and will take your words as a **revelation**; another class to whom they will be utterly unmeaning, and who will naturally deem them to be idle tales, for they see no sort of profit which is to be **obtained** from them. And therefore you had better decide at once with which of the two you are **proposing** to argue. You will very likely say with neither, and that your chief aim in carrying on the argument is your own improvement; at the same time you do not **grudge** to others any benefit which they may receive.

I think that I should prefer to carry on the argument mainly on my own behalf.

Then take a step **backward**, for we have gone wrong in the order of the sciences.

What was the mistake? he said.

After plane geometry, I said, we proceeded at once to solids in revolution, instead of taking solids in themselves; whereas after the second **dimension** the third, which is concerned with cubes and **dimensions** of depth, ought to have followed.

That is true, Socrates; but so little seems to be known as yet about these subjects.

Why, yes, I said, and for two reasons:—in the first place, no government patronises them; this leads to a want of energy in the pursuit of them, and they are difficult; in the second place, students cannot learn them unless they have a director. But then a director can hardly be found, and even if he could, as matters now stand, the students, who are very conceited, would not attend to him. That, however, would be otherwise if the whole State became the director

#### **Thesaurus**

backward: (adj, adv) late, behindhand; (adj) tardy, retarded, reluctant, coy, slow, laggard, dilatory; (adv) behind, backwardly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) ahead; (adv) onward; (adj) quick, developing, advanced, confident, brilliant, bold.

dimension: (n) breadth, magnitude, bulk size length range, attribute.

**dimension**: (*n*) breadth, magnitude, bulk, size, length, range, attribute, proportion, quantum, dimensions, bigness.

dimensions: (n) size, capacity,

volume, magnitude, extent, measurement, shape, range, physique, gauge, figure. dimmed: (adj) wan, soft, blurred, vague, faint, dull, bleak, black, dense. grudge: (v) begrudge, covet; (n, v) spite; (n) malice, anger, umbrage, resentment, rancor, gall, pique, feud. insisting: (v) insist; (adj) persistent, insistent, incumbent; (n) insistency, imperativeness.

obtained: (adj) fulfilled, derivative.

**proposing**: (adj) prosy, proponent, making proposals.**purified**: (adj) refined, clean, pure, cleared, cleaned, cleansed, corrected, chastened, sublimated, sanitary, pured.

**revelation**: (*n*) discovery, exposure, display, revealing, manifestation, betrayal, apocalypse, expose, inspiration, publication; (*v*) reveal. ANTONYM: (*n*) concealment.

of these studies and gave honour to them; then disciples would want to come, and there would be continuous and earnest search, and discoveries would be made; since even now, disregarded as they are by the world, and maimed of their fair proportions, and although none of their votaries can tell the use of them, still these studies force their way by their natural charm, and very likely, if they had the help of the State, they would some day emerge into light.

Yes, he said, there is a remarkable charm in them. But I do not clearly understand the change in the order. First you began with a geometry of plane surfaces?

Yes, I said.

And you placed astronomy next, and then you made a **step** backward?

Yes, and I have delayed you by my hurry; the ludicrous state of solid geometry, which, in natural order, should have followed, made me pass over this branch and go on to astronomy, or motion of solids.

True, he said.

Then assuming that the science now omitted would come into existence if encouraged by the State, let us go on to astronomy, which will be fourth.

The right order, he replied. And now, Socrates, as you rebuked the vulgar manner in which I praised astronomy before, my praise shall be given in your own spirit. For every one, as I think, must see that astronomy compels the soul to look upwards and leads us from this world to another.

Every one but myself, I said; to every one else this may be clear, but not to me.

And what then would you say?

I should rather say that those who elevate astronomy into philosophy appear to me to make us look downwards and not upwards.

What do you mean? he asked.

You, I replied, have in your mind a truly sublime conception of our knowledge of the things above. And I dare say that if a person were to throw his

# Thesaurus

continuous: (adj) continual, ceaseless, perpetual, endless, running, unrelenting, everlasting, incessant, uninterrupted, unending, continued. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, discontinuous, sporadic, broken, ending, interrupted, halting, fitful, finished, disjointed, ceasing. delayed: (adj) belated, tardy, protracted, deferred, slow, retarded, held up, backward, back, prolonged; (adv) behind. ANTONYMS: (adj)

early, expedited, prompt. disregarded: (adj) unnoticed, neglected, unseen, written off, wretchless, unvalued, unheeded, overlooked, lost, irrecoverable; (v) unregarded.

emerge: (v) come out, spring, emanate, proportions: (n) size, magnitude, arise, transpire, surface, rise, develop, capacity, scope, figure, confines, come forth, issue, occur.

ANTONYMS: (v) leave, fade, recede, step: (n) stage, degree, rank, level, gait,

**hurry**: (n) haste; (n, v) bustle, hasten,

dispatch, flurry, rush; (v) scurry, dash, accelerate, expedite, run. ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, calmness, patience, unimportance; (v) dawdle, delay, linger, crawl, amble; (intj)

gradation, footprint; (n, v) walk, measure, stride; (v) tread.

head back and study the fretted ceiling, you would still think that his mind was the **percipient**, and not his eyes. And you are very likely right, and I may be a simpleton: but, in my opinion, that knowledge only which is of being and of the unseen can make the soul look upwards, and whether a man gapes at the heavens or blinks on the ground, seeking to learn some particular of sense, I would deny that he can learn, for nothing of that sort is matter of science; his soul is looking downwards, not upwards, whether his way to knowledge is by water or by land, whether he floats, or only lies on his back.

I acknowledge, he said, the justice of your rebuke. Still, I should like to ascertain how astronomy can be learned in any manner more conducive to that knowledge of which we are speaking?

I will tell you, I said: The **starry** heaven which we behold is **wrought** upon a visible ground, and therefore, although the fairest and most perfect of visible things, must necessarily be deemed inferior far to the true motions of absolute swiftness and absolute slowness, which are relative to each other, and carry with them that which is contained in them, in the true number and in every true figure. Now, these are to be apprehended by reason and intelligence, but not by sight.

True, he replied.

The spangled heavens should be used as a pattern and with a view to that higher knowledge; their beauty is like the beauty of figures or pictures **excellently** wrought by the hand of Daedalus, or some other great artist, which we may chance to behold; any geometrician who saw them would appreciate the exquisiteness of their workmanship, but he would never dream of thinking that in them he could find the true equal or the true double, or the truth of any other proportion.

No, he replied, such an idea would be ridiculous.

And will not a true **astronomer** have the same feeling when he looks at the movements of the stars? Will he not think that heaven and the things in heaven are framed by the Creator of them in the most perfect manner? But he will never

#### Thesaurus

astronomer: (n) stargazer, physicist, Galilean, Ptolemaic, Celsius, cosmologist, uranologist, muller, hall, Herschel, astrophysicist. **blinks**: (n) blinking-chickweed, dwarf Montia, water chickweed. excellently: (adv) splendidly, beautifully, exquisitely, magnificently, finely, marvelously, goodly, worthily, grandly, primely, superbly. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, badly, terribly.

**exquisiteness**: (n) perfection, delicacy, fineness, magnificence, prettiness, loveliness, elegance, dreamy quality, attractiveness, good looks. ANTONYMS: (n) ugliness,

unattractiveness.

fretted: (adj) latticed, haggard, magged, latticelike, reticulated, reticular, interlaced. ANTONYM: (adj) unfretted.

percipient: (adj) clear, discerning, perceptive, penetrating,

perspicacious, conscious, astute, animadversive, cleared, conversant, decipherable.

pictures: (n) cinema, movie, movie theater, footage, motion picture, movie house.

starry: (adj) sidereal, starlike, radiant, showy, gleaming, bright, lustrous, shiny, lucid, stellar, fulgent. ANTONYMS: (adj) starless, dull. wrought: (adj) shaped, done, worked,

worked up, formed.

imagine that the proportions of night and day, or of both to the month, or of the month to the year, or of the stars to these and to one another, and any other things that are material and visible can also be eternal and subject to no deviation—that would be absurd; and it is equally absurd to take so much pains in investigating their exact truth.

I quite agree, though I never thought of this before.

Then, I said, in astronomy, as in geometry, we should **employ** problems, and let the heavens alone if we would approach the subject in the right way and so make the natural gift of reason to be of any real use.

That, he said, is a work infinitely beyond our present astronomers.

Yes, I said; and there are many other things which must also have a similar **extension** given to them, if our legislation is to be of any value. But can you tell me of any other suitable study?

No, he said, not without thinking.

Motion, I said, has many forms, and not one only; two of them are obvious enough even to wits no better than ours; and there are others, as I imagine, which may be left to wiser persons.

But where are the two?

There is a second, I said, which is the counterpart of the one already **named**.

And what may that be?

The second, I said, would seem relatively to the ears to be what the first is to the eyes; for I conceive that as the eyes are designed to look up at the stars, so are the ears to hear harmonious motions; and these are sister sciences-as the Pythagoreans say, and we, Glaucon, agree with them?

Yes, he replied.

But this, I said, is a **laborious** study, and therefore we had better go and learn of them; and they will tell us whether there are any other applications of these sciences. At the same time, we must not lose sight of our own higher object.

What is that?

#### Thesaurus

employ: (v) use, apply, exploit, consume, wield, hire, engage, exercise, work, busy, utilize. ANTONYMS: (v) fire, dismiss, can, ignore, misuse, sack, underuse; (n) unemployment.

extension: (n) expansion, enlargement, laborious: (adj) hard, arduous, augmentation, increase, addition, elongation, expanse, annex, stretch, development, circulation. ANTONYMS: (n) contraction, limit, abridgment, curtailment, shrinkage,

shortening, flexion, head, reduction. investigating: (n) detection, enumeration, calibration, examination, analysis, counting, reckoning, tabulation, detecting, testing, surveillance.

backbreaking, heavy, industrious, diligent, grueling, assiduous, exhausting, formidable, tough. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, effortless, undemanding, light, brisk.

**motion**: (n) action, movement, gesticulation, play, exercise, passage; (n, v) wave, sign, signal; (v) beckon, gesticulate. ANTONYMS: (n) inertia, motionlessness, inactivity, stillness; (v) dismiss.

named: (adj, v) called; (adj) nominative, nominal, chosen, appointed, nominated, designated, titled, specified; (v) benempt, ycleped.

There is a perfection which all knowledge ought to reach, and which our pupils ought also to attain, and not to fall short of, as I was saying that they did in astronomy. For in the science of harmony, as you probably know, the same thing happens. The teachers of harmony compare the sounds and consonances which are heard only, and their labour, like that of the astronomers, is in vain.

Yes, by heaven! he said; and 'tis as good as a play to hear them talking about their **condensed** notes, as they call them; they put their ears close alongside of the strings like persons catching a sound from their neighbour's wall—one set of them declaring that they distinguish an intermediate note and have found the least interval which should be the unit of measurement; the others insisting that the two sounds have passed into the same—either party setting their ears before their understanding.

You mean, I said, those gentlemen who **tease** and **torture** the strings and **rack** them on the pegs of the instrument: I might carry on the metaphor and speak after their manner of the blows which the **plectrum** gives, and make accusations against the strings, both of **backwardness** and forwardness to sound; but this would be **tedious**, and therefore I will only say that these are not the men, and that I am referring to the Pythagoreans, of whom I was just now proposing to enquire about harmony. For they too are in error, like the astronomers; they investigate the numbers of the harmonies which are heard, but they never attain to problems—that is to say, they never reach the natural harmonies of number, or reflect why some numbers are harmonious and others not.

That, he said, is a thing of more than mortal knowledge.

A thing, I replied, which I would rather call useful; that is, if sought after with a view to the beautiful and good; but if pursued in any other spirit, useless.

Very true, he said.

Now, when all these studies reach the point of inter-communion and connection with one another, and come to be considered in their mutual affinities, then, I think, but not till then, will the pursuit of them have a value for our objects; otherwise there is no profit in them.

#### **Thesaurus**

backwardness: (n) reserve, abnormality, amentia, stupidity, arrearage, diffidence, bashfulness, shyness, lag, mongoloid, subnormality.

condensed: (adj) concise, compressed, concentrated, succinct, compact, summary, compendious, short, shortened; (adj, v) condense; (n) tabloid. ANTONYMS: (adj) loose, uncondensed, diluted, expanded, convoluted, long.

**plectrum**: (*n*) plectron, fescue, picking, choice, cream, malleus, device, filling, option, pickax, pickaxe. **rack**: (*n*, *v*) torment, wrack, Scud; (*n*) manger, grid, cage, bracket, stand; (*v*)

excruciate, afflict, agonize. **tease**: (*n*, *v*) annoy; (*adj*, *v*) molest,
harry, worry, bait; (*v*) taunt, kid,
pester, plague, provoke, mock.

ANTONYM: (v) placate. **tedious**: (adj) tiresome, boring, dreary, slow, heavy, humdrum, irksome,

lifeless; (adj, v) monotonous, arid, dry. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, varied, easy, readable, lively, entertaining, enthralling, brisk, concise, exotic, pleasant. torture: (n, v) pain, distress, agonize, afflict; (n) agony, anguish, suffering, excruciation, grief; (v) rack, excruciate. ANTONYMS: (n) relief, alleviation, content, ecstasy, joy, pleasure; (v) relieve, alleviate.

I **suspect** so; but you are speaking, Socrates, of a vast work.

What do you mean? I said; the prelude or what? Do you not know that all this is but the prelude to the actual strain which we have to learn? For you surely would not regard the skilled mathematician as a dialectician?

Assuredly not, he said; I have hardly ever known a mathematician who was capable of reasoning.

But do you **imagine** that men who are unable to give and take a reason will have the knowledge which we require of them?

Neither can this be supposed.

And so, Glaucon, I said, we have at last arrived at the hymn of dialectic. This is that strain which is of the intellect only, but which the faculty of sight will nevertheless be found to imitate; for sight, as you may remember, was imagined by us after a while to behold the real animals and stars, and last of all the sun himself. And so with dialectic; when a person starts on the discovery of the absolute by the light of reason only, and without any **assistance** of sense, and perseveres until by pure intelligence he arrives at the perception of the absolute good, he at last finds himself at the end of the intellectual world, as in the case of sight at the end of the visible.

Exactly, he said.

Then this is the progress which you call dialectic?

True.

But the release of the prisoners from chains, and their **translation** from the shadows to the images and to the light, and the ascent from the underground den to the sun, while in his presence they are vainly trying to look on animals and plants and the light of the sun, but are able to perceive even with their **weak** eyes the images in the water (which are divine), and are the shadows of true existence (not shadows of images **cast** by a light of fire, which compared with the sun is only an image) — this power of elevating the highest principle in the soul to the contemplation of that which is best in existence, with which we may compare the raising of that faculty which is the very light of the body to the sight of that

#### Thesaurus

assistance: (*n*) support, relief, boost, encouragement, remedy, help, service, hand, backing; (*n*, *v*) assist; (*v*) succor. ANTONYMS: (*n*) impediment, impeding, obstruction, detriment, disservice, meanness, opposition.

cast: (*n*, *v*) throw, stamp, form, fling, shape, figure; (*v*) shed, pitch, chuck; (*n*) casting, appearance.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) refuse, receive, subtract, reject, take, gather, catch,

imagine: (v) believe, conjecture, fancy, conceive, daydream, assume, guess, consider, fantasize; (conj, v) suppose; (n, v) dream.

suspect: (v) mistrust, suppose, distrust, conjecture, guess, surmise, divine, disbelieve; (adj) fishy, questionable, shady. ANTONYMS: (adj) trustworthy, trusted, innocent, reliable, credible, aboveboard; (n) plaintiff; (v) know, believe. translation: (n) displacement, transformation, version, interpretation, rendition, paraphrase, metamorphosis, conversion, shift, mistranslation; (v) transmission.

weak: (adj, n) frail; (adj) flat, watery, fragile, flimsy, faint, thin, light, sickly, soft, nerveless. ANTONYMS: (adj) concentrated, firm, brave, safe, forceful, effective, healthy, intense, determined, powerful, robust.

which is brightest in the material and visible world-this power is given, as I was saying, by all that study and pursuit of the arts which has been described.

I agree in what you are saying, he replied, which may be hard to believe, yet, from another point of view, is harder still to deny. This, however, is not a theme to be treated of in passing only, but will have to be discussed again and again. And so, whether our conclusion be true or false, let us assume all this, and proceed at once from the prelude or preamble to the chief strain (A play upon the Greek word, which means both 'law' and 'strain.'), and describe that in like manner. Say, then, what is the nature and what are the divisions of dialectic, and what are the paths which lead thither; for these paths will also lead to our final rest.

Dear Glaucon, I said, you will not be able to follow me here, though I would do my best, and you should behold not an image only but the absolute truth, according to my **notion**. Whether what I told you would or would not have been a reality I cannot venture to say; but you would have seen something like reality; of that I am confident.

Doubtless, he replied.

But I must also remind you, that the power of dialectic alone can reveal this, and only to one who is a disciple of the previous sciences.

Of that assertion you may be as confident as of the last.

And assuredly no one will argue that there is any other method of comprehending by any regular process all true existence or of ascertaining what each thing is in its own nature; for the arts in general are concerned with the desires or opinions of men, or are cultivated with a view to production and construction, or for the preservation of such productions and constructions; and as to the mathematical sciences which, as we were saying, have some apprehension of true being-geometry and the like-they only dream about being, but never can they behold the waking reality so long as they leave the hypotheses which they use unexamined, and are unable to give an account of them. For when a man knows not his own first principle, and when the

#### Thesaurus

confident: (adj) bold, brave, secure, sanguine, audacious, forward, fearless; (adj, v) certain, positive, sure; **notion**: (n) belief, idea, impression, (adj, n) hopeful. ANTONYMS: (adj) insecure, timid, pessimistic, frightened, anxious, unsure, hesitant, unintelligent, doubtful, diffident, bland.

mathematical: (adj) mathematic, punctual, algebraic, arithmetical, exact, accurate, possible, unquestionable, scientific, religiously exact, numerical. ANTONYMS: (adj) verbal, random. fancy, image, imagination, opinion, conception, concept; (adj, n, v)

judgment; (n, v) caprice. ANTONYMS: (n) trust, certainty, fact, reality.

preamble: (n) introduction, prelude, foreword, preface, overture, preliminary, prologue, opening, proemium, protasis, prolepsis.

ANTONYMS: (n) conclusion, finale. reveal: (v) divulge, expose, disclose, impart, betray, detect, convey, exhibit, display, discover, express. ANTONYMS: (v) conceal, hide, cover, suppress, withhold. theme: (n) matter, motif, subject, text, substance, composition, stem, question, base, motive, paper. unexamined: (v) unsearched, unweighed, unscanned, unexplored, unstudied.

conclusion and intermediate steps are also constructed out of he knows not what, how can he imagine that such a **fabric** of convention can ever become science?

Impossible, he said.

Then dialectic, and dialectic alone, goes directly to the first principle and is the only science which does away with hypotheses in order to make her ground secure; the eye of the soul, which is literally buried in an **outlandish** slough, is by her gentle aid lifted upwards; and she uses as handmaids and helpers in the work of **conversion**, the sciences which we have been discussing. Custom terms them sciences, but they ought to have some other name, implying greater clearness than opinion and less clearness than science: and this, in our previous **sketch**, was called understanding. But why should we dispute about names when we have realities of such importance to consider?

Why indeed, he said, when any name will do which expresses the thought of the mind with clearness?

At any rate, we are satisfied, as before, to have four divisions; two for intellect and two for opinion, and to call the first division science, the second understanding, the third belief, and the fourth perception of shadows, opinion being concerned with becoming, and intellect with being; and so to make a proportion:—

As being is to becoming, so is pure intellect to opinion. And as intellect is to opinion, so is science to belief, and understanding to the perception of shadows.

But let us **defer** the further **correlation** and subdivision of the subjects of opinion and of intellect, for it will be a long enquiry, many times longer than this has been.

As far as I understand, he said, I agree.

And do you also agree, I said, in describing the dialectician as one who attains a conception of the essence of each thing? And he who does not possess and is therefore unable to **impart** this conception, in whatever degree he fails, may in that degree also be said to fail in intelligence? Will you admit so much?

Yes, he said; how can I deny it?

#### **Thesaurus**

**conversion**: (*n*) changeover, change, alteration, adaptation, exchange, transformation, commutation, adjustment, reformation, passage; (*adj*) salvation. **correlation**: (*n*) association, relationship, bond, correspondence

relationship, bond, correspondence, interrelation, link, correlativity, coefficient of correlation, equivalence, comparison; (adj) mutuality. ANTONYMS: (n) contradiction, contrast, clash.

**defer**: (*v*) adjourn, postpone, comply, procrastinate, bow, suspend, retard, accede, protract; (*adj*, *v*) put off; (*n*, *v*) delay. ANTONYMS: (*v*) advance, rush, hurry, hasten, forge, disagree, expedite, continue, resist.

**fabric**: (*n*) composition, cloth, construction, material, framework, fiber, performance, anatomy; (*n*, *v*) edifice, building, structure. **impart**: (*v*) give, convey, disclose, communicate, announce, grant,

reveal, hand, bestow, divulge, confer. ANTONYMS: (*v*) withhold, withdraw.

outlandish: (adj) foreign, bizarre, eccentric, freakish, odd, exotic, alien, quaint, singular, extraneous, freaky. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, commonplace, sensible, familiar, tasteful.

**sketch**: (*n*, *v*) plan, outline, draft, scheme, picture, project; (*n*) drawing, cartoon, plot; (*v*) paint, draw.

And you would say the same of the conception of the good? Until the person is able to abstract and define rationally the idea of good, and unless he can run the gauntlet of all objections, and is ready to disprove them, not by appeals to opinion, but to absolute truth, never faltering at any step of the argument unless he can do all this, you would say that he knows neither the idea of good nor any other good; he apprehends only a shadow, if anything at all, which is given by opinion and not by science; - dreaming and slumbering in this life, before he is well awake here, he arrives at the world below, and has his final quietus.

In all that I should most certainly agree with you.

And surely you would not have the **children** of your ideal State, whom you are nurturing and educating—if the ideal ever becomes a reality—you would not allow the future rulers to be like posts (Literally 'lines,' probably the startingpoint of a race-course.), having no reason in them, and yet to be set in authority over the highest matters?

Certainly not.

Then you will make a law that they shall have such an education as will enable them to attain the greatest skill in asking and answering questions?

Yes, he said, you and I together will make it.

Dialectic, then, as you will agree, is the coping-stone of the sciences, and is set over them; no other science can be **placed** higher—the nature of knowledge can no further go?

I agree, he said.

But to whom we are to assign these studies, and in what way they are to be assigned, are questions which remain to be considered.

Yes, clearly.

You remember, I said, how the rulers were **chosen** before?

Certainly, he said.

## Thesaurus

**abstract**: (adj) theoretical; (n) abridgement, epitome, summary, abridgment, precis; (v) abridge, filch, purloin; (n, v) digest, extract. ANTONYMS: (adj) concrete, real, literal, material, physical, specific, objective; (v) expand, lengthen, strengthen, insert. children: (n) child, offspring,

descendant, family, seed, boy, babies, descendants, birth, relatives, people. chosen: (adj, n) elect; (adj) preferred,

select, favored, named; (adj, v)designate, desired, designated; (n) deary, ducky, dearie. ANTONYMS: (adj) ignored, involuntary.

gauntlet: (n) mitt, sleeve, wristband, gantlet, mitten, gloves; (v) corner stone, armored vest, buffer, mask, call to arms.

greatest: (adj) top, superlative, biggest, utmost, largest, extreme, first; (adj, n) maximum, most; (adj, v) paramount, supreme. ANTONYMS: (adj) inferior,

secondary.

placed: (adj) situated, laid, set, positioned, arranged, fixed, sited, collocate, determined, dictated, hardened.

shadow: (n) ghost, darkness, apparition, follower, gloom, reflection; (n, v) eclipse, trace, tail, hint; (v) follow. ANTONYMS: (v) brighten, lead; (n) brightness, pallor. slumbering: (adj) dormant, asleep,

latent. ANTONYM: (adj) awake.

The same natures must still be chosen, and the preference again given to the surest and the bravest, and, if possible, to the fairest; and, having noble and generous tempers, they should also have the natural gifts which will facilitate their education.

And what are these?

Such gifts as keenness and ready powers of acquisition; for the mind more often faints from the severity of study than from the severity of gymnastics: the toil is more entirely the mind's own, and is not shared with the body.

Very true, he replied.

Further, he of whom we are in search should have a good memory, and be an unwearied solid man who is a lover of labour in any line; or he will never be able to endure the great amount of bodily exercise and to go through all the intellectual discipline and study which we require of him.

Certainly, he said; he must have natural gifts.

The mistake at present is, that those who study philosophy have no **vocation**, and this, as I was before saying, is the reason why she has fallen into **disrepute**: her true sons should take her by the hand and not bastards.

What do you mean?

In the first place, her **votary** should not have a **lame** or **halting** industry—I mean, that he should not be half **industrious** and half idle: as, for example, when a man is a lover of gymnastic and hunting, and all other bodily exercises, but a hater rather than a lover of the labour of learning or listening or enquiring. Or the occupation to which he devotes himself may be of an opposite kind, and he may have the other sort of **lameness**.

Certainly, he said.

And as to truth, I said, is not a soul equally to be deemed halt and lame which hates voluntary falsehood and is extremely indignant at **herself** and others when they tell lies, but is patient of involuntary falsehood, and does not

#### **Thesaurus**

disrepute: (n) dishonor, disgrace, discredit, shame, reproach, contempt, disfavor, notoriety, dishonour, infamy, disesteem. ANTONYMS: (n) repute, reputation, worthiness, respect.

halting: (adj) halt, hesitant, broken, crude, grotesque, barbarous; (adj, v) lame, crippled; (adv) haltingly; (v) drooping, flagging. ANTONYMS: (adj) easy, firm.
herself: (adj) oneself, self, himself,

myself, yourself, yourselves, themselves, ourselves, itself.
industrious: (adj) diligent, assiduous, indefatigable, busy, energetic, hardworking, laborious, tireless, earnest, keen, enterprising.
ANTONYMS: (adj) indolent, idle, destructive, weary, careless.
lame: (adj) crippled, disabled, halting, feeble, halt, weak, paralytic; (adj, n) game; (adj, v) paralyze, maim, becripple.

lameness: (n) limp, claudication, gameness, gimpiness, feebleness, halt, limping, crippleness, disability of walking.

**vocation**: (*n*, *v*) calling, profession, employment; (*n*) occupation, job, trade, business, career, line, mission, line of work.

votary: (n) disciple, devotee, follower, lover, amateur, bacchant, bacchante, supporter, partisan, votarist, solicitant. mind wallowing like a **swinish** beast in the mire of ignorance, and has no shame at being detected?

To be sure.

And, again, in respect of temperance, courage, magnificence, and every other virtue, should we not carefully distinguish between the true son and the bastard? for where there is no discernment of such qualities states and individuals unconsciously err; and the state makes a ruler, and the individual a friend, of one who, being defective in some part of virtue, is in a figure lame or a bastard.

That is very true, he said.

All these things, then, will have to be carefully considered by us; and if only those whom we introduce to this vast system of education and training are sound in body and mind, justice herself will have nothing to say against us, and we shall be the saviours of the constitution and of the State; but, if our pupils are men of another stamp, the reverse will happen, and we shall **pour** a still greater **flood** of ridicule on philosophy than she has to endure at present.

That would not be **creditable**.

Certainly not, I said; and yet perhaps, in thus turning jest into earnest I am equally ridiculous.

In what respect?

I had forgotten, I said, that we were not serious, and spoke with too much excitement. For when I saw philosophy so **undeservedly** trampled under foot of men I could not help feeling a sort of **indignation** at the authors of her disgrace: and my anger made me too vehement.

Indeed! I was listening, and did not think so.

But I, who am the speaker, felt that I was. And now let me remind you that, although in our former selection we **chose** old men, we must not do so in this. Solon was under a delusion when he said that a man when he grows old may learn many things—for he can no more learn much than he can run much; youth is the time for any extraordinary toil.

#### **Thesaurus**

chose: (v) choose, opt, decide; (n) thing.
creditable: (adj, v) reputable,
respectable; (adj, n) meritorious; (adj)
praiseworthy, laudable, worthy,
admirable, believable; (n) estimable,
dignity; (v) up to the mark.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy,
disrespected, disgraceful,
discreditable, lamentable, poor,
blameworthy.
flood: (n, v) flow, torrent, pour,

stream, glut, rush, gush; (v) drench, inundate, drown; (n, prep) tide.
ANTONYMS: (n) drought, shortage, slump, deficit; (v) disperse, dry.
indignation: (n) anger, resentment, displeasure, grudge, umbrage, rage, outrage, exasperation, choler, dudgeon; (adj, n) wrath.
ANTONYMS: (n) contentment, pleasure.
pour: (v) gush, shed, decant, scatter,

**pour**: (*v*) gush, shed, decant, scatter, stream, flow, pelt, discharge, teem,

infuse; (n, v) overflow. ANTONYMS: (v) drizzle, trickle.

swinish: (adj) piggish, porcine, boorish, piggy, gluttonous, brutal, loutish, brutish, crapulous; (v) omnivorous, edacious.

undeservedly: (adv) unmeritedly, unjustly, excessively, out of all proportion, unjustifiably, overly, desertlessly, disproportionately, inequitably. ANTONYM: (adv)

justifiably.

Of course.

And, therefore, calculation and geometry and all the other elements of instruction, which are a preparation for dialectic, should be presented to the mind in childhood; not, however, under any notion of **forcing** our system of education.

Why not?

Because a freeman ought not to be a slave in the **acquisition** of knowledge of any kind. Bodily exercise, when **compulsory**, does no harm to the body; but knowledge which is acquired under compulsion obtains no hold on the mind.

Very true.

Then, my good friend, I said, do not use compulsion, but let early education be a sort of amusement; you will then be better able to find out the natural **bent**.

That is a very rational notion, he said.

Do you remember that the children, too, were to be taken to see the battle on horseback; and that if there were no danger they were to be brought close up and, like young hounds, have a taste of blood given them?

Yes, I remember.

The same practice may be followed, I said, in all these things—labours, lessons, dangers—and he who is most at home in all of them ought to be **enrolled** in a **select** number.

At what age?

At the age when the necessary gymnastics are over: the period whether of two or three years which passes in this sort of training is useless for any other purpose; for sleep and exercise are unpropitious to learning; and the trial of who is first in gymnastic exercises is one of the most important tests to which our youth are subjected.

Certainly, he replied.

After that time those who are selected from the class of **twenty** years old will be promoted to higher honour, and the sciences which they learned without any

# **Thesaurus**

acquisition: (n) accomplishment, acquirement, attainment, achievement, conquest, learning, buyout, prize, getting, buy; (v) gain. ANTONYMS: (n) loss, giving, sale. bent: (adj) curved, arched, deformed, crooked; (n) propensity, inclination, fancy, leaning, flair, gift, curvature. ANTONYMS: (n) weakness, inability, aversion; (adj) undetermined, undecided, uncurved, uncaring, rigid, unbent.

compulsory: (adj) obligatory, involuntary, mandatory, compulsive, coercive, binding, necessary, imperative, forcible, unavoidable, essential. ANTONYMS: (adj) voluntary, elective, peaceful, willing. enrolled: (adj) listed, conscript. forcing: (adj) pressing, constraining, penetrating, compulsatory; (n) push. rational: (adj, n) reasonable, just; (adj) intelligent, sane, judicious, logical, mental, sound, sober, wise, practical.

ANTONYMS: (adj) illogical, anxious, biased, untenable, unreasonable, unrealistic, unconvincing, physical, intuitive, foolish, delirious. select: (adj, v) choice, excellent; (v) extract, adopt, choose, elect, prefer, excerpt; (adj) exclusive, chosen; (adj, n) best. ANTONYMS: (adj) inferior, poor, mediocre, inclusive, cheap; (v) refuse.

**twenty**: (*adj*) vigesimal; (*n*) large integer, twenty dollar bill.

order in their early education will now be brought together, and they will be able to see the natural relationship of them to one another and to true being.

Yes, he said, that is the only kind of knowledge which takes lasting **root**.

Yes, I said; and the capacity for such knowledge is the great criterion of dialectical **talent**: the comprehensive mind is always the dialectical.

I agree with you, he said.

These, I said, are the points which you must consider; and those who have most of this **comprehension**, and who are most steadfast in their learning, and in their military and other appointed duties, when they have arrived at the age of thirty have to be chosen by you out of the select class, and elevated to higher honour; and you will have to prove them by the help of dialectic, in order to learn which of them is able to give up the use of sight and the other senses, and in company with truth to attain absolute being: And here, my friend, great caution is required.

Why great caution?

Do you not remark, I said, how great is the evil which dialectic has introduced?

What evil? he said.

The students of the art are filled with lawlessness.

Quite true, he said.

Do you think that there is anything so very unnatural or **inexcusable** in their case? or will you make **allowance** for them?

In what way make allowance?

I want you, I said, by way of parallel, to imagine a supposititious son who is brought up in great wealth; he is one of a great and numerous family, and has many flatterers. When he grows up to manhood, he learns that his **alleged** are not his real parents; but who the real are he is unable to discover. Can you guess how he will be likely to behave towards his flatterers and his supposed parents,

#### **Thesaurus**

alleged: (adj) ostensible, apparent, assumed, professed, supposed, apologetic, pretended, putative, so-called, purported, believed. ANTONYMS: (adj) certain, definite, sure.

allowance: (n) admission, quota, discount, tolerance, maintenance, portion, margin, deduction, rebate, share, leave.

**comprehension**: (*n*) knowledge, inclusion, conception, understanding,

intelligence, grasp, wit, capacity, familiarity, discernment, uptake. ANTONYMS: (*n*) incomprehension, ignorance.

inexcusable: (adj) irremissible, unpardonable, reprehensible, unwarrantable, unforgivable, unwarranted, unfair, untenable, not excusable, intolerable, unexcusable. ANTONYMS: (adj) understandable, forgivable, justifiable, justified, laudable, wonderful. root: (n) foundation, base, origin, basis, radix, cause, derivation, reason, fountainhead; (adj, n) radical; (v) establish. ANTONYMS: (n) descendant, effect.

talent: (n) genius, ability, aptitude, capacity, skill, knack, flair, capability; (n, v) endowment, faculty; (adj, n) cleverness. ANTONYMS: (n) incapacity, lack, stupidity, incompetence, ineptness, drawback.

first of all during the period when he is ignorant of the false relation, and then again when he knows? Or shall I guess for you?

If you please.

Then I should say, that while he is ignorant of the truth he will be likely to honour his father and his mother and his supposed relations more than the flatterers; he will be less inclined to **neglect** them when in need, or to do or say anything against them; and he will be less willing to **disobey** them in any important matter.

He will.

But when he has made the discovery, I should imagine that he would diminish his honour and regard for them, and would become more devoted to the flatterers; their influence over him would greatly increase; he would now live after their ways, and openly associate with them, and, unless he were of an **unusually** good disposition, he would trouble himself no more about his supposed parents or other relations.

Well, all that is very **probable**. But how is the image applicable to the disciples of philosophy?

In this way: you know that there are certain principles about justice and honour, which were taught us in childhood, and under their parental authority we have been brought up, **obeying** and honouring them.

That is true.

There are also opposite maxims and habits of pleasure which flatter and attract the soul, but do not influence those of us who have any sense of right, and they continue to obey and honour the maxims of their fathers.

True.

Now, when a man is in this state, and the **questioning** spirit asks what is fair or honourable, and he answers as the legislator has taught him, and then arguments many and diverse refute his words, until he is driven into believing that nothing is honourable any more than dishonourable, or just and good any

# Thesaurus complete, remember, heed; (n, v)

**disobey**: (*v*) violate, defy, infringe, disregard, contravene, ignore, resist, rebel, breach, transgress, counteract. ANTONYMS: (*v*) conform, regard, comply, mind, observe, behave, uphold.

neglect: (*n*, *v*) disregard, slight, default; (*v*) ignore, fail, overlook, miss, forget, drop; (*n*) carelessness, omission. ANTONYMS: (*n*) development, surveillance, caution, affection, cherish; (*v*) do, protect,

care.

obeying: (adv) under.

probable: (adj) likely, plausible,
possible, potential, presumable,
feasible, hopeful, convincing,
believable, to be expected, specious.

ANTONYMS: (adj) improbable,
implausible, unbelievable.
questioning: (adj) inquisitive, curious,
suspicious, quizzical, doubting; (n)
question, inquiry, query,

ANTONYMS: (adj) illogical, certain, credulous.

unusually: (adj, adv) uncommonly, particularly, outstandingly, remarkably, singularly, curiously; (adv) rarely, peculiarly, extraordinarily, signally, abnormally. ANTONYMS: (adv) usually, regularly, typically, frequently, slightly, commonly, ordinarily.

examination, interrogation, enquiry.

more than the reverse, and so of all the notions which he most valued, do you think that he will still honour and obey them as before?

Impossible.

And when he ceases to think them honourable and natural as heretofore, and he fails to discover the true, can he be expected to pursue any life other than that which flatters his desires?

He cannot.

And from being a **keeper** of the law he is converted into a breaker of it?

# Unquestionably.

Now all this is very natural in students of philosophy such as I have described, and also, as I was just now saying, most **excusable**.

Yes, he said; and, I may add, pitiable.

Therefore, that your feelings may not be moved to pity about our citizens who are now thirty years of age, every care must be taken in introducing them to dialectic.

Certainly.

There is a danger lest they should taste the dear delight too early; for **youngsters**, as you may have observed, when they first get the taste in their mouths, **argue** for amusement, and are always contradicting and refuting others in imitation of those who refute them; like puppy-dogs, they rejoice in **pulling** and **tearing** at all who come near them.

Yes, he said, there is nothing which they like better.

And when they have made many conquests and received defeats at the hands of many, they violently and speedily get into a way of not believing anything which they believed before, and **hence**, not only they, but philosophy and all that relates to it is apt to have a bad name with the rest of the world.

Too true, he said.

But when a man begins to get older, he will no longer be guilty of such insanity; he will imitate the dialectician who is seeking for truth, and not the

#### **Thesaurus**

altercate, debate, declare, contest, discuss, convince; (*n*, *v*) reason, question. ANTONYMS: (*v*) deny, harmonize, assent, concur, abstain, comply, dissuade. **excusable**: (*adj*) pardonable, justifiable, defensible, forgivable, warrantable, permissible, slight, understandable, minor, vindicable, tenable.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) unforgivable,

argue: (v) contend, quarrel, oppose,

**hence**: (*adv*) consequently, for that reason, therefore, thereby, away, thus, for, then, because, henceforth, as a result.

keeper: (n) curator, guardian, guard, warden, janitor, jailer, gaoler, warder, caretaker, sentry, conservator. pulling: (n) pull, drawing, traction, haulage, actuation, clout, deracination, draughts, extirpation; (adi) attracting, tractive.

unallowable, indefensible, blameable. **tearing**: (adj) fierce, violent, vehement,

furious, ripping, ferocious; (n) lachrymation, lacrimation, riving ahead, tear, lancination.

unquestionably: (adv) certainly, definitely, indubitably, decidedly, indisputably, positively, surely, of course, assuredly, no doubt; (adj) doubtless. ANTONYMS: (adv) doubtfully, possibly, arguably.

youngsters: (n) teenagers, young people, youth.

**eristic**, who is contradicting for the sake of amusement; and the greater moderation of his character will increase instead of diminishing the honour of the pursuit.

Very true, he said.

And did we not make special provision for this, when we said that the disciples of philosophy were to be orderly and steadfast, not, as now, any chance aspirant or **intruder**?

Very true.

Suppose, I said, the study of philosophy to take the place of gymnastics and to be continued diligently and earnestly and **exclusively** for **twice** the number of years which were **passed** in bodily exercise—will that be enough?

Would you say six or four years? he asked.

Say five years, I replied; at the end of the time they must be sent down again into the den and compelled to hold any military or other office which young men are qualified to hold: in this way they will get their experience of life, and there will be an opportunity of trying whether, when they are drawn all manner of ways by **temptation**, they will stand firm or **flinch**.

And how long is this stage of their lives to last?

Fifteen years, I answered; and when they have reached fifty years of age, then let those who still **survive** and have distinguished themselves in every action of their lives and in every **branch** of knowledge come at last to their consummation: the time has now arrived at which they must raise the eye of the soul to the universal light which lightens all things, and behold the absolute good; for that is the pattern according to which they are to order the State and the lives of individuals, and the remainder of their own lives also; making philosophy their chief pursuit, but, when their turn comes, toiling also at politics and ruling for the public good, not as though they were performing some heroic action, but simply as a matter of duty; and when they have brought up in each generation others like themselves and left them in their place to be governors of the State, then they will depart to the Islands of the Blest and dwell there; and the city will

#### **Thesaurus**

branch: (*n*, *v*) fork; (*n*) wing, jump, affiliate, ramus, member, stem, limb, agency, stick, subdivision.
ANTONYMS: (*n*) composite, trunk; (*v*) converge, merge.
eristic: (*adj*, *v*) eristical; (*v*)
Aristotelian; (*n*) disputant, controversialist; (*adj*) disagreeable.
exclusively: (*adv*) entirely, alone, specially, completely, individually, selectly, particularly, totally, especially, wholly; (*adj*, *adv*) only.

ANTONYMS: (*adv*) openly, partly, partially.

**flinch**: (*v*) cower, quail, recoil, recede, blench, shrink; (*n*, *v*) cringe, start, retreat, jump, jerk.

intruder: (n) trespasser, interloper, encroacher, raider, invader, aggressor, go between, gatecrasher, stalker, boarder; (adj, n) stranger. passed: (adj) accepted, approved, legal, gone.

**survive**: (v) live, outlast, outlive,

endure, exist, pull through, remain, continue, breathe, last, be. ANTONYMS: (v) succumb, perish, cease, stop, crumble.

cease, stop, crumble. **temptation**: (n, v) lure, enticement,

tempration: (n, 0) lure, enticement, bait; (n) attraction, allurement, invitation, seduction, inducement, allure, appeal, pull. ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, discouragement.

**twice**: (*adv*) doubly, bis, two times, in two ways, once more; (*adj*) twenty.

give them public memorials and sacrifices and honour them, if the Pythian oracle **consent**, as demigods, but if not, as in any case blessed and divine.

You are a sculptor, Socrates, and have made statues of our governors faultless in beauty.

Yes, I said, Glaucon, and of our governesses too; for you must not suppose that what I have been saying applies to men only and not to women as far as their natures can go.

There you are right, he said, since we have made them to share in all things like the men.

Well, I said, and you would agree (would you not?) that what has been said about the State and the government is not a mere **dream**, and although difficult not impossible, but only possible in the way which has been supposed; that is to say, when the true philosopher kings are born in a State, one or more of them, **despising** the honours of this present world which they deem mean and worthless, esteeming above all things right and the honour that springs from right, and **regarding** justice as the greatest and most necessary of all things, whose ministers they are, and whose principles will be exalted by them when they set in order their own city?

How will they proceed?

They will begin by sending out into the country all the inhabitants of the city who are more than ten years old, and will take possession of their children, who will be **unaffected** by the habits of their parents; these they will train in their own habits and laws, I mean in the laws which we have given them: and in this way the State and constitution of which we were speaking will soonest and most easily attain happiness, and the **nation** which has such a constitution will gain most.

Yes, that will be the best way. And I think, Socrates, that you have very well described how, if ever, such a constitution might come into being.

Enough then of the perfect State, and of the man who bears its image—there is no difficulty in **seeing** how we shall describe him.

#### **Thesaurus**

consent: (adj, n, v) accord; (n, v) acquiescence, agreement; (v) concur, approve, agree, acquiesce, accept; (n) consensus, approval; (adj, v) allow. ANTONYMS: (v) refuse, reject, protest, object, differ, oppose; (n, v) veto; (n) refusal, opposition, dissent, disagreement. despising: (n) despisal, contempt, despisarement; (ad) disclainful

despising: (*n*) despisal, contempt, despisement; (*adj*) disdainful. dream: (*n*) aspiration, ambition, reverie, desire, fantasy, figment,

nightmare; (*n*, *v*) vision, sleep; (*v*) muse, imagine. ANTONYMS: (*n*) alertness, nightmare.

nation: (n) state, country, kingdom, people, community, commonwealth, land, a people, body politic, nationality, tribe.

regarding: (prep) about, as regards, for, on, towards, apropos; (adj, prep) with regard to, with reference to; (adj) as to, in regard to, in relation to. seeing: (prep) because; (adj) Seely,

considering; (n) sight, vision, beholding, fusion, visual sense; (v) conceive, comprehend, perceive. unaffected: (adj) sincere, artless, natural, plain, real, genuine, unimpressed, ingenuous, naive, untouched, honest. ANTONYMS: (adj) unnatural, sophisticated, refined, pretentious, moved, hurt, disturbed, changed, vulnerable, dishonest, emotional.

There is no **difficulty**, he replied; and I **agree** with you in **thinking** that **nothing** more **need** be said.

#### **Thesaurus**

agree: (v) admit, acknowledge, acquiesce, adjust, concord, bargain, suit, accede, harmonize, fit; (n, v) coincide. ANTONYMS: (v) oppose, differ, argue, refuse, object, refute, conflict, fight, dispute, decline, contend.

difficulty: (n) trouble, bother, asperity

difficulty: (*n*) trouble, bother, asperity, jam, barrier, difficultness, fix, hardship; (*n*, *v*) hindrance, obstacle; (*adj*, *n*) strait. ANTONYMS: (*n*) simplicity, advantage, help,

assurance, easiness, accommodation, effortlessness, gentleness, reassurance, agreement, resolution. need: (adj, n, v) lack, want; (n, v) demand, desire, deficiency, must, destitution; (n) necessity, requirement; (v) require, claim. ANTONYMS: (v) obviate, dislike, have; (n) option, luxury, glut, unimportance, affluence, prosperity. nothing: (adv, n) naught; (adj, n) nil, null; (n) nobody, cipher, nihil,

nonentity, trifle, nix, aught, cypher. ANTONYMS: (pron) anything, everything, some; (n) all. thinking: (n) consideration, idea, opinion, reasoning, intellection, cogitation, conception, contemplation; (adj) intelligent, thoughtful, meditative.

# BOOK VIII

And so, Glaucon, we have arrived at the conclusion that in the perfect State wives and children are to be in common; and that all education and the pursuits of war and peace are also to be common, and the best philosophers and the bravest warriors are to be their kings?That, replied Glaucon, has been acknowledged.

Yes, I said; and we have further acknowledged that the governors, when appointed themselves, will take their soldiers and place them in houses such as we were describing, which are common to all, and contain nothing private, or individual; and about their property, you remember what we agreed?

Yes, I remember that no one was to have any of the ordinary **possessions** of mankind; they were to be warrior athletes and guardians, receiving from the other citizens, in **lieu** of annual payment, only their **maintenance**, and they were to take care of themselves and of the whole State.

True, I said; and now that this division of our task is concluded, let us find the point at which we digressed, that we may return into the old path.

There is no difficulty in returning; you implied, then as now, that you had finished the description of the State: you said that such a State was good, and that the man was good who answered to it, although, as now appears, you had more excellent things to relate both of State and man. And you said further, that

#### Thesaurus

appointed: (adj) specified, prescribed, destined, ordained, fit, set, fitted, commissioned, nominated, designated; (v) appoint.

concluded: (adj, adv) finished, done, completed, ended; (adj) over, closed, terminated, accomplished, all over, consummate, set.

behalf, part, role, berth, station, site,

maintenance: (n) alimony, keep,

living, care, sustenance, charge, sustainment, preservation, service, support, sustentation. ANTONYMS: (n) destruction, release, neglect. possessions: (n) means, belongings, assets, goods, property, effects, wealth, gear, things, possession, riches.

lieu: (n) office, position, locality, stead, relate: (v) recount, narrate, link, associate, tell, appertain, apply, detail, describe, recite, refer. ANTONYMS: (v) dissociate, conceal, conflict, contrast, disconnect, separate.

returning: (adj) regressive, return, reversive, recurrent, coming back, ebbing, flowing back, new, newly appointed, newly elected, next. ANTONYMS: (adj) outgoing, unique, occasional.

soldiers: (n) military, troop, force, the military, troops, defense force, military service, militia, soldiery, Territorial Army, armed forces.

if this was the true form, then the others were false; and of the false forms, you said, as I remember, that there were four principal ones, and that their defects, and the defects of the individuals corresponding to them, were worth **examining**. When we had seen all the individuals, and finally agreed as to who was the best and who was the **worst** of them, we were to consider whether the best was not also the happiest, and the worst the most miserable. I asked you what were the four forms of government of which you **spoke**, and then Polemarchus and Adeimantus put in their word; and you began again, and have found your way to the point at which we have now arrived.

Your recollection, I said, is most exact.

Then, like a wrestler, he replied, you must put yourself again in the same position; and let me ask the same questions, and do you give me the same answer which you were about to give me then.

Yes, if I can, I will, I said.

I shall particularly wish to hear what were the four constitutions of which you were speaking.

That question, I said, is easily answered: the four governments of which I spoke, so far as they have distinct names, are, first, those of Crete and Sparta, which are generally **applauded**; what is termed oligarchy comes next; this is not equally **approved**, and is a form of government which teems with evils: thirdly, **democracy**, which **naturally** follows oligarchy, although very different: and lastly comes tyranny, great and famous, which differs from them all, and is the fourth and worst disorder of a State. I do not know, do you? of any other constitution which can be said to have a distinct character. There are lordships and principalities which are bought and **sold**, and some other intermediate forms of government. But these are nondescripts and may be found equally among Hellenes and among barbarians.

Yes, he replied, we certainly hear of many curious forms of government which exist among them.

# **Thesaurus**

applauded: (adj) famous, highly praised, commended.
approved: (adj) sanctioned, certified, allowed, authorized, accredited, agreed, regular, conventional, standard, orthodox, official.
ANTONYMS: (adj) informal, disapproved, incorrect, unorthodox.
democracy: (n) nation, commonalty, ideology, state, republic, freedom, oligarchy, demagogy, country, body politic, democraty. ANTONYMS: (n)

totalitarianism, dictatorship, tyranny, autocracy, monarchy, inequality. examine; (v) examine, investigate; (adj) investigative, curious, disquisitive, exploratory, inquiring. naturally: (adv. int) of course; (adv) spontaneously, unaffectedly, natively, openly, essentially, course, by nature, understandably, normally; (adj, adv) innately. ANTONYMS: (adv) artificially, surprisingly, uncharacteristically, pretentiously,

unusually, abnormally, affectedly, shyly.

**sold**: (*adj*) depleted, interested; (*v*) to market.

**spoke**: (*n*) bar, rung, radius, rule, shoe, skid, rundle, line, clog, round; (*v*) said.

worst: (v) whip, trounce, defeat, overcome, vanquish, pip, rack up; (adj, v) best, rout; (adj) floor, lick. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) best; (adj) highest, first, secondary.

Do you know, I said, that governments **vary** as the dispositions of men vary, and that there must be as many of the one as there are of the other? For we cannot suppose that States are made of 'oak and rock,' and not out of the human natures which are in them, and which in a figure turn the scale and draw other things after them?

Yes, he said, the States are as the men are; they grow out of human characters.

Then if the constitutions of States are five, the dispositions of individual minds will also be five?

Certainly.

Him who answers to aristocracy, and whom we rightly call just and good, we have already described.

We have.

Then let us now proceed to describe the inferior sort of natures, being the **contentious** and **ambitious**, who answer to the Spartan polity; also the oligarchical, democratical, and tyrannical. Let us place the most just by the side of the most unjust, and when we see them we shall be able to compare the relative happiness or unhappiness of him who leads a life of pure justice or pure injustice. The enquiry will then be completed. And we shall know whether we ought to pursue injustice, as Thrasymachus advises, or in accordance with the conclusions of the argument to **prefer** justice.

Certainly, he replied, we must do as you say.

Shall we follow our old plan, which we **adopted** with a view to clearness, of taking the State first and then proceeding to the individual, and begin with the government of honour?—I know of no name for such a government other than timocracy, or perhaps timarchy. We will compare with this the like character in the individual; and, after that, consider oligarchy and the oligarchical man; and then again we will turn our attention to democracy and the democratical man; and lastly, we will go and view the city of tyranny, and once more take a look into the tyrant's soul, and try to arrive at a **satisfactory** decision.

# **Thesaurus**

adopted: (adj) adoptive, elected, consecrated, inspired, justified, regenerated, sanctified, unearthly, converted, select, adoptious. ANTONYM: (adj) native. ambitious: (adj) eager, difficult, energetic, competitive, desirous, grandiose, enterprising, pushy, challenging; (adj, v) aspiring, vaulting. ANTONYMS: (adj) fulfilled, undemanding, unambitious, slothful, simple, satisfied, lazy, humble, facile,

easy, content.

contentious: (adj) argumentative,
aggressive, controversial, combative,
belligerent, bellicose, quarrelsome,
litigious, disputatious, pugnacious;
(v) disputable.
prefer: (v) pick, elevate, like, elect, opt,
advance, favor, want, select,

advance, favor, want, select, promote, favour. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, refuse.

**satisfactory**: (adj) adequate, competent, sufficient, good,

acceptable, ample, fair, tolerable, decent, presentable, plenty.

ANTONYMS: (adj) inadequate, unacceptable, poor, appalling, disagreeable, bad, intolerable.

vary: (v) alter, change, modify, diversify, diverge, alternate, deviate, modulate, depart, disagree; (adj, v) differ. ANTONYMS: (v) conform, remain, stay, agree, concur, leave, maintain, standardize, specialize.

That way of viewing and judging of the matter will be very suitable.

First, then, I said, let us enquire how timocracy (the government of honour) arises out of aristocracy (the government of the best). Clearly, all political changes originate in divisions of the actual governing power; a government which is united, however small, cannot be moved.

Very true, he said.

In what way, then, will our city be moved, and in what manner will the two classes of auxiliaries and rulers **disagree** among themselves or with one another? Shall we, after the manner of Homer, pray the Muses to tell us 'how discord first arose'? Shall we imagine them in solemn **mockery**, to play and jest with us as if we were children, and to address us in a lofty tragic **vein**, making believe to be in earnest?

How would they address us?

After this manner: - A city which is thus constituted can hardly be shaken; but, seeing that everything which has a beginning has also an end, even a constitution such as yours will not last for ever, but will in time be dissolved. And this is the dissolution:-In plants that grow in the earth, as well as in animals that move on the earth's surface, fertility and sterility of soul and body occur when the circumferences of the circles of each are completed, which in short-lived existences pass over a short space, and in long-lived ones over a long space. But to the knowledge of human fecundity and sterility all the wisdom and education of your rulers will not attain; the laws which regulate them will not be discovered by an intelligence which is alloyed with sense, but will escape them, and they will bring children into the world when they ought not. Now that which is of divine birth has a period which is contained in a perfect number (i.e. a cyclical number, such as 6, which is equal to the sum of its divisors 1, 2, 3, so that when the circle or time represented by 6 is completed, the lesser times or rotations represented by 1, 2, 3 are also completed.), but the period of human birth is comprehended in a number in which first increments by involution and evolution (or squared and cubed) obtaining three intervals and four terms of like and unlike, waxing and waning numbers, make all the terms commensurable

### **Thesaurus**

alloyed: (adj) blended, false, mixed. disagree: (v) differ, dissent, argue, conflict, squabble, disaccord, diverge, vary, bicker; (n, v) clash, discord. ANTONYMS: (v) consent, match, concur, harmonize, conform. fecundity: (n) fertility, productivity, richness, fruitfulness, prolificacy, productiveness, luxuriance, lushness, creativeness, birthrate; (adj) uberty. ANTONYMS: (n) infertility, sterility. involution: (n, v) convolution; (n)

intricacy, exponentiation, complexity, complication, entanglement, enfolding, operation, degeneration, perplexity; (adj) raveling.

long-lived: (adj) old, perennial, lifelong, inveterate, chronic.

mockery: (n) gibe, jeer, irony, farce, charade, derision, parody, mock, scorn, imitation, burlesque.

ANTONYM: (n) approval.

regulate: (adj, n, v) adjust; (v) manage, control, determine, fix, influence,

govern, modulate, regularize; (*n*, *v*) direct, order. ANTONYMS: (*v*) destabilize, intensify. **short-lived**: (*adj*) ephemeral, momentary, transitory, passing, brief, temporary, fleeting, fugitive, short, little, perishable. **vein**: (*n*) vena, strain, nervure, mine, temporary, blood vessel temporary blood vessel temporary.

temper, blood vessel, tone; (adj, n) mood, humor, strip, frame of mind.

and agreeable to one another. (Probably the numbers 3, 4, 5, 6 of which the three first = the sides of the Pythagorean triangle. The terms will then be 3 cubed, 4 cubed, 5 cubed, which together = 6 cubed = 216.) The base of these (3) with a third added (4) when combined with five (20) and raised to the third power furnishes two harmonies; the first a square which is a hundred times as great ( $400 = 4 \times 100$ ) (Or the first a square which is  $100 \times 100 = 10,000$ . The whole number will then be 17,500 = a square of 100, and an oblong of 100 by 75.), and the other a figure having one side equal to the former, but oblong, consisting of a hundred numbers squared upon rational diameters of a square (i.e. omitting fractions), the side of which is five  $(7 \times 7 = 49 \times 100 = 4900)$ , each of them being less by one (than the perfect square which includes the fractions, sc. 50) or less by (Or, 'consisting of two numbers squared upon irrational diameters,' etc. = 100. For other explanations of the passage see Introduction.) two perfect squares of irrational diameters (of a square the side of which is five = 50 + 50 = 100); and a hundred cubes of three  $(27 \times 100 = 2700 + 4900 + 400 = 8000)$ . Now this number represents a geometrical figure which has control over the good and evil of births. For when your guardians are ignorant of the law of births, and unite bride and bridegroom out of season, the children will not be goodly or fortunate. And though only the best of them will be appointed by their predecessors, still they will be unworthy to hold their fathers' places, and when they come into power as guardians, they will soon be found to fail in taking care of us, the Muses, first by under-valuing music; which neglect will soon extend to gymnastic; and hence the young men of your State will be less cultivated. In the succeeding generation rulers will be appointed who have lost the guardian power of testing the metal of your different races, which, like Hesiod's, are of gold and silver and brass and iron. And so iron will be mingled with silver, and brass with gold, and hence there will arise dissimilarity and inequality and irregularity, which always and in all places are causes of hatred and war. This the Muses affirm to be the stock from which discord has sprung, wherever arising; and this is their answer to us.

Yes, and we may assume that they answer truly.

### **Thesaurus**

arising: (n) emanation.
bride: (n) fiance, Bridget, Brigid, saint
Brigid, saint Bridget, honeymooner,
prioress, newlywed, participant,
wife, bridegroom. ANTONYMS: (n)
bridegroom, groom.
dissimilarity: (n) disparity, difference,
disagreement, unlikeness,
dissimilitude, diversity, divergence,
divarication, contrast, distinction,
inequality. ANTONYMS: (n)

similarity, equivalence, agreement,

likeness, resemblance, accordance, conformity, affinity, equality. inequality: (n) disparity, disproportion, difference, injustice, variance, variation, imbalance, discrepancy, inequity; (adj) odds; (n, v) dissimilitude. ANTONYMS: (n) justice, parity. irregularity: (n) abnormality, anomaly,

**irregularity**: (*n*) abnormality, anomaly eccentricity, inequality, deviation, aberration, constipation, exception, unevenness, variation; (*adi*, *n*)

deformity. ANTONYMS: (n) symmetry, normality, regularity, dependability, equality, frequency, evenness, consistency, predictability, smoothness.

races: (n) racing, athletics. succeeding: (adj) following, subsequent, after, consecutive, posterior, ensuing, consequent, successive, consequential; (adj, adv) later; (v) succeed. ANTONYMS: (adj) outgoing, preceding. Why, yes, I said, of course they answer truly; how can the Muses speak falsely?

And what do the Muses say next?

When discord arose, then the two races were drawn different ways: the iron and brass fell to **acquiring** money and land and houses and gold and silver; but the gold and silver races, not wanting money but having the true riches in their own nature, inclined towards virtue and the ancient order of things. There was a battle between them, and at last they agreed to **distribute** their land and houses among individual owners; and they enslaved their friends and maintainers, whom they had **formerly protected** in the condition of freemen, and made of them subjects and servants; and they themselves were engaged in war and in keeping a watch against them.

I believe that you have rightly conceived the origin of the change.

And the new government which thus arises will be of a form intermediate between oligarchy and aristocracy?

Very true.

Such will be the change, and after the change has been made, how will they proceed? Clearly, the new State, being in a mean between oligarchy and the perfect State, will partly follow one and partly the other, and will also have some peculiarities.

True, he said.

In the honour given to rulers, in the **abstinence** of the warrior class from agriculture, handicrafts, and trade in general, in the institution of common meals, and in the attention paid to gymnastics and military training—in all these respects this State will resemble the former.

True.

But in the fear of admitting philosophers to power, because they are no longer to be had simple and earnest, but are made up of mixed elements; and in turning from them to passionate and less complex **characters**, who are by nature

### **Thesaurus**

abstinence: (n) temperance, abstention, forbearance, sobriety, chastity, soberness, celibacy, teetotalism, fast, abstinency, restraint. ANTONYMS: (n) excess, intoxication, revelry, intemperance, drunkenness, dissipation, extravagance, wantonness.

acquiring: (n) acquisition, getting, receipt, contracting, acceptance.

acquiring: (n) acquisition, getting, receipt, contracting, acceptance, appropriation, obtainment, occupancy, occupation; (adj)

acquisitive, appropriative. **characters**: (n) letters, typescript, typeset, symbols, script, lettering, inscription, handwriting, font, cast, writing.

distribute: (v) apportion, allot, dispense, disperse, administer, disseminate, assign, diffuse, deal out, circulate; (n, v) deal. ANTONYMS: (v) amass, collect, gather, hoard, store, hold, garner, disorder, disarray, declassify, keep.

formerly: (adv) already, previously, earlier, lately, originally, anciently, aforetime, first, erstwhile, at one time, once. ANTONYMS: (adv) afterward, lastly, later, now. protected: (adj) guarded, immune, secured, sheltered, saved, covered, shielded, obtected, cosseted; (v) protect, private. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, harsh, insecure, exposed, susceptible.

fitted for war rather than peace; and in the value set by them upon military stratagems and contrivances, and in the waging of everlasting wars—this State will be for the most part peculiar.

Yes.

Yes, I said; and men of this stamp will be covetous of money, like those who live in oligarchies; they will have, a fierce secret longing after gold and silver, which they will hoard in dark places, having magazines and **treasuries** of their own for the deposit and concealment of them; also castles which are just nests for their eggs, and in which they will spend large sums on their wives, or on any others whom they please.

That is most true, he said.

And they are miserly because they have no means of **openly** acquiring the money which they prize; they will spend that which is another man's on the **gratification** of their desires, stealing their pleasures and running away like children from the law, their father: they have been **schooled** not by gentle influences but by force, for they have neglected her who is the true Muse, the companion of reason and philosophy, and have honoured gymnastic more than music.

Undoubtedly, he said, the form of government which you describe is a mixture of good and evil.

Why, there is a mixture, I said; but one thing, and one thing only, is **predominantly** seen,—the spirit of contention and ambition; and these are due to the **prevalence** of the passionate or spirited element.

Assuredly, he said.

Such is the origin and such the character of this State, which has been described in outline only; the more perfect execution was not required, for a sketch is enough to show the type of the most perfectly just and most perfectly unjust; and to go through all the States and all the characters of men, omitting none of them, would be an **interminable** labour.

Very true, he replied.

### **Thesaurus**

gratification: (adj, n) delight; (n, v) content; (n) enjoyment, pleasure, satisfaction, fruition, complacency, joy, luxury, treat, fulfillment. ANTONYMS: (n) dissatisfaction, disenchantment, dismay, discontent, anxiety.

interminable: (adj) endless, eternal, incessant, infinite, illimitable, immeasurable, unending, ceaseless, timeless, continual, unlimited.

ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, finite,

intermittent, sporadic, concise.

openly: (adv) frankly, publicly, clearly, candidly, directly, straightforwardly, evidently, publically, plainly, outspokenly; (adj, adv) manifestly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) furtively, secretively, clandestinely, mysteriously, ambiguously, reticently, covertly, discreetly, affectedly, craftily, deceitfully.

predominantly: (adv) chiefly, mainly, largely, primarily, preponderantly,

mostly, prevailingly, superiorly, prevalently, predominately, generally.

prevalence: (n) preponderance, domination, advantage, ascendency, dominance, superiority, frequency, predominance, ascendancy, excellence, currency. schooled: (adi) instructed, tutored,

expert, sophisticated, full-fledged, taught, scholarly.

treasuries: (n) treasury bonds.

Now what man answers to this form of government-how did he come into being, and what is he like?

I think, said Adeimantus, that in the spirit of contention which characterises him, he is not unlike our friend Glaucon.

Perhaps, I said, he may be like him in that one point; but there are other respects in which he is very different.

In what respects?

He should have more of self-assertion and be less cultivated, and yet a friend of culture; and he should be a good **listener**, but no speaker. Such a person is apt to be rough with slaves, unlike the educated man, who is too proud for that; and he will also be **courteous** to freemen, and **remarkably** obedient to authority; he is a lover of power and a lover of honour; **claiming** to be a ruler, not because he is **eloquent**, or on any ground of that sort, but because he is a soldier and has performed feats of arms; he is also a lover of gymnastic exercises and of the **chase**.

Yes, that is the type of character which answers to timocracy.

Such an one will despise riches only when he is young; but as he gets older he will be more and more attracted to them, because he has a piece of the avaricious nature in him, and is not **single**-minded towards virtue, having lost his best guardian.

Who was that? said Adeimantus.

Philosophy, I said, tempered with music, who comes and takes up her abode in a man, and is the only saviour of his virtue throughout life.

Good, he said.

Such, I said, is the timocratical youth, and he is like the timocratical State.

Exactly.

His origin is as follows:—He is often the young son of a brave father, who dwells in an ill-governed city, of which he declines the honours and offices, and

### **Thesaurus**

chase: (v) pursue, trail, follow, track, stalk, expel, banish, go after; (n, v) hunt, search; (n) game. ANTONYMS: (v) escape, lead, find, precede. claiming: (adj) pressing. courteous: (adj, v) civil; (adj) affable, attentive, gracious, decorous, chivalrous, bland, thoughtful, urbane, mannerly, gentlemanly. ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, impolite, boorish, insulting, unmannerly, gruff, improper, vulgar, unhelpful,

neglectful, graceless. eloquent: (adj) glib, fluent, persuasive, expressive, meaningful, significant, graphic, vivid, speaking, forcible, moving. ANTONYMS: (adj) incoherent, innocent, straightforward, weak. listener: (n, v) auditor; (n) eavesdropper, audience, observer, perceiver, hearkener, attender, attendee, attendant, beholder. remarkably: (adj, adv) outstandingly,

markedly, conspicuously, particularly, prominently; (adv) signally, uncommonly, surprisingly, extremely, wonderfully, curiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) normally, slightly, poorly, unexceptionally. single-minded: (adj) honest, unyielding, unwavering, uncompromising, unbending, stubborn, steady, steadfast, rigid, relentless, purposeful.

will not go to law, or exert himself in any way, but is ready to **waive** his rights in order that he may escape trouble.

And how does the son come into being?

The character of the son begins to develope when he hears his mother complaining that her husband has no place in the government, of which the consequence is that she has no precedence among other women. Further, when she sees her husband not very eager about money, and instead of **battling** and **railing** in the law courts or assembly, taking whatever happens to him quietly; and when she observes that his thoughts always centre in himself, while he treats her with very considerable indifference, she is annoyed, and says to her son that his father is only half a man and far too **easy**-going: adding all the other complaints about her own **ill**-treatment which women are so fond of rehearsing.

Yes, said Adeimantus, they give us plenty of them, and their complaints are so like themselves.

And you know, I said, that the old servants also, who are supposed to be attached to the family, from time to time talk privately in the same strain to the son; and if they see any one who owes money to his father, or is wronging him in any way, and he fails to **prosecute** them, they tell the youth that when he grows up he must retaliate upon people of this sort, and be more of a man than his father. He has only to walk abroad and he hears and sees the same sort of thing: those who do their own business in the city are called simpletons, and held in no esteem, while the busy-bodies are honoured and applauded. The result is that the young man, hearing and seeing all these things-hearing, too, the words of his father, and having a nearer view of his way of life, and making comparisons of him and others—is drawn opposite ways: while his father is watering and **nourishing** the rational principle in his soul, the others are encouraging the passionate and appetitive; and he being not originally of a bad nature, but having kept bad company, is at last brought by their joint influence to a middle point, and gives up the kingdom which is within him to the middle principle of contentiousness and passion, and becomes arrogant and ambitious.

You seem to me to have described his origin perfectly.

### Thesaurus

**battling**: (adj) belligerent, opposed, rival.

**contentiousness**: (*n*) aggressiveness, belligerence, truculency, belligerency, truculence, aggression,

quarrelsomeness.

easy-going: (adj) carefree, indulgent, easygoing, tranquil, tolerant, slack, lax, tender, amiable, breezy, unsociable.

ill-treatment: (n) hurt.

nourishing: (adj) alimentary, healthy,

nutrient, healthful, wholesome, rich, nutritive, hearty, alimental, good, beneficial. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhealthy, unwholesome, meager, insufficient.

**prosecute**: (v) pursue, persecute, follow, chase, engage, indict, litigate, drive, execute, accuse; (n, v) sue. ANTONYM: (v) pardon.

antonym: (v) pardon.

railing: (n) balustrade, rail, barrier,
guardrail, banister, fence, pale,
paling, breastwork, handrail; (adj, n)

nvective.

waive: (v) forgo, relinquish, dispense with, resign, surrender, forfeit, give up, abandon, spare, abdicate, release. ANTONYM: (v) enforce.

watering: (n) tearing, sprinkle, lachrymation, lacrimation, wetting, irrigation, bodily process, body process, replenishment of water supplies, shedding tears, activity. wronging: (n) tribulation. Then we have now, I said, the second form of government and the second type of character?

We have.

Next, let us look at another man who, as Aeschylus says,

Is set over against another State;

or rather, as our plan requires, begin with the State.

By all means.

I believe that oligarchy follows next in order.

And what manner of government do you term oligarchy?

A government resting on a **valuation** of property, in which the rich have power and the poor man is deprived of it.

I understand, he replied.

**Ought** I not to begin by describing how the change from timocracy to oligarchy arises?

Yes.

Well, I said, no eyes are required in order to see how the one passes into the other.

How?

The accumulation of **gold** in the **treasury** of private individuals is the ruin of timocracy; they invent **illegal** modes of expenditure; for what do they or their wives care about the law?

Yes, indeed.

And then one, seeing another **grow** rich, seeks to rival him, and thus the great **mass** of the citizens become lovers of money.

Likely enough.

### **Thesaurus**

gold: (n) Au, money, riches, wealth, bullion, treasure, yellow, amber; (adj) aureate, gilt, golden.
grow: (v) expand, advance, augment, enlarge, come, emerge, spring, become, farm, turn, get.
ANTONYMS: (v) decrease, weaken, shrink, decline, drop, collapse, struggle, wane, plummet, dwindle, deteriorate.
illegal: (adi) criminal, prohibited,

**illegal**: (adj) criminal, prohibited, unlawful, forbidden, illegitimate,

illicit, lawless, taboo; (n) illegality, unlawfulness; (adj, pron) unauthorized. ANTONYMS: (adj) lawful, legitimate, official, honest, rightful, open, permissible, right. mass: (adj, n) bulk, lump, block; (n, v) flock, crowd, cluster, pile, bunch; (n) magnitude, collection, majority. ANTONYMS: (n) lightness, few; (v) disperse. ought: (n, v) need; (v) had better,

**ought**: (*n*, *v*) need; (*v*) had better, should, have, possessed, owned,

owed, behoove; (n) aught, zero, duty. treasury: (n) storehouse, exchequer, bursary, repository, finances, treasure, thesaurus, depository, Treasury warrant, subtreasury, treasury department.

**valuation**: (*n*) appraisal, evaluation, assessment, appraisement, appreciation, rating, measurement, worth; (*n*, *v*) estimate, price, prize.

And so they grow richer and richer, and the more they think of making a fortune the less they think of virtue; for when riches and virtue are placed together in the **scales** of the balance, the one always rises as the other falls.

True.

And in proportion as riches and rich men are honoured in the State, virtue and the virtuous are dishonoured.

Clearly.

And what is honoured is cultivated, and that which has no honour is neglected.

That is obvious.

And so at last, instead of loving contention and **glory**, men become lovers of trade and **money**; they honour and look up to the rich man, and make a ruler of him, and dishonour the poor man.

They do so.

They next proceed to make a law which fixes a sum of money as the **qualification** of **citizenship**; the sum is higher in one place and lower in another, as the oligarchy is more or less exclusive; and they allow no one whose property falls below the amount fixed to have any share in the government. These changes in the constitution they effect by force of arms, if **intimidation** has not already done their work.

Very true.

And this, speaking generally, is the way in which oligarchy is established.

Yes, he said; but what are the characteristics of this form of government, and what are the defects of which we were speaking?

First of all, I said, consider the nature of the qualification. Just think what would happen if pilots were to be chosen according to their property, and a poor man were refused **permission** to **steer**, even though he were a better pilot?

You mean that they would shipwreck?

Yes; and is not this true of the government of anything?

# citizenship: (n) demeanor, demeanour, position, status, conduct, deportment, rights, freedom, behavior, behaviour. glory: (n) celebrity, brightness, honor, distinction, glorification, eclat, dignity; (n, v) halo, pride; (v) exult, boast. ANTONYMS: (v) blasphemy, lament, profanity; (n) dishonor, disrepute, ugliness, blame, criticism. intimidation: (n) menace, coercion, threat, duress, abuse, deterrence,

determent, pressure, compulsion, terror; (adj) Reign of Terror.

money: (n) currency, capital, kale, funds, means, lucre, assets, legal tender, pelf, cash, dough.

permission: (n, v) allowance; (n) consent, license, permit, authority, leave, licence, liberty, approval, sanction, assent. ANTONYMS: (n) refusal, ban, veto, intolerance, exclusion.

qualification: (n, v) limitation; (adj, n)

Thesaurus

competence, prerequisite, fitness, preparation, eligibility, degree; (adj) faculty.

scales: (adj) balance, weighbridge; (n) steelyard, mill Scales.

shipwreck: (n, v) ruin; (adj, v) sink; (v) defeat, scuttle, destroy, fail; (n) hulk, accident, wreckage, wrack, ruination.

capability, endowment; (n) provision,

steer: (v) navigate, guide, direct, drive, aim, conduct, maneuver, run, manage; (n, v) lead, point.

I should imagine so.

Except a city? — or would you include a city?

Nay, he said, the case of a city is the strongest of all, inasmuch as the rule of a city is the greatest and most difficult of all.

This, then, will be the first great defect of oligarchy?

Clearly.

And here is another defect which is quite as bad.

What defect?

The **inevitable** division: such a State is not one, but two States, the one of poor, the other of rich men; and they are living on the same spot and always **conspiring** against one another.

That, surely, is at least as bad.

Another **discreditable** feature is, that, for a like reason, they are incapable of **carrying** on any war. Either they arm the multitude, and then they are more afraid of them than of the enemy; or, if they do not call them out in the **hour** of battle, they are oligarchs indeed, few to fight as they are few to rule. And at the same time their **fondness** for money makes them unwilling to pay **taxes**.

How discreditable!

And, as we said before, under such a constitution the same persons have too many callings—they are husbandmen, tradesmen, warriors, all in one. Does that look well?

Anything but well.

There is another evil which is, perhaps, the greatest of all, and to which this State first begins to be **liable**.

What evil?

A man may sell all that he has, and another may acquire his property; yet after the sale he may dwell in the city of which he is no longer a part, being

### **Thesaurus**

carriage, transportation, haulage, hauling, shipping; (adj) bearing, gerent; (v) convey, bring. conspiring: (adj) conspirant, designing. discreditable: (adj, n) disgraceful; (adj) dishonourable, scandalous, reprehensible, outrageous, ignoble, humiliating, base, reproachful. fondness: (n) affection, attachment,

carrying: (n) transport, conveyance,

love, taste, regard, appetite, tenderness, partiality, endearment, liking, relish. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion, indifference, neglect, antipathy, detachment, hatred. hour: (n) clock, o'clock, hours, time, hr, term, nonce, moment, occasion, dawn, dusk.

inevitable: (adj) ineluctable, unavoidable, inescapable, destined, fatal, fated, necessary, obvious, irrevocable, irresistible; (n) ineluctability. ANTONYMS: (adj) evitable, avoidable, optional, preventable, unpredictable, unlikely; (adv) surprisingly.

**liable**: (*adj*) answerable, accountable, disposed, apt, responsible, inclined, exposed, likely, subject, culpable, vulnerable. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) unwilling, innocent, unlikely, disinclined, impervious. **taxes**: (*n*) toll, monies, levy, excise, dues.

neither trader, nor artisan, nor horseman, nor hoplite, but only a poor, **helpless** creature.

Yes, that is an evil which also first begins in this State.

The evil is certainly not prevented there; for oligarchies have both the extremes of great wealth and utter poverty.

True.

But think again: In his wealthy days, while he was spending his money, was a man of this sort a **whit** more good to the State for the purposes of citizenship? Or did he only seem to be a member of the ruling body, although in truth he was neither ruler nor subject, but just a **spendthrift**?

As you say, he seemed to be a ruler, but was only a spendthrift.

May we not say that this is the drone in the house who is like the drone in the **honeycomb**, and that the one is the **plague** of the city as the other is of the hive?

Just so, Socrates.

And God has made the flying drones, Adeimantus, all without stings, whereas of the walking drones he has made some without stings but others have dreadful stings; of the stingless class are those who in their old age end as paupers; of the stingers come all the criminal class, as they are termed.

Most true, he said.

Clearly then, whenever you see paupers in a State, somewhere in that **neighborhood** there are hidden away thieves, and cut-purses and robbers of temples, and all sorts of malefactors.

Clearly.

Well, I said, and in oligarchical States do you not find paupers?

Yes, he said; nearly everybody is a pauper who is not a ruler.

And may we be so bold as to affirm that there are also many criminals to be found in them, rogues who have stings, and whom the authorities are careful to **restrain** by force?

### **Thesaurus**

helpless: (adj, v) forlorn, destitute, abandoned; (adj) powerless, weak, defenseless, disabled, impotent, feeble, hopeless, unable.

ANTONYMS: (adj) strong, independent, capable, invulnerable, armed, powerful, impervious. honeycomb: (n) beehive, honeycomb cracking, chaser, Combe, currycomb; (v) perforate, penetrate, vary, riddle; (adj) honeycombed, alveolate.

neighborhood: (n) vicinity, district,

area, community, locality, place, quarter, environs, section; (adj) neighboring, local.

plague: (v) molest, harass, afflict, hassle, annoy, badger, pester, disturb, beleaguer; (n, v) worry; (adj, n, v) bother. ANTONYM: (v) comfort.

restrain: (adj, v) confine; (v) control, rein, hold, curb, bind, contain, prevent, limit, repress; (n, v) check.

ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, promote, unleash, impel, release,

intensify, increase, free, extend, express, support.

spendthrift: (adj, n, v) prodigal; (adj) profligate, extravagant, lavish, wasteful, improvident, thriftless, dissipated; (n) spender, scattergood; (v) waster. ANTONYMS: (adj) thrifty, parsimonious, economical, sensible; (n) miser, scrooge, skinflint.

whit: (n) iota, atom, shred, scintilla, smidgen, tittle, jot, bit, particle, smidgin; (adj) dab.

Certainly, we may be so bold.

The existence of such persons is to be attributed to want of education, ill-training, and an evil constitution of the State?

True.

Such, then, is the form and such are the evils of oligarchy; and there may be many other evils.

Very likely.

Then oligarchy, or the form of government in which the rulers are elected for their wealth, may now be dismissed. Let us next proceed to consider the nature and origin of the individual who answers to this State.

By all means.

Does not the timocratical man change into the oligarchical on this wise?

How?

A time arrives when the representative of timocracy has a son: at first he begins by **emulating** his father and walking in his **footsteps**, but presently he sees him of a sudden **foundering** against the State as upon a **sunken reef**, and he and all that he has is lost; he may have been a general or some other high officer who is brought to trial under a prejudice raised by informers, and either put to death, or **exiled**, or deprived of the privileges of a citizen, and all his property taken from him.

Nothing more likely.

And the son has seen and known all this—he is a ruined man, and his fear has taught him to knock ambition and passion **headforemost** from his bosom's **throne**; humbled by poverty he takes to **money**-making and by mean and miserly savings and hard work gets a fortune together. Is not such an one likely to seat the concupiscent and covetous element on the **vacant** throne and to suffer it to play the great king within him, **girt** with **tiara** and chain and **scimitar**?

Most true, he replied.

### **Thesaurus**

emulating: (adj) rival. exiled: (adj) alien, homeless, distant, excluded. footsteps: (n) road, footprints, way, trail, path, track, footpath. foundering: (n) going under. girt: (n, v) girth, girdle; (v) gird, begird, encircle, environ; (n) band, belt, zone, cingle; (adj) braced. headforemost: (adv) a corps perdu, headfirst, post haste. money-making: (adj) economic, lucrative, profitable, worthwhile.
reef: (v) furl, rive; (n) rock, eyot, ait,
island, isle, islet, cliff, bank, shelf.
scimitar: (n) sabre, cutlass, falchion,
sword, broadsword, cavalry sword,
knife, scimiter.

sunken: (adj) concave, depressed, submerged, empty, underwater, cavernous, recessed, gaunt, low, depression, submarine. ANTONYM: (adj) convex.

**throne**: (v) enthrone; (n) can, stool,

place, fecal matter, potty, chair, cathedra, lavatory, crapper, pot. tiara: (n) crown, coronet, circlet, miter, triple crown, cap of maintenance, jewelled headdress, jewelry, tiar. vacant: (adj) blank, hollow, unfilled, void, free, unoccupied, bare, idle, expressionless, open; (adj, v) devoid. ANTONYMS: (adj) full, cognizant, overflowing, inhabited, aware, comprehending, animated, solid, expressive, knowing.

And when he has made reason and spirit sit down on the ground **obediently** on either side of their sovereign, and taught them to know their place, he compels the one to think only of how lesser sums may be turned into larger ones, and will not allow the other to worship and admire anything but riches and rich men, or to be ambitious of anything so much as the acquisition of wealth and the means of acquiring it.

Of all changes, he said, there is none so speedy or so sure as the conversion of the ambitious youth into the avaricious one.

And the avaricious, I said, is the oligarchical youth?

Yes, he said; at any rate the individual out of whom he came is like the State out of which oligarchy came.

Let us then consider whether there is any likeness between them.

Very good.

First, then, they resemble one another in the value which they set upon wealth?

Certainly.

Also in their **penurious**, laborious character; the individual only satisfies his necessary appetites, and **confines** his expenditure to them; his other desires he subdues, under the idea that they are **unprofitable**.

True.

He is a **shabby** fellow, who saves something out of everything and makes a **purse** for himself; and this is the sort of man whom the vulgar **applaud**. Is he not a true image of the State which he represents?

He appears to me to be so; at any rate money is highly valued by him as well as by the State.

You see that he is not a man of cultivation, I said.

I imagine not, he said; had he been educated he would never have made a blind god director of his chorus, or given him chief honour.

### **Thesaurus**

applaud: (v) praise, eulogize, cheer, extol, hail, admire, clap, commend, approve, compliment, exalt.
ANTONYMS: (v) criticize, disparage, lament, hiss, censure, commiserate, condemn.

confines: (*n*) boundary, bound, barrier, compass, limit, limits, range, frontier; (*adj*) environs, alentours; (*adj*, *n*) neighborhood.

**obediently**: (*adv*) dutifully, yieldingly, compliantly, meekly, acquiescently,

respectfully, tamely, subserviently, passively, loyally, devotedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) defiantly, assertively, wildly.

penurious: (adj) mean, stingy, penniless, impecunious, miserly, close, needy, illiberal, closefisted; (adj, v) avaricious, niggardly.

neat, comfortable, tasteful, strong, respectful.

unprofitable: (adj) profitless, fruitless, futile, inutile, disadvantageous,

purse: (n) bag, pouch, money, handbag, sac, currency, pocketbook, pelf; (v) wrinkle, pucker, crease. shabby: (adj) poor, abject, mean, mangy, low, sorry, decrepit, worn, sordid, ragged; (adj, v) frayed. ANTONYMS: (adj) pristine, elegant, opulent, honorable, decent, new, neat, comfortable, tasteful, strong, respectful.

unprofitable: (adj) profitless, fruitless, futile, inutile, disadvantageous, unfruitful, barren, idle, vain, uneconomic, unproductive.

ANTONYMS: (adj) fruitful, lucrative.

Excellent! I said. Yet consider: Must we not further admit that owing to this want of cultivation there will be found in him dronelike desires as of pauper and rogue, which are **forcibly** kept down by his general habit of life?

True.

Do you know where you will have to look if you want to discover his rogueries?

Where must I look?

You should see him where he has some great opportunity of acting dishonestly, as in the guardianship of an orphan.

Aye.

It will be clear enough then that in his ordinary dealings which give him a reputation for honesty he coerces his bad passions by an enforced virtue; not making them see that they are wrong, or taming them by reason, but by necessity and fear constraining them, and because he trembles for his possessions.

To be sure.

Yes, indeed, my dear friend, but you will find that the natural desires of the drone commonly exist in him all the same whenever he has to spend what is not his own.

Yes, and they will be strong in him too.

The man, then, will be at war with himself; he will be two men, and not one; but, in general, his better desires will be found to prevail over his inferior ones.

True.

For these reasons such an one will be more respectable than most people; yet the true virtue of a unanimous and harmonious soul will flee far away and never come near him.

I should expect so.

And surely, the **miser** individually will be an ignoble competitor in a State for any prize of victory, or other object of honourable ambition; he will not spend his

Thesaurus

### dishonestly: (adv) deceitfully, fraudulently, deceptively, faithlessly, unfairly, treacherously, corruptly, roguishly, disingenuously, misleadingly, insincerely. ANTONYMS: (adv) honestly, sincerely, frankly, morally, legally, legitimately, lawfully, genuinely, rightly. **forcibly**: (adv) forcefully, emphatically, powerfully, by force, mightily, under taming: (n) conditioning, training,

protest, cogently, hard, strongly,

convincingly, clearly. ANTONYMS: (adv) voluntarily, weakly, gently. guardianship: (n) custody, care, charge, keeping, safekeeping, tutelage, conservation, protection, wardship; (adj, n) ward; (adj) guard. miser: (n) stinginess, curmudgeon, hunks, muckworm, niggard, skinflint, cheapskate, parsimony, moneygrubber, Jew, miserliness. breaking in; (adj) calming,

humanizing. trembles: (n) animal disease, nervousness. unanimous: (adj) consentaneous, harmonious, consentient, strong, firm, of one mind, concordant, accordant, compact, collective, cubic. ANTONYMS: (adj) narrow, individual.

money in the contest for glory; so afraid is he of awakening his expensive appetites and inviting them to help and join in the struggle; in true oligarchical fashion he fights with a small part only of his resources, and the result commonly is that he loses the prize and saves his money.

Very true.

Can we any longer doubt, then, that the miser and money-maker answers to the oligarchical State?

There can be no doubt.

Next comes democracy; of this the **origin** and nature have still to be considered by us; and then we will enquire into the ways of the democratic man, and bring him up for judgment.

That, he said, is our method.

Well, I said, and how does the change from oligarchy into democracy arise? Is it not on this wise?—The good at which such a State aims is to become as rich as possible, a desire which is insatiable?

What then?

The rulers, being aware that their power rests upon their wealth, refuse to **curtail** by law the extravagance of the spendthrift youth because they gain by their ruin; they take interest from them and buy up their estates and thus increase their own wealth and importance?

To be sure.

There can be no doubt that the love of wealth and the spirit of moderation cannot exist together in citizens of the same state to any considerable extent; one or the other will be disregarded.

That is **tolerably** clear.

And in oligarchical States, from the general spread of **carelessness** and extravagance, men of good family have often been reduced to **beggary**?

Yes, often.

### **Thesaurus**

**beggary**: (*n*) poverty, want, begging, penury, pauperism, need, indigence, solicitation, misery, squalor, destitution.

carelessness: (n) negligence, inattention, indifference, nonchalance, thoughtlessness, abandon, incaution, disregard, omission, forgetfulness, dereliction. ANTONYMS: (n) attention, caution, alertness, vigilance, carefulness, thoughtfulness, assiduousness,

economy, regard, prudence, forethought.

**curtail**: (*adj*, *v*) abridge, shorten; (*v*) condense, clip, abate, crop, curb, cut back, cut short, diminish, trim. ANTONYMS: (*v*) lengthen, increase, expand, prolong, maximize, promote, encourage, accelerate.

origin: (*n*, *v*) lineage; (*n*) birth, beginning, descent, base, source, well, commencement, extraction, derivation, foundation. ANTONYMS: (*n*) demise, conclusion, culmination, effect.

tolerably: (adv) well enough, passably, acceptably, reasonably, enough, moderately, to a tolerable degree, pretty, to an adequate degree; (adj, adv) somewhat; (adj) pretty well. ANTONYMS: (adv) unbearably, intolerably, unacceptably, unreasonably, insufficiently, inadequately.

And still they remain in the city; there they are, ready to sting and fully armed, and some of them owe money, some have **forfeited** their citizenship; a third class are in both predicaments; and they hate and **conspire** against those who have got their property, and against everybody else, and are eager for revolution.

That is true.

On the other hand, the men of business, stooping as they walk, and pretending not even to see those whom they have already ruined, insert their sting—that is, their money—into some one else who is not on his guard against them, and recover the parent sum many times over multiplied into a family of children: and so they make drone and pauper to **abound** in the State.

Yes, he said, there are plenty of them—that is certain.

The evil blazes up like a fire; and they will not extinguish it, either by **restricting** a man's use of his own property, or by another remedy:

What other?

One which is the next best, and has the advantage of compelling the citizens to look to their characters:—Let there be a general rule that every one shall enter into voluntary contracts at his own risk, and there will be less of this **scandalous** money-making, and the evils of which we were speaking will be greatly **lessened** in the State.

Yes, they will be greatly lessened.

At present the governors, induced by the motives which I have named, treat their subjects badly; while they and their **adherents**, especially the young men of the governing class, are habituated to lead a life of luxury and **idleness** both of body and mind; they do nothing, and are incapable of resisting either pleasure or pain.

Very true.

They themselves care only for making money, and are as indifferent as the pauper to the cultivation of virtue.

### abound: (v) swarm, teem, flow, overflow, burst; (n) exuberate, is shower down, stream, rain, abundance; (adj) abundant. ANTONYM: (v) disperse. adherents: (n) followers, following. conspire: (v) concur, complot, connive, plot, plan, cabal, contribute, collaborate, conspiring, intrigue, confederate.

forfeited: (adj) forfeit, lost, disfranchised, confiscated,

### **Thesaurus**

appropriated, condemned. idleness: (n) lethargy, laziness, torpor, inactivity, idling, unemployment, sloth, inaction, inertia, faineance, idlesse. ANTONYMS: (n) energy, activity, bustle, liveliness, responsibility.

**lessened**: (*adj*) diminished, hurt, lower, mitigated, pointed, tapering, vitiated, atrophied, short, attenuate, attenuated.

restricting: (adj) confining,

constrictive, constraining, restrictive, narrowing, close, crowded, clannish, constricting.

scandalous: (adj) infamous, disgraceful, ignominious, outrageous, opprobrious, shocking, disreputable, disgusting, dishonorable; (adj, v) base, foul. ANTONYMS: (adj) proper, seemly, honorable, appealing, complimentary, reputable, admirable. Yes, quite as indifferent.

Such is the state of affairs which prevails among them. And often rulers and their subjects may come in one another's way, whether on a journey or on some other occasion of meeting, on a **pilgrimage** or a march, as fellow-soldiers or fellow-sailors; aye and they may observe the behaviour of each other in the very moment of danger—for where danger is, there is no fear that the poor will be despised by the rich—and very likely the wiry **sunburnt** poor man may be placed in battle at the side of a **wealthy** one who has never spoilt his **complexion** and has plenty of superfluous flesh—when he sees such an one puffing and at his wits'-end, how can he avoid drawing the conclusion that men like him are only rich because no one has the courage to **despoil** them? And when they meet in private will not people be saying to one another 'Our warriors are not good for much'?

Yes, he said, I am quite aware that this is their way of talking.

And, as in a body which is diseased the addition of a touch from without may bring on illness, and sometimes even when there is no external provocation a **commotion** may arise within—in the same way wherever there is weakness in the State there is also likely to be illness, of which the occasion may be very slight, the one party introducing from without their oligarchical, the other their democratical allies, and then the State falls sick, and is at war with herself; and may be at times distracted, even when there is no external cause.

Yes, surely.

And then democracy comes into being after the poor have conquered their opponents, slaughtering some and banishing some, while to the remainder they give an equal share of freedom and power; and this is the form of government in which the magistrates are commonly elected by lot.

Yes, he said, that is the nature of democracy, whether the **revolution** has been effected by arms, or whether fear has caused the opposite party to **withdraw**.

And now what is their manner of life, and what sort of a government have they? for as the government is, such will be the man.

### commotion: (n) tumult, ado, disturbance, turmoil, stir, din, flurry, fuss, bedlam, tempest; (n, v) agitation. ANTONYMS: (n) peace, order, calm, serenity, calmness, stillness, quiet, tranquility, inactivity. complexion: (n, v) tint; (n) cast, character, appearance, look, hue, aspect, flush, glow, dve, fashion.

complexion: (*n*, *v*) tint; (*n*) cast, character, appearance, look, hue, aspect, flush, glow, dye, fashion. despoil: (*v*) plunder, deprive, pillage, loot, ransack, sack, rifle, desecrate, strip, ravage; (*adj*, *v*) spoil.

### **Thesaurus**

ANTONYMS: (*v*) consecrate, construct, improve, build, beautify, conserve.

**pilgrimage**: (*n*, *v*) expedition, excursion; (*v*) trip, tour, peregrination, ramble, discursion, circuit; (*n*) hajj, haj, career. **revolution**: (*n*) change, rotation, turn,

revolution: (*n*) change, rotation, turn, gyration, insurrection, mutiny, rebellion, revolt, alteration, cycle; (*n*, *v*) circuit.

sunburnt: (adj) brown, burnt, gloomy,

fiery, sallow, adust.

wealthy: (adj, adv) moneyed; (adj)

flush, opulent, affluent, prosperous,
loaded substantial generous ample

loaded, substantial, generous, ample, abundant, abounding. ANTONYMS: (adj) poor, impoverished, needy. withdraw: (v) retire, remove, retract, retreat, abandon, pull out, disengage, draw, cancel, leave, recede. ANTONYMS: (v) propose, give,

advance, extend, offer, deposit, remain, engage, allow, permit, stay.

Clearly, he said.

In the first place, are they not free; and is not the city full of freedom and frankness—a man may say and do what he likes?

'Tis said so, he replied.

And where freedom is, the individual is clearly able to order for himself his own life as he pleases?

Clearly.

Then in this kind of State there will be the greatest variety of human natures? There will.

This, then, seems likely to be the fairest of States, being like an embroidered robe which is spangled with every sort of **flower**. And just as women and children think a variety of **colours** to be of all things most **charming**, so there are many men to whom this State, which is spangled with the manners and characters of mankind, will appear to be the fairest of States.

Yes.

Yes, my good Sir, and there will be no better in which to look for a government.

Why?

Because of the **liberty** which reigns there—they have a complete **assortment** of constitutions; and he who has a mind to establish a State, as we have been doing, must go to a democracy as he would to a bazaar at which they sell them, and pick out the one that suits him; then, when he has made his choice, he may found his State.

He will be sure to have patterns enough.

And there being no necessity, I said, for you to govern in this State, even if you have the **capacity**, or to be governed, unless you like, or go to war when the rest go to war, or to be at peace when others are at peace, unless you are so disposed—there being no necessity also, because some law forbids you to hold

### **Thesaurus**

assortment: (n) set, variety, miscellany, group, selection, collection, categorization, diversity, mixture, mixed bag, category. ANTONYMS: (n) sameness, monotony, likeness.

capacity: (adj, n) capability, talent, endowment; (n) aptitude, capacitance, function, intelligence, dimension, authority, faculty; (n, v) might. ANTONYMS: (n) incapability, incapableness, incapacity,

incompetence. charming: (adj) beautiful, lovely, captivating, winning, attractive, enchanting, delightful, pleasing, nice, magic, cute. ANTONYMS: (adj) repellent, unpleasant, unappealing, repulsive, charmless, disgusting, gross, irritating, offensive, uninteresting, annoying. colours: (n) banner, ensign, emblem, colour, colouring, standard, flag, color, tone.

flower: (n, v) blossom, blow; (v) effloresce, flourish; (adj, n) prime; (n) efflorescence, elite, cream, bouquet, floret, florescence. ANTONYMS: (n) residue; (v) wither. liberty: (adj, n) freedom, franchise; (n) license, leave, independence, autonomy, emancipation, latitude, permission, scope, release.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) slavery, domination, constraint, suppression, dependence.

office or be a dicast, that you should not hold office or be a dicast, if you have a fancy—is not this a way of life which for the moment is **supremely delightful**?

For the moment, yes.

And is not their humanity to the condemned in some cases quite charming? Have you not observed how, in a democracy, many persons, although they have been **sentenced** to death or exile, just stay where they are and walk about the world—the gentleman parades like a hero, and nobody sees or cares?

Yes, he replied, many and many a one.

See too, I said, the **forgiving** spirit of democracy, and the 'don't care' about trifles, and the disregard which she shows of all the fine principles which we **solemnly** laid down at the foundation of the city—as when we said that, except in the case of some rarely gifted nature, there never will be a good man who has not from his childhood been used to play amid things of beauty and make of them a joy and a study—how grandly does she **trample** all these fine notions of ours under her feet, never giving a thought to the pursuits which make a statesman, and **promoting** to honour any one who professes to be the people's friend.

Yes, she is of a noble spirit.

These and other kindred characteristics are proper to democracy, which is a charming form of government, full of variety and disorder, and **dispensing** a sort of equality to equals and unequals alike.

We know her well.

Consider now, I said, what manner of man the individual is, or rather consider, as in the case of the State, how he comes into being.

Very good, he said.

Is not this the way—he is the son of the miserly and oligarchical father who has trained him in his own habits?

Exactly.

### **Thesaurus**

delightful: (adj) delicious, delectable, charming, pleasing, grateful, blissful, amiable, adorable, lovely, nice, gorgeous. ANTONYMS: (adj) unpleasant, unwelcome, hateful, miserable, unhappy, unappealing, horrific, horrible, disagreeable, depressing, annoying. dispensing: (n) dispensation, distribution, giving out, supply, administration, dispensary, provision, central weighing.

forgiving: (adj) compassionate, lenient, tolerant, charitable, remissive, humane, kind, magnanimous, generous, merciful, mild. ANTONYMS: (adj) unforgiving, hardhearted, impatient, strict.

promoting: (*n*) promotion, advertising; (*adj*) cultural, featuring. sentenced: (*adj*) doomed, guilty. solemnly: (*adv*) earnestly, gravely, majestically, stately, sternly, staidly, thoughtfully, soberly, formally, ceremoniously, importantly. ANTONYMS: (*adv*) cheerfully, flippantly.

**supremely**: (*adv*) sovereignly, perfectly, preeminently, utmostly, principally, extremely, greatly, paramountly, ideally, uppermostly, ultimately.

**trample**: (*v*) oppress, stamp, squash, crush, tread, flatten, defeat, suppress, step, frustrate; (*n*) trampling.

And, like his father, he keeps under by force the pleasures which are of the **spending** and not of the getting sort, being those which are called **unnecessary**?

Obviously.

Would you like, for the sake of clearness, to distinguish which are the necessary and which are the unnecessary pleasures?

I should.

Are not necessary pleasures those of which we cannot get rid, and of which the **satisfaction** is a benefit to us? And they are rightly called so, because we are framed by nature to desire both what is beneficial and what is necessary, and cannot help it.

True.

We are not wrong therefore in calling them necessary?

We are not.

And the desires of which a man may get rid, if he takes pains from his **youth** upwards—of which the presence, **moreover**, does no good, and in some cases the reverse of good—shall we not be right in saying that all these are unnecessary?

Yes, certainly.

Suppose we select an example of either kind, in order that we may have a general notion of them?

Very good.

Will not the desire of eating, that is, of simple food and condiments, in so far as they are required for health and strength, be of the necessary class?

That is what I should suppose.

The pleasure of eating is necessary in two ways; it does us good and it is essential to the **continuance** of life?

Yes.

But the condiments are only necessary in so far as they are good for health? Certainly.

### **Thesaurus**

continuance: (n) duration, abidance, existence, endurance, protraction, adjournment, resumption, prolongation, time, standing, perseverance. ANTONYMS: (n) discontinuation, destruction. moreover: (adv) again, besides, in addition, further, additionally, into the bargain, beyond, what is more; (adv, n) also; (adj, n) likewise; (adv, conj) and. satisfaction: (n, v) pleasure,

gratification, contentment, content; (n) enjoyment, joy, complacency, amends, reparation, redress, recompense. ANTONYMS: (n) displeasure, discontent, aggravation, sorrow, dismay, anxiety.

spending: (n) expense, outlay, disbursement, outgo, expenses, disbursal, outgoings, expenditures, use, expending, pay. ANTONYMS: (n) income, conservation.
unnecessary: (adi) redundant,

gratuitous, needless, dispensable, surplus, pointless, excessive, excess, undue, spare, useless. ANTONYMS: (adj) reasonable, basic, worthwhile, required, indispensable, helpful, justified, essential, moderate, inevitable.

youth: (n) youngster, young person, lad, juvenile, boy, adolescence, kid, younker, stripling, juvenility; (adj, n) young. ANTONYMS: (n) adulthood, adult, ripeness, maturity, aged.

And the desire which goes beyond this, of more delicate food, or other luxuries, which might generally be got rid of, if controlled and trained in youth, and is hurtful to the body, and hurtful to the soul in the pursuit of wisdom and virtue, may be rightly called unnecessary?

Very true.

May we not say that these desires spend, and that the others make money because they conduce to production?

Certainly.

And of the pleasures of love, and all other pleasures, the same holds good? True.

And the drone of whom we spoke was he who was **surfeited** in pleasures and desires of this sort, and was the slave of the unnecessary desires, whereas he who was subject to the necessary only was miserly and oligarchical?

Very true.

Again, let us see how the democratical man grows out of the oligarchical: the following, as I suspect, is commonly the process.

What is the process?

When a young man who has been brought up as we were just now describing, in a vulgar and miserly way, has tasted drones' honey and has come to associate with fierce and crafty natures who are able to provide for him all sorts of refinements and varieties of pleasure - then, as you may imagine, the change will begin of the oligarchical principle within him into the democratical?

Inevitably.

And as in the city like was **helping** like, and the change was effected by an alliance from without **assisting** one division of the citizens, so too the young man is changed by a class of desires coming from without to assist the desires within him, that which is akin and alike again helping that which is akin and alike?

Certainly.

### Thesaurus

**assist**: (n, v) aid, help, support; (v)abet, serve, contribute, boost, relieve, encourage, to help, facilitate. ANTONYMS: (n, v) impede, oppose; (v) thwart, disrupt, hamper, hurt, stop, worsen, shun; (n) hindrance, counteract.

assisting: (adj) aiding, auxiliary, subsidiary, suffragan, adjuvant, supporting, support, secondary, supplementary, assistant; (n) helping. ANTONYM: (adj) main.

refined, breakable, fragile, beautiful, brittle, soft, nice, frail. ANTONYMS: tough, careless, inaccurate, rough, well, substantial, unscrupulous. fierce: (adj) bitter, acute, cruel,

ferocious, brutal, grim, nasty, intense, ardent; (adj, v) savage, furious. ANTONYMS: (adj) gentle, mild, calm, quiet, tame, docile, weak, peaceful, pleasant.

**delicate**: (adj) accurate, tender, dainty, **helping**: (n) portion, share, plateful, serving, part, quota, drumstick; (adj) auxiliary, assistant, aiding, assisting. (adj) inelegant, robust, heavy, sturdy, honey: (n) dear, love, beloved, nectar, sweetheart, dearest, duck, molasses, sugar, baby; (v) sweeten. surfeited: (adj) full, gorged, perfect, satiate, sick, impaired, overfull, made pregnant, jaded, impregnated, plenteous.

And if there be any ally which aids the oligarchical principle within him, whether the influence of a father or of kindred, advising or rebuking him, then there arises in his soul a faction and an opposite faction, and he goes to war with himself.

It must be so.

And there are times when the democratical principle gives way to the oligarchical, and some of his desires die, and others are banished; a spirit of reverence enters into the young man's soul and order is restored.

Yes, he said, that sometimes happens.

And then, again, after the old desires have been driven out, fresh ones spring up, which are akin to them, and because he their father does not know how to educate them, wax fierce and numerous.

Yes, he said, that is apt to be the way.

They draw him to his old associates, and holding secret intercourse with them, breed and multiply in him.

Very true.

At length they seize upon the citadel of the young man's soul, which they perceive to be void of all accomplishments and fair pursuits and true words, which make their abode in the minds of men who are dear to the gods, and are their best guardians and sentinels.

None better.

False and boastful conceits and phrases mount upwards and take their place.

They are certain to do so.

And so the young man returns into the country of the lotus-eaters, and takes up his dwelling there in the face of all men; and if any help be sent by his friends to the oligarchical part of him, the aforesaid vain conceits shut the gate of the king's fastness; and they will neither allow the embassy itself to enter, nor if private advisers offer the fatherly counsel of the aged will they listen to them or receive them. There is a battle and they gain the day, and then modesty, which

### Thesaurus

accomplishments: (n) benefit, actions, fastness: (n, v) stronghold; (n) fortress, background, Comings and Goings, deeds, events, happenings, activities. aforesaid: (adj) aforenamed, said, foregoing, above-mentioned, same, preceding, former, foresaid. boastful: (adj, v) braggart; (adj) pompous, arrogant, proud, vaunting, thrasonical, vainglorious, vain, ostentatious; (v) Thrasonic; (adj, n) noble. ANTONYMS: (adj) deprecating, humble, insecure.

castle, hardness, fortification, bastion, blockhouse, fort, haste, soundness; (v) hold. fatherly: (adj) fatherlike, loving,

motherly, sisterly, parental, affectionate, benevolent, benign; (adj, seize: (v) catch, capture, grab, arrest, adv) kind; (adv) patriarchal, indulgent. ANTONYM: (adv) motherly.

modesty: (n) reserve, bashfulness, humility, diffidence, humbleness, demureness, coyness, gentleness, continence; (adj, n) decency, honesty. ANTONYMS: (n) arrogance, immodesty, spectacle, flamboyance, abandon, bigheadedness, pretension, decadence, boldness. clutch, get, apprehend, receive, annex, clasp; (n, v) grapple. ANTONYMS: (v) baulk, relinquish,

restore, surrender, give, remove.

they call silliness, is ignominiously thrust into exile by them, and temperance, which they nickname unmanliness, is trampled in the mire and cast forth; they persuade men that moderation and orderly expenditure are vulgarity and meanness, and so, by the help of a rabble of evil appetites, they drive them beyond the border.

Yes, with a will.

And when they have emptied and swept clean the soul of him who is now in their power and who is being initiated by them in great mysteries, the next thing is to bring back to their house insolence and anarchy and waste and impudence in bright array having garlands on their heads, and a great company with them, hymning their praises and calling them by sweet names; insolence they term breeding, and anarchy liberty, and waste magnificence, and impudence courage. And so the young man passes out of his original nature, which was trained in the school of necessity, into the freedom and libertinism of useless and unnecessary pleasures.

Yes, he said, the change in him is visible enough.

After this he lives on, spending his money and labour and time on unnecessary pleasures quite as much as on necessary ones; but if he be fortunate, and is not too much disordered in his wits, when years have elapsed, and the **heyday** of passion is over—supposing that he then re-admits into the city some part of the exiled virtues, and does not wholly give himself up to their successors - in that case he balances his pleasures and lives in a sort of equilibrium, putting the government of himself into the hands of the one which comes first and wins the turn; and when he has had enough of that, then into the hands of another; he despises none of them but encourages them all equally.

Very true, he said.

Neither does he receive or let pass into the fortress any true word of advice; if any one says to him that some pleasures are the satisfactions of good and noble desires, and others of evil desires, and that he ought to use and honour some and

### Thesaurus

anarchy: (n) chaos, confusion, disorder, disarrangement, pandemonium, disturbance, upset, misrule, riot, mess, anarchism. ANTONYMS: (n) organization, rule, lawfulness.

elapsed: (adj) gone, forgotten, lapsed, back, beyond, onwards, over and

blossom, flush, flower, zenith, prime, exultation, period, revelling.

ANTONYM: (n) nadir. ignominiously: (adv) disgracefully, shamefully, discreditably, dishonorably, scandalously, dishonourably, opprobriously, infamously, basely, vilely, foully. libertinism: (n) profligacy, prodigality, debauchery, licentiousness.

heyday: (n) efflorescence, peak, bloom, rabble: (n) crowd, masses, trash, herd, canaille, people, rout, ragtag, horde, gang, riffraff.

silliness: (n) absurdity, foolishness, folly, nonsense, giddiness, fatuousness, fatuity, lunacy, idiocy, inanity, stupidity. ANTONYMS: (n) logic, maturity, wisdom, responsibility, sensibleness. vulgarity: (n) indecency, vulgarism, grossness, inelegance, crudeness, commonness, obscenity, rudeness, crudity, boorishness, indelicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, purity, classiness, civility, taste, decency.

**chastise** and master the others—whenever this is repeated to him he shakes his head and says that they are all alike, and that one is as good as another.

Yes, he said; that is the way with him.

Yes, I said, he lives from day to day indulging the appetite of the hour; and sometimes he is lapped in drink and strains of the flute; then he becomes a water-drinker, and tries to get thin; then he takes a turn at gymnastics; sometimes idling and neglecting everything, then once more living the life of a philosopher; often he is busy with politics, and starts to his feet and says and does whatever comes into his head; and, if he is **emulous** of any one who is a warrior, off he is in that direction, or of men of business, once more in that. His life has neither law nor order; and this distracted existence he terms joy and bliss and freedom; and so he goes on.

Yes, he replied, he is all liberty and equality.

Yes, I said; his life is motley and manifold and an **epitome** of the lives of many;—he answers to the State which we described as fair and spangled. And many a man and many a woman will take him for their pattern, and many a constitution and many an example of manners is **contained** in him.

Just so.

Let him then be set over against democracy; he may truly be called the democratic man.

Let that be his place, he said.

Last of all comes the most beautiful of all, man and State alike, tyranny and the tyrant; these we have now to consider.

Quite true, he said.

Say then, my friend, In what manner does tyranny arise?—that it has a democratic origin is **evident**.

Clearly.

And does not tyranny spring from democracy in the same manner as democracy from oligarchy—I mean, after a sort?

### **Thesaurus**

chastise: (v) castigate, chasten, correct, reprimand, punish, criticize, beat, scold, chew out, flog; (n, v) scourge. ANTONYMS: (v) comfort, bless, commend, promote, reward, encourage.

contained: (adj) implicit, unspoken, unexpressed, latent, understood,

contained: (adj) implicit, unspoken, unexpressed, latent, understood, numbered, inside, confined to a small area, being within, limited to a small area. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrestrained, generalized, pervasive.

chastise: (v) castigate, chasten, correct, reprimand, punish, criticize, beat, scold, chew out, flog; (n, v) scourge.

ANTONYMS: (v) comfort, bless, enitome: (n) abstract, type, resume.

epitome: (n) abstract, type, resume, compendium, model, digest, ideal, conspectus, synopsis, recapitulation; (adj, n) brief.

equality: (n) balance, parity, identity, tie, likeness, sameness, par, evenness, equal, analogy, correspondence. ANTONYMS: (n) inequality, disparity, difference, unfairness,

imbalance, inconsistency, injustice, dissimilarity.

dissimilarity.

evident: (adj) obvious, distinct,
discernible, clear, manifest,
conspicuous, patent, plain,
noticeable, open, certain.

ANTONYMS: (adj) unnoticed,
obscure, concealed, hidden,
inconspicuous, uncertain, unknown,
imperceptible, disputable,
ambiguous, undetectable.

How?

The good which oligarchy proposed to itself and the means by which it was maintained was excess of wealth—am I not right?

And the insatiable desire of wealth and the neglect of all other things for the sake of money-getting was also the ruin of oligarchy?

True.

And democracy has her own good, of which the insatiable desire brings her to dissolution?

What good?

Freedom, I replied; which, as they tell you in a democracy, is the glory of the State—and that therefore in a democracy alone will the freeman of nature deign to dwell.

Yes; the saying is in every body's mouth.

I was going to observe, that the insatiable desire of this and the neglect of other things introduces the change in democracy, which occasions a demand for tyranny.

How so?

When a democracy which is thirsting for freedom has evil cup-bearers presiding over the feast, and has drunk too deeply of the strong wine of freedom, then, unless her rulers are very amenable and give a plentiful draught, she calls them to account and punishes them, and says that they are **cursed** oligarchs.

Yes, he replied, a very common **occurrence**.

Yes, I said; and loyal citizens are **insultingly** termed by her slaves who hug their chains and men of naught; she would have subjects who are like rulers, and rulers who are like subjects: these are men after her own heart, whom she praises and honours both in private and public. Now, in such a State, can liberty have any limit?

Certainly not.

### Thesaurus

amenable: (adj) accountable, yielding, answerable, tractable, submissive, responsible, compliant, obedient, acquiescent, accessible, pliable. ANTONYMS: (adi) obstinate, stubborn, disobedient, uncooperative, irresponsible, nonconforming, disagreeable, unanswerable, unaccountable, intractable, unamenable. cursed: (adj) damned, doomed, execrable, cussed, wretched, unlucky,

accursed, blamed, blasted, confounded; (v) accurst. ANTONYMS: (adj) commendable, honorable, nice, sweet, kine. insultingly: (adv) offensively, scurrilously, opprobriously, contemptuously, foully, scornfully, injuriously, rudely, impertinently, provokingly, sarcastically. naught: (n) cipher, nothing, null, aught, nix, nought, zip, cypher, nada; thirsting: (adj) dry, parched, (adj, n, pron) nil; (n, pron) zilch.

occurrence: (n) case, event, occasion, accident, instance, circumstance, happening, contingency, affair, fact; (n, v) incident.

plentiful: (adj) opulent, bountiful, ample, luxuriant, liberal, copious, fruitful, full, abundant, rich, plenty. ANTONYMS: (adj) scanty, meager, sparse, lacking, insufficient, few, infertile.

dehydrated.

By degrees the anarchy finds a way into private houses, and ends by getting among the animals and infecting them.

How do you mean?

I mean that the father grows accustomed to descend to the level of his sons and to fear them, and the son is on a level with his father, he having no respect or reverence for either of his parents; and this is his freedom, and the **metic** is equal with the **citizen** and the citizen with the metic, and the stranger is quite as good as either.

Yes, he said, that is the way.

And these are not the only evils, I said—there are several lesser ones: In such a state of society the master fears and flatters his scholars, and the scholars despise their masters and tutors; young and old are all alike; and the young man is on a level with the old, and is ready to compete with him in word or deed; and old men condescend to the young and are full of **pleasantry** and **gaiety**; they are **loth** to be thought morose and **authoritative**, and therefore they adopt the manners of the young.

Quite true, he said.

The last extreme of popular liberty is when the slave bought with money, whether male or female, is just as free as his or her **purchaser**; nor must I forget to tell of the liberty and equality of the two sexes in relation to each other.

Why not, as Aeschylus says, utter the word which rises to our lips?

That is what I am doing, I replied; and I must add that no one who does not know would believe, how much greater is the liberty which the animals who are under the dominion of man have in a democracy than in any other State: for truly, the she-dogs, as the proverb says, are as good as their she-mistresses, and the horses and asses have a way of **marching** along with all the rights and dignities of freemen; and they will run at any body who comes in their way if he does not leave the road clear for them: and all things are just ready to burst with liberty.

### **Thesaurus**

authoritative: (adj) official, imperious, reliable, dependable, magistral, authoritarian, influential, commanding, absolute, authorized, powerful. ANTONYMS: (adj) informal, polite, questionable, democratic, doubtable, illegitimate, illicit, unverified, unofficial, unsubstantiated, invalid. citizen: (n) national, inhabitant, denizen, resident, burgher, the people, subject, freeman, native,

nationality, voter. ANTONYMS: (n) foreigner, immigrant, tourist, alien, stranger.

gaiety: (n) fun, cheerfulness, exhilaration, mirth, glee, merriment, hilarity, happiness, joy, joviality, jollity. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, misery, sadness.

**loth**: (*adj*) disinclined, averse, reluctant, unwilling, indisposed, antipathetical, antipathetic, not content, shy of, repugnant; (*v*) averse

from.

**marching**: (*n*) walking, mar, drill; (*adj*) ongoing, moving.

**metic**: (*n*) noncitizen, foreigner, alien. **pleasantry**: (*n*) joke, wit, jocularity, jest, fancy, waggery, drollery, esprit, banter, sport, jocosity.

purchaser: (*n*) customer, client, consumer, emptor, patron, shopper, punter, vendee, owner, user, customer agent. ANTONYM: (*n*)

consultant.

When I take a country walk, he said, I often experience what you describe. You and I have dreamed the same thing.

And above all, I said, and as the result of all, see how sensitive the citizens become; they **chafe impatiently** at the least touch of authority, and at length, as you know, they cease to care even for the laws, written or unwritten; they will have no one over them.

Yes, he said, I know it too well.

Such, my friend, I said, is the fair and glorious beginning out of which springs tyranny.

Glorious indeed, he said. But what is the next step?

The ruin of oligarchy is the ruin of democracy; the same disease **magnified** and intensified by liberty overmasters democracy—the truth being that the excessive increase of anything often causes a **reaction** in the opposite direction; and this is the case not only in the seasons and in vegetable and animal life, but above all in forms of government.

True.

The excess of liberty, whether in States or individuals, seems only to pass into excess of slavery.

Yes, the natural order.

And so tyranny naturally arises out of democracy, and the most **aggravated** form of tyranny and slavery out of the most extreme form of liberty?

As we might expect.

That, however, was not, as I believe, your question—you rather desired to know what is that disorder which is generated alike in oligarchy and democracy, and is the ruin of both?

Just so, he replied.

Well, I said, I meant to **refer** to the class of idle spendthrifts, of whom the more courageous are the leaders and the more **timid** the followers, the same whom we were comparing to drones, some stingless, and others having stings.

### **Thesaurus**

incensed, annoyed, vexed, intense, grievous, provoked, exasperated, afflictive. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, pleased. chafe: (v) rub, irritate, provoke, nettle, annoy, gall, grate, abrade, anger, rile, graze. ANTONYMS: (v) cool, pacify, soothe, protect, relieve, appease, smooth. impatiently: (adv) petulantly,

restlessly, keenly, intolerantly,

aggravated: (adj) angry, infuriated,

hastily, avidly, uneasily, enthusiastically, edgily, fidgetily, restively. ANTONYMS: (adv) uncomplainingly, calmly, unenthusiastically, lightly. magnified: (adj) enlarged, inflated, enlarge, hyperbolic, hypertrophied, increased, overblown, overstated, puffed up, made larger. reaction: (n) answer, response, backlash, reply, effect, rebound, echo, retort, repercussion, rejoinder,

reception.

refer: (v) pertain, allude, apply,
deliver, commend, impute, name,
advert, relate, invoke, attribute.

timid: (adj) shy, afraid, diffident, coy,
bashful, nervous, frightened,
apprehensive, modest; (adj, adv)
cowardly; (adj, n) cautious.

ANTONYMS: (adj, n) brave; (adj)
confident, bold, fearless, resolute,
forward, daring, brazen, extrovert,
brash, talkative.

A very just comparison.

These two classes are the plagues of every city in which they are generated, being what phlegm and **bile** are to the body. And the good physician and lawgiver of the State ought, like the wise bee-master, to keep them at a distance and prevent, if possible, their ever coming in; and if they have **anyhow** found a way in, then he should have them and their cells cut out as speedily as possible.

Yes, by all means, he said.

Then, in order that we may see clearly what we are doing, let us imagine democracy to be divided, as indeed it is, into three classes; for in the first place freedom creates rather more drones in the democratic than there were in the oligarchical State.

That is true.

And in the democracy they are certainly more intensified.

How so?

Because in the oligarchical State they are **disqualified** and **driven** from office, and therefore they cannot train or **gather** strength; whereas in a democracy they are almost the entire ruling power, and while the keener sort speak and act, the rest keep **buzzing** about the bema and do not suffer a word to be said on the other side; hence in democracies almost everything is managed by the drones.

Very true, he said.

Then there is another class which is always being severed from the mass.

What is that?

They are the orderly class, which in a nation of traders is sure to be the richest.

Naturally so.

They are the most squeezable persons and **yield** the largest amount of honey to the drones.

Why, he said, there is little to be squeezed out of people who have little.

### Thesaurus

anyhow: (adv) somehow, at any rate, in any case, whatever, in any event, regardless, however, though, besides, nonetheless, one way or another. bile: (n) gall, anger, spleen, ebullition, pucker, ferment, fume, rage,

pucker, ferment, fume, rage, indignation, fury, biliousness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) composure, pleasure.

buzzing: (n) noise, murmur; (adj) humming, abuzz, bustling, lively, droning, purring, vibrant, vivacious, full of beans.

disqualified: (adj) ineligible,
disentitled, incapable, incompetent,
unable, unfit, deficient, barred,
unentitled, banned, not entitled.
ANTONYM: (adj) eligible.

ANTONYM: (adj) eligible. driven: (v) drive, impel, operate, propel; (adj) impelled, compulsive, motivated, involuntary, dynamic, successful; (n) drove.

**gather**: (*n*, *v*) fold, tuck; (*v*) convene, garner, congregate, compile,

assemble, accumulate, collect, meet, flock. ANTONYMS: (v) disperse, scatter, spread, distribute, disband, decrease, part, smooth.

squeezed: (adj) cramped.
yield: (n, v) produce, return, allow,
give; (v) surrender, concede, submit,
give up, grant, cede; (n) output.
ANTONYMS: (v) persevere, survive,
stand, withstand, repel, reject,
prevent, withhold, acquire, oppose,

And this is called the wealthy class, and the drones **feed** upon them.

That is pretty much the case, he said.

The people are a third class, **consisting** of those who work with their own hands; they are not politicians, and have not much to live upon. This, when **assembled**, is the **largest** and most powerful class in a democracy.

True, he said; but then the multitude is seldom willing to **congregate** unless they get a little honey.

And do they not share? I said. Do not their leaders **deprive** the rich of their estates and distribute them among the people; at the same time taking care to **reserve** the larger part for themselves?

Why, yes, he said, to that extent the people do share.

And the persons whose property is taken from them are compelled to defend themselves before the people as they best can?

What else can they do?

And then, although they may have no desire of change, the others charge them with plotting against the people and being friends of oligarchy?

True.

And the end is that when they see the people, not of their own accord, but through ignorance, and because they are deceived by informers, seeking to do them wrong, then at last they are forced to become oligarchs in reality; they do not wish to be, but the sting of the drones torments them and breeds revolution in them.

That is exactly the truth.

Then come impeachments and judgments and trials of one another.

True.

The people have always some champion whom they set over them and nurse into greatness.

Yes, that is their way.

### **Thesaurus**

assembled: (adj) amassed, collected, collective, concentrated, united, gather, assembling, gathered, massed, built, aggregate.

congregate: (v) gather, assemble, concentrate, convene, meet, crowd, come together, get together, amass, accumulate, compile. ANTONYMS: (v) disperse, separate, scatter, divide, part, disband, diverge. deprive: (v) divest, bereave, despoil, denude, deny, rob, dispossess,

dismantle, starve; (adj, v) abridge, curtail. ANTONYMS: (v) provide, present, offer, indulge, give, endow, appropriate, supply, add. feed: (v) eat, dine, browse, encourage, board, diet, nourish, fatten; (n, v) nurture, provender; (n) aliment. ANTONYMS: (v) thwart, crave, desire, sap. largest: (adj) biggest, greatest, best,

**largest**: (*adj*) biggest, greatest, best, most, bigger, major, utmost, maximal, large, larger, superlative.

reserve: (adj, v) save; (n) reservation, backup, modesty, bank; (adj, n) substitute; (v) keep back, maintain, book, withhold, appropriate. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, friendliness, informality, approachability, arrogance, boldness, brashness; (v) show, use; (adj) active. sting: (n, v) bite, hurt, con, pain; (v) prick, itch, irritate, prickle, goad, provoke, smart. ANTONYMS: (v) calm; (n) honesty.

This and no other is the root from which a tyrant springs; when he first appears above ground he is a protector.

Yes, that is quite clear.

How then does a protector begin to change into a tyrant? Clearly when he does what the man is said to do in the tale of the Arcadian temple of Lycaean Ze118

What tale?

The tale is that he who has tasted the **entrails** of a single human victim minced up with the entrails of other victims is destined to become a wolf. Did you never hear it?

Oh, yes.

And the protector of the people is like him; having a mob entirely at his disposal, he is not restrained from shedding the blood of kinsmen; by the favourite method of false accusation he brings them into court and murders them, making the life of man to disappear, and with unholy tongue and lips tasting the blood of his fellow citizens; some he kills and others he banishes, at the same time hinting at the **abolition** of debts and **partition** of lands: and after this, what will be his destiny? Must he not either perish at the hands of his enemies, or from being a man become a wolf — that is, a tyrant?

Inevitably.

This, I said, is he who begins to make a party against the rich?

The same.

After a while he is driven out, but comes back, in spite of his enemies, a tyrant full grown.

That is clear.

And if they are unable to expel him, or to get him condemned to death by a public accusation, they conspire to assassinate him.

Yes, he said, that is their usual way.

### Thesaurus

abolition: (n) annulment, destruction, ending, eradication, annihilation, cancellation, repeal, removal, elimination, conclusion, rescission. ANTONYMS: (n) creation, retention, establishment.

assassinate: (v) kill, slay, bump off, massacre, knock off, exterminate, slaughter, destroy, assassin, dispatch, execute.

entrails: (n) bowels, gut, bowel, viscera, innards, internal organs,

insides, intestines, guts, tripe, inside. favourite: (n) ducky, darling, pet, deary, dearie, lover, minion, Engle; (adj) popular, favored, preferred. minced: (adj) ground, crushed, broken tasting: (n) degustation, gustation,

partition: (n) wall, bulkhead, divider, distribution, separation, screen; (n, v)part, split; (v) divide, apportion, deal. ANTONYMS: (v) join, reveal; (n)

shedding: (n) molting, abscission,

fluffing, effusion, moulting, biological process, desquamation, sloughing, emission; (adj, n) peeling; (adj) flaking.

savoring, relishing, sample, gustatory sensation, gustatory perception, discernment, drinking, eating, feeding.

wolf: (n) philanderer, coyote, brute, skirt chaser, beast; (v) gobble, gorge, guzzle, consume, swallow, bolt.

Then comes the famous **request** for a body-guard, which is the **device** of all those who have got thus far in their tyrannical career—'Let not the people's friend,' as they say, 'be lost to them.'

Exactly.

The people readily assent; all their **fears** are for him—they have none for themselves.

Very true.

And when a man who is wealthy and is also **accused** of being an enemy of the people sees this, then, my friend, as the oracle said to Croesus,

'By **pebbly** Hermus' **shore** he flees and rests not, and is not ashamed to be a coward.'

And quite right too, said he, for if he were, he would never be ashamed again.

But if he is caught he dies.

Of course.

And he, the protector of whom we spoke, is to be seen, not 'larding the plain' with his **bulk**, but himself the **overthrower** of many, standing up in the **chariot** of State with the **reins** in his hand, no longer protector, but tyrant absolute.

No doubt, he said.

And now let us consider the happiness of the man, and also of the State in which a creature like him is generated.

Yes, he said, let us consider that.

At first, in the early days of his power, he is full of smiles, and he salutes every one whom he meets; —he to be called a tyrant, who is making promises in public and also in private! **liberating** debtors, and distributing land to the people and his followers, and wanting to be so kind and good to every one!

Of course, he said.

### **Thesaurus**

appliance, artifice, trick, figure,

accused: (n) panel, defendant, prisoner, respondent, suspect, suspected person.

bulk: (n) size, mass, volume, majority, amount, capacity, quantity, dimension, magnitude, thickness; (adj, n) lump. ANTONYMS: (n) minority, lightness.

chariot: (n) car, wagon, carriage, waggon, vehicle, wain, equipage,

device: (n) emblem, apparatus,

contraption, invention, gimmick, equipment, plan. fears: (n) worries, uncertainties, doubts, qualms, misgivings. liberating: (adj) emancipating, emancipative, therapeutic. overthrower: (n) subverter. pebbly: (adj) shingly, rocky, rough, grating, flinty, beachy, stony, gravel. reins: (n) bridle, Reins of a vault, reins of government, wheel, gearshift,

joystick, pedals, potency, power, powerfulness.

**request:** (*n*, *v*) demand, bid, invite, wish, appeal; (*v*) ask, order, pray, call for; (*n*) prayer, application. ANTONYMS: (*v*) command, grant, insist, force, supply, reject; (*n*) ruling, response.

**shore**: (*n*) coast, edge, beach, seashore, stay, seaside, brace, margin; (*n*, *v*) prop, land, buttress. ANTONYM: (*n*) sea.

But when he has disposed of foreign enemies by **conquest** or treaty, and there is nothing to fear from them, then he is always stirring up some war or other, in order that the people may require a leader.

To be sure.

Has he not also another object, which is that they may be **impoverished** by payment of taxes, and thus compelled to devote themselves to their daily wants and therefore less likely to conspire against him?

Clearly.

And if any of them are **suspected** by him of having notions of freedom, and of **resistance** to his authority, he will have a good pretext for destroying them by placing them at the mercy of the enemy; and for all these reasons the tyrant must be always getting up a war.

He must.

Now he begins to grow unpopular.

A necessary result.

Then some of those who joined in setting him up, and who are in power, speak their minds to him and to one another, and the more courageous of them cast in his **teeth** what is being done.

Yes, that may be expected.

And the tyrant, if he means to rule, must get rid of them; he cannot stop while he has a friend or an enemy who is good for anything.

He cannot.

And therefore he must look about him and see who is valiant, who is **high**-minded, who is wise, who is wealthy; happy man, he is the enemy of them all, and must seek occasion against them whether he will or no, until he has made a purgation of the State.

Yes, he said, and a rare purgation.

Yes, I said, not the sort of purgation which the physicians make of the body; for they take away the worse and leave the better part, but he does the reverse.

Thesaurus

## conquest: (n) defeat, triumph, conquering, achievement, reduction, coup, rout, overthrow, subjection, mastery, success. ANTONYMS: (n) failure, defeat, loss, victory. high-minded: (adj) great, noble, generous, lofty, magnanimous, elevated, exalted, upright, chivalrous, magnificent, honest. impoverished: (adj) indigent, broke, needy, poor, penniless, miserable,

impecunious, bankrupt, barren,

broken, strapped. ANTONYMS: (adj) rich, enriched, solvent. resistance: (n) endurance, impedance, hindrance, friction, obstacle, immunity, insubordination, defiance, renitency; (v) rebellion; (n, v) interference. ANTONYMS: (n) obedience, agreement, susceptibility, acceptance, receptivity, frailty, friendliness, vulnerability, defeatism, attack, softness. suspected: (adf) supposed, doubted,

suspicious, suspicion, inspiring distrust, distrusted. **teeth**: (*v*) mortar and pestle, gristmill, nutmeg grater, grater, file, arrastra, rasp, mill, unguis, tentacle; (*n*) gear teeth.

unpopular: (v) unacceptable, uncared for; (adj) unwelcome, undesirable, ostracized, unattractive, detested, unfashionable, uninviting, lousy, thankless. ANTONYMS: (adj) liked, desirable.

If he is to rule, I suppose that he cannot help himself.

What a blessed alternative, I said: - to be compelled to dwell only with the many bad, and to be by them hated, or not to live at all!

Yes, that is the alternative.

And the more **detestable** his actions are to the citizens the more satellites and the greater **devotion** in them will he require?

Certainly.

And who are the **devoted** band, and where will he **procure** them?

They will flock to him, he said, of their own accord, if he pays them.

By the dog! I said, here are more drones, of every sort and from every land.

Yes, he said, there are.

But will he not desire to get them on the spot?

How do you mean?

He will rob the citizens of their slaves; he will then set them free and enrol them in his body-guard.

To be sure, he said; and he will be able to trust them best of all.

What a blessed creature, I said, must this tyrant be; he has put to death the others and has these for his trusted friends.

Yes, he said; they are quite of his sort.

Yes, I said, and these are the new citizens whom he has called into existence, who admire him and are his companions, while the good hate and avoid him.

Of course.

Verily, then, tragedy is a wise thing and Euripides a great tragedian.

Why so?

Why, because he is the author of the **pregnant** saying,

Tyrants are wise by living with the wise;

### detestable: (adj) hateful, abhorrent, damnable, odious, offensive, despicable, execrable, horrible, infamous; (adj, v) cursed; (adj, adv) atrocious. ANTONYMS: (adi) admirable, adorable, sweet, loveable, lovable, likable, delightful, cherished, honorable, desirable, nice. devoted: (adj, v) addicted, ardent, fond; (adj) affectionate, constant, loyal, pious, faithful, reliable, zealous; (adj, prep) consecrated.

ANTONYMS: (adj) disloyal, indifferent, unfaithful, neglectful, uncaring, unenthusiastic, unattached, lukewarm, inconstant, halfhearted,

Thesaurus

disobedient.

devotion: (n) allegiance, attachment, dedication, loyalty, worship, affection, enthusiasm, fondness, devotedness; (adj, n) veneration, negligence, apathy, disobedience, neglect, hatred, separation,

dishonesty, infidelity. enrol: (v) enlist, register, enroll, enter, inscribe, matriculate, recruit, draft, book, levy, registering. pregnant: (adj, v) significant; (adj) meaningful, fraught, gravid,

expectant, enceinte, heavy, big, meaning; (v) impregnate, conceive. ANTONYM: (adj) nonpregnant. passion. ANTONYMS: (n) disloyalty, procure: (v) get, obtain, buy, earn, win, gain, have, purchase, induce, derive, find. ANTONYM: (v) give.

and he clearly meant to say that they are the wise whom the tyrant makes his companions.

Yes, he said, and he also praises tyranny as godlike; and many other things of the same kind are said by him and by the other poets.

And therefore, I said, the tragic poets being wise men will **forgive** us and any others who live after our manner if we do not receive them into our State, because they are the eulogists of tyranny.

Yes, he said, those who have the wit will doubtless forgive us.

But they will continue to go to other cities and attract mobs, and hire voices fair and loud and **persuasive**, and draw the cities over to tyrannies and democracies.

Very true.

Moreover, they are paid for this and receive honour—the greatest honour, as might be expected, from tyrants, and the next greatest from democracies; but the higher they ascend our constitution hill, the more their reputation fails, and seems unable from **shortness** of **breath** to proceed further.

True.

But we are **wandering** from the subject: Let us therefore return and enquire how the tyrant will maintain that fair and numerous and various and everchanging army of his.

If, he said, there are sacred treasures in the city, he will **confiscate** and spend them; and in so far as the **fortunes** of attainted persons may **suffice**, he will be able to diminish the taxes which he would otherwise have to impose upon the people.

And when these fail?

Why, clearly, he said, then he and his boon companions, whether male or female, will be maintained out of his father's estate.

### **Thesaurus**

breath: (n) wind, air, inspiration, puff, soul, aspiration, respite, airflow; (v) breathe, respire; (adj, n) whisper. confiscate: (v) seize, attach, distrain, commandeer, take, condemn, levy, impound, grab; (n) confiscation; (adj) forfeited. ANTONYMS: (v) restore, give, offer, release, return, add. forgive: (v) absolve, excuse, acquit, remit, pardon, justify, to forgive, exonerate, overlook, clear, to excuse. ANTONYMS: (v) condemn, punish,

castigate.

fortunes: (n) adventures, fortune,
personal narrative, life, journal.

persuasive: (adj) convincing, forcible,
eloquent, forceful, cogent, strong,
suasive, compelling, influential,
effective, potent. ANTONYMS: (adj)
unconvincing, halfhearted, hesitant,
dissuasive, unpersuasive, repellent,
inarticulate.

**shortness**: (*n*) lack, abruptness, brusqueness, curtness, briefness,

shortage, conciseness, gruffness, curtailment, short, shortcoming. ANTONYMS: (n) tallness, height, longness, wordiness, courtesy. suffice: (v) satisfy, do, answer, content, fulfill, be sufficient, qualify, function, be enough, suit, fulfil. wandering: (adj) itinerant, nomadic, erratic, rambling, errant, migratory; (adj, v) stray, vagrant, vagabond, unsettled; (n) peregrination. ANTONYM: (adj) resident.

You mean to say that the people, from whom he has derived his being, will maintain him and his companions?

Yes, he said; they cannot help themselves.

But what if the people fly into a passion, and **aver** that a **grown**-up son ought not to be supported by his father, but that the father should be supported by the son? The father did not bring him into being, or settle him in life, in order that when his son became a man he should himself be the servant of his own servants and should support him and his rabble of slaves and companions; but that his son should protect him, and that by his help he might be emancipated from the government of the rich and **aristocratic**, as they are termed. And so he bids him and his companions depart, just as any other father might drive out of the house a riotous son and his **undesirable** associates.

By heaven, he said, then the parent will discover what a **monster** he has been fostering in his **bosom**; and, when he wants to drive him out, he will find that he is weak and his son strong.

Why, you do not mean to say that the tyrant will use violence? What! beat his father if he opposes him?

Yes, he will, having first disarmed him.

Then he is a parricide, and a cruel guardian of an aged parent; and this is real tyranny, about which there can be no longer a mistake: as the saying is, the people who would escape the smoke which is the slavery of freemen, has fallen into the fire which is the tyranny of slaves. Thus liberty, getting out of all order and reason, passes into the harshest and bitterest form of slavery.

True, he said.

Very well; and may we not rightly say that we have sufficiently discussed the nature of tyranny, and the manner of the **transition** from democracy to tyranny?

Yes, quite enough, he said.

### **Thesaurus**

aristocratic: (adj) gentle, autocratic, refined, stylish, Belgravian, aristocratical, condescending, well-bred, royal; (n) princely, titled. ANTONYMS: (adj) popular, unrefined, bourgeois, common, lowly.

aver. (r) assert, attest, allege, assure.

aver: (v) assert, attest, allege, assure, asseverate, avow, declare, claim, swear, hold, state. ANTONYMS: (v) deny, refute.

**bosom**: (*n*) heart, interior, boob,

thorax, chest, bust, tit; (n, v) embrace; (v) cherish, hug; (adj) intimate.
ANTONYMS: (n) outside, exteriority.
disarmed: (adj) harmless, prostrate.
grown-up: (adj) mature, big, fullgrown, ripe, grown, full-fledged.
monster: (n) beast, fiend, devil, freak,
brute, demon, ogre, leviathan,
behemoth, monstrosity; (adj) huge.
transition: (n) passage, transit,
conversion, changeover, alteration,
modulation, jump, transformation,

modification, shift, leap. undesirable: (adj) unwelcome, inexpedient, objectionable, unsuitable, distasteful, undesired, unwanted, unvong, unalluring, unattractive; (n) persona non grata. ANTONYMS: (adj) desirable, wanted, welcome, acceptable, appealing, favorable, fortunate, convenient, pleasant.

### **BOOK IX**

Last of all comes the tyrannical man; about whom we have once more to ask, how is he **formed** out of the democratical? and how does he live, in happiness or in misery?

Yes, he said, he is the only one remaining.

There is, however, I said, a previous question which remains **unanswered**.

What question?

I do not think that we have adequately determined the nature and number of the appetites, and until this is accomplished the enquiry will always be confused.

Well, he said, it is not too late to supply the omission.

Very true, I said; and observe the point which I want to understand: Certain of the unnecessary pleasures and appetites I conceive to be unlawful; every one appears to have them, but in some persons they are **controlled** by the laws and by reason, and the better desires prevail over them—either they are **wholly** banished or they become few and weak; while in the case of others they are stronger, and there are more of them.

Which appetites do you mean?

I mean those which are awake when the reasoning and human and ruling power is **asleep**; then the wild beast within us, **gorged** with **meat** or drink, starts

### **Thesaurus**

open, pervasive, public.

asleep: (adj) sleeping, deceased, sleepy, dormant, numb, dead, sound asleep, snoozing, slumbering, napping, gone. ANTONYMS: (adj) up, attentive, alert, conscious. controlled: (adj) limited, restrained, restricted, temperate, subdued, inhibited, deliberate, illicit, illegal, graceful, forced. ANTONYMS: (adj) spontaneous, uncontrolled, intemperate, involuntary, unscientific, demonstrative, natural,

formed: (adj) shaped, settled, defined, characterized, conceived, affected, fashioned, established, constructed, definite, firm.
gorged: (adj) sated, full, stuffed, congested, replete, satisfied, bursting, surfeited; (v) ready to burst.
meat: (n) food, gist, essence, core, kernel, heart, substance, marrow, crux, matter, beef.
unanswered: (v) unrefuted,

unconfuted; (adj) unsolved, unresolved, unrequited, unreciprocated, unsettled. wholly: (adj, adv) totally, entirely, altogether, quite, exclusively, perfectly, solely; (adv, pref) all; (adv) fully, utterly, absolutely. ANTONYMS: (adv) partially, inclusively, hardly, incompletely, slightly. up and having shaken off sleep, goes forth to satisfy his desires; and there is no conceivable folly or crime—not excepting **incest** or any other unnatural union, or parricide, or the eating of forbidden food—which at such a time, when he has parted company with all shame and sense, a man may not be ready to commit.

Most true, he said.

But when a man's pulse is healthy and temperate, and when before going to sleep he has **awakened** his rational powers, and fed them on noble thoughts and enquiries, collecting himself in **meditation**; after having first indulged his appetites neither too much nor too little, but just enough to lay them to sleep, and prevent them and their enjoyments and pains from interfering with the higher principle—which he leaves in the **solitude** of pure abstraction, free to contemplate and aspire to the knowledge of the unknown, whether in past, present, or future: when again he has **allayed** the passionate element, if he has a quarrel against any one—I say, when, after **pacifying** the two irrational principles, he rouses up the third, which is reason, before he takes his rest, then, as you know, he attains truth most nearly, and is least likely to be the sport of fantastic and lawless visions.

I quite agree.

In saying this I have been running into a digression; but the point which I desire to note is that in all of us, even in good men, there is a lawless wild-beast nature, which peers out in sleep. Pray, consider whether I am right, and you agree with me.

Yes, I agree.

And now remember the character which we attributed to the democratic man. He was supposed from his youth upwards to have been trained under a miserly parent, who encouraged the saving appetites in him, but discountenanced the unnecessary, which aim only at amusement and ornament?

True.

And then he got into the company of a more **refined**, licentious sort of people, and taking to all their **wanton** ways rushed into the opposite extreme

#### **Thesaurus**

allayed: (adj) quenched, slaked. awakened: (adj) excited, aroused, awakens, awoke, interested. incest: (n) criminal congress, idolatry, adultery.

meditation: (*n*, *v*) contemplation, study; (*n*) consideration, reflection, deliberation, thought, introspection, musing, rumination, conception, reflexion. ANTONYM: (*n*) distraction.

pacifying: (adj) soothing, assuasive,

calm, quiet, conciliatory, lulling, appeasing.

refined: (adj) delicate, cultured, graceful, polite, gentle, urbane, courteous, courtly, cultivated; (adj, n) polished, pure. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrefined, raw, uncouth, rough, careless, crude, brute, boorish, plain, lowly, inelegant.

**solitude**: (*n*) desolation, loneliness, seclusion, privacy, aloneness, isolation, retirement, lonesomeness,

retreat, desert, solitariness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) companionship, closeness.

wanton: (adj) loose, dissolute, light, licentious, unchaste, lewd, debauched, unprovoked; (v) dally; (n, v) sport; (adj, v) flirt. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, wise, nice, kind, gentle, decent, clean, careful, observant, justifiable, involuntary.

from an abhorrence of his father's meanness. At last, being a better man than his corruptors, he was drawn in both **directions** until he **halted** midway and led a life, not of vulgar and slavish passion, but of what he deemed moderate indulgence in various pleasures. After this manner the **democrat** was generated out of the oligarch?

Yes, he said; that was our view of him, and is so still.

And now, I said, years will have passed away, and you must conceive this man, such as he is, to have a son, who is brought up in his father's principles.

I can imagine him.

Then you must further imagine the same thing to happen to the son which has already happened to the father:—he is drawn into a perfectly lawless life, which by his seducers is termed perfect liberty; and his father and friends take part with his moderate desires, and the opposite party assist the opposite ones. As soon as these dire magicians and tyrant-makers find that they are **losing** their hold on him, they contrive to implant in him a master passion, to be lord over his idle and spendthrift lusts—a sort of monstrous **winged** drone—that is the only image which will adequately describe him.

Yes, he said, that is the only adequate image of him.

And when his other lusts, amid **clouds** of incense and perfumes and garlands and wines, and all the pleasures of a dissolute life, now let loose, come buzzing around him, nourishing to the utmost the sting of desire which they implant in his drone-like nature, then at last this lord of the soul, having Madness for the captain of his guard, breaks out into a **frenzy**: and if he finds in himself any good opinions or appetites in process of formation, and there is in him any sense of shame **remaining**, to these better principles he puts an end, and casts them forth until he has purged away temperance and brought in madness to the full.

Yes, he said, that is the way in which the tyrannical man is generated.

And is not this the reason why of old love has been called a tyrant?

I should not wonder.

**clouds**: (n) exhaust, fumes, gas, smoke,

# Thesaurus insignificant, fortunate, harmless,

vapors.

democrat: (n) roturier, republican,
proletary, proletaire, plebeian,
democrats, Mr, democratist, populist,
one of the people.

dire: (adj) awful, desperate, direful,
dreadful, appalling, forbidding,
terrible, formidable, awesome,
shocking, calamitous. ANTONYMS:

(adj) wonderful, fortuitous,

unimportant, trivial, propitious,

favorable, modest, praiseworthy. directions: (n) advice, instruction, guidance, instructions, briefing, commands, orders, will. frenzy: (n) fury, anger, insanity, mania, hysteria; (adij, n) distraction, aberration, alienation, phrensy, derangement; (n, v) craze. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, calm, order. halted: (adi) motionless, nonmoving,

unmoving. losing: (v) lose; (n) loss; (adv) losingly, behind; (adj) unbeneficial. ANTONYM: (adj) lucrative. remaining: (adj) leftover, left over, odd, surplus, extra, other, enduring, lasting, residual, spare; (adv) over. ANTONYMS: (adj) spent, finished, left, gross, fleeting, basic, transient. winged: (adj) swift, rapid, speedy, quick, flying, alate, sublime, lofty, alated, aligerous, composed.

Further, I said, has not a **drunken** man also the spirit of a tyrant?

He has.

And you know that a man who is deranged and not right in his mind, will fancy that he is able to rule, not only over men, but also over the gods?

That he will.

And the tyrannical man in the true sense of the word comes into being when, either under the influence of nature, or habit, or both, he becomes drunken, **lustful**, passionate? O my friend, is not that so?

Assuredly.

Such is the man and such is his origin. And next, how does he live?

Suppose, as people facetiously say, you were to tell me.

I imagine, I said, at the next step in his progress, that there will be feasts and carousals and revellings and courtezans, and all that sort of thing; Love is the lord of the house within him, and orders all the concerns of his soul.

That is certain.

Yes; and every day and every night desires grow up many and **formidable**, and their **demands** are many.

They are indeed, he said.

His revenues, if he has any, are soon spent.

True.

Then comes debt and the cutting down of his property.

Of course.

When he has nothing left, must not his desires, **crowding** in the nest like young ravens, be **crying aloud** for food; and he, **goaded** on by them, and especially by love himself, who is in a manner the captain of them, is in a frenzy, and would fain discover whom he can defraud or despoil of his property, in order that he may **gratify** them?

Yes, that is sure to be the case.

#### **Thesaurus**

out, audibly, hard, forte.
ANTONYMS: (adv) softly, inaudibly, quietly.
crowding: (n) plough crowding, bunch, jostlement, overcrowding.
crying: (adj, v) exigent, instant, pressing, urgent; (adj) insistent, clamant, imperative, blatant; (n) weeping; (v) weep; (adj, n) sniveling.
demands: (n) strain, weight, stress, anxiety.

aloud: (adv) loud, out loud, strong,

**drunken**: (*adj*) boozy, sottish, intoxicated, tipsy, tight, bibulous, groggy, intemperate, blotto, canned, pissed.

formidable: (adj) grim, appalling, awful, difficult, forbidding, heavy, dreadful, fearful, uphill, trying, tough. ANTONYMS: (adj) insignificant, easy, comforting, feeble, cheerful.

**goaded**: (*adj*) provoked, forced, motivated, unvoluntary, aggravated,

involuntary.

gratify: (v) delight, please, appease, accommodate, satisfy, amuse, suit, indulge, cater; (n, v) humor; (adf) contented. ANTONYMS: (v) dissatisfy, displease, disappoint.

lustful: (adj, v) lascivious, lewd, libidinous, wanton; (adf) licentious, pruvient lickerish concuriesent.

compulsive, determined,

prurient, lickerish, concupiscent, passionate, lusty; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) lecherous. ANTONYM: (*adj*) restrained.

He must have money, no matter how, if he is to escape horrid pains and pangs.

He must.

And as in himself there was a succession of pleasures, and the new got the better of the old and took away their rights, so he being younger will claim to have more than his father and his mother, and if he has spent his own share of the property, he will take a slice of theirs.

No doubt he will.

And if his parents will not give way, then he will try first of all to cheat and deceive them.

Very true.

And if he fails, then he will use force and plunder them.

Yes, probably.

And if the old man and woman fight for their own, what then, my friend? Will the creature feel any **compunction** at tyrannizing over them?

Nay, he said, I should not feel at all comfortable about his parents.

But, O heavens! Adeimantus, on account of some new-fangled love of a **harlot**, who is anything but a necessary **connection**, can you believe that he would strike the mother who is his ancient friend and necessary to his very existence, and would place her under the authority of the other, when she is brought under the same roof with her; or that, under like circumstances, he would do the same to his **withered** old father, first and most **indispensable** of friends, for the sake of some newly-found **blooming** youth who is the reverse of indispensable?

Yes, indeed, he said; I believe that he would.

Truly, then, I said, a tyrannical son is a blessing to his father and mother.

He is indeed, he replied.

He first takes their property, and when that fails, and pleasures are beginning to swarm in the hive of his soul, then he breaks into a house, or steals the

# Thesaurus concatenation, attachment, joint,

blooming: (adj) rosy, thriving, flourishing, healthy, prosperous, ruddy, booming, blossoming, cherry, verdant, green. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, pale.
compunction: (n) repentance, remorse,

compunction: (n) repentance, remorse, contrition, qualm, penance, regret, compassion, rue, scruple, sorrow, guilt. ANTONYMS: (n) hardness, indifference, meanness, remorselessness.
connection: (n) communication,

bearing, affiliation, association, knot, conjunction, alliance, link.

ANTONYMS: (n) breach, enemy, dissociation, disjunction, unconnectedness, foe, detachment, rival, interruption, clash, difference. harlot: (n) courtesan, fancy woman, strumpet, tart, whore, drab, moll, hooker, streetwalker, wanton, bawd. indispensable: (adj, v) necessary, imperative, requisite; (adj) obligatory,

fundamental, required, mandatory, vital, urgent, absolutely necessary; (v) needful. ANTONYMS: (adj) dispensable, nonessential, optional, marginal, unnecessary, worthless, minor.

withered: (adj) wizened, sear, shriveled, thin, shrunken, dry, dried up, wilted, faded, wizen; (v) lame. ANTONYM: (adj) plump. garments of some **nightly wayfarer**; next he proceeds to clear a temple. Meanwhile the old opinions which he had when a child, and which gave judgment about good and evil, are overthrown by those others which have just been emancipated, and are now the body-guard of love and share his empire. These in his democratic days, when he was still subject to the laws and to his father, were only let loose in the dreams of sleep. But now that he is under the dominion of love, he becomes always and in waking reality what he was then very rarely and in a dream only; he will commit the foulest murder, or eat forbidden food, or be guilty of any other horrid act. Love is his tyrant, and lives **lordly** in him and **lawlessly**, and being himself a king, leads him on, as a tyrant leads a State, to the performance of any **reckless** deed by which he can maintain himself and the rabble of his associates, whether those whom evil communications have brought in from without, or those whom he himself has allowed to break loose within him by reason of a similar evil nature in himself. Have we not here a picture of his way of life?

Yes, indeed, he said.

And if there are only a few of them in the State, and the rest of the people are well disposed, they go away and become the body-guard or mercenary soldiers of some other tyrant who may probably want them for a war; and if there is no war, they stay at home and do many little pieces of **mischief** in the city.

What sort of mischief?

For example, they are the thieves, burglars, cut-purses, foot-pads, robbers of temples, man-stealers of the community; or if they are able to speak they turn informers, and bear false witness, and take bribes.

A small catalogue of evils, even if the perpetrators of them are few in number.

Yes, I said; but small and great are comparative terms, and all these things, in the misery and evil which they inflict upon a State, do not come within a thousand **miles** of the tyrant; when this noxious class and their followers grow numerous and become conscious of their strength, assisted by the **infatuation** of

#### **Thesaurus**

infatuation: (adj) devotion, fascination, enchantment, gross credulity; (adj, n) passion, fervor, fanaticism; (n) crush, idolatry, love, hobby. ANTONYM: (n) indifference. lawlessly: (adv) illegally, illegitimately, anarchically, unlawfully, riotously, unruly, mutinously, insurgently, violently, seditiously, wrongfully. lordly: (adj, v) dignified, proud, noble; (adj) haughty, grand, August,

domineering, disdainful, arrogant, imperious, lofty. ANTONYM: (adj) humble.

miles: (adj) far.

mischief: (adj, n) evil, hurt, harm; (n) damage, ill, detriment, disadvantage, devilry, caper, devilment, maleficence. ANTONYMS: (n) obedience, beneficence, help.

nightly: (adv) every night, by night; (n) night; (adj) nocturnal. ANTONYM: (adj) daily.

reckless: (adj) careless, rash, foolhardy, hasty, incautious, extravagant, daring, desperate, brash; (adj, v) imprudent, wanton.

ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, prudent, sensible, wise, responsible, parsimonious, considered, safe, guarded, dutiful, discreet.

wayfarer: (n) traveler, passenger, pilgrim, itinerant, wanderer, traveller, walker, journeyer, rambler, voyager, vagrant.

the people, they choose from among themselves the one who has most of the tyrant in his own soul, and him they create their tyrant.

Yes, he said, and he will be the most fit to be a tyrant.

If the people yield, well and good; but if they **resist** him, as he began by **beating** his own father and mother, so now, if he has the power, he beats them, and will keep his dear old fatherland or motherland, as the Cretans say, in subjection to his young **retainers** whom he has introduced to be their rulers and masters. This is the end of his passions and desires.

Exactly.

When such men are only private individuals and before they get power, this is their character; they associate entirely with their own flatterers or ready tools; or if they want anything from anybody, they in their turn are equally ready to bow down before them: they profess every sort of **affection** for them; but when they have gained their point they know them no more.

Yes, truly.

They are always either the masters or servants and never the friends of anybody; the tyrant never tastes of true freedom or friendship.

Certainly not.

And may we not rightly call such men treacherous?

No question.

Also they are utterly unjust, if we were right in our notion of justice?

Yes, he said, and we were **perfectly** right.

Let us then sum up in a word, I said, the character of the worst man: he is the waking reality of what we dreamed.

Most true.

And this is he who being by **nature** most of a tyrant bears rule, and the longer he lives the more of a tyrant he becomes.

That is certain, said Glaucon, taking his turn to answer.

# **Thesaurus**

affection: (n) charity, attachment, fondness, heart, love, disease, nature, feeling, affectionateness, tenderness, kindness. ANTONYMS: (n) disgust, neglect, malice, loathing, dislike, detachment, coldness, roughness.

beating: (n) reverse, defeat, whipping, thrashing, battery, flogging, pounding, pulsation, pulse, rout; (adj) pulsing. ANTONYMS: (n) victory, win.

nature: (n) disposition, essence,

quality, creation, breed, temperament, type, attribute; (adj, n) character, class, manner.

perfectly: (adj, adv) entirely; (adv) fully, thoroughly, consummately, utterly, flawlessly, absolutely, purely, totally, faultlessly, wholly. ANTONYMS: (adv) badly, imperfectly, incorrectly, wrong, inaccurately, partially, partly, poorly, unpleasantly, wrongly.

resist: (n, v) oppose, confront; (v) rebel, defy, revolt, endure, reject, protest,

refuse, impede, fight back.
ANTONYMS: (v) surrender, yield, assent, agree, suppress, favor, accept, attract, obey, welcome.

retainers: (n) entourage, suite.
treacherous: (adj) unfaithful, deceitful, false, perfidious, dangerous, disloyal, unreliable, unsafe, Punic, fraudulent, faithless. ANTONYMS: (adj) faithful, loyal, honest, safe, true, genuine, forthright, stable, harmless,

dependable, open.

And will not he who has been shown to be the wickedest, be also the most miserable? and he who has tyrannized longest and most, most continually and truly miserable; although this may not be the opinion of men in general?

Yes, he said, inevitably.

And must not the tyrannical man be like the tyrannical State, and the democratical man like the democratical State; and the same of the others?

Certainly.

And as State is to State in virtue and happiness, so is man in relation to man? To be sure.

Then comparing our original city, which was under a king, and the city which is under a tyrant, how do they stand as to virtue?

They are the opposite extremes, he said, for one is the very best and the other is the very worst.

There can be no mistake, I said, as to which is which, and therefore I will at once enquire whether you would arrive at a similar decision about their relative happiness and misery. And here we must not allow ourselves to be panicstricken at the apparition of the tyrant, who is only a unit and may perhaps have a few retainers about him; but let us go as we ought into every corner of the city and look all about, and then we will give our opinion.

A fair **invitation**, he replied; and I see, as every one must, that a tyranny is the wretchedest form of government, and the rule of a king the happiest.

And in estimating the men too, may I not fairly make a like request, that I should have a judge whose mind can enter into and see through human nature? he must not be like a child who looks at the outside and is dazzled at the pompous aspect which the tyrannical nature assumes to the beholder, but let him be one who has a clear **insight**. May I suppose that the judgment is given in the hearing of us all by one who is able to judge, and has dwelt in the same place with him, and been present at his dally life and known him in his family relations, where he may be seen stripped of his tragedy attire, and again in the

#### Thesaurus

**attire**: (n, v) array, garb, apparel, wear; hurry, rush, hasten, lead. (n) costume, garment, outfit, clothes; insight: (n) vision, acumen, (v) enrobe, clothe, dress up. ANTONYMS: (v) disrobe, bare, strip, unclothe; (n) nakedness. beholder: (n) witness, looker, observer, onlooker, viewer, eyewitness, bystander, auditor, audile, passer by, watcher. dally: (v) flirt, act, linger, trifle, toy, coquette, hesitate, play, dawdle, waste time, lag. ANTONYMS: (v)

understanding, perception, penetration, brainwave, apprehension, acquaintance, knowledge, idea, foresight. ANTONYMS: (n) hindsight, foolishness, ignorance, clumsiness. invitation: (n) call, bidding, temptation, lure, asking, request, attraction, enticement; (v) invite, solicitation; (n, v) supplication.

pompous: (adj) grand, arrogant, ostentatious, affected, pretentious, overblown, showy, inflated, majestic, lordly; (adj, prep) bloated. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, straightforward, unceremonious, quiet, unassuming, natural, deferential, relaxed, meek. stripped: (adj) naked, nude, exposed, fleeced, undressed, unclothed, stark, desolate, denuded, bald, stript.

hour of public danger—he shall tell us about the happiness and misery of the tyrant when compared with other men?

That again, he said, is a very fair proposal.

Shall I assume that we ourselves are able and experienced judges and have before now met with such a person? We shall then have some one who will answer our enquiries.

By all means.

Let me ask you not to **forget** the **parallel** of the individual and the State; bearing this in mind, and glancing in turn from one to the other of them, will you tell me their respective conditions?

What do you mean? he asked.

Beginning with the State, I replied, would you say that a city which is governed by a tyrant is free or enslaved?

No city, he said, can be more completely enslaved.

And yet, as you see, there are freemen as well as masters in such a State?

Yes, he said, I see that there are—a few; but the people, speaking generally, and the best of them are **miserably** degraded and enslaved.

Then if the man is like the State, I said, must not the same rule prevail? his soul is full of meanness and vulgarity—the best elements in him are enslaved; and there is a small ruling part, which is also the worst and maddest.

# Inevitably.

And would you say that the soul of such an one is the soul of a freeman, or of a slave?

He has the soul of a slave, in my opinion.

And the State which is enslaved under a tyrant is utterly incapable of acting **voluntarily**?

Utterly incapable.

#### **Thesaurus**

tragically; (adj, adv) piteously,

to forget, overlook, neglect, ignore, fail, unlearn, abandon. ANTONYMS: (v) mind, attend.
inevitably: (udv) unavoidably, necessarily, of necessity, ineluctably, needs, by necessity, automatically, surely, certainly, essentially.
ANTONYM: (adv) unnecessarily.
miserably: (adv) pathetically, patheticly, pitiably, unhappily, sorrowfully, pessimistically,

**forget**: (v) leave, miss, blank out, bury,

grievously, woefully; (adj) miserable. ANTONYMS: (adv) happily, hopefully, brightly, affluently, enthusiastically, fortunately, profusely, contentedly.

parallel: (v) compare; (n, v) match, duplicate; (adj, n) equivalent; (adj) even, like, comparable, alike; (n) analogy, likeness; (adj, adv) level. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) skew; (adj)

dissimilar, conflicting, different,

independent, separate, oblique, uneven; (n) dissimilarity, contrast, difference. **voluntarily**: (adv) spontaneously, willingly, intentionally, willfully, volunteerly, deliberately.

volunteerly, deliberately, gratuitously, readily, optionally, independently, unforcedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) obligatory, reluctantly, forced, grudgingly, unwillingly.

And also the soul which is under a tyrant (I am speaking of the soul taken as a whole) is least **capable** of doing what she desires; there is a **gadfly** which goads her, and she is full of trouble and **remorse**?

Certainly.

And is the city which is under a tyrant rich or poor?

Poor.

And the tyrannical soul must be always poor and insatiable?

True.

And must not such a State and such a man be always full of fear?

Yes, indeed.

Is there any State in which you will find more of lamentation and sorrow and **groaning** and pain?

Certainly not.

And is there any man in whom you will find more of this sort of misery than in the tyrannical man, who is in a fury of passions and desires?

Impossible.

Reflecting upon these and similar evils, you **held** the tyrannical State to be the most miserable of States?

And I was right, he said.

Certainly, I said. And when you see the same evils in the tyrannical man, what do you say of him?

I say that he is by far the most miserable of all men.

There, I said, I think that you are beginning to go wrong.

What do you mean?

I do not think that he has as yet reached the utmost extreme of misery.

Then who is more miserable?

One of whom I am about to speak.

# capable: (adj) competent, adequate, apt, adept, accomplished, fit, gifted, qualified, proficient, trained; (adj, n) efficient. ANTONYMS: (adj) incapable, inept, unable, helpless, lacking, bad, unimaginative, unqualified, untrained. extreme: (adj) deep, excessive, enormous, supreme, terrible, uttermost, ultimate, utmost, intense, immoderate; (n) edge. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) mild, slight; (adj) middle,

#### Thesaurus

reasonable, near, limited, close, conventional, ordinary, normal, insignificant.

gadfly: (n) botfly, horsefly, pest, cuss, blighter, tormentor, persecutor, nuisance, chap, pesterer, clegg. groaning: (adj) moaning, groaningly, inarticulate.

hald: (adj) absorbed, confined, kept, apprehended, seized, supposed, reputed, tenable, thought, trapped; (v) detain. **remorse**: (*n*) penitence, contrition, repentance, regret, guilt, penance, sorrow, grief, qualm, ruefulness, compassion. ANTONYM: (*n*) shamelessness.

rich: (adj, n) copious, luxurious; (adj) productive, fruitful, full, deep, prolific, opulent, fat, affluent; (adj, v) fertile. ANTONYMS: (adj) poor, impoverished, destitute, broke, light, plain, lean, delicate, infertile, weak, barren.

Who is that?

He who is of a tyrannical nature, and instead of leading a private life has been cursed with the further **misfortune** of being a public tyrant.

From what has been said, I gather that you are right.

Yes, I replied, but in this high argument you should be a little more certain, and should not conjecture only; for of all questions, this respecting good and evil is the greatest.

Very true, he said.

Let me then offer you an illustration, which may, I think, **throw** a light upon this subject.

What is your illustration?

The case of rich individuals in cities who possess many slaves: from them you may form an idea of the tyrant's condition, for they both have slaves; the only difference is that he has more slaves.

Yes, that is the difference.

You know that they live **securely** and have nothing to apprehend from their servants?

What should they fear?

Nothing. But do you observe the reason of this?

Yes; the reason is, that the whole city is **leagued** together for the protection of each individual.

Very true, I said. But imagine one of these owners, the **master** say of some fifty slaves, together with his family and property and slaves, carried off by a god into the **wilderness**, where there are no freemen to help him—will he not be in an **agony** of fear lest he and his wife and children should be put to death by his slaves?

Yes, he said, he will be in the utmost fear.

#### **Thesaurus**

agony: (n) torture, suffering, torment, distress, misery, passion, pain, grief, pang, sorrow, throe. ANTONYMS: (n) pleasure, joy, euphoria, bliss, happiness, ecstasy, peace, content. leagued: (v) brief, dense, firm, compact, confederated, not verbose, not diffuse, solid, pithy; (adj) confederate, allied.

master: (n) captain, instructor, lord; (v) control, conquer, command, dominate, defeat; (adj, n) original,

head, ace. ANTONYMS: (n) underling, servant, novice, amateur. misfortune: (n) accident, hardship, misadventure, disaster, calamity, mischance, catastrophe, mishap, bad luck, misery, affliction. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, bonus, opportunity, privilege, success, happiness.

**securely**: (*adv*) surely, safely, closely, solidly, steadily, assuredly, strongly, tightly, fixly, setly, stably.
ANTONYM: (*adv*) insecurely.

throw: (n, v) cast, pitch, push; (v) shed, hurl, heave, chuck, flip, pass, hurtle; (n) shot. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, help, receive, clarify, encourage. wilderness: (adj, n, v) desert; (adj, n) wild; (n) wasteland, solitude, badlands, wildness, frontier, boondocks, backwoods; (adj) Sahara; (v) squandering. ANTONYM: (n) metropolis.

The time has arrived when he will be compelled to flatter divers of his slaves, and make many promises to them of freedom and other things, much against his will—he will have to **cajole** his own servants.

Yes, he said, that will be the only way of saving himself.

And suppose the same god, who carried him away, to surround him with neighbours who will not suffer one man to be the master of another, and who, if they could catch the offender, would take his life?

His **case** will be still worse, if you suppose him to be everywhere surrounded and watched by enemies.

And is not this the sort of prison in which the tyrant will be bound—he who being by nature such as we have described, is full of all sorts of fears and lusts? His soul is dainty and **greedy**, and yet alone, of all men in the city, he is never allowed to go on a journey, or to see the things which other freemen desire to see, but he lives in his hole like a woman hidden in the house, and is jealous of any other citizen who goes into foreign parts and sees anything of interest.

Very true, he said.

And amid evils such as these will not he who is ill-governed in his own person—the tyrannical man, I mean—whom you just now decided to be the most miserable of all—will not he be yet more miserable when, instead of leading a private life, he is constrained by fortune to be a public tyrant? He has to be master of others when he is not master of himself: he is like a diseased or **paralytic** man who is compelled to pass his life, not in retirement, but fighting and **combating** with other men.

Yes, he said, the similitude is most exact.

Is not his case utterly miserable? and does not the actual tyrant lead a worse life than he whose life you determined to be the worst?

Certainly.

He who is the real tyrant, whatever men may think, is the real slave, and is obliged to practise the greatest **adulation** and **servility**, and to be the **flatterer** of

#### **Thesaurus**

adulation: (n, v) flattery; (n) blarney, worship, cajolery, compliment, gloze, sycophancy, obsequiousness, admiration, love; (v) cringe.

ANTONYMS: (n) insult, criticism, detestation, disparagement.

cajole: (v) wheedle, coax, flatter, palaver, inveigle, charm, blarney, persuade, beguile, compliment, induce. ANTONYMS: (v) insult, belittle, criticize, bully.

case: (n) example, box, bin, cover,

jacket, shell, bag, affair, briefcase, business; (adj, n) eccentric. combating: (adj) militant, rival, opposed; (n) hostility. flatterer: (n) toady, sycophant, adulator, crawler, lackey, follower, coaxer, flunkey, wheedler, obsequious, apple polisher. greedy: (adj) avid, gluttonous, desirous, grasping, acquisitive, glutton, piggish, voracious, selfish; (adj, v) avaricious, covetous.

ANTONYMS: (adj) temperate, ascetic, unconcerned, abstemious, moderate.

paralytic: (adj) paralytical, paralyzed, torpid, comatose; (n) paretic, handicapped person, invalid; (v) withered.

servility: (n) sycophancy, obsequiousness, subservience, meanness, abjectness, flattery, obedience, humility, submissiveness, servileness, voke.

the vilest of mankind. He has desires which he is utterly unable to satisfy, and has more wants than any one, and is truly poor, if you know how to inspect the whole soul of him: all his life long he is beset with fear and is full of convulsions and distractions, even as the State which he resembles: and surely the resemblance holds?

Very true, he said.

Moreover, as we were saying before, he grows worse from having power: he becomes and is of necessity more jealous, more faithless, more unjust, more friendless, more impious, than he was at first; he is the purveyor and cherisher of every sort of vice, and the consequence is that he is supremely miserable, and that he makes everybody else as miserable as himself.

No man of any sense will dispute your words.

Come then, I said, and as the general umpire in theatrical contests proclaims the result, do you also decide who in your opinion is first in the scale of happiness, and who second, and in what order the others follow: there are five of them in all-they are the royal, timocratical, oligarchical, democratical, tyrannical.

The decision will be easily given, he replied; they shall be choruses coming on the stage, and I must judge them in the order in which they enter, by the criterion of virtue and vice, happiness and misery.

Need we hire a herald, or shall I announce, that the son of Ariston (the best) has decided that the best and justest is also the happiest, and that this is he who is the most royal man and king over himself; and that the worst and most unjust man is also the most miserable, and that this is he who being the greatest tyrant of himself is also the greatest tyrant of his State?

Make the **proclamation** yourself, he said.

And shall I add, 'whether seen or unseen by gods and men'?

Let the words be added.

## Thesaurus

announce: (v) advertise, declare, enunciate, proclaim, return, promulgate, publicize, publish, tell, communicate, foretell. ANTONYMS: (v) withhold, conceal, repress, request.

friendless: (adj) alone, lonely, abandoned, solitary, helpless, lonesome, forsaken, unfriended, deserted, introverted, unwanted. ANTONYM: (adj) sociable.

herald: (n) forerunner, courier,

messenger; (v) declare, foretell, announce, bode, proclaim, introduce, foreshadow; (n, v) augur. ANTONYMS: (v) follow; (n)

successor.

inspect: (v) overhaul, overlook, survey, watch, scrutinize, view, explore, look, review, inquire, monitor. ANTONYMS: (v) skim,

proclamation: (n) announcement, decree, edict, annunciation, notice,

statement, promulgation, report, publication, manifesto, propagation. theatrical: (adj) melodramatic, dramatic, histrionic, stagy, theatric, stilted, artificial, pretentious, spectacular, pedantic, full of affectation. ANTONYMS: (adj) undramatic, restrained, real, quiet. umpire: (n, v) judge; (n) arbitrator, arbiter, mediator, ump, justice, moderator, intermediary; (v) arbitrate, adjudicate, mediate.

Then this, I said, will be our first proof; and there is another, which may also have some weight.

What is that?

The second proof is derived from the nature of the soul: seeing that the individual soul, like the State, has been divided by us into three principles, the division may, I think, furnish a new **demonstration**.

Of what nature?

It seems to me that to these three principles three pleasures correspond; also three desires and **governing** powers.

How do you mean? he said.

There is one principle with which, as we were saying, a man learns, another with which he is angry; the third, having many forms, has no special name, but is denoted by the general term appetitive, from the extraordinary strength and **vehemence** of the desires of eating and drinking and the other sensual appetites which are the main elements of it; also money-loving, because such desires are generally satisfied by the help of money.

That is true, he said.

If we were to say that the loves and pleasures of this third part were concerned with gain, we should then be able to fall back on a single notion; and might truly and **intelligibly** describe this part of the soul as loving gain or money.

I agree with you.

Again, is not the passionate element wholly set on ruling and **conquering** and getting **fame**?

True.

Suppose we call it the contentious or ambitious — would the term be suitable? Extremely suitable.

On the other hand, every one sees that the principle of knowledge is wholly directed to the truth, and cares less than either of the others for gain or fame.

#### **Thesaurus**

**conquering**: (*adj*) triumphant, winning, overcoming, glorious, proud, successful; (*n*) conquest, seizure, reverse, subjection, subjugation.

demonstration: (n) parade,

presentation, argument, display, manifestation, exhibition, evidence, show, demo, testimony; (*n*, *v*) exposition. ANTONYM: (*n*) concealment. **fame**: (*n*, *v*) credit, celebrity, report,

reputation, renown, cry; (*n*) distinction, bruit, honor, prestige, buzz. ANTONYMS: (*n*) infamy, obscurity, anonymity, ignominy, dishonor, commonness, oblivion, criticism.

governing: (adj) ruling, leading, chief, ascendant, predominant, prevailing, executive; (v) govern; (n) governance, administration, government. ANTONYM: (adj) minor. intelligibly: (adv) comprehensibly,

understandably, clear, simply, comprehensible, distinctly, intelligible, cogently, aloud, understandingly, comprehensively. ANTONYMS: (adv) unintelligibly, incomprehensibly, incoherently. vehemence: (n) force, violence, fury, passion, eagerness, strength, impetuosity, enthusiasm, fierceness, heat, fervor. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, meekness, serenity.

Far less.

'Lover of wisdom,' 'lover of knowledge,' are titles which we may fitly apply to that part of the soul?

Certainly.

One principle prevails in the souls of one class of men, another in others, as may happen?

Yes.

Then we may begin by assuming that there are three classes of men—lovers of wisdom, lovers of honour, lovers of gain?

Exactly.

And there are three kinds of pleasure, which are their several objects?

Very true.

Now, if you **examine** the three classes of men, and ask of them in turn which of their lives is pleasantest, each will be found praising his own and depreciating that of others: the money-maker will **contrast** the vanity of honour or of learning if they bring no money with the **solid** advantages of gold and silver?

True, he said.

And the lover of honour—what will be his opinion? Will he not think that the pleasure of riches is vulgar, while the pleasure of learning, if it brings no distinction, is all **smoke** and **nonsense** to him?

Very true.

And are we to suppose, I said, that the philosopher sets any value on other pleasures in comparison with the pleasure of knowing the truth, and in that pursuit abiding, ever learning, not so far indeed from the heaven of pleasure? Does he not call the other pleasures necessary, under the idea that if there were no necessity for them, he would rather not have them?

There can be no **doubt** of that, he replied.

#### **Thesaurus**

contrast: (n) distinction, comparison, antithesis, difference, variation, opposite, collation; (adj, v) differ; (v) conflict, oppose, collate.
ANTONYMS: (n) sameness, likeness, alikeness; (v) accord, agree, compare, distance, conform.
doubt: (n, v) suspicion, question, query, dispute; (n) disbelief, misgiving, incertitude, apprehension,

uncertainty; (adj, n) skepticism; (v)

suspect. ANTONYMS: (n) certainty,

confidence, conclusiveness, belief, certitude, faith, approval; (v) accept, believe, consider, swallow. examine: (v) assay, audit, overhaul, try, consider, control, check, search, survey, ask, ascertain. ANTONYMS: (v) reply, skim, glance. nonsense: (n) bosh, absurdity,

nonsense: (n) bosh, absurdity, humbug, balderdash, foolishness, drivel, folderol, baloney, falderal, jargon, claptrap. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, wisdom, substance, fact. **smoke**: (*n*) fumes, cigarette, cigar, smog, fog; (*n*, *v*) reek, fumigate, puff; (*v*) exhale, cure; (*adj*) tobacco. **solid**: (*adj*, *v*) dense, compact, consistent, close, fixed; (*adj*) hard, strong, real, good, secure, substantial. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) soft, unreliable, loose, permeable, runny, gaseous, transparent, watery, slim, weak, brittle.

Since, then, the pleasures of each class and the life of each are in **dispute**, and the question is not which life is more or less honourable, or better or worse, but which is the more **pleasant** or painless—how shall we know who speaks truly?

I cannot myself tell, he said.

Well, but what ought to be the criterion? Is any better than experience and wisdom and reason?

There cannot be a better, he said.

Then, I said, reflect. Of the three individuals, which has the greatest experience of all the pleasures which we enumerated? Has the lover of gain, in learning the nature of essential truth, greater experience of the pleasure of knowledge than the philosopher has of the pleasure of gain?

The philosopher, he replied, has **greatly** the advantage; for he has of necessity always known the taste of the other pleasures from his childhood upwards: but the lover of gain in all his experience has not of necessity tasted—or, I should rather say, even had he desired, could hardly have tasted—the **sweetness** of learning and knowing truth.

Then the lover of wisdom has a great advantage over the lover of gain, for he has a double experience?

Yes, very great.

Again, has he greater experience of the pleasures of honour, or the lover of honour of the pleasures of wisdom?

Nay, he said, all three are honoured in proportion as they attain their object; for the rich man and the **brave** man and the wise man alike have their crowd of admirers, and as they all receive honour they all have experience of the pleasures of honour; but the delight which is to be found in the knowledge of true being is known to the philosopher only.

His experience, then, will enable him to judge better than any one? Far better.

And he is the only one who has wisdom as well as experience?

# **Thesaurus**

brave: (adj, n) bold, hardy; (adj)
audacious, fearless, courageous,
virile, intrepid, valiant; (adj, v)
endure; (v) defy, face. ANTONYMS:
(adj) cowardly, frightened, pathetic,
gutless, afraid, cautious, fainthearted,
meek, mousy, nervous; (v) skip.
dispute: (adj, n, v) quarrel, debate,
question; (n) conflict, difference; (n, v)
argue, wrangle, row, fight, squabble;
(v) discuss. ANTONYMS: (n)
agreement, understanding, accord,

concord; (v) surrender, concede, concur, confess, support, accept. greatly: (adv) badly, enormously, considerably, extremely, highly, vastly, immensely, mightily, hugely; (adj, adv) far, deeply. ANTONYMS: (adv) mildly, hardly, superficially, poorly, lightly, insignificantly, barely, moderately.

pleasant: (adj) jolly, amiable, agreeable, acceptable, nice, charming, kindly, facetious, joyful, pretty; (adj,

v) pleasing. ANTONYMS: (adj) disgusting, horrible, repugnant, nasty, gruesome, unwelcome, harsh, shocking, disagreeable, foul, terrible. sweetness: (n) sugariness, sweet, redolence, pleasantness, fragrance, aroma, charm, perfume, amenity, niceness, kindness. ANTONYMS: (n) sourness, sharpness, unpleasantness, harshness, tastelessness, unkindness.

Certainly.

Further, the very faculty which is the instrument of **judgment** is not possessed by the covetous or ambitious man, but only by the philosopher?

What faculty?

Reason, with whom, as we were saying, the decision ought to rest.

Yes.

And reasoning is **peculiarly** his instrument?

Certainly.

If wealth and gain were the criterion, then the praise or **blame** of the lover of gain would surely be the most **trustworthy**?

Assuredly.

Or if honour or victory or courage, in that case the judgment of the ambitious or pugnacious would be the truest?

Clearly.

But since experience and wisdom and reason are the judges –

The only inference possible, he replied, is that pleasures which are approved by the lover of wisdom and reason are the truest.

And so we arrive at the result, that the pleasure of the **intelligent** part of the soul is the pleasantest of the three, and that he of us in whom this is the ruling principle has the pleasantest life.

Unquestionably, he said, the wise man speaks with authority when he approves of his own life.

And what does the judge affirm to be the life which is next, and the pleasure which is next?

Clearly that of the soldier and lover of honour; who is nearer to himself than the money-maker.

Last comes the lover of gain?

Very true, he said.

## **Thesaurus**

blame: (v) arraign, chide; (n, v) reprimand, censure, attack, charge, reproach, rap, rebuke, fault; (n) onus. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise; (v) absolve, exonerate, commend, clear, acquit; (n) vindication, exoneration, honor, absolution, glory. intelligent: (adj) intellectual, astute, sensible, alert, rational, quick-witted, bright, cunning, gifted, knowledgeable, brilliant. ANTONYMS: (adj) dim, thick, slow,

stupid, dull, foolish.

judgment: (n, v) decision, belief,
discernment, condemnation, sense,
discrimination; (n) determination,
discretion, opinion, assessment,
adjudication. ANTONYMS: (n)
clumsiness, request, tastelessness.
peculiarly: (adj, adv) particularly,
curiously, unusually, uncommonly,
singularly; (adv) especially, oddly,
strangely, specifically, weirdly,
specially. ANTONYMS: (adv)

typically, ordinarily, slightly. **trustworthy**: (adj) honest, trusty, dependable, safe, faithful, sound, certain, good, responsible; (adj, n, v) credible; (adj, n) true. ANTONYMS: (adj) suspect, dubious, untrustworthy, undependable, sneaky, doubtful, deceitful, disloyal, disreputable, irresponsible, degenerate.

Twice in succession, then, has the just man overthrown the unjust in this conflict; and now comes the third trial, which is **dedicated** to Olympian Zeus the saviour: a sage whispers in my ear that no pleasure except that of the wise is quite true and pure—all others are a shadow only; and surely this will prove the greatest and most **decisive** of falls?

Yes, the greatest; but will you explain yourself?

I will work out the subject and you shall answer my questions.

Proceed.

Say, then, is not pleasure opposed to pain?

True

And there is a neutral state which is neither pleasure nor pain?

There is.

A state which is intermediate, and a sort of repose of the soul about either—that is what you mean?

Yes.

You remember what people say when they are sick?

What do they say?

That after all nothing is pleasanter than health. But then they never knew this to be the greatest of pleasures until they were ill.

Yes, I know, he said.

And when persons are suffering from acute pain, you must have heard them say that there is nothing pleasanter than to get rid of their pain?

I have.

And there are many other cases of suffering in which the mere rest and cessation of pain, and not any positive **enjoyment**, is **extolled** by them as the greatest pleasure?

Yes, he said; at the time they are pleased and well content to be at rest.

dedicate, ANTONYMS: (adi)

Again, when pleasure ceases, that sort of rest or cessation will be painful?

#### **Thesaurus**

decisive: (adj) conclusive, crucial, critical, decided, important, final, authoritative; (adj, v) positive, definite, categorical, unqualified. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncertain, weak, unsure, roundabout, questionable, indefinite, unconvincing, inconsequential, inconclusive, hesitant, insignificant. dedicated: (adj) consecrate, zealous, devoted, committed, sacred, votive, passionate, eager, fervent, holy; (prep)

desecrated, uncommitted, halfhearted, disloyal, undedicated, unenthusiastic, unfaithful, generalized, uncaring. enjoyment: (n) delight, appreciation, gratification, comfort, relish, satisfaction, happiness, delectation, gusto, amusement, diversion.

ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, abhorrence, antipathy, apathy, aversion, discomfort, displeasure,

dissatisfaction, misery, repulsion, sorrow.

**extolled**: (*adj*) decorated, dignified, exalted, elevated, adorned, emblazoned, inscribed.

painful: (adj) hard, difficult, sharp, harrowing, grievous, afflictive, bad, irritating; (adj, v) distressing, harsh, bitter. ANTONYMS: (adj) content, heartwarming, soothing, comfortable, bearable, agreeable, effortless, dull, slight, wonderful, happy.

Doubtless, he said.

Then the intermediate state of rest will be pleasure and will also be pain?

So it would seem.

But can that which is neither become both?

I should say not.

And both pleasure and pain are motions of the soul, are they not?

Yes.

But that which is neither was just now **shown** to be rest and not motion, and in a mean between them?

Yes.

How, then, can we be right in supposing that the **absence** of pain is pleasure, or that the absence of pleasure is pain?

# Impossible.

This then is an appearance only and not a reality; that is to say, the rest is pleasure at the moment and in comparison of what is painful, and painful in comparison of what is pleasant; but all these representations, when **tried** by the **test** of true pleasure, are not real but a sort of **imposition**?

That is the inference.

Look at the other class of pleasures which have no antecedent pains and you will no longer suppose, as you perhaps may at present, that pleasure is only the cessation of pain, or pain of pleasure.

What are they, he said, and where shall I find them?

There are many of them: take as an example the pleasures of **smell**, which are very great and have no antecedent pains; they come in a moment, and when they depart leave no pain behind them.

Most true, he said.

Let us not, then, be induced to believe that pure pleasure is the cessation of pain, or pain of pleasure.

#### **Thesaurus**

absence: (n) absenteeism, deficiency, lack, default, dearth, want, nonattendance, scarcity, paucity, shortage, privation. ANTONYMS: (n) attendance, existence, fulfillment, inclusion, occurrence, abundance, glut, confirmation, supply, excess. imposition: (adj, n) exaction; (n) cheat, trick, deceit, imposture, demand, hoax, tax, swindle, wile, infliction. impossible: (adj) unimaginable, insufferable, unbelievable, hopeless,

impracticable, impractical, inconceivable, unlikely, unthinkable, unable, ridiculous. ANTONYMS: (adj) feasible, achievable, manageable, bearable, attainable, on, tolerable, probable, hopeful, easy, consistent.

shown: (adj) manifest, revealed, exhibited, ostensible, avowed, declared, denoted, given away; (v) appear, represent, indicate.

ANTONYM: (adj) hidden.

smell: (n, v) odor, scent, savor, perfume, stink, stench; (v) nose; (n) fragrance, bouquet, savour, odour. test: (adj, n) trial; (v) prove, examine; (n, v) audition, sample, quiz, essay, assay, experiment, try; (n) examination. ANTONYM: (n) recess. tried: (adj) reliable, tested, trustworthy, dependable, proven, proved, experienced, practiced, just, conquered, believable. ANTONYMS: (adj) untried, unreliable.

No.

Still, the more numerous and **violent** pleasures which reach the soul through the body are generally of this sort—they are reliefs of pain.

That is true.

And the anticipations of future pleasures and pains are of a like nature?

Yes.

Shall I give you an illustration of them?

Let me hear.

You would allow, I said, that there is in nature an upper and lower and middle **region**?

I should.

And if a person were to go from the lower to the middle region, would he not imagine that he is going up; and he who is standing in the middle and sees whence he has come, would imagine that he is already in the upper region, if he has never seen the true upper world?

To be sure, he said; how can he think otherwise?

But if he were taken back again he would imagine, and truly imagine, that he was descending?

No doubt.

All that would arise out of his ignorance of the true upper and middle and lower **regions**?

Yes.

Then can you wonder that persons who are **inexperienced** in the truth, as they have wrong ideas about many other things, should also have wrong ideas about pleasure and pain and the intermediate state; so that when they are only being drawn towards the painful they feel pain and think the pain which they experience to be real, and in like manner, when drawn away from pain to the **neutral** or intermediate state, they **firmly** believe that they have reached the goal

#### **Thesaurus**

firmly: (adv) solidly, steadfastly, securely, resolutely, strongly, steadily, unwaveringly, stably, fixedly, robustly, rigidly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) weakly, loosely, uncertainly, halfheartedly, leniently, unsteadily, shakily, yielding, indefinitely, irresolutely, feebly.

inexperienced: (adj) naive, young, callow, ignorant, unsophisticated, new, unexperienced, clumsy; (adj, v) raw; (v) green; (n) inexperience.

ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, sophisticated, skilled, knowledgeable, expert, accustomed, sharp, seasoned.

neutral: (adj) indifferent, impartial, impersonal, dispassionate, noncommittal, inert, colorless, unbiased, fair, objective; (adj, n) neuter. ANTONYMS: (adj) colorful, aromatic, partisan, positive, negative, bright, proactive, vivid, subjective, strong, partial.

region: (adv, n) country; (n) field, domain, district, area, realm, part, province, locality, division, circuit. regions: (n) area, region, parts. violent: (adj, n) rough, furious, tempestuous, severe, turbulent, boisterous, powerful; (adj, v) vehement; (adj) raging, intense, sharp. ANTONYMS: (adj) gentle, calm, nonviolent, mild, passive, moderate, pleasant, slight, refined, relaxed, friendly.

of **satiety** and pleasure; they, not knowing pleasure, err in contrasting pain with the absence of pain, which is like contrasting black with **grey instead** of white—can you **wonder**, I say, at this?

No, indeed; I should be much more disposed to wonder at the opposite.

Look at the matter thus:—Hunger, thirst, and the like, are inanitions of the bodily state?

Yes.

And ignorance and folly are inanitions of the soul?

True.

And food and wisdom are the corresponding satisfactions of either?

Certainly.

And is the satisfaction derived from that which has less or from that which has more **existence** the truer?

Clearly, from that which has more.

What classes of things have a greater share of pure existence in your judgment—those of which food and **drink** and condiments and all kinds of **sustenance** are examples, or the class which contains true opinion and knowledge and mind and all the different kinds of virtue? Put the question in this way:—Which has a more pure being—that which is concerned with the invariable, the immortal, and the true, and is of such a nature, and is found in such natures; or that which is concerned with and found in the variable and mortal, and is itself variable and mortal?

Far purer, he replied, is the being of that which is concerned with the invariable.

And does the essence of the invariable partake of knowledge in the same degree as of essence?

Yes, of knowledge in the same degree.

And of truth in the same degree?

#### **Thesaurus**

**drink**: (*n*, *v*) beverage, draught, swallow; (*n*) alcohol, brew, potion, intoxicant; (*v*) booze, carouse, bib, swig. ANTONYMS: (*v*) regurgitate, sip, abstain.

existence: (*n*) being, entity, life, subsistence, living, essence, lifetime, aliveness, actuality, occurrence, availability. ANTONYMS: (*n*) nonbeing, nonexistence, absence, extinction.

grey: (adj) ashen, dim, dull, cloudy,

bleak, dismal, drab, gloomy, greyish, leaden; (n) grayness.

**instead**: (*adv*) instead of, alternatively, as an alternative, in place of, more willingly, to compensate for, sooner, preferably, otherwise, on the other hand; (*n*) lieu.

satiety: (n) surfeit, repletion, fullness, glut, fill, saturation, disgust, cloyment, ennui, satisfaction.
sustenance: (n) living, food, maintenance, subsistence, fare,

sustentation, provisions, nourishment, nutriment, aliment, livelihood. ANTONYM: (*n*) extras. **wonder**: (*adj*, *n*) prodigy; (*n*) astonishment, admiration, amazement, surprise, miracle, phenomenon, muse; (*v*) admire, reflect, question. ANTONYMS: (*n*) expectation, belief, disapproval; (*v*) know, believe, anticipate, decide.

Yes.

And, conversely, that which has less of truth will also have less of essence? Necessarily.

Then, in general, those kinds of things which are in the service of the body have less of truth and essence than those which are in the service of the soul?

Far less.

And has not the body itself less of truth and essence than the soul?

What is filled with more real existence, and actually has a more real existence, is more really filled than that which is filled with less real existence and is less real?

Of course.

And if there be a pleasure in being filled with that which is according to nature, that which is more really filled with more real being will more really and truly enjoy true pleasure; whereas that which participates in less real being will be less truly and surely satisfied, and will participate in an illusory and less real pleasure?

Unquestionably.

Those then who know not wisdom and virtue, and are always busy with gluttony and sensuality, go down and up again as far as the mean; and in this region they move at random throughout life, but they never pass into the true upper world; thither they neither look, nor do they ever find their way, neither are they truly filled with true being, nor do they taste of pure and abiding pleasure. Like cattle, with their eyes always looking down and their heads stooping to the earth, that is, to the dining-table, they fatten and feed and breed, and, in their excessive love of these delights, they kick and butt at one another with horns and hoofs which are made of iron; and they kill one another by reason of their insatiable lust. For they fill themselves with that which is not

#### **Thesaurus**

**butt**: (v) bunt, abut; (n) extremity, stump, grip, stub, rump, cask, rear, tail; (n, v) edge.

fill: (v) block, clog, stuff, line, charge, execute, accomplish, complete, brim, fulfill; (n) crowd. ANTONYMS: (v) empty, free, deplete, unpack, unload, notch, deflate, desert.

filled: (adj) replete, packed, fraught, teeming, laden, abundant, congested, charged, stuffed; (adj, adv) crowded; (n) fuller. ANTONYMS: (adj) lacking, participate: (v) engage, participation,

illusory: (adj) deceptive, unreal, imaginary, fantastic, delusive, fictitious, fanciful, deceitful, insubstantial, visionary, fallacious. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, honest,

genuine. **kick**: (v) grumble, complain; (n) bitch, beef, thrill, gripe, charge, excitement; (n, v) recoil, spurn, protest. ANTONYMS: (v) start; (n) bore.

take part, enter, join, attend, contribute, share, assist, experience, jump. ANTONYMS: (v) observe, avoid, leave.

random: (adj) accidental, aimless, patchy, irregular, fortuitous, arbitrary, casual, indiscriminate, incidental; (n) chance, accident. ANTONYMS: (adj) systematic, nonrandom, regular, predictable, ordered, logical, exact, discerning, methodical, organized, deliberate.

substantial, and the part of themselves which they fill is also **unsubstantial** and incontinent.

Verily, Socrates, said Glaucon, you describe the life of the many like an oracle.

Their pleasures are **mixed** with pains—how can they be otherwise? For they are mere shadows and pictures of the true, and are **coloured** by contrast, which exaggerates both light and **shade**, and so they implant in the minds of fools insane desires of themselves; and they are fought about as Stesichorus says that the Greeks fought about the shadow of Helen at Troy in ignorance of the truth.

Something of that sort must inevitably happen.

And must not the like happen with the spirited or passionate element of the soul? Will not the passionate man who carries his passion into action, be in the like case, whether he is envious and ambitious, or violent and contentious, or **angry** and **discontented**, if he be seeking to attain honour and victory and the satisfaction of his anger without reason or sense?

Yes, he said, the same will happen with the spirited element also.

Then may we not confidently assert that the lovers of money and honour, when they seek their pleasures under the guidance and in the company of reason and knowledge, and pursue after and win the pleasures which wisdom shows them, will also have the truest pleasures in the highest degree which is attainable to them, inasmuch as they follow truth; and they will have the pleasures which are natural to them, if that which is best for each one is also most natural to him?

Yes, certainly; the best is the most natural.

And when the whole soul follows the philosophical principle, and there is no division, the several parts are just, and do each of them their own business, and enjoy severally the best and truest pleasures of which they are capable?

Exactly.

#### **Thesaurus**

angry: (adj) anger, furious, provoked, incensed, vehement, fierce, irate, raging, maddened, shirty, indignation. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleased, gentle, joyful, content, euphoric, mild, happy, resigned, joyous, gleeful, quiet. coloured: (adj) colorful, biased, black, partial, painted, dyed, unfair, blue, hued, color, artificial. discontented: (adj, v) querulous, complaining; (adj) disaffected,

disgruntled, malcontent, unsatisfied, dissatisfied, displeased, miserable, put out, ungratified. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleased, satisfied, happy, content.

**happen**: (*n*, *v*) betide; (*v*) arise, befall, develop, go, come, fall, chance, come about, occur, get. ANTONYM: (*v*)

**mixed**: (*adj*) miscellaneous, composite, assorted, heterogeneous, medley, integrated, impure, amalgamated,

motley, diverse; (adj, v) mingled. ANTONYMS: (adj) homogeneous, pure, insular, uniform, limited. shade: (n, v) screen, tinge, shadow, tint, color, cloud; (n) ghost, hue, blind, conceal, tone. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, glare; (v) brighten, clarify, expose.

**unsubstantial**: (*adj*) unreal, airy, thin, imaginary, shadowy, light, empty, immaterial, insignificant, vaporous; (*adj*, *v*) flimsy.

But when either of the two other principles prevails, it fails in attaining its own pleasure, and compels the rest to pursue after a pleasure which is a shadow only and which is not their own?

True.

And the greater the interval which separates them from philosophy and reason, the more strange and illusive will be the pleasure?

Yes.

And is not that farthest from reason which is at the greatest distance from law and order?

Clearly.

And the lustful and tyrannical desires are, as we saw, at the greatest distance? Yes.

And the royal and orderly desires are nearest?

Yes.

Then the tyrant will live at the greatest distance from true or natural pleasure, and the king at the least?

Certainly.

But if so, the tyrant will live most **unpleasantly**, and the king most pleasantly?

Inevitably.

Would you know the measure of the interval which separates them?

Will you tell me?

There appear to be three pleasures, one **genuine** and two **spurious**: now the **transgression** of the tyrant reaches a point beyond the spurious; he has run away from the region of law and reason, and taken up his abode with certain slave pleasures which are his satellites, and the measure of his inferiority can only be expressed in a figure.

How do you mean?

#### **Thesaurus**

genuine: (adj, n) authentic, true, faithful; (adj) unsophisticated, sincere, candid, hearty, factual, artless, very, real. ANTONYMS: (adj) insincere, bogus, fake, affected, artificial, dishonest, pretend, false, hypocritical, replica, counterfeit. pleasantly: (adv) pleasingly, nicely, cheerily, enjoyably, agreeably, delightfully, sunnily, genially, gratifyingly, kindly; (adv, v) happily. ANTONYMS: (adv) disagreeably,

offensively, awfully, discordantly, dreadfully, shockingly, unkindly, irritably, harshly, curtly, nastily. spurious: (adj, adv, v) counterfeit; (adj, adv, n) false; (adj) phony, fake, illegitimate, bogus, specious, misbegotten, bastardly; (adj, n) bastard; (adj, v) pseudo. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, authentic, valid.

**transgression**: (*n*) fault, crime, misdeed, error, infraction, offense,

violation, misconduct, breach, trespass, infringement. ANTONYMS: (n) piety, obedience. unpleasantly: (adv) distastefully, disagreeably, rudely, obnoxiously, bitterly, painfully, awfully, troublesomely, offensively, hardly, displeasingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) delightfully, agreeably, kindly, politely, graciously, attractively, sweetly, well, humbly.

I assume, I said, that the tyrant is in the third place from the oligarch; the democrat was in the middle?

Yes.

And if there is truth in what has preceded, he will be **wedded** to an image of pleasure which is thrice **removed** as to truth from the pleasure of the oligarch?

He will.

And the oligarch is third from the royal; since we **count** as one royal and aristocratical?

Yes, he is third.

Then the tyrant is removed from true pleasure by the space of a number which is three times three?

Manifestly.

The shadow then of tyrannical pleasure determined by the number of length will be a **plane** figure.

Certainly.

And if you raise the power and make the plane a solid, there is no difficulty in seeing how vast is the interval by which the tyrant is **parted** from the king.

Yes; the arithmetician will easily do the sum.

Or if some person begins at the other end and measures the interval by which the king is parted from the tyrant in truth of pleasure, he will find him, when the multiplication is completed, living 729 times more pleasantly, and the tyrant more **painfully** by this same interval.

What a wonderful calculation! And how **enormous** is the distance which separates the just from the unjust in regard to pleasure and pain!

Yet a true calculation, I said, and a number which nearly concerns human life, if human beings are concerned with days and nights and months and years. (729 NEARLY equals the number of days and nights in the year.)

Yes, he said, human life is certainly concerned with them.

#### **Thesaurus**

count: (v) compute, weigh, consider, estimate, matter; (n, v) calculate, tally, number, total; (n) calculation, computation. ANTONYMS: (v) guess, except, estimate, disregard, dismiss, abandon, ignore, subtract. enormous: (adj) huge, big, colossal, vast, prodigious, excessive, exorbitant, great, large, tremendous, stupendous. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, minute, insignificant, miniature, measly, diminutive,

affordable, little, slim, ordinary, minor.

painfully: (adv) sorely, grievously, distressingly, severely, tenderly, badly, agonizingly, laboriously, sadly, bitterly, poignantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) easily, tolerably. parted: (adj) divided, separate,

distributed, separated, divisible, disunited, compounder, compound, dividable.

**plane**: (adj, v) even, smooth; (n, v)

airplane; (*adj*) flat, horizontal, flush; (*n*) face, surface, aircraft, degree; (*v*) flatter

removed: (adj) distant, remote, separate, far, detached, abstracted, absent, apart, aloof, separated, outlying. ANTONYMS: (adj) connected, together, worldly. wedded: (adj, v) marital, connubial, matrimonial, conjugal, wed; (adj) nuptial, bridal. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmarried, unattached.

Then if the good and just man be thus superior in pleasure to the evil and unjust, his superiority will be infinitely greater in propriety of life and in beauty and virtue?

Immeasurably greater.

Well, I said, and now having arrived at this stage of the argument, we may revert to the words which brought us hither: Was not some one saying that injustice was a gain to the perfectly unjust who was reputed to be just?

Yes, that was said.

Now then, having determined the power and quality of justice and injustice, let us have a little conversation with him.

What shall we say to him?

Let us make an image of the soul, that he may have his own words presented before his eyes.

Of what sort?

An ideal image of the soul, like the composite creations of ancient mythology, such as the Chimera or Scylla or Cerberus, and there are many others in which two or more different natures are said to grow into one.

There are said of have been such unions.

Then do you now model the form of a multitudinous, many-headed monster, having a ring of heads of all manner of beasts, **tame** and wild, which he is able to **generate** and **metamorphose** at will.

You suppose **marvellous** powers in the artist; but, as language is more **pliable** than wax or any similar **substance**, let there be such a model as you propose.

Suppose now that you make a second form as of a lion, and a third of a man, the second smaller than the first, and the third smaller than the second.

That, he said, is an easier task; and I have made them as you say.

And now join them, and let the three grow into one.

#### **Thesaurus**

**generate**: (*v*) develop, bear, cause, beget, bring about, get, provoke, yield, produce, father; (*n*, *v*) engender. ANTONYMS: (*v*) defuse, halt.

marvellous: (adj) fantastic, extraordinary, terrific, tremendous, wondrous, marvelous, wonderful, tall, miraculous, improbable, thumping.

**metamorphose**: (*v*) alter, change, convert, transfigure, turn, transmute,

transmogrify, translate, become, reverse, ring the changes. pliable: (adj) elastic, ductile, soft, malleable, flexile, susceptible, yielding; (adj. v) plastic, lithe, pliant, limber. ANTONYMS: (adj) stiff, inflexible, intractable, firm, hard, unyielding, wild.

revert: (v) lapse, relapse, go back, recur, reverse, regress, reflect, recover, resume, get back, come back.

ANTONYMS: (v) improve, progress.

meaning, amount, means, gist, core. ANTONYMS: (n) meaninglessness, lightness, surface. tame: (v) break, subdue, soften, domesticate; (adj) meek, docile, bland, domestic, gentle, slow; (adj, v) moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, bright, unmanageable, interesting, untamed, inspiring, brilliant, colorful, rebellious, lively.

substance: (adj, n) subject; (n) body,

significance, import, material, matter,

That has been accomplished.

Next fashion the outside of them into a single image, as of a man, so that he who is not able to look within, and sees only the outer **hull**, may believe the beast to be a single human creature.

I have done so, he said.

And now, to him who maintains that it is profitable for the human creature to be unjust, and unprofitable to be just, let us reply that, if he be right, it is profitable for this creature to feast the multitudinous monster and strengthen the lion and the lion-like qualities, but to **starve** and **weaken** the man, who is consequently liable to be dragged about at the mercy of either of the other two; and he is not to attempt to **familiarize** or **harmonize** them with one another—he ought rather to suffer them to fight and **bite** and devour one another.

Certainly, he said; that is what the **approver** of injustice says.

To him the **supporter** of justice makes answer that he should ever so speak and act as to give the man within him in some way or other the most complete mastery over the entire human creature. He should watch over the manyheaded monster like a good husbandman, fostering and **cultivating** the gentle qualities, and preventing the wild ones from growing; he should be making the lion-heart his ally, and in common care of them all should be uniting the several parts with one another and with himself.

Yes, he said, that is quite what the maintainer of justice say.

And so from every point of view, whether of pleasure, honour, or advantage, the approver of justice is right and speaks the truth, and the disapprover is wrong and false and ignorant?

Yes, from every point of view.

Come, now, and let us gently reason with the unjust, who is not intentionally in error. 'Sweet Sir,' we will say to him, 'what think you of things esteemed noble and ignoble? Is not the noble that which subjects the beast to the man, or rather to the god in man; and the ignoble that which subjects the man to the beast?' He can hardly avoid saying Yes—can he now?

#### **Thesaurus**

accord; (v) fit, blend, reconcile,

approver: (n) probator.
bite: (n, v) nip, cut, taste, hurt, pain; (v) pinch, chew, erode, gnaw, eat; (n) morsel. ANTONYMS: (n) lot, whole, mildness.
cultivating: (adj) educating, taming, humanizing, calming.
familiarize: (adj, v) accustom; (v) adapt, familiarise, habituate, introduce, present, acquainted,

popularize, adjust, initiate, inform.

**harmonize**: (n, v) correspond; (adj, v)

coincide, consort, adjust, concur, accommodate, check. ANTONYMS: (v) conflict, jar. hull: (n) crust, casing, hulk, husk, structure, body, dried parchment; (n, v) skin; (adj) torso, trunk, bole. starve: (v) fast, crave, lust, hunger, thirst, perish, be hungry, deprive, benumb; (adj, v) pinch; (adj) gripe. ANTONYMS: (v) feed, eat. supporter: (n) sponsor, backer,

admirer, friend, ally, follower, patron, believer, protagonist, advocate, benefactor. ANTONYMS: (n) opponent, skeptic, detractor, critic, attacker, enemy, foe, rebel. weaken: (n, v) dilute; (v) lessen, diminish, debilitate, break, attenuate, relax, undermine, enervate, thin; (adj, v) enfeeble. ANTONYMS: (v) bolster, grow, escalate, increase, refresh, improve, enhance, continue, condense, concentrate, boost.

Not if he has any regard for my opinion.

But, if he agree so far, we may ask him to answer another question: 'Then how would a man profit if he received gold and silver on the condition that he was to enslave the noblest part of him to the worst? Who can imagine that a man who sold his son or daughter into slavery for money, especially if he sold them into the hands of fierce and evil men, would be the gainer, however large might be the sum which he received? And will any one say that he is not a miserable caitiff who **remorselessly** sells his own divine being to that which is most godless and detestable? Eriphyle took the **necklace** as the price of her husband's life, but he is taking a **bribe** in order to compass a worse ruin.'

Yes, said Glaucon, far worse – I will answer for him.

Has not the intemperate been censured of old, because in him the huge multiform monster is allowed to be too much at large?

Clearly.

And men are blamed for pride and bad temper when the lion and **serpent** element in them **disproportionately** grows and gains strength?

Yes.

And luxury and softness are blamed, because they relax and weaken this same creature, and make a coward of him?

Very true.

And is not a man reproached for flattery and meanness who subordinates the spirited animal to the **unruly** monster, and, for the sake of money, of which he can never have enough, habituates him in the days of his youth to be trampled in the mire, and from being a lion to become a **monkey**?

True, he said.

And why are mean employments and manual arts a reproach? Only because they imply a natural weakness of the higher principle; the individual is unable to control the creatures within him, but has to court them, and his great study is how to flatter them.

#### **Thesaurus**

bribe: (n) bribery, boodle, lure, payment, payoff; (v) corrupt, fix, pay off, pervert, blackmail; (n, v) reward. disproportionately: (adv) unevenly, unequally, irregularly, excessively, asymmetrically, unduely, incommensurately, lopsidedly, unbalancedly, unsymmetrically, disproportionally. ANTONYMS: (adv) proportionately, justifiably, evenly.

monkey: (n) imp, primate, scamp,

rascal, battering ram; (v) tinker, meddle, tamper, trifle, cuckoo, echo. necklace: (n) collar, chain, chaplet, bracelet, necklet, string, corona, neckband, jewelry, coronet, crown. remorselessly: (adv) mercifessly, relentlessly, unmercifully, ruthlessly, brutally, unrelentingly, fiercely, grimly, unpityingly, inhumanly, callously. serpent: (n) snake, ophidian, viper, snake in the grass, reptile,

rattlesnake, colubrid, contrafagotto, cor anglais, hautboy; (v) goose. unruly: (adj) boisterous, insubordinate, disobedient, intractable, headstrong, uncontrollable, wayward, rambunctious, ungovernable, lawless, rebellious. ANTONYMS: (adj) manageable, obedient, yielding, biddable, compliant, loyal, gentle, peaceful, placid, restrained.

Such appears to be the reason.

And therefore, being desirous of placing him under a rule like that of the best, we say that he ought to be the servant of the best, in whom the Divine rules; not, as Thrasymachus supposed, to the **injury** of the servant, but because every one had better be ruled by divine wisdom dwelling within him; or, if this be impossible, then by an external authority, in order that we may be all, as far as possible, under the same government, friends and equals.

True, he said.

And this is clearly seen to be the intention of the law, which is the ally of the whole city; and is seen also in the authority which we exercise over children, and the **refusal** to let them be free until we have established in them a principle analogous to the constitution of a state, and by cultivation of this higher element have set up in their hearts a guardian and ruler like our own, and when this is done they may go their ways.

Yes, he said, the purpose of the law is manifest.

From what point of view, then, and on what ground can we say that a man is profited by injustice or intemperance or other baseness, which will make him a worse man, even though he acquire money or power by his wickedness?

From no point of view at all.

What shall he profit, if his injustice be undetected and unpunished? He who is undetected only gets worse, whereas he who is detected and punished has the **brutal** part of his nature **silenced** and humanized; the gentler element in him is liberated, and his whole soul is perfected and ennobled by the **acquirement** of justice and temperance and wisdom, more than the body ever is by receiving gifts of beauty, strength and health, in proportion as the soul is more honourable than the body.

Certainly, he said.

To this nobler purpose the man of understanding will devote the energies of his life. And in the first place, he will honour studies which impress these qualities on his soul and will disregard others?

#### **Thesaurus**

acquirement: (adj, n) accomplishment; (n) acquisition, achievement, skill, workmanship, craftsmanship, purchase, ability, mastery, science, procurement.

brutal: (adj) barbaric, barbarous, bestial, hard, cruel, unkind, vicious, savage, harsh, truculent, barbarian. ANTONYMS: (adj) merciful, kind, liberal, humane, generous, caring, friendly, nice, pleasant.
injury: (n, v) harm, grievance,

detriment, damage, hurt; (n) disservice, wound, impairment, ill, bruise, affront. ANTONYMS: (n) reparation, justice, help, defense, benefit.

manifest: (adj) evident, distinct, conspicuous, clear, patent, plain; (v) display, demonstrate, exhibit, evidence; (n, v) declare.

ANTONYMS: (v) hide; (adj) hidden, obscure, secret, inconspicuous, veiled, furtive, avoidable,

ambiguous; (adv) absent.

refusal: (n) denial, declination,
negative, rebuff, rejection, no,
prohibition, ban, repulse, negation,
exclusion. ANTONYMS: (n)
permission, acceptance, compliance,
approval, disposition, inclination,
affirmative, affirmation.
silenced: (adj) mute, muffled,
disabled.

Clearly, he said.

In the next place, he will regulate his bodily habit and training, and so far will he be from yielding to brutal and irrational pleasures, that he will regard even health as quite a **secondary** matter; his first object will be not that he may be fair or strong or well, unless he is likely **thereby** to gain temperance, but he will always desire so to **attemper** the body as to preserve the harmony of the soul?

Certainly he will, if he has true music in him.

And in the acquisition of wealth there is a principle of order and harmony which he will also observe; he will not allow himself to be dazzled by the foolish **applause** of the world, and heap up riches to his own infinite harm?

Certainly not, he said.

He will look at the city which is within him, and take heed that no disorder occur in it, such as might arise either from **superfluity** or from want; and upon this principle he will regulate his property and gain or spend according to his means.

Very true.

And, for the same reason, he will gladly accept and enjoy such honours as he deems likely to make him a better man; but those, whether private or public, which are likely to disorder his life, he will avoid?

Then, if that is his motive, he will not be a statesman.

By the dog of Egypt, he will! in the city which is his own he certainly will, though in the land of his **birth** perhaps not, unless he have a divine call.

I understand; you mean that he will be a ruler in the city of which we are the founders, and which exists in idea only; for I do not believe that there is such an one **anywhere** on earth?

In heaven, I replied, there is laid up a pattern of it, **methinks**, which he who desires may behold, and beholding, may set his own house in order. But whether such an one exists, or ever will exist in fact, is no matter; for he will live after the manner of that city, having nothing to do with any other.

#### **Thesaurus**

anywhere: (adv, n) anyplace; (adv) someplace, wherever, everywhere. applause: (n, v) acclaim, praise; (n) admiration, approval, eulogy, compliment, plaudit, commendation, clapping, clap, ovation.

ANTONYMS: (n) disapproval, Boos, booing, denigration, hisses, hissing, rejection, condemnation, criticism, jeering.

attemper: (v) cross, medicate, blend, adapt, accommodate, modify,

regulate, soothe, dash, besprinkle; (adj) contemper.
birth: (n) beginning, genesis, ancestry, descent, extraction, start, onset,

descent, extraction, start, onset, parentage, origin; (*v*) delivery; (*n*, *v*) parturition. ANTONYMS: (*n*) death, bereavement, ending, finale, finish, passing, end, decease, conclusion, demise.

methinks: (*adv*) meseems. secondary: (*adj*) lower, minor, inferior, ancillary, derivative, incidental, junior, indirect, auxiliary, second, less. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) main, basic, fundamental, primary, direct, chief, central, major, senior, concrete, original.

superfluity: (n) plethora, redundancy, superabundance, nimiety, overabundance, overplus, embarrassment, redundance, extravagance, surplus, glut.
ANTONYM: (n) shortfall.
thereby: (adv) whereby, hereby.

I think so, he said.

### BOOK X

Of the many excellences which I perceive in the order of our State, there is none which upon reflection pleases me better than the rule about poetry.

To what do you refer?

To the rejection of imitative poetry, which certainly ought not to be received; as I see far more clearly now that the parts of the soul have been distinguished.

What do you mean?

Speaking in **confidence**, for I should not like to have my words repeated to the tragedians and the rest of the imitative tribe—but I do not mind saying to you, that all poetical imitations are ruinous to the understanding of the hearers, and that the knowledge of their true nature is the only **antidote** to them.

Explain the purport of your remark.

Well, I will tell you, although I have always from my earliest youth had an awe and love of Homer, which even now makes the words **falter** on my lips, for he is the great **captain** and **teacher** of the whole of that charming tragic company; but a man is not to be **reverenced** more than the truth, and therefore I will speak out.

Very good, he said.

**Listen** to me then, or rather, answer me.

# antidote: (n) remedy, counterpoison, antifebrile, antipoison, antivenin, antispasmodic, curative, corrective, answer, antitoxin, solution. ANTONYM: (n) venom. captain: (n) head, master, leader, guide, commodore, commander, boss, skipper, chieftain; (v) govern, manage. ANTONYM: (n) minion. confidence: (n) assurance, certainty, certitude, belief, faith, hope, nerve, credit, conviction, reliance,

#### **Thesaurus**

expectation. ANTONYMS: (n) insecurity, doubt, nervousness, anxiety, diffidence, distrust, fear, timidity, hopelessness, aimlessness, embarrassment.

falter: (n, v) waver; (v) hesitate, stumble, stutter, stammer, halt, dither, bumble, doubt, teeter; (n) faltering. ANTONYMS: (v) persevere, persist, endure, remain.

**listen**: (*v*) hear, heed, hearken, attend, harken, list, listening, eavesdrop,

mind, concentrate, pay attention. **purport**: (*n*, *v*) aim, amount; (*n*) intent, drift, intention, meaning, end, effect, design; (*v*) mean, propose. **reverence**: (*adi*) revered, reverend, sacred, sublime, venerated, August, inspiring awe, emeritus, empyreal, empyrean, profoundly honored. **teacher**: (*n*) instructor, master, coach, preceptor, educator, mentor, tutor, missionary, guide, trainer, pedagogue. ANTONYM: (*n*) pupil.

Put your question.

Can you tell me what imitation is? for I really do not know.

A likely thing, then, that I should know.

Why not? for the duller eye may often see a thing **sooner** than the keener.

Very true, he said; but in your **presence**, even if I had any faint notion, I could not **muster** courage to utter it. Will you enquire yourself?

Well then, shall we **begin** the enquiry in our **usual** manner: Whenever a number of individuals have a common name, we assume them to have also a corresponding idea or form: – do you understand me?

Ldo.

Let us take any common instance; there are beds and tables in the world—plenty of them, are there not?

Yes.

But there are only two ideas or forms of them—one the idea of a bed, the other of a table.

True.

And the maker of either of them makes a bed or he makes a table for our use, in accordance with the idea—that is our way of speaking in this and similar instances—but no artificer makes the ideas themselves: how could he?

Impossible.

And there is another artist,—I should like to know what you would say of him.

Who is he?

One who is the maker of all the works of all other workmen.

What an extraordinary man!

Wait a little, and there will be more reason for your saying so. For this is he who is able to make not only vessels of every kind, but **plants** and animals,

#### **Thesaurus**

begin: (v) commence, arise, initiate, become, enter, rise, originate, undertake, create, dawn, set out. ANTONYMS: (v) end, stop, cease, terminate, die, delay, complete, conclude.

**muster**: (*v*) assemble, gather, congregate, collect, convene, rally, marshal, accumulate; (*n*) levy, gathering; (*n*, *v*) draft. ANTONYM: (*v*) demobilize.

plants: (n) flora, vegetation, trees,

industrial equipment, afforestation, animals, birds, flora and fauna, foliage, natural world, plantation. **presence**: (*n*) front, manner, mien, bearing, carriage, figure, air, comportment, demeanor, company; (*n*, *v*) attendance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) absence, nonattendance. **sooner**: (*adj*, *adv*) rather, earlier, before, preferably, instead; (*adv*) first, before

now, faster, previously, beforehand;

(adj) prior.

customary; (adj, n) habitual, accustomed, familiar, average, regular; (adj) everyday; (adj, v) frequent, general. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconventional, extraordinary, abnormal, irregular, atypical, exceptional, unprecedented, uncommon, rare, changing, unacceptable.

usual: (adj, n, v) ordinary, common,

himself and all other things—the earth and heaven, and the things which are in heaven or under the earth; he makes the gods also.

He must be a wizard and no **mistake**.

Oh! you are incredulous, are you? Do you mean that there is no such maker or creator, or that in one sense there might be a maker of all these things but in another not? Do you see that there is a way in which you could make them all yourself?

What way?

An easy way enough; or rather, there are many ways in which the feat might be quickly and easily accomplished, none quicker than that of turning a mirror round and round - you would soon enough make the sun and the heavens, and the earth and yourself, and other animals and plants, and all the other things of which we were just now speaking, in the mirror.

Yes, he said; but they would be appearances only.

Very good, I said, you are coming to the point now. And the painter too is, as I conceive, just such another — a creator of appearances, is he not?

Of course.

But then I suppose you will say that what he creates is untrue. And yet there is a sense in which the painter also creates a bed?

Yes, he said, but not a real bed.

And what of the maker of the bed? were you not saying that he too makes, not the idea which, according to our view, is the essence of the bed, but only a particular bed?

Yes, I did.

Then if he does not make that which exists he cannot make true existence, but only some semblance of existence; and if any one were to say that the work of the maker of the bed, or of any other workman, has real existence, he could hardly be supposed to be speaking the **truth**.

#### Thesaurus

easily: (adv) lightly, smoothly, facilely, fluently, readily, plainly, comfortably, uncomplicatedly, calmly, slowly, conveniently. ANTONYMS: (adv) hardly, unquestionably, laboriously, difficultly, barely, arduously, affectedly, inconveniently, seriously, formally. feat: (n) deed, accomplishment, achievement, act, effort, performance, mistake: (n, v) miss, blunder, err, slip; action, triumph, attainment, trick;

(adj) fetis . ANTONYM: (n) inaction. **hardly**: (adj, adv) barely, scarcely; (adv) severely, harshly, roughly, badly, toughly, laboriously, arduously, cruelly, heavily. ANTONYMS: (adv) extremely, fully, well, easily. mirror: (v) imitate, reflect, reproduce, represent; (n, v) copy, echo; (n)looking glass, looking-glass; (adj, n) standard, pattern, model. (n) failure, error, misconception,

misapprehension, defect, demerit; (v) misapprehend. ANTONYMS: (v) appreciate, distinguish, interpret. truth: (n) exactness, actuality, sincerity, verity, fidelity, fact, correctness, genuineness, faithfulness, certainty, honesty. ANTONYMS: (n) dishonesty, fabrication, falsehood, fiction, lie, inaccuracy, idealism, falsity, disloyalty, fallacy, invention.

At any rate, he replied, philosophers would say that he was not speaking the truth.

No wonder, then, that his work too is an indistinct **expression** of truth.

No wonder.

Suppose now that by the **light** of the examples just **offered** we enquire who this imitator is?

If you please.

Well then, here are three beds: one existing in nature, which is made by God, as I think that we may say — for no one else can be the maker?

No.

There is another which is the work of the carpenter?

Yes.

And the work of the painter is a third?

Yes

Beds, then, are of three kinds, and there are three artists who superintend them: God, the maker of the bed, and the painter?

Yes, there are three of them.

God, whether from **choice** or from necessity, made one bed in nature and one only; two or more such ideal beds neither ever have been nor ever will be made by God.

Why is that?

Because even if He had made but two, a third would still **appear** behind them which both of them would have for their idea, and that would be the ideal bed and not the two others.

Very true, he said.

God knew this, and He desired to be the real maker of a real bed, not a particular maker of a particular bed, and therefore He created a bed which is essentially and by nature one only.

#### **Thesaurus**

appear: (v) occur, seem, sound, come out, turn up, show, emerge, break, arrive, feel, arise. ANTONYMS: (v) vanish, hide, stop, sink, recede, go, depart.

**choice**: (*n*) vote, alternative, selection, option, preference, pick, pleasure, volition; (*adj*, *n*) favorite, election; (*adj*) excellent. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) inferior, fair, poor, worst, ordinary, inappropriate; (*n*) coercion, dearth, restriction, dislike.

expression: (n) phrase, voice, aspect, appearance, demonstration, declaration, manifestation, articulation, express, face, style. ANTONYMS: (n) hint, suggestion, smile, insinuation, concealment, misconstruction.

**light**: (adj) fair, facile, faint; (adj, v) clear; (n, v) fire, glow, flame; (v) kindle, inflame, ignite; (n) illumination. ANTONYMS: (adj) heavy, fattening, nauseating, testing,

stale; (n) darkness, shade, gloom, night; (v) extinguish, darken.

offered: (adj) presented, accessible, existing, obtainable, available, ready, on hand, to be had, unsolicited.

please: (v) delight, charm, amuse, entertain, oblige, enchant, enrapture; (adj, v) gratify, enjoy, like; (adj) glad. ANTONYMS: (v) displease, annoy, irritate, anger, distress, sicken, disappoint, dissatisfy, sadden, repel,

So we believe.

Shall we, then, speak of Him as the natural author or maker of the bed?

Yes, he replied; inasmuch as by the natural process of **creation** He is the author of this and of all other things.

And what shall we say of the carpenter—is not he also the maker of the bed?

But would you call the painter a creator and maker?

Certainly not.

Yet if he is not the maker, what is he in relation to the bed?

I think, he said, that we may fairly **designate** him as the imitator of that which the others make.

Good, I said; then you call him who is third in the **descent** from nature an imitator?

Certainly, he said.

And the tragic poet is an imitator, and therefore, like all other imitators, he is thrice removed from the king and from the truth?

That appears to be so.

Then about the imitator we are agreed. And what about the painter?—I would like to know whether he may be thought to imitate that which **originally** exists in nature, or only the creations of artists?

The latter.

As they are or as they appear? you have still to **determine** this.

What do you mean?

I mean, that you may look at a bed from different points of view, **obliquely** or directly or from any other point of view, and the bed will appear different, but there is no difference in reality. And the same of all things.

Yes, he said, the difference is only apparent.

## **Thesaurus**

creation: (n) world, production, invention, composition, conception, fabrication, foundation, formation, founding, piece, creature.

ANTONYMS: (n) end, annihilation.

descent: (adj, n) ancestry; (n) decline, birth, fall, declivity, declination, declension, drop, pedigree, blood, derivation. ANTONYMS: (n) improvement, rise, hike, upgrade, elevation, boost, ascension, gradient.

designate: (n, v) denominate, appoint,

note, name; (v) allocate, assign, delegate, define, allot, mark; (adj, n, v) denote. ANTONYMS: (v) disapprove, generalize, guess, oppose, elect. determine: (v) ascertain, define, appoint, adjudicate, set, specify, conclude, measure, designate, assign; (adj, v) resolve. ANTONYMS: (v) yield, question, comply, procrastinate, postpone, overlook, Miss, ignore, hesitate, disregard, balk.

obliquely: (adj, adv) athwart, transversely, askew; (adv) aslant, indirectly, slopingly, slantingly, sideways, sidelong, skewly, askance. ANTONYM: (adv) straight. originally: (adv) primitively, in the beginning, formerly, inventively, creatively, initially, firstly, at first, primordially, primevally, fundamentally. ANTONYMS: (adv) finally, lastly, unimaginatively.

Now let me ask you another question: Which is the art of **painting designed** to be—an imitation of things as they are, or as they appear—of appearance or of reality?

Of appearance.

Then the imitator, I said, is a long way off the truth, and can do all things because he **lightly** touches on a small part of them, and that part an image. For example: A painter will paint a cobbler, carpenter, or any other **artist**, though he knows nothing of their arts; and, if he is a good artist, he may deceive children or simple persons, when he shows them his picture of a carpenter from a distance, and they will fancy that they are looking at a real carpenter.

Certainly.

And whenever any one informs us that he has found a man who knows all the arts, and all things else that anybody knows, and every single thing with a higher degree of accuracy than any other man—whoever tells us this, I think that we can only imagine him to be a simple creature who is likely to have been deceived by some wizard or **actor** whom he met, and whom he thought **all**-knowing, because he himself was unable to **analyse** the nature of knowledge and ignorance and imitation.

Most true.

And so, when we hear persons saying that the tragedians, and Homer, who is at their head, know all the arts and all things human, virtue as well as vice, and divine things too, for that the good poet cannot compose well unless he knows his subject, and that he who has not this knowledge can never be a poet, we ought to consider whether here also there may not be a similar illusion. Perhaps they may have come across imitators and been deceived by them; they may not have remembered when they saw their works that these were but imitations thrice removed from the truth, and could easily be made without any knowledge of the truth, because they are appearances only and not realities? Or, after all, they may be in the right, and poets do really know the things about which they seem to the many to speak so well?

### **Thesaurus**

**actor**: (*n*, *v*) doer, performer; (*n*) player, agent, thespian, comedian, entertainer, mimic, histrion, artiste, impersonator. ANTONYMS: (*n*) fan, spectator.

**all-knowing**: (*adj*) omniscient, almighty.

analyse: (n) analysis; (v) scrutinize, take apart, study, analyze, parse, investigate, examine, dissect, consider, canvass. ANTONYM: (v) synthesize.

artist: (n) actor, artificer, player, master, musician, performer, draftsman, sculptor, painter, entertainer, maker. ANTONYM: (n) spectator.

designed: (adj) intentional, intended, deliberate, calculated, premeditated, willful, configured, aforethought, knowing, conscious; (v) advised. ANTONYMS: (adj) ingenuous, undesigned.

lightly: (adv) slightly, airily, thinly,

easily, gently, light, fairly, weakly, flimsily, delicately, wantonly. ANTONYMS: (adv) seriously, heavily, thickly, sturdily, angrily, hard, harshly, densely, brightly, awkwardly.

paint: (n, v) color, tint; (v) daub, coat, decorate, varnish, depict, enamel, lacquer, apply; (n) painting. seem: (v) appear, feel, seeming, loom,

seem: (v) appear, feel, seeming, loom, expect, show, beseem, sound, glitter, glisten, gleam. The question, he said, should by all means be considered.

Now do you suppose that if a person were able to make the original as well as the image, he would seriously devote himself to the image-making branch? Would he allow imitation to be the ruling principle of his life, as if he had nothing higher in him?

I should say not.

The real artist, who knew what he was imitating, would be interested in realities and not in imitations; and would desire to leave as memorials of himself works many and fair; and, instead of being the author of encomiums, he would prefer to be the theme of them.

Yes, he said, that would be to him a source of much greater honour and profit.

Then, I said, we must put a question to Homer; not about medicine, or any of the arts to which his poems only **incidentally** refer: we are not going to ask him, or any other poet, whether he has cured patients like Asclepius, or left behind him a school of medicine such as the Asclepiads were, or whether he only talks about medicine and other arts at second- hand; but we have a right to know respecting military tactics, politics, education, which are the chiefest and noblest subjects of his poems, and we may fairly ask him about them. 'Friend Homer,' then we say to him, 'if you are only in the second **remove** from truth in what you say of virtue, and not in the third – not an image maker or imitator – and if you are able to discern what pursuits make men better or worse in private or public life, tell us what State was ever better governed by your help? The good order of Lacedaemon is due to Lycurgus, and many other cities great and small have been similarly benefited by others; but who says that you have been a good legislator to them and have done them any good? Italy and Sicily boast of Charondas, and there is Solon who is renowned among us; but what city has anything to say about you?' Is there any city which he might name?

I think not, said Glaucon; not even the Homerids themselves **pretend** that he was a legislator.

### **Thesaurus**

boast: (v) bluster, brag, blow, crow, gasconade, show off, rodomontade, exult; (n, v) vaunt, pride; (n) arrogance. ANTONYMS: (n) deprecation; (v) downplay, lack. incidentally: (adv) casually, accidentally, in passing, by chance, occasionally, haphazardly, by the bye, apropos, incidently, indirectly; (adj, adv) en passant.

pretend: (adv, v) assume; (adj, v) sham, counterfeit, fake, play; (v)

dissimulate, dissemble, make believe, imagine, affect, act. ANTONYMS: (adj, v) real; (adj) genuine, natural, sincere.

remove: (v) oust, pull, expel, eject, deduct, discharge, strip, get rid of, delete; (adj, v) clear; (n, v) take. ANTONYMS: (v) place, install, add, wedge, take, bring, attach, construct, wrap, restore, provide.

**pretend**: (adv, v) assume; (adj, v) sham, counterfeit, fake, play; (v) renowned: (adj, n) illustrious, glorious; (adj) famous, famed, notable, noted,

eminent, distinguished, great, notorious, well-known.
ANTONYMS: (adj) obscure, anonymous, undistinguished.
similarly: (adv) correspondingly, analogously, equally, likewise, kindredly, also, relatedly, likely, samely; (adj) same, similar.
tactics: (v) art of war; (n) strategy, procedure, policy, plan, system, method, scheme, military science, castrametation, polity.

Well, but is there any war on record which was carried on successfully by him, or **aided** by his counsels, when he was alive?

There is not.

Or is there any invention of his, **applicable** to the arts or to human life, such as Thales the Milesian or Anacharsis the Scythian, and other ingenious men have conceived, which is attributed to him?

There is absolutely nothing of the kind.

But, if Homer never did any public service, was he privately a guide or teacher of any? Had he in his lifetime friends who loved to associate with him, and who handed down to posterity an Homeric way of life, such as was established by Pythagoras who was so greatly beloved for his wisdom, and whose followers are to this day quite **celebrated** for the order which was named after him?

Nothing of the kind is recorded of him. For surely, Socrates, Creophylus, the companion of Homer, that child of **flesh**, whose name always makes us **laugh**, might be more justly ridiculed for his **stupidity**, if, as is said, Homer was greatly neglected by him and others in his own day when he was alive?

Yes, I replied, that is the tradition. But can you imagine, Glaucon, that if Homer had really been able to educate and improve mankind—if he had possessed knowledge and not been a mere imitator—can you imagine, I say, that he would not have had many followers, and been honoured and loved by them? Protagoras of Abdera, and Prodicus of Ceos, and a **host** of others, have only to whisper to their contemporaries: 'You will never be able to manage either your own house or your own State until you appoint us to be your ministers of education'—and this ingenious device of theirs has such an effect in making men love them that their companions all but carry them about on their shoulders. And is it conceivable that the contemporaries of Homer, or again of Hesiod, would have allowed either of them to go about as rhapsodists, if they had really been able to make mankind virtuous? Would they not have been as unwilling to part with them as with gold, and have compelled them to stay at home with

### **Thesaurus**

aided: (adj) power, favored.
applicable: (adj, n) germane, felicitous;
(adj) pertinent, proper, suitable,
applicative, available, fitting,
apropos, relative, applicatory.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unsuitable,
irrelevant, inapplicable, impertinent,
unrelated.

celebrated: (adj) renowned, famous, distinguished, notable, noted, splendid, well-known, known, famed, eminent; (adj, n) glorious.

ANTONYMS: (adj) minor, unexalted, ordinary, obscure, undistinguished, inglorious, insignificant.

**flesh**: (*adj*) carnality, concupiscence; (*n*) mortality, beef, form, figure, frame, person, mankind, humanity, meat.

**host**: (*n*) horde, flock, army, mob, troop, multitude, throng, emcee, mass, swarm; (*adj*, *n*) legion. ANTONYMS: (*n*) guest, few. **laugh**: (*n*, *v*) joke, giggle, chortle, titter,

snicker; (v) smile; (n) jest, gag, jape, laughter, cackle. ANTONYM: (v) weep.

stupidity: (n) foolishness, nonsense, obtuseness, dullness, fatuity, absurdity, stolidity, slowness, denseness, idiocy, imbecility. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, logic, cleverness, shrewdness, wisdom, ability.

them? Or, if the master would not stay, then the disciples would have followed him about **everywhere**, until they had got education enough?

Yes, Socrates, that, I think, is quite true.

Then must we not infer that all these poetical individuals, beginning with Homer, are only imitators; they **copy images** of virtue and the like, but the truth they never reach? The poet is like a painter who, as we have already observed, will make a likeness of a cobbler though he understands nothing of cobbling; and his **picture** is good enough for those who know no more than he does, and **judge** only by colours and figures.

Quite so.

In like manner the poet with his words and phrases may be said to lay on the colours of the several arts, himself understanding their nature only enough to imitate them; and other people, who are as ignorant as he is, and judge only from his words, imagine that if he speaks of cobbling, or of military tactics, or of anything else, in metre and harmony and rhythm, he speaks very well—such is the sweet influence which melody and rhythm by nature have. And I think that you must have observed again and again what a poor appearance the tales of poets make when stripped of the colours which music puts upon them, and recited in simple prose.

Yes, he said.

They are like faces which were never really beautiful, but only **blooming**; and now the bloom of youth has passed away from them?

Exactly.

Here is another point: The imitator or maker of the image knows nothing of true existence; he knows appearances only. Am I not right?

Yes.

Then let us have a clear understanding, and not be satisfied with half an **explanation**.

Proceed.

### **Thesaurus**

bloom: (adj, n, v) flower; (v) prosper, flourish, thrive, burgeon; (adj, v) blow, fructify; (n) prime, blush, flush, bud. ANTONYMS: (v) shrivel, struggle, wane, die, deteriorate, decrease; (n) pallor, withering. copy: (n, v) counterfeit, duplicate, pattern, trace; (v) imitate, ape, follow; (adj, n, v) model; (n) imitation, transcription, reproduction.

ANTONYMS: (v) create, originate; (n) master.

everywhere: (adv) everyplace, all over, far and wide, overall, somewhere, far and near, about, where; (adv, pron) anywhere; (adv, n) anyplace; (adj) throughout. ANTONYM: (adv) nowhere.

image: (n, v) picture, fancy, design; (n) impression, conception, effigy, idea, form, resemblance, epitome; (v) depict. ANTONYM: (n) reality. judge: (v) consider, think, evaluate, believe, condemn, assess, calculate,

explanation: (n) annotation, commentary, definition, description, exposition, solution, justification, interpretation, gloss, excuse, key. ANTONYMS: (n) mystery, cloudiness, confusion, problem.

image: (n, v) picture, fancy, design; (n impression, conception, effigy, idea, form, resemblance, epitome; (v) depict. ANTONYM: (n) reality. judge: (v) consider, think, evaluate, believe, condemn, assess, calculate, guess; (n) arbitrator, arbiter; (n, v) umpire. ANTONYM: (v) doubt. picture: (v) describe, draw, imagine, depict; (n, v) photograph, paint, fancy; (n) effigy, drawing, likeness, depiction.

Of the painter we say that he will paint reins, and he will paint a bit?

Yes.

And the worker in leather and brass will make them?

Certainly.

But does the painter know the right form of the bit and reins? Nay, hardly even the workers in brass and leather who make them; only the horseman who knows how to use them—he knows their right form.

Most true.

And may we not say the same of all things?

What?

That there are three arts which are concerned with all things: one which uses, another which makes, a third which imitates them?

Yes.

And the excellence or beauty or truth of every structure, **animate** or **inanimate**, and of every action of man, is relative to the use for which nature or the artist has intended them.

True.

Then the **user** of them must have the greatest experience of them, and he must indicate to the maker the good or bad qualities which develop themselves in use; for example, the flute-player will tell the flute-maker which of his flutes is satisfactory to the **performer**; he will tell him how he ought to make them, and the other will attend to his **instructions**?

Of course.

The one knows and therefore speaks with authority about the goodness and badness of flutes, while the other, **confiding** in him, will do what he is told by him?

True.

### **Thesaurus**

animate: (v) inspire, encourage, quicken, invigorate, stimulate, revive, hearten; (adj, v) cheer, inspirit, exhilarate; (adj) live. ANTONYMS: (v) deaden, inhibit, kill, discourage; (adj) inanimate, dead, dull, dispirited, insentient, sluggish, spiritless. confiding: (adj) unsuspecting, trustful, artless, credulous, untutored, ingenu, inartificial, lain, simple, unaffected, unsophisticated.
inanimate: (adj) defunct, dull,

breathless, inorganic, inactive, lifeless, exanimate, deceased, extinct, unconscious, spiritless. ANTONYMS: (adj) living, animate, spirited. instructions: (n) direction, injunction, directions, charge, instruction, orders, book of instructions, guide, instruction manual, commission, directive.

leather: (n) fur, fleece, skin, buckskin, fell, pelt, doeskin; (v) drub, thresh, thrash; (n, v) hit.

performer: (n) musician, doer, artiste, comedian, player, conjurer, juggler, magician, executant, thespian, agent. user: (n) exploiter, buyer, addict, wearer, drug user, substance abuser, customer, operator, taker, punter, idler. ANTONYM: (n) consultant. worker: (n) employee, hand, proletarian, labourer, toiler, operative, workman, scab, throwster, quarrier, practitioner. ANTONYMS: (n) nonworker, unemployed.

The instrument is the same, but about the excellence or badness of it the maker will only attain to a correct **belief**; and this he will gain from him who knows, by talking to him and being compelled to hear what he has to say, whereas the user will have knowledge?

True.

But will the imitator have either? Will he know from use whether or no his **drawing** is correct or beautiful? or will he have right opinion from being compelled to associate with another who knows and gives him instructions about what he should draw?

Neither.

Then he will no more have true opinion than he will have knowledge about the goodness or badness of his imitations?

I suppose not.

The imitative artist will be in a **brilliant** state of intelligence about his own creations?

Nay, very much the reverse.

And still he will go on imitating without knowing what makes a thing good or bad, and may be expected therefore to imitate only that which appears to be good to the ignorant multitude?

Just so.

Thus far then we are **pretty** well agreed that the imitator has no knowledge worth mentioning of what he imitates. Imitation is only a kind of play or **sport**, and the tragic poets, whether they write in Iambic or in Heroic verse, are imitators in the highest degree?

Very true.

And now tell me, I **conjure** you, has not imitation been shown by us to be concerned with that which is thrice removed from the truth?

Certainly.

And what is the faculty in man to which imitation is addressed?

## belief: (n) feeling, doctrine, supposition, opinion, idea, thought, impression, trust, view, confidence, assumption. ANTONYMS: (n) unbelief, doubt, disavowal, distrust, denial, rejection, uncertainty, independence, innovation. brilliant: (adj, v) splendid, glorious, illustrious, smart; (adj) sunny, intelligent, magnificent, luminous, spectacular, vivid, beautiful.

ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, dim, awful,

dark, unexceptional, typical, tarnished, grimy, unintelligent, normal, useless. conjure: (v) invoke, entreat, arouse, juggle, bewitch, beseech, bid, conjure up, evoke, implore, bring up. draw: (n, v) drag, pull, delineate, tie, design, puff; (v) depict, describe, derive, bring; (n) attraction. ANTONYMS: (v) repel, deposit, shove, shorten, thrust, cut, curtail, contract, alienate; (n) repulsion, win.

Thesaurus

pretty: (adj) fair, graceful, lovely, handsome, attractive, charming, good-looking, picturesque, dainty; (n) nice; (adv) very. ANTONYMS: (adj) plain, unattractive, modern, inelegant; (adv) extremely.

sport: (n, v) play, pastime, jest, diversion, romp, joke, disport, gambol; (n) fun, amusement, recreation. ANTONYMS: (n) work;

(v) conceal.

What do you mean?

I will explain: The body which is large when seen near, appears small when seen at a distance?

True.

And the same object appears straight when looked at out of the water, and crooked when in the water; and the **concave** becomes **convex**, owing to the illusion about colours to which the sight is liable. Thus every sort of confusion is revealed within us; and this is that weakness of the human mind on which the art of **conjuring** and of deceiving by light and shadow and other ingenious **devices** imposes, having an effect upon us like **magic**.

True.

And the arts of measuring and numbering and **weighing** come to the **rescue** of the human understanding—there is the beauty of them—and the apparent greater or less, or more or heavier, no longer have the mastery over us, but give way before calculation and measure and weight?

Most true.

And this, surely, must be the work of the calculating and rational principle in the soul?

To be sure.

And when this principle measures and certifies that some things are equal, or that some are greater or less than others, there occurs an apparent contradiction?

True.

But were we not saying that such a contradiction is impossible—the same faculty cannot have contrary opinions at the same time about the same thing?

Very true.

Then that part of the soul which has an opinion contrary to measure is not the same with that which has an opinion in accordance with measure?

True.

### Thesaurus ession, protrude, bulge out, stick out,

concave: (n) indentation, depression, concavity; (adj) cavernous, biconcave, cupped, dipped, arched, indented; (adj, n) crescent; (v) stove in.
ANTONYM: (adj) curved.
conjuring: (n) magic, hocus-pocus, incantation, sorcery, witchcraft, sleight of hand, adjuration, figgum, conjury, evocation; (adj) magical.
convex: (adj) gibbous, biconvex, hunched, bulgy, protuberant, prominent; (adj, n) crescent; (v)

protrude, bulge out, stick out, projecting. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) concave, sunken.

**devices**: (*n*) device, tactics, strategy,

magic: (n) incantation, charm, enchantment, sorcery, legerdemain, conjuring, glamour, black magic, illusion, theurgy; (adj) magical. ANTONYMS: (n) dullness, science; (adj) everyday, prosaic, normal, natural.

**rescue**: (*n*, *v*) release, ransom, salvage; (*n*) deliverance, delivery, relieve; (*v*) extricate, recover, free, save, redeem. ANTONYMS: (*n*) involvement, loss, abandonment, downfall; (*n*, *v*) capture; (*v*) endanger, lose, aggravate.

weighing: (n) deliberation, consideration, think, advisement, speculation, quantify, weigh, unhurriedness, study, slowness, ponderation.

And the better part of the soul is likely to be that which trusts to measure and calculation?

Certainly.

And that which is opposed to them is one of the inferior **principles** of the soul?

No doubt.

This was the conclusion at which I was seeking to arrive when I said that painting or drawing, and imitation in general, when doing their own proper work, are far removed from truth, and the companions and friends and **associates** of a principle within us which is equally removed from reason, and that they have no true or healthy aim.

Exactly.

The imitative art is an inferior who marries an inferior, and has inferior offspring.

Very true.

And is this confined to the sight only, or does it extend to the hearing also, **relating** in fact to what we term poetry?

Probably the same would be true of poetry.

Do not **rely**, I said, on a **probability** derived from the analogy of painting; but let us examine further and see whether the faculty with which poetical imitation is concerned is good or bad.

By all means.

We may state the question thus:—Imitation imitates the actions of men, whether **voluntary** or involuntary, on which, as they imagine, a good or bad result has ensued, and they rejoice or sorrow accordingly. Is there anything more?

No, there is nothing else.

But in all this variety of circumstances is the man at unity with himself—or rather, as in the instance of sight there was **confusion** and opposition in his

Thesaurus

# associates: (n) staff, membership, circle, entourage, intimates, people. confusion: (n) commotion, chaos, disarray, bedlam, pandemonium, disorder, disturbance, distraction, clutter, tumult, agitation. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, understanding, tidiness, systematization, enlightenment, peace, organization, lucidity, neatness, space, calm. principle: (n) rule, method,

fundamental, cause, doctrine, ground, precept, reason, law, essence, tenet. ANTONYM: (n) baseness.

probability: (n) likelihood, chance, possibility, likeliness, opportunity, expectation, eventuality, prospect, expectancy, contingency; (adj, n) odds. ANTONYM: (n) improbability. relating: (prep) concerning, connecting, involving, linking, between; (n) comparison, fellow feeling, telling,

practice; (adj) like, germane.

rely: (v) depend, count, lean, believe, bank, confide, entrust, reckon, trust, swear; (n, v) rest.

voluntary: (adj) optional, deliberate, unforced, willing, gratuitous, intentional, conscious, willful, intended, unpaid; (adj, n) volunteer.

ANTONYMS: (adj) compulsory, forced, instinctive, unwilling, obligatory, welcome, professional; (n)

draftee; (adv) paid.

opinions about the same things, so here also is there not strife and inconsistency in his life? Though I need hardly raise the question again, for I remember that all this has been already admitted; and the soul has been acknowledged by us to be full of these and ten thousand similar oppositions occurring at the same moment?

And we were right, he said.

Yes, I said, thus far we were right; but there was an omission which must now be supplied.

What was the omission?

Were we not saying that a good man, who has the misfortune to lose his son or anything else which is most dear to him, will bear the loss with more equanimity than another?

Yes.

But will he have no sorrow, or shall we say that although he cannot help **sorrowing**, he will moderate his sorrow?

The latter, he said, is the truer statement.

Tell me: will he be more likely to **struggle** and hold out against his sorrow when he is seen by his equals, or when he is **alone**?

It will make a great difference whether he is seen or not.

When he is by himself he will not mind saying or doing many things which he would be ashamed of any one hearing or seeing him do?

True.

There is a principle of law and reason in him which bids him resist, as well as a feeling of his misfortune which is forcing him to **indulge** his sorrow?

True.

But when a man is drawn in two opposite directions, to and from the same **object**, this, as we affirm, **necessarily** implies two distinct principles in him?

Certainly.

### **Thesaurus**

alone: (adj) forlorn, individual, lonely, lonesome; (adj, adv) only, apart; (adv) solely, entirely, exclusively, separately, individually.

ANTONYMS: (adj) overshadowed, ordinary, mobbed, equaled, crowded, accompanied, common, grouped, surpassed; (adv) jointly; (n) foe. indulge: (n, v) gratify, humor; (v) coddle, cosset, baby, pamper, spoil, satisfy, please, mollycoddle, cocker.

ANTONYMS: (v) frustrate, deprive,

stifle, neglect, deny, displease, fast.

necessarily: (adv) needfully,
inevitably, requisitely, needs,
obligatorily, vitally, absolutely,
basically, compulsorily,
consequentially, inescapably.
ANTONYMS: (adv) possibly,
doubtfully, superficially.
object: (n) cause, intent, meaning,
mark, subject, objective, substance;
(n, v) aim, end, intention; (v) except.
ANTONYMS: (v) agree, approve,

praise; (n) notion. sorrowing: (adj) sorrowful, grieving, mournful, distressed, bereft, bereaved, unhappy, lamenting, regretful, sad; (n) cry. ANTONYM: (adj) joyful.

**struggle**: (*n*, *v*) contest, battle, conflict, combat, strain, endeavor, attempt, dispute, quarrel; (*n*) effort, exertion. ANTONYMS: (*v*) flourish; (*n*) ease, surrender, friendship.

One of them is ready to follow the guidance of the law?

How do you mean?

The law would say that to be patient under suffering is best, and that we should not give way to **impatience**, as there is no knowing whether such things are good or evil; and nothing is gained by impatience; also, because no human thing is of serious importance, and grief stands in the way of that which at the moment is most required.

What is most required? he asked.

That we should take counsel about what has happened, and when the dice have been thrown order our affairs in the way which reason deems best; not, like children who have had a fall, keeping hold of the part struck and wasting time in setting up a howl, but always accustoming the soul forthwith to apply a remedy, raising up that which is sickly and fallen, banishing the cry of sorrow by the healing art.

Yes, he said, that is the true way of meeting the attacks of fortune.

Yes, I said; and the higher principle is ready to follow this suggestion of reason?

Clearly.

And the other principle, which inclines us to recollection of our troubles and to lamentation, and can never have enough of them, we may call irrational, useless, and cowardly?

Indeed, we may.

And does not the latter—I mean the rebellious principle—furnish a great variety of materials for imitation? Whereas the wise and calm temperament, being always nearly equable, is not easy to imitate or to appreciate when imitated, especially at a public festival when a promiscuous crowd is assembled in a theatre. For the feeling represented is one to which they are strangers.

Certainly.

### Thesaurus

**equable**: (adj) equal, temperate, stable, **howl**: (n, v) cry, roar, scream, bark, mild, balanced, peaceful, halcyon, placid, pacific, sedate, moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) spasmodic, vacillating, variable, unequal, irregular, intemperate, fluctuating, inequable, jumpy, senseless. forthwith: (adv) directly, immediately, at once, now, instantly, straight, presently, straightaway, incontinently; (adj, adv) quickly; (adj) immediate.

shout, yell, bay, yelp; (v) bawl, growl, yawl. ANTONYM: (v) laugh. impatience: (n) annoyance, eagerness, anger, intolerance, restlessness, fidget, nervousness, fidgetiness, enthusiasm, edginess; (adj) nonendurance. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, endurance, apathy. promiscuous: (adj, v) miscellaneous; (adj) mixed, random, confused, loose, wanton, disorderly, licentious, light,

easy, heterogeneous. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, pure, chaste. remedy: (n, v) cure, redress, heal, help, medicine, relief; (v) rectify, amend, relieve, correct; (n) drug. ANTONYM: (n) poison. wasting: (n) homicide, atrophy, slaughter, slaying, cachexia, assassination, cachexy, amyotrophy, carnage; (adj) consuming, consumptive.

Then the imitative poet who aims at being popular is not by nature made, nor is his art intended, to please or to affect the rational principle in the soul; but he will prefer the passionate and fitful temper, which is easily imitated?

Clearly.

And now we may fairly take him and place him by the side of the painter, for he is like him in two ways: first, inasmuch as his creations have an inferior degree of truth-in this, I say, he is like him; and he is also like him in being concerned with an inferior part of the soul; and therefore we shall be right in refusing to admit him into a well-ordered State, because he awakens and nourishes and strengthens the feelings and impairs the reason. As in a city when the evil are permitted to have authority and the good are put out of the way, so in the soul of man, as we maintain, the imitative poet implants an evil constitution, for he indulges the irrational nature which has no discernment of greater and less, but thinks the same thing at one time great and at another small – he is a **manufacturer** of images and is very far removed from the truth.

Exactly.

But we have not yet brought forward the heaviest count in our accusation: the power which poetry has of harming even the good (and there are very few who are not harmed), is surely an awful thing?

Yes, certainly, if the effect is what you say.

Hear and judge: The best of us, as I conceive, when we listen to a passage of Homer, or one of the tragedians, in which he represents some pitiful hero who is drawling out his sorrows in a long oration, or weeping, and smiting his breast the best of us, you know, delight in giving way to sympathy, and are in raptures at the excellence of the poet who stirs our feelings most.

Yes, of course I know.

But when any sorrow of our own happens to us, then you may observe that we pride ourselves on the opposite quality – we would fain be quiet and patient; this is the manly part, and the other which delighted us in the recitation is now deemed to be the part of a woman.

### **Thesaurus**

awakens: (adj) awakened. delighted: (adj) glad, cheerful, blissful, manufacturer: (n) Wright, builder, jubilant, happy, overjoyed, joyful, captivated, pleasant; (adj, v) pleased, elated. ANTONYMS: (adj) shocked, unhappy, sorrowful, depressed, melancholy, miserable, desolate, sorry, sad, down.

fitful: (adj) erratic, fickle, changeable, spasmodic, uncertain, intermittent, irregular, variable, sporadic, desultory, flickering. ANTONYMS:

(adj) regular, unbroken. creator, artificer, shaper, producer, distiller, armourer, brewer, artist, armorer. ANTONYM: (n) destroyer. **passage**: (n, v) course, journey; (n)gangway, corridor, hall, channel, entry, way, entrance, lobby, duct. ANTONYMS: (n) rejection, room. recitation: (n) reading, narration, narrative, description, rehearsal, lesson, account, practice, exercise,

oration, explanation. sympathy: (n) compassion, kindness, commiseration, mercy, feeling, understanding, rapport, benevolence, agreement; (adj, n) humanity, charity. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, cruelty, coldness, disdain, incompatibility, thoughtlessness, mercilessness, callousness, incomprehension, inhumanity, insensitivity.

Very true, he said.

Now can we be right in praising and **admiring** another who is doing that which any one of us would **abominate** and be ashamed of in his own person?

No, he said, that is certainly not reasonable.

Nay, I said, quite reasonable from one point of view.

What point of view?

If you consider, I said, that when in misfortune we feel a natural hunger and desire to **relieve** our sorrow by weeping and lamentation, and that this feeling which is kept under control in our own calamities is satisfied and delighted by the poets;—the better nature in each of us, not having been sufficiently trained by reason or habit, allows the sympathetic element to break loose because the sorrow is another's; and the spectator fancies that there can be no disgrace to himself in praising and **pitying** any one who comes telling him what a good man he is, and making a fuss about his troubles; he thinks that the pleasure is a gain, and why should he be **supercilious** and lose this and the poem too? Few persons ever reflect, as I should imagine, that from the evil of other men something of evil is communicated to themselves. And so the feeling of sorrow which has gathered strength at the sight of the **misfortunes** of others is with difficulty repressed in our own.

How very true!

And does not the same hold also of the ridiculous? There are jests which you would be ashamed to make yourself, and yet on the comic stage, or indeed in private, when you hear them, you are greatly amused by them, and are not at all disgusted at their unseemliness;—the case of pity is repeated;—there is a principle in human nature which is disposed to raise a laugh, and this which you once restrained by reason, because you were afraid of being thought a buffoon, is now let out again; and having **stimulated** the **risible** faculty at the theatre, you are betrayed unconsciously to yourself into playing the comic poet at home.

Quite true, he said.

### **Thesaurus**

abominate: (v) loathe, detest, hate, execrate, despise, dislike, nauseate, disgust, condemn, resent, can't bear. ANTONYMS: (v) love, adore. admiring: (adj) admire, admiringly, loving, respectful, glowing, affectionate, amatory, appreciative, enthusiastic, flattering, approving. ANTONYMS: (adj) defamatory, critical, disdainful, disapproving, disrespectful, uncomplimentary. misfortunes: (n) misfortune.

pitying: (adj) sympathetic, merciful, pity, pityingly, gloomy, meritless, pitiful, sorry, sorry for, humane, dreary.

**relieve**: (*n*, *v*) ease, assuage, mitigate, alleviate, allay, calm, redress; (*v*) free, help, console, excuse. ANTONYMS: (*v*) burden, aggravate, exacerbate, harbor, enforce, include, upset, depress.

risible: (adj) laughable, comical, ridiculous, ludicrous, funny, farcical,

amusing, comic, droll, humorous, preposterous.

**stimulated**: (*adj*) excited, ablaze, intoxicated, aroused, roused, motivated, affected, aflame, angry, angry waves, randy.

supercilious: (adj) proud, haughty, disdainful, lofty, contemptuous, contumelious, cavalier, lordly, arrogant, scornful, high and mighty. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, affable.

And the same may be said of lust and anger and all the other affections, of desire and pain and pleasure, which are held to be inseparable from every action—in all of them poetry feeds and waters the passions instead of drying them up; she lets them rule, although they ought to be controlled, if mankind are ever to increase in happiness and virtue.

I cannot deny it.

Therefore, Glaucon, I said, whenever you meet with any of the eulogists of Homer declaring that he has been the educator of Hellas, and that he is profitable for education and for the ordering of human things, and that you should take him up again and again and get to know him and regulate your whole life according to him, we may love and honour those who say these things - they are excellent people, as far as their lights extend; and we are ready to acknowledge that Homer is the greatest of poets and first of tragedy writers; but we must remain firm in our conviction that hymns to the gods and praises of famous men are the only poetry which ought to be admitted into our State. For if you go beyond this and allow the honeyed muse to enter, either in epic or lyric verse, not law and the reason of mankind, which by common consent have ever been deemed best, but pleasure and pain will be the rulers in our State.

That is most true, he said.

And now since we have **reverted** to the subject of poetry, let this our defence serve to show the reasonableness of our former judgment in sending away out of our State an art having the tendencies which we have described; for reason constrained us. But that she may not impute to us any harshness or want of politeness, let us tell her that there is an ancient quarrel between philosophy and poetry; of which there are many proofs, such as the saying of 'the yelping hound howling at her lord,' or of one 'mighty in the vain talk of fools,' and 'the mob of sages circumventing Zeus,' and the 'subtle thinkers who are beggars after all'; and there are innumerable other signs of ancient enmity between them. Notwithstanding this, let us assure our sweet friend and the sister arts of imitation, that if she will only prove her title to exist in a well-ordered State we shall be delighted to receive her-we are very conscious of her charms; but we

### Thesaurus

harshness: (n) austerity, asperity, severity, acrimony, brutality, hardness, roughness, rigor, inclemency, hoarseness; (adj, n) strictness. ANTONYMS: (n) softness, leniency, quietness, flexibility, kindness, mercy, sweetness, melodiousness, brightness, smoothness, lenience. honeyed: (adj) honied, dulcet, luscious, syrupy, mellifluous, melodic, melodious, sugary,

hound: (v) bloodhound, chase, hunt, follow, badger, course, bait, pursue; (n) greyhound, blackguard, cad. ANTONYM: (v) soothe. howling: (n) howl, cry; (adj) fierce, fantastic, gross, glaring, marvelous, wonderful, wondrous; (adj, n) weeping, sniveling. impute: (v) charge, attribute, ascribe, assign, accuse, blame, attach, credit, lay, accredit, impeach.

saccharine, complimentary, candied. **muse**: (v) meditate, ponder, deliberate, consider, cogitate, reflect, brood, ruminate, speculate, think, mull. ANTONYM: (v) wander. politeness: (n) civility, courteousness, courtliness, manners, decorum, gentility, good manners, niceness, refinement, gallantry, decency. ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, rudeness, incivility, neglect. reverted: (adj) inverse.

may not on that account **betray** the truth. I dare say, Glaucon, that you are as much charmed by her as I am, especially when she appears in Homer?

Yes, indeed, I am greatly charmed.

Shall I propose, then, that she be allowed to return from exile, but upon this condition only—that she make a defence of herself in **lyrical** or some other metre?

Certainly.

And we may further **grant** to those of her defenders who are lovers of poetry and yet not poets the permission to speak in prose on her behalf: let them show not only that she is pleasant but also useful to States and to human life, and we will listen in a **kindly** spirit; for if this can be **proved** we shall surely be the gainers—I mean, if there is a use in poetry as well as a delight?

Certainly, he said, we shall be the gainers.

If her defence fails, then, my dear friend, like other persons who are **enamoured** of something, but put a restraint upon themselves when they think their desires are opposed to their interests, so too must we after the manner of lovers give her up, though not without a struggle. We too are inspired by that love of poetry which the education of noble States has implanted in us, and therefore we would have her appear at her best and truest; but so long as she is unable to make good her defence, this argument of ours shall be a charm to us, which we will repeat to ourselves while we listen to her strains; that we may not fall away into the **childish** love of her which captivates the many. At all events we are well aware that poetry being such as we have described is not to be regarded seriously as attaining to the truth; and he who listens to her, fearing for the safety of the city which is within him, should be on his guard against her seductions and make our words his law.

Yes, he said, I quite agree with you.

Yes, I said, my dear Glaucon, for great is the issue at stake, greater than appears, whether a man is to be good or bad. And what will any one be profited

### **Thesaurus**

betray: (v) deceive, bewray, sell, grass, dupe, reveal, mislead, disclose, accuse, befool, bamboozle.

ANTONYMS: (v) protect, undeceive, hide, defend, withhold.

childish: (adj) childlike, naive, babyish, immature, simple, puerile, infantile, juvenile, silly, frivolous, young. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, old, wise, adult, jaded.

enamoured: (adj) enamored, smitten, infatuated, mad, captivated,

bewitched, charmed.
grant: (adj, v) bestow, allow, confer; (n, v) award, gift, boon; (v) concede, afford, admit, acknowledge; (adj, n, v) present. ANTONYMS: (v) deny, reject, refuse, maintain, prohibit, disagree, retrieve, take, withhold, withdraw.

**kindly**: (*adj*) kind, amiable, genial, charitable; (*adv*) sympathetically, benevolently, tenderly; (*adj*, *n*) benign, gentle, sympathetic,

benevolent. ANTONYMS: (adv) harshly, nastily, callously, cruelly, sharply, disagreeably, grumpily, malevolently; (adj) upsetting, unfeeling, sour.

lyrical: (adj) musical, passionate, emotional, melodious, dithyrambic, poetic, melodic; (n) tuneful. proved: (adj) tried, established, tested, qualified, genuine, demonstrable, apparent, confirmed, reliable,

faithful.

if under the influence of honour or money or power, aye, or under the excitement of poetry, he neglect justice and virtue?

Yes, he said; I have been convinced by the argument, as I believe that any one else would have been.

And yet no mention has been made of the greatest prizes and rewards which await virtue.

What, are there any greater still? If there are, they must be of an inconceivable greatness.

Why, I said, what was ever great in a short time? The whole period of three **score** years and ten is surely but a little thing in comparison with eternity?

Say rather 'nothing,' he replied.

And should an immortal being seriously think of this little space rather than of the whole?

Of the whole, certainly. But why do you ask?

Are you not aware, I said, that the soul of man is immortal and imperishable?

He looked at me in **astonishment**, and said: No, by heaven: And are you really prepared to maintain this?

Yes, I said, I ought to be, and you too—there is no difficulty in proving it.

I see a great difficulty; but I should like to hear you state this argument of which you make so light.

Listen then.

### I am **attending**.

There is a thing which you call good and another which you call evil?

Yes, he replied.

Would you agree with me in thinking that the corrupting and destroying element is the evil, and the **saving** and **improving** element the good?

Yes.

### **Thesaurus**

astonishment: (n) admiration, wonder, wonderment, surprise, marvel, stupefaction, confusion, consternation, awe, alarm, startle. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, belief, contempt.

attending: (v) attend; (n) presence,

attending: (v) attend; (n) presence, nursing, care, appearing, observation; (adj) concomitant, attendant, ministrant, in attendance, ancillary. ANTONYMS: (n) nonattendance, inattention.

await: (v) anticipate, abide, bide, tarry, wait, attend, look, hope, approach, loom, come on. ANTONYM: (v) doubt.

imperishable: (adj) immortal, eternal, abiding, deathless, enduring, permanent, perpetual, perennial, incorruptible; (adj, v) undying, indestructible. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, fragile.

**improving**: (*adv*) recuperating, getting better; (*adj*) edifying, progressive,

civilizing, cosmetic, evincing progress, helpful, moralistic, advancing; (v) improve.

saving: (adj, n) frugal, economical; (adj) thrifty, save; (n) economy, conservation, salvation, rescue, preservation, cut, retrenchment.

ANTONYMS: (n) extravagance, expenditure; (adj) spendthrift.

score: (n, v) count, notch, scratch, line, cut, tally, scotch; (n) bill, groove, debt; (v) get.

And you admit that every thing has a good and also an evil; as **ophthalmia** is the evil of the eyes and disease of the whole body; as mildew is of corn, and rot of timber, or rust of copper and iron: in everything, or in almost everything, there is an inherent evil and disease?

Yes, he said.

And anything which is **infected** by any of these evils is made evil, and at last wholly dissolves and dies?

True.

The vice and evil which is inherent in each is the destruction of each; and if this does not destroy them there is nothing else that will; for good certainly will not destroy them, nor again, that which is neither good nor evil.

Certainly not.

If, then, we find any nature which having this inherent corruption cannot be dissolved or destroyed, we may be certain that of such a nature there is no destruction?

That may be assumed.

Well, I said, and is there no evil which corrupts the soul?

Yes, he said, there are all the evils which we were just now passing in review: unrighteousness, intemperance, cowardice, ignorance.

But does any of these dissolve or destroy her? - and here do not let us fall into the error of supposing that the unjust and foolish man, when he is detected, perishes through his own injustice, which is an evil of the soul. Take the analogy of the body: The evil of the body is a disease which wastes and reduces and annihilates the body; and all the things of which we were just now speaking come to annihilation through their own corruption attaching to them and inhering in them and so destroying them. Is not this true?

Yes.

### Thesaurus

annihilation: (n) abolition, death, slaughter, destruction, obliteration, extermination, extirpation, disintegration, demolition, defeat, pulverization. ANTONYMS: (n) preservation, survival, creation, protection.

**attaching**: (*n*) fastening; (*adj*) adhesive. copper: (n) brass, bull, cop, Cu, constable, gold, fuzz, pig, cent, bobby, coin.

dissolve: (v) break up, disperse,

dissipate, evaporate, fuse, melt, disband, fade, vanish, resolve, dispel. ANTONYMS: (v) solidify, appear, harden, thicken, coagulate, congeal, continue, integrate, materialize, open, rust: (v) corrode, eat, oxidise, tarnish,

infected: (adj) diseased, dirty, impure, tainted, festering, corrupt, unclean, morbid, stained, spoiled, soiled. ANTONYM: (adj) healthy. mildew: (n, v) mold, rust, decay, cast; (n) fungus, blight, mushroom,

helminth, moulding; (v) must, become moldy. ophthalmia: (n) pinkeye, conjunctivitis.

oxidize, gnaw; (n) decay, corrosion, fungus, oxidation; (adj) rusty. timber: (n) lumber, forest, plank, beam, girder, rafter, tree, woodland,

timberland, boards, coulisse.

Consider the soul in like manner. Does the injustice or other evil which exists in the soul waste and **consume** her? Do they by attaching to the soul and inhering in her at last bring her to death, and so separate her from the body?

Certainly not.

And yet, I said, it is unreasonable to suppose that anything can perish from without through affection of external evil which could not be destroyed from within by a corruption of its own?

It is, he replied.

Consider, I said, Glaucon, that even the badness of food, whether staleness, **decomposition**, or any other bad quality, when confined to the actual food, is not supposed to destroy the body; although, if the badness of food communicates corruption to the body, then we should say that the body has been destroyed by a corruption of itself, which is disease, brought on by this; but that the body, being one thing, can be destroyed by the badness of food, which is another, and which does not engender any natural infection – this we shall absolutely deny?

Very true.

And, on the same principle, unless some bodily evil can produce an evil of the soul, we must not suppose that the soul, which is one thing, can be dissolved by any merely external evil which belongs to another?

Yes, he said, there is reason in that.

Either, then, let us refute this conclusion, or, while it remains unrefuted, let us never say that fever, or any other disease, or the knife put to the throat, or even the cutting up of the whole body into the minutest pieces, can destroy the soul, until she herself is proved to become more unholy or unrighteous in consequence of these things being done to the body; but that the soul, or anything else if not destroyed by an internal evil, can be destroyed by an external one, is not to be affirmed by any man.

And surely, he replied, no one will ever prove that the souls of men become more unjust in consequence of death.

### consume: (v) exhaust, absorb, dissipate, use, squander, fritter, expend, eat, swallow, burn; (adj, v)waste. ANTONYMS: (v) save, abstain, conserve, make, store, accumulate, produce, manufacture, hoard, gather, fast. decomposition: (n) decay, rot,

putrefaction, dissolution, disintegration, rotting, deterioration, analysis, rust, corruption, degradation.

### Thesaurus

destroyed: (adj) ruined, lost, desolate, shattered, desolated, broken, depressed, dead, damaged, undone, fallen. ANTONYMS: (adj) preserved,

fever: (n) malaria, delirium, pyrexia, heat, frenzy, feverishness, febricity, Bilious typhoid fever, Levant fever, Hectic infantile fever, Typhoid fever. **knife**: (adj, n) blade; (adj) cutlery, edge **unrefuted**: (v) unanswered; (adj) tool; (v) stab; (n) sword, cleaver, whittle, cutter, tongue, pocketknife,

staleness: (n) triteness, mustiness, oldness, banality, camp, moldiness, collapse, dankness, obviousness, tiredness, dullness. ANTONYMS: (n) freshness, crispness, originality. throat: (n) orifice, pharynx, gorge, mouth, muzzle, nozzle, sucker, shaft, quarl, throat depth, nostril. accurate.

But if some one who would rather not admit the immortality of the soul boldly denies this, and says that the **dying** do really become more evil and unrighteous, then, if the speaker is right, I suppose that injustice, like disease, must be assumed to be **fatal** to the unjust, and that those who take this disorder die by the natural **inherent** power of **destruction** which evil has, and which kills them sooner or later, but in quite another way from that in which, at present, the wicked receive death at the hands of others as the **penalty** of their deeds?

Nay, he said, in that case injustice, if fatal to the unjust, will not be so very terrible to him, for he will be delivered from evil. But I rather suspect the opposite to be the truth, and that injustice which, if it have the power, will murder others, keeps the **murderer** alive—aye, and well awake too; so far removed is her dwelling-place from being a house of death.

True, I said; if the inherent natural vice or evil of the soul is unable to kill or destroy her, hardly will that which is appointed to be the destruction of some other body, destroy a soul or anything else except that of which it was appointed to be the destruction.

Yes, that can hardly be.

But the soul which cannot be destroyed by an evil, whether inherent or external, must exist for ever, and if existing for ever, must be immortal?

Certainly.

That is the conclusion, I said; and, if a true conclusion, then the souls must always be the same, for if none be destroyed they will not diminish in number. Neither will they increase, for the increase of the immortal natures must come from something mortal, and all things would thus end in immortality.

Very true.

But this we cannot believe—reason will not allow us—any more than we can believe the soul, in her truest nature, to be full of variety and difference and dissimilarity.

What do you mean? he said.

### **Thesaurus**

destruction: (n, v) defeat; (n) death, ruin, collapse, demolition, devastation, downfall, abolition, damage, desolation, end.

ANTONYMS: (n) preservation, protection, creation, reparation, formation, crosservation, restoration, building, help, making, order.

dying: (n) death, demise, decease, mortality; (adj) vanishing, moribund, last, final, ultimate, failing, ebbing.

ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, well,

opening, aborning, developing, flourishing, growing, reviving, rejuvenating; (n) birth. fatal: (adj) deadly, pestilent, lethal, disastrous, destructive, dangerous, deathly, fateful, murderous, critical; (adj, v) mortal. ANTONYMS: (adj) harmless, nourishing, healthful, benign, uncritical, mild. inherent: (adj) inborn, intrinsic, inbred, immanent, connate, essential, innate, instinctive, native, born,

internal. ANTONYMS: (adj) superficial, explicit, acquired, learned, trained. murderer: (n) assassin, cutthroat, killer, manslayer, murderess, executioner, thug, liquidator; (v) butcher; (n, v) slayer, terrorist. penalty: (n) fine, forfeit, forfeiture, amercement, penalization, penance, handicap, sentence, castigation; (n, v) condemnation, judgment. ANTONYMS: (n) advantage, prize.

The soul, I said, being, as is now **proven**, immortal, must be the fairest of compositions and cannot be compounded of many elements?

Certainly not.

Her immortality is demonstrated by the previous argument, and there are many other proofs; but to see her as she really is, not as we now behold her, marred by communion with the body and other miseries, you must contemplate her with the eye of reason, in her original purity; and then her beauty will be revealed, and justice and injustice and all the things which we have described will be manifested more clearly. Thus far, we have spoken the truth concerning her as she appears at present, but we must remember also that we have seen her only in a condition which may be compared to that of the sea-god Glaucus, whose original image can hardly be discerned because his natural members are broken off and crushed and damaged by the waves in all sorts of ways, and incrustations have grown over them of seaweed and shells and stones, so that he is more like some monster than he is to his own natural form. And the soul which we behold is in a similar condition, disfigured by ten thousand ills. But not there, Glaucon, not there must we look.

Where then?

At her love of wisdom. Let us see whom she affects, and what society and converse she seeks in virtue of her near kindred with the immortal and eternal and divine; also how different she would become if wholly following this superior principle, and **borne** by a divine **impulse** out of the ocean in which she now is, and disengaged from the stones and shells and things of earth and rock which in wild variety spring up around her because she feeds upon earth, and is overgrown by the good things of this life as they are termed: then you would see her as she is, and know whether she have one shape only or many, or what her nature is. Of her affections and of the forms which she takes in this present life I think that we have now said enough.

True, he replied.

### **Thesaurus**

disincentive, disinclination.

borne: (adj) weak, wanting, spoony, soft, sappy, shallow, little, limited. crushed: (adj) beaten, subdued, low, conquered, flattened, dispirited, compressed, overwhelmed, shattered; (v) victimized; (n) crushing. ANTONYMS: (adj) victorious, euphoric. impulse: (n) pulse, urge, impulsion, force, motive, whim, drive, goad, motivation, momentum, incentive. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion,

marred: (adj) damaged, defaced, dilapidated, crippled, deformed, faulty, flawed, hurt, impaired, imperfect, scarred. ANTONYMS: (adj) pure, unspoiled. proven: (adj) established, tried, irrefutable, evidence, establish, prove, demonstrate, confirm, show, tested, well-founded. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconfirmed, unproven, unverified, unproved, groundless,

theoretical. **purity**: (*n*) holiness, cleanness,
cleanliness, virtue, honor, perfection,
pureness, sanctity, chastity, elegance;
(*adj*, *n*) clearness. ANTONYMS: (*n*)
coarseness, impurity, contamination,
clutter, dirtiness, corruption,
mustiness.

**seaweed**: (*n*) algae, wrack, tang, seamoss, seaware, sea wrack, heed, sea tang, seagrass, ware, reit.

And thus, I said, we have **fulfilled** the conditions of the argument; we have not introduced the rewards and glories of justice, which, as you were saying, are to be found in Homer and Hesiod; but justice in her own nature has been shown to be best for the soul in her own nature. Let a man do what is just, whether he have the ring of Gyges or not, and even if in addition to the ring of Gyges he put on the **helmet** of Hades.

Very true.

And now, Glaucon, there will be no harm in further enumerating how many and how great are the rewards which justice and the other virtues procure to the soul from gods and men, both in life and after death.

Certainly not, he said.

Will you **repay** me, then, what you **borrowed** in the argument?

What did I borrow?

The assumption that the just man should appear unjust and the unjust just: for you were of opinion that even if the true state of the case could not possibly escape the eyes of gods and men, still this admission ought to be made for the sake of the argument, in order that pure justice might be weighed against pure injustice. Do you remember?

I should be much to blame if I had forgotten.

Then, as the cause is decided, I demand on behalf of justice that the **estimation** in which she is held by gods and men and which we acknowledge to be her due should now be restored to her by us; since she has been shown to confer reality, and not to deceive those who truly possess her, let what has been taken from her be given back, that so she may win that **palm** of appearance which is **hers** also, and which she gives to her own.

The demand, he said, is just.

In the first place, I said—and this is the first thing which you will have to give back—the nature both of the just and unjust is truly known to the gods.

### Granted.

### **borrow**: (*v*) adopt, lend, appropriate, to borrow, assume, take, accept, acquire, plagiarize, cadge, get. ANTONYMS: (*v*) give, invent, loan, originate, return.

estimation: (n) deference, assessment, calculation, approximation, appraisal, attention; (n, v) esteem, consideration, regard, reputation, credit. ANTONYMS: (n) calculation, disbelief, doubt.

fulfilled: (adj) complete, finished,

### **Thesaurus**

done, satisfied, accomplished, completed, whole, delighted, concluded, happy, full of pride. ANTONYMS: (adj) incomplete, unfulfilled, frustrated, ashamed, dissatisfied.

**granted**: (*adj*, *v*) assumed; (*adj*) fixed, approved, settled, privileged, legal, decided, acknowledged, arranged; (*v*) disposed; (*adv*) yes.

**helmet**: (*n*, *v*) headpiece; (*n*) casque, helm, hood, armet, basinet, heaume,

hard hat, Galea, cowl; (*v*) pickelhaube.

hers: (*pron*) she, his; (*adj*) own. palm: (*n*) medal, decoration, prize, palm tree, victory, thenar, laurel wreath; (*v*) filch, cabbage, rob; (*adj*) totipalmate.

**repay**: (v) recompense, reward, pay, reimburse, compensate, refund, render, requite, remunerate, return, redeem. ANTONYM: (v) penalize.

And if they are both known to them, one must be the friend and the other the enemy of the gods, as we admitted from the beginning?

True.

And the friend of the gods may be supposed to receive from them all things at their best, excepting only such evil as is the necessary consequence of former sins?

Certainly.

Then this must be our notion of the just man, that even when he is in **poverty** or sickness, or any other seeming misfortune, all things will in the end work together for good to him in life and death: for the gods have a care of any one whose desire is to become just and to be like God, as far as man can attain the divine likeness, by the pursuit of virtue?

Yes, he said; if he is like God he will surely not be neglected by him.

And of the unjust may not the opposite be supposed?

Certainly.

Such, then, are the palms of victory which the gods give the just?

That is my conviction.

And what do they receive of men? Look at things as they really are, and you will see that the **clever** unjust are in the case of **runners**, who run well from the starting-place to the goal but not back again from the goal: they go off at a great pace, but in the end only look foolish, slinking away with their ears draggling on their shoulders, and without a crown; but the true runner comes to the finish and receives the prize and is crowned. And this is the way with the just; he who endures to the end of every action and occasion of his entire life has a good report and carries off the prize which men have to **bestow**.

True.

And now you must allow me to repeat of the just the blessings which you were attributing to the fortunate unjust. I shall say of them, what you were saying of the others, that as they grow older, they become rulers in their own city

### Thesaurus

**bestow**: (*v*) give, confer, grant, impart, **pace**: (*n*, *v*) walk, gait, rate, march, contribute, donate, apply, award; (adj, v) accord, allow, present. ANTONYMS: (v) deprive, refuse, withhold, retrieve, withdraw. clever: (adj) capable, acute, intelligent, able, apt, expert, skillful, cunning, sharp; (adj, v) brilliant, smart. ANTONYMS: (adj) clumsy, unintelligent, dim, dull, inept, thick, naive, idiotic, moronic, incompetent,

stride, footstep; (n) speed, tempo, rapidity, tread, celerity. poverty: (n, v) lack, destitution, penury, need, indigence, want; (adj, n) distress; (n) pauperism, impoverishment, squalor, deprivation. ANTONYMS: (n) wealth, riches, affluence, smartness, luxury, prosperity, fertility, surplus. prize: (v) appreciate, esteem, value, cherish, admire; (n) plunder, award,

booty, premium; (n, v) treasure, honor. ANTONYMS: (v) disrespect, scorn, hate; (n) dud. runner: (n) offset, sprinter, jogger,

messenger, contrabandist, offshoot, smuggler, contestant, envoy, racer, stolon.

runners: (n) runner.

slinking: (adj) stealthy, surreptitious,

if they care to be; they marry whom they like and give in marriage to whom they will; all that you said of the others I now say of these. And, on the other hand, of the unjust I say that the greater number, even though they escape in their youth, are found out at last and look foolish at the end of their course, and when they come to be old and miserable are flouted alike by stranger and citizen; they are **beaten** and then come those things unfit for ears **polite**, as you truly term them; they will be racked and have their eyes **burned** out, as you were saying. And you may suppose that I have repeated the remainder of your tale of **horrors**. But will you let me assume, without reciting them, that these things are true?

Certainly, he said, what you say is true.

These, then, are the prizes and rewards and gifts which are bestowed upon the just by gods and men in this present life, in **addition** to the other good things which justice of herself provides.

Yes, he said; and they are fair and lasting.

And yet, I said, all these are as nothing either in number or greatness in comparison with those other recompenses which await both just and unjust after death. And you ought to hear them, and then both just and unjust will have received from us a full payment of the debt which the argument owes to them.

Speak, he said; there are few things which I would more gladly hear.

Well, I said, I will tell you a tale; not one of the tales which Odysseus tells to the hero Alcinous, yet this too is a tale of a hero, Er the son of Armenius, a Pamphylian by birth. He was slain in battle, and ten days afterwards, when the bodies of the dead were taken up already in a state of corruption, his body was found unaffected by decay, and carried away home to be buried. And on the **twelfth** day, as he was lying on the **funeral pile**, he returned to life and told them what he had seen in the other world. He said that when his soul left the body he went on a journey with a great company, and that they came to a mysterious place at which there were two openings in the earth; they were near together, and over against them were two other openings in the heaven above. In the intermediate space there were judges seated, who commanded the just,

### **Thesaurus**

encouraged, loose.

addition: (n) accession, accessory, increase, extension, addendum, accretion, attachment, appendage, annex, extra; (n, prep) accumulation. ANTONYMS: (n) removal, estimation, deduction, exclusion, decline, erosion, loss, setback.

beaten: (adj) overpowered, routed, conquered, overcome, prostrate, frothy, trounced, worsted; (v) beat, lose, fail. ANTONYMS: (adj) heartened, uplifted, triumphant,

burned: (adj) baked, scorched, tempered, sore, hurt, heated, hardened, destroyed, bleak, parched, adust. funeral: (n) entombment, interment, sepulture, funeral rite, wake, pyre, observance, funeral sermon, funeral pile; (adj) sepulchral; (v) bury. horrors: (adj) pessimism, vapors, spleen, megrims; (n) delirium tremens.

pile: (n, v) heap, stack, mass, pack, jam; (n) congeries, mound, bunch, accumulation; (v) amass; (adj, n) nap. ANTONYM: (v) unload.
polite: (adj) cultured, gentle, courtly, civil, refined, proper, genteel, kind, attentive, friendly, complaisant.
ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, discourteous, boorish, improper, abusive, common, authoritative, disobedient, uncivilized, uncivil, curt.
twelfth: (adj) dozenth.

after they had given judgment on them and had bound their sentences in front of them, to ascend by the heavenly way on the right hand; and in like manner the unjust were bidden by them to descend by the lower way on the left hand; these also bore the symbols of their deeds, but fastened on their backs. He drew near, and they told him that he was to be the messenger who would carry the report of the other world to men, and they bade him hear and see all that was to be heard and seen in that place. Then he beheld and saw on one side the souls departing at either opening of heaven and earth when sentence had been given on them; and at the two other openings other souls, some ascending out of the earth dusty and worn with travel, some descending out of heaven clean and bright. And arriving ever and anon they seemed to have come from a long journey, and they went forth with gladness into the meadow, where they encamped as at a festival; and those who knew one another embraced and conversed, the souls which came from earth curiously enquiring about the things above, and the souls which came from heaven about the things beneath. And they told one another of what had happened by the way, those from below weeping and sorrowing at the remembrance of the things which they had endured and seen in their journey beneath the earth (now the journey lasted a thousand years), while those from above were describing heavenly delights and visions of inconceivable beauty. The story, Glaucon, would take too long to tell; but the sum was this: -He said that for every wrong which they had done to any one they suffered tenfold; or once in a hundred years – such being reckoned to be the length of man's life, and the penalty being thus paid ten times in a thousand years. If, for example, there were any who had been the cause of many deaths, or had betrayed or enslaved cities or armies, or been guilty of any other evil behaviour, for each and all of their offences they received punishment ten times over, and the rewards of beneficence and justice and holiness were in the same proportion. I need hardly repeat what he said concerning young children dying almost as soon as they were born. Of piety and impiety to gods and parents, and of murderers, there were retributions other and greater far which he described. He mentioned that he was present when one of the spirits asked another, 'Where is Ardiaeus the Great?' (Now this Ardiaeus lived a thousand years before the time of Er: he had

### early, readily, soon, instantly, again, forthwith, promptly, shortly, rath. bore: (v) dig, tire, pierce, tap, annoy, perforate; (n, v) bother, plague; (n)auger, well, gimlet. ANTONYMS: (v) fascinate, excite, hypnotize, engage, entertain, stimulate; (n) charmer, exciter, excitement, pleasure.

anon: (adv) directly, immediately,

dusty: (adj) dirty, sandy, mealy, dry, unclean, pulverulent, branny, uninteresting, vague, psammous;

### **Thesaurus**

(adj, v) sooty. ANTONYMS: (adj) dusted, clean. festival: (n) feast, carnival, fair, celebration, festivity, holiday, fte, jubilee, fiesta, party; (n, v) fete. gladness: (n) joy, gaiety, pleasure, delight, bliss, glee, happiness, exhilaration, joyfulness, mirth, cheerfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) unhappiness, dismay, displeasure. piety: (n) godliness, devoutness, faith, righteousness, holiness, reverence,

religion, religiousness, piousness, sanctity, goodness. ANTONYMS: (n) sin, profanity, wickedness. spirits: (n) alcohol, booze, humor, frame of mind, liqueur, strong drink, hard drink; (adj) cheer, geniality, good humor; (v) wine. symbols: (n) secret language, secret code, script, code, cipher, cryptogram. tenfold: (adj) decuple, decimal, tenth,

containing ten.

been the tyrant of some city of Pamphylia, and had murdered his aged father and his elder brother, and was said to have committed many other abominable crimes.) The answer of the other spirit was: 'He comes not hither and will never come. And this,' said he, 'was one of the dreadful sights which we ourselves witnessed. We were at the mouth of the cavern, and, having completed all our experiences, were about to reascend, when of a sudden Ardiaeus appeared and several others, most of whom were tyrants; and there were also besides the tyrants private individuals who had been great criminals: they were just, as they fancied, about to return into the upper world, but the mouth, instead of admitting them, gave a roar, whenever any of these incurable sinners or some one who had not been sufficiently punished tried to ascend; and then wild men of fiery aspect, who were standing by and heard the sound, seized and carried them off; and Ardiaeus and others they bound head and foot and hand, and threw them down and flayed them with scourges, and dragged them along the road at the side, carding them on thorns like wool, and declaring to the passersby what were their crimes, and that they were being taken away to be cast into hell.' And of all the many terrors which they had endured, he said that there was none like the terror which each of them felt at that moment, lest they should hear the voice; and when there was silence, one by one they ascended with exceeding joy. These, said Er, were the **penalties** and retributions, and there were blessings Now when the spirits which were in the meadow had tarried seven days, on the eighth they were obliged to proceed on their journey, and, on the fourth day after, he said that they came to a place where they could see from above a line of light, straight as a column, extending right through the whole heaven and through the earth, in colour resembling the rainbow, only brighter and purer; another day's journey brought them to the place, and there, in the midst of the light, they saw the ends of the chains of heaven let down from above: for this light is the belt of heaven, and holds together the circle of the universe, like the under-girders of a trireme. From these ends is extended the spindle of Necessity, on which all the revolutions turn. The shaft and hook of this spindle are made of steel, and the whorl is made partly of steel and also partly of other materials. Now the whorl is in form like the whorl used on earth;

### **Thesaurus**

greater than; (adj) excessive, transcendent, extraordinary, exceptional, prodigious, surpassing, Olympian; (v) exceed.

fiery: (adj, n) burning, passionate, glowing; (adj) fervent, ablaze, hot, fervid, impassioned, peppery; (adj, v) fierce, violent. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, passionless, dispassionate, indifferent, placid, gentle, cool; (adv) easygoing.

exceeding: (prep) beyond, more than,

hook: (*n*, *v*) crook, catch, draw, bend, trap, lure; (*n*) fishhook, claw, crotchet; (*v*) fasten, hitch.
ANTONYMS: (*v*) undercharge, detach, undo.
midst: (*adj*, *n*) middle; (*adv*) mid,

midst: (adj, n) middle; (adv) mid, between; (prep) among, amid; (n) core, center, thick, interior, heart, waist.

**penalties**: (n) penalty.

**roar**: (*n*, *v*) bellow, cry, shout, howl, bark, clatter, holler; (*adj*, *n*, *v*)

thunder; (v) bawl; (adj, v) bluster; (adj, n) peal. ANTONYMS: (v) cry, week. seized: (adj) confiscate, appropriated, condemned, apprehended, grasped, taken, held, seised, detained, obtained, arraught.

**shaft**: (*n*) arrow, beam, axis, pole, arbor, dart, pillar, lance, well, axle; (*adi. n*) pit.

wool: (n) fur, coat, pile, down, woolen, woollen, yarn, hair, cashmere, alpaca, shoddy.

and the description of it implied that there is one large hollow whorl which is quite scooped out, and into this is fitted another lesser one, and another, and another, and four others, making eight in all, like vessels which fit into one another; the whorls show their edges on the upper side, and on their lower side all together form one continuous whorl. This is pierced by the spindle, which is driven home through the centre of the eighth. The first and outermost whorl has the rim broadest, and the seven inner whorls are narrower, in the following proportions – the sixth is next to the first in size, the fourth next to the sixth; then comes the eighth; the seventh is fifth, the fifth is sixth, the third is seventh, last and eighth comes the second. The largest (or fixed stars) is spangled, and the seventh (or sun) is brightest; the eighth (or moon) coloured by the reflected light of the seventh; the second and fifth (Saturn and Mercury) are in colour like one another, and yellower than the preceding; the third (Venus) has the whitest light; the fourth (Mars) is **reddish**; the sixth (Jupiter) is in whiteness second. Now the whole spindle has the same motion; but, as the whole revolves in one direction, the seven inner circles move slowly in the other, and of these the swiftest is the eighth; next in swiftness are the seventh, sixth, and fifth, which move together; third in swiftness appeared to move according to the law of this reversed motion the fourth; the third appeared fourth and the second fifth. The spindle turns on the knees of Necessity; and on the upper surface of each circle is a siren, who goes round with them, hymning a single tone or note. The eight together form one harmony; and round about, at equal intervals, there is another band, three in number, each sitting upon her throne: these are the Fates, daughters of Necessity, who are clothed in white robes and have chaplets upon their heads, Lachesis and Clotho and Atropos, who accompany with their voices the harmony of the sirens-Lachesis singing of the past, Clotho of the present, Atropos of the future; Clotho from time to time assisting with a touch of her right hand the revolution of the outer circle of the whorl or spindle, and Atropos with her left hand touching and guiding the inner ones, and Lachesis laying hold of either in turn, first with one hand and then with the other.

When Er and the spirits arrived, their duty was to go at once to Lachesis; but first of all there came a prophet who arranged them in order; then he took from

### hollow: (adj, n) blank; (n) cavity, depression, cave, dell; (adj) empty, false; (adj, n, v) concave; (n, v) excavate, dent, scoop. ANTONYMS: (adj) convex, sincere, true, full, meaningful, cramped, valid; (n) hump, bump, hill, lump. reddish: (adj) ruddy, rosy, crimson, charge, purfoccent, enforce, religious della content enforce religious della content enforce religious della content enforce religious della content enforce religious della content enforcement enforcement

cherry, rufescent, rufous, rubicund, scarlet, rubedinous, ruby, colorful. reflected: (adj) reflecting, reverberant, reflectent.

### **Thesaurus**

reversed: (adj) converse, inverse, reverse, upside-down, overturned, opposite, contrary, reversal, upside down, upturned, on its head. robes: (n) garb, fine clothes, costume, best clothes.

singing: (v) sing; (n) chanting, caroling, crooning, hymnody, humming, intonation, scat, psalmody, harmonization; (adj) cantabile. ANTONYM: (adj) silent. siren: (n) Delilah, alarm, warning, mermaid, syren, CIRCE, temptress, harpy, femme fatale, alert; (*adj*) fascinating.

touching: (adj, v) affecting; (adj) poignant, pitiful, pathetic, adjacent, adjoining, emotional; (n) touch, contact; (prep) concerning, about. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaffecting, everyday, heartwarming, unmoving, heartbreaking, emotionless, unemotional, impassive.

the knees of Lachesis lots and samples of lives, and having mounted a high pulpit, spoke as follows: 'Hear the word of Lachesis, the daughter of Necessity. Mortal souls, behold a new cycle of life and mortality. Your genius will not be allotted to you, but you will choose your genius; and let him who draws the first lot have the first choice, and the life which he chooses shall be his destiny. Virtue is free, and as a man honours or dishonours her he will have more or less of her; the responsibility is with the chooser—God is justified.' When the Interpreter had thus spoken he scattered lots indifferently among them all, and each of them took up the lot which fell near him, all but Er himself (he was not allowed), and each as he took his lot perceived the number which he had obtained. Then the Interpreter placed on the ground before them the samples of lives; and there were many more lives than the souls present, and they were of all sorts. There were lives of every animal and of man in every condition. And there were tyrannies among them, some lasting out the tyrant's life, others which broke off in the middle and came to an end in poverty and exile and beggary; and there were lives of famous men, some who were famous for their form and beauty as well as for their strength and success in games, or, again, for their birth and the qualities of their ancestors; and some who were the reverse of famous for the opposite qualities. And of women likewise; there was not, however, any definite character in them, because the soul, when **choosing** a new life, must of necessity become different. But there was every other quality, and the all mingled with one another, and also with elements of wealth and poverty, and disease and health; and there were mean states also. And here, my dear Glaucon, is the supreme **peril** of our human state; and therefore the utmost care should be taken. Let each one of us leave every other kind of knowledge and seek and follow one thing only, if peradventure he may be able to learn and may find some one who will make him able to learn and discern between good and evil, and so to choose always and everywhere the better life as he has opportunity. He should consider the bearing of all these things which have been mentioned severally and collectively upon virtue; he should know what the effect of beauty is when combined with poverty or wealth in a particular soul, and what are the good and evil consequences of noble and humble birth, of private and public station, of

### **Thesaurus**

allotted: (adj) agreed, chosen, fixed, selected.

ancestors: (n) family, ancestor, lineage, pedigree, parents, majority, intimates, genealogy, family tree, associates, relatives.

choosing: (n) picking, pick, selection, option, election, appointment, volition; (v) choose.

collectively: (adv) together, generally, conjointly, communally, aggregately, unitedly, mutually, commonly,

altogether, corporately, cooperatively. ANTONYMS: (adv) alone, individually.

definite: (adj) certain, clear, distinct, concrete, plain, conclusive, specific, precise, categorical, decisive; (adj, v) absolute. ANTONYMS: (adj) imprecise, unclear, vague, undefined, scattered: (adj) dissipated, thin, doubtful, indeterminate, qualified, evasive, indefinite, indescribable,

mounted: (adj) equestrian, mounting,

mounts, set, firm, affixed, decorated. ANTONYM: (adj) unmounted. peril: (n, v) hazard, risk, endanger, menace, adventure; (n) danger, jeopardy, chance; (v) imperil, expose, compromise. ANTONYM: (n)

disordered, disconnected, confused, sparse, sporadic, distributed, rare, diffuse; (v) disperse.

strength and weakness, of cleverness and **dullness**, and of all the natural and acquired gifts of the soul, and the operation of them when **conjoined**; he will then look at the nature of the soul, and from the consideration of all these qualities he will be able to determine which is the better and which is the worse; and so he will choose, giving the name of evil to the life which will make his soul more unjust, and good to the life which will make his soul more just; all else he will disregard. For we have seen and know that this is the best choice both in life and after death. A man must take with him into the world below an **adamantine** faith in truth and right, that there too he may be undazzled by the desire of wealth or the other allurements of evil, lest, coming upon tyrannies and similar villainies, he do **irremediable** wrongs to others and **suffer** yet worse himself; but let him know how to choose the mean and avoid the extremes on either side, as far as possible, not only in this life but in all that which is to come. For this is the way of happiness.

And according to the report of the messenger from the other world this was what the prophet said at the time: 'Even for the last comer, if he chooses wisely and will live diligently, there is appointed a happy and not undesirable existence. Let not him who chooses first be careless, and let not the last despair.' And when he had spoken, he who had the first choice came forward and in a moment chose the greatest tyranny; his mind having been darkened by folly and sensuality, he had not thought out the whole matter before he chose, and did not at first sight perceive that he was fated, among other evils, to devour his own children. But when he had time to reflect, and saw what was in the lot, he began to beat his breast and lament over his choice, forgetting the proclamation of the prophet; for, instead of throwing the blame of his misfortune on himself, he accused chance and the gods, and everything rather than himself. Now he was one of those who came from heaven, and in a former life had dwelt in a wellordered State, but his virtue was a matter of habit only, and he had no philosophy. And it was true of others who were similarly overtaken, that the greater number of them came from heaven and therefore they had never been schooled by trial, whereas the pilgrims who came from earth having themselves suffered and seen others suffer, were not in a hurry to choose. And owing to this

### **Thesaurus**

**adamantine**: (*adj*) hard, inexorable, intransigent, strong, robust, puissant, valid, powerful, potent, rigid, inflexible.

comer: (n) newcomer, arriver, traveler, traveller, contender, competitor, competition, visitor, whiz kid, Young Turk; (adj) fresh.

conjoined: (adj) concomitant, conjunct, associated, concurrent, united, inseparable, coincident, attending, associate, accompanying, adjunct. irrediamable, (adj) incurable, irrediavele, irredeamable, remediless, be

dullness: (n) apathy, bluntness, boredom, dreariness, flatness, tedium, obtuseness, torpor, monotony, lethargy; (adj, n) phlegm. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, intensity, brilliance, excitement, intelligence, shine, asperity, animation, gloss, clarity, variation. irremediable: (adj) incurable, irrecoverable, irretrievable, irrevocable, hopeless, irredeemable, irreclaimable, remediless, beyond

repair, desperate, cureless.
ANTONYMS: (adj) remediable,
superficial, temporary.
reflect: (v) deliberate, ponder, cogitate,
muse, consider, meditate,
contemplate, think, mull over, mull,
mirror. ANTONYM: (v) ignore.
suffer: (v) encounter, stand, accept,
undergo, brook, experience, have,
endure, abide, sustain; (adj, v) allow.
ANTONYMS: (v) enjoy, rejoice,
flourish.

inexperience of theirs, and also because the lot was a chance, many of the souls exchanged a good destiny for an evil or an evil for a good. For if a man had always on his arrival in this world dedicated himself from the first to sound philosophy, and had been moderately fortunate in the number of the lot, he might, as the messenger reported, be happy here, and also his journey to another life and return to this, instead of being rough and underground, would be smooth and heavenly. Most curious, he said, was the spectacle-sad and laughable and strange; for the choice of the souls was in most cases based on their experience of a previous life. There he saw the soul which had once been Orpheus choosing the life of a swan out of enmity to the race of women, hating to be born of a woman because they had been his murderers; he beheld also the soul of Thamyras choosing the life of a nightingale; birds, on the other hand, like the swan and other musicians, wanting to be men. The soul which obtained the twentieth lot chose the life of a lion, and this was the soul of Ajax the son of Telamon, who would not be a man, remembering the injustice which was done him in the judgment about the arms. The next was Agamemnon, who took the life of an eagle, because, like Ajax, he hated human nature by reason of his sufferings. About the middle came the lot of Atalanta; she, seeing the great fame of an athlete, was unable to resist the temptation: and after her there followed the soul of Epeus the son of Panopeus passing into the nature of a woman cunning in the arts; and far away among the last who chose, the soul of the jester Thersites was putting on the form of a monkey. There came also the soul of Odysseus having yet to make a choice, and his lot happened to be the last of Now the recollection of former toils had disenchanted him of ambition, and he went about for a considerable time in search of the life of a private man who had no cares; he had some difficulty in finding this, which was lying about and had been neglected by everybody else; and when he saw it, he said that he would have done the same had his lot been first instead of last, and that he was delighted to have it. And not only did men pass into animals, but I must also mention that there were animals tame and wild who changed into one another and into corresponding human natures - the good into the gentle and the evil into the savage, in all sorts of combinations.

### **Thesaurus**

disenchanted: (adj) cynical, disappointed, worldly, sophisticated, blas, let down, dissatisfied. ANTONYMS: (adj) naive, satisfied, spellbound, entranced, idealistic. eagle: (n) bird of Jove, colors, double eagle, oriflamme, oriflamb, raptor, labarum, emblem, flag, dibs, streamer.

exchanged: (adj) counterchanged, bartered, substituted.

gentle: (adj) easy, friendly, soft, kind,

affable, balmy, mild, feeble, compassionate; (adj, adv) calm; (adj, v) tame. ANTONYMS: (adj) harsh, loud, reported: (adj) narrative, reputed. fierce, caustic, violent, rough, hardhearted, abrupt, heavy, steep,

jester: (n) joker, fool, buffoon, comic, clown, zany, harlequin, humorist, spark, wit, droll.

remembering: (n) recollection, recall, memory, identification, recognition, remember, association, connection,

connexion, reminiscence, remembrance.

**smooth**: (adj, v) quiet, level, facilitate; (adj) calm, oily, facile, fluent, flowing, flat, fluid, graceful. ANTONYMS: (adj) rough, uneven, wrinkled, peeling, jerky, ridged, flaking, abrasive, coarse, prickly; (v) wrinkle. swan: (v) rove, roam, wander, stray, aver, drift, avow, assert; (n) cygnet, whooper, cushat.

All the souls had now chosen their lives, and they went in the order of their choice to Lachesis, who sent with them the genius whom they had severally chosen, to be the guardian of their lives and the fulfiller of the choice: this genius led the souls first to Clotho, and drew them within the revolution of the spindle impelled by her hand, thus ratifying the destiny of each; and then, when they were fastened to this, carried them to Atropos, who spun the threads and made them irreversible, whence without turning round they passed beneath the throne of Necessity; and when they had all passed, they marched on in a scorching heat to the plain of Forgetfulness, which was a barren waste destitute of trees and verdure; and then towards evening they encamped by the river of Unmindfulness, whose water no vessel can hold; of this they were all obliged to drink a certain quantity, and those who were not saved by wisdom drank more than was necessary; and each one as he drank forgot all things. Now after they had gone to rest, about the middle of the night there was a thunderstorm and earthquake, and then in an instant they were driven upwards in all manner of ways to their birth, like stars shooting. He himself was hindered from drinking the water. But in what manner or by what means he returned to the body he could not say; only, in the morning, awaking suddenly, he found himself lying on the pyre.

And thus, Glaucon, the tale has been saved and has not perished, and will save us if we are obedient to the word spoken; and we shall pass safely over the river of Forgetfulness and our soul will not be **defiled**. Wherefore my counsel is, that we hold fast ever to the heavenly way and follow after justice and virtue always, **considering** that the soul is immortal and able to endure every sort of good and every sort of evil. Thus shall we live dear to one another and to the gods, both while remaining here and when, like conquerors in the games who go round to gather gifts, we receive our **reward**. And it shall be well with us both in this life and in the pilgrimage of a thousand years which we have been describing.

### **Thesaurus**

considering: (conj, prep) because, bearing in mind; (conj) as, since; (adv) whereas, enough; (v) consider; (n) consideration, thought, deliberation; (prep) in view of.

defiled: (adj) impure, polluted, dirty, maculate, debauched, contaminated, corrupt, violated, tainted, abusive, adulterate. ANTONYMS: (adj) hallowed, purified, sanctified, cleansed, untarnished. drank: (v) absorb.

ratifying: (adj) affirmative, obsignatory, confirmative, positive, dogmatic; (n) passing, agreement. reward: (n, v) recompense, return, compensation, guerdon, wage, meed, prize, bribe; (v) repay, requite; (n) payment. ANTONYMS: (n) penalty, sentence; (v) dishonor, penalize. spun: (adj) spined; (v) rotate, revolve. threads: (n) duds, clothing, apparel, clothes, wear, vesture, coat, cords, dress, garb, garment.

storm, electric storm, tempest, hurricane, gale, downpour, rainstorm, shower, snowstorm; (adj) earthquake.

verdure: (adj, n) greenness; (n) greenery, foliage, verdancy, viridity, green, leafage, flora, freshness, strength, vegetable kingdom.

vessel: (n) ship, pot, jar, duct, vas, boat, craft, container, bowl, barrel.

canal.

thunderstorm: (n) storm, electrical

### GLOSSARY

- abate: (v) bate, weaken, decline, remit, slack, slake, wane, relax, lessen, diminish, allay. ANTONYMS: (v) rise, grow, magnify, surge, intensify, expand, enlarge, enhance, amplify, prolong, extend
- abated: (adj) slack
- abhor: (v) hate, detest, abominate, execrate, despise, dislike, nauseate, disdain, scorn, resent, dread.
  ANTONYMS: (v) adore, approve, like, cherish, embrace, relish, treasure, admire
- abhorrence: (n) odium, antipathy, detestation, hatred, aversion, disgust, execration, hate, loathing, revulsion, horror. ANTONYMS: (n) attraction, adoration, delight, liking, attractiveness
- abide: (v) endure, bide, undergo, tolerate, take, suffer, stomach, bear, brook; (adj, v) stay, dwell. ANTONYMS: (v) check, depart, disallow, disapprove, disbelieve, journey, dodge, leave, migrate, move, pass
- abiding: (adj) immortal, stable, constant, everlasting, lasting, enduring, perpetual, eternal, perennial, continuing, imperishable. ANTONYMS: (adj) ephemeral, fleeting, impermanent, temporary, passing, mortal, erratic, inconstant abiect: (adj) contemptible nitiful
- abject: (adj) contemptible, pitiful, low, wretched, despicable, sordid, base, mean, vile; (n) ignominious, dirty. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, hopeful, magnificent, esteemed, proud, dignified, commendable, noble, exalted, worthy, happy
- abnegation: (n) denial, renunciation, negation, refusal, forswearing, forgoing, abstinence, disclaimer, temperance, forbearance, nihilism. ANTONYMS: (n) indulgence, yielding, admittance, acquiescence,

concession

- abode: (n) dwelling, house, residence, place, domicile, lodge, abidance, mansion, lodging, address, seat
- abominable: (adj, v) odious, foul; (adj) abhorrent, detestable, dreadful, awful, execrable, terrible, loathsome, cursed, wicked. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, lovable, admirable, alluring, appealing, commendable, laudable, delightful, desirable, enjoyable, likable
- abominate: (v) loathe, detest, hate, execrate, despise, dislike, nauseate, disgust, condemn, resent, can't bear. ANTONYMS: (v) love, adore
- **aborigines**: (n) indigene, autochthones
- abound: (v) swarm, teem, flow, overflow, burst; (n) exuberate, shower down, stream, rain, abundance; (adj) abundant. ANTONYM: (v) disperse
- **absolution**: (n) remission, exemption, forgiveness, justification, release, exoneration, condonation, remittal, dispensation, redemption; (n, v) excuse. ANTONYM5: (n) conviction, intolerance
- abstain: (v) desist, forbear, avoid, give up, eschew, withhold, cease, decline, fast, neglect; (adj, v) deny oneself. ANTONYMS: (v) consume, yield, use, surrender, partake, indulge, imbibe, persist, vote, eat
- **abstainer**: (n) religionist, band of hope, teetotaller, stylite, puritan, nondrinker, ascetic, teetotaler
- abstinence: (n) temperance, abstention, forbearance, sobriety, chastity, soberness, celibacy, teetotalism, fast, abstinency, restraint. ANTONYMS: (n) excess, intoxication, revelry, intemperance, drunkenness, dissipation, extravagance, wantonness
- abstracted: (adj) absentminded,

separate, absent-minded, abstract, distrait, inattentive, pensive, preoccupied, remote, lost, vacant. ANTONYM: (adj) alert

- abstraction: (n) abstract, reverie, engrossment, extraction, withdrawal, removal, deduction, abbreviation, preoccupancy, theorisation, theorization. ANTONYMS: (n) attentiveness, inclusion, alertness, concentration, fact
- abstracts: (n) data
- absurdity: (n) absurdness, nonsense, silliness, nonsensicality, meaninglessness, illogicality, stupidity, folly, fatuity, idiocy, preposterousness. ANTONYMS: (n) logic, reasonableness, worthiness, solemnity, sensibleness
- abundantly: (adv) copiously, richly, fully, generously, bounteously, plentifully, plenteously, freely, exuberantly, largely, bountifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) fruitlessly, insufficiently, stingily, meagerly, scantily
- accessory: (n) accomplice, abettor, abetter, confederate, attachment; (adj, v) ancillary, subservient; (adj, n) auxiliary, adjunct; (adj) appurtenant, subsidiary. ANTONYMS: (n) instigator, leader, principal
- accommodated: (adj) meet
- accommodations: (n) house, housing, lodging, habitat
- accompaniment: (n) concomitant, part, backing, escort, support, occurrence, protection, companionship, addition; (adv) second, bass
- accompaniments: (n) equipment, trimmings, fixing
- accomplish: (v) perform, reach, do, compass, perfect, attain, make, fulfill, realize, execute, carry out.

ANTONYMS: (v) abandon, neglect, choke, blow, lose

accomplishing: (n) doing; (adj) effectual

accomplishments: (n) benefit, actions, background, Comings and Goings, deeds, events, happenings, activities

accordance: (n) harmony, agreement, conformity, unison, concordance, coincidence, accordancy, admission, fitness, consensus, concent

according: (adj) pursuant, consonant, equal, agreeable, harmonious, conformable, consistent, corresponding, respondent; (adv) correspondingly, accordingly

accruing: (adj) incoming accumulate: (v) pile, gather, collect, amass, heap, hoard, compile, assemble, lay up, accrue, cumulate. ANTONYMS: (v) distribute, dwindle, spend, lose, waste, dissipate, lessen, scatter, shuck, shed, decrease

accursed: (adj) execrable, abominable, detestable, accurst, hateful, damned, damnable, maledict, blasted; (v) atrocious, stranded

accusation: (n) complaint, charge, accusal, blame, allegation, condemnation, insinuation, denunciation, indictment, inculpation, impeachment. ANTONYMS: (n) exoneration, argument, compliment

accuse: (v) charge, incriminate, arraign, denounce, defame, criminate, indict, fault, betray, condemn, inculpate. ANTONYMS: (v) absolve, exculpate, exonerate, praise, support, clear

accuser: (n) complainant, informer, disputant, controversialist, accusant, pursuer, delator, petitioner, prosecutor, claimant, appeacher

accustomed: (adj, n) habitual; (adj) familiar, normal, wonted, usual, natural, everyday, ordinary, habituated, common, traditional. ANTONYMS: (adj) unusual, green, unseasoned, unconventional, untrained, abnormal, uncharacteristic, exceptional

acknowledging: (n) agreement; (adj) responsive, affirmative

acquaintances: (n) associates acquainted: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, aware, cognizant, conversant, hand and glove,

intimate, thick; (adv) abreast; (v) inform, acquaint

acquirement: (adj, n) accomplishment; (n) acquisition, achievement, skill, workmanship, craftsmanship, purchase, ability, mastery, science, procurement

acquit: (adj, v) release; (v) exculpate, exonerate, discharge, excuse, clear, pardon, free, conduct, forgive, vindicate. ANTONYMS: (v) condemn, damn, censure, blame, sentence

acquitted: (adj) not guilty, guiltless; (v) acquit, absolved

acropolis: (n) bastion, citadel, hill actuated: (adj) motivated, actuate adamant: (adj) rigid, obdurate, stubborn, immovable, firm, inflexible, unyielding, steadfast, inexorable, tough, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) compliant, flexible, pliant, supple, soft, swayable, yielding, acquiescing, receptive, acquiescent, irresolute

adamantine: (adj) hard, inexorable, intransigent, strong, robust, puissant, valid, powerful, potent, rigid, inflexible

adhere: (v) abide, cleave, accede, bond, cling, attach, stick, bind, persist, sustain; (adj, v) agree. ANTONYMS: (v) separate, repel, unfasten, loose, loosen

adherents: (n) followers, following administer: (n, v) manage, rule, minister, command; (v) dispense, distribute, give, operate, deal, supply, handle. ANTONYMS: (v) withhold, neglect, frustrate, refuse, deny, mismanage, take

admirable: (adj) fine, outstanding, beautiful, great, commendable, lovely, good, creditable, praiseworthy, worthy, grand. ANTONYMS: (adj) appalling, poor, unworthy, despicable, contemptible, detestable, dishonorable, rotten, unimpressive, loathsome, low

admirer: (n) enthusiast, fan, devotee, supporter, votary, worshiper, wooer, beau, fancier; (adj) suitor; (adj, n) lover

admiring: (adj) admire, admiringly, loving, respectful, glowing, affectionate, amatory, appreciative, enthusiastic, flattering, approving. ANTONYMS: (adj) defamatory, critical, disdainful, disapproving, disrespectful, uncomplimentary

admitting: (adj) suscipient; (adv) conditionally; (n) acknowledgment, receipt, credence; (conj) although admixture: (n) mixture, composite,

alloy, addition, fusion, additive, mixing, amalgam, mix, commixture, melange

admonition: (n) advice, caution, admonishment, reproof, exhortation, lesson, counsel, monition, caveat, censure, rebuke. ANTONYM: (n) approval

adulation: (n, v) flattery; (n) blarney, worship, cajolery, compliment, gloze, sycophancy, obsequiousness, admiration, love; (v) cringe. ANTONYMS: (n) insult, criticism, detestation, disparagement

adulteration: (n) corruption, debasement, pollution, impurity, alloy, sophistication, contamination, fabrication, mixture, forgery, degradation. ANTONYM: (n) purity

adultery: (n) infidelity, criminal conversation, adulterer, falseness, treachery, betrayal, faithlessness, love affair; (adj) advoutry, crim, harlotry. ANTONYMS: (n) faithfulness, fidelity

advancing: (adj) progressive, moving forward, increasing, moving, processive, thriving, ongoing, aggressive; (n) advancement, progression, proceeding

advantageous: (adj) expedient, useful, auspicious, helpful, gainful, serviceable, convenient, lucky, worthwhile, beneficial; (adj, v) profitable. ANTONYMS: (adj) useless, disadvantageous, detrimental, unhelpful, unfortunate, inauspicious, worthless, unpleasant adversary: (n) antagonist, foe, enemy,

competitor, rival, opposition, opposer, contestant, match, somebody; (adj) hostile. ANTONYMS: (n) ally, supporter, friend, partner, helper, assistant aesculapius: (n) Hippocrates

aesop: (adj) Caliban, harridan, monkey, octopus, satyr, scarecrow, specter, toad, baboon

affectation: (n) pretension, feint, pose, display, airs, affectedness, ostentation, show, pretense, mannerism, sham. ANTONYMS: (n) artlessness, honesty, modesty

affectionate: (adj) fond, tender, kind, mild, devoted, ardent, warm, cordial, caring, brotherly; (adj, adv) fatherly. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, callous, undemonstrative, aloof, cool, disapproving, reserved, antagonistic, paternal, rough

affections: (n) bosom affirm: (v) prove, assert, declare,

- protest, avow, maintain, approve, accept, assure, profess, promise. ANTONYMS: (v) negate, veto, nullify, refute, repress
- **affirmed**: (adj) acknowledged, avowed, guaranteed
- **affirming**: (adj) predicative, predicant, assertory; (n) confirmation
- afflicted: (adj) miserable, distressed, stricken, pitiful, sorrowful, ill, woeful, dejected, sorry; (v) afflict, displeased
- affliction: (n, v) adversity; (n) distress, regret, martyrdom, torment, curse, trial, bane, misadventure, sorrow, agony. ANTONYMS: (n) gift, godsend, solace, blessing
- **aforesaid**: (adj) aforenamed, said, foregoing, above-mentioned, same, preceding, former, foresaid
- afterthought: (n) aftercome, aftercourse, aftergrowth, afterpart, afterpiece, second thought, reversal, turnaround, turnabout, improver, postscript. ANTONYMS: (n) presupposition, forethought
- aggravated: (adj) angry, infuriated, incensed, annoyed, vexed, intense, grievous, provoked, exasperated, afflictive. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, pleased
- agility: (n) quickness, lightness, alacrity, adroitness, promptitude, mobility, legerdemain, liveliness, rapidity, speed, activity. ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, oafishness, inflexibility, heaviness, awkwardness
- agora: (n) open air market, country marketplace, assembly, marketplace, mart, public square
- agreeable: (adj) accordant, nice, sweet, consistent, suitable, amusing, enjoyable, affable; (adj, v) pleasant, desirable; (adj, n) acceptable.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) disagreeable, discordant, unpleasant, nasty, unwilling, resistant, aggressive, repugnant, averse, stubborn, unacceptable
- agreeably: (adv) enjoyably, pleasantly, sympathetically, pleasingly, suitably, well, melodically, accordingly, affably, genially; (adv, v) happily. ANTONYMS: (adv) disagreeably, incongruously, uncooperatively, unhelpfully, badly, stubbornly, harshly
- aided: (adj) power, favored

- ailment: (n) complaint, affection, disease, trouble, condition, ill, disorder, sickness, affliction; (adj, n) infirmity; (v) distemper
- airs: (n, v) pretension; (n) affectation, pride, pose, pretensions, attitude; (adj, n) arrogance; (v) precisianism, euphuism, purism, pedantry. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, personality, realness, truthfulness, honesty
- airy: (adj) light, windy, aery, aerial, ethereal, insubstantial, sprightly, perky, volatile, aeriform, aired. ANTONYMS: (adj) airless, hot, massive, wooden, weighty, substantial, stifling, sluggish, ponderous, musty, lumbering
- akin: (adj) near, like, allied, equivalent, alike, similar, analogous, parallel, cognate, kindred, corresponding. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconnected, alien, disconnected, dissimilar, different
- algebraic: (adj) statistical, mathematical, arithmetical, numerable, computable, calculable, analytic, geometric, numerical, arithmetic
- allayed: (adj) quenched, slaked allegorical: (adj) figurative, metaphorical, symbolic, parabolic, anagogical, allusive, emblematic, illustrative, typical, tralatitious, representative
- allegory: (n) fable, parable, figure of speech, metaphor, symbol, emblem, apologue, story, symbolization; (adj, n) simile; (adj) type. ANTONYMS: (n) history, fact, chronicle
- alleviation: (n) remission, abatement, relaxation, easement, solace, assuagement, mitigation, palliation, reprieve, comfort, easing
- **all-knowing**: (adj) omniscient, almighty
- allotted: (adj) agreed, chosen, fixed, selected
- allowable: (adj, v) permissible; (adj) justifiable, acceptable, lawful, permitted, tolerable, bearable, passable, sufferable, legal; (v) allowed. ANTONYMS: (adj) inexcusable, inadmissible, intolerable
- alloy: (n) amalgam, admixture, blend, mixture, fusion, compound; (adj, v) sophisticate; (v) devalue, mix, debase, deteriorate. ANTONYMS: (v) clean, clear, separate
- **alloyed**: (adj) blended, false, mixed **allude**: (v) advert, refer, hint, glance,

intimate, suggest, touch, bring up, mean, notice, pertain

- **allusion**: (n) innuendo, reference, cue, suggestion, mention, intimation, pointer, insinuation, implication, indication, clue
- alms: (n) handout, charity, benefaction, gift, donation, contribution, offering, bounty; (n, v) sportula, largess; (v) relieve
- aloft: (adj, adv) overhead; (adv) up, on high, over, aloof, upwards, uphill, above ground; (prep) upon; (adj) eminent, lofty
- alphabet: (n) rudiments, rudiment, elements, grammar, ABC, fundamentals, basics, first rudiment, first principle, outlines, abecedary
- altering: (n) castration, fixing, interchange, neutering; (adj) changing, alterant
- alternating: (adj) intermittent, recurrent, irregular, regular, every other, blinking, successive; (adv) back and forth. ANTONYM: (adj) direct
- amatory: (adj) amative, erotic, loving, amatorial, amatorious, amatorian, romantic, erotical. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, unfriendly, cool
- amazement: (n) admiration, wonder, surprise, consternation, stupefaction, stupor, wonderment, feeling, alarm, jolt; (v) amaze. ANTONYMS: (n) preparation, indifference, expectation, coolness, cool, composure, calmness, contempt, belief
- ambassadors: (n) ambassador amelioration: (n) betterment, advance, improvement, melioration, enhancement, reformation, advancement, correction, progress, reform, relief
- amenable: (adj) accountable, yielding, answerable, tractable, submissive, responsible, compliant, obedient, acquiescent, accessible, pliable. ANTONYMS: (adj) obstinate, stubborn, disobedient, uncooperative, irresponsible, nonconforming, disagreeable, unanswerable, unaccountable, intractable, unamenable
- amenities: (n) creature comforts, living, support, sustenance, livelihood, keep, courtesy, propriety, etiquette, public services, manners
- **amorous**: (adj) amatory, romantic, amative, affectionate, passionate, fond, warm, ardent, erotic, tender,

- impassioned. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, hateful, repulsed, unfriendly, cool
- amply: (adj, adv) abundantly, sufficiently; (adv) fully, well, lavishly, plentifully, richly, generously, enough, adequately, capaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) meagerly, inadequately, illiberally, sparingly, poorly
- amulet: (n) talisman, fetish, mascot, periapt, charm, telesm, philter, spell, phylactery, keepsake, good luck charm
- analogous: (adj) similar, analog, analogical, akin, parallel, like, equivalent, corresponding, comparable, cognate, analogue. ANTONYMS: (adj) dissimilar, different, heterologous, disparate, disagreeing, homologous, opposite, unalike
- anapaestic: (adj) rhetorical, anapestic, anapaest
- anarchy: (n) chaos, confusion, disorder, disarrangement, pandemonium, disturbance, upset, misrule, riot, mess, anarchism. ANTONYMS: (n) organization, rule, lawfulness
- ancestor: (n) forerunner, forefather, parent, father, precursor, antecedent, forebear, forbear, prototype, ancestry, ascendant. ANTONYMS: (n) descendant, successor, offspring, progeny
- ancestral: (adj) family, patrimonial, heritable, genetic, linear, patriarchal, familial, lineal, inherited, inheritable, ethnic
- anew: (adv) again, newly, lately, recently, over again, once more, once again, new; (adj) only yesterday, the other day, just now
- animalism: (n) philosophy, temperament, ism, carnality, disposition, doctrine, lust, license, physicality
- animate: (v) inspire, encourage, quicken, invigorate, stimulate, revive, hearten; (adj, v) cheer, inspirit, exhilarate; (adj) live. ANTONYMS: (v) deaden, inhibit, kill, discourage; (adj) inanimate, dead, dull, dispirited, insentient, sluggish, spiritless
- animated: (adj) alive, lively, animate, perky, spirited, sprightly, brisk, cheerful, quick, vivacious, airy.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) lethargic, dull, blank, lifeless, spiritless, stiff, unanimated, bored, impassive,

### unexciting, dead

- animation: (adj, n) life, vivacity; (n) liveliness, vitality, activity, spirit, exhilaration, dash, energy, buoyancy; (adj) alacrity.
  ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, lifelessness, inertness, inertia, sluggishness, boredom
- annihilation: (n) abolition, death, slaughter, destruction, obliteration, extermination, extirpation, disintegration, demolition, defeat, pulverization. ANTONYMS: (n) preservation, survival, creation, protection
- anointed: (adj) hallowed, divine,
   greasy; (v) anoint
- anomaly: (n) aberration, anomalousness, deviation, abnormity, aberrant, peculiarity, irregularity, exception, deflection, informality, anachronism. ANTONYM: (n) normality
- anon: (adv) directly, immediately, early, readily, soon, instantly, again, forthwith, promptly, shortly, rath
- antagonism: (n) enmity, resistance, antithesis, aversion, conflict, hate, hostility, ill will, hatred, aggression, opposition. ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, accord, goodwill, harmony, agreement, calm, cooperation, friendship, gentleness
- antagonist: (n) opponent, adversary, enemy, foe, rival, match, opposition, opposer, assailant, opposite, competitor. ANTONYMS: (n) supporter, advocate, colleague, synergist, ally, defender
- antagonistic: (adj) counter, opposite, opposed, conflicting, averse, warlike, inimical, unfriendly, repugnant, contrary; (adj, v) adverse. ANTONYMS: (adj) synergistic, conciliating, peaceable, peaceful, compatible, agreeable, sympathetic
- antecedent: (adj, n, v) precedent; (n) precursor, forerunner, forebear, forefather, predecessor; (adj) anterior, past, former, preceding, prior. ANTONYMS: (adj) subsequent, after, following, later, posterior; (n) successor
- antecedents: (n) history, colony
  anticipating: (v) anticipate; (adj)
  pregnant, anticipant, hopeful, ready,
  oracular
- antidote: (n) remedy, counterpoison, antifebrile, antipoison, antivenin, antispasmodic, curative, corrective, answer, antitoxin, solution.

- ANTONYM: (n) venom antiquarian: (adj) antique, ancient. ANTONYMS: (adj) young, modern, new
- antique: (adj) old, antiquated, obsolete, aged, antiquarian, musty, quaint, outmoded, antediluvian, outdated; (n) relic. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) modern; (adj) recent, fresh, current, contemporary
- antiquity: (n) ancientness, ancientry, past, relic, status quo, artefact, artifact, oldness, old age, hoariness; (adj, n) age. ANTONYMS: (n) today, newness, modernity
- antithesis: (n) foil, opposite, antagonism, contrast, reverse, opposition, converse, contrary, contrariety, difference; (adj) inversion
- antwerp: (n) Antwerpen anyhow: (adv) somehow, at any rate, in any case, whatever, in any event, regardless, however, though, besides, nonetheless, one way or another
- aphoristic: (adj) axiomatic, sententious, aphoristical, apothegmatical, short, gnomical, epigrammatic, concise, terse
- aphrodite: (adj) peri, Apollo, Cupid, Hebe, narcissus, the Graces, Hyperion, houri, Venus; (n) Adonis, Cytherea
- apollo: (adj) Aphrodite, Hyperion, narcissus, peri, houri; (n) aurora, Terpsichore, Euterpe, Phoebus Apollo, Orpheus, orb of day
- apologist: (n) vindicator, justifier, exponent, proponent, supporter, defender, support, excusator, adherent, apologizer
- apparel: (n, v) garb, attire, garment, array, vesture; (n) clothing, finery, costume, clothes; (v) adorn, clothe
- apparition: (n) ghost, phantom, spirit, spectre, hallucination, spook, shade, eidolon, wraith, advent; (n, v) vision
- appeased: (adj) content, pacate append: (v) add, affix, annex, attach, join, include, suffix, tack, add on, conjoin; (adj, v) suspend. ANTONYMS: (v) disjoin, remove, subtract, delete, unfasten
- appended: (adj) added, affixed, additional
- applaud: (v) praise, eulogize, cheer, extol, hail, admire, clap, commend, approve, compliment, exalt. ANTONYMS: (v) criticize, disparage, lament, hiss, censure,

- commiserate, condemn **applauded**: (adj) famous, highly

  praised, commended
- applause: (n, v) acclaim, praise; (n) admiration, approval, eulogy, compliment, plaudit, commendation, clapping, clap, ovation. ANTONYMS: (n) disapproval, Boos, booing, denigration, hisses, hissing, rejection, condemnation, criticism, jeering
- appointing: (adj) appointed apportion: (v) allocate, assign, distribute, share, administer, award, dispense, deal, ration, portion out, divide. ANTONYMS: (v) hold, collect, assemble, keep
- apprehend: (v) arrest, comprehend, grasp, catch, understand, fathom, realize, sense, follow, nail; (adj, v) conceive. ANTONYMS: (v) misunderstand, discharge, free, liberate
- apprehended: (adj) arrested, seized, understood, under arrest, in custody, detained, appreciated, comprehended
- apprehending: (v) apprehend; (n) perception, thought, recognition apprehension: (n) alarm, comprehension, dread, misgiving, understanding, capture, foreboding, arrest, trepidation; (n, v) doubt, appreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) release, confidence, calmness, tranquility, freeing, misunderstanding, peace, relief,
- bravery, calm, equanimity apprentice: (n) trainee, disciple, beginner, prentice, novice, student, greenhorn, follower, recruit, amateur, neophyte. ANTONYMS: (n) expert, master, mentor, trainer, guru
- appropriating: (n) capture approver: (n) probator approximation: (n) guess, vicinity, affinity, guesswork, estimate, idea, appearance, proximity, joining; (n,
- v) estimation; (adv) about appurtenances: (n) accessories, equipment, belongings, tack, tackle, thing, trappings, rigging, gear, saddlery, possession
- aptitude: (n) capability, skill, capacity, fitness, facility, dexterity, potential, talent, flair, gift, proficiency. ANTONYMS: (n) inability, inaptitude, stupidity, disinclination, incapacity, skillessness, incompetence

arbitrarily: (adv) randomly, despoticly, erratically, absolutely, haphazardly, autocratically, positively, domineeringly, capriciously, imperiously, dictatorially. ANTONYMS: (adv) systematically, logically

- arcadian: (adj) rustic, rural, idyllic, unsophisticated, bucolic, utopian, country, agrestic
- archer: (n) bowman, Sagittarius, turfman, fan, expert, shot, shooter, toxophilite, tell, bowyer
- archilochus: (n) genus Archilochus archon: (n) ulema, magistrate, tribune, proconsul, podesta, mollah, kadi, cadi, mufti, praetor, consul
- argumentative: (adj) quarrelsome, litigious, controversial, cantankerous, combative, forensic, hostile, polemic, disputative, contrary, ratiocinative. ANTONYMS: (adj) amiable, friendly, agreeable, conciliatory, passive, gentle
- aright: (adv) correctly, right, well, true, not Amis, satisfactorily, favorably, justly, exactly, rightly, properly
- aristocracy: (n) gentry, nobility, peerage, gentility, aristarchy, elite, landed gentry, upper crust, great folks, nobles, patricians.

  ANTONYMS: (n) people, plebeians, rabble, riffraff
- aristocratic: (adj) gentle, autocratic, refined, stylish, Belgravian, aristocratical, condescending, wellbred, royal; (n) princely, titled. ANTONYMS: (adj) popular, unrefined, bourgeois, common, lowly
- **aristocratical**: (adj) noble, patrician, blue, gentle
- aristotelian: (adj, n) Aristotelean; (n) itinerant, disciple; (v) eristical, eristic arithmetic: (adj) arithmetical,
- numerical; (a)) arithmetical, numerical; (n) calculation, computation, algorism, mathematics, math, estimate, weighing up; (v) fluxions, geometry
- arithmetical: (adj) statistical, mathematical, numerable, calculable, computable, numerical, numeric, analytic, algebraic
- arithmetician: (v) calculator, abacist, algebraist
- arouse: (v) wake, stir, agitate, excite, awaken, stimulate, anger, kindle, provoke, raise; (n, v) rouse. ANTONYMS: (v) calm, dampen, stifle, sedate, quiet, pacify, bore,

allay, lull, quench, suppress arousing: (adj, n) stirring; (adj) moving, stimulating, affecting, animating, hopeful, pitful, poignant; (n) awakening, start, beginning

- arrant: (adj) rank, unmitigated, thorough, stark, utter, ill, gross, infamous, bad, blatant, base. ANTONYM: (adj) minor
- arrayed: (adj) armored, panoplied, clothed, clad, armed; (v) habited, accustomed
- arrogance: (n) haughtiness, disdain, conceit, presumption, audacity, vanity, arrogancy, conceitedness, arrogant, condescension, imperiousness. ANTONYMS: (n) modesty, timidity, humbleness, diffidence, respect
- artificer: (n) artisan, Wright, craftsman, manufacturer, maker, inventor, machinist, architect, discoverer, journeyman, armorer
- artificially: (adv) synthetically, factitiously, affectedly, contrivedly, insincerely, unreally, feignedly, falsely, fictitiously, artfully, counterfeitly. ANTONYM: (adv) naturally
- artisan: (n) craftsman, artist, operative, machinist, journeyman, worker, workman, Wright, carpenter, tradesman; (adj) mechanic
- ascend: (n, v) mount; (v) arise, scale, uprise, climb, go up, come up, increase, elevate; (n) ascending, ascent. ANTONYMS: (v) descend, drop, decline, fall, lower, set, sink
- ascendant: (n) ancestor, forefather, ascending, progenitor, primogenitor; (adj) rising, predominant, regnant, prevalent, prevailing; (adj, n) ascendent. ANTONYMS: (adj) minor, downward
- ascending: (adj) uphill, rising, assurgent, climbing, ascendent; (n) ascension, ascent, rise, advance, movement; (v) go up
- ascent: (n) ascension, climb, ascending, elevation, hill, incline, advance, grade; (n, v) rise; (v) ascend, uprise. ANTONYMS: (n) fall, drop, declivity
- ascertain: (v) determine, find out, learn, discover, check, tell, control, find, ensure, detect; (adj, v) establish. ANTONYM: (v) disprove
- ascertained: (adj) discovered,
   determined; (v) absolute,

- recognized, received, noted, notorious, decisive, unmistakable, unequivocal, positive
- ascribe: (v) assign, impute, accredit, arrogate, attach, lav, refer, anthropomorphize, blame, lay claim, claim
- ascribed: (adj) accredited, qualified, credited, ascriptitious, additional, added. ANTONYM: (adj) unofficial
- ashes: (n) dust, cinders, remains, cinder, clay, earth, embers, clinker; (adj) scoriae, mother, precipitate
- aspirant: (n) applicant, claimant, amateur, contender, contestant, postulant, entrant; (adj, n) hopeful; (adj) aspiring, ambitious, wishful
- aspiration: (n) ambition, longing, ambitiousness, purpose, dream, wish, hankering, inhalation, want, goal; (n, v) desire
- aspire: (v) aim, lust, hanker, crave, plan, hope, want, rise, purpose, wish, long. ANTONYM: (v) wallow
- assailant: (n) raider, attacker, assaulter, invader, enemy, fighter, opponent, antagonist, foe, mugger; (adj) aggressive
- assailing: (v) assail; (n) attack; (adj) aggressive, assailant, offensive
- assassinate: (v) kill, slay, bump off, massacre, knock off, exterminate, slaughter, destroy, assassin, dispatch, execute
- assassinating: (n) destruction assassination: (n, v) murder, manslaughter; (n) killing, massacre, defamation, obloquy, calumny, traducement, slaying, carnage; (v) trucidation
- assemblage: (n) meeting, collection, congregation, set, multitude, crew, confluence, gathering, gang, convention, convocation. ANTONYMS: (v) dispersal, scattering
- assent: (n) acceptance, acquiescence, approval, agreement, compliance, admission, approbation; (v) accede, accord, agree; (adj, v) acquiesce. ANTONYMS: (v) resist, disagree, disapprove, reject, refuse; (n) disagreement, refusal, resistance
- asserting: (v) affirm; (adj) declaratory, declarative, evidentiary; (n) assertion
- asses: (n) equidae
- assign: (v) allot, delegate, consign, ascribe, appoint, place, allocate, appropriate; (n, v) allow, apply, give. ANTONYMS: (v) relieve, discharge, discredit, divest, refuse,

- take
- assigning: (n) allocation, distribution, allocating, assign, allotting, appointment, attribution, transmission
- assimilate: (v) absorb, imbibe, compare, take in, incorporate, comprehend, digest, conform, engross, acquire; (adj) assimilating. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, dissimilate, misunderstand, regurgitate
- assimilating: (adj) assimilate, absorptive, absorbent, assimilative, assimilatory
- assimilation: (n) acculturation, adaptation, incorporation, relationship, education, accommodation, adjustment, integration, intussusception, synthesis, association. ANTONYM: (n) rejection
- assisting: (adj) aiding, auxiliary, subsidiary, suffragan, adjuvant, supporting, support, secondary, supplementary, assistant; (n) helping. ANTONYM: (adj) main
- assortment: (n) set, variety, miscellany, group, selection, collection, categorization, diversity, mixture, mixed bag, category. ANTONYMS: (n) sameness, monotony, likeness
- assuredly: (adv) certainly, confidently, positively, securely, indeed, definitely, undoubtedly, admittedly, safely, insuredly, decidedly
- assuring: (adj) ensuring, insure, insuring, assure, ensure, giving confidence, securing, likely, promising
- asthmatic: (adj) wheezing, asthma, breathless
- astonished: (adj) astonish, dumbfounded, flabbergasted, stunned, aghast, bewildered, astounded, taken aback, thunderstruck, astonied; (v) amaze
- astonishment: (n) admiration, wonder, wonderment, surprise, marvel, stupefaction, confusion, consternation, awe, alarm, startle. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, belief, contempt
- astray: (adj, adv) adrift, off course; (adj) lost, wrong, disoriented, awry; (adv) amiss, widely, far, afield, aside. ANTONYM: (adj) accurate
- astronomer: (n) stargazer, physicist, Galilean, Ptolemaic, Celsius, cosmologist, uranologist, muller, hall, Herschel, astrophysicist

- astronomical: (adj) vast, celestial, astrophysical, great, uranic, enormous, large, galactic, universal, elevated, excessive
- astronomy: (n) astrology, astrometry, physics, astrodynamics, astrophysical, astrophysics
- asunder: (adj, v) separate; (adv) aside, in two; (adj, adv) in Twain; (adj) loose, distant, adrift, aloof; (v) discrete, far between, free.
- ANTONYM: (adv) together athene: (n) Pallas Athene, Pallas Athena, Pallas, genus Athene
- athenian: (adj) draconian, Demosthenic, attic; (n) Demosthenes
- athlete: (n) gymnast, acrobat, sportsman, contestant, jock, amateur, contender, hurdler, sport, athletes, wrestler
- athletes: (n) athlete atlantis: (n) Happy Valley, millennium, fairyland, fantasy,
- atone: (v) satisfy, pay, propitiate, indemnify, compensate, make up, recoup, apologize, abye, aby, repent. ANTONYM: (v) forfeit
- atonement: (n) amends, reparation, satisfaction, compensation, penance, redress, redemption, reconciliation, recompense, propitiation, penitence
- atoning: (v) atone; (adj) apologetic, expiatory, penitent, piacular, satisfactory
- attaching: (n) fastening; (adj) adhesive
- attachments: (n) equipment attain: (v) make, reach, achieve, acquire, gain, strike, catch, arrive at, find, obtain, come to. ANTONYMS: (v) lose, fail, abandon, surrender,
- attainable: (adj) possible, obtainable, gettable, available, feasible, approachable, accessible, viable, doable, realistic, open. ANTONYMS: (adj) unattainable, unachievable, impossible
- attainder: (n) cancellation, attainture, civil death, attaintment; (adj) taint
- attained: (adj) attains, attaint, reached, complete, earned, fulfilled attaining: (v) attain, achieve; (n)
- attainment attainments: (n) knowledge, learning,
- achievement, menticulture, culture attemper: (v) cross, medicate, blend, adapt, accommodate, modify,
- regulate, soothe, dash, besprinkle; (adj) contemper
- attendant: (n) companion, follower,

- assistant, escort, subordinate, employee, guide, varlet; (adj) accompanying, concomitant, incidental. ANTONYMS: (n) superior, boss; (adj) absent, unrelated, significant
- attendants: (n) entourage, followers, retinue, tendance, persons present, suite
- attire: (n, v) array, garb, apparel, wear; (n) costume, garment, outfit, clothes; (v) enrobe, clothe, dress up. ANTONYMS: (v) disrobe, bare, strip, unclothe; (n) nakedness
- attracting: (adj) alluring, tempting, attractive, tractive, winning, taking, prepossessing, allicient, seductive; (n) drawing; (v) attrahent
- attributing: (n) reference
- attribution: (n) imputation, assignment, accusation, reference to, rationale, theory, reproach, etiology, classification, categorization, insinuation
- audacious: (adj) brash, arrogant, barefaced, bold, daring, impudent, intrepid, brave, shameless, enterprising, insolent. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, timid, cautious, polite, reserved, meek, humble, fearful, discreet, respectful
- audacity: (n) nerve, audaciousness, effrontery, arrogance, temerity, cheek, impertinence, insolence, courage; (n, v) impudence; (adj, n) presumption. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, propriety, decorum, circumspection, courtesy, fear, respect, spinelessness, reticence
- aught: (n) nil, zero, anything, ought, cypher, nix, cipher, naught, null, zip; (adj) any
- **auscultation**: (v) listening, hearing, succussion, percussion
- auspices: (n) auspice, aegis, patronage, forecast, backing, security, sponsorship, guidance, means, custody, agency
- authorized: (v) allowed; (adj) authorised, official, accredited, competent, lawful, legal, legitimate, permissible, qualified; (adj, v) privileged. ANTONYMS: (adj) unauthorized, illegal, unqualified
- autolycus: (n) Robert Macaire, trickster, Artful Dodger, colporteur, pedlar, cadger
- auxiliary: (adj, n) assistant, accessory, adjunct, subsidiary; (adj) ancillary, additional, extra, secondary, supplementary; (n) adjutant, aide. ANTONYMS: (n) chief, principal;

(adj) primary

- avail: (n, v) advantage, assist, aid, profit, benefit, help; (adj, n) service; (n) good, assistance, utility; (v) do. ANTONYMS: (v) useless, hurt, hinder, harm; (n) inappropriateness
- avarice: (n) cupidity, covetousness, rapacity, avariciousness, avidity, eagerness, voracity, voraciousness, stinginess; (adj, n) greediness; (adj) extortion. ANTONYMS: (n) philanthropy, benevolence, charity
- avaricious: (adj) greedy, grasping, acquisitive, avid, miserly, grabby, parsimonious, penurious; (adj, v) mercenary, sordid, extortionate
- aver: (v) assert, attest, allege, assure, asseverate, avow, declare, claim, swear, hold, state. ANTONYMS: (v) deny, refute
- averse: (adj) reluctant, indisposed, backward, opposed, unwilling, disinclined, loth, antagonistic, antipathetical, repugnant, antipathetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) inclined, sympathetic, caring, eager, willing, keen
- aversion: (n) antipathy, distaste, abhorrence, disinclination, dislike, grudge, aversation, nausea, enmity, revulsion; (n, v) disgust.

  ANTONYMS: (n) attraction, love, inclination, predilection, desire, fondness, goodwill
- avert: (v) avoid, ward off, turn away, repulse, elude, prevent, deflect, obviate, shunt, preclude, stop.
  ANTONYMS: (v) exacerbate, cause, focus, encourage, attract, permit
- avesta: (n) Yasna, Ijashne, Vedas avoidance: (n) escape, evasion, abstention, forbearance, cancellation, prevention, annulment, dodging, avoid, evade, shun. ANTONYMS: (n) embrace, confronting
- await: (v) anticipate, abide, bide, tarry, wait, attend, look, hope, approach, loom, come on. ANTONYM: (v) doubt
- awakened: (adj) excited, aroused, awakens, awoke, interested
- awakening: (n) arousal, waking up, revival, disenchantment, awakenment, introduction, provocation; (adj) arousing, moving, animating; (v) awake. ANTONYM: (n) suppression
- awakens: (adj) awakened awaking: (n) waking, awakening awestricken: (adj) awed, in awe of. ANTONYM: (adj) unawed

**awhile**: (adj) in transitu, en passant; (adv) briefly

- backward: (adj, adv) late, behindhand; (adj) tardy, retarded, reluctant, coy, slow, laggard, dilatory; (adv) behind, backwardly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) ahead; (adv) onward; (adj) quick, developing, advanced, confident, brilliant, bold
- backwardness: (n) reserve, abnormality, amentia, stupidity, arrearage, diffidence, bashfulness, shyness, lag, mongoloid, subnormality
- bade: (v) bid, command, bad badness: (n) evil, wickedness, evilness, ill, naughtiness, disobedience, intensity, intensiveness, quality, roguishness, viciousness. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, decency, good
- baking: (adj) hot, scorching, roasting, burning, boiling, sweltering, torrid; (n) cookery, cooking, stoving, firing. ANTONYM: (adj) fresh
- balm: (n) salve, unguent, incense, perfume, aroma, unction, liniment, balsam, arnica, lotion, fragrance.
- ANTONYMS: (n) irritant, nuisance baneful: (adj) harmful, deadly, pestilent, ruinous, hurtful, baleful, poisonous, injurious, pernicious, maleficent, malignant.
- ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, beneficial, advantageous
- banish: (v) dispel, expel, displace, relegate, oust, expatriate, eject, dismiss, transport, cast out; (adj, v) exile. ANTONYMS: (v) keep, embrace, adopt, invite, include
- banishing: (v) banish banishment: (n) expulsion, ostracism,
- ouster, proscription, relegation, ejection, deportation, dismissal, expatriation; (adj, n) exclusion; (adj) excommunication
- **banquet**: (v) junket, revel, regale; (n) party, celebration, carousal, treat, entertainment, spread, dinner, reception. ANTONYM: (n) snack
- banter: (n, v) chaff, badinage, jest, quiz; (v) kid, tease, joke, deride, twit; (n) raillery, fun. ANTONYMS: (v) flatter, placate, soothe
- barbarism: (n) atrocity, barbarousness, barbarity, cruelty, savagery, Gothicism, vandalism, uncivilizedness, heathenism, vulgarism, savageness.
- ANTONYMS: (n) civility, nicety **barbarous**: (adj) barbaric, savage,

gothic, brutal, heathen, truculent, rude, fell, ferocious, fierce, uncivilized. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, cultured, civilized, sophisticated, refined, humane

barefoot: (adj) shoeless, unshod, bare footed. ANTONYM: (adj) shoed bark: (n, v) skin, yelp, snarl, cry, rind, shout; (v) growl, roar; (n) bay, peel, crust. ANTONYMS: (n, v) whisper

barley: (n) barleycorn, bear, bere, oats, cereal, grain, barley fodder barren: (adj, n) sterile; (adj) infertile, deserted, arid, void, dry, stark, meagre, fruitless, abortive; (n)

productive, lush, fruitful, developing, growing, profitable, rewarding, rich, sheltered, humid,

waste. ANTONYMS: (adj)

populous

baseness: (n) meanness, despicability, evil, depravity, wickedness, dirtiness, unworthiness, iniquity, infamy, lowness, villainy. ANTONYM: (n) goodness

bask: (v) relax, relish, enjoy, revel, laze, sunbathe, doze, savour; (adj) luxuriate, sweat, glow

bats: (adj) nutty, loony, crackers, cracked, barmy, batty, balmy, goofy, wacky, nuts, loopy

battling: (adj) belligerent, opposed, rival

bazaar: (n) fair, market, exchange, bazar, emporium, marketplace, store, guildhall, change, carnival, bourse

beak: (n) neb, snout, bill, nose, prow, snoot, rostrum, proboscis, nib, pecker; (v) peck

beasts: (n) stock

beatific: (adj) blessed, blissful, elysian, heavenly, saintly, celestial, good, angelical, beatifical, joyful, joyous

beats: (n) beat, beatniks, Beat Generation

beauteous: (adj) pretty, lovely, fair, comely, good-looking, handsome, stunning

beautify: (v) ornament, embellish, decorate, deck, enhance, trim, garnish, gild, dress up, improve, bead. ANTONYMS: (v) deface, strip, mar, disfigure, uglify

befall: (v) bechance, become, happen, fall, arise, come about, occur, betide, chance, transpire, pass

beforehand: (adv) previously, ahead, in advance, in anticipation, first; (adj, adv) early, aforehand; (adj) advance, already, afore; (n) prior.

ANTONYMS: (adv) afterwards, afterward, later, late, subsequently beget: (v) father, engender, generate, get, produce, procreate, create, sire, cause, breed, bring about. ANTONYMS: (v) extinguish, destrov

beggarly: (adj) base, mean, shabby, sorry, miserable, poor, humble, pitiable, ignoble; (adj, n) scrubby, vile

beggary: (n) poverty, want, begging, penury, pauperism, need, indigence, solicitation, misery, squalor, destitution

begging: (n) mendicancy, request, plea; (v) asking, beg; (adj) beseeching, entreating, mendicant, imploring, suppliant, vagabond

begone: (int) shoo, scat, out, off, avaunt; (v) take off, get out, clear out; (adv) aside, absent

begotten: (adj) generated, biological, create

beheld: (adj) visual

behold: (v) see, view, contemplate, regard, perceive, observe, look, consider, discern, descry, watch. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, disregard, ignore, overlook

beholder: (n) witness, looker, observer, onlooker, viewer, eyewitness, bystander, auditor, audile, passer by, watcher

beholding: (n) fusion, seeing, visual perception, look

believer: (adj, n) convert; (n) apostle, supporter, devotee, worshipper, abiogenist, zealot, religionist, proselyte, layman; (adj) pietist. ANTONYMS: (n) skeptic, nonbeliever, guru, God, leader, opponent

bellowing: (n) roaring, roar, bellows, hollo, holloa, rout, yowl, boation, mugiency, hollering; (adj) mugient bema: (n) chancel, area, asylum,

sanctuary

bending: (n) bow, bend, deflection, deflexion, refraction, flexure, crook; (adj) flexible, supple, winding, pliant. ANTONYM: (adj) stiff

benefactor: (n) sponsor, patron, backer, supporter, giver, Good Samaritan, contributor, benefactress, philanthropist, helper, humanitarian. ANTONYMS: (n) antagonist, opposer, detractor

beneficence: (n) benefaction, grace, charity, benevolence, goodness, generosity, bounty, munificence, almsgiving, alms; (adj, n) kindness.

ANTONYM: (n) maleficence benevolence: (n) beneficence, affection, favor, mercy, compassion, favour, kindness, benefaction, pity, kindliness, generosity. ANTONYMS: (n) malevolence, meanness, cruelty, misanthropy, wickedness, nastiness, malice

bequeath: (n, v) will; (v) leave, give, pass on, demise, entrust, endow, devise, transmit, remember, donate. ANTONYMS: (v) disown, withdraw, take

berkeley: (n) George Berkeley beseech: (v) beg, crave, implore, ask, request, adjure, pray, sue, appeal, solicit, plead. ANTONYMS: (v) give, offer, grant, reject

beseeching: (adj) begging, suppliant, imploring, pleading, precative, supplicatory, precatory, importunate; (n) prayer; (v) plead; (adv) beseechingly. ANTONYM: (adj) imperative

beset: (v) beleaguer, afflict, assault, siege, molest, worry, attack, plague, obsess, assail; (adv, v) surround

bestow: (v) give, confer, grant, impart, contribute, donate, apply, award; (adj, v) accord, allow, present. ANTONYMS: (v) deprive, refuse, withhold, retrieve, withdraw

bestowed: (adj) presented, conferred, awarded, accurate

beta: (n) beets, genus beta betray: (v) deceive, bewray, sell, grass, dupe, reveal, mislead, disclose, accuse, befool, bamboozle. ANTONYMS: (v) protect, undeceive, hide, defend, withhold

beware: (v) look out, caution, be careful, guard, pay attention, take care, watch out, mind, keep, care, careful. ANTONYMS: (v) risk, disregard, invite

bewildered: (adj) bemused, confused, confounded, perplexed, befuddled, puzzled, dumbfounded, taken aback, addled, disoriented; (adj, v) lost. ANTONYMS: (adj) unimpressed, clear, oriented, precise, understanding, alert bidding: (n) behest, order, dictate,

charge, bid, request, call, dictation, direction, fiat; (adj) imperative bigness: (n) bulk, size, largeness, vastness, roominess, magnitude,

grandness, bulkiness, ampleness, dimensions, volume

**biographer**: (n) writer, novelist; (v) fabulist; (adj) autobiographical, autobiographic

- bishopric: (n) eparchy, episcopate, archdiocese, jurisdiction, see, bishopdom
- blameable: (adj) culpable, guilty, censurable, blameworthy, blameful
- blameless: (adj) irreproachable, perfect, faultless, unimpeachable, pure, spotless, innocent, guiltless, inculpable, not guilty, clean. ANTONYMS: (adj) culpable, blameworthy, responsible, wrong, bad, sinful, shameful, flawed
- blasphemous: (adj, v) profane, irreverent, sacrilegious; (adj) ungodly, impious, irreligious, unconsecrated, godless, unholy, wicked; (v) desecrate. ANTONYMS: (adj) reverent, devout, godly, religious
- blasphemy: (n) profanity, desecration, violation, profanation, oath, irreverence, curse, profaneness, discourtesy, cursing, insult. ANTONYMS: (n) adoration, respect, reverence
- blazing: (adj) flaming, afire, burning, ardent, aflame, glaring, bright, blatant, alight, passionate; (n) blaze. ANTONYMS: (adj) freezing, quiet
- bleat: (v) blat, kvetch, gripe, moan, whimper, cry, blate, quetch, utter, emit; (n) baaing
- blessedness: (n) happiness, bliss, felicity, holiness, welfare, blessing, good luck, prosperity, ecstasy
- blessings: (n) blessing, godsend blest: (adj) blessed, fortunate, beatified, blissful, blame, blasted, blamed, golden, glorious, favored
- blindly: (adv) darkly, dimly, blindfoldly, purblindly, obscurely, heedlessly, unreasoningly, blindfold, unsightedly, inconsiderately, ignorantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) sensibly, carefully, considerately, purposely
- blindness: (n) cecity, sightlessness, ablepsy, ignorance, prestriction, excecation, cataract, fog, anopia; (adj, n) darkness; (adj) anopsy
- blink: (v) twinkle, flicker, blench, shirk, nictate, shine; (n, v) flash; (n) blinking, instant, winking, glimmer. ANTONYM: (v) attend
- blinking: (adj) flickering, bally, blooming; (adj, n) winking; (n) shimmer, blink, wink, twinkling, nictation, blink of an eye, nictitation
- blinks: (n) blinking-chickweed, dwarf Montia, water chickweed bliss: (n) happiness, joy, ecstasy,
- pleasure, paradise, blessedness,

- felicity, elation, beatitude, heaven, blessing. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, sorrow, agony, grief, anguish, sadness, suffering, gloom, hell, dissatisfaction
- bloom: (adj, n, v) flower; (v) prosper, flourish, thrive, burgeon; (adj, v) blow, fructify; (n) prime, blush, flush, bud. ANTONYMS: (v) shrivel, struggle, wane, die, deteriorate, decrease; (n) pallor, withering
- blooming: (adj) rosy, thriving, flourishing, healthy, prosperous, ruddy, booming, blossoming, cherry, verdant, green. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, pale
- blunted: (adj) dulled, rounded, beaten, benumbed, dunted, duller blurred: (adj) fuzzy, indistinct, foggy,
- blurry, bleary, vague, out of focus, blear, cloudy, clouded, dim. ANTONYMS: (adj) sharp, definite, distinct, precise, certain
- blush: (n, v) glow, color; (v) redden, crimson; (n) red, bloom, rosiness, ruddiness, redness; (adj) bashful; (adv) blushingly. ANTONYMS: (v) blanch, pale, blench; (n) paleness
- blushing: (adj) rosy, coy, blushful, flushed, red, shy, bashful, overmodest, ruddy; (adv) blushingly, ablush. ANTONYM: (adj) pale
- blustering: (adj, v) stormy; (adj) raging, blusterous, blustery, turbulent, loud, vaporing, vociferous, noisy, hectoring; (adv) blusteringly
- boast: (v) bluster, brag, blow, crow, gasconade, show off, rodomontade, exult; (n, v) vaunt, pride; (n) arrogance. ANTONYMS: (n) deprecation; (v) downplay, lack
- boaster: (n) blowhard, vaunter, bragger, bouncer, egoist, swellhead, egotist, swaggerer, Gascon, braggadocio, Glorioso
- boastful: (adj, v) braggart; (adj) pompous, arrogant, proud, vaunting, thrasonical, vainglorious, vain, ostentatious; (v) Thrasonic; (adj, n) noble. ANTONYMS: (adj) deprecating, humble, insecure
- boasting: (n) bluster, bravado, rodomontade, swagger, braggadocio, ostentation, show; (v) brag; (adj) swaggering, vaporing, strutting
- boiled: (adj) intoxicated, poached, stewed; (v) sodden
- boldly: (adj, adv) courageously, valiantly, heroically; (adv)

fearlessly, daringly, bravely, intrepidly, impudently, audaciously, shamelessly, brashly. ANTONYMS: (adv) discreetly, modestly, nervously, hesitantly, shyly, fearfully, meekly, submissively, secretly, respectfully, diffidently

boon: (n) blessing, benefit, mercy, concession, good, gratuity; (n, v) benefaction, gift, grant; (adj) jocund, hilarious. ANTONYMS: (n) disadvantage, privation, disaster, minus

boorish: (adj) loutish, vulgar, churlish, gruff, discourteous, rough, rude, crude, unrefined, coarse, barbaric. ANTONYMS: (adj) gallant, refined, cultured, courteous, charming, sophisticated, humane

borrows: (v) borrow; (n) lends bosom: (n) heart, interior, boob, thorax, chest, bust, tit; (n, v) embrace; (v) cherish, hug; (adj) intimate. ANTONYMS: (n) outside, exteriority

boundless: (adj) limitless, endless, unlimited, infinite, bottomless, incalculable, immense, immeasurable, interminable, unbounded, vast. ANTONYMS: (adj) limited, restricted, confined, finite, incomplete, negligible, small

bounds: (n) boundary, border, limit, bound, margin, borderline, end, bourn, Bourne, brink, edge. ANTONYMS: (n) center, middle

boxer: (n) wrestler, fighter, bruiser, gladiator, bagger, the fancy, slugger, welterweight, athlete, backpacker, bantamweight

boxers: (n) drawers

bravery: (n) courage, fortitude, audacity, valor, boldness, mettle, nerve, manhood, valiancy, heart, heroism. ANTONYMS: (n) fear, anxiety, fearfulness, timidity

- brazen: (adj) audacious, impudent, brassy, insolent, bold, brash, impertinent, blatant, flagrant, forward, saucy. ANTONYMS: (adj) shy, abashed, prudish, reserved, quiet, discreet, respectful, ashamed, veiled, modest
- breaker: (n) chopper, billow, surf, surge, trainer, circuit breaker, wave, ait, atoll, crusher, switch
- breeder: (n) stockman, farmer, livestock farmer, fast breeder reactor, stock breeder, plant breeder; (v) trainer
- brethren: (n) congregation, assembly, brother, people, laity, family, flock,

fold

**bribe**: (n) bribery, boodle, lure, payment, payoff; (v) corrupt, fix, pay off, pervert, blackmail; (n, v) reward

bribed: (prep) bought bribery: (n) corruption, felony, blackmail, bait, lure, invitation, incentive, temptation, coemption, dishonesty. ANTONYM: (n) honesty

bridegroom: (v) bride; (n) honeymooner, newlywed, participant, fiance, husband. ANTONYM: (n) wife

bridle: (n, v) curb, check, control, snaffle, rein, leash; (n) arrest, reins, brake; (v) inhibit, contain. ANTONYMS: (v) unbridle, unharness, release

brightness: (n) luminance, light, shine, clarity, lustre, glow, glare, glitter, luminosity; (n, v) illumination, gloss. ANTONYMS: (n) cloudiness, murkiness, dimness, darkness, mistiness, softness, sadness, bleakness, dirtiness, pessimism; (adv) seriously

brink: (n, v) edge; (n) border, hem, threshold, boundary, brim, shore, periphery, lip, margin, limit. ANTONYMS: (n) middle, interior, end

brittle: (adj) crumbly, breakable, crisp, fragile, short, crispy, brickle, sensitive, insubstantial, shivery, brash. ANTONYMS: (adj) solid, strong, resilient, durable, relaxed, sturdy, unbreakable, soft

brotherhood: (n) fraternity, sodality, association, kinship, relationship, friendliness, confraternity, fellowship, organization, partnership, society

browse: (n) browsing; (v) scan, skim, crop, explore, leaf, surf, pasture, glance, peruse, wander. ANTONYMS: (v) study, scrutinize, stare

**bruised**: (adj) wounded, hurt, raw, sore, livid, tender, sensitive, rotten, surbet, sore to the touch, painful

brutality: (n) atrocity, barbarity, violence, cruelty, ferocity, savageness, harshness, callousness, viciousness, ferociousness, savagery. ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, kindness, caring, gentility, humaneness, humanity

brute: (adj) brutal, harsh, gruff, brutish; (adj, n) animal, savage; (n) barbarian, fiend, creature, monster; (adv) beastly. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, refined, mild, gentle; (n) gentleman

**buffoon**: (n) fool, jester, clown, zany, merry Andrew, mimic, pantaloon, joker, scaramouch, droll, buffo

**buffoonery**: (n) farce, harlequinade, fooling, joke, prank, clowning, foolery, indulgence, folly, fun, humor

**bunyan**: (n) John Bunyan, Paul Bunyan

burglar: (n) thief, picklock, cracksman, bandit, housebreaker, prowler, plunderer, burglary, burglarer, burglars, impostor

burke: (v) do for, subdue, inhibit, settle, conquer, slay, hush up, suppress, skirt; (n) Martha Jane burke, Martha Jane burk

**bushel**: (v) repair, mend, fix, doctor; (n) basket, handbasket, mountain, filling; (adj) cargo, darned, filled

bustling: (adj) lively, busy, boisterous, buzzing, brisk, alive, vibrant, noisy, tumultuous; (v) stirring, full of incident. ANTONYM: (adj) inactive

busybody: (n, v) snoop; (adj) pickthank, devotee, enthusiast; (n) interloper, scandalmonger, big mouth, blabbermouth, chatterbox, chatterer; (v) meddle

butchery: (n, v) carnage; (n) bloodbath, bloodshed, massacre, abattoir, butchering, battue, slaughterhouse, shambles, killing, murder

**butt**: (v) bunt, abut; (n) extremity, stump, grip, stub, rump, cask, rear, tail; (n, v) edge

buzz: (n, v) rumor, call, ring, hiss, drone, gossip, purr, whisper, murmur; (n) report, hearsay. ANTONYM: (n) bore

buzzing: (n) noise, murmur; (adj) humming, abuzz, bustling, lively, droning, purring, vibrant, vivacious, full of beans

caesar: (n) dictator, Gaius Julius Caesar, Julius Caesar, king

caitiff: (n) coward, villain, scoundrel, miscreant, dastard, ruffian, rascal, budmash, brute, barbarian; (adv) cowardly

cajole: (v) wheedle, coax, flatter, palaver, inveigle, charm, blarney, persuade, beguile, compliment, induce. ANTONYMS: (v) insult, belittle, criticize, bully

calamity: (n) disaster, adversity, affliction, misfortune, plague, catastrophe, tragedy, blow, bale, distress; (n, v) trouble. ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, boon, luck, joy, opportunity

calculating: (adj) scheming, sly, shrewd, crafty, calculative, wily, wary, discreet, devious; (n) calculation; (adj, v) wise. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncalculating, unassuming, reckless, artless, rash, guileless, candid, unconscious

calmer: (n) placid, quiet campaigning: (n) candidacy, movement, run, effort, whistle-stop tour, bell ringing, warfare, politics, political campaign; (v) tented field, service

**caps**: (n) brevier, bourgeois, pica boldface

captivating: (adj, v) enchanting, charming, engaging; (adj) attractive, absorbing, alluring, bewitching, delightful, engrossing, lovely, enthralling. ANTONYMS: (adj) repellent, boring, unpleasant, unappealing, forgettable, annoying

captive: (n) convict, prisoner of war, slave, detainee, jailbird, gaolbird; (adj) confined, imprisoned, rapt, jailed, amoroso. ANTONYMS: (adj) free, uninterested, unconfined, liberated, emancipated, disillusioned; (n) guard, captor

careless: (adj) forgetful, inattentive, insouciant, haphazard, cursory, reckless, lax, unwary, sloppy; (adj, adv) thoughtless; (adj, v) heedless. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, prudent, meticulous, thoughtful, diligent, attentive, thorough, wary, guarded, methodical, strict

carelessly: (adv) incautiously, hastily, recklessly, heedlessly, casually, sloppily, imprudently, inconsiderately, rashly, negligently, unwarily. ANTONYMS: (adv) thoroughly, diligently, carefully, warily, laboriously, thoughtfully, attentively, daintily, methodically, discreetly, economically

carelessness: (n) negligence, inattention, indifference, nonchalance, thoughtlessness, abandon, incaution, disregard, omission, forgetfulness, dereliction. ANTONYMS: (n) attention, caution, alertness, vigilance, carefulness, thoughtfulness, assiduousness, economy, regard, prudence, forethought

**carnivorous**: (adj) phytivorous, graminivorous, granivorous, herbivorous, insectivorous,

- predaceous, predacious, zoophagous, hungry, omnivorous, sarcophagous. ANTONYMS: (adj) vegetarian, omnivorous, insectivorous
- carpenter: (n) woodman, woodsman, woodworker, Joseph; (v) build caste: (n) rank, class, sort, variety, estate, tribe, race, genus; (adj) degree, baccalaureate, condition
- casuistry: (n) evasion, quibble, perversion, sophistry, line, jesuitry, ethics, polity, fallacy, legerdemain, probabilism
- catarrh: (n) cold, rheum, redness, inflammation, Qatar, ptyalism, pose, murr, salivation
- catastrophe: (n) disaster, adversity, tragedy, cataclysm, misfortune, bale, denouement, misery, misadventure, woe, finale. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, miracle, wonder, success
- cautery: (n) cauterization, cauterisation, instrument, cauterant, cauterizing iron, cauter, cauterism, thermocautery
- cavern: (n) hollow, cove, vault, hole, enclosure, antrum, lair, antre, socket, den; (v) cavern out
- ceaseless: (adj) eternal, uninterrupted, constant, perpetual, everlasting, endless, continuous, unremitting, continual, unending, nonstop. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, temporary, sporadic, completed, restricted, limited, fleeting, finished, concluded, ending, inconstant
- censure: (n, v) accuse, reprimand, reproach, attack, animadversion, abuse; (n) accusation, condemnation; (v) carp, condemn, berate. ANTONYMS: (v) approve, commend, allow, endorse, laud, permit, sanction; (n) approval, blessing, commendation; (n, v) compliment
- censured: (adj) guilty, appropriated censuring: (adj) culpatory cerberus: (n) beadle, bokadam cessation: (n) pause, abatement, close, stop, respite, suspension, surcease, standstill, rest, termination; (n, v) death.
  ANTONYMS: (n) beginning, continuation, commencement, persistence
- chafe: (v) rub, irritate, provoke, nettle, annoy, gall, grate, abrade, anger, rile, graze. ANTONYMS: (v) cool, pacify, soothe, protect, relieve, appease, smooth

chained: (adj) in chains, enchained,

- chaotic: (adj) messy, hectic, disorganized, confused, wild, turbulent, untidy, disordered, haphazard, cluttered; (adj, adv) topsy-turvy. ANTONYMS: (adj) orderly, organized, calm, systematic, harmonized, ordered, tidy, sensible, peaceful, mellow
- characteristically: (adv) typically, distinctively, peculiarly, distinguishingly, representatively, individually, naturally, essentially, particularly, normally, regularly. ANTONYM: (adv) unusually
- characterize: (v) distinguish, call, mark, characterise, typify, define, differentiate, describe, entitle, name, depict
- chariot: (n) car, wagon, carriage, waggon, vehicle, wain, equipage, char
- charmed: (adj) enchanted, delighted, fascinated, spellbound, entranced, captive, beguiled, infatuated, absorbed, enamored, captive hours
- charmer: (n) warlock, enchanter, sorcerer, person, mortal, soul, someone, somebody, phony, mage, individual
- charmingly: (adv) pleasingly, prettily, alluringly, attractively, fascinatingly, pleasantly, enchantingly, temptingly, engagingly, sweetly, beautifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) unpleasantly, unattractively, horribly, awkwardly
- charms: (n) trinkets, jewelry, jewels chasm: (n) breach, gap, hiatus, gulf, ravine, hole, abysm, vacancy, canyon, aperture, emptiness.
- ANTONYMS: (n) junction, closure chasten: (v) chastise, correct, punish, moderate, penalize, repress, tame, temper, discipline, humble; (adj, v) subdue. ANTONYMS: (v) uplift, help, encourage, comfort, cheer, aid, pamper
- chastened: (v) lamblike, resigned, content; (adj) refined, reprimanded, rebuked, reproved, subdued, contrite, remorseful
- **chastise**: (v) castigate, chasten, correct, reprimand, punish, criticize, beat, scold, chew out, flog; (n, v) scourge. ANTONYMS: (v) comfort, bless, commend, promote, reward, encourage
- **chastising**: (n) disciplining, penalizing, imprisoning, fining **chastity**: (n) honor, purity,

abstinence, virtue, innocence, chasteness, continence, modesty, cleanliness, austerity; (adj) honesty. ANTONYMS: (n) nymphomania, lewdness, adultery

- cheat: (n, v) trick, con, fake, sham; (n) fraud, bilk, impostor; (v) defraud, beguile, betray, fleece.
  ANTONYMS: (v) support, repay, help, contribute, aid
- **cherish**: (v) care for, nurture, treasure, entertain, cultivate, bosom, prize, esteem, harbor; (n, v) hug, foster. ANTONYMS: (v) hate, scorn, reject, denounce, despise, neglect
- cherished: (adj) dear, precious, loved, treasured, prized, intimate, wanted, valued, pet, valuable, close. ANTONYMS: (adj) unremarkable, hated, distant
- chestnuts: (n) Castanopsis, Fagaceae, Castanea, genus Castanea, beech family
- childish: (adj) childlike, naive, babyish, immature, simple, puerile, infantile, juvenile, silly, frivolous, young. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, old, wise, adult, jaded
- chimera: (n) fantasy, dream, illusion, vision, chimaera, maggot, imagination, phantom, fancy, daydream; (adj) Minotaur. ANTONYM: (n) truth
- chisel: (v) cut, cheat, shape, beguile, screw, engrave, beat, victimize, sculpture, cozen; (n) burin
- chords: (n) key, clef
- christendom: (n) apostleship, church, hierarch, priesthood, Christianism, church government, ministry, prelacy
- chronique: (n) chronic chronological: (adj) chronologic, sequential, chronometrical, in order, historical, temporal, narrative, past, chronogrammatical, consecutive. ANTONYMS: (adj) haphazard, random, unorganized
- **chronology**: (n) chronicle, arts, journal, narrative, time
- churlish: (adj) rude, rough, impolite, loutish, gruff, curt, abrupt, brusque, blunt, brutish, discourteous. ANTONYMS: (adj) agreeable, civil, courteous, nice, polite
- cicero: (n) orator, rhetorician, solon, speechmaker, statesman, pica, Marcus Tullius Cicero; (v) Demosthenes
- circuitous: (adj) roundabout, winding, devious, tortuous, meandering, oblique, complicated,

- labyrinthine, crooked, collateral, circumlocutional. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, direct
- **circumcision**: (n) circumcise, rite of passage, posthetomy, Brith, bris, abscission, Berith
- circumference: (n) circuit, border, perimeter, boundary, periphery, outline, brim, compass, circle, edge, rim. ANTONYMS: (n) middle, inside, interior, center
- circumstance: (n) affair, incident, matter, event, occasion, chance, accident, opportunity, adventure, casualty, fact
- circumstanced: (adj) conditioned circumvent: (v) elude, avoid, evade, besiege, cheat, skirt, escape, dodge, outwit; (adv, v) surround, compass. ANTONYMS: (v) assist, confront, aid, help
- **citadel**: (n) castle, bastion, fortification, bulwark, Acropolis, fort, stronghold, tower, chateau; (n, v) fortress; (v) keep
- **citations**: (n) documents, credentials, certification
- **citing**: (n) quotation, citation **civilities**: (n) propriety
- civility: (n) politeness, courtesy, comity, attention, propriety, affability, amenity, cultivation, complaisance, courteousness, civilization. ANTONYMS: (n) rudeness, incivility, coarseness
- civilize: (v) civilise, educate, improve, train, refine, foster, tame, enlighten, domesticate, humanize; (adj) polish
- civilized: (adj) civil, refined, polite, civilised, cultivated, educated, courteous, urbane, kind, gentle, genteel. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncouth, noncivilized, discourteous, loutish, rude, inhumane, wild
- civilizing: (adj) enlightening, cultural, artistic, enriching, educational
- clapping: (n) clap, acclaim, hand, clapping of hands, cheering, handclap, ovation, slapping, plaudit, round, approval
- **classifying**: (n) sorting, classing, categorization, assortment, classification, identification
- clearness: (n) clarity, brightness, distinctness, perspicuity, lucidity, explicitness, sharpness, simplicity, purity, limpidity, intelligibility. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, opacity, dirtiness, vagueness, unclearness, obscureness,

- indistinctness, clutter, haziness, mustiness
- clement: (adj, v) merciful; (adj) benevolent, lenient, kind, balmy, beneficent, temperate, gentle, humane, pleasant, forbearing. ANTONYMS: (adj) barbarous, violent, wintry, unforgiving, mean, inclement, harsh, hard, extreme
- cleverly: (adv) cunningly, expertly, smartly, shrewdly, adroitly, intelligently, dexterously, handily, craftily, skillfully, acutely. ANTONYMS: (adv) clumsily, foolishly, honestly, ineptly, awkwardly, openly, incompetently
- cleverness: (n) ingenuity, adroitness, wisdom, aptitude, acumen, intelligence, skill, dexterity, astuteness, brightness, smartness. ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, clumsiness, imbecility, foolishness,
- ineptness, simplicity, straightforwardness, uselessness, frankness
- clime: (n) land, territory, region, meridian, zone, soil, sky, latitude cling: (v) adhere, cleave, stick, cohere,
- hang, attach, grasp, adjoin, clutch, grip, hold. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, repel, unfasten
- clothe: (v) dress, cover, garb, apparel, clad, vest, arrange, deck, invest, wrap; (n, v) attire. ANTONYMS: (v) reveal, strip, uncover
- clothed: (adj) dressed, wrapped, cloaked, robed, covered, attired, vested, absorbed, decent; (v) accustomed, arrayed. ANTONYM: (adj) unclothed
- clumsiness: (n) stiffness, roughness, gracelessness, maladroitness, gaucherie, ineptitude, gawkiness, posture, ungracefulness, inelegance, unskillfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) deftness, flamboyance, competence, cleverness, grace, gracefulness, skillfulness, diplomacy, urbanity, smoothness, elegance
- clumsy: (adj) bumbling, bungling, cumbersome, unwieldy, rude, inept, inapt, maladroit, gawky, unskilled, wooden. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, dexterous, clever, skillful, deft, adroit, elegant, coordinated, expert, athletic, agile
- coarseness: (n) grossness, indelicacy, inelegance, indecency, vulgarism, commonness, rudeness, inferiority, crudeness, crudity, awkwardness. ANTONYMS: (n) delicacy, purity, refinement, smoothness,

- sophistication, tastefulness, civility, grace, propriety, decency
- cobbler: (n) bootmaker, shoemaker, cordwainer, hosier, highball, hatter, maker, shaper, pie, vamper; (v) tinker
- cobblers: (n) nonsense, baloney, bosh, claptrap, absurditycobbling: (n) shoe repairing, shoemaking
- cock: (n) rooster, chicken, spigot, Peter, prick, cockerel, tool, stopcock, shaft; (n, v) stack; (v) ruffle. ANTONYM: (v) uncock
- cocytus: (n) pit of Acheron, Tartarus, Styx, Stygian creek, river Cocytus, Hades
- coddling: (n) indulgence coextensive: (adj) commensurate, adjacent, like, coterminous, conterminous, abutting, adjoining
- cognate: (adj) alike, allied, related, like, connate, kindred, kin, consanguineous; (n) relative, cognate word, sib. ANTONYMS: (adj) dissimilar, unrelated, unlike, unalike, disassociated, unconnected
- cognizable: (adj) perceptible, knowable, cognisable, recognizable, comprehensible, discernible, perceivable, conusable, comprehendible; (v) cognoscible, to be cognizable
- coincide: (v) agree, concur, accede, correspond, conform, consort, accept, square, consent; (adj, v) meet; (n) coincidence. ANTONYMS: (v) diverge, disagree, contradict, clash, deviate, conflict
- coldly: (adv) frigidly, icily, coolly, indifferently, frostily, distantly, gelidly, reservedly, bleakly, wintrily, frozenly. ANTONYMS: (adv) warmly, affectionately, sympathetically, sensitively, kindly, cheerfully, emotionally
- collectively: (adv) together, generally, conjointly, communally, aggregately, unitedly, mutually, commonly, altogether, corporately, cooperatively. ANTONYMS: (adv) alone, individually
- collet: (n) ferrule, culet, spring collet, collet chuck, colewort, band, cap, clamp ring, Colet, conical grip, collet sleeve
- collocation: (n) disposal, configuration, collection, collocate, pair up, put into pairs, junction, classification, arrangement, disposition, apposition combating: (adj) militant, rival,

- opposed; (n) hostility combe: (n) chaser, dale, anticlinal valley, comb, dell, dingle, vale, valley
- comeliness: (n) charm, grace, loveliness, fairness, beauteousness, attractiveness, pulchritude, goodliness, blondness, mense, form
- comer: (n) newcomer, arriver, traveler, traveller, contender, competitor, competition, visitor, whiz kid, Young Turk; (adj) fresh
- comforter: (n) blanket, muffler, comfortable, pacifier, reliever, bedclothes, bedding, dummy, coverlet, cover, communicator

comforts: (n) amenities, bread and

- butter, convenience, conveniences commence: (v) begin, start, open, initiate, embark, institute, introduce, launch, arise, inaugurate, enter. ANTONYMS: (v) finish, stop, terminate, complete, remain, relinquish
- commencement: (n) opening, start, origin, birth, kickoff, inauguration, inception, onset, outset, origination, source. ANTONYMS: (n) middle, termination, finishing, finish, ending, conclusion, culmination
- commencing: (adj) initial, incipient; (v) commence; (adv) startingly; (prep) starting, from; (n) start, initiation, commencement, origination, inauguration
- commend: (v) approve, exalt, acclaim, praise, applaud, recommend, endorse, entrust, extol, compliment, cite. ANTONYMS: (v) rebuke, criticize, censure, reproach, keep, chastise, reprimand, deny, disparage, refuse, smear
- commensurable: (adj) comparable, proportionate, symmetrical, proportional, sufficient, symmetral
- commensurate: (adj) equal, sufficient, commensurable, proportionate, equivalent, comparable, coextensive, tangible, valid, level, competent. ANTONYMS: (adj) inappropriate, inconsistent, incommensurate, divergent, inadequate
- commodities: (n) goods, merchandise, products, good, commodity, property, cargo, wares, chattels; (adj) ware, cautious commoner: (n) burgher, layman,
- commoner: (n) burgher, layman, plebeian, common man, common person, proletary, proletaire, democrat, roturier, republican, pleb
- **commonplace**: (adj, v) trite, hackneyed; (adj) banal, ordinary,

- humdrum, common, average, plain, mundane, dull; (n) platitude. ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary, unusual, exceptional, infrequent, rare, romantic, uncommon, weird; (n) deepness, profundity, profoundness
- commotion: (n) tumult, ado, disturbance, turmoil, stir, din, flurry, fuss, bedlam, tempest; (n, v) agitation. ANTONYMS: (n) peace, order, calm, serenity, calmness, stillness, quiet, tranquility, inactivity
- communion: (n) communication, denomination, intercourse, alliance, Eucharist, faction, sacrament, traffic, sharing, fellowship, Holy Communion. ANTONYMS: (n) hostility, disunity, distance, disagreement, alienation, contention
- communistic: (adj) common, radical, communal
- companionship: (n) company, society, fellowship, camaraderie, partnership, friendship, fraternity, amity, coexistence, brotherhood, communion. ANTONYMS: (n) animosity, enmity, solitude
- compel: (v) force, coerce, pressure, necessitate, enforce, command, oblige, require, make, obligate, press. ANTONYMS: (v) impede, deter, check, block, request, prevent
- compelled: (adj) forced, obligate, enforced, constrained, responsible, answerable, unwilling, destined
- compelling: (adj) forcible, effective, forceful, captivating, commanding, powerful, stringent, convincing, fascinating, compulsive, cogent. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, boring, unconvincing, dull, repellent
- compensating: (n) compensation, reparation; (adj) compensatory, satisfactory, atoning
- **complexion**: (n, v) tint; (n) cast, character, appearance, look, hue, aspect, flush, glow, dye, fashion
- compliment: (n, v) praise, honor; (v) laud, flattery, applaud, greet, adulation, congratulate, belaud; (n) eulogy, tribute. ANTONYMS: (n) criticism, reproach, disparagement; (n, v) slander, libel; (v) criticize, denounce, disparage, denigrate, complain, belittle
- compose: (v) build, compile, write, weave; (adj, v) appease, tranquilize, allay, lull; (n, v) calm, constitute, settle. ANTONYMS: (v) destroy, ruin, unsettle, annihilate, discompose, demolish, disturb,

fluster

- composite: (n) amalgam, mix, blend, admixture, combination, concoction, alloy, medley; (adj, n, v) compound; (adj) aggregate, mixed.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) unmixed, uncombined, separated, segregated, unblended
- compounded: (adj) combined, complex, compositive; (v) mingle comprehend: (v) grasp, catch, see, comprise, appreciate, feel, sense, apperceive, read; (adj, v) understand; (n, v) embrace. ANTONYMS: (v) mistake, misapprehend, exclude, misunderstand, misconceive
- comprehended: (adj) understood, apprehended
- **comprehending**: (adj) intelligent, general, observant, sympathetic, brotherly, conversant
- comprehends: (v) comprehend comprehension: (n) knowledge, inclusion, conception, understanding, intelligence, grasp, wit, capacity, familiarity, discernment, uptake. ANTONYMS: (n) incomprehension, ignorance
- comprehensiveness: (n) completeness, fullness, entirety, detail, intelligence, scope, range, flavor, wholeness, unity, totality. ANTONYM: (n) narrowness
- compulsion: (n) force, enforcement, urge, constraint, pressure, restraint, necessity, duress, obligation, requirement, oppression.

  ANTONYMS: (n) persuasion, coaxing, disinclination
- compunction: (n) repentance, remorse, contrition, qualm, penance, regret, compassion, rue, scruple, sorrow, guilt. ANTONYMS: (n) hardness, indifference, meanness, remorselessness
- computation: (n, v) calculation, estimation, reckoning; (n) compute, estimate, account, arithmetic, figuring, count, computing; (v) enumeration. ANTONYMS: (n) guesswork, guessing, conjecture, estimation
- comrade: (n) colleague, chum, buddy, fellow, compeer, partner, brother, mate, familiar; (adj, n) associate, ally. ANTONYMS: (n) stranger, enemy, foe, opponent
- concave: (n) indentation, depression, concavity; (adj) cavernous, biconcave, cupped, dipped, arched, indented; (adj, n) crescent; (v) stove

in. ANTONYM: (adj) curved concealment: (n) suppression, confidentiality, concealing, secrecy, screen, disguise, hiding, privacy, camouflage, blind, covering. ANTONYMS: (n) discovery, disclosure, exposure, expression, openness, uncovering, revelation concede: (v) acknowledge admit

concede: (v) acknowledge, admit, accord, confess, agree, cede, yield, submit, award, recognize, avow. ANTONYMS: (v) deny, refute, reject, persevere, fight, disacknowledge, repudiate, maintain, confront, prohibit, acquire

conceit: (n) pretension, vanity, selfesteem, pride, assumption, egotism, fancy, haughtiness, conception, caprice, quip. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, timidity, selflessness, humbleness, reserve

conceited: (adj) arrogant, cocky, vain, boastful, proud, smug, affected, assuming, egotistical, haughty, pompous. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, insecure, meek, selfless, unassuming

conceivable: (adj) imaginable, thinkable, believable, comprehensible, likely, earthly, potential, credible, plausible, cogitable, reasonable. ANTONYMS: (adj) unthinkable, difficult, implausible, impossible, unimaginable

conceive: (v) think, imagine, comprehend, design, apprehend, realize, discover, cogitate, appreciate, invent, catch.

ANTONYMS: (v) destroy, doubt, misunderstand, question, ruin

conceiving: (n) fantasy, daydream;

(adj) imaginant, original concernment: (n) solicitude, importance, interest, anxiety, disquiet

concluding: (adj) last, terminal, ultimate, closing, definitive, conclusive, latest; (n) ending, dying, finishing, reasoning. ANTONYMS: (adj) opening, former, first

concord: (n) agreement, accordance, unity, harmony, union, unison, alliance, tune; (n, v) concert, peace; (v) agree. ANTONYMS: (n) discord, conflict, war, disunity, disarray; (v) disarree

concupiscent: (adj) libidinous, rampant, erotic, hot, prurient, lickerish, lustful, salacious, passionate

condemn: (v) censure, reproach,

castigate, attaint, deplore, sentence, excoriate, upbraid, knock, doom, criticize. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, approve, commend, free, pardon, absolve, acquit, clear, exonerate, release, support

condemnation: (n) animadversion, anathema, conviction, blame, rebuke, judgment, disapprobation, deprecation, disapproval; (n, v) doom; (v) condemn. ANTONYMS: (n) praise, absolution, approbation, confirmation, commendation, defense, support

condemning: (adj) inculpative, censorious, inculpatory, critical; (n) conviction, reproachful

condensed: (adj) concise, compressed, concentrated, succinct, compact, summary, compendious, short, shortened; (adj, v) condense; (n) tabloid. ANTONYMS: (adj) loose, uncondensed, diluted, expanded, convoluted, long

condescend: (adj, v) deign, vouchsafe; (v) stoop, patronize, patronise, descend, lower, interact, decline, bow, agree

conduce: (v) go, lead, tend, concur, bestow, advance, redound, encourage, result, verge, extend

conducive: (n) advantageous, favorable; (adj) instrumental, helpful, contributory, tending, subservient, profitable, auspicious, beneficial; (v) working towards. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconducive, hindering, deleterious, counter, adverse

confectionary: (n) confectionery confections: (n) confectionery confer: (v) give, accord, award, afford, grant, discuss, converse, consult, show; (n, v) talk; (adj, v) present. ANTONYMS: (v) withdraw, deny, dishonor, retrieve,

confidently: (adv) hopefully, surely, securely, assuredly, intrepidly, boldly, courageously, certainly, sanguinely, bravely, definitely. ANTONYMS: (adv) powerlessly, weakly, hesitantly, anxiously, uncertainly, timidly, despairingly, tentatively, pessimistically, irresolutely, awkwardly

confiding: (adj) unsuspecting, trustful, artless, credulous, untutored, ingenu, inartificial, lain, simple, unaffected, unsophisticated confine: (n, v) bound, border, limit; (v) bind, restrain, circumscribe, tie, incarcerate, hold; (n) boundary, bounds. ANTONYMS: (v) release, free, liberate, broaden

confines: (n) boundary, bound, barrier, compass, limit, limits, range, frontier; (adj) environs, alentours; (adj, n) neighborhood

confiscate: (v) seize, attach, distrain, commandeer, take, condemn, levy, impound, grab; (n) confiscation; (adj) forfeited. ANTONYMS: (v) restore, give, offer, release, return, add

confiscation: (n) expropriation, seizure, appropriation, arrogation, premunire, attachment, impounding, forfeiture, escheat, capture; (v) impound. ANTONYMS: (n) return, addition

conflicting: (adj) repugnant, opposed, incompatible, clashing, inconsistent, opposite, contrary, divergent, adverse, paradoxical; (v) antagonistic. ANTONYMS: (adj) consistent, compatible, parallel, peaceful, harmonious, corresponding, agreeing, agreeable, congruous

conformed: (adj) meet, accurate, bestowed

conformity: (n) agreement, compliance, concord, conformance, accordance, coincidence, concordance, observance, conformation, conformism, keeping. ANTONYMS: (n) nonconformity, disagreement, incongruity, uniqueness, rebellion, nonconformance, looseness, difference, noncompliance, infidelity, divergence

confound: (v) bewilder, baffle, nonplus, perplex, astonish, puzzle, amaze, astound, mistake; (adj, v) confuse, stupefy. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, clarify, comfort, lose, distinguish; (n) understanding

confounded: (adj) bemused, accursed, execrable, baffled, cursed, befuddled, confused, puzzled, aghast, perplexed; (adj, v) abashed confounding: (adj) baffling, puzzling contradictory devices difficult

confounding: (adj) baffling, puzzling, contradictory, devious, difficult, marvelous, misleading, astounding; (v) confound; (n) misunderstanding, confusion

confuse: (v) baffle, confound, muddle, jumble, agitate, disconcert, derange, obscure, blur, disturb; (adj, v) perplex. ANTONYMS: (v) enlighten, elucidate, explain, simplify, distinguish, organize,

- soothe, sharpen, order, straighten, encourage
- congenial: (adj, v) concordant, consonant, accordant; (adj) compatible, affable, kindred, genial, kind, pleasant, pleasing, delightful. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncongenial, unfriendly, disagreeable, hostile, incompatible, despicable, abominable, unsavory, reserved
- congregate: (v) gather, assemble, concentrate, convene, meet, crowd, come together, get together, amass, accumulate, compile. ANTONYMS: (v) disperse, separate, scatter, divide, part, disband, diverge
- conjecture: (n) supposition, speculation, assumption, surmise, hypothesis; (v) suppose, believe, anticipate, assume, speculate; (n, v) estimate. ANTONYMS: (n) certainty; (v) demonstrate, know, learn, prove
- conjoined: (adj) concomitant, conjunct, associated, concurrent, united, inseparable, coincident, attending, associate, accompanying, adjunct
- conjure: (v) invoke, entreat, arouse, juggle, bewitch, beseech, bid, conjure up, evoke, implore, bring up
- conjuring: (n) magic, hocus-pocus, incantation, sorcery, witchcraft, sleight of hand, adjuration, figgum, conjury, evocation; (adj) magical
- connecting: (n) concatenation, assembly, attachment, connection, connexion, joining, coupling, junction, fastening, articulation; (adi) connected
- connexion: (n) conjunction, connector, connective, connection, association, bond, concatenation, join, linkage, link, junction
- connotation: (n) implication, overtone, meaning, significance, sense, consequence, import, hint, suggestion, undertone, substance. ANTONYM: (n) overtone
- conquer: (n, v) capture; (v) subdue, vanquish, surmount, suppress, subjugate, overcome, overpower, quell, prevail; (adj, v) defeat. ANTONYMS: (v) lose, yield, succumb, retreat, forfeit, fall, bow, resist, fail, submit, incite
- conquered: (adj) overcome, vanquished, overwhelmed, crushed, subdued, profligate, routed, overthrown, done for, under enemy control, baffled. ANTONYMS: (adj) victorious, liberated

- conquering: (adj) triumphant, winning, overcoming, glorious, proud, successful; (n) conquest, seizure, reverse, subjection, subjugation
- conqueror: (n) champion, winner, subjugator, vanquisher, hero, superior, defeater, subduer, invader, colonist, Alexander. ANTONYM: (n) loser
- consecrate: (n, v) sanctify; (v) devote, commit, ordain, apply, dedicate, hallow, vow, exalt; (adj) dedicated, consecrated. ANTONYMS: (v) despoil, revile, damage, defile, deprecate; (adj) desecrated
- consecrated: (adj) consecrate, blessed, sanctified, hallowed, holy, dedicated, divine, devoted, adopted; (adj, prep) set apart; (prep) dedicate. ANTONYM: (adj) secular
- considerate: (adj, n) thoughtful, benevolent, nice, gentle,
- sympathetic, humane; (adj) magnanimous, kind, polite, delicate, discreet. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, thoughtless, tactless, inconsiderate, selfish, rude, unkind, unforgiving, offhand, disrespectful, unsympathetic
- consolation: (n) comfort, relief, balm, succor, ease, cheer, solacement, encouragement, sympathy, alleviation, express sympathy. ANTONYMS: (n) grief, sorrow, distress, discouragement, aggravation
- consort: (n, v) associate, husband; (n) companion; (v) agree, affiliate, assort, accord, mix, keep company, socialize, group. ANTONYMS: (v) disagree, estrange, differ, dissociate, avoid; (n) foe, rival, antagonist, enemy
- conspire: (v) concur, complot, connive, plot, plan, cabal, contribute, collaborate, conspiring, intrigue, confederate
- **conspiring**: (adj) conspirant, designing
- constancy: (n) allegiance, devotion, resolution, fidelity, loyalty, steadfastness, faithfulness, steadiness, firmness, perseverance, unchangeableness. ANTONYMS: (n) inconstancy, inconsistency, changefulness, instability, disloyalty, unfaithfulness, unreliability, dishonesty
- constrained: (adj) forced, bound, stiff, strained, awkward, compelled, limited, affected, stilted, rigid,

unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrestricted, liberated, natural, open constraining: (prep) cogent, conclusive, forcible, powerful; (adj) compelling, exigent, awkward, close, limiting, forceful; (v) constrain

consulting: (adj) consultative; (n) consultation; (v) consult

- consume: (v) exhaust, absorb, dissipate, use, squander, fritter, expend, eat, swallow, burn; (adj, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (v) save, abstain, conserve, make, store, accumulate, produce, manufacture, hoard, gather, fast
- consummate: (adj, v) perfect; (n, v) conclude, crown; (v) accomplish, achieve, execute; (adj) accomplished, absolute, profound, matchless, masterful. ANTONYMS: (adj) inadequate, mediocre, incomplete, deficient, amateurish, untrained, abysmal, inept; (v) start, initiate, begin
- consummation: (n) accomplishment, completion, fulfillment, fruition, performance, execution, climax, attainment, perfection, end, realization
- contemplate: (v) meditate, speculate, muse, cogitate, ponder, look, deliberate, reflect, gaze, behold, entertain. ANTONYMS: (v) neglect, forget, disregard, ignore, wander, decide
- **contemplated**: (adj) intended, willful **contemplation**: (n) consideration, reflection, thought, attention, cogitation, musing, introspection, speculation, animus, deliberation; (n, v) study
- contemptible: (adj) abject, mean, base, pitiful, little, worthless, unworthy, miserable, ignoble, abominable, shameful.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) estimable, admired, deserving, worthy, honorable, respectable, respectful, noble, generous, commendable, good
- contemptuous: (adj) scornful, disdainful, insulting, arrogant, proud, haughty, derisive, cynical, sarcastic, disrespectful; (adj, v) supercilious. ANTONYMS: (adj) approving, complimentary, deferential, humble, polite, respected, admiring
- contending: (adj) contentious, conflicting, competitive, competing, competitory, combatant, challenging, factious, militant,

warlike, fighting contends: (v) contend contented: (adj) content, happy, comfortable, quiet, cheerful, smug, complacent, satisfied, easy, proud, delighted. ANTONYMS: (adj) discontented, unhappy, depressed, unsatisfied, sad, anxious

contentious: (adj) argumentative, aggressive, controversial, combative, belligerent, bellicose, quarrelsome, litigious, disputatious, pugnacious; (v) disputable

contentiousness: (n) aggressiveness, belligerence, truculency, belligerency, truculence, aggression, quarrelsomeness

contingent: (adj) casual, adventitious, conditional, incidental, fortuitous, chance, random, eventual, circumstantial; (n) team, troop. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, sure, concrete, expected, definite, certain, predictable, unconditional

continuance: (n) duration, abidance, existence, endurance, protraction, adjournment, resumption, prolongation, time, standing, perseverance. ANTONYMS: (n) discontinuation, destruction

contra: (n) reverse, opposite, antithesis, converse; (prep) against, toward; (adv) conversely, vice versa; (adj) nay rather, per contra, anti

contracted: (adj) insular, contract, constricted, tight, bound, close, narrow-minded, confined, brief; (v) shrunk; (adj, v) selfish. ANTONYM: (adj) expanded

contradict: (v) deny, oppose, belie, conflict, confute, controvert, contravene, disprove, refute, invalidate, impugn. ANTONYMS: (v) agree, match, correspond, approve, corroborate, prove, support, reinforce

contraries: (n) contrary, oppositeness contrary: (adj, n) contradictory, reverse; (adj) adverse, conflicting, unfavorable, perverse, cross, disobedient, alien, different, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, harmonious, helpful, obliging, compatible, complaisant, concordant, parallel, agreeable, cooperative, favorable

contrasted: (adj) opposed, antagonistic, opposing, contrary, antipodean, counter, diverse, heterogeneous, opposite, unlike, adverse

contrasting: (adj) diverse, conflicting,

counter, diametric, distinct, assorted, contrastive, dissimilar, incongruent, miscellaneous; (n) division. ANTONYMS: (adj) like, uniform

contrive: (v) plan, invent, design, concoct, devise, cast, concert, excogitate, frame, formulate; (n, v) manage. ANTONYMS: (v) demolish, destroy, ruin, waste, wreck, fail

contrived: (adj) affected, unnatural, false, forced, labored, spurious, feigned, unreal, strained, built, artificially formal. ANTONYM: (adj) sincere

contriving: (adj) designing, deep, calculating, shifty

**convenance**: (n) formality, practice, decorum

conveniences: (n) creature comforts, comforts, convenience, living, support, livelihood, keep, sustenance, facility, facilities, device

convent: (n, v) abbey, cloister; (n) monastery, friary, priory, nunnery, community, retreat

converse: (n, v) chat, discourse, argue; (v) confer, confabulate, speak; (n) conversation, colloquy, contrast; (adj, n) opposite; (adj) counter. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) equal; (adj) similar, complementary; (n) similarity

**converting**: (n) conversion, converting operation

convex: (adj) gibbous, biconvex, hunched, bulgy, protuberant, prominent; (adj, n) crescent; (v) protrude, bulge out, stick out, projecting. ANTONYMS: (adj) concave, sunken

conveyed: (v) borne, sent convict: (adj, n) felon; (n) captive, con, criminal, jailbird, inmate, prisoner, malefactor, offender; (v) convince, sentence. ANTONYMS: (n) innocent; (v) liberate, release, free, exonerate, absolve, clear

convivial: (adj) companionable, happy, friendly, frolicsome, genial, social, sociable, pleasant, hospitable, gregarious, jovial. ANTONYMS: (adj) solemn, taciturn, sober, serious, grim, dull, unfriendly, antisocial, unwelcoming, frosty, shy

**convulsions**: (n) convulsion, spasm, epilepsy, eclampsia, mirth

convulsively: (adv) spasmodically, paroxysmally, spasticly, with convulsions

cookery: (n) cuisine, kitchen,

gastronomy, browning, broiling, preparation, culinary art, roasting, toasting, frying, braising coolness: (n) chill, cool, composure,

assurance, cold, calmness, alienation, frigidity, equanimity, chilliness, poise. ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, panic, approachability, mustiness, turbulence, agitation

cordial: (adj) genial, warm, affable, amiable, friendly, genuine, ardent, unaffected, gracious, honest; (n) liqueur. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfriendly, stern, cold, cool, disagreeable, aloof, reserved, distant, rude, uncordial, unpleasant

corinthian: (n) Aristarchus, euphemist, arbiter elegantiarum, Stagirite, hedonist, virtuoso, critic, conoscente, dilettante, amateur, judge

correcting: (n) amendment, correction, rectification, adjustment, compensation, reading

correction: (n) amendment, adjustment, alteration, chastisement, discipline, redress, castigation, modification, punishment, improvement, emendation. ANTONYMS: (n) fabrication, reward, award, persuasion corrective: (n) correct, remedy,

antidote, device, reclamation; (adj) palliative, remedial, penal, castigatory, amendatory, healing. ANTONYMS: (adj) damaging, harmful, hurtful, injurious

correlative: (adj, n) correlate; (adj) correlated, reciprocal, interrelated, commutual, mutual, complementary, related, similar, comparative, coordinate

corrupt: (adj, v) adulterate, taint, infect, rotten, canker; (adj, n, v) contaminate, poison; (v) bribe, debase, defile; (adj) impure. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, pure, principled, ethical, honorable, wholesome, virtuous, uncorrupt, truthful; (v) purify; (adj, v) clean corrupted (adj) tainted, rotten.

corrupted: (adj) tainted, rotten, spoiled, degraded, adulterated, depraved, distorted, decayed, impaired, debased; (n) corrupter. ANTONYM: (adj) pure

corrupting: (adj) noxious, harmful, degrading, unwholesome, corruption, baneful, debasing, demeaning, humiliating, infectious, injurious

counsellor: (n) counselor, advocate, adviser, councillor, advisor, mentor,

- pleader, attorney, lawyer, consultant, solicitor
- **counteracting**: (adj) antagonist, antagonistic, corrective
- counterbalanced: (adj) counterpoised courageous: (adj, n) bold; (adj) audacious, fearless, valiant, gallant, intrepid, spirited, heroic, undaunted, manly, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) timid, wimpy, weak, spineless, pusillanimous, fearful, fainthearted, afraid, despicable
- courageously: (adv) intrepidly, valiantly, boldly, daringly, fearlessly, gallantly, heroically, hardily, dauntlessly, audaciously, stoutheartedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) timidly, execrably, fearfully, nervously
- coursing: (v) chase, shooting, fishing, hunting, steeple chase, race; (n, v) hunt
- courteous: (adj, v) civil; (adj) affable, attentive, gracious, decorous, chivalrous, bland, thoughtful, urbane, mannerly, gentlemanly. ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, impolite, boorish, insulting, unmannerly, gruff, improper, vulgar, unhelpful, neglectful, graceless
- courtier: (n) aristocrat, official, attendant, suckling
- covetous: (adj) avid, envious, greedy, grasping, acquisitive, miserly, hungry, jealous; (adj, n) desirous; (adj, v) sordid, mercenary. ANTONYMS: (adj) giving, benevolent, sharing
- covetousness: (n) cupidity, greed, rapacity, desire, stinginess, greediness, acquisitiveness, avariciousness, avaritia, envy, enviousness. ANTONYM: (n) generosity
- coward: (n) cur, pantywaist, sneak, dastard, milksop, weakling, milquetoast; (adj) gutless, chickenhearted, pusillanimous, chicken-hearted. ANTONYMS: (n) daredevil, stalwart; (adj) brave
- cowardice: (n) dastardliness, poltroonery, pusillanimity, fear, spirit, cravenness, timidity, fearfulness, base fear, cowardship. ANTONYMS: (n) nerve, bravery, daring, determination
- cowardly: (adj, adv) dastardly, scared, shrinking, (adj) timid, afraid, craven, gutless, sneaky, fainthearted, faint; (adv) recreantly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) brave,

- daring, bold, courageous; (adj) intrepid, fearless, strong, determined; (adv) dauntless, gutsy, unafraid
- crafty: (adj) cunning, adroit, sly, astute, artful, wily, clever, tricky, shifty, designing, scheming. ANTONYMS: (adj) naive, open, honest, guileless, artless, straightforward, trustworthy, ingenuous, blatant, straight
- cram: (v) pack, ram, jam, fill, chock up, compress, shove, load, ingurgitate, overeat, compact. ANTONYMS: (v) deplete, unpack, disperse
- crave: (v) covet, ask, want, beseech, implore, wish, long, entreat, desire, fancy, claim. ANTONYMS: (v) dislike, spurn, loathe, hate, detest, grant
- creaking: (adj, v) creaky; (adj)
  squeaking, harsh, screaky, noisy,
  arthritic; (v) rickety; (n) screak
- creator: (n) author, originator, producer, maker, inventor, artist, founder, builder, manufacturer, initiator, God. ANTONYM: (n) destructor
- credible: (adj) convincing, likely, plausible, reasonable, faithful, specious, conceivable, persuasive, possible, probable; (adj, n) authentic. ANTONYMS: (adj) unbelievable, incredible, unconvincing, unlikely, impossible, doubtful, inaccurate, unrealistic
- creditable: (adj, v) reputable, respectable; (adj, n) meritorious; (adj) praiseworthy, laudable, worthy, admirable, believable; (n) estimable, dignity; (v) up to the mark. ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy, disrespected, disgraceful, discreditable, lamentable, poor, blameworthy
- creep: (v) grovel, sneak, steal, fawn, lurk, truckle, cringe; (n) creeping, crawling, toady, sycophant. ANTONYMS: (v) race, dash, hasten, hurry, speed, fly
- crest: (n, v) crown, top, peak, climax; (n) summit, brow, cockscomb, acme, pinnacle, zenith; (v) cap. ANTONYMS: (n) base, bottom, nadir, trough
- cretan: (n) Crete
- criticise: (v) comment, criminate, chide, berate, reprehend, knock, reprove, denounce, deplore, criticize; (adj) judge
- croesus: (n) nabob, Timon of Athens,

dives, Plutus, Idas, capitalist, millionaire

- cromwell: (n) Oliver Cromwell crooked: (adj) bent, corrupt, dishonest, curved, unfair, deformed; (adj, n, v) awry; (adj, v) irregular, askew, wry, indirect. ANTONYMS:
- (adj) straight, honest, principled, even, aboveboard, lawful, level, moral, flat, aligned, honorable crookedness: (n) dishonesty, contortion, indirectness, tortuosity, deviousness, corruption, deformity,
- deviousness, corruption, deformity, perversion, unfairness, obliqueness; (adj) obliquity. ANTONYM: (n) straightness crow: (n, v) brag, cry, snigger; (v)
- exult, triumph, cackle, chuckle, talk big; (n) gasconade, crowing; (adj) raven
- crowding: (n) plough crowding, bunch, jostlement, overcrowding crowned: (adj) laureled, fulfilled, browbound, incoronate, successful
- crowning: (adj) top, ultimate, topmost, complementary, final; (adj, v) paramount, supreme; (n) tapering, coronation, finishing piece; (v) preeminent. ANTONYMS: (adj) bathetic, indecisive
- **cube**: (v) dice, chop, multiply; (n) third power, suffrutex, subshrub, rhomboid, hexahedron, tetragon, city block; (adj) unworldly
- cultivated: (adj) cultured, refined, tame, educated, sophisticated, elegant, urbane, polished, accomplished, civil, polite.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) wild, untamed, uncouth, coarse, graceless
- **cultivating**: (adj) educating, taming, humanizing, calming
- cunning: (adj) crafty, canny, adroit, wily, sly, shrewd, tricky, artful; (n) craftiness, craft, cleverness.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, honest, stupid, unimaginative, gullible, ingenuous, straightforward, candid, sincere; (n) frankness, straightforwardness
- cured: (adj) recovered, corned, aged, mellow, whole, better, pickle cured, salted, vulcanised, well, vulcanized
- curse: (n, v) blight, plague; (n) anathema, blasphemy, malediction, denunciation; (adj, v) beshrew; (v) swear, ban, damn, vituperate. ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, benediction, making; (v) communicate
- cursed: (adj) damned, doomed, execrable, cussed, wretched,

unlucky, accursed, blamed, blasted, confounded; (v) accurst. ANTONYMS: (adj) commendable, honorable, nice, sweet, kine **cursing**: (adj) cursed, execrative; (n) blasphemy, anathema, swearing, swear word, malediction, execration, denunciation, cursedness: (v) beshrew curtail: (adj, v) abridge, shorten; (v) condense, clip, abate, crop, curb, cut back, cut short, diminish, trim. ANTONYMS: (v) lengthen, increase, expand, prolong, maximize, promote, encourage, accelerate cushioned: (adj) spongy, cushiony cyclical: (adj) recurrent, circular, cyclicals, rhythmical, periodic, intermittent, rhythmic, recurring, returning, diurnal, serial. ANTONYM: (adj) noncyclic cynic: (adj, n) skeptic; (n) doubter, critic, misanthrope, detractor, yogi, sanyasi, doubting Thomas, frondeur, man hater; (adj) cynical. ANTONYMS: (n) supporter, optimist dactylic: (adj) poetic dagger: (n) bodkin, sword, blade, obelisk, knife, stiletto, dirk, cutlass, grapheme, saber, skean dainties: (n) delicacies, food, cates dainty: (adj, v) nice; (adj, n, v) delicacy; (adj) fastidious, savory, tasteful, squeamish, particular, mincing, refined; (adj, n) tidbit; (n) luxury. ANTONYMS: (adj) coarse, vulgar, rough, inelegant, harsh, gross, awkward, accepting, heavy, careless, thick dally: (v) flirt, act, linger, trifle, toy, coquette, hesitate, play, dawdle, waste time, lag. ANTONYMS: (v) hurry, rush, hasten, lead damnation: (n) damn, condemnation, anathema, state, curse, execration, judgment, oath, imprecation, denunciation, denouncement damsel: (n) demoiselle, damosel, damozel, damoiselle, wench, maiden, maid, girl, nymph, unmarried woman, virgin daring: (adj, n) bold, courageous, adventurous; (adj) audacious, venturesome, intrepid; (n) bravery, audacity, boldness, courage, adventurousness. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, timidity; (adj) timid, cautious, dull, afraid, chicken, fearful, unadventurous, wimpy

darkened: (adj) darkens, obscured,

old, obfuscate, murky, cloudy,

The Republic opaque, overcast darkly: (adv) murkily, dimly, obscurely, duskily, somberly, shadily, mistily, secretly, dismally, heavily, overcastly. ANTONYM: (adv) openly dazzled: (adj) confused, dazzle, bewildered, blind, blinder, fascinated, unsighted dearest: (n) dear, darling, love, honey, lover, sweetheart, loved one, baby; (adj) precious, intimate, sweet deceit: (n) guile, artifice, deception, falsehood, ruse, pretense, fraud, trickery; (adj, n) cunning, craft, art. ANTONYMS: (n) sincerity, truthfulness, fairness, frankness, loyalty, straightforwardness, uprightness, truth deceitful: (adj) false, fraudulent, insincere, crooked, dishonest, untrue, sly, artful, untrustworthy, unreliable, treacherous. ANTONYMS: (adj) straightforward, genuine, trustworthy, truthful, loyal, open, principled, straight, upright, faithful, dependable deceive: (v) cheat, circumvent, bamboozle, pretend, hoax, fool, cozen, trick, beguile; (n, v) dupe; (n) fraud. ANTONYMS: (v) guide, inform, undeceive, protect deceived: (adj) mistaken, misguided deceiver: (n) trickster, impostor, cheater, hypocrite, liar, fraud, swindler, chiseler, counterfeiter, bluffer, dodger deceiving: (adj) deceptive, deceitful, cheating, fallacious, dishonest, lying, treacherous, imposing, delusive, sanctimonious, mistaken. ANTONYM: (adj) correct decency: (n) dignity, modesty, decorum, kindness, morality, courtesy, correctness, goodness, virtue, respectability, propriety. ANTONYMS: (n) indecency, offensiveness, corruption, immorality, wickedness, unsuitability, unkindness, rudeness, impropriety, badness, nastiness decked: (adj) bedecked, decked out, ornamented, decorated, festooned declaring: (adj) affirming, predicant decomposition: (n) decay, rot, putrefaction, dissolution, disintegration, rotting, deterioration, analysis, rust, corruption, degradation

decreased: (adj) reduced, diminished,

dropped, depleted, dead, fallen,

short, lower

decreasing: (v) diminish, lessen, dwindle, abate; (n) lessening, contraction; (adj) diminishing, falling, abating, decrescent, amortizing. ANTONYMS: (adj) rising, increasing, burgeoning dedicate: (v) apply, devote, commit, bless, render, sanctify, pay, inaugurate, give, destine; (prep, v) set apart. ANTONYMS: (v) refuse, alienate, desecrate, dishonor, disrespect, steal, take, withhold, misuse, keep deduction: (n) allowance, discount, decrease, abatement, rebate, subtraction, corollary, decrement, induction, implication, illation. ANTONYMS: (n) addition, credit, inclusion deem: (v) believe, assume, consider, count, hold, think, feel, view, suppose, regard, imagine. ANTONYMS: (v) disregard, doubt deeming: (v) deem deepen: (v) intensify, amplify, develop, rise, redouble, heighten, strengthen, raise, magnify, increase, darken. ANTONYMS: (v) lower, contract, shorten, reduce, lessen, decrease, lighten, diminish defer: (v) adjourn, postpone, comply, procrastinate, bow, suspend, retard, accede, protract; (adj, v) put off; (n, v) delay. ANTONYMS: (v) advance, rush, hurry, hasten, forge, disagree, expedite, continue, resist deferred: (adj) put off, delayed, belated, late, later than usual. ANTONYMS: (adj) hurried, hastened, expedited, advanced, deficient: (adj) wanting, inadequate, scanty, imperfect, short, scarce, less, lacking, low, meager, insufficient. ANTONYMS: (adj) sufficient, perfect, ample, flawless, enough, excessive, complete, present, sound, strong, confident defiled: (adj) impure, polluted, dirty, maculate, debauched, contaminated, corrupt, violated, tainted, abusive, adulterate. ANTONYMS: (adj) hallowed, purified, sanctified, cleansed, untarnished definiteness: (n) certainty, conclusiveness, accuracy, exactness, finality, decisiveness, definition, predictability, intelligibility, resolution, expressness.

ANTONYM: (n) uncertainty

deformed: (adj) distorted, misshapen,

bent, malformed, ugly, crippled,

- contorted, warped, shapeless, twisted, deform. ANTONYMS: (adj) beautiful, flawless, unflawed, perfect, straight
- deformity: (n) malformation, disfigurement, defect, blemish, disfiguration, defacement, disability, abnormality, distortion, clubfoot; (adj, n) irregularity
- defraud: (v) cheat, trick, swindle, bamboozle, deceive, gouge, victimize, rob, mislead, take in, circumvent. ANTONYMS: (v) contribute, repay, help
- defy: (n, v) dare; (v) brave, resist, ignore, confront, revolt, oppose, withstand, disobey, contradict; (n) defiance. ANTONYMS: (v) obey, acquiesce, surrender, yield, comply, accept
- degeneracy: (n) corruption, depravity, decadence, degeneration, decline, debasement, decay, degenerateness, depravation, immorality; (adj, n) meanness. ANTONYMS: (n) morality, purity, righteousness
- degenerate: (adj) corrupt, debauched, depraved, dissolute; (v) decay, degrade, relapse, decline, drop, rot; (adj, n) profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) upright, honorable, moral, healthy, virtuous, regenerate; (v) develop, flourish, recuperate, uplift, upgrade
- **degenerated**: (adj) kinky, shabby, crumbly
- degradation: (n) fall, abasement, degeneracy, corruption, abjection, debasement, decadence, degeneration, humiliation, deposition, disgrace. ANTONYMS: (n) elevation, glorification, honor
- degrade: (v) cheapen, demean, corrupt, decrease, dishonor, disparage; (n, v) disgrace, reduce; (adj, n, v) abase; (adj, v) debauch, lessen. ANTONYMS: (v) honor, admire, aggrade, elevate, uplift, worship, respect, promote, praise, dignify, purify
- degraded: (adj) debased, low, ignoble, debauched, depraved, abject, sordid, dishonored, corrupted, contemptible, base. ANTONYM: (adj) good
- degrading: (adj) shameful, debasing, derogatory, humiliating, dishonorable, ignominious, disgraceful, corrupting, vile, scandalous; (n) infra dignitatem. ANTONYMS: (adj) humane,

reputable

- deify: (v) worship, idealize, love, sanctify, canonize, revere, divinize, idolize, idealise, elevate; (adj) deific. ANTONYMS: (v) degrade, dishonor, lower, desecrate
- **deign**: (v) lower oneself, vouchsafe, stoop, descend, lower, grant, move, stoop to, allow, fall, come from
- deity: (n) God, godhead, godhood, godship, idol, immortal, goddess, Jupiter; (adj, n) divinity, the Deity, theology. ANTONYMS: (n) human, mortal, person
- **delicacies**: (n) food, delices, cates, regalia
- delicacy: (adj, n) weakness, fragility, tidbit; (n) finesse, daintiness, delicate, elegance, sensitivity, luxury, treat, airiness. ANTONYMS: (n) sturdiness, toughness, durability, frankness, inelegance, ruggedness, vulgarity, tactlessness, insensitivity, inaccuracy, clumsiness
- **delighting**: (adj) satisfactory, attractive
- delights: (n) delices
- **delineate**: (v) draw, line, describe, sketch, represent, characterize, draft, paint, delimit, outline; (n, v) design. ANTONYM: (v) expand
- **delineated**: (adj) portrayed, lineal, graphic, represented
- delineation: (n) portrayal, description, picture, definition, drawing, design, outline, diagram, plan, sketch, illustration. ANTONYM: (n) unity
- delphian: (adj) delphic, Delphinian, enigmatic, cryptic, dark, oracular, prophetic
- deluded: (adj) besotted, mistaken deluding: (adj) commanding, circumventive, beguiling, false, imposing, hypocritical, fallacious, deceptive, delusive, misleading
- deluge: (adj, v) inundate; (n) cataclysm, downpour, cloudburst, torrent, debacle; (v) overrun, overwhelm; (n, v) overflow, surge, stream. ANTONYMS: (n) drought, abatement, trickle, lack; (v) drain, capitulate, desiccate, surrender, parch, dry, dehydrate
- delusion: (n) hallucination, deception, cheat, chimera, misunderstanding, mirage, trick, fallacy, error, aberration, falsehood. ANTONYMS: (n) comprehension, fact, truth
- **demolished**: (adj) destroyed, baneful, decayed, ruinous, razed, lost,

dismantled

- demonic: (adj) diabolic, infernal, wicked, diabolical, satanic, fiendish, hellish, devilish, demoniacal, demoniac, unhallowed. ANTONYMS: (adj) angelic, sainted, saintly
- demonstrative: (adj, v) characteristic, typical; (adj) outgoing, explanatory, expansive, demonstrable, effusive, illustrative, indicative, expressive; (n) demonstrative pronoun. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, undemonstrative, shy, unemotional, restrained, inexpressive, inconclusive, impassive, distant, cool, mysterious
- **denote**: (adj, n, v) declare; (adj, v) express; (v) indicate, imply, mean, point, demonstrate, stand for, spell; (n, v) betoken, signify. ANTONYM: (v) connote
- depart: (v) go, deviate, decease, diverge, start, stray, wander, leave, die, vary, part. ANTONYMS: (v) stay, arrive, enter, come, abide, conform, continue, remain, appear, converge, return
- departed: (adj) dead, bygone, late, former, bypast, defunct, past, left; (adj, v) gone, extinct; (n) decedent. ANTONYMS: (adj) remaining, alive
- departing: (adj, v) parting; (adj, n) leaving, going away; (adj) outgoing, outbound, outward, passing, decedent, valedictory, retiring; (v) depart. ANTONYM: (n) arrival
- depict: (v) describe, draw, sketch, illustrate, demonstrate, portray, paint, express, explain, depicture, limn. ANTONYMS: (v) distort, confuse
- depicted: (adj) pictured, represented, graphic, delineated; (v) depict deportment: (n, v) bearing, demeanor, conduct, carriage; (n) manner, attitude, demeanour, behaviour, comportment, dealing,
- depraved: (adj) bad, immoral, base, abandoned, debauched, vicious, wicked, degenerate, evil, perverse, perverted. ANTONYMS: (adj) good, virtuous, just, chaste, noble, pure, righteous, upright, ethical, innocent
- depreciate: (v) decry, belittle, deprecate, detract, derogate, decrease, lower, undervalue, disparage, devalue; (adj, v) cheapen. ANTONYMS: (v) prize, cherish, esteem, grow, increase, value, improve

- **depreciated**: (adj) adulterate, cheap, depleted, depressed; (v) depreciating
- depreciating: (adj) depreciatory, deprecative, belittling, deprecating, deprecatory, depreciated, decreasing
- depress: (v) push, dishearten, discourage, cast down, dampen, deject, chill, bring down, quell, dispirit; (adj, v) degrade. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, cheer, comfort, uplift, raise, increase, hearten, exhilarate, delight, heighten, appreciate
- deprive: (v) divest, bereave, despoil, denude, deny, rob, dispossess, dismantle, starve; (adj, v) abridge, curtail. ANTONYMS: (v) provide, present, offer, indulge, give, endow, appropriate, supply, add
- depriving: (adj) scanty, privative, grudging, causing privation, stingy deranged: (adj) demented, disordered, crazed, maddened, unbalanced, insane, lunatic, mad, confused, disturbed, acephalous. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, balanced, lucid, rational, stable
- **deriving**: (n) etymologizing, ancestry, account, thought
- descartes: (n) Rene Descartes descend: (v) settle, condescend, down, drop, deign, subside, go down, dismount, derive, get off, come down. ANTONYMS: (v) ascend, climb, float, scale, increase, level, mount
- descendant: (adj, n) descendent; (n) offspring, progeny, scion, offshoot, successor, relation, heir, derivative, follower, sprig. ANTONYMS: (n) precursor, progenitor, parent, forebear, ascendant, predecessor
- descendants: (n) children, progeny, descent, offspring, issue, seed, lineage, family, brood, race, young
- descended: (v) extraught descending: (v) descend; (adj) downhill, down, descendent, decreasing, dropping, falling, sloping, degressive, occasive; (adv) downward. ANTONYM: (adj) upward
- **deservedly**: (adv) justly, condignly, worthily, rightfully, rightly, right, justifiably, by merit, correctly, fairly, becomingly
- deserving: (adj) meritorious, admirable, creditable, commendable, laudable, fit, good, deserved, condign; (v) deserve,

- worthy of. ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy, undeserving, unimpressive
- **desideratum**: (n) need, requirement, necessity, aim; (v) porism, problem, query, question
- designate: (n, v) denominate, appoint, note, name; (v) allocate, assign, delegate, define, allot, mark; (adj, n, v) denote. ANTONYMS: (v) disapprove, generalize, guess, oppose, elect
- designation: (n) appointment, title, name, appellation, assignment, cognomen, description, appellative, identification, nomination, classification
- desirableness: (n) goodness, good, advantage, adventure, advisability, attractiveness, expediency, eligibleness, oomph, sex appeal
- desiring: (adj) envious, insatiable, desirous, eager; (adv) fleshly
- desirous: (adj) wistful, avid, ambitious, greedy, longing, eager, hungry, covetous, envious, agog; (adj, v) willing. ANTONYMS: (adj) undesirous, reluctant, undesiring, unconcerned
- desolate: (adj, v) desert, forlorn; (adj) bare, barren, alone, bleak, deserted, cheerless, disconsolate; (v) devastate, destroy. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, inhabited, happy, sheltered, mobbed, overcrowded, ecstatic, hopeful; (v) create, construct, build
- despise: (v) disdain, loathe, depreciate, abhor, dislike, detest, slight, hate; (n, v) contemn; (n) contempt, deride. ANTONYMS: (v) respect, love, adore, appreciate, cherish, like, praise, accept
- despised: (adj) scorned, despicable, hated, abject, disparaged, mean, attaching disgrace, unpopular, unloved, reviled, opprobrious
- despiser: (n) contemner despising: (n) despisal, contempt, despisement; (adj) disdainful
- despoil: (v) plunder, deprive, pillage, loot, ransack, sack, rifle, desecrate, strip, ravage; (adj, v) spoil. ANTONYMS: (v) consecrate, construct, improve, build, beautify, conserve
- despoiled: (adj) plundered, looted, desecrated, sacked, assaulted, besmirched, corrupted, desolate, desolated, destroyed, dishonored. ANTONYM: (adj) untarnished despoiling: (n) havoc, depredation

- despotism: (n) tyranny, dictatorship, autocracy, monocracy, oppression, authoritarianism, autarchy, cruelty, Stalinism, domination; (adj) violence
- dessert: (n) sweet, afters, pudding, ambrosia, blancmange, compote, confectionery, confection; (v) bait, bever, dejeuner
- destined: (adj, v) bound, fated; (adj) predetermined, sure, inescapable, intended, predestined, inevitable, prepared, foreordained, appointed. ANTONYMS: (adj) unscheduled, unlikely
- destitute: (adj) impoverished, needy, bankrupt, broke, poor, helpless, impecunious, penniless, necessitous; (adj, v) forlorn, devoid. ANTONYMS: (adj) wealthy, privileged, prosperous, solvent
- **detailing**: (n) particularization, description, recital
- detain: (v) arrest, confine, catch, capture, apprehend, stay, keep, jail, imprison, incarcerate, retard. ANTONYMS: (v) free, liberate, rush
- detained: (adj) seized, locked up, jailed, intransitive, tardy, inside, caged, captive, behind bars; (n) in prison, under arrest
- deteriorate: (adj, v) degrade; (v) aggravate, decline, worsen, spoil, vitiate, descend, drop, fail, impair, rot. ANTONYMS: (v) recover, convalesce, grow, strengthen, ameliorate, construct, flourish, recuperate, renovate, thrive, build deteriorated: (adj) worn out, worn,
- deteriorated: (adj) worn out, worn enervated, adulterate, disrepair, crumbly, shabby, debauched, decrepit, degraded, base detest: (n, v) hate; (v) abominate,
- detest: (n, v) hate; (v) abominate, loathe, despise, execrate, dislike, nauseate, contemn, dislike intensely; (n) loathing, abhorrence.

  ANTONYMS: (v) adore, like, cherish, admire
- detestable: (adj) hateful, abhorrent, damnable, odious, offensive, despicable, execrable, horrible, infamous; (adj, v) cursed; (adj, adv) atrocious. ANTONYMS: (adj) admirable, adorable, sweet, loveable, lovable, likable, delightful, cherished, honorable, desirable, nice detestation: (n) abomination, hatred, additional contractive that were in the process of the contractive that were in the contractive the contractive that were in the contractive t
- odium, antipathy, aversion, repulsion, dislike, execration, loathing, revulsion; (n, v) hate.
  ANTONYM: (n) adoration
- **detract**: (v) depreciate, defame, derogate, deprecate, traduce,

- disparage, lose, cut, slander, subtract, damage. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, heighten, enhance
- detraction: (n) aspersion, depreciation, scandal, backbiting, derogation, disparagement, calumny, slander, obloquy, censure; (v) dispraise. ANTONYMS: (n) adulation, commendation, flattery, praise, approval
- devastate: (adj, v) consume, destroy, waste; (v) demolish, spoil, havoc, ruin, annihilate, sack, wreck, ravage. ANTONYMS: (v) construct, help, aid, improve, preserve, save, comfort, capitulate
- devastation: (n) demolition, desolation, ruin, catastrophe, havoc, obliteration, damage, disaster, wreck, annihilation; (n, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (n) construction, building, creation, order, preservation
- deviation: (n) aberration, diversion, difference, change, deflection, variation, divergence, alteration, anomaly, deviance, variance. ANTONYMS: (n) normality, conformity, regularity, correspondence, convergence, conformance, uniformity, similarity, agreement
- devilish: (adj, v) diabolic, satanic, infernal, mephistophelian, demoniacal; (adj) demonic, wicked, diabolical, terrific; (v) Stygian; (adv) devilishly. ANTONYMS: (adj) cherubic, godlike, good, saintly, virtuous
- devise: (v) contrive, conceive, invent, plan, create, concoct, design, arrange, frame, formulate, excogitate
- devising: (n) cartography, devisal, mapmaking, making; (adj) cartographical, original, cartographic
- devoid: (adj) empty, vacant, absent, wanting, vacuous, destitute, clear, deficient, bereft, inane; (v) quit. ANTONYMS: (adj) filled, supplied, replete, full
- devote: (n, v) apply, destine, give, assign, vow; (v) consecrate, dedicate, commit, appropriate, allot; (n) devotion. ANTONYMS: (v) withhold, refuse
- devotion: (n) allegiance, attachment, dedication, loyalty, worship, affection, enthusiasm, fondness, devotedness; (adj, n) veneration, passion. ANTONYMS: (n)

disloyalty, negligence, apathy, disobedience, neglect, hatred, separation, dishonesty, infidelity

- **devour**: (v) eat, bolt, gulp, demolish, guzzle, swallow, gorge, ingurgitate, gobble, use up, absorb.

  ANTONYMS: (v) avoid, abstain,
- ANTONYMS: (v) avoid, abstain, regurgitate, nibble, fast, sip
- dexterity: (n) agility, cleverness, ability, aptitude, skill, deftness, expertise; (adj. n) art, cunning; (n, v) adroitness, address. ANTONYMS: (n) clumsiness, awkwardness, ineptitude, inability, uselessness, inexperience, ineptness, inaccuracy
- dialectic: (n) dialectics, philosophy, disputation, debate, contradiction, logic; (adj, v) polemical; (adj) dialectical, forensic; (v) argumentative, controversial. ANTONYMS: (n) unreason, illogic; (adj) illogical, irrational
- dialectical: (adj) dialectal, logical, forensic

dialectician: (n) logistician, reasoner dialogues: (n) dialog

**diamonds**: (n) hearts, ice, spades, sparkler, clubs

- dice: (v) cube, cut, chop, cut up, play dice, bet; (n) die, dice box, bone, dees
- dictate: (n, v) command, charge, order, decree; (n) bidding, behest, edict; (v) bid, prescribe, rule, ordain. ANTONYMS: (v) request, ask, record; (n, v) obey
- **dietetics**: (n) dietary, sitology, macrobiotic, macrobiotics
- dieting: (n) watching one's weight; (v) calorie counting
- differing: (adj) divergent, opposite, disagreeing, different, diverse, heretical, dissonant, dissentaneous, discrepant; (adv) differingly; (n) divergence. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, parallel
- difficultly: (adv) hardly, toughly, troublesomely, tryingly, arduously, painfully, stiffly, onerously, toilsomely, ruggedly, severely
- diffused: (adj) spread, dispersed, dim, distributed, softened
- digression: (n, v) deviation, diversion; (n) departure, aside, excursion, divagation, aberrance, deflection, deflexion, divergence, difference. ANTONYMS: (n) consistency, uniformity, regularity
- dilate: (adj, v) enlarge, expatiate; (v) distend, amplify, heave, inflate, broaden, develop, extend, increase, magnify. ANTONYMS: (v) contract,

constrict, shrink, lessen, reduce diligent: (adj) busy, active, assiduous, painstaking, careful, earnest, studious, attentive, laborious, industrious, zealous. ANTONYMS: (adj) careless, negligent, dilatory, idle, inactive, languid, slack, sluggish, lethargic, weary, indolent diligently: (adv) busily, assiduously,

sedulously, attentively, industriously, earnestly, actively, laboriously, tirelessly, carefully, studiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) wearily, hastily

diminish: (v) decline, abate, abridge, deduct, dwindle, detract, fall, depreciate; (adj, v) lessen; (adj, n, v) degrade; (n, v) reduce.

ANTONYMS: (v) grow, compliment, supplement, rise, recognize, prolong, praise, flatter, expand, enlarge, congratulate

diminishing: (adj) abating, declining, dwindling, lessening, waning; (n) decrease, shrinking, reducing, reduction; (adv) diminishingly; (v) diminish. ANTONYMS: (adj) increasing, growing, burgeoning

dimly: (adv) obscurely, darkly, faintly, dully, duskily, vaguely, shadowily, hazily, gloomily, somberly; (adj, adv) palely. ANTONYMS: (adv) clearly, strongly, distinctly

dimmed: (adj) wan, soft, blurred, vague, faint, dull, bleak, black, dense

dimmer: (n) rheostat dine: (v) feed, lunch, breakfast, dining, meal, give, have supper, take tea, grub, consume, entertain. ANTONYM: (v) abstain

- diner: (n) carver, buffet car, cutter, eater, eating house, feeder, restaurant car, cafe, restaurant, coach. caf
- dionysius: (n) Dionysius the elder dire: (adj) awful, desperate, direful, dreadful, appalling, forbidding, terrible, formidable, awesome, shocking, calamitous. ANTONYMS: (adj) wonderful, fortuitous, unimportant, trivial, propitious, insignificant, fortunate, harmless, favorable, modest, praiseworthy
- favorable, modest, praiseworthy directness: (n) candor, frankness, plainness, honesty, immediacy, straightforwardness, forthrightness, openness, freedom, ingenuousness, outspokenness. ANTONYMS: (n) vagueness, obliqueness, circuitousness, reticence, delicacy,

caution, dishonesty disabused: (adj) disillusioned disagreeable: (adj) nasty, offensive, uncomfortable, distasteful, cantankerous, cross, ungrateful, abhorrent, horrible, bad, painful.

abhorrent, horrible, bad, paintul. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, friendly, amiable, inoffensive, acceptable, desirable, easygoing, happy, pleasing, sweet, nice

disagreeing: (adj, n) discordant, contradictory, contrary, repugnant; (adj) dissonant, incompatible, discrepant, differing, at variance, harsh, divergent. ANTONYM: (adj) consistent

disarmed: (adj) harmless, prostrate disarrange: (v) derange, clutter, disorganize, muss, muddle, disorder, ruffle, perturb, shuffle, rumple, disturb. ANTONYMS: (v) arrange, order, tidy

disbelieve: (v) distrust, doubt, mistrust, suspect, question, disgrace, deny, wonder, reject; (adj) lack faith, suspected. ANTONYMS: (v) believe, trust, accept

discard: (n, v) scrap, dump; (v) chuck, dismiss, throw away, cast off, displace, fling, get rid of, cast aside, ditch. ANTONYMS: (v) retain, hold, cherish, accept, cover, support

discern: (v) differentiate, see, comprehend, detect, distinguish, make out, perceive, find, note; (n, v) descry; (adj, v) recognize.

ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, neglect, disregard, observe, overlook

discernible: (adj) observable, apparent, visible, appreciable, conspicuous, detectable, evident, noticeable, obvious, audible, palpable. ANTONYMS: (adj) indiscernible, unrecognizable, indistinguishable, obscure, obscured, unnoticeable, invisible, undetectable

discerning: (adj) apprehensive, perceptive, acute, shrewd, discriminating, discreet, penetrating, refined, judicious, sharp, conscious. ANTONYMS: (adj) indiscriminate, undiscriminating, disregardful, negligent, overlooking, undiscerning, unobservant, unperceptive, insensitive, obtuse, tasteless

discernment: (n, v) appreciation, sense, apprehension; (n) comprehension, discretion, taste, understanding, insight, discrimination, perception, recognition. ANTONYMS: (n) ignorance, tastelessness, uncouthness, clumsiness

disciple: (n) adherent, follower, devotee, scholar, pupil, believer, proselyte, cohort, learner, partisan, votary. ANTONYMS: (n) leader, teacher, God, instructor

disciples: (n) congregation disciplined: (adj) corrected, regular, orderly, under control, chastised, tidy, gentle, tamed, methodical, cultivated, qualified. ANTONYMS: (adj) undisciplined, disordered, haphazard, defiant

discomposed: (adj) disturbed, perturbed, doubtful, excited, distraught, uncomfortable, fearful

discontent: (n) disapproval, discontentment, disaffection, displeasure, disappointment, discontentedness, unrest; (adj) melancholy, dissatisfied, disgruntled, discontented. ANTONYMS: (n) contentment, pleasure, accord, happiness; (v) content; (adj, n) happy; (adj) contented

discontented: (adj, v) querulous, complaining; (adj) disaffected, disgruntled, malcontent, unsatisfied, dissatisfied, displeased, miserable, put out, ungratified. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleased, satisfied, happy, content

discord: (n, v) conflict, clash; (n) disagreement, variance, division, difference, dissension, dissonance, strife, split, contention.

ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, harmony, unity, accord, concordance, consent, silence, concord; (v) match

discordant: (adj) conflicting, dissonant, jarring, raucous, incompatible, discrepant, inconsistent, disharmonious, harsh, hoarse, incongruous. ANTONYMS: (adj) musical, melodic, compatible, pleasant, cooperating, accordant, agreeable, agreeing, soft

discouraging: (adj) discouragingly, chill, disappointing, disheartening, bad, bleak, gloomy, sad, demoralizing, daunting, dispiriting. ANTONYMS: (adj) encouraging, uplifting, inspiring, heartening, comfortable, hopeful

discourses: (n) talks

**discourtesy**: (n) indignity, rudeness, incivility, affront, contempt, contumely, insult, abruptness,

brusqueness, impudence, bad manners. ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, civility

discovering: (adj) observant, oracular discredit: (n, v) disgrace, dishonor, degrade, reproach, shame, doubt, defame, slur; (v) disbelieve, decry, impeach. ANTONYMS: (n, v) honor; (v) believe, credit, dignify, praise, trust, verify, support, laud, commend, accept

discreditable: (adj, n) disgraceful; (adj) dishonorable, shameful, dishonourable, scandalous, reprehensible, outrageous, ignoble, humiliating, base, reproachful

disdain: (n, v) despise, contemn, slight, ridicule; (n) contempt, derision, arrogance, haughtiness, pride; (v) scoff, disparage. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, admiration, reverence, worship, approval, regard; (v) approve, admire, praise, accept, participate diseased: (adj) bad, ailing, sickly,

unsound, sick, ill, unhealthy, pathological, infected, unwholesome, infirm. ANTONYMS: (adj) well, fit

disenchanted: (adj) cynical, disappointed, worldly, sophisticated, blas, let down, dissatisfied. ANTONYMS: (adj) naive, satisfied, spellbound, entranced, idealistic

disengaged: (adj) vacant, unemployed, disentangled, free, freed, untrammelled, devoid, unreserved, detached, liberated, loosened

disentangle: (v) untangle, disengage, ravel, clear, extricate, disembroil, unwind, detach, comb; (adj, v) disencumber, disembarrass.

ANTONYMS: (v) entangle, tangle, entwine, twist, fasten, wind, snarl

disfigured: (adj) crooked, ugly, spoil, damage, deform, shabby, hurt, shapeless, dishonest, stained, blemished

disgrace: (adj, n, v) dishonor; (n, v) discredit, shame, stain, blemish, blot, slur, reproach; (v) degrade, debase; (n) degradation.

ANTONYMS: (n, v) respect, esteem, credit; (v) glorify, dignify, praise; (n) merit, grace, pride, rise, worthiness

disgraceful: (adj) dishonorable, scandalous, shocking, degrading, disreputable, infamous, base, ignominious, outrageous, black, ignoble. ANTONYMS: (adj)

- admirable, honorable, reputable, exalted, commendable, respectable, noble, glorious
- disguised: (adj) cloaked, concealed, masked, secret, hidden, veiled, in disguise, incognito, blind; (adj, v) private; (n) groggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) recognizable, unmasked, uncovered, uncloaked, revealed, open, obvious
- disgusted: (adj) fed up, ill, weary, sickened, nauseated, queasy, indisposed, demented, shocked, crazy, horrified. ANTONYMS: (adj) attracted, happy, pleased
- dishonest: (adj) crooked, corrupt, crafty, underhand, fraudulent, deceptive, wrong, disloyal, untruthful, unscrupulous, shifty. ANTONYMS: (adj) truthful, principled, sincere, sporting, aboveboard, straightforward, trustworthy, open, moral, fair, legal
- dishonestly: (adv) deceitfully, fraudulently, deceptively, faithlessly, unfairly, treacherously, corruptly, roguishly, disingenuously, misleadingly, insincerely. ANTONYMS: (adv) honestly, sincerely, frankly, morally, legally, legitimately, lawfully, genuinely, rightly
- dishonesty: (n) corruption, betrayal, crookedness, injustice, deceitfulness, treachery, deviousness, duplicity, falsehood, racket, trick.

  ANTONYMS: (n) frankness, sincerity, truthfulness, honestness, reliability
- dishonour: (v) discredit, disgrace, attaint, shame, degrade, desecrate, violate, rape, outrage; (n) stigma, opprobrium
- dishonourable: (adj) base, disgraceful, shabby, dishonest, sordid, discreditable, ignoble, shameful, crooked, opprobrious, black
- disinclined: (adj) reluctant, loath, averse, indisposed, loth, backward, not content, opposed, dubious, afraid, not in the vein. ANTONYMS: (adj) tending, willing, leaning, eager, bent, keen, disposed
- disinterested: (adj) indifferent, detached, fair, unbiased, objective, neutral, dispassionate, equitable, evenhanded, uninterested, impassive. ANTONYMS: (adj) biased, interested, prejudiced, eager, passionate, riveted, concerned, partial, personal

- disinterestedness: (n) fairness, disinterest, nonpartisanship, detachment, indifference, equity, aloofness, neutrality, disadvantage, unfriendliness
- disliked: (adj) hated, detested, averse, lousy, loath, undesirable, companionless. ANTONYMS: (adj) popular, liked
- disobedience: (n) contumacy, intractableness, rebelliousness, breach, recalcitrance, rebellion, refusal, noncompliance, mutiny, contravention, defiance.

  ANTONYMS: (n) compliance, meekness, conformity, devotion, order, fulfillment, loyalty
- disobey: (v) violate, defy, infringe, disregard, contravene, ignore, resist, rebel, breach, transgress, counteract. ANTONYMS: (v) conform, regard, comply, mind, observe, behave, uphold
- disordered: (adj) chaotic, upset, sick, disorganized, broken, incoherent, deranged, messy, disjointed, disconnected, ill. ANTONYMS: (adj) neat, ordered, organized, arranged, quiet, regulated, systematic, systematized, straightforward, tidy
- disorderly: (adj) wild, disordered, chaotic, boisterous, jumbled, disorganized, unruly, rowdy, untidy, irregular; (adj, v) lawless. ANTONYMS: (adj) orderly, neat, arranged, peaceful, organized, systematized, conforming, ordered, restrained, behaved, coherent
- disparate: (adj) unlike, dissimilar, unequal, heterogeneous, divergent, uneven, distinct, varied, diverse, various; (adj, v) separate.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, equal, same, equivalent, concurrent, comparable, analogous, alike, like
- dispensation: (n) allotment, release, disposal, assignment, division, freedom, distribution, exemption, license, allocation, apportionment. ANTONYM: (n) prohibition
- dispenser: (n) distributor, distributer, atomiser, atomizer, slot machine, machine, pharmacist, dealer, chemist, druggist, vending machine
- dispensing: (n) dispensation, distribution, giving out, supply, administration, dispensary, provision, central weighing
- dispersed: (adj) sparse, spread, distributed, scattered, diffused, scatter, outspread, disseminated, split, dissipated, separate

displease: (v) annoy, disgust, bother, anger, vex, affront, offend, rile, irritate, nark, nettle. ANTONYMS: (v) please, satisfy, pacify, delight

- disposed: (adj) prone, apt, ready, subject, prepared, liable, game, inclined, fain, likely, minded. ANTONYMS: (adj) ailing, indisposed, unlikely, disinclined, reluctant, impervious
- disproportion: (n) inequality, discrepancy, difference, imbalance, inadequacy, incongruity, irregularity, unevenness, unfairness, variation, disagreement. ANTONYMS: (n) equality, symmetry, proportion, balance, evenness, parity, justice
- disproportionate: (adj)
  incommensurate, unequal, uneven,
  undue, unsymmetrical, excessive,
  lopsided, insufficient, inordinate,
  unfair; (v) disproportionated.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) equal,
  proportionate, commensurate, even,
  balanced, fair, moderate,
- disproportionately: (adv) unevenly, unequally, irregularly, excessively, asymmetrically, unduely, incommensurately, lopsidedly, unbalancedly, unsymmetrically, disproportionally. ANTONYMS: (adv) proportionately, justifiably, evenly.

corresponding

- disprove: (v) refute, controvert, deny, contradict, rebut, explode, gainsay, negate, discredit, answer; (adj) falsify. ANTONYMS: (v) prove, show, illustrate, validate, support, accept
- disputed: (adj) moot, disputable, opposed, open to discussion, uncertain, dubious, doubtful, debatable
- disputing: (adj) opposed; (v)
  disputant
- disqualified: (adj) ineligible, disentitled, incapable, incompetent, unable, unfit, deficient, barred, unentitled, banned, not entitled. ANTONYM: (adj) eligible
- disregard: (n, v) disdain, slight, scorn; (n) carelessness, contempt; (v) discount, defy, despise, cut, flout; (adj, v) overlook. ANTONYMS: (v) notice, heed, value, obey, accept, consider; (n) respect, thoughtfulness, consideration, attention; (n, v) regard
- disregarded: (adj) unnoticed, neglected, unseen, written off,

wretchless, unvalued, unheeded, overlooked, lost, irrecoverable; (v) unregarded

disregarding: (adv) irregardless, no matter, disregardless, irrespective disrepute: (n) dishonor, disgrace, discredit, shame, reproach, contempt, disfavor, notoriety, dishonour, infamy, disesteem. ANTONYMS: (n) repute, reputation, worthiness, respect

dissatisfaction: (n) displeasure, disappointment, dislike, disaffection, discontent, distaste, disquiet, disapproval, regret, discontentment, discontentedness. ANTONYMS: (n) contentment, approval, gratification, enjoyment, idealism, optimism

dissatisfied: (adj) discontent, disgruntled, disappointed, put out, displeased, malcontent, grumpy, annoyed, disaffected; (adj, v) querulous, complaining. ANTONYMS: (adj) content, contented, happy, fulfilled, gratified, pleased, idealistic

dissect: (n, v) anatomize, scrutinize; (v) carve, dismember, cut, decompose, analyse, cut up, separate, parse, resolve. ANTONYMS: (v) mend, synthesize,

dissension: (n) dispute, disagreement, conflict, contention, dissonance, faction, friction, misunderstanding, division; (n, v) difference, variance. ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, accord, harmony, consent, comity

dissent: (n, v) discord, dispute, protest; (n) dissension, difference, conflict, objection; (v) disagree, differ, object, contradict. ANTONYMS: (v) assent, endorse, concur, comply, approve, sanction; (n) agreement, consent, concurrence, accord, compliance

dissident: (adj) dissenting, dissentient, unorthodox, heretical; (n) dissenter, rebel, contestant, person, somebody; (adj, n) renegade, sectarian

dissimilar: (adj) different, disparate, diverse, heterogeneous, unlike, divergent, distinct, not like, not similar, unequal, separate. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, like, alike, equal, matched, same, uniform, indistinct

dissimilarity: (n) disparity, difference, disagreement,

unlikeness, dissimilitude, diversity, divergence, divarication, contrast, distinction, inequality. ANTONYMS: (n) similarity, equivalence, agreement, likeness, resemblance, accordance, conformity, affinity, equality dissipation: (n) waste, dissolution,

licentiousness, extravagance, excess, profligacy, consumption, decomposition, disintegration; (n, v) diffusion, dissemination. ANTONYMS: (n) appearance, growth, restraint, moderation, decency, uprightness

dissolute: (adj, v) dissipated, fast, wanton; (adj) abandoned, depraved, licentious, immoral, corrupt, profligate, degenerate; (adj, n) libertine. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, upright, chaste, restrained, good, resolute, virtuous, pure, cautious, righteous, innocent

dissolve: (v) break up, disperse, dissipate, evaporate, fuse, melt, disband, fade, vanish, resolve, dispel. ANTONYMS: (v) solidify, appear, harden, thicken, coagulate, congeal, continue, integrate, materialize, open, start distaff: (adj) female, rack; (v) dizen;

(n) sphere, domain, area, arena distinctness: (n) clearness, sharpness, definition, otherness, perspicuity, discreteness, articulate sound, separation, uncloudedness, dissimilarity; (adj) conspicuousness. ANTONYM: (n) indistinctness

distinguishable: (adj, adv) appreciable, perceptible, definite, visible; (adj) distinct, apparent, marked, differentiable, recognizable; (adv) observable, noticeable. ANTONYM: (adj) inseparable

distinguishing: (adj) distinctive, identifying, typical, discriminating, specific, distinct, peculiar; (adv) distinguishingly; (adj, v) discriminative; (v) distinguish; (n) hearing. ANTONYMS: (adj) common, typical

distorted: (adj) deformed, contorted, twisted, misshapen, perverted, wry, bent, misrepresented, malformed, distort; (adj, adv) awry. ANTONYMS: (adj) unchanged, distinct, balanced, perfect

distracted: (adj) demented, inattentive, abstracted, crazy, frenzied, distraught, preoccupied, distressed, confused; (adj, v) mad, disconcerted. ANTONYMS: (adj)

attentive, alert, assured, calm,

distracting: (adj) unsettling, vociferous, unruly, troublesome, troublemaking, misleading, embarrassing, divulsive, disruptive; (v) riveting, exciting

distraction: (adj, n) desperation, raving; (n) beguilement, pastime, diversion, confusion, entertainment, disturbance, daze, recreation; (adi) madness. ANTONYMS: (n) fascination, attentiveness, attention, noninterference, calmness, concentration

disuse: (n) desuetude, discontinuance, discontinuation, obsolescence, abandonment, carelessness, closedown, disusage, intermission; (v) have done with, leave off

dithyramb: (n) idyl, serenade, quodlibet, pastoral, ode, dithyrambic, lyric, bucolic, fugue, epopee, epode

divergence: (n) disagreement, dissimilarity, difference, deviation, contrast, departure, split, divarication, variation, digression; (adj, n) variance. ANTONYMS: (n) meeting, agreement, amalgamation, concurrence, conformity, concord, similarity

divers: (adj, v) sundry, various, separate; (adj) several, many, diverse, miscellaneous, not a few, varied; (v) diversified; (n) diver diversion: (n) amusement,

entertainment, pastime, deviation, distraction, detour, fun, sport, recreation, digression, deflexion

divert: (adj, v) distract; (v) entertain, avert, delight, deflect, deviate, beguile, depart, disport, digress, sidetrack. ANTONYMS: (v) bore, irritate, maintain, set, upset, stay, displease, sadden

diverted: (adj) abstracted, entertained, pleased, inattentive, sidetracked, unfocused, preoccupied divested: (adj) bereft, destitute,

dividing: (n) division, partitioning, calculation; (v) parting, departing; (adv) dividingly; (adj) disjunctive, divisional

naked

divinely: (adv) holy, wonderfully, exquisitely, priestly, beautifully, religiously, spiritually, almightily, magnificently, sacredly, godly

diviner: (n) clairvoyant, augur, prophet, oracle, divine, sorcerer,

- wizard, necromancer, vaticinator, fortuneteller, forecaster
- divinity: (n) God, theology, divineness, immortal, godship, godhead, spirit, demiurge, apologetics, demigod; (adj, n) the Deity. ANTONYM: (n) devil
- doctoring: (n) doping, corruption doctrinaire: (n, v) pedant; (adj) dogmatic, pedantic, opinionist; (n) doctrinarian, bigot, dogmatist, zealot; (v) mannerist, euphuist, purist. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, obedient, submissive, amenable, liberal
- doer: (n) actor, executor, performer, operator, factor, perpetrator, facient, mover and shaker, high flier, fireball, worker
- dogmatic: (adj) arbitrary, overbearing, authoritative, authoritarian, narrow, peremptory, doctrinal, doctrinaire; (adj, v) absolute, confident, formal. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, doubtful, uncertain, amenable, equivocal, indecisive, questioning, tolerant, ambiguous, polite, liberal
- doings: (n) conduct, behavior, behaviour, deportment, demeanour, proceeding, episode, traffic; (v) act, deed, job
- dominican: (n) capuchin, Jacobin, Black Friar, observant, predicant dominion: (n) authority, control, domain, command, reign, rule, sway, power, kingdom, mastery, supremacy. ANTONYM: (n) subiugation
- **do-nothing**: (adj) inactive; (n) sluggard
- doom: (n, v) sentence, destine, fate; (v) condemn, convict, damn; (n) destiny, day of reckoning, chance, luck, lot. ANTONYMS: (n) plan; (v) absolve
- dormant: (adj) inactive, torpid, inert, smoldering, suspended, inoperative, potential, sluggish, quiescent, latent, quiet. ANTONYMS: (adj) overt, extinct, dynamic, alive, awake
- doubles: (n) doubled, dual, badminton, double road train doubting: (adj) doubtful, distrustful, disbelieving, incredulous, doubt, skeptical, suspicious, sceptical, wary, doubts, distrusting. ANTONYM: (adj) credulous
- downfall: (n) ruin, decline, destruction, debacle, defeat, descent, decadence, failure, undoing, devastation, bane. ANTONYMS: (n)

- making, ascension, lift, salvation, victory, creation, beginning
- downright: (adj, n) absolute; (adj, v) sheer, clear; (adj) dead, blunt, candid, plain; (adv) absolutely, thoroughly, wholly, decidedly. ANTONYMS: (adj) semi, limited, incomplete, questionable, slight; (adv) hardly
- dramatize: (v) overstate, exaggerate, aggrandize, blow up, embroider, adopt, amplify, stage, play up, write, represent. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, understate
- **drapery**: (n) drape, clothing, dress, blind, raiment, costume, toilette, furnishings, trim, guise, toilet
- draught: (n, v) draft, sketch, design, potation, plan; (n) dose, air current, wind, gulp, outline; (v) blueprint
- draughts: (n) solitaire, go bang, backgammon, misere chess, chess, dominos, board game
- dread: (n, v) apprehension, fear, panic; (n) anxiety, awe, consternation, alarm, trepidation, dismay, foreboding, terror. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasing, welcomed, pleasant; (v) welcome, want; (n) reassurance, fearlessness, confidence, security, ease, calm
- dreaded: (adj) awful, terrible, cowardly, causing horror, dire, direful, desperate, dreadful, fearful, fearsome; (v) drad
- dreamer: (n) romancer, visionary, daydreamer, woolgatherer, seer, sleeper, slumberer, illusionist, logician, philosopher, escapist
- dreaming: (n) reverie, ambition, nightmare, conception, castle in the air; (adj) absent-minded, asleep, visionary, vacant, wistful, rapt
- dregs: (n) residue, grounds, refuse, sediment, dreg, remains, settlings, feces, trash, waste, dross
- drone: (n, v) hum, murmur; (v) whine, idler, purr; (n) dawdler, droning, laggard, sluggard, roll; (adv, n) bourdon
- dross: (n) trash, rubbish, scoria, refuse, slag, waste, impurity, dregs, garbage, offal, cinder
- drown: (v) drench, submerge, overwhelm, choke, engulf, flood, swamp, inundate, suffocate, asphyxiate; (adj, n, v) sink. ANTONYMS: (v) float, swim, amplify, dry
- drunkenness: (n) alcoholism, inebriety, ebriety, drinking, drink, intoxication, crapulence, grogginess,

- insobriety, tipsiness, alcohol addiction
- drying: (n) curing, desiccation, seasoning, dryness, ventilation, drying up, aeration, airing; (adj) desiccative, siccative, parching
- **dualism**: (n) ism, philosophy, duplicity, bitheism, ditheism, doctrine
- dues: (n) tax, obligation, tallage, assessment, sess, cost, contribution, impost, toll, union dues, deficit
- dullness: (n) apathy, bluntness, boredom, dreariness, flatness, tedium, obtuseness, torpor, monotony, lethargy; (adj, n) phlegm. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, intensity, brilliance, excitement, intelligence, shine, asperity, animation, gloss, clarity, variation
- dulness: (n) dullness, matt, dreariness, dimness, bluntness, flatness, boringness, vapidity, jejunity, mat, tedium. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, asperity
- **durance**: (n) captivity, dure, incarceration, imprisonment, immurement, duress
- dwell: (adj, v) inhabit; (v) reside, bide, live, stay, lodge, delay, occupy, continue, be, settle. ANTONYM: (v) wander
- dwelling: (n) domicile, home, residence, house, place, accommodation, address, building, lodge, habitation; (adj, n) dwell dwell: (v) dwell, inhabit
- dwindle: (v) abate, diminish, decline, decrease, contract, recede, fade, fall, lessen, reduce, wane. ANTONYMS: (v) mushroom, accumulate, enlarge, expand, extend, grow, strengthen, rise
- **dyed**: (adj) colored, tinted, coloured, bleached, stained, painted, artificially coloured, biased, artificial, unreal, colorful
- **dyeing**: (n, v) pigmenting; (n) staining, blacking
- eagerness: (n, v) desire, aspiration; (n) enthusiasm, avidity, cupidity, readiness, passion, keenness, ambition, fervor, avidness. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, unwillingness, aloofness, disinterest, lethargy, listlessness, patience, gloom, reluctance
- earnest: (adj, v) devout; (adj) eager, solemn, heartfelt, diligent, studious, sincere, intense, ardent, staid; (n) guarantee. ANTONYMS: (adj) flippant, halfhearted, uncertain,

insincere, unimportant, nonchalant, lethargic, apathetic, unenthusiastic, indifferent, frivolous

earnestly: (adj, adv) seriously; (adv) eagerly, intently, zealously, solemnly, ardently, fervently, heartily, gravely, warmly, passionately. ANTONYMS: (adv) indifferently, insincerely, unconcernedly, jokingly

earnestness: (n) seriousness, sincerity, gravity, fervor, devotion, graveness, staidness, honesty; (adj, n) ardor, zeal, intentness. ANTONYMS: (n) slackness, lightness, carelessness, frivolousness, cheerfulness, insincerity, flippancy earthborn: (adi) mortal, earthly.

earthborn: (adj) mortal, earthly, lowborn, human, terrigenous, second-class

earthly: (adj, n) terrestrial; (adj) carnal, worldly, conceivable, human, geotic, secular, terrene, temporal, telluric, sublunary. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritual, divine, ethereal, immortal, impossible, improbable, inconceivable, celestial

earthquake: (n) tremor, shock, quake, temblor, cataclysm, upheaval, seaquake, avalanche; (adj) thunderstorm, volcano, seismic

easy-going: (adj) carefree, indulgent, easygoing, tranquil, tolerant, slack, lax, tender, amiable, breezy, unsociable

eats: (n) grub, chuck, food, meat, meal, diet, nurture, eat, dinner, board, feed

eccentricity: (n) abnormality, idiosyncrasy, oddness, peculiarity, anomaly, crankiness, irregularity, quirk, strangeness, weirdness, curiousness. ANTONYMS: (n) usualness, normalcy, conventionality, concentricity, conformity

ecclesiastic: (n) clergyman, divine, cleric, minister, priest, churchman, pastor, clergymen, hierophant; (adj) clerical, ecclesiastical

ecliptic: (n) orbit, equator, circle ecstasy: (n) delight, rapture, joy, bliss, delirium, happiness, trance, enthusiasm, exaltation, elation; (n, v) transport. ANTONYMS: (n) desolation, gloom, downheartedness, melancholy, depression, dejection, anguish, sadness, despair, agony, bore edification: (n) enlightenment, education, illumination, building,

disenchantment, architecture, disillusionment, civilization, schooling, teaching, learning

educate: (v) instruct, civilize, train, cultivate, coach, bring up, drill, discipline, breed, rear, nurture

**educating**: (adj) taming, humanizing, calming

educator: (n) instructor, schoolmaster, pedagogue, academic, academician, coach, professional, master, educators, preceptor, trainer

effaced: (adj) obliterated

effected: (adj) completed, complete, finished, fulfilled, done, realized, conventional, constituted, established

effecting: (n) accomplishment, implementation, completing, finishing, fulfillment, carrying out; (adj) effectual

effeminacy: (n) effeminateness, unmanliness, effemination, emasculation, enervation, femininity, weakness, sissiness, sybaritism; (adj) feminality, timidity

effeminate: (adj) womanish, delicate, epicene, sissy, emasculate, tender, ladylike, cissy, easy, voluptuous; (adj, v) feminate. ANTONYMS: (adj) macho, manly, masculine

effluence: (n) efflux, effluent, effusion, outflow, outpour, discharge, flowage, ejection, leakage, fluxion, emission

egotistical: (adj) conceited, selfish, egocentric, proud, arrogant, narcissistic, pompous, haughty, boastful, vain, brassy. ANTONYMS: (adj) humble, modest, selfless

**elaborated**: (adj) elaborate, careful, finished, wrought

elapsed: (adj) gone, forgotten, lapsed, back, beyond, onwards, over and done

elastic: (adj) flexible, springy, soft, pliable, resilient, limber, pliant, yielding, ductile, buoyant; (n) rubber band. ANTONYMS: (adj) rigid, stiff, inflexible, inelastic, unadaptable, intolerant, firm, hard, unyielding

elasticity: (n) spring, tone, buoyancy, suppleness, springiness, flexibility, resiliency, resilience, pliability, tonicity; (adj) elastic force. ANTONYMS: (n) stiffness, inflexibility, rigidity

elegiac: (adj) elegiacal, plaintive, lyrical, anapestic, epicedial, poetic; (n) iambic, trochaic, elegy elevate: (v) advance, lift, hoist, erect, exalt, boost, rear, cheer, promote, dignify, uphold. ANTONYMS: (v) demote, drop, downgrade, depress, decrease, reduce

elevated: (adj) exalted, towering, noble, lofty, grand, great, majestic, tall, elated, magnanimous; (adj, v) steep. ANTONYMS: (adj) base, lowly, decreased, humble, inferior, lessened, low, sunken, undignified, lowered

elevating: (adj) inspiring, exhilarating

elevation: (n) height, highness, exaltation, ascent, climb, hill, aggrandizement, raise, El, Alt, stature. ANTONYMS: (n) degradation, descent, levelness, depression, downgrading, demotion, drop, depth

elicit: (v) educe, derive, cause, fetch, evoke, extract, arouse, excite, provoke, draw out, discover. ANTONYMS: (v) cover, forgo, hide, halt

elicited: (adj) evoked, elicit elicits: (v) elicit

eloquent: (adj) glib, fluent, persuasive, expressive, meaningful, significant, graphic, vivid, speaking, forcible, moving. ANTONYMS: (adj) incoherent, innocent, straightforward, weak

eloquently: (adv) fluently, expressively, persuasively, significantly, meaningfully, clearly, glibly, tellingly, forcefully, evocatively, movingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) inarticulately, innocently

emaciated: (adj) bony, lean, thin,

gaunt, skinny, meager, wasted, haggard, slender, slim, lanky. ANTONYMS: (adj) fat, obese, heavy, bloated, beefy, overweight emancipated: (adj) free, freed, uncontrolled, released, unbound, open, uninhibited, freer, disentangled, disengaged, boundless

emancipation: (n) rescue, deliverance, discharge, freedom, liberation, salvation, relief, disengagement, acquittal, exemption, liberty. ANTONYMS: (n) suppression, downfall

embellished: (adj) ornamented, rhetorical, decorated, fancy, florid, tall, rich, embroidered, elaborate, baroque; (prep) beautied

embodied: (adj) incarnate, corporate, corporeal, corporal, bodied,

- personified, incorporated, combined, tangible, associated, in person
- embodiment: (n) shape, epitome, incarnation, avatar, amalgamation, union, unification, incorporation, coalescence, cast; (adj) integration
- embraced: (adj) popular
  embracing: (n) embrace, hugging,
- kissing, taking on, implementation, espousal, clutches; (adj) twining, osculant, grasping, close
- embroidered: (adj) ornate, inflated, exaggerated, bewrought, decorated
- embroiderer: (n) embroideress embroidery: (n) needlework, ornamentation, fancywork, sewing, drawnwork, crewelwork, cutwork, decoration, adornment, ornament, stitchery. ANTONYM: (n)
- embryo: (n) foetus, fetus, bud, origin, nucleus, seed, conceptus, blastula, egg, beginning; (adj) embryotic

understatement

- emetic: (n) vomit, antiseptic, medication, medicament, disgorgement, puke, ipecac, antitussive; (adj, n) vomitive; (adj) emetical, causing vomiting
- emigration: (n) migration, exodus, demigration, evacuation, immigration, mass departure; (v) intermigration, remigration
- eminent: (adj) high, celebrated, elevated, brilliant, illustrious, noble, big, famous, renowned, conspicuous, dignified. ANTONYMS: (adj) undistinguished, obscure, low, unremarkable, common, uncelebrated, unimportant, insignificant, humble, ordinary
- emphatically: (adv) decidedly, definitely, positively, categorically, flatly, distinctly, absolutely, explicitly, forcefully, firmly, expressly
- emptied: (adj) empty, void, depleted, emptier, annulled, open, vacuous emulating: (adj) rival
- **emulous**: (v) imitate; (adj) ambitious, rival, competitory, rivalrous, jealous, imitative, corrival, emulate
- enact: (v) constitute, pass, command, act, ordain, order, prescribe, legislate, play, perform; (adj, v) establish. ANTONYMS: (v) cancel, abolish, annul, fail, reject, repeal, veto, revoke, stop
- enacting: (adj) legislative; (n) acting enactment: (n) constitution, edict, act, law, acting, statute, canon,

- institution, establishment, fiat; (n, v)
- enamoured: (adj) enamored, smitten, infatuated, mad, captivated, bewitched, charmed
- encamp: (v) camp, bivouac, tent, camp out, people, shack, populate, live, inhabit, reside, pitch
- enchant: (n, v) charm, conjure; (v) delight, captivate, bewitch, attract, fascinate, allure, beguile, capture, enrapture. ANTONYMS: (v) disenchant, repulse, repel, disgust, bother, disappoint, annoy, displease
- enchanted: (adj) bewitched, delighted, charmed, fascinated, rapt, spellbound, blissful, happy, enamored, possessed; (v) entranced. ANTONYMS: (adj) disenchanted, unhappy
- enchanter: (n) magician, necromancer, sorcerer, wizard, warlock, sorceress, witch
- enchantment: (n) attraction, captivation, charm, conjuration, sorcery, spell, bewitchment, incantation, delight, bewitchery; (adj, n) rapture. ANTONYMS: (n) displeasure, discomfort
- enclosure: (n) appendage, annex, cage, appendix, addendum, barrier, enclosing, pen, yard, hedge, addition
- endanger: (v) imperil, hazard, venture, menace, scupper, queer, peril, jeopardise; (n, v) risk, danger, expose to danger. ANTONYMS: (v) protect, shelter, aid, assist, guard, preserve, help, save, safeguard endeared: (adi) dear
- endearment: (n) affection, kindness, attraction, love, fondness
- **endowments**: (n) beneficence, accomplishments, advantage
- endurable: (adj) bearable, supportable, tolerable, livable, sufferable, acceptable, sustainable, unobjectionable, manageable, patible. ANTONYMS: (adj) intolerable, unbearable, unendurable
- endurance: (adj, n) sufferance; (n) stamina, tolerance, courage, permanence, continuance, energy, fortitude, tenacity, duration, toughness. ANTONYMS: (n) weakness, inconsistency, impatience, frailty, discontinuation, discontinuance, death
- endure: (adj, n, v) continue, support; (n, v) bear, suffer, stand, be; (v) accept, undergo, allow, stay,

- tolerate. ANTONYMS: (v) perish, die, break, fall, discontinue, crumble, end, enjoy, resign, quit, collapse
- enduring: (adj) durable, abiding, lasting, permanent, continuing, constant, hardy, immortal, eternal, stable; (adv) enduringly.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) impatient, transient, fleeting, mortal, modern, insubstantial, inconstant, fickle, erratic, unstable
- energetically: (adv) vigorously, strongly, actively, briskly, lustily, forcefully, lively, forcibly, powerfully, spiritedly, strenuously. ANTONYMS: (adv) idly, quietly, lifelessly, resignedly, indifferently, feebly, wearily, languorously, lazily, sluggishly, passively
- enervated: (adj) debilitated, limp, tired, lethargic, weak, languid, faint, colorless, adynamic, asthenic, enfeebled. ANTONYMS: (adj) activated, invigorated, strengthened, energized, strong
- enervating: (adj) enfeebling, weakening, debilitative, debilitating, weaken, tedious, causing debilitation, taxing
- enfeebling: (adj) weakening, debilitative, causing debilitation, debilitating; (n) exinanition, emptying
- enfranchisement: (n) freedom, certification, accreditation, emancipation, deliverance, lib, liberty, release, liberation, manumission, credentials. ANTONYM: (n) disenfranchisement
- engaging: (adj, v) charming, inviting, prepossessing; (adj) attractive, interesting, lovable, delightful, appealing, pleasant, captivating; (adv) engagingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) repulsive, loathsome, repellant, unattractive, undesirable, unlikable, dull, unpleasant, repellent
- engender: (v) cause, breed, generate, bring about, make, bring forth, create, produce, procreate, father, bring. ANTONYMS: (v) stop, destroy, halt, finish
- engrossing: (adj) fascinating, riveting, gripping, captivating, entrancing, enthralling, beguiling, charming, enchanting; (adj, v) interesting; (v) engross.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) uninteresting, dull, monotonous, tiresome, unexciting
- enigmatical: (adj) mysterious,

- obscure, indeterminate, oracular, perplexing, unintelligible, ambiguous, cabalistic, confusing, dark, difficult
- enjoin: (v) command, dictate, direct, instruct, tell, charge, require, forbid, disallow, impose, order.

  ANTONYMS: (v) acquiesce, yield, submit, permit, request, let, comply, agree, allow, obey
- enlarge: (v) expand, aggrandize, augment, dilate, distend, widen, increase, elaborate, extend, blow up, grow. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, shrink, contract, decrease, compress, condense, diminish, lessen, minimize, narrow, abridge
- enlarged: (adj) inflated, magnified, extended, expanded, puffy, increased, augmented, amplified, distended, wide, swollen. ANTONYM: (adj) atrophied
- enlargement: (n) magnification, amplification, expansion, increase, dilation, addition, development, distension, distention, growth, extension. ANTONYMS: (n) contraction, decrease, lessening, shrinkage, deterioration, drop, erosion
- enlighten: (v) advise, edify, educate, inform, clarify, apprise, instruct, illuminate, clear, notify; (adj, v) lighten. ANTONYMS: (v) puzzle, obfuscate, mystify, confound, cloud, brutalize, bewilder, muddle
- enlightened: (adj) liberal, disillusioned, progressive, cultured, aware, informed, learned, lettered; (adj, v) wise; (n, v) savant; (v) shrewd. ANTONYMS: (adj) puzzled, unenlightened, uninformed, confounded, confused, ignorant, perplexed, wild, reactionary, traditional; (n) uninitiate
- enlightenment: (n) light, information, education, culture, civilization, instruction, wisdom, illumination, notice, Age of Reason; (n, v) knowledge
- enlist: (v) engage, recruit, employ, enroll, gain, get, join up, hire, acquire, join, enter. ANTONYMS: (v) discharge, resign, quit, dodge, avoid, leave, fire
- enlisting: (n) accomplishment, achievement, recruitment
- enmity: (n, v) animosity; (n) antagonism, animus, hostility, aggression, rancor, ill will, antipathy, hatred, war, dislike.

- ANTONYMS: (n) friendship, friendliness, affinity, love, kindness, affection, adoration, amity, cooperation, goodwill
- **ennoble**: (n, v) dignify, honor; (v) elevate, advance, glorify, exalt, aggrandize, refine, gentle, enhance, sublime
- **ennobling**: (adj) inspiring, noble, exalting, cultural
- enormity: (n) magnitude, size, greatness, vileness, immensity, outrage, vastness, seriousness, crime, evil, indecency.
  ANTONYMS: (n) minuteness,
- ANTONYMS: (n) minuteness, veniality, unimportance, tininess, virtue, goodness, diminutiveness, remissibility, smallness, mildness, insignificance
- enquire: (v) ask, consult, query, question, inquiring, enquiringly, investigate, inquire, enquiring, inquiringly, intercommunicate
- enquirer: (n) inquirer, asker, speaker, talker, tester, quizzer, interviewer, interrogator, examiner, querier
- enquiring: (v) inquire, enquire; (adv) enquiringly
- enrol: (v) enlist, register, enroll, enter, inscribe, matriculate, recruit, draft, book, levy, registering
- enrolled: (adj) listed, conscript enslave: (v) enthrall, captivate, subjugate, slave, tame, chain, confine, thrall, inthrall, restrain; (adj, v) lead captive. ANTONYMS: (v) free, release, emancipate
- enslaved: (adj) captive, locked up, charmed, incarcerated, in bondage, in prison, bound, subject, beguiled, cringing; (v) subjected
- entail: (v) imply, involve, demand, mean, need, induce, evoke, implicate, require, to bar an entail, draw down
- entertain: (v) amuse, delight, bear, cherish, beguile, admit, accommodate, harbor, hold, distract; (n, v) interest. ANTONYMS: (v) disregard, ignore, banish, forget, tire, displease
- entertained: (adj) diverted, pleased entertainer: (n) host, performer, comedian, actor, humorist, artist, musician, bombshell, busker, artiste, comic
- entertaining: (adj) enjoyable, fun, funny, diverting, witty, merry, comical, laughable, convivial, humorous, droll. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, boring, heavy, slow, tiresome, tiring, unentertaining

- enthusiastically: (adv) zealously, eagerly, ardently, fervently, fanatically, vigorously, passionately, heartily, keenly, warmly, excitedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) apathetically, lifelessly, indifferently, halfheartedly, grudgingly, glumly, languorously, gloomily, passively, reluctantly, patiently
- entitle: (v) dub, style, designate, christen, empower, term, baptize, authorize; (n, v) title, name, denominate. ANTONYMS: (v) disqualify, debar
- entrails: (n) bowels, gut, bowel, viscera, innards, internal organs, insides, intestines, guts, tripe, inside
- entreat: (v) beg, beseech, ask, implore, pray, adjure, appeal, request, conjure, crave, bid. ANTONYMS: (v) demand, reject
- entreaty: (n) plea, prayer, request, petition, adjuration, supplication, suit, demand, desire, invocation; (v) solicitation
- entrust: (v) deposit, depute, commission, commend, delegate, surrender, trust, assign, hand over, commit, confide. ANTONYM: (v) retain
- entwine: (n, v) twine; (v) coil, wind, curl, knit, tangle, interlace, enlace, lace, fold; (n) wreathe.

  ANTONYMS: (v) untwist, straighten, uncoil, untwine, unwind, disentangle, unpick, undo
- enumerate: (n, v) calculate, detail, number; (v) list, recount, reckon, tally, tell, compute, recapitulate, figure
- enumerated: (adj) detailed envious: (adj) covetous, invidious, jaundiced, malicious, begrudge, greedy, resentful, grudging, green, begrudging, enviable. ANTONYMS: (adj) fulfilled, satisfied, undesirous, contented
- epic: (n) epos, saga, epic poem, rhapsody, verse; (adj) epical, heroic, massive, descriptive, suggestive, valiant. ANTONYMS: (n) prose, flop; (adj) small, minor, tiny
- epicure: (n) epicurean, bon vivant, sensualist, gastronome, hedonist, glutton, gastronomer, foodie, gourmand, voluptuary, connoisseur
- epidemic: (adj) infectious, catching, rife, prevailing; (n) plague, pestilence, outbreak, disease, infection, eruption, pest. ANTONYMS: (adj) contained, confined, limited, local

- epilogue: (n) epilog, ending, afterword, end, close, closing, conclusion, finale, peroration, speech, sequel. ANTONYMS: (n) foreword, preface, prelude, prologue, introduction
- **epistles**: (n) revelations, gospels, apocalypse, evangelists
- epithet: (n) name, cognomen, appellation, denomination, nickname, moniker, sobriquet, title, picture, byname, byword
- epitome: (n) abstract, type, resume, compendium, model, digest, ideal, conspectus, synopsis, recapitulation; (adj, n) brief
- epoch: (n) era, date, period, day, season, time, term, cycle, crisis, date of reference, times
- equable: (adj) equal, temperate, stable, mild, balanced, peaceful, halcyon, placid, pacific, sedate, moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) spasmodic, vacillating, variable, unequal, irregular, intemperate, fluctuating, inequable, jumpy, senseless
- equalize: (v) compensate, balance, equate, even, counterbalance, compare, equalise, level, match, unify, counteract. ANTONYMS: (v) imbalance, unbalance
- equanimity: (n) aplomb, poise, calmness, calm, temper, peace, imperturbability, temperament, serenity, tranquility; (adj, n) stoicism. ANTONYMS: (n) panic, anger, excitableness, fear, hysteria, nervousness, agitation, anxiety
- equator: (n) circle, colures, midriff, orbit, round, diaphragm, celestial equator, ecliptic
- equestrian: (n) rider, trooper, trainer, buster, roughrider, horsewoman, horseback rider, breaker, postilion; (adj) mounted
- eradicate: (v) annihilate, destroy, eliminate, uproot, extirpate, extinguish, exterminate, wipe out, deracinate, obliterate, abolish. ANTONYMS: (v) create, breed, generate, propagate, plant, build, add, protect, engrave, establish, revive
- erase: (v) delete, efface, blot out, obliterate, wipe out, expunge, annihilate, eradicate, clear, rub out, eliminate. ANTONYMS: (v) restore, record, add, acknowledge
- erect: (adj) upright, vertical, straightforward; (v) build, raise, rear, construct, assemble, lift, put

up, put together. ANTONYMS: (v) dismantle, wreck, topple, level, demolish, destroy; (adj) prostrate, drooping, prone, flaccid, flat

- eristic: (adj, v) eristical; (v)
  Aristotelian; (n) disputant,
  controversialist; (adj) disagreeable
- erring: (adj) devious, sinful, fallible, wrong, amiss, at fault, guilty, perverse, reprehensible; (n) transgression
- erroneous: (adj) incorrect, inaccurate, false, untrue, wrongful, improper, fallacious, amiss, unsound, faulty; (adj, v) mistaken. ANTONYMS: (adj) valid, right, accurate, true, reliable, real, wise, logical
- erroneously: (adv) mistakenly, falsely, incorrectly, faultily, inaccurately, fallaciously, wrong, inexactly, untruely, misguidedly, amiss. ANTONYMS: (adv) accurately, rightly
- escaping: (n) evasion, getaway, break, breakout, running away, running off, run-around; (adj) fugitive
- espoused: (adj) affianced, matrimonial, betrothed; (n) better half
- esteem: (n) deference, admiration; (n, v) respect, value, consideration, account; (v) appreciate, deem, adore, admire, count. ANTONYMS: (v) scorn, hate, disdain, insult, despise, abominate, abhor, dislike, reject; (n) disesteem, disapproval
- esteemed: (adj) dear, reputable, respected, honorable, noble, honored, prestigious, important, distinguished, August, respect. ANTONYM: (adj) disreputable
- estimating: (n) estimation estimation: (n) deference, assessment, calculation, approximation, appraisal, attention; (n, v) esteem, consideration, regard, reputation, credit. ANTONYMS: (n) calculation, disbelief, doubt
- eternity: (n) aeon, afterlife, forever, perpetuity, timelessness, endlessness, everlasting, endless time, everlastingness, everness, existence. ANTONYMS: (n) finiteness, impermanence
- eunuch: (n) eunuchate, gelding, man, adult male
- euphemism: (n) expression, locution, saying, circumlocution, code word, figure of speech, heck; (adj) euphemistic, euphonious, euphuism, frills of style

euphemistic: (adj) periphrastic, euphemistical, euphonious, flowery, inoffensive; (v) euphuistic. ANTONYM: (adj) dysphemistic

- evacuation: (n) defecation, emptying, elimination, depletion, drainage, departure, voidance, dejection, excretion, retreat; (v) emission
- **evading**: (n) avoidance, escaping, dodging; (v) evade; (adj) intangible, fugitive
- evasion: (n, v) equivocation, avoidance, subterfuge, prevarication; (n) escape, quibble, dodge, excuse, elusion, casuistry, circumvention. ANTONYMS: (n) facing, confrontation, confronting, meeting
- everlasting: (adj) eternal, ceaseless, endless, constant, continual, perpetual, immortal, deathless, ageless, aeonian; (adj, n) lasting. ANTONYMS: (adj) finite, ephemeral, fleeting, mortal, ending, terminating, inconstant, fragile, perishable
- everlastingly: (adv) perpetually, always, lastingly, continually, endlessly, unendingly, incessantly, permanently, constantly, undyingly; (adj, adv) forever
- evils: (n) mala
- exactness: (n) correctness, accuracy, exactitude, truth, rigor, trueness, accurateness, fidelity, punctuality, veracity, strictness. ANTONYMS: (n) inexactness, fuzziness, inaccuracy, negligence, inexactitude, incorrectness
- exaggeration: (n) distortion, magnification, enlargement, overstatement, hyperbole, misrepresentation, caricatura, embellishment, elaboration, trope, romance. ANTONYMS: (n) irony, minimizing, reduction
- exalt: (v) glorify, celebrate, animate, raise, advance, promote, elevate, praise; (n, v) dignify, adore, ennoble. ANTONYMS: (v) degrade, ridicule, debase, condemn, criticize, deprecate, desecrate, disparage
- exalted: (adj) elevated, eminent, noble, high, August, elated, dignified, great, sublime, grand, big. ANTONYMS: (adj) belittled, condemned, criticized, debased, humble, humiliated, low, lowly, minor, ridiculed, base
- **exalting**: (adj) exalt, ennobling, inspiring, humane, generous, exhilarating, dignifying,

- courageous, benevolent, abundant exceeding: (prep) beyond, more than, greater than; (adj) excessive, transcendent, extraordinary, exceptional, prodigious, surpassing, Olympian; (v) exceed
- excellently: (adv) splendidly, beautifully, exquisitely, magnificently, finely, marvelously, goodly, worthily, grandly, primely, superbly. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, badly, terribly
- excepting: (conj, prep) but, bar; (n, prep) except for, exclusive of; (prep) aside from, besides, apart from, barring, excluding, with the exception of; (v) saving.
- ANTONYM: (prep) including excitable: (adj) nervous, irritable, combustible, hasty, edgy, fiery, sensitive, volatile, passionate, warm, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) unexcitable, calm, unflappable, easygoing, easy, tranquil, reliable, mild
- excite: (v) arouse, enliven, disturb, agitate, awaken, incite, inspire, rouse, electrify; (n, v) energize; (adj, v) quicken. ANTONYMS: (v) calm, pacify, bore, soothe, stifle, tranquilize, placate, quiet, dampen exclaiming: (n) deuce, Dickens, ejaculation, exclaim, devil,
- interjection, ecphonesis exclusiveness: (n) clannishness, cliquishness, snobbishness, exclusivity, stylishness, sophistication, refinement, insularity, elegance, exclusivism
- excusable: (adj) pardonable, justifiable, defensible, forgivable, warrantable, permissible, slight, understandable, minor, vindicable, tenable. ANTONYMS: (adj) unforgivable, unallowable, indefensible, blameable
- excused: (adj) privileged, immune execute: (v) do, achieve, complete, perform, accomplish, act, effect, carry out, enforce, make, fulfill. ANTONYMS: (v) abandon, ignore, disregard, Miss, forget, shirk, revive
- executing: (n) performing, execution, decapitation, capital punishment, electrocution, death penalty, crucifixion, implementation, corporal punishment; (v) perform, execute
- executioner: (n) killer, murderer, hangman, headsman, electrocutioner, executor, tormentor, executer, public executioner,

- slaughterer, slaver
- exercising: (n) calisthenics, aerobics, bodybuilding, conditioner, callisthenics, employment, drill, practice, anaerobic exercise, example, delay
- exert: (v) wield, employ, act, use, apply, strain, operate, have recourse to, profit by; (n) excite, energize
- exertion: (n) application, exercise, endeavor, attempt, struggle, trouble, diligence, strain, labor, pull, essay. ANTONYMS: (n) idleness, inactivity, inertia, relaxation, laziness, ease
- exhibited: (adj) ostensible, avowed, apparent, declared
- **exhibiting**: (n) advertising; (adj) exhibitory, ostensive
- exiled: (adj) alien, homeless, distant, excluded
- exodus: (n) exit, migration, withdrawal, disappearance, passage, emigration, egress, immigration, outgo, journey, book. ANTONYMS: (n) ingress, influx, entrance
- exordium: (n) overture, prelude, outset, preface, opening, symphony, foreword, prologue, proem, beginning, preliminary
- expanse: (n) breadth, expansion, space, region, compass, extent, orbit, latitude, acreage, dilation, length. ANTONYM: (n) closeness
- expediency: (n) utility, convenience, advantage, fitness, advisability, pertinence, expedient, benefit, effectiveness, value, pertinency. ANTONYMS: (n) impracticality, inconvenience, inexpedience, unsuitability, uselessness
- expedient: (adj) fit, advisable, becoming, desirable, adequate, apt, convenient, suitable; (n) contrivance, resource, artifice. ANTONYMS: (adj) inappropriate, inexpedient, impractical, futile, detrimental, inconvenient, foolish
- expedite: (n, v) accelerate; (v) dispatch, advance, hasten, speed, quicken, assist, hurry, hurry up, rush, precipitate. ANTONYMS: (v) stop, delay, halt, hinder, impede
- expel: (v) evict, banish, exclude, exile, eliminate, discharge, deport, excrete, dispossess, dislodge; (adj, v) dismiss. ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, retain, invite, appoint, admit, allow, block
- expelled: (adj) evicted, disqualified, dispossessed, debarred, barred,

- banned
- expelling: (n) discharge, catamenia, excretion, elimination, evacuation, ejaculation, emission, menstrual, menstruation, period, emanation
- expiate: (v) atone, aby, redeem, abye, compensate, recompense, purge; (adj) pious, expiable; (n) expiator, expiation
- expose: (v) endanger, exhibit, betray, detect, display, air, uncover, debunk, denude, unfold, divulge. ANTONYMS: (v) conceal, cover, enclose, suppress, shield, shelter, insulate, hide, guard, drape
- exposition: (n) comment, exhibition, show, explanation, elucidation, clarification, exhibit, description, demonstration, dissertation, fair
- expressive: (adj) significant, meaningful, descriptive, mobile, revelatory, indicative, articulate, graphic, emphatic, suggestive, vivid. ANTONYMS: (adj) unemotional, undemonstrative, nondescript, cold, expressionless, empty, emotionless, inarticulate, innocent, impassive, reserved
- expressly: (adv) specially, particularly, distinctly, specifically, explicitly, especially, utterly, clearly, precisely, telly, exactly.
  ANTONYMS: (adv) ambiguously, conditionally, implicitly, indirectly, vaguely
- expulsion: (n) exile, banishment, deportation, ejection, dismissal, extrusion, eviction, exclusion, transportation, exception, release. ANTONYMS: (n) inclusion, welcoming
- expunge: (v) cancel, efface, delete, wipe out, raze, rase, obliterate, excise, remove, extinguish, destroy. ANTONYMS: (v) build, construct, create, insert
- exquisite: (adj) beautiful, delicate, excellent, dainty, gorgeous, admirable, acute, heavenly, choice, wonderful; (adj, v) delightful. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, inferior, ugly, subdued, rough, poor, coarse, mild, imperfect, horrible, flawed
- exquisiteness: (n) perfection, delicacy, fineness, magnificence, prettiness, loveliness, elegance, dreamy quality, attractiveness, good looks. ANTONYMS: (n) ugliness, unattractiveness
- extant: (adj) actual, current, present, existent, surviving, alive, living, available, instant, in existence, that

- is. ANTONYMS: (adj) lost, dead, departed, destroyed, gone
- exterior: (adj, n) outside, surface, outward; (n) appearance, skin, front; (adj) external, superficial, outlying, outer, outdoor. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) interior, inside; (adj) inner, internal, intrinsic, middle, deep
- extinct: (adj) dead, deceased, defunct, departed, obsolete, extinguished, exhausted, inanimate, out, quenched, gone. ANTONYMS: (adj) alive, living, extant, active, dormant, thriving, existing, live
- extinguish: (v) destroy, exterminate, eradicate, douse, annihilate, consume, wipe out, end, suppress, quash; (adj, v) allay. ANTONYMS: (v) ignite, build, create, encourage, inflame, sustain, protect
- extinguished: (adj) extinct, out, dead, quenched, allayed, destroyed; (n) defunctness, complete annihilation, experimental extinction, extermination, extinction
- extinguishing: (n) quenching, dampen out, extermination, stamp out, conclusion, extinguished, experimental extinction, ending, destruction, defunctness, complete annihilation
- extinuation: (n) excision, destruction, eradication, extermination, extinction, deracination, cutting out, appendicectomy, appendectomy, annihilation; (adj) extinguishment
- extol: (v) exalt, eulogize, laud, applaud, celebrate, acclaim, glorify, praise, admire, compliment, magnify. ANTONYMS: (v) discredit, condemn, denigrate, decry, disparage, deprecate
- extolled: (adj) decorated, dignified, exalted, elevated, adorned, emblazoned, inscribed
- extraneous: (adj) exterior, foreign, exotic, external, adventitious, outer, outside, irrelevant, unrelated, extrinsic, immaterial. ANTONYMS: (adj) relevant, intrinsic, necessary, essential, integral, native, needed, basic, pertinent
- extravagance: (n) dissipation, luxury, excess, profligacy, lavishness, squandering, recklessness, waste, prodigality, magnificence, immoderateness. ANTONYMS: (n) economy, frugality, parsimony, prudence, paucity, moderation, austerity, necessity, bareness
- extravagant: (adj) wasteful, luxurious, prodigal, exaggerated,

profligate, costly, expensive, lavish, immoderate, profuse, undue. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, frugal, parsimonious, plain, stingy, understated, thrifty, reasonable, moderate, cautious, tasteful

- extremity: (n) end, member, boundary, bound, close, appendage, limit, limb, ending, fringe, conclusion. ANTONYMS: (n) trunk, average, minimum, head, leniency
- eyesight: (n) sight, seeing, discernment, vision power, ability to make discerning judgments, view, sightedness, optics, beholding
- eyewitness: (n) witness, bystander, onlooker, observer, beholder, watcher, passer by, earwitness, passerby, viewer, outsider
- fable: (n) legend, fiction, tale, story, fabrication, fairy tale, lie, myth, anecdote; (adj, n) apologue, parable. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, history
- facetious: (adj) humorous, comical, frivolous, funny, comic, whimsical, laughable, jocose, jocular; (adj, n) witty; (n) amusing. ANTONYMS: (adj) grave, lugubrious, sober, somber, formal
- facetiously: (adv) farcically, wittily, funnily, jocularly, merrily, waggishly, jokingly, frivolously, whimsically, jocosely, comically faculties: (n) mother wit
- fade: (adj, v) vanish, drop; (v) dissolve, decline, evaporate, discolor, droop, die, languish, expire; (n, v) wither. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, grow, flourish, enhance, surge, sharpen, brighten, color, wax, stav. rallv
- fading: (n) attenuation, bleaching, discoloration, disappearance, evaporation, colour fading, decay; (adj) disappearing, paling, weakening, decaying. ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, increasing, growing
- fain: (adj) willing, prepared, ready, favorable, heart and soul, prone; (adv) gladly, lief, readily, willingly; (v) optative
- faithless: (adj) dishonest, false, traitorous, treacherous, unfaithful, deceitful, untrustworthy, untrue, truthless, mendacious, perfidious. ANTONYMS: (adj) loyal, steadfast, true, honest
- fallacious: (adj) deceitful, deceptive, false, wrong, misleading, unsound, delusive, inaccurate, incorrect, untrue, specious. ANTONYMS: (adj) true, valid, correct,

substantiated, veritable, logical fallacy: (n) delusion, deception, paralogism, illusion, misconception, falsehood, inaccuracy, idol, falsity, sophistry; (adj, n) subterfuge. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, truth, validity, verity, understanding, correctness

- fallibility: (n) unreliability, undependability, undependableness, unreliableness, frailty, imperfection. ANTONYM: (n) infallibility
- falsehood: (n) fable, fabrication, deception, untruth, lie, fib, fiction, invention, dishonesty; (adj, n) deceit, falsity. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, honesty, reality
- falsely: (adv) incorrectly, fraudulently, deceptively, dishonestly, wrongly, erroneously, misleadingly, deceitfully, unfaithfully, spuriously, fictitiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) honestly, truthfully, faithfully, authentically, correctly, naturally, rightly
- falter: (n, v) waver; (v) hesitate, stumble, stutter, stammer, halt, dither, bumble, doubt, teeter; (n) faltering. ANTONYMS: (v) persevere, persist, endure, remain
- faltering: (n) falter, pause, vacillation; (adj) tentative, vacillating, doubtful, irresolute, hesitant, uncertain, unsure; (adv) falteringly.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) decided, firm, eloquent, decisive, sure
- familiarity: (adj, n) acquaintance; (n) intimacy, closeness, experience, casualness, conversancy, knowledge, conversance, naturalness, nearness, friendship. ANTONYMS: (n) unfamiliarity, formality, abnormality, distance, animosity
- familiarize: (adj, v) accustom; (v) adapt, familiarise, habituate, introduce, present, acquainted, popularize, adjust, initiate, inform familiarized: (adi) adjusted, familiarized.
- familiarized: (adj) adjusted, familiar, used to, oriented, orientated, accustomed
- familiarly: (adv) intimately, usually, ordinarily, nearly, frequently, commonly, regularly, informally, closely, acquaintedly, conventionally. ANTONYM: (adv) distantly
- fancied: (adj) unreal, chimerical, fictional, fanciful, fictitious, fabricated, preferred, assumed, illusory, imagined, ideal

fancies: (n) stock fanciful: (adj) mythical, fantastic, capricious, unreal, arbitrary, romantic, ideal, chimerical, notional, visionary, (adj, v) fancy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) prosaic, real, realistic, plausible, normal

fancying: (n) daydream, fantasy far-fetched: (adj) improbable, tall, implausible, foreign, unreasonable

far-off: (adj) distant, far, faraway, outlying, extreme, inaccessible, last, long, obscure, unknown, wide

farther: (adj, adv, prep) beyond; (adj) additional, more, distant; (adv) furthermore, besides, abroad, in addition, too; (adj, prep) outside; (pron) another. ANTONYMS: (prep) within; (adv) nearer, closer

farthest: (adj) ultimate, extreme, farthermost, utmost, uttermost, last, furthermost, endmost, greatest, most distant; (adj, adv) remotest. ANTONYMS: (adv) closest, nearest fashioned: (adj) formed, featured,

fictitious, intentional, bent, wrought fashioning: (n) devising, cartography, making, cartographic,

cartographical, mapmaking fasten: (adj, v) attach, fix, affix; (v) connect, bind, tie, tack, pin, stick, clasp, anchor. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, undo, unlock, loosen, release, open, disconnect, untie, separate, unscrew

fastened: (adj) tied, fast, buttoned, closed, tight, secure, pinned, binding, empight, steady, firm. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfastened, unbuttoned

fastidious: (adj, n) exacting, critical, accurate; (adj) delicate, particular, careful, exigent, dainty, discriminating, nice, fussy. ANTONYMS: (adj) sloppy, unfastidious, careless, uncouth, uncritical, easy, indifferent, undemanding, slapdash, relaxed, easygoing

fastness: (n, v) stronghold; (n) fortress, castle, hardness, fortification, bastion, blockhouse, fort, haste, soundness; (v) hold

fated: (adj) inevitable, destined, certain, predestined, damned, unavoidable, predestinate, cursed, intended, forthcoming, sure

fates: (adj) book of fate, Parcae, sky; (n) fortune, the fates

fatherland: (n) native land, home, homeland, country, mother country, motherland, land, country of origin, native country, old country, cradle fatherly: (adj) fatherlike, loving, motherly, sisterly, parental, affectionate, benevolent, benign; (adj, adv) kind; (adv) patriarchal, indulgent. ANTONYM: (adv) motherly

fatted: (adj) stalled

fatten: (adj, n) enrich; (adj, v) fat, elaborate; (v) fatten up, feed, fill out; (adj) fructify, bloom, bear fruit, blossom, blow. ANTONYMS: (v) undernourish, starve

faultless: (adj) blameless, correct, immaculate, clean, spotless, innocent, flawless, unblemished, absolute, infallible, consummate. ANTONYMS: (adj) blemished, imperfect, faulty, shameful, soiled, blameworthy

faulty: (adj) erroneous, deficient, defective, false, vicious, bad, broken, wrong, incorrect, inaccurate, damaged. ANTONYMS: (adj) perfect, flawless, sound, adequate, working, certain, logical, fine

faust: (n) Faustus

favor: (n, v) countenance, aid, grace, support, benefit, boon; (adj, n) kindness; (n) advantage; (v) befriend, encourage, patronize. ANTONYMS: (v) hinder, contradict, dislike, hurt, differ, thwart, reject, demean; (n) derogation, disapproval, unkindness

favorite: (adj, n) darling, favourite, dear, number one; (adj) favored, beloved, popular; (n) pet, choice, pick, preference. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, superior, underdog; (adj) unwanted, despised, disliked, hated, unusual

fearless: (adj, n) daring; (adj) brave, dauntless, courageous, undaunted, intrepid, heroic, audacious, gallant, confident, valiant. ANTONYMS: (adj) afraid, frightened, scared, apprehensive, terrified, timid

feasting: (n) carnival, eating feat: (n) deed, accomplishment, achievement, act, effort, performance, action, triumph, attainment, trick; (adj) fetis . ANTONYM: (n) inaction

feather: (n) pen, feathering, pinion, nib, plumage, quill, kind, spline; (n, v) plume; (adj, n, v) fringe; (v) fledge

featureless: (adj) lackluster, plain, monotonous, indistinctive, uninteresting, colorless, characterless, mediocre, unoriginal, uninspired, unimaginative. ANTONYMS: (adj) imaginative, inspired, interesting, distinctive fecundity: (n) fertility, productivity, richness, fruitfulness, prolificacy, productiveness, luxuriance, lushness, creativeness, birthrate; (adj) uberty. ANTONYMS: (n) infertility, sterility

feeble: (adj) delicate, decrepit, ailing, helpless, powerless, poor, mild, lax, thin; (adj, v) faint, debilitated. ANTONYMS: (adj) strong, vigorous, hearty, tough, effective, powerful, unrelenting, robust, potent, persuasive, able

feeder: (n) eater, affluent, feed, filler, tributary, glutton, forehearth, devourer, diner; (v) commissary, caterer

feeds: (n) feeding

feigned: (adj) false, affected, assumed, dummy, unnatural, fictitious; (adj, v) sham, counterfeit, spurious, mock, pretended. ANTONYMS: (adj) sincere, genuine, natural, wholehearted, heartfelt, real feigning: (v) feign; (n) pretending,

reigning: (v) reign; (n) pretending, pretense, dissimulation, dissembling, deceit, appearance, acting, deception, misrepresentation, pretension

**felicitate**: (v) compliment, bid, to congratulate, bless, wish, keep, consecrate, express congratulations, pride, brandish

fellowship: (n) community, company, companionship, communion, camaraderie, society, comradeship, association, body; (adj, n) familiarity, acquaintance. ANTONYMS: (n) unsociability, unfriendliness, hostility

ferocity: (n) violence, cruelty, ferociousness, fury, rage, truculence, atrocity, fierceness, wildness, vehemence, anger. ANTONYMS: (n) meekness, friendliness, serenity

fertile: (adj) productive, fat, fecund, abundant, fruitful, exuberant, copious, affluent, bountiful, generous; (adj, v) creative. ANTONYMS: (adj) sterile, unproductive, barren, fruitless, arid, impotent, withering

**fervour**: (n) ardour, fervidness, fervency, fervor, ardor, enthusiasm, eagerness, zest, elan, ardency, fire

festering: (adj) rotten, infected, rotting, pussy, septic; (n) pus, festerment, suppuration, bodily fluid, activity, sanies. ANTONYM: (adj) healthy

- festive: (adj) convivial, festal, merry, cheery, joyous, jovial, gala, gay, blithe, solemn, joyful. ANTONYMS: (adj) depressed, gloomy, somber, dreary
- **fetters**: (n) chains, captivity, bond, restraint, irons, handcuffs, iron, enduring; (v) confine, fee, embellish. ANTONYM: (n) liberation
- feudal: (adj) feudatory, medieval, feodal
- fictitious: (adj) bogus, assumed, fictional, counterfeit, artificial, fake, fabulous, sham, fabricated, fanciful, apocryphal. ANTONYMS: (adj) true, honest, historical, factual
- fierceness: (n) ferocity, violence, cruelty, force, brutality, rage, intensity, strength, vehemence, wildness, ferociousness.

  ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, calmness, meekness
- fiery: (adj, n) burning, passionate, glowing; (adj) fervent, ablaze, hot, fervid, impassioned, peppery; (adj, v) fierce, violent. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, passionless, dispassionate, indifferent, placid, gentle, cool; (adv) easygoing
- figment: (n) chimera, fabrication, fable, fantasy, fiction, invention, myth, dream, conceit, shadow, delusion. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, actuality
- figurative: (adj) metaphorical, figural, emblematic, representative, florid, flowery, symbolic, allusive, graphic, not literal; (n) tropical. ANTONYMS: (adj) factual, nonfigurative
- figuring: (n) calculation, reckoning, estimation, computing, figure, approximation, conversion, derivative, differential, estimate, derived function

filial: (adj) dutiful

- **finer**: (adj) superior, advanced, bigger, higher, more, greater
- **fireside**: (n) fireplace, home, family, habitation, dwelling, abode, domicile, country, dwelling house, fire, habitat
- firmness: (adj, n) constancy; (n) determination, resolution, assurance, consistency, obstinacy, steadfastness, resolve, confidence, courage, backbone. ANTONYMS: (n) softness, instability, vacillation, unsteadiness, yielding, irresoluteness, droopiness, indefiniteness, indecisiveness, indecision, leniency

first-born: (adj) older

- **first-rate**: (adj) excellent, stunning, capital, posh, tiptop, dandy, ace, superior, classic, fine, clinking
- **fitful**: (adj) erratic, fickle, changeable, spasmodic, uncertain, intermittent, irregular, variable, sporadic, desultory, flickering. ANTONYMS: (adj) regular, unbroken
- **fitly**: (adv) appropriately, properly, fittingly, decorously, aptly, befittingly, readily, accommodately, expediently, suitly, justly
- fixedness: (adj, n) firmness, constancy, stronghold; (n) fixity, immovability, immobility, unchangeableness, unchangingness, unchangeability, stillness; (adj) stability
- flashing: (adj) bright, sparkling, blinking, meteoric, scintillating, light, brilliant, dazzling, gleaming; (n) flare, flashes
- flatter: (v) fawn, adulate, wheedle, cajole, soap, kowtow, blandish, grovel, butter up; (n, v) court; (n) caress. ANTONYMS: (v) insult, disparage, criticize, discourage flattered: (adj) pleased
- flatterer: (n) toady, sycophant, adulator, crawler, lackey, follower, coaxer, flunkey, wheedler, obsequious, apple polisher
- **flattery**: (n, v) cajolery; (n) blarney, compliment, adulation, taffy, palaver, praise, gloze, sweet talk, sycophancy, soft soap.
- ANTONYMS: (n) insult, offense flatulence: (n) gas, turgidity, wind, prolixness, prolixity, wordiness, windiness, breath, brag, vapor, empty effort
- flaw: (n, v) crevice, blemish, crack; (adj, n) fault, blot, blunder; (n) chink, demerit, cranny, break, chap. ANTONYMS: (n) strength, perfection
- flee: (v) bolt, break out, fly, desert, break, abscond, elope, elude, run away, run, leave. ANTONYMS: (v) appear, advance
- fleeting: (adj) brief, momentary, ephemeral, passing, transient, short, fugitive, evanescent, transitory, temporal, short-lived. ANTONYMS: (adj) permanent, lasting, enduring, unforgettable, thorough, lengthy, long, slow
- flinch: (v) cower, quail, recoil, recede, blench, shrink; (n, v) cringe, start, retreat, jump, jerk
- flitting: (adj) fleeting, fugitive,

momentary, transient, ephemeral; (v) migration

- **flocking**: (n) electrostatic covering with fibers, flock finishing
- flourishes: (n) added extras, trappings, superfluities, trimmings, accompaniments, additions, embellishments
- fluctuation: (n) vicissitude, wavering, deviation, wobble, swing, undulation, variance, oscillation, hesitation, vibration, modification. ANTONYM: (n) resolution
- fluently: (adv) easily, glibly, eloquently, liquidly, flowingly, articulately, clearly, persuasively, verbosely, talkatively, fluidly. ANTONYM: (adv) awkwardly
- **flute**: (n) wineglass, furrow, groove, fluting, tooth gap, champagne flute, corrugation, plow, wood, woodwind; (v) channel
- flutter: (adj, n, v) bustle, flurry; (n, v) beat, palpitate, flap, wave, waver, quiver; (v) flit, flitter; (n) excitement flux: (v) dissolve, thaw, course, fuse, melt; (n) tide, current, flood, torrent, afflux, lapse. ANTONYM: (n) stability
- **foam**: (n, v) froth, bubble, spume; (adj, v) boil, seethe; (v) effervesce, suds, fizz, ferment; (n) lather, bubbles
- folds: (n) laps
- follower: (n) backer, devotee, fan, admirer, adherent, cohort, apostle, partisan, believer, attendant; (adj) lover. ANTONYMS: (n) detractor, rebel, superior, disbeliever, cynic, leader
- fondly: (adv) lovingly, tenderly, warmly, kindly, caringly, adoringly, devotedly, amorously, dearly, dotingly, foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coldly, ill
- fondness: (n) affection, attachment, love, taste, regard, appetite, tenderness, partiality, endearment, liking, relish. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion, indifference, neglect, antipathy, detachment, hatred
- foolishly: (adv) idiotically, ridiculously, stupidly, indiscreetly, silly, insanely, injudiciously, preposterously, absurdly, senselessly; (adj, adv) madly. ANTONYMS: (adv) sensibly, solemnly, shrewdly, prudently, responsibly, judiciously, carefully, rationally
- **footing**: (n) foothold, base, bottom, foundation, status, rank, foot,

pedestal, situation, relation, root. ANTONYM: (n) top

forbade: (v) prohibit, to prohibit forbid: (v) prohibit, ban, disallow, bar, obstruct, exclude, deny, avert, frustrate, to prohibit, enjoin. ANTONYMS: (v) allow, let, approve, authorize, stand

forbidding: (adj) grim, ominous, dismal, dour, austere, abominable, ugly, hard, repulsive, redoubtable; (n) banning. ANTONYMS: (adj) alluring, inviting, pleasant, hospitable, friendly, favorable, comforting

forcibly: (adv) forcefully, emphatically, powerfully, by force, mightily, under protest, cogently, hard, strongly, convincingly, clearly. ANTONYMS: (adv) voluntarily, weakly, gently

fore: (adv) ahead, before; (adj, adv) forward; (n) bow, head, forefront, stem; (adj, n) front; (adj) anterior, foremost, frontal. ANTONYMS: (adv) aft, behind, rear; (adj) back

foreigner: (adj, n) stranger; (n) outlander, outsider, unknown, barbarian, gringo, newcomer, immigrant, deportee, traveler; (adj) foreign. ANTONYMS: (n) inhabitant, domestic, citizen

foresaw: (v) foresee foresee: (v) expect, forecast, anticipate, envisage, previse, foreknow, prophesy, provide, foresaw, predict, see

foreseen: (v) foresee, long expected; (adj) envisioned, foretold, contingent, concourse, coming, casual, adventitious, accidental, predictable

foresight: (n) prevision, forecast, caution, prospicience, calculation, prescience, prediction, precaution, vision, foresightedness; (n, v) expectation. ANTONYM: (n) hindsight

foretaste: (n) anticipation, expectation, prelibation, outlook, foresight, forerunner, indication, forethought, preconception, antepast; (v) anticipate. ANTONYM: (n) successor

**forfeited**: (adj) forfeit, lost, disfranchised, confiscated, appropriated, condemned

forgetful: (adj) oblivious, inattentive, negligent, lax, absent-minded, casual, unmindful, neglectful, heedless, unaware; (adj, v) remiss. ANTONYMS: (adj) mindful, watchful, alert, remembering, retentive

forgetfulness: (n) neglect, amnesia, obliviousness, inattention, memory loss, omission, unknowingness, unawareness, Lethe, carelessness, loss of memory. ANTONYMS: (n) awareness, concentration, remembering, attention

forgiveness: (n) mercy, condonation, clemency, kindness, pity, remission, leniency, absolution, grace, compassion; (n, v) pardon.
ANTONYMS: (n) condemnation, cruelty, harshness

forgiving: (adj) compassionate, lenient, tolerant, charitable, remissive, humane, kind, magnanimous, generous, merciful, mild. ANTONYMS: (adj) unforgiving, hardhearted, impatient, strict

forsake: (v) abandon, ditch, relinquish, abdicate, fail, leave, forgo, chuck, disclaim; (n, v) drop; (adj, v) quit. ANTONYM: (v) support

forsaken: (adj) deserted, abandoned, lonely, forlorn, derelict, desert, empty, solitary, friendless; (adj, v) jilted; (v) crossed in love. ANTONYM: (adj) unforsaken

forthwith: (adv) directly, immediately, at once, now, instantly, straight, presently, straightaway, incontinently; (adj, adv) quickly; (adj) immediate

fortify: (n, v) brace, nerve, invigorate; (v) build up, confirm, consolidate, secure, buttress, encourage, reinforce, enhance. ANTONYMS: (v) subdue, disarm, enfeeble, demoralize, undermine

fortress: (n) fort, bulwark, fortification, castle, stronghold, citadel, alcazar, tower, presidio, redoubt; (n, v) keep

forwardness: (adj) alacrity, readiness, earnestness; (n) precocity, impudence, presumption, cockiness, bumptiousness, impertinence, cheekiness, temerity

fostering: (n) breeding, rearing, nurturing, nurture, fosterage, encouragement, bringing up, promotion, development, elevation, education

foundering: (n) going under founding: (n) establishment, foundation, creation, institution, beginning, casting, installation, foot, start, initiation, origination. ANTONYM: (n) demise foundling: (adj, n) wastrel; (n) abandoned infant, infant, waifs and estrays, vagrant, refugee, babe, scatterling; (v) find, trouvaille; (adj) wilding

fourthly: (adv) quaternarily fragmentary: (adj) broken, scrappy, incomplete, partial, fragmental, unfinished, odd, fractionary, inconsiderable, fragmented; (adj, adv) piecemeal. ANTONYM: (adj) entire

**framed**: (adj) counterfeit, prepared, orderly, methodical, spurious. ANTONYM: (adj) unframed

framing: (n) frame, casing, sash, doorcase, cornice, cowcatcher, coaming, deckle, clotheshorse, buffer, derrick

frankness: (n) honesty, truth, forthrightness, candidness, freedom, sincerity, candour, plainness, bluffness, outspokenness, ingenuousness. ANTONYMS: (n) cunning, tact, delicacy, deceit, conformity, reticence, indirectness, evasiveness

fraternity: (adj, n) brotherhood; (n) association, company, club, fellowship, society, companionship, clan, circle, community, organization

fray: (n) conflict, action, fight, combat, disturbance, fracas, scrap; (n, v) affray, broil; (v) rub, fret freeman: (n) freedman, freedwoman, freewoman

frenzy: (n) fury, anger, insanity, mania, hysteria; (adj, n) distraction, aberration, alienation, phrensy, derangement; (n, v) craze.
ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, calm, order

fretted: (adj) latticed, haggard, magged, latticelike, reticulated, reticular, interlaced. ANTONYM: (adj) unfretted

friar: (n) monk, conventual, cenobite, abbot, monastic, palmer, pilgrim, lay brother, religious, prior, beadsman friction: (n) discord, attrition, rub.

friction: (n) discord, attrition, rub, dispute, abrasion, disagreement, conflict, dissension, rubbing, clash; (n, v) resistance. ANTONYMS: (n) smoothness, agreement, concord, ease

friendless: (adj) alone, lonely, abandoned, solitary, helpless, lonesome, forsaken, unfriended, deserted, introverted, unwanted. ANTONYM: (adj) sociable

- frontispiece: (n) front, heading, frontage, facia, face, groundwork, endpapers, pediment, proscenium fruition: (n) enjoyment, pleasure, gratification, delight, accomplishment, realization,
- gratification, delight, accomplishment, realization, realisation, consummation, success, completion, achievement
- fruitless: (adj, v) abortive; (adj) barren, useless, empty, futile, ineffective, idle, pointless, sterile, bootless, unproductive.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) fertile, useful, effective, satisfying, fruitful, worthwhile, profitable, successful, productive, hopeful, meaningful
- fulfilling: (adj) satisfying, satisfactory, pleasing, uplifting, pleasurable, effectual; (n) execution, enforcement. ANTONYM: (adj) frustrating
- fulfilment: (n) achievement, accomplishment, fulfillment, completion, fruition, discharge, consummation, effectuation, satisfaction, pursuance, prosecution
- full-blown: (adj) full-grown, ripe, mature, full-scale, all-out, unlimited, exhaustive, total
- **full-toned**: (adj) deep **fulness**: (n) fullness, entirety, completeness, totality
- **funnel**: (n) flue, tunnel, funnel shape, shaft, cone, hopper, trachea,
- weasand; (v) channel, move, pipe furnace: (n) forge, heater, blast furnace, fireplace, hearth, stove, oven, kiln, electric furnace, cupola, crematorium
- furnish: (v) afford, provide, contribute, render, offer, accommodate, supply, outfit, yield, decorate; (n, v) give. ANTONYM: (v) divest
- furnished: (adj) fitted, arranged, privileged, instruct, carrying weapons, equipt, enlightened; (v) provide, furnish, begone, beset
- **furtherance**: (n) advance, aid, support, promotion, encouragement, improvement, lift, forwarding, fartherance, relief; (n, v) advancement. ANTONYM: (n) impediment
- gadfly: (n) botfly, horsefly, pest, cuss, blighter, tormentor, persecutor, nuisance, chap, pesterer, clegg gaiety: (n) fun, cheerfulness, exhilaration, mirth, glee, merriment,
- gatety: (n) fun, cheerfulness, exhilaration, mirth, glee, merriment hilarity, happiness, joy, joviality, jollity. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, misery, sadness

gainer: (n) diving, weight gainer,

- gainful: (adj) beneficial, lucrative, worthwhile, fruitful, paying, useful, productive, helpful, paid, rewarding; (adj, v) advantageous. ANTONYM: (adj) disadvantageous gamma: (n) contrast, field strength
- **gamma**: (n) contrast, field strength unit, DA gamma, alphabetic character
- garland: (n) anthology, coronal, wreath, festoon, chaplet, bouquet, decoration, ornament, laurels, prize, lei
- garnished: (adj) fancier, elaborate garrulity: (n) loquacity, talkativeness, loquaciousness, garrulousness, communicativeness, volubility
- gauntlet: (n) mitt, sleeve, wristband, gantlet, mitten, gloves; (v) corner stone, armored vest, buffer, mask, call to arms
- generalization: (n) generalisation, induction, idea, abstraction, dialectics, theorisation, theorization, learning, notion, concept, colligation. ANTONYM: (n) fact
- genesis: (n) beginning, birth, origin, ancestry, descent, cause, commencement, generation, derivation, creation, dawn.

  ANTONYM: (n) end
- gentile: (adj, n) pagan; (n) idolater, infidel, goy, soul, person, somebody, someone; (adj) alien, heathenish, ethnic
- gentleness: (adj, n) kindness, courtesy, benignity, compassion; (n) kindliness, lenity, mildness, sweetness, softness, benevolence, mercy. ANTONYMS: (n) severity, harshness, fierceness, cruelty, ferocity, brusqueness, abruptness, rage, callousness, sharpness, roughness
- **geometer**: (n) geometrician, mathematician, spanworm, geometrid moth, Euclid; (adj) euclidian; (v) statistician
- geometrical: (adj)
- nonrepresentational, mathematical **geometrician**: (n) mathematician, Euclid, euclidian
- geometry: (v) arithmetic, analysis, algebra, stereometry, hypsometry, configuration, analytic geometry, analytical geometry, coordinate geometry, descriptive geometry, elementary geometry
- **germ**: (n) beginning, bacterium, bud, sprout, kernel, microbe, embryo, egg, bacillus, root, seed

**germs**: (n) bacteria, germ, infection, microbes, microorganisms

- ghostly: (adj) uncanny, eerie, weird, spiritual, spectral, ghostlike, supernatural, macabre, phantasmal; (adj, adv) ghastly; (adv) spectrally. ANTONYMS: (adj) tangible, natural gibber: (v) chatter, gabble, babble,
- gibber: (v) chatter, gabble, babble, tattle, clack, blab, prate, prattle, piffle; (n) abracadabra, gibberish giddiness: (n) flightiness, frivolity,
- yertigo, silliness, frivolousness, levity, lightness, capriciousness, rashness, symptom, swimming. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, reliability
- gifted: (adj) capable, accomplished, talented, able, apt, proficient, brilliant, ingenious, expert, intelligent, adept. ANTONYMS: (adj) inept, dim, incompetent, mediocre, slow, clumsy
- gigantic: (adj) colossal, enormous, large, huge, giant, stupendous, monstrous, vast, big, immense, massive. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, tiny, little, insignificant, short, miniature
- girt: (n, v) girth, girdle; (v) gird, begird, encircle, environ; (n) band, belt, zone, cingle; (adj) braced giver: (n) contributor, benefactor, abnegator, almsgiver, altruist, supporter, helper, donator, grantor, provider, philanthropist
- gladly: (adv, v) happily; (adv) gleefully, contentedly, cheerfully, fain, joyfully, jovially, cheerily, delightedly, gladsomely, readily. ANTONYMS: (adv) reluctantly, unwillingly, sadly, resentfully, miserably
- gladness: (n) joy, gaiety, pleasure, delight, bliss, glee, happiness, exhilaration, joyfulness, mirth, cheerfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) unhappiness, dismay, displeasure
- glare: (n) glance, brilliance, radiance, brightness; (n, v) glower, flash, shine, scowl, beam, frown; (v) flame. ANTONYMS: (n) dullness, dimness
- **globe**: (n) earth, world, orb, circle, eyeball, round, planet, bolus, fireball, bulb; (adj, n) sphere
- gloriously: (adv) brilliantly, grandly, magnificently, illustriously, marvelously, superbly, wonderfully, gorgeously, radiantly, greatly, renownedly
- **gluttony**: (n) greediness, edacity, voracity, rapacity, gula, esurience, excess, hoggishness, avidity,

insatiability, debauchery goaded: (adj) provoked, forced, motivated, unvoluntary, aggravated, compulsive, determined, involuntary

goats: (n) suborder Ruminantia, Ruminantia, giraffes, deer, frank Capra, genus Capra, bison, antelopes, family Bovidae, camels, Capra

goddess: (n) divinity, God, beauty, nymph; (adj, n) idol; (adj) duck, darling, angel, Dulcinea, ladylove, inamorata

godless: (adj) impious, blasphemous, ungodly, profane, devoutless, unholy, atheistic, wicked, graceless, irreligious, irreverent

godlike: (adj) celestial, heavenly, seraphic, holy, angelic, godly, divine worship, deified, elysian, foreboding, divine songs

godly: (adj, adv) holy, saintly; (adj) religious, pious, divine, devotional, reverent, pure; (adv) piously, righteously, devoutly. ANTONYM: (adj) earthly

**goethe**: (n) Johann Wolfgang Von Goethe

**good-bye**: (n) bye, farewell, goodbye, goodby, vale, adios, cheerio

**good-for-nothing**: (adj) worthless, feckless, pointless, asinine, unworthy; (n) loafer, do-nothing, rascal, rotter, cur, trash

goodly: (adv) benignly, kindly, strongly, rightly, graciously, virtuously, soundly, uprightly; (adj) sizable, handsome, respectable

gorged: (adj) sated, full, stuffed, congested, replete, satisfied, bursting, surfeited; (v) ready to

gorgeousness: (adj, n) brilliancy; (adj) bloom, radiance; (n) glory, magnificence, pomp, display, exquisiteness, good looks, attractiveness, loveliness

gospels: (n) gospel, revelations, mark, acts, apocalypse, creed, evangel, evangelists, gospel singing, gospel truth, Luke

govern: (n, v) direct, control, reign, rule; (v) administer, dictate, dominate, manage, check, bridle, regulate. ANTONYM: (v) deregulate graceful: (adj) beautiful, delicate, amiable, easy, fine, charming, fair, airy, becoming, lovely, lithe.

airy, becoming, lovely, lithe.
ANTONYMS: (adj) inelegant, stocky, awkward, vigorous, jerky, ugly, stilted, heavy, coarse,

strenuous

gracious: (adj) genial, benign, good, courteous, compassionate, kind, accommodating, civil; (adj, n) benevolent, congenial, gentle. ANTONYMS: (adj) ungracious, boorish, discourteous, reserved, rude, abrupt, critical, unkind, hardhearted, harsh, poor

gradation: (n) degree, scale, ablaut, progression, graduation, tier, step, level, shade, form, extent

**grammarian**: (n) philologist, syntactician

grandchildren: (n) grandson, heirs grandly: (adv) splendidly,

gorgeously, magnificently, regally, majestically, beautifully, stately, grandiosely, illustriously, superbly, greatly. ANTONYMS: (adv) simply, humbly

granting: (n) concession, conceding, yielding, surrendering, issue, agreement; (conj) although

grated: (v) areolar, streaked; (adj) barred

gratification: (adj, n) delight; (n, v) content; (n) enjoyment, pleasure, satisfaction, fruition, complacency, joy, luxury, treat, fulfillment. ANTONYMS: (n) dissatisfaction, disenchantment, dismay, discontent, anxiety

gratified: (adj) glad, satisfied, pleased, delighted, happy, thankful, grateful, content, complacent, comfortable, cheerful

gratify: (v) delight, please, appease, accommodate, satisfy, amuse, suit, indulge, cater; (n, v) humor; (adj) contented. ANTONYMS: (v) dissatisfy, displease, disappoint

gratifying: (adj) agreeable, pleasant, enjoyable, delightful, pleasurable, rewarding, welcome, satisfying, nice; (adj, v) grateful; (v) gratify. ANTONYMS: (adj) disappointing, unwelcome, unrewarding, frustrating, disagreeable, heartbreaking, annoying, unpleasant

graven: (adj) carved, engraved, etched, sculptured, sculptile, sculpted, inscribed, carven

graver: (v) style, denominate, entitle, fashion; (n) engraver, graving tool greatness: (n) excellence, dimension, dignity, bulk, size, enormousness, bigness, enormity, grandness, magnitude, fame. ANTONYMS: (n) obscurity, austerity, commonness, mildness, moderation, simplicity grecian: (adj) Hellenic, Achaian,

classical; (n) cheat greedy: (adj) avid, gluttonous, desirous, grasping, acquisitive, glutton, piggish, voracious, selfish; (adj, v) avaricious, covetous. ANTONYMS: (adj) temperate, ascetic, unconcerned, abstemious, moderate

greet: (n, v) receive; (v) address, acknowledge, hail, welcome, cry, salute, bid, weep, meet, recognize

grieved: (adj) sore, sad, sorry, sorrowful, upset, woeful, pained, affected, brokenhearted grievous: (adj) bitter, dolorous,

grievous: (adj) bitter, dolorous, dreadful, deplorable, sad, tough, pitiful, atrocious, regrettable, sorrowful, sorry. ANTONYM: (adj) successful

**groaning**: (adj) moaning, groaningly, inarticulate

grossly: (adv) rudely, roughly, commonly, heavily, bluntly, disgustingly, shamefully, rankly, totally, uncouthly, obscenely. ANTONYM: (adv) appealingly

groundwork: (n) bottom, basis, base, foundation, bed, ground, footing, bedrock, fundament, background, substructure

grouped: (adj) sorted, classified, collective, gather

grown-up: (adj) mature, big, fullgrown, ripe, grown, full-fledged grudge: (v) begrudge, covet; (n, v) spite; (n) malice, anger, umbrage, resentment, rancor, gall, pique, feud grunts: (n) family Haemulidae

guardianship: (n) custody, care, charge, keeping, safekeeping, tutelage, conservation, protection, wardship; (adj, n) ward; (adj) guard

guarding: (n) surveillance, conservation, precaution, shielding, marking, civil defense, patrol, accompaniment, guardianship; (adj) preserving, defensive

guiding: (adj) scouting, directive, leading, controlling, guidance, directional, guide, direction, management, steering, sovereign

gymnasium: (n) ring, stadium, cockpit, bear garden, Corso, circus, Flavian amphitheater, high school, lists, seminar, palestra

gymnastic: (n) gymnastics, athletics, physical education; (adj) acrobatic, gymnical; (v) palestric, herculean gymnastics: (adj) gymnastic; (n)

gymnastics: (adj) gymnastic; (n) athletics, calisthenics, athletic sports, callisthenics, acrobatics; (v) gladiatorship

habitable: (adj) livable, liveable habitation: (adj, n) abode; (n) domicile, residence, house, home, habitat, lodging, place, occupancy, inhabitation, inhabitancy. ANTONYM: (n) vacancy

habituated: (v) given to, addicted to, attuned to; (adj, v) used to; (adj) addicted, wont, trained, inured, used, inveterate, hardened.

ANTONYM: (adj) untrained

hades: (n) underworld, Hel, sheol, Stygian creek, Styx, pit of Acheron, blaze, inferno, aides, Aidoneus, Avernus

hail: (v) address, cry, acclaim, applaud, summon, accost, fall, cheer, salute; (n, v) call; (n) greeting. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, criticize

hairy: (adj) hirsute, bushy, dangerous, downy, woolly, bristly, fleecy, rough, fuzzy, shaggy, fluffy. ANTONYMS: (adj) hairless, safe, tidy, sleek

halloo: (n, v) whoop; (v) squall, yell, shout, call to, incite, roar; (int) hollo, hello; (n) loo, vociferation

halting: (adj) halt, hesitant, broken, crude, grotesque, barbarous; (adj, v) lame, crippled; (adv) haltingly; (v) drooping, flagging. ANTONYMS: (adj) easy, firm

halves: (n) semi, share handicraft: (n) craft, handcraft, handiwork, mystery, occupation, handwork, trade, art, profession, artifice, job

handmaiden: (n) maid, amah, subordinateness, subsidiarity, housemaid, maidservant, servant, biddy

haranguing: (n) declamation harass: (n, v) distress, annoy; (v) plague, fret, beset, tease, pester, disturb; (adj, v) molest, worry, tire. ANTONYMS: (v) defend, delight, encourage, praise, comfort

hardened: (adj) hard, callous, confirmed, tough, indurated, tempered, unfeeling, inured, habitual, enured, veteran. ANTONYMS: (adj) inexperienced, smooth, unaccustomed, untempered, feeling, mild

hardness: (n) austerity, asperity, callousness, difficulty, rigor, consistency, stiffness, cruelty, arduousness, tightness, insensibility. ANTONYMS: (n) ease, limpness, malleability

hardships: (n) difficulty harlot: (n) courtesan, fancy woman, strumpet, tart, whore, drab, moll, hooker, streetwalker, wanton, bawd

harmed: (adj) aggrieved, injured, impaired, incapacitated, abused, debilitated, physically abused, battered, crippled; (v) harm, damage

harmonical: (adj) harmonious, concordant, consonant, accordant, conformable, in harmony, harmonized, harmonised, agreeable harmonics: (n) harmonic, acoustics

harmonious: (adj) congenial, musical, consonant, amicable, peaceful, gentle, consistent, compatible, friendly, harmonical, calm.

ANTONYMS: (adj) discordant, dissonant, harsh, hostile, bitter, incompatible, inharmonious, miserable, disagreeable, disruptive, unbalanced

harmoniously: (adv) musically, tunefully, melodiously, symmetrically, melodically, cordially, unanimously, sweetly, euphoniously, quietly, symphoniously. ANTONYMS: (adv) bitterly, harshly, discordantly, inappropriately, disagreeably

harmonise: (v) agree, harmonize, accord, reconcile, accommodate, correspond, concur, chord, consort, conciliate, go

harmonised: (adj) harmonical, agreeable, in harmony, harmonious, consonant, accordant, concordant, harmonic, conformable

harmonist: (n) composer, Rappist, Rappite, Economite, contrapuntist harmonize: (n, v) correspond; (adj, v) accord; (v) fit, blend, reconcile,

coincide, consort, adjust, concur, accommodate, check. ANTONYMS:

(v) conflict, jar

harmonized: (adj) harmonical, consonant, harmonic, harmonious, concordant, identical, coordinated, uniform, synchronized, standardized, in harmony. ANTONYM: (adj) heterogeneous

harmonizing: (v) harmonize; (adj) acquiescent, assenting, balancing, toning, fitting, agreeing, henotic, in accord, matching, opposite. ANTONYM: (adj) conflicting

harp: (n) lyre, harmonica, harper, lute, mouth harp; (v) dwell, ingeminate, iterate, restate, reiterate, retell

harshness: (n) austerity, asperity, severity, acrimony, brutality, hardness, roughness, rigor, inclemency, hoarseness; (adj, n) strictness. ANTONYMS: (n) softness, leniency, quietness, flexibility, kindness, mercy, sweetness, melodiousness, brightness, smoothness, lenience

hastening: (n) quickening, speed, hurrying, speeding up, faster, fast, stepping up

hastiness: (n) rashness, rush, precipitance, precipitancy, hurry, indiscretion, temerity, abruptness, swiftness, suddenness, impetuosity. ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, carefulness, deliberation

hasty: (adj) fast, abrupt, cursory, fleet, sudden, rash, impetuous, careless, speedy, hurried, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) deliberate, considered, leisurely, sensible, gradual, thorough, cautious, careful, roundabout, prudent, patient

**hatched**: (adj) crosshatched, born, ruled

hateful: (adj) disgusting, execrable, nasty, abominable, hideous, despicable, repulsive, distasteful, foul; (adj, v) odious, obnoxious. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, kind, nice, benign, desirable

hater: (n) individual, someone, somebody, person, human, mortal, soul, misanthrope, loather, francophobe, abominator

hating: (adj) loathful, abhorring, disgusting, misanthropic, vengeful; (n) venom

hazarding: (n) exacta, gaming, daily double; (adj) wagering

headforemost: (adv) a corps perdu, headfirst, post haste

heal: (v) mend, recover, doctor, recuperate, cicatrize, get well, fix, restore, convalesce; (n, v) remedy; (n) correct. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen, disfigure, exacerbate

healer: (n) chiropractor, doctor, cure, curer, herbalist, osteopathist, alleviator, osteopath, faith healer, electrotherapist, clinical psychologist

healing: (n) cure, convalescence, recuperation, therapy, treatment, recovery; (adj) curative, sanative, sanatory, remedial, therapeutic. ANTONYM: (n) deterioration

hearer: (n) audience, listener, eavesdropper, observer, perceiver, earwitness, attendant, attendee, attender, audient, beholder

hears: (v) hear

**heartily**: (adv) cordially, sincerely, enthusiastically, warmly, strongly,

earnestly, vigorously, ardently, soundly, devoutly, eagerly. ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, languorously

heathen: (adj, n) gentile, ethnic; (n) infidel, idolater, paynim, heretic; (adj) heathenish, irreligious, giaour, godless, barbaric

heavenly: (adj) celestial, blissful, ethereal, delightful, angelic, blessed, elysian, holy, unearthly, godlike, sacred. ANTONYMS: (adj) worldly, miserable, infernal, hellish, unappealing, dreadful, turbulent

hebrew: (n) Israelite, Rabbist, rabbinist, kike, Pharisee, redeemer, savior; (adj) Hebraic, Greek, Jewish, dominical

hector: (adj, v) domineer; (v) browbeat, bluster, bullyrag, tyrannize, swagger, ballyrag; (adj) hectic, Amazon, dictate; (n) Captain Bobadil. ANTONYM: (v) encourage

heed: (n, v) consideration, concern, regard, mind, attention, notice; (n) caution, advertence, advertency; (v) attend, hear. ANTONYMS: (n, v) disregard; (n) inattentiveness

heightened: (adj) excited, intense, irritate, keen, resonant, sensitive heinous: (adj) atrocious, grievous, evil, wicked, flagrant, flagitious, monstrous, hateful; (adj, v) gross, nefarious, infamous. ANTONYM: (adi) good

hellene: (n) Greek, Ionian, ATHENIAN, Theban, Laconian, eolian, Arcadian, aeolian, Achaian, Dorian, Corinthian

hellenic: (adj) Grecian, classical, Hellenistic, Hellenistical; (n) Hellenic language, Hellene

hellespont: (n) Dardanelles campaign helm: (n) wheel, haft, handle, tiller, shank, rudder, steering wheel, shaft, hilt, halm; (v) helmet

helper: (n, v) assistant, aid, assistance; (n) acolyte, attendant, ally, associate, supporter, colleague, auxiliary, coadjutor. ANTONYMS: (n) detractor, enemy

helplessness: (n) powerlessness, defenselessness, dependence, impotency, impotence, inability, impuissance, incapability, incapacity, defencelessness, failing. ANTONYMS: (n) resistance, capacity, strength

henceforward: (adv) in future, from now on, from this time on, from this moment on, after this

hephaestus: (n) Hephaistos

heracleitus: (n) Heraclitus heracles: (n) Alcides, Herakles herald: (n) forerunner, courier, messenger; (v) declare, foretell, announce, bode, proclaim, introduce, foreshadow; (n, v) augur. ANTONYMS: (v) follow; (n) successor

herb: (n) plant, wort, herbage, amaranth, cottonweed, agueweed, drypis, dittany, dill, digitalis, dayflower

herculean: (adj) cyclopean, prodigious, formidable, powerful, brawny, laborious, difficult, hard, giant, gigantic; (v) palestric

hereafter: (adv) thereafter, from now on, hence, henceforth, hereinafter, afterwards; (n) afterlife, futurity, time to come, great beyond, future life

hereditary: (adj) familial, ancestral, inherent, heritable, inherited, inborn, congenital, innate, patrimonial, native, heredity

heredity: (n) lineage, inheritance, genetic endowment, heritage, hereditary, property, telegony, line, genetics, descent, bequest

herein: (adv) here, therein heretofore: (adv) formerly, as yet, before, so far, yet, already, until now, previously, once, hereunto; (adv, n) hitherto

hermann: (n) Arminius, Armin heroic: (adj) courageous, brave, fearless, chivalrous, dauntless, valiant, grand, intrepid, gallant, impressive, heroical. ANTONYMS: (adj) fearful, normal, despicable, lowly

hesitate: (adj, n, v) pause, delay; (adj, v) linger; (v) fluctuate, halt, waver, vacillate, demur, boggle, procrastinate; (n, v) doubt. ANTONYMS: (v) rush, decide

hesitating: (adj) indecisive, irresolute, undecided, doubtful, hesitate, reluctant, faltering, unwilling, hesitancy, backward, hesitatingly

heyday: (n) efflorescence, peak, bloom, blossom, flush, flower, zenith, prime, exultation, period, revelling. ANTONYM: (n) nadir

high-flown: (adj) grandiloquent, pompous, stilted, grandiose, elevated, metaphysical, imaginative, ideal, heroic, florid, snobbish

high-minded: (adj) great, noble, generous, lofty, magnanimous, elevated, exalted, upright, chivalrous, magnificent, honest high-spirited: (adj) valiant, valorous, spirited, manful, vivacious, effervescent, exuberant, jaunty, airy, ebullient, martial

hindered: (adj) obstructed, blocked, delayed, stalled, slowed down, slow, in an inferior position, in a weak position, impedite, thwarted, frustrated

hindering: (adj) obstructive, clogging, preclusive, meddlesome, impedimental, counter, obstruent, blocking up; (n) hindrance, impedition; (v) hinder

hindrance: (n, v) difficulty, obstacle, block, check, delay; (n) deterrent, barrier, obstruction, impediment, inconvenience, disturbance.

ANTONYMS: (n) advantage, contribution, assistance, success, boost, incentive, strength

hinted: (adj) veiled, roundabout, not explicit, implicit, coded, oblique

hireling: (n) employee, pensionary, hackney, puppet, hack, pensioner, servant, labor, soldier of fortune, tool; (adj) venal

**hither**: (adv) here, whither, hitherward, thither

**hive**: (adj) swarm, herd; (v) store, SE nicher; (n) concourse, hiding place, cave, cell, den, aerie, eyry

hoard: (v) amass, gather, collect, garner; (n, v) cache, store, stock, heap, bank, stash; (n) accumulation. ANTONYMS: (v) squander, disperse, spend, use

holiness: (n) sanctity, godliness, piety, religion, righteousness, goodness, devotion, divinity, faithfulness, halidom; (adj, n) religiousness. ANTONYMS: (n) wickedness, unholiness

homage: (n) allegiance, obeisance, fealty, accolade, honor, loyalty, worship, veneration, deference, devotion, compliment

homely: (adj) plain, common, rustic, artless, home, snug, homelike, domestic; (adj, adv) ugly; (adv) plainly, simplely. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, striking, uncomfortable, bleak

homer: (n) homing pigeon, poet, Winslow homer, bingle, referee, cor, kor, basking shark, base hit, triumph homicide: (n) assassination, carnage, butchery, bloodshed, slaving

butchery, bloodshed, slaying, slaughter, murderer, manslaughter, fratricide, elimination; (adj) homicidal

honeycomb: (n) beehive, honeycomb

- cracking, chaser, Combe, currycomb; (v) perforate, penetrate, vary, riddle; (adj) honeycombed, alveolate
- honeyed: (adj) honied, dulcet, luscious, syrupy, mellifluous, melodic, melodious, sugary, saccharine, complimentary, candied

**honoured**: (adj) esteemed, respected, worthy

- honouring: (n) homage, accolade hooked: (adj) bent, curved, aquiline, addicted, infatuated, obsessed, enamored, dependent, dependant, engrossed, uncinate. ANTONYM: (adj) unenthusiastic
- horribly: (adv) horrifically, awfully, terrifically, hideously, atrociously, appallingly; (adj, adv) frightfully, terribly, fearfully, shockingly; (adj) ghastly. ANTONYMS: (adv) pleasantly, wonderfully, kindly, sweetly
- horrid: (adj) grisly, ghastly, ugly, gruesome, grim, fearful, dreadful, direful, dire, horrible, fearsome. ANTONYMS: (adj) lovely, nice, appealing, attractive, kind
- horrified: (v) horrify, chagrined, cut up, terrify, frighten; (adj) scared, dismayed, alarmed, frightened, aghast, terrified. ANTONYM: (adj) proud
- horrors: (adj) pessimism, vapors, spleen, megrims; (n) delirium tremens
- horseback: (n) hogback, body part horseman: (n) cavalier, rider, jockey, horse fancier, horseback rider, trooper, trainer, knight, cavalryman, animal fancier, postilion
- horsemanship: (adj) airmanship, marksmanship, seamanship; (v) ride and tie; (n) skill, manege, equestrianism, attainment, acquisition, acquirement, accomplishment
- hound: (v) bloodhound, chase, hunt, follow, badger, course, bait, pursue; (n) greyhound, blackguard, cad. ANTONYM: (v) soothe
- housekeeper: (n) factotum, mistress, shepherd, householder, housewife, domestic, cleaning woman, croupier, domestic help, seneschal, house servant
- **housekeeping**: (n) housewifery, household, domestic science
- howbeit: (adv) nonetheless, notwithstanding, however, though, but, yet, nevertheless, although howl: (n, v) cry, roar, scream, bark,

shout, yell, bay, yelp; (v) bawl, growl, yawl. ANTONYM: (v) laugh

- howling: (n) howl, cry; (adj) fierce, fantastic, gross, glaring, marvelous, wonderful, wondrous; (adj, n) weeping, sniveling
- hulking: (adj) massive, awkward, unwieldy, large, lumpish, thundering, big, lumbering, hulky, gaunt, colossal. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, compact
- humane: (adj, n) gentle, compassionate, beneficent, gracious; (adj) clement, kind, charitable, merciful, good, tender, benignant. ANTONYMS: (adj) inhumane, foul, harsh, selfish
- humanize: (v) humanise, soften, alter, anthropomorphize, incarnate, personify; (adj) polish. ANTONYM: (v) brutalize
- humanizing: (adj) humane, exalting, civilizing, benevolent, cultural
- humbled: (adj) humble, humiliated, crushed, depressed, dispirited, abased, broken in, abject, ashamed; (n) humbler; (v) apart
- humbly: (adv) lowly, meanly, modestly, submissively, low, shyly, lowlily, naturally, regretfully, remorsefully, repentantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) conceitedly, haughtily, pompously, ostentatiously, unrepentantly, affluently, brashly, pretentiously
- humorous: (adj) comical, funny, comic, droll, playful, hilarious, jocose, farcical, jocular; (adj, n) facetious, witty. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, tragic, humorless, dull
- humorously: (adv) comically, amusingly, facetiously, funnily, drolly, jocularly, humourously, whimsically, hilariously, jocosely, playfully. ANTONYM: (adv) seriously
- hungering: (adj) starving, famished;
  (n) longing
- hurtful: (adj) harmful, destructive, evil, detrimental, deleterious, bad, injurious, cutting, baneful, baleful, noisome. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasing, harmless, pleasant, comforting, complimentary, merciful, helpful, advantageous, flattering, benign, generous
- husbandman: (n, v) cultivator; (n) agriculturist, granger, countryman, planter, sodbuster, apiarist, apiculturist, arboriculturist, dairyman; (v) tiller husbandry: (n) cultivation, farming,

economy, frugality, culture, conservation, thrift, tillage, dairying, horticulture, gardening

- hydra: (adj) chimera, Minotaur, seed plot, sphinx, warren, rabbit, phoenix, milch cow; (n) snake, plague, cancer
- **hymeneal**: (adj) bridal, conjugal, connubial, matrimonial, spousal; (adj, v) nuptial
- **hymn**: (n) song, canticle, chant, anthem, carol, chorale, doxology; (v) glorify, laud, sing, extol
- hyperbolical: (adj) grandiloquent, exaggerated, stilted, pompous, imposing, excessive, hyperthetical; (v) on stilts

hypotenuse: (n) flank

- hypothetical: (adj, v) conjectural, speculative; (adj) theoretical, academic, assumed, suppositional, putative, imaginary, abstract; (v) apocryphal, enigmatic.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) actual, real, practical
- iambic: (adj) iambical, poetic, anapestic; (n) trochaic, iambus idealism: (n) magnanimousness, nobility, immaterialism, mentalism, perfection, rose-colored glasses, quixotism, optimism,

imaginationalism, ideality, greatness. ANTONYMS: (n) reality, disillusionment

- idealist: (n) dreamer, romanticist, seer, romantic, illusionist, optimist, escapist, abstractionist, idealizer; (adj, n) utopian. ANTONYMS: (n) defeatist, cynic
- idealize: (v) deify, idealizing, realize, see, view, regard, reckon, poetize, perfect, unrealize, concoct
- idealized: (adj) idyllic, perfect, perfecter, theoretical
- idiocy: (n) folly, absurdity, amentia, fatuity, idiot, foolishness, lunacy, silliness, madness, idiotism, stupidity. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, logic, wisdom
- idiot: (n) dolt, blockhead, dunce, dimwit, moron, cretin, ass, imbecile, oaf, changeling, idiocy. ANTONYM: (n) intellectual
- idleness: (n) lethargy, laziness, torpor, inactivity, idling, unemployment, sloth, inaction, inertia, faineance, idlesse. ANTONYMS: (n) energy, activity, bustle, liveliness, responsibility
- idling: (n) idleness, loafing, faineance, dalliance, idle motion, dolce far niente, idling speed; (v) to

676 slide; (adj) trifling idolatry: (adj, n) devotion; (n) worship, veneration, idol worship, iconolatry, bibliolatry; (adj) infatuation, fervor, flame, enthusiasm, enchantment ignoble: (adj) contemptible, abject, base, dishonorable, disgraceful, beggarly, mean, humble, degraded, despicable, caddish. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, glorious ignominiously: (adv) disgracefully, shamefully, discreditably, dishonorably, scandalously, dishonourably, opprobriously, infamously, basely, vilely, foully ignorant: (adj) unconscious, unwitting, rude, illiterate, uneducated, blind, dull, unaware, uninformed, unlearned, innocent. ANTONYMS: (adj) conscious, versed, cultured, educated, informed, wary, literate, aware, polite illiberality: (adj) incivility displacency; (n) illiberalness, bigotry, parsimony, provincialism, stinginess, narrowness, frugality, fanaticism, covetousness, extortion. ANTONYM: (n) liberality ill-treatment: (n) hurt illusions: (n) fantasy illusive: (adj) deceptive, false, delusive, imaginary, fallacious,

delusive, imaginary, fallacious, unreal, seeming, ostensible, apparent, fanciful, fantastic illusory: (adj) deceptive, unreal, imaginary, fantastic, delusive, fictitious, fanciful, deceitful, insubstantial, visionary, fallacious. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, honest,

genuine

illustrious: (adj, n) glorious, celebrated, excellent, grand; (adj) famous, bright, eminent, famed, distinguished, brilliant, well-known. ANTONYMS: (adj) unknown, obscure, ordinary, undistinguished, lowly

ill-will: (n) enmity
imagining: (n) conception,
daydream, fantasy, opinion; (v)
imagine; (adj) imaginant
imbecile: (adj) foolish, idiotic,
fatuous, dumb, imbecilic, simple; (n)
idiot, moron, cretin, ass, oaf.
ANTONYM: (adj) genius
imbued: (adj) addicted, alive,
instinct, full

imitate: (n, v) duplicate; (v) forge, ape, emulate, follow, feign, counterfeit, mimic, mock, assume,

act imitated: (adj) mimical imitating: (adj) imitative; (n) emulation, mimicry, forgery, acting imitative: (adj) mock, counterfeit, derivative, fake, false, fictitious, bogus, bastard, onomatopoeic, base, sham. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, real, nonimitative imitator: (n) mimic, follower, impersonator, copycat, ape, emulator, mimicker, copier, aper, copyist, somebody immeasurable: (adj) endless, immense, infinite, huge, enormous, illimitable, unmeasurable, incalculable, inestimable, innumerable, interminable. ANTONYMS: (adj) limited, minute, finite, shallow, slight, negligible, tiny, few, minor, small immeasurably: (adv) boundlessly, endlessly, immensely, greatly, much; (adj) exceedingly, extremely, exquisitely, acutely, ultra, intensely. ANTONYM: (adv) slightly immensity: (n) greatness, enormousness, immenseness, infinity, bulk, largeness, infiniteness, infinitude, vastness, grandeur, grandness. ANTONYM: (n) lightness immersed: (adj) submerged, engrossed, deep, underwater, sunk, dipped, covered, engaged, profound, rapt, riveted. ANTONYMS: (adi) detached, superficial, bored immoral: (adj) evil, bad, depraved, indecent, dissolute, corrupt, criminal, unprincipled, dirty, unfair, lewd. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, decent, honest, ethical, principled, good, restrained, amoral, right, righteous, pure

righteous, pure immorality: (n) iniquity, degeneracy, corruption, evil, vice, sin, evilness, wickedness, debauchery, devilry, wrong. ANTONYMS: (n) righteousness, decency, piety, morality, restraint, honesty, good

immortal: (adj) eternal, enduring, undying, endless, monumental; (adj, v) deathless, imperishable, celebrated; (n) deity, God, divinity. ANTONYMS: (adj) obscure, earthly, forgettable, perishable, temporary immortality: (n) sempiternity,

perpetuity, athanasia, glory, aye, fame, everness, immortal, permanency, deathlessness, undying. ANTONYM: (n) mortality immovable: (adj, v) firm, fixed; (adj) adamant, steadfast, motionless, unyielding, unmovable, set, imperturbable, inflexible; (v) fast. ANTONYMS: (adj) loose, moving, mobile, flexible, movable, acquiescent, temporary, irresolute immutable: (adj) unchangeable, permanent, changeless, eternal, inflexible, unchanging, irrevocable, stable, unalterable, invariable, fixed. ANTONYMS: (adj) changeable, variable, flexible

**immutably**: (adv) unchangeably, unassailably

impair: (v) blemish, mar, corrupt, disfigure, deface, debase, harm, enervate, vitiate; (n, v) degrade, hurt. ANTONYMS: (v) improve, fortify, help, purify

impart: (v) give, convey, disclose, communicate, announce, grant, reveal, hand, bestow, divulge, confer. ANTONYMS: (v) withhold, withdraw

impartial: (adj) just, equitable, disinterested, unprejudiced, unbiased, dispassionate, evenhanded, candid, even, evenhanded, detached. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, partisan, prejudiced, subjective, unfair, unjust

impartially: (adv) justly, dispassionately, neutrally, evenly, disinterestedly, objectively, unbiasedly, unprejudicedly, indifferently, evenhandedly, rightly. ANTONYM: (adv) unfairly

imparting: (n) giving, conveyance, conveyance of title, conveyancing, conveying

impatience: (n) annoyance, eagerness, anger, intolerance, restlessness, fidget, nervousness, fidgetiness, enthusiasm, edginess; (adj) nonendurance. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, endurance, apathy

impatient: (adj) eager, anxious, petulant, fidgety, vexed, keen, edgy, quick, avid, irritable, fretful. ANTONYMS: (adj) patient, enduring, unenthusiastic, calm, happy, relaxed, slow

impatiently: (adv) petulantly, restlessly, keenly, intolerantly, hastily, avidly, uneasily, enthusiastically, edgily, fidgetily, restively. ANTONYMS: (adv) uncomplainingly, calmly, unenthusiastically, lightly impadiment (n. y) bindepens chec

**impediment**: (n, v) hindrance, check, difficulty, delay; (n) bar, hitch,

- barrier, obstruction, drawback, encumbrance, block. ANTONYMS: (n) benefit, boost, incentive, strength impelled: (adj) prompted, provoked, determined, compulsive, encouraged, goaded, motivated, bound
- impending: (adj) forthcoming, close, future, coming, approaching, near, prospective, pending, at hand, upcoming, threatening. ANTONYMS: (adj) distant, unlikely, past
- imperatively: (adv) commandingly, imperiously, urgently, pressingly, authoritatively, obligatorily, essentially, magisterially, necessarily, instantly, critically
- imperceptibly: (adv) unnoticeably, gradually, slightly, invisibly, gently, quietly, softly, observably, indistinctly, scarcely, hardly. ANTONYMS: (adv) obviously, visibly, audibly, conspicuously, perceptibly, heavily, clearly, strongly
- imperfect: (adj) faulty, deficient, defective, unfinished, incomplete, poor, flawed, partial, inadequate, broken, fallible. ANTONYMS: (adj) perfect, whole, unblemished, adequate, complete, sound, boundless, capable, flawless
- imperfection: (adj, n) frailty; (n) fault, blemish, defect, deficiency, flaw, weakness, disadvantage, vice, foible, shortcoming. ANTONYMS: (n) perfection, strength
- imperfectly: (adv) faultily, defectively, badly, deficiently, incompletely, partially, poorly, inadequately, sketchily, incorrectly, halfway. ANTONYMS: (adv) perfectly, flawlessly, correctly, well
- imperialism: (n) ideology, Caesarism, foreign policy, control
- imperishable: (adj) immortal, eternal, abiding, deathless, enduring, permanent, perpetual, perennial, incorruptible; (adj, v) undying, indestructible. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, fragile
- impersonal: (adj) neutral, objective, detached, cold, impartial, indifferent, aloof, personal, equitable, remote, clinical. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, friend, involved
- impetuous: (adj) boisterous, hasty, fiery, headlong, heady, hot, brash, foolhardy, dashing, fierce; (adj, v) impulsive. ANTONYMS: (adj)

considered, careful, slow, sensible, patient

- impetuousness: (n) storminess impiety: (n) disrespect, irreligion, blasphemy, unrighteousness, impiousness, sacrilege, profanity, godlessness, irreverence, sin, evil. ANTONYMS: (n) restraint, goodness
- impious: (adj) godless, ungodly, disrespectful, profane, unholy, sinful, unhallowed, wicked, iniquitous, irreligious, irreverent. ANTONYMS: (adj) reverent, devout, restrained, good
- implant: (v) fix, plant, engraft, embed, establish, bury, imbed, bud, impregnate, imbue; (n, v) lodge
- **implanted**: (adj) ingrained, inherent, ingrafted, entrenched, surrounded, native, established, fixed, set in, rooted
- implements: (n) equipment, apparatus, gear, tackle, rigging, outfit, hardware, trappings
- implore: (v) beg, beseech, supplicate, ask, conjure, crave, pray, importune, appeal, plead, solicit. ANTONYMS:(v) demand, grant, reject
- importunity: (n, v) entreaty, supplication; (n) urgency, appeal, earnestness; (v) solicitation, obsecration, interpellation, instance, obtestation, invocation
- impossibility: (n) impossibleness, option, nonexistence, absurdity, inability, impracticability, alternative, choice, contradiction, contradiction in terms, doubtfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) possibility, probability
- impossibly: (adv) unusually, unthinkably, doubtfully, implausibly, incredibly, insufferably, oddly, unbearably, surprisingly, unbelievably, unimaginably. ANTONYM: (adv) tolerably
- impostor: (n) fraud, cheat, hypocrite, fake, imposter, sham, charlatan, deceiver, faker, cheater, pretender impoverished: (adj) indigent, broke, needy, poor, penniless, miserable, impecunious, bankrupt, barren, broken, strapped. ANTONYMS: (adj) rich, enriched, solvent impracticability. (n) impossibility.
- impracticability: (n) impossibility, infeasibility, inutility, unusefulness, uselessness, helplessness.
  ANTONYM: (n) practicability
- **impracticable**: (adj) unfeasible, infeasible, impractical, unrealistic,

unworkable, impervious, unusable, unattainable, useless; (v) crotchety, fussy. ANTONYMS: (adj) viable, feasible, possible, accustomed

- impregnable: (adj, v) fast; (adj) secure, inexpugnable, unassailable, unconquerable, invulnerable, insurmountable, unshakable, irresistible, strong, safe. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, tenuous
- impressible: (adj) impressionable, sensitive, soft, delicate, sensible, adhesive, easily affected, fine, gentle, courteous, easy
- improper: (adj) false, illicit, illegitimate, unsuitable, wrong, indecent, bad, coarse, amiss, faulty; (adj, v) indecorous. ANTONYMS: (adj) suitable, fitting, polite, acceptable, sensitive, moral, correct, dignified, lawful, clean, honest
- impropriety: (n) barbarism, obscenity, indecorum, error, rudeness, indelicacy, incorrectness, solecism, wrongness; (adj) immorality, inaptitude. ANTONYMS: (n) decency, correctness
- improvidence: (n) waste, profligacy, carelessness, prodigality, dissipation, imprudence, lavishness, wastefulness, inconcoction, inculture, shortsightedness.

  ANTONYM: (n) Providence
- impudence: (adj, n) boldness, brass; (n) cheek, gall, audacity, impertinence, insolence, face, cheekiness, effrontery, assurance. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, reticence
- impure: (adj) defiled, dirty, unclean, squalid, sordid, filthy, bastard, foul, immoral, profane, contaminated. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmixed, clean impurities: (n) dross, bastard, scum,
- impute: (v) charge, attribute, ascribe, assign, accuse, blame, attach, credit, lay, accredit, impeach

cinder

- inaccuracy: (n) fault, blunder, falsity, mistake, slip, falseness, incorrectness, miscalculation, quality, impreciseness, deviation. ANTONYMS: (n) accuracy, correctness, exactitude, realism, validity, care
- inaccurate: (adj) incorrect, faulty, false, wrong, inexact, improper, loose, untrue, mistaken, not exact, imprecise. ANTONYMS: (adj) correct, exact, accurate, truthful,

careful, reliable, valid inaccurately: (adv) inexactly, erroneously, imprecisely, wrongly, loosely, falsely, fallaciously, mistakenly, faultily, untruely, sloppily. ANTONYMS: (adv) accurately, precisely, exactly, correctly

inanimate: (adj) defunct, dull, breathless, inorganic, inactive, lifeless, exanimate, deceased, extinct, unconscious, spiritless. ANTONYMS: (adj) living, animate, spirited

inappropriateness: (n) unsuitability, unfitness, impertinence, infelicity, incongruity, inaptness, inaptitude, ineptitude, incorrectness, ineptness, error. ANTONYMS: (n) correctness, decency

inarticulate: (adj) unintelligible, silent, vague, muffled, incoherent, mute, incomprehensible, unarticulate, speechless, guttural, fuzzy. ANTONYMS: (adj) articulate, eloquent, fluent, distinct, talkative

inasmuch: (adv) gradually, pro tanto, so, since, as, that, because, inasmuch as, seeing that, for

incense: (v) enrage, anger, provoke, irritate, infuriate, aggravate, rile, cense, inflame; (n) fragrance, aroma. ANTONYMS: (v) please, pacify incest: (n) criminal congress, idolatry, adultery

incestuous: (adj) adulterous incidental: (adj) fortuitous, accidental, contingent, adventitious, collateral, chance, occasional, incident, attendant, concomitant, episodic. ANTONYMS: (adj) basic, direct, intended, significant incited: (adj) encouraged, impelled, driven

inclination: (n, v) desire, bent; (n) fancy, affection, tendency, leaning, drift, appetite, dip, proclivity, bias. ANTONYMS: (n) disinclination, reluctance, aversion, indifference, unwillingness, antipathy, dislike,

incline: (v) cant, dispose, bend; (n, v) slope, bias, dip, tilt; (n) ascent, gradient, grade, inclination. ANTONYMS: (v) indispose, level; (n) hollow, descent

incommensurable: (adj) incommensurate, divisible, fractional, figurate, decimal, complementary, aliquot, incomparable, infinite, innumerable, unfathomable

inconceivable: (adj, v) unbelievable, hard to believe; (adj) impossible, implausible, incomprehensible, unimaginable, unthinkable, improbable, unintelligible, inscrutable, fabulous. ANTONYMS: (adj) conceivable, believable, likely, understandable, credible

incongruity: (n) disharmony, contradiction, disagreement, incongruence, disparity, discrepancy, discord, unconformity, disproportion, absurdity, paradox. ANTONYMS: (n) congruity, normality, agreement

inconsistency: (n) disagreement, contradiction, incompatibility, incoherence, incongruity, discordance, disparity, variance, repugnance, contradictoriness; (adj, n) frivolity. ANTONYMS: (n) steadiness, equality, constancy, concord, parity, predictability, reliability

incontinent: (adj) frail, gay, immoderate, meretricious, rakish, licentious, lewd, wasteful, abandoned, lascivious, lecherous inconvenient: (adj) inopportune, awkward, disadvantageous, bothersome, improper, unfavorable, troublesome, hard, inapt, untoward, unfortunate. ANTONYMS: (adj) convenient, suitable, opportune, timely, advantageous

incredulous: (adj) dubious, doubtful, suspicious, unbelieving, faithless, skeptical, doubting, lacking faith, questioning, cynical, mistrustful. ANTONYM: (adj) convinced

incrusted: (adj) crusted incur: (n, v) contract; (v) catch, get, incite, begin, cause, encounter, experience, obtain, suffer, receive

incurable: (adj) incorrigible, immedicable, cureless, inveterate, irretrievable, irrecoverable, terminal, irremediable, irreparable, remediless, chronic. ANTONYM: (adj) mild

indebted: (adj) grateful, appreciative, thankful, obliged, liable, insolvent, broke; (prep) beholden, debted; (n) debtor; (v) owe. ANTONYM: (adj) ungrateful

indecency: (n) immodesty, obscenity, coarseness, dirtiness, unseemliness, rudeness, salacity, nastiness, enormity, bawdiness; (adj) indelicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) decency, propriety, politeness indefinable: (adj) ineffable,

unspeakable, vague, indeterminate, undefinable, inexpressible, elusive, indefinite, undefined, nondescript, equivocal. ANTONYMS: (adj) concrete, precise

indefinite: (adj, v) ambiguous, vague; (adj) uncertain, boundless, hazy, equivocal, unlimited, doubtful, dubious, imprecise, indecisive. ANTONYMS: (adj) definite, limited, fixed, constrained, specific, distinct, known, precise, clear, exact

indelible: (adj) ineffaceable, memorable, fixed, ineradicable, lasting, irrevocable, ingrained; (adj, v) indestructible; (n) impressive, deep; (v) incorruptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) erasable, fleeting

indestructible: (adj) immortal, eternal, everlasting, undestroyable, undying, durable, perdurable, permanent, indelible, incorruptible, lasting. ANTONYMS: (adj) fragile, destructible, vulnerable, ephemeral, soft, perishable, temporary

indictment: (n) accusation, impeachment, complaint, bill of indictment, information, lawsuit, blame, accusal, true bill; (n, v) allegation, attack. ANTONYMS: (n) acquittal, confirmation

indifferently: (adv) carelessly, coldly, nonchalantly, listlessly, unconcernedly, uninterestedly, neutrally, middlingly, casually, unbiasedly, disinterestedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) passionately, obsessively, carefully, eagerly, energetically, warmly, anxiously, enthusiastically, sympathetically

indignant: (adj) angry, incensed, furious, enraged, wrathful, hurt, rage, provoked, hot, anger, irate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cool, content, unaffected

indignantly: (adv) irately, angrily, wrathfully, enragedly, sorely, acrimoniously, cynically, sulkily, hotly, exasperatedly, furiously

indignation: (n) anger, resentment, displeasure, grudge, umbrage, rage, outrage, exasperation, choler, dudgeon; (adj, n) wrath. ANTONYMS: (n) contentment, pleasure

indiscreet: (adj) careless, imprudent, incautious, ill-advised, rash, unadvised, unwise, impolitic, hasty, tactless, inadvisable. ANTONYMS: (adj) thoughtful, tactful, judicious, guarded

indiscriminate: (adj) random,

- haphazard, sweeping, general, confused, aimless, disorderly, motley, indiscriminating, irregular; (adj, v) miscellaneous.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) discerning, discriminating, selective, specific, systematic, isolated, methodical, deliberate
- indispensable: (adj, v) necessary, imperative, requisite; (adj) obligatory, fundamental, required, mandatory, vital, urgent, absolutely necessary; (v) needful.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) dispensable, nonessential, optional, marginal, unnecessary, worthless, minor
- indistinct: (adj) indefinite, inarticulate, faint, dull, fuzzy, indeterminate, hazy, neutral; (adj, n) confused, cloudy, dark. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, slight, separate, certain, precise, audible, strong, definite
- indistinguishable: (adj) identical, alike, imperceptible, obscure, undistinguishable, same, equivalent, equal, twin, like, indiscernible. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinguishable, different, clear, discernible, distinct, visible, certain
- individualism: (n) distinctiveness, egoism, self-love, ism, philosophy, trait, uniqueness, self-interest, self-seeking, identity, personality.

  ANTONYMS: (n) commonality, conformity, dependence
- individuality: (n) character, individualism, personality, originality, distinctiveness, identity, peculiarity, selfhood, ego, disposition, independence. ANTONYMS: (n) commonality, sameness, conformity
- indolence: (n) laziness, inaction, lethargy, inertia, inactivity, listlessness, slowness, torpor, sluggishness, apathy; (adj, n) sloth. ANTONYMS: (n) energy, nimbleness, activity, bustle, liveliness, vigor
- indolent: (adj) idle, lazy, slothful, sluggish, careless, slow, dull, torpid, inert, drowsy, listless. ANTONYMS: (adj) active, industrious, vigorous, diligent
- indomitable: (adj, v) firm, gritty, iron; (adj) dogged, invincible, inflexible, tough, irresistible, rigid, dauntless, undaunted.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) feeble, submissive, weak, irresolute inducement: (n) enticement,

- attraction, cause, incitement, impulse, temptation, bait, impetus, occasion, motive, goad.
  ANTONYMS: (n) disincentive, deterrent
- inductive: (adj) causative, epagogic, inductional, preparatory, preliminary, introductory
- indulge: (n, v) gratify, humor; (v) coddle, cosset, baby, pamper, spoil, satisfy, please, mollycoddle, cocker. ANTONYMS: (v) frustrate, deprive, stifle, neglect, deny, displease, fast
- indulged: (adj) pet, privileged, cherished, admired
- indulgence: (adj, n) gratification, delight; (n) allowance, extravagance, debauchery, hobby, tolerance, luxury, enjoyment, leniency, pardon. ANTONYMS: (n) denial, virtue, intolerance, uprightness, necessity, indifference, dismay, severity
- indulging: (n) pampering, excess, indulgence, orgy, folly, foolery, gratification
- industrious: (adj) diligent, assiduous, indefatigable, busy, energetic, hardworking, laborious, tireless, earnest, keen, enterprising. ANTONYMS: (adj) indolent, idle, destructive, weary, careless
- inert: (adj) idle, dead, sluggish, dull, indolent, inactive, lifeless, dormant, flat, inanimate, passive.
- ANTONYMS: (adj) active, animate, proactive, keen, live, alive, mobile
- inexcusable: (adj) irremissible, unpardonable, reprehensible, unwarrantable, unforgivable, unwarranted, unfair, untenable, not excusable, intolerable, unexcusable. ANTONYMS: (adj) understandable, forgivable, justifiable, justified, laudable, wonderful
- inexhaustible: (adj) indefatigable, immeasurable, unfailing, infinite, boundless, illimitable, unlimited, incalculable, unexhaustible, unapproachable, unfathomable. ANTONYMS: (adj) limited, unproductive
- inexperience: (adj) inexperienced, indexterity, incomprehension, inability; (adj, n) simplicity; (n) freshness, innocence, ignorance, newness, callowness, unfamiliarity. ANTONYMS: (n) skillfulness, sophistication, wisdom
- inexperienced: (adj) naive, young, callow, ignorant, unsophisticated, new, unexperienced, clumsy; (adj, v)

- raw; (v) green; (n) inexperience. ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, sophisticated, skilled, knowledgeable, expert, accustomed, sharp, seasoned
- inextinguishable: (adj) indomitable, impregnable, dominating, quenchless, indestructible, unquenchable; (v) incommutable, indefeasible, volcanic, irreducible, simmering
- infallible: (adj) sure, inevitable, positive, inerrable, unfailing, absolute, confident, definite, dependable; (adj, v) unerring; (n) sterling. ANTONYMS: (adj) fallible, faulty
- infallibly: (adv) unerringly, unfailingly, inerrably, assuredly, certainly, firmly
- infamy: (n) dishonor, disrepute, ignominy, notoriety, shame, opprobrium, reproach, stain, discredit, baseness; (adj, n) pollution. ANTONYMS: (n) fame, virtue, honor, obscurity, pride
- infancy: (n) babyhood, cradle, beginning, birth, genesis, minority, early childhood, youth, nonage, adolescence, early days. ANTONYM: (n) maturity
- infatuated: (adj, v) besotted; (adj) gaga, crazy, mad, dotty, in love, obsessed, smitten, taken with; (v) illiberal
- infatuation: (adj) devotion, fascination, enchantment, gross credulity; (adj, n) passion, fervor, fanaticism; (n) crush, idolatry, love, hobby. ANTONYM: (n) indifference
- infect: (v) contaminate, corrupt, affect, inspire, foul, pollute, defile, poison, touch, animate; (adj) contagious. ANTONYMS: (v) purify, disinfect, clean
- infer: (v) deduce, guess, derive, conclude, construe, imagine, conjecture, gather, deduct; (adj, v) understand, imply
- inference: (n) corollary, implication, illation, conclusion, assumption, judgment, surmise, derivation, analogy, guess, result. ANTONYM: (n) fact
- inferiority: (n) poorness, degeneracy, subordinacy, minority, disadvantage, calibre, vulgarity, quality, subordination, meanness, deteriority. ANTONYMS: (n) superiority, advantage, excellence, preeminence
- inferred: (adj) subtle, tacit, assumed,

incidental, latent, unsaid, unspoken, understood, contingent, implied, derivative. ANTONYM: (adj) explicit

inferring: (adj) deducing
 consequences; (n) deduction,
 thought

infinitely: (adv) greatly, vastly, immensely, immeasurably, boundlessly, enormously, unboundedly, hugely, ceaselessly, unendingly; (adj, adv) incalculably. ANTONYM: (adv) finitely

infinity: (n) infinite, immensity, infiniteness, infinitude, boundlessness, immutability, glory, greatness, holiness, forever, perpetuity. ANTONYM: (n) limitedness

infirmity: (adj, n) frailty, foible, imbecility; (n) feebleness, impotence, disability, decrepitude, illness, sickness, disease, weakness. ANTONYMS: (n) health, wellness, strength

inflict: (v) impose, cause, wreak, force, enforce, deal, deliver, administer, foist, put, obtrude

informer: (n) detective, betrayer, delator, sneak, tattletale, informant, canary, rat, grass, nark, snitch

informing: (n) briefing, disclosure, apprisal, warning, revelation, ratting, presentation, introduction; (v) inform; (adj) intelligencing, giving information

informs: (v) inform; (n) informing infuriated: (adj, v) enraged; (adj) furious, incensed, angered, mad, exasperated, provoked, boiling, livid, wrathful, annoyed. ANTONYM: (adj) pleased

infused: (adj) mixed infusion: (n) extract, infuse, implantation, influx, dash, brew, smack, transfusion, touch; (n, v) injection; (v) inoculation

ingenious: (adj) adroit, artful, clever, cunning, deft, expert, creative, imaginative, cute, acute, able. ANTONYMS: (adj) impulsive, naive, unoriginal, inept

ingeniously: (adv) artfully, cleverly, adroitly, skillfully, inventively, resourcefully, shrewdly, imaginatively, cunningly, craftily, artistically. ANTONYM: (adv) ineptly

ingenuity: (adj, n) ability; (n) adroitness, ingeniousness, cunning, imagination, acumen, resource, originality, skill, wit, inventiveness.

ANTONYM: (n) ineptness ingenuous: (adj, n) frank; (adj) naive, guileless, honest, forthright, innocent, straight, artless, downright, green, hearty.
ANTONYMS: (adj) disingenuous, dishonest, cunning, sophisticated, scheming, worldly, jaded, hesitant, experienced

inhabitant: (n) denizen, resident, occupant, citizen, tenant, occupier, population, native, liver, indweller; (v) habitant. ANTONYM: (n) stranger

inhabited: (v) populous, full of people, arrayed, clothed, dressed, accustomed, habited; (adj, v) peopled; (adj) occupied, settled, housing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unoccupied, uninhabited, business

inharmonious: (adj) dissonant, incompatible, unharmonious, incongruous, jarring, improper, harsh, cacophonous, unmusical, tuneless, inconsistent

inhuman: (adj) heartless, cruel, atrocious, brutal, cold, harsh, ferocious, remorseless, barbarous, relentless, barbaric. ANTONYMS: (adj) sympathetic, kind, humane

inimical: (adj) harmful, adverse, detrimental, malign, contrary, antagonistic, injurious, noxious, pernicious, repugnant, unfriendly. ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, friendly, favorable

iniquity: (adj, n) depravity; (n) inequity, wickedness, immorality, injustice, crime, sin, vice, darkness, villainy, sinfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, good

initiation: (n) inception, commencement, beginning, inauguration, foundation, induction, opening, origination, start, introduction, launch. ANTONYMS: (n) finish, departure, completion, suppression, culmination

injure: (n, v) damage, harm, impair; (v) contuse, disfigure, maim, bruise, blemish, wound, insult; (adj, v) abuse. ANTONYMS: (v) heal, enable, repair, protect, help

injurious: (adj) evil, harmful, hurtful, destructive, bad, disadvantageous, detrimental, adverse, deleterious, inimical, damaging. ANTONYMS: (adj) healing, favorable, healthy, helpful, advantageous, beneficial

injuriously: (adv) detrimentally, noxiously, mischievously, perniciously, deleteriously, badly, hurtfully, wrongfully, prejudicially, damagingly, insultingly

injustice: (n) iniquity, wrong, unfairness, bigotry, wickedness, prejudice, crime; (adj, n) injury, evil, harm, damage. ANTONYMS: (n) fairness, evenhandedness, reasonableness, goodness, tolerance

inmost: (adj) innermost, inward, deep, intimate, private, inner, interior, internal, personal, secret, intrinsic. ANTONYM: (adj) outermost

innate: (adj) inherent, congenital, inbred, indigenous, instinctive, natural, intrinsic, constitutional, essential, ingrained; (adj, v) born. ANTONYMS: (adj) learned, conditioned, acquired, trained, spiritual

innermost: (adj) inward, intimate, inner, interior, close, internal, middle, center, hint, hearty; (adj, n) inside. ANTONYMS: (adj) external, outermost, outer

innumerable: (adj) countless, numberless, incalculable, multitudinous, infinite, innumerous, unnumbered, uncounted, myriad, immeasurable, untold. ANTONYM: (adj) finite

inquire: (v) demand, ask, explore, enquire, inspect, research, consult, pry, request, wonder; (n, v) question. ANTONYM: (v) answer

inquiring: (adj) inquisitive, quizzical, interested, analytical, probing, intrusive; (adj, n) questioning; (v) inquire; (n) enquiry, question, examination. ANTONYM: (adj) uninquiring

inquisition: (n) examination, inquest, inquiry, exploration, quest, probe, investigation, research, inspection, disquisition; (adj) Reign of Terror

insane: (adj) foolish, daft, demented, mad, delirious, lunatic, fool, moonstruck, frantic, idiotic, nutty. ANTONYM: (adj) sensible

insanity: (adj, n) craziness, derangement, frenzy, aberration; (n) delirium, dementia, mania, folly, lunacy, idiocy; (adj) madness. ANTONYMS: (n) sanity, sense

insatiable: (adj) ravenous, voracious, insatiate, gluttonous, avaricious, quenchless, avid, unquenchable, unsatiable, grasping, sateless.

ANTONYM: (adj) moderate

inscribe: (v) engrave, imprint, enter, enroll, dedicate, enlist, register, grave, mark, impress, enrol.

ANTONYM: (v) decode insensible: (adj) imperceptible, numb, unconscious, callous, dull, unaware, apathetic, impassive, indiscernible, comatose, impassible. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, conscious, sensitive, awake, alive, compassionate, concerned, aware insensible.

insensibly: (adv) imperceptibly,
 apathetically, numbly, motionlessly,
 inertly

inseparable: (adj) indissoluble, inextricable, inherent, indiscerptible, built-in, indispensable, infrangible, innate, unseparable; (v) severable, unseparated. ANTONYMS: (adj) separable, dividable, isolatable

inseparably: (adv) incommunicably, jointly, inseparately, inherently, indissolubly, by inherence, as individuals, individually insidiously: (adv) subtlely, craftily,

treacherously, secretly, wily, sly, snakily, astutely, perniciously, stealthily, trickily

steatmly, trickly insolence: (n) impertinence, arrogance, audacity, impudence, effrontery, cheek, assumption, gall, disrespect, haughtiness, crust. ANTONYMS: (n) respect, politeness, meekness, shyness

politeness, meekness, shyness inspecting: (n) inspection; (v) inspect; (adj) curious, inspective inspire: (adj, v) cheer, enliven,

exhilarate; (v) encourage, excite, inhale, incite, affect, infuse, hearten, actuate. ANTONYMS: (v) extinguish, disenchant, douse, knock, dampen, calm, dishearten

inspiring: (adj) rousing, provocative, inspire, inspirational, inspiringly, heartening, encourage, entertaining, exhilarating, hopeful, imposing. ANTONYMS: (adj) ridiculous, uninspiring, banal, boring, dull, unimpressive

instantaneous: (adj) immediate, prompt, sudden, precipitate, momentary, abrupt, precipitous, precipitant, swift, momentaneous, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) gradual, delayed, considered

instruct: (v) charge, educate, teach, advise, enlighten, direct, drill, inform, command, indoctrinate, tutor

instructor: (n) trainer, coach, preceptor, don, educator, tutor, demonstrator, lecturer, master, mentor, guru. ANTONYMS: (n) student, pupil

insubordination: (n) defiance,

mutiny, noncompliance, rebellion, contumacy, revolt, unruliness, rebelliousness, insolence, turbulence, recalcitrance.

ANTONYMS: (n) subordination, obedience, meekness, loyalty

insulted: (adj) affronted, offended, injured, huffy

insultingly: (adv) offensively, scurrilously, opprobriously, contemptuously, foully, scornfully, injuriously, rudely, impertinently, provokingly, sarcastically

insults: (adj) insulting; (n) abuse, swearing

insurrection: (n) mutiny, uprising, revolt, outbreak, rising, disturbance, sedition, commotion, revolution, riot; (n, v) rebellion

intellect: (n) mind, intelligence, understanding, reason, brains, head, intellectual, apprehension, psyche, genius, brainpower. ANTONYM: (n) stupidity

intellectually: (adv) rationally, intelligently, spiritually, cerebrally, intellectively, learnedly, academically, mindly, ideally, culturedly, smartly

intelligible: (adj) clear, understandable, articulate, luminous, apprehensible, graspable, simple, lucid, definite, distinct, perspicuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) difficult, illegible

intelligibly: (adv) comprehensibly, understandably, clear, simply, comprehensible, distinctly, intelligible, cogently, aloud, understandingly, comprehensively. ANTONYMS: (adv) unintelligibly, incomprehensibly, incoherently

intemperance: (n) dissipation, drunkenness, indulgence, debauchery, crapulence, drinking, drink, immoderateness, overindulgence, intemperateness, insobriety. ANTONYM: (n) temperance

intemperate: (adj) inordinate, immoderate, dissipated, unbridled, extreme, disorderly, inclement, unruly, wild, undue, violent. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, temperate, moderate

intensely: (adj, adv) extremely; (adv) strongly, powerfully, severely, violently, vehemently, acutely, keenly, brightly, profoundly, fiercely. ANTONYMS: (adv) mildly, calmly, gently, dully, indifferently, impassively, jokingly, slightly,

hardly, superficially, unexceptionally

intensified: (adj) intense, resonant,

intentional: (adj, v) voluntary; (adj) deliberate, calculated, willful, knowing, conscious, premeditated, designed, planned, advised, wilful. ANTONYMS: (adj) accidental, unintentional, involuntary, spontaneous, undesigned, unconscious, casual

intentionally: (adv) deliberately, advisedly, consciously, purposely, on purpose, knowingly, willfully, studiedly, expressly, purposefully, intendedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) accidentally, innocently

interchange: (n, v) change, barter; (v) commute, switch, alternate, substitute, convert, replace, counterchange, transpose; (n) traffic

interdict: (n, v) ban, veto; (v) forbind, enjoin, inhibit, prohibit, proscribe, debar, outlaw; (n) embargo, prohibition. ANTONYM: (v) allow interdicted: (adj) contraband, illegal interfering; (adj, n) meddling; (adj)

officious, busy, disturbing, meddlesome, nosy, busybodied, curious, overbearing, domineering; (n) hindrance

interminable: (adj) endless, eternal, incessant, infinite, illimitable, immeasurable, unending, ceaseless, timeless, continual, unlimited. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, finite, intermittent, sporadic, concise

interposed: (adj) interjacent, intercedent, intervenient, parenthetical, intermediate colors, mediate

interposing: (adj) meddlesome interpreter: (n) commentator, interpretive program, exponent, explainer, translator, mouthpiece, ambassador, prophet, bagman, expounder, program

interpreting: (n) rendering, interpret, explanation, translation, broad interpretation, interlingual rendition, rendition

interrogate: (n, v) question, pump; (v) ask, demand, examine, enquire, catechize, query, quiz, probe, investigate. ANTONYMS: (v) reply, answer

interrogation: (n) inquiry, question, query, doubt, enquiry, hearing, quiz, problem, demand, interview, interrogative

interrogative: (adj) interrogatory,

asking, inquiring; (n) question, doubt, modality, mode, mood, enquiry, problem; (v) zetetic

interrupt: (v) disturb, break, hinder, intermit, stop, cut, break in, arrest, check; (n, v) suspend; (adj, v) pause. ANTONYMS: (v) cheer, respect, restore

interweave: (adj, v) interlace, intertwist; (v) entwine, plait, lace, twine, twist, intermingle, knit, interlard, weave. ANTONYMS: (v) undo, unweave, unpick

interwoven: (adj) interlinking, interlacing, interlocking, complex, interwove, twine, contextural, entangled, inseparable, knotted, related

intimated: (adj) tacit, furtive, dejected intimation: (n) hint, inkling, implication, insinuation, suggestion, clue, allusion, indication, cue, notice, innuendo

intimidation: (n) menace, coercion, threat, duress, abuse, deterrence, determent, pressure, compulsion, terror; (adj) Reign of Terror

intolerable: (adj) unbearable, insupportable, painful, obnoxious, detestable, inexcusable, deplorable, undesirable, hard, excruciating, difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) bearable, tolerable, acceptable, reasonable, nice, understandable, lovable, excusable, inoffensive, manageable

intolerant: (adj) bigoted, dogmatic, racist, narrow-minded, tolerant, contumelious, conservative, overweening; (adj, v) illiberal; (v) confined, positive. ANTONYMS: (adj) tolerant, broadminded, liberal, patient, accepting, forgiving, receptive, soft, fair

intoxicated: (adj) drunken, drunk, inebriate, tipsy, elated, stimulated, intoxicate, infatuated, fuddled, loaded, plastered. ANTONYM: (adj)

intoxication: (n) inebriation, inebriety, poisoning, tipsiness, fascination, grogginess, ecstasy, daze, excitement, euphoria, wine

intractable: (adj) inflexible, fractious, stubborn, contumacious, contrary, insubordinate, froward, recalcitrant, perverse, wayward, unruly. ANTONYMS: (adj) tractable, biddable, flexible, manageable, compliant, easy, easygoing, docile, amenable

intrepid: (adj) daring, fearless, bold,

brave, dauntless, gallant, audacious, hardy, adventurous, heroic, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) fearful, timid, cautious, feeble introductory: (adj) elementary, incipient, basic, opening, first, prefatorial, preparatory, prelusive; (adj, v) inceptive, preliminary,

intruder: (n) trespasser, interloper, encroacher, raider, invader, aggressor, go between, gatecrasher, stalker, boarder; (adj, n) stranger

prefatory

intuition: (n) insight, feeling, presentiment, suspicion, premonition, notion, instinct, sense, vision, bosom, thought.
ANTONYMS: (n) intellect, certainty

intuitively: (adv) impulsively, viscerally, unconsciously, automatically, mechanically, inbornly, inherently, innately, involuntarily, nonrationally, perceptively

inured: (adj) accustomed, callous, enured, habituated, casehardened, confirmed, emotionally hardened, broken in, given, tough, trained

invalid: (adj) false, illogical, unreasonable, null, weak, void, unhealthy, sick, flawed; (n) infirm; (v) disable. ANTONYMS: (adj) valid, legitimate, current, healthy, true, watertight, correct

**invalidism**: (n) infirmity, invalidity, health problem, ill health

invariable: (adj) fixed, consistent, even, immutable, steady, unchanging, stable, uniform, set, undeviating, unchanged. ANTONYMS: (adj) changing, dynamic, erratic, irregular, varied

invent: (v) devise, form, create, excogitate, concoct, imagine, contrive; (n, v) forge, fabricate, design, coin

inventing: (adj) lying

inventive: (adj) imaginative, ingenious, clever, fertile, resourceful, innovative, originative, productive, artistic, bright; (adj, v) original. ANTONYMS: (adj) unoriginal, uninventive, stale, hackneyed

inventor: (n) architect, artificer, discoverer, founder, originator, deviser, prime mover, author, builder, contriver, designer

inverse: (adj, n) converse, contrary, opposite; (n) contrast, inversion, reciprocal, antithesis, reciprocality, reciprocity; (adv) backwards; (adj) opposing. ANTONYM: (adj) direct **inversion**: (n) reversal, turnover, transposition, everting, eversion, anastrophe, retroversion, subversion, movement, negation, reversion

inveterate: (adj) incorrigible, confirmed, chronic, ingrained, old, irredeemable; (adj, v) fixed; (v) rooted, ingrafted, hackneyed; (n) ineffaceable

invincible: (adj) insurmountable, unbeatable, insuperable, impregnable, irresistible, unconquerable, unyielding, unquenchable, proof against, impassable, invulnerable.

ANTONYMS: (adj) defenseless, powerless, weak, feeble

inviolable: (adj) sacrosanct, infrangible, hallowed, invulnerable, inviolate, inalienable, impenetrable, absolute, impregnable; (v) imprescriptible, unimpeachable. ANTONYMS: (adj) acceptable, breakable

inviting: (adj) attractive, alluring, engaging, tempting, enticing, appealing, magnetic, captivating, prepossessing, seductive, appetizing. ANTONYMS: (adj) offensive, repellent, uninviting, unappealing, unwelcoming, bleak, uncomfortable

involuntarily: (adv) unconsciously, unintentionally, inadvertently, automatically, forcedly, mechanically, unthinkingly, reluctantly, accidentally, automaticly, unwillingly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) voluntarily, consciously, willingly, purposely

involuntary: (adj) instinctive, unconscious, unintentional, forced, mechanical, unthinking, reluctant, unwilling, compulsory, inadvertent, accidental. ANTONYMS: (adj) voluntary, intentional, intended, willing

involution: (n, v) convolution; (n) intricacy, exponentiation, complexity, complication, entanglement, enfolding, operation, degeneration, perplexity; (adj) raveling

inward: (adj) inner, intrinsic, internal, interior, intestine, inherent, domestic; (adv) inwardly, inwards, in; (n) innards. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) outward; (adj) outgoing, external

inwardly: (adv) inside, interiorly,

innerly, within, secretly, intrinsically, intimately, privately, spiritually, incomingly; (adj) inwards. ANTONYM: (adv) openly inwards: (adv) in, indoors, inwardly, within, at home, here; (n) gut; (adj) inner, interior, domestic, intimate. ANTONYMS: (adv) out, outward

irascible: (adj) angry, choleric, irritable, crabby, hot, excitable, testy, touchy, passionate, hotheaded, hasty. ANTONYMS: (adj) easygoing, patient

ironical: (adj) sarcastic, satirical, dry, burlesque, wry, sardonic, satiric, derisive, caustic, quizzical; (n) humorous

irrational: (adj) absurd, inconsistent, silly, unreasonable, blind, illogical, senseless, preposterous, imprudent, unsound, thoughtless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) logical, lucid, wise, sensible, worthwhile,

systematic irregularity: (n) abnormality, anomaly, eccentricity, inequality, deviation, aberration, constipation, exception, unevenness, variation; (adj, n) deformity. ANTONYMS: (n) symmetry, normality, regularity, dependability, equality, frequency, evenness, consistency, predictability, smoothness

irremediable: (adj) incurable, irrecoverable, irretrievable, irrevocable, hopeless, irredeemable, irreclaimable, remediless, beyond repair, desperate, cureless. ANTONYMS: (adj) remediable, superficial, temporary

irresistible: (adj) resistless, invincible, irrefragable, irrefutable, overpowering, overwhelming, impregnable, indomitable, charming, fascinating; (adj, v) uncontrollable. ANTONYMS: (adj) resistible, insignificant, unappealing, weak

irrespective: (adv) no matter, regardless, disregarding, disregardless, irregardless; (adj) irrelative, unrelated, free, exclusive, easy, bold

irreversible: (adj) irreparable, unchangeable, irrecoverable, irredeemable, irreclaimable, fixed, irremediable; (v) irretrievable, indefeasible, irresoluble, intransmutable. ANTONYMS: (adj) impermanent, superficial, temporary, flexible irrevocably: (adv) finally, irreversibly, conclusively irritability: (n) irascibility, tetchiness, choler, touchiness, temper, anger, irritation, peevishness, pettishness, testiness; (adj, n) petulance. ANTONYMS: (n) cheerfulness, equanimity, cheeriness

irritable: (adj) fractious, irascible, edgy, cantankerous, touchy, petulant, excitable, cross, sensitive, grumpy, disagreeable.
ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, happy,

ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, happy, cheerful, amiable, patient, pleasant, stable, courteous; (n) cheeriness

irritated: (adj) annoyed, exasperated, incensed, enraged, aggravated, furious, irate, inflamed, sore, displeased, provoked. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, pleased, patient, contented

isolate: (v) cut off, detach, divide, maroon, sequester, dissociate, abstract, disunite, set apart, separate, segregate. ANTONYMS: (v) expose, involve, attach, unite

israelite: (n) Jew, savior, Jewess, Christ, deliverer, dominical, Jesus, redeemer, Pharisee, lot, kike

jaunty: (adj) dapper, dashing, debonair, breezy, perky, carefree, chipper, smart, bright, buoyant; (adj, n) janty. ANTONYMS: (adj) depressed, melancholy

jest: (n) gag, gibe, quip, game; (n, v) jape; (v) banter, jeer, deride, gird, sneer, clown

jester: (n) joker, fool, buffoon, comic, clown, zany, harlequin, humorist, spark, wit, droll

judicious: (adj, v) discreet; (adj) careful, discerning, sensible, prudent, rational, sagacious, sound, cautious, reasonable, advisable. ANTONYMS: (adj) stupid, tactless, indiscriminate, reckless, illogical, extreme, untimely

juggler: (n) performer, magician, cheat, conjurer, prestidigitator, deceiver, trickster, jockey, prestigiator, conveyer

jupiter: (n) Jove, blazon, deity, father, Zeus, solar system, thunderer justifying: (adj) extenuating,

mitigating; (n) justification, defense justly: (adv) accurately, fairly, correctly, honestly, lawfully, properly, exactly, uprightly, legitimately, impartially, purely. ANTONYMS: (adv) wrongly, unfairly, unjustifiably, unjustly, unlawfully, sinfully, falsely, immorally

**keener**: (v) Indian giver, floater, repeater

keenly: (adv) eagerly, zealously, piercingly, acutely, cuttingly, ardently, strongly, lively, penetratingly, fervently, avidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unenthusiastically, apathetically, faintly, reluctantly, patiently, passively, halfheartedly, vaguely

keenness: (n) ardor, eagerness, enthusiasm, acumen, sharpness, zeal, acuity, quickness, diligence, fervor; (n, v) edge. ANTONYMS: (n) unwillingness, dullness, indifference, faintness, dislike, patience, reluctance

kindred: (adj) cognate, akin, similar, allied, related; (n) kin, consanguinity, relation, folk, folks, kin group

kinsfolk: (n) kindred, kinfolk, folk, people, dynasty, Sept, house, family line, family, pedigree, parentage

kinsman: (n) relation, relative, kin, kindred, kinswoman, description, forefather, countryman, detail, consanguinity; (v) confederate

consanguinity; (v) confederate **kinsmen**: (n) kin, kindred, family, kinsfolk, people, affinity

knavish: (adj) tricky, dishonest, crafty, sly, roguish, guileful, foxy, dodgy, cunning, false, corrupt

kneading: (n) massage, milling, petrissage, rubdown

kneel: (v) genuflect, cringe, stoop, bob, cry for quarter, dip, duck, humble oneself; (n) kneeling, knee, movement

laborious: (adj) hard, arduous, backbreaking, heavy, industrious, diligent, grueling, assiduous, exhausting, formidable, tough. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, effortless, undemanding, light, brisk

labouring: (adj) drudging, work, working, busy, toiling

lame: (adj) crippled, disabled, halting, feeble, halt, weak, paralytic; (adj, n) game; (adj, v) paralyze, maim, becripple

lameness: (n) limp, claudication, gameness, gimpiness, feebleness, halt, limping, crippleness, disability of walking

lament: (v) bemoan, complain, deplore, grieve, keen, bewail, mourn; (n) dirge, complaint; (n, v) wail, moan. ANTONYMS: (n) celebration, joy; (v) revel, rejoice, celebrate, applaud, praise, compliment lamentation: (n) dirge, grief, mourning, plaint, regret, complaint, cry, crying, wail, moan, condolence. ANTONYM: (n) celebration

lamenting: (adj) weeping, wailing, sad, whining; (adj, n) plaintive; (adj, v) bewailing, querulous; (n, v) complaining; (n) grief, sorrow; (v) dissatisfied

lank: (adj) gaunt, angular, emaciated, meager, thin, skinny, spindly, spare, scrawny; (adj, v) lean, barren

largeness: (n) size, bigness, vastness, fullness, ampleness, bulkiness, immensity, grandness, extent, magnitude, volume. ANTONYMS: (n) compactness, shortness

lastly: (adv) eventually, ultimately, latterly, in conclusion, last, at last, terminally, latestly, utmostly, definitively, concludingly. ANTONYM: (adv) initially

laughable: (adj) absurd, amusing, humorous, comical, ludicrous, ridiculous, farcical, droll, comic, foolish, jocular. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, tragic, adequate, generous, impressive

**laughs**: (n) diversion, comedy, amusement, sport, recreation, merriment, entertainment, levity

lawful: (adj) legal, just, rightful, constitutional, true, right, justifiable, licit, regular; (n, v) allowable; (adj, v) permissible. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlawful, prohibited, unconstitutional

lawgiver: (n) lawmaker, politician, statemonger, statist, leader, nomothete, promulgator, strategist, statesman, draconian, Draco

lawless: (adj) disorderly, illicit, anarchical, illegitimate, anarchic, unlawful, unruly, illegal, mutinous, wrongful, seditious. ANTONYM: (adj) orderly

lawlessly: (adv) illegally, illegitimately, anarchically, unlawfully, riotously, unruly, mutinously, insurgently, violently, seditiously, wrongfully

lawlessness: (n) anarchy, disorder, illegality, nihilism, outlawry, crime, excess, immoderation, lack of control, license, nonconformity. ANTONYM: (n) order

laxity: (n) laxness, relaxation, carelessness, remissness, laches, evasion, failure, feebleness; (adj) flaccidity, immorality, debasement. ANTONYMS: (n) intervention, strictness, vigilance, severity, attention

layman: (n) commoner, layperson, laic, laymen, laity, lay person, outsider, common man, civilian, lay reader, common person. ANTONYM: (n) clergyman

laziness: (n) indolence, acedia, inactivity, inertia, sloth, slowness, lethargy, inactiveness, faineance, lassitude, dreaminess. ANTONYMS: (n) diligence, willingness, vigor, liveliness, interest

leaden: (adj) heavy, gray, sluggish, grey, inert, torpid, grave, languid, drab, burdensome, livid. ANTONYM: (adj) bright

leagued: (v) brief, dense, firm, compact, confederated, not verbose, not diffuse, solid, pithy; (adj) confederate, allied

leaky: (adj) leak, cracked, permeable, porous, holey, blabbermouthed, unseaworthy, tattling, talebearing, incontinent, faulty. ANTONYMS: (adj) tight, watertight

**legends**: (n) tradition, mythology, myths

legislate: (v) establish, constitute, authorise, fade, give, extend, expire, exit, glide by, fleet, excrete

legislating: (n) lawmaking, legislation, enactment, governance, passage, government, governing legislator: (n) lawgiver,

representative, congressman, deputy, filibuster, frontbencher, backbencher, crossbencher, statist, statemonger, parliamentarian

lengthen: (adj, v) elongate; (v) enlarge, prolong, draw, draw out, increase, expand, stretch, protract, continue, drag out. ANTONYMS: (v) clip, curtail

lessened: (adj) diminished, hurt, lower, mitigated, pointed, tapering, vitiated, atrophied, short, attenuate, attenuated

**libations**: (v) bacchanals, Bacchanalia **liberality**: (n, v) charity, almsgiving; (adj, n) bounty; (n) largess, munificence, benevolence, beneficence, generousness, tolerance; (adj) largesse, gift. ANTONYM: (n) illiberality

liberated: (adj) freed, emancipated, loose, released, exempt, liberal, independent, clear, disengaged, open, unattached. ANTONYMS: (adj) constrained, conventional

**liberating**: (adj) emancipating, emancipative, therapeutic **libertinism**: (n) profligacy, prodigality, debauchery, licentiousness

licentious: (adj) lewd, immoral, filthy, abandoned, debauched, lascivious, depraved, lecherous, loose, unchaste, wanton. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, virtuous, decent

licentiousness: (n) dissolution, dissipation, lewdness, immorality, profligacy, dissoluteness, extravagance, evil, indecency, freedom; (v) license. ANTONYMS: (n) decency, restraint

**lieu**: (n) office, position, locality, stead, behalf, part, role, berth, station, site, seat

life-giving: (adj) vital lifelike: (adj) vivid, graphic, faithful, living, natural, bright, truthful, lively, genuine, true to life, live.

ANTONYM: (adj) inaccurate lighted: (adj) illuminated, lit, light, ablaze, bright, ignited, burn, burning, ignite, kindled, lighten

lighten: (v) assuage, alleviate, light, illuminate, brighten, lessen, allay, clear, mitigate, relieve, illumine. ANTONYMS: (v) darken, intensify, increase, dye, depress, aggravate, exacerbate

**liken**: (adj, v) compare; (v) equate, parallel, equalize, resemble, assimilate, associate, imitate, acquire, equalise; (adj) likely

likeness: (n) resemblance, copy, effigy, image, affinity, similarity, correspondence, facsimile; (adj, n) figure, form, semblance.

ANTONYMS: (n) difference, diversity, dissimilarity, unlikeness, contrast

liking: (n, v) inclination; (n) fancy, appetite, taste, fondness, predilection, affection, partiality, admiration, approval, appreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, aversion, hatred, indifference, detachment, dissatisfaction, antipathy

**limb**: (n) arm, branch, member, bough, extremity, offshoot, part, leg, wing, appendage, edge

lineage: (adj, n) pedigree; (n, v) family, house; (n) descent, extraction, ancestry, birth, stock, line, origin; (adj, n, v) genealogy lineaments: (v) exposition, tract,

length, expanse, area, extent; (n) face linger: (v) loiter, delay, dally, hover, stay, hesitate, hang around, procrastinate, dawdle, tarry, saunter. ANTONYMS: (v) hurry,

- end, rush, depart, lead lingering: (adj) long, chronic, extended, dilatory, protracted, prolonged, residual, lengthy, inactive, dull; (n) delay. ANTONYM: (adj) quick listener: (n, v) auditor; (n)
- eavesdropper, audience, observer, perceiver, hearkener, attender, attendee, attendant, beholder
- literal: (adj) exact, bare, verbal, accurate, genuine, faithful, actual, plain, true; (n) misprint, erratum. ANTONYMS: (adj) figurative, symbolic, loose, imprecise, metaphorical, broad, approximate, false
- litigant: (n) complainant, appellant, defendant, disputant, controversialist, filer, petitioner, suitor, contestant; (n, v) party; (v) litigious
- **livelihood**: (n) subsistence, existence, job, maintenance, support, living, sustenance, bread, keep, bread and butter, career
- liveliness: (adj, n) animation, briskness; (n) life, effervescence, buoyancy, exuberance, vigor, activity, agility, cheerfulness, enthusiasm. ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, awkwardness, lifelessness, laziness, sadness, apathy
- locke: (n) John Locke
- **locomotion**: (n) movement, travel, motion, creeping, motive power, mobility, travelling, robot mobility, motivity; (v) clip, progress
- lofty: (adj, v) high, elevated; (adj) exalted, eminent, arrogant, grand, tall, haughty, great, distinguished, majestic. ANTONYMS: (adj) short, lowly, base, modest, deferential, humble
- logician: (n) expert, logistician, philosopher, reasoner, syllogizer, theorist, thinker, academic. ANTONYM: (n) realist
- loiter: (v) dawdle, dally, tarry, hang around, prowl; (adj, v) loaf, delay, lounge, hesitate; (adv, v) lag; (n, v) saunter. ANTONYMS: (v) leave, lead
- longing: (n, v) desire, aspiration; (adj) eager, wistful, nostalgic; (n) nostalgia, wish, hankering, urge, appetite; (adj, n) yearning. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, disinclination; (adj) satisfied, unconcerned
- long-lived: (adj) old, perennial, lifelong, inveterate, chronic

- loosening: (n) relaxation, unfastening, ease, undoing, liberalization, adjustment, alteration, liberalisation, easiness; (adj) solutive, laxative
- lordly: (adj, v) dignified, proud, noble; (adj) haughty, grand, August, domineering, disdainful, arrogant, imperious, lofty. ANTONYM: (adj) humble
- loser: (n) flop, washout, underdog, lame duck, dud, also-ran, geek, oaf, nerd; (adj) defeated, stupid. ANTONYMS: (n) winner, achiever
- loth: (adj) disinclined, averse, reluctant, unwilling, indisposed, antipathetical, antipathetic, not content, shy of, repugnant; (v) averse from
- lowering: (adj) heavy, dismal, gloomy, threatening, dark, glum, murky; (n) fall, drop, cut, decline
- lucid: (adj) clear, transparent, limpid, coherent, distinct, evident, explicit, crystalline, light, diaphanous, bright. ANTONYMS: (adj) opaque, unintelligible, muddled, unclear, irrational, confusing, illogical, ambiguous, confused, vague, incoherent
- lucidity: (n) clearness, perspicuity, limpidity, explicitness, pellucidity, distinctness, understandability, saneness, perspicuousness, lucidness; (adj, n) rationality. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, obscureness, unclearness, inconsistency
- lucre: (n) pelf, earnings, gelt, profit, kale, dough, advantage, mammon, dividend, return, income
- ludicrous: (adj) absurd, ridiculous, farcical, foolish, laughable, comical, grotesque, derisory, droll, preposterous, jocular. ANTONYMS: (adj) sane, impressive
- ludicrously: (adv) preposterously, absurdly, nonsensically, laughably, comically, farcically, foolishly, jocularly, humorously, burlesquely, silly. ANTONYMS: (adv) solemnly, impressively
- luminous: (adj) glowing, brilliant, lustrous, lucent, sunny, lambent, radiant, light, aglow; (adj, n) lucid, clear. ANTONYMS: (adj) dark, obscure
- lunatic: (n) madman, maniac, bedlamite; (adj) insane, foolish, moonstruck, mad, mental, deranged, idiotic; (adj, n) madcap. ANTONYM: (adj) sensible

**lust**: (n, v) desire, hunger, itch; (n) craving, greed, libido, lecherousness, cupidity, lewdness; (v) covet, crave

- **lustful**: (adj, v) lascivious, lewd, libidinous, wanton; (adj) licentious, prurient, lickerish, concupiscent, passionate, lusty; (adj, n, v) lecherous. ANTONYM: (adj) restrained
- lusting: (n) envy; (adj) thirsty luxurious: (adj) voluptuous, costly, deluxe, lavish, sumptuous, epicurean, grand, luscious, opulent, magnificent; (adj, n) lush.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) meager, frugal, poor, Spartan, austere, humble, unpleasant, ascetic, impoverished lyes: (n) lee, alkalis
- lyre: (n) lira, archlute, lute lyric: (n) tuneful, poem, song, language, verse; (adj) lyrical, choral, vocal, instrumental, operatic; (v) write
- lyrical: (adj) musical, passionate, emotional, melodious, dithyrambic, poetic, melodic; (n) tuneful
- madder: (v) redden; (n) Turkey red, ruddle, Mather
- madman: (n) bedlamite, maniac, crazy, loony, nut, madcap, looney, loco, sufferer, raver, nutcase
- magician: (n) enchanter, conjurer, illusionist, wizard, conjuror, thaumaturge, magicians, performer, magus, necromancer, prestidigitator
- magnanimous: (adj) generous, great, noble, bountiful, exalted, big, handsome, lofty, large, charitable, considerate. ANTONYMS: (adj) miserly, unforgiving, petty
- magnificence: (adj, n) splendor, brilliancy, gorgeousness; (n) glory, pomp, brilliance, grandness, greatness, dignity, majesty, loftiness. ANTONYMS: (n) paucity, modesty, shabbiness, poverty, austerity, unattractiveness
- magnificently: (adv) beautifully, grandly, superbly, gloriously, majestically, gorgeously, sumptuously, marvelously, wonderfully, fantastically, showily. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, modestly, badly, abysmally, simply, meagerly, incompetently
- magnified: (adj) enlarged, inflated, enlarge, hyperbolic, hypertrophied, increased, overblown, overstated, puffed up, made larger
- magnify: (v) exaggerate, enhance, aggrandize, enlarge, intensify, laud,

glorify, expand, increase, extend, aggravate. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, understate, minimize, shrink, decrease, alleviate

magnifying: (adj) cumulative maiden: (n) maid, girl, demoiselle, damosel, wench, fille, lass, miss; (adj) first, initiatory, unmarried maimed: (adj) disabled, mutilated, deformed, truncated, faulty, cut

short, game, cut off; (n) wounded maintainer: (n) upholder, sustainer, mainstay

maladministration: (n) misgovernment, mismanagement,

prevarication malady: (n, v) illness, ailment, indisposition, distemper; (adj, n, v) disorder; (adj, n) complaint, infirmity; (n) sickness, condition, trouble, ill

malice: (n) spite, animosity, enmity, venom, ill will, hatred, malevolence, cruelty, envy, hate, spleen. ANTONYMS: (n) goodwill, benevolence, affection, goodness

malignity: (n) malevolence, malignance, venom, animosity, enmity, hatred, evil, rancor, spite, malignancy, hate. ANTONYM: (n) benignity

manhood: (n) majority, maturity, valor, resolution, personality, humanity, integrity, bravery; (adj) manliness, ripe age, maturity full age

manifestly: (adv) evidently, plainly, clearly, patently, obviously, openly, overtly, markedly, conspicuously, distinctly, transparently.

ANTONYMS: (adv) furtively, unnecessarily, vaguely, covertly manifold: (adj) diverse, different, many, various, multiplex,

copy, multiply; (n) diversity manliness: (n) manfulness, manhood, masculinity, energy, maleness, courage, gallantry, valor, sex, comeliness, developed manhood. ANTONYM: (n) femininity

multiplied, frequent; (v) duplicate,

manly: (adj) manlike, masculine, manful, virile, brave, gallant; (adv) manfully, boldly, hardily, virilely; (adj, adv) stately. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, unmanly, cowardly; (adv) unmanfully

manoeuvre: (n) device, gambit, artifice, ruse, stratagem, ploy, tactic; (v) direct, guide, steer, go manus: (n) left, handwriting, fist,

manus: (n) left, handwriting, fist, ability, paw, claw, right, act, mitt,

management, left hand marching: (n) walking, mar, drill; (adj) ongoing, moving

marionette: (n) puppet, figurine, fantoccini, aglet, mammet, manikin, tool, waxwork, dummy, bust, creature

marred: (adj) damaged, defaced, dilapidated, crippled, deformed, faulty, flawed, hurt, impaired, imperfect, scarred. ANTONYMS: (adj) pure, unspoiled

marring: (n) defacement, defect, disfigurement, harm

marrying: (adj) married martial: (adj) military, warlike, soldierly, bellicose, belligerent, combative, brave, soldierlike, armigerous, militant, heroic. ANTONYMS: (adj) civilian, peaceful, unarmed

martyr: (n) sufferer, victim, prey, object of compassion, wretch, shorn lamb; (v) martyrize, excruciate, persecute, torture, afflict

marvel: (n, v) wonder; (n) prodigy, curiosity, phenomenon, amazement, miracle, portent, marl, surprise, admiration; (v) admire. ANTONYMS: (v) disregard; (n) nightmare

mastering: (adj) victorious mastery: (n) dominance, dominion, command, domination, ascendancy, ascendency, control, authority, mastership, supremacy, ascendance

mathematician: (v) arithmetician, algebraist, calculator, abacist; (n) geometrician, gauss, scientist, man of science, Archimedes, whitehead; (adj) Cartesian

mating: (n) union, pairing, conjugation, crossing, marriage, cross, hybridization, service, copulation, sex, crossbreeding

matrimony: (n) wedding, union, marriage ceremony, nuptials, endogamy, bigamy, intermixture, alloyage, exogamy, intermarriage; (n, y) wedlock

matter-of-fact: (adj) prosaic, practical, dry, commonplace, common, normal, ordinary, regular, pragmatic, trivial, realistic mattock: (adj) ax, hatchet, pecker,

pickaxe, pick, hoe, grub ax, gill, adze matured: (adj) ripe, experienced, developed, old, adult, mellow, maturer, ripened, ready, payable, owing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unripe, young

maturer: (adj) overripe, ripe, ripened

meadow: (n) hayfield, lea, mead, grassland, plain, lawn, sward, grazing land, greensward, pasturage, paddock

meagre: (adj) exiguous, paltry, necessitous, miserable, marginal, meagerly, gaunt, emaciated, inadequate, deficient, beggarly. ANTONYM: (adj) ample

meagreness: (n) exiguity, poverty, spareness, leanness, deficiency, impoverishment, inadequacy, insufficiency, poorness, scantness, scantiness

meanest: (adj) last, least meanness: (n) parsimony, closeness, pettiness, avarice, selfishness, baseness, stinginess, niggardliness, miserliness, nastiness; (adj, n) degeneracy. ANTONYMS: (n) generosity, extravagance, decency

mechanic: (n) craftsman, mechanical, machinist, artisan, artificer, journeyman, grease monkey, automobile mechanic, Wright, worker, artist

meddle: (v) intervene, interfere, intrude, monkey, interpose, fiddle, pry, dabble, interlope; (n) interference; (adj) moil. ANTONYM: (v) disregard

**meddlesomeness**: (n) curiosity, interference, officiousness, aggressiveness

meddling: (adj) busy, inquisitive, curious, meddlesome, intrusive, officious, nosy, dabbling, impertinent, busybodied; (adj, n) prying

**mediaeval**: (adj) medieval, knightly, chivalric, nonmodern

meditating: (n) conception meditation: (n, v) contemplation, study; (n) consideration, reflection, deliberation, thought, introspection, musing, rumination, conception, reflexion. ANTONYM: (n) distraction

meed: (n, v) compensation; (v) wage, hire; (n) prize, remuneration, recompense, guerdon, pay, dole, pittance, reguerdon

melancholy: (adj, v) dreary; (adj, n) gloom, melancholic; (adj) depressed, dejected, dismal, gloomy, doleful; (n, v) low spirits; (n) gloominess, depression. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, cheerfulness, hopefulness, optimism; (adj) happy, bright, cheery, satisfied

melody: (n) air, tune, music, measure, harmony, aria, song, strain, line,

- melodic phrase; (n, v) chant melt: (v) dissolve, deliquesce, vanish, coalesce, relent, meld, fade, defrost; (adj, v) run, liquefy; (n, v) thaw. ANTONYMS: (v) freeze, solidify, cool, set
- melted: (adj) molten, fluid, liquified, dissolved, liquefied, baked, fluent, touched, limpid, sorry, flowing memorabilia: (v) memento, token of

remembrance, relic, things to be remembered, souvenir

memorials: (n) memoir

- mend: (adj, v) improve; (v) correct, cure, heal, doctor, better, amend, restore, convalesce; (n, v) fix, patch. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen, tear, smash, decline, deteriorate; (n) fracture
- mendicant: (n) pauper, cadger, friar, maund, abbot, beggarwoman, lay brother, conventual, cenobite, beadsman, pilgrim
- mending: (n) fix, repair, fixing, maintenance, restoration, reparation, improvement, darning, mend, amendment, correction
- menelaus: (n) Trojan War mephistopheles: (n) Moloch, devil, the Devil, Belial, Ahriman, Shedim, titan, fiend, Lucifer, Asmodeus,
- mercenaries: (n) armed force, band of soldiers
- mercenary: (adj, n) hireling; (adj, v) sordid; (adj) mercantile, materialistic, covetous, commercial, greedy, venal, avaricious, selfish; (v) illiberal. ANTONYMS: (adj) altruistic, philanthropic
- merchandise: (v) market, deal; (n) freight, cargo, product, commodity, goods, consignment, wares; (adj) commodities, ware
- merriment: (n) fun, amusement, cheerfulness, hilarity, glee, jollity, frolic, gaiety, happiness, festivity; (adj, n) mirth. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, gloom, seriousness, despondency, boredom
- messenger: (n, v) herald; (n) harbinger, runner, emissary, bearer, ambassador, precursor, courier, carrier, apostle, errand
- messiah: (n) savior, Jesus Christ, deliverer, rescuer, redeemer, saviour, Jesus of Nazareth, son of God, male monarch, Jesus, king
- metamorphose: (v) alter, change, convert, transfigure, turn, transmute, transmogrify, translate, become, reverse, ring the changes

- metaphorical: (adj) metaphoric, allegorical, symbolic, typical, not literal, parabolic, transumptive, allusive, anagogical, catachrestical; (n) tropical. ANTONYMS: (adj) plain, literal
- metaphorically: (adv) allegorically, symbolically, tralatitiously, tropically, parabolically, parabolicly, symbolicly, typically
- metaphysic: (adj) metaphysical metaphysical: (adj) theoretical, supernatural, mental, immaterial, mystical, nooscopic, abstract, metaphysic, subjective, unworldly, theological. ANTONYM: (adj) empirical
- metaphysics: (n) ontology, metaphysic, outside actual experience, ontological, cosmological, philosophy
- metempsychosis: (n) rebirth, phenomenon, reincarnation, mutagenesis transanimation, conversion
- methinks: (adv) meseems metic: (n) noncitizen, foreigner, alien metrical: (adj) measured, rhythmic, cadenced, poetic, musical,
- deliberate, rhythmical, careful, calculated, even, intermittent midway: (adj) middle, center,
- intermediate, central, median; (n) tract, middle of the road, intermediary, battle of midway; (adv) in the middle; (prep) between. ANTONYM: (adj) extreme
- mightily: (adv) powerfully, vigorously, strongly, greatly, potently, fiercely, sturdily, violently, robustly, puissantly, vastly.
- ANTONYMS: (adv) weakly, slightly mildew: (n, v) mold, rust, decay, cast; (n) fungus, blight, mushroom, helminth, moulding; (v) must, become moldy
- milky: (adj) milk, cloudy, lacteal, white, muddy, pearly, milklike, opalescent, lacteous, tender, mild
- millennial: (adj) millennium, millennian
- **mimetic**: (adj) imitative, mimic, imitated, mimical
- minced: (adj) ground, crushed, broken up
- mingle: (v) compound, combine, merge, amalgamate, intermix, mix, commingle, associate, confuse, join, intermingle. ANTONYM: (v) part
- mingled: (adj) miscellaneous, complex, indiscriminate, heterogeneous, medley, confused,

- eclectic, motley, different; (v) blended, blent
- mingling: (adj) blending, merging, confluent, blended; (n) mixture, mixing, commixtion, interchange, exchange, commixture; (adv) minglingly
- ministering: (adj) assisting, helpful, latreutical, ministrative, ministrant minutely: (adv) precisely, in detail, closely, tinily, smally, insignificantly, infinitesimally, diminutively, nicely, exactly,
- microscopically miraculous: (adj) marvelous, astonishing, marvellous, wonderful, astounding, remarkable, magical, incredible, wonder, stupendous, phenomenal. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, mundane, unremarkable
- mire: (n, v) bog, muck; (n) filth, marsh, quagmire, dirt, sludge, clay; (adj, n, v) mud; (v) involve, bog down
- misanthrope: (n) misanthropist, cynic, pessimist, skeptic, misogynist, misanthropos, Timon, grump, man hater, hermit, egotist
- misapplied: (adj) abusive, cheating, fraudulent
- misapprehend: (v) misconstrue, misinterpret, misconceive, mistake, misread, misjudge, err, misspell, mistranslate; (n) miscount, misreckon. ANTONYMS: (v) understand, appreciate, interpret
- misbehaving: (adj) bad, unruly, wayward, disobedient, errant, naughty, sinful
- misbehaviour: (n) indecency, indecorum, liberty, indiscretion, delinquency, devilry, familiarity, deviltry, devilment, misconduct, misdemeanour
- mischief: (adj, n) evil, hurt, harm; (n) damage, ill, detriment, disadvantage, devilry, caper, devilment, maleficence.

  ANTONYMS: (n) obedience,

beneficence, help

- mischievous: (adj) bad, injurious, detrimental, naughty, deleterious, impish, harmful, playful, maleficent, arch; (adj, v) hurtful. ANTONYMS: (adj) harmless, serious
- miser: (n) stinginess, curmudgeon, hunks, muckworm, niggard, skinflint, cheapskate, parsimony, moneygrubber, Jew, miserliness
- miserably: (adv) pathetically, patheticly, pitiably, unhappily, sorrowfully, pessimistically,

tragically; (adj, adv) piteously, grievously, woefully; (adj) miserable. ANTONYMS: (adv) happily, hopefully, brightly, affluently, enthusiastically, fortunately, profusely, contentedly miserly: (adj) mean, close, parsimonious, closefisted, grasping, mingy, tight, measly, penurious; (adj, adv) niggardly; (adv) ungenerous. ANTONYMS: (adj) extravagant, graceful misfortune: (n) accident, hardship, micadyonture, disaster, calamity.

misfortune: (n) accident, hardship, misadventure, disaster, calamity, mischance, catastrophe, mishap, bad luck, misery, affliction. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, bonus, opportunity, privilege, success, happiness

misfortunes: (n) misfortune misgivings: (n) anxiety, doubt, misgiving, apprehension, fear, suspicion, doubts, concern, consternation, disbelief, foreboding. ANTONYM: (n) equanimity

misled: (adj) fooled, undirected, false, bewildered, confused, erroneous, mistaken, misleading, misdirected, led astray, incorrect

misrepresent: (v) falsify, garble, belie, juggle, lie, pervert, warp, fudge, color, fake, exaggerate

misrepresented: (adj) distorted, twisted, malformed, perverted, tainted, artful, kinky, immoral, disingenuous, depraved, deformed missionary: (n) missioner, evangelist, revivalist, propagandist, teacher, preacher, envoy, munshi, religionist, minister, messenger

mistrust: (adj, n, v) distrust; (n, v) doubt, query; (n) suspicion, misgiving, disbelief, apprehension, wariness; (v) suspect, disbelieve, discredit. ANTONYM: (v) believe

misunderstanding: (n)
misapprehension, disagreement,
misconception, misinterpretation,
error, misconstruction, dispute,
quarrel, mistaking; (n, v) dissension,
difference. ANTONYMS: (n)
harmony, fact, agreement,
understanding

mitigate: (n, v) alleviate, palliate, appease; (adj, n, v) assuage, allay; (v) lessen, relieve, abate, lighten; (adj, v) moderate, soften. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, intensify, aggravate

mockery: (n) gibe, jeer, irony, farce, charade, derision, parody, mock, scorn, imitation, burlesque.

ANTONYM: (n) approval moderately: (adv) abstemiously, quietly, modestly, pretty, temperately, soberly, slightly, calmly, mildly, reasonably, restrainedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) very, unreasonably, massively, immoderately, absolutely,

severely, wholly moderating: (adj) abstemious, extenuating. ANTONYM: (adj) intensifying

excessively, completely, hugely,

moderation: (n) abstinence, abstemiousness, moderateness, abatement, measure, alleviation, sobriety, patience, restraint, soberness, easing. ANTONYMS: (n) intemperance, overindulgence, excess, increase, immoderation, strength, extremism, indulgence, impatience, harshness, abandon

modesty: (n) reserve, bashfulness, humility, diffidence, humbleness, demureness, coyness, gentleness, continence; (adj, n) decency, honesty. ANTONYMS: (n) arrogance, immodesty, spectacle, flamboyance, abandon, bigheadedness, pretension, decadence, boldness

moisture: (n) damp, dampness, wet, humid, moist, moistness, vapor, moisture content, moisten, dank, dampen

monarchical: (adj) monarchal, royal, monarchial, kingly, sovereign, grand, regal, noble, majestic, magnanimous, kinglike

monastic: (adj) monachal, cloistral, monasterial, monastical, monkish, cloistered, clerical; (n) monk, brother, friar, benedict

monasticism: (n) nonindulgence, monachism, monkhood, austerity moneymaking: (adj) remunerative, profitable, gainful, compensable, mercantile, successful; (n) acquisition

money-making: (adj) economic, lucrative, profitable, worthwhile moneys: (n) finances, means, funds monkey: (n) imp, primate, scamp, rascal, battering ram; (v) tinker, meddle, tamper, trifle, cuckoo, echo monotony: (n) boredom, dullness, evenness, sameness, tediousness, flatness, dreariness, tautophony, tiresomeness; (adj) dull work, humdrum. ANTONYMS: (n) variety, variation

monstrous: (adj) huge, atrocious,

heinous, monster, immense, gigantic, grievous, ugly, flagitious, dreadful; (adj, v) grotesque.
ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, minute, beautiful, good, small, lovely, attractive

moralist: (n) disciplinarian, martinet, philosopher, utilitarian, stickler, moraliser, egalitarian, dictator, authoritarian, elitist

moralize: (v) moralise, preach, lecture, preachify, advocate, moral, sermonise

morals: (n) ethics, moral, light, hedonism, ethical motive, conscience, motivation, motive, need, behavior, moral philosophy

morose: (adj) grim, dismal, glum, dark, moody, grumpy, dour, depressed, sullen, blue, dejected. ANTONYMS: (adj) happy, cheery, stable

mortal: (adj) deadly, fatal, lethal, deathly, earthly; (n) man, individual, creature, person, human being, body. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) immortal; (adj) eternal, heavenly, mild, perfect, spiritual

mortals: (n) people moses: (n) Grandma Moses motherland: (n) homeland, fatherland, native land, country, home, land, country of origin, place of birth, kingdom, land of your birth, nation

motley: (adj) miscellaneous, mottled, assorted, colorful, heterogeneous, multicolored, checkered; (n) medley, miscellany, mixture, assortment. ANTONYM: (adj) homogeneous

mourning: (n) lament, lamentation, bereavement, gloom, woe, memorial, sorrowfulness, sadness, sorrow; (adj) grieving; (v) lamenting

multiform: (adj) different, multifarious, polymorphous, multigenerous, manifold, miscellaneous, multiple, polymorphic, multiplex, polyschematist, multifold

multiplication: (n) augmentation, increase, generation, expansion, rise, doubling, propagation, increment, reproduction; (n, v) addition; (adj) pullulation. ANTONYM: (n) decrease

multiplicity: (n) diversity, abundance, plurality, much, multeity, manifoldness, lot, profusion, number, multitude, array. ANTONYMS: (n) uniformity, likeness

- multiplied: (adj) many, multitudinous, teeming, peopled, populous, studded, thick, increased, frequent; (v) absorb, acquisition multiply: (v) expand, increase, propagate, breed, augment, duplicate, proliferate, procreate, reproduce, calculate, extend. ANTONYMS: (adv) singly; (v) divide, diminish, reduce, estimate,
- **multiplying**: (adj) cumulative; (n) generation, calculation

dwindle

- multitude: (n) flock, horde, crowd, host, throng, concourse, mob, masses, mass, herd, swarm. ANTONYM: (n) trickle
- multitudinous: (adj) innumerable, infinite, manifold, multiple, numberless, myriad, many, numerous, thick, populous, innumerous
- murmur: (n, v) grumble, mumble, hum, whisper, mutter, whine, babble, drone; (v) complain, bubble, breathe
- muse: (v) meditate, ponder, deliberate, consider, cogitate, reflect, brood, ruminate, speculate, think, mull. ANTONYM: (v) wander
- muses: (n) belles lettres, literature, republic of letters, classics, polite literature, humanities
- musician: (n) singer, composer, instrumentalist, minstrel, clarinettist, lutenist, director, choirmaster, accompanist, harpsichordist, harpist
- muster: (v) assemble, gather, congregate, collect, convene, rally, marshal, accumulate; (n) levy, gathering; (n, v) draft. ANTONYM: (v) demobilize
- mutability: (n) vicissitude, inconstancy, changeability, instability, variability, mutableness, alterability, fickleness, uncertainty, variableness, volatility
- mute: (adj) dumb, silent, inarticulate, dummy, tongueless; (v) muffle, dampen, deaden, hush; (adj, v) quiet, dull. ANTONYMS: (adj) talkative, speaking, spoken; (v) amplify
- mutinous: (adj) defiant, insurgent, lawless, unruly, rebellious, contumacious, factious, disobedient, riotous, rebel, radical. ANTONYMS: (adj) loyal, obedient
- mutiny: (n, v) insurrection, rebellion; (n) disobedience, uprising, revolution, outbreak,

- insubordination, defiance, rising; (v) rebel, rise. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalty, obedience
- myrrh: (n) gum myrrh, perfumes of Arabia, incense, sweet cicely, gum resin, frankincense, balm
- myrtle: (n) Vinca minor
- mystic: (adj, v) secret, recondite; (adj) mysterious, occult, cryptical, cryptic, esoteric, inscrutable, weird, magical; (adj, n) psychic
- mystical: (adj) mysterious, esoteric, hidden, occult, secret, cryptic, cryptical, unearthly, Orphic, metaphysical, arcane. ANTONYMS: (adj) physical, natural
- mystify: (v) confound, bamboozle, bewilder, baffle, puzzle, perplex, stump, nonplus, flummox, amaze, get. ANTONYMS: (v) enlighten, explain
- mythic: (adj) fabulous, mythological, fictitious, equivocal, unreal, mythologic, extremely pleasing, false, barely credible, apocryphal, fab
- mythical: (adj) fabulous, fanciful, unreal, mythological, imaginary, fictitious, fabled, legendary, untrue, fictional, magical. ANTONYMS: (adj) true, historical, truthful, factual, real
- mythological: (adj) mythologic, fabulous, legendary, fabled, fancied, imaginary, unreal, barely credible, heroic, supernatural; (adj, v) mythic
- mythology: (n) legend, tradition, religion, folklore, cultural anthropology, collection, classical mythology, assemblage,
- aggregation, accumulation, lore **nakedness**: (n) nudity, altogether, baldness, nude, nudeness, undress, birthday suit, openness, status, emptiness, frankness
- nameless: (adj) unknown, unnamed, unidentified, unsung, undistinguished, unspecified, inexpressible, strange, indescribable, obscure, unspeakable. ANTONYM: (adj) famous
- naming: (n) appointment,
  identification, denomination,
  appellation, nomination, indication,
  delegacy, assignment, mention; (adj,
  n) appellative; (adj) designating
- napping: (adj) asleep, unthinking, unready, snoozing, slumbering, sleeping, off guard, off your guard, off his guard, off her guard, careless. ANTONYM: (adj) awake narcotic: (adj, n) soporific, opiate,

hypnotic; (adj) anodyne; (n) drug, anaesthetic, opium, stupefacient, sedative, methadone, meperidine

narrate: (v) tell, relate, recount, recite, describe, report, express, rehearse, inform, state, detail

**narrated**: (adj) oral, narrative **narrating**: (v) narrate

- narration: (n) description, recital, narrative, explanation, history, tale, report, relation, story, recitation, rehearsal
- **narrator**: (n) teller, speaker, fabulist, anecdotist, narrators, talker, lecturer, narrater, orator, relator, raconteur
- narrowness: (n) thinness, width, intolerance, illiberality, tightness, smallness, pettiness, sheerness, slimness, meanness, skinniness. ANTONYMS: (n) wideness, stoutness, thickness, width, coarseness, inaccuracy
- naught: (n) cipher, nothing, null, aught, nix, nought, zip, cypher, nada; (adj, n, pron) nil; (n, pron) zilch
- navel: (n) center, bellybutton, hub, nave, centre, omphalos, midpoint, halfway house, belly button, central, point
- **neatherd**: (v) shepherd **necessaries**: (n) necessary,
- necessaries of life, necessity, must necessitate: (v) constrain, enforce,
- entail, force, involve, call for, drive, imply, demand, need, take.

  ANTONYMS: (v) obviate, request
- necessitating: (v) necessitate necessities: (n) supplies, necessity, essential, wants, support,
- subsistence, requirement, bread **necklace**: (n) collar, chain, chaplet, bracelet, necklet, string, corona, neckband, jewelry, coronet, crown
- necklaces: (n) costume jewelry, jewels, ornaments, trinkets
- needful: (adj) necessary, essential, indispensable, required, needed, mandatory, exigent, needy; (adj, v) requisite; (n) necessity, almighty dollar
- negation: (n) contradiction, negate, opposition, disavowal, deny, cancellation, rebuttal, refusal, refutation, rejection, abnegation. ANTONYMS: (n) acceptance, confirmation, affirmation, substantiation, reinforcement, agreement
- **negatively**: (adv) badly, harmfully, unenthusiastically, cynically,

- gloomily, adversely, denyingly, uselessly, critically, destructively; (adj) virtually. ANTONYMS: (adv) optimistically, helpfully, affirmatively
- **negativeness**: (n) electronegativity, disagreeableness
- neglecting: (n) neglect, disregard neighborhood: (n) vicinity, district, area, community, locality, place, quarter, environs, section; (adj) neighboring, local
- **nemesis**: (n) avenger, jinx, enemy, ruin, curse, bane, retribution, poetic justice, rival, execration, undoing. ANTONYMS: (n) making, ally
- **neuter**: (adj, v) alter, castrate; (adj) geld, neutral, nonsexual, asexual, emasculate, sexless, indifferent; (v) unsex, desex. ANTONYM: (adj) feminine
- **never-ending**: (adj) endless, infinite, limitless, vast, unending, unbounded, everlasting, eternal, perennial, immeasurable, spaceless **never-failing**: (adj) steady, sure.
- never-failing: (adj) steady, sure, fixed, unfaltering, unqualified, firm, steadfast, unwavering, wholehearted
- newest: (adj) last, up-to-the-minute, up-to-date, novel, fresh, hot, lowest, concluding, fashionable, stylish, final
- newfangled: (adj) modern, fresh, fashionable, novel, contemporary, up-to-date, recent, unprecedented, grotesque, fantastic, strange. ANTONYMS: (adj) dated, old
- nickname: (v) dub, nick; (n) sobriquet, alias, moniker, cognomen, pet name, surname, appellation, soubriquet, family name
- **niebuhr**: (n) Barthold George Niebuhr
- nightingale: (n) bulbul, nurse, philomel, the lady with the lamp, singer, nighthawk, night bird, Florence nightingale, etc
- nightly: (adv) every night, by night; (n) night; (adj) nocturnal. ANTONYM: (adj) daily
- nobleness: (n) dignity, generosity, magnanimity, nobility, greatness, grandeur, stateliness, civil honors, goodness, glory, glorify
- nobly: (adv) generously, magnificently, grandly, greatly, splendidly, honorably, heroically, aristocratically, bravely, magnanimously, courageously. ANTONYMS: (adv) immorally, poorly, timidly

- nocturnal: (adj) nightly, vespertine, nighttime, nocturnals, overnight, night, autumnal. ANTONYM: (adj) daytime
- nodding: (adj) cernuous, drooping, dozy, dozing, somnolent, drugged, pendulous, drowsing, droopy, annuent, flagging. ANTONYM: (adj) awake
- nomenclature: (n) language, classification, appellation, denomination, linguistic communication, linguistic process, locution, lyric, markup language; (v) name
- **nominally**: (adv) formally, smally, nominatively
- **nostrum**: (n) panacea, invention, contrivance, expedient, elixir, cureall, recipe, prescription, patent medicine, remedy, snake oil
- **notoriously**: (adv) prominently, scandalously, illustriously, notedly, knownly, eminently, egregiously, famously, celebratedly, renownedly, famedly
- nought: (adj, n) nil, naught, zero; (n) cipher, cypher, nobody, aught, nix, null, nada; (adj) no
- **nourish**: (v) foster, keep, bring up, nurture, sustain, aliment, cherish, feed, maintain, cultivate; (n, v) cradle. ANTONYMS: (v) starve, sap
- **nourishing**: (adj) alimentary, healthy, nutrient, healthful, wholesome, rich, nutritive, hearty, alimental, good, beneficial. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhealthy, unwholesome, meager, insufficient
- **nourishment**: (n) food, alimentation, meal, meat, diet, feeding, nutrition, repast, sustenance, edible, fuel
- **novelty**: (adj) news; (n) freshness, mutation, newness, trinket, curiosity, originality, oddity, bauble; (n, v) change, difference
- **novitiate**: (n) novice, beginner, initiate, period, apprentice, tiro, tyro, newcomer, recruit, tutelage, matriculation
- noxious: (adj) injurious, deleterious, harmful, deadly, evil, inimical, noisome, destructive, poisonous, venomous, lethal. ANTONYMS: (adj) innocuous, pleasant, healthy
- numbering: (n) counting, enumeration, list, numeration, reckoning, listing, determination of the thread count, number coding
- **numberless**: (adj) countless, innumerable, multitudinous, infinite, incalculable, endless,

- uncounted, unnumbered, innumerous, legion, untold. ANTONYM: (adj) few
- **nuptials**: (n) wedding, matrimony, bridal, wedding ceremony, marriage ceremony, spousal, wedding party, ceremonial, ceremony, espousal, hymeneals. ANTONYM: (n) divorce
- **nurture**: (v) foster, cherish, bring up, grow, nourish, care, maintain, educate, nurse; (n) education, breeding. ANTONYMS: (n, v) neglect
- **nurturing**: (n) fostering, upbringing, bringing up, fosterage, development, acculturation; (adj) cultural, motherly
- **nutriment**: (n, v) nourishment; (n) food, fare, diet, nutrient, nutrition, alimentation, feed, nurture, meat, meal
- oaks: (n) beech family, Castanopsis, Nothofagus, Lithocarpus, genus Quercus, Genera Castanea, family Fagaceae, Fagus, Fagaceae, chestnuts
- oath: (n) expletive, malediction, imprecation, promise, affidavit, cuss, swearing, pledge, assurance, asseveration; (v) swear
- obedient: (adj) submissive, compliant, good, conformable, tame, acquiescent, dutiful, meek, biddable, amenable, subservient. ANTONYMS: (adj) defiant, assertive, rebellious, crooked,

intractable, naughty, wild, resistant

obediently: (adv) dutifully, yieldingly, compliantly, meekly, acquiescently, respectfully, tamely, subserviently, passively, loyally, devotedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) defiantly, assertively, wildly

obeying: (adv) under

- objectionable: (adj) distasteful, offensive, nasty, exceptionable, undesirable, disagreeable, unwelcome, disgusting, unacceptable, repugnant, obnoxious. ANTONYMS: (adj) agreeable, desirable, acceptable, inoffensive
- objectively: (adv) neutrally, impartially, dispassionately, disinterestedly, detachedly, independently, concretely, unprejudicedly, coldly, unemotionally, impersonally. ANTONYMS: (adv) personally, partially, emotionally
- **objector**: (n) dissenter, contestant, dissident, nonconformist, opponent, person, somebody, someone, soul,

- militant, whiner
- obligatory: (adj) necessary, compulsory, imperative, binding, inevitable, required, forced, essential, mandatory, incumbent, vital. ANTONYMS: (adj) optional, voluntary, willing, dispensable, thoughtful, avoidable
- oblige: (v) coerce, force, drive, constrain, make, bind, accommodate, obligate, necessitate, enforce, impel. ANTONYMS: (v) displease, request, hinder
- **obliquely**: (adj, adv) athwart, transversely, askew; (adv) aslant, indirectly, slopingly, slantingly, sideways, sidelong, skewly, askance. ANTONYM: (adv) straight
- **obliterate**: (v) annihilate, extinguish, eradicate, expunge, efface, wipe out, kill, destroy, cancel, blot out; (adj, v) abolish. ANTONYMS: (v) create, build, protect, engrave, insert
- oblong: (adj) oval, elliptical, rectangular, rounded; (v) longitudinal; (n) block, quadrangle
- obnoxious: (adj) disagreeable, offensive, detestable, distasteful, hateful, horrid, repellent, disgusting, invidious; (adj, n) unpleasant; (adj, v) liable. ANTONYMS: (adj) charming, nice, pleasing, delightful, inoffensive, cordial
- obscene: (adj) indecent, dirty, gross, coarse, filthy, lewd, licentious, nasty, foul, ribald, bawdy. ANTONYMS: (adj) pure, moral, decent
- obscurity: (n) gloom, darkness, shade, dimness, obscureness, night, oblivion, haze, ambiguity, shadow, cloudiness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, fame, light, simplicity, prominence, celebrity, brightness
- observance: (n) ceremony, commemoration, observation, rite, fulfillment, obedience, manner, compliance, discharge, conformity, custom. ANTONYMS: (n) breaking, disobedience, disregard, nonobservance, inattention, omission
- obstinate: (adj) obdurate, inflexible, intractable, determined, inveterate, disobedient, willful, stubborn, contrary, wayward, dogged. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, amenable, irresolute, cooperative, easygoing, docile, biddable, agreeable, accommodating, malleable, gentle
- odyssey: (n) journey, epic, epic poem,

epos, journeying

- offender: (n) delinquent, malefactor, criminal, convict, felon, crook, wrongdoer, malfeasant, perpetrator, outlaw, villain
- offerings: (n) aid, assistance, charity, contributions, gifts, help
- olden: (adj) old, past, former, whilom, archaic, bygone, early, previous, immemorial, outmoded, old-world. ANTONYMS: (adj) contemporary, modern
- oligarch: (n) autocrat, despot, ruler, sovereign, suzerain, dictator, tyrant oligarchy: (n) oligarchic, aristocracy, demagogy, democracy, form of
- government olympian: (adj) Olympic, exceptional, exceeding, imperial, lofty, proud, regal, gallant, prodigious, surpassing; (n) Olympic God
- omission: (n) exclusion, error, ellipsis, inadvertence, negligence, mistake, neglect, oversight, flaw; (adj, n) fault, defect. ANTONYMS: (n) adherence, performance, addition
- omit: (adv, v) neglect, disregard; (adj, v) miss, skip, jump, pretermit; (v) delete, forget, exclude, except, leave. ANTONYMS: (v) add, remember
- ANTONYMS: (v) add, remember **omitting**: (v) except; (n) disregard, contraction; (adj) omissive
- omnipotent: (adj) almighty, supreme, powerful, multipotent, divine, extreme, great, irresistible, mighty, predominant; (n) God.
- ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, powerless one-sided: (adj) unfair, unilateral, unjust, unequal, uneven, prejudiced, colored, doctrinaire, dogmatic, intolerant, jaundiced
- onward: (adv) ahead, forwards, before, forth, onwards, along, in advance, frontward, forrader; (adv, prep) on; (adj) progressive. ANTONYM: (adv) backward
- ophthalmia: (n) pinkeye, conjunctivitis
- opine: (v) deem, believe, figure, guess, suppose, conceive, imagine, say, think, judge, reckon
- oppressed: (adj) laden, persecuted, broken, burdened, drawn, gloomy, aggrieved, downcast, heavy, ladened, loaded
- optimist: (n) millenarian, optimistic, utopist, whitewasher, encomiast, enthusiast, intellectual, laudator, millenarist, utopian, utopianist. ANTONYM: (n) realist

- oracle: (n) prophet, divination, vaticinator, diviner, revelation, seer, sibyl, Solomon, soothsayer, vision, authority
- oracular: (adj) prophetic, ambiguous, mystic, cryptic, prophetical, sibylline, mysterious, delphic, obscure, opinionated, dogmatic
- oration: (n) discourse, harangue, lecture, speech, declamation, homily, tirade, say, recitation, oratory, language
- orator: (n) elocutionist, speechmaker, speaker, lecturer, Cicero, speechifier, demagog, demagogue, eulogist; (v) oratrix, oratress
- ordain: (n, v) decree, command, order, direct; (adj, v) enact, establish, institute; (v) dictate, appoint, consecrate, nominate
- ordained: (adj) destined, prescribed, appointed, predestined, fated, preordained, meant, legal, lawful, dedicated, inevitable
- orderly: (adj) neat, tidy, exact, regular, ordered, systematic, logical, coherent, businesslike; (adv) systematically; (n) attendant. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmanageable, rowdy, wild, disorganized, untidy, disorderly, confused, lawless, messy, defiant, haphazard
- ordinarily: (adv) generally, usually, regularly, normally, frequently, customarily, habitually, routinely, middlingly, plainly, familiarly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unusually, rarely, strangely, exceptionally
- organon: (n) organum originality: (n) novelty, imagination, ingenuity, initiative, freshness, newness, invention, creativity, heterodoxy, innovation; (adj, n) individuality. ANTONYMS: (n)
- normality, unoriginality originate: (v) begin, arise, initiate, commence, issue, develop, start, come, invent, grow, make. ANTONYMS: (v) terminate, kill
- ornament: (n) decoration, adornment, embellishment, decor; (v) beautify, decorate, deck, embellish, adorn; (n, v) garnish, dress. ANTONYM: (v) strip
- ornamental: (adj) fancy, florid, cosmetic, extravagant, elaborate, showy, enhancing, delicate, beautifying; (n) decoration, adornment. ANTONYMS: (adj) plain, unadorned
- **ornaments**: (n) stuff, trim, ornamentation, equipments, dress,

disposition, custom, curios, condition, clothing, gaudery orphan: (n) waif, caterpillar, nymph, nympha, cocoon, Aurelia, tyke, staddle, youngster, shaver; (adj) orphaned orpheus: (n) Terpsichore, Euterpe, Apollo orphic: (adj) mystical, mystic, occult, esoteric, deep, cryptic, inscrutable,

orphic: (adj) mystical, mystic, occult, esoteric, deep, cryptic, inscrutable, recondite, mystifying, profound, communicated covertly orrery: (n) planetarium

outermost: (adj, adv) farthest; (adj) outmost, extreme, utmost, uttermost, last, outer, outside, external, exterior, furthermost outlandish: (adj) foreign, bizarre,

outlandish: (adj) foreign, bizarre, eccentric, freakish, odd, exotic, alien, quaint, singular, extraneous, freaky. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, commonplace, sensible, familiar, tasteful

prospectus, syllabus, alphabet, grammar, contents, rudiments, synopsis, textbook, ABC outrage: (n, v) insult, affront, dishonor, anger; (v) offend, violate, desecrate; (adj, n, v) abuse; (n)

outlines: (n) elements, conspectus,

atrocity, indignity, enormity outward: (adj) external, apparent, extrinsic, outer, superficial, surface, outside, ostensible, foreign, outdoor; (adv) out. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv)

inward; (adj) inner, internal, deep **outwards**: (adj) out, over, with out; (adv) beyond, out of doors.

ANTONYM: (adv) inward outweigh: (v) preponderate, overshadow, overbalance, counterbalance, outstrip, predominate, exceed, prevail,

surpass, outmatch; (adj) outdo overboard: (adj) exorbitant, rabid overcoming: (adj) fortunate

overdone: (adj) exaggerated, overstated, overcooked, excessive, immoderate, extravagant, fulsome, overdo, undue, overwrought, profuse. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, tender

overgrown: (adj) excessive, exorbitant, inordinate, extravagant, monstrous, covered, exaggerated, dropsical, lush; (v) turgid, tumid

overlook: (v) disregard, excuse, omit, ignore, forget, fail, command, dominate, oversee, control, miss.
ANTONYMS: (v) remember, notice, spot, acknowledge, see, accept, punish

overpowered: (adj) beaten, conquered, inundated, engulfed, flooded, routed, vanquished, subdued, subjugated, overflowing, mild

overpowering: (adj) overwhelming, oppressive, resistless, compelling, intense, heavy, strong, onerous, devastating, uncontrollable, depressing. ANTONYMS: (adj) light, subtle, imperceptible, insignificant, shallow, weak, faint, bland

overtake: (v) catch, attain, catch up with, exceed, overpower, overcome, go by, gain, devastate, outstrip, beat

overthrow: (adj, n, v) defeat, rout; (n) fall, downfall, destruction; (n, v) overpower, ruin, overturn; (adj, v) overcome; (v) bring down, demolish. ANTONYMS: (v) install, validate, lose, appoint; (n) victory, beginning

overthrower: (n) subverter overthrown: (adj) overcome, conquered, battered, overpowered, dejected, cast down, dissolute, doomed, flooded, discomfit, mat

overturn: (n, v) capsize, upset, overset; (v) knock over, subvert, destroy, annul, bring down, reverse, topple, overrule. ANTONYMS: (v) right, assist, accept, submit

overweening: (adj) overbearing, overconfident, imperious, disdainful, vain, bumptious, immodest, domineering, uppity, consequential, uppish. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, unassuming

overwhelmed: (adj) beaten, overpowered, vanquished, dumbfounded, inundated, flooded, overthrown, engulfed, conquered, bewildered; (v) overborne. ANTONYM: (adj) unimpressed

ANTONYM: (adj) unimpressed owing: (adj) due, unpaid, unsettled, outstanding, overdue, owed, payable, undischarged, indebted, fulfilling obligation, lawful. ANTONYM: (adj) settled

oxen: (n) bull, ox, cows, cow, cattle, Bos Taurus, bullock, kine, milker, beef, dairy cow

pacified: (adj) appeased pacify: (adj, n, v) calm, allay, compose, appease; (adj, v) mollify, lull, soothe; (n, v) ease; (v) conciliate, placate, moderate. ANTONYMS: (v) annoy, enrage, excite, infuriate, aggravate, displease, inflame, provoke pacifying: (adj) soothing, assuasive, calm, quiet, conciliatory, lulling, appeasing

pacing: (n) accelerando, andante, allegro, allegretto, pace, walk, tempo, musical time, maneuvering alongside another vessel, cardiac pacing

pagan: (adj, n) gentile, ethnic, agnostic; (n) idolater, infidel, paynim, heretic; (adj) heathenish, irreligious, ethnical, profane

paganism: (n) heathenism, heresy, pagan religion, idolatry, atheism, religion, faith, barbarism, ethnicism, gentilism, gentility

pained: (adj) offended, aggrieved, distressed, displeased, sore, grieved, miserable, injured, wounded, worried, upset. ANTONYM: (adj) unaffected

painters: (n) painter
paints: (n) colors

paired: (adj) opposite, mated, dual, twin, matching, complementary, coupled, balancing, completely opposed, mated sexually, gemel. ANTONYMS: (adj) alternate, single

pairing: (n) mating, conjugation, union, crossing, cross, hybridization, matching, sex, twinning, marriage, pair

palaestra: (n) gymnasium, palestra, class

paleness: (adj, n) pallor; (n) pallidness, wanness, whiteness, achromasia, blondness, lividity, luridness, lividness, fairness, pale. ANTONYM: (n) strength

palpable: (adj) tangible, obvious, evident, apparent, clear, transparent, indubitable, noticeable, lucid, patent, perceptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) imaginary, intangible, impalpable, doubtful, furtive, imperceptible, insignificant, obscure, unclear

paltry: (adj, n) mean; (adj) contemptible, measly, trifling, abject, insignificant, inconsiderable, puny, little, trivial, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, substantial, plentiful, enormous, important, profound

pampered: (adj) indulged, spoiled, soft, bad, fed luxuriously, luxurious pang: (n) pain, torture, ache, agony, twinge, affliction, sting, stab, distress, ailment, cramp

pangs: (n) anguish, compunction, contrition, distress

panic-stricken: (adj) afraid, hysterical
panting: (adj) gasping, breathless,

- blown, winded, puffed; (v) palpitation; (n) heaving, gasp, asthma, heave, puff
- pantomimic: (v) pathognomonic, symptomatic, representative, symbolic, typical; (adj) pantomime, emblematic, diagnostic, armorial papacy: (n) government, pontificate,

authorities **parable**: (n) fable, comparison, tale,
proverb, myth, legend, fiction, story;
(adj, n, v) apologue; (adj) simile,

metalepsis

paradox: (n) incongruity, contradiction, ambiguity, inconsistency, puzzle, figure of speech, phenomenon, paradoxy, opposite, irony, equivocation

paradoxical: (adj) contradictory, conflicting, ambiguous, illegible, contrary, strange, inconsistent, questionable, ironic; (v) enigmatic, problematical

paralytic: (adj) paralytical, paralyzed, torpid, comatose; (n) paretic, handicapped person, invalid; (v) withered

paramount: (adj) dominant, top, chief, overriding, main, topmost, foremost, uppermost, predominant; (adj, v) supreme, greatest. ANTONYMS: (adj) minor, worst

paraphrase: (n) explanation, exposition, paraphrasis, description, interpretation, version, burlesque; (v) interpret, translate, reword, rephrase

parley: (v) negotiate, converse, confer, consult; (n, v) talk, treat; (n) conversation, interview, colloquy, meeting, consultation

parricide: (n) matricide, slaying, fratricide, feticide, homicide, foeticide, infanticide, murderer; (v) regicide, uxoricide, vaticide

partake: (v) deal, touch, share, consume, attend, eat, taste, receive, communicate, join, have. ANTONYM: (v) refrain

parting: (n) adieu, division, leave, departure, disunion, goodbye, leaving, segregation, dying, rupture; (adj) valedictory. ANTONYMS: (n) joining, meeting, connection, Reunion

partisan: (n) backer, champion, friend, bigot, disciple, advocate, adherent, enthusiast; (adj, n) sectarian, partizan; (adj) biased. ANTONYMS: (n) peacekeepers, opponent, rebel, turncoat; (adj) unbiased, nonpartisan, Standard, impartial, fair, disloyal

partition: (n) wall, bulkhead, divider,
distribution, separation, screen; (n,
v) part, split; (v) divide, apportion,
data ANTONIMS: (n) in reveal.

deal. ANTONYMS: (v) join, reveal; (n) union

pasture: (v) graze, browse, crop; (n)
grass, grazing land, pasturage, field,
ley, lea; (n, v) feed, forage

pathos: (v) emotion, inspiration, impression, affection; (n) poignancy, pity, ruth, commiseration, grief, poignance, sympathy

patriarch: (n) forefather, paterfamilias, father, head, chief, old man, antediluvian, head of household, elder, founder, senior.

ANTONYM: (n) matriarch **patriarchal**: (adj) family, ancestral, linear, old, preadamite, patriarchic;

(adv) fatherly patrimony: (n) birth

patrimony: (n) birthright, inheritance, legacy, bequest, entail, estate, dower, heirloom, heredity, hereditament, endowment fund

patriotism: (n) nationalism, nationality, love of country, chauvinism, jingoism, loyalty, public spirit, xenophobia, Americanism, national character, civism. ANTONYM: (n) disloyalty pauper: (n) poor man, mumper, bum

pauper: (n) poor man, mumper, bum, poor person, starveling; (adj) poor, indigent, penniless; (v) bust, fold

peacefulness: (n) calm, calmness, peace of mind, serenity, tranquillity, stillness, repose, quietness, ease, hush, heartsease. ANTONYMS: (n) bustle, wildness, upheaval, turmoil, agitation, disturbance, harshness pearls: (n) beads, jewelry, jewellery

pebbly: (adj) shingly, rocky, rough, grating, flinty, beachy, stony, gravel peculiarity: (n) idiosyncrasy, distinction, particularity, oddness, eccentricity, distinctiveness,

abnormality, characteristic, attribute, difference, individuality. ANTONYM: (n) similarity

peculiarly: (adj, adv) particularly, curiously, unusually, uncommonly, singularly; (adv) especially, oddly, strangely, specifically, weirdly, specially. ANTONYMS: (adv) typically, ordinarily, slightly

peep: (n, v) glance, peek, look, gaze, glint, squeal; (n) glimpse, cheep; (v) chirp, peer, pry. ANTONYMS: (v) stare, gaze; (n) examination

pegs: (v) legs, feet, trotters, pins
penetrate: (v) bore, imbue, fathom,
infiltrate, pierce, permeate, cut,

filter, interpenetrate, get through, enter

penetrated: (adj) perforated, entered penetration: (n, v) intelligence, discernment, discrimination, judgment; (adj, n) acumen; (n)

judgment; (adj, n) acumen; (n) incursion, acuteness, entrance, interpenetration, invasion, breakthrough. ANTONYM: (n) foolishness

pent: (adj) narrow, shut up, confined, cramped

penurious: (adj) mean, stingy, penniless, impecunious, miserly, close, needy, illiberal, closefisted; (adj, v) avaricious, niggardly

peradventure: (adv) perchance, perhaps, possibly, mayhap, by chance, haply, fortunately, gracefully, felicitously; (n) chance; (conj) if

perceiving: (n) feeling, sensing, hearing, looking at, recognition, thought, vision, lipreading; (adj) conscious, percipient, reasonable

perchance: (adv) maybe, possibly, by chance, peradventure, accidentally, incidentally, mayhap, chance, haphazard, probably, haply

percipient: (adj) clear, discerning, perceptive, penetrating, perspicacious, conscious, astute, animadversive, cleared, conversant, decipherable

peremptorily: (adv) absolutely, positively, imperatively, flatly, dogmatically, magisterially, commandingly, imperiously, authoritatively, decidedly, decisively

peremptory: (adj) imperious, commanding, dictatorial, overbearing, decisive, magisterial; (adj, v) authoritative, dogmatic, flat, absolute; (v) decided. ANTONYM: (adj) polite

perfected: (adj) consummate,
elaborate, mellow, mature, ripe,
fulfilled, done, formed; (v)
completed, consummated, excessive
perfectibility: (n) potentiality,

capableness, capability **perfecting**: (n) development, reiteration

**performer**: (n) musician, doer, artiste, comedian, player, conjurer, juggler, magician, executant, thespian, agent **peril**: (n, v) hazard, risk, endanger, menace, adventure; (n) danger, jeopardy, chance; (v) imperil,

expose, compromise. ANTONYM: (n) security

perilous: (adj, v) dangerous, hazardous; (adj) insecure, unsafe, parlous, precarious, risky, treacherous, dicey, critical, dodgy. ANTONYM: (adj) secure

perish: (v) expire, pass away, decease, go, fade, decay, depart, fall, pass, ruin, annihilate. ANTONYMS: (v) survive, live, appear

perished: (adj) decayed, emperished, rotting, annihilated, fallen, lost, moldy, nonexistent, putrefied, dead, decomposed

perishing: (adj) chilly, cold and damp, crumbly, starving, inclement; (n) decay

perjury: (v) mendacity; (n) bearing false witness, lying under oath, false evidence, violation, lie, infringement, infraction, falsehood, offense, offence

permanence: (n) constancy, stability, endurance, strength, immortality, firmness, perdurability, lastingness, duration, perpetuity; (adj, n) continuance. ANTONYMS: (n) interruption, flimsiness, instability

perpendicular: (adj) upright, vertical, steep, plumb, straight, right, sheer, orthogonal, normal, precipitous, true. ANTONYMS: (adj) horizontal, parallel, inclined, oblique, prone,

perpetrate: (v) do, act, perform, make, execute, carry out, draw, give, enact, put, institutionalize

perpetual: (adj) incessant, continual, constant, endless, eternal, everlasting, lasting, ceaseless, immortal, continuous, perennial. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, intermittent, transitory, mortal, unstable, finite, inconstant, occasional, sporadic

perpetually: (adv) eternally, everlastingly, always, incessantly, continually, endlessly, permanently, unceasingly, ceaselessly, ever; (adj, adv) forever. ANTONYMS: (adv) erratically, sporadically

perplexed: (adj) confused, puzzled, baffled, confounded, doubtful, distracted, disconcerted; (adj, v) intricate, complicated, lost, involved. ANTONYMS: (adj) unperplexed, assured, clear,

perplexing: (adj) enigmatic, puzzling, embarrassing, intricate, complex, baffling, complicated, bewildering, knotty, troublesome; (adj, n) difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple,

enlightening, soothing,

understandable, explicable perplexity: (n) confusion, dilemma, bewilderment, maze, labyrinth,

embarrassment, quandary, complication, enigma; (adj, n) difficulty, distress. ANTONYM: (n) understanding

persecuted: (adj) downtrodden, aggrieved, laden, mistreated, wronged

persecutor: (n) tormentor, bully, gadfly, tormenter, teaser, pursuer, dictator, annoyer, tantalizer, pesterer, pest

persephone: (n) kore, Despoina, Cora persevere: (v) persist, continue, endure, abide, go on, hang on, hold on, follow, keep, remain, pursue. ANTONYMS: (v) surrender, stop,

persia: (n) Islamic Republic of Iran, Persian Empire

persistency: (n) pertinacity, perseverance, tenacity, tenaciousness, obstinacy, doggedness, purpose, durability, firmness, stubbornness, inflexibility

persisting: (adj) abiding, lasting, constant, continual, enduring, living, inveterate, dogging, diligent, continuous; (v) persist

personage: (n) person, notable, celebrity, personality, individual, bigwig, figure, somebody, human, character, being

personate: (v) act, mimic, perform, do, play, personify, pose, simulate, ape, mock, embody

personification: (n) incarnation, avatar, epitome, personation, prosopopoeia, figure of speech, manifestation, trope; (adj, n) type; (adj) metalepsis, anagoge

personified: (adj) embodied personify: (v) incarnate, embody, typify, represent, exemplify, personalize, materialize, impersonate, body, symbolize, be

perspiration: (n) diaphoresis, hidrosis, sudor, sweating, extravasation, secretion, exertion, exudation, effort, lather, water

persuasion: (n) belief, opinion, faith, inducement, creed, idea, exhortation, enticement, view, sentiment; (adj, n) conviction. ANTONYMS: (n) force, punishment, dissuasion

persuasive: (adj) convincing, forcible, eloquent, forceful, cogent, strong, suasive, compelling, influential,

effective, potent. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconvincing, halfhearted, hesitant, dissuasive, unpersuasive, repellent, inarticulate

perturbing: (adj) distressing, distressful, disturbing, poignant, bad, deplorable, disquieting, heavy, not reassuring, troubling, worrisome

perverse: (adj) fractious, obstinate, obdurate, bad, corrupt, headstrong, disobedient, intractable, willful, sinister, wayward. ANTONYMS: (adj) wholesome, obliging, agreeable, accommodating, malleable, good

perverted: (adj) perverse, immoral, distorted, kinky, corrupt, twisted, abnormal, debauched, deviant, reprobate, unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, moral, unchanged

phantom: (n, v) apparition, phantasm, vision, phantasma; (n) spectre, specter, appearance, shade,

petrarch: (n) Petrarca

shadow, wraith, spirit philosopher: (n) thinker, bacon, libertarian, gymnosophist,

empiricist, necessitarian, moralist,

theorist, wisdom, pundit, mechanist philosophic: (v) platonic, staid, stayed, stoical; (adj) thoughtful, rational, patient, learned, ideologic, ideological. ANTONYM: (adj) nonphilosophical

phlegm: (n) indifference, impassivity, impassiveness, lethargy, sluggishness, dullness, stolidity, sputum, languor, inactivity; (adj) mucus

phoebus: (n) sun, Phoebus Apollo, orb of day, aurora

phoenix: (n) perfection, capital of Arizona, chimera, genus phoenix, hydra, ideal, jewel, Minotaur, monster

phraseology: (n) language, expression, phrasing, wording, idiom, vernacular, dialect, choice of words, terminology, locution; (n, v)

physic: (n) medicine, aperient, cathartic, medication, healing, medicament, drug; (n, v) cure, doctor, remedy; (v) heal physician: (n) doctor, medico, doc,

medic, quack, surgeon, leech, houseman, MD, allergist, intern physiologist: (n) biologist, life

scientist, muller, physiologer, weber, Adrian, best

physiology: (n) organic chemistry,

- natural history, myology, bionomy, botany, bodily property, biological science, biology
- **pickpocket**: (n) cutpurse, thief, dip, robber, burglar, shoplifter, inclination, magnetic dip, magnetic inclination, miscreant, nipper
- pictured: (adj) envisioned, portrayed, graphic, delineate, delineated, impictured, unreal, visualised, visualized, impressed
- piecemeal: (adv) bit by bit, gradually, little by little, in stages, partially, step by step, slowly; (adj) gradual, fragmentary, stepwise, in small stages
- pierced: (adj) punctured, perforate, penetrated, cut, cleft
- piercing: (adj, n) sharp, cutting; (adj, v) keen, penetrating, biting, bitter, harsh, shrill; (adj) high, raw, loud. ANTONYMS: (adj) quiet, dull, soft, hot
- piety: (n) godliness, devoutness, faith, righteousness, holiness, reverence, religion, religiousness, piousness, sanctity, goodness. ANTONYMS: (n) sin, profanity, wickedness
- pilgrimage: (n, v) expedition, excursion; (v) trip, tour, peregrination, ramble, discursion, circuit; (n) haji, haj, career
- cricuit; (n) haj, haj, career
  pious: (adj, n, v) devout; (adj, n)
  godly; (adj) religious, holy, saintly,
  devotional, pure, hypocritical,
  devoted, sanctimonious; (adj, v)
  earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj)
  impious, sinful, profane,
  blasphemous, irreligious,
  uncommitted, secular, irreverent
- pitching: (n) cast, lurch, nosing motion, playing, slant, delivery, lunge, stone facing, pitch shot; (adj) inclined; (adv) headlong
- pitiable: (adj) forlorn, abject, pathetic, miserable, pitiful, wretched, lamentable, poor, squalid; (adj, v) deplorable, mournful. ANTONYMS: (adj) privileged, strong
- pitiful: (adj, n) abject; (adj) pathetic, lamentable, piteous, contemptible, miserable, distressing, mean, wretched, poor, sad. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, heartwarming, admirable, cheerful, fine, happy, impressive
- pitying: (adj) sympathetic, merciful, pity, pityingly, gloomy, meritless, pitiful, sorry, sorry for, humane, dreary
- plague: (v) molest, harass, afflict,

- hassle, annoy, badger, pester, disturb, beleaguer; (n, v) worry; (adj, n, v) bother. ANTONYM: (v) comfort
- plainness: (n) perspicuity, clearness, homeliness, austerity, simplicity, lucidity, perspicuousness, directness, bareness, drabness, chasteness. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, splendor
- platonic: (adj) chaste, spiritual, ghostly; (v) staid, philosophical, philosophic, stayed, reflective, thoughtful, studious, stoical. ANTONYM: (adj) physical
- plausibility: (n) credibility, possibility, probability, admissibility, believability, credibleness, fair appearance, plausibleness, presumption, reasonableness; (adj, n) verisimilitude
- playful: (adj) frisky, humorous, kittenish, mischievous, skittish, impish, naughty, merry, lighthearted, frivolous, frolicsome. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, lethargic, solemn, staid, subdued, heavy
- plead: (v) entreat, implore, beg, adjure, petition, ask, appeal, defend, invoke, sue; (n, v) allege. ANTONYMS: (v) answer, demand
- pleasantly: (adv) pleasingly, nicely, cheerily, enjoyably, agreeably, delightfully, sunnily, genially, gratifyingly, kindly; (adv, v) happily. ANTONYMS: (adv) disagreeably, offensively, awfully, discordantly, dreadfully, shockingly, unkindly, irritably,
- harshly, curtly, nastily pleasantry: (n) joke, wit, jocularity,
- pleasantry: (n) joke, wit, jocularity, jest, fancy, waggery, drollery, esprit, banter, sport, jocosity pleasing: (adj, n) acceptable; (adj)
- amiable, lovable, amusing, attractive, gratifying, lovely, pleasant, charming, delightful, inviting. ANTONYMS: (adj) unpleasant, unwelcome, infuriating, disappointing, straight, hurtful, maddening, displeasing, discordant, harsh, frustrating
- **plectrum**: (n) plectron, fescue, picking, choice, cream, malleus, device, filling, option, pickax, pickaxe
- **plentiful**: (adj) opulent, bountiful, ample, luxuriant, liberal, copious, fruitful, full, abundant, rich, plenty. ANTONYMS: (adj) scanty, meager,

- sparse, lacking, insufficient, few, infertile
- plentifully: (adv) plenteously, bountifully, bounteously, abundantly, profusely, richly, fully, liberally, opulently, amply, prolifically. ANTONYM: (adv) meagerly
- pliable: (adj) elastic, ductile, soft, malleable, flexile, susceptible, yielding; (adj, v) plastic, lithe, pliant, limber. ANTONYMS: (adj) stiff, inflexible, intractable, firm, hard, unyielding, wild
- **pliancy**: (n) pliability, suppleness, bendability, elasticity, complaisance, adaptability, advantage, aid, flexibleness, ease, lissomeness
- **plotted**: (adj) planned, aforethought, arranged, studied
- **plotting**: (n) machinations, intrigues, evaluation; (adj) scheming, perfidious, sly, treacherous, deep, insidious, false, faithless
- **plough**: (v) hoe, manure, delve, dibble, dig, dress the ground, cultivate, turn over, rake, weed, to plough
- plucking: (n) harvesting, rip out plunder: (n, v) pillage, spoil; (v) despoil, harry, devastate, maraud, destroy, strip, ransack; (n) booty, depredation
- plural: (adj) upwards of, several, certain
- plurality: (n) majority, abundance, mass, many, multiplicity, profusion, bulk, score, plenty, pluralism, battalion
- **pluto**: (n) netherworld, infernal region, hell, Hel, solar system, Hades, aides, Aidoneus, Erebus
- poesy: (n) poetry, verse, poem, rhyme, epos, song, tuneful Nine, strain, lay, Parnassus, poetics poetical: (adj) imaginative, rhetorical,
- poematic, figurative, inventive **polemical**: (adj) disputatious, polemic, forensic; (adj, v) dialectic; (v) argumentative
- politeness: (n) civility, courteousness, courtliness, manners, decorum, gentility, good manners, niceness, refinement, gallantry, decency.

  ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity,
- rudeness, incivility, neglect **politic**: (adj, v) tactful; (adj) discreet, judicious, circumspect, shrewd, prudent, suave, calculating, tricky, cute, chary. ANTONYMS: (adj) injudicious, unwise, impolitic, foolish

polity: (n) government, state, administration, commonwealth, game, civil order, authorities, casuistry, country, regime, tactics pollute: (adj, v) defile, taint, debase, infect, poison, maculate, desecrate; (adj, n, v) corrupt; (v) foul, dirty, befoul. ANTONYMS: (v) clean, purify, respect

**polygamist**: (n) consort, husband, married person, mate, partner, polyandrist, polygynist

polygamy: (n) polygyny, wedlock, marriage, matrimony; (v) monogamy, digamy, deuterogamy, trigamy

**polyphonous**: (adj) polyphonic, contrapuntal

pomp: (n) grandeur, parade, ostentation, show, ceremony, glory, luxury, pageantry, magnificence, state, splendor. ANTONYMS: (n) understatement, modesty

pompous: (adj) grand, arrogant, ostentatious, affected, pretentious, overblown, showy, inflated, majestic, lordly; (adj, prep) bloated. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, straightforward, unceremonious, quiet, unassuming, natural, deferential, relaxed, meek poorest: (adj) lowest, least, worst portuguese: (n) Galician, romance language; (adj) Lusitanian poseidon: (n) Neptune, triton, Thetis,

naiad, Nereid
positiveness: (n) assertiveness,
assurance, security, confidence,
positivism, absolute power,
absoluteness, roundness,
definiteness, trust, boldness

possessing: (adj) fruitive possessor: (n) owner, holder, proprietor, householder, occupant, landowner, landholder, proprietary, somebody, someone, soul

posterior: (adj, n) rear; (n) backside, buttocks, bottom, behind, latter, rump, can; (adj) later, following, subsequent. ANTONYMS: (adj) anterior, forward, front, previous, earlier

posterity: (n) race, descendants, issue, offspring, descendant, future, generation, progeny, breed, descendent, spat

potently: (adv) strongly, puissantly, effectively, hardly, cogently, efficaciously, virilely, effectually, vigorously, stiffly, influentially potter: (v) tinker, mess around,

potter: (v) tinker, mess around, putter, monkey, muck around, muddle, dabble, fiddle, monkey around; (n) thrower, ceramicist

powerless: (adj) impotent, unable, feeble, incapable, ineffective, ineffectual, infirm, inefficient, nerveless, weak, prostrate. ANTONYMS: (adj) powerful, strong, effective, capable, able

practicability: (n) practicableness,
 practicality, possibility, probability,
 usefulness, utility, viability,
 convenience, feasibleness,
 handiness, likelihood

practicable: (adj) possible, operable, practical, executable, workable, viable, doable, achievable, attainable, likely, handy.
ANTONYMS: (adj) impossible, impracticable, unrealistic, impractical

praiseworthy: (adj, v) laudable; (adj) admirable, meritorious, worthy, creditable, good, deserving, honorable, applaudable, exemplary; (adj, n) excellent. ANTONYMS: (adj) blameworthy, disgraceful, despicable, dishonorable, poor, unworthy

praising: (adj) praiseful, commending, praise, flattering, admiring, kind, complimentary, bestowing praise, eulogistic, commendatory, encomiastical

prater: (n) chatterer, babbler, chatterbox, cackler, blabber, magpie, talker, spouter, lab, jangler, giant helleborine

praying: (n) prayer

preamble: (n) introduction, prelude, foreword, preface, overture, preliminary, prologue, opening, proemium, protasis, prolepsis. ANTONYMS: (n) conclusion, finale

precarious: (adj) dangerous, insecure, hazardous, doubtful, unstable, unsafe, uncertain, delicate, disputable, tricky, risky. ANTONYMS: (adj) stable, secure, certain

precautions: (n) protection, defense, safety net

precede: (v) lead, head, forego, antecede, antedate, anticipate, introduce, forerun, pass, preface, go. ANTONYMS: (v) succeed, postdate precedence: (n) lead, advantage,

precedence: (n) lead, advantage, anteriority, pas, antecedency, preference, precession, superiority, supremacy; (adj, n) priority; (adj) rank

precept: (n) canon, decree, command, mandate, charge, lesson, injunction, law, commandment, principle; (adj, n) rule

predicament: (n) dilemma, fix, plight, crisis, difficulty, mess, quandary, case, category, impasse; (n, v) condition

**predication**: (n) allegation, averment, statement, declaration, postulation, word, contention, affirmation, sermon, discourse, homily

pre-eminence: (n) supremacy, advantage, superiority, precedence, prominence, priority, ascendancy, quality, celebrity, mastery; (adj) renown

pre-eminently: (adv) principally,
 eminently

**prelude**: (n) preliminary, preface, introduction, beginning, overture, preamble, foreword, inception, opening, proem, prolusion.
ANTONYMS: (n) postscript, conclusion, ending

prematurely: (adv) early,
inopportunely, hastily, precipitately,
unripely, previously, rashly,
immaturely, precociously,
forwardly, beforehand

prescribe: (n, v) ordain; (v) enjoin, decree, dictate, fix, command, assign, determine, set, stipulate, designate

presentiment: (n) premonition, hunch, apprehension, feeling, foreboding, anticipation, intuition, boding, suspicion; (v) augury; (n, v) omen

preservative: (adj) protective, conservative, defensive, conservational; (n) preserver, preserving agent, antiseptic, chemical compound, brine; (adj, n) additive

preserves: (n) conserve, jam, chowchow, conserves, jelly, marmalade, canned food, confiture, European federation of importers of dried fruit, preserved food, apple butter

preserving: (n) conservation, preservation, protection, conservancy, embalmment, fixation; (adj) saving, frugal, economical, protective, thrifty

preside: (v) manage, lead, conduct, command, control, direct, rule, moderate, guide, chair, preside over presiding: (adj) president, dominant, administrative

**presume**: (v) dare, consider, believe, think, infer, guess, expect, esteem, conclude, suppose, conjecture.

- ANTONYMS: (v) appreciate, despair, speculate
- presumed: (adj) supposed, reputed, putative, understood, alleged, probable, theoretical
- **presuppose**: (v) postulate, premise, imply, suppose, assume, posit, expect, believe, premiss, involve, hypothesize
- **pretence**: (n) deceit, pretext, dissimulation, pretense, affectation, falsehood, deception, hypocrisy, bluff, appearance, pretension
- pretended: (adj, v) sham, mock, counterfeit, pseudo, spurious; (adj) assumed, fake, feigned, fictitious, bogus, affected
- pretension: (n) ostentation, pretence, affectation, pretense, claim, assertion, title, pretentiousness, feint, pride, requirement.

  ANTONYMS: (n) modesty, humility, honesty
- pretext: (n) pretense, pretension, color, pretence, mask, plea, guise, sham, appearance; (n, v) excuse, cloak
- **prevail**: (n, v) triumph, control, govern; (v) dominate, overcome, outweigh, obtain, persist, carry, vanquish; (adj) preponderate. ANTONYM: (v) lose
- prevalent: (adj, v) prevailing; (adj) predominant, general, common, popular, preponderant, rife, extensive, dominant, epidemic; (adj, n) current. ANTONYMS: (adj) rare, uncommon, sparse, limited
- preventive: (adj, n) preventative, contraceptive; (adj) defensive, protective; (n) deterrent, hindrance, impediment, blocking, interference, encumbrance, pessary. ANTONYM: (adj) permissive
- preying: (adj) predatory; (n)
   predation, pillaging, depredation
  priestess: (n) priest
- prithee: (v) pray; (int) prythee proceeding: (n) matter, transaction, affair, procedure, lawsuit, proceedings; (v) deed, act; (n, v) measure; (adv, n) happening; (adj, adv, v) going on
- proclaim: (v) declare, assert, advertise, broadcast, promulgate, enunciate, herald, decree, divulge, notify, annunciate
- proclaimed: (adj) announced, indictive, declared publicly proclaiming: (adj) predicating, predicant, declaring, affirming, oracular, hence

- **proclamation**: (n) announcement, decree, edict, annunciation, notice, statement, promulgation, report, publication, manifesto, propagation **procreation**: (n) breeding,
- reproduction, birth; (adj, n) propagation; (adj) multiplication, fructification; (v) epigenesis, fertilization, gemination, genesis, germination
- **procure**: (v) get, obtain, buy, earn, win, gain, have, purchase, induce, derive, find. ANTONYM: (v) give
- procuring: (v) procure
- prodigal: (adj) extravagant, improvident, generous, lavish, wasteful, excessive, exuberant, liberal, profuse, dissipated; (adj, n) profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) economical, cautious
- profane: (v) desecrate, abuse, violate, defile, outrage, debauch; (adj) irreverent, impious, sacrilegious, unholy; (adj, v) foul. ANTONYMS: (adj) devout, sacred, moral, religious, reverent
- profess: (v) assert, feign, affirm, avow, state, pretend, claim, confess, allege, aver; (n, v) protest.
- ANTONYM: (v) repress professed: (adj) alleged, declared, apparent, avowed, pretended, seeming, supposed, affected, feirmed, so-called, purported
- feigned, so-called, purported professing: (n) avowal, profession, community
- professors: (n) faculty
  progenitors: (n) lineage
  progeny: (n) posterity, child,
- children, family, lineage, successor, seed; (n, v) issue, breed, brood, generation
- progressing: (n) expediting; (adj) thriving, ongoing, moving, coming, forward, better; (adv) succeeding, making headway, ahead, moving ahead
- **prohibit**: (n, v) prevent, bar, hinder; (v) forbid, enjoin, exclude, disallow, outlaw, preclude, ban, veto. ANTONYMS: (v) allow, authorize, include, entitle, assist
- prohibited: (adj) illicit, illegal, taboo, banned, unlawful, contraband, barred, proscribed, not allowed, out; (adj, adv) off-limits. ANTONYMS: (adj) legitimate, permitted, allowed, authorized, legal, permissible, acceptable, eligible, lawful, open
- **prohibition**: (n) inhibition, forbiddance, exclusion, interdiction, proscription, banning, embargo,

- forbidding, injunction, enjoinment, forbid. ANTONYMS: (n) entitlement, permission prohibitory: (adj) prohibitive,
- **prohibitory**: (adj) prohibitive, interdictory, preventive, forbidding, preventative
- projecting: (adj) projected, protruding, jutting, protrusive, pendent; (adj, v) overhanging, jutting over, salient; (v) beetling, protuberant, convex
- prolixity: (n) verbosity, verbiage, flatulence, prolixness, verbalization, lengthiness, verboseness, diffuseness, copiousness, length, circumlocution. ANTONYM: (n) conciseness
- promiscuous: (adj, v) miscellaneous; (adj) mixed, random, confused, loose, wanton, disorderly, licentious, light, easy, heterogeneous. ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, pure, chaste
- pronounce: (v) articulate, declare, affirm, say, assert, express, vocalize, proclaim; (n, v) allege; (adj, v) deliver, utter. ANTONYM: (v) mumble
- **prophecy**: (n) oracle, augury, prognostication, forecast, vaticination, prevision, prediction, prognosis, omen, revelation, foreboding
- **prophet**: (n) augur, oracle, vaticinator, seer, predictor, diviner, forecaster, visionary, foreteller, priest, clairvoyant
- **prophetic:** (adj) oracular, mantic, prophetical, prognostic, visionary, biblical, vaticinal, sibylline, foreshadowing, fatidical, pythonic. ANTONYMS: (adj) unprophetic, unimaginative
- propitiate: (v) pacify, mollify, appease, placate, assuage, atone, compose, calm, allay, becalm; (adj, v) reconcile
- propound: (v) offer, suggest, present, pose, enunciate, proffer, move, put; (n, v) propose; (n) advance, allege propriety: (adj, n) decency, modesty, correctness, aptitude; (n) decorum,
- fitness, etiquette, civility, grace, politeness, manners. ANTONYMS: (n) impropriety, rudeness, unsuitableness, indecorum, decadence, tactlessness, corruption, vulgarity, indecency
- prosaic: (adj) commonplace, dull, monotonous, pedestrian, prosy, ordinary, uninteresting, trite, boring, humdrum, everyday. ANTONYMS:

(adj) idealistic, imaginative, sensitive, inspired, exciting, inspiring, interesting, original, romantic

prosecute: (v) pursue, persecute, follow, chase, engage, indict, litigate, drive, execute, accuse; (n, v) sue. ANTONYM: (v) pardon

prosper: (v) advance, flower, thrive, grow, bloom, succeed, boom, get ahead, get on; (adj) luxuriate; (n, v) fare. ANTONYMS: (v) deteriorate, collapse, decrease, dwindle, decline

prostitute: (n) courtesan, harlot, bawd, hooker, fancy woman, cocotte, whore, tart; (adj, v) pervert; (v) profane, abuse

prostitution: (n) abuse, whoredom, profanation, perversion, corruption, pollution, desecration, misuse

prostrated: (adj) brokenhearted, exhausted, tired, enervated

protector: (n) guard, guardian, patron, champion, custodian, conservator, escort, hero, paladin, supporter, benefactor

protesting: (adj) disinclined, opposed; (n) clamor

proteus: (adj) quicksilver, shifting sands, weathercock, harlequin, moon; (n) Jekyll and Hyde, genus Proteus

protracted: (adj, v) extended, lingering, continued; (adj) prolonged, lengthy, extensive, prolix, chronic, lengthened, slow, spun out. ANTONYMS: (adj) brief, abrupt, short, concise, easy

proverb: (n) adage, byword, aphorism, dictum, saying, axiom, parable, motto, expression; (n, v) maxim. saw

proverbial: (adj) axiomatic, hackneyed saying, common saying, notorious, famed, legendary, famous, common, true saying, trite saying, recognizable

**proverbs**: (n) proverb **providence**: (n) forethor

providence: (n) forethought, fortune, fate, discretion, God, destiny, care, economy, caution, precaution, chance. ANTONYM: (n) improvidence

providentially: (adv) fortunately, luckily, fortuitously, auspiciously, opportunely, propitiously, timely, divinely, prudently. ANTONYM: (adv) unfortunately

provisionally: (adv) tentatively, for the time being, provisorily, conditionally, momentarily, interimly, qualifiedly, briefly, transiently; (n) unless, without **provocation**: (n) challenge,

aggravation, exasperation, incitement, instigation, annoyance, excitement, stimulation, affront, incentive, defiance. ANTONYMS: (n) conciliation, arbitration, deterrent, disincentive, pleasure

provoke: (n, v) excite; (v) defy, offend, enrage, anger, irritate, arouse, kindle, inflame, invite, get. ANTONYMS: (v) please, soothe, mollify, deter, inhibit, dampen, arbitrate, allay, defuse, discourage, douse

provoking: (adj) provocative, annoying, aggravating, galling, maddening, vexatious, agitative, tempting, agitating; (adj, v) irritating, insulting. ANTONYMS: (adj) conciliatory, courteous, satisfying

**prow**: (n) bow, stem, fore, beak, nose, obeisance, forepart, curtain call, bowknot, bowing, arc

prowess: (n) bravery, valor, art, heroism, proficiency, mastery, expertise, gallantry, intrepidity, chivalry, skill. ANTONYMS: (n) inability, ineptitude

prowl: (v) creep, loiter, sneak, slink, range, roam, skulk, linger, lurch; (n) rove, traverse

prudence: (n) foresight, economy, frugality, caution, care, forethought, providence, circumspection, judgment, deliberation; (adj, n) wisdom. ANTONYMS: (n) imprudence, profligacy, generosity, hindsight, recklessness, extravagance

prudent: (adj, v) discreet; (adj) cautious, circumspect, reasonable, chary, economical, careful, frugal, deliberate, advisable, canny. ANTONYMS: (adj) imprudent, reckless, spendthrift, stupid, careless, unwise, unsafe, tactless

puffing: (adj) gasping, breathless, panting, bloated, bouffant, breathing heavily, out of breath, distended, puffed; (n) expansion, snorting

pugnacious: (adj) belligerent, bellicose, combative, aggressive, quarrelsome, warlike, contentious, argumentative, hostile, martial, peevish. ANTONYMS: (adj) peaceable, friendly

pugnaciously: (adv) belligerently, warlikely, fightingly, argumentatively, combatively, militantly, peevishly, martially, disputatiously, aggressively, contentiously

pulpit: (n) platform, dais, ambo, lectern, hustings, stump, rostrum, forum, desk, stand, state

punish: (v) amerce, discipline, castigate, chasten, chastise, penalize, strike, avenge, pay, beat, execute. ANTONYMS: (v) excuse, exonerate, pardon, reward, commend

**punning**: (adj) macaronic, facetious; (n) paronomasia, wordplay, fun, alliteration, annomination

puny: (adj) weak, petty, feeble, frail, tiny, small, minute, measly, runty, paltry, trivial. ANTONYMS: (adj) muscular, brawny, strong, significant, fit, huge, enormous, robust, considerable

**puppy**: (n) pup, cub, youth, doggy, whelp, younker, dog, brat, child, youngster, frankfurter

purgation: (n) purification, abreaction, katharsis, lustration, cleaning, cleansing, cleanup, clearing, purging, purge, colonic purge: (v) clean, expurgate, eradicate,

purge: (v) clean, expurgate, eradicate clear, scour, remove, purify, make clean, liquidate; (n) catharsis, purification. ANTONYMS: (n, v) binge; (v) rehabilitate, castigate

purging: (n) purge, catharsis, purgation, cleaning, cleanup, purification, clearing, katharsis, abreaction; (adj) purifying, purgatorial

purification: (n) defecation, purge, refinement, catharsis, purgation, purging, refining, cleaning, cleansing, cleanup, rectification. ANTONYMS: (n) debasement, dirtying, contamination

**purified**: (adj) refined, clean, pure, cleared, cleaned, cleansed, corrected, chastened, sublimated, sanitary, pured

purifying: (adj) purging, purgatorial, antiseptic, expurgatory, ablutionary, remedial; (v) cathartic, abstergent; (n) purification

puritan: (adj) blue, puritanic, puritanical, Methodist, formalist, religionist; (n) precisian, devotee, sanyasi, yogi; (v) coquette

purport: (n, v) aim, amount; (n)
intent, drift, intention, meaning,
end, effect, design; (v) mean,
propose

pursuits: (n) diversion, duties
purveyor: (n) provider, grocer,
contractor, vendor, seller, procurer,
supplier, proveditor; (n, v) victualer;

- (v) quartermaster, restaurateur. ANTONYM: (n) buyer
- puzzle: (adj, v) perplex, confuse, embarrass; (n) enigma, riddle, mystery, maze; (n, v) nonplus; (v) confound, mystify, baffle. ANTONYMS: (v) clarify, placate, explain; (n) explanation
- puzzling: (adj) enigmatic, confusing, incomprehensible, mysterious, cryptic, obscure, knotty, enigmatical, complicated, ambiguous, abstruse. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, straightforward, explicable, comprehensible, enlightening
- **pyre**: (n) pile, heap, funeral, funeral pyre, stake, wake, mound, hair, fire, funeral pile
- pythagorean: (n) Pythagorean tuning quaint: (adj) odd, funny, picturesque, comical, fanciful, curious, whimsical, strange, queer, peculiar, droll. ANTONYMS: (adj) modern, ordinary, dull
- quaintly: (adv) unusually, oddly, curiously, weirdly, singularly, peculiarly, queerly, strangely, outlandishly, charmingly, pleasingly
- quarrel: (adj, n, v) dispute; (n, v) fight, feud, brawl, row, altercation, argue, conflict, squabble; (n) dissension, difference.

  ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, reconciliation, acceptance, concord, consensus; (v) agree
- quarrelling: (adj) at variance, in dispute, in disagreement, in conflict; (n) dissension
- quartered: (n) quartering, quarters
  quelled: (adj) quenched, allayed,
   extinguished, extinct
- **querist**: (v) inquirer, inquisitor, inspector, investigator, quizzer, questioner, catechist, examiner
- questionable: (adj) arguable, debatable, fishy, equivocal, suspicious, uncertain, doubtful, moot, controversial, disputable; (adj, v) fallible. ANTONYMS: (adj) unquestionable, indisputable, certain, irrefutable, trustworthy, acknowledged, plausible, unambiguous, conclusive, strong, reputable
- quicken: (v) accelerate, hasten, hurry, dispatch, animate, expedite, advance, enliven, precipitate; (n, v) forward, speed. ANTONYMS: (v) decelerate, delay
- quickened: (adj) hasty, rapid, passionate, intoxicated

- quickens: (n) couch grass quickest: (adv) most quickly quickness: (n) celerity, expedition, promptness, alacrity, agility, speed, dispatch, dexterity, fleetness, hurry, readiness. ANTONYMS: (n) awkwardness, delay, ineptness
- quietus: (n, v) coup de grace, finishing stroke; (n) rest, death, respite, decease, demise, release, absolution, obit; (v) deathblow
- quiver: (adj, n, v) shudder, shiver, tremble, shake; (v) flicker, flutter, vibrate; (n, v) palpitate, quaver; (n) vibration, tremor
- quoting: (n) citation
- rabble: (n) crowd, masses, trash, herd, canaille, people, rout, ragtag, horde, gang, riffraff
- racked: (adj) assured, confident, miserable
- radiant: (adj, v) bright, glittering, lustrous, beamy, glorious; (adj) beaming, luminous, effulgent, lucid, glowing, beautiful. ANTONYMS: (adj) gloomy, dark, pale, unhappy
- raging: (adj) hot, angry, fierce, irate, wild, infuriated, enraged, vehement, heated; (adj, n) mad, rabid. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, mild, contained
- railing: (n) balustrade, rail, barrier, guardrail, banister, fence, pale, paling, breastwork, handrail; (adj, n) invective
- rainbow: (n) tortoise shell, tulip, sunbow, spectrum, peacock, dream, chimera; (adj) multicolored, motley, kaleidoscopic, colorful
- raiser: (n) grower, agriculturist, sodbuster, planter, granger, husbandman, farmer
- rampart: (n) wall, fortification, earthwork, guard, embankment, barricade, defense, barrier; (v) battlement, circumvallation; (n, v) vallum
- ramus: (n) branch
- ranked: (adj) stratified, hierarchal, graveled, hierarchical, bedded, hierarchic
- ransom: (v) redeem, repair, extricate; (n, v) rescue, blackmail, repurchase; (n) deliverance, ransom money, assessment, benevolence, excise raphael: (n) Raffaello Santi
- rapidity: (n) expedition, quickness, promptness, dispatch, celerity, haste, velocity, pace, fleetness, promptitude, speed. ANTONYM: (n) tardiness
- rapture: (n) joy, bliss, delight,

happiness, exaltation, elation, exultation, enchantment; (adj, n) enthusiasm; (n, v) transport; (adj, n, v) passion. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, boredom, misery, gloom, agony, hell, despair

- rapturous: (adj) overjoyed, enraptured, rapt, delighted, rhapsodic, blissful; (adj, v) ravishing; (v) ardent, passionate, fond, erotic. ANTONYM: (adj) down
- rase: (v) erase, raze, efface, expunge, destroy, cancel, dismantle, pull down, level, bulldoze, ruin ratifying: (adj) affirmative,
- obsignatory, confirmative, positive, dogmatic; (n) passing, agreement
- rationally: (adv) logically, sanely, judiciously, wisely, coherently, sagaciously, lucidly, justly, reasonably, sensibly, practically. ANTONYMS: (adv) irrationally, illogically, emotionally, foolishly, unconvincingly, unreasonably
- ravenous: (adj) hungry, greedy, avid, famished, gluttonous, voracious, rapacious, insatiable, edacious, covetous, predatory. ANTONYM: (adj) moderate
- ravish: (v) charm, enrapture, rape, violate, delight, captivate, defile, deflower, force, transport, enchant. ANTONYM: (v) disenchant
- ravished: (adj) ecstatic, overjoyed, rapturous, defiled
- reactionary: (adj, n) reactionist, diehard, counter-revolutionary; (n) reactionaries, bourbon, reaction, diehard; (adj) right; (v) conflicting, antagonistic, regressive. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) progressive, radical; (adj) liberal, broadminded
- readiness: (n) facility, ease, expedition, preparation, promptness, knack, dexterity, eagerness, quickness, fitness; (adj, n) alacrity. ANTONYMS: (n) reluctance, delay
- realization: (n) accomplishment, awareness, fulfillment, implementation, comprehension, realisation, fruition, actualization, completion, grasp, performance. ANTONYMS: (n) failure, unconsciousness, abandonment, ignorance
- reap: (v) harvest, gain, glean, gather, obtain, cut, receive, earn, acquire; (adj, v) mow; (adj) clip.
  ANTONYMS: (v) lose, scatter reappear: (v) recur, come back,

appear, repeat, be restored, get back, happen again, haunt, persist, revert, resume. ANTONYM: (v) disappear

reasonableness: (n) rationality, reason, equity, justice, fairness, moderation, sanity, likelihood, common sense, modestness, moderateness. ANTONYMS: (n) unreasonableness, excessiveness

reasoned: (adj) coherent, rational, sound, logical, valid, reasonable, carefully considered, intelligent, heavy, healthy, good. ANTONYM: (adj) confused

rebellious: (adj) insubordinate, mutinous, disaffected, defiant, disobedient, contrary, contumacious, insurgent, stubborn, unruly, malcontent. ANTONYMS: (adj) docile, conventional, obedient, conformist, content, conforming, cooperative, loyal, meek, submissive, obliging

rebuilt: (adj) fixed rebuke: (n, v) reprimand, rebuff, reproach, chide, blame, reproof, lecture, check; (v) castigate, berate; (n) admonition. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise, compliment; (v) commend, acknowledge, approve; (n) approval

acknowledge, approve; (n) appr rebuked: (adj) reproved, admonished, chastened

recapitulate: (v) repeat, sum up, enumerate, reiterate, resume, summarize, narrate, recite, brief, restate, reword

recapitulation: (n) recap, outline, summary, resume, epanodos, review, palingenesis; (v) capitation, dead reckoning, muster, poll. ANTONYM: (n) cenogenesis

recesses: (n) penetralia, bowels, inside

recitation: (n) reading, narration, narrative, description, rehearsal, lesson, account, practice, exercise, oration, explanation

reciting: (v) recite

reckless: (adj) careless, rash, foolhardy, hasty, incautious, extravagant, daring, desperate, brash; (adj, v) imprudent, wanton. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, prudent, sensible, wise, responsible, parsimonious, considered, safe, guarded, dutiful, discreet

recklessness: (n, v) imprudence; (n) rashness, carelessness, desperation, extravagance, heedlessness, negligence, temerity, adventurism, audacity, neglect. ANTONYMS: (n) care, carefulness, consideration,

forethought, parsimony, deliberation, discretion, regard, restraint, thoughtfulness

reckoning: (n) calculation, computation, bill, score, computing, liquidation, clearance; (n, v) count, enumeration, account, estimation

reclining: (adj, v) leaning; (adj) recumbent, decumbent, accumbent, lying, lying down, obligatory, idle, prone, prostrate; (n) relaxation

recollect: (v) recall, remember, recognize, call to mind, remind, mind, think, call up, reminisce, refresh, retrieve. ANTONYM: (v) forget

recollection: (n, v) mind; (n) reminiscence, recall, anamnesis, remembrance, recognition, memento, memorial, commemoration, memoir, retrospect reconciled: (adj) consistent, resigned,

serene, meet; (v) made friends, affriended. ANTONYM: (adj) unreconciled

reconcilement: (v) agreement, accordment; (n) rapprochement, accommodation, propitiation, mediation, atonement, appeasement, pacification, reconciliation statement, expiation

recounting: (n) narration, relation, recital, narrative, tale, story, notification, practice, recitation, relating, unfolding

recourse: (n, v) appeal, haunt; (n) refuge, expedient, resource, assistance, alternative, dependence, haven, asylum, request

**recoverable**: (v) remediable, sanable; (adj) redeemable, retrievable, curable, recuperable

rector: (n) minister, pastor, president, manager, principal, governor, clergyman, curate, parson, director, priest

recurrence: (n) return, repetition, frequency, reversion, comeback, relapse, reiteration, reappearance, throwback, recrudescence, atavism

recurring: (adj) frequent, intermittent, cyclic, periodic, periodical, repeated, repetitive, customary, accustomed, memorable, chronic. ANTONYMS: (adj) irregular, intermittent, spasmodic, unusual, rare, occasional

reddish: (adj) ruddy, rosy, crimson, cherry, rufescent, rufous, rubicund, scarlet, rubedinous, ruby, colorful

redeem: (v) recover, deliver, atone, recoup, expiate, ransom, reclaim, save, free, extricate, refund.

ANTONYMS: (v) hock, pawn, lose reeds: (n) Poaceae, grass family, Graminaceae, family Gramineae, family Graminaceae, bamboo, Gramineae

reef: (v) furl, rive; (n) rock, eyot, ait, island, isle, islet, cliff, bank, shelf refine: (v) cultivate, clear, polish, purify, civilize, elaborate, improve, smelt, chasten; (adj, v) clarify; (adj) purge. ANTONYMS: (v) spoil, cloud, dilute, contaminate, brutalize

refined: (adj) delicate, cultured, graceful, polite, gentle, urbane, courteous, courtly, cultivated; (adj, n) polished, pure. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrefined, raw, uncouth, rough, careless, crude, brute, boorish, plain, lowly, inelegant

refinement: (n) culture, cultivation, purification, gentility, polish, finish, civilization, nicety, courtesy, grace; (adj, n) elegance. ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, adulteration, tackiness, uncouthness, tastelessness, inelegance, coarseness, clumsiness, awkwardness, crudeness

refining: (n) purification, decontamination, cleansing, nuance, nicety, polish, processing; (v) clarify, refine, explain; (adj) educating

reflex: (adj) involuntary, instinctive, unconscious, catoptric; (v) reflection, reflexion, resilient; (n) reaction, burping, eructation, physiological reaction. ANTONYMS: (adj) voluntary, deliberate

reformation: (n) correction, amendment, improvement, redress, reclamation, rectification, conversion, innovation, repair, renewal, reassembly

reformer: (n) emancipationist, abolitionist, activist, hippie, demonstrator, crusader, insurgent, prohibitionist, meliorist, rebel, radical

refractory: (adj) disobedient, obstinate, perverse, recalcitrant, stubborn, fractious, contumacious, headstrong, unruly, wayward, restive

refrain: (v) desist, cease, fast, avoid, leave off, withhold, stop, spare; (adj, v) forbear; (n) chorus, hold. ANTONYMS: (v) participate, act, consume, persist

refutation: (n) confutation, denial, rebuttal, refutal, contradiction, negation, answer, refusal, defense, falsification, defence. ANTONYM: (n) agreement

- refute: (v) confute, contradict, controvert, oppose, disprove, rebut, deny, invalidate, negate, gainsay; (n, v) answer. ANTONYMS: (v) agree, prove, avow, confirm, corroborate
- **refuting**: (n) determination, finding, falsification, debate, falsifying; (adj) refutatory
- regards: (v) regard, esteem, respect, consideration, honor, motive; (adj) abord, devoir; (n) greeting, relation, duty
- regenerating: (adj) regeneratory regimen: (n) government, diet, treatment, cure, rule, medical treatment, plan, regiment, system, conduct, watching one's weight
- regrets: (n) regret, declination, RSVP regrets only, acknowledgement, acknowledgment, celestial latitude, excuse, Dec
- regularity: (n) constancy, evenness, punctuality, orderliness, uniformity, steadiness, method, accuracy, discipline, system, exactness. ANTONYMS: (n) lateness, asymmetry, irregularity, disorder, variability, variety, abnormality
- regulate: (adj, n, v) adjust; (v) manage, control, determine, fix, influence, govern, modulate, regularize; (n, v) direct, order. ANTONYMS: (v) destabilize, intensify
- regulating: (adj) regulatory, controlling, changeable, restrictive; (n) regulation, limitation, indexation, adjustment, ordinance, autoregulation, regularisation. ANTONYM: (adi) fixed
- rehearsing: (n) rehearsal reillumine: (v) reillume, reilluminate reins: (n) bridle, Reins of a vault, reins of government, wheel, gearshift, joystick, pedals, potency, power, powerfulness
- rejecting: (adj) negative, dismissive, disdainful; (n) rejection
- rejects: (adj) culls; (n) castoffs rejoice: (v) cheer, gladden, triumph, revel, jubilate, gratify, gloat, please; (n, v) delight, glory, joy. ANTONYMS: (v) lament, mourn, complain
- rejoicing: (n) exultation, jubilation, happiness, joy, mirth, pleasure, elation; (adj) jubilant, exultant; (v) rejoice; (adv) rejoicingly. ANTONYM: (n) sadness
- rejoin: (v) reply, retort, respond, join, return, come back, riposte, meet, rebut, answer back, react

- relic: (n, v) memento, souvenir, keepsake; (n) token, trace, remainder, remains, antique, relict, vestige, remnant
- relish: (n, v) enjoy, fancy, love; (n) gusto, liking, palate, enthusiasm, enjoyment; (adj, n) flavor; (v) bask, like. ANTONYM: (n) apathy
- **remembrance**: (n, v) recollection, mind; (n) commemoration, memorial, recall, relic, monument, keepsake, reminiscence, recognition; (adj, n) memento
- reminiscence: (n) memory, recall, recollection, anamnesis, memoir, nostalgia, mind, recollections, retrospect, memorial, memento
- remnant: (n) end, relic, remains, residue, fragment, leftover, survival, trace, oddment, balance, stub
- remorse: (n) penitence, contrition, repentance, regret, guilt, penance, sorrow, grief, qualm, ruefulness, compassion. ANTONYM: (n) shamelessness
- remorselessly: (adv) mercilessly, relentlessly, unmercifully, ruthlessly, brutally, unrelentingly, fiercely, grimly, unpityingly, inhumanly, callously
- remoter: (adj) ulterior, further, more distant
- remuneration: (n, v) compensation, restitution; (n) recompense, pay, reward, earnings, wage, payment, salary, fee, consideration
- rendering: (n) interpretation, translation, rendition, reading, representation, version, interpreting, depiction, execution, construction, explanation
- renew: (v) renovate, rejuvenate, restore, refresh, refurbish, modernize, revive, overhaul, reinstate, reiterate, mend. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, kill
- renounce: (v) abandon, abdicate, abjure, relinquish, desert, reject, give up, disown, deny, quit, forgo. ANTONYMS: (v) acknowledge, reassert, assert, continue, retain, persist
- renown: (n, v) fame; (n) glory, distinction, eminence, notoriety, kudos, name, popularity, prestige, prominence, honor. ANTONYMS: (n) infamy, commonness; (adj) anonymity
- repast: (n) feast, food, banquet, dinner, lunch, refection, collation, luncheon, spread, potluck, eating repay: (v) recompense, reward, pay,

reimburse, compensate, refund, render, requite, remunerate, return, redeem. ANTONYM: (v) penalize

- repel: (v) nauseate, revolt, disgust, repulse, sicken, rebuff, decline, displease, drive back, reject, refuse. ANTONYMS: (v) draw, charm, welcome, incline, yield, please, delight
- repertory: (n) depot, repertoire, cache, store, assemblage, repository, deposit, collection, accumulation, stock, list
- **replying**: (adj) respondent, responsive
- repose: (n, v) recline, peace, lie, calm; (n) composure, ease, quiet, leisure, recreation, relaxation; (v) lay. ANTONYMS: (n, v) work; (n) activity, panic, agitation
- repress: (v) inhibit, crush, quash, control, suppress, put down, bridle, keep down, subdue, restrain, reduce. ANTONYMS: (v) declare, liberate, incite
- repressed: (adj) inhibited, suppressed, pent-up, forgotten, subconscious, inner, composed, reserved, unconscious
- reproach: (n, v) blame, rebuke, charge, abuse, disgrace, reprimand, invective; (v) accuse, chide, condemn; (n) condemnation. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise; (v) commend, approve; (n) compliment, commendation, approval
- reproachful: (adj, v) condemnatory, disparaging, vituperative; (adj) admonitory, opprobrious, disgraceful, shameful, reproving, objurgatory, contumelious; (v) denunciatory
- reproaching: (adj) opprobrious reprobation: (n) disapproval, condemnation, blame, reproof, expostulation, remonstrance, censure; (adj) hardening, backsliding, perversion, declension
- reprove: (n, v) censure, blame, chide, rebuke, reprehend; (v) admonish, reproach, lecture, condemn, warn, castigate. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, approve, commend
- **republicanism**: (v) democracy; (n) political theory, political orientation, ideology
- repudiating: (adj) disdainful repugnance: (n) horror, hatred, antipathy, inconsistency, repulsion, nausea, revulsion, loathing, detestation, aversion, hate. ANTONYMS: (n) pleasantness, love,

attractiveness, adoration, liking repulsion: (n) repugnance, repellency, hatred, antipathy, aversion, horror, disgust, repulse, distaste, hate, rebuff. ANTONYMS: (n) charm, love, magnetism, appeal, liking, delight

reputed: (adj) supposed, renowned, famous, conjectural, assumed, famed, eminent, prominent, alleged, well-known, distinguished.

ANTONYM: (adj) known

resemble: (v) seem, imitate, compare, correspond, to resemble, agree, look, simulate; (adj) look like; (n) resemblance; (adv) alike

resembling: (adj, prep) like; (adj) analogous, parallel, similar, conformable, approximate, semblative, other, probable; (prep) similar to, reminiscent of. ANTONYM: (prep) unlike

resent: (v) resentful, envy, grudge, begrudge, embittered, angry, abhor, take offense, take umbrage, take exception, loathe. ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, wish, accept

reserving: (adj) reserve, deducting, save, reservative, prevent, not including, leaving out, keeping, excepting, except

reside: (adj, v) inhabit, dwell; (v) exist, occupy, remain, live, belong, abide, lodge, populate, lie

residue: (adj, n) remainder, remains, residual; (n) balance, rest, leftover, end, remnants, residuum, surplus; (v) remain

resisting: (adj) tough, tenacious, sequacious, stringy, tough as whitleather, resistant, recalcitrant, opposing, making resistance, loath; (v) resist

resolvable: (adj) resoluble, soluble, reconcilable respectability: (n) reputation,

propriety, reputability, decorum, honesty, honourableness, gentility, dignity, repute, politeness; (adj) respectableness. ANTONYMS: (n) decadence, indecency, immorality

respectful: (adj) deferential, mannerly, dutiful, courteous, attentive, obedient, reverential, regardful, reverent, polite, humble. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheeky, impudent, insolent, rude, contemptuous, disobedient, scornful, nasty, sneering, irreverent, impolite

respecting: (prep) about, regarding, apropos, as regards, pertaining to;

(adj) relative, not absolute, pertaining, referring, loving respondent: (adj, v) responsive; (n)

answerer, accused, responder, interviewee, prisoner, examinee, panel, appellee; (adj) answering, corresponding

restatement: (n) paraphrase,

demythologisation, demythologization, mythologisation, mythologization, repetition, rewording, version, summary, interpretation

restorative: (adj, n) analeptic, corrective; (adj) recuperative, healing, revitalizing, renewing; (n) tonic, remedy, cure, bracer, prophylactic. ANTONYM: (adj) injurious

**restoring**: (n) reinstatement, restoration; (adj) grateful, refective, comforting, refreshing

restrain: (adj, v) confine; (v) control, rein, hold, curb, bind, contain, prevent, limit, repress; (n, v) check. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, promote, unleash, impel, release, intensify, increase, free, extend, express, support

restrained: (adj) reserved, quiet, modest, temperate, discreet, limited, reasonable, subdued, unemotional, reticent, guarded. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrestrained, open, flashy, immoral, ostentatious, wild, loud, theatrical, outgoing, extravagant, emotional

restricting: (adj) confining, constrictive, constraining, restrictive, narrowing, close, crowded, clannish, constricting

resurrection: (n) renewal, rebirth, revival, regeneration, restoration, resurgence, reanimation, restitution, renaissance, resumption, resuscitation. ANTONYM: (n) disappearance

retainers: (n) entourage, suite retaliate: (v) turn upon, pay, repay, revenge, retort, talion, strike, take revenge, reciprocate, reply, requite

retaliation: (n) reprisal, revenge, requital, vengeance, payment, return, talion, repayment, reciprocation; (v) retortion; (adv, n) measure for measure. ANTONYM: (n) acceptance

retentive: (adj) strong, retaining, absorbent, adhesive, glutinous, closefisted, cohesive; (v) fast, closely adhering, deep, dissipated reticence: (n) reserve, reservation, uncommunicativeness, taciturnity, silence, reticency, restraint, secrecy, reservedness, muteness, humility. ANTONYMS: (n) chattiness, honesty, nerve, boldness, openness, arrogance, brashness

reticent: (adj, v) reserved, close; (adj) restrained, quiet, distant, modest, uncommunicative, shy, taciturn, retiring, bashful. ANTONYMS: (adj) expansive, chatty, helpful, outgoing, uninhibited, forthcoming, extrovert, careless, affable, arrogant, open

retiring: (adj) humble, diffident, bashful, reserved, unassuming, unobtrusive, timid, coy, shy, sheepish, meek. ANTONYMS: (adj) assertive, bold, outgoing, forward, incoming, arrogant, brash, sociable

retort: (n, v) answer, return, riposte; (n) response, rejoinder, repartee, comeback; (v) respond, repay, rejoin, alembic

retrace: (v) recollect, recall, trace, etymologize, recognize, construct, call up, bethink oneself, speculate; (n, v) reconsider; (n) flyback

retract: (v) abjure, rescind, cancel, renounce, repudiate, forswear, repeal, recoil, reverse, revoke, recall. ANTONYMS: (v) maintain, validate, enact

retribution: (n) reprisal, judgment, penalty, punishment, requital, repayment, recompense, reward, revenge, retaliation, restitution. ANTONYM: (n) reward

revelations: (n) gospels, acts, apocalypse, Epistles

revelry: (adj, n) revels; (n) debauchery, festivity, orgy, merriment, revel, carnival, mirth, gaiety, carousal, jollification

revengeful: (adj) vengeful, vindictive, punitive, unforgiving, vindicative, resentful, despiteful, spiteful, implacable, rancorous, vengeable. ANTONYM: (adj) charitable

revered: (adj) August, sacred, esteemed, venerated, respected, beloved, holy, venerable, blessed, celebrated, honored. ANTONYMS: (adj) secular, disreputable

reverence: (n, v) respect, regard, fear, worship, honor, esteem, adore; (n) deference, adoration, admiration, awe. ANTONYMS: (n) despise, disrespect, irreverence, disdain, disparagement, contempt; (v) dishonor

reverenced: (adj) revered, reverend, sacred, sublime, venerated, August,

- inspiring awe, emeritus, empyreal, empyrean, profoundly honored reverend: (n) preacher, clergyman, parson, rector, vicar, pastor, priest, minister, churchman; (adj) respectable, honourable
- reverential: (adj, v) deferential; (adj) reverent, dutiful, solemn, pious, devotional, devout, obedient, godly, religious; (v) decorous. ANTONYM: (adj) irreverent
- reverently: (adv) reverentially, piously, religiously, devoutly, deferentially, worshipfully, solemnly, godly, courteously, politely, obsequiously. ANTONYM: (adv) irreverently
- revert: (v) lapse, relapse, go back, recur, reverse, regress, reflect, recover, resume, get back, come back. ANTONYMS: (v) improve, progress
- reverted: (adj) inverse
  revile: (v) abuse, rail, vilify, reproach,
  taunt, vituperate, attack, denounce;
- (n, v) malign; (adj, v) profane, blaspheme. ANTONYM: (v) praise
- revive: (v) refresh, invigorate, quicken, renew, renovate, restore, resuscitate, animate, awake, repair, recreate. ANTONYMS: (v) demoralize, kill, slay, stagnate, abandon, die, drain
- reviving: (adj) bracing, restorative, renewing, refreshing, revival, brisk, enlivening, recuperative, reanimating, promoting recuperation, giving life. ANTONYM: (adj) soothing
- revolted: (adj) sickened, sick, shocked, horrified, disgusted, appalled
- revolting: (adj) offensive, loathsome, nasty, foul, detestable, nauseating, nauseous, horrible, hideous, repellent; (adj, v) sickening. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, pleasant, tasty, delicious, edible, lovable, delightful, appealing, lovely
- revolving: (adj) turning, rotating, vertiginous, rotary, gyratory, wheeling, rotative, rotatory, rotational; (n) revolution; (v) revolve
- rhapsodist: (n) seer, rhapsode, highflier, fanatic, enthusiast, poet, fanatico
- rhetorical: (adj) pompous, declamatory, grandiloquent, bombastic, forensic, flowery, magniloquent, turgid, embellished, ornate; (n) rhetoric. ANTONYMS: (adj) quiet, unrhetorical

- rhetorician: (n) elocutionist, panegyrist, eulogist, demagogue, demagog, Cicero, public speaker, talker, rhetor, speaker, spellbinder rhythmical: (n) measured, rhythmics; (adj) numerose, cyclical, recurrent,
- (adj) numerose, cyclical, recurrent, cadenced, periodic, serial, diatonic, poetic, numerous. ANTONYM: (adj) unrhythmical
- riches: (n, v) money; (n) affluence, abundance, fortune, opulence, plenty, prosperity, exuberance, treasure, resources; (v) gold
- riddle: (n) mystery, conundrum, puzzle, problem, poser; (n, v) screen, sieve; (v) puncture, strain, filter, sift. ANTONYM: (n) explanation
- ridicule: (n, v) laugh at, deride, banter, insult, taunt, scorn, scoff; (n) derision, mockery; (adj, n) irony; (v) jeer. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise, respect; (v) approve; (n) approval, admiration
- ridiculously: (adv) absurdly, preposterously, idiotically, silly, stupidly, farcically, nonsensically, laughably, comically, derisorily, foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) impressively, solemnly, sensitively, rationally
- rife: (adj) prevailing, current, rampant, plentiful, predominant, epidemic, copious, numerous, common, regnant, abundant. ANTONYMS: (adj) scarce, limited, rare, sparse
- right-angled: (adj) orthogonal righteous: (adj) fair, right, good, moral, virtuous, honest, just, correct, honorable; (adj, n) pious, godly. ANTONYMS: (adj) immoral, wicked, unrighteous, bad, corrupt, unethical, unjust, wrong, poor
- righteousness: (n) goodness, integrity, morality, piety, holiness, justness, virtue, justice, equity, uprightness, rectitude. ANTONYMS: (n) wickedness, decadence, injustice, unrighteousness, badness
- rightful: (adj) right, lawful, just, justifiable, proper, legal, equitable, licit, real, genuine, true. ANTONYMS: (adj) wrongful, illegal, unlawful, fake
- rigidly: (adv) severely, sternly, strictly, firmly, stringently, unbendingly, rigorously, uncompromisingly, stubbornly, unyieldingly, strongly. ANTONYMS: (adv) loosely, amenably

- riotous: (adj) disorderly, turbulent, boisterous, insubordinate, lawless, insurgent, tumultuous, rebellious, dissolute, profuse, profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) orderly, manageable, peaceful, tranquil, gentle, conventional
- risible: (adj) laughable, comical, ridiculous, ludicrous, funny, farcical, amusing, comic, droll, humorous, preposterous
- rite: (n) custom, observance, form, ritual, liturgy, ceremonial, formality, office, practice, sacrament, worship
- rites: (n) money, finances, wake, religion
- roast: (v) burn, grill, bake, joke, heat, quiz, fry, cook, scorch; (n, v) ridicule; (n) joint. ANTONYMS: (v) cool, praise
- robbing: (adj) freebooting, practicing freebootery; (n) theft
- robe: (n, v) dress, array, vest, garb, apparel; (v) clothe, attire, rig; (n) gown, cloak, garment
- **robes**: (n) garb, fine clothes, costume, best clothes
- rogue: (n, v) rascal; (n) knave, imp, miscreant, crook, cheat, impostor, swindler, cad, villain, scoundrel
- roused: (adj) excited, awake, susceptible, emotional, elated, interested
- rousseau: (n) Le douanier Rousseau rubbing: (n) friction, abrasion, grinding, detrition, rub, grip, resistance, chafe, sweat, travail, massage. ANTONYM: (n) smoothness
- rudely: (adv) crudely, coarsely, uncivilly, indelicately, impolitely, roughly, harshly, vulgarly, brutally, meanly, wildly. ANTONYMS: (adv) respectfully, graciously, decently, civilly, properly, attentively, agreeably, tactfully, thoughtfully, acceptably, gently
- rudiments: (n) grammar, fundamentals, elements, alphabet, abecedary, primer, vade mecum, bedrock, element, fundamental principle, rudiment
- rugged: (adj, n) rough, jagged, ragged; (adj) difficult, rocky, tough, broken, robust, hilly, strong, craggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) delicate, easy, smooth, flimsy, fragile, soft, weak, feeble
- ruinous: (adj) harmful, baleful, disastrous, calamitous, injurious, deleterious, dilapidated, blasting, baneful, pernicious; (adj, n)

subversive. ANTONYMS: (adj) beneficial, fortunate, harmless

rushes: (n) rush, grasses

rust: (v) corrode, eat, oxidise, tarnish, oxidize, gnaw; (n) decay, corrosion, fungus, oxidation; (adj) rusty

rustic: (n) countryman, peasant; (adj) rural, pastoral, boorish, country, bucolic, provincial, hick, agrestic, countrified. ANTONYMS: (adj) town, urbane, cultured, city, sophisticated

sacredness: (n) sanctity, inviolability, godliness, saintliness, innocence, piety, devotion, blessedness, sanctitude, righteousness, goodness sacrifices: (n) holocaust

sacrilege: (n) profanity, profanation, violation, curse, defilement, sacrilegiousness, impiety, vulgarity; (adj, n) blasphemy, desecration; (v) violate. ANTONYMS: (n) piety, respectfulness, reverence, consecration

sagacity: (n, v) discernment, judgment, penetration; (n) judiciousness, sense, prudence, gumption, acumen, perspicacity; (adj, n) discretion, wisdom. ANTONYM: (n) foolishness

sage: (adj) sagacious, discerning, intelligent, prudent, judicious, learned, profound, knowing; (adj, v) grave; (n) philosopher, scholar

sailor: (n) seaman, seafarer, tar, bluejacket, gob, boatman, navigator, navy man, lascar, Panama, leghorn

salutary: (adj) beneficial, salubrious, good, healthful, healthy, wholesome, helpful, curative, benign, useful, advantageous

salute: (v) greet, hail, kiss, accost, acknowledge, buss; (n) salutation, bow, salaam; (n, v) address, compliment

sameness: (n) equality, resemblance, monotony, similarity, identicalness, parity, unvariedness, oneness, likeness, dullness, tedium.

ANTONYMS: (n) variety, variation, uniqueness, inconsistency, contrast, variability

sanction: (n, v) warrant, countenance, assent, consent, license; (v) approve, okay, authorize; (n) endorsement, permission, authority. ANTONYMS: (v) forbid, prohibit, disapprove, reject, outlaw, debar; (n, v) ban, veto; (n) reward, prohibition, refusal sanctioned: (adj) approved,

legitimate, authorized, canonical, official, legal, accepted, canonic,

orthodox; (v) allowed; (adj, v) privileged

sanctioning: (n) approbation, confirmation, permission, approval, agreement

sanguine: (adj) hopeful, optimistic, bloody, rubicund, confident, crimson, cheerful, buoyant, sanguineous; (adj, n) red, florid. ANTONYMS: (adj) pessimistic, gloomy, doubtful

sanitary: (adj) clean, healthful, pure, unpolluted, uncontaminated, antiseptic, disinfected, salubrious, sterile, spotless, sanitarian. ANTONYMS: (adj) unsanitary, unhygienic, insanitary

sapless: (adj) feeble, infirm, weakly, dry, decrepit, weak, faint, thirsty, flat; (v) juiceless, strengthless

satiety: (n) surfeit, repletion, fullness, glut, fill, saturation, disgust, cloyment, ennui, satisfaction

satire: (n) sarcasm, lampoon, mockery, parody, ridicule, caricature, burlesque, quip, spoof, derision; (v) squib

satirical: (adj) satiric, cutting, mordant, mocking, ironic, biting, scornful, sardonic, derisive; (adj, n) keen; (n) ironical. ANTONYM: (adj) sympathetic

satisfactorily: (adv, v) well, fully, rightly; (adv) sufficiently, satisfyingly, fairly, amply, enough, gratifyingly, competently, pleasingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unsatisfactorily, inadequately, intolerably, badly, negatively

saviour: (n) deliverer, rescuer, savior, redeemer, Christ, saver, liberator, recoverer, messianic, Jesus Christ, Jesus

scandalous: (adj) infamous, disgraceful, ignominious, outrageous, opprobrious, shocking, disreputable, disgusting, dishonorable; (adj, v) base, foul. ANTONYMS: (adj) proper, seemly, honorable, appealing, complimentary, reputable, admirable

scaring: (adj) appalling scholastic: (adj, n) academic; (adj) scholarly, pedantic, school, learned, erudite; (n) pedant, purist; (v) savant, blue, enlightened

**schooled**: (adj) instructed, tutored, expert, sophisticated, full-fledged, taught, scholarly

schoolmaster: (n) master, preceptor, pedagogue, headmaster, dominie, teacher, principal, educator, head, Lutjanus apodus, housemaster scimitar: (n) sabre, cutlass, falchion,

scimitar: (n) sabre, cutiass, faiction, sword, broadsword, cavalry sword, knife, scimiter

scipio: (n) Scipio africanus, Scipio africanus major, Publius Cornelius Scipio africanus major, Scipio the elder, Publius Cornelius Scipio

scold: (v) reprimand, chide, berate, rebuke, abuse, lecture, reproach, rail, grouch; (n, v) nag; (adj, n) shrew. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, compliment, approve

scolding: (n) rebuke, lecture, castigation, admonition, reproof, objurgation, chiding, dressing, jobation, scold, rating. ANTONYMS: (n) compliment, approval

scorching: (adj) hot, sweltering, scalding, baking, broiling, boiling, sultry, stifling, torrid; (v) fiery, flaming. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, fresh, cool

scorn: (v) despise, contemn, reject; (n, v) ridicule, neglect, disregard, deride, slight; (n) contempt, derision, mockery. ANTONYMS: (n, v) respect, praise; (v) appreciate, revere, value, approve, admire, accept; (n) admiration, commendation, humility

scrape: (n, v) scratch, graze, score, mark; (v) rub, pare, rake, grate, chafe, abrade; (n) abrasion

scraps: (n) garbage, odds and ends, scrap, bits, food waste, leftover, trash, waste, oddments, leftovers, residue

scripture: (adj, n) gospel; (n) bible, book, Holy Writ, canon, writ, inscription, writing, Vulgate, fact, Holy Scripture

scriptures: (n) scripture, Holy Bible scruple: (adj, v) hesitate, demur, pause; (n) hesitation, qualm, misgiving, distrust, objection; (n, v) mistrust; (v) falter, question

**sculptor**: (n) carver, artist, sculptress, engraver, cutter, sculptors, statuary, lin, statue maker, sculpturer, modeler

seaman: (n) seafarer, tar, gob, sailor, bluejacket, jack, navigator, bargee, bargeman, boatswain, bosun seamy: (adj) sordid, squalid, crummy, dirty, morally degraded, infirm, scruffy, flyblown, enfeebled, disreputable, debilitated.

ANTONYMS: (adj) salubrious, respectable, wholesome

seasoning: (n) flavor, flavoring,

- flavouring, seasoner, spice, dash, salt, zest, sauce, relish, cardamon seaweed: (n) algae, wrack, tang, seamoss, seaware, sea wrack, heed, sea tang, seagrass, ware, reit
- **sect**: (n) denomination, clan, religion, party, order, cult, category, clique, class, group, Unit sect
- securely: (adv) surely, safely, closely, solidly, steadily, assuredly, strongly, tightly, fixly, setly, stably. ANTONYM: (adv) insecurely
- sedition: (n, v) rebellion, insurrection, mutiny; (n) disloyalty, fomentation, disobedience, treason, instigation, violation, unrest, uprising.

  ANTONYM: (n) loyalty
- seditious: (adj) incendiary, rebellious, insurgent, subversive, disloyal, insubordinate, mutinous, factious, turbulent, lawless, revolutionary seduced: (adj) profaned, infatuated,
- seeker: (n) searcher, hunter, quester, applicant, gadabout, soul, someone, somebody, examiner, zetetic, searcher beetle

fascinated

- seeming: (adj) ostensible, superficial, illusory, outward, probable, deceptive, specious; (adj, n) appearance, semblance; (n) aspect, show. ANTONYMS: (adj) actual, deep, inner
- seer: (n) prophet, augur, diviner, oracle, forecaster, visionary, clairvoyant, illusionist, conjuror, idealist, predictor
- seize: (v) catch, capture, grab, arrest, clutch, get, apprehend, receive, annex, clasp; (n, v) grapple.
  ANTONYMS: (v) baulk, relinquish, restore, surrender, give, remove
- seizing: (v) seize; (n) seizure, clutches, prehension, taking, apprehension, capture, infection; (adj) catching, galling, controlling
- self-asserting: (adj) brash self-consciousness: (n) embarrassment, inhibition
- self-control: (n) self-discipline, patience, forbearance, abstinence, temperance, temper, composure, discipline, self-command, selfpossession, balance
- self-defence: (n) self-defense self-evident: (adj) axiomatic, obvious, apparent, demonstrable, perspicuous, proverbial, unquestionable
- **self-government**: (n) self-control, restraint, self-command, selfmastery, liberty, freedom, discipline,

willpower, independence self-indulgence: (n) dissipation, pleasure, merriment, enjoyment, decadence, excess

- self-interest: (n) selfishness selfishness: (n) greed, egotism, greediness, meanness, individuality, opportunism, expedience, individualism, self, selfness, selfish. ANTONYMS: (n) altruism, selflessness, sensitivity,
- self-love: (n) egoism, vanity, pride, arrogance

thoughtfulness, conformity,

generosity

- **self-mastery**: (n) self-government, self-restraint, discipline
- self-respect: (n) pride, self-esteem, dignity, face, honesty
- self-restraint: (n) restraint, abstinence, reserve, moderation, self-mastery, self-command, will, discipline, avoidance, willpower
- self-sufficing: (adj) self-sufficient, closed
- **self-supporting**: (adj) self-sustaining, self-sufficient, closed
- sellers: (n) Peter Sellers
- semblance: (adj, n) color; (n) resemblance, appearance, look, aspect, air, image, similarity, pretense, guise, pretext. ANTONYM: (n) difference
- semicircle: (n) arch, semi-circles, half circle, half-circle, plane figure, arc,
- senseless: (adj) foolish, mindless, preposterous, pointless, irrational, absurd, stupid, insensible, idiotic, fatuous, purposeless. ANTONYMS: (adj) meaningful, wise, conscious, provoked, prudent, useful, worthwhile
- sensibility: (adj, n, v) feeling, notion; (n, v) sensation, appreciation, sense; (n) emotion, sensitivity, consciousness, perceptivity, awareness; (adj, n) sentiment.
- sensual: (adj, v) luxurious, voluptuous; (adj, adv) fleshly; (adj) animal, lascivious, sexy, sexual, libidinous, lewd, gross, licentious

ANTONYM: (n) insensitivity

- sensuality: (n) sensualism, animalism, sensualness, lust, carnality, concupiscence, animal gratification, bodily enjoyment, hedonism, sensationalism, debauchery
- **sentimentalism**: (v) demureness, minauderie, mock modesty, prudery; (n) sentiment,

emotionalism, sentimentality, sob story, virtuosity

sentiments: (n) breast

- separable: (adj) dissociable, severable, detachable, isolatable, removable, discernible, movable, distinguishable; (adj, v) partible; (v) discerptible, scissile. ANTONYM: (adj) fixed
- separates: (n) coordinates
- separating: (v) parting, partible; (n) division, separation, severance, unscrambling, unraveling, removal; (adj) separated, disjoining, graduating
- sepulture: (n, v) interment, inhumation; (n) sepulchre, entombment, grave, mausoleum, funeral, sepulcher, burial chamber, repository, monument
- **sequel**: (n) sequence, result, issue, aftermath, continuation, continuance, outcome, consequence, ending, upshot, outgrowth.
  ANTONYM: (n) prelude
- serf: (n) helot, servant, villein, slave, cottier, cotter, bondsman, tike, tyke, menial, vassal
- seriousness: (n) earnest, earnestness, graveness, importance, staidness, solemnity, sincerity, consequence, sobriety, austerity, soberness. ANTONYMS: (n) flippancy, insignificance, frivolity, giddiness, jollity, triviality, cheerfulness, joking, joviality, unimportance, playfulness
- **sermon**: (n) discourse, oration, speech, address, homily, preachment, harangue, preaching, exhortation, predication; (n, v) lecture
- serpent: (n) snake, ophidian, viper, snake in the grass, reptile, rattlesnake, colubrid, contrafagotto, cor anglais, hautboy; (v) goose
- serviceable: (adj) practical, helpful, handy, profitable, beneficial, effective, useful, convenient, efficient, operative, practicable. ANTONYMS: (adj) impractical, unusable, unserviceable, useless, flimsy, worthless
- servile: (adj) abject, obsequious, base, fawning, ignoble, sordid, subservient, cringing, slavish; (adj, n) mean, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) bossy, assertive
- servility: (n) sycophancy, obsequiousness, subservience, meanness, abjectness, flattery, obedience, humility,

- submissiveness, servileness, yoke severally: (adv) separately, respectively, singly, variously, sundrily, independently, particularly, several, distinctly, apart; (adj, adv) one by one
- severed: (adj) cut off, cut, broken, separate, Severn, disconnected, rent off, disrupt, disengaged, torn, disrupted
- shabby: (adj) poor, abject, mean, mangy, low, sorry, decrepit, worn, sordid, ragged; (adj, v) frayed. ANTONYMS: (adj) pristine, elegant, opulent, honorable, decent, new, neat, comfortable, tasteful, strong, respectful
- shadowy: (adj) indistinct, misty, dark, faint, obscure, hazy, gloomy, vague, shady, insubstantial, dusky. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, palpable, light, distinct, open
- **shakes**: (n) hangover, jitters, nervousness, tension, anxiety
- sham: (adj, adv, n, v) counterfeit; (adj, n, v) fake; (adj, v) pretend, put on; (adj, n) imitation, phony; (v) feign; (adj) false; (n) fraud, impostor, falsehood. ANTONYMS: (adj, v) real; (n) original, truth, truthfulness, honesty; (adj) valid
- shameful: (adj) scandalous, dishonorable, opprobrious, shocking, ignominious, disreputable, despicable; (adj, v) foul, base, gross, black. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, noble, dignified, admirable, faultless, reputable, glorious, compassionate, praiseworthy, commendable, excellent
- **sharpening**: (n) grinding, training, filing, dressing, acumination, aggravation; (adj) abrasive
- shave: (v) scrape, reduce, pare, cut, brush, chip, whittle, crop; (adj, v) clip, shear, lop. ANTONYMS: (v) augment, expand, lengthen
- **shedding**: (n) molting, abscission, fluffing, effusion, moulting, biological process, desquamation, sloughing, emission; (adj, n) peeling; (adj) flaking
- shipwreck: (n, v) ruin; (adj, v) sink; (v) defeat, scuttle, destroy, fail; (n) hulk, accident, wreckage, wrack, ruination
- shipwright: (n) Wright, ship builder shod: (adj) shoed, calced, booted; (v) clad, costume. ANTONYM: (adj) discalced
- shoemaker: (n) bootmaker,

- dressmaker, cordwainer, boot maker, maker, shaper, souter, Crispin
- shoemaking: (n) cobbling, trade, craft shopkeeper: (n) merchant, tradesman, merchandiser, shopman, seller, storekeeper, florist, hosier, market keeper, cleaner, dealer
- **shores**: (n) coast, seaboard, seashore, shoreline. ANTONYM: (n) interior
- shortened: (adj) abridged, cut, short, condensed, curtailed, reduced, cut short, scarce, unfinished, truncated, telescoped
- shortness: (n) lack, abruptness, brusqueness, curtness, briefness, shortage, conciseness, gruffness, curtailment, short, shortcoming, ANTONYMS: (n) tallness, height, longness, wordiness, courtesy
- short-sighted: (adj) shortsighted, unwise, stupid, narrow-minded, crazy, ill-advised, half-baked, foolish, improvident
- showy: (adj, v) pretentious, brilliant; (adj) gaudy, garish, flashy, loud, flamboyant, dashing, gay; (adj, n) magnificent, fine. ANTONYMS: (adj) tasteful, restrained, discreet, plain, dull, quality
- shrank: (v) minify
- shrewd: (adj) sharp, astute, keen, piercing, clever, cunning, bright; (adj, v) sagacious, knowing, crafty, prudent. ANTONYMS: (adj) foolish, gullible, naive, soft, candid, dim, innocent, guileless, obtuse, indiscriminate
- shrewdly: (adv) sagaciously, smartly, brightly, sharply, craftily, cunningly, perceptively, cleverly, artfully, cannily, wisely. ANTONYMS: (adv) foolishly, innocently, ineptly, naively
- shrink: (adj, v) recoil; (n, v) flinch, wince; (v) contract, shorten, lessen, diminish, cower, reduce, quail, decrease. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, enlarge, grow, stretch, swell, bloom, rise, inflate
- shrouded: (adj) hidden, covered, veiled, cloaked, secret, wearing a veil, unseen, ulterior, masked, enclosed, misty
- shudder: (adj, n, v) shake, quake, tremble; (n, v) quiver, twitch, thrill; (n) quivering, shivering, chill, frisson; (v) flutter
- shuffle: (v) mingle, blend, hobble, muddle, drag, scuff, equivocate, prevaricate, ruffle, mix; (n, v) shamble. ANTONYMS: (v) remain,

- tidy, leave
- sickly: (adj, adv) poorly; (n) invalid; (adj) sick, ailing, pale, sallow, indisposed, morbid, diseased; (adj, n, v) infirm; (adj, v) faint. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, bitter, robust
- **sieve**: (v) filter, riddle, strain, shovel, mop, separate, broom; (n, v) sift; (n) strainer, sifter, colander
- silenced: (adj) mute, muffled, disabled
- silenus: (n) forest God, satyr silliness: (n) absurdity, foolishness, folly, nonsense, giddiness, fatuousness, fatuity, lunacy, idiocy, inanity, stupidity. ANTONYMS: (n) logic, maturity, wisdom, responsibility, sensibleness
- simile: (n) figure of speech, analogy, comparison, compare, resemblance, likeness, similarity, allegory, similitude, parable; (adj) metalepsis
- similitude: (n) resemblance, similarity, comparison, image, picture, simile, alikeness, equivalence, kinship, analogy; (adj, n) semblance. ANTONYMS: (n) difference, unlikeness
- simpleton: (n) fool, blockhead, dolt, dunce, numskull, ninny, nincompoop, booby, sap, dummy, dullard
- single-minded: (adj) honest, unyielding, unwavering, uncompromising, unbending, stubborn, steady, steadfast, rigid, relentless, purposeful
- singly: (adv) one by one, separately, independently, severally, solely, respectively; (adj, adv) alone, only, merely; (adj) single, particularly. ANTONYM: (adv) multiply
- singular: (adj, n) extraordinary; (adj) odd, individual, particular, peculiar, phenomenal, rare, queer, single, quaint, exceptional. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, normal, together, usual, customary
- sinning: (n) sin, hell, evildoing, original sin, mortal sin; (adj) errant, corrupt, faulty, morbid, peccant, evil siren: (n) Delilah, alarm, warning, mermaid, syren, CIRCE, temptress, harpy, femme fatale, alert; (adj)
- fascinating sirens: (n) Sirenidae, family Sirenidae sirs: (n) gentlemen, messieurs
- skilful: (adj) adroit, practised, experienced, cunning, expert, dextrous, clever, adept, proficient, practiced, good

- **skulk**: (v) prowl, sneak, creep, lie in wait, steal, malinger, shirk, conceal, slink; (adj) hide; (n, v) cower
- **skulking**: (adj) surreptitious, stealthy, lurking, hiding, clandestine, backstairs, concealed, cowardly; (n) malingering, dodging, evasion
- **slain**: (v) slay; (adj) overthrown, mat, fallen, dejected, cast down
- **slander**: (n, v) scandal, insult, calumniate; (adj, v) defame, asperse; (n) defamation, aspersion, obloquy, disparagement; (adj, n) abuse; (v) denigrate. ANTONYMS: (n, v) acclaim; (v) compliment; (n) acclamation
- slavery: (adj, n) bondage, involuntary servitude; (n) servitude, drudgery, thraldom, thrall, yoke, travail, vassalage, thralldom, toil. ANTONYMS: (n) liberty, freedom
- slavish: (adj) servile, menial, fawning, cringing, abject, obsequious, subservient, submissive, ignoble, contemptible, pliant
- slaying: (n) homicide, assassination, slaughter, carnage, killing, bloodshed, elimination, parricide, fratricide, destruction, liquidation
- sleepy: (adj) drowsy, dozy, slow, lazy, hypnotic, inactive, comatose, dull, heavy, dreamy; (adv) asleep. ANTONYMS: (adj) awake, energetic, vigorous, clear, lively, refreshed
- sleet: (n, v) rain; (n) hail, snift, downfall, glaze, metabolic residue, moment; (v) come down
- slenderly: (adv) slightly, thinly, sparely, meagerly, tenuously, sveltely, scantily, flimsily, lithely, gauntly, frailly. ANTONYM: (adv) amply
- slew: (n) wad, turning, sight, heap, stack, lot, flock; (v) rotate, slue, swerve, veer
- slighting: (adj) belittling, deprecating, deprecative, deprecatory, depreciatory, pejorative, derogatory, offensive, invidious, abusive; (n) disregard. ANTONYM: (adj) polite
- slily: (adj) on the sly
- **slinking**: (adj) stealthy, surreptitious, furtive
- slippery: (adj, v) precarious; (adj) crafty, glib, elusive, oily, glossy, untrustworthy, wily, unreliable, tricky; (v) questionable.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) rough, dry,

reliable, straight, direct **slough**: (n) bog, fen, quagmire, morass, mire, swamp, marish, sludge; (v) shed, exuviate, cast

slowness: (n) dilatoriness, lethargy, lateness, backwardness, awkwardness, deliberation, dullness, sluggishness, stupidity, indolence; (adj, n) delay.

ANTONYMS: (n) haste, quickness, rapidity, intelligence, cleverness, nimbleness, speediness,

promptness, punctuality, vigor slumbering: (adj) dormant, asleep, latent. ANTONYM: (adj) awake

smallness: (n) diminutiveness, minuteness, slightness, puniness, insignificance, scantiness, delicacy, scantness, narrowness; (adj) meagerness, slenderness. ANTONYM: (n) tallness

smoothing: (n) fine cutting, smoothness, sleeking; (adj) sleek, even, not harsh, smooth porcelain, bland, not rough, moving equably, mild

smote: (v) smite

**smother**: (v) stifle, suffocate, choke, muffle, extinguish, put out, suppress, asphyxiate, hush up, gag, repress. ANTONYMS: (v) express, light, encourage

snatch: (n, v) pinch, snap, catch, grip; (v) abduct, clutch, kidnap, seize, jerk, capture, pluck. ANTONYM: (v) release

snatches: (n) grasp, gain, catch snivel: (n, v) blubber, sob, whine, sniffle, snuffle; (v) weep, whimper, sniff, wail, pule; (n) sniveling

- snub: (n, v) repulse, insult, cut, slight, put down; (v) disregard, offend, ignore, check, humiliate; (n) rebuke. ANTONYMS: (v) accept, acknowledge, notice, boost, include; (n) acceptance
- soar: (v) climb, hover, fly, mount, glide, leap, jump, lift, billow; (n, v) rise, increase. ANTONYMS: (v) decrease, drop, descend, collapse, sink
- sobriety: (n) temperance, seriousness, soberness, graveness, abstinence, earnestness, composure, sedateness, staidness; (adj, n) gravity; (adj) rationality. ANTONYMS: (n) excess, drunkenness, flippancy

socratic: (adj) inquiring

soda: (n) soda pop, soda water, sodium carbonate, sal soda, Leblanc process, sodium oxide, carbonated water, sodium bicarbonate, seltzer, cold drink, restorative softened: (adj) diffused, muffled, muted, quiet, slow, touched, sluggish, soften, pultaceous, subdued, low-key

softening: (adj) emollient, salving, relaxing; (v) soften; (adj, n) soothing; (n) maceration, mitigation, easement, mollification, inteneration, encouragement

softness: (n) mildness, kindness, flabbiness, flaccidity, suavity, downiness, gentleness, tenderness, faintness; (adj, n) delicacy; (adj) smoothness. ANTONYMS: (n) rigidity, hoarseness, brightness, hardness, volume, harshness, tone, noise, heaviness, firmness, loudness

solemn: (adj, n, v) serious; (adj, v) sober, important, sedate, devout, formal, demure; (adj) heavy, dignified, sacred; (adj, n) earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj) frivolous, cheerful, unceremonious, funny, playful, flippant, relaxed

solemnly: (adv) earnestly, gravely, majestically, stately, sternly, staidly, thoughtfully, soberly, formally, ceremoniously, importantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, flippantly

solitary: (adj) forlorn, only, alone, single, lonely, lone, sole, unaccompanied, isolated; (adj, n) recluse; (n) hermit. ANTONYMS: (adj) sociable, combined, common, outgoing

solitude: (n) desolation, loneliness, seclusion, privacy, aloneness, isolation, retirement, lonesomeness, retreat, desert, solitariness.
ANTONYMS: (n) companionship, closeness

solon: (n) national leader, Cicero, bacon, politician, magi, Magnus Apollo, Molotov, more, morris, Nestor, north

sometime: (adv) someday, once, one day, formerly, sooner or later; (adj) quondam, erstwhile, former, old, late; (adj, adv) sometimes

soothe: (n, v) comfort, allay, console, solace; (v) alleviate, palliate, ease, calm, mitigate; (adj, v) appease; (adj, n, v) assuage. ANTONYMS: (v) upset, irritate, aggravate, annoy, intensify, worry, enrage, scare, provoke, incite, disturb

soothed: (adj) composed soothing: (adj) calming, soft, smooth, pacifying, quiet, restful, bland, calm, assuasive; (adj, n) softening; (n)

- alleviation. ANTONYMS: (adj) upsetting, disturbing, hostile, scary, worrying, stimulating, exasperating, annoying, invigorating, painful, intimidating
- sooty: (adj) black, dark, dusky, smoky, pitchy, fuliginous, grimy, dingy, murky; (v) smutty; (adj, v) dusty
- sophist: (n) sophister, ratiocinator, scholar, reasoner, Tartfufe, pedant, Pecksniff, obscurantist, obfuscator, Pharisee, Jesuit. ANTONYM: (n) dilettante
- sophistical: (adj) insinuating, vermiculate, deceptive, evasive, fallacious, false, illogical, invalid, misleading, specious, wrong
- sordid: (adj) ignoble, nasty, foul, filthy, grimy, base, cheap, despicable, dishonorable, mucky, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) respectable, pleasant, wholesome, reputable, honorable, clean, attractive, humane
- nonorable, clean, attractive, numane sorrow: (n, v) regret, lament, grieve; (v) mourn; (n) mourning, heartache, repentance, remorse; (adj, n) sadness, misery; (adj, n, v) distress. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, delight, happiness, peace, hopefulness, cheerfulness, shamelessness, calm, content; (v) rejoice
- sorrowful: (adj) melancholy, doleful, sad, rueful, lugubrious, gloomy, dreary, grievous, piteous, unhappy, mournful. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, content, joyful, successful
- sorrowing: (adj) sorrowful, grieving, mournful, distressed, bereft, bereaved, unhappy, lamenting, regretful, sad; (n) cry. ANTONYM: (adj) joyful
- sounding: (n) investigation, depth, exploration, test; (adj) resounding, resonant, looking, audible, sonant, voiceful, hollow
- **sown**: (adj) sowed, seeded, planted, sative
- spangled: (adj) sequined, jeweled, bejewelled, jewelled, bejeweled, beady, beaded, bespangled, buttonlike, spangly, twinkling. ANTONYM: (adj) dull
- **spark**: (n, v) flicker, flash, gleam, glint, glitter; (n) light, glimmer, arc, flame, fire; (v) activate
- sparks: (n) fire
- spartan: (adj) severe, frugal, plain, strict, ascetic, rigorous, rigid, ascetical, nonindulgent, abstemious, harsh. ANTONYMS: (adj) luxurious, abundant, hedonistic, lavish, fussy

- spear: (n) harpoon, lance, pike, fizgig, prick, gig, javelin, shaft, halberd; (v) stab, spike
- specious: (adj) plausible, apparent, deceptive, seeming, ostensible, spurious, hollow, colorable, showy, illogical, misleading. ANTONYMS: (adj) logical, valid
- spectator: (n) eyewitness, observer, onlooker, witness, audience, beholder, viewer, watcher, spectators, looker, ogler. ANTONYM: (n) player
- speedily: (adj, adv) quickly, quick, immediately; (adv) rapidly, promptly, hastily, swiftly, fast, apace, hurriedly, fleetly.
- ANTONYMS: (adv) later, eventually speedy: (adj, v) rapid, prompt, fleet, swift; (adj) fast, agile, ready, immediate, cursory, hurried, brisk. ANTONYMS: (adj) leisurely, plodding
- spendthrift: (adj, n, v) prodigal; (adj) profligate, extravagant, lavish, wasteful, improvident, thriftless, dissipated; (n) spender, scattergood; (v) waster. ANTONYMS: (adj) thrifty, parsimonious, economical, sensible; (n) miser, scrooge, skinflint
- spindle: (n) axle, mandrel, pivot, arbor, shaft, mandril, axis, pin, hinge, bobbin, main spindle spirited: (adj) animated, frisky,
- energetic, racy, bold, gritty, quick, enthusiastic, dashing, peppy, brave. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritless, lifeless, feeble, cowardly, apathetic, lethargic, spineless, dull, solemn, sluggish, lackluster
- spite: (n) malice, grudge, hatred, malevolence, rancour, venom, rancor, maliciousness, ill will, animosity; (n, v) pique.

  ANTONYMS: (v) please; (n) benevolence, goodwill, love, affection, harmony
- splendour: (n) pomp, magnificence, lustre, splendor, luster, brilliancy, resplendence, luxury, grandeur, grandness, brilliance
- spoiled: (adj) bad, rotten, stale, spoil, coddled, pampered, corrupt, damaged, spoilt, putrid, rancid. ANTONYM: (adj) unspoiled
- spoiling: (n) spoilage, spoilation, despoliation, deterioration, detriment, erosion, indulgence, injury; (v) withering: (adj) easy, lenient
- **spoils**: (n) prize, stolen goods, booty, plunder, haul, swag, pickings,

- trophy, boodle, prize money, treasure
- spoilt: (adj) spoiled, blighted, be stunted, destroyed, unsound, corrupt, disordered, reproduced fraudulently, defective, defiled, big
- spontaneously: (adv) naturally, unaffectedly, impromptu, willingly, gratuitously, instinctively, impulsively, ad lib, easily; (adj, adv) freely, ad libitum. ANTONYM: (adv) deliberately
- sprinkled: (adj) scattered, speckled,
  wet, dotted
- spun: (adj) spined; (v) rotate, revolve spurious: (adj, adv, v) counterfeit; (adj, adv, n) false; (adj) phony, fake, illegitimate, bogus, specious, misbegotten, bastardly; (adj, n) bastard; (adj, v) pseudo.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) real, authentic, valid
- squalid: (adj) sordid, nasty, foul, seedy, filthy, grimy, abject, dingy, grubby, seamy, sleazy.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) clean, reputable, smart, respectable, fresh, comfortable, wholesome, habitable
- squared: (adj) squarer, squaring, agree, exact, balanced, even, equal, correspondent, quadrate, correspond
- stag: (v) spy, peach, denounce; (n) buck, dog, boar, cock, deer, roe, doe, reynard
- stain: (n, v) spot, blemish, tarnish, blot, dye, smear, disgrace, mark, soil, dirt, defile. ANTONYMS: (v) enhance, dignify, clean
- staleness: (n) triteness, mustiness, oldness, banality, camp, moldiness, collapse, dankness, obviousness, tiredness, dullness. ANTONYMS: (n) freshness, crispness, originality
- **starry**: (adj) sidereal, starlike, radiant, showy, gleaming, bright, lustrous, shiny, lucid, stellar, fulgent. ANTONYMS: (adj) starless, dull
- starvation: (n) inanition, famine, famishment, hungriness, privation, starving, malnutrition, dearth, poverty, scarcity, esurience
- starve: (v) fast, crave, lust, hunger, thirst, perish, be hungry, deprive, benumb; (adj, v) pinch; (adj) gripe. ANTONYMS: (v) feed, eat
- starving: (adj) famished, hungry, malnourished, voracious, skinny, undernourished, thin, empty, peckish; (adj, v) starved; (n) starvation. ANTONYMS: (adj) satiated, healthy

- stately: (adj) solemn, imposing, elegant; (adj, v) noble, dignified, grand, proud, great; (adj, adv) regal, majestic, royal. ANTONYMS: (adj) boisterous, humble, modest, lowly
- statesman: (n) politician, diplomat, politico, Cicero, bacon, solon, national leader, strategist, minister, schemer. Julian
- stationary: (adj) motionless, fixed, set, quiescent, permanent, immobile, steady, static, constant, unmoving, still. ANTONYMS: (adj) mobile, shifting, flowing
- statuary: (n) sculptor, carver, figuriste, modeler, chaser, statue, sculptress, assemblage, accumulation, aggregation, collection
- **stature**: (n) height, altitude, standing, tallness, prestige, figure, growth, status, quality, rank, greatness
- stead: (n) behalf, room, lieu, spot, location, station, space, seat, position, office, locality
- steadfast: (adj, v) solid, firm, permanent, loyal, fast, fixed, immovable, faithful; (adj) resolute, determined, steady. ANTONYMS: (adj) irresolute, disloyal, unreliable, undependable, uncommitted, weak, transient, fickle, compliant, acquiescent, inconstant
- steadiness: (adj, n) stability, firmness, steadfastness; (n) regularity, equilibrium, consistency, resolution, permanence, persistence, sureness; (adj) stableness. ANTONYMS: (n) unsteadiness, instability, unreliability
- steals: (adj) stolen; (n) stealing stealth: (n) stealing, furtiveness, stealthiness, slyness, larceny, thievery, theft, sneakiness, secretiveness, hiding; (adj) undercover. ANTONYM: (n) openness
- **steer**: (v) navigate, guide, direct, drive, aim, conduct, maneuver, run, manage; (n, v) lead, point
- **steerer**: (n) steersman, runner, hotel runner, touter, tout, coxswain, cox, shill, lure, bait, roper
- sterility: (n) barrenness, impotence, infecundity, poverty, sterileness, antisepsis, impotency, asepsis, dysgenesis, unproductiveness, aridity
- stern: (adj) rigid, rigorous, austere, hard, strict, grim, solemn, rough; (adj, v) harsh; (n) back; (adj, n) rear. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly,

- approving, lenient, funny, genial, gentle, kindly, lax, liberal, cheerful, flexible
- sternly: (adv) severely, strictly, austerely, harshly, rigidly, grimly, rigorously, stringently, seriously, relentlessly, solemnly. ANTONYMS: (adv) leniently, lightheartedly, kindly, warmly, cheerfully
- stimulating: (adj) exciting, rousing, stirring, thrilling, stimulant, interesting, brisk, bracing, irritating, provocative, inspiring. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, soothing, calming, soporific, boring,
- conciliatory, relaxing, uninteresting sting: (n, v) bite, hurt, con, pain; (v) prick, itch, irritate, prickle, goad, provoke, smart. ANTONYMS: (v) calm; (n) honesty
- stings: (adj) stung
- stirring: (adj) lively, exciting, alive, rousing, spirited, touching, thrilling, active; (n) agitation; (v) eventful, brisk. ANTONYMS: (adj) depressing, boring, inactive, dull, conciliatory, asleep, uninspiring, unimpressive; (n) suppression
- stocked: (adj) stocked with, furnished, full
- stoic: (adj) stoical, matter-of-fact, stolid, apathetic; (n) unemotional person, philosopher
- stoical: (adj, n) stoic; (adj) indifferent, patient, imperturbable, calm, spirited, princely, phlegmatic, exalted, elevated, lofty
- stolid: (adj) impassive, obtuse, stupid, heavy, doltish, bovine, insulse, expressionless, shallow, petty, apathetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) emotional, imaginative, exciting
- stooped: (adj) hunched, stoop, stooping, crooked, bended, not straight, inclined, not erect, arched, asymmetrical, droopy
- stooping: (adj) hunched, crooked, asymmetrical, not erect, not straight, corrupt; (n) patronage
- stout: (adj, n) sturdy, stocky, hearty; (adj) hardy, strong, robust, obese, husky, bold, corpulent, fleshy. ANTONYMS: (adj) thin, slim, flimsy, cowardly, slight, skinny, fragile, weak
- stoutly: (adv) sturdily, robustly, strongly, solidly, lustily, vigorously, toughly, resolutely, stockily, portly, obstinately. ANTONYM: (adv) feebly
- straightway: (adv) presently,

forthwith, directly, right, anon, immediately, at once, straightforth, promptly; (adj) straight, immediate

- strained: (adj) tense, labored, intense, constrained, laboured, unnatural, nervous, affected, taut, artificial, tight. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, calm
- **straining**: (n) effort, push, exertion, distortion, overrefinement, tension, endeavor, torture, twisting; (adj) arduous; (v) tighten
- **strait**: (adj) narrow; (n) pinch, pass, inlet, need, channel, crisis, poverty, difficulty; (adj, n) quandary; (n, v) dilemma
- straitened: (n) necessitous, pinched, distressed, put to it; (adj) narrow, poor, destitute, selfish, narrow views, exact, near
- strangeness: (n) oddity, oddness, quaintness, peculiarity, curiousness, abnormality, weirdness, foreignness, queerness, singularity, quirk. ANTONYMS: (n) familiarity, nativeness
- **stratagem**: (n) scheme, ruse, plan, trick, dodge, ploy; (n, v) contrivance, maneuver, deceit, intrigue; (adj, n) artifice
- **streaming**: (adj) flowing, flapping, detached, incoherent, baggy, slack, relaxed, loose, lax; (n) cyclosis; (v) disheveled
- strengthening: (n) fortification, concentration, reinforcement, consolidation, transformation, transmutation, reenforcement, reinforcing, intensification; (v) strengthen; (adj) bracing.

  ANTONYM: (n) weakening
- strenuously: (adv) energetically, zealously, arduously, severely, forcefully, earnestly, laboriously, busily, toilsomely, forwardly, hardly
- strewn: (adj) spread, distributed, disordered, strewed, confused, covered, diffuse, disconnected, disjointed, circulated, dispersed
- strictness: (n) harshness, severity, rigor, hardness, austerity, exactness, firmness, inclemency, stiffness, accuracy, precision. ANTONYMS: (n) leniency, lenience, laxity, flexibility, vagueness, inaccuracy
- strife: (n) discord, disagreement, dissension, conflict, competition, feud, fight; (adj, n, v) dispute, debate; (n, v) controversy; (adj, n) quarrel. ANTONYMS: (n) accord, cooperation, calm, peace
- strive: (v) endeavor, contend, contest,

- struggle, fight, attempt, combat, strain, work, aspire, aim
- striving: (n) nisus, pains, endeavor, strife, try, strain, attempt, strive, ambition, struggle, exertion. ANTONYM: (adj) unmotivated
- **stumble**: (adj, n, v) slip; (n, v) lurch, fall, err, stagger; (adj, v) blunder, flounder, fumble; (n) misstep; (v) hit, falter
- stupidity: (n) foolishness, nonsense, obtuseness, dullness, fatuity, absurdity, stolidity, slowness, denseness, idiocy, imbecility. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, logic, cleverness, shrewdness, wisdom, ability
- sturdy: (adj) strong, stout, solid, rugged, firm, mighty, robust, healthy, muscular; (adj, n) burly, brawny. ANTONYMS: (adj) flimsy, puny, fragile, rickety, slight, ramshackle, infirm, frail, feeble, delicate, soft
- styled: (v) titled, named, benempt styx: (n) Avernus, pit of Acheron, Stygian creek, Tartarus, Cocytus, river Styx
- **subdivide**: (v) divide, partition, separate, part, split, share, slice, zone, dissever, district, abscind
- **subdivision**: (n, v) division; (n) branch, section, segment, arm, episode, part, department, chapter, subsection, segmentation
- **subdue**: (adj, n, v) conquer; (v) overpower, crush, defeat, quell, quash, suppress, restrain; (n, v) reduce; (adj, v) repress; (adv, v) control. ANTONYMS: (v) incite, enliven, resist, submit
- subdued: (adj) quiet, muffled, dull, restrained, muted, tame, faint, repressed, low, meek; (adj, v) resigned. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, lively, uninhibited, unsubdued, rebellious, noisy, bright, elaborate, frivolous, upbeat
- subduing: (adj) aggressively haughty, conquering, domineering, insolent, overbearing, overcoming, overpowering, repressing, suppressive; (n) bondage, oppression
- subjection: (n) conquest, oppression, captivity, bondage, confinement, servitude, dependence, enslavement, slavery, repression, subjugation
- **subjectively**: (adv) randomly, capriciously, illogically, mentally, internally, individually, objectively,

- biasedly, without rhyme or reason, at random, by chance. ANTONYMS: (adv) objectively, impartially, logically
- **subjectiveness**: (n) sound judgment, judgement, judgment, perspicacity, sound judgement
- sublime: (adj, v) majestic; (adj) dignified, grand, lofty, magnificent, elevated, noble, exalted, glorious; (v) sacred, sublimate. ANTONYMS: (adj) poor, ridiculous
- sublimity: (adj, n) nobility, elevation, majesty, loftiness, splendor; (n) magnificence, dignity, greatness, sublimeness; (adj) solemnity, heroism
- substituted: (v) replace; (prep) deputed, delegated; (adj) substitutional
- subtracting: (n) calculation subversive: (adj, n) revolutionary; (n) destructive, insurrectionist, dynamiter, radical, revolutionist; (adj) insurgent, incendiary, disloyal, disruptive, ruinous
- succeeding: (adj) following, subsequent, after, consecutive, posterior, ensuing, consequent, successive, consequential; (adj, adv) later; (v) succeed. ANTONYMS: (adj) outgoing, preceding
- successively: (adv) in turn, one after the other, in succession, sequentially, serially, running, in order, gradually, subsequently, repeatedly, one after another
- suckle: (v) lactate, suck, breastfeed, foster, give suck, raise, nourish, draw, harbour; (n) nurture, dry nurse
- suckling: (n) infant, babe, baby, nursling, sucker, weanling, yearling, greenhorn, nursing, parasite; (adj) lactant
- sufferer: (n) victim, martyr, prey, casualty, invalid, depressive, diseased person, sick person, rheumatic, diabetic, neurotic
- **suffice**: (v) satisfy, do, answer, content, fulfill, be sufficient, qualify, function, be enough, suit, fulfil
- suffrage: (n) ballot, voice, franchise, poll, election, right to vote, voting, assistance, approval, testimony, recall
- suggestive: (adj, v) expressive; (adj) obscene, spicy, allusive, graphic, smutty, significative, narrative, meaningful, epic, implicative suicidal: (adj) ruinous, destructive,
- deadly, despairing, suicidical,

- dangerous, unsafe **suitor**: (n) plaintiff, suer, admirer, beau, candidate, complainant, gallant, boyfriend, applicant, petitioner; (n, v) wooer
- sullenness: (n) glumness, moroseness, moodiness, resentment, sourness, gloominess, brusqueness, sulk, gloom, doggedness, mumps. ANTONYM: (n) cheeriness sunburnt: (adj) brown, burnt,
- gloomy, fiery, sallow, adust **sundry**: (adj) several, different, diverse, assorted, miscellaneous, many, varied, mixed, divers, various; (n) sundries. ANTONYMS:
- (adj) uniform, homogeneous sunken: (adj) concave, depressed, submerged, empty, underwater, cavernous, recessed, gaunt, low, depression, submarine. ANTONYM: (adj) convex
- supercilious: (adj) proud, haughty, disdainful, lofty, contemptuous, contumelious, cavalier, lordly, arrogant, scornful, high and mighty. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, affable
- superfluity: (n) plethora, redundancy, superabundance, nimiety, overabundance, overplus, embarrassment, redundance, extravagance, surplus, glut. ANTONYM: (n) shortfall
- superfluous: (adj, v) spare; (adj) needless, extra, excess, excessive, unnecessary, surplus, pointless, superabundant, supernumerary, supererogatory. ANTONYMS: (adj) indispensable, important, essential, basic, pertinent
- superhuman: (adj) supernatural, heavenly, preterhuman, superman, epic, daring, godlike, gallant, brave, celestial, incredible. ANTONYM: (adj) normal
- **superintend**: (v) oversee, manage, direct, administer, control, run, supervise, govern, handle, overlook, inspect
- superintendence: (n) oversight, direction, management, inspection, control, government, surveillance, supervising, care, guidance, invigilation
- supernatural: (adj) mystical, preternatural, weird, superhuman, eerie, uncanny, unnatural, mysterious, ghostly, divine; (n) occult. ANTONYM: (adj) normal
- superseded: (adj) outmoded, archaic, extinct, obsolete, out of date, outdated

- superstition: (n) superstitious, taboo, religion, old wives' tale, superstitious notion, lore, folklore, fanaticism, fallacy, belief, magic. ANTONYMS: (n) science, truth superstitious: (adj) superstition, false,
- groundless, eerie, irrational, fallacious
- supplicating: (adj) imploring, soliciting, beseeching, entreating, petitioning, apologetic, begging, manifesting entreaty, petitory, piteous; (v) supplicate
- supposes: (adj) ridiculous, regulation, project, preposterous, plainly, suggestion, notions, irrational, absurd, fatuity, foolish
- supposing: (adv) admitting, conditionally, in case; (n) supposition, conjecture, thought, theory, assumption; (conj) although, what if; (v) suppose
- **supposition**: (n, v) conjecture; (n) assumption, hypothesis, presumption, premise, speculation, surmise, guess, supposal, thought, imagination. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, knowledge, proof, reality, practice
- supposititious: (adj, v) spurious, counterfeit; (adj) suppositious, suppositional, supposed, conjectural, bastard, factitious, false, illegitimate; (v) fabulous
- suppress: (v) subdue, silence, quell, check, stifle, restrain, subjugate, curb, crush, strangle, oppress. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, stimulate, incite, expose, declare, resist, confess, divulge, surrender, advertise, acknowledge
- suppressed: (adj) stifled, smothered, strangled, repressed, downtrodden, buried, hidden, pent-up, latent, untold; (n) subordinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) publicized, overt
- supremacy: (n) superiority, domination, sovereignty, authority, command, mastery, predominance, dominion, excellence, influence, leadership. ANTONYMS: (n) inferiority, weakness, subservience, powerlessness, subjugation
- supremely: (adv) sovereignly, perfectly, preeminently, utmostly, principally, extremely, greatly, paramountly, ideally, uppermostly, ultimately
- surfeited: (adj) full, gorged, perfect, satiate, sick, impaired, overfull, made pregnant, jaded, impregnated, plenteous
- surmounting: (n) triumph

**surround**: (v) gird, round, skirt, border, besiege, beset, envelop; (n, v) circle, inclose, ring, compass. ANTONYMS: (v) release, free

- suspiciousness: (n) mistrust, distrust, distrustfulness, dubiousness, misgiving, intuition, underhandedness, crookedness, dishonesty, hunch
- sustaining: (adj) underneath, alimentary, at the bottom of, comforting, filling, fundamental, healthy, profitable, rich; (n) continuation, maintenance
- sustenance: (n) living, food, maintenance, subsistence, fare, sustentation, provisions, nourishment, nutriment, aliment, livelihood. ANTONYM: (n) extras
- **swaddle**: (v) bind, swathe, bandage, envelop, sheath, lap, roll, enfold, sheathe, clothe, cocoon
- **swallows**: (n) sparrows, rooks, robins, Passeriformes, Hirundinidae, etc, order Passeriformes
- swarm: (n) host, horde, multitude, drove, throng, cloud, assembly; (n, v) mob; (v) teem, pour; (adj) shoal. ANTONYMS: (v) retreat; (n) few
- swathe: (v) envelop, swaddle, enfold, drape, wrap, clothe, bind, surround, cover; (n, v) swath; (n) wrapping. ANTONYM: (v) uncover
- sway: (n, v) command, rule, control, rock, stagger, roll; (v) oscillate, reel, lurch, shake; (n) reign.
  ANTONYMS: (v) stay, dissuade, discourage
- sweetly: (adv) pleasantly, sweet, mildly, melodically, melodiously, softly, syrupily, beautifully, pleasingly, dulcetly, fairly. ANTONYMS: (adv) discordantly, horribly, sharply, harshly, unkindly
- sweetness: (n) sugariness, sweet, redolence, pleasantness, fragrance, aroma, charm, perfume, amenity, niceness, kindness. ANTONYMS: (n) sourness, sharpness, unpleasantness, harshness, tastelessness, unkindness
- swell: (n, v) rise, heave, increase, wave, billow; (v) enlarge, expand, puff, grow, bloat; (adj, n) dandy. ANTONYMS: (v) deflate, desiccate, shrink, compress, concentrate, wane; (n, v) decline; (adj) bad, horrible, shabby, awful
- swelling: (n) protuberance, lump, swell, intumescence, growth, projection, prominence, bulge, dropsy; (adj, v) inflated; (adj)

growing. ANTONYM: (n) decline swiftness: (n) speed, haste, rapidity, celerity, acceleration, quickness, promptness, pace, velocity, agility, dispatch. ANTONYM: (n) clumsiness

- swinish: (adj) piggish, porcine, boorish, piggy, gluttonous, brutal, loutish, brutish, crapulous; (v) omnivorous, edacious
- syllogism: (n) prosyllogism, synthesis, reasoning, ratiocination, deductive reasoning, logic, Aristotelian logic
- symbolical: (adj) emblematic, emblematical, representative, figurative, sign, symbolics, allusive, exemplary
- symbolism: (n) symbolization, charactery, allegory, practice, distinctive mark, suggestion, symbolic, symbolics, symbol, pattern
- sympathise: (v) sympathize, commiserate, empathise, empathize, gather, infer, interpret, read, realise, realize, see
- sympathize: (v) pity, understand, condole, compassionate, feel, sympathise, identify with, empathize, have compassion, feel sorry for, feel for. ANTONYMS: (v) disapprove, disregard
- **symphony**: (n) concord, accord, sinfonie, cavatina, fantasia, overture, exordium, pastorale, concerto, roulade, symphonic music
- **symposium**: (n) regale, discussion, seminar, forum, wassail, dialogue, talk, meeting, symposion
- synthetical: (adj) chemical, semisynthetic, celluloid
- tablet: (n) slab, pad, pill, lozenge, monument, capsule, pellet, dragee, abacus; (adj) plate; (v) parchment
- taint: (n, v) blemish, disgrace, corrupt, spot, blot; (adj, v) defile, sully, pollute, contaminate; (n) pollution, contamination.

  ANTONYMS: (v) enhance, right, respect, disinfect, clean; (n) perfection, cleanliness; (adv) cheerfully
- tame: (v) break, subdue, soften, domesticate; (adj) meek, docile, bland, domestic, gentle, slow; (adj, v) moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, bright, unmanageable, interesting, untamed, inspiring, brilliant, colorful, rebellious, lively tamed: (adj) tame, broken,
- tamed: (adj) tame, broken, domesticated, under control, tamer,

## The Republic

meek, gentle, domestic, docile, controlled, cultivated

taming: (n) conditioning, training, breaking in; (adj) calming, humanizing

tangled: (adj) involved, complex, knotted, intricate, complicated, entangled, knotty, convoluted, disheveled, tousled, matted. ANTONYMS: (adj) tidy, straightforward, untangled, neat, simple

tartarean: (adj) diabolical, fiendish, Hadean, infernal, malicious, Plutonian, satanic, Stygian, devilish

tasting: (n) degustation, gustation, savoring, relishing, sample, gustatory sensation, gustatory perception, discernment, drinking, eating, feeding

tearing: (adj) fierce, violent, vehement, furious, ripping, ferocious; (n) lachrymation, lacrimation, riving ahead, tear, lancination

tease: (n, v) annoy; (adj, v) molest, harry, worry, bait; (v) taunt, kid, pester, plague, provoke, mock. ANTONYM: (v) placate

tedious: (adj) tiresome, boring, dreary, slow, heavy, humdrum, irksome, lifeless; (adj, v) monotonous, arid, dry. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, varied, easy, readable, lively, entertaining, enthralling, brisk, concise, exotic, pleasant

telamon: (n) atlas, map collection, column, book of maps, atlas vertebra, pillar

temperament: (n) character, nature, disposition, constitution, personality, quality, spirit, humor, equanimity, composure, mettle

temperance: (n) moderation, abstinence, abstemiousness, control, restraint, moderateness, soberness, forbearance, measure, gravity, asceticism. ANTONYMS: (n) intemperance, wildness

temperate: (adj) sober, moderate, restrained, calm, reasonable, abstemious, gentle, balmy, abstinent, frugal, equable.
ANTONYMS: (adj) violent, unrestrained, stormy, cool, extreme, hot, immoderate, wintry, rough

temperately: (adv) calmly, abstemiously, soberly, softly, mildly, restrainedly, continently, coolly, balmily, gentlely, measuredly tempered: (adj) attempered, temperate, moderated, toughened, subdued, set, enured, proportioned, properly adapted, emotionally hardened, treated. ANTONYM: (adj) untempered

temporal: (adj) secular, earthly, profane, lay, carnal, mortal, fleeting, temporary, transient, impermanent, mundane. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritual, otherworldly, mental, permanent, perpetual, lasting

tempt: (adj, v) attract, allure; (v) entice, decoy, charm, inveigle, invite, coax, seduce, fascinate, attempt. ANTONYMS: (v) discourage, appall, repel

tenacity: (n) persistence, determination, resolution, doggedness, resolve, pertinacity, strength, persistency, fortitude, firmness; (adj) obstinacy. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, slackness, weakness, cowardice, flexibility, indecision

tending: (n) care, hairdressing, aid, treatment, attention, babysitting, incubation; (adj) apt, conducive, prone, disposed

tenfold: (adj) decuple, decimal, tenth, containing ten

tennyson: (n) Alfred Tennyson, first baron Tennyson

tenor: (n) purport, meaning, substance, tendency, spirit, tone, mood, effect, set, temper; (adj) soprano

tentative: (adj) doubtful, provisional, experimental, probationary, trial, shy, empirical, exploratory, undecided, provisionary, indefinite. ANTONYMS: (adj) sure, certain, conclusive, firm, ultimate, decisive, exact, mature, bold

tents: (n) encampment

tenure: (n) tenancy, occupancy, occupation, term of office, incumbency, administration, copyhold, ownership, presidency, freehold, land tenure. ANTONYMS: (n) vacancy, title

tetrachord: (n) meson, parhypate theatricals: (n) Melpomene and Thalia, sock, Thespis, acting, dramaturgy, buskin, cothurnus themis: (adj) Astraea, nemesis

thence: (adv) therefore, thus, therefrom, thereof, consequently, then, so, thereafter, thenceforth, since, on account of

therein: (adv) in this, in there thereupon: (adv) hereupon, next, then, immediately, therefore, therewith, in the sequel, close upon, upon which, whereupon, accordingly

thersites: (n) satirist, slanderer, backbiter, calumniator, defamer, lampooner, libeler, traducer, sir Benjamin backbite

thetis: (n) Poseidon, triton, naiad, Nereid

thicket: (n) brake, coppice, brush, grove, spinney, bush, brushwood, cluster, underbrush, undergrowth, underwood

thickly: (adv) deeply, heavily, thick, viscously, thicksetly, solidly, dully, dumbly, compactly, closely, turbidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) thinly, finely, slightly, sparsely, loosely, distinctly

thieving: (n) larceny, stealing, robbery, embezzlement, misapplication, misappropriation, peculation, defalcation, burglary, thievery; (adj) thievish.

ANTONYMS: (adj) philanthropic, benevolent

thinker: (n) intellect, mind, longhead, head, intellectual, creative thinker, theorist, sage, wise person, pundit, ruminator. ANTONYM: (n) realist

thinness: (n) slenderness, slimness, tenuity, leanness, rarity, narrowness, slightness, fluidity, fluidness, maceration, emaciation. ANTONYMS: (n) plumpness, stoutness, width, thickness, fatness, roundness, coarseness, strength

thirst: (n, v) hunger, lust, wish; (n) longing, yen, craving, hankering, dryness, appetite; (v) starve, crave. ANTONYM: (n) dislike

thirsting: (adj) dry, parched, dehydrated

thirsty: (adj) eager, arid, parched, avid, keen, athirst, greedy, absorbent, ambitious; (v) craving, hungry. ANTONYMS: (adj) quenched, satisfied, disinterested, wet

thither: (adv) hither, whither, on that point, in that respect, at that place, in that location; (adj) further, ulterior, remoter, succeeding, more distant

thorny: (adj) prickly, difficult, spiny, briery, hard, sharp, burry, awkward, barbed, knotty, tricky. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, smooth, easy, straightforward, unpointed, solvable, dull

thoughtless: (adj, v) careless, heedless, rash, improvident; (adj)

- reckless, inattentive, hasty, unthinking, negligent, neglectful, imprudent. ANTONYMS: (adj) considerate, considered, heedful, prudent, kind, cautious, mindful, responsible, attentive, observant, sensible
- threads: (n) duds, clothing, apparel, clothes, wear, vesture, coat, cords, dress, garb, garment
- thrice: (adv) three times, thirdly thriving: (adj) successful, prosperous, prospering, booming, rich, affluent, growing, lush, lucky, healthy, luxuriant. ANTONYMS: (adj) declining, languishing, arid, moribund, dying, disappearing, poor, unwell
- throng: (n, v) swarm, herd, mob, flock, press; (n) multitude, host, horde, mass, assembly, concourse. ANTONYMS: (n) trickle, few; (v) disperse
- thunderbolt: (n) bolt of lightning, lightning, thunder, thunderclap, bombshell, surprise, flash, shackle, quarrel, streak of lightning, streak
- thunderstorm: (n) storm, electrical storm, electric storm, tempest, hurricane, gale, downpour, rainstorm, shower, snowstorm; (adj) earthquake
- tiara: (n) crown, coronet, circlet, miter, triple crown, cap of maintenance, jewelled headdress, jewelry, tiar
- tightening: (n) clamping, thinning, tapering, alteration, modification, narrowing, reduction, adjustment. ANTONYM: (n) expansion
- tillage: (n) agriculture, farming, cultivated land, tilth, husbandry, culture, land, fallow, vintage, farmland, plowland
- timid: (adj) shy, afraid, diffident, coy, bashful, nervous, frightened, apprehensive, modest; (adj, adv) cowardly; (adj, n) cautious. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) brave; (adj) confident, bold, fearless, resolute, forward, daring, brazen, extrovert, brash, talkative
- tinker: (v) monkey, fiddle, putter, mess around, toy, tamper, vamp; (n) cobbler, mender, Scomber japonicus, chub mackerel
- tire: (n, v) bore, jade; (adj, n, v) fatigue; (v) exhaust, harass, fag, weary, wear, pall, prostrate; (n) tyre. ANTONYMS: (v) interest, invigorate, energize tiresome: (adj) tedious, dull,

laborious, irksome, monotonous, annoying, slow, dreary, bothersome; (adj, v) wearisome, troublesome. ANTONYMS: (adj) stimulating, fun, varied, soothing, pleasant, brisk, exciting, convenient, refreshing

- toil: (n, v) labor, work, drudge, sweat, drudgery, grind, labour, travail; (v) plod; (n) effort, exertion. ANTONYMS: (n) pastime, entertainment, fun, relaxation; (v) laze, neglect
- toiling: (adj) labouring, drudging, busy
- toils: (n) net, cobweb, meshes, mesh toilsome: (adj) arduous, hard, difficult, strenuous, backbreaking, severe, heavy, painful, tough, grueling; (adj, v) wearisome
- tolerable: (adj) passable, mediocre, bearable, fair, middling, reasonable, adequate, respectable, endurable, sufferable; (adj, v) satisfactory. ANTONYMS: (adj) intolerable, exceptional, unbearable, unsatisfactory, bad, inadequate, appalling, inadmissible
- tolerably: (adv) well enough, passably, acceptably, reasonably, enough, moderately, to a tolerable degree, pretty, to an adequate degree; (adj, adv) somewhat; (adj) pretty well. ANTONYMS: (adv) unbearably, intolerably, unacceptably, unreasonably, insufficiently, inadequately
- tolerant: (adj) liberal, patient, lenient, broad, kind, understanding, forbearing, permissive, forgiving, merciful; (adj, v) meek. ANTONYMS: (adj) strict, impatient, chauvinistic, bigoted, oppressive,
- chauvinistic, bigoted, oppressive, prejudiced, unforgiving, harsh, severe, unsympathetic, biased tolerated: (adj) permissive, permitted,
- permitting, suffered, admissible toleration: (n) sufferance, endurance, allowance, patience, moderation, permission, indulgence, acceptance, forbearance, suffering, self acceptance
- tomb: (n) sepulchre, sepulcher, crypt, pit, sepulture, vault, monument, entomb, mausoleum; (n, v) bury; (v) inter
- toppling: (adj) falling torment: (n, v) tease, distress, harass, afflict, pain, annoy; (n) agony, anguish, suffering; (v) persecute, oppress. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, placate, comfort, soothe; (n) contentment, happiness, pleasure,

calm, content

- tormented: (adj) worried, tortured, hagridden, troubled, beleaguered, beset, besieged, cruciate, cruciform, distraught, distressed. ANTONYM: (adj) calm
- torpid: (adj) inactive, sluggish, indolent, dull, slow, dormant, lazy, dead, lifeless, flat, supine. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, lively
- torrent: (n) flood, cloudburst, overflow, stream, downpour, rain, shower, soaker, inundation; (adj, n) volley, eruption. ANTONYMS: (n) drought, trickle, shower
- torrents: (n) white water, rapids tortured: (adj) anguished, suffering, agonized, excruciate, excruciated, gnarled, hagridden, miserable, woeful, hurt
- torturing: (n) torture, excruciation, crucifixion, torment, agony, anguish, dismemberment; (adj) harrowing, agonizing, torturesome, agonising
- tossing: (n) cast; (adj) moving touchingly: (adv) poignantly, pathetically, patheticly, sadly, pitifully, emotively, tenderly, movingly, stirringly, nearly, adjacently
- towering: (adj) lofty, tall, eminent, great, soaring, mighty, elevated, monumental, exalted, imposing, distinguished. ANTONYMS: (adj) short, dwarfed, little, low
- township: (n) parish, municipality, county, community, shire, country, city, arrondissement, settlement, area, province
- tracing: (n) trace, copy, design, model, chase, drafting, action of tracing, blueprint, cast, draftsmanship, ghost
- tractable: (adj, prep) docile; (adj) obedient, ductile, tame, gentle, yielding, manageable; (adj, v) pliable, flexible, pliant, plastic. ANTONYMS: (adj) intractable, unmanageable, unruly, rebellious
- trader: (n) merchant, monger, shopkeeper, trafficker, chandler, seller, merchandiser, seedman, seedsman, barterer, mercer
- **tradesmen**: (n) fellow tradesmen **tragedian**: (n) thespian, comedian, role player, histrion, actor, author, player
- **trait**: (n) characteristic, attribute, quality, character, idiosyncrasy, property; (adj, n) peculiarity, trick; (n, v) lineament; (v) stroke, touch

## The Republic

traits: (v) lineaments, area, expanse, exposition, extent, length, tract, trace; (n) character, nature, personality

trammels: (n) fetter, handcuff, iron, hobble, handlock, shackle, cuff, bond, hamper, chains, chain

trample: (v) oppress, stamp, squash, crush, tread, flatten, defeat, suppress, step, frustrate; (n) trampling

**trampled**: (adj) crushed, damaged, flattened, compressed, packed down

transcending: (adj) exquisite transgression: (n) fault, crime, misdeed, error, infraction, offense, violation, misconduct, breach, trespass, infringement.

ANTONYMS: (n) piety, obedience

transience: (n) brevity, impermanency, transiency, briefness, fugaciousness, fugacity, evanescence, ephemerality, length, ephemeralness; (adj) transientness

transient: (adj) fleeting, temporary, passing, transitory, fugacious, ephemeral, momentary, temporal, provisional; (adj, n) fugitive, vagabond. ANTONYMS: (adj) enduring, lasting, immanent, long; (n) resident

translating: (n) communication, movement

translator: (n) translating program, transcriber, dragoman, translater, program, arranger, assembler, assembly program, computer program, computer programme, adapter

transmigration: (n) metempsychosis, migration, mutagenesis transanimation, mutagenesis, shifting, journey, transanimation, rebirth

transposition: (n) exchange, substitution, transposal, reversal, permutation, replacement, displacement, transfer, elocation, inversion, switch

**trappings**: (n) equipment, rigging, caparison, embroidery, trapping, tackle, suit, skirt, accouterment, lappet, flap

travail: (n, v) labor, toil, labour, grind, childbirth, confinement; (v) drudge, moil; (n) effort, sweat, exertion

treacherous: (adj) unfaithful, deceitful, false, perfidious, dangerous, disloyal, unreliable, unsafe, Punic, fraudulent, faithless. ANTONYMS: (adj) faithful, loyal, honest, safe, true, genuine, forthright, stable, harmless, dependable, open

treachery: (n) betrayal, disloyalty, infidelity, duplicity, treason, perfidy, falseness, faithlessness, perfidiousness, guile, dishonesty. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalty, faithfulness, fidelity, reliability, allegiance, goodness

treason: (n) treachery, perfidy, high treason, sabotage, lese majesty, traitorousness, subversiveness, duplicity; (adj, n) disloyalty, sedition, prodition. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalty, faithfulness, fidelity

treasuries: (n) treasury bonds treatise: (n) tract, thesis, essay, discourse, paper, article, monograph, piece, pamphlet, review, book

trembles: (n) animal disease,

nervousness

trifles: (n) jests, nonsense, nugae, trivia

trifling: (adj) paltry, slight, petty, negligible, immaterial, worthless, trivial, minor, small; (adj, v) inconsequential; (adj, n) frivolity. ANTONYMS: (adj) significant, worthwhile, major, considerable, crucial, enormous, great, mature, profound, substantial; (n) importance

trireme: (n) trionym, trigon, triennium, tripod, trident, quadrireme, triangle, triseme, triskele, triskelion, trisula

**triumphing**: (n) boast, gloriation; (v) triumphal, celebrating victory, exultant

trochaic: (n) iambic, anapestic
trojan: (n) Dardan, Trojan horse; (adj)
Troic

troublesome: (adj) difficult, hard, arduous, bothersome, inconvenient, onerous, awkward, annoying, laborious, tough, heavy.
ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, helpful, useful, advantageous, convenient, uncomplicated, delightful

troubling: (adj) worrying, disquieting, distressing, distressful, disconcerting, alarming, perturbing, bad, annoying, sad, worrisome. ANTONYM: (adj) reassuring

**troy**: (n) city, Ilion, ilium, metropolis, system of weights, troy weight

trumpets: (n) Sarracenia flava, yellow pitcher plant, pitcher plant, yellow trumpet

trusting: (adj) credulous,

unsuspecting, naive, confident, confiding, simple, innocent, gullible, reliant, give, easy to fool.

ANTONYMS: (adj) distrustful, suspicious, doubtful, hesitant, protective, shrewd, disingenuous, smart, jaded

trustworthy: (adj) honest, trusty, dependable, safe, faithful, sound, certain, good, responsible; (adj, n, v) credible; (adj, n) true. ANTONYMS: (adj) suspect, dubious, untrustworthy, undependable, sneaky, doubtful, deceitful, disloyal, disreputable, irresponsible, degenerate

trusty: (adj) trustworthy, honest, faithful, dependable, responsible, constant, loyal, true, authentic, solid, sure. ANTONYMS: (adj) untrustworthy, inconstant, corrupt, disloyal

truthfulness: (adj, n) honesty, sincerity, probity, honor; (n) truth, openness, frankness, candor, faith, loyalty; (adj) integrity. ANTONYMS: (n) untruthfulness, inaccuracy, evasiveness, caution, deceit

tumbling: (adj) falling, billowing, dropping, rolled; (adj, adv) plunging; (n) gymnastics, acrobatics, stunting, stunt flying, rumbling; (adv) headfirst

tumult: (adj, n, v) hubbub, disturbance; (n) stir, commotion, bustle, din, fuss, excitement; (n, v) clamor, disorder, brawl. ANTONYMS: (n) peace, push, serenity, order, calm

tuner: (n) radio, radio receiver, radio set, receiving set, receiving system, clock radio, receiver, wireless, superheterodyne receiver, tuning unit, radiocommunication

twilight: (n) nightfall, night, sunset, gloaming, evening, sundown, eventide, fall, decline, evenfall; (adj) aurora. ANTONYMS: (n) daybreak, sunrise

twisting: (adj) tortuous, winding, sinuous, crooked, zigzag, meandering; (n) distortion, turn, spin, torsion, overrefinement

twofold: (adj) dual, duplicate, twin, doubled, threefold, treble, duplex, duple; (adv) two times, as much again, twice

tyrannical: (adj) domineering, autocratic, despotic, dictatorial, overbearing, authoritarian, tyrannous, cruel, peremptory,

- tyrannic, lordly. ANTONYMS: (adj) liberal, libertarian
- tyranny: (adj, n) dictatorship, autocracy; (n) absolutism, despotism, oppression, cruelty, monocracy, totalitarianism, authoritarianism, autarchy, Caesarism. ANTONYMS: (n) democracy, liberty
- tyrant: (n) dictator, oppressor, autocrat, disciplinarian, bully, authoritarian, sovereign, czar, monarch, suzerain, stickler
- ugliness: (n) eyesore, offensiveness, hideousness, garishness, gaudiness, grotesqueness, grotesquery, repulsiveness, homeliness, unsightliness; (adj, n) unpleasantness. ANTONYMS: (n) beauty, attractiveness, pleasantness ulcerous: (adj) ulcerated, cankerous,
- ulcered
  umpire: (n, v) judge; (n) arbitrator,
  arbiter, mediator, ump, justice,
  moderator, intermediary; (v)
- arbitrate, adjudicate, mediate unabated: (adj) unreduced, unrestricted, unmitigated, unflagging, relentless, intense, unrelenting
- unaccustomed: (adj) new, strange, unusual, inexperienced, unseasoned, unacquainted, uncustomary, rare, unfamiliar, unwonted; (adj, v) untrained. ANTONYMS: (adj) familiar, normal, ready, usual, prepared, knowledgeable, customary
- unadulterated: (adj) clean, simple, genuine, sheer, absolute, perfect, unsophisticated, true, authentic, real, neat. ANTONYMS: (adj) diluted, hidden, imitation, provisional
- unaffected: (adj) sincere, artless, natural, plain, real, genuine, unimpressed, ingenuous, naive, untouched, honest. ANTONYMS: (adj) unnatural, sophisticated, refined, pretentious, moved, hurt, disturbed, changed, vulnerable, dishonest, emotional
- unalterable: (adj) constant, inalterable, immutable, permanent, invariable, firm, changeless, rigid, stable, irrevocable, unchangeable. ANTONYMS: (adj) alterable, impermanent, temporary, fluid, flexible
- unaltered: (adj) unalterable, unmoved, same, unaffected. ANTONYM: (adj) affected

- unanimous: (adj) consentaneous, harmonious, consentient, strong, firm, of one mind, concordant, accordant, compact, collective, cubic. ANTONYMS: (adj) narrow, individual
- unanswerable: (adj) irrefutable, final, incontestable, irresponsible, incontrovertible, indisputable, decisive, ultimate, undeniable, not refragable; (v) probative
- unanswered: (v) unrefuted, unconfuted; (adj) unsolved, unresolved, unrequited, unreciprocated, unsettled
- unattainable: (adj) impossible, inaccessible, impracticable, impractical, unapproachable, unobtainable, out of print, not possible, unassailable, unavailable, unbeatable. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, accessible, possible, attainable, feasible
- unattractive: (adj) ugly, uninviting, unsightly, unprepossessing, unbecoming, unpopular, unpleasant, undesirable, disagreeable, plain, uncared for. ANTONYMS: (adj) beautiful, lovely, appealing, becoming, desirable, flattering, striking
- unavoidable: (adj) necessary, inescapable, ineluctable, irresistible, obligatory, certain, indispensable, essential, sure, required, avoidless. ANTONYMS: (adj) escapable, unpredictable, optional, unlikely, uncertain
- unavoidably: (adv) inescapably, necessarily, ineluctably, by necessity, of necessity, automatically, needs, inevitable, relentlessly, true to form, unsurprisingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) surprisingly, unnecessarily
- unbecoming: (adj) indecorous, unseemly, inappropriate, indecent, indelicate, untoward, unworthy, unsuitable, shameful, unbefitting, incongruous. ANTONYMS: (adj) dignified, becoming, fitting, proper, seemly, correct, decent, suitable
- unbelieving: (adj) incredulous, disbelieving, sceptical, suspicious, atheistical, nescient, irreligious, atheistic, faithless, unconverted, distrustful
- unchangeable: (adj) invariable, firm, immutable, permanent, irrevocable, irreversible, unalterable, immovable, inflexible, determined, definite. ANTONYMS: (adj) changing,

inconstant, flexible, uncertain, fluid, unconfirmed, impermanent

- unchangeableness: (n) unchangeability, absoluteness, changelessness, fixedness, irreversibility, invariance, invariability, immutability, inflexibility, unchangingness, unbending pertinacity
- uncivilized: (adj) savage, barbarian, barbarous, wild, barbaric, brutal, coarse, rude, rustic, ferocious, impolite. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, civilized, polite, cultured, pleasant
- unconnected: (adj) detached, disjointed, incoherent, unrelated, illogical, confused, irrelevant, incongruous; (adj, prep) separate, separated; (v) unattached. ANTONYMS: (adj) attached, pertinent, relevant, together
- unconquerable: (adj)
  insurmountable, impregnable,
  insuperable, irresistible, unbeatable,
  proof against, resistless,
  indomitable, unquenchable,
  impassable, inextinguishable.
  ANTONYMS: (adj) conquerable,
  feeble
- unconsciously: (adv) instinctively, unintentionally, unthinkingly, unwittingly, ignorantly, innocently, comatosely, automatically, obliviously, unsuspectingly, inadvertently. ANTONYMS: (adv) consciously, deliberately, knowingly, purposely
- unconsciousness: (n) blackout, insensibility, grogginess, loss of consciousness, coma, trance, stupefaction, faint, unawareness, ignorance, torpor. ANTONYM: (n) awareness
- unconsecrated: (adj) blasphemous, secular, unsanctified, unholy, unhallowed, unclean, sacrilegious, polluted, pollute, impure, impious uncontrolled: (adj) unconstrained, unchecked, uninhibited, wild, unbound, mad, loose, out of control; (adj, n) licentious, profligate, dissolute. ANTONYMS: (adj) controlled, restrained, cautious,

calm, contained, relaxed, mild,

mellow, limited, voluntary

unconvinced: (adj) doubtful, dubious, skeptical, unconverted, disappointed, unsatisfied, unfulfilled, unenthusiastic, undecided, uncertain, unbelieving. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleased,

- convinced, certain, sure, enthusiastic, credulous
- uncovered: (adj) naked, open, bare, nude, unclothed, bald, unreserved, unprotected, evident, frank, manifest. ANTONYMS: (adj) indoor, concealed
- uncritical: (v) benedictory, complimentary, commendatory, lavish of praise, encomiastic, panegyrical, laudatory; (adj) indiscriminate, noncritical, unselective, gullible. ANTONYMS: (adj) discriminating, shrewd, fussy
- undecided: (adj) uncertain, doubtful, dubious, unresolved, pending, indecisive, irresolute, hesitant, debatable, indefinite; (adj, v) undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) certain, determined, sure, settled, definite, decisive
- undefended: (adj) unprotected, undefendable, exposed, assailable, vulnerable, open, unguarded, undecided, unarmed, overt, opened out. ANTONYMS: (adj) secure, defensible
- undefiled: (adj) pure, immaculate, spotless, uncorrupted, clean, chaste, intact, modest, clear, decent, virgin underfoot: (adj) abject, downtrodden undermined: (adj) enervated,
- destabilized, damaged, deciduous undertone: (n) undercurrent, murmur, tinge, nuance, whisper, suggestion, implication, connotation, overtone, association, hint
- underwent: (v) endure, tolerate undeservedly: (adv) unmeritedly, unjustly, excessively, out of all proportion, unjustifiably, overly, desertlessly, disproportionately, inequitably. ANTONYM: (adv) justifiably
- undetected: (adj) unnoticed, unobserved, concealed, unseen, invisible. ANTONYM: (adj) noticeable
- undetermined: (adj, v) uncertain, indefinite, vague; (adj) indeterminate, unsettled, indecisive, unresolved, irresolute, accidental, open; (v) ambiguous. ANTONYMS: (adj) determinate, definite, decided, specific
- undistinguished: (adj) nameless, common, mediocre, middling, indifferent, average, obscure, humble, insignificant, plain, trivial. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinctive, unforgettable, illustrious,

- extraordinary, exceptional, unusual, brilliant, inspiring
- undivided: (adj) complete, whole, unbroken, total, single, integral, continuous, united, full, exclusive, solid. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, separate, broken, imperfect, individual
- uneducated: (adj) illiterate, unschooled, uninstructed, rude, unlearned, uninformed, uncultivated, untaught, unread, uncivilized, unenlightened. ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, literate, learned, intelligent, informed
- **unenlightenment**: (n) darkness, ignorance
- unequal: (adj) different, unlike, uneven, rough, lopsided, unfair, inadequate, disparate, disproportionate, unbalanced, unsymmetrical. ANTONYMS: (adj) equal, even, fair, identical, similar, same, level, constant, balanced, like, corresponding
- unerring: (adj) sure, certain, inerrant, inerrable, accurate, exact, faithful, perfect, unblemished, constant, right. ANTONYMS: (adj) erring, imperfect, mistaken, inaccurate, faulty
- unexamined: (v) unsearched,
   unweighed, unscanned, unexplored,
   unstudied
- unexplained: (adj) illegible, inexplicable, unapprehended, uninvestigated, unheard of, unexplored, unfathomable, as Greek to one; (v) solved, undeveloped, untraced. ANTONYMS: (adj) apparent, legible
- unexplored: (adj) unexplained, unapprehended, unascertained, undiscovered, unheard of; (v) unexamined, uninvented, unsearched, unstudied, unweighed, unsifted
- unfavourable: (adj) adverse, inauspicious, untoward, hostile, contrary, inappropriate, inimical, harmful, inconvenient, awkward, unsuitable. ANTONYM: (adj) favorable
- unfinished: (adj) rough, rude, unaccomplished, imperfect, incomplete, partial, immature, unpolished, raw, undone; (v) uncompleted. ANTONYMS: (adj) finished, complete, complex, completed
- **unfit**: (adj) inappropriate, improper, inapt, unbecoming, incompetent,

- unable, incapable, unsuitable, bad; (adj, v) incapacitate; (v) indispose. ANTONYMS: (adj) appropriate, suitable, ready, healthy, able, firm, competent; (v) qualify
- unfitted: (adj) wrong, bare, unequipped, unable, repugnant, insufficient, incompetent, empty, unqualified, without any furniture
- unfrequently: (adv) not much, not
   often, unoften, rarely
  ungifted: (adj) stolid, shallow, petty,
- dull, unintelligent, unwise, unenlightened, undiscerning, dilettante
- ungraceful: (adj) clumsy, ungainly, graceless, inelegant, stiff, uncouth, maladroit, mean, gauche, unbecoming, unhandsome.

  ANTONYM: (adj) elegant
- ungrateful: (adj) unmindful, unthankful, unappreciative, unnatural, ingrate, unpleasant, distasteful, displeasing, unkind, disagreeable, not kind. ANTONYMS: (adj) grateful, thankful, appreciative
- unguarded: (adj) vulnerable, incautious, defenseless, careless, unprotected, exposed, insecure, undefended; (v) thoughtless, thriftless, shiftless. ANTONYMS: (adj) thoughtful, careful, safe, guarded, armed, invulnerable, secure
- unhappily: (adv) wretchedly, unluckily, disconsolately, badly, woefully, forlornly, sorrowfully, unfortunately, dismally, dejectedly, despondently. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, contentedly, luckily, willingly, enthusiastically, fortunately
- unhappiness: (n) sadness, misery, melancholy, distress, grief, regret, infelicity, woe, sorrowfulness, depression, displeasure. ANTONYMS: (n) cheerfulness, pleasure, joy, elation, contentment, satisfaction, cheer
- unhealthy: (adj) harmful, sickly, insanitary, ailing, ill, noxious, injurious, insalubrious, sick, diseased; (adj, v) unsound. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, fit, hygienic, light, well, good, strong, luxuriant
- unheard: (adj) aspirated, atonic, deaf, indistinct, involving surds, nonvocal, radical, sharp, silent, surd, irrational
- unhesitatingly: (adv) readily, openly,

freely, plainly, speedily, willingly, decidedly, resolutely, determinedly, sincerely, undisguisedly.

ANTONYM: (adv) eventually

unholy: (adj) wicked, sinful, unhallowed, profane, fiendish, impious, diabolic, infernal, unsanctified, evil; (adv) wickedly. ANTONYMS: (adj) reasonable, pious, godly, sensible, religious

pious, godty, sensible, religious uniformity: (n) consistency, constancy, evenness, sameness, equality, monotony, regularity, similarity, order, identity, proportion. ANTONYMS: (n) variety, inconsistency, nonuniformity, variation, dissimilarity, unevenness

unimpaired: (adj) unbroken, intact, clean, sound, healthy, entire, complete, undamaged, uninjured; (v) unmarred, unsinged.
ANTONYM: (adj) impaired

unimportant: (adj) insignificant, frivolous, inconsequential, irrelevant, trifling, slight, petty, little, negligible, immaterial, minor. ANTONYMS: (adj) important, significant, major, crucial, relevant, serious, powerful, connected, central, profound, considerable

uninfluenced: (adj) plain, genuine, unswayed, nonpartisan, unprejudiced, natural, real, simple, still full, sincere, untouched

uninformed: (adj) ignorant, uneducated, untaught, uninstructed, unlettered, unlearned, unwitting, unaccustomed, unaware, unversed, untutored. ANTONYMS: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, literate, logical, conscious

uninstructed: (adj) uninformed, ignorant, uneducated, unenlightened, untaught, illiterate, uncultivated, untutored, unlettered, unlearned, unschooled

unintelligible: (adj) opaque, inarticulate, unfathomable, impenetrable, unaccountable, ambiguous, not clear, obscure, indistinct, inconceivable, secret. ANTONYMS: (adj) understandable, clear, comprehensible, intelligible, obvious

unintentionally: (adv) unwittingly, by chance, inadvertently, by accident, unexpectedly, involuntarily, unconsciously, fortuitously, by mistake, unintendedly, unplannedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deliberately, purposely, knowingly uninterruptedly: (adv) constantly, ceaselessly, continually, endlessly, unremittingly, unceasingly, successively, consecutively, continuedly, sustainedly, straightly

uninvited: (adj) unbidden, unwelcome, unintroduced, undesirable, unwanted, unsolicited, unsought, annoying, not needed, not bidden, unasked for. ANTONYMS: (adj) welcome, desirable

uninviting: (adj) distasteful, undesirable, ugly, disagreeable, repulsive, repellent, unprepossessing, forbidding, dismal, dour, desolate. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, cheerful, appealing, desirable, hospitable

unite: (v) associate, meet, connect, link, blend, join, coalesce, unify, tie, amalgamate; (adj, v) fuse. ANTONYMS: (v) divide, cut, disband, disconnect, diverge, segregate, split, undo, unpick

uniting: (adj) concurrent, united, coincident; (n) unification, reunion, fusion, merger, coalescence, amalgamation, conglutination, join

universality: (n) catholicity, generality, Catholicism, entirety, totality, prevalence, universalness, popularity, existing everywhere, completeness, catholicness

universally: (adv) commonly, globally, ally, everywhere, totally, Catholicly, cosmically, ubiquitously, prevalently, regularly, usually. ANTONYMS: (adv) narrowly, locally

unjust: (adj) partial, injurious, wrong, inequitable, unrighteous, wicked, foul, wrongful, improper, unmerited, unjustified.
ANTONYMS: (adj) just, equitable, rightful, reasonable, good

unjustly: (adv) wrongly, wrongfully, wickedly, iniquitously, inequitably, undeservedly, illegally, foully, injuriously, unrighteously, unjustifiedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) rightly, reasonably

unlearn: (v) forget, toss, fling, cast out, toss out, cast away, cast aside, bury, chuck out, dispose, overcome

unmanliness: (n) womanishness, effeminateness, sissiness, emasculation, femininity unmanly: (adi) pusillanimous.

unmanly: (adj) pusillanimous, fearful, unmanlike, unchivalric, unknightly, unmanful, craven, weak; (adv) unmanfully, cowardly, effeminately. ANTONYM: (adv) manfully

unmarried: (adj) unwedded, sole, alone, unattached, individual, separate, celibate, widowed, bachelor, maiden, lone. ANTONYMS: (adj) married, marital, attached, wed, involved

unmeaning: (adj) insignificant, meaningless, senseless, nonsensical, irrational, expressionless, gibberish, foolish, peanut, weetless, undistinguished

unmerciful: (adj) pitiless, remorseless, merciless, unpitying, cruel, inclement, brutal, relentless, inhuman, cutthroat, ferocious. ANTONYMS: (adj) merciful, generous, kind

unmindful: (adj) negligent, mindless, careless, oblivious, heedless, forgetful, neglectful, ungrateful, inattentive, regardless; (adj, v) remiss. ANTONYMS: (adj) mindful, attentive, conscious, careful

unmindfulness: (n) heedlessness, inadvertence, attentiveness, inattentiveness, indifference, lethargy, mindlessness, oblivion, oversight, rashness, disregard. ANTONYM: (n) mindfulness

unmingled: (adj) unmixed, plain, uncompounded, sheer, simple, uncombined, concentrated, homely, artless, bluff, patent

unmistakable: (adj) obvious, evident, plain, manifest, decided, palpable, apparent, decisive; (adj, v) unequivocal, positive, definite. ANTONYMS: (adj) vague, unclear, uncertain, indefinite, doubtful, inconspicuous, equivocal

unmixed: (adj, v) simple, sheer, mere, downright; (adj) absolute, unmingled, undiluted, straight, uncompounded, single, plain. ANTONYM: (adj) impure

unmusical: (adj) dissonant, discordant, harsh, tuneless, inharmonious, unmelodic, unmelodious, cacophonous, jarring, nonmusical, untunable. ANTONYMS: (adj) musical, melodious

unnatural: (adj) affected, artificial, grotesque, supernatural, forced, abnormal, eccentric, uncanny, stilted, mannered, anomalous. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, normal, real, unaffected, commonplace,

genuine, sincere

unnaturally: (adv) falsely, unusually, contrivedly, affectedly, extraordinarily, monstrously, manneredly, by artificial means, abnormally, peculiarly, cruelly. ANTONYM: (adv) normally

unnoticed: (v) unheeded, unthought of, unregarded; (adj) disregarded, unmarked, hidden, neglected, ignored, obscure; (adj, v) unremarked, unobserved.
ANTONYMS: (adj) evident, seen, noticeable, noted, obvious

unobserved: (adj, v) unseen; (v) unheeded, unregarded, unthought of, unperceived; (adj) ignored, not noticed, hidden, unmarked, unnoted; (adv) secretly. ANTONYM: (adj) evident

unpatriotic: (adj) misanthropic, antisocial. ANTONYM: (adj) patriotic

unperceived: (v) unheeded, unthought of, unregarded; (adj) unremarked, unnoted, unobserved, unmarked, unknown, stealthy, sly, secret

unphilosophical: (adj) irrational, undiscerning, unenlightened, ungifted, unwise

unpleasantly: (adv) distastefully, disagreeably, rudely, obnoxiously, bitterly, painfully, awfully, troublesomely, offensively, hardly, displeasingly, ANTONYMS: (adv) delightfully, agreeably, kindly, politely, graciously, attractively, sweetly, well, humbly

unpoetical: (adj) downright, direct, blunt, museless, uninteresting, dull, unpoetic, prosy, resembling prose, commonplace, unimaginative

commonplace, unimaginative unpopularity: (n) disrepute, quality, disfavor. ANTONYMS: (n) popularity, approval

unpractised: (adj) inexperienced,
raw, green, fresh, unskilled

unprincipled: (adj) abandoned, unscrupulous, depraved, dishonest, unethical, profligate, dissolute, shameless, unconscionable, vicious, immoral. ANTONYMS: (adj) ethical, moral, honest, professional

**unprocurable**: (adj) inaccessible, untouchable, unaccessible, unassailable

unprofitable: (adj) profitless, fruitless, futile, inutile, disadvantageous, unfruitful, barren, idle, vain, uneconomic, unproductive. ANTONYMS: (adj) fruitful, lucrative unpropitious: (adj) inauspicious, adverse, unlucky, unfavorable, inopportune, evil, sinister, disastrous, infelicitous; (adj, v) cross,

unproven: (adj) unverified, unfounded, unconfirmed, unsubstantiated, unsupervised, unsupported, tenuous, untried, new, untested, speculative. ANTONYMS: (adj) established, proved, seasoned

unprovided: (adj) unorganized, unarranged, unbegun, untrimmed, unequipped, unready; (v) unsupplied

unpunished: (adj) impune unquestionably: (adv) certainly, definitely, indubitably, decidedly, indisputably, positively, surely, of course, assuredly, no doubt; (adj) doubtless. ANTONYMS: (adv) doubtfully, possibly, arguably

unreal: (adj) illusory, fantastic, fanciful, imaginary, insubstantial, artificial, fictitious, visionary, untrue; (adj, v) ideal, fancied. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, natural, substantial, authentic, ordinary, plausible

unreality: (n) irreality, cloud, falseness, imagination, immateriality, pointlessness, uselessness, futility, emptiness, nonexistence, hollowness.

ANTONYMS: (n) reality, value, existence

unrealized: (adj) latent, potential, unconscious, unrealised, unsuccessful

unreasoning: (adj) irrational, unintelligent, unintellectual, thoughtless, unreasonable, partisan, vacuous, unthinking, unreasoned

unreformed: (adj) unregenerate, unchanged, incorrigible, unrepentant, impenitent

unrefuted: (v) unanswered; (adj)
accurate

unrighteous: (adj) criminal, sinful, unjust, wrong, unholy, not righteous, ungodly, nefarious, godless; (adj, v) iniquitous, immoral

unrighteousness: (n) impiety, iniquity, dishonesty, sinfulness, dishonor, injustice, immorality, impiousness, crime, irreligion, profaneness

unripe: (adj) green, raw, premature, crude, young, uncooked, juvenile, half grown, callow, inexperienced, unfledged. ANTONYMS: (adj) unruly: (adj) boisterous, insubordinate, disobedient, intractable, headstrong, uncontrollable, wayward, rambunctious, ungovernable, lawless, rebellious. ANTONYMS: (adj) manageable, obedient, yielding, biddable, compliant, loyal, gentle, peaceful, placid, restrained unscathed: (adj) uninjured, unhurt, intact, safe, safe and sound, undamaged, unscratched, whole, unmarred, untouched; (n) untainted. ANTONYMS: (adj) hurt, injured,

mature, ripe, ready

harmed

unscrupulous: (adj) dishonest, unprincipled, unethical, immoral, dishonorable, crooked, unfair, unconscionable, sharp, unconscientious, sly. ANTONYMS: (adj) scrupulous, principled, ethical, honest, moral

unseasonable: (adj) inopportune, inappropriate, premature, ill timed, improper, immature, inconvenient, ill-timed, inept, unchancy; (v) illtimed

unseemliness: (n) indecency, indecorum, indiscretion, ineptitude, ineptness, rudeness, tactlessness, unsuitability, indecorousness, bad taste, inappropriateness.

ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, propriety, decency

unseemly: (adj) indecent, unbecoming, indelicate, inappropriate, gross, impolite, unbefitting; (adj, v) indecorous; (adj, adv) uncomely; (adv) indecently, unbecomingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) proper, appropriate, dignified, due, fitting, polite, suitable, correct, decent, sensitive

unseen: (adj, v) unknown; (adj) invisible, concealed, hidden, unobserved, secret, veiled, latent; (v) unheeded, unperceived; (n) spiritual world. ANTONYMS: (adj) seen, visible, open, famous, noticeable

unsettled: (adj) changeable, undecided, doubtful, uneasy, outstanding, variable, unpaid, unresolved; (adj, v) unfixed, indefinite, undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) confident, definite, decided, well, sure, happy, constant, conclusive, certain, calmed, calm

unsettling: (adj) disquieting, disturbing, embarrassing, frightening, scary, troublemaking,

- troublesome, troubling, uncomforting, unruly, upsetting. ANTONYMS: (adj) comforting, soothing
- unsightly: (adj) repulsive, hideous, unpleasant, unattractive, uncomely, unlovely, unseemly, disagreeable, nasty, homely, plain. ANTONYMS: (adj) beautiful, nice, pleasing, pretty, appealing, attractive
- unskilled: (adj) incompetent, inexperienced, inexpert, raw, unprofessional, unqualified, amateurish, awkward, green, untrained, bungling. ANTONYMS: (adj) skilled, competent, trained, dexterous, skillful
- unsociable: (adj) antisocial, distant, unfriendly, uncommunicative, solitary, inhospitable, hostile, retiring, reserved, cool, antagonistic. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, approachable, nice, warm
- unspeakable: (adj) ineffable, dreadful, awful, terrible, inexpressible, nasty, horrible, atrocious, indefinable, shocking; (adj, v) unutterable. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, wonderful, pleasant, good, lovely, bearable
- unsubstantial: (adj) unreal, airy, thin, imaginary, shadowy, light, empty, immaterial, insignificant, vaporous; (adj, v) flimsy
- untainted: (adj) unsullied, unstained, unspotted, innocent, unsoiled, unblemished, untarnished, stainless; (n) unmarred, unscathed, uninjured. ANTONYMS: (adj) tainted, impure
- untenable: (adj) unjustifiable, not defensible, unreasonable, inexcusable, illogical; (v) sine ICTU, pregnable, unfortified, unarmed, harmless, defenseless. ANTONYMS: (adj) valid watertight justifiable
- (adj) valid, watertight, justifiable **unto**: (prep, v) to, till, up to; (prep) towards, before
- untouched: (adj) intact, unharmed, unmoved, unscathed, virgin, whole, unhurt, new, impervious, imperturbable, impassive.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) affected, touched, refined, vulnerable, used, spoiled, partial, injured, marred, tainted, impure
- untrue: (adj) erroneous, unfaithful, disloyal, incorrect, sham, mistaken, fallacious, treacherous, wrong, faithless, inaccurate. ANTONYMS: (adj) faithful, true, valid, factual, honest, reliable, correct, truthful, loyal, real

- untrustworthy: (adj) unfaithful, treacherous, undependable, faithless, slippery, untrue, dishonest, deceitful, false, dubious, untrusty. ANTONYMS: (adj) trustworthy, reliable, dependable, faithful, honest, loyal, reputable, straight, objective
- untruth: (n) falsehood, fiction, lie, falsity, deception, fable, deceit, story, tale, misrepresentation, invention. ANTONYM: (n) fact
- untruthful: (adj) untrue, dishonest, insincere, mendacious, deceitful, lying, incorrect, fictitious, wrong, faithless, unfounded. ANTONYMS: (adj) honest, true, straightforward
- unvarying: (adj) unchanging, invariable, constant, steady, uniform, invariant, changeless, consistent, unvaried, unchanged, equal. ANTONYMS: (adj) irregular, multiform, varied, dynamic, erratic, unequal
- unwarlike: (adj) immartial, not martial, peaceable, compliant unwearied: (adj) indefatigable, untiring, tireless, untired, indomitable, unflagging, industrious, tolerant, persistent, persevering, laborious. ANTONYM: (adj) impatient
- unwell: (adj) sick, ill, poorly, ailing, sickly, unhealthy, seedy, bad, diseased, frail; (adj, v) indisposed. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, well, fit
- unwillingly: (adv) grudgingly, loathly, aversely, unenthusiastically, indisposedly, resentfully, involuntarily, recalcitrantly, refractorily, lothly, hesitatingly. ANTONYM: (adv) wholeheartedly
- unwillingness: (n) disinclination, indisposition, aversion, hesitation, hesitancy, resistance, antipathy, reluctancy, dislike, distaste, irreconcilableness. ANTONYMS: (n) enthusiasm, disposition, keenness, inclination
- unwise: (adj, n) silly, stupid, absurd, indiscreet; (adj) imprudent, injudicious, ridiculous, senseless, inadvisable, impolitic, unreasonable. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, prudent, thoughtful, sagacious, judicious, advisable
- unworthiness: (n) baseness, despicability, despicableness, badness, unworth, shamefulness, ignominiousness, disgracefulness, bad. ANTONYM: (n) worthiness unworthy: (adj) undeserving, base,

disgraceful, ignoble, low, contemptible, despicable, ugly, unmerited, unseemly, shameful. ANTONYMS: (adj) deserving, valuable, honorable, estimable, reputable

- unwritten: (adj) spoken, verbal, vocal, traditional, spontaneous; (v) unsaid, unregistered, unrecorded, lingual, phonetic, not written. ANTONYMS: (adj) written, stated, explained, explicit
- uphill: (adj) rising, hard, difficult, climbing, acclivitous, tough, arduous; (n) ascending, ascent, acclivity; (adv) up. ANTONYMS: (adj) downhill, facile
- uplifted: (adj) high, raised, noble, not inverted, not prone, proud, undismayed, stately, lofty, sublime, animated
- uproar: (adj, n, v) hubbub, disturbance, tumult; (n) din, noise, turmoil, commotion, disorder, confusion; (adj, n) row; (n, v) brawl. ANTONYMS: (n) calm, peace, serenity, order
- upsetting: (adj) disconcerting, disturbing, troublesome, distressing, poignant, sad, perplexing, bewildering; (n) cold heading, overturn, overthrow. ANTONYMS: (adj) comforting, reassuring, heartwarming, kind, happy, attractive, unemotional, lovely, appealing, pleasing, pleasant
- upside: (n) crest, crown, poll, top side, upper side, pate, round top, acme, summit, superlative, teetotum
- upward: (adv) upwards, upwardly, aloft; (adj) overhead, rising, upper, increasing, open, vertical, mounting, upright. ANTONYMS: (adj) descending, downward; (adv) down uranus: (n) solar system, Ouranos
- usefulness: (n) utility, service, benefit, convenience, practicality, avail, helpfulness, effectiveness, efficacy, value; (adj, n) worth. ANTONYMS: (n) inefficiency, inutility, clumsiness, insignificance
- uselessness: (n) inutility, fruitlessness, pointlessness, impracticableness, impracticability, unusefulness, vanity, idleness, ineffectualness, senselessness; (adj) useless. ANTONYMS: (n) value, competence, helpfulness, effectiveness, fruitfulness, skill, utility, worthiness, worth, ability;
- (adj) purposeful **usurer**: (n) moneylender, cambist,

- loan shark, Shylock, banker; (adj) extortioner, codger, lickpenny, crib, churl, curmudgeon
- utilitarian: (adj) functional, practical, pragmatic, philanthropic, utile, serviceable, humanitarian, helpful, convenient; (n) Benthamite, philanthropist. ANTONYMS: (adj) surrender, relinquish, soulful, luxury, decorative, useless
- **utilitarianism**: (n) ism, philosophy, school of thought, doctrine
- utmost: (adj, n) maximum, extreme, uttermost, furthermost, best, highest; (adj, adv) farthest; (adj, v) supreme; (adj) last, furthest; (adj, n, v) greatest. ANTONYMS: (adj) moderate, worst
- utopia: (n) fantasy, paradise, Utopistic, Happy Valley, millennium, fool's paradise, chateaux en Espagne, dreamboat, Israel, castles in the air, Erewhon. ANTONYM: (n) hell
- uttered: (adj) expressed, express, verbalised, verbalized, vocal, explicit, oral; (v) spoke, quoth, said
- uttermost: (adj, n) extreme; (adj, adv) farthest; (n) maximum, level best; (adj) furthest, utter, last, farthermost, furthermost, ultimate, most. ANTONYM: (adj) moderate
- vacancy: (n) emptiness, blank, opening, void, incogitancy, post, blankness, inanity, absence; (adj, n) vacuity; (adj) depletion. ANTONYMS: (n) fill, tenancy, overflow
- vagueness: (n) ambiguity, indistinctness, haziness, indefiniteness, obscurity, dimness, ambiguousness, murkiness, unclearness, indirectness; (adj) inconceivableness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, accuracy, exactness, directness, concentration, certainty, reliability, confidence, clearness, attentiveness
- vain: (adj) proud, arrogant, conceited, fruitless, idle, empty, abortive, ineffectual, unproductive, narcissistic; (adj, v) useless.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) shy, successful, possible, persuasive, selfless, fruitful, humble, useful, responsible, worthwhile, effective
- vainly: (adv) uselessly, futilely, fruitlessly, conceitedly, in vain, worthlessly, abortively, bootlessly, arrogantly, unproductively; (adj, adv) foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) fruitfully, successfully, effectively

- valetudinarian: (adj) sickly, infirm, valetudinarianism; (n) sick person, sufferer, diseased person
- valiant: (adj) brave, courageous, intrepid, fearless, heroic, audacious, gallant, daring, dauntless, stout, stalwart. ANTONYMS: (adj) afraid, despicable
- valiantly: (adv) bravely, valorously, gallantly, intrepidly, heroically, boldly, audaciously, fearlessly, doughtily, pluckily, heroicly.
  ANTONYMS: (adv) execrably, nervously, timidly, fearfully
- valour: (n) valor, valiancy, valiance, heroism, courage, bravery, valorousness, prowess, daring, pluck, spirit
- valuing: (adj) loving; (n) regard vanish: (n, v) disappear; (adj, v) fade; (v) disperse, pass, go, die, dissipate, evaporate, depart, flee, melt away. ANTONYMS: (v) come, arrive, wax, stav
- vanity: (n) egotism, pride, emptiness, arrogance, futility, inanity, vainglory, conceitedness, pretension, pomposity; (adj, n) amour propre. ANTONYMS: (n) selflessness, humility, importance, value, effectiveness
- vanquished: (adj) beaten, overwhelmed, routed, overcome, overpowered, overthrown, defeated, crushed, tried, tired out, practiced
- variableness: (n) changeableness, disagreement, unevenness, inconstancy, mutability, variant, alterability, changeability, alterableness, inadequacy, divergence
- variously: (adv) differently, multifariously, sundrily, variedly, severally, assortedly, dissimilarly, numerously, versatilely, diversly, variegatedly
- vastly: (adv) greatly, hugely, enormously, infinitely, extremely, exceedingly, massively, very, tremendously, highly, colossally
- vaunting: (n) ostentation, parade, show, pompousness, pageantry, bravado, egoism; (adj, n) boasting; (adj) vaporing, vainglorious, talking idly
- vehemence: (n) force, violence, fury, passion, eagerness, strength, impetuosity, enthusiasm, fierceness, heat, fervor. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, meckness, serenity
- vehement: (adj) fierce, intense, violent, strong, furious, passionate,

- ferocious, eager, hot, fervent, fervid. ANTONYMS: (adj) impassionate, indifferent, mild, calm
- veil: (n, v) cover, hide, disguise, mask, cloud, shroud, camouflage; (v) cloak, conceal; (n) curtain, blind. ANTONYMS: (v) disclose, unveil, expose
- veiled: (adj) hidden, unseen, covert, secret, masked, disguised, obscure, cryptic, covered, indistinct, oblique. ANTONYMS: (adj) overt, open, unveiled, blatant
- vengeance: (n) retribution, reprisal, retaliation, requital, avengement, wrath, vendetta, spite, revengeance; (n, v) avenge, resentment. ANTONYMS: (n) forgiveness, acceptance
- venus: (adj) the Graces; (n) Urania, narcissus, terrestrial planet, Adonis, peri, solar system, Hyperion, houri, Hebe, genus Venus
- verbally: (adv) vocally, literally, verbatim, in words, word for word verdure: (adj, n) greenness; (n) greenery, foliage, verdancy, viridity, green, leafage, flora, freshness, strength, vegetable kingdom
- verification: (n) substantiation, proof, check, corroboration, evidence, authentication, testimony, test, validation, probation; (v) affirmation
- verified: (adj) substantiated, confirmed, hard, proven, demonstrated, authoritative, actual, established. ANTONYM: (adj) unproven
- verily: (adj, adv) really; (adv) indeed, in reality, genuinely, quitely, actually, selfly, truely, identically, exactly; (adv, int) in truth
- verisimilitude: (n) probability, likelihood, plausibility, similarity, expression, comparison, likeness, reality, representation, resemblance, semblance. ANTONYM: (n) falseness
- vernacular: (n) jargon, slang, patois, language, dialect, cant, idiom, tongue, argot; (adj) vulgar, native
- vestibule: (n) lobby, hall, foyer, antechamber, entrance hall, hallway, entry, porch, passage, anteroom, threshold
- **vestiges**: (n) leftovers, relics, ruins, remnants, remainder
- vibrations: (n) vibes, atmosphere, ambiance, premonition, undercurrent, feelings, vibraharp, vibraphone, ambience

- viciousness: (n) savagery, cruelty, evil, malice, ferociousness, barbarity, depravity, savageness, nastiness, atrocity; (adj) wickedness. ANTONYMS: (n) gentleness, friendliness
- victorious: (adj) triumphant, successful, winning, jubilant, victor, fortunate, lifted up; (adj, v) triumphal, exultant, triumphing, on top. ANTONYMS: (adj) beaten, unsuccessful, failing, losing, sorrowful
- vigour: (n) force, strength, vigor, energy, power, potency, vim, vitality, athleticism, verve, intensity
- vile: (adj, n) contemptible, dirty, low; (adj, v) base; (adj) despicable, ignoble, evil, sorry, revolting, offensive, nasty. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, kind, nice, lovely, lovable, gentle, honorable, good, delightful, admirable, noble
- villain: (n) rascal, scoundrel, rogue, knave, miscreant, criminal, bandit, crook, reprobate, varlet, rapscallion. ANTONYMS: (n) heroine, hero
- violate: (v) contravene, break, transgress, ravish, desecrate, dishonor, disobey, infringe, rape, profane, offend. ANTONYMS: (v) obey, respect, consecrate, observe, honor, uphold
- violation: (n) infraction, breach, infringement, trespass, assault, outrage, invasion; (adj, n, v) abuse; (n, v) crime, offense; (adj, n) defilement. ANTONYMS: (n) obedience, observance, consecration, respect
- violator: (n) lawbreaker, debaucher, ravisher, offender, rapist, libertine, outlaw, stunner, peach, mantrap, malefactor
- virtuous: (adj) upright, pure, righteous, good, moral, just, honorable, honest, respectable, decent, pious. ANTONYMS: (adj) bad, sinful, corrupt, impure, unethical, decadent, degenerate, irreverent
- visage: (n) face, look, mug, physiognomy, expression, kisser, appearance, aspect, brow, smiler, forehead
- visibility: (n, v) sight; (n) visibleness, conspicuousness, perceptibility, high visibility; (v) view, opinion, open view, mental view, judgment, inspection
- visionary: (adj, n) utopian; (adj, v) imaginary; (adj) airy, fanciful,

- unreal, dreamy, ideal, romantic; (n) seer, dreamer, prophet. ANTONYMS: (adj) foolish, unromantic, practical, real, realistic, unimaginative
- vitiate: (adj, n, v) taint, poison, contaminate, pollute; (n, v) deprave, debauch, mar; (v) defile, spoil, pervert, debase. ANTONYMS: (v) aid, assist, help, schedule, validate
- vividly: (adv) brightly, lively, intensely, clearly, brilliantly, graphically, strikingly, dramatically, colorfully, glowingly, severely. ANTONYMS: (adv) blandly, modestly, vaguely
- vocation: (n, v) calling, profession, employment; (n) occupation, job, trade, business, career, line, mission, line of work
- void: (adj, n) hollow, null, blank; (n) emptiness, vacancy; (adj, v) vacant; (v) nullify, quash, rescind; (adj) invalid, vacuous. ANTONYMS: (v) validate, sanction, permit, keep, allow; (adj) full, occupied, filled, meaningful, solid; (n) fullness
- voluntarily: (adv) spontaneously, willingly, intentionally, willfully, volunteerly, deliberately, gratuitously, readily, optionally, independently, unforcedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) obligatory, reluctantly, forced, grudgingly, unwillingly
- voluntariness: (n) spontaneity voluptuous: (adj) luscious, voluptuary, sensual, carnal, sybaritic, epicurean, buxom, sexy, sensuous, lascivious, erotic.
- ANTONYM: (adj) underdeveloped votary: (n) disciple, devotee, follower, lover, amateur, bacchant, bacchante, supporter, partisan, votarist, solicitant
- vouchsafe: (v) grant, condescend, allow, confer, stoop, give, please, bestow; (n, v) accord; (adv) have the goodness, will you
- voyaging: (n) traveling around, movement, travel, journey, exploration, adventure, discovery, journeying; (adj) wayfaring
- vulgar: (adj) rude, coarse, plebeian, nasty, common, foul, indecent, gross, unrefined; (adj, n) low, vile. ANTONYMS: (adj) refined, sophisticated, tasteful, polite, aesthetic, muted, fashionable, decent, artistic, pleasant, clean
- vulgarity: (n) indecency, vulgarism, grossness, inelegance, crudeness,

commonness, obscenity, rudeness, crudity, boorishness, indelicacy.
ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, purity, classiness, civility, taste, decency

- wailing: (n, v) lamentation, lament, moaning; (adj) lamenting, weeping, crying, wailful, howling, sobbing; (adj, n) bawling; (n) cry
- waive: (v) forgo, relinquish, dispense with, resign, surrender, forfeit, give up, abandon, spare, abdicate, release. ANTONYM: (v) enforce
- wakeful: (adj) vigilant, sleepless, awake, observant, restless, light, wary, psychologically light, lightheaded, tripping; (v) wistful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaware, asleep, inattentive, relaxed
- waking: (adj) wakeful; (n) awakening, wakefulness, consciousness
- waning: (n) decrease, decline, lessening, ebb, failure; (adj) run to seed, ripe, mellow, diminishing, abating, moribund. ANTONYMS: (adj) growing, thriving, waxing, increasing; (n) improvement
- wanton: (adj) loose, dissolute, light, licentious, unchaste, lewd, debauched, unprovoked; (v) dally; (n, v) sport; (adj, v) flirt.

  ANTONYMS: (adj) moral, wise, nice, kind, gentle, decent, clean, careful, observant, justifiable, involuntary
- wantonness: (n) lust, unrestraint, licentiousness, sexual immorality, immorality, lasciviousness, unconstraint, voluptuousness, wickedness, lasciviency, sybaritism. ANTONYM: (n) restraint
- warbling: (n) thrill warlike: (adj) military, belligerent, bellicose, pugnacious, combative, aggressive, armigerous, hostile, unfriendly, unpacific, militant. ANTONYMS: (adj) harmonizing,
- friendly warmed: (adj) warmer, warm, baked warp: (v) distort, deform, contort, falsify, garble, misrepresent; (n, v) bend, buckle, turn, bias; (n) distortion. ANTONYM: (v) clarify
- warped: (adj, n) twisted; (adj) deformed, crooked, perverted, misshapen, kinky, curved, distorted, wry, partisan, superficial. ANTONYMS: (adj) wholesome, impartial
- warrior: (n) fighter, combatant, champion, brave, gerrard, guerilla, centurion, irregular, insurgent,

- guerrilla, militant
- washed-out: (adj) exhausted, wan, drained, done in, depleted, pale; (n) blonde
- wasps: (n) hymenoptera, gall wasps, sawflies, order hymenoptera, etc, ants, ichneumons
- wasting: (n) homicide, atrophy, slaughter, slaying, cachexia, assassination, cachexy, amyotrophy, carnage; (adj) consuming, consumptive
- watchfulness: (n) care, caution, alertness, heed, wariness, jealousy, attentiveness, attention, solicitude, concern, anxiety. ANTONYMS: (n) recklessness, inattentiveness
- watchman: (n) lookout, sentinel, sentry, warden, guard, watcher, security guard, keeper, caretaker, custodian, watchdog
- watering: (n) tearing, sprinkle, lachrymation, lacrimation, wetting, irrigation, bodily process, body process, replenishment of water supplies, shedding tears, activity
- waver: (v) vacillate, fluctuate, hesitate, totter, hover, wave; (n, v) quiver, flicker, shake, flutter, tremble. ANTONYMS: (v) resolve, continue
- waxen: (adj) pale, waxy, white, colorless, wan, ashen, yielding, soft, gray, drawn, cereous
- gray, drawn, cereous
  waxing: (n) application, covering,
  coating. ANTONYM: (adj) waning
- wayfarer: (n) traveler, passenger, pilgrim, itinerant, wanderer, traveller, walker, journeyer, rambler, voyager, vagrant
- wayward: (adj) contrary, disobedient, obstinate, stubborn, intractable, unruly, capricious; (adj, n) freakish, crotchety, wanton, fanciful. ANTONYMS: (adj) controllable, good, manageable, biddable
- weaken: (n, v) dilute; (v) lessen, diminish, debilitate, break, attenuate, relax, undermine, enervate, thin; (adj. v) enfeeble. ANTONYMS: (v) bolster, grow, escalate, increase, refresh, improve, enhance, continue, condense, concentrate, boost
- weakening: (adj) enfeebling, enervating, debilitative, flagging; (n) exhaustion, decline, enfeeblement, enervation, debilitation, attenuation, attrition. ANTONYMS: (n) strengthening, restoration, improvement; (adj) growing, increasing

- weakest: (adj) ridiculous, suggestion, supposes, notions, plainly, irrational, incongruous, project, foolish, fatuity, inconsistent
- weakly: (adj) feeble, infirm, weak; (adv) frailly, badly, softly, lightly, infirmly, effeminately, slightly; (adj, adv) sickly. ANTONYMS: (adv) strongly, confidently, powerfully, firmly, well, competently, convincingly, wholeheartedly, admirably, persuasively, interestingly
- wearied: (adj) jaded, tired, spent, fatigued, weary, prostrate, limp, haggard, shattered, worn, fatigate
- wearisome: (adj, v) tiresome, irksome, troublesome; (adj) tedious, dull, monotonous, boring, laborious, trying, slow, annoying. ANTONYMS: (adj) satisfying, soothing, exciting, refreshing, easy
- weaver: (n) avadavat, Baya, ricebird, amadavat, oscine, weaver finch, tissue, texture, textile fabric, weaverbird, oscine bird
- weaving: (adj) lurching, staggering, walking unsteadily, unstable, stupefying, irregular, astounding, unsteady; (n) braiding, creating from raw materials, aspect weaving
- wedded: (adj, v) marital, connubial, matrimonial, conjugal, wed; (adj) nuptial, bridal. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmarried, unattached
- weeds: (n) viduity, mourning band, garment, cypress, widowhood, dress; (adj) willow
- weeping: (adj) tearful, lachrymose, dolourous, dolorous; (n, v) lament, lamentation; (v) wailing; (n) sobbing, tears, cry; (adj, n) howling. ANTONYM: (n) celebration
- weigh: (v) press, study, measure, matter, consider, count, deliberate, contemplate, assess; (n, v) balance, poise. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, neglect
- weighing: (n) deliberation, consideration, think, advisement, speculation, quantify, weigh, unhurriedness, study, slowness, ponderation
- wellbeing: (n) health, upbeat, confidence, physical condition, security, relief, protection, social welfare, luxury, fitness, eudaimonia. ANTONYMS: (n) insecurity, danger well-bred: (adj) courteous, mannerly, urbane, civil genteel, gentlemanly.
- well-bred: (adj) courteous, mannerly, urbane, civil, genteel, gentlemanly, refined, nice, sophisticated, thoughtful, debonair

- well-ordered: (adj) systematic, businesslike
- well-proportioned: (adj) classical, uniform, trim, statuesque, shapely, handsome, buxom, curvaceous
- well-regulated: (adj) methodical, conformable
- well-to-do: (adj) rich, well-off, affluent, opulent, prosperous, moneyed, substantial, comfortable, easy, fortunate
- wenching: (n) dissipation
- whence: (adv) wherefrom, hence, because, for, why, wherefore, how, then, then thence so, how comes it, how happens it
- wherefore: (adv, conj) therefore; (adv, n) why; (n) reason, proof; (adv) accordingly, consequently, so, wherefor, hence, whence; (conj) then
- wherein: (adv) in what, in which, where
- whereupon: (adv) thereupon, hereupon, upon which, at what, at which
- whining: (adj) whimpering, whiny, sniveling pitiful, Snively, tearful, whiney, singing, peevish; (v) fretful, lamenting; (n) sniveling
- whispering: (n) whisper, murmur, susurration, rustle, report, stage whisper; (adj, n) rustling; (adj) susurrant, tranquil, hoarse, susurrous
- whit: (n) iota, atom, shred, scintilla, smidgen, tittle, jot, bit, particle, smidgin; (adj) dab
- whiteness: (n) paleness, ivory, chalk, pearl, bone, bleach, alabaster, frostiness, hoariness, pallor, innocence. ANTONYM: (n) black
- whither: (adv) hither, thither, whereunto, whereto, for
- wholesale: (adj) indiscriminate, extensive, broad, comprehensive; (adv) entirely, all in all, in large quantities, all; (v) sell; (n) retail, selling. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv, n, v) retail; (adj) partial, part, minor; (v) sell, buy
- wholesome: (adj) healthy, beneficial, salubrious, healthful, salutary, sound, good, nutritious, nourishing, pure, hale. ANTONYMS: (adj) umwholesome, unhealthy, impure, indecent, sordid, warped, tainted, decadent, deadly, unsavory
- whorl: (n) coil, spiral, helix, volute, gyre, verticil, roll, twist, whirl, scroll, curlicue
- wickedness: (n) depravity, sin, sinfulness, iniquity, harm, ill, vice,

- evilness, corruption, immorality, crime. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, kindness, piety, righteousness, benevolence, religiousness, obedience, good
- wide-awake: (adj) vigilant, wakeful, alert, observant, bright, wary, prompt, nimble; (adv) on the ball
- widen: (v) extend, stretch, broaden, enlarge, increase, spread, distend, develop, dilate, amplify, flare. ANTONYMS: (v) contract, cramp, restrict, shrink, curtail, decrease
- wildness: (n) fierceness, ferocity, savageness, abandon, rage, extravagance, ferociousness, intensity, vehemence; (v) wilderness; (n, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (n) tameness, order, meekness, gentleness, caution, orderliness
- willingly: (adv) readily, voluntarily, cheerfully, spontaneously, helpfully, disposedly, actively, openly, obligingly, eagerly; (adj, adv) freely. ANTONYMS: (adv) grudgingly, reluctantly, uncooperatively, unenthusiastically
- wily: (adj) cunning, crafty, foxy, artful, tricky, deceitful, designing, astute, guileful; (adj, v) shrewd, subtle. ANTONYMS: (adj) straightforward, open, guileless, honest, ingenuous, straight
- winged: (adj) swift, rapid, speedy, quick, flying, alate, sublime, lofty, alated, aligerous, composed
- wiry: (adj) lean, muscular, sinewy, fibrous, brawny, stalwart, ropy, thin, supple, vigorous, rough. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, small, tiny, smooth, soft, stout, fat
- wisely: (adv) judiciously, prudently, sagaciously, cleverly, discreetly, shrewdly, smartly, learnedly, astutely, sharply, perspicaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) stupidly, recklessly, imprudently, immaturely, illogically
- wisp: (n) lock, fagot, strand, curl, tress, piece, whisp, piece of hair, puff, slip, small person
- witchcraft: (n) incantation, sorcery, witchery, enchantment, spell, black magic, necromancy, fascination, charm, black art, glamour
- witchery: (adj, n) fascination, enchantment; (n) sorcery, glamour, spell, magic, black magic, necromancy, enticement, allurement, temptation withdrawing: (adj) receding,

- outgoing, retiring, moving back, modest, lowly; (n) departure, privacy, seclusion, cancellation
- withered: (adj) wizened, sear, shriveled, thin, shrunken, dry, dried up, wilted, faded, wizen; (v) lame. ANTONYM: (adj) plump
- withstanding: (n) endurance, resistance; (adj) recalcitrant, defensive
- withy: (n) osier, twig, with, branchlet, sprig
- wits: (n) intellect, mind, wit, brains, common sense, presence, percipience, observation, mother wit, right mind, judgment
- wittily: (adv) cleverly, sharply, facetiously, smartly, drolly, quickly, amusingly, entertainingly, wisely, funnily, comically. ANTONYM: (adv) stupidly
- wizard: (n) necromancer, sorcerer, conjuror, genius, enchanter, conjurer, expert, whiz, ace, warlock; (adj, n) adept. ANTONYM: (n) rookie
- womanhood: (n) muliebrity, femininity, adulthood, maturity, manhood, womankind, wifehood, softness, social class, majority, adult female
- womanishness: (n) effeminacy, unmanliness, effeminateness, sissiness, effemination, emasculation, feminineness, femininity
- **womankind**: (n) womanhood, gentle sex, people
- womanly: (adj, v) effeminate; (adj) ladylike, womanish, female, womanlike, wifely, weak, maidenly, matronly; (v) soft, feminate. ANTONYM: (adj) unwomanly
- womb: (n) belly, nursery, nest, intestines, guts, vitals, bowels, chitterings, cradle, entrails, viscera
- wonderfully: (adv) superbly, astonishingly, terrifically, magnificently, fantastically, marvellously, wondrously, amazingly, excellently; (adj, adv) strangely, famously. ANTONYMS: (adv) awfully, unpleasantly, poorly, abysmally, unremarkably, mildly, horribly, badly, incompetently
- wont: (adj, n) use, custom, usage; (n) practice, tradition, cleanliness, assuetude, assuefaction, convention, rut; (v) practise
- woof: (n, v) bark, cry, howl, growl, yowl, snarl, wail, yelp; (n) texture, filling, pick

workman: (n) laborer, working man, worker, employee, hand, operative, artisan, working person, lather, mechanic, artificer

- workmanship: (n) craft, handicraft, craftsmanship, skill, accomplishment, performance, acquirement, priestcraft, trade, artistry; (v) handiwork
- workwoman: (n) worker, roustabout, female worker, employee, working woman
- worshipped: (adj) adored, idolized, venerable
- worthless: (adj, v) futile, vain; (adj) vile, idle, empty, trifling, void, trivial, cheap, miserable, null. ANTONYMS: (adj) precious, useful, worthwhile, priceless, meaningful, helpful, invaluable, deserving, valid, worthy, substantial
- wrath: (n) rage, resentment, ire, fury, displeasure, indignation, passion, madness, choler, irritation; (adj) angry. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, love, composure, serenity
- wrested: (adj) perverted, distorted, twisted, wry
- wrestler: (n) athlete, combatant, lightweight, grappler, matman, gladiator, prize fighter, pugilist, heavyweight, bruiser, the fancy
- wretched: (adj) unfortunate, pitiful, sad, pitiable, woeful, pathetic, piteous, lamentable; (adj, v) poor, unhappy, forlorn. ANTONYMS: (adj) fine, strong, fortunate, overjoyed, nice, admirable, good, cheery, joyous, lucky, comfortable
- wriggle: (n, v) squirm; (v) twist, wrench, worm, struggle, writhe, turn, wrestle, wind, creep, crawl
- wrinkled: (adj, n) rough, rugged; (adj) puckered, creased, wrinkly, wizened, crumpled, lined, gnarled, unironed, crinkled. ANTONYMS: (adj) unwrinkled, ironed, straight
- wrinkles: (n) crow's feet wronged: (adj) upset, hurt, indignant,
- offended wronging: (n) tribulation wrongs: (n) mala
- wroth: (adj) wrathful, angry, irate, indignant, raging, furious, hot, enraged, incensed, choleric, fury
- wrought: (adj) shaped, done, worked, worked up, formed
- yawn: (v) open, ope, yaw, look stupidly, breathe; (n) yawning, nod, get sleep, tedium, bore, boredom yelping: (n) cry, wapping yielding: (adj, v) flexible, pliable,

supple, tractable, pliant; (adj) compliant, submissive, soft, obedient, docile; (n) submission. ANTONYMS: (adj) hard, firm, inflexible, solid, rigid, obstinate, stiff, stubborn, unyielding, rebellious

yoke: (adj, n, v) couple, link; (n, v) pair, tie; (adj, n) brace; (v) connect, join, bind, attach; (n) coupling, team. ANTONYMS: (v) disconnect, disjoin

yourselves: (pron) themselves,

myself, herself

youthful: (adj) immature, fresh, green, juvenile, vernal, adolescent, childish, new, tender, sappy, beardless. ANTONYMS: (adj) adult, mature, experienced, sophisticated, late

zeal: (adj, n) eagerness; (n) fervor, enthusiasm, devotion, passion, vehemence, fire, fervency, heat, fervour, ardour. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, lethargy, patience zeus: (n) Yama, Zenion, Jupiter, genus Zeus

**zoroaster**: (n) Mohammed, Zarathustra, Confucius